Cancer Immunology

Bench to Bedside Immunotherapy of Cancers Nima Rezaei Editor Second Edition



Cancer Immunology

Nima Rezaei Editor

Cancer Immunology

Bench to Bedside Immunotherapy of Cancers

Second Edition



Editor Nima Rezaei Research Center for Immunodeficiencies Children's Medical Center Tehran University of Medical Sciences Tehran Iran Department of Immunology School of Medicine Tehran University of Medical Sciences Tehran Iran Network of Immunity in Infection Malignancy and Autoimmunity (NIIMA) Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN) Tehran Iran

ISBN 978-3-030-50286-7 ISBN 978-3-030-50287-4 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2015, 2021, corrected publication 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

This book would not have been possible without the continuous encouragement by my parents and my wife, Maryam. I wish to dedicate it to my daughters, Ariana and Arnika, with the hope that progress in diagnosis and treatment of these diseases may result in improved survival and quality of life for the next generations, and at the same time that international collaboration in research will happen without barriers. Whatever I have learnt comes from my mentors. This book is therefore dedicated also to all of them, but most importantly to the patients and their families whose continuous support has guided me during the years.

Preface



The rapid flow of studies in the field of cancer immunology during the last decade has increased our understanding of the interactions between the immune system and cancerous cells. In particular, it is now well known that such interactions result in the induction of epigenetic changes in cancerous cells and the selection of less immunogenic clones as well as alterations in immune responses. Understanding the cross-talk between nascent transformed cells and cells of the immune system has led to the development of combinatorial immunotherapeutic strategies to combat cancer.

The *Cancer Immunology* series, a three-volume book series, is intended as an up-to-date, clinically relevant review of cancer immunology and immunotherapy. The first edition of the book was published 4 years ago, which was very welcomed by readers and made us to work on the second edition of the book in such a short period of time.

Volume I, Cancer Immunology: A Translational Medicine Context, is focused on the immunopathology of cancers. Volume II, Cancer Immunology: Bench to Bedside Immunotherapy of Cancers, is a translation text explaining novel approaches in the immunotherapy of cancers; and finally, volume III, Cancer Immunology: Cancer Immunotherapy for Organ-Specific Tumors, thoroughly addresses the immunopathology and immunotherapy of organspecific cancers.

In volume II, clinical applications of cancer immunotherapy are fully described. Notably, the principal focus is very much on putting the basic knowledge gained on tumor immunology in volume I into clinical perspective, with the aim to educate clinicians on the most recent approaches used in tumor immunotherapy. To meet this purpose, this volume was extended from 27 chapters in the first edition to 32 chapters in the second edition.

At the very beginning, an overview of frontiers in cancer immunotherapy is given in Chap. 1; then novel strategies in cancer immunotherapy are discussed in Chap. 2. Thereafter, personalized prevention strategies to defeat cancer, as well as tumor antigens valuable in the treatment and clinical evaluation of tumors, and strategies to target tumor immunosuppression are outlined in Chaps. 3, 4, and 5, respectively.

Due to the importance of overcoming tumor immunosuppression and cancer tolerance when treating tumors, Chap. 6 aims to tackle these crucial and challenging issues. From this point, more precise focus is given to introducing novel immunotherapeutic approaches by allocating Chaps. 7–9 to gene therapy, virus-based vaccines, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, and lymphodepletion. Chapter 10 provides the reader with the most important detail on the combination of chemotherapy and cytokine therapy in tumor management. Thereafter, various aspects of the role of type I interferons and T lymphocytes in cancer immunotherapy are explained in Chaps. 12–14, with special attention to their synthetic biology, clinical application, role in immunosurveillance and immunotherapy, as well as optimizing chemokine receptor-mediated homing of T cells in cancer immunotherapy.

A general discussion on the multitude of monoclonal antibodies used in the clinical and preclinical setting is brought up in Chap. 15. Chapter 16 aims to familiarize readers with the role of pattern recognition receptors and Tolllike receptor pathway, while Chap. 17 discusses the role of NK cells in cancer immunotherapy. Novel vaccines produced by dendritic cells for cancer therapy are elucidated in Chap. 18. Thereafter, Chap. 19 explicates the role of tumor-associated macrophages in tumor development, while exosomes are the subject of discussion in Chap. 20.

The implication of photodynamic therapy and polarization of the tumor milieu are brought up in the two following chapters, Chaps. 21 and 22, followed by Chap. 23 which discusses targeting 5T4 oncofetal glycoprotein as an immunotherapeutic approach. Aging and cancer prognosis is discussed in Chap. 24. Novel biomarkers discovered during immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy are described in Chap. 25, while cancer nanomedicine is explained in Chap. 26. Oncolytic viruses as immunotherapeutical agents and immune targeting of oncogenic HPV are the subjects that are discussed in Chaps. 27 and 28, respectively.

Chapters 29 and 30 are focused on radioimmunotherapy. Finally, after discussing difficulties of cancer immunotherapy in Chap. 31, the book ends by pointing to the ethical considerations crucial during cancer immunotherapy in Chap. 32.

The *Cancer Immunology* Series is the result of valuable contribution of more than 300 scientists from more than 100 well-known universities/institutes worldwide. I would like to hereby acknowledge the expertise of all contributors for generously devoting their time and considerable effort in preparing their respective chapters. I would also like to express my gratitude to Springer Nature publication for providing me the opportunity to publish the book.

Finally, I hope that this translational book will be comprehensible, cogent, and of special value for researchers and clinicians who wish to extend their knowledge on cancer immunology.

Tehran, Iran

Nima Rezaei, MD, PhD

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my gratitude to the Editorial Assistants of this book, Dr. Mahsa Keshavarz-Fathi and Dr. Farnaz Delavari. With no doubt, the book would not have been completed without their contribution.

Nima Rezaei, MD, PhD

Contents

1	Frontiers in Cancer Immunotherapy 1 Joseph F. Murphy 1
2	Novel Strategy of Cancer Immunotherapy: Spiraling Up 25 Irina Zh. Shubina, Irina O. Chikileva, Igor V. Samoylenko, and Mikhail V. Kiselevskiy
3	Personalized Prevention Strategies to Defeat Cancer41Anna Maria Berghella, Anna Aureli, Angelica Canossi,6Giuseppe Marulli, Roberto Lattanzio, Giancarlo Di Gregorio,7Tiziana Del Beato, Enzo Secinaro, and Patrizia Pellegrini6
4	Tumor Antigen Identification for Cancer Immunotherapy 53 Maryam Balibegloo, Mahsa Keshavarz-Fathi, and Nima Rezaei
5	Strategies to Target Tumor Immunosuppression61Georgia Koutsoumpli, Oana Draghiciu, Hans W Nijman, Cesar Oyarce, and Toos Daemen61
6	Overcoming Cancer Tolerance with ImmuneCheckpoint Blockade85John W. Myers, George E. Peoples, and Guy T. Clifton
7	Gene Therapy and Genetic Vaccines
8	Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation and Lymphodepletion for the Treatment of Cancer
9	Recent Advances in Haploidentical Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation for Pediatric Hematologic Malignancies 157 Kristie N. Ramos and Emmanuel Katsanis
10	Combination of Chemotherapy and Cytokine Therapy in Treatment of Cancers

11	Type I Interferons: History and Perspectives asImmunotherapeutic Agents Against CancerCarolina Mendonça Gorgulho, Graziela Gorete Romagnoli,and Ramon Kaneno
12	T-Cell Immunotherapy: From Synthetic Biology to Clinical Practice
13	Role of γδ T Lymphocytes in Cancer Immunosurveillanceand Immunotherapy219Telma Lança, Daniel V. Correia, and Bruno Silva-Santos
14	Adoptive T-Cell Therapy: Optimizing ChemokineReceptor-Mediated Homing of T-Cells in CancerImmunotherapy.251Imran Siddiqui, Debora Vignali, Marinos Kallikourdis,Alberto Mantovani, and Paola Allavena
15	Monoclonal Antibodies for Cancer Immunotherapy 273 Amir-Hassan Zarnani, Davood Jafari, Mahmood Bozorgmehr, Mahdi Shabani, Leila Barzegar-Yarmohammadi, Fatemeh Ghaemimanesh, and Mahmood Jeddi-Tehrani
16	Toll-Like Receptor Pathway and Its Targeting in Treatment of Cancers313Seyed Hossein Aalaei-Andabili, Neda Amini, Farnaz Delavari, Mahsa Keshavarz-Fathi, Shaherin Basith, Sangdun Choi, and Nima Rezaei
17	Recent Advances in the Use of NK Cells Against Cancer 327 Amy E. Gillgrass, Tamara Krneta, Sophie M. Poznanski, and Ali A. Ashkar
18	Dendritic Cell Vaccines for Cancer Therapy:Fundamentals and Clinical TrialsGraziela Gorete Romagnoli and Ramon Kaneno
19	Tumor-Associated Macrophages and Cancer Development 365 Ken-ichi Isobe and Hengyi Xiao
20	Exosomes: Pros and Cons for Fighting Cancer
21	Photodynamic Therapy and Antitumor Immune Response 383 Sulbha K. Sharma and Michael R. Hamblin
22	Reprogramming of Tumor Microenvironment in Therapy 403 Magdalena Jarosz-Biej, Ryszard Smolarczyk, Tomasz Cichoń, and Stanisław Szala

xiv

23	Immunotherapies Targeting a Tumor-Associated Antigen 5T4 Oncofetal Glycoprotein
24	Aging and Cancer Prognosis433Arvin Haj-Mirzaian, Khashayar Afshari,and Amir Hossein Abdolghaffari
25	Biomarkers for Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors
26	Cancer Nanomedicine: Special Focus on Cancer Immunotherapy
27	Oncolytic Viruses as Immunotherapeutic Agents
28	Immune Targeting of Oncogenic HPV as Therapy for Cancer543Peter L. Stern
29	New Advances in Radioimmunotherapy for the Treatment of Cancers
30	Radiation and Immunity: Hand in Hand from Tumorigenesis to Therapeutic Targets
31	Hurdles in Cancer Immunotherapy
32	Ethical Considerations in Cancer Immunotherapy
Cor	rection to Aging and Cancer Prognosis
Ind	ex

Contributors

Seyed Hossein Aalaei-Andabili Department of Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, USA

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Florida, USA

Amir Hossein Abdolghaffari Department of Toxicology and Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Tehran Medical Sciences, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran

Medicinal Plants Research Center, Institute of Medicinal Plants, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

Toxicology and Diseases Group (TDG), Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center (PSRC), The Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences (TIPS), and Faculty of Pharmacy, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

GI Pharmacology Interest Group (GPIG), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education of Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

Khashayar Afshari Experimental Medicine Research Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Paola Allavena Department of Immunology and Inflammation, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center - IRCCS, Milan, Italy

Neda Amini Department of Surgery, Sinai Hospital, Baltimore, Maryland, USA

Department of Surgery, The Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, Maryland, USA

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Maryland, USA

Ali A. Ashkar Department of Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster Immunology Research Center (MIRC), McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada Anna Aureli Department of Medicine, National Research, Council-Institute of Translational Pharmacology, Istituto di Farmacologia Traslazionale (IFT), Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche (CNR), L'Aquila, Italy

Clément Bailly INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, University Hospital – CHU de Nantes, Nantes, France

Maryam Balibegloo Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education & Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

Jacques Barbet INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

GIP Arronax, Saint-Herblain, France

Kristen M. Barr Natural Science, Milwaukee Area Technical College, Milwaukee, WI, USA

Leila Barzegar-Yarmohammadi Monoclonal Antibody Research Center, Avicenna Research Institute, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

Shaherin Basith Department of Molecular Science and Technology, College of Natural Science, Ajou University, Suwon, South Korea

Anna Maria Berghella Department of Medicine, National Research, Council-Institute of Translational Pharmacology, Istituto di Farmacologia Traslazionale (IFT), Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche (CNR), L'Aquila, Italy

Caroline Bodet-Milin INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, University Hospital – CHU de Nantes, Nantes, France

Mickaël Bourgeois INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, University Hospital – CHU de Nantes, Nantes, France

GIP Arronax, Saint-Herblain, France

Mahmood Bozorgmehr Immunobiology Research Center, Avicenna Research Institute, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

Angelica Canossi Department of Medicine, National Research, Council-Institute of Translational Pharmacology, Istituto di Farmacologia Traslazionale (IFT), Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche (CNR), L'Aquila, Italy **Thomas Carlier** INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, University Hospital – CHU de Nantes, Nantes, France

Michel Cherel INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, ICO-René Gauducheau, Saint-Herblain, France

Irina O. Chikileva Laboratory of Cell Immunity, N.N. Blokhin Russian Cancer Research Center, Moscow, Russia

Sangdun Choi Department of Molecular Science and Technology, College of Natural Science, Ajou University, Suwon, South Korea

Nicolas Chouin INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

AMaROC Research Group, ONIRIS (Nantes-Atlantic National College of Veterinary Medicine, Food Science and Engineering), Nantes, France

Tomasz Cichoń Center for Translational Research and Molecular Biology of Cancer, Maria Sklodowska-Curie National Research Institute of Oncology, Gliwice Branch, Poland

Guy T. Clifton Brooke Army Medical Center, San Antonio, TX, USA

Daniel V. Correia Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de Lisboa, Lisbon, Portugal

Department of T-Cell Differentiation and Tumor Targeting, Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Lisbon, Portugal

Toos Daemen Department of Medical Microbiology, Tumor Virology and Cancer Immunotherapy, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

Farnaz Delavari Interactive Research Education and Training Association (IRETA), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Geneva, Switzerland

Tiziana Del Beato Department of Medicine, National Research, Council-Institute of Translational Pharmacology, Istituto di Farmacologia Traslazionale (IFT), Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche (CNR), L'Aquila, Italy

Giancarlo Di Gregorio Laboratorio di Analisi Cliniche, Ospedale SS Trinità, Popoli (PE), Italy

Oana Draghiciu Department of Medical Microbiology, Tumor Virology and Cancer Immunotherapy, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands Ludovic Ferrer INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, ICO-René Gauducheau, Saint-Herblain, France

Joelle Gaschet INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Jill A. Gershan Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI, USA

Fatemeh Ghaemimanesh Monoclonal Antibody Research Center, Avicenna Research Institute, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

Amy E. Gillgrass Department of Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster Immunology Research Center (MIRC), McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Carolina Mendonça Gorgulho Department of Pathology, Medical School of Botucatu, São Paulo State University, Botucatu, SP, Brazil

Department of Chemical and Biological Sciences, Institute of Biosciences, São Paulo State University – UNESP, Botucatu, SP, Brazil

François Guerard INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Ferid Haddad Department of Physics, Subatech, Ecole des Mînes, University of Nantes, Nantes, France

GIP Arronax, Saint-Herblain, France

Arvin Haj-Mirzaian Experimental Medicine Research Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Michael R. Hamblin Department of Dermatology, Wellman Center for Photomedicine, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Department of Dermatology, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education of Research Network (USERN), Boston, MA, USA

Department of Dermatology, Harvard-MIT Division of Health Sciences and Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA

Andrii Havrilov Department of Thoracic Surgical Oncology, Regional Center of Oncology, Kharkiv, Ukraine

Sara Hemmati Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Ken-ichi Isobe Department of Food Science and Nutrition, Nagoya Wuman's University, Mizuho-ku, Nagoya, Japan

Davood Jafari Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Zanjan University of Medical Sciences, Zanjan, Iran

Immunotherapy Research and Technology Group, Zanjan University of Medical Sciences, Zanjan, Iran

Magdalena Jarosz-Biej Center for Translational Research and Molecular Biology of Cancer, Maria Sklodowska-Curie National Research Institute of Oncology, Gliwice Branch, Poland

Mahmood Jeddi-Tehrani Monoclonal Antibody Research Center, Avicenna Research Institute, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

Bryon D. Johnson Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Medicine, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI, USA

Marinos Kallikourdis Adaptive Immunity Laboratory, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center – IRCCS, Milan, Italy

Department of Biomedical Sciences, Humanitas University, Milan, Italy

Ramon Kaneno Department of Chemical and Biological Sciences, Biosciences Institute of Botucatu, Botucatu, SP, Brazil

Department of Chemical and Biological Sciences, Institute of Biosciences of Botucatu, UNESP – São Paulo State University, Botucatu, SP, Brazil

Fatemeh Karami Department of Medical Genetics, Applied Biophotonics Research Center, Science and Research Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran

Emmanuel Katsanis Department of Pediatrics, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

Immunobiology, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

Medicine, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

Pathology, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

University of Arizona Cancer Center, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

Mahsa Keshavarz-Fathi Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Amin Pastaki Khoshbin Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Mikhail V. Kiselevskiy Laboratory of Cell Immunity, N.N. Blokhin Russian Cancer Research Center, Moscow, Russia

Georgia Koutsoumpli Department of Medical Microbiology, Tumor Virology and Cancer Immunotherapy, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

Françoise Kraeber-Bodéré INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, University Hospital – CHU de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, ICO-René Gauducheau, Saint-Herblain, France

Tamara Krneta Department of Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster Immunology Research Center (MIRC), McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Telma Lança Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de Lisboa, Lisbon, Portugal

Department of Immunology, The Netherlands Cancer Institute (NKI), Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Roberto Lattanzio Dipartimento di Chirurgia Generale, Ospedale SS Trinità, Popoli (PE), Italy

M. Malvicini Gene Therapy Laboratory, Instituto de Investigaciones en Medicina Traslacional (IIMT; Universidad Austral-CONICET), Pilar, Argentina

Alberto Mantovani Department of Immunology and Inflammation, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center – IRCCS, Milan, Italy

Department of Biomedical Sciences, Humanitas University, Milan, Italy

Maurie Markman Department of Medical Oncology, Cancer Treatment Centers of America, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Giuseppe Marulli Poliambulatorio "Casa della Salute" Nucleo San Gregorio, Azienda Sanitaria Locale (ASL) di Avezzano-Sulmona-L'Aquila, San Gregorio (AQ), Italy

Guillermo D. Mazzolini Gene Therapy Laboratory, Instituto de Investigaciones en Medicina Traslacional (IIMT; Universidad Austral-CONICET), Pilar, Argentina

Ali Sanjari Moghaddam School of Medicine, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Joseph F. Murphy Founder and President, Immune PCS, LLC, Quincy, MA, USA

John W. Myers Brooke Army Medical Center, San Antonio, TX, USA

Hans W Nijman Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

Rimas J. Orentas Seattle Children's Research Institute, Seattle, WA, USA

Cesar Oyarce Department of Medical Microbiology, Tumor Virology and Cancer Immunotherapy, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

Patrizia Pellegrini Department of Medicine, National Research, Council-Institute of Translational Pharmacology, Istituto di Farmacologia Traslazionale (IFT), Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche (CNR), L'Aquila, Italy

George E. Peoples Brooke Army Medical Center, San Antonio, TX, USA

Sophie M. Poznanski Department of Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster Immunology Research Center (MIRC), McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Kristie N. Ramos University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

Sepideh Razi Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

Student Research Committee, School of Medicine, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Nima Rezaei Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Network of Immunity in Infection, Malignancy and Autoimmunity (NIIMA), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

Graziela Gorete Romagnoli Department of Pathology, Medical School of Botucatu, São Paulo State University, Botucatu, SP, Brazil

Department of Health Science, Oeste Paulista University, UNOESTE, Jaú, SP, Brazil

Caroline Rousseau INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, ICO-René Gauducheau, Saint-Herblain, France

Fatemeh Sadeghi Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

Amene Saghazadeh Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Expert Group (SRMEG), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

Igor V. Samoylenko Department of Biotherapy of Tumors, N.N. Blokhin Russian Cancer Research Center, Moscow, Russia

Dina Schneider Lentigen Technology Inc., a Miltenyi Biotec Company, Gaithersburg, MD, USA

Enzo Secinaro Dipartimento di Medicina Interna, Ospedale SS Annunziata, Chieti, Italy

Mahdi Shabani Monoclonal Antibody Research Center, Avicenna Research Institute, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

Pouya Mahdavi Sharif School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

Sulbha K. Sharma Department of Dermatology, Wellman Center for Photomedicine, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Department of Dermatology, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education of Research Network (USERN), Boston, MA, USA

Irina Zh. Shubina Laboratory of Cell Immunity, N.N. Blokhin Russian Cancer Research Center, Moscow, Russia

Imran Siddiqui Department of Immunology and Inflammation, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center – IRCCS, Milan, Italy

Bruno Silva-Santos Instituto de Medicina Molecular João Lobo Antunes, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de Lisboa, Lisbon, Portugal

Department of T-Cell Differentiation and Tumor Targeting, Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Lisbon, Portugal

Ryszard Smolarczyk Center for Translational Research and Molecular Biology of Cancer, Maria Sklodowska-Curie National Research Institute of Oncology, Gliwice Branch, Poland

Saeed Soleyman-Jahi Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

Cancer Research Center, Cancer Institute of Iran, Tehran, Iran

Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, School of Medicine, Washington University in St. Louis, St. Louis, MO, USA

Peter L. Stern Division of Molecular and Clinical Cancer Sciences, School of Medical Sciences, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

Stanisław Szala Center for Translational Research and Molecular Biology of Cancer, Maria Sklodowska-Curie National Research Institute of Oncology, Gliwice, Poland

Soheil Tavakolpour Cancer Research Center, Cancer Institute of Iran, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02115, USA

Yevhenii Trehub Department of Abdominal Surgical Oncology, Regional Center of Oncology, Kharkiv, Ukraine

Debora Vignali Adaptive Immunity Laboratory, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center – IRCCS, Milan, Italy

Hengyi Xiao Aging Research Group, National Clinical Center for Geriatrics, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

Amir-Hassan Zarnani Immunology Section, Pathobiology Department, School of Public Health, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Immunobiology Research Center, Avicenna Research Institute, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

Abbreviations

3'-UTR	3'-untranslated region
3D	Three-dimensional
3-MA	3-Methyladenine
4-OHT	4-Hydroxytamoxifen
5AC	5-Azacytidine
Ab	Antibody
ABC	Adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette
Abs	Antibodies
AC	Adenocarcinoma
ACC	Acinar cell carcinoma
ACC	Adenoid cystic carcinoma
Ad5	Adenovirus serotype 5
ADCC	Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity
ADCP	Antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis
ADP	Anti-adipophilin
Ag	Antigen
AHR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor
AIA	Ag-induced arthritis
AICD	Activation-induced cell death
AIDS	Acquired immune deficiency syndrome
AIF	Aapoptosis-inducing factor
AILT	Angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma
AIRC	Italian Association for Cancer Research
AIRE	Autoimmune regulator
ALK	Anaplastic large cell lymphoma kinase
ALL	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase
alphaGalCer	Alpha-galactosylceramide
ALPS	Autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
ANCs	Absolute neutrophil counts
ANN	Artificial neural network
ANT	Adenine nucleotide translocase
APC	Antigen-presenting cells
APCP	Adenosine 5'-(α , β -methylene) diphosphate
APCs	Antigen-presenting cells

APECED	Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy with candidiasis and
	ectodermal dystrophy
APL	Acute promyelocytic leukemia
APM	Antigen presentation machinery
APS-1	Autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I
ARB	Average relative binding
ARDS	Acute respiratory distress syndrome
ASCs	Adult stem cells
ASM	Acid sphingomyelinase
ASPS	Alveolar soft part sarcoma
ATCL	Anaplastic large cell lymphoma
ATLL	Adult T-cell lymphoma/leukemia
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATO	Arsenic trioxide
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ATR	Ataxia telangiectasia/Rad3-related kinase
ATRA	All-trans retinoic acid
B SLL/CLL	B-cell small lymphocytic lymphoma/chronic lymphocytic
	lymphoma
BAFF	B-cell activating factor
BALs	Bronchoalveolar lavage
BCA	Basal cell adenocarcinoma
BCC	Basal cell carcinoma
BCG	Bacillus Calmette-Guérin
BCR	B-cell antigen receptor
BER	Base excision repair
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
BLI	Bioluminescence imaging
Bregs	Regulatory B cells
BSO	Buthionine sulfoximine
BTK	Bruton's tyrosine kinase
BTLA	B- and T-lymphocyte attenuator
C/EBPb	CCAT/enhancer-binding protein b
CAFs	Cancer-associated fibroblasts
CaP	Prostate cancer
CARD	Caspase-recruitment domain
CBA	Cytometric bead array
CBR	Clinical benefit response
CC	Choriocarcinoma
CC	Chromophobe carcinoma
CCS	Clear cell sarcoma
CD	Clusters of differentiation
CD40-B	CD40-activated B
CD40L	CD40 ligand
CDC	Complement-dependent cytotoxicity
c-FLIP	Cellular FLICE-inhibitory protein
CFSE	Carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester

CGN	Chromogranin
CHL	Classic Hodgkin lymphoma
CHS	Contact hypersensitivity
CIA	Collagen-induced arthritis
CIC/CRI	Cancer Immunotherapy Consortium of the Cancer
	Research Institute in the USA
CIHR	Canadian Institutes of Health Research
CIMT	Cancer Immunotherapy
CIP	CIMT Immunoguiding Program
СК	Cytokeratin
CLA	Cutaneous lymphocyte-associated antigen
CLEC9A	C-type lectin domain family 9A
CLL	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia
CLRs	C-type lectin receptors
CMA	Chaperone-mediated autophagy
CMC	Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis
CML	Chronic myeloid leukemia
CNS	Central nervous system
Con	Concanavalin
СР	Core particle
CpG-A ODN	CpG-A oligodeoxynucleotide
CpG-ODN	CpG oligodeoxynucleotide
CPS	Cancer Prevention Study
CQ	Chloroquine
CR	Complete remission
CRC	Colorectal cancer
CRCC	Clear RCC
CRDs	Cysteine-rich domains
CrmA	Cytokine response modifier A
CRP	C-reactive protein
CRT	Calreticulin
CS	Classic seminoma
CS&T	Cytometer setup and tracking
CSC	Cancer stem cell
CSF-1	Colony-stimulating factor
CSF-1R	CSF-1 receptor
CSF3R	Colony-stimulating factor 3 receptor
CSR	Class switch recombination
c-state	Cytosolic state
CTC	Circulating tumor cells
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
CTS	Cathepsins
CTVT	Canine transmissible venereal tumor
CVID	Common variable immunodeficiency
Cyt	Cytochrome
DAMP	Damage-associated molecular pattern
DC	Dendritic cells

DCC	Deleted in colorectal cancer
DC-SIGN	Dendritic cell-specific ICAM-3 grabbing non-integrin
DD	Death domain
DDP	Diamindichloridoplatin
DED	Death effector domain
DES	Desmin
DFTD	Devil facial tumor disease
DHh	Desert hedgehog homolog
DISC	Death-inducing signaling complex
DKO	Double knockout
DLBCL	Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma
DNAM	DNAX-accessory molecule
DNMTs	DNA methyltransferases
DNR	Dominant-negative TGF-ß type II receptor
DNT	Double-negative T
DR	Death receptor
DRMs	Detergent-resistant microdomains
DSB	Double-strand break
DSRCT	Desmoplastic small round cell tumor
DSS	Dextran sulfate sodium
DT	Diphtheria toxin
DTE	Desmoplastic trichoepithelioma
DTH	Delayed-type hypersensitivity
DTR	Diphtheria toxin receptor
DUBs	Deubiquitinases
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
EBNA	Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
EC	Embryonal carcinoma
ECL	Electrochemiluminescent
ECM	Extracellular matrix
ECP	Eosinophil cationic protein
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	EGF receptor
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EM	Effector memory
EMC	Epithelial-myoepithelial carcinoma
EMSA	Electrophoretic mobility shift assay
EMT	Epithelial-mesenchymal transition
EndoG	Endonuclease G
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ER	Estrogen receptor protein
ER+	Estrogen receptor-positive
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
ES	Embryonic stem
ES/PNET	Ewing sarcoma/peripheral neuroectodemal tumor
EV	Epidermodysplasia verruciformis

FADD	Fas-associating protein with a death domain
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
FasL	Fas ligand
FcγRII	Fc receptor II
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FL	Follicular lymphoma
FLIP	FLICE-inhibitory protein
Flt3L	FMS like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand
Fluc	Firefly luciferase
FRB	FKBP12-rapamycin-binding domain
FSC	Forward scatter light
FZD	Frizzled
GAP	GTPase-activating protein
GBM	Glioblastoma multiforme
GC	Germinal center
GCLP	Good clinical laboratory practice
GEFs	Guanine nucleotide exchange factors
GEM	Genetically engineered mouse
GEMM	Genetically engineered mouse models
GFI1	Growth factor-independent 1
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GI	Gastrointestinal
GITR	Glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor-
	related protein
Gld	Generalized lymphoproliferative disease
Gli	Gli transcription factors
Gln	Glutamine
Glu	Glutamate
GLUD1	Glutamate dehydrogenase 1
GLUL	Glutamate-ammonia ligase
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor
G-MDSC	Granulocytic MDSC
GMP	Good manufacturing practice
GPU	Graphical processing units
GRAFT	Genetically transplantable tumor model systems
GrB	Granzyme B
GSIs	Gamma secretase inhibitors
GSK-3β	Glycogen synthase kinase-3β
GVDH	Graft-versus-host-disease
GWAS	Genome-wide association studies
HAX1	HS-1-associated protein X
HBE	Human bronchial epithelial
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HCC	Hepatocellular carcinoma
HCL	Hairy cell leukemia
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HD	Healthy donors

HDAC	Histone deacetylase
HDACi	Histone deacetylase inhibitors
HDACs	Histone deacetylases
HEV	High endothelial venules
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HGPIN	High-grade prostate intraepithelial neoplasia
HGS	Human Genome Sciences
Hh	Hedgehog
HIES	Hyper-IgE syndrome
HIF2α	Hypoxia-inducible factor 2-α
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HL	Hodgkin's lymphoma
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
HLH	Hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis
HNC	Head and neck cancer
HP	Human papilloma
HPC	Hematopoietic progenitor cells
HPV	Human papilloma virus
HRG	Histidine-rich glycoprotein
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HRR	Homologous recombination repair
HS	Herpes simplex
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cells
HSCT	Hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation
HSP	Heat shock proteins
HVEM	Herpesvirus entry mediator
IAP	Inhibitor of apoptosis protein
IB	Immunoblotting
IBCC	Infiltrating basal cell carcinoma
ICAD	Inhibitor of caspase-activated DNase
ICAM	Intercellular adhesion molecule
ICAM-3	Intercellular adhesion molecule 3
ICC	Immunocytochemistry
ICOS	Inducible costimulator
ICOS-L	Inducible costimulator ligand
ICS	Intracellular cytokine staining
IDC	Invasive ductal carcinoma
IDO	Indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase
IELs	Intraepithelial lymphocytes
IFN	Interferon
IFNγ	Interferon gamma
IFN-γ	Interferon γ
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IgAD	IgA deficiency
IgE	Immunoglobulin E
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IHC/ICC	Immunohistochemistry and immunocytochemistry

IHh	Indian hedgehog
IkB	Inhibitor of kB
IKK	IκB kinases
IL	Interleukin
IL-10	Interleukin-10
IL-1Ra	Interleukin-1Ra
IL-1β	Interleukin-1β
IL-2Rα	Interleukin-2 receptor-α
ILC	Invasive lobular carcinoma
IM	Inner mitochondrial membrane
IMPT	Intensity-modulated proton therapy
IMRT	Intensity-modulated radiotherapy
IMS	Intermembrane space
INF	Interferons
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
IP	Immunoprecipitation
iPS	Induced pluripotent stem
IRF	Transcription factor
ISPC	In silico planning comparative
ITAM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif
ITIM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motif
ITK	T-cell kinase
IVD	In vitro diagnostic
JAK	Janus kinase
JNK	Jun N-terminal kinase
KARs	Killer activation receptors
KGF	Keratinocyte growth factor
KIRs	Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors
KSHV	Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus
LAT	Linker of activation in T-cell
LC	Luminal cells
LCA	Leukocyte common antigen
LCMV	Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus
LCs	Langerhans cells
LCT	Leydig cell tumor
LD	Linkage disequilibrium
LIR	LC3 interacting region
LMP-1	Latent membrane protein-1
LNA	Locked nucleic acid
LNs	Lymph nodes
LOH	Loss of heterozygosity
LOX	Lysyl oxidase
LPL	Lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma
Lpr	Lymphoproliferation
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LTA	Lymphotoxin-α
LUBAC	Linear ubiquitin chain assembly complex

mAb	Monoclonal antibody
Mac	Macrophages
MAC	Microcystic adnexal carcinoma
MALT	Mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue
MAMP	Microbe-associated molecular pattern
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MC	Molluscum contagiosum
MC	Myoepithelial carcinoma
MCA	Methylcholanthrene
MCC	Merkel cell carcinoma
MCMV	Mouse cytomegalovirus
M-CSF	Macrophage colony-stimulating factor
mDCs	Myeloid-derived dendritic cells
MDS	Myelodysplasia
MDSC	Myeloid-derived suppressor cells
MEC	Mucoepidermoid carcinoma
MEXT	Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and
	Technology
MF	Mycosis fungoides
MFI	Mean fluorescence intensity
MGMT	Methylguanine methyltransferase
MGUS	Gammopathy of unknown significance
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MIACA	Minimal information on reported results including
	reporting information on cellular assays
MIAME	Minimal information about microarray experiments
MIATA	Minimal information about T-cell assays
MIBBI	Minimal information on biological and biomedical
	investigations
MIC-A	MHC class I chain-related A
MIF	Macrophage inhibitory factor
MIG	Monokine induced by interferon-γ
miRNAs	MicroRNAs
MISC	Motility-inducing signaling complex
MKPs	MAP kinase phosphatases
ML-IAP	Melanoma inhibitor of apoptosis protein
MM	Multiple myeloma
M-MDSC	Monocytic MDSC
MMP	Metalloproteases
MMR	Mismatch repair
MnO	Manganese oxide
MOMP	Membrane permeabilization
MPSC	Metastatic pulmonary small cell carcinoma
MSA	Muscle-specific antigen
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
MSF	Migration-stimulating factor
MSI	Microsatellite instability
	-

m-state	Matrix state
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
MVD	Microvascular density
MYG	Myogenin
MZL	Marginal zone lymphoma
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidases
NAIP	Neuronal apoptosis inhibitory protein
NCCD	Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death
NCR	Natural cytotoxicity receptor
ncRNAs	noncoding RNAs
NEC	Neuroendocrine carcinoma
NER	Nucleotide excision repair
NF	Nuclear factor
NFAT	Nuclear factor of activated T cells
NF-κB	Nuclear factor-kappa B
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
NHEJ	Nonhomologous end-joining
NHL	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma
Ni	Nickel
NiS	Nickel sulfide
NK	Natural killer
NKG2D	Natural killer group two member D
NKT	Natural killer T
NLPHL	Nodular lymphocyte predominant Hodgkin lymphoma
NLRs	The nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-like
	receptors
NMC	NUT midline carcinoma
NOD	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain
NP	Normal prostate
NPC	Nasopharyngeal carcinoma
NPY	Neuropeptide Y
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung carcinoma
Nt	Nucleotides
NTKs	Neurothekeoma
NUT	Nuclear protein in testis
OARs	Organs at risk
OC	Oncocytoma
ODEs	Ordinary differential equations
ONB	Olfactory neuroblastoma
OPN	Osteopontin
OPRCC	Oncocytic papillary RCC
PAC	Pulmonary adenocarcinoma
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel, and separated by electrophoresis
PAK	p21-activated kinase
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PARP	Poly ADP-ribose polymerase
PAX	Paired box

PB	Peripheral blood
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PBMCs	Blood mononuclear cells
PC	Prostate adenocarcinoma
PCD	Programmed cell death
PCG	Protein coding gene
PD	Paget disease
PDAC	Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma
pDCs	Plasmacytoid dendritic cells
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PD-L1	Programmed cell death-1 ligand
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
PE	Pleural effusion
PEMCs	Pleural effusion mononuclear cells
PET	Positron emission tomography
PFS	Progression-free survival
PH	Pleckstrin homology
PHA	Phytohemagglutinin
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PIDs	Primary immunodeficiencies
PIP3	Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate
PKB	Protein kinase B
РКС	Protein kinase C
PLAD	Pre-ligand binding assembly domain
PLGC	Polymorphous low-grade adenocarcinoma
PIGF	Placental growth factor
PMA	Phorbol myristate acetate
PMNs	Polymorphonuclear leukocytes
PMT	Photomultiplier tube
PNET/ES	Peripheral neuroectodermal tumor/extraskeletal Ewing
	sarcoma
PNP	Purine nucleoside phosphorylase
PR	Progesterone receptor
PRC	Polycomb Repressive Complex
PRCC	Papillary RCC
pre-pDCs	Precursor of pDCs
PROTOR	Protein observed with Rictor
PKRs	Pattern recognition receptors
PS	Phosphatidylserine
PSSM	Position-specific scoring matrix
Ptc	Patched dependence receptor
PICHI	Paicned receptor
r I M ptpc	Postranslational modification
PIPC	Permeability transition pore complex
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride
PYGL	Giycogen phosphorylase
QDs	Quantum dots

QoL	Quality of life
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RAGE	Receptor for advanced glycation end products
Raptor	Regulatory-associated protein of mTOR
Rb	Retinoblastoma protein
RCC	Renal cell carcinoma
RFK	Riboflavin kinase
RFLPs	Restriction fragment length polymorphisms
RHIM	RIP homotypic interaction motif
RHOH	Ras homolog family member H
RIA	Radioimmunoassay
RICD	Reactivation-induced cell death
Rictor	Rapamycin-insensitive companion of mTOR
RIG-1	Retinoic acid-inducible gene I
RIP	Receptor interacting protein
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
RLHs	RIG-I-like helicases
RMS	Rhabdomyosarcoma
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RS	Reference samples
SA	Sebaceous adenoma
SAP	Signaling associated protein
SBDS	Shwachman-Bodian-Diamond syndrome
SC	Sebaceous carcinoma
SCC	Squamous cell carcinoma
SCCHN	Squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck
SCF	Stem cell factor
SCID	Severe combined immune-deficient
SCLCL	Small cell lung cancer
SCM	Small cell melanoma
SCN	Severe congenital neutropenia
SCNP	Single-cell network profiling
SCs	Stem cells
SCT	Sertoli cell tumor
SDC	Salivary duct carcinoma
SDS	Shwachman–Diamond syndrome
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SEC	Small cell eccrine carcinoma
SED	Subepithelial cell dome
SFB	Segmented filamentous bacteria
Shh	Sonic hedgehog
SHh	Sonic hedgehog homolog
SHM	Somatic hypermutation
siRNA	
SILLIA	Small interfering RNA
SIRP-α	Small interfering RNA Signal-regulatory protein-α
SIRP-α SLAM	Small interfering RNA Signal-regulatory protein-α Signaling lymphocytic activation molecule

SMC	Skeletal muscle cells
SMM	Stabilized matrix method
Smo	Smoothened
SNEC	Small cell neuroendocrine carcinoma
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphisms
SNUC	Sinonasal undifferentiated carcinoma
SOBP	Spreadout Bragg peak
SOCE	Store-operated Ca ²⁺ entry
SOPs	Standard operating procedures
SP	Side population
SP-A	Surfactant protein A
SPECT	Single-photon emission computed tomography
SPIO	Superparamagnetic iron oxide
SPN	Solid pseudopapillary neoplasm
SS	Sjögren syndrome
SS	Spermatocytic seminoma
SSC	Side-scattered light
SSCC	Small cell squamous carcinoma
SSO	Sequence-specific probes
SSP	Sequence-specific primers
SSPCs	Salivary gland stem/progenitor cells
STAT	Signal transducer activator of transcription
STAT1	Signal transducer and activator of transcription-1
STIM	Stromal interaction molecule
SVZ	Subventricular zone
SYN	Synaptophysin
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
T2	Transitional 2 immature
TAA	Tumor-associated antigens
TACI	Transmembrane activator and calcium modulator and
	cyclophilin ligand interactor
TADC	Tumor-associated dendritic cells
TAM	Tumor-associated macrophages
TAMC	Tumor-associated myeloid cells
TAN	Tumor-associated neutrophils
TAP	Transporter associated with antigen processing
TApDCs	Tumor-associated pDCs
TAPs	Peptide transporters
TAS	Trait-associated SNP
TAs	Tumor antigens
TB	Tuberculosis
TBI	Total body irradiation
tBID	Truncated BID
TC/HRBCL	T-cell/histiocyte-rich B-cell lymphoma
TCF-4	T cell factor
TCL	T-cell lymphoma
TCR	T cell receptor

TDLN	Tumor-draining lymph node
TEM	Tie2-expressing monocytes
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
TEMRA	Terminally differentiated effector memory
TFBSs	Transcription factor binding sites
TFH	T follicular helper
TGB	Thyroglobulin
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor β
Th	Thelper
TIL	Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes
TIL-Bs	Tumor-infiltrating B cells
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TLT	Tertiary lymphoid tissue
TME	Tumor microenvironment
TNC	Tenascin C
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TNF-R	Tumor necrosis factor receptor
ΤΝFα	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor- α
TNM	Tumor-node-metastasis
TRADD	TNF-receptor-associated death domain
TRAIL	Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
Tregs	Regulatory T cells
TSČ	Tuberous sclerosis complex
TSGs	Tumor suppressor genes
TSH	Thyroid-stimulating hormone
TSLP	Thymic stromal lymphopoietin
TTP	Time to progression
U1snRNP	U1 small nuclear ribonucleoprotein
UADT	Upper aerodigestive tract
UC	Urothelial carcinoma
UCH	Ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolases
ULBPs	Unique long 16 binding proteins
Unfrac	Unfractionated
UNPC	Undifferentiated nasopharyngeal carcinoma
uPA	Urokinase plasminogen activator
UPP	Ubiquitin-proteasome pathway
UPS	Ubiquitin-proteasome system
USP	Ubiquitin-specific proteases
USPIO	Ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles
UV	Ultraviolet
UVRAG	Ultraviolet radiation resistance-associated gene
VEGF-A	Vascular endothelial growth factor-A
VIM	Vimentin
VINIII	Vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia grade III
VNTR	Variable number tandem repeat
VZ	Varicella zoster

WAS	Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome
WASp	WAS protein
WASP	Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein
WGS	Whole genome sequencing
WHIM	Warts, hypogammaglobulinemia, infections, and myelokathexis
WM	Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia
WT	Wild-type
X-IAP	X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein
XLA	X-linked agammaglobulinemia
XLN	X-linked neutropenia
XLP	X-linked lymphoproliferative disease
XLT	X-linked thrombocytopenia
YST	Yolk sac tumor



Frontiers in Cancer Immunotherapy

Joseph F. Murphy

Contents

1.1	Introduction	2	
1.2	Innate Cells as Initiators of the Adaptive Immune Response	2	
1.3	Cellular Immunotherapy	3	
1.4 1.4.1 1.4.2	Active and Passive Immunotherapy Active Immunotherapy Nonspecific Immunotherapy	3 3 4	
1.5	Stimulation of Responses In Vivo	5	
1.6	Adoptive Immunotherapy	5	
1.7 1.7.1 1.7.2	Cancer Vaccines Dendritic Cells Physical Barriers, Tumor Stroma, and Vessels	7 8 11	
1.8 1.8.1 1.8.2 1.8.3	Mechanisms of Tumor-Induced Tolerance/Escape from the Immune System Treg Cells Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Macrophages	12 12 13 14	
1.9	Candidates for Immunotherapy in Oncology	15	
1.10 1.10.1 1.10.2 1.10.3 1.10.4	Combination Immunotherapy Chemotherapy and mAb Chemotherapy and Active Specific Immunotherapy Chemotherapy and Adoptive Lymphocyte Immunotherapy Immunotherapy with Radiation Therapy	15 15 16 16 16	
1.11	Humoral Immunotherapy	17	
1.12	Concluding Remarks	17	
Refere	References		

J. F. Murphy (🖂)

Founder and President, Immune PCS, LLC, Quincy, MA, USA e-mail: joseph.murphy@immunepcs.com

N. Rezaei (ed.), Cancer Immunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_1

1
1.1 Introduction

Our immune system is characterized by remarkable specificity, potency, and memory-the ability of a single vaccine treatment to provide lifelong protection. No pharmacologic treatment for any indication can provide the same level of safety, efficacy, and long-lasting effect that a vaccine can. Thus, researchers and clinicians alike have sought to apply these characteristics to the treatment of cancer [1]. Advances in cellular and molecular immunology over the past three decades have provided enormous insights into the nature and consequences of interactions between tumors and immune cells. This knowledge continues to lead to strategies by which the immune system might be harnessed for therapy of established malignancies [2].

Cells of the innate immune system respond to "danger" signals provided by growing tumors as a consequence of the genotoxic stress of cell transformation and disruption of the surrounding microenvironment. Under ideal conditions, these signals induce inflammation, activate innate effector cells with antitumor activity, and stimulate professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs), particularly dendritic cells (DCs), to engulf tumor-derived antigens and migrate to draining lymph nodes to trigger an adaptive response by T- and B-lymphocytes. Despite this well-orchestrated surveillance operation, the presence of a tumor indicates that the developing cancer was able to avoid detection or to escape or overwhelm the immune response. Progressing tumors often exhibit strategies that promote evasion from immune recognition [3]. This includes physical exclusion of immune cells from tumor sites, poor immunogenicity due to reduced expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) or co-stimulatory proteins, and disruption of natural killer (NK) and natural killer T (NKT)-cell recognition [4]. Additionally, some tumors prevent triggering of an inflammatory response by secreting proteins, such as interleukin (IL-10) or vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), that interfere with DC activation and differentiation [5] or by blocking the production of pro-inflammatory molecules by increasing expression of the STAT3 protein [6]. Even if a response is induced, tumor cells may escape elimination by losing targeted antigens, rendering tumor-reactive T-cells anergic, inducing regulatory T-cells, or specifically deleting responding T-cells [7, 8]. Thus, there is often a cat and mouse game with the immune system exerting pressure to eliminate the tumor and the tumor cells evading the immune response; the eventual tumor that develops reflects "immunoediting" with the selection of poorly immunogenic and/or immune-resistant malignant cells [9]. Despite these obstacles, modern immune-based therapies continue to show increased potential for treating malignant diseases. Here, we will review some of the most promising cancer immunotherapeutic approaches in development today, as recent clinical successes signal the beginning of cancer immunotherapy's transition from experimental to established therapy.

1.2 Innate Cells as Initiators of the Adaptive Immune Response

One of the first strategies to enhance immune response to cancer was the direct administration of adjuvants into solid tumors to stimulate inflammation and recruit immune effector cells. This approach is still commonly used for treating superficial bladder carcinomas and has been used to treat melanoma and neurological tumors. It is now known that many of these adjuvants contain bacterial products, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or CpG-containing oligo-deoxynucleotides recognized by toll-like receptors (TLRs) on innate immune cells. This leads to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and facilitates productive interactions between the innate and adaptive immune responses [10]. However, many tumors render this strategy ineffective by producing proteins, such as transforming growth factor beta (TGF-B), to prevent activation of the immune response [11].

1.3 Cellular Immunotherapy

T-cells express clonally distributed antigen receptors that in the context of MHC proteins can recognize either unique tumor antigens evolving from mutations or viral oncogenesis or selfantigens derived from overexpression of proteins or aberrant expression of antigens that are normally developmental or tissue-restricted. To mediate antitumor activity, T-cells must first be activated by bone marrow-derived APCs that present tumor antigens and provide essential costimulatory signals [12], migrate and gain access to the tumor microenvironment, and overcome obstacles to effective triggering posed by the tumor. Activation results in the production of cytokines, such as interferon (IFN) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF), that can arrest proliferation of malignant cells and prevent the angiogenesis necessary for tumor growth and also lysis of tumor cells mediated by perforin and/or Fas. Consequently, efforts have focused on identifying tumor antigens, providing the antigens in immunogenic formats to induce responses, manipulating T-cell responses to increase the number of reactive cells, and augmenting effector functions.

1.4 Active and Passive Immunotherapy

A number of immunologic interventions, which can be divided into both passive and active, can be directed against tumor cells [13]. In passive cellular immunotherapy, specific effector cells are directly infused and are not induced or expanded within the patient. Lymphokineactivated killer (LAK) cells are produced from the patient's endogenous T-cells, which are extracted and grown in a cell culture system by exposing them to interlukin-2 (IL-2). The proliferated LAK cells are then returned to the patient's bloodstream. Clinical trials of LAK cells in humans are ongoing. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) may have greater tumoricidal activity than LAK cells. These cells are grown in culture in a manner similar to LAK cells. However, the progenitor cells consist of T-cells that are isolated from resected tumor tissue. This process theoretically provides a line of T-cells that has greater tumor specificity than those obtained from the bloodstream. Moreover, concomitant use of interferon enhances the expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) antigens and tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) on tumor cells, thereby augmenting the killing of tumor cells by the infused effector cells.

1.4.1 Active Immunotherapy

Inducing cellular immunity (involving cytotoxic T-cells) in a host that failed to spontaneously develop an effective response generally involves methods to enhance presentation of tumor antigens to host effector cells. Cellular immunity can be induced to specific, very well-defined antigens. Several techniques can be used to stimulate a host response; these may involve presenting peptides, DNA, or tumor cells (from the host or another patient). T-cells as the ultimate effectors of adaptive immune response are currently used to treat patients affected by infectious diseases and certain tumors. Recently, T-cells have been manipulated ex vivo with viral vectors coding for chimeric antigen receptors, exogenous T-cell receptors, or "suicide" genes to potentiate their efficacy and minimize possible side effects. However, the introduction of exogenous genes into T lymphocytes, particularly bacterial or viral transgene products, has occasionally produced immune-mediated elimination of transduced lymphocytes. This immune effect has recently been exploited in a trial of active immunotherapy in melanoma patients [14]. Peptides and DNA are often presented using antigen-presenting cells (dendritic cells). These dendritic cells (DCs) can also be genetically modified to secrete additional immune-response stimulants (e.g., granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF). These will be discussed in more detail later.

Peptide-based vaccines use peptides from defined TAAs. An increasing number of TAAs have been identified as the target of T-cells in cancer

		19
Туре	Application	Target
Alemtuzumab	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	CD52
Bevacizumab	Anti-angiogenic therapy	Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)
Cetuximab	Colorectal, head, and neck cancer	Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)
Gemtuzumab	Acute myeloid leukemia	Myeloid cell-surface antigen CD33 on leukemia cells
Ibritumomab	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	CD20
Nimotuzumab	Squamous cell carcinoma, glioma	EGFR inhibitor
Panitumumab	Colorectal cancer	EFGR
Rituximab	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	CD20 on B-lymphocytes
Tositumomab	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	CD20
Trastuzumab	Breast cancer	HER2/neu receptor
Cytokines		
Interferon-gamma	Melanoma, renal and kidney cancer, follicular lymphoma, hairy cell leukemia	IFN-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3)
Interlukin-2	Melanoma, renal and kidney carcinoma, hematological malignancies	Suppressors of cytokine signaling (SOCS) 1, SOCS2, dual-specificity phosphatase (DUSP) 5, DUSP6
Short peptides		
MART-1, gp100,	Melanoma	
tyrosine, MAGE-3		
PAP/GM-CSF	Prostate carcinoma	
MAGE-3.A24	Bladder cancer	
Follicular B-lymphoma	Idiotype/KLH conjugate	

Table 1.1 Monoclonal antibodies, cytokines, and short peptides used in cancer immunotherapy

patients and are being tested in clinical trials. Recent data indicate that responses are most potent if TAAs are delivered using dendritic cells. These cells are obtained from the patient, loaded with the desired TAA, and then reintroduced intradermally; they stimulate endogenous T-cells to respond to the TAA. Peptides can also be delivered by co-administration with immunogenic adjuvants (see Table 1.1 for representative list of monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), cytokines, and short peptides used in cancer immunotherapy).

DNA vaccines use recombinant DNA that encodes a specific (defined) antigenic protein. The DNA is incorporated into viruses that are injected directly into patients or, more often, introduced into Dcs obtained from the patients, which are then injected back into them. The DNA expresses the target antigen, which triggers or enhances patients' immune response.

Autochthonous tumor cells (cells taken from the host) have been reintroduced to the host after use of ex vivo techniques (e.g., irradiation, neuraminidase treatment, hapten conjugation, hybridization with other cell lines) to reduce their malignant potential and increase their antigenic activity. Allogeneic tumor cells (cells taken from other patients) have also been used in patients with acute lymphocytic leukemia and acute myeloblastic leukemia.

1.4.2 Nonspecific Immunotherapy

Interferons (IFN- α , IFN- β , IFN- γ) are glycoproteins that have antitumor and antiviral activity. Depending on dose, interferons may either enhance or decrease cellular and humoral immune functions. Interferons also inhibit division and certain synthetic processes in a variety of cells. Clinical trials have indicated that interferons have antitumor activity in various cancers, including hairy cell leukemia, chronic myelocytic leukemia, AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma, non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL), multiple myeloma, and ovarian carcinoma. However, interferons may have significant adverse effects, such as fever, malaise, leukopenia, alopecia, and myalgias. Certain bacterial adjuvants (BCG and derivatives, killed suspensions of *Corynebacterium parvum*) have tumoricidal properties. They have been used with or without added tumor antigen to treat a variety of cancers, usually along with intensive chemotherapy or radiation therapy. For example, direct injection of BCG into cancerous tissues has resulted in regression of melanoma and prolongation of disease-free intervals in superficial bladder carcinomas and may help prolong drug-induced remission in acute myeloblastic leukemia, ovarian carcinoma, and NHL.

1.5 Stimulation of Responses In Vivo

The poor immunogenicity of most tumor antigens largely reflects the nonconductive context in which these antigens are naturally presented, as well as tolerance resulting from most tumor antigens being normal proteins aberrantly expressed by the tumor. Therapeutic vaccines have attempted to circumvent these problems by presenting tumor antigens in a more enticing fashion, generally through activated DCs. This has been achieved either by the following:

- Isolating DCs and introducing the antigen ex vivo before returning the DCs to the host.
- Inoculating dead tumor cells modified to secrete factors such as granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) which promote local accumulation of DCs.
- Injecting activators of DCs, such as TLR ligands or mAb to CD40 with the antigen.
- Injecting recombinant vectors that provide both the antigen and a stimulus to the innate immune system [15].

The last category includes plasmid DNA containing the antigen and immunostimulatory CpG sequences as well as recombinant attenuated pathogens, such as adenoviruses or *Listeria monocytogenes*, that express the antigen and provide TLR ligands to trigger innate responses. However, most vaccinated patients exhibit only weak or undetectable T-cell responses to the tumor antigen and experience no clinical benefit. Therefore, methods to maintain APC activation and sustain immunogenic antigen presentation normally occurring during an encounter with a replicating foreign pathogen will likely be required before vaccines become more predictably beneficial.

An alternative to improving antigen presentation has been to mitigate negative checkpoint signals that limit the T-cell response. Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) is a potentregulator T-cell negative of activation. Administration of blocking antibodies to CTLA-4 has had marked effects in murine models and recent clinical trials, with lymphocytic infiltration into tumors and significant antitumor responses, including complete regressions of advanced disease in a fraction of patients [16-18]. However, global in vivo CTLA-4 blockade predictably had effects beyond the antitumor response, causing significant autoimmunity. These studies again demonstrate the potent antitumor activity of T-cells and suggest that learning how to safely and effectively disrupt checkpoint signals should yield substantial therapeutic benefit.

1.6 Adoptive Immunotherapy

There is now an emerging sense that cancer immunotherapy has the potential to effectively cure patients suffering from certain types of cancer. This hope and some of the data that supports one kind of immunotherapy (adoptive cell transfer or ACT) were recently summarized in a review article (adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: harnessing the T-cell response) [19]. Furthermore, high-dose chemoradiotherapy followed by rescue from the resulting ablation of normal bone marrow with an allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) has also become standard therapy for many hematologic malignancies. One problem with this treatment is graft-versus-host disease (GVHD), due to allogeneic donor-derived T-cells injuring the "foreign" normal tissues of the host. However,

malignant cells that survive chemoradiotherapy are also of host origin, and patients who develop GVHD have lower relapse rates from an associated graft-versus-tumor (GVT) effect. T-cells mediate this antitumor activity, as affirmed by the complete responses sometimes observed in patients who receive infusions of donor T-cells to treat relapse after HSCT and in recipients of a newly developed non-myeloablative allogeneic HSCT regimen in whom, because of the absence of high-dose chemoradiotherapy, all antitumor effects must result from GVT effects [20]. However, the GVT activity with these regimens is often associated with severe and lifethreatening GVHD. Ongoing efforts to define antigenic targets with limited tissue distribution, permitting donor lymphocytes to preferentially target malignant cells and not critical normal tissues, coupled with methods to generate and/ or select T-cells with such specificities, should provide a much-needed refinement to this approach [21].

An alternative to using allogeneic T-cells to mediate antitumor responses has been to isolate autologous tumor-reactive T-cells, expand the cells in vitro, and then reinfuse the cells back into the patient. This approach circumvents many of the obstacles to generating an adequate response in vivo, as the nature of the APCs and components of the microenvironment can be more precisely controlled in vitro. However, this strategy has required the recent development of methods to extensively manipulate T-cells in vitro with retention of specificity and function, such that after infusion the cells will survive and migrate to and eliminate tumor cells.

Initial therapies used tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes as an enriched source of tumor-reactive cells, but such cells can also usually be obtained from circulating blood lymphocytes. Although optimal methods for stimulating and expanding antigen-specific T-cells in vitro are still being defined, in general, DCs presenting the antigen are used to initially trigger reactive T-cells, which can then be selected and stimulated with antibodies to CD3. Supplemental cytokines are provided during cell culture to support lymphocyte proliferation, survival, and differentiation. With this approach, it has been possible to expand tumorreactive T-cells to enormous numbers in vitro, infuse billions of specific cells without overt toxicity to achieve in vivo frequencies beyond that attainable with current vaccine regimens, and mediate regression and occasionally complete elimination of large disseminated tumor masses. However, despite the high in vivo frequencies of tumor-reactive effector cells achieved, only a fraction of patients respond, indicating the existence of additional hurdles. One essential requirement is that infused cells must persist to mediate an effective response. Analogous adoptive therapy trials for cytomegalovirus and Epstein-Barr virus infection in immunosuppressed hosts have demonstrated increased in vivo proliferation and persistence of CD8⁺ effector T-cells in the presence of specific CD4⁺ helper T-cells [22]. Such CD4⁺ T-cells likely provide many beneficial functions, including cytokine production and APC activation, which can improve the quality and quantity of the CD8+ cell responses, as well as direct effector activities against infected or tumor targets. However, unlike viral responses that induce robust CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ responses, identifying and characterizing the specificity of tumor-reactive CD4+ T-cells has proven considerably more difficult than with CD8 responses. Additionally, obstacles to safely maintaining a CD4⁺ response reactive with a potentially normal protein remain to be elucidated. Consequently, CD4 help is largely provided to transfer tumorreactive CD8 cells in the form of surrogate exogenous cytokines. The largest experience is with IL-2, which prolongs persistence and enhances the antitumor activity of transferred CD8⁺ cells [23]. Alternative cytokines such as IL-15, IL-7, and IL-21, as well as activation of APCs with antibodies to CD40, are currently being evaluated in preclinical studies.

The infusion of T-cell clones, rather than polyclonal T-cell lines, represents an appealing refinement of adoptive therapy, because the specificity, avidity, and effector functions of infused cells can be precisely defined (Fig. 1.1). This facilitates subsequent analysis of requirements for efficacy, basis for toxicity, and rational design of improved therapies. The transfer of



Nature Reviews | Immunology

Fig. 1.1 Tumors are often complex masses containing diverse cell types. These masses can be surgically resected and fragmented, and the cells can be placed in wells into which a T-cell growth factor, such as interleukin-2 (IL-2), is added. T-cell populations that have the desired T-cell receptor (TCR) specificity can be selected and expanded and then adoptively transferred into patients with cancer. Prior to this adoptive transfer, hosts can be immunode-

antigen-specific CD8⁺ T-cell clones has been shown to be effective for prevention of viral infections and treatment of malignant disease. Such studies have also formally demonstrated that low, nontoxic doses of IL-2 are sufficient to promote the in vivo persistence and antitumor activity of CD8⁺ T-cells. pleted by either chemotherapy alone or chemotherapy in combination with total-body irradiation. The combination of a lymphodepleting preparative regimen, adoptive cell transfer, and a T-cell growth factor (such as IL-2) can lead to prolonged tumor eradication in patients with metastatic melanoma. *MDSC* myeloid-derived suppressor cell, *NK* natural killer, *Treg* regulatory T (Reprinted by permission from Nature Publishing Group: Restifo et al. [19])

1.7 Cancer Vaccines

Therapeutic cancer vaccines target the cellular arm of the immune system to initiate a cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response against tumor-associated antigens [24]. The development of human therapeutic cancer vaccines has come a long way since the discovery of MHC-restricted tumor antigens in the 1980s. The simplest model of immune cellmediated antigen-specific tumor rejection consists of three elements: appropriate antigen, specific for the tumor, efficient antigen presentation, and the generation of potent effector cells. Moreover, the critical time when immune responses against the tumor are most important should also be determined. While eliminating some early transformed cells may be ongoing in an asymptomatic way as part of the immunosurveillance, if early elimination failed, equilibrium between small tumors and the immune system may be established. If the immune system is unable to maintain this equilibrium, tumors may escape, and it is this last phase when they become symptomatic. Therapeutic cancer vaccines are applied in this last phase in order to reverse the lack of tumor control by the immune system. In addition to the increasing knowledge about how to optimize the elements of antitumor immunity in order to generate clinically relevant responses, there is an ever-increasing list of immune evasion mechanisms impeding the efforts of cancer vaccines. This indicates that the elements necessary for immune-mediated tumor rejection need to be optimized [25].

Potential tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) can be identified by the elution of peptides from MHC molecules on tumor cells [26] or with proteomic approaches such as two-dimensional gel electrophoresis, MALDI-MS, and SELDI-MS (matrix-assisted or surface-enhanced laserdesorption ionization mass spectrometry) [27]. Serological analysis of recombinant-cDNA expression-libraries (SEREX) is another widely used method; it utilizes sera of cancer patients to detect overexpressed antigens from tumor cDNA libraries [28]. Furthermore, several RNA-based methods have also gained importance: transcriptome analysis that includes DNA microarrays [29], serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE) [30], comparative genomic hybridization (CGH) [31], and massively parallel signature sequencing (MPSS) [32]. These methods provide an enormous amount of information and require complex computer-aided analysis and interpretation of the data, referred to as gene expression profiling. This is necessary in order to find gene expression patterns and to distinguish them from noise [33].

Following promising in vitro immunogenicity studies [34], multicenter vaccine trials have been organized with the sponsorship of the Cancer Vaccine Collaborative (NCI and Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research). These trials have provided some information about the optimum route of administration, type of vaccine, type of adjuvant, endpoints, etc. [35]. When testing the immunogenicity of candidate antigens and defining epitopes, it should be remembered that T-cells with high avidity for self-antigen undergo negative selection during T-cell development; thus, the new TAAs may only generate T-cell responses of intermediate or low affinity. Furthermore, the wide range of restriction elements in the human population means that due to the combination of tolerance and immunodominance, potentially ideal TAAs will not be equally immunogenic in all patients. Antigen loss may also occur during tumor progression, as TAAs, which are not necessary for the maintenance of the transformed phenotype, may be deleted and tumor cells in advanced disease may express antigens different from those in early stages [36]. Another promising approach to break this immune tolerance consists of the application of anti-idiotypic (anti-Id) mAbs, so-called Ab2, as antigen surrogates. This vaccination strategy also allows immunization against non-protein antigens (such as carbohydrates). In some clinical studies, anti-Id cancer vaccines induced efficient humoral and/or cellular immune responses associated with clinical benefit (see review by Ladjemi 2012) [37].

1.7.1 Dendritic Cells

DCs are the main antigen-presenting cells in the body [38], and their generation for antitumor immunity has been the focus of a vast array of scientific and clinical studies [39]. They are the main antigen-presenting cells (APCs) in the body. Immature DC (iDC) patrols the peripheral tissues, sampling antigen from the environment. Following their activation, DCs undergo a maturation process that involves the upregulation of T-cell co-stimulatory molecules (e.g., CD80, CD86) and increased cytokine secretion, a transient increase in phagocytosis followed by reduced antigen uptake, and expression of migratory molecules such as CCR7. These changes equip mature DC (mDC) to prime naive T-cells in the lymph nodes, in contrast to iDC that induces T-cell tolerance to antigen [40].

The ability of DCs to present protein tumor antigens (T-Ags) to CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cells is pivotal to the success of therapeutic cancer vaccines. DC's specialized capacity to cross-present exogenous Ags onto MHC class I molecules for generating T-Ag-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) has made these cells the focal point of vaccine-based immunotherapy of cancer (Fig. 1.2).

Dendritic cells can be loaded exogenously with TAA using whole cell populations or short peptides corresponding to epitopes from specific TAA. While the use of DC pulsed with short peptides can yield information on immune activation following therapy, they are not ideal therapeutic agents for a number of reasons. The most obvious reason is that the use of specific TAA depends on the identification of relevant TAA and not all cancers have well-defined TAA. Moreover, TAA expression within a tumor can be very heterogeneous [42]; thus, priming CTL specific for defined TAA peptides may encourage the outgrowth of non-expressing clones, leading to immune evasion. Furthermore, both MHC-1 and MHC-II epitopes are required for efficient T-cell priming. While a number of MHC-1-restricted peptides have been identified, fewer MHC-II epitopes are known. Synthetic long peptides, comprising both MHC-I and MHC-II epitopes, which require processing by DC before presentation, can overcome some of the limitations of small peptides, as they lead to extended epitope presentation.

An alternative to pulsing with peptide epitopes is to load DC with whole tumor cell preparations in the form of lysates or whole dead cells or by fusing DC with tumor cells [43]. Both allogeneic and autologous tumor material have been used to load DC with clinical trials carried out using preparations using both types [44].

Genetic modification of DC, using recombinant DNA viruses encoding TAA, has been demonstrated by several groups and can enhance T-cell priming potential via antigen presentation. DCs transduced to express the model tumor antigen β-galactosidase, using a recombinant adenoviral vector, were able to generate antigen-specific CTL responses [45]. A phase I/II trial using genetically modified DC showed that autologous DC could be transduced with high efficiency using a replication-defective adenovirus expressing full length melanoma-associated antigen recognized by T-cells (MART-1) and that the DC processed and presented the antigen for at least 10 days. Evidence of MART-1-specific CD4+ and CD8⁺ responses was found in around 50% of patients following vaccination [46].

In addition to loading DC with antigen, genetic approaches have been used to further optimize the maturation state of DC, for example, DC transfected with GM-CSF demonstrated increased antigen presentation and better migratory capacity, which translated into enhanced immune priming in vivo [47]. Other approaches include genetically modifying DC using adenoviral or retroviral vectors to directly express TH1 cytokine IL-12 [48], an adenovirus encoding CD40L [49], and modifying DC to express costimulatory molecules CD40L, CD70, and TLR4 called "TriMix" [50] and heat shock protein [51]. Furthermore, vaccines coupled to TLR ligands lead to efficient CTl activation by endogenous DC [52], and the use of oncolytic viruses also looks particularly promising [53].

Despite the use of mature DCs in vaccination trials, results from multiple clinical trials with DC-based vaccines have been contradictory, and only fractions of enrolled patients show potent antitumor or antiviral immune responses with moderate clinical response rates (approximately 10–15%) (see reviews [54, 55]). Several studies suggested that this is because of inefficient activation of Th1-polarized responses due to incomplete DC maturation. As a result, different strategies are currently being pursued in order to improve the efficacy and outcome of DC-based cancer vaccines. Considering the aforementioned powerful immune-stimulatory



Nature Reviews | Cancer

properties possessed by IL-12p70, DC-based vaccination strategies may consistently benefit from incorporation or endogenous induction of this cytokine. In a first phase I clinical trial by the group of Czerniecki [56], 13 breast cancer subjects were injected intranodally with short-term DCs activated with a cytokine cocktail

consisting of IFN- γ and LPS in order to induce IL-12p70-secreting DCs. The authors reported induction of robust detectable immunity as evidenced by in vitro monitoring of circulating vaccine-induced antigen-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cells, as well as both T- and B-cell infiltrates into tumor region and dramatic reductions

in tumor volume. Moreover, it has been demonstrated by others that DCs electroporated with mRNA encoding CD40 ligand, CD70, and constitutively active toll-like receptor 4, so-called TriMix DCs, display increased potential for the induction and amplification of tumor-specific responses in patients with advanced melanoma [57, 58].

One of the major obstacles against successful DC vaccination is the immunosuppressive mechanisms triggered by the tumor cells. Under the influence of the tumorigenic microenvironment, the host DCs may acquire a tolerogenic phenotype. These tumor-conditioned DCs could, in return, produce a variety of immunosuppressive molecules, thus further supporting tumor immune escape [59]. With respect to tackling different arms of the immune system, many different approaches are currently being pursued. In particular, considering the distinct ability of different DC subsets in inducing both innate and adaptive immunity, the exploitation of specific subsets of DCs to elicit the desired immune response is anticipated. Although pDCs primarily contribute to innate antiviral immune responses by producing IFN- α/β , this ability has also been reported to activate other DCs, including those involved in cross-priming and consequently greater activation of adaptive immune responses. In so doing, pDCs may play a critical role in provoking cancer immunity. Therefore, combination therapies aiming at interaction of pDCs and cDCs to stimulate T-cell priming and hence effective antitumor or antiviral immunity are needed in cancer patients and chronically infected patients.

1.7.2 Physical Barriers, Tumor Stroma, and Vessels

The tumor environment represents another challenge for cancer vaccines. Established epithelial tumors can be surrounded by basal membranelike structures, which prevent infiltration by lymphocytes and the expansion of tumor-specific T-cells at the tumor site and in lymphoid tissues [60]. Solid tumors larger than about

1-2 mm in diameter require the presence and support of stromal cells for blood supply, growth factors, and structural support. The stroma consists of cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAF), tumor endothelial cells (TEC), and tumor-associated macrophages (TAM) and can represent more than 50% of the tumor tissue depending on the type tumor [61]. Stromal cells do not only represent a physical barrier but also release soluble mediators (TGF- β , IL-10, prostaglandin) which inhibit immune responses and promote angiogenesis and tumor progression [62, 63]. Conventional cancer treatments, such as debulking surgery, chemotherapy, or radiotherapy, not only destroy tumor cells but also destroy or damage stromal cells that may contribute to breaking immunological resistance and immunosuppression [64]. The intricate interplay between tumor and stroma attracts their simultaneous immune destruction: when highly expressed TAAs on tumor cells are crosspresented by stromal cells to T-cells, the stromal component also becomes a target of cytotoxic T-cell killing [65].

TGF β -1 regulates the production of cytokines and growth factors by stromal and tumor cells, such as fibroblast growth factor (FGF), connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), which promote angiogenesis and tumor progression. The new tumor vasculature is generally both structurally and functionally abnormal, which makes trafficking/recirculation of the tumor tissue by lymphocytes and treatments including cancer vaccines extremely difficult. Anti-angiogenic treatments, including immunological targeting of antigens overexpressed on endothelial cells during angiogenesis or antibody blockade of VEGFreceptors, "normalize" the tumor vasculature [66, 67]. This treatment also reverts epithelial tumors to noninvasive type and may also aid the penetration of vaccines and other treatments in the tumor tissue. Moreover, IL-12 inhibits angiogenesis via an IFN- γ -mediated pathway [68], while adoptively transferred tumor-specific CD8+ T-cells destroy the vasculature of established tumors via an antigen-independent, IFN-y-dependent mechanism [69].

1.8 Mechanisms of Tumor-Induced Tolerance/Escape from the Immune System

Despite the evidence that immune effectors play a significant role in controlling role in tumor growth under natural conditions or in response to therapeutic manipulation, it is well known that malignant cells can evade immunosurveillance [70]. This is in part due to the fact that peptides with sufficient immunogenic potential are not presented by malignant cells to antigenpresenting cells under molecular/cellular conditions conducive to an effective immune response. From a Darwinian perspective, the neoplastic tissue can be envisaged as a microenvironment that selects for better growth and resistance to the immune attack. Cancer cells are genetically unstable and can lose their antigens by mutation. This instability, combined with an immunological pressure, could allow for selective growth of antigen-loss mutants [71]. Mechanistically, this could operate at several levels including loss of the whole protein or changes in immunodominant T-cell epitopes that alter T-cell recognition, antigen processing, or binding to the MHC. Antigen loss has been demonstrated in patients with melanoma and B-cell lymphoproliferative disease [72, 73]. Moreover, many cancer vaccines aim to induce a therapeutic CD8+ cytotoxic T-cell response against TAAs. This in turn is dependent on correct processing and presentation of TAAs by MHC class I molecules on tumor cells. This pathway is complex and involves multiple intracellular components. Defects in the components of the MHC class I antigen processing pathway are frequently found in human cancers and can occur in concert with the loss of tumor antigens [74, 75].

Other cancer-related mechanisms underlying tumor immune escape include loss of TAA expression [3], lack of co-stimulatory molecules expression [76], inactivating mutations of antigen presentation-related molecules [77], and production of soluble immunosuppressive factors, e.g., transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β), IL-10, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and nitric oxide (NO), produced by tumor cells. Furthermore, tumor-infiltrating immune cells such as suppressor immune cells, e.g., T regulatory (Treg) cells, macrophages, and myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSC), also influence this phenomenon and are now discussed in more detail.

1.8.1 Treg Cells

Since their discovery in the 1960s as suppressive T-cells, Tregs have been extensively studied in a wide range of both physiological and pathological conditions in human [78]. Treg suppresses T-cell responses and provides another mechanism compromising the development of effective tumor immunity [79]. These cells are usually CD4⁺ and are distinguishable phenotypically by expression of CD25 (the chain of the IL-2 receptor required for high affinity binding), high levels of CTLA-4, the glucocorticoid-induced TNFrelated receptor (GITR), and the forkhead transcription factor Foxp3. Treg cells can arise in response to persistent antigen stimulation in the absence of inflammatory signals, particularly in the presence of TGF-B, and have been detected in increased frequency in some cancer patients. Furthermore, tumor-induced expansion of regulatory T cells by conversion of CD4+ CD25+ lymphocytes is thymus- and proliferation-independent [80]. Thus, depleting Treg cells in vivo may facilitate the elaboration of effective antitumor T-cell responses.

Inhibiting Treg cell function in patients with cancer is an essential step if new therapies, especially immunotherapies, are to be clinically successful. Initial studies have indicated that depleting Treg cells from cancer patients might be a valid approach; more recent preliminary data has raised the hypothesis that functionally inactivating Treg cells might be a better alternative. Studies in murine tumor models targeting all CD25⁺ T-cells for depletion have appeared promising [81]. However, activated effector CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T-cells also express CD25, and depletion of these cells during the acute phase of the antitumor T-cell response may severely limit the application of this approach. The availability of the anti-CD25 mAb, PC61, has enabled the effects of Treg-cell depletion to be tested in murine models [82]. Despite some efficacy, intrinsic limitations apply when PC61 is used to treat established tumors as time course experiments have reported that its efficacy is lost as tumors progress [83]. Other mAbs to human CD25 that are available for clinical use, such as daclizumab, block IL-2, and receptor interactions are used to treat hematologic malignancies [84]. However, to date, most studies in humans have used the immunotoxin denileukin difitox (Ontak), a fusion protein between the IL-2 and diphtheria toxin, to selectively kill lymphocytes expressing the IL-2 receptor. The in vivo antitumor efficacy is still under preclinical and clinical investigation, and discrepant results have been reported so far.

Another approach is to inhibit tumor-specific Treg-cell expansion which could be achieved by inhibiting the indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase (IDO) pathway. Preclinical data confirm that the administration of an IDO inhibitor significantly decreases the rate of peripheral conversion and dramatically impairs tumor growth [85]. Another possible target is transformed growth factor (TGF), involved in both proliferation and conversion of Treg cells in tumor bearers. Genetically engineered mice that express a dominant negative form of the TGF receptor on lymphocytes show reduced, if not absent, growth of several transplanted tumors [86]. Moreover, CTLA-4 blockade or GITR triggering has been shown to reverse immune suppression as a result of Treg function both in vitro and in vivo [87].

Ultimately, by inducing Treg expansion, the tumor takes advantage of the inhibitory function that these cells exert on all the immune components. Avoiding the physical elimination of Treg cells would be potentially useful as it would prevent the induction of a new wave of peripherally converted Treg cells that are endowed with a wide TCR repertoire. Conversion would also redirect potential effector T-cells toward the Treg-cell phenotype. Alternatively, Treg-cell inactivation is a suitable strategy, which would functionally impair Treg-cell suppression without changing the TCR repertoire of the expanded Treg-cell population. Triggering of TLR8 or OX40, and potentially blocking adenosine, might improve the chances of neutralizing Treg-cell immunosuppression in cancer immunotherapy.

1.8.2 Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells

Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) are a heterogeneous population of cells that expand during cancer, inflammation, and infection and have a remarkable ability to suppress T-cell responses [88]. Although suppressive myeloid cells were described more than 20 years ago in patients with cancer [89], their functional importance in the immune system has only recently been appreciated.

Accumulating evidence has now shown that that this population of cells contributes to the negative regulation of immune responses during cancer and other diseases. Common features to all MDSCs are their myeloid origin, their immature state, and a remarkable ability to suppress T-cell responses. In addition to their suppressive effects on adaptive immune responses, MDSCs have also been reported to regulate innate immune responses by modulating the cytokine production of macrophages [90]. Studies have shown that the expansion and activation of MDSCs are influenced by several different factors, which can be divided into two main groups. The first includes factors that are produced primarily by tumor cells, which promote the expansion of MDSCs through the stimulation of myelopoiesis and inhibit the differentiation of mature myeloid cells. The second group of factors is produced mainly by activated T-cells and tumor cells and is involved in directly activating MDSCs. It has also become clear that the suppressive activity of MDSCs requires not only factors that promote their expansion but also factors that induce activation. The expression of these factors, which are produced mainly by activated T-cells and tumor stromal cells, is induced by different bacterial and viral products or as a result of tumor cell death [91].

The immunosuppressive activities of MSDCs require direct cell-cell contact, suggesting that

they function either through cell-surface receptors and/or through short-lived soluble mediator. Such mediators include arginase and nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) [92], reactive oxygen species (ROS) [93], and peroxynitrite [94]. Moreover, it has been reported that MDSCs promote de novo development of the FOXP3⁺ Treg cells in vivo [95]. As they are one of the main immunosuppressive factors in cancer and other pathological conditions, several different therapeutic strategies that target these cells are currently being explored. These include promoting myeloid-cell proliferation [96], inhibition of MDSC expansion [97], inhibition of MDSC function [98], and elimination of MDSC [99]. Ultimately, the roles of specific MDSC subsets in mediating T-cell suppression, and the molecular mechanisms responsible for the inhibition of myeloid differentiation, need to be elucidated. The issue of whether T-cell suppression occurs in an antigen-specific manner remains to be clarified, as do the mechanisms that induce MDSC migration to peripheral lymphoid organs. Some of the main priorities in this field should include a better characterization of human MDSCs and a clear understanding of whether targeting these cells in patients with various pathological conditions will be of clinical importance.

1.8.3 Macrophages

Macrophages undergo activation in response to environmental signals, including microbial products and cytokines [100]. In response to some bacterial moieties, e.g., lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and IFN- γ , macrophages undergo classic (M1) activation. Alternative (M2)activated macrophages come in different varieties depending on the eliciting signals mediated through receptors that include IL-4, IL-13, immune complexes plus signals mediated through receptors that involve downstream signaling through MyD88, glucocorticoid hormones, and IL-10. The various forms of M2 activation are oriented to the promotion of tissue remodeling and angiogenesis, parasite encapsulation, regulation of immune responses, as well as promotion of tumor growth. Recent results have highlighted the integration of M2-polarized macrophages with immunostimulatory pathways. They have been shown to induce differentiation of Treg cells [101], and conversely, Tregs have been reported to induce alternative activation of human mononuclear phagocytes [102]. Cancer has thus served as a paradigm of in vivo M2 polarization [103].

In spite of the many pro-tumor activities described for TAM, some studies have reported that high numbers of infiltrating TAM are associated with pronounced tumor cell apoptosis and improved disease-free survival [104]. Moreover, in experimental murine tumor models, the presence of macrophages has been shown to be essential for spontaneous tumor regression. The mechanisms behind the antitumor effects of TAM have not been fully elucidated and could potentially be ascribed to the presence of significant numbers of classically activated M1 macrophages. Macrophagemediated cytotoxicity involves diverse mechanisms including reactive nitrogen intermediates and members of the TNF receptor family. By damaging vascular cells and activating coagulation, M1 macrophages can elicit tissue- and tumor-destructive reactions that manifest as hemorrhagic necrosis. Recent evidence suggesting that TAM infiltration is positively correlated with response to anti-CD20 therapy in follicular lymphoma is likely the clinical counterpart of these properties [105]. Furthermore, it has been reported that dying tumor cells were able to cross-present antigen to DC in a toll-like receptor (TLR4) and MyD88-dependent manner and also trigger protective immune responses via the "danger signal" HMGB1, again signaling via TLR4 [106]. Thus, the challenge is to dissect pro- and antitumor activities of cancer-related inflammation and tipping the macrophage balance to "reeducate" TAM to exert protective antitumor responses.

1.9 Candidates for Immunotherapy in Oncology

Malignant melanoma, renal cancer, and prostate cancer are potentially immunogenic, making them good candidates for immunotherapeutic approaches [107, 108]. Melanoma has been the most popular target for T-cell-based immunotherapy in part as it is much easier to grow tumor-reactive T-cells from melanoma patients than any other type of human cancer [109]. However, many promising immune-based therapies have been ineffective in human clinical trials [110]. For example, although IL-2, licensed for use in malignant melanoma in the USA, can induce long-term regression of metastatic tumors, it has been associated with high levels of toxicity [111]. As yet, no approved therapy for advanced melanoma has improved overall survival to date. Other immunotherapies for melanoma have not been used outside the setting of clinical trials.

Immunotherapeutic approaches currently under investigation for renal cancer include vaccines, which have been used with limited success. In a phase I trial, a granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GMCSF)-secreting vaccine administered to patients with metastatic renal cancer induced significant tumor regression in one patient. Additionally, infusion with lymphocytes that secrete antitumor cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor, has also been used in clinical trials [112].

IL-2 is approved in the USA for the adjuvant therapy of stage III renal cancer [113]. In some cases, IL-2 has been demonstrated to induce long-term regression of metastatic tumors and durable complete responses of metastatic tumors, probably by inducing T-cell activation. Interferon- α has been used in clinical trials and has demonstrated a response rate of 15-20% in patients with metastatic disease. Combination therapy with IL-2 has demonstrated improved response rates versus IFN- α alone, although this has not been shown consistently [63].

1.10 Combination Immunotherapy

A deeper understanding of the mechanisms underlying the generation of tumor immunity has provided a framework for developing more potent immunotherapies. A major insight is that combinatorial approaches that address the multiplicity of defects in the host response are likely to be required for clinical efficacy [114]. In addition to surgery, nanotechnology [115] and molecular imaging [116] are methods employed with cancer immunotherapy. The following summarizes some of the combinations that have been tested in laboratory and clinical settings.

1.10.1 Chemotherapy and mAb

Immunostimulatory mAbs directed to immune receptors have emerged as a new and promising strategy to fight cancer. In general, mAbs can be designed to bind molecules on the surface of lymphocytes or antigen-presenting cells to provide activating signals, e.g., CD28, CD137, CD40, and OX40 [117]. MAbs can also be used to block the action of surface receptors that normally downregulate immune responses, cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4), and PD-1/B7-H1. In combined regimes of immunotherapy, these mAbs are expected to improve therapeutic immunizations against tumors as observed in preclinical studies. Anti-4-1BB (agonistic anti-CD137) mAb has been successfully tested as an anticancer molecule in preclinical studies [118]. Clinical trials of chemotherapy and mAb have resulted in some efficacy against cancer in patients [119]. For example, tremelimumab induced durable objective responses with lowgrade toxicities when used as second-line monotherapy in a phase I study with melanoma patients treated with single, escalating doses [120]. Moreover, phase I studies of ipilimumab were performed in patients with prostate, melanoma, and ovarian cancer. In these studies, patients after a single administration of ipilimumab achieved some clinical efficacy as demonstrated by incomplete reduction of tumor size with extensive tumor necrosis with leukocyte infiltration. In phase II studies, repeated administrations with ipilimumab allowed more patients to achieve objective responses [121]. The combination of ipilimumab with chemotherapeutics (dacarbazine) [122] or docetaxel [123] and with IL-2 [124] or melanomaassociated peptide vaccines [125] improved the rate of complete responses in patients compared with the monotherapy arms.

1.10.2 Chemotherapy and Active Specific Immunotherapy

The combination of active immunization with standard treatments is provocative because of the immunosuppressive effects of most standard treatments. Clinical trials utilizing both chemotherapy and vaccine therapy have been performed in patients with different cancer types, including glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) [126], colon cancer [127], pancreatic cancer [128], prostate cancer [129], and small-cell lung cancer [130]. For example, Wheeler et al. [126] investigated the clinical responsiveness of GBM to chemotherapy after vaccination. Three groups of patients were treated with chemotherapy alone, vaccination alone, or chemotherapy after vaccination. All patients subsequently underwent a craniotomy and received radiation. The vaccination consisted of autologous dendritic cells loaded with either peptides from cultured tumor cells or autologous tumor lysate. Results demonstrated a significantly longer postchemotherapy survival in the vaccine/chemotherapy group when compared with the vaccine and chemotherapy groups in isolation. Overall, data suggests that vaccination against cancer-specific antigens can sensitize the tumor against subsequent chemotherapeutic treatment. Although the mechanisms that underlie such a synergistic effect have not yet been elucidated, it is speculated that the vaccination-induced increase in the frequency of primed T-cells constitutes a major advantage by the time the tumor microenvironment is modified by cytotoxic drugs.

1.10.3 Chemotherapy and Adoptive Lymphocyte Immunotherapy

Lymphodepletion by chemotherapy followed by the adoptive transfer of lymphocytes has been evaluated in small-scale studies in melanoma patients [131]. In a study by Dudley et al. [132], 35 patients were adoptively transferred with autologous cytotoxic lymphocytes with the administration of IL-2 1 day after cyclophosphamide and fludarabine administration. They observed a complete response in only 3 patients, partial response in 15 patients, and no response in 17 patients. Larger-scale studies are needed to assess the efficacy of this treatment modality in cancer patients.

1.10.4 Immunotherapy with Radiation Therapy

Preclinical work in murine models suggests that local radiotherapy plus intratumoral syngeneic dendritic cell injection can mediate immunologic tumor eradication. Radiotherapy affects the immune response to cancer, besides the direct impact on the tumor cells, and other ways to coordinate immune modulation with radiotherapy have been explored. In a recent review, the potential for immune-mediated anticancer activity of radiation on tumors was reported [133]. This can be mediated by differential antigen acquisition and presentation by DC, through changes of lymphocytes' activation and changes of tumor susceptibility to immune clearance. The review alluded to recent work that has implemented the combination of external beam radiation therapy (EBRT) with intratumoral injection of DC. This included a pilot study of coordinated intraprostatic, autologous DC injection together with radiation therapy with five HLA-A2⁽⁺⁾ subjects with high-risk, localized prostate cancer; the protocol used androgen suppression; EBRT (25 fractions, 45 Gy); DC injections after fractions 5, 15, and 25; and then interstitial radioactive implant. Another was a phase II trial using neoadjuvant apoptosis-inducing EBRT plus intratumoral DC in soft tissue sarcoma to test if this would increase immune activity toward soft tissue sarcoma-associated antigens. In future, radiation therapy approaches designed to optimize immune stimulation at the level of DC, lymphocytes, tumor, and stroma effects could be evaluated specifically in clinical trials.

1.11 Humoral Immunotherapy

B-cell activation results in the production of antibodies that can bind to immunogenic cell-surface tumor proteins on cells. These initiate complement-mediated cell lysis, bridge NK cells, or macrophages to the tumor for antibodydependent T-cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC). They in turn interfere with tumor cell growth by blocking survival or inducing apoptotic signals or increase immunogenicity by facilitating the uptake and presentation of tumor antigens by APCs. Thus, enhancing B-cell responses in vivo or providing a large amount of in vitro-generated antibodies has the potential to promote antitumor activity.

The widely used rituximab binds CD20 and, if given alone or with chemotherapy, can induce high rates of remission in patients with B-cell lymphomas [134], as does cetuximab, which completely inhibits the binding of epidermal growth factor (EGF) [135]. Some mAbs can mediate antitumor activity independent of effector cells, such as by blocking essential survival signals or inducing apoptotic signals. For example, two mAbs approved for clinical use, reactive with the Her-2/Neu receptor on breast cancer cells and the epidermal growth factor receptor on epithelial tumors, provide therapeutic benefits in part by blocking growth signals. The antitumor activity of mAbs can also be enhanced by attaching radioisotopes or drugs or by engineering recombinant bi-specific antibodies that simultaneously bind tumor cells and activate receptors on immune effector cells such as CD3 or FcR [136].

The efficacy of stimulating a patient's own tumor-reactive B-cells may be limited by the magnitude of the antibody response that can be achieved in vivo. Nevertheless, this approach remains appealing because of demonstrations with tumor cell expression libraries that sera from a large fraction of patients already contain tumor-reactive antibodies. The simplest means to stimulate such B-cells in vivo is to provide tumor antigens in immunogenic vaccine formulations, such as mixed with adjuvants or conjugated to antigens that can elicit helper T-cell responses. Marked clinical results have been observed after priming patients with autologous dendritic cells (discussed previously). These cells were pulsed with the unique idiotypic immunoglobulin derived from the B-cell receptor of a patient's own B-cell lymphoma followed by boosting with the immunoglobulin conjugated to the helper protein keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH).

Alternative approaches for activating and expanding existing B-cell responses in vivo by ligation of co-stimulatory molecules, such as CD40 or by administration of the B-cell proliferative cytokine IL-4, have not met with much success in preclinical models and could potentially induce hazardous autoreactive antibodies. Thus, humoral therapy will likely continue to be dominated by passive administration of mAbs specific for selected tumor antigens.

1.12 Concluding Remarks

Immunotherapy of cancer has long been considered an attractive therapeutic approach. While mAbs, cytokines, and vaccines have individually shown some promise, it is likely that the best strategy to combat cancer is to attack on all fronts. Different strategies demonstrate benefit in different patient populations. To improve early encouraging clinical results, biomarkers to better select patients that may benefit from immunotherapy are actively sought. Furthermore, immunosuppression associated with cancer has to be overcome to allow better immunostimulation. It may be that the best results are obtained with vaccines in combination with a variety of antigens or vaccine and antibody combinations. Finally, combination of immunotherapy with conventional treatments (chemotherapy, anti-angiogenic, etc.) should further improve this approach, both in its effectiveness and in its clinical indications.

Acknowledgments The author is grateful to Tara Finn for the careful reading of this manuscript.

References

- Snook E, Waldman A. Advances in immunotherapy. Disc Med. 2013;15(81):120–5.
- Murphy JF. Trends in cancer immunotherapy. Clin Med Insights. 2010;4:67–80.
- Marincola FM, Jaffee EM, Hicklin DJ, Ferrone S. Escape of human solid tumors from T-cell recognition: molecular mechanisms and functional significance. Adv Immunol. 2000;74:181–73.
- 4. Groh V, Wu J, Yee C, Spies T. Tumor-derived soluble MIC ligands impair expression of NKG2D and T-cell activation. Nature. 2002;419:734–8.
- Gabrilovich DI, Chen HL, Girgis KR, Cunningham HT, Meny GM, Nadaf S, Kavanaugh D, Carbone DP. Production of vascular endothelial growth factor by human tumors inhibits the functional maturation of dendritic cells. Nat Med. 1996;2:1096–103.
- Wang T, Niu G, Kortylewski M, Burdelya L, Shain K, Zhang S, Bhattacharya R, Gabrilovich D, Heller R, Coppola D, Dalton W, Jove R, Pardoll D, Yu H. Regulation of the innate and adaptive immune responses by Stat-3 signaling in tumor cells. Nat Med. 2004;10(1):48–54.
- Woo EY, Yeh H, Chu C, Schlienger K, Carroll RG, Riley JL, Kaiser LR, June CH. Cutting edge: regulatory T-cells from lung cancer patients directly inhibit autologous T-cell proliferation. Immunology. 2002;168(9):4272–6.
- Engelhard VH, Bullock TN, Colella TA, Sheasley SL, Mullins DW. Antigens derived from melanocyte differentiation proteins: self-tolerance, autoimmunity, and use for cancer immunotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2002;188:136–46.
- Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The three Es of cancer immunoediting. Annu Rev Immunol. 2004;22:29–60.
- 10. Takeda K, Kaisho T, Akira S. Toll like receptors. Annu Rev Immunol. 2003;21:335–76.
- Gorelik L, Flavell RA. Immune-mediated eradication of tumors through the blockade of transforming growth factor-beta signaling in T-cells. Nat Med. 2001;7(10):1118–22.
- Huang AY, Golumbek P, Ahmadzadeh M, Jaffee E, Pardoll D, Levitsky H. Role of bone marrow-derived cells in presenting MHC class I-restricted tumor antigens. Science. 1994;264(5161):961–5.
- Gabrilovich D. Immunotherapy. In: Porter RS, Kaplan JL, editors. The Merck manual 2009:30(6):845–859.
- Russo V, Bondanza A, Ciceri F, Bregni M, Bordignon C, Traversari C, Bonini C. A dual role for genetically modified lymphocytes in cancer immunotherapy. Trends Mol Med. 2012;18(4):193–200.

- Pardoll DM. Tumor reactive T-cells get a boost. Nat Biotechnol. 2002;20(12):207–8.
- 16. van Elsas A, Sutmuller RP, Hurwitz AA, Ziskin J, Villasenor J, Medema JP, Overwijk WW, Restifo NP, Melief CJ, Offringa R, Allison JP. Elucidating the autoimmune and antitumor effector mechanisms of a treatment based on cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 blockade in combination with a B16 melanoma vaccine: comparison of prophylaxis and therapy. J Exp Med. 2001;194(4):481–48.
- 17. Phan GQ, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Hwu P, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, Restifo NP, Haworth LR, Seipp CA, Freezer LJ, Morton KE, Mavroukakis SA, Duray PH, Steinberg SM, Allison JP, Davis TA, Rosenberg SA. Cancer regression and autoimmunity induced by cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(14):8372–7.
- 18. Hodi FS, Mihm MC, Soiffer RJ, Haluska FG, Butler M, Seiden MV, Davis T, Henry-Spires R, MacRae S, Willman A, Padera R, Jaklitsch MT, Shankar S, Chen TC, Korman A, Allison JP, Dranoff G. Biologic activity of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 antibody blockade in previously vaccinated metastatic melanoma and ovarian carcinoma patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(8):4712–7.
- Restifo NP, Dudley ME, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: harnessing the T-cell response. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12:269–81.
- 20. Childs R, Chernoff A, Contentin N, Bahceci E, Schrump D, Leitman S, Read EJ, Tisdale J, Dunbar C, Linehan WM, Young NS, Barrett AJ. Regression of metastatic renal-cell carcinoma after nonmyeloablative allogeneic peripheral-blood stem-cell transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2000;343(11):750–8.
- Macary PA, Too CT, Dai X. Targeting tumors by adoptive transfer of immune cells. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 2006;33(5–6):569–74.
- 22. Rooney CM, Smith CA, Ng CY, Loftin SK, Sixbey JW, Gan Y, Srivastava DK, Bowman LC, Krance RA, Brenner MK, Heslop HE. Infusion of cytotoxic T-cells for the prevention and treatment of Epstein-Barr virus-induced lymphoma in allogeneic transplant recipients. Blood. 1998;92(5):1549–55.
- 23. Yee C, Thompson JA, Byrd D, Riddell SR, Roche P, Celis E, Greenberg PD. Adoptive T-cell therapy using antigen-specific CD8+ T-cell clones for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma: in vivo persistence, migration, and antitumor effect of transferred T-cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(25):16168–73.
- Hockertz S. Present and future of cancer vaccines. Toxicology. 2005;214(15):151–61.
- Rosenberg S, Yang J, Restifo N. Cancer immunotherapy: moving beyond current vaccines. Nat Med. 2004;10:909–15.
- Maeurer M, Martin D, Elder E, Storkus W, Lotze M. Detection of naturally processed and HLA-A1presented melanoma T-cell epitopes defined by CD8(+) T-cells' release of granulocyte-macrophage

colony-stimulating factor but not by cytolysis. Clin Cancer Res. 1996;2:87–95.

- 27. Hofmann S, Glückmann M, Kausche S, Schmidt A, Corvey C, Lichtenfels R, Huber C, Albrecht C, Karas M, Herr W. Rapid and sensitive identification of major histocompatibility complex class I-associated tumor peptides by Nano-LC MALDI MS/MS. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2005;4:1888–97.
- 28. Türeci O, Sahin U, Schobert I, Koslowski M, Scmitt H, Schild H, Stenner F, Seitz G, Rammensee H, Pfreundschuh M. The SSX-2 gene, which is involved in the t (X;18) translocation of synovial sarcomas, codes for the human tumor antigen HOM-MEL-40. Cancer Res. 1996;56:4766–72.
- Kononen J, Bubendorf L, Kallioniemi A, Bärlund M, Schraml P, Leighton S, Torhorst J, Mihatsch M, Sauter G, Kallioniemi O. Tissue microarrays for high-throughput molecular profiling of tumor specimens. Nat Med. 1998;4:844–7.
- Zhang L, Zhou W, Velculescu V, Kern S, Hruban R, Hamilton S, Vogelstein B, Kinzler K. Gene expression profiles in normal and cancer cells. Science. 1997;276:1268–72.
- Pinkel D, Albertson D. Array comparative genomic hybridization and its applications in cancer. Nat Genet. 2005;37:S11–7.
- 32. Brenner S, Johnson M, Bridgham J, Golda G, Lloyd D, Johnson D, Luo S, McCurdy S, Foy M, Ewan M, et al. Expression analysis by massively parallel signature sequencing (MPSS) on microbead arrays. Nat Biotechnol. 2000;18:630–4.
- Bucca G, Carruba G, Saetta A, Muti P, Castagnetta L, Smith C. Gene expression profiling of human cancers. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2004;1028:28–37.
- 34. Valmori D, Dutoit V, Liénard D, Rimoldi D, Pittet M, Champagne P, Ellefsen K, Sahin U, Speiser D, Lejeune F, et al. Naturally occurring human lymphocyte antigen-A2 restricted CD8+ T-cell response to the cancer testis antigen NY-ESO-1 in melanoma patients. Cancer Res. 2000;60:4499–506.
- 35. Nicholaou T, Ebert L, Davis I, Robson N, Klein O, Maraskovsky E, Chen W, Cebon J. Directions in the immune targeting of cancer: lessons learned from the cancer-testis Ag NY-ESO-1. Immunol Cell Biol. 2006;84:303–17.
- Barrow C, Browning J, MacGregor D, Davis I, Sturrock S, Jungbluth A, Cebon J. Tumor antigen expression in melanoma varies according to antigen and stage. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:764–71.
- Ladjemi MZ. Anti-idiotypic antibodies as cancer vaccines: achievements and future improvements. Front Oncol. 2012;2:158.
- Ilett EJ, Preswich RJD, Melcher AA. The evolving role of dendritic cells in cancer therapy. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2010;10(3):369–79.
- Robson NC, Hoves S, Maraskovsky E, Schnurr M. Presentation of tumor antigens by dendritic cells and challenges faced. Curr Opin Immunol. 2010;22(1):137–44.

- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature. 1994;392(6673):245–52.
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:265–77.
- Jungbluth AA, Busam KJ, Kolb D, Iversen K, Coplan K, Chen YT, Spagnoli GC, Old LJ. Expression of MAGE-antigens in normal tissues and cancer. Int J Cancer. 2000;85(4):460–5.
- 43. Redman BG, Chang AE, Whitfield J, Esper P, Jiang G, Braun T, Roessler B, Mulé JJ. Phase Ib trial assessing autologous, tumor-pulsed dendritic cells as a vaccine administered with or without IL-2 in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Immunother. 2008;31(6):591–8.
- 44. Hersey P, Halliday GM, Farrelly ML, DeSilva C, Lett M, Menzies SW. Phase I/II study of treatment with matured dendritic cells with or without low dose IL-2 in patients with disseminated melanoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57(7):1039–51.
- 45. Song W, Kong HL, Carpenter H, Torii H, Granstein R, Rafii S, Moore MA, Crystal RG. Dendritic cells genetically modified with an adenovirus vector encoding the cDNA for a model antigen induce protective and therapeutic antitumor immunity. J Exp Med. 1997;186(8):1247–56.
- 46. Butterfield LH, Comin-Anduix B, Vujanovic L, Lee Y, Dissette VB, Yang JQ, Vu HT, Seja E, Oseguera DK, Potter DM, Glaspy JA, Economou JS, Ribas A. Adenovirus MART-1-engineered autologous dendritic cell vaccine for metastatic melanoma. J Immunother. 2008;31(3):294–309.
- 47. Tcherepanova IY, Adams MD, Feng X, Hinohara A, Horvatinovich J, Calderhead D, Healey D, Nicolette CA. Ectopic expression of a truncated CD40L protein from synthetic post-transcriptionally capped RNA in dendritic cells induces high levels of IL-12 secretion. BMC Mol Biol. 2008;9:90.
- 48. Melero I, Duarte M, Ruiz J, Sangro B, Galofré J, Mazzolini G, Bustos M, Qian C, Prieto J. Intratumoral injection of bone-marrow derived dendritic cells engineered to produce interleukin-12 induces complete regression of established murine transplantable colon adenocarcinomas. Gene Ther. 1999;6(10):1779–84.
- 49. Gonzalez-Carmona MA, Lukacs-Kornek V, Timmerman A, Shabani S, Kornek M, Vogt A, Yildiz Y, Sievers E, Schmidt-Wolf IG, Caselmann WH, Sauerbruch T, Schmitz V. CD40ligand-expressing dendritic cells induce regression of hepatocellular carcinoma by activating innate and acquired immunity in vivo. Hepatology. 2008;48(1):157–68.
- 50. Bonehill A, Van Nuffel AM, Corthals J, Tuyaerts S, Heirman C, François V, Colau D, van der Bruggen P, Neyns B, Thielemans K. Single-step antigen loading and activation of dendritic cells by mRNA electroporation for the purpose of therapeutic vaccination in melanoma patients. Clin Cancer. 2009;15(10):3366–75.

- 51. Pilla L, Patuzzo R, Rivoltini L, Maio M, Pennacchioli E, Lamaj E, Maurichi A, Massarut S, Marchianò A, Santantonio C, Tosi D, Arienti F, Cova A, Sovena G, Piris A, Nonaka D, Bersani I, Di Florio A, Luigi M, Srivastava PK, Hoos A, Santinami M, Parmiani G. A phase II trial of vaccination with autologous, tumor-derived heat-shock protein peptide complexes Gp96, in combination with GM-CSF and interferon-alpha in metastatic melanoma patients. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2006;55(8):958–68.
- 52. Khan S, Bijker MS, Weterings JJ, Tanke HJ, Adema GJ, van Hall T, Drijfhout JW, Melief CJ, Overkleeft HS, van der Marel GA, Filippov DV, van der Burg SH, Ossendorp F. Distinct uptake mechanisms but similar intracellular processing of two different toll-like receptor ligand-peptide conjugates in dendritic cells. J Biol Chem. 2007;282(29):21145–59.
- Errington F, Steele L, Prestwich R, Harrington KJ, Pandha HS, Vidal L, de Bono J, Selby P, Coffey M, Vile R, Melcher A. Reovirus activates human dendritic cells to promote innate antitumor immunity. J Immunol. 2008;180(9):6018–26.
- Schuler G. Dendritic cells in cancer immunotherapy. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40(8):2123–30.
- 55. Van Brussel I, Berneman ZN, Cools N. Optimizing dendritic cell-based immunotherapy: tackling the complexity of different arms of the immune system. Mediat Inflamm. 2012;2012:690643.
- 56. Czerniecki BJ, Koski GK, Koldovsky U, et al. Targeting HER-2/neu in early breast cancer development using dendritic cells with staged interleukin-12 burst secretion. Cancer Res. 2007;67(4):1842–52.
- 57. van Nuffel AM, Benteyn D, Wilgenhof S, et al. Intravenous and intradermal TriMix-dendritic cell therapy results in a broad T-cell response and durable tumor response in a chemorefractory stage IV-M1c melanoma patient. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(7):1033–43.
- Wilgenhof S, van Nuffel AMT, Corthals J, et al. Therapeutic vaccination with an autologous mRNA electroporated dendritic cell vaccine in patients with advanced melanoma. J Immunother. 2011;34(5):448–56.
- Liu Q, Zhang C, Sun A, Zheng Y, Wang L, Cao X. Tumor-educated CD11bhighIalow regulatory dendritic cells suppress T-cell response through arginase I. J Immunol. 2009;182(10):6207–16.
- 60. Menon A, Fleuren G, Alphenaar E, Jonges L, van Rhijn JC, Ensink N, Putter H, Tollenaar R, van de Velde C, Kuppen P. A basal membrane-like structure surrounding tumor nodules may prevent intraepithelial leucocyte infiltration in colorectal cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2003;52:121–6.
- Hofmeister V, Vetter C, Schrama D, Bröcker E, Becker J. Tumor stroma-associated antigens for anti-cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2006;55:481–94.
- 62. Yu P, Rowley D, Fu Y, Schreiber H. The role of stroma in immune recognition and destruction of

well-established solid tumors. Curr Opin Immunol. 2006;18:226–31.

- 63. Yang F, Tuxhorn J, Ressler S, McAlhany S, Dang T, Rowley D. Stromal expression of connective tissue growth factor promotes angiogenesis and prostate cancer tumorigenesis. Cancer Res. 2005;65:8887–95.
- 64. Vosseler S, Mirancea N, Bohlen P, Mueller M, Fusenig N. Angiogenesis inhibition by vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 blockade reduces stromal matrix metalloproteinase expression, normalizes stromal tissue, and reverts epithelial tumor phenotype in surface heterotransplants. Cancer Res. 2005;65:1294–305.
- 65. Tuxhorn J, McAlhany S, Yang F, Dang T, Rowley D. Inhibition of transforming growth factor-beta activity decreases angiogenesis in a human prostate cancer-reactive stroma xenograft model. Cancer Res. 2002;62:6021–5.
- 66. Zhou H, Luo Y, Mizutani M, Mizutani N, Reisfeld R, Xiang R. T-cell-mediated suppression of angiogenesis results in tumor protective immunity. Blood. 2005;106:2026–32.
- Jain R. Normalization of tumor vasculature: an emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy. Science. 2005;307:58–62.
- Strasly M, Cavallo F, Geuna M, Mitola S, Colombo M, Forni G, Bussolino F. IL-12 inhibition of endothelial cell functions and angiogenesis depends on lymphocyte–endothelial cell cross-talk. J Immunol. 2001;166:3890–9.
- Blohm U, Potthoff D, van der Kogel V, Pircher H. Solid tumors "melt" from the inside after successful CD8 T-cell attack. Eur J Immunol. 2006;36:468–77.
- Mocellin S, Pilati P, Nitti D. Peptide-based anticancer vaccines: recent advances and future perspectives. Curr Med Chem. 2009;16:4779–96.
- Jager E, Ringhoffer M, Karbach J, Arand M, Oesch F, Knuth A. Inverse relationship of melanocyte differentiation antigen expression in melanoma tissues and CD8+ cytotoxic-T-cell responses: evidence for immunoselection of antigen-loss variants in vivo. Int J Cancer. 1996;66:470–6.
- 72. Maeurer MJ, Gollin SM, Martin D, Swaney W, Bryant J, Castelli C, Robbins P, Parmiani G, Storkus WJ, Lotze MT. Tumor escape from immune recognition: lethal recurrent melanoma in a patient associated with downregulation of the peptide transporter protein TAP-1 and loss of expression of the immunodominant MART-1/Melan-A antigen. J Clin Invest. 1996;98:1633–41.
- 73. Gottschalk S, Ng CY, Perez M, Smith CA, Sample C, Brenner MK, Heslop HE, Rooney CM. An Epstein– Barr virus deletion mutant associated with fatal lymphoproliferative disease unresponsive to therapy with virus-specific CTLs. Blood. 2001;97:835–43.
- Yewdell JW. The seven dirty little secrets of major histocompatibility complex class I antigen processing. Immunol Rev. 2005;207:8–18.

- Seliger B, Maeurer MJ, Ferrone S. Antigenprocessing machinery breakdown and tumor growth. Immunol Today. 2000;21:455–64.
- Zang X, Allison JP. The B7 family and cancer therapy: costimulation and coinhibition. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:5271–9.
- 77. Seliger B, Ritz U, Abele R, Bock M, Tampe R, Sutter G, Drexler I, Huber C, Ferrone S. Immune escape of melanoma: first evidence of structural alterations in two distinct components of the MHC class I antigen processing pathway. Cancer Res. 2001;61:8647–50.
- Colombo P, Piconese S. Regulatory T-cell inhibition versus depletion: the right choice in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2007;7:880–7.
- Shimizu J, Yamazaki S, Sakaguchi S. Induction of tumor immunity by removing CD25⁺CD4+ T-cells: a common basis between tumor immunity and autoimmunity. J Immunol. 1999;163(10):5211–8.
- Valzasina B, Piconese S, Guiducci C, Colombo MP. Tumor-induced expansion of regulatory T-cells by conversion of CD4⁺ CD25⁺ lymphocytes is thymus and proliferation independent. Cancer Res. 2006;66:4488–95.
- 81. Sutmuller RP, van Duivenvoorde LM, van Elsas A, Schumacher TN, Wildenberg ME, Allison JP, Toes RE, Offringa R, Melief CJ. Synergism of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 blockade and depletion of CD25(+) regulatory T-cells in antitumor therapy reveals alternative pathways for suppression of autoreactive cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses. J Exp Med. 2001;194(6):823–32.
- Comes A, Rosso O, Orengo AM, Di Carlo E, Sorrentino C, Meazza R, Piazza T, Valzasina B, Nanni P, Colombo MP, Ferrini S. CD25+ regulatory T-cell depletion augments immunotherapy of micrometastases by an IL-21-secreting cellular vaccine. J Immunol. 2006;176:1750–8.
- Betts G, Twohig J, Van den Broek M, Sierro S, Godkin A, Gallimore A. The impact of regulatory T-cells on carcinogen-induced sacrogenesis. Br J Cancer. 2007;96:1849–54.
- Waldmann TA. Daclizumab (anti-Tac, Zenepax) in the treatment of leukemia/lymphoma. Oncogene. 2007;26:3699–703.
- Hou DY. Inhibition of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in dendritic cells by stereoisomers of 1-methyltryptophan correlates with anti-tumor responses. Cancer Res. 2007;67:792–801.
- 86. Ghiringelli F, Puig PE, Roux S, Parcellier A, Schmitt E, Solary E, Kroemer G, Martin F, Chauffert B, Zitvogel L. Tumor cells convert immature myeloid dendritic cells into TGFb-secreting cells inducing CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T-cell proliferation. J Exp Med. 2005;202:919–29.
- Shimuzu J, Yamazaki S, Takahashi T, Ishida Y, Sakaguchi S. Stimulation of CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T-cells through GITR breaks immunological self-tolerance. Nat Immunol. 2002;3:135–42.
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9:162–74.

- Young MRI, Newby M, Wepsic TH. Hematopoiesis and suppressor bone marrow cells in mice bearing large metastatic Lewis lung carcinoma tumors. Cancer Res. 1987;47:100–6.
- Sinha P, Clements VK, Bunt SK, Albelda SM, Ostrang-Rosenberg S. Cross-talk between myeloidderived suppressor cells and macrophages subverts tumor immunity toward a type 2 response. J Immunol. 2007;179:977–83.
- Delano MJ. MyD88-dependent expansion of an immature GR-1+ CD11b+ population induces T-cell suppression and Th2 polarization in sepsis. J Exp Med. 2007;204:1463–74.
- Rodriguez PC, Ochoa AC. Argenine regulation by myeloid derived suppressor cells and tolerance in cancer: mechanisms and therapeutic perspectives. Immunol Rev. 2008;222:180–91.
- Agostinelli E, Seler N. Non-irradiation-derived reactive oxygen species (ROS) and cancer: therapeutic implications. Amino Acids. 2006;31:341–55.
- 94. Nakamura Y, Yasuoka H, Tsujimoto M, Yoshidome K, Nakahara M, Nakao K, Nakamura M, Kakudo K. Nitric oxide in breast cancer: induction of vascular endothelial growth factor-C and correlation with metastasis and poor prognosis. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(4):1201–7.
- 95. Huang B, Pan PY, Li Q, Sato AI, Levy DE, Bromberg J, Divino CM, Chen SH. Gr-1+ CD115+ immature myeloid suppressor cells mediate the development of tumor-induced T regulatory cells and T-cell anergy in tumor-bearing host. Cancer Res. 2006;66(2):1123–31.
- 96. Gabrilovich DI, Velders M, Sotomayor E, Kast WM. Mechanism of immune dysfunction in cancer mediated by immature Gr-1+ myeloid cells. J Immunol. 2001;166:5398–406.
- 97. Pan PY, Wang GX, Yin B, Ozao J, Ku T, Divino CM, Chen SH. Reversion of immune tolerance in advanced malignancy: modulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cell development by blockade of stem-cell factor function. Blood. 2008;111(1):219–28.
- Shina P, Clements VK, Fulton AM, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Prostaglandin E2 promotes tumor progression by inducing myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cancer Res. 2007;67:4507–13.
- 99. Diaz-Montero CM, Salem ML, Nishimura MI, Garrett-Mayer E, Cole DJ, Montero AJ. Increased circulating myeloid-derived suppressor cells correlate with clinical cancer stage, metastatic tumor burden, and doxorubicin-cyclophosphamide chemotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58(1):49–59.
- 100. Mantovani A, Sica A, Allavena P, Garlanda C, Locati M. Tumor-associated macrophages and the related myeloid-derived suppressor cells as a paradigm of the diversity of macrophage activation. Hum Immunol. 2009;70:325–30.
- 101. Savage NDL, de Boer T, Walburg KV, Joosten SA, van Meijgaarden K, Geluk A, Ottenhoff THM, Savage ND. Human anti-inflammatory macrophage induce Foxp3-GITR CD25⁺ regulatory T-cells,

which suppress via membrane-bound TGFbeta-1. J Immunol. 2008;181:2220–6.

- 102. Tiemessen MM, Jagger AL, Evans HG, van Herwijnen MJ, John S, Taams LS. CD4+ CD25+ Foxp3+ regulatory T-cells induce alternative activation of human monocytes/macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104:19446–51.
- 103. De Palma M, Murdoch C, Venneri MA, Naldini L, Lewis CE. Tie2-expressing monocytes: regulation of tumor angiogenesis and therapeutic implications. Trends Immunol. 2007;28:519–24.
- 104. Forssell J, Oberg A, Henrikkson ML, Stenling R, Jung A, Palmqvist R. High macrophage infiltration along the tumor front correlates with improved survival in colon cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;3:1472–9.
- 105. Taskinen M, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, Nyman H, Eerola LM, Leppa S. A high tumor-associated macrophage content predicts favorable outcome in follicular lymphoma patients treated with rituximab and cyclophosphamide-doxorubicin-vincristine-prednisone. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:5784–9.
- 106. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, Mignot G, Maiuri MC, Ullrich E, Saulnier P, Yang H, Amigorena S, Ryffel B, Barrat FJ, Saftig P, Levi F, Lidereau R, Nogues C, Mira JP, Chompret A, Joulin V, Clavel-Chapelon F, Bourhis J, André F, Delaloge S, Tursz T, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Nat Med. 2007;13(9):1050–9.
- Weiner LM. Cancer immunotherapy—the endgame begins. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(25):2664–5.
- 108. Finn OJ. Cancer immunology. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(25):2704–15.
- 109. Pardoll D. T-cells take aim at cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(25):15840–2.
- Dummer R, Hauschild A, Jost L. Cutaneous malignant melanoma: ESMO clinical recommendations for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2008;19:1186–8.
- 111. Atkins MB, Lotze MT, Dutcher JP, Fisher RI, Weiss G, Margolin K, Abrams J, Sznol M, Parkinson D, Hawkins M, Paradise C, Kunkel L, Rosenberg SA. High-dose recombinant interleukin 2 therapy for patients with metastatic melanoma: analysis of 270 patients treated between 1985 and 1993. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17(7):2105–16.
- Armstrong AC, Eaton D, Ewing JC. Science, medicine, and the future: cellular immunotherapy for cancer. BMJ. 2001;323(7324):1289–93.
- Kim-Schulze S, Taback B, Kaufman HL. Cytokine therapy for cancer. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2007;16(4):793–818.
- 114. Hodi S, Dranoff G. Combinatorial cancer immunotherapy. Adv Immunol. 2006;90:341–68. Allison JP, Dranoff G, Alt FW, editors. p. 341–68
- 115. Cohen EP, Chopra A, O-Sullivan I, Kim TS. Enhancing cellular cancer vaccines. Immunotherapy. 2009;1(3):495–04.

- 116. Wang Q, Ornstein M, Kaufman HL. Imaging the immune response to monitor tumor immunotherapy. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2009;8(10):1427–37.
- 117. Axevanis CN, Perez SA, Papamichail M. Cancer immunotherapy. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci. 2009;46(4):167–89.
- Meleroet I, Hervas-Stubbs S, Glennie M, Pardoll DM, Chen L. Immunostimulatory monoclonal antibodies for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2007;7:95–106.
- 119. Frazier JL, Han JE, Lim M, Olivi A. Immunotherapy combined with chemotherapy in the treatment of tumors. Neurosurg Clin Am. 2010;21:187–94.
- 120. Ribas A, Camacho LH, Lopez-Berestein G, Pavlov D, Bulanhagui CA, Millham R, Comin-Anduix B, Reuben JM, Seja E, Parker CA, Sharma A, Glaspy JA, Gomez-Navarro J. Antitumor activity in melanoma and anti-self responses in a phase I trial with the anti-cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 monoclonal antibody CP-675,206. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:8968–77.
- 121. Maker AV, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, Kammula US, Royal RE, Hughes M, Yellin MJ, Haworth LR, Levy C, Allen T, Mavroukakis SA, Attia P, Rosenber SA. Intrapatient dose escalation of anti-CTLA-4 antibody in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Immunother. 2006;29:455–563.
- 122. Hersh E, Weber J, Powderley J. Disease control and long term survival in chemotherapy naive patients with advanced melanoma with ipilimumab (MDX-010) with or without dacarbazine. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(abstr 9022):488s.
- 123. Small EJ, Higano C, Tchekmedyian NS. Randomized phase II study comparing 4 monthly doses of ipilimumab (MDX-010) as a single agent or in combination with a single dose of docetaxel in patients with hormone refractory prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(abstr 4069):243s.
- 124. Maker AV, Phan GQ, Attia P, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, Kammula US, Royal RE, Haworth LR, Levy C, Kleiner D, Mavroukakis SA, Yellin M, Rosenberg SA. Tumor regression and autoimmunity in patients treated with cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 blockade and interlukin-2: a phase I/II study. Ann Surg Oncol. 2005;12:1005–16.
- 125. Attia P, Phan GQ, Maker AV, Robinson MR, Quezado MM, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, Kammula US, Royal RE, Restifo NP, Haworth LR, Levy C, Mavroukakis SA, Nichol G, Yellin MJ, Rosenberg SA. Autoimmunity correlates with tumor regression in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with anti-cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:6043–53.
- Wheeler CJ, Das A, Liu G, Yu JS, Black KL. Clinical responsiveness of glioblastoma multiforme to chemotherapy after vaccination. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10:5316–26.
- 127. Harrop R, Drury N, Shingler W, Chikoti P, Redchenko I, Carroll MW, Kingsman SM, Naylor S, Griffiths R, Steven N, Hawkins RE. Vaccination of colorectal

cancer patients with TroVax given alongside chemotherapy (5-fluorouracil, leukovorin and irinotecan) is safe and induces potent immune responses. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57:977–86.

- 128. Yanagimoto H, Mine T, Yamamoto K. Immunological evaluation of personalized peptide vaccination with gemcitabine for pancreatic cancer. Cancer Sci. 2007;98:605–11.
- 129. Arlen PM, Gulley JL, Parker C. A randomized phase II study of concurrent docetaxel plus vaccine versus vaccine alone in metastatic androgenindependent prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(4):1260–9.
- Antinio SJ, Mirza N, Fricke L. Combination of p53 cancer vaccine with chemotherapy in patients with extensive stage small cell lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:878–87.
- 131. Appay V, Voelter V, Rufer N, et al. Immunological evaluation of personalized peptide vaccination with

gemcitabine for pancreatic cancer. Cancer Sci. 2007;97:605–11.

- 132. Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Yang JC, et al. Adoptive cell transfer therapy following nonmyeloablative but lymphodepleting chemotherapy for the treatment of patients with refractory metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:2346–57.
- 133. Finkelstein SE, Fishman M. Clinical opportunities in combining immunotherapy with radiation therapy. Front Oncol. 2012;2:169.
- 134. Clynes RA, Towers TL, Presta LG, Ravetch JV. Inhibitory fc receptors modulate in vivo cytotoxicity against tumor targets. Nat Med. 2000;6(4):443–6.
- 135. Vincenzi B, Zoccoli A, Pantano F, Venditti O, Galluzzo S. Cetuximab: from bench to bedside. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2010;10(1):80–95.
- 136. Carter PJ, Senter PD. Antibody-drug conjugates for cancer therapy. Cancer J. 2008;14(3):154–69.



Novel Strategy of Cancer Immunotherapy: Spiraling Up

2

Irina Zh. Shubina, Irina O. Chikileva, Igor V. Samoylenko, and Mikhail V. Kiselevskiy

Contents

2.1	Introduction	25	
2.2	Natural Killer Cells: The Key Effectors of Innate Immunity	26	
2.3	Adoptive IL-2/LAK (or CIK) Therapy of Cancer	28	
2.4	Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes (TILs) in Cancer Immunotherapy	29	
2.5	Autologous Vaccines on the Base of Dendritic Cells (DC Vaccines)	31	
2.6	Advantages of Combined Implication of DC Vaccines and Activated Lymphocytes	32	
2.7	Combination of Immune Checkpoint Blockade and Adoptive Immunotherapy	32	
2.8	CART Cells	34	
2.9	Spiral Up	35	
2.10	Concluding Remarks	36	
Refer	References		

2.1 Introduction

The early internationally accepted ideas of basic immune mechanisms date back to 1908 when the two outstanding scientists—Russian physiologist Ilya Mechnikov and German researcher Paul Ehrlich—shared the Nobel Prize for the discovery of cell immunity (phagocytosis, I. Mechnikov) and humoral immunity (antibody development, P. Ehrlich). These major immune mechanisms determine individual resistance to infections, and the later studies led to a scientific discussion on antitumor immunosurveillance and, more recently, immunoediting. Different evidence may prove active function of antitumor immunity:

- Phenomenon of spontaneous regression of a primary tumor or metastases.
- Although occasional, it is a registered fact. The regression of primary skin melanoma or lung metastases from renal cell carcinoma

I. Z. Shubina (⊠) · I. O. Chikileva · M. V. Kiselevskiy Laboratory of Cell Immunity, N.N. Blokhin Russian Cancer Research Center, Moscow, Russia e-mail: irinashubina@mail.ru

I. V. Samoylenko Department of Biotherapy of Tumors, N.N. Blokhin Russian Cancer Research Center, Moscow, Russia

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

N. Rezaei (ed.), Cancer Immunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_2

occurs in one third of the cases as partial spontaneous regression. Complete melanoma regression was observed in 1-2% of tumors. In case of palliative resection of kidney, spontaneous regression of some lung metastases was also registered.

- Detection of the cellular stromal reaction to tumor progression.
- Morphological studies reveal tumor infiltration by immune cells such as lymphocytes, macrophages, granulocytes, MDSC, etc.
- AIDS-associated tumors.
- Mechanism of tumor escape from the immune attack is primarily based on the lack of specific antigens on tumor cell surface and loss or downregulation of the expression of molecules of major histocompatibility complex (MHC), which are necessary factors for initiation of adaptive immune response and generation of antigen-specific T-lymphocytes. These findings can partly explain the poor results of most clinical trials studying the effectiveness of dendritic cell-based vaccines and some other immunization types relying on specific immunity.

Recent data have given more evidence in favor of innate immunity being the main arm of immunosurveillance in the fight against tumor development. Moreover, natural killer cells (NKs) play a crucial role as they can recognize and lyse transformed cells in an MHC and antigen-independent manner. In addition, an important part in implementation of antitumor defense is assigned to other effectors of innate immunity such as natural killer T cells (NKT). Along with the mentioned functions, innate immunity effectors can have a negative regulatory effect on antitumor immunobiological surveillance by secreting T-helper cell type 2 (Th2) cytokines. Antitumor immunity has been the subject of most thorough interest and detailed investigation over the last decades. Contemporary standpoints in understanding mechanisms of innate and adaptive immunity are the basis for development and improvement of immunotherapy approaches. Even though numerous research data on cell-based technologies offer extensive information, no comprehensive concept of the most effective implication of antitumor immunotherapy is available so far. This chapter presents an overview of the most extensively studied approaches that make the ground for an immunotherapeutic strategy at the next step of the research ladder.

2.2 Natural Killer Cells: The Key Effectors of Innate Immunity

Natural killer (NK) cells are effector cells that play a critical role in the early innate immune response to pathogens and cancer [1].

NK cells were identified in humans and mice in 1975 as a result of their specific function of lysing certain tumor cells with no prior stimulation. NK cells were qualified as lymphocytes on the basis of their morphology, expression of lymphocyte markers, and their origin from the common lymphoid progenitor cell in the bone marrow. NKs, however, are regarded as part of innate immune defense as they lack antigenspecific cell surface receptors. Unlike T- or B-lymphocytes of the adaptive or antigen-specific immunity, NK cells do not rearrange T-cell receptor or immunoglobulin genes from their germline configuration. The NK morphologic type of large granular lymphocytes shows (due to a large number of secreting granules) their high functional activity, and they have characteristic immunophenotype CD3⁻/CD16⁺/CD56⁺. NKs account for 5-20% of total lymphocyte number in humans. NK cells can detect and lyse cells with deficient expression of MHC class I (MHC-I) molecules, which help better understanding of the function and role of NK cells in the immune response. These cells also bear receptors to IL-2, and evidently, they can be activated by this endogenous cytokine or its exogenous analogues. Being effectors of the innate immunity, NKs need no cascade of antigen presentation reactions to perform their function (Fig. 2.1). Along with neutrophils, NKs may be considered "the first line of defense" of the immunosurveillance as they can cause lysis of a transformed cell after contacting it with no additional stimuli. However, NK cell triggering function relies on a complex balance



between inhibitory and activating signals and requires not only a deficient MHC-I expression on target cells but also the expression of inducible ligands of activating NK cell receptors. Both points are crucial for antitumor immunity performance since transformed tumor cells may shed off MHC molecules, lose tissue-specific antigens, or acquire features of embryonic cells (lowdifferentiated embryocarcinomas) and thereby "escape" from specific immunity. Such particularly malignant cells may become the target for NKs. These effector cells have the ability to recognize and destroy a wide range of abnormal cells (including tumor cells, virus-infected cells, cells bound to an antibody, allogeneic cells), as well as stressed cells, without damaging the healthy and normal "self" cells. Tumors developed mechanisms to escape NK cell control such as the shedding off soluble NKG2D ligands that function as decoys for the activating NKG2D receptor on NK cells, a phenomenon correlating with poor prognosis in human melanoma and prostate cancer [2].

NK cells can regulate immune responses by activating DCs and promoting their differentiation into mature, high IL-12-producing type 1 polarized DCs (DC1) with enhanced capacity to induce Th1 and CTL responses, the response most desirable against cancer [3]. Conversely, the innate and effector functions of NK cells require close interactions with activated DCs. Cell membrane-associated molecules and soluble mediators, including cytokines and prostaglandins (PGs), contribute to the bidirectional cross talk between DCs and NK cells [4, 5].

NK cells use an array of innate receptors to sense their environment and respond to alterations caused by infections, cellular stress, and transformation. The activity of NK cells is controlled by balancing inputs from activating and inhibitory receptors. The most important ligands for inhibitory receptors are MHC-I molecules. Since normal cells express high levels of MHC-I, they are most often protected from NK cell killing. In contrast, target cells expressing downregulated levels of MHC-I are seen as "missing self" and killed [6, 7].

Three predominant superfamilies of NK cell receptors (NKRs) have been identified that can either inhibit or activate NK cell function: killer immunoglobulin (Ig)-like receptors (KIRs) that bind to classical class I MHC molecules, C-type lectin receptors that bind to nonclassical class I MHC molecules or "class I-like" molecules, and natural cytotoxicity receptors for which ligands are currently not well defined [8]. The different NK cell subsets show important differences in their cytotoxic potential, capacity for cytokine production, and responses to cytokine activation. The CD56^{bright} NK cells are the major population of NK cells that produce immunoregulatory cytokines, including interferon- γ (IFN- γ), tumor necrosis factors $(TNF-\alpha)$ TNF- β), and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and interleukins (IL-10 and IL-13) after monokine stimulation. On the other hand, immunoregulatory cytokine production by CD56^{dim} NK cells is negligible even following specific stimulation [9].

The above-described characteristics and functions show that NKs are obviously a valuable source for adoptive antitumor immunotherapy, and they can not only recognize and lyse transformed cells with no or low expression of MHC and tumor-associated antigens but also play an important role in regulation of immune reactions, which makes a rationale for combination of antitumor vaccines and NKs in immunotherapy approaches.

2.3 Adoptive IL-2/LAK (or CIK) Therapy of Cancer

IL-2 stimulation of lymphocytes results in generation of the so-called LAK cells. LAKs are a heterogeneous population of lymphocytes that include primarily NK, NKT, and T cells, which are generated in vitro from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) in the presence of IL-2. The major effector subset in the LAK population is NK cells, which are mechanistically regarded as peripheral blood NK cells but are more cytotoxic against tumor cells, including NK-resistant targets [10].

The first real clinical progress in immunotherapy was seen after the introduction of recombinant DNA technology used for production of immune-stimulating cytokines. Since 1985, several studies on combined IL-2 and LAK cell treatment have been performed, and the results were published [11–15].

Such clinical trials have shown that high-dose IL-2 alone or in combination with LAK cells mediates objective tumor regression in 17–28% of patients with metastatic renal cancer or meta-

static melanoma, while prolonged remission was observed even in some patients with metastatic cancers [16]. Some authors have reported on clinical trials of the systemic treatment with highdose IL-2 and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (autologous lymphocytes can be isolated from tumor-infiltrating cells, which presumably express tumor-specific TCRs) of patients with advanced cancer. Such treatment resulted in a 34% objective response rate of patients with metastatic melanoma [17]. Although there was considerable clinical interest in LAKs for antitumor therapy by the end of the last century, LAK therapy has failed to obtain public support as a standard therapy for cancer patients. This was largely the result of limited response to immunotherapy when compared with that to chemotherapy or radiation therapy, and there were concerns about toxicity associated with the IL-2 infused simultaneously in order to maintain LAK activation. Another confounding factor was that most studies on immunotherapy used terminal-stage patients with virtually no remaining immune response functions, as they had failed to respond to previous conventional treatments [18].

More recently, a new cell-based immunotherapy utilizing activated lymphocytes has been suggested as an adjuvant regimen to radical surgery of cancer patients. Kimura and coauthors conducted a randomized trial of 174 patients with non-small-cell lung carcinoma comparing IL-2/ LAK therapy in combination with chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone [19]. Patients had undergone curative resection of their lung carcinoma and received six to eight courses of IL-2/ LAK therapy over 2 years. The authors reported an improvement in the 5- and 9-year survival rates of 21% and 28%, respectively. Other studies involved cytokine-induced killers (CIKs) (inducers: IFN-y, Ab-anti CD3 and IL-2) for adjuvant treatment of solid tumors. CIK cells are a heterogeneous subset of ex vivo expanded T lymphocytes presenting a mixed T-NK phenotype and have unrestricted MHC antitumor activity [20]. In the setting of hepatocellular carcinoma and gastric cancers, adjuvant infusions of autologous CIK cells after surgical resection resulted in a significant increase of disease-free survival [21–23].

To improve IL-2/LAK immunotherapy effectiveness, local and locoregional infusions were performed, which increased the effective concentration of activated killers at the site of the lesion. The most significant clinical effects were achieved with intra-cavity infusions of IL-2 and LAKs in patients with malignant effusions (pleuritis, ascites, and pericarditis). Malignant effusion regression was seen in 70-95% of cases, showing good tolerance and effectiveness in chemotherapy-resistant cancer types [24]. One of the advantages of adjuvant locoregional immunotherapy is that these low IL-2 immune-stimulating doses cause no marked side effects, neither immune nor myelosuppression, which are characteristic of high-dose cytokine therapy.

These LAK- and CIK-cell immunotherapy methods aim to stimulate the innate chain of antitumor immunity, which is a reasonable approach because most tumors express either little or no MHC or tumor antigens. It is also necessary to consider the fact that T killers constitute an essential part of lymphoid cell populations and are responsible for a more specific mechanism of action—in these conditions, they are obviously not involved in the antitumor defense function.

2.4 Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes (TILs) in Cancer Immunotherapy

The basic stage of antitumor immunotherapy is the generation of lymphocytes that specifically recognize tumor cells. T cells recognize short peptides derived from proteins lysed in nucleated cells and presented in the context of MHC molecules on the cell surface. Adoptive cell transfer is a treatment strategy that allows activation and expansion of tumor-reactive T cells ex vivo for subsequent reinfusion to the autologous host. Hundreds of peptides restricted to presentation on different subclasses of MHC molecules and derived from tumors of different histological types have been identified over the last decades [25]. Tumor-associated antigens fall into several major categories: (1) overexpressed normal proteins (e.g., carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) or

non-mutated p53); (2) non-mutated differentiation antigens (e.g., MART-1, overexpressed in melanoma and found in normal melanocytes); and (3) cancer-testis antigens (CTA), consisting of non-mutated genes expressed during fetal development and then silent in normal adults. The description of TILs derived from a variety of histological cancer types demonstrated that cellular immune reactions against established malignancies exist in humans. TILs are heterogeneous populations of mononuclear leukocytes, which include not only CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes (as previously reported) but also a small and, in some cases, significant fraction of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, with a prevalence of the V δ 1 subset [26] as well as macrophages. TILs that infiltrate melanoma can specifically recognize tumor-associated antigens [27] (e.g., MAGE and NY-ESO); (4) mutated antigens, unique to a single tumor or shared by a group of tumors (e.g., BRAF with the V600E mutation in melanoma and other solid tumors, or EGFRvIII in glioblastoma) [28].

Some authors presented early results in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with the adoptive transfer of autologous TILs selected for antitumor activity—expanded in vitro and then reinfused into patients along with IL-2, following a lymphodepleting preparative regimen [29–32].

In clinical trials with increasing lymphodepletion prior to infusion of autologous TILs, objective response rates between 49% and 72% were seen for patients with metastatic melanoma [33]. Limitations of TIL therapy, including the requirement for surgery to isolate the tumor and the need to consistently generate T cells with antitumor activity, have led to novel strategies for redirecting normal T cells to recognize tumor-associated antigens (e.g., NY-ESO-1, CEA (carcinoembryonic antigen), anti-CD20) using genetically engineered tumor antigen-specific TCRs or chimeric antigen receptor genes. As an alternative to TIL therapy, highly avid TCRs can be cloned from naturally occurring T cells, and then gene transfer vectors can be used to introduce these into the patient's lymphocytes. In this manner, large numbers of antigen-specific T cells can be rapidly generated, in comparison with the long-term expansion required for TILs. These highly reactive T-cell clones are able to recognize and effectively lyse target tumor cells [34–36].

Recently, several clinical trials have reported clinical efficacy and benefit of gene-modified T cells for treatment of different cancers, including melanoma, colorectal and synovial cell cancers, neuroblastoma, and lymphoma. In patients with synovial cell cancer, the measurable response rate was 66%, compared to 45% in melanoma patients [37-39]. However, though a number of studies showed effective TIL therapy, the complicated methodology of lymphocyte isolation from tumors and generating a purified appropriate TIL culture still remains a strong limitation. This laborious method is mainly applied in melanoma treatment because this tumor type provides a sufficient number of lymphocytes. Besides, to achieve TIL's effect, lymphodepletion by means of chemotherapy or radiotherapy is needed, which is considered to extend the TIL's active period. Therefore, TIL therapy has a number of essential limitations resulting from the necessity to obtain an appropriate tumor sample and then isolate lymphocytes, as well as the necessity of chemotherapy or radiation therapy for lymphodepletion.

On the other hand, a promising area of TIL implication is the treatment of malignant effusions (pleuritis, ascites, and pericarditis). TILs from such metastatic material are available in large numbers and may be easily expanded ex vivo in the presence of IL-2 or INFs.

We performed a clinical trial on evaluation of the effectiveness of intrapleural IL-2/LAK immunotherapy in 85 patients (pts) with malignant effusions—primary tumor types included lung cancer, breast cancer, mesothelioma of pleura, and other cancer localizations. Autologous LAKs were generated from TILs—lymphocytes of the patient's pleural effusions. Prior to IL-2/LAK therapy, most patients (56%) with malignant effusions received radiation and chemotherapy including intrapleural infusion of cytostatics, which had no clinical effect.

Before the beginning of the immunotherapy, 500–2800 ml of serous or serous hemorrhagic liquid was evacuated from pleural cavity. Cytological examination of pleural effusion was performed in all cases.

In most cases, one-sided pleuritis developed with equal frequency from the right or left side. In 7.7% of cases, two-sided accumulation of pleural effusion was registered; such patients had drainage firstly in one pleural cavity, then if clinical effect was achieved, the other one was drained.

Intrapleural infusion of IL-2 and LAKs (generated from autologous TILs) achieved clinical effect in 88% (75 pts). 60 pts. had complete remission and 10 pts. experienced partial reduction of effusion (Fig. 2.2a, b). Recurrence of effu-



Fig. 2.2 CT of the chest during the course of IL-2/LAK immunotherapy of malignant pleural effusion. Patient Sh. Lung cancer (the right lung), right-sided pleuritis. (a)

Prior to IL-2/LAK intrapleural immunotherapy; (b) 2 months after the immunotherapy. Partial effect

sion occurred in 10 (11.8%) patients 1.2–2.5 months after completed treatment. However, one or two repeated courses of IL-2/ LAK therapy resulted in the regression of malignant effusion. It is important to emphasize that delay or cessation of effusion was achieved only in those cases where pleural liquid contained essential number of activated lymphoid cells including immunoblasts.

Eight patients had repeatedly several immunotherapy courses due to encapsulated pleuritis. The second course was performed after 1 month interval, and IL-2 intrapleural infusion was accurately administered into small (up to 150 ml) residual cavities; clinical effect was registered in all these cases.

Plasmic part of effusion after elimination of tumor cells if necessary may be reinfused intravenously to maintain homeostasis of cancer patients. Indications to such reinfusions are determined by the severity of the patient's performance status, edemas due to lack of proteins, or hypoalbuminemia. Reinfusion of plasmic effusion part to ten patients was totally satisfactory, and no side effect was noted. For reinfusion purposes, plasmic part was additionally centrifuged at 6000 rpm during 30 min in order to eliminate cellular fractions, and after that it was carefully examined in cytological, bacterial, and biochemical tests and then reinfused intravenously to the patients.

In some cases along with immunologic pleurodesis, there were registered decreased indexes of tumor markers and reduced size and density of metastatically modified supraclavicular lymph nodes. Elimination of effusion accumulation opens a new opportunity to treatment that was started before effusion onset: 1 patient had a successful radiation therapy, and 15 patients underwent chemotherapy due to non-small-cell lung cancer. Other patients had a dynamic follow-up during 2 months to 2 years. Course of disease within this period demonstrated other symptoms of cancer process, including disease progression but free from malignant effusion.

Analysis of autologous LAK immunophenotype showed that after cultivation of lymphocytes derived from effusion during 3–5 days in the presence of IL-2, the number of CD4⁺/CD25⁺ cells may increase, which may occur due to lymphocyte transformation into activated cells triggered by IL-2. Infusion of high doses of IL-2 can also stimulate functions of natural subpopulation of regulatory CD4⁺/CD25⁺/Foxp3⁺ T cells (T-reg), which play their role in immunologic tolerance and suppress antitumor activity of NK and T cells [40, 41].

Our data showed no increase of CD4⁺/CD25⁺/ Foxp3⁺ T-reg in LAK population even during long-term incubation of peripheral blood lymphocytes of healthy donors or cancer patients in the presence of IL-2. If only generating LAKs from lymphocytes of the pleural effusion with enhanced initial T-reg subset, the number of suppressive T-reg subpopulation might increase [42].

2.5 Autologous Vaccines on the Base of Dendritic Cells (DC Vaccines)

Dendritic cells (DCs) are the antigen-presenting cells (APC) with a unique ability to induce primary immune response. DCs both prime naive cytotoxic T cells and activate memory cells play an important role in adaptive immunity.

Mature DCs for antitumor vaccines are typically generated from CD14⁺ monocytes according to a well-known two-stage methodology. The initial stage is cultivation for 6–7 days in the presence of granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor and IL-4 in macrophageconditioned medium [43].

The second stage — DC maturation — may proceed in the presence of various factors, such as bacteria (live or dead), bacterial products, lipopolysaccharide, viruses, two-strand RNA or its analog poly-I:C, proinflammatory factors and their combinations (IL-1 β , tumor necrosis factor- α , IL-6, prostaglandin E2 [PGE₂]), and CD40 ligand (CD40L). During maturation, DCs lose their ability for endocytosis and antigen processing [43, 44]. Early studies on the use of DCs involved only small groups of patients, but reported potentially promising results [45, 46].

To date, over 200 clinical trials have assessed DC-based vaccines, yet their clinical effectiveness and expedience for the use in cancer patients become more and more doubtful. Rosenberg et al. argued that early optimism for DC vaccines relied rather on dubious surrogate end points, which lacked robustness, than on evidence-based proof of antitumor effects. One trial, conducted at the Surgery Branch of the National Cancer Institute on 440 patients, yielded an overall objective response rate of only 2.6%. This was comparable to the 4.0% response rate reported in 40 other smaller studies involving a total of 756 patients [47]. More recent studies showed partial or complete regression rates of 4.0-12% in patients with advanced cancer [48].

2.6 Advantages of Combined Implication of DC Vaccines and Activated Lymphocytes

Experimental studies in vitro showed that coincubation of DCs and activated lymphocytes results in enhanced antigen-presenting function of DCs and increased cytotoxic lymphocyte activity [49, 50]. When DCs pulsed by tumor lysate (TL) are cultured with activated lymphocytes, they can induce a specific and strong immune response against renal carcinoma cells (RCC) and prostate cancer cells [51]. On the basis of their initial in vitro experiments, other authors planned and conducted a randomized controlled trial to evaluate the efficacy of adjuvant immunotherapy with autologous TL-pulsed DCs co-cultured with CIK cells for treating cancer patients. The described cell culture was used for immunotherapy against localized and locally advanced RCC. The authors mentioned that nearly 20-40% of patients with clinically localized RCC develop metastases after nephrectomy or nephron-sparing surgery [52]; therefore, such patients need effective adjuvant therapy. A recent randomized controlled trial of adjuvant combined immunotherapy by TL-DC-CIK cells showed that all patients tolerated the TL-pulsed DC-CIK cell immunotherapy very well, and side effects in the DC-CIK group were less than in the IFN- α

group. The metastasis and recurrence rates were significantly decreased after TL-pulsed DC-CIK cells or IFN- α immunotherapy compared with the control group [53]. Effectiveness of TL-DC-CIK cell immunotherapy was shown in combination with chemotherapy in patients with breast cancer, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer, and multiple myeloma [54, 55]. There are ongoing clinical studies on evaluation of the effectiveness of TL-DC-CIK cell immunotherapy in patients with hepatocellular and pancreatic carcinomas [56, 57]. The authors consider combined DC-CIK cell immunotherapy as a novel strategy for treatment of cancer patients which improves effectiveness of antitumor vaccines and activated lymphocytes.

2.7 Combination of Immune Checkpoint Blockade and Adoptive Immunotherapy

The insufficient effectiveness of adoptive immunotherapy is often related to the weak antitumor immune response or to the inhibition of the immune reactions by the tumor.

Immune checkpoint blockade can probably increase effectiveness of different immunotherapy methods since blocking these inhibitory receptors triggers excessive immune reaction. Currently, a number of studies have been set off to investigate this approach. So far, various in vivo experiments and some pilot clinical studies have been performed that showed encouraging results of treatment by a combination of mAb to CTLA-4 and PD-1 with adoptive immunotherapies on the base of DCs or ex vivo activated lymphocytes.

As a rule, DCs stimulate antigen-specific T lymphocytes by interaction of MHC molecules with T-cell receptor (TCR). However, what is most important in the induction of the immune response is the co-stimulating signal that T cells receive from B-7 surface DC molecules via coreceptor CD28-stimulating molecule. At this stage, negative regulation may involve inhibiting receptor CTLA-4, which interacts with B-7 molecules with greater affinity than CD28 and can either directly compete with CD28 or decrease co-stimulating DC potential by transendocytosis of B-7 molecules [58]. CTLA-4 blockade (by target mAb) disrupts this interaction and disables the potential of inhibiting immune reactions at this point. Besides that, DCs have other lymphocyte-inhibiting receptor surface ligands PD-L1 and PD-L2. Interaction of PD-1 and its ligands can also decrease the immune response [59]. Blocking antibodies against PD-1 (nivolumab (Opdivo®), pembrolizumab (Keytruda®)) or against PD-L1 (atezolizumab (Tecentriq®)) can play their role at this stage. Moreover, PD-1 can regulate the immune response during the ongoing process of immunologic reaction in tissues with PD-L1.

It should be noted that other inhibiting receptors (such as lymphocyte activation gene-3 (LAG-3) and T-cell immunoglobulin and mucindomain-containing-3 (TIM-3)) are less investigated than PD-1 and CTLA-4 [60]. Blocking antibodies to these receptors have not been approved yet.

Interestingly, inhibiting receptors PD-1 and CTLA-4 were found in NKs as well, where they also function as immune inhibitors [61]. It is well established that these effectors of innate immunity can act as antitumor factors and play an essential role in antitumor therapy on the base of ex vivo activated lymphocytes. Therefore, PD-1 and PD-L1 and PD-L2 blocking antibodies are potential therapeutic agents in such kind of treatment.

Effective combination of antitumor DC-based vaccine and immune checkpoint inhibitors was achieved in preclinical studies on mice [62, 63].

Similar results were shown in some limited clinical studies [64–66]. Blocking antibodies to CTLA-4 MDX-010 (Ipilimumab) were added along with IL-4 and GM-CSF into the cell culture of PBMC (peripheral blood mononuclear cells) of patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML). As a result, the generated DCs induced a much stronger cytotoxic T-cell response to the malignant AML cells than those generated in standard conditions with no ipilimumab [64]. In relation to these data, it is interesting to notice that CTLA-4

was detected on the DC surface and may reduce DC antigen presentation [65]. Ribas et al. showed in a clinical trial with 16 patients with advanced melanoma a great effectiveness of combination of anti-CTLA-4 antibodies (tremelimumab) and DC pulsed by melanoma peptide MART-126-35 as compared with both monotherapies [66]. However, the authors registered significant side effects of autoimmune origin (hypophysitis, diarrhea of grade 3) in 2 out of 3 patients who received monthly tremelimumab simultaneously with DC-vaccine in the highest dose of 10 µg/kg.

In a recent phase II clinical trial, Wilgenhof et al. performed systemic administration of Ipilimumab in combination with the antitumor DC-vaccine loaded with synthetic RNA TriMixDC-MEL by electroporation in patients with advanced melanoma [67]. The study achieved a long-term significant clinical effect (objective response-38%). However, marked unfavorable immune effects were noticed, such as local redness at the site of DC injection (100%), chills (38%), a flu-like condition (84%), dermatitis (64%), hepatitis (13%), hypophysitis (15%), and diarrhea/colitis (15%). Unfavorable side effects of the immune origin of grade 3 and 4 were registered in 36% of patients.

Sioud et al. studied the effect of DC-vaccine in a patient who had received pretreatment by Ipilimumab [68]. The therapy achieved reduction of metastases and improvement of patient's general status. Therefore, it may be stated that administration of DCs pulsed with tumor antigen and simultaneous CTLA-4 blockade stimulates immune response to antigens that previously was not activated.

Antonios et al. demonstrated that PD-1 blockade improves efficacy of DC-vaccine in mice with glioma [69]. Moreover, they showed that blocking PD-1 receptor ex vivo on human tumor infiltrating lymphocytes dramatically increased lysis of the autologous tumor.

Another study showed that autologous CIK (cytokine-induced killer cells) activity against AML cells increases when blocking inhibitor receptors such as killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIR), LAG-3, PD-1, and TIM-3, but not CTLA-4 [70]. However, other diseases –

acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and multiple myeloma (MM) — were refractory to CIK treatment, and immune checkpoint blockers could not alter tumor cell resistance.

Combination of CIK and PD-1/PD-L1 blockers was found effective in the experimental model of gastric cancer therapy in mice where it demonstrated significant inhibition of tumor growth and increase of experimental animals' survival [71].

Immune checkpoint blockade may lead to enhancement of TIL function, which can be another approach in adoptive antitumor therapy [72, 73].

2.8 CART Cells

CART cells are immunocytes that are genetically modified and express surface chimeric antigen receptors along with various costimulatory molecules. The chimeric antigen receptor T (CART) cells target tumor antigens, and they are able to maintain survival and proliferation of their cell population via cytokine production. The unique points of this technology include an HLAindependent manner of cancer cell recognition, specific antigen targeting, and single-course infusion of CART cells. Such advantages make adoptive immunotherapy with CAR technologies a highly perspective approach.

Kochenderfer et al. reported high efficacy of CART therapy in treatment of CD19+ B-cell acute lymphocytic leukemia. The study was performed at National Cancer Institute and involved anti-CD19 CAR T cells containing CD3z/CD28 signaling domains in combination with low cyclophosphamide doses in patients with relapsed/refractory B-cell lymphomas. The results demonstrated an overall response rate of 73% and a CR rate of 55% [74]. Another multicenter study included seven patients with refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL). The patients received CD3z/CD28-based CAR T-cell therapy during 30 days, which involved a dose of 2×10^6 CAR T cells/kg in combination with low-dose conditioning chemotherapy of concurrent cyclophosphamide and fludarabine.

Five patients achieved an objective response which lasted for 1 month, four of them had a complete effect. However, all patients developed marked unfavorable events with a maximum grade of 3, 4, and 5 reported in three (43%), three (43%), and one (14%) patient(s), respectively. The most frequent of which was neutropenia (febrile neutropenia) and encephalopathy of grades 3-4, as well as cytokine release syndrome with fever and hypotension manifestation [75]. However, no similar effect has been seen in solid tumors yet [76]. A few clinical trials enrolling a limited number of subjects demonstrated complete effect of 27% in patients with neuroblastoma, partial effect, and disease stabilization in patients with non-small cell lung cancer and prostate cancer [77, 78]. It is important that special attention is drawn to study toxicity problems, such as cytokine release syndrome, neurotoxicity, and non-tumor cytotoxicity. The grade and number of these unfavorable events of solid tumor treatment might be reduced by optimal combination of chemotherapy, surgery, radiation therapy, and immunotherapy. Another approach to achieve decrease of unfavorable events is local (intracavity) infusion of therapeutic agent. Currently, clinical trials are going on to study intrapleural and intraperitoneal infusion of CAR T cells in patients with mesothelioma and ovarian cancer [79, 80]. Recently, some reports have suggested a new method of generating CAR-transduced NK cells. They have a number of advantages compared with T cells such as an established safety in clinical trials and a specific mechanism of targeting cancer cells. Human NK cells and NK-92 cell line were successfully transduced to express chimeric antigen receptor against hematological cancers as well as solid tumors. In addition, NK cells express various activation receptors (NKR), such as CD16, NKG2D, CD226, and NKp30, which may specifically target ligands expressed on the tumor cells. However, it is necessary to note that NK transduction reaches rather low effectiveness that requires more developmental studies to improve safety and therapeutic efficacy of CAR treatment [81].

2.9 Spiral Up

Despite the theoretical rationale and experimental basis of antitumor cytotoxicity of induced lymphocytes, adoptive immunotherapy with lymphokine-activated lymphocytes, designed by Rosenberg and coauthors at the beginning of the 1980s of the last century, seems not to achieve the expected results. The initial enthusiasm about immunotherapy of cancer patients gave place to grave pessimism lasting for almost two decades, while only some research groups continued the search for effective use of activated lymphocytes. It was during that period of ruined expectations for clinical efficacy of LAK immunotherapy that a fundamentally new principle of the use of activated effectors of antitumor immunity was suggested.

Immunotherapy is not regarded as a method of standard conservative antitumor treatment anymore, when effective therapy uses maximal tolerated doses of drugs (cytokines in immunotherapy) and includes patients with advanced cancer. Finally, we reached understanding that special functions of antitumor immunity effectors are limited to certain conditions and it is important to create an effective ratio of cell targets/effectors in order to achieve good clinical results. Such effective cell ratio can be created by local and/or locoregional infusion or in adjuvant treatment after radical surgery with the aim to extend relapse-free period. Besides, immunotherapy now uses low immune stimulating cytokine doses, which do not cause significant side effects. Immunotherapy in this manner limits the area of its implication but gives a real opportunity to achieve essential clinical effect in target patients.

The next step for antitumor cell-based immunotherapy was made by designing antitumor DC vaccines, which unlike LAK (or CIK) can stimulate adaptive (specific) immune response to target antigens. However, extensive clinical trials performed over the last years showed that the real effectiveness of DC vaccines, if not counting on surrogate criteria, seemed to be even lower than that of LAK therapy. Even though at present the search for approaches to improve DC-vaccine effectiveness is still continuing, the probability of reaching the expected results is doubtful because malignantly transformed cells have no unique specific antigens and may lose or have low expression of MHC antigens. In addition, the heterogeneity of tumor cell population, where tumor cells have different expression of target tumorassociated antigens, should always be kept in mind.

Combination of cell-based antitumor vaccines and immune checkpoint blockers may be efficient in achieving optimal results. An interesting approach is presented by those studies which employ inhibitors of immune checkpoints at the stage of ex vivo generation of DCs or CIKs, but not as systemic patient's treatment. This methodology suggests much lower risk of autoimmune reactions induced in response to immune checkpoint blockade while it simultaneously enables generation of highly activated effector cells.

Over the last years, CART technologies have evoked much hope. This technology may help to overcome one of the mechanisms of tumor evasion from immune surveillance, namely, the one that takes advantage of the lack or low expression of MHC molecules. However, this method does not resolve the major problem of the lack of tumor specific antigens. That may explain why CART cells show effective results in leukemia only, where the target is a leukocyte differentiation antigen, in particular, CD19. Besides, marked side effects — such as pancytopenia obviously reflect the fact that CART cells produce a cytotoxic effect not only on the cells expressing the target antigen but also on other hematopoietic elements. Including CAR NK cells in immunotherapy may increase the efficacy only due to their function of transformed cell recognition in an MHC and antigen-independent manner. Therefore, it is unlikely that CAR NK can significantly surpass the effects shown before by conventional adoptive immunotherapy on the base of activated NKs (LAK and CIK technologies). So far, limited clinical experience of local (intra-cavity) CART cell infusion also has not shown any advantages over LAKs or TILs. Hence, this sophisticated and expensive method of antitumor therapy will hardly have a wide clinical application in near future, and probably its

effectiveness will be restricted to several leukemia types resistant to conventional treatment. To date, the efforts of making this method more available employing allogenic CART technologies have not achieved a big success yet; clinical trials have been halted by the FDA because of significant toxicity [82].

Thus, at the new step of spiral development, cell-based immunotherapy once again returns to exploiting activated lymphocytes and NK, LAKs, CIKs, and TILs, but novel strategy uses them in adjuvant regiment or in local/locoregional treatment with simultaneous low immune-stimulating doses of cytokines. Since NKs and DCs have reciprocal activating relations, a novel strategy for improved immunotherapy suggests combined use of activated lymphocytes and tumor antigenpulsed DCs. Such approach may not only increase activity of effectors of antitumor immunity but also stimulate both innate and adaptive immunity and thus target a wider range of tumor cells regardless their expression of MHC or tumor-associated antigens.

2.10 Concluding Remarks

Despite tremendous progress in basic immunological research, effective immunotherapies for most cancer types have been hardly set into clinical practice. However, the results of recent studies suggest that we are at the edge of a breakthrough in cancer immunotherapy. The most promising therapeutic approach for activating antitumor immunity in cancer patients may be simultaneous stimulation of the innate and adaptive antitumor immunity by the well-studied techniques. A more rational approach is to create an effective ratio of activated effector cells against tumor cells in the patient's body. Therefore, immunotherapy that aims to prevent relapses can achieve better effects in cancer patients after radical treatment as well as locoregional immunotherapy with local infusion of activated effector cells in the tumor site. Optimized methods of cancer immunotherapy based on tumor biology may be used for personalized treatment of cancer patients.

References

- 1. Vivier E, Raulet DH, Moretta A, Caligiuri MA, Zitvogel L, Lanier LL, et al. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. Science. 2011;331:44–9.
- Terme M, Ullrich E, Delahaye NF, Chaput N, Zitvogel L. Natural killer cell-directed therapies: moving from unexpected results to successful strategies. Nat Immunol. 2008;9:486–92.
- Wong JL, Mailliard RB, Moschos SJ, Edington H, et al. Helper activity of NK cells during the dendritic cell-mediated induction of melanoma-specific cytotoxic T cells. J Immunother. 2011;34(3):270–8.
- Harizi H. Reciprocal crosstalk between dendritic cells and natural killer cells under the effects of PGE2 in immunity and immunopathology. Cell Mol Immunol. 2013;10(3):213–21.
- Wehner R, Dietze K, Bachmann M, Schmitz M. The bidirectional crosstalk between human dendritic cells and natural killer cells. J Innate Immunol. 2011;3:258–63.
- 6. Lanier LL. Missing self, NK cells, and the white album. J Immunol. 2005;174(11):6565.
- Brodin P, Hoglund P. Beyond licensing and disarming: a quantitative view on NK-cell education. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38:2934–7.
- Farag SS, Caligiuri MA. Human natural killer cell development and biology. Blood Rev. 2006;20(3):123–37.
- Perussia B, Chen Y, Loza MJ. Peripheral NK cell phenotypes: multiple changing of faces of an adapting, developing cell. Mol Immunol. 2005;42:385–95.
- Grimm EA, Mazumder A, Zhang HZ, Rosenberg SA. Lymphokine-activated killer cell phenomenon. Lysis of natural killer-resistant fresh solid tumor cells by interleukin-2 activated autologous human peripheral blood lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1982;155(6):1823–41.
- Chang AE, Rosenberg SA. Overview of interleukin-2 as an immunotherapeutic agent. Semin Surg Oncol. 1989;5(6):385–90.
- Rosenberg SA. The development of new immunotherapies for the treatment of cancer using interleukin-2. A review. Ann Surg. 1988;208(2): 121–35.
- Semino C, Martini L, Queirolo P, Cangemi G, Costa R, Alloisio A, Ferlazzo G, Sertoli MR, Reali UM, Ratto GB, Melioli G. Adoptive immunotherapy of advanced solid tumors: an eight year clinical experience. Anticancer Res. 1999;19(6C):5645–9.
- Kobari M, Egawa S, Shibuya K, Sunamura M, Saitoh K, Matsuno S. Effect of intraportal adoptive immunotherapy on liver metastases after resection of pancreatic cancer. Br J Surg. 2000;87(1):43–8.
- Yamaguchi Y, Ohshita A, Kawabuchi Y, et al. Adoptive immunotherapy of cancer using activated autologous lymphocytes–current status and new strategies. Hum Cell. 2003;16:183–9.

- Rosenberg SA, Lotze MT, Yang JC, et al. Prospective randomized trial of high-dose interleukin-2 alone or in conjunction with lymphokine-activated killer cells for the treatment of patients with advanced cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1993;85(8):622–32.
- Kammula US, Marincola FM. Cancer immunotherapy: is there real progress at last? BioDrugs. 1999;11(4):249–60.
- Rosenberg SA. Immunotherapy of patients with advanced cancer using interleukin-2 alone or in combination with lymphokine activated killer cells. Important Adv Oncol. 1988:217–57.
- Kimura H, Yamaguchi YA. A phase III randomized study of interleukin-2 lymphokine-activated killer cell immunotherapy combined with chemotherapy or radiotherapy after curative or noncurative resection of primary lung carcinoma. Cancer. 1997;80(1):42–9.
- Sangiolo D. Cytokine induced killer cells as promising immunotherapy for solid tumors. J Cancer Educ. 2011;2:363–8.
- Weng DS, Zhou J, Zhou QM, et al. Minimally invasive treatment combined with cytokine-induced killer cells therapy lower the short-term recurrence rates of hepatocellular carcinomas. J Immunother. 2008;31(1):63–71.
- Wu C, Jiang J, Shi L, Xu N. Prospective study of chemotherapy in combination with cytokineinduced killer cells in patients suffering from advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Anticancer Res. 2008;28(6B):3997–4002.
- 23. Shi L, Zhou Q, Wu J, et al. Efficacy of adjuvant immunotherapy with cytokine-induced killer cells in patients with locally advanced gastric cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(12):2251–9.
- Shubina IZ, Bliumenberg AG, Volkov SM, Demidov LV, Kiselevskii MV. Adoptive immunotherapy of malignancies. Vestn Ross Akad Med Nauk. 2007;(11):9–15.
- Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Shelton TE, Even J, Rosenberg SA. Generation of tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte cultures for use in adoptive transfer therapy for melanoma patients. J Immunother. 2003;26:332–42.
- Donia M, Ellebaek E, Andersen MH, Straten P, Svane IM. Analysis of Vδ1 T cells in clinical grade melanoma-infiltrating lymphocytes. Onco Targets Ther. 2012;1(8):1297–304.
- Nguyen LT, Yen PH, Nie J, Liadis N, Ghazarian D, et al. Expansion and characterization of human melanoma tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs). PLoS One. 2010;5(11):e13940.
- Turcotte S, Rosenberg SA. Immunotherapy of metastatic solid cancers. Adv Surg. 2011;45:341–60.
- 29. Goedegebuure PS, Douville LM, Li H, Richmond GC, Schoof DD, et al. Adoptive immunotherapy with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and interleukin-2 in patients with metastatic malignant melanoma and renal cell carcinoma: a pilot study. J Clin Oncol. 1995;13:1939–49.
- Reali UM, Martini L, Borgognoni L, Semino C, Pietra G, et al. Infusion of in vitro expanded tumour-

infiltrating lymphocytes and recombinant interleukin-2 in patients with surgically resected lymph node metastases of malignant melanoma: a pilot study. Melanoma Res. 1998;8:77–82.

- 31. Queirolo P, Ponte M, Gipponi M, Cafiero F, Peressini A, et al. Adoptive immunotherapy with tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes and subcutaneous recombinant interleukin-2 plus interferon alfa-2a for melanoma patients with nonresectable distant disease: a phase I/II pilot trial. Melanoma Istituto Scientifico Tumori group. Ann Surg Oncol. 1999;6:272–8.
- 32. Dreno B, Nguyen JM, Khammari A, Pandolfino MC, Tessier MH, et al. Randomized trial of adoptive transfer of melanoma tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes as adjuvant therapy for stage III melanoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2002;51:539–46.
- 33. Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, et al. Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(13):4550–7.
- 34. Park TS, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Treating cancer with genetically engineered T cells trends. Biogeosciences. 2011;29(11):550–7.
- Dudley ME, et al. CD8+ enriched "young" tumor infiltrating lymphocytes can mediate regression of metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:6122–31.
- 36. Coccoris M, et al. T cell receptor (TCR) gene therapy to treat melanoma: lessons from clinical and preclinical studies. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2010;10:547–62.
- Morgan RA, Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, et al. Cancer regression in patients after transfer of genetically engineered lymphocytes. Science. 2006;314(5796):126–9.
- Heemskerk B, Liu K, Dudley ME, Johnson LA, et al. Adoptive cell therapy for patients with melanoma, using tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes genetically engineered to secrete interleukin-2. Hum Gene Ther. 2008;19(5):496–510.
- Shi H, Liu L, Wang Z. Improving the efficacy and safety of engineered T cell therapy for cancer. Cancer Lett. 2013;328(2):191–7.
- Chen Y-Q, Shi H-Z, Qin X-J, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T lymphocytes in malignant pleural effusion. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2005;172:1434–9.
- Kobayashi N, Hiraoka N, Yamagami W, et al. FOXP3+ regulatory T cells affect the development and progression of hepatocarcinogenesis. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:902–11.
- 42. Chikileva IO, Shubina IZ, Baronzio G, Kiselevsky MV. Is it necessary to deplete the lymphokine activated killers' populations of CD4+CD25+ lymphocytes? Regulatory Foxp3-positive T cells within lymphokine activated killers. Biomed Pharmacother. 2010;64(6):379–85.
- 43. Keller R. Dendritic cells: their significance in health and disease. Immunol Lett. 2001;78(3):113–22.
- 44. Romani N, Reider D, Heuer M, et al. Generation of mature dendritic cells from human blood. An improved method with special regard to clinical applicability. J Immunol Methods. 1996;196(2):137–51.

- 45. Hsu FJ, Benike C, Fagnoni F, et al. Vaccination of patients with B-cell lymphoma using autologous antigen-pulsed dendritic cells. Nat Med. 1996;2(1):52–8.
- Nestle FO, Alijagic S, Gilliet M, et al. Vaccination of melanoma patients with peptide- or tumor lysatepulsed dendritic cells. Nat Med. 1998;4(3):328–32.
- Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Restifo NP. Cancer immunotherapy: moving beyond current vaccines. Nat Med. 2004;10(9):909–15.
- Oshita C, Takikawa M, Kume A, et al. Dendritic cellbased vaccination in metastatic melanoma patients: phase II clinical trial. Oncol Rep. 2012;28(4):1131–8.
- 49. Yano Y, Ueda Y, Itoh T, Fuji N, Okugawa K, Naito K, Imura K, Kohara J, Hayashi T, Nakane K, Matsuura Y, Kawai K, Yamagishi H. A new strategy using autologous dendritic cells and lymphokine-activated killer cells for cancer immunotherapy: efficient maturation of DCs by co-culture with LAK cells in vitro. Oncol Rep. 2006;16(1):147–52.
- 50. Wang K, Gao X, Pang J, Liu X, Cai Y, Zhang Y, et al. Dendritic cells transduced with a PSMA-encoding adenovirus and cocultured with autologous cytokineinduced lymphocytes induce a specific and strong immune response against prostate cancer cells. Urol Oncol. 2009;27:26–32.
- Zhan HL, Gao X, Qiu JG, Cai YB, Situ J, Wen XQ. Effects of dendritic cells co-cultured with CIK cells on renal carcinoma cells. Chin J Pathophysiol (Chin). 2006;22:1993–8.
- 52. McLaughlin JK, Lipworth L. Epidemiologic aspects of renal cell cancer. Semin Oncol. 2000;27:115–23. Breda A, Konijeti R, Lam JS. Patterns of recurrence and surveillance strategies for renal cell carcinoma following surgical resection. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2007;7:847–62.
- 53. Zhan HL, Gao X, Pu XY, Li W, Li ZJ, Zhou XF, Qiu JG. A randomized controlled trial of postoperative tumor lysate-pulsed dendritic cells and cytokine-induced killer cells immunotherapy in patients with localized and locally advanced renal cell carcinoma. Chin Med J. 2012;125(21):3771–7.
- 54. Ren J, Di L, Song G, Yu J, Jia J, Zhu Y, et al. Selections of appropriate regimen of high-dose chemotherapy combined with adoptive cellular therapy with dendritic and cytokine-induced killer cells improved progression-free and overall survival in patients with metastatic breast cancer: reargument of such contentious therapeutic preferences. Clin Transl Oncol. 2013;15(10):780–8.
- 55. Li H, Wang C, Yu J, Cao S, Wei F, Zhang W, Han Y, Ren XB. Dendritic cell-activated cytokine-induced killer cells enhance the anti-tumor effect of chemotherapy on non-small cell lung cancer in patients after surgery. Cytotherapy. 2009;11(8):1076–83.
- 56. Zhou P, Liang P, Dong B, Yu X, Han Z, Xu Y. Phase I clinical study of combination therapy with microwave ablation and cellular immunotherapy in hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Biol Ther. 2011;11(5):450–65.

- 57. Qiu Y, Yun MM, Xu MB, Wang YZ, Yun S. Pancreatic carcinoma-specific immunotherapy using synthesized alpha-galactosyl epitope-activated immune responders: findings from a pilot study. Int J Clin Oncol. 2012;18(4):657–65.
- Walker LSK, Sansom DM. Confusing signals: recent progress in CTLA-4 biology. Trends Immunol. 2015;36(2):63–70.
- Riella LV, Paterson AM, Sharpe AH, Chandraker A. Role of the PD-1 pathway in the immune response. Am J Transplant. 2012;12(10):2575–87. Epub 2012 Aug 17
- 60. Li X, Hu W, Zheng X, Zhang C, Du P, Zheng Z, Yang Y, Wu J, Ji M, Jiang J, Wu C. Emerging immune checkpoints for cancer therapy. Acta Oncol. 2015;54(10):1706–13. https://doi.org/10.3109/02841 86X.2015.1071918. Epub 2015 Sep 11
- Kwon H-J, Kim N, Kim HS. Molecular checkpoints controlling natural killer cell activation and their modulation for cancer immunotherapy. Exp Mol Med. 2017;49:e311. https://doi.org/10.1038/emm.2017.42.
- 62. Vasaturo A, Di Blasio S, Peeters DGA, de Koning CCH, de Vries JM, Figdor CG, Hato SV. Clinical implications of co-inhibitory molecule expression in the tumor microenvironment for DC vaccination: a game of stop and go. Front Immunol. 2013;4(417):1–14.
- Karaki S, Anson M, Tran T, Giusti D, Blanc C, Oudard S, Tartour E. Is there still room for cancer vaccines at the era of checkpoint inhibitors. Vaccines (Basel). 2016;4(4):37.
- 64. Zhong RK, Loken M, Lane TA, Ball ED. CTLA-4 blockade by a human MAb enhances the capacity of AML-derived DC to induce T-cell responses against AML cells in an autologous culture system. Cytotherapy. 2006;8(1):3–12.
- 65. Wang XB, Fan ZZ, Anton D, Vollenhoven AV, Ni ZH, Chen XF, Lefvert AK. CTLA4 is expressed on mature dendritic cells derived from human monocytes and influences their maturation and antigen presentation. BMC Immunol. 2011;12:21.
- 66. Ribas A, Comin-Anduix B, Chmielowski B, Jalil J, de la Rocha P, McCannel TA, Ochoa MT, Seja E, Villanueva A, Oseguera DK, Straatsma BR, Cochran AJ, Glaspy JA, Hui L, Marincola FM, Wang E, Economou JS, Gomez-Navarro J. Dendritic cell vaccination combined with CTLA4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(19):6267–76.
- 67. Wilgenhof S, Corthals J, Heirman C, van Baren N, Lucas S, Kvistborg P, Thielemans K, Neyns B. Phase II study of autologous monocyte-derived mRNA Electroporated dendritic cells (TriMixDC-MEL) plus Ipilimumab in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:1330–8.
- 68. Sioud M, Nyakas M, Sæbøe-Larssen S, Mobergslien A, Aamdal S, Kvalheim G. Diversification of antitumour immunity in a patient with metastatic melanoma treated with Ipilimumab and an IDO-silenced dendritic cell vaccine. Case
Rep Med. 2016;2016:9639585. https://doi. org/10.1155/2016/9639585. Epub 2016 Jul 18

- 69. Antonios JP, Soto H, Everson RG, Orpilla J, Moughon D, Shin N, Sedighim S, Yong WH, Li G, Cloughesy TF, Liau LM, Prins RM. PD-1 blockade enhances the vaccination-induced immune response in glioma. JCI Insight. 2016;1(10):e87059.
- Poh SL, Linn YC. Immune checkpoint inhibitors enhance cytotoxicity of cytokine-induced killer cells against human myeloid leukaemic blasts. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2016;65(5):525–36.
- 71. Dai C, Lin F, Geng R, Ge X, Tang W, Chang J, Wu Z, Liu X, Lin Y, Zhang Z, Li J. Implication of combined PD-L1/PD-1 blockade with cytokine-induced killer cells as a synergistic immunotherapy for gastrointestinal cancer. Oncotarget. 2016;7(9):10332–44.
- 72. Kodumudi KN, Siegel J, Weber AM, Scott E, Sarnaik AA, Pilon-Thomas S. Immune checkpoint blockade to improve tumor infiltrating lymphocytes for adoptive cell therapy. PLoS One. 2016;11(4):e0153053. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0153053.
- 73. Zhou G, Sprengers D, Boor PC, Doukas M, Schutz H, Mancham S, Pedroza-Gonzalez A, Polak WG, de Jonge J, Gaspersz M, Dong H, Thielemans K, Pan Q, IJzermans JNM, Bruno MJ, Kwekkeboom J. Antibodies against immune checkpoint molecules restore functions of tumor-infiltrating T cells in hepatocellular carcinomas. Gastroenterology. 2017;153(4):1107–1119.e10.
- 74. Kochenderfer J, Somerville R, Lu T, Shi V, Yang JC, Sherry R, Klebanoff C, Kammula US, Goff SL, Bot A, et al. Anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor T cells preceded by low-dose chemotherapy to induce remissions of advanced lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:abstr LBA3010.
- 75. Locke FL, Neelapu SS, Bartlett NL, Siddiqi T, Chavez JC, et al. Phase 1 results of ZUMA-1: a multicenter study of KTE-C19 anti-CD19 CAR T cell therapy in refractory aggressive lymphoma. Mol

Ther. 2017;25(1):285–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ymthe.2016.10.020.

- Jain A, Zhang Q, Toh HC. Chin J awakening immunity against cancer: a 2017 primer for clinicians. Cancer. 2017;36(1):67. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40880-017-0233-4.
- 77. Louis CU, Savoldo B, Doffi G, et al. Antitumor activity and long-term fate of chimeric antigen receptorpositive T cells in patients with neuroblastoma. Blood. 2011;118:6050–6056, Feng K, Guo Y, Dai H, et al. chimeric antigen receptor-modifed T cells for the immunotherapy of patients with EGFR-expressing advanced relapsed/refractory non-small cell lung cancer. Sci China Life Sci. 2016;59:468–79.
- 78. Slovin SF, Wang X, Hullings M, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR+) modifed T cells targeting prostate specifc membrane antigen (PSMA) in patients (pts) with castrate metastatic prostate cancer (CMPC). J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:abstrTPS3115.
- 79. Yeku O, Li X, Brentjens RJ. Adoptive T-Cell Therapy for Solid Tumors. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book. 2017;37:193–204. https://doi.org/10.14694/ EDBK_1803281, Kershaw MH, Westwood JA, Parker LL, et al. A phase I study on adoptive immunotherapy using gene-modifed T cells for ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:6106–6115
- Beatty GL, Haas AR, Maus MV, et al. Mesothelinspecific chimeric antigen receptor mRNA-engineered T cells induce anti-tumor activity in solid malignancies. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2:112–20.
- Hu Y, Tian ZG, Zhang C. Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-transduced natural killer cells in tumor immunotherapy. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2018;39(2):167–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2017.125.
- 82. Genetically Modified Immune Cells Have Killed a Patient, Halting Two Cutting-Edge Trials. MIT Technology Review. https://www.technologyreview. com/the-download/608802/genetically-modifiedimmune-cells-have-killed-a-patient-halting-two-cutting-edge/



Personalized Prevention Strategies to Defeat Cancer

Anna Maria Berghella, Anna Aureli, Angelica Canossi, Giuseppe Marulli, Roberto Lattanzio, Giancarlo Di Gregorio, Tiziana Del Beato, Enzo Secinaro, and Patrizia Pellegrini

Contents

3.1	Introduction	42
3.2	The Thioredoxin1 System	42
3.3	The CD30 System	43
3.4	The Functional Link Between Trx1 and CD30 Systems	44
3.5	The Polymorphisms of KIRs, FcγRIIa-131H/R, and FcγRIIIa-158V/F Could Be Clinical Stratification Parameters to Personalize the Prognostic Trx1/CD30 Biomarkers of the Early Risk in Tumor Disease or Progression	45
3.6	The Trx1/CD30 Double Target Is a Real Weapon to Defeat Cancer	46
3.7	KIR and FcyRIIa and FcyRIIIa Polymorphisms Are Biomarkers of Low/Moderate/High Risk of Cancer Disease or Progression	47
3.8	Concluding Remarks	48
Refe	rences	48

Angelica Canossi and Anna Aureli contributed equally to this work.

A. M. Berghella (⊠) · A. Aureli · A. Canossi T. Del Beato · P. Pellegrini Department of Medicine, National Research, Council-Institute of Translational Pharmacology, Istituto di Farmacologia Traslazionale (IFT), Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche (CNR), L'Aquila, Italy e-mail: annamaria.berghella@cnr.it; anna.aureli@cnr.it; angelica.canossi@cnr.it; tiziana.delbeato@cnr.it; patrizia.pellegrini@cnr.it

G. Marulli

Poliambulatorio "Casa della Salute" Nucleo San Gregorio, Azienda Sanitaria Locale (ASL) di Avezzano-Sulmona-L'Aquila, San Gregorio (AQ), Italy R. Lattanzio Dipartimento di Chirurgia Generale, Ospedale SS Trinità, Popoli (PE), Italy

G. Di Gregorio Laboratorio di Analisi Cliniche, Ospedale SS Trinità, Popoli (PE), Italy

E. Secinaro Dipartimento di Medicina Interna, Ospedale SS Annunziata, Chieti, Italy Personalized treatment is, surely, one of the most urgent needs in the clinical strategies of prevention and cure of tumors.

New possibilities have been opened by the latest results [1] of the research on the aging changes specific for gender in the regulation of the redoximmune system homeostasis.

It has been demonstrated that Trx1/CD30 redox immune system (Trx1/sCD30) is a double target biomarker; it is both aging-related and specific for gender and can be used to establish the very early risk for cancer development or its progression.

Trx1/soluble CD30 (Trx1/sCD30) has been proposed as a new double pharmacological target for treatment to restore the redox-immune system homeostasis during aging and the normal levels of Trx1, RTrx1, sCD30, and cytokines T regulatory (Treg), T helper1, (Th1), Th9, and Th17. These are functional biomarkers of extracellular and intracellular pathways of Trx1/sCD30. Furthermore, the polymorphisms of killer immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs) and receptors for the Fc domain of IgG (FcyR) FcyRIIa-131H/R and FcyRIIIa-158V/F have been proposed as clinical stratification parameters to personalize the prognostic biomarkers in non/low/high disease risk indices.

3.2 The Thioredoxin1 System

The redox control of the cell physiology is one of the most important regulatory mechanisms in all the living organisms. The Trx1/RTrx1 system is a relevant regulator of the redox-mediated cell reactions of the whole organism.

Mammal cells contain two Trx systems. The first being Trx1/RTrx1 is normally localized in cytoplasm, but in stress conditions, it could migrate in the nucleus (inducing the transcription and transduction of target genes) or it could be secrete in the extracellular environment [2] and take part, in this way, to the network of the immune system. The second one, Trx2/RTrx2, localized in mitochondria and in the endoplasmathic reticulus, regulates the cell apoptosis [3]. In addition, literature reported other Trx systems: the Testis/sperm-specific, localized on the spermatids (Sptrx-1, Sptrx-2, and Sptrx-3), and the Trx1-2, located in the lungs and in other ciliate tissues [4].

Trx1 is a thermostable protein (constituted of 108 amino acids) that is largely distributed in all the living organism, from bacteria to mammals. It contains an S-S bridge, it does not contain metal, and it has a catalytic domain that is a donor of hydrogen for redox reactions [5, 6] (Fig. 3.1). The Trx1-reduced form is able to reduce protein disulfides by using their two active cysteine site.



Fig. 3.1 Thioredoxin 1 (Trx1) system. Trx1 reduces protein disulfides using their two active site cysteines, and upon reduction of target proteins, it is itself oxidized in its active site. The oxidized Trx1 form is converted in the

reduced form by the Thioredoxin1 reductase flavoprotein (RTrx), with the involvement of NADPH. These molecules constitute the thioredoxin redox-system1 (Trx1)

Upon reduction of target proteins, it is itself oxidized in its active site. The oxidized Trx1 form is converted in the reduced form by the Thioredoxin1 reductase flavoprotein (RTrx), with the involvement of NADPH. These molecules constitute the thioredoxin 1 (Trx1) system. Trx1 is very important for the defense of the state of health, also protecting from the tumoral pathology. Trx1 regulates the enzymatic activity, for example, of the "apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1" [7], the caspase-3 protease that promotes apoptosis [8], and the "protein kinase C" [9]. It increases the binding and activating function on DNA [10] of different transcription factors as activator protein 1 (AP1) [11, 12], the "nuclear factor kB (NFkB) [13], the "glucocorticoid receptor" [14], and p53 [6]. Human T cells, transformed by viruses, produce a factor that is identical to the human Trx1 and that was previously called actindepolymerizing factor (ADF) [15]. Trx1 is also secreted by activated B lymphocytes, the B lymphocytes of the type B chronic leukemia, fibroblast, and T lymphocytes [16, 17]. Trx1 is a powerful growth and survival factor [9, 12]. Its expression is increased in different types of tumor, especially in the most aggressive ones [15, 16] such as in lung cancer. In fact, increased levels of Trx1 are associated with the decrease of lung cancer patient survival. Trx1 increase has been also correlated with the inhibition of the immune system [18, 19]. Its increased expression has been identified as an independent prognostic factor of disease progression, and the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and redox effector factor 1 (Ref-1) are correlated to it [20]: these are important assumptions for new therapies with monoclonal-specific antibodies for these cellular receptors.

3.3 The CD30 System

At the beginning, CD30 receptor (CD30), a member of the TNFR/NGFR family, has been identified on primary cultural cells of Hodgkin and Sternberg [21]. CD30 is also expressed on lots of other T- and B-cell lines after viral trans-

formation; normally, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) express CD30 only after activation [22].

The physiological function of CD30 has not been yet clarified, but there are evidences that it could behave as a signal transducing molecule. The interaction between CD30 and its ligand (CD30L) on activated T cells, monocytes, natural killer (NK), neutrophils, eosinophils, and B cells induces the rapid activation of genic transcription factors, as JunN-kinase (JNKs) and nuclear factor NF- κ B (NFkB) [23–25]. In addiction, CD30 signals induce and regulate the lymphocyte expression of cytotoxic molecules, lymphonodal traffic, proliferation, and apoptosis [22].

Advances in research have shown that CD30 is a molecule that mediates regulatory signals. These results [24–28] clarified the significance of its physiopathologic function. They showed that the interaction between CD30 and its soluble form (sCD30), released in the cell environment when CD30 interacts with CD30L, controls the physiologic homeostasis in the immune and in the neurologic systems. This is because the CD30/sCD30 interaction regulates the functions of NK, monocytes, and mature (DC) and immature (IDC) dendritic cells in order to direct the Th-cell differentiation in the respective subtypes (Treg, Th1, Th9, Th17) [24–30].

NK cells provide the first-line defense against viral infections and malignant cells. NK cells perform this important role in the immune response for their ability to kill tumor cells, for cytokine production, and for the cross-talking with the adaptive system. The cooperation with the adaptive response is mediated by the interaction between CD30 on the NK cells and CD30L on the IDC cells. This binding induces the secretion of cytokines by IDC via the mitogenactivated protein kinase pathways and promotes the differentiation of mature DC cells and the release of TNF α /IFN γ by NK cells.

At this point, it is important to highlight that from the regular development of these interactions depends the generation of DC- and Th-specific cells, a normal immune response and the protection of the health state [25].

3.4 The Functional Link Between Trx1 and CD30 Systems

Therefore, research clarified that the functional link between Trx1 and CD30 is very important for the physiologic homeostasis. Furthermore, it underlines the big potentiality of these elements as target and biomarkers in clinical treatments. Trx1/CD30 is of key importance for Treg/Th1/ Th9/Th17 cell network balance and the immune response homeostasis. In fact, the Trx1 redox system maintains balance between reduced Trx1 and oxized Trx1 which regulate, respectively, the activation/inactivation of the CD30 receptor with CD30L, modifying the stoichiometric structure of CD30 receptor (Figs. 3.2 and 3.3) [1, 31].



Fig. 3.2 Functional link between Trx1 and CD30 systems. Trx1 and CD30 systems regulate the Treg/Th1/Th9/Th17 network homeostasis of the immune response. The Trx1 redoxsystem1 maintains balance between oxidant and antioxidant Trx1, regulating the activation (1)/inactivation (2) balance of the CD30 receptor (CD30) with its ligand (CD30L reduced Trx1 form (Trx1-SH) is able to interact with the oxidized CD30 (CD30 S-S) and reduce it (CD30 S-H). CD30 receptor can only interact in this latter form with CD30L on activated NK, DC, monocytes, and T cells (1). On the contrary, unbalance could be the cause of non-homeostasis of the immune response and cancer development (2)



Fig. 3.3 sCD30 and Trx1 both regulate CD30R functional activation and Treg/Th1/Th9/Th17 network balance. sCD30 and Trx1 are both able to influence the CD30 capacity of mediating the activation of intracellular signals. sCD30 makes this function by binding and blocking the binding site of CD30L (), with which it has a strong

affinity. Trx1 makes this function catalytically, modifying the stoichiometric structure of CD30. Abnormal increases in the levels of both sCD30 and Trx1oxized form result in non-activation of CD30 receptor. This causes Th9 and Th17 cell expansion and Treg and Th1 cell functional deficit, which have been noted in cancer

Furthermore, research explained that sCD30, in addition to Trx1, influences the CD30 capacity of mediating the activation of intracellular signals by CD30L. sCD30 makes this function by binding and blocking the binding site of CD30L, with which it has a strong affinity [1, 28] (Figs. 3.2 and 3.3).

The results have, also, underlined that during the inflammatory response, CD30 is largely expressed on the immune cells, and as a consequence, there is an increase of sCD30 that is released in the extracellular environment [28] (Fig. 3.3). Furthermore, it has been shown that the sCD30 level variations in the cellular or tumoral microenvironment could be used as biomarkers of the correct functioning of the immune system and the therapeutic response [1, 24–28, 32]: the sCD30 level, within the normal physiological ranges, is a positive index of the immune system homeostasis and of the therapeutic benefit. On the contrary, a significant increase of the sCD30 level is a negative index because it denotes an immunological deficit and the lack of a therapeutic response. For these reasons, both Trx1 and sCD30 have to be considered as therapeutic target.

Therefore, changes of the Trx1 and sCD30 levels are functional extracellular biomarkers of Trx1/CD30, while the Treg/Th1/Th9/Th17 cyto-

kine levels are functional biomarkers of the intracellular pathways [1, 33–35].

These results indicate, then, that Trx1/CD30 have great potentialities to be a new double pharmacological target on which it is possible to intervene to restore the balance and the normal health state.

3.5 The Polymorphisms of KIRs, FcγRIIa-131H/R, and FcγRIIIa-158V/F Could Be Clinical Stratification Parameters to Personalize the Prognostic Trx1/CD30 Biomarkers of the Early Risk in Tumor Disease or Progression

These polymorphisms could influence the interaction between innate and adaptive immune response. In fact, as we reported above, this cooperation is mediated by the interaction between CD30/CD30L/sCD30 on NK, monocytes, DC, and IDC in order to direct the Th-cell differentiation in the respective subtypes.

It was found that only those NK cell clones expressing at least one inhibitory-specific KIR for self-HLA class I molecule were "licensed" or functionally active. This mechanism shapes the NK repertoire and prevents NK-mediated selfdamage. Thus, in tumors the downregulation of HLA class I antigen expression makes tumor cells susceptible to NK cell attack. However, often, solid tumor cells even with partial or complete loss of HLA class I expression are able to spread.

The NK cell activity is regulated by a balance of transduction signals performed by activating and inhibiting receptors [36]. The independent segregation of HLA and KIR genes, along with KIR specificity for particular HLA allotypes, makes it possible that any given individual may express KIR molecules for which there is no ligand. While gene polymorphisms encoding inhibitory KIR2DL1, KIR2DL3, and KIR2DL4 are detected in almost all individuals, those codifying for activating KIR, like KIR2DS2, are found only in a part of population. Furthermore, KIR polymorphism and its interaction with HLA alleles may influence susceptibility to inflammatory diseases, including systemic sclerosis and vascular events in systemic lupus erythematosus [37, 38], viral infections, malignancies, and pregnancy outcome [39].

Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) is, additionally, an immune defense system in mediating tumor cell killing. The Fc γ Rs seems the only molecule on human myeloid cells capable of mediating ADCC of tumors and may be important in antibody therapy of cancer.

There are two types of $Fc\gamma Rs$: activation receptors (CD16A and CD32A) and inhibition receptors (CD16B and CD32B) [40–42]. CD16A and CD32A activate NK lymphocytes and myeloid cells, connecting innate and the adaptive immune responses.

CD16A is expressed in NK lymphocytes and macrophages, while CD32A is widely expressed in myeloid cells [43–45]. Genes encoding for these receptors are located in the low-affinity "FCGR" locus on chromosome 1q23 [46]. FcγRIIIa gene for CD16A and FcγRIIa gene for CD32A.

Some polymorphisms of $Fc\gamma R$ have been identified which could prove to have significant

clinical relevance [43]. Two functional polymorphisms of human Fc γ RIIa and Fc γ RIIa have been identified in the extracellular regions of these receptors: valine/phenylanine-158 of CD16A (Fc γ RIIIa-158V/F) and histidine/arginine-131 of CD32A (Fc γ RIIa-131H/R) which modulate their affinity for certain human IgG subclasses [47, 48]. Clinical studies reported that the presence of Fc γ RIIa-131H/H and Fc γ RIIa-158V/V genotypes is associated to a more efficient ADCC antitumor response.

For these reasons, the polymorphism of KIRs, $Fc\gamma RIIa-131H/R$, and $Fc\gamma RIIa-158V/F$ has been studied as stratification parameters for the loss of the physiological homeostasis, disease risk, and its progression.

3.6 The Trx1/CD30 Double Target Is a Real Weapon to Defeat Cancer

The advances of the research have confirmed the importance of the Trx1/CD30 as double target in tumor defense. The results showed that Trx1/ CD30 control the redox immunological homeostasis of the immune response both in men and women, but through different redox-immune pathways. In this control, the normal levels of Trx1/RTrx1 and sCD30 are fundamental for the preservation of IL10, TGF_β, IL4, IL6, and IL2 pathway homeostasis of immune response in the healthy subjects, also during aging. Studies in the patient groups supported this scientific rational by showing as the unbalance of the Trx1/RTrx1 and sCD30 levels generates cancer and makes it progress, through different redox-immune pathways between men and women. Then, research confirmed this role showing that the unbalance of the Trx1/RTrx1 and sCD30 levels is a biomarker of the loss of the IL10, TGF_β, IL4, IL6, and IL2 pathway homeostasis in the network of the immune response and is a risk biomarker of cancer development and progression.

Data showed also that the above redox immune unbalance is prognostic in both gender of the specific type of disease [49–59]. In men, the disease is of degenerative-destroying kind because it is correlated to an increase of TGF β and IL4 cytokine combination, which is a biomarker for a Th9 cell expansion [49, 50, 58, 59]. While in women, the redox-immune unbalance produces autoimmune diseases since it is correlated to an increase of the TGF β and IL6 cytokine combination, which is a biomarker for a Th17 cell expansion [60–62]. Therefore, these and previous results [1, 52–56] showed that the susceptibility and clinical course in disease, dissimilar for genders, are caused by a different Treg, Th17 and Th9 cell polarization. This is due to the IL10, TGF β , IL4, IL6, and IL2 cytokine pathway interactions, which vary between men and women.

The results specify, in fact, that our body produces immunological responses through physiological pathways different between men and women. However, these differences related to sex do not have consequences for the final result: the responses are activated; they perform their function and return to the initial rest phase. All this happens, normally, regardless of differences in the path between the two sexes, until there are pathological changes in these specific genderspecific pathways. In fact, if alterations occur in the pathways of IFNy and IL6 cytokines, the effects for men and women, in terms of development of the disease, are different. This happens because in the physiological network the activity of the immune response is the result of the interactions of the activities of the entire cytokine network which is present in the microenvironment. As stated above, the cytokine pathways of IFNy and IL6 are the main regulators of the network of the immune response of men and women, respectively. Consequently, the male gender will suffer the consequences that follow a lack of network regulation by IFNy pathways; instead, the female sex will suffer from a lack of network regulation by the IL6 pathways.

Furthermore, it was also clarified that in these events a determining role is to be attributed to the ability of environment cytokines to activate the genic transcription factors for the differentiation of the specific Th subsets. Th1 requires the expression of Tbet transcription factor, whereas Th2 cells are controlled by expression of GATA-3 [63–65]. Treg cells differ through Forkhead boxP3 (Foxp3) transcription factor [66, 67]; instead, Th17 cells need retinoic acid-related orphan receptor gt (RORgt) [68-70], and Th9 cells need the PU.1 bet transcription factor [71– 74]. There is also a mutual development relationship between Treg, Th17, and Th9 cells. TGF β triggers the expression of Foxp3 transcription factor in naive T cells, generating Treg cells. Nevertheless, IL6 can inhibit the Foxp3 expression driven by TGF β , and the combination of TGF β and IL-6 cytokines is able to induce ROR-gt transcription factor, triggering the Th17 cells: nevertheless, IL2 can inhibit this induction [75]. Additionally, also IL4 inhibits induction of Foxp3 from TGFβ. The combination of TGFβ and IL4 induces the expression of PU.1 transcription factor generating Th9 cells. The coexpression of IL-9 and IL-17 was identified as a Th17 function in mediating autoimmune tissue destruction: IFN γ inhibits this generation [76].

Consequently, research has shown that Trx1/ CD30 in NK, DC, monocyte, and T cells regulate the redox immunological homeostasis of the TGF β , IL4, IL6, IL10, and IL2 gender-specific pathways. The loss of this control produces a pathological gender-specific polarization of T-cell subsets, which causes the disease development.

3.7 KIR and FcγRIIa and FcγRIIIa Polymorphisms Are Biomarkers of Low/ Moderate/High Risk of Cancer Disease or Progression

The results showed that the KIR polymorphisms are stratification parameters for disease risk in healthy subjects and for its progression in patients.

The individual number of inhibitory KIR (iKIR) showed no relevance in this correlation. Instead, the number of KIR-activating receptors (aKIR) showed meaning: aKIR>2 and aKIR<3 are, respectively, biomarkers of no risk and of risk of disease and of its progression.

The increase of age is related to the increase of the disease risk, and the female gender is the most impressed, linked to 2DS4del polymorphism. In men, the increase of risk of disease during aging is caused, primary, by the Trx1 enhance and linked to the 2DL3, 2DS4ins, and 3DL1 polymorphisms.

Furthermore, it was found that in men 3DL1 is the highest risk biomarker: it is negatively correlated with the IL2 increase and positively with the IL4 increase (prognostic for Th9 cell generation). Instead, 2DL5B is the male highest no-risk biomarker: in fact, it is positively correlated with both IL2 and IFN γ increase (prognostic for immunological response homeostasis).

As in men and also in women, 2DL5B is the highest no-risk biomarker because it is positively correlated with IL2 increase. Additionally, 2DS2/2DL2 pair is also a female no-risk biomarker: it is negatively correlated with TGF β increase.

Results also showed that the 2DL2⁺/2DS2⁺ pair is protective for tumor [77] and this is because 2DL2⁺/2DS2⁺ pair is biomarker of positive interaction between innate and adaptive immunity and of immunological redox homeostasis.

Another goal of these studies is the validation of FcyRIIa and FcyRIIIa polymorphisms as gender-specific disease risk biomarkers. During aging, the FcyRIIa-131H/H combination with FcyRIIIa-158V/V is the biomarker of the lowest disease risk in both, men and women, because it is the most efficient combination for the control of redox-immune homeostasis when IL10 level is increased. The increase of IL10 level is highrisk biomarker for chronic-degenerative diseases (as tumor) and of its progression. The combinations of FcyRIIa-131H/R and FcyRIIIa-158F/F genotypes in men and of FcyRIIa-131H/R and FcyRIIIa-158V/F in women are, furthermore, biomarkers for an intermediate risk. This is because it is the most efficient combination for the control of redox-immune homeostasis when IL6 level is increased. In fact, IL6 is a pre-risk condition for the disease onset and/or its progression. The combined genotypes of FcyRIIa-131R/R with FcyRIIIa-158V/F in men and of FcyRIIa-131R/R with FcyRIIIa-158F/F in women are biomarkers for the highest risk of disease or of its progression, because they are protective only if the levels of IFN γ , IL4, and IL2 cytokines increase together. In this condition, in fact, there is no risk for the redoximmune balance.

These results showed also that in patients the combinations of H/H-F/F e R/R-V/V in men and of the H/H-V/V, H/R-V/V, and R/R-F/F in women are biomarkers of no risk of disease progression; the pair H/R-F/F is a biomarker of moderate risk only in men, while the H/H-V/F and R/R-V/F are high-risk biomarkers both in men and women; the combination H/R-V/F is a high-risk biomarker only in men.

3.8 Concluding Remarks

Therefore, research showed that the Trx1/CD30 is a gender-specific double target and biomarker of the homeostasis/non-homeostasis of the redox immune system during aging.

Homeostasis protects the state of health because it preserves our physiological ability to defend ourselves against diseases, such as cancer. On the other hand, non-homeostasis causes incapacity to defend oneself from inflammation which makes irreversible the mechanisms that generate the disease.

Consequently, the Trx1/CD30 and the selected biomarkers are a real tool for new personalized clinical strategies to defeat cancer.

References

- Berghella AM, Pellegrini P, Del Beato T, Ciccone F, Contasta I. The potential role of thioredoxin 1 and CD30 systems as multiple pathway targets and biomarkers in tumor therapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60:1373–81. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00262-011-1068-5.
- Masutani H, Hirota K, Sasada T, Ueda-Taniguchi Y, Taniguchi Y, Sono H, et al. Transactivation of an inducible anti-oxidative stress protein human thioredoxin by HTLV-I Tax. Immunol Lett. 1996;54:67–71.
- Patenaude A, Ven Murthy MR, Mirault ME. Mitochondrial thioredoxin system: effects of TrxR2 overexpression on redox balance, cell growth, and apoptosis. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:27302–14. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M402496200.

- Miranda-Vizuete A, Sadek CM, Jimenez A, Krause WJ, Sutovsky P, Oko R. The mammalian testis-specific thioredoxin system. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2004;6:25–40. https://doi. org/10.1089/152.308.604.771, 978327 millions
- 5. Mustacich D, Powis G. Thioredoxin reductase. Biochem J. 2000;346:1–8.
- Powis G, Mustacich D, Coon A. The role of the redox protein thioredoxin in cell growth and cancer. Free Radic Biol Med. 2000;29:312–22.
- Saitoh M, Nishitoh H, Fujii M, Takeda K, Tobiume K, Sawada Y, et al. Mammalian thioredoxin is a direct inhibitor of apoptosis signal- regulating kinase (ASK) 1. EMBO J. 1998;17:2596–06. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/17.9.2596.
- Benhar M, Forrester MT, Hess DT, Stamler JS. Regulated protein denitrosylation by cytosolic and mitochondrial thioredoxins. Science. 2008;320:1050– 4. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1158265.
- Biguet C, Wakasugi N, Mishal Z, Holmgren A, Chouaib S, Tursz T, et al. Thioredoxin increases the proliferation of human B-cell lines through a protein C-dependent mechanism. J Biol Chem. 1994;269:28865–70.
- Matthews JR, Wakasugi N, Virelizier JL, Yodoi J, Hay RT. Thioredoxin regulates the DNA binding activity of NF-kappa B by reducing of a disulphide bond involving cysteine 62. Nucleic Acids Res. 1992;20:3821–30.
- Hirota K, Matsui M, Iwata S, Nishiyama A, Mori K, Yodoi J. AP-1 transcriptional activity is regulated by a direct association between thioredoxin and Ref-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94:3633–8.
- Schenk H, Klein M, Erdbrugger W, Droge W, Schulze-Osthoff K. Distinct effects of thioredoxin and antioxidants on the activation of transcription factors NF-kappa B and AP-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91:1672–6.
- Hayashi T, Ueno Y, Okamoto T. Oxidoreductive regulation of nuclear factor kappa B. Involvement of a cellular reducing catalyst thioredoxin. J Biol Chem. 1993;268:11380–8.
- 14. Wakasugi N, Tagaya Y, Wakasug H, Mitsui A, Maeda M, Yodoi J, et al. Adult T-cell leukemiaderived factor/thioredoxin, produced by both human T-lymphotropic virus type I- and Epstein-Barr virustransformed lymphocytes, acts as an autocrine growth factor and synergizes with interleukin 1 and interleukin 2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1990;87:8282–6.
- Li J, Cheng ZJ, Liu Y, Yan ZL, Wang K, Wu D, et al. Serum thioredoxin is a diagnostic marker for hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncotarget. 2015;6:9551–63. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.3314.
- Ericson ML, Horling J, Wendel HV, Holmgren A, Rosen A. Secretion of thioredoxin after *in vitro* activation of human B cells. Lymphokine Cytokine Res. 1992;11:201–7.
- 17. Bertini R, Howard OMZ, Dong H, Oppenheim JJ, Bizzarri C, Sergi R, et al. Thioredoxin, a redox enzyme released in infection and inflammation, is a

unique chemoattractant for neutrophils, monocytes and T-cells. J Exp Med. 1999;189:1783–9.

- Gromer S, Urig S, Becker K. The thioredoxin systemfrom science to clinic. Med Res Rev. 2004;24:40–89. https://doi.org/10.1002/med.10051.
- Powis G, Mustacichi D, Coon A. The role of the redox protein thioredoxin in cell growth and cancer. Free Radic Biol Med. 2000;29:312–22.
- Kusmartsev S, Eruslanov E, Kübler H, Tseng T, Sakai Y, Su Z, et al. Oxidative stress regulates expression of VEGFR1 in myeloid cells: link to tumor-induced immune suppression in renal cell carcinoma. J Immunol. 2008;181:346–53.
- Alzona M, Jack HM, Fisher RI, Ellis TM. CD30 defines a subset of activated human T-cells that produce IFN gamma and IL5 and exhibit enhanced B cell helper activity. J Immunol. 1994;153:2861–7.
- Muta H, Boise LH, Fang L, Podack ER. CD30 signals integrate expression of cytotoxic effector molecules, lymphocyte trafficking signals, and signals for proliferation and apoptosis. J Immunol. 2000;165:5105–11.
- McDonald PP, Cassatella MA, Bald A, Maggi E, Romagnani S, Gruss HJ, et al. CD30 ligation induces nuclear factor kappa B activation in human T-cell lines. Eur J Immunol. 1995;25:2870–6. https://doi. org/10.1002/eji.1830251024.
- 24. Contasta I, Totaro R, Berghella AM, Pellegrini P, Del Beato T, Carolei A, Adorno D. Soluble CD30: a biomarker for evaluating the clinical risk versus benefit of IFNβ1A treatment in multiple sclerosis patients. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol. 2010;23:213–26. https:// doi.org/10.1177/039463201002300119.
- Simhadri VL, Hansen HP, Simhadri VR, Reiners KS, Bessler M, Engert A, et al. A novel role for reciprocal CD30-CD30L signaling in the crosstalk between natural killer and dendritic cells. Biol Chem. 2012;393:101–6. https://doi.org/10.1515/ BC-2011-213.
- 26. Del Beato T, Berghella AM, Pellegrini P, Adorno D, Casciani CU. The role of the soluble CD30 serum level in colorectal cancer: a possible marker for a patient subset which could benefit from IL 2 biotherapy. Cancer Biother Radiopharm. 1997;12:297–04. https://doi.org/10.1089/cbr.1997.12.297.
- Pellegrini P, Berghella AM, Contasta I, Adorno D. CD30 antigen: not a physiological marker for TH2 cells but an important costimulator molecule in the regulation of the balance between TH1/TH2 response. Transplant Immunol. 2003;12:49–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0966-3274(03)00014-5.
- 28. Pellegrini P, Totaro R, Contasta I, Berghella AM, Carolei A, Adorno D. CD30 antigen and multiple sclerosis: CD30 an important costimulator molecule and marker for a regulatory subpopulation of dendritic cells involved in maintaining the physiological balance between TH1/TH2 immune response and tolerance; the role of IFNγ1a in re establishing this regulation in multiple sclerosis. Neuroimmunomodulation. 2005;12:220–34. https:// doi.org/10.1159/000085654.

- Berghella AM, Pellegrini P, Contasta I, Carolei A, Adorno D. CD30 molecule, the immune system and Multiple Sclerosis. In: Veskler Barbara A, editor. New Research on Immunology. Hauppauge, NY: Nova Science Publishers Inc; 2005. P.11788-3619. ISBN 1-59454-289-9 2005.
- Hargreaves PG, Al-Shamkhani A. A soluble CD30 blocks transmembrane signaling by CD30. Eur J Immunol. 2002;32:163–73. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-4141(200201)32:1<163::AID-IMMU163>3.0.CO;2-T.
- Schwertassek U, Balmer Y, Gutscher M, Weingarten L, Preuss M, Engelhard J, et al. Selective redox regulation of cytokine receptor signaling by extracellular thioredoxin 1. EMBO J. 2007;26:3086–97. https:// doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601746.
- 32. Pellegrini P, Contasta I, Berghella AM, Del Beato T, Adorno D. Classification of cancer stage using patient's immune system. In: Hayat MA, editor. Methods of cancer diagnosis, therapy and prognosis. New York: Springer Publishing Company; 2010. chapter 14, Vol. 7, pp. 195–213. ISBN: 978-90-481-3185-3.
- Janes KA, Yaffe MB. Data driven modelling of signal transduction networks. Nat Rev. 2006;7:820–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2041.
- 34. Bray D. Reasoning for results. Nature. 2001;412:863. https://doi.org/10.1038/35091132.
- Janes KA, Lauffenburger DA. A biological approach to computational models of proteomic networks. Curr Opin Chem Biol. 2006;10:73–80. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2005.12.016.
- Carrington M, Martin MP. The impact of variation at the KIR gene cluster on human disease. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2006;298:225–57.
- 37. Salim PH, Jobim M, Bredemeier M, Chies JA, Schlottfeldt J, Brenol JC, et al. Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIR) genes in systemic sclerosis. Clin Exp Immunol. 2010;160:325–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.0409.
- Toloza S, Pellett F, Chandran V, Ibanez D, Urowitz M, Gladman D. Association of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor genotypes with vascular arterial events and anticardiolipin antibodies in patients with lupus. Lupus. 2008;17:793–8. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0961203308089443.
- Kulkarni S, Martin MP, Carrington M. The yin and Yang of HLA and KIR in human disease. Semin Immunol. 2008;20:343–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. smim.2008.06.003.
- 40. Biassoni R, Falco M, Cambiaggi A, Costa P, Verdiani S, Pende D, et al. Amino acid substitutions can influence the natural killer (NK)-mediated recognition of HLA-C molecules. Role of serine-77 and lysine-80 in the target cell protection from lysis mediated by "group 2" or "group 1" NK clones. J Exp Med. 1995;182:605–9.
- Parham P. MHC class I molecules and KIRs in human history, health and survival. Nat Rev Immunol. 2005;5:201–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1570.
- Ravetch JV, Bolland S. IgG Fc receptors. Annu Rev Immunol. 2001;19:275–90. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.immunol.19.1.275.

- van de Winkel JG, Capel PJ. Human IgG Fc receptor heterogeneity: molecular aspects and clinical implications. Immunol Today. 1993;14:215–21. https://doi. org/10.1016/0167-5699(93)90166-I.
- 44. Qiu WQ, de Bruin D, Brownstein BH, Pearse R, Ravetch JV. Organization of the human and mouse low-affinity Fc gamma R genes: duplication and recombination. Science. 1990;248:732–5.
- 45. Deo YM, Graziano RF, Repp R, van de Winkel JG. Clinical significance of IgG Fc receptors and Fc gamma R-directed immunotherapies. Immunol Today. 1997;18:127–35.
- 46. Peltz GA, Grundy HO, Lebo RV, Yssel H, Barsh GS, Moore KW. Human Fc gamma RIII: cloning, expression, and identification of the chromosomal locus of two Fc receptors for IgG. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989;86:1013–7.
- 47. Parren PW, Warmerdam PA, Boeije LC, Arts J, Westerdaal NA, Vlug A, et al. On the interaction of IgG subclasses with the low affinity Fc gamma RIIa (CD32) on human monocytes, neutrophils, and platelets. Analysis of a functional polymorphism to human IgG2. J Clin Invest. 1992;90:1537–46. https://doi. org/10.1172/JCI116022.
- 48. Koene HR, Kleijer M, Algra J, Roos D, von dem Borne AE, de Haas M. Fc gammaRIIIa-158V/F polymorphism influences the binding of IgG by natural killer cell Fc gammaRIIIa, independently of the Fc gammaRIIIa-48L/R/H phenotype. Blood. 1997;90:1109–14.
- Korn T, Anderson AC, Bettelli E, Oukka M. The dynamics of effector T-cells and Foxp3+ regulatory T-cells in the promotion and regulation of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol. 2007;191:51– 60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2007.09.009.
- Greer JM, McCombe PA. Role of gender in multiple sclerosis: clinical effects and potential molecular mechanisms. J Neuroimmunol. 2011;234:7–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.03.003.
- 51. Zhou Y, Sonobe Y, Akahori T, Jin S, Kawanokuchi J, Noda M, et al. IL-9 promotes Th17 cell migration into the central nervous system via CC chemokine ligand-20 produced by astrocytes. J Immunol. 2011;186:4415–21. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1003307.
- 52. Pellegrini P, Contasta I, Del Beato T, Ciccone F, Berghella AM. Gender-specific cytokine pathways, targets, and biomarkers for the switch from health to adenoma and colorectal cancer. Clin Dev Immunol. 2011;2011:819724. https://doi. org/10.1155/2011/819724.
- 53. Berghella AM, Contasta I, Del Beato T, Ciccone F, Pellegrini P. The discovery of how gender influences age immunological mechanisms in health and disease, and the identification of ageing gender-specific biomarkers, could lead to specifically tailored treatment and ultimately improve therapeutic success rates. Immun Ageing. 2012;9:24–36. https://doi. org/10.1186/1742-4933-9-24.
- 54. Contasta I, Totaro R, Pellegrini P, Del Beato T, Berghella AM. A gender-related action of

IFN β -therapy was found in multiple sclerosis. J Transl Med. 2012;10:223–40. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5876-10-223.

- 55. Berghella AM, Contasta I, Marulli G, D'Innocenzo C, Garofalo F, Gizzi F, et al. Ageing genderspecific "Biomarkers of Homeostasis", to protect ourselves against the diseases of the old age. Immun Ageing. 2014;11:3–19. https://doi. org/10.1186/1742-4933-11-3.
- 56. Berghella AM, Contasta I, Lattanzio R, Di Gregorio G, Campitelli I, Silvino M, et al. The role of gender-specific cytokine pathways as drug targets and gender-specific biomarkers in personalized cancer therapy. Curr Drug Targets. 2017;18:485–95. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389450117666160630173647.
- 57. Singh R, Zorrón Cheng Tao Pu L, Koay D, Burt A. Sessile serrated adenoma/polyps: Where are we at in 2016? World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:7754–9. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v22.i34.7754.
- Cheng DL, Hu YX, Hu PQ, Wen G, Liu K. Clinicopathological and multisection CT features of primary pulmonary mucoepidermoid carcinoma. Clin Radiol. 2017;7:610–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crad.2017.02.007.
- Ekström W, Samuelsson B, Ponzer S, Cederholm T, Thorngren KG, Hedström M. Sex effects on shortterm complications after hip fracture: a prospective cohort study. Clin Interv Aging. 2015;10:1259–66. https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S80100.
- Gleicher N, Barad DH. Gender as risk factor for autoimmune diseases. J Autoimmun. 2007;28:1–6. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2006.12.004.
- Mostafa S, Seamon V, Azzarolo AM. Influence of sex hormones and genetic predisposition in Sjögren's syndrome: a new clue to the immunopathogenesis of dry eye disease. Exp Eye Res. 2012;96:88–97. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.exer.2011.12.016.
- 62. Kanaan SB, Onat OE, Balandraud N, Martin GV, Nelson JL, Azzouz DF, et al. Evaluation of X chromosome inactivation with respect to HLA genetic susceptibility in rheumatoid arthritis and systemic sclerosis. PLoS One. 2016;11(6):e0158550. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0158550.
- Murphy KM, Reiner SL. The lineage decisions of helper T-cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2002;2:933–44. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri954.
- Zhou L, Chong MM, Littman DR. Plasticity of CD4+ T-cell lineage differentiation. Immunity. 2009;30:646– 55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2009.05.001.
- Weaver CT, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Harrington LE. IL-17 family cytokines and the expanding diversity of effector T-cell lineages. Annu Rev Immunol. 2007;25:821–52. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. immunol.25.022106.141557.
- 66. Schubert LA, Jeffery E, Zhang Y, Ramsdell F, Ziegler SF. Scurfin (FOXP3) acts as a repressor of transcription and regulates T-cell activation. J Biol Chem. 2001;276:37672–9. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M104521200.
- 67. Bennett CL, Christie J, Ramsdell F, Brunkow ME, Ferguson PJ, Whitesell L, et al. The immune

dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. Nat Genet. 2001;27:20–1. https://doi. org/10.1038/83713.

- Manel N, Unutmaz D, Littman DR. The differentiation of human T(H)-17 cells requires transforming growth factor-beta and induction of the nuclear receptor ROR gamma t. Nat Immunol. 2008;9:641–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1610.
- 69. Volpe E, Servant N, Zollinger R, Bogiatzi SI, Hupé P, Barillot E, et al. A critical function for transforming growth factor-beta, interleukin 23 and proinflammatory cytokines in driving and modulating human T(H)-17 responses. Nat Immunol. 2008;9:650–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1613.
- Yang L, Anderson DE, Baecher-Allan C, Hastings WD, Bettelli E, Oukka M, et al. IL-21 and TGF-beta are required for differentiation of human T(H)17 cells. Nature. 2008;454:350–2. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature07021.
- Dardalhon V, Awasthi A, Kwon H, Galileos G, Gao W, Sobel RA, et al. IL-4 inhibits TGF-betainduced Foxp3+ T-cells and, together with TGF-beta, generates IL-9+ IL-10+ Foxp3(-) effector T-cells. Nat Immunol. 2008;9:1347–55. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1677.
- Veldhoen M, Uyttenhove C, van Snick J, Helmby H, Westendorf A, Buer J, et al. Transforming growthfactor-beta 'reprograms' the differentiation of T helper 2 cells and promotes an interleukin 9-producing subset. Nat Immunol. 2008;9:1341–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1659.
- 73. Korn T, Mitsdoerffer M, Croxford AL, Awasthi A, Dardalhon VA, Galileos G, et al. IL-6 controls Th17 immunity *in vivo* by inhibiting the conversion of conventional T-cells into Foxp3+ regulatory T-cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:18460–5. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0809850105.
- Nowak EC, Weaver CT, Turner H, Begum-Haque S, Becher B, Schreiner B, et al. IL-9 as a mediator of Th17-driven inflammatory disease. J Exp Med. 2009;206:1653–60. https://doi.org/10.1084/ jem.20090246.
- Wong MT, Ye JJ, Alonso MN, Landrigan A, Cheung RK, Engleman E, Utz PJ. Regulation of human Th9 differentiation by type I interferons and IL-21. Immunol Cell Biol. 2010;88:624–31. https://doi. org/10.1038/icb.2010.53.
- 76. Zhou X, Hopkins JW, Wang C, Brahmakshatriya V, Swain SL, Kuchel GA, Haynes L, McElhaney JE. IL-2 and IL-6 cooperate to enhance the generation of influenza-specific CD8 T-cells responding to live influenza virus in aged mice and humans. Oncotarget. 2016;7:39171–83. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.10047.
- 77. Canossi A, Aureli A, Del Beato T, Rossi P, Franceschilli L, De Sanctis F, et al. Role of KIR and CD16A genotypes in colorectal carcinoma genetic risk and clinical stage. J Transl Med. 2016;14:239–47. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-016-1001-y.



Tumor Antigen Identification for Cancer Immunotherapy 4

Maryam Balibegloo, Mahsa Keshavarz-Fathi, and Nima Rezaei

Contents

4.1	Introduction	54	
4.2	Tumor Antigens	54	
4.3	Approaches to Identify Tumor Antigens	54	
4.3.1	Prediction-Based Identification	55	
4.3.1.1	Antigen Identification	55	
4.3.1.2	In Silico Peptide Prediction	56	
4.3.1.3	Validation of Antigen Presentation and Immunogenicity	56	
4.3.2	Forward Immunology in Tumor Antigen Identification	56	
4.3.2.1	Genome Sequencing.	56	
4.3.2.2	Isolation of HLA-Peptide Complex	57	
4.3.2.3	Sequencing of Neopeptide	57	
4.4	Clinical Utility of Tumor Antigen Identification	57	
4.5	Concluding Remarks	58	
Referen	References		

M. Balibegloo

Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education & Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

M. Keshavarz-Fathi Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

N. Rezaei (🖂)

Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Network of Immunity in Infection, Malignancy and Autoimmunity (NIIMA), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran e-mail: rezaei_nima@tums.ac.ir; rezaei_nima@yahoo.com

4.1 Introduction

Distinguishing between the foreign and self-antigen is a key principle in proper immune system function, resulting in immune tolerance for self-antigens, while non-self-antigens are immunogenic [1]. Talking about cancer, this discrimination is hard due to its origin from normal host cells [2]. Considering that in mind, the tumor microenvironment consisting of cells, molecules, and extracellular matrix facilitates the interaction between tumor and immune system. While possessing tumor-suppressing potentials, changing the immune profile of the tumor microenvironment may result in tumor escape [3]. The immunoediting hypothesis propounds that the interaction between tumor and immune system, via three processes of elimination, equilibrium, and escape, despite initial destroying of the nascent cells, eventually leads to tumor expansion with uncontrolled manner because of selection and generating of those variants of cancer cells with increased capacity toward the immune system [4]. Altogether, tumor antigen identification remains an important issue in cancer immunotherapy, since challenging with the immune escape of the tumor on one hand and the serious side effects and toxicities of designed therapeutics due to targeting of normal cells' antigen on the other hand has made many complexities [5]. Thus, finding the target antigens via different approaches is fundamental, making it necessary to be equipped with novel various technologies in the field.

In this chapter, we will briefly review various types of tumor antigens. Further, we will discuss the approaches in identifying tumor antigens and finally will mention the clinical utility of tumor antigen identification.

4.2 Tumor Antigens

Antigen is defined as any substance capable of inducing immune system response [6]. From the point of origin, tumor antigens could be divided into two major groups: (1) native tumor-associated antigens which are also presented in normal cells but are upregulated in malignant cells and (2) tumor-specific antigens [7, 8]. Tumor-specific antigens are classified in turn into three main groups: (a) those related to tumor-

specific somatic mutations which are known as neoantigens [6], (b) cancer/testis antigens that are normally expressed in male germ cells in the testis and sometimes in the female ovary and in trophoblast which can also be expressed in different tumors due to gene dysregulation in malignancies [9], and (c) antigens generated from malignant transformation via viral open reading frames [8], such as HPV16 E6 and E7 [10] and EBV [11]. These carcinogenic viruses also contribute to the generation of neoantigens in a subset of tumors like cervical or head and neck cancers [12], but as they constitute a small proportion of cancers, the majority of neoantigens are derived from tumor-specific mutations [8].

Furthermore, tumors may express antigens in a heterogeneous manner in which some antigens are presented in all malignant cells, called clonal antigens, whereas some others will present in a subset of cells instead of the whole tumor which are known as subclonal antigens [6].

Another used classification is as follows:

- (a) Unique tumor-specific antigens which are raised from unique mutations in a tumor of a patient.
- (b) Shared lineage-specific antigens presenting in the tumor and its matched normal tissue, prostate-specific antigen (PSA) belongs to this group.
- (c) Shared tumor-specific antigens which are not seen in healthy tissues but are commonly shared between different types of tumors.
- (d) Shared antigens which derive from both tumor and normal tissue, but are upregulated in tumors [13].

Based on different characteristics of these various antigen types, they rank differently as ideal candidates for immunotherapy, which is briefly discussed later.

4.3 Approaches to Identify Tumor Antigens

Namely, the main two antigen identification approaches are algorithm-based prediction, also known as indirect or reverse immunology [2], and the forward/direct immunology or HLA peptidomics, in which the HLA-peptide complexes are isolated from samples and followed by identification of peptide sequences [14]. Although rendering many neoantigen identification, the reverse immunology approach may eventually result in a small fraction of predicted peptides to be confirmed, yielding high false-positive peptides and thus requiring validation via laborious and time-consuming techniques. Furthermore, since the validation is based on the previous immunogenicity of the peptide, they may not present by the tumor anymore in contrast to the HLA peptidomics strategy in which the antigens are actually presented even though they are not immunogene [15].

4.3.1 Prediction-Based Identification

The indirect or reverse immunology approach relies on the algorithm-based prediction of the proper antigen candidate. The steps and main implemented methods are summarized here. The main steps are illustrated in Fig. 4.1.

4.3.1.1 Antigen Identification

The initial step is the antigen identification. This could be implemented with or without sample

acquisition. In the method without obtaining any sample, the candidate frequent mutations are selected from common well-characterized mutations on the basis of existing literature and databases [8]. This classic approach was one of the early methods in identifying tumor antigens. The cDNA library has shown to be very efficient in identifying many unique neoantigens such as PTPRK in melanoma [16], ACTN4 in lung cancer [17], and KIAA1440 in renal cancer [18]. However, it is laborious and low throughput and hard to clone some large, GC-rich or lowexpression transcripts [2]. Sharkey MS. et al. reported the V599E mutation of BRAF codon 599, to be recognized by T cells. They provided melanoma culture by enzymatic lysis of metastatic lesions. DNA sequencing was done on genomic DNA isolated from melanoma cells and peripheral blood mononuclear cells. PCR was used for the amplification of BRAF exon 15. Due to the interference of melanin, reverse transcribed cDNA was utilized as the template for PCR [19].

In sample acquisition method, tumor and matched normal cells are obtained, followed by the DNA sequencing [8] or protein overexpression analysis including different methods such as western blotting and immunofluorescence,



immunohistochemistry, etc. Yang Li et al. reported glutathione S-transferase omega 1 protein as a tumor-associated antigen which could be utilized as a biomarker in early detection of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. They used immunohistochemistry analysis to compare the GSTO1 expression between esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and the normal tissue. They also used western blotting and immunofluorescence to confirm the mentioned discovery [20].

Whole-exome sequencing is one of the most frequently used techniques. While being very efficient in identifying antigens previously missed by cDNA library screening, its efficiency could be restricted by the accuracy of HLApeptide binding prediction algorithms, especially for HLA II and rare HLA alleles, and the failed expression of some epitopes on the cell surface. The latter could be somewhat resolved by pulsing the antigen-presenting cells with long synthetic peptides [2]. Along with DNA sequencing, RNA sequence is also determined to validate the expression levels of detected mutations [8].

Another approach has been developed by the application of tandem minigene (TMG). One minigene is designed for each mutation, which is synthesized in tandem to generate the TMG construct that encodes polypeptides comprising mutated amino acids. They are used as templates for the generation of in vitro transcribed RNA, and then each transfects the autologous antigenpresenting cell or cell lines co-expressing autologous HLA molecules [2, 8, 21].

4.3.1.2 In Silico Peptide Prediction

After identifying the mutations, in silico analysis is utilized to predict the binding affinity of peptides to autologous HLA. Moreover, the peptides predicted to be poorly processed by the proteasome, and thus poorly presented could be removed. Using the prediction algorithms, the mutations are then ranked, and the candidate peptides are synthesized [2, 8]. There are different databases and tools for prediction. The IEDB (immune epitope database and analysis resource) is an online database rendering tools such as SMM, SMMPMBEC, ARB, and Pickpocket [8]. As an example of these bioinformatics, NetMHCpan is a large database of HLA-I and peptide interactions capable of generating quantitative predictions of HLA-peptide binding affinity which acquires the data from IEDB and the data published by Sette and coworkers [22].

4.3.1.3 Validation of Antigen Presentation and Immunogenicity

To determine whether or not the synthesized neopeptides can induce the T-cell activation, their expression and immunogenicity must be validated using T-cell reactivity analysis. Thus, antigen-loaded autologous antigen-presenting cells are generated and utilized to stimulate T cells from patients or healthy donors. The expanded T cells are then studied for their activation in vitro and detected by markers such as cytokine secretion (IFN- γ), CD170a, OX-40, and 4-1BB upregulation [2, 8].

4.3.2 Forward Immunology in Tumor Antigen Identification

In the early 1990s, the first successful cloning of the human gene MAGE-1 encoding a tumor antigen of melanoma MZ2-MEL was investigated by Traversari et al. along with demonstrating the autologous cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response [23, 24]. However, different from HLA peptidomics used in recent years in forward immunology, it is often revered to as direct immunology approach as the first human tumor antigen identification.

4.3.2.1 Genome Sequencing

The initial step is determining the DNA sequence of the tumor and matching normal sample to identify the somatic mutations in malignant cells. It could be done by means of whole exome or genome sequencing [15]. Robbins et al. investigated the ability of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in recognizing potent antigens. They developed a screening method via mining whole-exome sequence data to identify mutated antigens. They introduced whole-exome sequencing, that is, a relatively simple and rapid genomic approach capable of providing an opportunity for the development

of different therapeutic modalities such as adoptive transfer protocols and cancer vaccines in various tumors [25].

4.3.2.2 Isolation of HLA-Peptide Complex

In this step, the tumor cells or tissues are lysed to extract the HLA-peptide complex. Due to the hydrophobic nature of the bi-lipid plasma membrane structure and poor solubility of the membrane proteins, the isolation process requires enrichment techniques [26]. They are categorized into three main groups:

- (a) Isolation based on physical properties such as gradient centrifugation as the oldest method; ultracentrifugation in which the different fragments are split into groups with similar shape, density, and size; and also coating cells with cationic colloidal silica particles.
- (b) Isolation with limited short-duration proteolysis via enzyme for cell surface shaving, which in turn solves the low solubility problem of the membrane. Cell integrity should be taken into consideration during the digestion process.
- (c) Chemical enrichment methods with different materials, which is one of the favored strategies in recent years. Namely, some of the substantial ones are cell-surface capture techniques, glycocapture, biotinylation, etc. [14].

Along with the enrichment process, solubilization should be done in order to extract the proteins from the embedded lipid membrane. Ionic liquids, solvents, detergents, organic acids, and chaotropes are of various methods used [26]. Organic solvents lessen the performance of the enzymatic digestion; thus it is required to constantly use the fresh protease during the process or to dilute the solvent before proteolysis. The disadvantage of detergents is their incompatibility with liquid chromatography or mass spectrometry [14].

4.3.2.3 Sequencing of Neopeptide

In proteome study, label-based and label-free techniques are the main methods for protein

quantification. The first includes isobaric, enzymatic, and metabolic labeling which are capable of parallel quantification of several samples resulting in time-saving and increased performance, although they will miss the identification of antigens in minority. Label-free techniques such a mass spectrometry could be applied with fewer expenses and steps while implicating more precise control of protocol employment to elude experimental errors rendering sample-to-sample variation [14]. Finally, the neoantigens are identified by comparing the data of the complete human proteome and the detected mutated proteins of the tumor [15]. MaxQuant software is one of the commonly used modules for the analysis of peptides based on genomic variations [27].

4.4 Clinical Utility of Tumor Antigen Identification

Endogenous T cells have shown promising results in cancer immunotherapy. This fact implies the ability of T cells in recognizing and thus acting against some antigens presenting on malignant cells [12]. Many other therapeutic modalities have also underlined the importance of targeting specific structures of tumors. As a result, the selection of appropriate antigens based on their various properties plays a pivotal role in designing novel treatments.

While owing low likelihood of central thymic immunological tolerance and thus being highly immunogenic, neoantigens also face challenges in immunotherapy since they are unique to each patient, resulting in expensive and laborious technical issues [7, 8]. In contrast to neoantigens, nonmutated self-antigens have been broadly applicable, due to the ability to be generally utilized among patients. Nevertheless, they result in substantial side effects due to being presented in normal cells, in addition to higher rates of acquired immune tolerance [7] that could be one reason why vaccines designed on the basis of these native antigens did not show acceptable clinical results [7], whereas studies based on neoantigens such as an individualized vaccine targeting more than 20 personal neoantigens in patients with melanoma [28] or tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes against mutant KRAS G12D in the

metastatic colorectal cancer [29] have demonstrated promising results [30].

In addition, durable clinical benefits have been reported in tumors with low subclonal in comparison to clonal mutations [31]. Altogether, the selection of ideal antigens is still under question. Nevertheless, some key facts should be taken into consideration. Antigens with these properties might be favorable:

- 1. The target antigens widely presented in various malignancies.
- 2. Antigens playing an important role in tumor progression or survival.
- 3. Highly immunogenic antigens.

Furthermore, personalized medicine targeting unique antigens of the individual tumor is of novel therapeutic options [13]. Identified antigens could be targeted via immune vaccines. However, there are some issues in developing neoantigen vaccines, including the variation in the mutation rate of numerous malignancies. Tumors such as melanoma with higher mutation rates are better candidates for vaccine therapy because of being more immunogene than those tumors with fewer antigenic burdens. Another challenge is that tumors utilize different mechanisms for immune escape by means of reducing antigen processing and presenting and downregulation of HLA-1 molecules. They also make changes to the tumor microenvironment by inducing suppressive cells such as regulatory T cells, macrophages, and myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Apart from antigen-induced signals of the T-cell receptor, the co-stimulatory signal is required for the activation of T cells, and tumors are capable of inducing T-cell anergy by interfering with these co-stimulatory and co-inhibitory signals. To solve the mentioned issues, some solutions have been recommended. These include the application of multi-epitope vaccines for generating a robust and durable response, which has been investigated in clinical trials. Another suggestion is the use of adjuvants such as toll-like receptor agonists and monoclonal antibodies. The delivery system of vaccines could also play a role. By acting like pathogenassociated molecular patterns, the nanoparticles are the favorable delivery system [8].

4.5 Concluding Remarks

Anti-cancer immunotherapy is becoming a milein the treatment of malignancies. stone Heterogeneity of tumors, immunoediting, and inhibition of immunosurveillance are faced challenges in the field. Based on current knowledge, identification of ideal tumor antigens will empower the diagnostic and therapeutic modalities, and recent advances in antigen identification have generated new opportunities such as antitumor vaccines and adoptive cell transfer. Combination therapy of different immunologic approaches or with conventional anti-cancer therapies may render promising results. An increasing pattern in the development and clinical application of targeted therapies is anticipated. By means of next-generation sequencing, more sensitive and precise mass spectrometry, highthroughput methods, etc., ideal identification of antigens will become more feasible.

References

- Janeway CA Jr, Medzhitov R. Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol. 2002;20:197–216. https:// doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.083001.084359.
- Lu Y-C, Robbins PF. Cancer immunotherapy targeting neoantigens. Semin Immunol. 2016;28(1):22–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2015.11.002.
- Meeusen E, Lim E, Mathivanan S. Secreted tumor antigens - immune biomarkers for diagnosis and therapy. Proteomics. 2017;17(23-24) https://doi. org/10.1002/pmic.201600442.
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, et al. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(11):991–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ni1102-991.
- Johnson LA, Morgan RA, Dudley ME, et al. Gene therapy with human and mouse T-cell receptors mediates cancer regression and targets normal tissues expressing cognate antigen. Blood. 2009;114(3):535– 46. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-03-211714.
- Cerezo-Wallis D, Soengas MS. Understanding tumor-antigen presentation in the new era of cancer immunotherapy. Curr Pharm Des. 2016;22(41):6234–50. https://doi.org/10.2174/138 1612822666160826111041.

- Khodadoust MS, Alizadeh AA. Tumor antigen discovery through translation of the cancer genome. Immunol Res. 2014;58(2-3):292–9. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12026-014-8505-4.
- Chu Y, Liu Q, Wei J, et al. Personalized cancer neoantigen vaccines come of age. Theranostics. 2018;8(15):4238–46. https://doi.org/10.7150/ thno.24387.
- Scanlan MJ, Gure AO, Jungbluth AA, et al. Cancer/ testis antigens: an expanding family of targets for cancer immunotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2002;188:22–32. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-065x.2002.18803.x.
- van Esch EM, Tummers B, Baartmans V, et al. Alterations in classical and nonclassical HLA expression in recurrent and progressive HPV-induced usual vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia and implications for immunotherapy. Int J Cancer. 2014;135(4):830–42. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28713.
- Elgui de Oliveira D, Müller-Coan BG, Pagano JS. Viral carcinogenesis beyond malignant transformation: EBV in the progression of human cancers. Trends Microbiol. 2016;24(8):649–64. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tim.2016.03.008.
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science (New York, NY). 2015;348(6230):69–74. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa4971.
- Kessler JH, Melief CJ. Identification of T-cell epitopes for cancer immunotherapy. Leukemia. 2007;21(9):1859–74. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu. 2404787.
- Kuhlmann L, Cummins E, Samudio I, et al. Cellsurface proteomics for the identification of novel therapeutic targets in cancer. Expert Rev Proteomics. 2018;15(3):259–75. https://doi.org/10.1080/1478945 0.2018.1429924.
- Kalaora S, Samuels Y. Cancer exome-based identification of tumor neo-antigens using mass spectrometry. Methods Mol Biol. 2019;1884:203–14. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8885-3_14.
- Novellino L, Renkvist N, Rini F, et al. Identification of a mutated receptor-like protein tyrosine phosphatase kappa as a novel, class II HLA-restricted melanoma antigen. J Immunol. 2003;170(12):6363–70. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.170.12.6363.
- 17. Echchakir H, Mami-Chouaib F, Vergnon I, et al. A point mutation in the alpha-actinin-4 gene generates an antigenic peptide recognized by autologous cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human lung carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2001;61(10):4078–83.
- Zhou X, Jun DY, Thomas AM, et al. Diverse CD8+ T-cell responses to renal cell carcinoma antigens in patients treated with an autologous granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor gene-transduced renal tumor cell vaccine. Cancer Res. 2005;65(3):1079–88.
- Sharkey MS, Lizée G, Gonzales MI, et al. CD4(+) T-cell recognition of mutated B-RAF in melanoma patients harboring the V599E mutation. Cancer Res. 2004;64(5):1595–9. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.can-03-3231.

- 20. Li Y, Zhang Q, Peng B, et al. Identification of glutathione S-transferase omega 1 (GSTO1) protein as a novel tumor-associated antigen and its autoantibody in human esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Tumour Biol. 2014;35(11):10871–7. https://doi. org/10.1007/s13277-014-2394-y.
- Tran E, Turcotte S, Gros A, et al. Cancer immunotherapy based on mutation-specific CD4+ T cells in a patient with epithelial cancer. Science (New York, NY). 2014;344(6184):641–5. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1251102.
- 22. Nielsen M, Lundegaard C, Blicher T, et al. NetMHCpan, a method for quantitative predictions of peptide binding to any HLA-A and -B locus protein of known sequence. PLoS One. 2007;2(8):e796. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0000796.
- 23. Traversari C, van der Bruggen P, Luescher IF, et al. A nonapeptide encoded by human gene MAGE-1 is recognized on HLA-A1 by cytolytic T lymphocytes directed against tumor antigen MZ2-E. J Exp Med. 1992;176(5):1453–7. https://doi.org/10.1084/ jem.176.5.1453.
- 24. Traversari C, van der Bruggen P, Van den Eynde B, et al. Transfection and expression of a gene coding for a human melanoma antigen recognized by autologous cytolytic T lymphocytes. Immunogenetics. 1992;35(3):145–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/ bf00185107.
- Robbins PF, Lu YC, El-Gamil M, et al. Mining exomic sequencing data to identify mutated antigens recognized by adoptively transferred tumor-reactive T cells. Nat Med. 2013;19(6):747–52. https://doi. org/10.1038/nm.3161.
- Vuckovic D, Dagley LF, Purcell AW, et al. Membrane proteomics by high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry: analytical approaches and challenges. Proteomics. 2013;13(3-4):404–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic. 201200340.
- 27. Bassani-Sternberg M, Bräunlein E, Klar R, et al. Direct identification of clinically relevant neoepitopes presented on native human melanoma tissue by mass spectrometry. Nat Commun. 2016;7:13404. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13404.
- Ott PA, Hu Z, Keskin DB, et al. An immunogenic personal neoantigen vaccine for patients with melanoma. Nature. 2017;547(7662):217–21. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature22991.
- Tran E, Robbins PF, Lu YC, et al. T-cell transfer therapy targeting mutant KRAS in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(23):2255–62. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1609279.
- Heemskerk B, Kvistborg P, Schumacher TN. The cancer antigenome. EMBO J. 2013;32(2):194–203. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2012.333.
- McGranahan N, Furness AJ, Rosenthal R, et al. Clonal neoantigens elicit T cell immunoreactivity and sensitivity to immune checkpoint blockade. Science (New York, NY). 2016;351(6280):1463–9. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf1490.



Strategies to Target Tumor Immunosuppression

5

Georgia Koutsoumpli, Oana Draghiciu, Hans W Nijman, Cesar Oyarce, and Toos Daemen

Contents

5.1	Introduction: The Balance of Immune Surveillance in the Tumor	62		
5.2	The Balance Is Tilted: Mechanisms of Tumor Immune Escape			
5.2.1	Tolerance Mechanisms.	62		
5.2.1.1	CD4+ Helper T Cells and CD8+ Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes: Negative			
	Polarization and Apoptosis	63		
5.2.1.2	Defects in the Antigen Presentation Process	63		
5.2.2	Immunosuppression Mechanisms			
5.2.2.1	Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts (CAFs)			
5.2.2.2	Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells (MDSCs)	64		
5.2.2.3	Regulatory T Cells (Tregs)	64		
5.2.2.4	Tumor-Associated Macrophages (TAMs)	64		
5.2.2.5	Tumor-Derived Immunosuppressive Factors	65		
5.3	5.3 Shifting the Balance: Strategies to Target Tumor			
	Immunosuppression.	67		
5.3.1	Strategies Targeting Homing of Effector T Cells	67		
5.3.1.1	Local Tumor Irradiation	67		
5.3.1.2	Blockade of Endothelin Receptors	69		
5.3.1.3	Taxane-Based Chemotherapy	69		
5.3.1.4	Antibody-Mediated Targeting of Effector CTLs	70		
5.3.2	Strategies Targeting the Activity of Effector T Cells	70		
5.3.2.1	Circumventing Activity of Suppressive Immune Populations: Depletion			
	or Inactivation Therapy	70		
5.3.2.2	Immunostimulatory Cytokines: Cytokine Therapy	71		
5.3.2.3	Blockade of Negative Regulatory Factors: Antibody Therapy	72		
5.4	Concluding Remarks	73		
References 7				

G. Koutsoumpli \cdot O. Draghiciu \cdot C. Oyarce

T. Daemen (🖂)

Department of Medical Microbiology, Tumor Virology and Cancer Immunotherapy, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands e-mail: c.a.h.h.daemen@umcg.nl H. W Nijman

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

5.1 Introduction: The Balance of Immune Surveillance in the Tumor

In the beginning of the twentieth century, Paul Erlich was the first to introduce the concept of a vigilant immune system that can be manipulated to counteract tumor development [1]. However, due to lack of experimental evidence, it was not until the 1970s that Frank Macfarlane Burnet postulated the "immune surveillance theory." This theory brings to light a complex immunological mechanism capable of eliminating potentially malignant cells, mainly through recognition of tumor-specific antigens expressed on tumor cells [2]. In later years, several studies describing interactions between the immune system and the developing tumor have further refined this theory [3, 4].

Indeed, strong evidence supporting the key role of immune effector cell populations that are either tumor-specific, including B and T cells able to recognize tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) [5, 6], or non-specific, such as macrophages and natural killer (NK) cells, led to the sophisticated concept of cancer "immune editing," which spans cancer development from tumor immune surveillance to tumor immune escape [7, 8]. According to this concept, cancer development is comprised of three distinct phases [9, 10]: (1) the elimination, (2) the equilibrium, and (3) the escape, which are more extensively reviewed and discussed in separate chapters of this book. Particularly, the phenomenon of tumor immune escape according to which tumors are capable of side-tracking or completely blocking host antitumor immunity through interference with various components of the immune system is of major importance for the development of cancer immunotherapies [11]. Recently, several immune escape mechanisms have been described to hamper antitumor immune responses, either by reducing the homing of immune effector cells to the tumor site or by suppressing antitumor immune functions [12-15]. Therefore, cancer immunotherapies should attempt to stimulate homing and activation of immune effector cells and/or deplete or target pro-tumoral immunosuppressive cell populations and pathways.

Immunotherapy of cancer was selected as the breakthrough of the year 2013, according to

Science [16]. Indeed, several groundbreaking clinical trials demonstrated the potency of such therapeutic approaches in patients. Yet, trials have also demonstrated that the responses vary greatly between patients. While in a selected group of patients immunotherapy leads to a full eradication of the tumor, in other patients the same treatment does not evoke a response at all. Currently, tumor immunologists are searching for biomarkers that can be used to describe the "immune signature" of the tumor [17, 18]. Defining the intratumor immunologic profile unique for every tumor type or patient may enable personalized immunotherapeutic strategies for the effective control of tumor progression [19].

This chapter gives an overview of novel strategies for reversing/reducing immunosuppression in the tumor microenvironment, illustrating their targets and the underlying mechanisms responsible for their therapeutic antitumor activity. Prior to this, the immunosuppressive mechanisms most widely encountered in human tumors are briefly addressed.

5.2 The Balance Is Tilted: Mechanisms of Tumor Immune Escape

Tumor immune escape is a consequence of the so-called "immune editing" process driven by the host immune system, through which malignant cells sensitive to immune interventions are eliminated, but in some cases allowing immune-resistant variants to survive and further develop [20, 21]. The mechanisms of tumor immune escape can be functionally divided in two categories: immune tolerance and immunosuppression.

5.2.1 Tolerance Mechanisms

Tumors frequently induce a state of T-cell unresponsiveness toward tumor-associated antigens (TAAs), attributed partly to T-cell ignorance, since tumor cells express mainly self-antigens. Additionally, tumor cells often alter their antigen processing/presentation machinery, mostly toward a defective T-cell priming in the tumor microenvironment [12, 22], but also in adoptive strategies to directly block active immune surveillance, usually with the use of tumor-derived soluble factors [23]. Thus, the main targets of tumor-induced tolerance mechanisms are CD4⁺ T cells, cytotoxic CD8⁺ T lymphocytes (CTLs), dendritic cells (DCs), and the antigen presentation machinery. Both the relevance of these immune populations and the tolerance mechanisms they are the targets of are shortly addressed below.

5.2.1.1 CD4⁺ Helper T Cells and CD8⁺ Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes: Negative Polarization and Apoptosis

After proper cytokine stimulation, CD4⁺ mature T helper cells play a crucial role in the initiation and activation of antitumor immune responses. IL-12 polarized, type 1 CD4⁺ T cells (Th1) provide help to cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells by stimulating their proliferation and inducing IFN- γ secretion once antigen-specific immunity has developed [24]. In contrast, IL-4 polarized, type 2 CD4⁺ T cells (Th2) secrete cytokines which induce neutralizing antibody production by B cells [25], thus directing immunity toward a tumor-promoting Th2 response, prevalent in the context of tumor immunology.

A major mechanism of tumor-induced apoptosis of CTLs is via cross-linking between the overexpressed death receptor FasR (CD95) on the surface of activated effector T cells and its correspondent ligand FasL on the surface of human tumor cells [26, 27]. Direct tolerization of antitumor T cells by tumor cell-induced TGF- β signaling is another highly effective mechanism, leading to a significantly decreased function and frequency of CTLs [23, 28].

5.2.1.2 Defects in the Antigen Presentation Process

The main components of the antigen processing and presentation machinery are the antigenpresenting cells (APCs), TAAs, and major histocompatibility complex (MHC) (or human leukocyte antigen (HLA) in humans) class I antigens. Tumorinduced alterations can affect the functionality of any of these factors via several mechanisms [29].

DCs are the dominant APCs capable in activating T cells but also in tolerizing them, depending on the local microenvironment [30]. Key determinants of DC competence for antigen processing and presentation are their activation and maturation status [31]. In several studies, decreased numbers of mature DCs were detected in the secondary lymphoid organs of tumor-bearing mice [32–34]. This observation is consistent with studies in patients with rapidly growing solid or nonsolid tumors which exhibit significantly lower numbers of myeloid mature DCs [35-40]. In addition, isolated DC subsets have phenotypes similar to immature DCs and reduced expression of co-stimulatory molecules [41]. Downregulation of these molecules on the surface of DCs leads to inappropriate provision of co-stimulatory signals required for T-cell activation and interferes with the process of cross-presentation and thus results in death or anergy of antigen-specific CTLs [41, 42]. Moreover, DCs exposed to indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) or prostaglandins [29, 43], have been shown to induce tolerance and anergy leading to failure of recognizing tumor cells.

Another means of tumor-mediated immunosuppression, as a result of genetic instability of tumors over time, is the change of their antigenic profile and selective development of "epitope loss" [44–46], by which tumors fail to be recognized and eliminated by the immune system. An additional effect of this genetic instability is a diminished or abolished expression of HLA class I antigens and antigen presentation-associated proteins [25, 47–54], with a frequency of antigenic loss or downregulation ranging from around 15% in melanoma lesions up to more than 50% in primary prostate carcinoma [53, 54].

5.2.2 Immunosuppression Mechanisms

The machinery of tumor-induced immunosuppression is highly versatile, as it has developed to target a large variety of antitumor processes. Within the tumor microenvironment, many cell populations contribute to the generation of an immunosuppressive profile. These include cancerassociated fibroblasts (CAFs), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), regulatory T cells (Tregs), and tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs). Furthermore, various tumor-derived factors with immunosuppressive activities also contribute to tumor progression. The mechanisms by which these cell populations and factors give rise to tumor-immune escape are addressed below.

5.2.2.1 Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts (CAFs)

CAFs are cells that reside mostly within the tumor mass, or are often found within the tumor stroma. CAFs facilitate the malignant transformation process and promote tumor growth, angiogenesis, inflammation, and metastasis [55]. Similar to normal fibroblasts, CAFs are very heterogeneous [56, 57] and therefore difficult to classify based on expression of specific markers. However, the most widely used markers for CAF classification are α-smooth muscle actin $(\alpha$ -SMA) and fibroblast activation protein (FAP) [58]. Notably, the latter is being studied as a potential biomarker associated with poor prognosis in colorectal cancer [59]. Unlike normal fibroblasts present in healthy tissues, CAFs are more proliferative [60] and secrete various factors that promote tumor growth (such as CXCL12 [61], TGF- β [62]) and modulate the expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) [63]. Several studies in diverse tumors suggest that CAFs are not only promoting tumor growth and metastasis but can also enhance drug resistance through various mechanisms [64]. In pancreatic cancer, CAFs decrease the sensitivity of cancer cells to chemotherapy and radiotherapy by secretion of soluble factors [65], while in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, CAFs protect cancer cells through secretion of MMPs [66].

5.2.2.2 Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells (MDSCs)

MDSCs (CD11b⁺CD14⁻CD33⁺) [67] represent a heterogenic, bone-marrow-derived cell population [68, 69] with an increased frequency in the peripheral circulation and tumors of patients with different malignancies [70–72]. Migration of bone marrow precursors (which are further differentiated to MDSCs) to the tumor zone has been shown to be mainly induced by CCL2 secret by tumor cells [73]. Once MDSCs arrive, signals derived from the tumor promote their activation [69]. MDSCs are characterized by poor phagocytic activity, continuous production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), nitric oxide (NO), and several anti-

inflammatory cytokines [74]. As immune suppressive cells, they have the capacity to inactivate both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells through various mechanisms, including depletion of L-arginine [14], decreased tryptophan levels [75], and production of ROS [76], iNOS [77], and immunosuppressive cytokines, such as IL-10 and TGF- β [78]. Although MDSC-mediated suppression mainly affects T-cell function, it has also been described that MDSCs impair T-cell activation, by inhibiting MHC class II expression [79] and thus leading to decreased antigen presentation.

5.2.2.3 Regulatory T Cells (Tregs)

Similar to MDSCs, Tregs have also been shown to accumulate in tumors of patients with cancer [80]. Intratumoral accumulation of Tregs leads to poor prognosis for patients with gastric [81] and ovarian [80] carcinomas. CD4+ Tregs, characterized by the expression of FoxP3 [82], are a highly immunosuppressive subset of CD4+ T cells. Two major populations of FoxP3+ Tregs have been described to date: one "natural" subset, which differentiates in the thymus, and one "induced," developed in the periphery from conventional CD4⁺ T cells [83]. Both subsets promote tumor immune escape via the following mechanisms: (1) by secretion of immunosuppressive mediators, including cytokines like IL-10, TGF- β , and IL-35 [84, 85]; (2) by induction of effector T-cell apoptosis [86], as they promote a status of metabolic disruption secondary to IL-2 [87] deprivation; (3) by engagement of contact-dependent mechanisms of immunosuppression (e.g., inhibition of DC maturation, via CTLA-4 interaction with CD80/CD86 on DCs [88]); or by (4) by expression of suppressor molecules, such as LAG-3, CD39, neuropilin 1, or galectin 1 [89].

5.2.2.4 Tumor-Associated Macrophages (TAMs)

TAMs are immune cells that modulate and promote several immunosuppressive factors in the tumor microenvironment [90]. TAMs derive from monocytes that are recruited to the tumor [91] and, in the presence of Th2 cytokines such as IL-4 or IL-13, are polarized toward an M2 ("alternatively activated") non-cytotoxic phenotype [92]. Several studies have underlined their capacity to cause tumor growth both directly, by production of cytokines that stimulate proliferation of tumor cells [93], and indirectly, by stimulating proliferation of endothelial cells [94]. TAMs are frequently found in solid tumors, where they promote remodeling of the extracellular matrix and secrete growth factors inducing tumor-specific neoangiogenesis [95]. Moreover, TAMs are enriched in hypoxic areas in most of the solid tumors [96], where they support tumor cell proliferation by secreting cytokines and growth factors. Indeed, accumulation of macrophages within the hypoxic tumor areas of patients is correlated with poor prognosis [97]. On the other hand, increasing accumulation of TAMs in the normoxic tumor area supports M1-like macrophages, leading to an antitumor immune response [98], while blocking colony-stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1) signal decreases M2-like polarization and impedes malignant progression resulting in regression of established gliomas [99]. These processes thus underscore the therapeutic relevance of TAM polarization.

Recently, metabolic changes in the tumor microenvironment have gained attention suggesting that, during tumor progression, gradients of extracellular metabolites (like lactate) act as tumor morphogens that promote M2-like polarization [100, 101]. Moreover, it has been suggested that treating TAMs with the glycolysis inhibitor 2-deoxyglucose blocks the development of TAMs with a pro-metastatic phenotype [102]. In the same line, increasing glucose uptake specifically in TAMs outcompetes endothelial cells for glucose usage, thus reducing vascular hyperactivation and decreasing tumor angiogenesis [103], supporting the link between metabolism of TAMs and tumor angiogenesis.

TAM-mediated immunosuppression also affects T-cell function. Under IL-6 and IL-10 stimulation, expression of programmed deathligand 1 (PD-L1) is induced in TAMs [104], thus impairing T-cell effector activity. Moreover, programmed death 1 (PD-1) expression on the surface of TAMs correlates with decreased phagocytosis [105]. PD-1/PD-L1 blockade increases both effector T-cell activity and PD-1+ TAM phagocytosis, supporting the use of checkpoint inhibitors in cancer treatment. In addition, TAM-derived PGE2, IL-10, and IDO play important roles in the induction of Tregs. Furthermore, TAM-derived CCL17, CCL18, and CCL22 are chemotactic factors for Tregs [87], resulting in the suppression of T cells in the tumor microenvironment. For example, in the HPV16 E6- and E7-expressing TC-1 tumor mouse model, TAMs were shown to cause suppression of the antitumor T-cell response [106], while their secreted IL-10 subsequently induced a Treg phenotype [107].

5.2.2.5 Tumor-Derived Immunosuppressive Factors

Within the tumor microenvironment, signals that stimulate T-cell cytolytic functions can be replaced by inhibitory signals secreted by the tumor itself as a mechanism of immune escape.

Cytokines

The immunosuppressive cytokines TGF- β and IL-10 are produced by Tregs as a means to disbalance T-lymphocyte surveillance of tumor development [108, 109], by inhibiting proliferation of antitumor effector T cells. Granulocyte-monocyte colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) is another cytokine with immunosuppressive properties. Due to these properties, GM-CSF facilitates recruitment and expansion of MDSCs in several cancer models [110, 111] and promotes generation and expansion of TAMs [112], despite being described as immunostimulatory in other settings [113]. The GM-CSF receptor (GM-CSF-R) signals through signal transducer and activator of transcription factor 3 (STAT3) [114], which has been linked to elevated PD-L1 expression on myeloid cells [115] and regulation of IDO expression in breast cancer MDSCs [116].

Enzymes

Together with arginase and iNOS, which are central for two of the mechanisms of immunosuppression exerted by MDSCs, IDO and cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2) also present immunosuppressive properties. IDO inhibits T-cell activation by depleting tryptophan [117], one of the essential amino acids necessary for T-cell development, whereas COX2 stimulates PGE2 production, a prostaglandin involved in conversion of human DCs into immunosuppressive MDSCs [118].

Negative Regulatory Factors

Antitumor immune responses are hampered by tumor-induced activation of negative regulatory pathways (also called checkpoints), either associated with immune homeostasis or actively facilitating tumor immune escape [119–121]. Frequently, antitumor immunity shares characteristics with chronic immune responses, such as T-cell exhaustion [122], mediated by the expression of multiple inhibitory receptors including PD-1 (also known as CD279), cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4, CD152), lymphocyte-activation gene (Lag-3), T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3 (Tim-3), CD244/2B4, CD160, TIGIT, BTLA, and others [12, 123-128]. Among them, PD-1 and CTLA-4 have been extensively studied and garnered attention due to the clinical success of antibody therapies [129–131]. PD-1 is a member of the CD28 superfamily of T-cell regulators, expressed on activated CD8+ T cells during priming or expansion, and functions mainly in peripheral tissues, where T cells encounter its two corresponding ligands, PD-L1 (B7-H1, CD274) and PD-L2 (B7-DC, CD273), members of the B7 family [132]. PD-L1 is expressed in various cell types, including stromal and tumor cells, but also in immune cells after exposure to effector cytokines such as IFN- γ , while PD-L2 is mainly expressed on DCs in normal tissues [133]. In physiological situations, the PD-L1/PD-1 axis is an important negative feedback loop ensuring immune homeostasis through suppression of excessive immune activation [134] and facilitation of immune tolerance to self-antigens [132, 135, 136]. However, in the tumor, the PD-1/ PDL-1 axis restricts tumor immunity [129]. Tumor-specific CD8⁺ T cells that express lower levels of PD-1 showed less exhausted phenotypes [137], as compared with tumor-specific $CD8^+T$ cells with higher PD-1 expression. Similarly high levels of PD-1 have been found on activated CD8⁺ T cells during chronic infections [138]. Co-inhibitory signaling via PD-L1 (but not PD-L2) is necessary for conversion of naïve CD4⁺ T cells to adaptive CD4⁺FoxP3⁺ Tregs. In addition, PD-L1 expression in various tumors, including breast, ovarian, colorectal, pancreatic cancer, and hematologic malignancies, has been considered a predictor of poor prognosis [139–143].

Although not as disputed as the PD-1/PD-L1 axis, LAG-3 is also a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily and is expressed on the surface of activated Tregs, CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, and NKT cells, contributing to tumor immune suppression. Interestingly, Tregs from LAG-3^(-/-) mice present reduced regulatory activity [144]. Lastly, CTLA-4 is a receptor expressed on the surface of Tregs and upregulated on activated conventional T cells [145, 146]. CTLA-4 transmits an inhibitory signal for T-cell activation by competing with the co-stimulatory molecule CD28 for binding to their shared ligands CD80 (B7.1) and CD86 (B7.2), with opposing effects

Endothelin Receptors

[147, 148].

Aberrant activation of the small bioreactive peptide endothelin 1 (ET1) and its receptors endothelin receptor type A (ETAR) and type B (ETBR), by a large array of stimuli, in a paracrine and autocrine loop [149], has multiple implications in the progression of various solid tumors, including prostate, colon, ovarian, breast, and lung cancer [150–154]. Upon binding of its ligand ET1, ETAR promotes vasoconstriction, tumor cell proliferation, and cell migration [155–158] through phospholipase C β and downstream activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase family members, including ERK signaling [150]. ETAR may also play a role in chemoresistance [159]. On the other hand, ETBR was shown to inhibit T-cell homing and adhesion to the tumor by inducing the suppression of intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) on the endothelial cells [150]. High expression of ETAR has been reported in patients with prostate cancer and bone metastasis [160], HPV-induced neoplasia [156, 161], and renal cell carcinoma [162]. ETBR expression was associated with the absence of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes and decreased survival of patients with ovarian cancer [163]. Additionally, ETBR overexpression is associated with an aggressive tumor phenotype in melanoma [164, 165] and correlates with tumor progression and metastasis of vulvar squamous cell carcinoma [166].

The above-described spectrum of strategies developed by tumors to evade the cytolytic activity of the immune system illustrates the complexity of the tumor immune escape phenomenon and its capacity to adapt and particularly target distinct mechanisms of the antitumor immune response. Developing tumors are able to use different functions of the immune system to sustain their own growth and to simultaneously build up mechanisms which enable them to hide from an immune-based attack. Different types of tumors develop diverse immune escape mechanisms, translating into various degrees of tumor aggressiveness. Thus, the complexity of the tumor immune escape phenomenon resides in the ability of human tumors to develop unique signatures, which pose a real challenge for development of effective antitumor therapies.

5.3 Shifting the Balance: Strategies to Target Tumor Immunosuppression

Therapeutic approaches against cancer have mainly been oriented on the activation of the immune system to directly eliminate tumor cells, thus decreasing the tumor load. More recently, the importance of cancer-induced immune suppression is being taken into consideration with apparent clinical success of antibodies against immune checkpoints [129]. Despite the therapeutic potency of those immunotherapies, still only a subset of patients exhibit durable responses, suggesting that the main challenge of these strategies is the unique immune signature of tumors, which further translates into a large variability of tumorimmunosuppression mechanisms. induced Hence, the starting point of these strategies consists of mapping this immune signature, followed by a documented selection of uni- or multimodal therapies targeting the predominant immunosuppressive mechanisms developed within each tumor type. Based on their overall target aim, these therapies can be categorized as those which attempt to increase homing of effector T cells to tumors and those that, directly or indirectly, increase antitumor activity of intratumor effector T cells, either by overcoming tumor-induced tolerance or by overriding the immunosuppression mechanisms imposed during tumor development (see Table 5.1).

5.3.1 Strategies Targeting Homing of Effector T Cells

Some of the tumor immune escape mechanisms described above interfere with the proper trafficking of effector T cells from the peripheral circulation or secondary lymphoid organs to the tumor site. A reduced homing of these effector cells to the tumor will give rise to negative regulatory processes leading to tumor progression. Several strategies to block these processes and enhance intratumor homing of effector cells have been proven effective. These include local tumor irradiation, blockade of endothelin receptors, taxane-based chemotherapy, and antibodymediated targeting of effector CTLs.

5.3.1.1 Local Tumor Irradiation

Local tumor irradiation has long been used as a curative treatment for localized cancer and isolated metastasis, but also as a palliative treatment in patients with widespread disease. Overall, more than 50% of cancer patients receive radiotherapy, often as adjuvant therapy, in association with other therapies such as surgery, hormonal therapy [167], chemotherapy, or bone marrow transplantation. Radiotherapy has been highly effective for certain malignancies, including prostate, endometrial, and cervical cancer. Recently, irradiation has come to the attention of tumor immunologists due to its immunogenic properties and potentially antimetastatic effects [168–174].

A major immunological effect of local tumor irradiation is the induction of cell death [175] that results in release of TAAs and danger signals, which attract immune cells to the tumor site, thus favoring antigen cross-presentation, improved DC function, and therefore enhanced antigenspecific T-cell priming [170, 176, 177]. Furthermore, it has recently been demonstrated that, after irradiation, the remaining cancer cells

Type of therapy	Targeted pathway	Achieved effect
Local tumor irradiation	Antigen presentation and processing Release of tumor-associated antigens Production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemoattractants	Enhanced intratumor homing of effector CTLs ^a
Endothelin receptor blockade	Restoration of ICAM-1 ^b expression	
Chemotherapy Taxanes	Inhibition of angiogenesis Induction of programmed cell death Antigen presentation and processing TAMs ^c cytotoxicity	
Ab-mediated targeting of CTLs ^a	Tumor and T-cell concomitant antigen binding	
Depletion/inactivation therapy MDSCs ^d Tregs ^e TAMs ^c	Inhibition of DNA replication Inhibition of tyrosine kinase signaling Enzyme inhibition Inhibition of angiogenesis	Enhanced activity of intratumor effector CTLs ^a
Cytokine therapy IL-15 IL-7 IL-12 Blockade of negative factors Anti-CTLA-4 ^g (Ipilimumab) Anti-PD-1 ^h /anti-LAG3 ⁱ	T-cell growth factors DCs ^f activation Vaccine adjuvants Blockade of T-cell checkpoints Inhibition of receptor signaling Induction of T-cell activation	
Anti-TGFβ ¹ Anti CD40/CD40L	Antigen-presenting cell activation	

Table 5.1 Types of immunotherapy aimed at targeting various mechanisms of tumor-induced immune suppression

^aCytotoxic T lymphocytes ^bIntercellular adhesion molecule 1 ^cTumor-associated macrophages ^dMyeloid-derived suppressor cells ^eRegulatory T cells ^fDendritic cells ^gCytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4 ^hProgrammed cell death protein 1 ⁱLymphocyte-activation gene 3

^jTransforming growth factor beta

present high levels of co-stimulatory and MHC class I molecules that render them more immunostimulatory and susceptible to T-cell-mediated killing [178]. Other beneficial effects of local tumor irradiation involve the induction of proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , and TGFβ [168, 179, 180]; expression of chemokines, like CXC-motif chemokines such as CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11, and CXCL16 that result in chemotaxis of T cells; and induction of adhesion molecules and death receptors that enhance CTL responses [181, 182]. These changes within the tumor microenvironment facilitate recruitment of effector T cells to tumors via two distinct mechanisms: first, by promoting vasculature normalization [183] and, second, by stimulating overexpression of endothelial adhesion molecules, such as vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) [169].

In the last decade, preclinical and human studies brought forward substantial clinical evidence that local tumor irradiation has the capacity to activate the immune system. Notably, combination of immunotherapies and radiation has been shown enhance antitumor responses. to Preclinical studies in tumor-bearing mice displayed that irradiation combined with PD-1 blockade increased overall survival and decreased Treg infiltration [184], when compared with anti-PD-1 treatment alone. Consistent to that combination of anti-PD-L1 antibody and irradiation resulted in substantial tumor regression, together with significant reduction of MDSCs within the tumors and increased CD8+ T-cell infiltration [185]. Currently, multiple clinical trials are evaluating anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 antibodies in combination with radiation for cancer treatment, but results are not yet published [186]. Additionally, after combination therapy of irradiation and CTLA-4 blockade [187], lung metastasis was inhibited in a mouse 4T1 primary mammary carcinoma. Recently, Vanpouille-Box et al. suggested that, in patients who did not respond to treatment with immune-checkpoint inhibitors, local tumor irradiation may induce tumor-specific CTLs [188]. Clinical studies of combination therapies with anti-CTLA-4 antibodies, such as ipilimumab, demonstrated tumor regression and improved overall survival, primarily in patients with melanoma but also with lymphoma, prostate, or renal cancer [189–194].

Taken together, these preclinical and clinical data illustrate that radiotherapy, alone or in combination with other therapies, effectively stimulates the immune system to fight tumor development. This occurs by facilitating antigen presentation and processing, causing the release of TAAs; increasing production of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and receptors involved in recruitment of effector CTLs; and thus enhancing migration of these active effector CTLs to the tumor site.

5.3.1.2 Blockade of Endothelin Receptors

Various studies demonstrated that endothelial cells from a variety of human cancers overexpress the ET1 receptors. Blocking these receptors seems a promising strategy to delay tumor development or stop tumor cell proliferation. In a mouse HPV-induced cervical carcinoma model, blockade of ETAR caused inhibition of tumor growth [165], mediated by an increase in T-cell homing to the tumor site. Moreover, ICAM-1 downregulation, as an effect of ETBR interaction with ET1 [163], is rescued by administration of BQ-788, an ETBR small molecule inhibitor [149]. Neutralization of ETBR by administration of BQ-788, suppressed intercellular communication and growth of melanoma cells in nude mice [165] and significantly increased T cell homing to tumors [149, 163]. In fact, selective ETAR

blockade by atrasentan showed delayed progression of hormone-refractory prostate adenocarcinoma [195], enhanced the effect of paclitaxel/docetaxel treatment in prostate cancer [196], and increased the overall survival of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia B [197].

5.3.1.3 Taxane-Based Chemotherapy

Conventional chemotherapy is considered to act through direct killing of tumor cells or by irreversible tumor growth arrest. Most chemotherapeutics interfere with cellular processes, such as DNA synthesis and replication, or lead to specific cell cycle arrest through microtubule disruption and apoptosis induction [198]. Originally, taxanes (e.g., paclitaxel, docetaxel) have been categorized as a class of chemotherapeutic drugs which block tumor development upon induction of mitotic inhibition through disruption of microtubule functionality. Other studies suggested additional antitumor mechanisms, such as binding to and blocking the functions of the antiapoptotic molecule Bcl-2 expressed on the surface of tumor cells, thus inducing programmed cell death [199]. More recently, the idea of chemotherapeutic agents, including taxanes, as enhancers of effector CTL homing into the tumor site came into place. The immunomodulatory effects of chemotherapy span both the innate and the adaptive immune systems, highlighting the enhanced potential of chemotherapy in combination with immunotherapy [198]. For example, treatment with the angiogenesis inhibitor paclitaxel resulted in an increased infiltration of circulating effector T cells into the tumor site, in a human xenograft mouse model [200]. Additionally, paclitaxel therapy is associated with tumor regression through direct stimulation of TAM cytotoxicity [201] or indirect activation of DCs, NK, and tumorspecific CD8⁺ T cells via IL-12, TNF- α , and iNOS secretion by TAMs [202]. Taxanes also promote antigen presentation in murine bone marrow (BM)-DCs and human monocytederived DCs (moDCS) in vitro via upregulation of costimulatory molecules and IL-12p70 [203, 204]. Additionally, paclitaxel specifically impairs the viability and the cytokine production of FOXP3⁺ Tregs [205]. On the other hand,

docetaxel induces maturation of DCs in vitro [206] and selective killing of MDSCs in vitro and in vivo [207, 208].

5.3.1.4 Antibody-Mediated Targeting of Effector CTLs

Monoclonal antibody therapy is a method commonly used to functionally inactivate or deplete suppressive immune populations such as MDSCs or Tregs, as discussed below. However, various studies using bispecific monoclonal antibodies suggest that they can also exhibit antitumor therapeutic potential. These antibodies are artificial proteins composed of fragments of two distinct monoclonal antibodies that can bind to two different types of antigens. In cancer immunotherapies, they are engineered to simultaneously bind to a CTL and a tumor cell. Several examples include engagement of CD3, CD28, or CD137 receptors [209] on the T cells and various tumor cell markers, such as epithelial adhesion molecule, and human epidermal growth factor receptor expressed on the tumor cell [210]. Different studies have shown the therapeutic potency of these strategies in vitro [211] and in vivo [209, 210, 212-214].

5.3.2 Strategies Targeting the Activity of Effector T Cells

Enhancing intratumor homing of immune effector cells will most likely not be sufficient for an effective tumor control, as cells that migrate to the tumor site are often anergic or dysfunctional. As addressed above, multiple mechanisms within the tumor microenvironment, involving a diversity of immunosuppressive cell populations (e.g., MDSCs, TAMs or Tregs), negative regulatory factors (e.g., CTLA-4, PD-1, PDL-1), as well as cytokines and enzymes (e.g., TGF- β and IDO), have been implicated in generating this immune suppressive tumor microenvironment.

To increase the efficacy of immunotherapies and rationally develop novel strategies which enhance the activity of intratumor effector T cells, both inhibition of tolerance mechanisms and restriction of tumor-induced immune suppression should be targeted. To effectively target the above-described negative regulatory mechanisms, several strategies have been studied. An overview of the immunotherapeutic interventions that are most widely studied preclinically as well as in clinical trials will be addressed.

5.3.2.1 Circumventing Activity of Suppressive Immune Populations: Depletion or Inactivation Therapy

One commonly used mechanism to target innate as well as adaptive antitumor immunity is manipulation of the immune suppressive functions of MDSCs, Tregs, or TAMs. A more intrusive alternative, however extremely efficient, is depletion of suppressive immune populations. Different depletion methods, with specificity for the targeted immune population at hand, have been developed.

There are several ways to specifically target and deplete intratumoral MDSCs [215]. Studies using an engineered RNA aptamer that targets IL4 receptor alpha (IL4R α), upregulated on MDSCs of tumor-bearing mice, showed delayed tumor growth, enhanced T-cell infiltration, and MDSC apoptosis [216, 217]. This strategy may have promising results, since ILRa expression is also elevated in MDSCs in human tumors [218]. Another way to deplete MDSCs is with broadspectrum tyrosine kinase inhibitors, such as sunitinib [219]. In the TC-1 cervical cancer mouse model, combinations of sunitinib with a cancer vaccine targeting tumor cells expressing the E6,7 oncoproteins of HPV, resulted in MDSC depletion and led to enhanced E7-specific CTL frequencies and subsequent tumor eradication [220]. Consistent to this, sunitinib also induced reversal of Treg elevation, significant reduction of IL4 production, and increased frequencies of IFN-yproducing T cells [219, 221]. Sunitinib is capable of inducing selective MDSC apoptosis, up to 50%, in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma, thus representing one of the most promising drugs for reducing tumor-induced immune suppression [219, 222]. Treatment with chemotherapeutic agents and cytostatic drugs such as 5-fluorouracil [223, 224] or gemcitabine [225, 226], as well as novel strategies, like peptibodies [227], have also been described to deplete MDSCs.

Another immune suppressive population that has been intensively targeted for improving antitumor responses is Tregs. To date, several methods to deplete Tregs have been developed. Depletion of CD4+CD25+ Tregs by monoclonal antibody therapy has been achieved in both tumor-bearing mice as well as in clinical trials [228, 229]. Selective depletion of FoxP3⁺ Tregs in transgenic DEREG (depletion of regulatory T cells) mice, in combination with therapeutic immunization against melanoma, greatly enhanced the antitumor effect [230]. However, the potency of a combination of immunization and Treg depletion depends not only on the involvement of Tregs in the tumor model studied but also on the level of Treg induction or activation in the immunization strategy. For example, depletion of Tregs by treatment with an antifolate receptor 4 antibody did not enhance the immune response induced by immunization with the recombinant viral vector vaccine Semliki Forest virus encoding for the early HPV viral proteins E6 and E7 (SFVeE6,7) in a mouse model of cervical carcinoma [231]. In the clinical setting, a potent method to deplete Tregs by targeting their high CD25 expression is by employing the immunotoxin denileukin diftitox (OntakTM Ligand Pharmaceuticals), which is approved for clinical use in the treatment of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma [232]. In combination with immunization, it has also been used for treatment of other types of tumors [233]. Daclizumab (Hoffman-La Roche) is another anti-CD25 agent, previously used in patients with T-cell leukemia [234] and, more recently, in combination with a peptide vaccine for treatment of metastatic breast cancer [235] and ovarian cancer [236]. However, anti-CD25 antibodies can also target activated CD25⁺ effector T cells. Alternatives that circumvent this disadvantage are the use of novel antibodies with human specificity such as anti-glucocorticoidinduced TNF receptor antibodies, or low doses of Treg-depleting cyclophosphamide [237].

Regarding TAMs, selective depletion can be achieved by different approaches, such as

blockade of TAM chemoattractant chemokines (e.g., blockade of CCL-2 with the inhibitor molecule bindarit [238] or immunization with a legumain-based minigene DNA vaccine [239]). Notably, the most efficient depletion method in animal models involves the usage of clodronate liposomes. Clodronate liposomes are artificial spheres formed by dispersion of phospholipid molecules into an aqueous solution of clodronate bisphosphonate. Intraperitoneal or subcutaneous administration of clodronate liposomes induced efficient depletion (75-92%) of TAMs in different murine tumor models [240–244]. Furthermore, selective depletion of TAMs is promoted by IL-15 and or TGF- α in human primary colorectal adenocarcinomas [245]. In other studies, IL-15 has been shown to reverse T-cell anergy and to rescue the tolerant phenotype of CD8+ T cells [246]. Several other pharmacological drugs, such as zoledronic acid and sorafenib, may also deplete TAMs and enhance the antitumor responses [247]. Yet it should be noted that nonselective depletion of TAMs also results in the depletion of tumoricidal macrophages, whereby any beneficial effect can be counteracted. Novel strategies that repolarize the protumoral M2-like TAMs to cytotoxic M1-like macrophages should be considered.

5.3.2.2 Immunostimulatory Cytokines: Cytokine Therapy

In addition to the above-discussed IL-15, various other cytokines are viewed as promising immunerestorative drugs. IL-7, a survival cytokine crucial for T-cell development in the thymus and survival of naïve and memory T-cell homeostasis in the peripheral tissues [248], increases the numbers of peripheral CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in patients [249, 250]. IL-12, a cytokine naturally produced by DCs, is a potent immune adjuvant promoting IFN-y release from immune cells and thus inducing Th1 polarization and proliferation of antitumor effector T cells [251], with encouraging results in preclinical studies on diverse mouse tumor models, including thyroid cancer, bladder cancer, metastatic breast carcinoma, and glioma [252–254].

5.3.2.3 Blockade of Negative Regulatory Factors: Antibody Therapy

Antibody therapy against developing tumors has been employed in the clinics for many years and belongs to the category of "molecular targeted therapy" of cancer. Despite the emergence of a large palette of anticancer monoclonal humanized or chimeric antibodies (MABs), only a small number are approved for patient use by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Among them, trastuzumab (Herceptin) is a humanized MAB targeting ERGR activity, specific for HER-2/neupositive breast cancer and metastatic gastrointestinal cancers [255-257]. Another successful example of MABs is Rituximab (Rituxan), a human/murine MAB targeting CD20 for B-cell lymphoma, lymphocytic leukemia, but also autoimmune diseases [258, 259]. Due to their low toxicity profile and capacity to activate several distinct host effector mechanisms [260], these monoclonal antibodies are seen as very promising anticancer drugs. The mechanisms mainly employed by these antibodies are direct interference with tumor cell progression and cellmediated cytotoxicity by ligation of Fc receptors expressed on the surface of different immune cells [261].

The blockade of PD-1/PD-L1 interaction by several immune checkpoint inhibitors is currently being used for a wide range of solid and nonsolid cancers [262] and has so far exhibited durable responses without serious toxicity in the majority of treated patients. The magnitude of clinical responses achieved with checkpoint inhibitor therapy implies that patients can have preexisting tumor-specific T cells that can be reactivated by blocking the PD-1/PD-L1 interaction. Another antibody that has been approved for treatment of late stage melanoma is ipilimumab (Yervoy), a human monoclonal antibody directed against the CTLA-4 expressed on activated T cells, as discussed above. Due to its capacity to inhibit this negative signaling pathway and contribute to restoration of the antitumor antigenspecific immune response, anti-CTLA4 is nowadays used as a novel therapy for solid tumors [15]. Recently, PD-1 blockade has been

shown to increase the induction of effector T cells in the spleen, prolong T-cell proliferation, and enhance recruitment of effector T cells to tumor sites. In multimodality therapy regimens, PD-1 blockade increased therapeutic efficacy of total body irradiation and DC transfer therapy [263]. Also, antibody blockade of LAG-3 in two murine models of self and tumor-tolerance increased the accumulation and effector function of antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells [264]. Thus, combination of MAB therapy against PD-1 or LAG-3 with immunization strategies has been recently demonstrated to restore the functions of tolerized antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells [265]. Several clinical trials are currently ongoing to evaluate responses in patients with cancer following anti-PD-L1 treatment [266-269]. Several approaches have been employed to induce high avidity effector T cells in an attempt to target the inhibition of tumor-induced tolerance. One such approach involves blockade of TGF-\beta-induced signaling that has pleiotropic functions in tumor initiation, development, and metastasis. Since cancer cells display dysregulated TGF-ß signaling, TGF- β inhibitors act on TGF- β -responsive cells (e.g., fibroblastic, endothelial, and immune cells) in the tumor microenvironment. In a xenograft mouse model of prostate cancer, transfer of tumor-reactive, TGF-β-insensitive CD8⁺ T cells led to a 50% decrease in average tumor weight, when compared with tumors of mice which underwent transfer of naïve CD8⁺ T cells [270]. Also, monoclonal antibodies against TGF-β, which are nowadays evaluated in clinical trials, seem to be very promising antitumor candidates as they present little systemic toxicity [271]. Clinical results of TGF- β inhibition in a phase II study performed in hepatocellular carcinoma patients are promising [272]. Additionally, radiotherapy and chemotherapy can induce TGF-β and combined TGF- β inhibition activity, enhances tumor sensitivity to chemotherapy and radiotherapy [273]. Another approach aimed at manipulating TGF- β to improve antitumor immune responses involves generation of TGF- β -insensitive DC vaccines. Transduced DCs, which have been rendered insensitive to TGF- β , maintain their normal phenotype, present

upregulated expression of surface co-stimulatory molecules (CD80/CD86), and induce potent tumor-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses in vivo [274].

Another target for antibody therapy is the costimulatory molecule CD40 expressed on various APCs and tumor cells. CD40 binds to CD40L expressed on T helper cells, resulting in APC activation as indicated by HLA classs II upregulation and IL-2 production [275, 276]. Agonistic antibodies against CD40 and/or CD40L tested in clinical trials seem to have a promising therapeutic potential [277].

5.4 Concluding Remarks

In the last few decades, major progress has been achieved within the field of cancer immunotherapy, highlighting the underlying therapeutic potential. However, despite the clinical success of antibody therapies against immune checkpoints, especially in the context of CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 axis blockade, still only a subset of patients shows sustained responses. This illustrates the complexity of tumor immunity and the interplay between antitumor responses, immune tolerance, and immune suppression within the tumor microenvironment. For cancer immunotherapy to be effective, sufficient homing and activation of antigen-specific immune effector cells in the tumor and suppression of immunesuppressive mechanisms is pivotal. This calls for multimodality treatment regimens to achieve long-term tumor regression. A desirable, highly effective immunization strategy should therefore accomplish two purposes. On the one hand, it should aim at increasing both the recruitment of antigen-specific effector T cells to the tumor site and their intratumor arrest for the time necessary to exert their antitumor activity. For this purpose, combinations of immunization regimens with ways to enhance homing of immune effector cells to the tumor site, such as local tumor irradiation, endothelin B receptor blockade, antibody-mediated targeting of effector CTLs, or taxane-based chemotherapy, could be promising strategies. On the other hand, only targeting the homing of vaccine-induced effector T cells to the tumor site might not be enough. We may speculate that once these cells have reached the tumor, they can be anergized or tolerized by diverse immune-suppressive mechanisms developed by the tumor itself or by secondary immune-suppressive populations. To counteract this effect, strategies that aim at maintaining or potentiating the activity of these intratumor antigen-specific effector T cells, such as depletion or functional inhibition of immune-suppressive populations, or blockade of negative regulatory factors are necessary.

Concluding, the development of new multimodality strategies in which immunization therapies are combined with effective antitumor immunological or conventional approaches aimed at increasing homing of immune effector cells to tumors and their intratumor activity is of crucial importance and represents the next step forward in cancer immunotherapy.

References

- Ehrlich P. Ueber der jetzigen stand der Karzinomforschung. Ned Tijdschr Geneesksd. 1909;5:273–90.
- 2. Burnet FM. The concept of immunological surveillance. Prog Exp Tumor Res. 1970;13:1–27.
- Whiteside TL. Immune responses to malignancies. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010;125:S272–83.
- Ribatti D. The concept of immune surveillance against tumors. The first theories. Oncotarget. 2017;8:7175–80.
- Sahin U, Türeci O, Pfreundschuh M. Serological identification of human tumor antigens. Curr Opin Immunol. 1997;9:709–16.
- Lu Y-C, Yao X, Crystal JS, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Gross C, et al. Efficient identification of mutated cancer antigens recognized by T cells associated with durable tumor regressions. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20:3401–10.
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nat Immunol. 2002;3:991–8.
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Sheehan KCF, Shankaran V, Uppaluri R, Bui JD, et al. A critical function for type I interferons in cancer immunoediting. Nat Immunol. 2005;6:722–9.
- Kim R, Emi M, Tanabe K. Cancer immunoediting from immune surveillance to immune escape. Immunology. 2007;121:1–14.

- Mittal D, Gubin MM, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. New insights into cancer immunoediting and its three component phases—elimination, equilibrium and escape. Curr Opin Immunol. 2014;27:16–25.
- Beatty GL, Gladney WL. Immune escape mechanisms as a guide for cancer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:687–92.
- Rabinovich GA, Gabrilovich D, Sotomayor EM. Immunosuppressive strategies that are mediated by tumor cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2007;25:267–96.
- Whiteside TL. The tumor microenvironment and its role in promoting tumor growth. Oncogene. 2008;27:5904–12.
- Munn DH, Bronte V. Immune suppressive mechanisms in the tumor microenvironment. Curr Opin Immunol. 2016;39:1–6.
- Gurusamy D, Clever D, Eil R, Restifo NP. Novel elements of immune suppression within the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Immunol Res. 2017;5:426–33.
- Couzin-Frankel J. Breakthrough of the year 2013. Cancer immunotherapy. Science. 2013;342:1432–3.
- Sadun RE, Sachsman SM, Chen X, Christenson KW, Morris WZ, Hu P, et al. Immune signatures of murine and human cancers reveal unique mechanisms of tumor escape and new targets for cancer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:4016–25.
- Yuan J, Hegde PS, Clynes R, Foukas PG, Harari A, Kleen TO, et al. Novel technologies and emerging biomarkers for personalized cancer immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:3.
- Kakimi K, Karasaki T, Matsushita H, Sugie T. Advances in personalized cancer immunotherapy. Breast Cancer. 2017;24:16–24.
- Dunn GP, Koebel CM, Schreiber RD. Interferons, immunity and cancer immunoediting. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6:836–48.
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331:1565–70.
- Nagaraj S, Schrum AG, Cho H-I, Celis E, Gabrilovich DI. Mechanism of T cell tolerance induced by myeloid-derived suppressor cells. J Immunol. 2010;184:3106–16.
- Li MO, Wan YY, Sanjabi S, Robertson A-KL, Flavell RA. Transforming growth factor-β regulation of immune responses. Annu Rev Immunol. 2006;24:99–146.
- Schoenborn JR, Wilson CB. Regulation of interferon-gamma during innate and adaptive immune responses. Adv Immunol. 2007;96:41–101.
- 25. Demeure CE, Yang LP, Byun DG, Ishihara H, Vezzio N, Delespesse G. Human naive CD4 T cells produce interleukin-4 at priming and acquire a Th2 phenotype upon repetitive stimulations in neutral conditions. Eur J Immunol. 1995;25:2722–5.
- Peter ME, Hadji A, Murmann AE, Brockway S, Putzbach W, Pattanayak A, et al. The role of CD95

and CD95 ligand in cancer. Cell Death Differ. 2015;22:549–59.

- 27. Yang F, Wei Y, Cai Z, Yu L, Jiang L, Zhang C, et al. Activated cytotoxic lymphocytes promote tumor progression by increasing the ability of 3LL tumor cells to mediate MDSC chemoattraction via Fas signaling. Cell Mol Immunol. 2015;12:66–76.
- Thomas DA, Massagué J. TGF-beta directly targets cytotoxic T cell functions during tumor evasion of immune surveillance. Cancer Cell. 2005;8:369–80.
- Munn DH, Sharma MD, Johnson TS, Rodriguez P. IDO, PTEN-expressing Tregs and control of antigen-presentation in the murine tumor microenvironment. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2017;66:1049–58.
- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC. Tolerogenic dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2003;21:685–711.
- Gabrilovich D. Mechanisms and functional significance of tumour-induced dendritic-cell defects. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4:941–52.
- Herber DL, Cao W, Nefedova Y, Novitskiy SV, Nagaraj S, Tyurin VA, et al. Lipid accumulation and dendritic cell dysfunction in cancer. Nat Med. 2010;16:880–6.
- Gabrilovich DI, Ciernik IF, Carbone DP. Dendritic cells in antitumor immune responses. Defective antigen presentation in tumor-bearing hosts. Cell Immunol. 1996;170:101–10.
- 34. Ciavarra RP, Holterman DA, Brown RR, Mangiotti P, Yousefieh N, Wright GL, et al. Prostate tumor microenvironment alters immune cells and prevents long-term survival in an orthotopic mouse model following flt3-ligand/CD40-ligand immunotherapy. J Immunother. 2004;27:13–26.
- 35. Gabrilovich DI, Corak J, Ciernik IF, Kavanaugh D, Carbone DP. Decreased antigen presentation by dendritic cells in patients with breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 1997;3:483–90.
- Coventry BJ, Lee P-L, Gibbs D, Hart DNJ. Dendritic cell density and activation status in human breast cancer—CD1a, CMRF-44, CMRF-56 and CD-83 expression. Br J Cancer. 2002;86:546–51.
- 37. Fiore F, Von Bergwelt-Baildon MS, Drebber U, Beyer M, Popov A, Manzke O, et al. Dendritic cells are significantly reduced in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and express less CCR7 and CD62L. Leuk Lymphoma. 2006;47:613–22.
- 38. Garrity T, Pandit R, Wright MA, Benefield J, Keni S, Young MR. Increased presence of CD34+ cells in the peripheral blood of head and neck cancer patients and their differentiation into dendritic cells. Int J Cancer. 1997;73:663–9.
- Schwaab T, Schned AR, Heaney JA, Cole BF, Atzpodien J, Wittke F, et al. In vivo description of dendritic cells in human renal cell carcinoma. J Urol. 1999;162:567–73.
- Onishi H, Morisaki T, Baba E, Kuga H, Kuroki H, Matsumoto K, et al. Dysfunctional and short-lived subsets in monocyte-derived dendritic cells from

patients with advanced cancer. Clin Immunol. 2002;105:286–95.

- 41. Lang S, Atarashi Y, Nishioka Y, Stanson J, Meidenbauer N, Whiteside TL. B7.1 on human carcinomas: costimulation of T cells and enhanced tumor-induced T-cell death. Cell Immunol. 2000;201:132–43.
- Harding FA, McArthur JG, Gross JA, Raulet DH, Allison JP. CD28-mediated signalling co-stimulates murine T cells and prevents induction of anergy in T-cell clones. Nature. 1992;356:607–9.
- 43. von Bergwelt-Baildon MS, Popov A, Saric T, Chemnitz J, Classen S, Stoffel MS, et al. CD25 and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase are up-regulated by prostaglandin E2 and expressed by tumor-associated dendritic cells in vivo: additional mechanisms of T-cell inhibition. Blood. 2006;108:228–37.
- 44. Khong HT, Wang QJ, Rosenberg SA. Identification of multiple antigens recognized by tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes from a single patient: tumor escape by antigen loss and loss of MHC expression. J Immunother. 2004;27:184–90.
- Olson BM, McNeel DG. Antigen loss and tumormediated immunosuppression facilitate tumor recurrence. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2012;11:1315–7.
- 46. Monjazeb AM, Zamora AE, Grossenbacher SK, Mirsoian A, Sckisel GD, Murphy WJ. Immunoediting and antigen loss: overcoming the Achilles heel of immunotherapy with antigen nonspecific therapies. Front Oncol. 2013;3:197.
- 47. Ito S, Okano S, Morita M, Saeki H, Tsutsumi S, Tsukihara H, et al. Expression of PD-L1 and HLA class I in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma: prognostic factors for patient outcome. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:508–15.
- 48. Kikuchi E, Yamazaki K, Torigoe T, Cho Y, Miyamoto M, Oizumi S, et al. HLA class I antigen expression is associated with a favorable prognosis in early stage non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Sci. 2007;98:1424–30.
- Iwayama Y, Tsuruma T, Mizuguchi T, Furuhata T, Toyota N, Matsumura M, et al. Prognostic value of HLA class I expression in patients with colorectal cancer. World J Surg Oncol. 2015;13:36.
- 50. Perea F, Bernal M, Sánchez-Palencia A, Carretero J, Torres C, Bayarri C, et al. The absence of HLA class I expression in non-small cell lung cancer correlates with the tumor tissue structure and the pattern of T cell infiltration. Int J Cancer. 2017;140:888–99.
- Torres LM, Cabrera T, Concha A, Oliva MR, Ruiz-Cabello F, Garrido F. HLA class I expression and HPV-16 sequences in premalignant and malignant lesions of the cervix. Tissue Antigens. 1993;41:65–71.
- 52. Pedersen MH, Hood BL, Beck HC, Conrads TP, Ditzel HJ, Leth-Larsen R. Downregulation of antigen presentation-associated pathway proteins is linked to poor outcome in triple-negative breast cancer patient tumors. Onco Targets Ther. 2017;6:e1305531.

- Campoli M, Chang C-C, Ferrone S. HLA class I antigen loss, tumor immune escape and immune selection. Vaccine. 2002;20(Suppl 4):A40–5.
- del Campo AB, Carretero J, Aptsiauri N, Garrido F. Targeting HLA class I expression to increase tumor immunogenicity. Tissue Antigens. 2012;79:147–54.
- Koontongkaew S. The tumor microenvironment contribution to development, growth, invasion and metastasis of head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. J Cancer. 2013;4:66–83.
- Worthley DL, Giraud AS, Wang TC. Stromal fibroblasts in digestive cancer. Cancer Microenviron. 2010;3:117–25.
- Gonda TA, Varro A, Wang TC, Tycko B. Molecular biology of cancer-associated fibroblasts: can these cells be targeted in anti-cancer therapy? Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2010;21:2–10.
- Shiga K, Hara M, Nagasaki T, Sato T, Takahashi H, Takeyama H. Cancer-associated fibroblasts: Their characteristics and their roles in tumor growth. Cancers (Basel). 2015;7:2443–58.
- 59. Wikberg ML, Edin S, Lundberg IV, Van Guelpen B, Dahlin AM, Rutegård J, et al. High intratumoral expression of fibroblast activation protein (FAP) in colon cancer is associated with poorer patient prognosis. Tumor Biol. 2013;34:1013–20.
- Liu Y, Hu T, Shen J, Li SF, Lin JW, Zheng XH, et al. Separation, cultivation and biological characteristics of oral carcinoma-associated fibroblasts. Oral Dis. 2006;12:375–80.
- 61. Orimo A, Gupta PB, Sgroi DC, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Delaunay T, Naeem R, et al. Stromal fibroblasts present in invasive human breast carcinomas promote tumor growth and angiogenesis through elevated SDF-1/CXCL12 secretion. Cell. 2005;121:335–48.
- 62. Bhowmick NA, Chytil A, Plieth D, Gorska AE, Dumont N, Shappell S, et al. TGF-beta signaling in fibroblasts modulates the oncogenic potential of adjacent epithelia. Science. 2004;303:848–51.
- 63. Eck SM, Côté AL, Winkelman WD, Brinckerhoff CE. CXCR4 and matrix metalloproteinase-1 are elevated in breast carcinoma-associated fibroblasts and in normal mammary fibroblasts exposed to factors secreted by breast cancer cells. Mol Cancer Res. 2009;7:1033–44.
- Madar S, Goldstein I, Rotter V. Cancer associated fibroblasts'--more than meets the eye. Trends Mol Med. 2013;19:447–53.
- 65. Hwang RF, Moore T, Arumugam T, Ramachandran V, Amos KD, Rivera A, et al. Cancer-associated stromal fibroblasts promote pancreatic tumor progression. Cancer Res. 2008;68:918–26.
- 66. Johansson A-C, Ansell A, Jerhammar F, Lindh MB, Grénman R, Munck-Wikland E, et al. Cancer-associated fibroblasts induce matrix metalloproteinase-mediated cetuximab resistance in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells. Mol Cancer Res. 2012;10:1158–68.
- 67. Ochoa AC, Zea AH, Hernandez C, Rodriguez PC. Arginase, prostaglandins, and myeloid-derived

suppressor cells in renal cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:721s–6s.

- Peranzoni E, Zilio S, Marigo I, Dolcetti L, Zanovello P, Mandruzzato S, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cell heterogeneity and subset definition. Curr Opin Immunol. 2010;22:238–44.
- Kumar V, Patel S, Tcyganov E, Gabrilovich DI. The nature of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment. Trends Immunol. 2016;37:208–20.
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9:162–74.
- Almand B, Clark JI, Nikitina E, van Beynen J, English NR, Knight SC, et al. Increased production of immature myeloid cells in cancer patients: a mechanism of immunosuppression in cancer. J Immunol. 2001;166:678–89.
- Gabrilovich DI, Bronte V, Chen S-H, Colombo MP, Ochoa A, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, et al. The terminology issue for myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cancer Res. 2007;67:425.
- Qian B-Z, Li J, Zhang H, Kitamura T, Zhang J, Campion LR, et al. CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis. Nature. 2011;475:222–5.
- Youn J-I, Collazo M, Shalova IN, Biswas SK, Gabrilovich DI. Characterization of the nature of granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. J Leukoc Biol. 2012;91:167–81.
- 75. Yu J, Du W, Yan F, Wang Y, Li H, Cao S, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells suppress antitumor immune responses through IDO expression and correlate with lymph node metastasis in patients with breast cancer. J Immunol. 2013;190:3783–97.
- Kusmartsev S, Nefedova Y, Yoder D, Gabrilovich DI. Antigen-specific inhibition of CD8+ T cell response by immature myeloid cells in cancer is mediated by reactive oxygen species. J Immunol. 2004;172:989–99.
- Goñi O, Alcaide P, Fresno M. Immunosuppression during acute Trypanosoma cruzi infection: involvement of Ly6G (Gr1(+))CD11b(+)immature myeloid suppressor cells. Int Immunol. 2002;14:1125–34.
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Sinha P. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: linking inflammation and cancer. J Immunol. 2009;182:4499–506.
- Harari O, Liao JK. Inhibition of MHC II gene transcription by nitric oxide and antioxidants. Curr Pharm Des. 2004;10:893–8.
- Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. Nat Med. 2004;10:942–9.
- Sasada T, Kimura M, Yoshida Y, Kanai M, Takabayashi A. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with gastrointestinal malignancies: possible involvement of regulatory T cells in disease progression. Cancer. 2003;98:1089–99.

- Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. Science. 2003;299:1057–61.
- Tanchot C, Terme M, Pere H, Tran T, Benhamouda N, Strioga M, et al. Tumor-infiltrating regulatory T cells: phenotype, role, mechanism of expansion in situ and clinical significance. Cancer Microenviron. 2013;6:147–57.
- Campbell DJ, Koch MA. Phenotypical and functional specialization of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11:119–30.
- 85. Strauss L, Bergmann C, Szczepanski M, Gooding W, Johnson JT, Whiteside TL. A unique subset of CD4+CD25highFoxp3+ T cells secreting interleukin-10 and transforming growth factor-beta1 mediates suppression in the tumor microenvironment. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:4345–54.
- Pandiyan P, Zheng L, Ishihara S, Reed J, Lenardo MJ. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induce cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis of effector CD4+ T cells. Nat Immunol. 2007;8:1353–62.
- Bingle L, Brown NJ, Lewis CE. The role of tumourassociated macrophages in tumour progression: implications for new anticancer therapies. J Pathol. 2002;196:254–65.
- Kowalczyk A, D'Souza CA, Zhang L. Cell-extrinsic CTLA4-mediated regulation of dendritic cell maturation depends on STAT3. Eur J Immunol. 2014;44:1143–55.
- Vignali DAA, Collison LW, Workman CJ. How regulatory T cells work. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8:523–32.
- Quail DF, Joyce JA. Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. Nat Med. 2013;19:1423–37.
- Yang L, Zhang Y. Tumor-associated macrophages: from basic research to clinical application. J Hematol Oncol. 2017;10:58.
- Gordon S. Alternative activation of macrophages. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003;3:23–35.
- Murdoch C, Giannoudis A, Lewis CE. Mechanisms regulating the recruitment of macrophages into hypoxic areas of tumors and other ischemic tissues. Blood. 2004;104:2224–34.
- Bergers G, Coussens LM. Extrinsic regulators of epithelial tumor progression: metalloproteinases. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2000;10:120–7.
- Lucas T, Abraham D, Aharinejad S. Modulation of tumor associated macrophages in solid tumors. Front Biosci. 2008;13:5580–8.
- Henze A-T, Mazzone M. The impact of hypoxia on tumor-associated macrophages. J Clin Invest. 2016;126:3672–9.
- 97. Ohno S, Ohno Y, Suzuki N, Kamei T, Koike K, Inagawa H, et al. Correlation of histological localization of tumor-associated macrophages with clinicopathological features in endometrial cancer. Anticancer Res. 2004;24(5C):3335–42.
- 98. Casazza A, Laoui D, Wenes M, Rizzolio S, Bassani N, Mambretti M, et al. Impeding macrophage entry

into hypoxic tumor areas by Sema3A/Nrp1 signaling blockade inhibits angiogenesis and restores antitumor immunity. Cancer Cell. 2013;24:695–709.

- 99. Pyonteck SM, Akkari L, Schuhmacher AJ, Bowman RL, Sevenich L, Quail DF, et al. CSF-1R inhibition alters macrophage polarization and blocks glioma progression. Nat Med. 2013;19:1264–72.
- Carmona-Fontaine C, Deforet M, Akkari L, Thompson CB, Joyce JA, Xavier JB. Metabolic origins of spatial organization in the tumor microenvironment. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2017;114:2934–9.
- 101. Colegio OR, Chu N-Q, Szabo AL, Chu T, Rhebergen AM, Jairam V, et al. Functional polarization of tumour-associated macrophages by tumour-derived lactic acid. Nature. 2014;513:559–63.
- 102. Penny HL, Sieow JL, Adriani G, Yeap WH, See Chi Ee P, San Luis B, et al. Warburg metabolism in tumor-conditioned macrophages promotes metastasis in human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Onco Targets Ther. 2016;5:e1191731.
- 103. Wenes M, Shang M, Di Matteo M, Goveia J, Martín-Pérez R, Serneels J, et al. Macrophage metabolism controls tumor blood vessel morphogenesis and metastasis. Cell Metab. 2016;24:701–15.
- 104. Kryczek I, Zou L, Rodriguez P, Zhu G, Wei S, Mottram P, et al. B7-H4 expression identifies a novel suppressive macrophage population in human ovarian carcinoma. J Exp Med. 2006;203:871–81.
- 105. Gordon SR, Maute RL, Dulken BW, Hutter G, George BM, McCracken MN, et al. PD-1 expression by tumour-associated macrophages inhibits phagocytosis and tumour immunity. Nature. 2017;545:495–9.
- 106. Lepique AP, Daghastanli KRP, Cuccovia IM, Villa LL. HPV16 tumor associated macrophages suppress antitumor T cell responses. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:4391–400.
- 107. Bolpetti A, Silva JS, Villa LL, Lepique A. Interleukin-10 production by tumor infiltrating macrophages plays a role in human papillomavirus 16 tumor growth. BMC Immunol. 2010;11:27.
- Donkor MK, Sarkar A, Li MO. TGF-β1 produced by activated CD4(+) T cells antagonizes t cell surveillance of tumor development. Onco Targets Ther. 2012;1:162–71.
- Whiteside TL. What are regulatory T cells (Treg) regulating in cancer and why? Semin Cancer Biol. 2012;22:327–34.
- 110. Bayne LJ, Beatty GL, Jhala N, Clark CE, Rhim AD, Stanger BZ, et al. Tumor-derived granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor regulates myeloid inflammation and T cell immunity in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Cell. 2012;21:822–35.
- 111. Kohanbash G, McKaveney K, Sakaki M, Ueda R, Mintz AH, Amankulor N, et al. GM-CSF promotes the immunosuppressive activity of gliomainfiltrating myeloid cells through interleukin-4 receptor-α. Cancer Res. 2013;73:6413–23.
- 112. Lutz MB, Suri RM, Niimi M, Ogilvie AL, Kukutsch NA, Rössner S, et al. Immature dendritic cells gen-

erated with low doses of GM-CSF in the absence of IL-4 are maturation resistant and prolong allograft survival in vivo. Eur J Immunol. 2000;30:1813–22.

- Nemunaitis J. GVAX (GMCSF gene modified tumor vaccine) in advanced stage non small cell lung cancer. J Control Release. 2003;91:225–31.
- 114. Valdembri D, Serini G, Vacca A, Ribatti D, Bussolino F. In vivo activation of JAK2/STAT-3 pathway during angiogenesis induced by GM-CSF. FASEB J. 2002;16:225–7.
- 115. Wölfle SJ, Strebovsky J, Bartz H, Sähr A, Arnold C, Kaiser C, et al. PD-L1 expression on tolerogenic APCs is controlled by STAT-3. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41:413–24.
- 116. Yu J, Wang Y, Yan F, Zhang P, Li H, Zhao H, et al. Noncanonical NF-κB activation mediates STAT3stimulated IDO upregulation in myeloid-derived suppressor cells in breast cancer. J Immunol. 2014;193:2574–86.
- Munn DH. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, tumorinduced tolerance and counter-regulation. Curr Opin Immunol. 2006;18:220–5.
- 118. Obermajer N, Muthuswamy R, Lesnock J, Edwards RP, Kalinski P. Positive feedback between PGE2 and COX2 redirects the differentiation of human dendritic cells toward stable myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Blood. 2011;118:5498–505.
- 119. Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Immune checkpoint blockade: a common denominator approach to cancer therapy. Cancer Cell. 2015;27:450–61.
- Mellman I, Coukos G, Dranoff G. Cancer immunotherapy comes of age. Nature. 2011;480:480–9.
- 121. Sharma P, Allison JP. Immune checkpoint targeting in cancer therapy: toward combination strategies with curative potential. Cell. 2015;161:205–14.
- Pauken KE, Wherry EJ. Overcoming T cell exhaustion in infection and cancer. Trends Immunol. 2015;36:265–76.
- 123. Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. Nat Immunol. 2011;12:492–9.
- 124. Gandini S, Massi D, Mandalà M. PD-L1 expression in cancer patients receiving anti PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2016;100:88–98.
- 125. Anderson AC. Tim-3: an emerging target in the cancer immunotherapy landscape. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2:393–8.
- 126. Baksh K, Weber J. Immune checkpoint protein inhibition for cancer: preclinical justification for CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade and new combinations. Semin Oncol. 2015;42:363–77.
- 127. Moreno-Cubero E, Larrubia J-R. Specific CD8 + T cell response immunotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma and viral hepatitis. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:6469.
- Dougall WC, Kurtulus S, Smyth MJ, Anderson AC. TIGIT and CD96: new checkpoint receptor targets for cancer immunotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2017;276:112–20.
- 129. Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. Nature. 2017;541:321–30. http://www.nature.com/ doifinder/10.1038/nature21349
- Mahoney KM, Rennert PD, Freeman GJ. Combination cancer immunotherapy and new immunomodulatory targets. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2015;14(8):561–84.
- Buchbinder EI, Desai A. CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways: similarities, differences, and implications of their inhibition. Am J Clin Oncol. 2016;39:98–106.
- 132. Freeman GJ, Long AJ, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, et al. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. J Exp Med. 2000;192:1027–34.
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:252–64.
- Francisco LM, Sage PT, Sharpe AH. The PD-1 pathway in tolerance and autoimmunity. Immunol Rev. 2010;236:219–42.
- 135. Keir ME, Liang SC, Guleria I, Latchman YE, Qipo A, Albacker LA, et al. Tissue expression of PD-L1 mediates peripheral T cell tolerance. J Exp Med. 2006;203:883–95.
- 136. Homet Moreno B, Ribas A. Anti-programmed cell death protein-1/ligand-1 therapy in different cancers. Br J Cancer. 2015;112:1421–7.
- 137. Ebert PJR, Cheung J, Yang Y, McNamara E, Hong R, Moskalenko M, et al. MAP kinase inhibition promotes t cell and anti-tumor activity in combination with PD-L1 checkpoint blockade. Immunity. 2016;44:609–21.
- 138. Barber DL, Wherry EJ, Masopust D, Zhu B, Allison JP, Sharpe AH, et al. Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. Nature. 2006;439:682–7.
- 139. Feng M, Xiong G, Cao Z, Yang G, Zheng S, Song X, et al. PD-1/PD-L1 and immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer. Cancer Lett. 2017;407:57–65.
- 140. Pianko MJ, Liu Y, Bagchi S, Lesokhin AM. Immune checkpoint blockade for hematologic malignancies: a review. Stem Cell Investig. 2017;4:32.
- 141. Worzfeld T, Pogge von Strandmann E, Huber M, Adhikary T, Wagner U, Reinartz S, et al. The unique molecular and cellular microenvironment of ovarian cancer. Front Oncol. 2017;7:24.
- 142. Vardhana S, Younes A. The immune microenvironment in Hodgkin lymphoma: T cells, B cells, and immune checkpoints. Haematologica. 2016;101:794–802.
- 143. Wang X, Teng F, Kong L, Yu J. PD-L1 expression in human cancers and its association with clinical outcomes. Onco Targets Ther. 2016;9:5023–39.
- 144. Huang C-T, Workman CJ, Flies D, Pan X, Marson AL, Zhou G, et al. Role of LAG-3 in regulatory T cells. Immunity. 2004;21:503–13.
- 145. Jain N, Nguyen H, Chambers C, Kang J. Dual function of CTLA-4 in regulatory T cells and conven-

tional T cells to prevent multiorgan autoimmunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:1524–8.

- 146. Chan DV, Gibson HM, Aufiero BM, Wilson AJ, Hafner MS, Mi Q-S, et al. Differential CTLA-4 expression in human CD4+ versus CD8+ T cells is associated with increased NFAT1 and inhibition of CD4+ proliferation. Genes Immun. 2014;15:25–32.
- 147. Berg M, Zavazava N. Regulation of CD28 expression on CD8+ T cells by CTLA-4. J Leukoc Biol. 2008;83(4):853–63.
- 148. Egen JG, Kuhns MS, Allison JP. CTLA-4: new insights into its biological function and use in tumor immunotherapy. Nat Immunol. 2002;3:611–8.
- 149. Rosanò L, Bagnato A. Endothelin therapeutics in cancer: where are we? Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2016;310:R469–75.
- 150. Rosanò L, Spinella F, Bagnato A. Endothelin 1 in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Cancer. 2013;13:637–51.
- 151. Cianfrocca R, Rosanò L, Tocci P, Sestito R, Caprara V, Di Castro V, et al. Blocking endothelin-1-receptor/β-catenin circuit sensitizes to chemotherapy in colorectal cancer. Cell Death Differ. 2017;24:1811–20.
- 152. Rosanò L, Cianfrocca R, Sestito R, Tocci P, Di Castro V, Bagnato A. Targeting endothelin-1 receptor/β-arrestin1 network for the treatment of ovarian cancer. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2017;21:925–32.
- 153. Bagnato A, Spinella F. Emerging role of endothelin-1 in tumor angiogenesis. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2003;14:44–50.
- Nelson J, Bagnato A, Battistini B, Nisen P. The endothelin axis: emerging role in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003;3:110–6.
- 155. Wu MH, Chen L-M, Hsu H-H, Lin JA, Lin Y-M, Tsai F-J, et al. Endothelin-1 enhances cell migration through COX-2 up-regulation in human chondrosarcoma. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1830;2013:3355–64.
- 156. Bagnato A, Cirilli A, Salani D, Simeone P, Muller A, Nicotra MR, et al. Growth inhibition of cervix carcinoma cells in vivo by endothelin a receptor blockade. Cancer Res. 2002;62:6381–4.
- 157. Rosanò L, Di Castro V, Spinella F, Nicotra MR, Natali PG, Bagnato A. ZD4054, a specific antagonist of the endothelin a receptor, inhibits tumor growth and enhances paclitaxel activity in human ovarian carcinoma in vitro and in vivo. Mol Cancer Ther. 2007;6:2003–11.
- 158. Banerjee S, Hussain M, Wang Z, Saliganan A, Che M, Bonfil D, et al. In vitro and in vivo molecular evidence for better therapeutic efficacy of ABT-627 and taxotere combination in prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 2007;67:3818–26.
- 159. Coffman L, Mooney C, Lim J, Bai S, Silva I, Gong Y, et al. Endothelin receptor-a is required for the recruitment of antitumor T cells and modulates chemotherapy induction of cancer stem cells. Cancer Biol Ther. 2013;14:184–92.
- 160. Gohji K, Kitazawa S, Tamada H, Katsuoka Y, Nakajima M. Expression of endothelin receptor a

associated with prostate cancer progression. J Urol. 2001;165:1033–6.

- 161. Venuti A, Salani D, Manni V, Poggiali F, Bagnato A. Expression of endothelin 1 and endothelin a receptor in HPV-associated cervical carcinoma: new potential targets for anticancer therapy. FASEB J. 2000;14:2277–83.
- 162. Pflug BR, Zheng H, Udan MS, D'Antonio JM, Marshall FF, Brooks JD, et al. Endothelin-1 promotes cell survival in renal cell carcinoma through the ETA receptor. Cancer Lett. 2007;246:139–48.
- 163. Kandalaft LE, Facciabene A, Buckanovich RJ, Coukos G. Endothelin B receptor, a new target in cancer immune therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:4521–8.
- 164. Bachmann-Brandt S, Bittner I, Neuhaus P, Frei U, Schindler R. Plasma levels of endothelin-1 in patients with the hepatorenal syndrome after successful liver transplantation. Transpl Int. 2000;13:357–62.
- 165. Bagnato A, Rosanò L, Spinella F, Di Castro V, Tecce R, Natali PG. Endothelin B receptor blockade inhibits dynamics of cell interactions and communications in melanoma cell progression. Cancer Res. 2004;64:1436–43.
- 166. Eltze E, Bertolin M, Korsching E, Wülfing P, Maggino T, Lellé R. Expression and prognostic relevance of endothelin-B receptor in vulvar cancer. Oncol Rep. 2007;18:305–11.
- 167. Ganswindt U, Paulsen F, Corvin S, Eichhorn K, Glocker S, Hundt I, et al. Intensity modulated radiotherapy for high risk prostate cancer based on sentinel node SPECT imaging for target volume definition. BMC Cancer. 2005;5:91.
- Demaria S, Bhardwaj N, McBride WH, Formenti SC. Combining radiotherapy and immunotherapy: a revived partnership. Int J Radiat Oncol. 2005;63:655–66.
- 169. Lugade AA, Moran JP, Gerber SA, Rose RC, Frelinger JG, Lord EM. Local radiation therapy of B16 melanoma tumors increases the generation of tumor antigen-specific effector cells that traffic to the tumor. J Immunol. 2005;174:7516–23.
- 170. Lee Y, Auh SL, Wang Y, Burnette B, Wang Y, Meng Y, et al. Therapeutic effects of ablative radiation on local tumor require CD8+ T cells: changing strategies for cancer treatment. Blood. 2009;114:589–95.
- 171. Burnette B, Fu Y-X, Weichselbaum RR. The confluence of radiotherapy and immunotherapy. Front Oncol. 2012;2:143.
- 172. Burnette B, Weichselbaum RR. Radiation as an immune modulator. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2013;23:273–80.
- 173. Lim JYH, Gerber SA, Murphy SP, Lord EM. Type I interferons induced by radiation therapy mediate recruitment and effector function of CD8+ T cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63:259–71.
- 174. Sharabi AB, Nirschl CJ, Kochel CM, Nirschl TR, Francica BJ, Velarde E, et al. Stereotactic radiation therapy augments antigen-specific PD-1-mediated antitumor immune responses via cross-presentation

of tumor antigen. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3:345–55.

- 175. Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:860–75.
- 176. Kotera Y, Shimizu K, Mulé JJ. Comparative analysis of necrotic and apoptotic tumor cells as a source of antigen(s) in dendritic cell-based immunization. Cancer Res. 2001;61:8105–9.
- 177. Demaria S, Ng B, Devitt ML, Babb JS, Kawashima N, Liebes L, et al. Ionizing radiation inhibition of distant untreated tumors (abscopal effect) is immune mediated. Int J Radiat Oncol. 2004;58:862–70.
- 178. Reits EA, Hodge JW, Herberts CA, Groothuis TA, Chakraborty M, Wansley EK, et al. Radiation modulates the peptide repertoire, enhances MHC class I expression, and induces successful antitumor immunotherapy. J Exp Med. 2006;203:1259–71.
- 179. Vanpouille-Box C, Diamond JM, Pilones KA, Zavadil J, Babb JS, Formenti SC, et al. TGF is a master regulator of radiation therapy-induced antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2015;75:2232–42.
- 180. Hallahan DE, Spriggs DR, Beckett MA, Kufe DW, Weichselbaum RR. Increased tumor necrosis factor alpha mRNA after cellular exposure to ionizing radiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989;86:10104–7.
- Friedman EJ. Immune modulation by ionizing radiation and its implications for cancer immunotherapy. Curr Pharm Des. 2002;8:1765–80.
- 182. Matsumura S, Wang B, Kawashima N, Braunstein S, Badura M, Cameron TO, et al. Radiation-induced CXCL16 release by breast cancer cells attracts effector T cells. J Immunol. 2008;181:3099–107.
- 183. Ganss R, Ryschich E, Klar E, Arnold B, Hämmerling GJ. Combination of T-cell therapy and trigger of inflammation induces remodeling of the vasculature and tumor eradication. Cancer Res. 2002;62:1462–70.
- 184. Zeng J, See AP, Phallen J, Jackson CM, Belcaid Z, Ruzevick J, et al. Anti-PD-1 blockade and stereotactic radiation produce long-term survival in mice with intracranial gliomas. Int J Radiat Oncol. 2013;86:343–9.
- 185. Deng L, Liang H, Burnette B, Beckett M, Darga T, Weichselbaum RR, et al. Irradiation and anti–PD-L1 treatment synergistically promote antitumor immunity in mice. J Clin Invest. 2014;124:687–95.
- 186. Weichselbaum RR, Liang H, Deng L, Fu Y-X. Radiotherapy and immunotherapy: a beneficial liaison? Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2017;14:365–79.
- 187. Demaria S, Kawashima N, Yang AM, Devitt ML, Babb JS, Allison JP, et al. Immune-mediated inhibition of metastases after treatment with local radiation and CTLA-4 blockade in a mouse model of breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:728–34.
- 188. Vanpouille-Box C, Pilones KA, Wennerberg E, Formenti SC, Demaria S. In situ vaccination by radiotherapy to improve responses to anti-CTLA-4 treatment. Vaccine. 2015;33:7415–22.

- 189. Small EJ, Tchekmedyian NS, Rini BI, Fong L, Lowy I, Allison JP. A pilot trial of CTLA-4 blockade with human anti-CTLA-4 in patients with hormone-refractory prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:1810–5.
- 190. Yang JC, Hughes M, Kammula U, Royal R, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, et al. Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA4 antibody) causes regression of metastatic renal cell cancer associated with enteritis and hypophysitis. J Immunother. 2007;30:825–30.
- 191. Weber JS, O'Day S, Urba W, Powderly J, Nichol G, Yellin M, et al. Phase I/II study of Ipilimumab for patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:5950–6.
- 192. Hersh EM, O'Day SJ, Powderly J, Khan KD, Pavlick AC, Cranmer LD, et al. A phase II multicenter study of ipilimumab with or without dacarbazine in chemotherapy-naïve patients with advanced melanoma. Investig New Drugs. 2011;29:489–98.
- 193. Sharma P, Wagner K, Wolchok JD, Allison JP. Novel cancer immunotherapy agents with survival benefit: recent successes and next steps. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11:805–12.
- 194. Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, Yamada Y, Yuan J, Kitano S, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:925–31.
- 195. Khan MA, Partin AW. Endothelin-a receptor antagonists and advanced prostate cancer. Rev Urol. 2004;6:47–8.
- 196. Akhavan A, McHugh KH, Guruli G, Bies RR, Zamboni WC, Strychor SA, et al. Endothelin receptor a blockade enhances taxane effects in prostate cancer. Neoplasia. 2006;8:725–32.
- 197. Maffei R, Bulgarelli J, Fiorcari S, Martinelli S, Castelli I, Valenti V, et al. Endothelin-1 promotes survival and chemoresistance in chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells through ETA receptor. PLoS One. 2014;9:e98818.
- 198. Bracci L, Schiavoni G, Sistigu A, Belardelli F. Immune-based mechanisms of cytotoxic chemotherapy: implications for the design of novel and rationale-based combined treatments against cancer. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21:15–25.
- 199. Haldar S, Jena N, Croce CM. Inactivation of Bcl-2 by phosphorylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92:4507–11.
- 200. Dirkx AEM, MGA OE, Castermans K, van der DWJ S, VLJL T, RPM D, et al. Anti-angiogenesis therapy can overcome endothelial cell anergy and promote leukocyte-endothelium interactions and infiltration in tumors. FASEB J. 2006;20:621–30.
- 201. Park S, Kang S, Chen X, Kim EJ, Kim J, Kim N, et al. Tumor suppression via paclitaxel-loaded drug carriers that target inflammation marker upregulated in tumor vasculature and macrophages. Biomaterials. 2013;34:598–605.
- 202. Javeed A, Ashraf M, Riaz A, Ghafoor A, Afzal S, Mukhtar MM. Paclitaxel and immune system. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2009;38:283–90.

- 203. Shurin GV, Tourkova IL, Kaneno R, Shurin MR. Chemotherapeutic agents in noncytotoxic concentrations increase antigen presentation by dendritic cells via an IL-12-dependent mechanism. J Immunol. 2009;183:137–44.
- 204. Kaneno R, Shurin GV, Tourkova IL, Shurin MR. Chemomodulation of human dendritic cell function by antineoplastic agents in low noncytotoxic concentrations. J Transl Med. 2009;7:58.
- 205. Zhu Y, Liu N, Xiong SD, Zheng YJ, Chu YW. CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T-cell impairment by paclitaxel is independent of toll-like receptor 4. Scand J Immunol. 2011;73:301–8.
- 206. Tanaka H, Matsushima H, Mizumoto N, Takashima A. Classification of chemotherapeutic agents based on their differential in vitro effects on dendritic cells. Cancer Res. 2009;69:6978–86.
- 207. Kodumudi KN, Woan K, Gilvary DL, Sahakian E, Wei S, Djeu JY. A novel chemoimmunomodulating property of docetaxel: suppression of myeloidderived suppressor cells in tumor bearers. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:4583–94.
- 208. Apetoh L, Végran F, Ladoire S, Ghiringhelli F. Restoration of antitumor immunity through selective inhibition of myeloid derived suppressor cells by anticancer therapies. Curr Mol Med. 2011;11:365–72.
- Zhou S, Wei J, Su S, Chen F, Qiu Y, Liu B. Strategies for bispecific single chain antibody in cancer immunotherapy. J Cancer. 2017;8:3689–96.
- 210. Yu S, Li A, Liu Q, Yuan X, Xu H, Jiao D, et al. Recent advances of bispecific antibodies in solid tumors. J Hematol Oncol. 2017;10:155.
- 211. Löffler A, Kufer P, Lutterbüse R, Zettl F, Daniel PT, Schwenkenbecher JM, et al. A recombinant bispecific single-chain antibody, CD19 x CD3, induces rapid and high lymphoma-directed cytotoxicity by unstimulated T lymphocytes. Blood. 2000;95:2098–103.
- 212. Alibakhshi A, Abarghooi Kahaki F, Ahangarzadeh S, Yaghoobi H, Yarian F, Arezumand R, et al. Targeted cancer therapy through antibody fragmentsdecorated nanomedicines. J Control Release. 2017;268:323–34.
- Razpotnik R, Novak N, Čurin Šerbec V, Rajcevic U. Targeting malignant brain tumors with antibodies. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1181.
- Hoseini SS, Cheung N-KV. Immunotherapy of hepatocellular carcinoma using chimeric antigen receptors and bispecific antibodies. Cancer Lett. 2017;399:44–52.
- 215. Draghiciu O, Lubbers J, Nijman HW, Daemen T. Myeloid derived suppressor cells—an overview of combat strategies to increase immunotherapy efficacy. Onco Targets Ther. 2015;4:e954829.
- 216. Roth F, De La Fuente AC, Vella JL, Zoso A, Inverardi L, Serafini P. Aptamer-mediated blockade of IL4R triggers apoptosis of MDSCs and limits tumor progression. Cancer Res. 2012;72:1373–83.

- 217. Gallina G, Dolcetti L, Serafini P, Santo CD, Marigo I, Colombo MP, et al. Tumors induce a subset of inflammatory monocytes with immunosuppressive activity on CD8+ T cells. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:2777–90.
- Mandruzzato S, Solito S, Falisi E, Francescato S, Chiarion-Sileni V, Mocellin S, et al. IL4Rα ⁺ myeloid-derived suppressor cell expansion in cancer patients. J Immunol. 2009;182:6562–8.
- 219. Ko JS, Rayman P, Ireland J, Swaidani S, Li G, Bunting KD, et al. Direct and differential suppression of myeloid-derived suppressor cell subsets by sunitinib is compartmentally constrained. Cancer Res. 2010;70:3526–36.
- 220. Draghiciu O, Nijman HW, Hoogeboom BN, Meijerhof T, Daemen T. Sunitinib depletes myeloidderived suppressor cells and synergizes with a cancer vaccine to enhance antigen-specific immune responses and tumor eradication. Onco Targets Ther. 2015;4:e989764.
- 221. Finke JH, Rini B, Ireland J, Rayman P, Richmond A, Golshayan A, et al. Sunitinib reverses type-1 immune suppression and decreases T-regulatory cells in renal cell carcinoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:6674–82.
- 222. Ko JS, Zea AH, Rini BI, Ireland JL, Elson P, Cohen P, et al. Sunitinib mediates reversal of myeloid-derived suppressor cell accumulation in renal cell carcinoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:2148–57.
- 223. Vincent J, Mignot G, Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Bruchard M, Chevriaux A, et al. 5-fluorouracil selectively kills tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells resulting in enhanced T cell-dependent antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2010;70:3052–61.
- 224. Bruchard M, Mignot G, Derangère V, Chalmin F, Chevriaux A, Végran F, et al. Chemotherapy-triggered cathepsin B release in myeloid-derived suppressor cells activates the NIrp3 inflammasome and promotes tumor growth. Nat Med. 2012;19:57–64.
- 225. Suzuki E, Kapoor V, Jassar AS, Kaiser LR, Albelda SM. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells in tumorbearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:6713–21.
- 226. Le HK, Graham L, Cha E, Morales JK, Manjili MH, Bear HD. Gemcitabine directly inhibits myeloid derived suppressor cells in BALB/c mice bearing 4T1 mammary carcinoma and augments expansion of T cells from tumor-bearing mice. Int Immunopharmacol. 2009;9:900–9.
- 227. Qin H, Lerman B, Sakamaki I, Wei G, Cha SC, Rao SS, et al. Generation of a new therapeutic peptide that depletes myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. Nat Med. 2014;20:676–81.
- 228. Mahnke K, Schönfeld K, Fondel S, Ring S, Karakhanova S, Wiedemeyer K, et al. Depletion of CD4+CD25+ human regulatory T cells in vivo: kinetics of Treg depletion and alterations in immune functions in vivo and in vitro. Int J Cancer. 2007;120:2723–33.

- 229. Rech AJ, Vonderheide RH. Clinical use of anti-CD25 antibody daclizumab to enhance immune responses to tumor antigen vaccination by targeting regulatory T cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2009;1174:99–106.
- 230. Klages K, Mayer CT, Lahl K, Loddenkemper C, Teng MWL, Ngiow SF, et al. Selective depletion of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells improves effective therapeutic vaccination against established melanoma. Cancer Res. 2010;70:7788–99.
- 231. Walczak M, Regts J, van Oosterhout AJM, Boon L, Wilschut J, Nijman HW, et al. Role of regulatory T-cells in immunization strategies involving a recombinant alphavirus vector system. Antivir Ther. 2011;16:207–18.
- 232. Fuentes AC, Szwed E, Spears CD, Thaper S, Dang LH, Dang NH. Denileukin diftitox (Ontak) as maintenance therapy for peripheral T-cell lymphomas: three cases with sustained remission. Case Rep Oncol Med. 2015;2015:1–5.
- Spranger S, Gajewski T. Rational combinations of immunotherapeutics that target discrete pathways. J Immunother Cancer. 2013;1:16.
- 234. Waldmann TA. Anti-tac (daclizumab, Zenapax) in the treatment of leukemia, autoimmune diseases, and in the prevention of allograft rejection: a 25-year personal odyssey. J Clin Immunol. 2007;27:1–18.
- 235. Liu DV, Maier LM, Hafler DA, Wittrup KD. Engineered interleukin-2 antagonists for the inhibition of regulatory T cells. J Immunother. 2009;32:887–94.
- 236. Tse BWC, Collins A, Oehler MK, Zippelius A, Heinzelmann-Schwarz VA. Antibody-based immunotherapy for ovarian cancer: where are we at? Ann Oncol. 2014;25(2):322–31.
- 237. Ghiringhelli F, Menard C, Puig PE, Ladoire S, Roux S, Martin F, et al. Metronomic cyclophosphamide regimen selectively depletes CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells and restores T and NK effector functions in end stage cancer patients. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56:641–8.
- 238. Gazzaniga S, Bravo AI, Guglielmotti A, van Rooijen N, Maschi F, Vecchi A, et al. Targeting tumor-associated macrophages and inhibition of MCP-1 reduce angiogenesis and tumor growth in a human melanoma xenograft. J Invest Dermatol. 2007;127:2031–41.
- 239. Xiang R, Luo Y, Niethammer AG, Reisfeld RA. Oral DNA vaccines target the tumor vasculature and microenvironment and suppress tumor growth and metastasis. Immunol Rev. 2008;222:117–28.
- 240. Zeisberger SM, Odermatt B, Marty C, Zehnder-Fjällman AHM, Ballmer-Hofer K, Schwendener RA. Clodronate-liposome-mediated depletion of tumour-associated macrophages: a new and highly effective antiangiogenic therapy approach. Br J Cancer. 2006;95:272–81.
- 241. Sousa S, Auriola S, Mönkkönen J, Määttä J. Liposome encapsulated zoledronate favours M1-like behaviour in murine macrophages cultured

with soluble factors from breast cancer cells. BMC Cancer. 2015;15:4.

- 242. Piaggio F, Kondylis V, Pastorino F, Di Paolo D, Perri P, Cossu I, et al. A novel liposomal Clodronate depletes tumor-associated macrophages in primary and metastatic melanoma: anti-angiogenic and antitumor effects. J Control Release. 2016;223:165–77.
- 243. Galletti G, Scielzo C, Barbaglio F, Rodriguez TV, Riba M, Lazarevic D, et al. Targeting macrophages sensitizes chronic lymphocytic leukemia to apoptosis and inhibits disease progression. Cell Rep. 2016;14:1748–60.
- 244. He H, Chiu AC, Kanada M, Schaar BT, Krishnan V, Contag CH, et al. Imaging of tumor-associated macrophages in a transgenic mouse model of orthotopic ovarian cancer. Mol Imaging Biol. 2017;19:694–702.
- 245. Sasahira T, Sasaki T, Kuniyasu H. Interleukin-15 and transforming growth factor alpha are associated with depletion of tumor-associated macrophages in colon cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2005;24:69–74.
- 246. Teague RM, Sather BD, Sacks JA, Huang MZ, Dossett ML, Morimoto J, et al. Interleukin-15 rescues tolerant CD8+ T cells for use in adoptive immunotherapy of established tumors. Nat Med. 2006;12:335–41.
- 247. Kharaziha P, Rodriguez P, Li Q, Rundqvist H, Björklund A-C, Augsten M, et al. Targeting of distinct signaling cascades and cancer-associated fibroblasts define the efficacy of Sorafenib against prostate cancer cells. Cell Death Dis. 2012;3:e262.
- Caserta S, Alessi P, Basso V, Mondino A. IL-7 is superior to IL-2 for ex vivo expansion of tumour-specific CD4(+) T cells. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40:470–9.
- 249. Rosenberg SA, Sportès C, Ahmadzadeh M, Fry TJ, Ngo LT, Schwarz SL, et al. IL-7 administration to humans leads to expansion of CD8+ and CD4+ cells but a relative decrease of CD4+ T-regulatory cells. J Immunother. 2006;29:313–9.
- 250. Gao J, Zhao L, Wan Y, Zhu B. Mechanism of action of IL-7 and its potential applications and limitations in cancer immunotherapy. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16:10267–80.
- 251. Colombo MP, Trinchieri G. Interleukin-12 in antitumor immunity and immunotherapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2002;13:155–68.
- 252. Parhar RS, Zou M, Al-Mohanna FA, Baitei EY, Assiri AM, Meyer BF, et al. IL-12 immunotherapy of BrafV600E-induced papillary thyroid cancer in a mouse model. Lab Investig. 2016;96:89–97.
- 253. Vo JL, Yang L, Kurtz SL, Smith SG, Koppolu BP, et al. Neoadjuvant immunotherapy with chitosan and interleukin-12 to control breast cancer metastasis. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3:e968001.
- 254. Smith SG, Koppolu BP, Ravindranathan S, Kurtz SL, Yang L, Katz MD, et al. Intravesical chitosan/interleukin-12 immunotherapy induces tumor-specific systemic immunity against murine bladder cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2015;64:689–96.
- 255. Ingthorsson S, Andersen K, Hilmarsdottir B, Maelandsmo GM, Magnusson MK, Gudjonsson

T. HER2 induced EMT and tumorigenicity in breast epithelial progenitor cells is inhibited by coexpression of EGFR. Oncogene. 2016;35:4244–55.

- 256. Privitera G, Luca T, Musso N, Vancheri C, Crimi N, Barresi V, et al. In vitro antiproliferative effect of trastuzumab (Herceptin®) combined with cetux-imab (Erbitux®) in a model of human non-small cell lung cancer expressing EGFR and HER2. Clin Exp Med. 2016;16:161–8.
- 257. Razumienko EJ, Chen JC, Cai Z, Chan C, Reilly RM. Dual-receptor-targeted radioimmunotherapy of human breast cancer xenografts in athymic mice coexpressing HER2 and EGFR using 177Lu- or 1111n-labeled bispecific radioimmunoconjugates. J Nucl Med. 2016;57:444–52.
- 258. Church AK, Van der Meid KR, Baig NA, Baran AM, Witzig TE, Nowakowski GS, et al. Anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody-dependent phagocytosis of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells by autologous macrophages. Clin Exp Immunol. 2016;183:90–101.
- 259. Cramer P, Hallek M, Eichhorst B. State-of-the-art treatment and novel agents in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Oncol Res Treat. 2016;39:25–32.
- Pento JT. Monoclonal antibodies for the treatment of cancer. Anticancer Res. 2017;37:5935–9.
- 261. Kalergis AM, Ravetch JV. Inducing tumor immunity through the selective engagement of activating Fcgamma receptors on dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2002;195:1653–9.
- 262. Zou W, Wolchok JD, Chen L. PD-L1 (B7-H1) and PD-1 pathway blockade for cancer therapy: Mechanisms, response biomarkers, and combinations. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8:328rv4.
- 263. Pilon-Thomas S, Mackay A, Vohra N, Mule JJ. Blockade of programmed death ligand 1 enhances the therapeutic efficacy of combination immunotherapy against melanoma. J Immunol. 2010;184:3442–9.
- 264. Grosso JF, Kelleher CC, Harris TJ, Maris CH, Hipkiss EL, De Marzo A, et al. LAG-3 regulates CD8+ T cell accumulation and effector function in murine self- and tumor-tolerance systems. J Clin Invest. 2007;117:3383–92.
- 265. Grosso JF, Goldberg MV, Getnet D, Bruno TC, Yen H-R, Pyle KJ, et al. Functionally distinct LAG-3 and PD-1 subsets on activated and chronically stimulated CD8 T cells. J Immunol. 2009;182:6659–69.
- 266. Herbst RS, Soria J-C, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. Nature. 2014;515:563–7.
- Chen L, Han X. Anti–PD-1/PD-L1 therapy of human cancer: past, present, and future. J Clin Invest. 2015;125:3384–91.
- Gubin MM, Zhang X, Schuster H, Caron E, Ward JP, Noguchi T, et al. Checkpoint blockade cancer immunotherapy targets tumour-specific mutant antigens. Nature. 2014;515:577–81.
- 269. Powles T, Eder JP, Fine GD, Braiteh FS, Loriot Y, Cruz C, et al. MPDL3280A (anti-PD-L1) treatment

leads to clinical activity in metastatic bladder cancer. Nature. 2014;515:558–62.

- 270. Zhang Q, Yang X, Pins M, Javonovic B, Kuzel T, Kim S-J, et al. Adoptive transfer of tumor-reactive transforming growth factor-beta-insensitive CD8+ T cells: eradication of autologous mouse prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 2005;65:1761–9.
- 271. Terabe M, Ambrosino E, Takaku S, O'Konek JJ, Venzon D, Lonning S, et al. Synergistic enhancement of CD8+ T cell-mediated tumor vaccine efficacy by an anti-transforming growth factor-beta monoclonal antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:6560–9.
- 272. Faivre S, Raymond E, Boucher E, Douillard J, Lim HY, Kim JS, et al. Safety and efficacy of sunitinib in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: an open-label, multicentre, phase II study. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10:794–800.

- 273. Drabsch Y, ten Dijke P. TGF-β signalling and its role in cancer progression and metastasis. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2012;31:553–68.
- 274. Wang F-L, Qin W-J, Wen W-H, Tian F, Song B, Zhang Q, et al. TGF-beta insensitive dendritic cells: an efficient vaccine for murine prostate cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56:1785–93.
- 275. Khalil M, Vonderheide RH. Anti-CD40 agonist antibodies: preclinical and clinical experience. Update Cancer Ther. 2007;2:61–5.
- 276. Vonderheide RH. Prospect of targeting the CD40 pathway for cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:1083–8.
- 277. Zhang B, Wu T, Chen M, Zhou Y, Yi D, Guo R. The CD40/CD40L system: a new therapeutic target for disease. Immunol Lett. 2013;153:58–61.



6

Overcoming Cancer Tolerance with Immune Checkpoint Blockade

John W. Myers, George E. Peoples, and Guy T. Clifton

Contents

6.1	Introduction	86
6.2	Neoantigens: Targets for the Immune System	88
6.3	Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte-Associated Antigen-4 (CTLA-4): The First	80
621	CTL A 4 Europian	89
632	CTLA-4 Fullcuoli	09
6.3.3	Toxicity	91
6.4	Programmed Death 1 (PD-1) Pathway	93
6.4.1	Function.	93
6.4.2	PD-1 Pathway in Cancer.	94
6.4.3	PD-1 Blockade	95
6.4.4	Nivolumab	95
6.4.5	Pembrolizumab	96
6.4.6	PD-L1 Blockade	96
6.4.7	Atezolizumab	97
6.4.8	Durvalumab	97
6.4.9	Avelumab	97
6.5	Immune-Related Response Criteria	97
6.6	CTLA-4 Blockade Monotherapy	98
6.6.1	Ipilimumab	98
6.6.2	Phase III Trials of Checkpoint Inhibitors in Melanoma	99
6.6.3	Adjuvant Checkpoint Inhibitors	100
6.7	Checkpoint Inhibitors as Combination Therapy	101
6.7.1	Checkpoint Inhibitors and Chemotherapy	101
6.7.2	Checkpoint Inhibitors and Radiation	104

J. W. Myers · G. E. Peoples · G. T. Clifton (⊠) Brooke Army Medical Center, San Antonio, TX, USA e-mail: guy.t.clifton.mil@mail.mil

	6.8	Combination Immunotherapy	105
	6.8.1	CTLA-4 Blockade and Vaccination.	106
	6.8.2	PD-1/PD-L1 and Vaccination	106
	6.8.3	CTLA-4 Blockade and Cytokine Therapy	107
	6.8.4	Combination Checkpoint Blockade	107
	6.9	Other Checkpoint Pathways Under Development	108
	6.9.1	Lymphocyte Activation Gene-3 (LAG-3)	108
	6.9.2	4-1BB	109
	6.9.3	OX-40	110
	6.9.4	Glucocorticoid-Induced TNFR-Related Protein (GITR)	111
	6.9.5	CD40	111
	6.9.6	TIM-3	113
	6.9.7	TGN1421: A Cautionary Tale	114
	6.10	Conclusion	114
References			

6.1 Introduction

In 1957, Thomas and Burnet proposed the immunosurveillance theory, contending that the immune system is continuously patrolling, recognizing, and eliminating individual or groups of transformed cells [1]. This theory together with the identification of tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) led to much of the work in cancer vaccines to date. Based on this theory, it stands to reason that if the immune system has failed to recognize or mount a sufficient immune response to cancer, thus allowing a cancer to grow until it is clinically evident, stimulating the immune system sufficiently against the cancer could correct the immune system's failings and destroy the cancer. While there is considerable data in support of this theory, a number of discrepancies have also been noted. Most notably, athymic nude mice, which are T-cell deficient, and immunosuppressed individuals (transplant patients) do not develop neoplasms that are not virally linked at rates much drastically higher than their immunocompetent counterparts [2, 3]. While better models have since confirmed the role of the immune system in protecting against cancer development, it is clear that the immunosurveillance theory alone is not sufficient to explain the role of immune systems in cancer development.

Active immunotherapy for cancer based on the immunosurveillance understanding of cancer has, for the most part, been characterized by promising preclinical and early phase trials with, ultimately, disappointing clinical results in later phase trials [4]. Vaccination techniques have focused on stimulating the immune system by exposure to single or multiple tumor-associated antigens with immunoadjuvants such as cytokines (GM-CSF, IL-2) or toxins. While a variety of different techniques have been tried, with the exception of sipuleucel-T, a cancer vaccine approved for treatment of metastatic prostate cancer, these techniques have largely proven insufficient to overcome the local and systemic immunosuppression of advanced cancer in order to achieve a clinically significant improvement [5]. Historically, various types of active immunotherapy have shown excellent results in eradicating or preventing tumors in relevant murine models. In early phase clinical trials, active immunotherapies have generally had minor, well-tolerated toxicity profiles and shown promising immunologic results; however, these have not translated to clinically meaningful endpoints when tested in larger-scale controlled trials. As noted above, an exception to this is the sipuleucel-T vaccine, which demonstrated significant benefit in overall survival in castrate-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC) in two phase III trials and has been FDA approved based on these results [5, 6].

The immune system-cancer interaction is now recognized to be more complex than once imagined. The cumulated results of experimental evidence have led to the "immunoediting theory," a modification of the previous immunosurveillance theory that explains how immunocompetent individuals develop cancer and how the immune system can help shape the biologic activity of the cancers themselves. The theory proposes that cancer proceeds though three phases: elimination, equilibrium, and escape. The elimination phase describes the recognition and elimination of nascent cancer cells as in the immunosurveillance theory. The equilibrium phase is a period where the cancer cells that avoid immune destruction are held at bay by the immune system and which, through selective pressure (immunoselection), can change the cancer's phenotype into a less immunogenic and more tolerance-inducing tumor. The escape phase describes the setting in which cancer cells have evolved to evade immune pressure and can replicate to become a clinically apparent neoplasm [7].

Cancer avoids immune destruction in the equilibrium phase and then is able to enter the escape phase through multiple mechanisms that have become increasingly well characterized. Cancer cells can escape immune detection by downregulating production of TAAs or the major histocompatability (MHC) complexes that the antigens are presented on [8, 9]. Tumor tissue can promote lymphocyte anergy, or unresponsiveness, by downregulating necessary co-stimulatory signals, which are necessary for functional lymphocyte activation, or upregulating coinhibitory signals, which are necessary for preventing autoimmunity. Tumors, through contact-mediated and soluble signals, recruit and cause proliferation of inhibitory cell populations such as regulatory T lymphocytes (Tregs), tolerogenic dendritic cells, and myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Additionally, tumors alter the cellular microenvironment through secretion of inhibitory cytokines and metabolic byproducts, all of which hamper effective immune response [10].

Given our increased understanding of how tumor cells actively inhibit and escape host immunity and the disappointing results of most cancer vaccine therapies, it has become increasingly clear that these failures do not stem from lack of ability to stimulate an appropriate immune response but rather from the inability of the immune response to overcome immunosuppressive mechanisms. In other words, regardless of how many stimulated, cancer-specific effector cells are created with a given vaccine, if the cells are rendered ineffective in the "immunoedited" tumor microenvironment, ultimately the therapy will fail [11]. A large amount of research effort is underway to identify, characterize, and target cancer escape mechanisms in hope of delivering more effective immunotherapeutic treatments.

As mentioned earlier, one major mechanism of immune resistance is through multiple costimulatory and inhibitory receptor-ligand combinations (immune checkpoints) that create a context for the effector and target cell (or antigenpresenting cell) interaction. Multiple immune checkpoints have now been identified and have been found to play an integral role in cancer escape (Fig. 6.1). Blockade of two of these checkpoint pathways, CLTA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1, has led to commercially available therapeutic drugs in patients with multiple different types of malignancy. Many other immunomodulatory checkpoints are being actively investigated and will, in all likelihood, lead to further therapeutic options for patients with cancer. In addition, the potential for combination therapy with multiple checkpoints targeted (such as CTLA-4, PD-1, PD-L1) or together with standard therapies or cancer vaccines remains great. This chapter will review the role of therapeutic checkpoint targets to overcome tumor-mediated immune suppression through targeted checkpoint modulation.

Fig. 6.1 Multiple immunomodulatory coinhibitory and costimulatory receptorligand pairs have been identified (although not all are depicted here). These pathways set the immunologic context when an antigen is presented on a T-cell receptor (TCR) to a major histocompatibility (MHC) complex



6.2 Neoantigens: Targets for the Immune System

With the development of multiple commercially available checkpoint blockade drugs, considerable research has been devoted to determining in which tumor types and in which clinical setting the drugs are beneficial. With this new focus, factors that make certain tumors more immunogenic are becoming clearer. All malignancies that become clinically apparent are able to evade immune destruction, but this is often due to immunosuppressive factors (rather than lack of immunogenicity of the tumor itself) that can be countered with checkpoint inhibitors and, potentially, other immunostimulatory drugs in development. Neoantigens are unique antigens generated from gene mutations during neoplastic transformation. Each neoantigen produced represents a potential target for the host immune system to differentiate the tumor from normal tissue. However, not all neoantigens are inherently immunogenic. It is presumably a matter of chance whether the mutations a tumor acquires produce neoantigens immune system is capable of recognizing and targeting. As a consequence, in general, tumors with a higher mutational load, such as melanoma, NSCLC, and microsatellite unstable tumors, are more likely to respond to checkpoint inhibitors [12–17]. However, this is not entirely predictive as tumors with relatively lower somatic mutations (HCC, clear cell carcinoma)

have shown benefit, albeit with lower response rates, to checkpoint inhibitor therapy [18]. Checkpoint inhibitors allow the ineffective immune responses to be more effective (but there has to be an immune response to begin with), illuminating why checkpoint inhibitors are not effective in all patients.

At this time, there are five checkpoint inhibitors approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for a variety of cancers, including ipilimumab (melanoma), pembrolizumab (melanoma, non-small cell lung cancer [NSCLC], head and neck squamous cell cancer, classical Hodgkin's lymphoma [cHL], urothelial carcinoma, microsatellite instability [MSI]-high colon cancer, gastric cancer), nivolumab (melanoma, NSCLC, renal cell carcinoma [RCC], cHL, MSIhigh colon cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma [HCC]), atezolizumab (urothelial carcinoma, NSCLC), avelumab (Merkel cell carcinoma [MCC], urothelial carcinoma), and durvalumab (urothelial carcinoma) [19].

6.3 Cytotoxic T-Lymphocyte-Associated Antigen-4 (CTLA-4): The First Checkpoint Pathway to Demonstrate Clinical Benefit

Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 (CTLA-4, CD152) was the first recognized inhibitory immune checkpoint molecule [20, 21]. CTLA-4 is the target of the first FDA-approved checkpoint-targeting drug, ipilimumab. During the development of CTLA-4 blocking monoclonal antibodies (mAb), much has been learned about dosing, toxicity, combination therapy, and tumor response that are now and will continue to be useful as other immune checkpoint therapies are developed.

6.3.1 CTLA-4 Function

When CTLA-4 (CD152) was first reported in 1987, it was presumed to play a role in controlling T-cell activation given its close sequence homology with CD28, its proximity to CD28 on chromosome 1, and its expression on cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) coinciding with T-cell activation [20]. The first CTLA-4^{-/-} knockout mice, created in the mid-1990s, confirmed that CTLA-4 played a key role in T-cell homeostasis as the mice quickly succumbed to polyclonal lymphoproliferative disease characterized by massive expansion of activated T cells [22]. Since then, it has become clear that CTLA-4 functions as a negative counterpart to CD28, the required costimulatory signal for the activation and expansion of T cells.

For T lymphocytes to be activated, an antigenspecific T-cell receptor (TCR) must bind to an MHC complex containing the appropriate peptide in its binding grove. While this is necessary, it is not sufficient to complete activation. A number of additional regulatory pathways have since been elucidated that closely control T-cell activation to ensure appropriate, directed immune responses under normal circumstances. Among these pathways, co-stimulation with CD28 (on the T cell) binding to B7-1 (CD80) or B7-2 (CD86) on the antigen-presenting cell (APC) is perhaps the most important and best known. B7-1 and B7-2 are expressed on APCs and are typically upregulated after activation [23, 24].

As a competitively binding counterpart to CD28, CTLA-4 is an inhibitory checkpoint molecule expressed on activated T cells and constitutively expressed on regulatory T cells (Treg) [21]. After TCR-antigen-mediated activation of T lymphocytes, expression of CTLA-4 on the cell membrane increases dramatically. CLTA-4 suppresses immune activation through multiple pathways, and the relative importance of each in overall immune homeostasis and in diseaserelated autoimmunity and immune suppression is not clear [25].

The CTLA-4 receptor controls effector T-lymphocyte activation by competitive binding with CD28 as well as through internal and external signaling. CTLA-4 binds the same ligands as CD28 (B7-1 and B7-2) but with 20 to 100 times greater avidity and can accommodate two ligands, whereas CD28 can only bind one [26–28]. CTLA-4 appears to blunt T-cell responses by not only competitively binding the CD28 ligands, B7-1 and B7-2, but also by recepdecreasing production of IL-2, limiting T-cell dwell time, and enhancing Treg function, among other mechanisms [29]. There is evidence that competitive binding of B7-1 and B7-2 by CTLA-4 remains the most important function in counteracting CD28-mediated T-cell stimulation, as treatment of CLTA-4-deficient mouse models with CTLA-4-immunoglobulin fusion protein (CLTA-4Ig) can abrogate the lymphoproliferative autoimmunity which would otherwise be fatal [30]. Additionally, the singular importance of B7-1 and B7-2 in these pathways is demonstrated by the fact that mice deficient in CTLA-4 as well as B7-1 and B7-2 do not demonstrate lymphoproliferative autoimmunity [31]. Unlike CD28, which has some level of constitu-

tive expression on most T cells, CTLA-4 is only

expressed in significant quantity on effector T cells after activation. CTLA-4 reaches a maximal expression level as long as 48 h after the T cell is activated serving as a negative feedback loop to turn off or prevent an overly robust immune response as well as to prevent autoimmunity (Fig. 6.2) [27, 32].

In addition to directly and indirectly inhibiting effector T-lymphocyte activation and proliferation, CTLA-4 interacts with Tregs in a manner important to its overall function. As previously stated, CTLA-4 is expressed at some constitutive level on Treg cells, and higher levels of expression may be rapidly mobilized from an intracellular source [25]. The exact role that Treg-mediated immune suppression plays in the overall context of CTLA-mediated immune control is not entirely clear. There is evidence from



Fig. 6.2 Mechanism of action of CTLA-4 in suppressing activated T cells and proposed mechanism of action for ipilimumab

lymphocytes treated with anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) in vitro, which suggests that CTLA-4 blockade mediates the immune system by both direct activation of effector T lymphocytes and Treg depletion, dependent on the mAb subtype and its ability to stimulate antibodydependent cytotoxicity (ADCC) [33, 34].

The important role of CTLA-4 in Treg homeostasis and immune control has become clear in multiple experiments. Treg-mediated CLTA-4 inhibits B7-1 and B7-2 expression on dendritic cells [35]. Murine models with CTLA-4-deficient CD4⁺ FOXP3⁺ (Treg) lymphocytes developed lymphoproliferative disease [35]. Additionally, CTLA-4 plays an active role in Treg homeostasis as blocking the receptor with anti-CTLA-4 mAbs leads to a rapid proliferation in peripheral Treg cells [36–38]. This action is thought to be due to CTLA-4 counteraction against CD28-stimulated proliferation of Tregs as blocking both CTLA-4 and CD28 leads to a contraction in the peripheral Treg population [24, 36]. However, expansion of Tregs with CTLA-4 blockade does not appear to lead to increased Treg function [39]. Similarly, in murine organ transplant models, deficiency of CD28 or both B7-1 and B7-2 leads to a significant decrease in the Treg population; however, the mice get paradoxical acceleration of graft rejection inversely proportional to the Treg level [39].

As work progresses in deciphering the mechanisms of the CTLA-4 receptor's complex interplay within broader immune homeostasis, the CTLA-4 receptor remains an active target of investigation for modulating the immune system for therapeutic purposes. The identified roles that CTLA-4 plays in human disease are substantial and ever-growing. There is evidence that CTLA-4 polymorphisms plays a role in autoimmune conditions such as type 1 diabetes, thyroiditis autoimmune hypothyroidism, and Graves' disease [40–43].

6.3.2 Tremelimumab

Tremelimumab (formerly CP-675, 206, ticilimumab, previously licensed to Pfizer, New York, NY, now licensed to AstraZeneca, London, UK) is another humanized anti-CTLA-4 mAb that has been evaluated in human clinical trials [29, 44]. Tremelimumab is an IgG2 antibody that, similar to ipilimumab, blocks the binding site of CLTA-4. It has a longer half-life of approximately 22 days compared to 12–14 days for ipilimumab [44]. In vitro testing of tremelimumab revealed enhanced T-cell activation, demonstrated by increased cytokine production. Based on this, as well as initial experience with ipilimumab, the drug proceeded with human trials.

The first dose escalation phase I trial of tremelimumab enrolled metastatic melanoma (n = 34), renal cell carcinoma (n = 4), and colon cancer patients (n = 1). The trial did note dose-limiting autoimmune toxicity, but determined that the drug was tolerated up to 15 mg/kg in a single dose. The trial also noted complete or partial response in 4 of the 29 patients with measurable melanoma [45]. Ongoing evaluation of tremelimumab is occurring in a phase II hepatocellular carcinoma study in combination with durvalumab (NCT02519348).

A phase I/II trial further evaluated dosing in metastatic melanoma patients and recommended dosing at 15 mg/kg every 3 months for further study given equivalent efficacy and better safety to more frequent dosing [46]. A subsequent single-arm, phase II trial of tremelimumab was conducted in 251 patients with relapsed or refractory metastatic melanoma. Patients were treated with tremelimumab at 15 mg/kg every 90 days (as recommended in the previous trial) for 4 doses and allowed up to 4 additional doses in patients with a tumor response or stable disease. The trial revealed an objective response rate of 6.6%. The trial reported an overall OS of 10.0 months, which is comparable with what was found in the previously described phase III trial of ipilimumab in similar patients. Serious adverse events (\geq grade 3) were seen in 21% of patients [47].

The phase III trial of tremelimumab monotherapy in treatment-naïve unresectable stage III or stage IV melanoma began enrolling in March 2006. Patients were randomized to receive tremelimumab at 15 mg/kg every 90 days until symptomatic disease progression or standard-of-care chemotherapy (temozolomide or dacarbazine) for 12 weeks or until disease progression. The primary end-point was OS. The trial was terminated by the data safety monitoring board at the second interim analysis (after two-thirds of planned events had occurred) because the test statistic crossed the prespecified futility boundary [48]. Survival follow-up continued after the trial was stopped. At final analysis, the median overall survival was 12.6 months in the tremelimumab arm compared to 10.7 months in the chemotherapy arm (p = 0.127). Objective response rates were similar in both arms (10.7% vs. 9.8%, respectively). Grade 3 or 4 adverse events occurred in 52% of tremelimumab patients compared to 37% of chemotherapy patients [49]. More recent work has suggested that the lack of tremelimumab efficacy may stem from the fact that it is an IgG2 isotype mAb, thus less able to produce reduction in intratumoral Tregs than ipilimumab, an IgG1 mAb [34]. Despite its lack of proven effect in this trial, tremelimumab remains under active investigation in other patient populations (discussed further below).

6.3.3 Toxicity

As previously described, CTLA-4 blocking antibodies can lead to unique, immunologic toxicities termed "immune-related adverse events" (irAEs) through nonspecific activation of the immune system. While the majority of these are minor and manageable, they occur relatively frequently, particularly at higher doses and can be severe. In the first phase III trial of ipilimumab, with treatment at 3 mg/kg, 14 patients (2.1%)receiving ipilimumab died from causes deemed treatment-related, with 7 of the deaths were from irAEs [50]. In a pooled analysis of 325 patients treated with ipilimumab at 10 mg/kg every 3 weeks for 4 doses, 72.3% experienced irAEs and 25.2% were \geq grade 3 [51]. In the phase III trial combining ipilimumab with dacarbazine for treatment naïve melanoma, 56.3% of patients in the combination arm experienced grade 3 or 4 adverse events. The most frequent irAEs are of the skin, gastrointestinal tract, liver, and endocrine system. These adverse events tend to occur at predictable times after receiving CTLA-4 blocking antibodies [51].

Skin toxicity is the most frequent irAE in some series, with roughly half of the patients receiving ipilimumab experiencing some form of rash. The rashes can typically be managed with symptom control and topical medication until they become more severe when systemic steroids and/or withholding or discontinuing treatment may be necessary. There are rare reported cases of toxic epidermal necrolysis that have been fatal [52].

Diarrhea is another frequent adverse event seen in CTLA-4 blockade treatment, occurring in between 32.8% and 51% of patients in phase III trials of ipilimumab and tremelimumab [49, 50, 53]. Severe diarrhea, colitis, and perforation are less common but can occur. Like skin toxicity, initial management is symptomatic. A high degree of suspicion for colitis with a low threshold for endoscopic evaluation is necessary for more severe (≥grade 2) diarrhea. The diagnosis of colitis or grade 3 or higher diarrhea necessitates more aggressive treatment with fluid replacement, systemic steroids, and treatment cessation. Infliximab treatment has been effective for severe colitis. A high index of suspicion for perforation with involvement of gastroenterology and surgery is also warranted in these cases [52].

Hepatotoxicity is seen less frequently (3-9%) with CTLA-4 blocking antibodies but can be severe. In general, liver function tests should be followed during treatment, and \geq grade 3 hepatotoxicity requires systemic treatment with systemic steroids and occasionally mycophenolate mofetil along with drug cessation [51].

Endocrine toxicities consist of hypophysitis frequently, autoimmune thyroid and, less dysfunction and adrenal insufficiency. Hypophysitis appears to occur in less than 5% of cases but typically has permanent sequelae and can lead to life-threatening adrenal insufficiency if not properly recognized and managed. Suspicion for hypophysitis should lead to pituitary MRI and laboratory testing. Treatment consists of systemic steroids and withholding CTLA-4 blocking treatment. Monitoring of serum chemistries and thyroid function panels is recommended with ipilimumab treatment [54].

Other less frequent irAEs seen with CTLA-4 blocking therapies include episcleritis, uveitis, pancreatitis, neuropathies, and lymphadenopathy. Screening for a history of autoimmune disease and consideration of risk factors and expected benefits are recommended given the potential for serious toxicity with CTLA-4 blocking antibodies. National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines recommend participation in a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (REMS) program when using ipilimumab [55].

Interestingly, multiple phase I and II trials of ipilimumab have noted a higher rate of clinical response in patients with irAEs and, in particular, grade 3 and 4 irAEs [52, 56–62]. A similar correlation was not addressed in the phase III trials of CLTA-4 blockade antibodies, and further evaluation may help clarify this as well as the underlying mechanisms.

6.4 Programmed Death 1 (PD-1) Pathway

6.4.1 Function

Programmed death 1 (PD-1) is a more recently discovered immune checkpoint receptor that has generated considerable excitement based on favorable preclinical profiling and initial clinical results. PD-1 was first discovered in 1992 by subtractive mRNA hybridization in an attempt to identify genes involved in programmed cell death [63]. Its protein structure was deduced based on the mRNA sequence obtained; however, its function remained unclear until PD1^{-/-} knockout mice were noted to develop lupus-like autoimmune disease [64]. At that time, it was correctly suspected that PD-1 played a role in inducing peripheral tolerance.

Since its discovery, the function and significance of PD-1 has become more clear [65]. Like CTLA-4, PD-1 is a transmembrane protein expressed on effector immune cells [66]. Also like CTLA-4, expression of PD-1 is inducibly expressed with lymphocyte activation, although it is expressed more broadly than CTLA-4 as it is also found on activated B lymphocytes and NK cells [67–69]. PD-1 is bound principally by programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1, B7-H1) but also, to a lesser degree, by programmed death ligand 2 (PD-L2, B7-DC) [70]. PD-L1 is constitutively expressed in certain tissues such as lung and placental macrophages [71]. Its high level of expression in the placenta has been implicated in mediating maternofetal tolerance [72, 73]. PD-L1 expression can also be induced on a broad range of hematopoietic, endothelial, and epithelial tissues in response to proinflammatory cytokines, such as interferon, GM-CSF, IL-4, and IL-19 [67, 74–77]. PD-L2 expression is more limited as it is inducibly expressed on dendritic cells, macrophages, and mast cells [71].

The PD-1 receptor pathway is an important negative regulator of the immune system. PD-1 appears to play a role primarily in dampening immune response in the setting of peripheral inflammation as opposed to CTLA-4, which plays a greater role in regulating T-cell activation [71]. As mentioned before, PD-1 knockout mice helped initially reveal the function of PD-1. The initial B6-PD-1^{-/-}congenic mice developed varying degrees of autoimmune arthritis and glomerulonephritis by 6 months of age and exaggerated inflammatory response to infection, in contrast to CTLA-4 knockout mice who die of diffuse lymphoproliferative disease shortly after birth [22, 64, 78]. Remarkably, later PD-1^{-/-} knockout (BALB/c-PD-1-/mouse models and MLR-PD-1-/-) developed fatal autoimmune dilated cardiomyopathy early in life due to production of autoantibodies [79, 80]. In contrast, mice deficient in PD-L1 do not manifest autoimmunity, but can have increased accumulation of CD8⁺ lymphocytes in the liver and increased tissue destruction with experimental autoimmune hepatitis [81].

Ligation of PD-1, which again is found primarily on immunologic cells, counters CD28mediated signaling through multiple mechanisms. PD-1 is phosphorylated upon ligand engagement, initiating a cascade of intracellular events [82, 83]. PD-1 signaling decreases the production of several proinflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , and IL-2 [71]. It may also serve to retard cell activation mediated via CD28 and IL-2. PD-1 ligation has also been implicated in inhibiting transcription factors and initiation of several cell death pathways [84–86]. Importantly, PD-1 and its ligands also appear to play a role in shifting lymphocyte response from activation to tolerance when exposed to antigens, an attribute that is particularly significant for cancer immunotherapy [87]. Interestingly, PD-L1 was discovered to function not only as a ligand for PD-1 but also as a receptor bound by B7-1 (CD80) capable of delivering an inhibitory signal [88]. This finding not only demonstrates the complexity of lymphocyte regulation but suggests that blockade of these molecules could result in functionally different outcomes [78].

The PD-1 and PD-L pathways have been implicated in a variety of human diseases. Higher than normal expression levels of PD-1 and single nucleotide polymorphisms of PD-1 have been implicated in multiple autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus, Sjogren's disease, type 1 diabetes, and rheumatoid arthritis. As such, this pathway remains an active therapeutic target in these conditions [65]. In infectious diseases, the PD-1 and PD-L pathways play an important role in preventing unnecessary immune-mediated tissue destruction and have also been implicated in preventing the clearance of chronic viral, bacterial, and parasitic infections [71, 89].

6.4.2 PD-1 Pathway in Cancer

Just as the PD-1 pathway plays a central role in tolerance of chronic infections, it also appears to have a primary role in cancer tolerance and immune escape. PD-1 ligand expression, particularly of PD-L1 expression, has been demonstrated at various levels on a large variety of human cancer tissues. Higher expression of PD-L1 on tumor cells is associated with worse prognosis, more aggressive features, and/or resistance to immunotherapy in the large majority of cancers in which it has been characterized [90– 101]. However, in some cases higher expression appears to have little influence on prognosis, as was found in NSCLC, and has even been associated with a more favorable prognosis, as found in colorectal cancer without mismatch repair (MMR) deficiency [102, 103]. CD8⁺ tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (CD8+ TILs) have been noted to have high levels of PD-1 expression in many cases; nonetheless, correlation between PD-L expression and prognosis is mixed [97, 102, 104, 105]. Circulating NK cells in cancer patients have been noted to express PD-1, while healthy control NK cells do not [106]. Furthermore, preclinical data demonstrates that increasing tumor expression of PD-L1 makes it less susceptible to immunotherapy, while blocking it increases its vulnerability to immunemediated destruction [107-110].

Some of the differences observed in tumor PD-L1 expression and correlation with cancer prognosis may be due to tumor-host interaction. Two recent studies examining human melanocytic lesions and colorectal cancer found a strong positive correlation between tumor PD-L1 expression and patient survival, in contrast to the majority of tissue types previously examined. However, in addition to this, higher PD-L1 expression was associated with both increased tumor infiltrating lymphocytes and interferon gamma (INF- γ) levels or gene expression in the tumor microenvironment [103, 111]. In these cases, the higher levels of PD-L1 expression may be in response to INF- γ signaling, as observed in normal human tissue [112, 113]. Thus, upregulation of PD-L1 expression may represent an adaptive tumor response to tumorspecific immunity, termed "adaptive resistance." [111, 114] The effective host immune response may explain the more favorable outcomes observed in these patients. Other evidence implicates different transcriptionally related oncogenic pathways in the upregulation of PD-1, which may or may not be related to external inflammatory signaling [92]. The adaptive resistance hypothesis may help further explain how tumors are able to escape immune stimulation from active immunotherapy and lead to blockade of the PD-1 pathway of particular therapeutic interest.

6.4.3 PD-1 Blockade

In preclinical studies with murine cancer models, anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 blockade demonstrated antitumor effect as monotherapy and augmented the effects when given comitant with cancer vaccination [115–120]. Similarly, ex vivo blockade of PD-1 or PD-L1 improved the ability of human lymphocytic function against tumor tissue in multiple studies [107, 121–123]. Based on the functional importance of PD-1 in cancer as well as promising preclinical therapeutic results, several blocking mAbs have proceeded to human clinical trials.

6.4.4 Nivolumab

Nivolumab (MDX-1106, BMS-936558, Bristol-Myers Squibb, New York, NY) is a fully humanized IgG4 mAb that binds to PD-1, blocking its binding site. It was initially tested in a phase I, dose escalation trial on 296 patients with heavily pretreated advanced melanoma (n = 104), colorectal cancer (n = 19), CRPC (n = 17), NSCLC (n = 122), and renal cell carcinoma (n = 34). Nivolumab was given at 0.3, 1, 3, or 10 mg/kg in six patient cohorts followed by expansion cohorts at 10 mg/kg. Patients were initially given a single dose and allowed additional doses if they demonstrated clinical benefit; however, the trial transitioned into a phase Ib where patients were dosed every 2 weeks and reassessed every 8 weeks. Treatment was continued for up to 96 weeks or until disease progression or complete response. Overall, treatment with nivolumab was better tolerated than treatment with CTLA-4 blocking antibodies with no maximum tolerated dose achieved. Only 14% experienced serious $(\geq$ grade 3) drug toxicity, leading to the discontinuation of therapy in only 5%. There were drugrelated adverse events in 41% and serious drug-related adverse events in 6% of patients that were likely irAEs, including pneumonitis, diarrhea, colitis, hepatitis, hypophysitis, and vitiligo. Pneumonitis, which occurred in 3% of patients, is of special interest, since it was not typically seen with CTLA-4 blocking mAbs and led to only three treatment-related deaths [124]. This toxicity may be secondary to constitutive expression of PD-L1 in alveolar macrophages.

Nivolumab treatment demonstrated substantial antitumor effect, with partial or complete responses (by RECIST criteria) observed in patients with melanoma, NSCLC, and renal cell carcinoma but not colorectal cancer or CRPC. Responses were observed across various doses at rates of 19–41% in melanoma, 6–32% in NSCLC, and 24–31% in renal cell carcinoma. One patient with melanoma and one with renal cell carcinoma had complete response to treatment. Responses tended to be durable with over half of melanoma and renal cell responses lasting for greater than 1 year. In addition, disease stability and mixed response (as described in irRC) were observed in a substantial portion of patients. Further analysis of PD-L1 expression from 61 patients who had pretreatment specimens available demonstrated an objective response in 36% of tumors expressing PD-L1 and none in PD-L1negative tumors [124].

This data raises the possibility that PD-L1 could serve as a biomarker for response to therapy, an idea that is being actively investigated. PD-L1 has been shown to be a prognostic biomarker in the tumor cells of head and neck squamous cell cancer [125]; however, a recent review indicates that PD-L1 expression alone is insufficient for patient selection for most malignancies, both as monotherapy and combination therapy [126]. Another group showed the association between the mutational load of >100 nonsynonymous somatic mutations or neoantigens and ipilimumab or tremelimumab therapy with long-term clinical benefit in patients with advanced melanoma [127]. Another study in melanoma patients showed an association between that same mutational load and clinical benefit (complete or partial response or stable disease with overall survival longer than 1 year). Interestingly, only 0.04% of the identified antigens were present in more than one patient who showed clinical benefit, suggesting that most neoantigens associated with immunotherapy success are patient specific. Most recently, however, a systematic review and meta-analysis of 6664 patients found that PD-L1 expression was predictive of favorable response across tumor types including non-small cell lung cancer, melanoma, bladder cancer, renal cell carcinoma, gastroesophageal cancer, head and neck cancer, merkel cell carcinoma, and small cell lung cancer (OR 2.26, 95% CI, 1.85–2.75, p < 0.001), with the greatest effect observed in non-small cell lung cancer, where quantitative PD-L1 testing is now recommended prior to treatment (OR 2.51, 95% CI 1.99–3.17, p < 0.001) [12, 127].

Nivolumab has now been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for use in humans in multiple cancer types. It was first approved in 2014 for patients with unresectable or metastatic melanoma and disease progression following ipilimumab and a BRAF inhibitor if applicable. Approximately 1 year later, nivolumab was approved for metastatic squamous and nonsquamous NSCLC with progression on or after platinum-based chemotherapy, unresectable or metastatic melanoma in combination with ipilimumab in BRAF V600 wild-type patients, and renal cell carcinoma in patients who received prior antiangiogenic therapy. In 2016, approval was granted for classical Hodgkin lymphoma (cHL) that progressed after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation and recurrent or metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma that progressed on or after platinum-based chemotherapy. To date, additional approvals have been granted in locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma on or following platinum-based chemotherapy, adult and pediatric microsatellite high (MSI-H) or mismatch repair-deficient metastatic colon cancer that has progressed following chemotherapy, and HCC in patients previously treated with sorafenib [17, 19, 128–134].

6.4.5 Pembrolizumab

Pembrolizumab (Keytruda, Merck, Whitehouse Station, NJ) is a humanized monoclonal antibody that binds to PD-1 and blocks interaction with PD-L1 and PD-L2. At this time, it is FDA approved in patients with unresectable or metastatic melanoma, select NSCLC, recurrent head and neck squamous cancer, refractory cHL, locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma, and select gastric cancers. Most notably, pembrolizumab has received a broad indication for all adults and pediatric MSI-H or mismatch repair deficient solid tumors who have progressed following prior treatment, and colorectal cancer that has progressed following chemotherapy.

Deserving special mention is the first-of-itskind MSI-H, and mismatch repair deficient (dMMR) indication was obtained in five uncontrolled, open-label, multi-cohort, multicenter, single-arm trials⁴⁵, known respectively as KEYNOTE-016, -164, -012, -028, -158. A total of 149 MSI-H or dMMR patients met inclusion criteria, and 98% had metastatic disease. Most had received two or more prior therapies. Patients received either 200 mg every 3 weeks or 10 mg/kg every 2 weeks. The majority (60%) of patients had colorectal cancer, and the remainder consisted of multiple solid tumors most commonly endometrial, biliary, and gastric/GE junction tumors. The overall response rate was 39.6% (95% CI 31.7-47.9), with 78% of patients demonstrating a durable response at 6 months [19, 135-140].

6.4.6 PD-L1 Blockade

Initial results of the PD-1 pathway blockade are very encouraging. The findings of objective clinical responses of up to 41% of subgroups of patients with nivolumab and relatively high response rates in NSCLC, a disease historically resistant to immunotherapy, are unprecedented in cancer immunotherapy. Additionally, lower rates of toxicity, in particular, serious irAEs, compared to CTLA-4 blockade have given hope that this pathway will yield more widely applicable and bettertolerated therapies. Much work remains and is currently in progress to bring these therapies into general clinical use. Determination of optimal dosing, duration of treatment, and the subsets of patients who benefit from treatment are all underway. As with CLTA-4 blockade, preclinical data supports a possible synergistic effect when PD-1 pathway blockade is combined with other cancer

treatments such as chemotherapy, radiation, and immunotherapy; this deserves and is receiving further investigation [107, 119, 121, 141]. As these investigations move forward, one area of particular interest will be whether PD-L1 expression on tumors continues to serve as a reliable biomarker for predicted therapeutic benefit, thus increasing the ever-growing trend of more personalized, tailored treatment for individual tumors.

6.4.7 Atezolizumab

Atezolizumab is an Fc-engineered, humanized, monoclonal antibody that binds to PD-L1, blocking its interaction with PD-1 and B7-1 receptors. It is now FDA approved in patients with unresectable or metastatic urothelial carcinoma who are not eligible for platinum-based chemotherapy or who progressed on such therapy and metastatic NSCLC with progression on or after platinumbased chemotherapy. The urothelial carcinoma indication was granted accelerated approval in 2015 based on early-phase results in 310 patients who had disease progression after platinumbased therapy. Compared to historical controls with a 10% overall response rate, an objective response rate of 15% with a median follow-up of 11.7 months was achieved. In addition, increased levels of PD-L1 expression on immune cells were associated with increased response [142–145].

NSCLC approval was based on two randomized, open-label clinical trials (POPLAR and OAK) where atezolizumab 1200 mg IV every 3 weeks was compared with docetaxel and an overall survival benefit of 2.9 months in POPLAR at a median survival of 12.6 months and 4.2 months in OAK at a median survival of 13.8 months [144, 146].

6.4.8 Durvalumab

Durvalumab (MEDI-4736) was recently approved for locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma who progressed after platinum-based chemotherapy. It was approved under accelerated approval based on a phase I/II open-label study in 182 patients who had disease progression on or after platinum-based chemotherapy and received durvalumab 10 mg/kg IV every 2 weeks for 12 weeks. 31 patients (17%) demonstrated clinical responses, with 5 complete responses at a median follow-up of 5.6 months [147].

Additional approval has been granted for patients with unresectable stage III NSCLC without disease progression following platinumbased chemotherapy and radiation. This approval was granted based on the PACIFIC study, a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled study enrolling 713 patients who had completed at least two cycles of platinum-based chemotherapy and definitive radiation. Patients who received durvalumab demonstrated a statistically significant overall response rate of 28.4% compared to 16% in the placebo group (p < 0.001), with a longer median duration of response in the durvalumab group (72.8% vs. 46.8% had an ongoing response at 18 months post-randomization). Median progression-free survival was 16.8 months for durvalumab versus 5.6 months for placebo (95% CI 4.7–7.8) [148].

6.4.9 Avelumab

Avelumab is another PD-L1 blocking antibody that received accelerated FDA approval in 2017 for metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma in adults and children age 12 and older. This approval was granted based on a prospective, open-label, phase II trial in patients with stage IV, chemotherapyrefractive Merkel cell carcinoma who were given avelumab 10 mg/kg every 2 weeks. 88 patients received at least one dose, and 28 (32%) patients achieved an objective response (20 partial, 8 complete) at a median follow-up of 10.4 months [149, 150].

6.5 Immune-Related Response Criteria

Initial WHO response criteria and later RECIST criteria, which have undergone many revisions over the years, were developed to identify and

	Word Health Organization (WHO)	Immune-related response criteria (irRC)
CR	Disappearance of all lesions in two observations at least 4 weeks apart	Disappearance of all lesions in two observations at least 4 weeks apart
PR	≥50% decrease in SPD of all index lesions in the absence of progression of nonindex lesions or new lesions in two observations at least 2 weeks apart	≥50% decrease in total tumor burden in two observations at least 4 weeks apart
SD	<50% decrease compared to baseline and <25% increase compared to nadir measurements of the SPD of index lesions, in the absence of progression of nonindex lesions or new lesions	<50 decrease compared to baseline and <25% increase compared to nadir
PD	≥25% increase in SPD compared with nadir or progressions of nonindex lesions or appearance of new lesions	≥25% increase in tumor burden compared to nadir in two observations at least 4 weeks apart

 Table 6.1
 Comparison of World Health Organization (WHO) and immune-related response criteria (irRC) for tumor response

CR complete response, *PR* partial response, *SD* stable disease, *PD* progressive disease, *SPD* sum of the products of the largest dimensions of lesions

standardize definitions of tumors responsive to cytotoxic therapy and not as a surrogate for survival [151]. They have been used in early phase clinical trials as a surrogate for response to therapy. The use of these criteria assumes that tumors will shrink or stabilize at the outset of therapy. Tumor growth or the appearance of new metastases constitutes progressive disease and, therefore, lack of response. In immunotherapy trials, including those evaluating ipilimumab, it has been shown that tumors often progress or remain stable before responding, therefore making RECIST criteria less helpful in predicting treatment response. Based on these observations, new immune-related response criteria (irRC) were proposed (Table 6.1). The new criteria do not necessarily consider the appearance of new lesions or growth of isolated lesions as progressive disease but, instead, consider overall tumor burden. Based on retrospective observations of 487 metastatic melanoma patients in three phase II trials of ipilimumab at 10 mg/kg dosing, 9.7% of treated patients initially classified as progressive disease under WHO criteria later had evidence of response to therapy. In retrospective reclassification by irRC, response to therapy appears to correlate better with overall survival than WHO criteria [152]. Immunerelated response criteria have been used alongside WHO criteria in multiple ipilimumab trials since it was first introduced [153, 154]. Further prospective validation will be needed to determine to what degree it correlates with overall survival.

6.6 CTLA-4 Blockade Monotherapy

Two mAbs, ipilimumab and tremelimumab, were developed in parallel. The therapies underwent phase III trials that ultimately led to approval for ipilimumab for treating metastatic melanoma and showed disappointing results for tremelimumab.

6.6.1 Ipilimumab

Based on the work in murine models, fully humanized IgG1 CTLA-4 mAbs were created by Medarex Inc. (Princeton, NJ; purchased by Bristol-Myers Squibb, New York, NY, in 2009) using a transgenic hybridoma HuMAb mouse model. The proprietary mouse model has multiple genetic modifications designed to facilitate production of high-avidity human IgG mAbs [155]. The mAb used for initial in vivo testing was selected based on affinity and specificity for CTLA-4 as well as ability to block the binding site. The antibody, called 10D1 (later designated MDX-010 and ipilimumab), also had crossreactivity with macaques monkey CTLA-4. It was initially tested in this setting where it was shown to increase antibody response to hepatitis

surface antigen as well as a human melanoma cell vaccine. Additionally, the macaques did not demonstrate polycolonal T-cell activation or autoimmunity [156]. Based on this work, ipilim-umab proceeded with human trials.

6.6.1.1 Ipilimumab in Uveal Melanoma

Uveal melanoma is a rare cancer that, like cutaneous melanoma, shares melanocyes as the cell of origin but has different pathogenesis and clinical behavior. Similar to melanoma, it has a very poor prognosis when it has metastasized (typically to the liver) and is resistant to systemic chemotherapy [156, 157]. Three open-label, multicenter, single arm phase II trials have been conducted using ipilimumab in uveal melanoma. The GEM-1 trial enrolled 32 patients treated with 10 mg/kg ipilimumab. At a median followup of 5.5 months, 13 patients had evaluable responses, with 1 having a partial response (7.7%) and 6 having stable disease (46.2%) [158].

The DeCOG treated 53 pretreated and treatment-naïve patients with metastatic uveal melanoma with ipilimumab at a dose of 3 mg/kg. Overall, they reported a relatively disappointing median progression-free survival (2.8 months) and overall survival (6.8 months) [159].(NCT01585194). The GEM-1402 trial is a phase I/II trial looking at ipilimumab in combination with nivolumab in the adjuvant setting for high-risk uveal melanoma after completion of standard treatment. In an interim analysis, it showed progression-free survival of 4.99 months at a median follow-up of 4.6 months (NCT02626962).

6.6.2 Phase III Trials of Checkpoint Inhibitors in Melanoma

The first phase III study of ipilimumab, sponsored by Bristol-Meyers Squibb, began enrolling patients in September 2004. The trial enrolled 676 HLA-A*0201⁺ patients with pretreated, unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. The patients were randomized 3:1:1 to receive either

ipilimumab with gp100 peptide vaccine, ipilimumab alone, or gp100 alone. The gp100 peptide had demonstrated effectiveness in previous phase II trials in melanoma, particularly when combined with ipilimumab [56–58, 160]. Ipilimumab was dosed at 3 mg/kg every 3 weeks for four doses. Patients were not routinely offered maintenance therapy; however, those who progressed after responding to therapy or who had stable disease after 12 weeks were allowed "reinduction" therapy. The primary endpoint of the trial was OS. The trial demonstrated an OS benefit in all patients who received ipilimumab (median OS: 10.0 months for ipilimumab with gp100, 10.0 months for ipilimumab alone, and 6.4 months for gp100 alone; p < 0.003). There was no difference in survival in patients who received ipilimumab with gp100 and those who received ipilimumab alone. There were four cases of complete responses and multiple cases of long-term disease control in patients who received ipilimumab. Approximately, 60% of patients treated with ipilimumab experienced some irAE, with the rates of serious irAEs (\geq grade 3) of 10–15% in the ipilimumab groups [50]. Of the 31 patients who met criteria for and received "reinduction" therapy (progression after complete or partial response or stable disease), 19% achieved a complete or partial response and 68% achieved disease control with similar toxicity to the original induction therapy [161]. Based on this study, ipilimumab achieved FDA approval at a dose of 3.0 mg/kg to treat unresectable stage III and stage IV melanoma.

When ipilimumab was approved for therapy, it generated considerable interest because it represented a therapeutic success for nonspecific immunostimulation, a new modality in cancer treatment. In addition to this, it raised hope for future successes for cancer immunotherapy, particularly coming on the heels of the FDA approval of another cancer immunotherapy, sipuleucel T (Provenge; Dendreon, Seattle, WA), the first therapeutic cellular immunotherapy to prove effective in phase III trials [5, 6]. It gave hope to clinicians treating and patients with metastatic melanoma, as this was the first therapy to show an overall survival benefit in a randomized, phase III trial for metastatic melanoma [162]. Significant questions remain and are currently under evaluation regarding the treatment of melanoma with ipilimumab. As discussed previously, a randomized, double-blind phase II trial comparing the dosing of ipilimumab demonstrated the superiority of 10 mg/kg dosing over 3 mg/kg dosing (used in the phase III trial and currently approved) in pretreated patients [163]. This data was not available at the initiation of the phase III trial.

The randomized, double-blind, multicenter phase III trial comparing 10 mg/kg versus 3 mg/ kg ipilimumab in 727 patients with previously untreated or previously treated unresectable stage III/IV melanoma without previous treatment with BRAF inhibitors or immune checkpoint inhibitors showed a significant overall survival advantage with 10 mg/kg therapy over 3 mg/kg therapy (15.7 vs. 11.5 months, p = 0.04). The 10 mg/kg group did demonstrate a higher frequency of treatment-related adverse events and adverse events leading to discontinuation [164].

An additional question raised by the previous trials is the duration of treatment. Many of the previous phase II trials included maintenance dosing every 3 months after completion of the "induction" phase [52, 153, 163, 165]. The phase III trial of ipilimumab monotherapy applied a somewhat different approach, using "reinduction" therapy, in which the patients were redosed every 3 weeks for four doses if they had evidence of progression after initial response to treatment. Both long-term dosing schedules appear to be well tolerated. It remains to be seen if one is clearly superior. Ipilimumab monotherapy in metastatic melanoma has largely been replaced by combination therapy of ipilimumab with PD-1 inhibitors pembrolizumab and nivolumab. Phase III data for pembrolizumab was obtained in the KEYNOTE-006 study, in which 834 ipilimumabnaïve patients with advanced melanoma were randomized 1:1:1 to receive pembrolizumab 10 mg/kg every 2 weeks or 3 weeks or four doses of ipilimumab 3 mg/kg every 3 weeks. In the final analysis, pembrolizumab in both dosages provided a superior overall survival to ipilimumab at a median follow-up of 22.9 months.

Median overall survival was not reached in either pembrolizumab group and was 16 months in the ipilimumab group. Twenty-four month overall survival was 55% in both the 2 and 3 weeks pembrolizumab dosing group and 43% in the ipilimumab group [138, 166]. In addition, patient-reported health-related quality-of-life scores were superior for patients who received pembrolizumab [167].

Nivolumab was evaluated in a phase III trial in ipilimumab-refractory melanoma patients who had unresectable or metastatic disease, comparing nivolumab to the investigator's choice of chemotherapy. In an analysis after 120 patients were enrolled in the nivolumab arm, there was an objective response rate of 31.7% (95% CI 23.5– 40.8%) in the nivolumab arm versus 10.6% (95% CI 3.5–23.1%) in the chemotherapy arm. Additionally, nivolumab was associated with fewer toxic effects than chemotherapy [132].

Another study, known as CheckMate-066, examined untreated patients in a phase III study in previously untreated melanoma patients without a BRAF mutation and compared nivolumab with dacarbazine. Nivolumab was associated with improved overall survival at 1 year (72.9% vs. 42.1% respectively, p < 0.001) and progression-free survival (median 5.1 vs. 2.2 months, respectively, p < 0.001) [134].

6.6.3 Adjuvant Checkpoint Inhibitors

Ipilimumab was first approved as adjuvant therapy for melanoma due to results from a doubleblind, phase III trial in patients with stage III cutaneous melanoma after resection, who received 10 mg/kg ipilimumab or placebo every 3 weeks for four doses and then every 3 months for up to 3 years.

951 patients were randomized, and median recurrence-free survival was 26.1 months (95% CI 19.3–39.3) in the ipilimumab group vs. 17.1 months (95% CI 13.4–21.6) in the placebo group. In patients who received ipilimumab, 52% discontinued therapy due to adverse events, most commonly gastrointestinal, hepatic, and endocrine [168].

Ipilimumab (10 mg/kg) was compared to nivolumab (3 mg/kg) in resected stage IIIB/IIIC/ IV melanoma patients. 12-month recurrence-free survival was 70.5% (95% CI 66.1–74.5%) in the nivolumab group versus 60.8% (95% CI 56.0– 65.2%) in the ipilimumab group. Grades 3 and 4 treatment-related adverse events were significantly worse in the ipilimumab group (45.9% vs. 14.4% in the nivolumab group), with two deaths in the ipilimumab group. The hazard ratio for death or recurrence favored nivolumab over ipilimumab (HR 0.65, 0.51–0.83, P < 0.001) [169].

Pembrolizumab was evaluated in a phase III double-blind trial in patients with completely resected stage III melanoma. Patients were randomized to receive either 200 mg pembrolizumab IV every 3 weeks for 18 doses or placebo. Pembrolizumab was associated with significantly longer recurrence-free survival at 1 year, 75.4% (95% CI 71.3–78.9) versus 61.0% (56.5–65.1) for placebo. Grades 3–5 trial-related adverse events were reported in 14.7% that received pembrolizumab compared to 3.4% in the placebo group [170].

Combination therapy involving checkpoint inhibitors is an active area of study. Recently, improved survival was observed using ipilimumab in combination with nivolumab in latestage melanoma [129]. This will be covered in more detail in a later section.

6.7 Checkpoint Inhibitors as Combination Therapy

While CTLA-4 blockade, specifically ipilimumab, has found success as monotherapy in metastatic melanoma, and more trials are underway to test its effectiveness in a variety of malignancies and different clinical scenarios, its greatest potential may lie in combining it with other antineoplastic agents. The hope is that by combining CTLA-4 blocking therapy with other antineoplastic therapies that carry different toxicity profiles, a synergistic effect of the agents will be achieved. Recognizing these issues, researchers have been actively pursuing combination therapy with CTLA-4 blockade since its inception. The primary areas of research focus on combining CTLA-4 blockade with chemotherapy, radiation, surgery, and other immunotherapy.

6.7.1 Checkpoint Inhibitors and Chemotherapy

Given the known immunosuppressive effects of most chemotherapeutic agents, it has been thought that combining chemotherapy with immunotherapy would be unsuccessful. However, there is increasing evidence for a possible synergistic role between the two modalities. The immune system appears to play an important role in antitumor activity of chemotherapy, an effect which may be further augmented by immune checkpoint blockade [171, 172]. In murine models of mesothelioma, CTLA-4 blockade given between cycles of chemotherapy has been demonstrated to increase tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and inflammatory cytokines and inhibit cancer cell repopulation [173]. Additionally, chemotherapy, when given appropriately, may enhance the effect of specific immunotherapy [174]. Evidence from clinical trials reveals that combining chemotherapy with cancer vaccination can be more effective than either therapy alone [175–177]. The mechanisms by which chemotherapy may increase anticancer immunity include reduction of immunosuppressive influences by decreasing tumor mass, inducing the expression of TAAs on the cell surface, exposing the immune system to TAAs through cell death, and "resetting" the immune posture through depletion of inhibitory cell populations (i.e., Tregs and myeloid-derived suppressor cells) [171]. Indeed, there is growing evidence that the success of certain chemotherapy regimens is dependent on the drug's ability to cause immunogenic cell death of tumors, where TAAs are presented in the appropriate context to elicit a broader immune response [178]. While this is a promising area for future development, clearly the timing of drug administration, chemotherapeutic regimen used, and dosing are integrally important to successful application. Highly dosed cytotoxic treatment has the

potential to quash a developing therapeutic immune response. Optimizing these factors will be necessary in future trials of combining checkpoint blockade with chemotherapy.

Clinical trials have been performed combining chemotherapy with CTLA-4 blockade. A randomized phase II trial testing the combination of chemotherapy with ipilimumab was conducted in patients with treatment-naïve metastatic melanoma. Seventy-two patients with unresectable, metastatic melanoma were randomized to receive ipilimumab at 3 mg/kg every 4 weeks for four doses with dacarbazine compared to ipilimumab monotherapy. The trial demonstrated an increased objective response rate (14.3% vs. 5.4%, by RECIST criteria) and increased median OS (14.3 vs. 11.4 months) for the combination therapy group, although neither reached statistical significance due to the smaller number of patients. Toxicity was higher in the combination group, including $17.1\% \ge$ grade 3 irAEs compared to 7.7% in the monotherapy arm [179].

Based on these results, the concept was tested in a randomized phase III trial evaluating ipilimumab with dacarbazine versus dacarbazine alone [163]. Additionally, based on the results of the phase II ipilimumab monotherapy trial that showed a benefit of higher dosing, 10 mg/kg of ipilimumab was used in combination with dacarbazine. Five hundred two patients were enrolled and randomized 1:1 to receive ipilimumab plus dacarbazine every 3 weeks for four doses followed by dacarbazine every 3 weeks until week 22 or placebo plus dacarbazine at the same schedule. Patients with stable disease or RECIST criteria objective responses were able to receive maintenance ipilimumab or placebo every 12 weeks. Of note, based on emerging consensus from previous work with CTLA-4 blockade and other immunotherapy, the primary endpoint was changed, with FDA approval, from progressionfree survival to OS prior to unblinding of the treatment groups or data analysis [152, 180]. Ultimately, the trial showed that patients who received the combination of ipilimumab with dacarbazine survived longer (11.2 months) compared to dacarbazine alone (9.2 months, p < 0.001). The difference became more

pronounced with time, as the combination arm had 20.8% of patients alive at 3 years compared to 12.2% in the chemotherapy only arm. Toxicities were greater in the combination arm and also greater than in many of the previous ipilimumab studies (56% \geq grade 3), likely secondary to the higher dose (10 mg/kg) of ipilimumab used as well as the addition of chemotherapy. Interestingly, the toxicity profile was different. There were lower rates of gastrointestinal toxicities, such as diarrhea and colitis, and endocrine toxicity but a higher rate of hepatic toxicity compared with previous ipilimumab trials. No treatment-related death was reported [53]. Differences may reflect the effect of the combination therapy; however, clinician's experience managing the drug may have affected the outcome as well. Based on the results of this study, the combination of ipilimumab and dacarbazine is approved as the first-line therapy for unresectable melanoma.

However, the potential for unanticipated toxicity exists with combining CTLA-4 blockade, particularly with other targeted therapies. Initial results from a phase I study of combination therapy with both ipilimumab (dosed at 3 mg/kg) and vemurafenib, a BRAF inhibitor approved for treatment of BRAF-V600E-mutated melanoma, demonstrated an unacceptably high level of hepatotoxicity, leading to early termination of the trial [181].

Additional trials of combination chemotherapy and ipilimumab were conducted in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and small cell lung cancer (SCLC). Advanced-stage NSCLC carries a poor prognosis with a median survival of 8-12 months despite first-line chemotherapy [172, 182]. In a phase II trial, 204 patients with stage IIIB or IV NSCLC were enrolled in a randomized, doubleblind trial of ipilimumab plus chemotherapy (paclitaxel and carboplatin) given concurrently, ipilimumab plus chemotherapy given phased with two doses of chemotherapy given prior to starting ipilimumab and chemotherapy given together, or placebo plus chemotherapy. Ipilimumab was dosed at 10 mg/kg every 3 weeks for up to 18 weeks with the option for maintenance therapy (or maintenance placebo) every 12 weeks. The primary endpoint was immune-related progression-free survival (irPFS). The concept of immune-response criteria for immunotherapy in cancer (different from classic World Health Organization RECIST criteria) came from observations with ipilimumab and other immunotherapies (discussed further below) [152]. The trial showed improved irPFS with phased ipilimumab and chemotherapy (median: 5.7 months, HR: 0.72, p = 0.05), while concurrent ipilimumab and chemotherapy did not reach statistical significance (median: 5.5 months, HR: 081, p = 0.13) compared to the regimen (median control 4.6 months). Improvement was also noted in PFS by WHO criteria (p = 0.02), and an improvement in OS by 3.9 months (p = 0.23) was observed for phased ipilimumab over chemotherapy alone. Overall toxicity was similar across the treatment arms; however, there was more severe toxicity $(\text{grade} \ge 3)$ in the combination arms. A phase III trial was conducted using phased ipilimumab and chemotherapy in patients with squamous NSCLC, the group that derived the greatest benefit in subset analyses [154]; however, the addition of ipilimumab to first-line chemotherapy consisting of paclitaxel and carboplatin did not prolong OS [183].

A similar phase II trial was conducted in patients with extensive disease-small cell lung cancer (ED-SCLC). Chemotherapy remains the first-line and only effective therapy in this disease process with a median overall survival of 8–11 months [184]. Eligible patients (n = 130) were randomized to receive concurrent therapy with ipilimumab and chemotherapy (paclitaxel and carboplatin), the phased combination, or placebo with chemotherapy. In this trial, again the phased combination of ipilimumab and chemotherapy was superior with an improvement in irPFS (median: 6.4 months, p = 0.03), while concurrent therapy did not improve irPFS (median: 5.7 months, p = 0.11), compared to the control arm (median: 5.3 months). There was no significant difference in mWHO PFS or OS. The combination of ipilimumab plus etoposide and platinum chemotherapy

versus etoposide and platinum alone has been evaluated in a phase III trial. 954 patients were randomized with no significant OS benefit (11.0 vs. 10.9 months), with increased rates of diarrhea, colitis, and rash in the ipilimumab group [185].

The combination of ipilimumab has been further studied in a phase II trial in prostate cancer. Forty-three patients with CRPC were randomized to receive either ipilimumab monotherapy at 3 mg/kg every 4 weeks for four doses or ipilimumab (dosed the same) with a single dose of docetaxel at the start of therapy. The number of responses to therapy were small with three patients having a decrease of >50% in each arm [186]. However, this study may be limited by underdosing of both the ipilimumab and docetaxel, concurrent (instead of phased) administration of the two drugs, as well as the small number of patients tested.

The combination of tremelimumab and sunitinib, an oral small-molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitor, was tested in a phase I dose escalation trial in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Unexpectedly, the trial demonstrated a high (4/28 patients) rate of sudden onset grade 3 renal failure in addition to other toxicity associated with CTLA-4 blockade. Further testing of this combination at doses of tremelimumab >6 mg/kg with sunitinib was not recommended by the study authors [187].

6.7.1.1 PD-1/PD-L1 Inhibitors and Chemotherapy

Pembrolizumab in combination with chemotherapy recently received FDA approved based on results of a double-blind phase III trial in which 616 patients with metastatic NSCLC without sensitizing EGFT or ALK mutations with no previous treatment were randomized to receive pemetrexed and a platinum-based drug plus either 200 mg pembrolizumab or placebo every 3 weeks for 4 cycles, followed by maintenance pemetrexed and pembrolizumab or placebo for 35 cycles. At a median follow-up of 10.5 months, estimated overall survival at 12 months was 69.2% (95% CI, 64.1–73.8) in the pembrolizumab group versus 49.4% (95% CI, 42.1–56.2) in the placebo group, corresponding to a hazard ratio for death of 0.49 (95% CI, 0.38–0.64, p < 0.001). In addition, progression-free survival was significantly greater in the pembrolizumab arm: 8.8 versus 4.9 months. Adverse events of grade 3 or higher were comparable between arms (67.2% for pembrolizumab vs. 65.8% for placebo) [188].

There are no current FDA indications for nivolumab in combination with chemotherapy; however, multiple clinical trials are evaluating this (NCT02477826, NCT03101566).

6.7.2 Checkpoint Inhibitors and Radiation

Much like chemotherapy, there is evidence that the local and systemic effects of radiation therapy can increase the effectiveness of immunotherapy, in general, and CTLA-4 blockade, specifically. Radiation therapy damages tumor cells that are in the path of the focused energy, which, like chemotherapy, can result in cell death and antigen cross-presentation, leading to an effective, targeted immune response toward remaining tumor cells [189]. Radiation-induced cell damage may lead to several cellular changes that promote effective presentation of TAAs such as the release of high mobility box group 1 (HMBG1), which signals migration of immune cells to the tumor microenvironment, and upregulation of MHC I complexes, Fas, and ICAM-1, all of which increase susceptibility to T-cell-mediated death [189–192]. Additionally, localized radiation does not typically produce the same level of lymphodepletion and immunosuppression associated with high-dose chemotherapy. As with chemotherapy, reduction in the mass of a viable tumor may help decrease cancer-related immunosuppression. All of these factors make the combination of radiation with immunotherapy appealing [193]. The concept of combining radiation with immune checkpoint blockade is particularly attractive. Unlike more specific, directed immunotherapy (cancer vaccines), CTLA-4 blockade helps overcome cancer immunosuppression, but ultimately relies on the body's preexisting immunity toward a neoplasm. Radiation, by damaging cancer cells and releasing a wide array of TAAs in an inflammatory context, especially with immunosuppression checked, may allow the immune system to mount a response that is appropriate both for the individual and the tumor.

There is considerable preclinical data that supports the combination of CTLA-4 blockade and radiation. In one study, a mouse model of poorly immunogenic mammary carcinoma, 4T1, was treated with control IgG, CLTA-4 blocking IgG (9H10), radiation therapy, or a combination of 9H10 IgG and radiation. CTLA-4 blockade alone did not affect tumor growth or mouse survival. Radiation therapy slowed tumor growth but did not affect survival. The combination of CTLA-4 blockade and radiation therapy inhibited metastases and increased survival compared to the control [193]. Subsequent studies in this model revealed that treatment with the combination in mice deficient in invariant natural killer (NK) T-cell lymphocytes led to an even more effective response with some mice becoming disease-free and resistant to tumor rechallenge, highlighting the important role for this cell type in regulation of cancer immune responses [194]. Finally, an additional study in TSA mouse mammary carcinoma and MCA38 mouse colon carcimodels again demonstrated noma the effectiveness of combining radiation and CTLA-4 blocking antibody; moreover, they showed that the use of a fractionated radiation schedule (but not single dose radiation) along with CTLA-4 blockade could significantly inhibit tumor foci out of the radiation field, a phenomenon known as the abscopal effect [195].

The abscopal effect refers to the regression of tumors in remote areas following localized radiation of tumors. This phenomenon has been documented in melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, and lymphoma [196–198]. Several cases of this occurrence have been documented in patients receiving ipilimumab. In one notable case, a patient with recurrent melanoma with paraspinal, right hilar lymphadenopathy, and splenic metastases was enrolled in an ipilimumab monotherapy trial in September 2009. She received treatment at 10 mg/kg dosing per protocol with slow progression of her disease over the subsequent 15 months. In December 2010, she received directed, external beam radiation to her symptomatic paraspinal lesion followed by an additional dose of ipilimumab in February 2011. Surprisingly, follow-up imaging revealed significant regression of metastatic lesions outside the radiation field, which remained stable at minimal disease for at least 10 months after her radiation treatment. Along with this clinical effect, the patient was noted to have a marked increase in peripheral antibodies to the tumor antigen NY-ESO-1, an increase in ICOShigh T cells, and a decrease in myeloid derived suppressor cells [199]. Similar cases of abscopal regression of metastatic melanoma in patients on ipilimumab have since been reported [200].

A phase I/II study examined the effects of ipilimumab with radiation therapy (RT) in patients with metastatic CRPC. Patients were treated with dose escalation ipilimumab monotherapy (3, 5, or 10 mg/kg) or ipilimumab (3 mg/kg or 10 mg/ kg) with external beam RT, although the trials were not designed to directly compare the two arms. Ipilimumab was given every 3 weeks for a total of 4 weeks [201]. An overall of 71 patients were treated; 33 patients were treated in the dose escalation phase, and the 10 mg/kg arm was expanded to a total of 50 patients. At the 10 mg/ kg dosing level, 16 were given ipilimumab monotherapy and 34 received ipilimumab with radiation. In the 10 mg/kg dosing group, there were four (25%) PSA declines >50% in the ipilimumab monotherapy arm and four (12%) PSA declines >50% in the ipilimumab with radiation group; however, a higher proportion of patients in the monotherapy group were chemotherapy naïve. A phase III trial examining radiation with ipilimumab compared to radiation alone in advanced CRPC has not shown a difference in overall survival [202].

A retrospective study was performed analyzing patients treated with pembrolizumab for NSCLC on the phase I KEYNOTE-001 study to determine the effect of previous radiotherapy on clinical outcomes. Of 98 patients that received pembrolizumab, 43% received previous radiotherapy. At a median follow-up of 32.5 months for surviving patients, progression-free survival was significantly increased in patients that received previous radiotherapy (4.4 months; 95% CI, 2.1–8.6) versus no radiotherapy (2.1 months; 95% CI, 1.6–2.3), corresponding to a hazard ratio of 0.56 (95% CI 0.34–0.91), p = 0.019. Median overall survival was increased in patients who received any radiotherapy (10.7 months; 95% CI, 6.5–18.9) versus no radiotherapy (5.3 months; 95% CI, 2.7–7.7), corresponding to a hazard ratio of HR 0.58 (95% CI 0.36–0.94), p = 0.026 [203].

There are no current FDA indications for PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors in combination with radiation; however, multiple clinical trials are attempting to answer this question (NCT02830594 in pembrolizumab, NCT03148327 in durvalumab).

6.8 Combination Immunotherapy

Results from trials of CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathway blocking mAbs as monotherapy or in combination with conventional therapies are encouraging. Immune checkpoint blockade has delivered clinical responses in patients with limited or no therapeutic options remaining. However, in all of the immune checkpoint blockade trials covered, only a minority of patients have responded which is usually transient. It is true that the vast majority of the patients treated in these trials have advanced disease, are immunosuppressed, and have limited time and options remaining. Targeting earlier stage disease and combining immune checkpoint blockade with other therapies will undoubtedly yield more impressive results. However, it is naïve to think that targeting any one checkpoint will be a "silver bullet" therapy. Just as cancer, under immunologic pressure, learns to evade the immune system to become a clinically evident disease initially, as we modulate coinhibitory and costimulatory receptors, some cancers will adapt to escape through alternative pathways. Combining active immunization (cancer vaccines) with checkpoint blockade may ultimately prove effective; nonetheless, initial results have not been convincing. Other techniques under investigation, targeting multiple checkpoints simultaneously or in sequence, may limit the escape routes.

6.8.1 CTLA-4 Blockade and Vaccination

Early on in the development of CTLA-4 blocking therapy, anti-CTLA-4 antibodies were combined with cancer vaccines in preclinical models [204]. In multiple cancer animal models, tumors, which were poorly responsive to CTLA-4 blocking therapy alone or active immunotherapy alone, responded significantly better to the combination of the two [37, 204–216]. These studies have helped elucidate the function and significance of the CTLA-4 receptor and have led to clinical trials in patients.

Some of the first human trials of ipilimumab used a combination of peptide vaccines from gp100, a tumor-associated antigen expressed by the majority of malignant melanomas [217]. Gp100 peptides have been shown to be immunogenic and elicit an antigen-specific T-cell response in the majority of melanoma patients [160]. One peptide, gp100:209–217(210M), when combined with IL-2 therapy, has also been shown in a randomized phase III trial to significantly increase clinical response and PFS compared to IL-2 alone in HLA*A0201⁺ metastatic melanoma patients [218]. Three phase I and II trials were conducted using ipilimumab combined with gp100 in unresectable melanoma patients. While these trials did not directly compare the efficacy of the addition of the peptide vaccines to ipilimumab monotherapy, they did show impressive response rates and manageable toxicity [56–58]. Based on these (and other) results, ipilimumab proceeded to the phase III trial comparing ipilimumab monotherapy, ipilimumab plus two gp100 peptides (gp100:209-217 and gp100:280-288), or the gp100 peptides alone. As previously detailed, the trial demonstrated a survival advantage for ipilimumab therapy but also showed that the addition of the peptide vaccine to ipilimumab offered no improvement over ipilimumab monotherapy

[50]. It is not clear why the peptide vaccine did not prove efficacious in this setting, particularly given its proven efficacy when given with IL-2 therapy in a similar patient population. There is speculation that CTLA-4 blockade may augment CD4⁺ lymphocyte activity more, while gp100 peptides preferentially generate a CD8⁺ lymphocyte response, a hypothesis that has mixed preclinical data to support it. Another proposed possibility is that the antitumor effect of ipilimumab may stem largely from its ability to deplete intratumoral Tregs, a mechanism which may not function synergistically with MHC class I peptide vaccination [34]. Certainly, there are other possibilities to explain the results; further studies will be necessary to clarify.

Additional trials on combining CTLA-4 blocking antibodies with cancer vaccines have been conducted in melanoma and prostate cancer. In melanoma, the combination of multiple tumorassociated antigen peptides (gp100, MART-1, tyrosinase) emulsified with immunoadjuvant (Montanide ISA 51) has been combined with ipilimumab in a dose escalation trial [62]. Additionally, in prostate cancer, ipilimumab has been given in phase I trials in combination with Tricom-PSA (PROSTVAC; Bavarian Nordic Immunotherapeutics, Mountain View, CA), a poxvirus-based vaccine that expresses transgenes for PSA and costimulatory molecules, and GVAX (Aduro Biotech; Berkeley, CA, USA), a GM-CSFtransduced allogenic prostate cancer vaccine [59, 219]. In all of these phase I trials, ipilimumab combined with cancer vaccination was found to elicit a cancer-specific immune response, a low rate of clinical response, and toxicity compared with ipilimumab monotherapy. Further trials will be necessary to prove the efficacy of these combinations and multiple other combinations, which are currently under investigation (NCT01810016, NCT01302496, NCT01838200).

6.8.2 PD-1/PD-L1 and Vaccination

Nivolumab has been tested in combination with ISA 101, a synthetic long-peptide vaccine directed against human papilloma virus (HPV)

16 in patients with incurable oropharyngeal cancer. The phase II trial accrued 22 patients who received 100mcg/peptide ISA 101 on days 1, 22, and 50, plus nivolumab 3 mg/kg IV every 2 weeks for up to 1 year. Eight patients demonstrated a clinical response, with two complete responses and eight partial responses, corresponding to an overall response rate of 36%, greater than the historical nivolumab monotherapy rate of 16% [220]. At a median follow-up of 8.6 months, median progression-free survival was 2.7 months (95% CI, 2.3–8.0). Median overall survival was not reached [221].

Nivolumab has also been tested with or without a peptide vaccine in a phase I study in 90 patients with ipilimumab-naive or refractory unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. Nivolumab was dosed at 1 mg/kg, 3 mg/kg, or 10 mg/kg and was well tolerated at all doses. The median duration of response was 8.1 months, and the overall response rate was 25% [222].

Ongoing studies include PD-1/PD-L1 and vaccination in melanoma (NCT03047928), nonsquamous non-small cell lung cancer (NCT03380871), and multiple solid tumors (NCT02897765, NCT02432963).

6.8.3 CTLA-4 Blockade and Cytokine Therapy

Another area of combined immunotherapy undergoing active investigation is combining CTLA-4 blockade with cytokine therapy. IL-2 therapy has been used as adjuvant treatment for melanoma and renal cell carcinoma with benefit in a small subset of patients [223]. IL-2 stimulates T-cell activation, as does CTLA-4 blockade, but through different mechanisms. A phase I/II dose escalation/expansion trial combining ipilimumab with IL-2 was conducted in metastatic melanoma patients. The trial demonstrated a 22% (5/36) tumor response rate and toxicity similar to prior ipilimumab studies [61]. There are multiple ongoing trials examining the combination of ipilimumab and high-dose interferon alpha, the cytokine therapy used most frequently as adjuvant therapy in melanoma (NCT01274338 ongoing, NCT01708941 ongoing). GM-CSF has been used in combination with ipilimumab in a phase I dose escalation trial in CRPC demonstrating an immunologic response to treatment as well as a favorable PSA response in the highest dosing cohort (ipilimumab 3 mg/kg and GM-CSF 250 mg every 4 weeks) with expected toxicities. A recent randomized trial pairing ipilimumab with GM-CSF versus ipilimumab alone in patients with unresectable stage III/IV melanoma demonstrated longer overall survival (17.5 vs. 12.7 months), with no different in progressionfree survival [47]. Additional trials of ipilimumab and GM-CSF in CRPC and melanoma are currently underway, NCT01530984).

A recent phase II trial compared talimogene laherparepvec (a genetically modified herpessimplex virus that expresses GM-CSF) with and without ipilimumab in patients with unresectable stage IIIb and IV melanoma. One hundred ninetyeight patients were randomized, with a 39% objective response rate (ORR) in the combination arm compared to 18% ORR in the ipilimumab monotherapy arm (OR 2.9, 95% CI 1.5–55, p = 0.002). Additionally, more patients in the combination arm demonstrated regression of visceral lesions (52% vs. 23%), with severe toxicity comparable between arms (45% vs. 35%) [46].

6.8.4 Combination Checkpoint Blockade

There is ample preclinical data supporting dual checkpoint blockade in murine cancer models [215, 224–228]. Based on these principles, investigators have initiated trials of dual checkpoint blockade in humans.

Preliminary phase I results of combination of nivolumab (PD-1 blocking mAb) and ipilimumab (CLTA-4 blocking mAb) in patients with advanced melanoma demonstrated the potential of this combination [229]. This led to a multicenter randomized controlled phase III trial, the CheckMate 067 study. This trial enrolled patients with previously untreated stage III (unresectable) or stage IV melanoma and randomized them (1:1:1) to ipilimumab (3 mg/kg every 3 weeks for four doses) and nivolumab (1 mg/kg every 3 weeks for four doses followed by 3 mg/ kg every 2 weeks), nivolumab (3 mg/kg every 2 weeks), or ipilimumab (3 mg/kg every 3 weeks for four doses). The overall survival rate at 36 months was 58% in the nivolumab-ipilimumab combination group, 52% in the nivolumab group, and 34% in the ipilimumab alone group. At 36 months follow-up, the median overall survival had not been reached in the combination group and was 37.6 months in the nivolumab group and 19.9 months in the ipilimumab group, corresponding to a hazard ratio for death with nivolumab plus ipilimumab versus ipilimumab of $0.55 \ (p < 0.001)$ and $0.65 \ (p < 0.001)$ for death with nivolumab versus ipilimumab. Treatmentrelated adverse effects of grades 3 and 4 occurred in 59% of the combination group, 21% receiving nivolumab, and 28% receiving ipilimumab [129].

6.9 Other Checkpoint Pathways Under Development

6.9.1 Lymphocyte Activation Gene-3 (LAG-3)

Lymphocyte activation gene-3 (LAG-3, CD223) is an additional immune coinhibitory checkpoint molecule under investigation for therapeutic purposes in cancer. LAG-3 was first discovered in the 1990s on activated T lymphocytes and NK cells [230]. LAG-3 is structurally similar to CD4, and, like CD4, binds to MHC II complexes on antigen-presenting cells (APCs), but with greater affinity. While some early functional data from experiments is mixed, it appears that LAG-3 plays a predominantly inhibitory role in T-cell activation, while promoting APC activation at the same time [114, 231–235].

LAG-3 is expressed on a subset of Treg cells that secrete immunosuppressive cytokines and are more potent than other LAG-3 negative cells of the Treg phenotype (CD4+, CD25highFoxP3+). They are preferentially expanded in patients with cancer. LAG-3 ligation on CD8⁺ lymphocytes inhibits lymphocyte function and proliferation, independent of Tregs [18]. Notably, high expression levels of LAG-3 are seen on tumor infiltrating lymphocytes and, like PD-1, appear to represent an anergic phenotype. In contrast to its coinhibitory function on T cells, when soluble LAG-3 binds MHC II complexes on dendritic cells, it promotes activation and maturation [235–238].

Just as with CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways, tumor cells are able to utilize the LAG-3 pathway to escape host immunity. MHC class II molecule (LAG-3 ligand) expression is sometimes upregulated to varying degrees in a variety of cancers and can be associated with a worse prognosis. Increased expression of LAG-3 on TILs, corresponding with increased CD8+ T-cell anergy, has been noted in Hodgkins lymphoma, melanoma, and ovarian cancer [239, 240]. Additionally, MHC class II expressing melanoma cells (but not MHC class II negative cells) were resistant to FAS-mediated apoptosis when exposed to LAG-3 transfected cells or soluble LAG-3, indicating a bidirectional signaling in the LAG-3 pathway that effects both lymphocytes and tumor cells [114, 239–241].

Removing or blocking the LAG-3 pathway improves immune-mediated antitumor effects. Blocking LAG-3 with mAbs has been shown to increase CTL expansion and improve CD4+ lymphocyte cytokine production. In melanoma, anti-LAG-3 mAb blockade improved the antitumor function of tolerized CD8+ lymphocytes when coupled with a viral cancer vaccine [242]. In murine cancer models, PD-1^{-/-} LAG-3^{-/-} knockout mice were capable of rejecting tumors that PD-1 or LAG-3 alone knockout mice could not. It is worth noting that LAG-3^{-/-} knockout mice display a very mild phenotype, similar to PD-1^{-/-} knockout mice, while PD-1-/- LAG-3-/- knockout mice develop lethal autoimmunity at about 10 weeks of age, underscoring the potential toxicity of dual blockade therapy [225, 227, 243]. Similar to the knockout mice, dual mAb blockade of PD-1 and LAG-3 was able to cause complete regression in several established tumor models in mice, while blockade of the individual receptors was not [227, 243].

Since LAG-3 binding of MHC II complexes on APC promotes activation and maturation of the

APC, soluble LAG-3 protein has been tested as an immunoadjuvant in cancer. Theoretically, the unbound LAG-3 can promote APC activity while, at the same time, can prevent LAG-3-mediated T-cell inhibition through competitive binding. Supporting this, soluble LAG-3 in the serum of breast cancer patients was associated with improved survival. Based on these findings, a fusion protein of the extracellular portion of LAG-3 and the Fc portion of IgG1 were recognized as IMP321. IMP321 has been tested as a vaccine immunoadjuvant where it was well tolerated and produced encouraging immunologic results. IMP321 has also undergone testing as monotherapy in a phase I dose escalation trial in 21 patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. The drug produced no significant adverse events and was associated with significantly more disease stability at higher dosing. More recently, IMP321 was tested at two different doses in a phase I trial together with gemcitabine in 12 patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. IMP321 again did not produce significant adverse events but also failed to show any change in immunologic markers after therapy was given [244–248].

LAG-3 has been shown to be synergistic with PD-1/PD-L1. In a murine model, dual anti-LAG-3/anti-PD-1 antibody treatment cured most mice of established tumors that were resistant to single antibody treatment [48] and demonstrated that LAG-3 is required for long-term peripheral CD8 but not CD4 immune tolerance [49]. High level dual LAG-3/PD-1 expression is largely restricted to tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes which are likely advantageous due to focused "attack" instead of nonspecific or self-antigen-specific immune responses.

Ongoing studies of LAG-3/IMP321 are being performed in glioblastoma (NCT02658981), metastatic breast cancer (NCT02614833), and hematologic neoplasms (NCT02061761).

6.9.2 4-1BB

4-1BB (CD137), unlike the inhibitory molecules CTLA-4, PD-1, and LAG-3, is a co-stimulatory molecule. It is a member of the tumor necrosis fac-

tor receptor (TNFR) superfamily that is inducibly expressed on activated CD8+ and CD4+ lymphocytes (including Tregs), NK cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, neutrophils, and eosinophils, as well as in some tumor tissue. The 4-1BB receptor is bound by the 4-1BB ligand (4-1BBL) expressed on antigen-presenting cells. 4-1BB functions as a costimulatory signal after a T-cell receptor is bound by an antigen-MHC ligand along with CD28 costimulation to promote CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocyte proliferation, activation, and protection against activation induced cell death. 4-1BB ligation is able to costimulate CD8⁺ lymphocytes to activation even in the absence of CD28-B7-1/ B7-1 signaling and prevent or reverse established anergy in lymphocytes. Additionally, 4-1BB appears to function across both the innate and adaptive immune system as it is able to increase the activity of NK cells which, once activated, are further able to stimulate lymphocyte function. 4-1BB also appears to be functionally important in inhibiting Treg function and promoting antigen priming by dendritic cells. Interestingly, 4-1BB activation via agonistic mAbs is able to prevent or treat antibody-mediated autoimmunity in mouse and primate models by increasing CD4+ (but not CD8⁺) lymphocyte anergy, a process that is not completely understood [249–258].

Preclinical data with agonistic 4-1BB mAbs has demonstrated a robust antitumor effect. In multiple mouse models, mAb treatment has led to increased tumor-specific CD8+ lymphocyte response and substantial tumor regression. Additionally, melanoma cells transfected to express 4-1BB agonist single chain Fv fragments and given to mice as an autologous tumor cell vaccine led to rejection of poorly immunogenic tumors. Treatments were well tolerated in animal models, although polyclonal T lymphocyte accumulation in the liver was noted. Combination of agonist 4-1BB mAb treatment with immunotherapy appears to function synergistically with immunotherapy and chemotherapy. To further test its efficacy and safety, one 4-1BB mAb, BMS 663513, was tested in primates along with a prostate-specific antigen DNA vaccine where it demonstrated encouraging immunologic results [228, 249, 252, 254, 259–266].

Two mAbs have moved into clinical testing in humans. Urelumab (BMS-663513;Bristol Myers-Squibb, New York, NY) is a fully human agonist 4-1BB mAb that was given to advanced cancer patients in a dose escalation trial. Initial results from 83 patients with melanoma (54 patients), renal cell carcinoma (15 patients), ovarian cancer (13 patients), and prostate cancer (1 patient) who were given 0.3-15 mg/kg of the mAb with expansion cohorts at the 1, 3, or 10 mg/kg level of dosing have been reported. Results revealed that there were significant toxicities including grade 3 or 4 transaminitis in 11% and grade 3 or 4 neutropenia in 5% of patients. There were three objective partial responses in melanoma patients and several other patients with stable disease along with increased levels of peripheral activated T lymphocytes and interferon in posttreatment biopsies [267]. A phase II trial in advanced melanoma was conducted; however, as the incidence of grade IV hepatitis was higher than expected, the trial was terminated. Several other trials were terminated at that time. Phase I trials have been performed in which urelumab was given as monotherapy in advanced solid malignancies or non-Hodgkins lymphoma (NCT01775631, completed, results not reported) and in combination with rituximab in non-Hodgkins lymphoma or chronic lymphocytic leukemia (NCT0177563, study withdrawn). A second drug, PF-05082566 (Pfizer, New York, NY), is currently recruiting for a phase I trial as monotherapy in solid tumors or in combination with rituximabin non-Hodgkinslymphoma (NCT01307267).

Multiple studies are in progress evaluating combination therapy with urelumab and nivolumab including urothelial carcinoma (NCT02845323), metastatic melanoma (NCT02652455), and multiple advanced tumor types (NCT02534506). Hepatotoxicity appears to be the limiting factor with 4-1BB monotherapy, but combination therapy is promising.

6.9.3 OX-40

OX-40 (CD134, TNFRSF4) is another member of the TNFR superfamily which is a costimulatory receptor of particular interest in cancer. Like

many of the previously described immune checkpoint pathways, OX-40 functions to modulate T-cell activation and proliferation in the setting of inflammation to ensure an adequate immune response, but prevent autoimmunity or unnecessary tissue damage. OX-40 is predominantly expressed on activated CD4+ lymphocytes; however lesser degrees of expression is observed on other cells such as activated CD8⁺ lymphocytes, Tregs, NK cells, and neutrophils. The only known ligand to OX-40 is the OX-40 ligand (OX-40L), which is primarily expressed on activated APCs. OX-40 stimulates CD4+ lymphocyte clonal expansion, survival, and cytokine production, particularly in late phases of activation. OX-40 is also important in the generation of functional memory T-cell pools. Signaling through the OX-40 pathway does expand Treg populations, but the expanded cells are functionally impaired with an exhausted phenotype. The function of OX-40 was further shown in transgenic mice engineered to have constitutive T-cell expression of OX-40L. These mice developed expansion of CD4⁺ T-cell (but not CD8⁺ T cell) pools and an autoimmune phenotype. This is in contrast to OX-40L^{-/-} knockout mice or mice treated with OX-40L blocking mAbs, which demonstrate impaired lymphocyte priming but normal lymphocyte localization and humoral immune responses. While OX-40 appears to function primarily through CD4+ lymphocytes, there is evidence that this ultimately leads to augmented CD8⁺ lymphocyte function as well [268–283].

In cancer, agonistic therapies to the OX-40 pathway have proved successful in overcoming cancer immune tolerance. In mouse models, agonist OX-40 mAbs have led to complete regression of established tumors and protective immunity against repeat inoculation. The antitumor effect was dependent on both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocytes. Treatment with agonistic OX-40 mAbs was more effective than blocking CTLA-4 mAbs in generating antigen-specific memory T-cell pools after antigen inoculation. Finally, OX-40 mAbs have been shown to function synergistically with other cancer immunotherapies, surgery, and radiation in murine models. These findings along with observations

that OX-40 has been noted to be relatively overexpressed in tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and lymphocytes from draining lymph nodes from human melanoma, head and neck, and breast cancers led to trials in primates and then humans [273, 284–291].

A mouse agonist OX-40 mAb was used to treat 30 patients with advanced solid tumors in a dose escalation phase I trial that completed enrollment in 2009. The mAb was given as three doses over 5 days along with tetanus toxin and keyhole limpet hemocyanin. Initial results indicate that the treatment was well tolerated with evidence of clinical response in heavily pretreated patients. A humanized agonist OX-40 mAb has been developed and is currently undergoing trials combined with stereotactic radiation therapy in metastatic breast cancer (NCT01642290 in progress), combined with low-dose cyclophosphamide and radiation in metastatic CRPC (NCT01303705, in progress) renal cell carcinoma (NCT03092856), metastatic colorectal cancer (NCT02559024), and head and neck SCC or melanoma (NCT03336606) [54].

A recent study investigating combination therapy of OX-40 agonist alone or in combination with ipilimumab, durvalumab (anti-PD-L1), and rituximab was terminated at the sponsor's discretion (NCT02205333); however, ongoing studies of combination therapy include OX-40 agonists and atezolizumab (NCT02410512) and durvalumab (NCT02221960) in solid tumors [55].

6.9.4 Glucocorticoid-Induced TNFR-Related Protein (GITR)

Glucocorticoid-induced TNFR-related protein (GITR) is a third member of the TNFR superfamily with costimulatory properties. Like OX40 and 4-1BB, it has a low basal expression level on naïve T-lymphocytes, but is significantly upregulated upon activation. It is also expressed constitutively on Tregs and to a lesser degree on NK cells and mast cells, but expression is increased with activation in all cases. Also like OX40 and 4-1BB, GITR is instrumental in modulation of T-cell responses to infection and cancer; however, it operates through non-redundant pathways. GITR is bound by GITR ligand (GITR-L), which is expressed predominantly on APCs after activation, but also at lower levels on endothelial tissue and activated T cells. GITR ligation enhances T-lymphocyte activation, proliferation, resistance to activation-induced cell death, and resistance Treg-mediated to suppression. However, the in vivo effect in immunomodulation may be subtle as GITR-/- knockout mice demonstrate a mild phenotype with differences in response to certain infection and severe inflammatory conditions [292–304].

In preclinical studies, agonistic GITR mAbs were shown to stimulate T lymphocytes and overcome Treg-mediated tolerance. This finding led to a series of experiments in mice that demonstrated agonist GITR mAbs enhance antitumor immunity [107, 290, 305–307]. Agonistic GITR mAbs have also shown to improve the effectiveness of cancer vaccines in animal models. Based on these results, a humanized agonist GITR mAb, TRX518, is being tested in phase I trials in metastatic melanoma and other advanced solid tumors (NCT01239134, still recruiting). Multiple other studies using GITR agonists are in progress in solid tumors (NCT02628574), in combination with checkpoint inhibitors (NCT02553499, NCT02132754, NCT02598960), and using GITRL proteins (NCT02583165).

6.9.5 CD40

CD40 is another costimulatory molecule of interest in cancer immunotherapy. Like OX-40, it is a member of the TNFR superfamily. CD40 is expressed and functionally important on APCs, but it is also found on a broad range of normal and tumor tissue. On cells such as monocytes and dendritic cells, ligation of the CD40 receptor acts to license the cells into mature, active APCs. For example, ligation of CD40 on monocytes and dendritic cells leads to increased survival, increased expression of MHC complexes and costimulatory molecules, and increased cytokine production. In other tissues, CD40 appears to primarily play a role in modulating local inflammation. It is bound primarily by CD40 ligand (CD40L); however, binding by mycobacterial heat shock protein 70 and C4b binding protein has also been identified. CD40L is expressed primarily on active (but not resting) T lymphocytes, in particular, CD4⁺ lymphocytes, although some level of expression has been identified on other cell types. By playing a role in APC maturation, CD40 is also integrally important to lymphocyte priming and activation. Activated CD4⁺ lymphocytes express CD40L which bind to CD40 on APCs, allowing the APCs to mature and effectively cross prime CD8⁺ lymphocytes. The central role of the CD40 pathway in immunity is revealed by X-linked hyper IgM syndrome, a severe immune deficiency characterized by neutropenia, susceptibility to opportunistic infection, and autoimmunity, which is due to genetic mutations in the CD40L gene [308–318].

Interest in the CD40 pathway in cancer has come from observations that CD40 ligation is necessary for immune-mediated destruction of cancer cells and that CD40 is expressed on a variety of malignant tissues and from preclinical trials with CD40 mAbs. Treatment of established tumors in mice with agonistic CD40 mAbs has resulted in impressive immune-mediated tumor regression and protective immunity, while treatment with CD40L blocking mAbs results in abrogation of the antitumor immune response. The mechanism of action for agonistic CD40 mAbs is likely twofold and dependent on tumor CD40 expression level and antibody subtype used. In CD40 expressing tumors, anti-CD-40 IgG1 mAbs are able to bind and induce antibodydependent cytotoxicity (ADCC) of the tumor cells. There is also evidence that high level of ligation of CD40 in certain cancers, particularly multiple myeloma and high-grade B-cell lymphoma, can inhibit cancer growth. The second mechanism of tumor inhibition, which is independent of CD40 expression on tumor cells, is through the immunostimulatory effects of CD40 ligation [319–329].

Multiple strategies have been investigated to therapeutically target CD40 in human malignancy. The first human trials involved treating advanced solid tumors and non-Hodgkins lymphoma with recombinant human CD40L (Avrend; Immunex Corp, Seattle, WA). Treatment was given to 32 patients with dose-limiting toxicity of grade 3 and 4 transaminitis seen with higher dosing. There was evidence of clinical activity with partial responses seen in patients with laryngeal carcinoma and non-Hodgkins lymphoma [330]. More recent efforts have focused on targeted mAb blockade of CD40, with multiple drugs currently under investigation in clinical trials.

CP870,893 (now RO7009789, Selicrelumab) (Pfizer, New York, NY is a fully humanized anti-CD40 IgG2 mAb with strong agonistic properties that has been tested in several clinical trials. Interestingly, CP870,893 with its IgG2 Fc domain has a relatively low binding affinity to human FcgRs when compared to second generation drugs, and may function by binding to a unique epitope on human CD40. It was first given as a single dose, dose escalation phase I trial to 29 patients with advanced malignancy where partial objective responses were noted in 27% (4/15) of melanoma patients but not in other tumor types. A second phase I trial evaluated weekly dosing of CP870,893 in 27 patients with advanced malignancies. Less evidence of clinical benefit was seen with no objective responses observed. CP870,893 was tested in combination with chemotherapy in two trials; in combination with gemcitabine in pancreatic carcinoma and in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel in a variety of advanced malignancies. In these trials partial objective responses were seen in 19% (4/21) and 20% (6/30) of patients, respectively. [327, 331–334].

In all trials, the immunomodulatory properties of the mAb were evident with transient elevation in IL-6 and TNF- α , as well as depletion and stimulation of B lymphocytes. The most common toxicities were cytokine release syndrome (typically grade 1 and 2) and transient elevation of transaminases. Ongoing studies with CP870,893 include additional trials in combination with gemcitabine in advanced pancreatic cancer, and combination trials with peptide vaccines and CTLA-4 blocking tremelimumab in metastatic melanoma (NCT01456585 completed without reported results, NCT01008527 completed without reported results, NCT01103635 ongoing). Current studies investigating CD40 combinations include combining anti-PD-L1 in solid tumors (NCT02304393), anti-Ang2/VEGF in solid tumors (NCT02665416), anti-CSF1 R in solid tumors (NCT02760797), and gemcitabine/nab-Paclitaxel in pancreatic carcinoma (NCT02588443).

APX005M is a humanized rabbit IgG1 CD40 agonist being tested in multiple trials, in combination with anti-PD-1 (NCT02706353, NCT03123783) and CD40 alone (NCT02482168).

ADC-1013 is a fully human IgG1 CD40 agonist being studied as monotherapy in multiple studies (NCT02379741, completed without reported results, NCT02829099).

SEA-CD40: non-fucosylated humanized IgG1 agonist, CD40 alone (NCT02376699, recruiting).

Dacetuzumab is a humanized anti-CD40 IgG2 mAb that has been tested in B-cell hematologic malignancies, which have high constitutive expression of CD40. Dacetuzumab was first given as a phase I dose escalation trial in 44 multiple myeloma patients where the addition of steroid premedication was found to increase the tolerated dose; however, it demonstrated no objective clinical response. Similarly, it was tested in a phase I dose escalation trial in 12 patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and again, no objective responses were seen. Based on preclinical data suggesting synergy with rituximab (anti-CD20 mAb), dacetuzumab was tested along with rituximab (and gemcitabine) in 33 patients with refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL). In this trial, the combination generated six (20%)complete responses and eight (27%) partial responses. However, a randomized phase II trial comparing this combination with chemotherapy alone in DLBCL was terminated early based on perceived futility. In these trials, dacetuzumab therapy also caused cytokine release syndrome in a minority of patients, but was generally well tolerated. There are no ongoing trials registered for dacetuzumab [326, 335–338].

A third agonistic anti-CD40 mAb being tested is Chi Lob 7/4. This chimeric IgG1 mAb has undergone phase I testing in patients with CD40⁺ advanced solid malignancies or DLBCL. 15/29 treatments were accompanied by disease stabilization for a median of 6 months with acceptable toxicities when single-dose corticosteroids were administered [339]. No further studies are registered.

The fourth anti-CD40 mAb under investigation is lucatumumab, a fully humanized IgG1mAb, which, unlike the previously described CD40-targeted therapies, is antagonistic. As previously discussed, there is evidence that CD40 ligation can promote proliferation and cell growth in low grade B-cell malignancies as in normal B lymphocytes, although the data is mixed. Thus, the proposed mechanisms of action for lucatumumab include blocking of CD40 ligation on malignant cells and ADCC, but not immunostimulation. Lucatumumab has been tested in two dose escalation phase I trials in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and in multiple myeloma with minimal toxicity but only modest clinical responses. No further studies are currently registered [328, 329, 340–342].

There is currently one actively recruiting study evaluating CDX-1140, a fully human monoclonal anti-CD40 antibody (NCT03329950). No results have been reported.

6.9.6 TIM-3

The function of T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain 3 (TIM-3) is becoming better understood. TIM-3 is expressed on multiple cell types including IFN-gamma secreting CD8+ T-cells, Treg cells, and cells of the innate immune system (macrophages, dendritic cells), affecting both adaptive and innate immune responses. TIM-3 is expressed on Th1 cells and generates an inhibitory signal-inducing apoptosis of Th1 cells. It is also expressed on some dendritic cells leading to apoptotic cell phagocytosis and disruption of cross-antigen presentation. TIM-3 is upregulated in tumor-specific CD8+ T cells and CD8+ TILs, while administration of TIM-3 increases proliferation and activity of antigenspecific T cells. In multiple cancers, TIM-3 expression has been associated with tumor progression and shorter survival. Preclinical data suggests that TIM-3 blockade may be most effective when given in combination with PD-1 mAbs. In addition, since TIM-3 is expressed on non-T cells, a possible mechanism for penetration of the tumor microenvironment is theorized. In general, TIM-3 is seen as a negative regulator of antitumor immunity. Its selective expression on intratumoral T cells may reduce nonspecific toxicity and even offers theoretical synergy with checkpoint inhibitors [343–349].

There are two TIM-3 monoclonal antibodies in development. MBG 453 (Novartis, Basel, Switzerland) is being studied in a phase Ib/II openlabel trial comparing single-agent therapy to combination therapy with PD-1 antibodies in adults with advanced malignancies (NCT02608268 recruiting, NCT03066648 recruiting).

TSR-022 (TESARO, Waltham, USA) is being evaluated in a phase 1 study (NCT02817633, recruiting) as a single agent in adults with advanced solid malignancies. Some select patients will receive combination therapy with anti-PD-1 antibodies.

6.9.7 TGN1421: A Cautionary Tale

A word of caution is warranted about trying new individual or combination immune checkpoint therapies. While some immunomodulatory therapies have been well tolerated, it is clear that they have the potential for severe, lasting, and sometimes fatal toxicities. Just as animal models have proven inadequate for reliable prediction of human cancer responses to therapy, they are also inconsistent predictors of treatment toxicity. The most notable example of this is experience with TGN1412 (TeGenero). TGN1412 is a novel agonist anti-CD28 mAb, which was under development for treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. In animal models, the drugs showed encouraging immunologic results without detectable toxicities. Thus, the drug was given as a single infusion to six healthy volunteers. Within 90 min, all displayed signs of cytokine release syndrome, and within 16 h all were critically ill. All patients suffered from multisystem organ failure including acute lung injury, renal failure, and disseminated intravascular coagulation. Fortunately, all six survived and

recovered [350]. This example underscores the care that is necessary when designing and conducting clinical trials in order to maximize patient safety.

6.10 Conclusion

If decades of cancer research and, in particular, cancer immunotherapy research have taught us anything, it is that cancer is a resilient and adaptable foe. For now, checkpoint inhibition has added another weapon to our arsenal in the battle against cancer. As its current indications are expanding, it serves as proof of principle that immune checkpoint blockade can overcome cancer immune tolerance and escape in a clinically meaningful way. It has also reinvigorated research in cancer immunology and spurred the search for new immune coinhibitory and costimulatory checkpoints to target. While the initial work in new targets is encouraging, many large trials, at the cost of millions of dollars, are needed before its full potential is established. As we further elucidate the mechanisms by which cancer evades immune detection and destruction and learn to counter them, more effective and better-tolerated therapies are sure to emerge. Additionally, further characterization of the interactions between cancer and host immune system and how this changes with checkpoint blockade may help us understand and discover biomarkers for predicting which patients will respond, allowing treatment to be tailored and toxicity to be minimized.

Perhaps the greatest potential for improving outcomes and achieving broader applicability lies in using immune checkpoint blockade as combination therapy, by using blocking antibodies on coinhibitory receptors and agonist antibodies on costimulatory receptors. By combining checkpoint blockade therapy with conventional therapies such as chemotherapy and radiation, the destructive power of these therapies can be parlayed into a purposeful, long-lasting, cancer-specific immune response. Similarly, checkpoint blockade may help break down the barriers that have prevented most cancer vaccines from working and thus fulfill the long soughtafter promise of active immunotherapy-a
stimulated, long-lasting, cancer-specific immune response that eliminates established tumors or prevents their recurrence.

References

- 1. Burnet M. Cancer: a biological approach. Br Med J. 1957;1:841–7.
- Ichim CV. Revisiting immunosurveillance and immunostimulation: implications for cancer immunotherapy. J Transl Med. 2005;3:8.
- Manjili MH. Revisiting cancer immunoediting by understanding cancer immune complexity. J Pathol. 2011;224:5–9.
- Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Restifo NP. Cancer immunotherapy: moving beyond current vaccines. Nat Med. 2004;10:909–15.
- Kantoff P, Higano C, Shore N, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, et al. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2011;363:411–22.
- Small EJ, Schellhammer PF, Higano C, Redfern CH, Nemunaitis JJ, Valone FH, et al. Placebo-controlled phase III trial of immunologic therapy with Sipuleucel-T (APC8015) in patients with metastatic, asymptomatic hormone refractory prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24:3089–94.
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331:1565–70.
- Yamazaki K, Spruill G, Rhoderick J, Spielman J, Savaraj N, Podack E. Small cell lung carcinomas express shared and private tumor antigens presented by HLA-A1 or HLA-A2. Cancer Res. 1999;59:4642–50.
- Redondo M, Concha A, Oldiviela R, Cueto A, Gonzalez A, Garrido F, et al. Expression of HLA class I and II antigens in bronchogenic carcinomas: its relationship to cellular DNA content and clinical-pathological parameters. Cancer Res. 1991;51:4948–54.
- Bronte V, Mocellin S. Suppressive influences in the immune response to cancer. J Immunother. 2009;32:1–11.
- Smyth MJ, Dunn GP, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting: the roles of immunity in suppressing tumor development and shaping tumor immunogenicity. Adv Immunol. 2006;90:1–50.
- Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L, et al. Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. Science. 2015;350:207–11.
- Yang JC, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive T-cell therapy for cancer. Adv Immunol. 2016;130:279–94.
- Brown SD, Warren RL, Gibb EA, Martin SD, Spinelli JJ, Nelson BH, et al. Neo-antigens predicted by tumor genome meta-analysis correlate

with increased patient survival. Genome Res. 2014;24:743–50.

- Verdegaal EM, de Miranda NF, Visser M, Harryvan T, van Buuren MM, Anderson RS, et al. Neoantigen landscape dynamics during human melanoma-T cell interactions. Nature. 2016;536:91–5.
- Yarchoan M, Hopkins A, Jaffee EM. Tumor mutational burden and response rate to PD-1 inhibition. N Engl J Med. 2017;377:2500–1.
- Carbone DP, Reck M, Paz-Ares L, Creelan B, Horn L, Steins M, et al. First-line Nivolumab in stage IV or recurrent non-Small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:2415–26.
- Yaghmour G, Pandey M, Ireland C, Patel K, Nunnery S, Powell D, et al. Role of genomic instability in immunotherapy with checkpoint inhibitors. Anticancer Res. 2016;36:4033–8.
- Drugs@FDA Food and Drug Administration Approved Drug Products. US Food and Drug Administration. 2019. https://www.accessdata.fda. gov/scripts/cder/daf/. Accessed 20 September 2019.
- Brunet J, Denizot F, Luciani M, Roux-Dosseto M, Suzan M, Mattei M, et al. New member of the immunoglobulin superfamily--CTLA-4. Nature. 1987;328:267–70.
- Mocellin S, Benna C, Pilati P. Coinhibitory molecules in cancer biology and therapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2013;24:1–15.
- Waterhouse P, Penninger J, Timms E, Wakeham A, Shahinian A, Lee K, et al. Lymphoproliferative disorders with early lethality in mice deficient in Ctla-4. Science. 1995;270:985–8.
- 23. Diehn M, Alizadeh AA, Rando OJ, Liu C, Stankunas K, Botstein D, et al. Genomic expression programs and the integration of the CD28 costimulatory signal in T cell activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99:11796–801.
- Walker LS, Sansom DM. The emerging role of CTLA4 as a cell-extrinsic regulator of T cell responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11:852–63.
- Sansom DM, Walker LS. The role of CD28 and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) in regulatory T-cell biology. Immunol Rev. 2006;212:131–48.
- Collins AV, Brodie DW, Gilbert RJ, Iaboni A, Manso-Sancho R, Walse B, et al. The interaction properties of costimulatory molecules revisited. Immunity. 2002;17:201–10.
- Thompson C, Allison J. The emerging role of CTLA-4 as an immune attenuator. Immunity. 1997;7:445–50.
- Doyle A, Mullen A, Villarino A, Hutchins A, High F, Lee H, et al. Induction of cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4) restricts clonal expansion of helper T cells. J Exp Med. 2001;194:893–902.
- Grosso JF, Jure-Kunkel MN. CTLA-4 blockade in tumor models: an overview of preclinical and translational research. Cancer Immun. 2013;13:5.
- Tivol E, Boyd S, McKeon S, Borriello F, Nickerson P, Strom T. CTLA4Ig prevents lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction in CTLA-4deficient mice. J Immunol. 1997;158:5091–4.

- Mandelbrot D, McAdam A, Sharpe A. B7-1 or B7-2 is required to produce the lymphoproliferative phenotype in mice lacking cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 (CTLA-4). J Exp Med. 1999;189:435–40.
- Peggs KS, Quezada SA, Allison JP. Cell intrinsic mechanisms of T-cell inhibition and application to cancer therapy. Immunol Rev. 2008;224:141–65.
- 33. Khan S, Burt DJ, Ralph C, Thistlethwaite FC, Hawkins RE, Elkord E. Tremelimumab (anti-CTLA4) mediates immune responses mainly by direct activation of T effector cells rather than by affecting T regulatory cells. Clin Immunol. 2011;138:85–96.
- 34. Selby M, Engelhardt J, Quigley M, Henning K, Chen T, Srinivasan M, et al. Anti-CTLA-4 antibodies of IgG2a isotype enhance antitumor activity through reduction of Intratumoral regulatory T cells. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1:32–42.
- Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-Martin P, Yamaguchi T, Miyara M, Fehervari Z, et al. CTLA-4 control over Foxp3+ regulatory T cell function. Science. 2008;322:271–5.
- 36. Tang AL, Teijaro JR, Njau MN, Chandran SS, Azimzadeh A, Nadler SG, et al. CTLA4 expression is an indicator and regulator of steady-state CD4+ FoxP3+ T cell homeostasis. J Immunol. 2008;181:1806–13.
- Quezada SA, Peggs KS, Curran MA, Allison JP. CTLA4 blockade and GM-CSF combination immunotherapy alters the intratumor balance of effector and regulatory T cells. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:1935–45.
- Kavanagh B, O'Brien S, Lee D, Hou Y, Weinberg V, Rini B, et al. CTLA4 blockade expands FoxP3+ regulatory and activated effector CD4+ T cells in a dose-dependent fashion. Blood. 2008;112:1175–83.
- Riella L, Liu T, Yang J, Chock S, Shimizu T, Mfarrej B, et al. Deleterious effect of CTLA4-Ig on a Tregdependent transplant model. Am J Transplant. 2012;12:846–55.
- Ueda H, Howson JM, Esposito L, Heward J, Snook H, Chamberlain G, et al. Association of the T-cell regulatory gene CTLA4 with susceptibility to autoimmune disease. Nature. 2003;423:506–11.
- 41. Awata T, Kurihara S, Iitaka M, Takei S, Inoue I, Ishii C, et al. Association of CTLA-4 gene A-G polymorphism (IDDM12 locus) with acute-onset and insulin-depleted IDDM as well as autoimmune thyroid disease (Graves's disease and Hashimoto's thyroiditis) in the Japanese population. Diabetes. 1998;47:128–9.
- 42. Araki M, Chung D, Liu S, Rainbow DB, Chamberlain G, Garner V, et al. Genetic evidence that the differential expression of the ligand-independent isoform of CTLA-4 is the molecular basis of the Idd5.1 type 1 diabetes region in nonobese diabetic mice. J Immunol. 2009;183:5146–57.
- Marron M, Zeidler A, Raffel L, Eckenrode SE, Yang JJ, Hopkins DI, et al. Genetic and physical mapping

of a type 1 diabetes susceptibility gene (IDDM12) to a 100-kb phagemid artificial chromosome clone containing D2S72-CTLA4-D2S105 on chromosome 2q33. Diabetes. 2000;49:492–9.

- Callahan MK, Postow MA, Wolchok JD. Immunomodulatory therapy for melanoma: Ipilimumab and beyond. Clin Dermol. 2013;31:191–9.
- 45. Ribas A, Camacho LH, Lopez-Berestein G, Pavlov D, Bulanhagui CA, Millham R, et al. Antitumor activity in melanoma and anti-self responses in a phase I trial with the anti-cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 monoclonal antibody CP-675,206. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:8968–77.
- 46. Camacho LH, Antonia S, Sosman J, Kirkwood JM, Gajewski TF, Redman B, et al. Phase I/II trial of tremelimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:1075–81.
- 47. Kirkwood JM, Lorigan P, Hersey P, Hauschild A, Robert C, McDermott D, et al. Phase II trial of tremelimumab (CP-675,206) in patients with advanced refractory or relapsed melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:1042–8.
- Ribas A. Clinical development of the anti– CTLA-4 antibody Tremelimumab. Semin Oncol. 2010;37:450–4.
- 49. Ribas A, Kefford R, Marshall MA, Punt CJ, Haanen JB, Marmol M, et al. Phase III randomized clinical trial comparing Tremelimumab with standard-of-care chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:616–22.
- Hodi SF, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with Ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:711–23.
- Weber JS, K\u00e4hler KC, Hauschild A. Management of immune-related adverse events and kinetics of response with ipilimumab. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2691–7.
- 52. Weber J, Thompson JA, Hamid O, Minor D, Amin A, Ron I, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase II study comparing the tolerability and efficacy of ipilimumab administered with or without prophylactic budesonide in patients with unresectable stage III or IV melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:5591–8.
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'Day S, Weber J, Garbe C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:2517–26.
- Corsello S, Barnabei A, Marchetti P, Vecchis DL, Salvatori R, Torino F. Endocrine side effects induced by immune checkpoint inhibitors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98:1361–75.
- 55. Coit DG, Andtbacka R, Anker CJ, Bichakjian CK, Carson WE 3rd, Daud A, et al. Melanoma, version 2.2013: featured updates to the NCCN guidelines. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2013;11:395–407.
- Downey SG, Klapper JA, Smith FO, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Royal RE, et al. Prognostic factors related to

clinical response in patients with metastatic melanoma treated by CTL-associated antigen-4 blockade. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:6681–8.

- Attia P, Phan GQ, Maker AV, Robinson MR, Quezado MM, Yang JC, et al. Autoimmunity correlates with tumor regression in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with anti-cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:6043–53.
- 58. Phan GQ, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Hwu P, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity induced by cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100:8372–7.
- 59. van den Eertwegh AJ, Versluis J, van den Berg PH, Santegoets SJ, van Moorselaar RJ, van der Sluis TM, et al. Combined immunotherapy with granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor-transduced allogeneic prostate cancer cells and ipilimumab in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:509–17.
- 60. Yang JC, Hughes M, Kammula U, Royal R, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, et al. Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA4 antibody) causes regression of metastatic renal cell cancer associated with enteritis and hypophysitis. J Immunother. 2007;30:825–30.
- Maker AV, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, Kammula US, Royal RE, et al. Intrapatient dose escalation of anti-CTLA-4 antibody in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Immunother. 2006;29:455–63.
- 62. Sanderson K, Scotland R, Lee P, Liu D, Groshen S, Snivley J, et al. Autoimmunity in a phase I trial of a fully human anti-cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 monoclonal antibody with multiple melanoma peptides and Montanide ISA 51 for patients with resected stages III and IV melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:741–50.
- Ishida Y, Agata Y, Shibahara K, Honjo T. Induced expression of PD-1, a novel member of the immunoglobulin gene superfamily, upon programmed cell death. EMBO J. 1992;11:3887–95.
- 64. Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. Immunity. 1999;11:141–51.
- Okazaki T, Honjo T. PD-1 and PD-1 ligands: from discovery to clinical application. Int Immunol. 2007;19:813–24.
- 66. Weber J. Immune checkpoint proteins: a new therapeutic paradigm for cancer—preclinical background: CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade. Semin Oncol. 2010;37:430–9.
- Terme M, Ullrich E, Aymeric L, Meinhardt K, Desbois M, Delahaye N, et al. IL-18 induces PD-1dependent immunosuppression in cancer. Cancer Res. 2011;71:5393–9.
- 68. Fanoni D, Tavecchio S, Recalcati S, Balice Y, Venegoni L, Fiorani R, et al. New monoclonal anti-

bodies against B-cell antigens: possible new strategies for diagnosis of primary cutaneous B-cell lymphomas. Immunol Lett. 2011;134:157–60.

- 69. Nishimura H, Agata Y, Kawasaki A, Sato M, Imamura S, Minato N, et al. Developmentally regulated expression of the PD-1 protein on the surface of double-negative (CD4-CD8-) thymocytes. Int Immunol. 1996;8:773–80.
- Pentcheva-Hoang T, Chen L, Pardoll DM, Allison JP. Programmed death-1 concentration at the immunological synapse is determined by ligand affinity and availability. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104:17765–70.
- Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. Ann Rev Immunol. 2008;26:677–704.
- Petroff MG, Chen L, Phillips TA, Azzola D, Sedlmayr P, Hunt JS. B7 family molecules are favorably positioned at the human maternal-fetal interface. Biol Reprod. 2003;68:1496–504.
- Guleria I, Khosroshahi A, Ansari M, Habicht A, Azuma M, Yagita H, et al. A critical role for the programmed death ligand 1 in fetomaternal tolerance. J Exp Med. 2005;202:231–7.
- Wilke C, Wei S, Wang L, Kryczek I, Kao J, Zou W. Dual biological effects of the cytokines interleukin-10 and interferon-γ. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60:1529–41.
- 75. Freeman G, Long A, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, et al. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. J Exp Med. 2000;192:1027–34.
- Latchman Y, Wood C, Chernova T, Chaudhary D, Borde M, Chernova I, et al. PD-L2 is a second ligand for PD-1 and inhibits T cell activation. Nat Immunol. 2001;2:261–8.
- Sznol M, Chen L. Antagonist antibodies to PD-1 and B7-H1 (PD-L1) in the treatment of advanced human cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:1021–34.
- Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Targeting the PD-1/B7-H1(PD-L1) pathway to activate anti-tumor immunity. Curr Opin Immunol. 2012;24:207–12.
- Nishimura H, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Nak Atani K, Hara M, Matsumori A, et al. Autoimmune dilated cardiomyopathy in PD-1 receptor-deficient mice. Science. 2001;291:319–22.
- Wang J, Okazaki IM, Yoshida T, Chikuma S, Kato Y, Nakaki F, et al. PD-1 deficiency results in the development of fatal myocarditis in MRL mice. Int Immunol. 2010;22:443–52.
- Dong H, Zhu G, Tamada K, Flies DB, van Deursen JM, Chen L. B7-H1 determines accumulation and deletion of intrahepatic CD8(+) T lymphocytes. Immunity. 2004;20:327–36.
- 82. Sheppard K-A, Fitz LJ, Lee JM, Benander C, George JA, Wooters J, et al. PD-1 inhibits T-cell receptor induced phosphorylation of the ZAP70/CD3zeta signalosome and downstream signaling to PKCtheta. FEBS Lett. 2004;574:37–41.

- Okazaki T, Maeda A, Nishimura H, Kurosaki T, Honjo T. PD-1 immunoreceptor inhibits B cell receptor-mediated signaling by recruiting src homology 2-domain-containing tyrosine phosphatase 2 to phosphotyrosine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98:13866–71.
- 84. Chemnitz JM, Parry RV, Nichols KE, June CH, Riley JL. SHP-1 and SHP-2 associate with immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motif of programmed death 1 upon primary human T cell stimulation, but only receptor ligation prevents T cell activation. J Immunol. 2004;173:945–54.
- Carter L, Fouser LA, Jussif J, Fitz L, Deng B, Wood CR, et al. PD-1:PD-L inhibitory pathway affects both CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells and is overcome by IL-2. Eur J Immunol. 2002;32:634–43.
- Nurieva R, Thomas S, Nguyen T, Martin-Orozco N, Wang Y, Kaja M-K, et al. T-cell tolerance or function is determined by combinatorial costimulatory signals. EMBO J. 2006;25:2623–33.
- Park JJ, Omiya R, Matsumura Y, Sakoda Y, Kuramasu A, Augustine MM, et al. B7-H1/CD80 interaction is required for the induction and maintenance of peripheral T-cell tolerance. Blood. 2010;116:1291–8.
- Butte MJ, Keir ME, Phamduy TB, Sharpe AH, Freeman GJ. Programmed death-1 ligand 1 interacts specifically with the B7-1 costimulatory molecule to inhibit T cell responses. Immunity. 2007;27:111–22.
- Iwai Y, Terawaki S, Ikegawa M, Okazaki T, Honjo T. PD-1 inhibits antiviral immunity at the effector phase in the liver. J Exp Med. 2003;198:39–50.
- Hino R, Kabashima K, Kato Y, Yagi H, Nakamura M, Honjo T, et al. Tumor cell expression of programmed cell death-1 ligand 1 is a prognostic factor for malignant melanoma. Cancer. 2010;116:1757–66.
- 91. Geng L, Huang D, Liu J, Qian Y, Deng J, Li D, et al. B7-H1 up-regulated expression in human pancreatic carcinoma tissue associates with tumor progression. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2008;134:1021–7.
- Parsa AT, Waldron JS, Panner A, Crane CA, Parney IF, Barry JJ, et al. Loss of tumor suppressor PTEN function increases B7-H1 expression and immunoresistance in glioma. Nat Med. 2007;13:84–8.
- 93. Ghebeh H, Mohammed S, Al-Omair A, Qattan A, Lehe C, Al-Qudaihi G, et al. The B7-H1 (PD-L1) T lymphocyte-inhibitory molecule is expressed in breast cancer patients with infiltrating ductal carcinoma: correlation with important high-risk prognostic factors. Neoplasia. 2006;8:190–8.
- 94. Wu C, Zhu Y, Jiang J, Zhao J, Zhang X-G, Xu N. Immunohistochemical localization of programmed death-1 ligand-1 (PD-L1) in gastric carcinoma and its clinical significance. Acta Histochem. 2006;108:19–24.
- 95. Ohigashi Y, Sho M, Yamada Y, Tsurui Y, Hamada K, Ikeda N. Clinical significance of programmed death-1 ligand-1 and programmed death-1 ligand-2 expression in human esophageal cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;11:2947–53.

- 96. Strome SE, Dong H, Tamura H, Voss SG, Flies DB, Tamada K, et al. B7-H1 blockade augments adoptive T-cell immunotherapy for squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2003;63:6501–5.
- 97. Hamanishi J, Mandai M, Iwasaki M, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Yamaguchi K, et al. Programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 and tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes are prognostic factors of human ovarian cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2007;104:3360–5.
- Thompson HR, Gillett MD, Cheville JC, Lohse CM, Dong H, Webster WS, et al. Costimulatory molecule B7-H1 in primary and metastatic clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Cancer. 2005;104:2084–91.
- 99. Rosenwald A, Wright G, Leroy K, Yu X, Gaulard P, Gascoyne RD, et al. Molecular diagnosis of primary mediastinal B cell lymphoma identifies a clinically favorable subgroup of diffuse large B cell lymphoma related to Hodgkin lymphoma. J Exp Med. 2003;198:851–62.
- 100. Zhou Q, Munger ME, Highfill SL, Tolar J, Weigel BJ, Riddle M, et al. Program death-1 signaling and regulatory T cells collaborate to resist the function of adoptively transferred cytotoxic T lymphocytes in advanced acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2010;116:2484–93.
- 101. Zou W, Chen L. Inhibitory B7-family molecules in the tumour microenvironment. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8:467–77.
- 102. Konishi J, Yamazaki K, Azuma M, Kinoshita I, Dosaka-Akita H, Nishimura M. B7-H1 expression on non-small cell lung cancer cells and its relationship with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and their PD-1 expression. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10:5094–100.
- Droeser RA, Hirt C, Viehl CT, Frey JM, Nebiker C, Huber X, et al. Clinical impact of programmed cell death ligand 1 expression in colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49:2233–42.
- 104. Badoual C, Hans S, Merillon N, Van Ryswick C, Ravel P, Benhamouda N, et al. PD-1-expressing tumor-infiltrating T cells are a favorable prognostic biomarker in HPV-associated head and neck cancer. Cancer Res. 2013;73:128–38.
- 105. Sfanos KS, Bruno TC, Meeker AK, Marzo AM, Isaacs WB, Drake CG. Human prostate-infiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes are oligoclonal and PD-1+. Prostate. 2009;69:1694–703.
- 106. Benson DM, Bakan CE, Mishra A, Hofmeister CC, Efebera Y, Becknell B, et al. The PD-1/PD-L1 axis modulates the natural killer cell versus multiple myeloma effect: a therapeutic target for CT-011, a novel monoclonal anti-PD-1 antibody. Blood. 2010;116:2286–94.
- 107. Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, et al. Tumor-associated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: a potential mechanism of immune evasion. Nat Med. 2002;8:793–800.
- 108. Iwai Y, Ishida M, Tanaka Y, Okazaki T, Honjo T, Minato N. Involvement of PD-L1 on tumor cells in the escape from host immune system and tumor

immunotherapy by PD-L1 blockade. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99:12293–7.

- 109. Azuma T, Yao S, Zhu G, Flies AS, Flies SJ, Chen L. B7-H1 is a ubiquitous antiapoptotic receptor on cancer cells. Blood. 2008;111:3635–43.
- 110. Hirano F, Kaneko K, Tamura H, Dong H, Wang S, Ichikawa M, et al. Blockade of B7-H1 and PD-1 by monoclonal antibodies potentiates cancer therapeutic immunity. Cancer Res. 2005;65:1089–96.
- 111. Taube JM, Anders RA, Young GD, Xu H, Shama R, McMiller TL, et al. Colocalization of inflammatory response with B7-h1 expression in human melanocytic lesions supports an adaptive resistance mechanism of immune escape. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4:127–37.
- 112. Kim J, Myers AC, Chen L, Pardoll DM, Truong-Tran Q-A, Lane AP, et al. Constitutive and inducible expression of b7 family of ligands by human airway epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2005;33:280–9.
- 113. Lee SK, Seo SH, Kim BS, Kim CD, Lee JH, Kang JS, et al. IFN-gamma regulates the expression of B7-H1 in dermal fibroblast cells. J Dermatol Sci. 2005;40:95–103.
- 114. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:252–64.
- 115. Okudaira K, Hokari R, Tsuzuki Y, Okada Y, Komoto S, Watanabe C, et al. Blockade of B7-H1 or B7-DC induces an anti-tumor effect in a mouse pancreatic cancer model. Int J Oncol. 2009;35:741–9.
- 116. Blank C, Brown I, Peterson AC, Spiotto M, Iwai Y, Honjo T, et al. PD-L1/B7H-1 inhibits the effector phase of tumor rejection by T cell receptor (TCR) transgenic CD8+ T cells. Cancer Res. 2004;64:1140–5.
- 117. Webster SW, Thompson HR, Harris KJ, Frigola X, Kuntz S, Inman BA, et al. Targeting molecular and cellular inhibitory mechanisms for improvement of antitumor memory responses reactivated by tumor cell vaccine. J Immunol. 2007;179:2860–9.
- 118. Li B, VanRoey M, Wang C, Chen T, Korman A, Jooss K. Anti-programmed death-1 synergizes with granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor--secreting tumor cell immunotherapy providing therapeutic benefit to mice with established tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:1623–34.
- 119. Mkrtichyan M, Najjar YG, Raulfs EC, Abdalla MY, Samara R, Rotem-Yehudar R, et al. Anti-PD-1 synergizes with cyclophosphamide to induce potent anti-tumor vaccine effects through novel mechanisms. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41:2977–86.
- 120. Zhou Q, Xiao H, Liu Y, Peng Y, Hong Y, Yagita H, et al. Blockade of programmed death-1 pathway rescues the effector function of tumor-infiltrating T cells and enhances the antitumor efficacy of lentivector immunization. J Immunol. 2010;185:5082–92.
- 121. Blank C, Kuball J, Voelkl S, Wiendel H, Becker B, Walter B, et al. Blockade of PD-L1 (B7-H1)

augments human tumor-specific T cell responses in vitro. Int J Cancer. 2006;119:317–27.

- 122. Wong R, Scotland R, Lau R, Wang C, Korman A, Kast W, Weber J. Programmed death-1 blockade enhances expansion and functional capacity of human melanoma antigen-specific CTLs. Int Immunol. 2007;19:1223–34.
- 123. Zhang Y, Huang S, Gong D, Qin Y, Shen Q. Programmed death-1 upregulation is correlated with dysfunction of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes in human non-small cell lung cancer. Cell Mol Immunol. 2010;7:389–95.
- 124. Topalian SL, Hodi SF, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti–PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2443–54.
- 125. Müller T, Braun M, Dietrich D, Aktekin S, Höft S, Kristiansen G, et al. PD-L1: a novel prognostic biomarker in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Oncotarget. 2017;8:52889–900.
- Gibney GT, Weiner LM, Atkins MB. Predictive biomarkers for checkpoint inhibitor-based immunotherapy. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:e542–51.
- 127. Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:2189–99.
- 128. Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, Lao CD, et al. Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:23–34.
- 129. Wolchok JD, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Rutkowski P, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, et al. Overall survival with combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2017;377:1345–56.
- 130. Gettinger S, Rizvi NA, Chow LQ, Borghaei H, Brahmer J, Ready N, et al. Nivolumab monotherapy for first-line treatment of advanced non–Small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:2980–7.
- 131. Rizvi NA, Mazières J, Planchard D, Stinchcombe TE, Dy GK, Antonia SJ, et al. Activity and safety of nivolumab, an anti-PD-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor, for patients with advanced, refractory squamous non-small-cell lung cancer (CheckMate 063): a phase 2, single-arm trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:257–65.
- 132. Weber JS, D'Angelo SP, Minor D, et al. Nivolumab versus chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma who progressed after anti-CTLA-4 treatment (CheckMate 037): a randomised, controlled, openlabel, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:375–84.
- 133. Paz-Ares L, Horn L, Borghaei H, et al. Phase III, randomized trial (CheckMate 057) of nivolumab (NIVO) versus docetaxel (DOC) in advanced nonsquamous cell (non-SQ) non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). J Clin Oncol. 2015;33:LBA109.
- 134. Robert C, Long GV, Brady B, Dutriaux C, Maio M, Mortier L, et al. Nivolumab in previously untreated

melanoma without BRAF mutation. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:320–30.

- 135. Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, Leighl N, Balmonoukian AS, Eder JP, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non–Small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2018–28.
- 136. Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Rober L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature. 2014;515:568–71.
- 137. Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Aulakh LK, Lu S, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatchrepair deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2017;372:2509–20.
- 138. Robert C, Schachter J, Long GV, Arance A, Grob JJ, Mortier L, et al. Pembrolizumab versus Ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2521–32.
- 139. Herbst RS, Baas P, Kim DW, Felip E, Perez-Gracia JL, Han JY, et al. Pembrolizumab versus docetaxel for previously treated, PD-L1-positive, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (KEYNOTE-010): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2016;387:1540–50.
- 140. Reck M, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csoszi T, Fulop A, et al. Pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for PD-L1-positive non-Small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1823–33.
- 141. Zeng J, See AP, Phallen J, Jackson CM, Belcaid Z, Ruzevick J, et al. Anti-PD-1 blockade and stereotactic radiation produce Long-term survival in mice with intracranial gliomas. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2013;86:343–9.
- 142. Rosenberg JE, Hoffman-Censits J, Powles T, van der Heijden MS, Balar AV, Nechhi A, et al. Atezolizumab in patients with locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma who have progressed following treatment with platinum-based chemotherapy: a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet. 2016;387:1909–20.
- 143. Atezolizumab. Highlights of Prescribing Information. 2019. https://www.gene.com/download/pdf/tecentriq_prescribing.pdf. Accessed 20 Sep 2019.
- 144. Fehrenbacher L, Spira A, Ballinger M, Kowanetz M, Vansteenkiste J, Mazieres J, et al. Atezolizumab versus docetaxel for patients with previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (POPLAR): a multicentre, open-label, phase 2 randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2016;387:1837–46.
- 145. McDermott DF, Sosman JA, Sznol M, Massard C, Gordon MS, Hamid O, et al. Atezolizumab, an anti–programmed death-ligand 1 antibody, in metastatic renal cell carcinoma: Long-term safety, clinical activity, and immune correlates from a phase Ia study. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:833–42.
- 146. Rittmeyer A, Barlesi F, Waterkamp D, Park K, Ciardiello F, von Pawel J, et al. Atezolizumab versus docetaxel in patients with previously treated nonsmall-cell lung cancer (OAK): a phase 3, open-label, multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2017;389:255–65.

- 147. Powles T, O'Donnell PH, Massard C, Arkenau HT, Friedlander TW, Holmes CJ, et al. Efficacy and safety of Durvalumab in locally advanced or metastatic urothelial carcinoma: updated results from a phase 1/2 open-label study. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3:e172411.
- 148. Antonia SJ, Villegas A, Daniel D, Vincente D, Murakami S, Hui R, et al. Durvalumab after Chemoradiotherapy in stage III non-Small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;377:1919–29.
- 149. Kaufman HL, Russell JS, Hamid O, Bhatia S, Terheyden P, D'Angelo SP, et al. Updated efficacy of avelumab in patients with previously treated metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma after ≥1 year of followup: JAVELIN Merkel 200, a phase 2 clinical trial. J Immunother Cancer. 2018;6:7.
- 150. Kaufman HL, Russell J, Hamid O, Bhatia S, Terheyden P, D'Angelo SP, et al. Avelumab in patients with chemotherapy-refractory metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma: a multicentre, singlegroup, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:1374–85.
- 151. Oxnard GR, Morris MJ, Hodi SF, Baker LH, Kris MG, Venook AP, Schwartz LH. When progressive disease does not mean treatment failure: reconsidering the criteria for progression. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2012;104:1534–41.
- 152. Wolchok JD, Hoos A, O'Day S, Weber JS, Hamid O, Lebbe C, et al. Guidelines for the evaluation of immune therapy activity in solid tumors: immune-related response criteria. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:7412–20.
- 153. O'Day S, Maio M, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gajewksi TF, Pehamberger H, Bondarenko IN, et al. Efficacy and safety of ipilimumab monotherapy in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma: a multicenter single-arm phase II study. Ann Oncol. 2010;21:1712–7.
- 154. Lynch TJ, Bondarenko I, Luft A, Serwatowksi P, Barlesi F, Chacko R, et al. Ipilimumab in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin as first-line treatment in stage IIIB/IV non-small-cell lung cancer: results from a randomized, double-blind, multicenter phase II study. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2046–54.
- 155. Fishwild D, O'Donnell S, Bengoechea T, Hudson DV, Harding F, Bernhard SL, et al. High-avidity human IgG kappa monoclonal antibodies from a novel strain of minilocus transgenic mice. Nat Biotechnol. 1996;14:845–51.
- 156. Keler T, Halk E, Vitale L, O'Neill T, Blanset D, Lee S, et al. Activity and safety of CTLA-4 blockade combined with vaccines in cynomolgus macaques. J Immunol. 2003;171:6251–9.
- Yonekawa Y, Kim IK. Epidemiology and management of uveal melanoma. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2012;26:1169–84.
- 158. Rodriguez J, Olza M, Codes M, Lopez-Martin JA, Berrocal A, García M, et al. Phase II study evaluating ipilimumab as a single agent in the first-line treatment of adult patients (Pts) with metastatic

uveal melanoma (MUM): The GEM-1 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32S:ASCO #9033.

- 159. Zimmer L, Vaubel J, Mohr P, Hauschild A, Utikal J, Simon J, et al. Phase II DeCOG-study of Ipilimumab in pretreated and treatment-Naïve patients with metastatic uveal melanoma. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0118564.
- 160. Rosenberg S, Yang J, Schwartzentruber D, Hwu P, Marincola FM, Topalian SL, et al. Immunologic and therapeutic evaluation of a synthetic peptide vaccine for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma. Nat Med. 1998;4:321–7.
- 161. Robert C, Schadendorf D, Messina M, Hodi SF, O'Day S. MDX010-20 investigators. Efficacy and safety of retreatment with ipilimumab in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma who progressed after initially achieving disease control. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:2232–9.
- Agarwala SS. Current systemic therapy for metastatic melanoma. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2009;9:587–95.
- 163. Wolchok JD, Neyns B, Linette G, Negrier S, Lutzky Thomas L, et al. Ipilimumab monotherapy in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma: a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 2, dose-ranging study. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11:155–64.
- 164. Ascierto PA, Vecchio M, Robert C, Mackiewicz A, Chiarion-Sileni V, Arance A, et al. Ipilimumab 10 mg/kg versus ipilimumab 3 mg/kg in patients with unresectable or metastatic melanoma: a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:611–22.
- 165. Margolin K, Giacomo DA, Maio M. Brain metastasis in melanoma: clinical activity of CTLA-4 antibody therapy. Semin Oncol. 2010;37:468–72.
- 166. Schachter J, Ribas A, Long G, Arance A, Grob JJ, Mortier L, et al. Pembrolizumab versus ipilimumab for advanced melanoma: final overall survival results of a multicentre, randomised, open-label phase 3 study (KEYNOTE-006). Lancet. 2017;390:1853–62.
- 167. Petrella T, Robert C, Richtig E, Miller WH Jr, Masucci GV, Walpole R. Patient-reported outcomes in KEYNOTE-006, a randomised study of pembrolizumab versus ipilimumab in patients with advanced melanoma. Eur J Cancer. 2017;86:115–24.
- 168. Eggermont A, Chiarion-Sileni V, Grob JJ, Dummer R, Wolchok JD, Schmidt H, et al. Adjuvant ipilimumab versus placebo after complete resection of high-risk stage III melanoma (EORTC 18071): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:522–30.
- 169. Weber J, Mandala M, Vecchio M, Gogas HJ, Arance AM, Cowey CL. Adjuvant Nivolumab versus Ipilimumab in resected stage III or IV melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2017;377:1824–35.
- 170. Eggermont A, Blank C, Mandala M, Long GV, Atkinson V, Dalle S. Adjuvant Pembrolizumab versus placebo in resected stage III melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:1789–801.

- 171. Zitvogel L, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, André F, Tesniere A, Kroemer G. The anticancer immune response: indispensable for therapeutic success? J Clin Invest. 2008;118:1991–2001.
- 172. Zielinski C, Knapp S, Mascaux C, Hirsch F. Rationale for targeting the immune system through checkpoint molecule blockade in the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol. 2013;24:1170–9.
- 173. Wu L, Yun Z, Tagawa T, Rey-McIntyre K, de Perrot M. CTLA-4 blockade expands infiltrating T cells and inhibits cancer cell repopulation during the intervals of chemotherapy in murine mesothelioma. Mol Cancer Ther. 2012;11:1809–19.
- 174. Lee F, Jure-Kunkel MN, Salvati ME. Synergistic activity of ixabepilone plus other anticancer agents: preclinical and clinical evidence. Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2001;3:11–25.
- 175. Kang T, Mao C-P, Lee S, Chen A, Lee JH, Kim TW, et al. Chemotherapy acts as an adjuvant to convert the tumor microenvironment into a highly permissive state for vaccination-induced antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2013;73:2493–504.
- 176. Liu WM, Dalgleish AG. The potential beneficial effects of drugs on the immune response to vaccination. Semin Oncol. 2012;39:340–7.
- 177. Correale P, Vecchio M, Placa M, Montagnani F, Di Genova G, Savellini GG, et al. Chemotherapeutic drugs may be used to enhance the killing efficacy of human tumor antigen peptide-specific CTLs. J Immunother. 2008;31:132–47.
- 178. Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Ann Rev Immunol. 2013;31:51–72.
- 179. Hersh EM, O'Day SJ, Powderly J, Khan KD, Pavlick AC, Cranmer LD, et al. A phase II multicenter study of ipilimumab with or without dacarbazine in chemotherapy-naïve patients with advanced melanoma. Investig New Drugs. 2011;29:489–98.
- 180. Hoos A, Eggermont A, Janetzki S, Hodi F, Ibrahim R, Anderson A, et al. Improved endpoints for cancer immunotherapy trials. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102:1388–97.
- Ribas A, Hodi SF, Callahan M, Konto C, Wolchok J. Hepatotoxicity with combination of vemurafenib and ipilimumab. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:1365–6.
- 182. Schiller JH, Harrington D, Belani CP, Langer C, Sandler A, Krook J, et al. Comparison of four chemotherapy regimens for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2002;346:92–8.
- 183. Govindan R, Szczesna A, Ahn MJ, Schneider CP, Gonzalez Mella PF, Barlesi F. Phase III trial of ipilimumab combined with paclitaxel and carboplatin in advanced squamous non–small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35:3449–57.
- 184. Oze I, Hotta K, Kiura K, Ochi N, Takigawa N, Fujiwara Y, et al. Twenty-seven years of phase III trials for patients with extensive disease smallcell lung cancer: disappointing results. PLoS One. 2009;4:e7835.

- 185. Reck M, Luft A, Szczesna A, Havel L, Kim SW, Akerley W, et al. Phase III randomized trial of Ipilimumab plus etoposide and platinum versus placebo plus etoposide and platinum in extensivestage Small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:3740–8.
- 186. Small E, Higano C, Tchekmedyian N, Sartor O, Stein B, Young RJ, et al. Randomized phase II study comparing 4 monthly doses of ipilimumab (MDX-010) as a single agent or in combination with a single dose of docetaxel in patients with hormone refractory prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;18:4609.
- 187. Rini BI, Stein M, Shannon P, Eddy S, Tyler A, Stephenson JJ, et al. Phase 1 dose-escalation trial of tremelimumab plus sunitinib in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Cancer. 2011;117:758–67.
- 188. Gandhi L, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Gadgeel S, Esteban E, Felip E, De Angelis F, et al. Pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy in metastatic non–small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:2078–92.
- Drake C. Combination immunotherapy approaches. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(Suppl 8):41–6.
- 190. Chakraborty M, Abrams SI, Camphausen K, Liu K, Scott T, Coleman NC, Hodge JW. Irradiation of tumor cells up-regulates Fas and enhances CTL lytic activity and CTL adoptive immunotherapy. J Immunol. 2003;170:6338–47.
- 191. Chakraborty M, Abrams SI, Coleman NC, Camphausen K, Schlom J, Hodge JW. External beam radiation of tumors alters phenotype of tumor cells to render them susceptible to vaccine-mediated T-cell killing. Cancer Res. 2004;64:4328–37.
- 192. Reits EA, Hodge JW, Herberts CA, Goothius TA, Chakraborty M. Wansley EK, et al radiation modulates the peptide repertoire, enhances MHC class I expression, and induces successful antitumor immunotherapy. J Exp Med. 2006;203:1259–71.
- 193. Demaria S, Bhardwaj N, McBride WH, Formenti SC. Combining radiotherapy and immunotherapy: a revived partnership. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;63:655–66.
- 194. Pilones KA, Kawashima N, Yang A, Babb JS, Formenti SC, Demaria S. Invariant natural killer T cells regulate breast cancer response to radiation and CTLA-4 blockade. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:597–606.
- 195. Dewan ZM, Galloway AE, Kawashima N, Dewyngaert KJ, Babb JS, Formenti SC, Demaria S. Fractionated but not single-dose radiotherapy induces an immune-mediated abscopal effect when combined with anti-CTLA-4 antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:5379–88.
- 196. Kingsley D. An interesting case of possible abscopal effect in malignant melanoma. Brit J Radiol. 1975;48:863–6.
- 197. Wersäll PJ, Blomgren H, Pisa P, Lax I, Kälkner K-M, Svedman C. Regression of non-irradiated metastases after extracranial stereotactic radiother-

apy in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Acta Oncol. 2006;45:493–7.

- 198. Robin H, AuBuchon J, Varanasi V, Weinstein A. The abscopal effect: demonstration in lymphomatous involvement of kidneys. Med Pediatr Oncol. 1981;9:473–6.
- 199. Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, Yamada Y, Yuan J, Kitano S, et al. Immunologic correlates of the Abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:925–31.
- 200. Hiniker SM, Chen DS, Knox SJ. Abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2035.
- 201. Slovin S, Higano C, Hamid O, Tejwani S, Harzstark A, Alumkal JJ, et al. Ipilimumab alone or in combination with radiotherapy in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: results from an open-label, multicenter phase I/II study. Ann Oncol. 2013;24:1831–21.
- 202. Kwon ED, Drake CG, Scher HI, Fizazi K, Bossi A, van den Eertwegh AJ, et al. Ipilimumab versus placebo after radiotherapy in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer that had progressed after docetaxel chemotherapy (CA184-043): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15:700–12.
- 203. Shaverdian N, Lisberg A, Bornazayan K, Veruttipong D, Goldman JW, Formenti SC, et al. Previous radio-therapy and the clinical activity and toxicity of pembrolizumab in the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer: a secondary analysis of the KEYNOTE-001 phase 1 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2018;18:895–903.
- 204. Hurwitz A, Yu T, Leach D, Allison J. CTLA-4 blockade synergizes with tumor-derived granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor for treatment of an experimental mammary carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:10067–71.
- 205. Espenschied J, Lamont J, Longmate J, Pendas S, Wang Z, Diamond DJ, Ellenhorn JD. CTLA-4 blockade enhances the therapeutic effect of an attenuated poxvirus vaccine targeting p53 in an established murine tumor model. J Immunol. 2003;170:3401–37.
- 206. Pedersen A, Buus S, Claesson M. Treatment of transplanted CT26 tumour with dendritic cell vaccine in combination with blockade of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 and CTLA-4. Cancer Lett. 2006;235:229–38.
- 207. Saha A, Chatterjee S. Combination of CTLassociated antigen-4 blockade and depletion of CD25 regulatory T cells enhance tumour immunity of dendritic cell-based vaccine in a mouse model of colon cancer. Scand J Immunol. 2010;71:70–82.
- 208. Sorensen MR, Holst PJ, Steffensen MA, Christensen JP, Thomsen AR. Adenoviral vaccination combined with CD40 stimulation and CTLA-4 blockage can lead to complete tumor regression in a murine melanoma model. Vaccine. 2010;28:6757–64.
- 209. van Elsas A, Hurwitz A, Allison J. Combination immunotherapy of B16 melanoma using anti-

cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and granulocyte/macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF)-producing vaccines induces rejection of subcutaneous and metastatic tumors accompanied by autoimmune depigmentation. J Exp Med. 1999;90:355–66.

- 210. Hurwitz A, Foster B, Kwon E, Truong T, Choi E, Greenberg N, et al. Combination immunotherapy of primary prostate cancer in a transgenic mouse model using CTLA-4 blockade. Cancer Res. 2000;60:2444–8.
- 211. van Elsas A, Sutmuller R, Hurwitz A, Ziskin J, Villasensor J, Medema JP, et al. Elucidating the autoimmune and antitumor effector mechanisms of a treatment based on cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 blockade in combination with a B16 melanoma vaccine: comparison of prophylaxis and therapy. J Exp Med. 2001;194:481–9.
- 212. Davila E, Kennedy R, Celis E. Generation of antitumor immunity by cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope peptide vaccination, CpG-oligodeoxynucleotide adjuvant, and CTLA-4 blockade. Cancer Res. 2003;63:3281–8.
- 213. Daftarian P, Song G-Y, Ali S, Faynsod M, Longmate J, Diamond DJ, Ellenhorn JD. Two distinct pathways of immuno-modulation improve potency of p53 immunization in rejecting established tumors. Cancer Res. 2004;64:5407–14.
- 214. Peggs KS, Quezada SA, Chambers CA, Korman AJ, Allison JP. Blockade of CTLA-4 on both effector and regulatory T cell compartments contributes to the antitumor activity of anti-CTLA-4 antibodies. J Exp Med. 2009;206:1717–25.
- 215. Curran MA, Montalvo W, Yagita H, Allison JP. PD-1 and CTLA-4 combination blockade expands infiltrating T cells and reduces regulatory T and myeloid cells within B16 melanoma tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:4275–80.
- 216. Wada S, Jackson CM, Yoshimura K, Yen HR, Getnet D, Harris TJ, et al. Sequencing CTLA-4 blockade with cell-based immunotherapy for prostate cancer. J Transl Med. 2013;11:89.
- 217. de Vries T, Fourkour A, Wobbes T, Verkroost G, Ruiter D, van Muijen G. Heterogeneous expression of immunotherapy candidate proteins gp100, MART-1, and tyrosinase in human melanoma cell lines and in human melanocytic lesions. Cancer Res. 1997;57:3223–9.
- 218. Schwartzentruber DJ, Lawson DH, Richards JM, Conry RM, Miller DM, Treisman J, et al. gp100 peptide vaccine and interleukin-2 in patients with advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:2119–27.
- 219. Madan RA, Mohebtash M, Arlen PM, Vergati M, Rauckhorst M, Steinberg SM, et al. Ipilimumab and a poxviral vaccine targeting prostate-specific antigen in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:501–8.

- 220. Ferris RL, Blumenschein G Jr, Fayette J, Guigay J, Colevas AD, Licitra L, et al. Nivolumab for recurrent squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:1856–67.
- 221. Massarelli E, William W, Johnson F, Keis M, Ferraroto R, Guo M, et al. Combining immune checkpoint blockade and tumor-specific vaccine for patients with incurable human papillomavirus 16-related cancer: a phase 2 clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2019;5:67–73.
- 222. Weber J, Kudchadkar R, Yu B, Gallenstein D, Horak CE, Inzunza HD, et al. Safety, efficacy, and biomarkers of nivolumab with vaccine in ipilimumabrefractory or-naive melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31:4311–8.
- 223. Rosenberg S, Yang J, White D, Steinberg S. Durability of complete responses in patients with metastatic cancer treated with high-dose interleukin-2: identification of the antigens mediating response. Ann Surg. 1998;228:307–19.
- 224. Takeda K, Kojima Y, Uno T, Hayakawa Y, Teng MW, Yoshizawa H, et al. Combination therapy of established tumors by antibodies targeting immune activating and suppressing molecules. J Immunol. 2010;184:5493–501.
- 225. Woo SR, Turnis ME, Goldberg MV, Bankoti J, Selby M, Nischl CJ, et al. Immune inhibitory molecules LAG-3 and PD-1 synergistically regulate T-cell function to promote tumoral immune escape. Cancer Res. 2012;72:917–27.
- 226. Duraiswamy J, Kaluza KM, Freeman GJ, Coukos G. Dual blockade of PD-1 and CTLA-4 combined with tumor vaccine effectively restores T cell rejection function in tumors. Cancer Res. 2013;73:3591–603.
- 227. Okazaki T, Okazaki IM, Wang J, Sugiura D, Nakaki F, Yoshida T, et al. PD-1 and LAG-3 inhibitory coreceptors act synergistically to prevent autoimmunity in mice. J Exp Med. 2011;208:395–407.
- 228. Kocak E, Lute K, Chang X, May KF, Exten KR, Zhang H, et al. Combination therapy with anti-CTL antigen-4 and anti-4-1BB antibodies enhances cancer immunity and reduces autoimmunity. Cancer Res. 2006;66:7276–84.
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:122–33.
- 230. Triebel F, Jitsukawa S, Baixeras E, Roman-Roman S, Genevee C, Viegas-Pequignot E, Hercend T. LAG-3, a novel lymphocyte activation gene closely related to CD4. J Exp Med. 1990;171:1393–405.
- 231. Huard B, Prigent P, Tournier M, Bruniquel D, Triebel F. CD4/major histocompatibility complex class II interaction analyzed with CD4- and lymphocyte activation gene-3 (LAG-3)-Ig fusion proteins. Eur J Immunol. 1995;25:2718–21.
- 232. Avice M, Sarfati M, Triebel F, Delespesse G, Demeure C. Lymphocyte activation gene-3, a MHC

class II ligand expressed on activated T cells, stimulates TNF-alpha and IL-12 production by monocytes and dendritic cells. J Immunol. 1999;162:2748–53.

- 233. Huard B, Tournier M, Hercend T, Triebel F, Faure F. Lymphocyte-activation gene 3/major histocompatibility complex class II interaction modulates the antigenic response of CD4+ T lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol. 1994;24:3216–21.
- Hannier S, Tournier M, Bismuth G, Triebel F. CD3/ TCR complex-associated lymphocyte activation gene-3 molecules inhibit CD3/TCR signaling. J Immunol. 1998;161:4058–65.
- 235. Triebel F. LAG-3: a regulator of T-cell and DC responses and its use in therapeutic vaccination. Trends Immunol. 2003;24:619–22.
- 236. Camisaschi C, Casati C, Rini F, Perego M, Filippo A, Triebel F, et al. LAG-3 expression defines a subset of CD4(+)CD25(high)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells that are expanded at tumor sites. J Immunol. 2010;184:6545–51.
- 237. Blackburn SD, Shin H, Haining NW, Zou T, Workman CJ, Polley A, et al. Coregulation of CD8+ T cell exhaustion by multiple inhibitory receptors during chronic viral infection. Nat Immunol. 2009;10:29–37.
- 238. Grosso JF, Goldberg MV, Getnet D, Bruno TC, Yen HR, Pyle KJ, et al. Functionally distinct LAG-3 and PD-1 subsets on activated and chronically stimulated CD8 T cells. J Immunol. 2009;182:6659–69.
- 239. Deffrennes V, Vedrenne J, Stolzenberg M, Piskurich J, Barbieri G, Ting J, et al. Constitutive expression of MHC class II genes in melanoma cell lines results from the transcription of class II transactivator abnormally initiated from its B cell-specific promoter. J Immunol. 2001;167:98–106.
- 240. Martins I, Sylla K, Deshayes F, Lauriol J, Ghislin S, Dieu-Nosjean MC, et al. Coexpression of major histocompatibility complex class II with chemokines and nuclear NFkappaB p50 in melanoma: a rational for their association with poor prognosis. Melanoma Res. 2009;19:226–37.
- 241. Hemon P, Jean-Louis F, Ramgolam K, Brignone C, Viguier M, Bachelez H, et al. MHC class II engagement by its ligand LAG-3 (CD223) contributes to melanoma resistance to apoptosis. J Immunol. 2011;186:5173–83.
- 242. Grosso JF, Kelleher CC, Harris TJ, Maris CH, Hipkiss EL, De Marzo A, et al. LAG-3 regulates CD8+ T cell accumulation and effector function in murine self- and tumor-tolerance systems. J Clin Invest. 2007;117:3383–92.
- 243. Miyazaki T, Dierich A, Benoist C, Mathis D. Independent modes of natural killing distinguished in mice lacking Lag3. Science. 1996;272:405–8.
- 244. Triebel F, Hacene K, Pichon MF. A soluble lymphocyte activation gene-3 (sLAG-3) protein as a prognostic factor in human breast cancer expressing estrogen or progesterone receptors. Cancer Lett. 2006;235:147–53.

- 245. Fougeray S, Brignone C, Triebel F. A soluble LAG-3 protein as an immunopotentiator for therapeutic vaccines: preclinical evaluation of IMP321. Vaccine. 2006;24:5426–33.
- 246. Brignone C, Grygar C, Marcu M, Perrin G, Triebel F. IMP321 (sLAG-3), an immunopotentiator for T cell responses against a HBsAg antigen in healthy adults: a single blind randomised controlled phase I study. J Immune Based Ther Vaccines. 2007;5:5.
- 247. Brignone C, Escudier B, Grygar C, Marcu M. Triebel F a phase I pharmacokinetic and biological correlative study of IMP321, a novel MHC class II agonist, in patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:6225–31.
- 248. Wang-Gillam A, Plambeck-Suess S, Goedegebuure P, Simon PO, Mitchem JB, Hornick JR, et al. A phase I study of IMP321 and gemcitabine as the front-line therapy in patients with advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Investig New Drugs. 2013;31:707–13.
- 249. Ascierto P, Simeone E, Sznol M, Fu Y, Melero I. Clinical experiences with anti-CD137 and anti-PD1 therapeutic antibodies. Semin Oncol. 2010;37:508–16.
- 250. Vinay DS, Kwon BS. 4-1BB signaling beyond T cells. Cell Mol Immunol. 2011;8:281–4.
- Watts TH. TNF/TNFR family members in costimulation of T cell responses. Ann Rev Immunol. 2005;23:23–68.
- 252. Melero I, Shuford W, Newby S, Aruffo A, Ledbetter J, Hellström K, et al. Monoclonal antibodies against the 4-1BB T-cell activation molecule eradicate established tumors. Nat Med. 1997;3:682–5.
- 253. Palazón A, Teijeira A, Martinez-Forero I, Hervas-Stubbs S, Roncal C, Penuelas I, et al. Agonist anti-CD137 mAb act on tumor endothelial cells to enhance recruitment of activated T lymphocytes. Cancer Res. 2011;71:801–11.
- 254. Miller RE, Jones J, Le T, Whitmore J, Boiani N, Gliniak B, Lynch DH. 4-1BB-specific monoclonal antibody promotes the generation of tumor-specific immune responses by direct activation of CD8 T cells in a CD40-dependent manner. J Immunol. 2002;169:1792–800.
- 255. Takahashi C, Mittler R, Vella A. Cutting edge: 4-1BB is a bona fide CD8 T cell survival signal. J Immunol. 1999;162:5037–40.
- Bukczynski J, Wen T, Watts TH. Costimulation of human CD28- T cells by 4-1BB ligand. Eur J Immunol. 2003;33:446–54.
- 257. Wilcox RA, Tamada K, Flies DB, Zhu G, Chapoval AI, Blazar BR, et al. Ligation of CD137 receptor prevents and reverses established anergy of CD8+ cytolytic T lymphocytes in vivo. Blood. 2004;103:177–84.
- 258. Melero I, Johnston J, Shufford W, Mittler R, Chen L. NK1.1 cells express 4-1BB (CDw137) costimulatory molecule and are required for tumor immunity elicited by anti-4-1BB monoclonal antibodies. Cell Immunol. 1998;190:167–72.

- 259. Fisher TS, Kamperschroer C, Oliphant T, Love VA, Lira PD, Doyonnas R, et al. Targeting of 4-1BB by monoclonal antibody PF-05082566 enhances T-cell function and promotes anti-tumor activity. Cancer Immunol Immnother. 2012;61:1721–33.
- 260. Murillo O, Arina A, Hervas-Stubbs S, Gupta A, MuCluskey B, Dubrot J, et al. Therapeutic antitumor efficacy of anti-CD137 agonistic monoclonal antibody in mouse models of myeloma. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:6895–906.
- 261. Dubrot J, Milheiro F, Alfaro C, Palazon A, Martinez-Forero I, Perez-Garcia JL, et al. Treatment with anti-CD137 mAbs causes intense accumulations of liver T cells without selective antitumor immunotherapeutic effects in this organ. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2010;59:1223–33.
- 262. Ye Z, Hellström I, Hayden-Ledbetter M, Dahlin A, Ledbetter JA, Hellström K. Gene therapy for cancer using single-chain Fv fragments specific for 4-1BB. Nat Med. 2002;8:343–8.
- 263. Ito F, Li Q, Shreiner AB, Okuyama R, Jure-Kunkel MN, Teitz-Tennenbaum S, Chang AE. Anti-CD137 monoclonal antibody administration augments the antitumor efficacy of dendritic cell-based vaccines. Cancer Res. 2004;64:8411–9.
- 264. Uno T, Takeda K, Kojima Y, Yoshizawa H, Akiba H, Mittler RS, et al. Eradication of established tumors in mice by a combination antibody-based therapy. Nat Med. 2006;12:693–8.
- 265. May KF, Chen L, Zheng P, Liu Y. Anti-4-1BB monoclonal antibody enhances rejection of large tumor burden by promoting survival but not clonal expansion of tumor-specific CD8+ T cells. Cancer Res. 2002;62:3459–65.
- 266. Kim YH, Choi BK, Kim KH, Kang SW, Kwon BS. Combination therapy with cisplatin and anti-4-1BB: synergistic anticancer effects and amelioration of cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity. Cancer Res. 2008;68:7264–9.
- 267. Sznol M, Hodi FS, Margolin K, McDermott DF, Ernstoff MS, Kirkwood JM, et al. Phase I study of BMS-663513, a fully human anti-CD137 agonist monoclonal antibody, in patients (pts) with advanced cancer (CA). J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:3007.
- 268. Bekiaris V, Gaspal F, Kim MY, Withers DR, Sweet C, Anderson G, Lane PJ. Synergistic OX40 and CD30 signals sustain CD8+ T cells during antigenic challenge. Eur J Immunol. 2009;39:2120–5.
- Salek-Ardakani S, Moutaftsi M, Crotty S, Sette A, Croft M. OX40 drives protective vaccinia virusspecific CD8 T cells. J Immunol. 2008;181:7969–76.
- 270. Mousavi S, Soroosh P, Takahashi T, Yoshikai Y, Shen H, Lefrançois L, et al. OX40 costimulatory signals potentiate the memory commitment of effector CD8+ T cells. J Immunol. 2008;181:5990–6001.
- 271. Gough MJ, Ruby CE, Redmond WL, Dhungel B, Brown A, Weinberg AD. OX40 agonist therapy enhances CD8 infiltration and decreases immune suppression in the tumor. Cancer Res. 2008;68:5206–15.

- 272. Ruby CE, Redmond WL, Haley D, Weinberg AD. Anti-OX40 stimulation in vivo enhances CD8+ memory T cell survival and significantly increases recall responses. Eur J Immunol. 2007;37:157–66.
- 273. Weinberg AD, Morris NP, Kovacsovics-Bankowski M, Urba WJ, Curti BD. Science gone translational: the OX40 agonist story. Immunol Rev. 2011;244:218–31.
- 274. Mallett S, Fossum S, Barclay A. Characterization of the MRC OX40 antigen of activated CD4 positive T lymphocytes--a molecule related to nerve growth factor receptor. EMBO J. 1990;9:1063–8.
- 275. Jensen S, Maston L, Gough M, Ruby CE, Redmond WL, Crittenden M, et al. Signaling through OX40 enhances antitumor immunity. Semin Oncol. 2010;37:524–32.
- 276. Gramaglia I, Weinberg A, Lemon M, Croft M. Ox-40 ligand: a potent costimulatory molecule for sustaining primary CD4 T cell responses. J Immunol. 1998;161:6510–7.
- 277. Ishii N, Ndhlovu LC, Murata K, Sato T, Kamanaka M, Sugamura K. OX40 (CD134) and OX40 ligand interaction plays an adjuvant role during in vivo Th2 responses. Eur J Immunol. 2003;33:2372–81.
- 278. Murata K, Ishii N, Takano H, Miura S, Ndhlovu L, Nose M, et al. Impairment of antigen-presenting cell function in mice lacking expression of OX40 ligand. J Exp Med. 2000;191:365–74.
- 279. Gramaglia I, Jember A, Pippig S, Weinberg A, Killeen N, Croft M. The OX40 costimulatory receptor determines the development of CD4 memory by regulating primary clonal expansion. J Immunol. 2000;165:3043–50.
- 280. Xiao X, Gong W, Demirci G, Liu W, Spoerl S, Chu X, et al. New insights on OX40 in the control of T cell immunity and immune tolerance in vivo. J Immunol. 2012;188:892–901.
- 281. Valzasina B, Guiducci C, Dislich H, Killeen N, Weinberg AD, Colombo MP. Triggering of OX40 (CD134) on CD4(+)CD25+ T cells blocks their inhibitory activity: a novel regulatory role for OX40 and its comparison with GITR. Blood. 2005;105:2845–51.
- Murata K, Nose M, Ndhlovu LC, Sato T, Sugamura K, Ishii N. Constitutive OX40/OX40 ligand interaction induces autoimmune-like diseases. J Immunol. 2002;169:4628–36.
- 283. Chen A, McAdam A, Buhlmann J, Scott S, Lupher ML Jr, Greenfield EA, et al. Ox40-ligand has a critical costimulatory role in dendritic cell:T cell interactions. Immunity. 1999;11:689–98.
- 284. Vetto J, Lum S, Morris A, Sicotte M, Davis J, Lemon M, et al. Presence of the T-cell activation marker OX-40 on tumor infiltrating lymphocytes and draining lymph node cells from patients with melanoma and head and neck cancers. Am J Surg. 1997;174:258–65.
- 285. Ramstad T, Lawnicki L, Vetto J, Weinberg A. Immunohistochemical analysis of primary breast tumors and tumor-draining lymph nodes by means

of the T-cell costimulatory molecule OX-40. Am J Surg. 2000;179:400–6.

- 286. Weinberg A, Rivera M, Prell R, Morris A, Ramstad T, Vetto J, et al. Engagement of the OX-40 receptor in vivo enhances antitumor immunity. J Immunol. 2000;64:2160–9.
- 287. Morris A, Vetto J, Ramstad T, Funatake C, Choolun E, Entwisle C, et al. Induction of anti-mammary cancer immunity by engaging the OX-40 receptor in vivo. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2001;67:71–80.
- Weinberg A, Vella A, Croft M. OX-40: life beyond the effector T cell stage. Semin Immunol. 1998;10:471–80.
- 289. Evans D, Prell R, Thalhofer C, Hurwitz A, Weinberg A. Engagement of OX40 enhances antigen-specific CD4(+) T cell mobilization/memory development and humoral immunity: comparison of alphaOX-40 with alphaCTLA-4. J Immunol. 2001;167:6804–11.
- 290. Houot R, Levy R. T-cell modulation combined with intratumoral CpG cures lymphoma in a mouse model without the need for chemotherapy. Blood. 2009;113:3546–52.
- 291. Gough MJ, Crittenden MR, Sarff M, Pang P, Seung SK, Vetto JT, et al. Adjuvant therapy with agonistic antibodies to CD134 (OX40) increases local control after surgical or radiation therapy of cancer in mice. J Immunother. 2010;33:798–809.
- 292. Schaer DA, Murphy JT, Wolchok JD. Modulation of GITR for cancer immunotherapy. Curr Opin Immunol. 2012;24(2):217–24.
- 293. Tone M, Tone Y, Adams E, Yates SF, Frewin MR, Cobbold SP, et al. Mouse glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor ligand is costimulatory for T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100:15059–64.
- 294. Snell LM, Lin GH, McPherson AJ, Moraes TJ, Watts TH. T-cell intrinsic effects of GITR and 4-1BB during viral infection and cancer immunotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2011;244:197–217.
- 295. Shevach EM, Stephens GL. The GITR-GITRL interaction: co-stimulation or contrasuppression of regulatory activity? Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6:613–8.
- 296. Kim J, Choi B, Bae J, Lee U, Han I, Lee H, et al. Cloning and characterization of GITR ligand. Genes Immun. 2003;4:564–9.
- 297. Ronchetti S, Zollo O, Bruscoli S, Agostini M, Bianchini R, Nocentini G, et al. GITR, a member of the TNF receptor superfamily, is costimulatory to mouse T lymphocyte subpopulations. Eur J Immunol. 2004;34:613–22.
- 298. Stephens GL, McHugh RS, Whitters MJ, Young DA, Luxenberg D, Carreno BM, et al. Engagement of glucocorticoid-induced TNFR family-related receptor on effector T cells by its ligand mediates resistance to suppression by CD4+CD25+ T cells. J Immunol. 2004;173:5008–20.
- 299. Kanamaru F, Youngnak P, Hashiguchi M, Nishioka T, Takahashi T, Sakaguchi S, et al. Costimulation via glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor in both

conventional and CD25+ regulatory CD4+ T cells. J Immunol. 2004;172:7306–14.

- 300. Kohm AP, Williams JS, Miller SD. Cutting edge: ligation of the glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor enhances autoreactive CD4+ T cell activation and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2004;172:4686–90.
- 301. Snell LM, McPherson AJ, Lin GH, Sakaguchi S, Pandolfi P, Riccardi C, et al. CD8 T cell-intrinsic GITR is required for T cell clonal expansion and mouse survival following severe influenza infection. J Immunol. 2010;185:7223–34.
- 302. Cuzzocrea S, Nocentini G, Paola R, Agostini M, Mazzon E, Ronchetti S, et al. Proinflammatory role of glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor-related gene in acute lung inflammation. J Immunol. 2006;177:631–41.
- 303. Cuzzocrea S, Nocentini G, Paola R, Mazzon E, Ronchetti S, Genovese T, et al. Glucocorticoidinduced TNF receptor family gene (GITR) knockout mice exhibit a resistance to splanchnic artery occlusion (SAO) shock. J Leukoc Biol. 2004;76:933–40.
- 304. Galuppo M, Nocentini G, Mazzon E, Ronchetti S, Esposito E, Riccardi L, et al. GITR gene deletion and GITR-FC soluble protein administration inhibit multiple organ failure induced by zymosan. Shock. 2011;36:263–71.
- 305. Boczkowski D, Lee J, Pruitt S, Nair S. Dendritic cells engineered to secrete anti-GITR antibodies are effective adjuvants to dendritic cell-based immunotherapy. Cancer Gene Ther. 2009;16:900–11.
- 306. Nishikawa H, Kato T, Hirayama M, Orito Y, Sato E, Harada N, et al. Regulatory T cell-resistant CD8+ T cells induced by glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor signaling. Cancer Res. 2008;68:5948–54.
- 307. Cohen AD, Diab A, Perales MA, Julchok JD, Rizzuto G, Merghoub T, et al. Agonist anti-GITR antibody enhances vaccine-induced CD8(+) T-cell responses and tumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2006;66:4904–12.
- Eliopoulos AG, Young LS. The role of the CD40 pathway in the pathogenesis and treatment of cancer. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2004;4:360–7.
- van Kooten C, Banchereau J. CD40-CD40 ligand. J Leukoc Biol. 2000;67:2–17.
- 310. Wang Y, Kelly C, Karttunen J, Whittall T, Lehner PJ, Duncan L, et al. CD40 is a cellular receptor mediating mycobacterial heat shock protein 70 stimulation of CC-chemokines. Immunity. 2001;15:971–83.
- 311. Brodeur SR, Angelini F, Bacharier LB, Blom AM, Mizoguchi E, Fujiwara H, et al. C4b-binding protein (C4BP) activates B cells through the CD40 receptor. Immunity. 2003;18:837–48.
- 312. Mach F, Schönbeck U, Sukhova G, Bourcier T, Bonnefoy J, Pober J, et al. Functional CD40 ligand is expressed on human vascular endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, and macrophages: implications for CD40-CD40 ligand signaling in atherosclerosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94:1931–6.

- 313. Stout R, Suttles J, Xu J, Grewal I, Flavell R. Impaired T cell-mediated macrophage activation in CD40 ligand-deficient mice. J Immunol. 1996;156:8–11.
- 314. Mackey M, Barth R, Noelle R. The role of CD40/ CD154 interactions in the priming, differentiation, and effector function of helper and cytotoxic T cells. J Leukoc Biol. 1998;63:418–28.
- 315. Bennett S, Carbone F, Karamalis F, Flavell R, Miller J, Heath W. Help for cytotoxic-T-cell responses is mediated by CD40 signalling. Nature. 1998;393:478–80.
- 316. Ridge J, Rosa DF, Matzinger P. A conditioned dendritic cell can be a temporal bridge between a CD4+ T-helper and a T-killer cell. Nature. 1998;393:474–8.
- 317. Schoenberger S, Toes R, van der Voort E, Offringa R, Melief C. T-cell help for cytotoxic T lymphocytes is mediated by CD40-CD40L interactions. Nature. 1998;393:480–3.
- Callard R, Armitage R, Fanslow W, Spriggs M. CD40 ligand and its role in X-linked hyper-IgM syndrome. Immunol Today. 1993;14:559–64.
- 319. Hill SC, Youde SJ, Man S, Teale GR, Baxendale AJ, Hislop A, et al. Activation of CD40 in cervical carcinoma cells facilitates CTL responses and augments chemotherapy-induced apoptosis. J Immunol. 2005;174:41–50.
- 320. Mackey M, Gunn J, Maliszewsky C, Kikutani H, Noelle R, Barth R. Dendritic cells require maturation via CD40 to generate protective antitumor immunity. J Immunol. 1998;161:2094–8.
- 321. Mackey M, Gunn J, Ting P, Kikutani H, Dranoff G, Noelle R, et al. Protective immunity induced by tumor vaccines requires interaction between CD40 and its ligand, CD154. Cancer Res. 1997;57:2569–74.
- 322. Sotomayor E, Borrello I, Tubb E, Rattis F, Bien H, Lu Z, et al. Conversion of tumor-specific CD4+ T-cell tolerance to T-cell priming through in vivo ligation of CD40. Nat Med. 1999;5:780–7.
- 323. Diehl L, den Boer A, Schoenberger S, van der Voort E, Schumacher T, Melief C, et al. CD40 activation in vivo overcomes peptide-induced peripheral cytotoxic T-lymphocyte tolerance and augments antitumor vaccine efficacy. Nat Med. 1999;5:774–9.
- 324. French R, Chan H, Tutt A, Glennie M. CD40 antibody evokes a cytotoxic T-cell response that eradicates lymphoma and bypasses T-cell help. Nat Med. 1999;5:548–53.
- 325. Tutt AL, O'Brien L, Hussain A, Crowther GR, French RR, Glennie MJ. T cell immunity to lymphoma following treatment with anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody. J Immunol. 2002;168:2720–8.
- 326. Todryk S, Tutt A, Green M, Smallwood J, Halanek N, Dalgleish A, et al. CD40 ligation for immunotherapy of solid tumours. J Immunol Methods. 2001;248:139–47.
- 327. Vonderheide RH, Glennie MJ. Agonistic CD40 antibodies and cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:1035–43.
- 328. Pellat-Deceunynck C, Amiot M, Robillard N, Wijdenes J, Bataille R. CD11a-CD18 and CD102

interactions mediate human myeloma cell growth arrest induced by CD40 stimulation. Cancer Res. 1996;56:1909–16.

- 329. Funakoshi S, Longo D, Beckwith M, Conley D, Tsarfaty G, Tsarfaty I, et al. Inhibition of human B-cell lymphoma growth by CD40 stimulation. Blood. 1994;83:2787–94.
- 330. Vonderheide R, Dutcher J, Anderson J, Eckhardt S, Stephans K, Razvillas B, et al. Phase I study of recombinant human CD40 ligand in cancer patients. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19:3280–7.
- 331. Vonderheide RH, Flaherty KT, Khalil M, Stumacher MS, Bajor DL, Hutnick NA, et al. Clinical activity and immune modulation in cancer patients treated with CP-870,893, a novel CD40 agonist monoclonal antibody. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:876–83.
- 332. Rüter J, Antonia SJ, Burris HA, Huhn RD, Vonderheide RH. Immune modulation with weekly dosing of an agonist CD40 antibody in a phase I study of patients with advanced solid tumors. Cancer Biol Ther. 2010;10:983–93.
- 333. Beatty GL, Chiorean EG, Fishman MP, Saboury B, Teitelbaum UR, Sun W, et al. CD40 agonists alter tumor stroma and show efficacy against pancreatic carcinoma in mice and humans. Science. 2011;331:1612–6.
- 334. Vonderheide RH, Burg JM, Mick R, Trosko JA, Li D, Shaik NM, et al. Phase I study of the CD40 agonist antibody CP-870,893 combined with carboplatin and paclitaxel in patients with advanced solid tumors. OncoImmunology. 2013;2:e23033.
- 335. Hussein M, Berenson JR, Niesvizky R, Munshi N, Matous J, Sobecks R, et al. A phase I multidose study of dacetuzumab (SGN-40; humanized anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody) in patients with multiple myeloma. Haematologica. 2010;95:845–8.
- 336. Furman RR, Forero-Torres A, Shustov A, Drachman JG. A phase I study of dacetuzumab (SGN-40, a humanized anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody) in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2010;51:228–35.
- 337. Lewis TS, McCormick RS, Emmerton K, Lau JT, Yu S-F, McEarchern JA, et al. Distinct apoptotic signaling characteristics of the anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody dacetuzumab and rituximab produce enhanced antitumor activity in non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17:4672–81.
- 338. Forero-Torres A, Bartlett N, Beaven A, Myint H, Nasta S, Northfelt DW, et al. Pilot study of dacetuzumab in combination with rituximab and gemcitabine for relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma. 2013;54(2):277–83.
- 339. Johnson PW, Steven NM, Chowdhury F, Dobbyn J, Hall E, Ashton-Key M, et al. A Cancer Research UK phase I study evaluating safety, tolerability, and biological effects of chimeric anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody (MAb), Chi Lob 7/4. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(15_suppl):2507.
- 340. Planken E, Dijkstra N, Willemze R, Kluin-Nelemans J. Proliferation of B cell malignancies in all stages of

differentiation upon stimulation in the "CD40 system". Leukemia. 1996;10(3):488–93.

- 341. Byrd JC, Kipps TJ, Flinn IW, Cooper M, Odenjke O, Bendiske J, et al. Phase I study of the anti-CD40 humanized monoclonal antibody lucatumumab (HCD122) in relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2012;53(11):2136–42.
- 342. Bensinger W, Maziarz RT, Jagannath S, Spencer A, Durrant S, Becker PS, et al. A phase 1 study of lucatumumab, a fully human anti-CD40 antagonist monoclonal antibody administered intravenously to patients with relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma. Br J Haematol. 2012;159(1):58–66.
- 343. Du W, Yang M, Turner A, Xu C, Ferris RL, Huang J, et al. TIM-3 as a target for cancer immunotherapy and mechanisms of action. In J Mol Sci. 2017;18(3):645.
- 344. Das M, Zhu C, Kuchroo VK. Tim-3 and its role in regulating anti-tumor immunity. Immunol Rev. 2017;276:97–111.
- 345. Bourre L (2017) What's Next for Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors: TIM-3? In: CrownBio. https://blog.

crownbio.com/tim-3-immune-checkpoint-inhibitor. 2017. Accessed 15 June 2018.

- 346. Gao X, Zhu Y, Li G, Huang H, Zhang G, Wang F, et al. TIM-3 expression characterizes regulatory T cells in tumor tissues and is associated with lung cancer progression. PLoS One. 2012;7(2):e30676.
- 347. Ocaña-Guzman R, Torre-Bouscoulet L, Sada-Ovalle I. TIM-3 regulates distinct functions in macrophages. Front Immunol. 2016;7:229.
- 348. Nirschl CJ, Drake CG. Molecular pathways: coexpression of immune checkpoint molecules: signaling pathways and implications for cancer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:4917–24.
- 349. Freeman GJ, Casasnovas JM, Umetsu DT, DeKruyff RH. TIM genes: a family of cell surface phosphatidylserine receptors that regulate innate and adaptive immunity. Immunol Rev. 2010;235:172–89.
- 350. Suntharalingam G, Perry MR, Ward S, Brett SJ, Castello-Cortes A, Brunner MD, et al. Cytokine storm in a phase 1 trial of the anti-CD28 monoclonal antibody TGN1412. N Engl J Med. 2006;355:1018–28.



Gene Therapy and Genetic Vaccines

7

Sara Hemmati, Mahsa Keshavarz-Fathi, Sepideh Razi, and Nima Rezaei

Contents

7.1	Introduction	130
7.2	Gene Therapies	130
7.2.1	Gene Delivery Methods	130
7.2.1.1	Viral Vector	130
7.2.1.2	Nonviral Vector	132
7.2.2	Gene Therapy Strategies	133
7.2.2.1	Tumor Cell Killing Therapies	133
7.2.2.2	Oncogene Blocking	134
7.2.2.3	Antitumor Immunity Enhancement	135
7.3	Genetic Vaccines	136
7.3.1	DNA Vaccines	136
7.3.2	RNA Vaccines	136
7.3.3	Virus-Based Vaccines	138
7.3.4	Prime-Boost Cancer Vaccines	138
Referen	ces	139

S. Hemmati · M. Keshavarz-Fathi Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

S. Razi

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

Student Research Committee, School of Medicine, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran N. Rezaei (🖂)

Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Network of Immunity in Infection, Malignancy and Autoimmunity (NIIMA), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran e-mail: rezaei_nima@tums.ac.ir;

rezaei_nima@yahoo.com

7.1 Introduction

Delivering genetic components into tumor cells for a therapeutic approach is the main goal of gene therapy. This appealing concept has been studied in various in vitro and preclinical researches for perturbing oncogenic or tumor suppressor mutations. However, a few of these approaches are successfully implemented in the clinic. Clinical effectiveness of these therapies depends on many factors including gene delivery to tissues, transfection efficacy, duration of expression, and more importantly finding an effective gene in diverse tumors. Therefore, progressing researches are conducted to discover targeted delivery vehicles for locally high but systemically low cytotoxic effect.

Aside from therapeutic approaches, preventing tumorigenesis is an interesting area of research. One of the suggested approaches for preventing this event is called cancer vaccination. Introducing tumor-associated antigens (TAA) to the immune system is the key step for endogenous antitumor activities. The majority of vaccine strategies involve the presentation of TAAs for activating tumor-specific T cells. Continuous in vivo presentation of antigen proteins can be maintained through a specific protein-expressing DNA cassette, which is the main concept of generating DNA vaccines. Clinically available cancer vaccines require optimization in vaccine delivery methods from simply needle injection of naked plasmid DNA to administering complex vectors.

7.2 Gene Therapies

7.2.1 Gene Delivery Methods

Clinical application of gene therapy requires an appropriate route of gene delivery. There are various vectors, which differ in the amount of the gene introduced and maintaining the long-term expression of the gene. Viruses are ideal vectors used in the delivery of therapeutic genes. Different types of viruses can be transformed into viral vectors by replacing the infection-inducing genes with the transgenes of interest. Nonviral vectors can also be administered for transferring genes of interest. These include chemical transfection using lipids, proteins, polymers, etc. [1].

7.2.1.1 Viral Vector

Gene therapy-engineered viral vectors are replication-defective or selectively replicating viruses. These vectors can be classified based on their origin, integration ability, etc. Genomeintegrating viral vectors facilitate the long-term expression of genes, whereas they increase the risk of perturbing the regulatory/transcriptionally active genes. Specificity of viral vectors for cancer cells can be maintained through cell-type specific ligand or antibody [2]. However, many solid tumors lack a specific tumor ligand/antigen. Transcriptional targeting using conditional promoters such as hypoxia-inducible systems can successfully target solid tumors due to their hypoxic microenvironment. The hypoxia-specific regulatory system is constructed from the hypoxia-response element (HRE) binding to a basal promoter. Systemic administration of these constructs is not feasible due to the similar states of some tissues to the hypoxic tumor microenvironment. Designing a dual regulatory system consisting of HRE sequence and the tissuespecific promoters can reduce the off-target gene delivery and following cell toxicity [3]. A combination of survivin promoter (Sur-P) and HRE could specifically induce apoptosis in breast cancer cells [4]. Another combinatory approach is estrogen response elements (ERE) and HRE for selective breast cancer gene therapy [5].

Adenovirus

Adenoviral vectors can infect a broad spectrum of host cells based on their various subtypes. Adenoviruses are classified based on their genomic homology, agglutination capacity, and oncogenic potential. Most of the recombinant adenoviral vectors are derived from Adenovirus serotypes 2 and 5. Their infection capacity is not confined to dividing cells as they are usually expressed in the cytoplasm without the risk of gene insertion mutagenesis [7]. The adenovirus genome contains eight transcription units, which are flanked by two ITRs: early units (E1, E2, E3, E4, and E5), units with delayed expression after viral replication (IX and IVa2), and a late unit (subdivided into L1, L2, L3, L4, and L5 genes) [6]. Advexin is an AD5 vector in which E1 and E3 genes are deleted. Deletion of these genes minimizes the toxicity of adenoviruses due to the inflammatory responses. Several tumor types have been reported to be retarded using P53 expressing Advexin including head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC), Li-Fraumeni syndrome, colorectal cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), non-small cell lung cancer, prostate cancer, breast cancer, ovary cancer, bladder cancer, and glioma [8, 9]. Sitimagene ceradenovec is an advexin-like vector that expresses the herpes simplex virus (HSV) thymidine kinase (TK) inserted into the omitted E1 region. This vector is applied in eradicating residual glioma cells in which vector-driven TK can convert ganciclovir (GCV) to ganciclovir monophosphate. This final product can induce apoptosis in remained tumor cells, which undergo rapid DNA synthesis. Several studies report the safety of adenoviral administration as no adverse event was observed in studies [10, 11].

Adeno-Associated Virus Vector (AAVVs)

Nonpathogenic parvoviruses similarly infect both dividing and non-dividing cells with various mechanisms of cell entry. Broad host tropisms of AAVs are the result of their different serotypes [12]. Efficacy of some serotypes of adenoviral vectors and AAVs may be diminished due to the presence of neutralizing antibodies. The genome consists of three open reading frames (ORF) with several genes. The rep ORF, which encodes for proteins, is required for replication and packaging. The cap ORF (VP1, VP2, VP3) and the third ORF placed within the cap gene encode proteins for viral capsid assembly. The flanking ITRs are necessary for viral replication, packaging, and integration. In order to produce the gene therapy vector, the gene of interest is inserted between the ITRs, in the place of rep and cap [13]. AA2 vectors have been widely studied in preclinical animal cancer models through various

approaches. For example, in antiangiogenic therapy designs, a soluble splice variant of VEGF receptor 1 (sFlt1) AAV2 was delivered in the ovarian cancer model [14]. Moreover, pigment epithelium-derived growth factor (PEDF) AAV2 inhibited angiogenesis in a mouse model of Lewis lung carcinoma (LCC) [15].

Suicide gene delivery can also be conducted with AAV2 vectors such as AAV2-HSV-TK in a mouse model of breast cancer (MCF-7). AAV2-TRAIL is studied as a potent apoptosis inducer in a mouse model of lymphoma [16]. Also, AAV2-IFN- β enhanced survival in mice lung cancer and colorectal cancer under the control of the hTERT promoter [17]. Moreover, snail and slug siRNAs have been reported to be delivered through AAV2s in pancreatic and cholangiocarcinoma cancer, respectively. AAV2 has recently attracted attention in studies including AAV2-CEA, AAV2-MUC1, and AAV2-aquaporin (AAVhAQP1), which can enhance parotic function in patients undergone radiotherapy for head and neck cancer [18, 19].

Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Vectors (HSVVs)

HSVVs can infect a broad spectrum of dividing and non-dividing host cells including nerves. Endothelial and dendritic cells are also targeted host cells for HSVVs [20]. In order to produce high titers of safe HSVV, infective capacity of HSV-1 is abrogated through introducing null mutations into viral early genes. Due to the ability of replication-defective viruses to remain latent in host cells, this vector can be beneficial for long-time expression of transgenes. Its nonintegrating DNA genome is divided into long and short unique segments (UL and US) and flanked by inverted repeated sequences (TRL/IRL and TRS/IRS), which can deliver large pieces of foreign DNA more than 150 kb in length [21]. Amplicon vectors of HSVVs have been used in most anticancer applications [22]. As tumors exert various characteristics, the ability of HSVVs to accommodate multiple genes makes them an appropriate vector for cancer gene therapies such as melanoma, gliosarcoma, or glioblastoma [23].

Retrovirus Vectors (RVVs)

The retrovirus genome consists of three essential genes: gag, pol, and env. Unlike previously described vectors, retroviruses integrate the host cell genome, which may increase the risk of mutagenesis and tumor progression [24]. However, integration to host DNA facilitates the longer expression of transgenes in transfected cells. The large family of retroviruses can be classified into six subgroups: alpha-, beta-, delta-, and gammaretlentiviruses. roviruses. and spumaviruses. Gammaretrovirus was among the first viruses engineered for gene therapy. Gammaretroviruses can only transfect cells while undergoing mitosis [25]. In contrast, lentiviral vectors do not require the disruption of the nucleus membrane to insert the genome, which enables them to also transfect nondividing cells [26]. In order to reduce the risk of mutagenesis in AAV and retroviral vectors, several methods have been used for achieving targeted integration. These methods include DNA doublestrand break-enhanced homologous recombination and Sleeping Beauty transposon system [27].

Lentivirus Vectors (LVVs)

Complicated genome of lentiviruses is based on HIV1, and it can also transfect non-dividing cells. Lentiviral vectors have the capacity to deliver large pieces of transgenes. Although long-term transgene expression is maintained through integration into the host genome, the risk of mutagenesis is limited for lentiviral vectors. In the most recent generation of lentiviruses, all the nine genes of HIV are omitted except gag, pol, and rev [28].

Poxviruses

Poxviruses have a self-sufficient replication system as they encode all the necessary transcription machinery. DNA of poxviruses can be replicated in the cytoplasm without the risk of insertional mutagenesis. Vaccinia subgroup of poxviruses such as MVA can affect a wide range of mammalian cells. MVA is often used in designing cancer vaccines, which are evaluated in various clinical trials (discussed in Sect. 7.3.3) [29].

7.2.1.2 Nonviral Vector

Nonviral vectors can protect the naked DNA from degradation without any inflammatory response in contrast to viral vectors. Besides, their production and administration are more cost-effective than the same quantities of viral vectors. However, their transfection capacity is inefficient. Cationic polymer carriers, cationic lipids, etc. are commonly used nonviral vectors. Inorganic nanoparticles including gold, silica, iron oxide, and quantum dots can also be used for gene delivery in various stabilized sizes and shapes [30].

Cationic Polymers

Polylysine (PLL), poly(ethyleneimine) (PEI), and chitosan are well-known cationic polymers that can form polyplexes containing negatively charged DNA. PLLs are biodegradable peptides, which may lose their function in lysosomes following endocytosis. Therefore, PLLs are usually modified with histidyl/imidazole groups to enhance their transfection capacity. PEIs can transfect a broad spectrum of cells more efficiently in comparison with PLLs. However, PEI can induce membrane disruption and lead to apoptosis of transfected cells. Transfection capacity of PEIs depends mostly on their molecular weight. Chitosan is a biodegradable polysaccharide, which is an attractive carrier due to its higher transfection efficacy and nontoxicity [31]. Several in vitro studies determined the capacity of PEI and PLL for antitumor gene or specific siRNA delivery in breast cancer [32, 33].

Lipid Polymers

Lipofectin and lipofectamine have been broadly used in gene therapy clinical trials. The cationic polar head of lipids interacts with phosphate groups of nucleic acid, and the hydrophobic part forms the main structure of liposomes. Lipidbased hybrids such as stabilized plasmid-lipid particle (SPLP) and stable nucleic acid-lipid particle (SNALP) can also be administered for systemic gene delivery [34].

7.2.2 Gene Therapy Strategies

Cancer gene therapy can be conducted using different gene therapy strategies with different gene transfer vectors. These include tumor cell killing through induction of apoptosis, antiangiogenic, and suicide gene transfer for prodrug activation enhancing chemotherapy. Moreover, the correction of gene defects and abnormal upregulation of oncogenes through antisense and RNA interference (RNAi) is also an appealing strategy. However, most of these strategies are just approved in animal models, and only a few of these approaches have been evaluated in clinical trials. In the 1990s, the first attempt to genetically treat cancer was conducted in which melanomainfiltrating lymphocytes were transduced with TNFa gene in vitro [35]. Today, nearly 1200 cancer gene therapy clinical trials have been conducted worldwide.

7.2.2.1 Tumor Cell Killing Therapies

Suicide Gene

The optimum dose of chemotherapeutic drugs is difficult to manage due to its hazardous effects on normal cells. Designing "suicide gene therapies" enables the tumor cells to exclusively convert harmless prodrugs to cytotoxic factors. Examples of this approach are the delivery of *herpes simplex virus* (HSV)-thymidine kinase (TK) and bacterial cytosine deaminase (CD) [36].

TK is an ATP-thymidine 5'-phosphotransferase naturally present in all living cells. HSV-TK can phosphorylate analogue of ganciclovir (GCV). Integration of phosphorylated GCV into newly synthesized DNA triggers the apoptotic signaling cascade. This approach becomes more effective considering the bystander effect in which toxic metabolites can be transferred to adjacent cells by gap junctions [37]. TK delivery has been used in clinical trials to treat glioma, prostate cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, breast cancer, etc. [38–41].

CD converts the nontoxic 5-fluorocytosine (5FC) into the toxic chemotherapeutic drug, 5-fluorouracil (5FU). 5FU inhibits nucleic acid synthesis selectively in CD-delivered tumor cells

[42]. Plasmid DNA containing CD has been injected into breast cancer patients, which showed specific expression in tumor cells. However, tumor growth was minimally retarded [43]. ICasp9, as a newly introduced suicide gene, can induce cell death when combined with AP20187 small molecule. Inoculating mesenchymal stromal/stem cells (MSC) showed promising outcomes in cancer gene therapies. For instance, MSC co-expressing iCasp9 and TRAIL exerted promising anticancer effects in an aggressive sarcoma [44].

Apoptosis

Resistance of tumor cells to apoptosis is also an important etiology of tumor progression. Therefore, several genes have been studied for inducing apoptosis in tumor cells. TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) is a potent mediator of apoptosis in tumor cells. TRAIL can affect cells through four receptors among which TRAIL-R1 and TRAIL-R2 contain the cytoplasmic death domain. Complex interactions of factors downstream the activation of DD would result in caspase activations and apoptosis. Due to its specificity and high expression, gene therapies are designed using TRAIL. Adenoviralmediated TRAIL gene therapy has been evaluated in prostate cancer [45]. Adipose mesenchymal stromal/stem cells (AD-MSC) can be designated as anticancer carriers as they can reside in the tumor environment after local injection. In a study, AD-MSC was armed to constantly release a soluble variant of TRAIL [46]. Improvement in TRAIL transfection efficacy has been made through a nonviral vector called fluorinated polydendrimer (G4-F7 35) [47].

Inhibition of the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway is one of the major causes of tumor cell resistance to chemotherapies. Targeting the intrinsic apoptosis pathway was studied through BAX adenovirus in gastric cancer. However, it exerted toxicity in healthy cells [48]. Inhibition of antiapoptotic factors is also an attractive approach for cancer therapies. Administration of miR-195, miR-24-2, and miR-365-2 showed promising BCL2 downregulation and further apoptosis induction in MCF-7 breast cancer cells [49]. X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis (XIAP) specifically inhibits the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway, which was induced by caspases 3, 7, and 9. Direct downregulation of XIAP via antisense RNA augmented apoptosis induction in human gastric cancer in vitro [50]. E3 ubiquitin ligase can bind to multiple mRNAs and upregulate their expression such as XIAP. In a dual inhibiting approach using E3 ubiquitin ligasespecific siRNA, XIAP downregulation and consequent apoptosis induction are resulted [51]. Melanoma differentiation-associated gene-7 (MDA7) or IL-24 exerts various antitumor functions such as tumor suppression, antiangiogenesis, and apoptosis induction. MDA7 transfection demonstrated promising outcomes in HER2+ breast cancer, laryngeal carcinoma cell, and osteosarcoma [52–54].

Antiangiogenic

Tumor growth, further progression, and metastasis require an increased supply of blood flow. Angiogenesis in tumor area is dependent on several growth factors including interleukins (ILs), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), proteolytic enzymes (cathepsin, urokinase-type plasminogen activator, gelatinases A/B), and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and endoglin. VEGF, survivin, and endoglin siRNAs have been designated as antiangiogenesis gene therapies [55]. NK4 is a potent antiangiogenesis factor, which indirectly inhibits VEGF. Usefulness of adenoviral-mediated NK4 gene therapies has been confirmed in syngeneic mice melanoma, lung, and digestive system cancers [56, 57]. Angiostatin, endostatin, IL-24, IL-18, etc. are other angiogenesis inhibitors for gene therapy. Administration of antiangiogenic modulators has advantages of lower systemic toxicity because of the higher sensitivity of the tumor environment to these therapies. However, due to the lower capacity of antiangiogenesis therapies alone, combinational strategies are more beneficial, for instance, co-transfection of angiostatin with p53, IL-12, FAS, etc. [55].

Tumor Suppressor Insertion

Several "tumor suppressor" genes are responsible for ending the cell cycle in order to inhibit further growth of abnormal cells. For instance, P53 is a well-known tumor suppressor, which participates in apoptosis induction during cellular stress. Abnormal function or downregulation of tumor suppressor genes is one of the most important etiologies of tumor initiation and propagation. Restoring the normally expressed tumor suppressors is considered an efficacious approach in cancer gene therapy. P53 is one of the common target genes in cancer gene therapies. Intratumoral injection of adenoviral vector encoding P53 has been evaluated in recurrent malignant gliomas [58]. GendicineTM, a trade product for P53 gene therapy, showed promising outcomes in several cancer clinical trials including laryngeal cancer and head and neck squamous cell carcinoma [59]. OncorineTM and ONYX-015 are similar adenoviral P53 delivering products but allow replication only in tumor cells. These have been proved as safe therapies in glioma and head and neck, ovarian, and pancreatic cancer [60, 61].

Another deregulated tumor suppressor gene in cancer is phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted on chromosome 10 (PTEN). PTEN controls the tumor cell growth and apoptosis through inhibiting the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT/mTOR pathway. Adenoviral PTEN gene therapy demonstrated amendatory effects in a mouse model of small cell lung cancer [62].

7.2.2.2 Oncogene Blocking

Proto-oncogenes promote cell division and survival in normal conditions. However, mutant proto-oncogenes (termed as oncogenes) are associated with neoplastic transformation. The biological activity of oncogenes can also be modulated at the RNA or DNA level for treating cancer. Antisense RNA, siRNA, ribozymes, and DNAzyme are reported to be promising strategies to target oncogenes. Antisense DNA targeting EGFR, a member of tyrosine kinase receptors, was directly injected into HNSCC patients' tumors [63]. C-MYC is a transcription factor that also participates in RNA metabolism and various cellular processes. C-MYC upregulation is associated with almost every characteristic of tumor life from initiation to maintenance and resistance to apoptosis. Disruption of c-MYC with antisense oligonucleotides could lower the cell growth rate in melanoma cells [64].

K-RAS mutation is considered major oncogene in human colon cancers, lung adenocarcinomas, and pancreatic cancers. Targeting K-RAS by antisense RNA suppresses tumor growth in preclinical animal models including pancreatic cancers. Retroviral K-RAS antisense RNA delivery was used in a clinical trial on NSLC [65].

Oncogene knockout through genome editing is one of the progressing research areas. Zinc-finger nucleases (ZFN), transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs), and, more recently, clustered regularly interspaced short palindrome repeats (CRISPR) are important gene editing tools. Finger-like structure of ZFN functions as transcription factors, which specifically binds to DNA based on amino acid modifications. Multiple endonucleases such as FOK1 can be fused with finger arrays to edit the targeted genome areas [66]. Transcription activator-like effector (TALE) has a DNA-binding domain consisting of tandem repeats. The mechanism of specific DNA recognition and editing is similar to ZNFs. CRISPR/CAS is considered a bacterial immune system for destroying the foreign genome. CRISPR consists of a guide RNA, which guides the CRISPRassociated system nuclease (CAS) to the specific site of DNA. Modifications in CAS structure and truncated guide RNA enable CRISPR/CAS to accurately target several genomic sites. In vivo genome editing has been validated for the treatment of HPV-induced cervical cancer. HPV contains two important oncoproteins termed E6 and E7 which inactivate tumor suppressor genes P53 and RB, respectively [67]. Targeting these genes through CRISPR/CAS and TALEN-mediated plasmids enhanced cancer cell apoptosis. CRISPR/ CAS9 system has also been used for eliminating PD1 expression in genetically modified lymphocytes for lung cancer gene therapy [68].

7.2.2.3 Antitumor Immunity Enhancement

Due to cell cycle dysfunctions, tumor cells are generated coincidentally. Normally, these abnormal cells are recognized and eliminated by the immune system. Dysfunctions in innate and adaptive immunity, specifically T cells, result in tumor development. Besides, some tumor cells produce factors that diminish immune responses through increasing regulatory T cells, myeloid derived stem cells, etc. [69]. To enhance the cytotoxic factors in the tumor area, upregulating factors of TNF-a superfamily such as CD40 ligand demonstrated suppressant effects on malignant cells in the bladder [70].

Defective tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) can be genetically modified for enhanced antitumor responses. For example, regression in tumor size was observed when TILs of melanoma patients were transduced with an anti-MART1 TCR transgene utilizing retroviral vectors [71]. This approach was also beneficial in arming T cells with NY-ESO-1-specific TCR [72]. Newly FDA-approved hematologic cancer therapy is introducing a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) to T cells. CAR structure is composed of an antigen-specific single-chain variable fragment (scfv) ectodomain, a transmembrane domain, and a signal perpetuating endodomain (CD3 ζ). Later generations of CAR T cells also comprised of CD28/4-1BB costimulatory molecules alone or both (second and third generation, respectively) [73]. The process of manufacturing CAR T cells is briefly elucidated in Fig. 7.1. T cells are isolated from donor cell peripheral blood. They are transduced with CAR-expressing construct, and genetically modified T cells are expanded to increase the number of CAR T cells for further infusion to patients [74].

Although CD19+ CAR T-cell therapies demonstrated highly effective antitumor responses against B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL), its application in solid tumor therapies encounters obstacles. Inefficient infiltration of transfused CAR T cells to the solid tumor environment, immunosuppressive environment, and lack of specific tumor antigen in these tumors are important challenges [75].



7.3 Genetic Vaccines

Genetic vaccines are synthesized from nucleic acid construct including plasmid/viral DNA or mRNA. These genetic constructs are engineered to express a specific gene using promoter elements and a transcriptional terminator. Depending on cancer type, various vaccines can be used. For example, cervical cancer is mostly caused by specific subtypes of human papillomavirus (HPV 6, 11, 16, 18). Gardasil and Cervarix contain a major particle of HPV capsid (L1) and aluminum hydroxyphosphate sulfate as an adjuvant. For example, HER2 and Mammaglobin-A (Mam-A) cDNA vaccine elicited antitumor responses against metastatic breast cancer [76].

7.3.1 DNA Vaccines

APCs play the most important role in uptaking the target antigen and representing it to T cells for antitumor responses. The DNA construct is usually composed of a bacterial plasmid vehicle, which contains the gene encoding the desired tumor antigen. A constitutive promoter is also placed near the gene such as cytomegalovirus (CMV) or SV40 promoters [77]. Application of genuine plasmid construct lacked efficiency in conventional intradermal or intramuscular injections due to its poor penetration to cells and further entry to the nucleus. Besides, interactions of tissue resident APCs with lymphocytes are less effective in the absence of strong APC stimulants such as inflammatory cytokines [78]. Therefore, various methods have been studied to introduce the optimum administration routes and DNA construct modifications to increase immunogenicity (Table 7.1). Aside from traditional adjuvants such as aluminum salts and monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL), recently investigated methods are summarized in Tables 7.2 and 7.3. Recent updates in proteomics studies revealed that human serum amyloid P (SAP) reduces the efficiency of plasmid transfection due to enhanced clearance [79]. Additionally, it has been reported that calcium/ calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (CaMK) type IV expression downregulated the vector titers. These high-throughput screening technologies provide novel information for designing further effective adjuvants [80]. In various DNA vaccine delivery methods, poor transfection of APCs has resulted. Direct transfection of dendritic cells (DCs) can be achieved using in vitro engineered DC vaccines. Other strategies include using molecules such as lipophilic albuminbinding tail to target DC-specific proteins [81]. Also, nanoparticles and rabies-driven glycoprotein on protamine residues can be used for targeting APCs [77].

7.3.2 RNA Vaccines

In order to directly express the antigen of interest, genetic vaccines can contain the mRNA, which can be translated in the cytoplasm. Advantages of RNA vaccines are their easier transfection efficiency, less oncogenic potential, as they do not require entering the nucleus and incidental insertions to the genome.

Administration	Mechanism	Trade product/application in cancer therapies
Magnetofection	Use of cationic magnetic nanoparticles guided by a by an external magnetic field	Liver cancer [87]
Cellular sonication	Use of ultrasound for temporary permeabilization of the cell membrane	Lymphocytic leukemia [University of California, san Diego; ID: NCT00849524]; Melanoma [88]
Gene gun	Coated DNA vaccine is directly transfused to the resident dermal APC	Melanoma [89]; Oncept TM , canine melanoma [90]
Electroporation	Use of short electrical pulses for modifying the permeability of the cell membrane specially in muscles	Melanoma and prostate cancer [91]
Nanoparticles	Delivering DNA to target cells using specific cell binding sites	Gp-100 loaded chitosan nanoparticles PEI nanoparticles for further clinical administration [92]
Cationic lipids or cationic polymers (lipoplexes/polyplexes)	Described in Sect. 7.2.1.2	Allovectin TM , Melanoma [93]
"Danger signal" mediated	Heat-shock proteins bind antigenic peptides	Ovarian carcinoma [94]

Division Division administration routes	Table 7.1	DNA	vaccine	administration	routes
---	-----------	-----	---------	----------------	--------

 Table 7.2
 Characteristics of viral vectors in gene delivery [6]

Virus	Туре	Advantages	Concerns
Adenoviruses	dsDNA	High transfection efficacy also in non- dividing cells; no insertional mutagenesis	Transient expression; cellular inflammatory responses
AAV	ssDNA	Easily transfected; replication defective	Risk of mutagenesis due to gene insertion; low capacity for gene delivering (up to 5 kb)
Herpes simplex	dsDNA	Allowing transfection of large pieces of DNA (>50 kb)	Nonspecific cell targeting, cell toxicity, and transient expression
Retroviruses	ssRNA	Broad-spectrum tropism; high titers and allowing prolonged expression	Nonspecific cell targeting, cell division-dependent transfection
Lentiviruses HIV-1, HIV-2	ssRNA	High transfection efficacy in dividing and non-dividing cells; stable expression	Risk of mutagenesis and infection
Poxviruses	dsDNA	High transfection efficacy in dividing and non-dividing cells	High immunogenicity

Table 7.3 Adjuvants in designing DNA vaccines

Immunogenicity improvement	Mechanism	Application in previous studies related to cancer
CpG modifications	Activation of transfected DCs via stimulation through TLR-9 leading to Th1 production and proinflammatory response	Metastatic melanoma [82]
plasmids encoding inflammatory cytokines(e.g., IL-2, IL-12, GM-CSF)	Augments activation of APCs leading to effective vaccination	Advanced Melanoma [83]
DNA vaccine with suppressing immunoinhibitory factors	DNA encoding small interfering RNA (siRNA), for instance, targeting SOCS-1 IDO, PD-L1, or PD1	Ovarian cancer [84]
plasmids encoding costimulatory molecules (e.g., CD80, CD86 and its ligand CD28, BAFF–E7 fusion DNA vaccine	Enhances immune response of APCs	Colon cancer treatment(CD40 and IL2) [85], BAFF-E7 fusion DNA vaccine against TC1 tumor growth [86]
Plasmids encoding signaling molecules (e.g., TRIF, MyD88, IRFs)	Induce specific immune-stimulating signaling pathways for example the interaction of TRIF with TLRs and MYD88 to activate NF-kB, IRFs induce Th1 immune responses	Not yet validated in cancer models

However, in comparison with DNA, singlestranded RNA vaccines are less stable in the cytoplasm [95]. Besides, much higher immunogenicity of naked mRNAs makes them unfeasible for clinical administrations. Inserting pseudo-uridines in mRNA can diminish the immunogenicity of these vaccines while enhancing its translational capacity [96]. In order to protect the mRNAs from degradation, several complexing agents can be used such as cationic/lipid polymers, protamine, etc. [97].

7.3.3 Virus-Based Vaccines

Viral vectors containing tumor antigens are considered as an enhanced vaccination method (Table 7.4). This is partly because of the high immunogenicity of virus particles and direct transfection to APCs such as dendritic cells. High immunogenicity of viral vectors is double-edged as it could result in the immune response against the viral vector instead of the tumor antigen [98].

7.3.4 Prime-Boost Cancer Vaccines

Neutralizing antibodies against DNA vaccines lower the efficacy of cancer vaccines. To overcome this challenge, a second administration of different viral/bacterial vector (following the primary DNA) is the strategy called "primeboost vaccine". Synergistic immune activation in prime-boost genetic platform exploits higher protection from tumor development. The sequential administration of plasmid DNA and adenovirus is well known in PROSTVAC-VF [101]. Safety of administering plasmid DNA (HER2 and GM-CSF encoding) and a booster adenoviral vector (only HER2) was evaluated in a cohort study on patients with metastatic breast cancer [102]. In another clinical trial on metastatic colorectal cancer, guanylyl cyclase C (GUCY2C) targeting DNA and Ad5 combined vaccine-enhanced antitumor efficacy through increasing T-cell receptor (TCR) avidity [103].

ETBX-011 CEA Adenovirus Diverse tumors

 Table 7.4
 Viral-based cancer vaccines [99, 100]

Vaccine trade			
name	Type of cancer	Construct	Virus vector
PROSTAVAC	Prostate cancer	PSA and a triad of T-cell costimulatory molecules (TRICOM)	Prime-boost regimen of two different recombinant poxvirus vectors
PANVAC	Colorectal cancer	CEA, MUC1, and TRICOM	Pox virus
TROVAX	Metastatic renal cell carcinoma	5T4-specific antibody with/without exogenous IFN- α and IL-2	Mammalian poxvirus: Modified virus Ankara (MVA)
TG4010	Metastatic renal cell carcinoma	Recombinant MUC-1 and IL-2 transgenes	Mammalian poxvirus: Modified virus Ankara (MVA)
ALVAC	Multiple melanoma	Multiple melanoma antigens and CD80 and CD86 costimulatory molecules	Avipox
MVA-BNO` HER2	Breast	HER2	Non-replicatingvaccinia virus Ankara (MVA)
ISF-35	Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma	CD154	Adenovirus
AD-PSA	Prostate cancer	PSA	Adenovirus

References

- 1. Mali S. Delivery systems for gene therapy. Indian J Hum Genet. 2013;19(1):3–8.
- Chira S, Jackson CS, Oprea I, Ozturk F, Pepper MS, Diaconu I, et al. Progresses towards safe and efficient gene therapy vectors. Oncotarget. 2015;6(31):30675–703.
- Javan B, Shahbazi M. Hypoxia-inducible tumourspecific promoters as a dual-targeting transcriptional regulation system for cancer gene therapy. Ecancermedicalscience. 2017;11:751.
- Yang L, Cao Z, Li F, Post DE, Van Meir EG, Zhong H, et al. Tumor-specific gene expression using the survivin promoter is further increased by hypoxia. Gene Ther. 2004;11:1215.
- Hernandez-Alcoceba R, Pihalja M, Nunez G, Clarke M. Evaluation of a new dual-specificity promoter for selective induction of apoptosis in breast cancer cells. Cancer Gene Ther. 2001;8(4):298–307.
- Hollinger K, Chamberlain JS. Viral vector-mediated gene therapies. Curr Opin Neurol. 2015;28(5):522–7.
- Lee CS, Bishop ES, Zhang R, Yu X, Farina EM, Yan S, et al. Adenovirus-mediated gene delivery: potential applications for gene and Cell-based therapies in the new era of personalized medicine. Genes Dis. 2017;4(2):43–63.
- Senzer N, Nemunaitis J. A review of contusugene ladenovec (Advexin) p53 therapy. Curr Opin Mol Ther. 2009;11(1):54–61.
- Nemunaitis JM, Nemunaitis J. Potential of Advexin: a p53 gene-replacement therapy in Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Future Oncol. 2008;4(6):759–68.
- Wold WSM, Toth K. Adenovirus vectors for gene therapy, vaccination and cancer gene therapy. Curr Gene Ther. 2013;13(6):421–33.
- van Putten EH, Dirven CM, van den Bent MJ, Lamfers ML. Sitimagene ceradenovec: a gene-based drug for the treatment of operable high-grade glioma. Future Oncol. 2010;6(11):1691–710.
- Kamimura K, Suda T, Zhang G, Liu D. Advances in gene delivery systems. Pharmaceut Med. 2011;25(5):293–306.
- Howarth JL, Lee YB, Uney JB. Using viral vectors as gene transfer tools (cell biology and toxicology special issue: ETCS-UK 1 day meeting on genetic manipulation of cells). Cell Biol Toxicol. 2010;26(1):1–20.
- Santiago-Ortiz JL, Schaffer DV. Adeno-associated virus (AAV) vectors in cancer gene therapy. J Control Release. 2016;240:287–301.
- He SS, Shi HS, Yin T, Li YX, Luo ST, Wu QJ, et al. AAV-mediated gene transfer of human pigment epithelium-derived factor inhibits Lewis lung carcinoma growth in mice. Oncol Rep. 2012;27(4):1142–8.
- 16. Yoo J, Choi S, Hwang K-S, Cho W-K, Jung C-R, Kwon S-T, et al. Adeno-associated virus-mediated gene transfer of a secreted form of TRAIL inhibits

tumor growth and occurrence in an experimental tumor model. J Gene Med. 2006;8(2):163–74.

- He LF, Wang YG, Xiao T, Zhang KJ, Li GC, Gu JF, et al. Suppression of cancer growth in mice by adeno-associated virus vector-mediated IFN-β expression driven by hTERT promoter. Cancer Lett. 2009;286(2):196–205.
- Gao R, Yan X, Zheng C, Goldsmith CM, Afione S, Hai B, et al. AAV2-mediated transfer of the human aquaporin-1 cDNA restores fluid secretion from irradiated miniature pig parotid glands. Gene Ther. 2011;18(1):38–42.
- Hensel JA, Khattar V, Ashton R, Ponnazhagan S. Recombinant AAV-CEA tumor vaccine in combination with an immune adjuvant breaks tolerance and provides protective immunity. Mol Ther Oncolytics. 2019;12:41–8.
- Lachmann R. Herpes simplex virus-based vectors. Int J Exp Pathol. 2004;85(4):177–90.
- Manservigi R, Argnani R, Marconi P. HSV recombinant vectors for gene therapy. Open Virol J. 2010;4:123–56.
- Epstein AL. HSV-1-derived amplicon vectors: recent technological improvements and remaining difficulties - a review. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz. 2009;104:399–410.
- Peters C, Paget M, Tshilenge K-T, Saha D, Antoszczyk S, Baars A, et al. Restriction of replication of oncolytic herpes simplex virus with a deletion of γ34.5 in glioblastoma stem-like cells. J Virol. 2018;92(15):e00246–18.
- Fan H, Johnson C. Insertional oncogenesis by nonacute retroviruses: implications for gene therapy. Viruses. 2011;3(4):398–422.
- Maetzig T, Galla M, Baum C, Schambach A. Gammaretroviral vectors: biology, technology and application. Viruses. 2011;3(6):677–713.
- Quinonez R, Sutton RE. Lentiviral vectors for gene delivery into cells. DNA Cell Biol. 2002;21(12):937–51.
- Hackett PB, Largaespada DA, Switzer KC, Cooper LJN. Evaluating risks of insertional mutagenesis by DNA transposons in gene therapy. Transl Res. 2013;161(4):265–83.
- Mátrai J, Chuah MKL, VandenDriessche T. Recent advances in lentiviral vector development and applications. Mol Ther. 2010;18(3):477–90.
- 29. Conrad SJ, Liu J. Poxviruses as gene therapy vectors: generating Poxviral vectors expressing therapeutic transgenes. In: Manfredsson FP, Benskey MJ, editors. Viral vectors for gene therapy: methods and protocols. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2019. p. 189–209.
- Ramamoorth M, Narvekar A. Non viral vectors in gene therapy- an overview. J Clin Diagn Res. 2015;9(1):GE01–GE6.
- Sun X, Zhang N. Cationic polymer optimization for efficient gene delivery. Mini Rev Med Chem. 2010;10(2):108–25.

- Zhang J, Li X, Huang L. Non-viral nanocarriers for siRNA delivery in breast cancer. J Control Release. 2014;190:440–50.
- 33. Tian H, Lin L, Jiao Z, Guo Z, Chen J, Gao S, et al. Polylysine-modified polyethylenimine inducing tumor apoptosis as an efficient gene carrier. J Control Release. 2013;172(2):410–8.
- 34. Ewert KK, Zidovska A, Ahmad A, Bouxsein NF, Evans HM, McAllister CS, et al. Cationic liposomenucleic acid complexes for gene delivery and silencing: pathways and mechanisms for plasmid DNA and siRNA. Top Curr Chem. 2010;296:191–226.
- 35. Rosenberg SA, Aebersold P, Cornetta K, Kasid A, Morgan RA, Moen R, et al. Gene transfer into humans--immunotherapy of patients with advanced melanoma, using tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes modified by retroviral gene transduction. N Engl J Med. 1990;323(9):570–8.
- Springer CJ, Niculescu-Duvaz I. Prodrug-activating systems in suicide gene therapy. J Clin Invest. 2000;105(9):1161–7.
- 37. Kruse CA, Lamb C, Hogan S, Smiley WR, Kleinschmidt-Demasters BK, Burrows FJ. Purified herpes simplex thymidine kinase retroviral particles. II. Influence of clinical parameters and bystander killing mechanisms. Cancer Gene Ther. 2000;7(1):118–27.
- 38. Sandmair AM, Loimas S, Puranen P, Immonen A, Kossila M, Puranen M, et al. Thymidine kinase gene therapy for human malignant glioma, using replication-deficient retroviruses or adenoviruses. Hum Gene Ther. 2000;11(16):2197–205.
- 39. Nasu Y, Saika T, Ebara S, Kusaka N, Kaku H, Abarzua F, et al. Suicide gene therapy with adenoviral delivery of HSV-tK gene for patients with local recurrence of prostate cancer after hormonal therapy. Mol Ther. 2007;15(4):834–40.
- Sangro B, Mazzolini G, Ruiz M, Ruiz J, Quiroga J, Herrero I, et al. A phase I clinical trial of thymidine kinase-based gene therapy in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Gene Ther. 2010;17(12):837–43.
- 41. Cheang TY, Lei YY, Zhang ZQ, Zhou HY, Ye RY, Lin Y, et al. Graphene oxide-hydroxyapatite nanocomposites effectively deliver HSV-TK suicide gene to inhibit human breast cancer growth. J Biomater Appl. 2018;33(2):216–26.
- 42. Huber BE, Austin EA, Good SS, Knick VC, Tibbels S, Richards CA. In vivo antitumor activity of 5-Fluorocytosine on human colorectal carcinoma cells genetically modified to express cytosine deaminase. Cancer Res. 1993;53(19):4619–26.
- 43. Law EK, Sieuwerts AM, LaPara K, Leonard B, Starrett GJ, Molan AM, et al. The DNA cytosine deaminase APOBEC3B promotes tamoxifen resistance in ER-positive breast cancer. Sci Adv. 2016;2(10):e1601737.
- 44. Rossignoli F, Grisendi G, Spano C, Golinelli G, Recchia A, Rovesti G, et al. Inducible Caspase9-

mediated suicide gene for MSC-based cancer gene therapy. Cancer Gene Ther. 2019;26(1):11–6.

- 45. Kaliberov SA, Kaliberova LN, Stockard CR, Grizzle WE, Buchsbaum DJ. Adenovirus-mediated FLT1targeted proapoptotic gene therapy of human prostate cancer. Mol Ther. 2004;10(6):1059–70.
- 46. Spano C, Grisendi G, Golinelli G, Rossignoli F, Prapa M, Bestagno M, et al. Soluble TRAIL armed human MSC as gene therapy for pancreatic cancer. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):1788.
- 47. Wang Y, Wang M, Chen H, Liu H, Zhang Q, Cheng Y. Fluorinated dendrimer for TRAIL gene therapy in cancer treatment. J Mater Chem B. 2016;4(7):1354–60.
- 48. Tsunemitsu Y, Kagawa S, Tokunaga N, Otani S, Umeoka T, Roth JA, et al. Molecular therapy for peritoneal dissemination of xenotransplanted human MKN-45 gastric cancer cells with adenovirus mediated Bax gene transfer. Gut. 2004;53(4):554–60.
- Singh R, Saini N. Downregulation of BCL2 by miR-NAs augments drug-induced apoptosis--a combined computational and experimental approach. J Cell Sci. 2012;125(Pt 6):1568–78.
- 50. Tong Q-S, Zheng L-D, Wang L, Zeng F-Q, Chen F-M, Dong J-H, et al. Downregulation of XIAP expression induces apoptosis and enhances chemotherapeutic sensitivity in human gastric cancer cells. Cancer Gene Ther. 2005;12:509.
- Gu L, Zhang H, Liu T, Zhou S, Du Y, Xiong J, et al. Discovery of dual inhibitors of MDM2 and XIAP for cancer treatment. Cancer Cell. 2016;30(4):623–36.
- Patani N, Douglas-Jones A, Mansel R, Jiang W, Mokbel K. Tumour suppressor function of MDA-7/ IL-24 in human breast cancer. Cancer Cell Int. 2010;10(1):29.
- 53. Chen X, Liu DI, Wang J, Su Q, Zhou P, Liu J, et al. Suppression effect of recombinant adenovirus vector containing hIL-24 on Hep-2 laryngeal carcinoma cells. Oncol Lett. 2014;7(3):771–7.
- 54. Liu Z, Xu L, Yuan H, Zhang Y, Zhang X, Zhao D. Oncolytic adenovirusmediated mda7/IL24 expression suppresses osteosarcoma growth and enhances sensitivity to doxorubicin. Mol Med Rep. 2015;12(4):6358–64.
- 55. Li T, Kang G, Wang T, Huang H. Tumor angiogenesis and anti-angiogenic gene therapy for cancer. Oncol Lett. 2018;16(1):687–702.
- 56. Kishi Y, Kuba K, Nakamura T, Wen J, Suzuki Y, Mizuno S, et al. Systemic NK4 gene therapy inhibits tumor growth and metastasis of melanoma and lung carcinoma in syngeneic mouse tumor models. Cancer Sci. 2009;100(7):1351–8.
- 57. Ogura Y, Mizumoto K, Nagai E, Murakami M, Inadome N, Saimura M, et al. Peritumoral injection of adenovirus vector expressing NK4 combined with gemcitabine treatment suppresses growth and metastasis of human pancreatic cancer cells implanted orthotopically in nude mice and prolongs survival. Cancer Gene Ther. 2006;13(5):520–9.

- Okura H, Smith CA, Rutka JT. Gene therapy for malignant glioma. Mol Cell Ther. 2014;2:21.
- 59. Liu J, Lv D, Wang H, Zou J, Chen F, Yang H. Recombinant adenovirus-p53 enhances the therapeutic effect of surgery and chemoradiotherapy combination in hypopharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas patients. Medicine. 2018;97(35):e12193.
- Castellanos MR, Pan Q. Novel p53 therapies for head and neck cancer. World J Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2016;2(2):68–75.
- Fukuhara H, Ino Y, Todo T. Oncolytic virus therapy: a new era of cancer treatment at dawn. Cancer Sci. 2016;107(10):1373–9.
- 62. Li D, Zhang Y, Xie Y, Xiang J, Zhu Y, Yang J. Enhanced tumor suppression by adenoviral PTEN gene therapy combined with cisplatin chemotherapy in small-cell lung cancer. Cancer Gene Ther. 2013;20(4):251–9.
- Xu MJ, Johnson DE, Grandis JR. EGFR-targeted therapies in the post-genomic era. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2017;36(3):463–73.
- 64. Pan D, Kim B, Hu G, Gupta DS, Senpan A, Yang X, et al. A strategy for combating melanoma with oncogenic c-Myc inhibitors and targeted nanotherapy. Nanomedicine. 2015;10(2):241–51.
- 65. Xie C, Li Y, Li L-L, Fan X-X, Wang Y-W, Wei C-L, et al. Identification of a new potent inhibitor targeting KRAS in non-small cell lung cancer cells. Front Pharmacol. 2017;8:823.
- Gaj T, Gersbach CA, Barbas CF 3rd. ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Cas-based methods for genome engineering. Trends Biotechnol. 2013;31(7):397–405.
- Yoshiba T, Saga Y, Urabe M, Uchibori R, Matsubara S, Fujiwara H, et al. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated cervical cancer treatment targeting human papillomavirus E6. Oncol Lett. 2019;17(2):2197–206.
- Castillo A. Gene editing using CRISPR-Cas9 for the treatment of lung cancer. Colomb Med (Cali). 2016;47(4):178–80.
- Monu NR, Frey AB. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells and anti-tumor T cells: a complex relationship. Immunol Investig. 2012;41(6-7):595–613.
- Loskog A, Bjorkland A, Brown MP, Korsgren O, Malmstrom PU, Totterman TH. Potent antitumor effects of CD154 transduced tumor cells in experimental bladder cancer. J Urol. 2001;166(3):1093–7.
- 71. Davis JL, Theoret MR, Zheng Z, Lamers CHJ, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Development of human anti-murine T-cell receptor antibodies in both responding and nonresponding patients enrolled in TCR gene therapy trials. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(23):5852–61.
- Rapoport AP, Stadtmauer EA, Binder-Scholl GK, Goloubeva O, Vogl DT, Lacey SF, et al. NY-ESO-1specific TCR-engineered T cells mediate sustained antigen-specific antitumor effects in myeloma. Nat Med. 2015;21(8):914–21.
- Feins S, Kong W, Williams EF, Milone MC, Fraietta JA. An introduction to chimeric antigen receptor

(CAR) T-cell immunotherapy for human cancer. Am J Hematol. 2019;94(S1):S3–9.

- Olweus J. Manufacture of CAR-T cells in the body. Nat Biotechnol. 2017;35:520.
- Han X, Wang Y, Han W-D. Chimeric antigen receptor modified T-cells for cancer treatment. Chronic Dis Transl Med. 2018;4(4):225–43.
- 76. Tiriveedhi V, Fleming TP, Goedegebuure PS, Naughton M, Ma C, Lockhart C, et al. Mammaglobin-a cDNA vaccination of breast cancer patients induces antigen-specific cytotoxic CD4+ICOShi T cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2013;138(1):109–18.
- Li L, Petrovsky N. Molecular mechanisms for enhanced DNA vaccine immunogenicity. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2016;15(3):313–29.
- McAllister J, Proll D. Comparison of DNA vaccine delivery systems: intramuscular injection versus gene gun administration. Defence science and technology organisation victoria (Australia) platform sciences lab. 2004 Jun.
- 79. Wang Y, Guo Y, Wang X, Huang J, Shang J, Sun S. Human serum amyloid P functions as a negative regulator of the innate and adaptive immune responses to DNA vaccines. J Immunol. 2011;186(5):2860–70.
- Li L, Saade F, Petrovsky N. The future of human DNA vaccines. J Biotechnol. 2012;162(2-3):171–82.
- Liu H, Moynihan KD, Zheng Y, Szeto GL, Li AV, Huang B, et al. Structure-based programming of lymph-node targeting in molecular vaccines. Nature. 2014;507(7493):519–22.
- Huang L, Wang Z, Liu C, Xu C, Mbofung RM, McKenzie JA, et al. CpG-based immunotherapy impairs antitumor activity of BRAF inhibitors in a B-cell-dependent manner. Oncogene. 2017;36(28):4081–6.
- 83. Perales M-A, Yuan J, Powel S, Gallardo HF, Rasalan TS, Gonzalez C, et al. Phase I/II study of GM-CSF DNA as an adjuvant for a multipeptide cancer vaccine in patients with advanced melanoma. Mol Ther. 2008;16(12):2022–9.
- 84. Sioud M, Sæbøe-Larssen S, Hetland T, Kærn J, Mobergslien A, Kvalheim G. Silencing of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase enhances dendritic cell immunogenicity and antitumour immunity in cancer patients. Int J Oncol. 2013;43(1):280–8.
- 85. Xiang R, Primus FJ, Ruehlmann JM, Niethammer AG, Silletti S, Lode HN, et al. A dual-function DNA vaccine encoding carcinoembryonic antigen and CD40 ligand trimer induces T cell-mediated protective immunity against colon cancer in carcinoembryonic antigen-transgenic mice. J Immunol. 2001;167(8):4560–5.
- 86. Wu C-C, Wu F-C, Hsu Y-T, Hsiao Y-C, Yang Y-C, Chang CA, et al. Enhanced anti-tumor therapeutic efficacy of DNA vaccine by fusing the E7 gene to BAFF in treating human papillomavirus-associated cancer. Oncotarget. 2017;8(20):33024–36.

- Baryshev M, Vainauska D, Kozireva S, Karpovs A. New device for enhancement of liposomal magnetofection efficiency of cancer cells. Medicina (Kaunas). 2011;48(6):324–9.
- Un K, Kawakami S, Suzuki R, Maruyama K, Yamashita F, Hashida M. Suppression of melanoma growth and metastasis by DNA vaccination using an ultrasound-responsive and mannose-modified gene carrier. Mol Pharm. 2011;8(2):543–54.
- Aravindaram K, Yang NS. Gene gun delivery systems for cancer vaccine approaches. Methods Mol Biol. 2009;542:167–78.
- Verganti S, Berlato D, Blackwood L, Amores-Fuster I, Polton GA, Elders R, et al. Use of Oncept melanoma vaccine in 69 canine oral malignant melanomas in the UK. J Small Anim Pract. 2017;58(1):10–6.
- Kraynyak KA, Bodles-Brakhop A, Bagarazzi M. Tapping the potential of DNA delivery with electroporation for cancer immunotherapy. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2017;405:55–78.
- 92. Li N, Peng LH, Chen X, Zhang TY, Shao GF, Liang WQ, et al. Antigen-loaded nanocarriers enhance the migration of stimulated Langerhans cells to draining lymph nodes and induce effective transcutaneous immunization. Nanomedicine. 2014;10(1):215–23.
- 93. Perche F, Benvegnu T, Berchel M, Lebegue L, Pichon C, Jaffrès P-A, et al. Enhancement of dendritic cells transfection in vivo and of vaccination against B16F10 melanoma with mannosylated histidylated lipopolyplexes loaded with tumor antigen messenger RNA. Nanomedicine. 2011;7(4):445–53.
- Cohen M, Dromard M, Petignat P. Heat shock proteins in ovarian cancer: a potential target for therapy. Gynecol Oncol. 2010;119(1):164–6.

- Pardi N, Hogan MJ, Porter FW, Weissman D. mRNA vaccines - a new era in vaccinology. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2018;17(4):261–79.
- 96. Karikó K, Muramatsu H, Welsh FA, Ludwig J, Kato H, Akira S, et al. Incorporation of pseudouridine into mRNA yields superior nonimmunogenic vector with increased translational capacity and biological stability. Mol Ther. 2008;16(11):1833–40.
- Schlake T, Thess A, Fotin-Mleczek M, Kallen K-J. Developing mRNA-vaccine technologies. RNA Biol. 2012;9(11):1319–30.
- Ura T, Okuda K, Shimada M. Developments in viral vector-based vaccines. Vaccine. 2014;2(3):624–41.
- 99. Larocca C, Schlom J. Viral vector-based therapeutic cancer vaccines. Cancer J. 2011;17(5):359–71.
- Aurisicchio L, Ciliberto G. Genetic cancer vaccines: current status and perspectives. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2012;12(8):1043–58.
- Aurisicchio L, Ciliberto G. Emerging cancer vaccines: the promise of genetic vectors. Cancers. 2011;3(3):3687–713.
- 102. Kim S-B, Ahn J-H, Kim J, Jung KH. A phase 1 study of a heterologous prime-boost vaccination involving a truncated HER2 sequence in patients with HER2expressing breast cancer. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev. 2015;2:15031.
- 103. Xiang B, Baybutt TR, Berman-Booty L, Magee MS, Waldman SA, Alexeev VY, et al. Prime-boost immunization eliminates metastatic colorectal cancer by producing high-avidity effector CD8(+) T cells. J Immunol. 2017;198(9):3507–14.



8

Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation and Lymphodepletion for the Treatment of Cancer

Kristen M. Barr, Amin Pastaki Khoshbin, Jill A. Gershan, and Bryon D. Johnson

Contents

8.1	Introduction	144
8.2	Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation (HSCT)	144
8.2.1	Sources of Hematopoietic Stem Cells (HSCs)	144
8.2.2	Autologous and Allogeneic HSCT	145
8.2.3	Graft-Versus-Host Disease and the Graft-Versus-Tumor Effect	145
8.3	Conditioning Regimens Before Hematopoietic Stem Cell	
	Transplantation (HSCT)	147
8.3.1	Myeloablative Conditioning	147
8.3.2	Reduced-Intensity and Non-myeloablative Conditioning	149
8.4	Lymphodepletion for the Treatment of Solid Tumors	150
8.5	Reconstitution of the T-Cell Repertoire After Lymphodepletion	150
8.5.1	Lymphodepletion-Induced T-Cell Thymopoiesis Is Important	
	for Reconstitution of the T-Cell Repertoire	150
8.5.2	Lymphodepletion-Induced Homeostatic Proliferation as Strategy	
	to Augment Antitumor Immunity	151
8.5.3	Use of Animal Models to Address Immunological Effects	
	of Lymphodepletion	152
8.6	Concluding Remarks	152
Refer	ences	153

K. M. Barr

Natural Science, Milwaukee Area Technical College, Milwaukee, WI, USA

A. Pastaki Khoshbin Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

J. A. Gershan Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI, USA e-mail: jgershan@mcw.edu

B. D. Johnson (⊠) Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Medicine, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI, USA e-mail: bjohnson@mcw.edu

8.1 Introduction

The first successful HSCT occurred in the late 1950s, when Dr. E.D. Thomas and colleagues successfully harvested bone marrow cells from an identical twin and infused them intravenously to the other twin [1]. Shortly thereafter, the discovery of the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) complex by Jean Dausset and the recognized existence of minor histocompatibility antigens led to the development of allogeneic HSCT. In the 1960s, Dr. Thomas demonstrated that infused marrow cells could repopulate all blood cell subsets in an allogeneic recipient, and in 1990 he was awarded the Nobel Prize for his pioneering work in the field of allogeneic HSCT [2]. HSCT has been demonstrated to be an effective treatment for hematologic malignancies [3–7], and more recently it has shown efficacy in the treatment of some solid tumors [8–11]. Since the first attempts of HSCT, intensive chemotherapy or radiation regimens have been used before transplantation of previously harvested hematopoietic progenitor cells. The preparatory therapy is intended for the elimination of cancer cells and the hematopoietic compartment. Later studies revealed that cytotoxic chemotherapy or radiation can promote cancer eradication by mechanisms beyond their direct cellular toxicities. One of these mechanisms is the development of a reorganized immune system with robust anticancer potential following lymphodepletion caused by cytotoxic therapy [12]. This chapter explores current methods of HSCT and lymphodepletion for the treatment of cancer.

8.2 Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation (HSCT)

HSCT is the infusion of hematopoietic stem cells into an individual in order to reestablish all hematopoietic cell lineages. Daughter cells that retain stem cell properties do not differentiate into a specialized cell subset and instead are infinitely self-renewing and serve to provide a lifetime source of blood cells.

8.2.1 Sources of Hematopoietic Stem Cells (HSCs)

Bone marrow, peripheral blood, and umbilical cord blood can all serve as sources of hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs). Bone marrow, which contains the HSCs, can be aspirated from large bones such as the pelvis. For the harvest of HSCs from peripheral blood, the donor is treated with an agent, such as the cytokine granulocyte colonystimulating factor (G-CSF), which "mobilizes" the hematopoietic stem cells from the bone marrow compartment to the peripheral blood. The HSCs can then be removed from the donor peripheral blood via leukapheresis, a preferred method of HSC harvest, because this technique is less invasive than a bone harvest. The HSCs may be further enriched based on CD34 expression. There is a controversy regarding the best source of HSCs for transplant (Table 8.1). Some studies suggest that peripheral blood is superior to bone marrow as the source of HSCs [13, 14], while others have demonstrated that there is no significant difference in outcomes based upon the source of stem cells [15].

Cells collected from the umbilical cord and placenta after childbirth can also be used as a source of HSCs [16–21]. Advantages of using cord blood are as follows: (1) no risks to donors, (2) immediate availability of cells, and (3) lower risk of GVHD with increased HLA incompatibility [16, 18, 22]. Although HSCs are present at higher concentrations in cord blood, there is an overall smaller quantity that limits the use of cord blood for HSCT. Investigation into methods designed to expand umbilical cord HSCs is an

Table 8.1 Characteristics of HSC source

	Bone	Peripheral	Candbland
	marrow	biood	Cord blood
Limiting	HLA	HLA match	Cell quantity
factor	match		
Minimal	4/6	9/10	9/10
HLA match			
GVHD risk	Yes	Yes	No
Biggest risk	GVHD	GVHD	Delayed
			immune
			recovery

active area of research [23–25]. Compared to other sources of HSC, immune reconstitution is delayed following transplantation using umbilical cord blood as the HSC source. Slower immune reconstitution challenges umbilical cord blood HSCT due to increased risk of posttransplantation infections [26].

8.2.2 Autologous and Allogeneic HSCT

Autologous HSCT refers to the infusion of hematopoietic stem cells that were harvested from oneself. Hematologic cancers that are commonly treated with myeloablation and autologous HSCT include multiple myeloma (MM), non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL), Hodgkin lymphoma (HL), and acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Treatment of solid tumors such as neuroblastoma, ovarian cancer, and germ cell tumors may also include autologous HSCT [4]. Syngeneic HSCT refers to a transplant in which the donor and recipient are genetically the same. This term is used for HSCT between identical twins and for HSCT in animals when the donors and recipients are inbred and genetically identical.

Allogeneic HSCT refers to donor-derived cells that were obtained from a genetically nonidentical individual. Hematologic neoplasms that are often treated with allogeneic transplantation include AML, myelodysplastic syndromes, acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), NHL, HL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), MM, chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), juvenile CML, and other myeloproliferative disorders [4]. Additionally, the application of allogenic HSCT has been reported in solid tumors, with most experience in the treatment of renal cell carcinoma (RCC) [27]. Allogeneic transplantation became feasible during the 1960s with the identification of the major histocompatibility complex (human leukocyte antigen or HLA) and the advent of HLA tissue typing. Matching of donors and recipients is based upon the number of shared HLA antigens. Better HLA antigen matching between the donor and the recipient is associated with higher rates of HSC engraftment and a lower risk for developing life-threatening graft-versushost disease (GVHD).

Haploidentical HSCT refers to a more recent approach that expands the use of allogeneic HSCT to be performed with "half" HLA allele mismatching. While this approach significantly expands the donor pool, disadvantages include greater risk of graft rejection, more severe GVHD, and delayed immune reconstitution. Several strategies such as administration of posttransplant cyclophosphamide or combined α/β T-cell and B-cell depletion are being developed in order to overcome these obstacles [28–30].

8.2.3 Graft-Versus-Host Disease and the Graft-Versus-Tumor Effect

Mismatches in major histocompatibility proteins and polymorphic differences in host proteins (socalled "minor" histocompatibility antigens) both contribute to the generation of alloreactivity between the donor and host. GVHD is a complication that occurs when transplanted donor T-cells become activated to host alloantigens. GVHD is a three-step process that involves antigen-presenting cell (APC) activation, donor T-cell activation upon alloantigen recognition on host APC, and induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines [31]. As a consequence, the host-reactive donor T-cells expand and release pro-inflammatory cytokines that support the recruitment of other immune effector cells. Together, the activated immune cells can eventually destroy host tissues [32]. The pretransplant conditioning causes tissue injury that leads to the release of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). These molecules stimulate APC through interaction with pattern recognition receptors (PRR), which in turn triggers immune responses against host tissues. Further release of DAMPs and PAMPs following initial tissue injury by immune cells may maintain the GVHD process [33, 34].

GVHD can present as either acute or chronic, and in either case, it is a major barrier to successful cancer-free survival. Acute and chronic GVHD are defined by their timing of occurrence after HSCT. Acute GVHD typically occurs within the first 100 days posttransplant. During acute GVHD, newly transplanted T-cells recognize host alloantigens that are either directly presented by host APC or indirectly presented by donor APC. The major tissues that are targeted for destruction include the skin, liver, and the intestinal tract. Chronic GVHD is defined as occurring after 100 days posttransplant, and it is induced when T-cells recognize host antigens as foreign after the donor HSCs have engrafted. The pathophysiology of chronic GVHD resembles an autoimmune disease process as opposed to the acute inflammatory process occurring during acute GVHD. Both acute and chronic GVHD can be fatal. Precautions, in the form of immune-suppressive therapies, are taken with patients that receive allogeneic HSCT to reduce the incidence and severity of GVHD. It is important to note that minimal levels of GVHD can be beneficial for generating a graft-versus-tumor (GVT) effect that results in the elimination of residual tumor cells.

There is an estimated 30% lower life expectancy in cancer patients that receive an allogeneic transplant as compared to the general cancer population [35-38]. The leading causes for this increase in mortality include recurrent malignancies, infection, secondary cancers, respiratory disease, and chronic GVHD [37]. Autologous HSCT has minimal treatment-related morbidity and mortality and little risk for GVHD; however, autologous HSCT is associated with a higher incidence of tumor relapse as compared to allogeneic HSCT. Occasionally, a syndrome resembling GVHD, often referred to as autologous GVHD, can occur after an autologous HSCT. Autologous GVHD appears to occur as a result of immune dysregulation by autoreactive T-cells [39].

Despite the devastating consequences of GVHD, low levels of alloreactivity can be beneficial for generating a graft-versus-tumor (GVT) effect [40]. The GVT effect can occur after an allogeneic transplant when donor T-cells reactive to host alloantigens present on the tumor cells eliminate the residual cancer. The GVT effect

was discovered when physicians attempted to avoid GVHD by extensively depleting donor T-cells from the allogeneic HSC graft. Despite a reduction in GVHD incidence and severity, T-cell depletion of the graft correlates with a decrease in leukemia-free survival [41]. It has since been demonstrated that T-cells are required for an optimal GVT effect, and removal of either CD4+ or CD8⁺ T-cells compromises GVT reactivity [42]. GVT effects have been identified in MM, NHL, HL, CLL, and acute leukemia (ALL and AML) [43]. GVHD and GVT both include three interlinked phases: (1) induced pro-inflammatory environment, (2) donor T-cell activation and proliferation, and (3) migration of immune effector cells to target tissues [44].

In addition to T-cells, natural killer (NK) cells have also been shown to induce GVT effects. NK cells quickly replicate, produce numerous cytokines, kill aberrant cells, and therefore can be useful for boosting an antitumor response [45]. NK cells eliminate tumor cells in a MHCunrestricted manner either by direct cytotoxicity or by the production of inflammatory cytokines [45]. Clinical experiences using NK cells as part of transplant immunotherapy have observed mixed results regarding malignancy relapse after HSCT, justifying the need for further research on determinants of the antitumor effects of NK cells [45, 46].

Although the mechanisms of GVHD and GVT both involve the activation of donor T-cells against host alloantigens, it appears that these outcomes can occur independent of each other [47, 48]. Approaches that induce a GVT effect while minimizing GVHD focus on reducing proinflammatory processes in the recipient while increasing the reactivity of tumor-specific donor T-cells [44]. Transfer of regulatory T-cells to HSC recipients [49–52], use of CD34+ HSC selected grafts [53, 54], and selective eradication of graft naïve T-cells [55] have been shown to prevent chronic GVHD without any comparable difference in the risk of relapse.

Continued research is needed to advance the field of HSCT for the treatment of malignancy. Specifically, research is needed to (1) optimize the antitumor effect that occurs following an

autologous HSC transplant, (2) uncover mechanisms that promote alloreactive effects against tumor cells, and (3) reduce the incidence of severe GVHD following allogeneic transplantation [40, 41].

8.3 Conditioning Regimens Before Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation (HSCT)

HSCT is currently preceded by administration of a preparative regimen. The purposes of the conditioning regimen are multifaceted. While it can destroy malignant cells, the regimen may also inhibit cells that play roles in suppressing anticancer immune responses. Depletion of the endogenous HSCS via the conditioning regimen is a critical prerequisite for the successful engraftment of transplanted HSCs. The conditioning regimen prevents immunologic rejection of the graft and provides sufficient space for the incoming transplanted stem cells to divide and expand [4].

Based on regimen intensity, conditioning regimens are classified into three groups: myeloablative (MA) conditioning, reduced-intensity conditioning (RIC), and non-myeloablative (NMA) conditioning [56, 57]. Bone marrow destruction that occurs from MA conditioning results in severe cytopenia which is irreversible unless new HSCs are provided. RIC and NMA conditioning regimens are associated with less profound cytopenia that may recover even without stem cell support. The main advantage of RIC/NMA conditioning regimens is that they are less toxic, making them more tolerable for older patients and patients with comorbid conditions [56–58]. However, graft failure is generally more frequent in RIC/NMA conditioning than MA conditioning [58].

8.3.1 Myeloablative Conditioning

MA conditioning is accomplished through the administration of chemotherapy drugs with or without total body irradiation (TBI). Typically, TBI between 8 Gy (800 rad) and 14.4 Gy (1440 rad) is combined with an alkylating chemotherapeutic agent such as cyclophosphamide. Cyclophosphamide is a commonly used chemotherapeutic agent and is often administered for its global lymphodepleting effects as well as for its ability to eliminate malignant cells such as those present in HL, NHL, acute and chronic leukemias, and MM, as well as solid tumors such as neuroblastoma, retinoblastoma, rhabdomyosarcoma, lung cancer, testes cancer, and ovarian cancer. Listed in Table 8.2 are chemotherapeutic drugs that are commonly used for MA conditioning.

Total body irradiation (TBI) in combination with chemotherapeutic drugs has shown benefit over chemotherapy alone for the elimination of hematologic malignancies. Several advantageous effects of TBI include the following: (1) a homogeneous effect regardless of blood supply as the myeloablative effects of TBI can more effectively reach body areas that are underperfused, (2) targeting of specific areas through the use of shields to prevent exposure to body areas where TBI is undesirable, (3) different doses of TBI can result in differential myeloablative and immunosuppressive outcomes, (4) a reduction in the requirement for drug detoxification, (5) TBI is effective against a wide variety of malignancies, and (6) TBI is effective against chemotherapy-resistant malignancies [4]. Originally, myeloablative TBI was given as a single highdose irradiation. The advantage of this approach was the elimination of theoretically all hematologic cancerous cells in the host. However, a major disadvantage included extended cell death beyond the hematopoietic compartment, resulting in debilitating negative side effects. As a result, when TBI is now used for MA conditioning, dosing is typically fractionated. Even though each fraction consists of a lower dose of radiation, the combined myeloablative effect is equivalent to that obtained by a single high dose of radiation. The fractionated radiation is sufficient to eradicate malignant cells and destroy the patient's HSCs. The time allotted between each TBI treatment allows for some repair of normal tissue damaged by the radiation. Fractioning the

Nama	Tuno	Dataila	Liso
Duculfor	Type Sulferete	Cross linkage of DNA strends	Laukamia
Dusuitali	Alleylating agent	Provents DNA replication and transcription	Leukenna
	Alkylating agent	Prevents DNA replication and transcription	Lymphoma Multiple muclome
			Tracticular concinence
			Preset carcinoma
			Breast cancer
<i>c i</i>	NT'.		Ewing's sarcoma
Carmustine	Nitrosourea	Cross-linkage of DNA strands	Hodgkin disease
	Alkylating agent	Prevents DNA replication and transcription	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma
			Lymphoma
			Multiple myeloma
			Brain cancers
Carboplatin	Heavy metal	Cell cycle nonspecific	Ovarian cancer
	"Alkylating-like"	Causes cross-linkage of DNA strands	Lung cancer
		Inhibits DNA repair	Head/neck cancers
		Prevents DNA synthesis and cell division	
Cisplatin	Heavy metal	Cell cycle nonspecific	Sarcomas
	"Alkylating-like"	Causes cross-linkage of DNA strands	Lymphoma
		Inhibits DNA repair	Ovarian cancer
		Prevents DNA synthesis and cell division	Testicular cancer
Cyclophosphamide	Nitrogen mustard	Cell cycle nonspecific	Hodgkin disease
	Alkylating agent	Causes cross-linkage of DNA strands	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma
		Prevents DNA synthesis and cell division	Leukemia
			Multiple myeloma
			Neuroblastoma
			Retinoblastoma
			Solid cancers
Ifosfamide	Nitrogen mustard	Cell cycle nonspecific	Hodgkin disease
	Alkylating agent	Causes cross-linkage of DNA strands	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma
		Prevents DNA synthesis and cell division	Acute and chronic
		-	leukemia
			Lung, breast, and ovarian
			cancer
Melphalan	Nitrogen mustard	Cell cycle nonspecific	Multiple myeloma
	Alkylating agent	Causes cross-linkage of DNA strands	Ovarian cancer
		Prevents DNA synthesis and cell division	
Oxaliplatin	Heavy metal	Cell cycle nonspecific	Colorectal cancer
	"Alkylating-like"	Causes cross-linkage of DNA strands	Gastric cancer
		Prevents DNA synthesis and cell division	Ovarian cancer
Thiotepa	Organophosphorus	Cross-linkage of DNA strands	Lymphoma
	Alkylating agent	Prevents DNA replication and transcription	Melanoma
			Solid cancers
Etoposide	Topoisomerase	Interferes with action of topoisomerase	Leukemia
	inhibitor	Inhibits DNA synthesis in S and G2 phases	Lymphoma
		Cells do not enter mitosis	Kaposi's sarcoma
		Poor immunosuppressive agent	Ewing's sarcoma
			Lung cancer
			Testicular cancer
			Glioblastoma

 Table 8.2
 Chemotherapeutic drugs used for myeloablative conditioning

TBI has been shown to result in lower toxicity and better survival outcomes when compared to single high-dose treatment. When the toxic side effects of TBI conditioning are of particular concern to certain individuals, such as children and the elderly, radiation-free conditioning methods can be employed instead. For instance, the combination of cyclophosphamide and busulfan can induce a myeloablative outcome similar to that of TBI-containing regimens.

8.3.2 Reduced-Intensity and Nonmyeloablative Conditioning

RIC/NMA conditioning results in transient depletion of lymphocytes and other leukocytes without completely ablating the host HSC compartment. Although HSCT may not be required following NMA conditioning, HSC transplant may still be given in an effort to generate a state of mixed donor-host chimerism. The goal of RIC/ NMA conditioning is to eradicate hematologic malignant cells while preserving the HSC compartment and some normal mature hematopoietic cells including immune cells. The usual doses of RIC/NMA conditioning are considered to be insufficient for eliminating the underlying malignancy of patients. Cancer cell destruction, and thus disease control, is mainly provided by the GVT effect following RIC/NMA conditioning HSCT [56].

NMA conditioning consists of reduced doses of irradiation and/or chemotherapy. Irradiation of 2 Gy (200 rad) is sufficient to induce damage to quickly replicating cells such as peripheral blood cells and tumor cells. Sublethal doses of irradiation do not eliminate HSCs, allowing for relatively rapid repopulation of the depleted lymphocyte compartment.

The chemotherapeutic drugs used for NMA conditioning are often similar to those used for myeloablative conditioning (see Table 8.3); however, these drugs are administered at lower doses. Non-chemotherapeutic agents, such as alemtuzumab, can also be used for NMA conditioning. Alemtuzumab is a monoclonal antibody (mAb) that binds to CD52, a protein present on the sur
 Table
 8.3
 Drugs
 used
 for
 non-myeloablative

 conditioning

Name	Туре	Details
Total lymphoid	Sublethal irradiation	2 Gy of radiation
Irradiation		Induces damage to quickly replicating cells
Fludarabine	Chemotherapy	Inhibits DNA synthesis
	Purine analog	Interferes with ribonucleotide reductase and DNA polymerase
Cladribine	Chemotherapy Purine analog	Inhibits DNA synthesis through cell's ability to process DNA Inhibits the enzyme adenosine deaminase
Pentostatin	Chemotherapy Purine analog	Inhibits DNA synthesis through cell's ability to process DNA Inhibits the enzyme adenosine deaminase
Alemtuzumab	Chemotherapy	Binds CD52 protein on mature lymphocytes
	Purine analog	Results in depletion of lymphocytes only

face of mature lymphocytes, resulting in their depletion. Since CD52 is not present on HSCs, alemtuzumab will only target mature lymphocytes for depletion allowing the HSCs to remain viable for reconstitution of the immune cell repertoire.

Total lymphoid irradiation (TLI) is a type of NMA conditioning that induces lymphodepletion prior to HSCT or is used alone as a cancer treatment. During TLI, all lymph nodes and the thymus and spleen are irradiated using a linear accelerator, while nonlymphoid tissues are spared. Individuals do not require HSCT after TLI; however, TLI is known to establish allograft tolerance in humans and animals when allogeneic bone marrow cells are transplanted immediately following the TLI [59, 60]. The major advantage of TLI versus non-myeloablative TBI is an observed reduction in organ toxicity and decreased severity of GVHD [60, 61]. All MA conditioning, RIC, and NMA conditioning can stimulate antitumor immunity by causing tumor cell death and subsequent release of tumor antigens that can facilitate the activation of antitumor immunity. The tumor antigens released by apoptotic tumor cells can be processed and presented to T-cells by APC leading to activation of tumor-reactive cytolytic T-cells.

Other mechanisms that may promote antitumor immunity include the elimination of immune-suppressive T-cells and a decrease in cellular competition for immune stimulatory cytokines [62–65]. For these reasons, all MA conditioning, RIC, and NMA conditioning regimens have been incorporated into treatment protocols for a variety of hematologic malignancies and solid tumors.

8.4 Lymphodepletion for the Treatment of Solid Tumors

Changes in the hematopoietic compartment after myeloablative and non-myeloablative conditioning have the potential to alter antitumor immunity in several ways. Conditioning eliminates or reduces all hematopoietic cells including immune-suppressive myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) and regulatory T-cells (Tregs). During lymphodepletion, reduction of lymphocytes results in a generalized state of immune suppression. However, decrease in immunesuppressive regulatory cells, as well as the reduction in lymphocytes and innate immune cells, allows the remaining T-cells to have increased access to cytokines important for their proliferation and activation (IL-7 and IL-15) [66]. Lymphodepletion enhances cytokine release which provides a favorable environment for the expansion of adaptive immune cells [67]. Creating space in the hematopoietic cell compartment is a prerequisite for the promotion of homeostatic proliferation (HP), which allows for the skewed production of tumor-reactive memory T-cells. Moreover, lymphodepletion favors the maturation of APC necessary for efficient presentation of tumor antigens to tumor-reactive T-cells,

thereby facilitating antitumor immunity [68]. Inhibition or loss of inhibitory regulatory cells, the availability of cytokines, as well as the space provided by lymphodepletion provide an environment that promotes the expansion of cytolytic T-cells capable of recognizing tumor antigens.

8.5 Reconstitution of the T-Cell Repertoire After Lymphodepletion

Reconstitution of lymphocyte cell subsets is critical for the survival of patients treated with lymphodepleting regimens. Myeloid, NK, and B-cells repopulate the hematopoietic compartment relatively quickly, while T-cell recovery is more delayed [66]. Timely reconstitution of T-cells after lymphodepletion is of great importance since these cells are the main killers of cancer cells and defend the host against opportunistic infections [69]. T-cell reconstitution after nonmyeloablative conditioning results from thymopoiesis, the homeostatic proliferation of host T-cells that have survived the conditioning, and/ or from the adoptive transfer of allogeneic or autologous T-cells. Early T-cell reconstitution after myeloablative conditioning results primarily from the homeostatic expansion of mature donor T-cells present in the HSC graft, while thymopoiesis may contribute to T-cell reconstitution at later times. Adoptively transferred T-cells often consist of a specific phenotype (e.g., effector cells) in an attempt to skew the T-cell repertoire toward a specific antigen-reactive subset. T-cell reconstitution by homeostatic proliferation and thymopoiesis will be further explained in the following sections.

8.5.1 Lymphodepletion-Induced T-Cell Thymopoiesis Is Important for Reconstitution of the T-Cell Repertoire

Thymopoiesis is the process whereby bone marrow-derived T-cell progenitors which have migrated to the thymus undergo maturation,
expansion, and selection, which results in a broadly diverse repertoire of mature T-cells that express unique T-cell receptors (TCRs). After non-myeloablative conditioning and thymopoiesis, the proportion of T-cells with a naïve phenotype increases [70, 71]. Thymopoiesis is influenced by cytokines, growth factors, and hormones. Interleukin-7 is important for the survival of developing thymocytes [72]. As a result, IL-7 administration after transplant enhances donor-derived thymopoiesis [73]. The importance of IL-7 in thymopoiesis was further supported by the reduced T-cell maturation observed in IL-7-deficient and IL-7a-deficient transgenic mice [72]. Keratinocyte growth factor (KGF) boosts thymic productivity by expanding thymic epithelial cell populations, and KGF-deficient mice are more susceptible to thymic damage [74]. Growth hormones, such as insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) [75], IL-22 [76], FLT3 ligand [77], and sex steroid hormones [69] are also important for the thymic output of T-cells.

Thymic activity is dependent upon age. The thymus is most productive during the first 6 months of life. Over time the thymus dramatically involutes, and the expansion of early thymocytes declines. In older lymphodepleted patients, T-cell expansion is primarily the result of homeostatic proliferation. Thymic contribution to T-cell expansion may be minimal or delayed depending on the functional status of the thymus which can be influenced by radiation, chemotherapeutic drugs, and GVHD [66]. T-cell reconstitution in children is relatively quick and results in generation of a normal CD4:CD8 T-cell ratio of 2:1 [78]. Adult T-cell reconstitution, however, typically results in a CD4:CD8 cell ratio closer to 1:1 due to decreased number of CD4 T-cells [78]. In addition, reconstituted CD4 T-cell populations in adults tend to skew toward a memory (CD45RO) phenotype because impaired thymic output increases the duration of lymphopenia, resulting in a longer period of homeostatic proliferation (HP) [78, 79].

8.5.2 Lymphodepletion-Induced Homeostatic Proliferation as Strategy to Augment Antitumor Immunity

T-cell homeostatic proliferation (HP) is the spontaneous proliferation of existing peripheral T-cells that expand to fill "empty space" in the T-cell compartment. HP is different from normal homeostatic maintenance, which occurs when dying T-cells are replaced in hematopoietic tissues. HP occurs when the T-cell compartment has been severely depleted by drugs, radiation, antibodies, or by other means. The kinetics of T-cell HP depends upon the degree and duration of T-cell lymphopenia.

T-cells undergoing HP are activated in the presence of γ -chain cytokines such as IL-7 and IL-15. These rapidly expanding T-cells have an activated memory phenotype during proliferation [66]. Cells with a memory phenotype revert back to a naive phenotype after proliferation ceases and homeostasis is restored [80]. HP in the absence of primary antigen stimulation can mediate a secondary response to antigen, suggesting that lymphopenia can promote polyclonal T-cell differentiation [81]. Memory T-cells produced during homeostatic proliferation have potent antitumor activity [82]; thus, they produce efficacious immune responses to eliminate the existing cancer cells.

The lymphodepleted environment can create ideal conditions to promote the expansion of tumor-specific cytolytic T-cells. During homeostatic proliferation, T-cells can expand to produce a repertoire which is skewed to recognize antigens abundantly processed and presented by APC. Hence, vaccination with tumor antigens during periods of lymphopenia may facilitate activation of cytolytic T-cells that specifically recognize weak tumor self-antigens. In addition to tumor antigens, the availability of cytokines during lymphodepletion can promote the expansion of specific tumor-reactive T-cell subsets. IL-7 promotes T-cell lymphopoiesis [83]. T-cells in IL-7-deficient mice do not undergo HP, demonstrating that IL-7 is required for stimulating naïve T-cell HP and sustaining survival of these cells [84, 85]. Administration of IL-7 drives proliferation of naïve T-cells and restricts T-cell expansion following the recovery of T-cell numbers [84, 85]. IL-7 also restricts T-cell expansion following T-cell recovery to prevent an overabundance of naïve T-cells [66]. IL-15 and IL-21 both promote the expansion and survival of memory CD8⁺ T-cells [86, 87]. Increased concentrations of IL-7 and IL-15 are produced during wholebody irradiation [88], and increased IL-7 and IL-15 signaling causes T-cells to undergo HP [88–90]. Naïve T-cells also require TCR activation with self-peptide/MHC complexes to undergo HP [88], and exposure of these naïve T-cells to tumor antigens may help to skew reactivity toward these antigens. HP of memory T-cells is dependent on IL-15 signaling but does not require interaction with antigen or MHC molecules [88]. T-cell repopulation is also influenced by other growth factors and hormones [66].

During HP, antitumor immune responses can be further enhanced by blocking T-cell inhibitory receptors that interfere with activation. Our laboratory reported that a combination of lymphodepletion, induced by sublethal whole-body irradiation, and administration of a programmed death receptor ligand-1 (PD-L1)-specific antibody results in increased survival of myelomabearing mice [91]. Therefore, during homeostatic proliferation, it may be possible to manipulate the repopulating T-cells so that they can function as more potent tumor cell killers. Other strategies designed to promote the expansion of tumorreactive T-cells include the following: (1) adoptive transfer of mature tumor-reactive T-cells during a state of lymphopenia, (2) depletion of CD4 regulatory T-cells from the donor HSC graft to enhance an antitumor effect [92-94], (3) ex vivo manipulation of T-cells to promote expansion of tumor-reactive T-cells for adoptive transfer, (4) adoptive transfer of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cells to lymphodepleted individuals in order to specifically target cancer cells with a particular antigen [95], and (5) exogenous administration of y-chain cytokines to promote homeostatic proliferation [68]. Studies have shown that adoptive T-cell transfer into lymphodepleted mice results in extensive T-cell proliferation and that proliferating naive T-cells will adopt a memory T-cell phenotype and function [96–98].

8.5.3 Use of Animal Models to Address Immunological Effects of Lymphodepletion

Mouse models have provided excellent systems for determining the underlying mechanisms responsible for the immunological effects of lymphodepletion. As mentioned earlier, transgenic mouse models (e.g., IL-7-deficient mice) were instrumental in dissecting the role of IL-7 for both thymopoiesis and HP expansion [66, 84, 85]. Chronically, lymphophenic strains of mice have proven crucial for investigating the immunological effects of lymphodepletion; these include RAG-deficient, SCID, Nude, and NOD mice. These strains of mice completely lack T-cells, allowing for adoptive T-cell transfer and investigation of the mechanisms involved in HP. In addition, thymectomized mice are not only useful for investigation of HP but also for studying effects of the thymus on HP. When lymphodepleted thymectomized mice receive T-cell transfer, HP is increased as compared to lymphodepleted naïve mice that have an intact thymus, demonstrating cross-regulation between thymopoiesis and HP following lymphodepletion [79]. Information gathered from these models can provide further insights to new cancer therapies that involve lymphodepletion and HSCT.

8.6 Concluding Remarks

Lymphodepletion and HSCT have now been used for more than three decades in the treatment of various cancers. Myeloablative or nonmyeloablative "conditioning" serves to eliminate or reduce malignant cells present in the patient, create "space" for expansion of transplanted cells, and provide an environment that is conducive to the proliferation of tumor-reactive immune cells. Allogeneic HSCT replenishes the T-cell repertoire with malignant-free cells, and mature T-cells in the graft can provide a beneficial GVT effect. Research advances have shown that cytokine antagonists and elimination of regulatory T-cells can drive homeostatic proliferation in the direction of effective antitumor immunity. In addition, research has demonstrated that combined therapeutic approaches appear to be the most promising strategies to improve overall survival in cancer patients. Therefore, it is critical to continue to test novel therapeutic combinations to improve treatment and ultimately translate these approaches from the bench to the bedside.

References

- Thomas ED, Lochte HL Jr, Cannon JH, Sahler OD, Ferrebee JW. Supralethal whole body irradiation and isologous marrow transplantation in man. J Clin Invest. 1959;38:1709–16.
- Appelbaum FR. Retrospective. E. Donnall Thomas (1920–2012). Science (New York, NY). 2012;338(6111):1163.
- Gorin NC. Autologous stem cell transplantation in acute myelocytic leukemia. Blood. 1998;92(4):1073–90.
- Copelan EA. Hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2006;354(17):1813–26.
- Blume KG, Beutler E, Bross KJ, Chillar RK, Ellington OB, Fahey JL, et al. Bone-marrow ablation and allogeneic marrow transplantation in acute leukemia. N Engl J Med. 1980;302(19):1041–6.
- Speck B, Bortin MM, Champlin R, Goldman JM, Herzig RH, McGlave PB, et al. Allogeneic bonemarrow transplantation for chronic myelogenous leukaemia. Lancet. 1984;1(8378):665–8.
- Thomas ED, Buckner CD, Banaji M, Clift RA, Fefer A, Flournoy N, et al. One hundred patients with acute leukemia treated by chemotherapy, total body irradiation, and allogeneic marrow transplantation. Blood. 1977;49(4):511–33.
- Kennedy MJ, Beveridge RA, Rowley SD, Gordon GB, Abeloff MD, Davidson NE. High-dose chemotherapy with reinfusion of purged autologous bone marrow following dose-intense induction as initial therapy for metastatic breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1991;83(13):920–6.
- Spitzer G, Velasquez W, Dunphy FR, Spencer V. Autologous bone marrow transplantation in solid tumors. Curr Opin Oncol. 1992;4(2):272–8.
- Fish JD, Grupp SA. Stem cell transplantation for neuroblastoma. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2008;41(2):159–65.

- Gratwohl A, Baldomero H, Demirer T, Rosti G, Dini G, Ladenstein R, et al. Hematopoetic stem cell transplantation for solid tumors in Europe. Ann Oncol. 2004;15(4):653–60.
- Bracci L, Schiavoni G, Sistigu A, Belardelli F. Immune-based mechanisms of cytotoxic chemotherapy: implications for the design of novel and rationale-based combined treatments against cancer. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21(1):15–25.
- Bensinger WI, Martin PJ, Storer B, Clift R, Forman SJ, Negrin R, et al. Transplantation of bone marrow as compared with peripheral-blood cells from HLAidentical relatives in patients with hematologic cancers. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(3):175–81.
- Pavletic ZS, Bishop MR, Tarantolo SR, Martin-Algarra S, Bierman PJ, Vose JM, et al. Hematopoietic recovery after allogeneic blood stem-cell transplantation compared with bone marrow transplantation in patients with hematologic malignancies. J Clin Oncol. 1997;15(4):1608–16.
- Korbling M, Anderlini P. Peripheral blood stem cell versus bone marrow allotransplantation: does the source of hematopoietic stem cells matter? Blood. 2001;98(10):2900–8.
- Gluckman E, Rocha V, Boyer-Chammard A, Locatelli F, Arcese W, Pasquini R, et al. Outcome of cord-blood transplantation from related and unrelated donors. Eurocord Transplant Group and the European Blood and Marrow Transplantation Group. N Engl J Med. 1997;337(6):373–81.
- Laughlin MJ, Eapen M, Rubinstein P, Wagner JE, Zhang MJ, Champlin RE, et al. Outcomes after transplantation of cord blood or bone marrow from unrelated donors in adults with leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(22):2265–75.
- Rocha V, Wagner JE Jr, Sobocinski KA, Klein JP, Zhang MJ, Horowitz MM, et al. Graft-versus-host disease in children who have received a cord-blood or bone marrow transplant from an HLA-identical sibling. Eurocord and International Bone Marrow Transplant Registry Working Committee on Alternative Donor and Stem Cell Sources. N Engl J Med. 2000;342(25):1846–54.
- Rubinstein P, Carrier C, Scaradavou A, Kurtzberg J, Adamson J, Migliaccio AR, et al. Outcomes among 562 recipients of placental-blood transplants from unrelated donors. N Engl J Med. 1998;339(22):1565–77.
- Kurtzberg J, Laughlin M, Graham ML, Smith C, Olson JF, Halperin EC, et al. Placental blood as a source of hematopoietic stem cells for transplantation into unrelated recipients. N Engl J Med. 1996;335(3):157–66.
- 21. Wagner JE, Rosenthal J, Sweetman R, Shu XO, Davies SM, Ramsay NK, et al. Successful transplantation of HLA-matched and HLA-mismatched umbilical cord blood from unrelated donors: analysis of engraftment and acute graft-versus-host disease. Blood. 1996;88(3):795–802.
- 22. Grewal SS, Barker JN, Davies SM, Wagner JE. Unrelated donor hematopoietic cell transplan-

tation: marrow or umbilical cord blood? Blood. 2003;101(11):4233-44.

- 23. Singh K, Srivastava A, Mathur N, Kumar S, Kumar L, Mukhopadhyay A, et al. Evaluation of four methods for processing human cord blood and subsequent study of the expansion of progenitor stem cells isolated using the best method. Cytotherapy. 2009;11(6):768–77.
- Delaney C, Heimfeld S, Brashem-Stein C, Voorhies H, Manger RL, Bernstein ID. Notch-mediated expansion of human cord blood progenitor cells capable of rapid myeloid reconstitution. Nat Med. 2010;16(2):232–6.
- 25. Demange E, Kassim Y, Petit C, Buquet C, Dulong V, Cerf DL, et al. Survival of cord blood haema-topoietic stem cells in a hyaluronan hydrogel for ex vivo biomimicry. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2013;7(11):901–10.
- 26. Eapen M, Rocha V, Sanz G, Scaradavou A, Zhang MJ, Arcese W, et al. Effect of graft source on unrelated donor haemopoietic stem-cell transplantation in adults with acute leukaemia: a retrospective analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(7):653–60.
- Imanguli MM, Childs RW. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for solid tumors. Update on Cancer Therapeutics. 2006;1(3):343–52.
- Reisner Y, Aversa F, Martelli MF. Haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: state of art. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2015;50(Suppl 2):S1–5.
- Fabricius WA, Ramanathan M. Review on Haploidentical hematopoietic cell transplantation in patients with hematologic malignancies. Adv Hematol. 2016;2016:5726132.
- 30. Bertaina A, Zecca M, Buldini B, Sacchi N, Algeri M, Saglio F, et al. Unrelated donor vs HLA-haploidentical α/β T-cell- and B-cell-depleted HSCT in children with acute leukemia. Blood. 2018;132(24):2594–607.
- Fowler DH. Shared biology of GVHD and GVT effects: potential methods of separation. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2006;57(3):225–44.
- Ferrara JL, Reddy P. Pathophysiology of graft-versushost disease. Semin Hematol. 2006;43(1):3–10.
- Toubai T, Mathewson ND, Magenau J, Reddy P. Danger signals and graft-versus-host disease: current understanding and future perspectives. Front Immunol. 2016;7:539.
- Zeiser R, Blazar BR. Pathophysiology of chronic graft-versus-host disease and therapeutic targets. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(26):2565–79.
- 35. Bhatia S, Francisco L, Carter A, Sun CL, Baker KS, Gurney JG, et al. Late mortality after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation and functional status of long-term survivors: report from the Bone Marrow Transplant Survivor Study. Blood. 2007;110(10):3784–92.
- 36. Duell T, van Lint MT, Ljungman P, Tichelli A, Socie G, Apperley JF, et al. Health and functional status of long-term survivors of bone marrow transplantation. EBMT Working Party on Late Effects and EULEP study group on late effects. European Group for

Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Ann Intern Med. 1997;126(3):184–92.

- 37. Martin PJ, Counts GW Jr, Appelbaum FR, Lee SJ, Sanders JE, Deeg HJ, et al. Life expectancy in patients surviving more than 5 years after hematopoietic cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(6):1011–6.
- 38. Socie G, Stone JV, Wingard JR, Weisdorf D, Henslee-Downey PJ, Bredeson C, et al. Long-term survival and late deaths after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Late Effects Working Committee of the International Bone Marrow Transplant Registry. N Engl J Med. 1999;341(1):14–21.
- Hess AD. Reconstitution of self-tolerance after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Immunol Res. 2010;47(1-3):143–52.
- Truitt RL, Johnson BD. Principles of graft-vs.-leukemia reactivity. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 1995;1(2):61–8.
- Marmont AM, Horowitz MM, Gale RP, Sobocinski K, Ash RC, van Bekkum DW, et al. T-cell depletion of HLA-identical transplants in leukemia. Blood. 1991;78(8):2120–30.
- 42. Truitt RL, Atasoylu AA. Contribution of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells to graft-versus-host disease and graft-versus-leukemia reactivity after transplantation of MHC-compatible bone marrow. Bone Marrow Transplant. 1991;8(1):51–8.
- Weiden PL, Flournoy N, Thomas ED, Prentice R, Fefer A, Buckner CD, et al. Antileukemic effect of graftversus-host disease in human recipients of allogeneicmarrow grafts. N Engl J Med. 1979;300(19):1068–73.
- 44. Kotsiou E, Davies JK. New ways to separate graftversus-host disease and graft-versus-tumour effects after allogeneic haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Br J Haematol. 2013;160(2):133–45.
- Hallett WH, Murphy WJ. Natural killer cells: biology and clinical use in cancer therapy. Cell Mol Immunol. 2004;1(1):12–21.
- 46. Cruz CR, Bollard CM. T-cell and natural killer cell therapies for hematologic malignancies after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: enhancing the graft-versus-leukemia effect. Haematologica. 2015;100(6):709–19.
- Horowitz MM, Gale RP, Sondel PM, Goldman JM, Kersey J, Kolb HJ, et al. Graft-versus-leukemia reactions after bone marrow transplantation. Blood. 1990;75(3):555–62.
- 48. Ringden O, Labopin M, Gorin NC, Schmitz N, Schaefer UW, Prentice HG, et al. Is there a graftversus-leukaemia effect in the absence of graftversus-host disease in patients undergoing bone marrow transplantation for acute leukaemia? Br J Haematol. 2000;111(4):1130–7.
- 49. Brunstein CG, Miller JS, McKenna DH, Hippen KL, DeFor TE, Sumstad D, et al. Umbilical cord blood-derived T regulatory cells to prevent GVHD: kinetics, toxicity profile, and clinical effect. Blood. 2016;127(8):1044–51.
- 50. Brunstein CG, Miller JS, Cao Q, McKenna DH, Hippen KL, Curtsinger J, et al. Infusion of ex vivo

expanded T regulatory cells in adults transplanted with umbilical cord blood: safety profile and detection kinetics. Blood. 2011;117(3):1061–70.

- Martelli MF, Di Ianni M, Ruggeri L, Falzetti F, Carotti A, Terenzi A, et al. HLA-haploidentical transplantation with regulatory and conventional T-cell adoptive immunotherapy prevents acute leukemia relapse. Blood. 2014;124(4):638–44.
- 52. Di Ianni M, Falzetti F, Carotti A, Terenzi A, Castellino F, Bonifacio E, et al. Tregs prevent GVHD and promote immune reconstitution in HLA-haploidentical transplantation. Blood. 2011;117(14):3921–8.
- 53. Devine SM, Carter S, Soiffer RJ, Pasquini MC, Hari PN, Stein A, et al. Low risk of chronic graft-versushost disease and relapse associated with T celldepleted peripheral blood stem cell transplantation for acute myelogenous leukemia in first remission: results of the blood and marrow transplant clinical trials network protocol 0303. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2011;17(9):1343–51.
- 54. Bayraktar UD, de Lima M, Saliba RM, Maloy M, Castro-Malaspina HR, Chen J, et al. Ex vivo T celldepleted versus unmodified allografts in patients with acute myeloid leukemia in first complete remission. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2013;19(6):898–903.
- 55. Bleakley M, Heimfeld S, Loeb KR, Jones LA, Chaney C, Seropian S, et al. Outcomes of acute leukemia patients transplanted with naive T cell-depleted stem cell grafts. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(7):2677–89.
- 56. Atilla E, Ataca Atilla P, Demirer T. A review of Myeloablative vs reduced intensity/non-Myeloablative regimens in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantations. Balkan Med J. 2017;34(1):1–9.
- 57. Jethava YS, Sica S, Savani B, Socola F, Jagasia M, Mohty M, et al. Conditioning regimens for allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplants in acute myeloid leukemia. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2017;52(11):1504–11.
- Olsson R, Remberger M, Schaffer M, Berggren DM, Svahn BM, Mattsson J, et al. Graft failure in the modern era of allogeneic hematopoietic SCT. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2013;48(4):537–43.
- Strober S, Slavin S, Gottlieb M, Zan-Bar I, King DP, Hoppe RT, et al. Allograft tolerance after total lymphoid irradiation (TLI). Immunol Rev. 1979;46:87–112.
- 60. Strober S, Spitzer TR, Lowsky R, Sykes M. Translational studies in hematopoietic cell transplantation: treatment of hematologic malignancies as a stepping Stone to tolerance induction. Semin Immunol. 2011;23(4):273–81.
- 61. Lan F, Zeng D, Higuchi M, Huie P, Higgins JP, Strober S. Predominance of NK1.1+TCR alpha beta+ or DX5+TCR alpha beta+ T cells in mice conditioned with fractionated lymphoid irradiation protects against graft-versus-host disease: "natural suppressor" cells. J Immunol. 2001;167(4):2087–96.
- Antony PA, Piccirillo CA, Akpinarli A, Finkelstein SE, Speiss PJ, Surman DR, et al. CD8+ T cell immunity

against a tumor/self-antigen is augmented by CD4+ T helper cells and hindered by naturally occurring T regulatory cells. J Immunol. 2005;174(5):2591–601.

- 63. Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, Restifo NP, et al. Adoptive cell transfer therapy following non-myeloablative but lymphodepleting chemotherapy for the treatment of patients with refractory metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(10):2346–57.
- 64. Gattinoni L, Finkelstein SE, Klebanoff CA, Antony PA, Palmer DC, Spiess PJ, et al. Removal of homeostatic cytokine sinks by lymphodepletion enhances the efficacy of adoptively transferred tumor-specific CD8+ T cells. J Exp Med. 2005;202(7):907–12.
- 65. Ma J, Urba WJ, Si L, Wang Y, Fox BA, Hu HM. Antitumor T cell response and protective immunity in mice that received sublethal irradiation and immune reconstitution. Eur J Immunol. 2003;33(8):2123–32.
- Williams KM, Hakim FT, Gress RE. T cell immune reconstitution following lymphodepletion. Semin Immunol. 2007;19(5):318–30.
- 67. Bracci L, Moschella F, Sestili P, La Sorsa V, Valentini M, Canini I, et al. Cyclophosphamide enhances the antitumor efficacy of adoptively transferred immune cells through the induction of cytokine expression, B-cell and T-cell homeostatic proliferation, and specific tumor infiltration. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(2 Pt 1):644–53.
- Klebanoff CA, Khong HT, Antony PA, Palmer DC, Restifo NP. Sinks, suppressors and antigen presenters: how lymphodepletion enhances T cell-mediated tumor immunotherapy. Trends Immunol. 2005;26(2):111–7.
- Chaudhry MS, Velardi E, Malard F, van den Brink MR. Immune Reconstitution after Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation: Time To T Up the Thymus. J Immunol. 2017;198(1):40–6.
- Mackall CL, Fleisher TA, Brown MR, Andrich MP, Chen CC, Feuerstein IM, et al. Age, thymopoiesis, and CD4+ T-lymphocyte regeneration after intensive chemotherapy. N Engl J Med. 1995;332(3):143–9.
- Mackall CL, Granger L, Sheard MA, Cepeda R, Gress RE. T-cell regeneration after bone marrow transplantation: differential CD45 isoform expression on thymic-derived versus thymic-independent progeny. Blood. 1993;82(8):2585–94.
- Peschon JJ, Morrissey PJ, Grabstein KH, Ramsdell FJ, Maraskovsky E, Gliniak BC, et al. Early lymphocyte expansion is severely impaired in interleukin 7 receptor-deficient mice. J Exp Med. 1994;180(5):1955–60.
- Mackall CL, Fry TJ, Bare C, Morgan P, Galbraith A, Gress RE. IL-7 increases both thymic-dependent and thymic-independent T-cell regeneration after bone marrow transplantation. Blood. 2001;97(5):1491–7.
- 74. Alpdogan O, Hubbard VM, Smith OM, Patel N, Lu S, Goldberg GL, et al. Keratinocyte growth factor (KGF) is required for postnatal thymic regeneration. Blood. 2006;107(6):2453–60.
- 75. Chu YW, Schmitz S, Choudhury B, Telford W, Kapoor V, Garfield S, et al. Exogenous insulin-like

growth factor 1 enhances thymopoiesis predominantly through thymic epithelial cell expansion. Blood. 2008;112(7):2836–46.

- Dudakov JA, Hanash AM, Jenq RR, Young LF, Ghosh A, Singer NV, et al. Interleukin-22 drives endogenous thymic regeneration in mice. Science. 2012;336(6077):91–5.
- 77. Williams KM, Moore AR, Lucas PJ, Wang J, Bare CV, Gress RE. FLT3 ligand regulates thymic precursor cells and hematopoietic stem cells through interactions with CXCR4 and the marrow niche. Exp Hematol. 2017;52:40–9.
- Storek J, Witherspoon RP, Storb R. T cell reconstitution after bone marrow transplantation into adult patients does not resemble T cell development in early life. Bone Marrow Transplant. 1995;16(3):413–25.
- Tchao NK, Turka LA. Lymphodepletion and homeostatic proliferation: implications for transplantation. Am J Transplant Off J Am Soc Transplant Am Soc Transplant Surg. 2012;12(5):1079–90.
- Goldrath AW, Bogatzki LY, Bevan MJ. Naive T cells transiently acquire a memory-like phenotype during homeostasis-driven proliferation. J Exp Med. 2000;192(4):557–64.
- Kieper WC, Jameson SC. Homeostatic expansion and phenotypic conversion of naïve T cells in response to self peptide/MHC ligands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(23):13306–11.
- Kaiser AD, Gadiot J, Guislain A, Blank CU. Mimicking homeostatic proliferation in vitro generates T cells with high anti-tumor function in nonlymphopenic hosts. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2013;62(3):503–15.
- Park JH, Yu Q, Erman B, Appelbaum JS, Montoya-Durango D, Grimes HL, et al. Suppression of IL7Ralpha transcription by IL-7 and other prosurvival cytokines: a novel mechanism for maximizing IL-7-dependent T cell survival. Immunity. 2004;21(2):289–302.
- Schluns KS, Kieper WC, Jameson SC, Lefrancois L. Interleukin-7 mediates the homeostasis of naive and memory CD8 T cells in vivo. Nat Immunol. 2000;1(5):426–32.
- 85. Tan JT, Dudl E, LeRoy E, Murray R, Sprent J, Weinberg KI, et al. IL-7 is critical for homeostatic proliferation and survival of naive T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(15):8732–7.
- Kennedy MK, Glaccum M, Brown SN, Butz EA, Viney JL, Embers M, et al. Reversible defects in natural killer and memory CD8 T cell lineages in interleukin 15-deficient mice. J Exp Med. 2000;191(5):771–80.

- 87. Zeng R, Spolski R, Finkelstein SE, Oh S, Kovanen PE, Hinrichs CS, et al. Synergy of IL-21 and IL-15 in regulating CD8(+) T cell expansion and function. J Exp Med. 2005;201(1):139–48.
- Boyman O, Krieg C, Homann D, Sprent J. Homeostatic maintenance of T cells and natural killer cells. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2012;69(10):1597–608.
- 89. Ernst B, Lee DS, Chang JM, Sprent J, Surh CD. The peptide ligands mediating positive selection in the thymus control T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation in the periphery. Immunity. 1999;11(2):173–81.
- Goldrath AW, Bevan MJ. Low-affinity ligands for the TCR drive proliferation of mature CD8+ T cells in lymphopenic hosts. Immunity. 1999;11(2):183–90.
- Kearl TJ, Jing W, Gershan JA, Johnson BD. Programmed death receptor-1/programmed death receptor ligand-1 blockade after transient lymphodepletion to treat myeloma. J Immunol. 2013;190(11):5620–8.
- 92. Jing W, Gershan JA, Johnson BD. Depletion of CD4 T cells enhances immunotherapy for neuroblastoma after syngeneic HSCT but compromises development of antitumor immune memory. Blood. 2009;113(18):4449–57.
- 93. Jing W, Yan X, Hallett WHD, Gershan JA, Johnson BD. Depletion of CD25(+) T cells from hematopoietic stem cell grafts increases posttransplantation vaccine-induced immunity to neuroblastoma. Blood. 2011;117(25):6952–62.
- Johnson BD, Jing W, Orentas RJ. CD25+ regulatory T cell inhibition enhances vaccine-induced immunity to neuroblastoma. J Immunother. 2007;30(2):203–14.
- 95. Heczey A, Louis CU, Savoldo B, Dakhova O, Durett A, Grilley B, et al. CAR T cells administered in combination with Lymphodepletion and PD-1 inhibition to patients with neuroblastoma. Mol Ther. 2017;25(9):2214–24.
- Neujahr DC, Chen C, Huang X, Markmann JF, Cobbold S, Waldmann H, et al. Accelerated memory cell homeostasis during T cell depletion and approaches to overcome it. J Immunol. 2006;176(8):4632–9.
- Murali-Krishna K, Ahmed R. Cutting edge: naive T cells masquerading as memory cells. J Immunol. 2000;165(4):1733–7.
- Prlic M, Blazar BR, Khoruts A, Zell T, Jameson SC. Homeostatic expansion occurs independently of costimulatory signals. J Immunol. 2001;167(10):5664–8.



9

Recent Advances in Haploidentical Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation for Pediatric Hematologic Malignancies

Kristie N. Ramos and Emmanuel Katsanis 💿

Contents

9.1	Introduction	157
9.2	Advantages of Haploidentical Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation	158
9.3	Lessons from Adult Haploidentical Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation Studies	158
9.4	Evolution of T Cell Depletion Strategies in Pediatric Haploidentical	1.50
	Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation.	159
9.4.1	CD34 ⁺ Megadose	159
9.4.2	CD3/CD19 Depletion	162
9.4.3	αβ T Cell and CD19 B Cell Depletion	162
9.4.4	Donor Selection Considerations in T Cell-Depleted Haploidentical	
	Transplants	163
9.5	Pediatric Haploidentical Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation with	
	T Cell-Replete Grafts	164
9.5.1	Post-transplant Cyclophosphamide (PT-CY)	164
9.5.2	The Chinese Experience with GIAC Protocol	166
9.6	Conclusion	166
Refer	ences	166

K. N. Ramos University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

E. Katsanis (⊠) Department of Pediatrics, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

Immunobiology, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

Medicine, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

Pathology, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

University of Arizona Cancer Center, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA e-mail: katsanis@peds.arizona.edu

9.1 Introduction

Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT) can be curative for many patients with hematologic disorders and malignancies. The preferred donor source is a human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-matched sibling. However, less than 30% of patients will have a matched sibling donor (MSD), a probability that continues to decline in developed countries due to decreasing birth rates [1]. Notably, the likelihood of having an MSD is estimated to be only 22% for the US

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

N. Rezaei (ed.), Cancer Immunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_9

pediatric population (0-19 years) and is even lower in younger patients (1-5 years) at 17% [1].

Traditionally, seeking a matched unrelated donor (MUD) is considered the second-best alternative after an MSD. However, this option is being contested due to the resurgence of haploidentical HCT (haplo-HCT). A haploidentical donor is a relative who shares a single identical HLA gene complex (haplotype) with the recipient, inherited on chromosome 6. Generally, the unshared haplotype is mismatched but may randomly have additional HLA class I or II genes in common.

9.2 Advantages of Haploidentical Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation

The benefits of haploidentical over unrelated donor (URD)-HCT are numerous, with arguably the most notable being that haplo-HCT extends donor availability to nearly all patients. Since every patient shares one HLA haplotype with each biological parent, 50% of full or half siblings, and less frequently second-degree relatives, a haploidentical family donor is available in >95% of cases. The nearly universal donor accessibility afforded by haplo-HCT is particularly significant for ethnic and racial minorities and for patients of mixed race. While marrow registries have diversified and expanded in an attempt to increase access to unrelated donors, finding an MUD has continued to be a challenge for minority populations. The possibility of finding an 8/8 antigen (HLA-A, HLA-B, HLA-C, and DRB1) MUD is 16-19% in African Americans, 34-40% in Hispanics, 27-42% in Asians, and 36–52% in Native Americans compared to 75% for whites of European descent [2]. Furthermore, the use of haplo-HCT extends the availability of transplantation to patients in less-developed countries that do not have established donor registries. Haplo-HCT offers additional advantages over URD-HCT by avoiding the delays and costs associated with unrelated

donor searches and hematopoietic stem cell procurement. The time required to acquire a stem cell product from a URD, although shortened in recent years, is significantly longer than opting for a haploidentical familial donor. Haplo-HCT, therefore, can expedite transplantation in timesensitive circumstances potentially preventing relapses in patients with aggressive hematologic malignancies. Moreover, haploidentical familial donors, especially parents, are often eager to donate and readily available for not only the initial harvest but also potential additional collections of bone marrow, peripheral blood stem cells (PBSCs), or donor leukocyte infusions (DLI), if needed.

Younger pediatric patients who do not have an MSD may have the option of receiving umbilical cord blood (UCB) in place of an MUD transplant. As UCB units are cryopreserved and stored, they are readily available. The low numbers of T cells in UCB allows for mismatched units to be utilized, thereby expanding the donor pool for younger pediatric patients. However, disadvantages of UCB include low numbers of hematopoietic stem cells, which are associated with slow engraftment, and the high cost of the cord blood unit. The current trend in the USA and especially Europe now favors the use of haplo-HCT over UCB transplants, particularly for malignant diseases [3, 4].

9.3 Lessons from Adult Haploidentical Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation Studies

Early attempts at haplo-HCT in the 1980s proved to be challenging for a variety of reasons, including a high incidence of graft rejection and delayed immune reconstitution leading to infections and relapse [5, 6]. However, the evolution of conditioning regimens, graft manipulation, and graftversus-host disease (GvHD) prophylaxis has resulted in reduction of acute and chronic GvHD, improved immune reconstitution, decreased nonrelapse mortality (NRM), and improved overall and disease-free survival (OS, DFS). These recent advances in haplo-HCT approaches have allowed remarkable expansion in its global use. Countless primarily adult haplo-HCT trials for acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), acute myeloid leukemia (AML), and lymphoma (though less common) have been conducted over the last decade. These studies were heterogeneous, utilizing assorted reduced intensity conditioning (RIC) or myeloablative conditioning (MAC) regimens, bone marrow or PBSC, and T cell-replete or engineered grafts.

Results from adult haplo-HCT trials are generally comparable to concurrently reported MUD-HCT with 1- to 3-year OS averaging 60%, NRM at 15%, relapse rates around 37%, and grade III-IV acute GvHD (aGvHD) and chronic GvHD (cGvHD) at 6% and 15%, respectively [7–10]. There are no randomized trials comparing haplo- to MUD-HCT. Such trials would be difficult to conduct given the diverse disease conditions, conditioning regimens, donor characteristics, stem cell sources, and GvHD prophylaxis utilized. However, contemporaneous studies have indicated that haplo-HCT may be associated with less acute and chronic GvHD with no differences in NRM, relapse, and OS compared to MUD-HCT. Use of RIC in haplo-HCT is also associated with lower acute and chronic GvHD and decreased NRM but at the expense of increased relapse rates resulting in OS comparable to MUD transplantation. It has been noted that in approximately a third of relapses following haplo-HCT, the leukemia cells escape T cell surveillance and control through their loss of the mismatched HLA haplotype. However, these relapses do not appear to have a worse prognosis than when the mismatched haplotype is retained [11].

Similarly, there have been no randomized studies directly comparing mismatched unrelated donor (MMUD) and haplo-HCT, but most reports indicate that outcomes with MMUD-HCT are inferior to haplo-HCT with OS for MMUD in the range of 19–49% [12–17]. This has led most centers including ours to favor the selection of a haploidentical donor over a MMUD.

9.4 Evolution of T Cell Depletion Strategies in Pediatric Haploidentical Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation

The concept of graft engineering is based on decades of research that have demonstrated the roles of various immune cells in the initiation and propagation of GvHD, including T, natural killer (NK), and B cells. $\alpha\beta$ T cells are primarily responsible for GvHD, while other lymphoid populations, such as NK cells and γδ T cells, contribute to antitumor activity. As a result, current haplo-HCT approaches seek to eliminate or retain certain cell populations in the donor graft to optimize immune reconstitution while simultaneously attempting to suppress GvHD. The resurgence of haplo-HCT has been a function of advances in graft manipulation and alterations in both conditioning and post-transplant regimens. In order to improve clinical outcomes in haplo-HCT, it is essential to understand the role that various immune cell populations play. Given the rising popularity of graft engineering, including the $\alpha\beta$ T cell/CD19 B cell depletion approach, NK cells and y8 T cells are becoming increasingly important, prompting research focused on enhancing GvL effects (Table 9.1).

9.4.1 CD34⁺ Megadose

Positive selection and infusion of high doses of CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells and infusion (megadose CD34) was utilized as one of the earlier T cell depletion approaches in haplo-HCT in an attempt to remove the T cells that cause GvHD and the B cells that may lead to post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD). This treatment modality evolved from murine studies demonstrating that high numbers of transplanted stem cells depleted of T cells can overcome HLA barriers with sustained engraftment without GvHD [18]. Handgretinger et al. from Germany reported on CD34⁺ megadose haplo-HCT in 31 pediatric patients with advanced hematologic malignan-

	ncie
	gna
1.	mali
•	50
1-1	IOI
	nema
	IOI
1	indles
1 1	orant s
	transp
E.	GEI
	ğ
	olel
	atop
1	nem
-	Ical
1 1	lent
-	ŏ
	lap
-	
1.1.4	llat
Ļ	Ч.
-	e

	F/U mo	24	60	51 (M)	22 (M)	19 (M)	46 (M)	12 24
	DFS (%)	38 (all) 28 (MD) 39 (CR) 14 (NR)	27	26	52	51	71	43 32
	(%)		59				72	56
	se (%)							
	Relap	42	36	63	32	47	24	52
	NRM (%)	26	37	11	23	L	2	13
sietic cell transplant studies for hematologic malignancies	cGvHD (%)	σ	17	21 (12e)	33	19 (9e)	5	24
	aGvHD III–IV (%)	ς,	6	L	13	15	0	13
	Engraft (%)	32	16	87	94	8	86	94
	1 (%) (e							
	Regime	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC	MAC	RIC
	Remission (BMT) %	16 CR1 19 CR2 5 < CR2 58 NR	17 CR1 38 CR2 25 CR3	13 CR1 24 CR2 20 > CR2 43 NR 41 > 1st	25 CR1 40 CR2 16 > CR2 19 NR 32 > 1st	33 CR1–2 33 > CR2 33 NR 54 > 1st	39 CR1 56 CR2 5 > CR2	CR 45 PR 55
	Disease (%)	41 ALL 13 AML 10 MDS 8 CML 8 Lymp 20 NMD	100 ALL	46 ALL 37AML 7 MDS	51 ALL 49 AML	49 ALL 22 AML 7 MDS 10 ST 12 NMD	70 ALL 30 AML	24 ALL 24 AML 12 MDS 35 HD 36 HD
	Graft	CD34	CD34	CD3/ CD19 Dep	CD3/ CD19 Dep	αβ T/ CD19 Dep	αβ T/ CD19 Dep	BM PT-CY
hematop	Age	1–18	1–16	1–24	6-19	2-18	1–21	1–25
oidentical	Z	31 MD 8 NMD	102	46	70	36 MD 5 NMD	80	40
tric hapl	Year	2001	2010	2014	2016	2015	2017	2017
Table 9.1 Pedia		Handgretinger (Germany)	Klingebiel (EBMT)	Lang (Germany)	Diaz (Spain)	Lang (Germany)	Locatelli (Italy)	Klein (Baltimore)

		<u> </u>	<u> </u>
12	24	15 (M)	41 (M)
12	59	00	57 ALL 73 AML
72 0	64	100	63 ALL 73 AML
			ML
24	25	0	29 A 16 A
6	20	0) 15
4	S,	23 (15e)	40 (27e)
<i>භ</i>	20	0	15
79	100	100	100
. U			
58 RIC 42 MA	MAC	MAC	MAC
24 CR1 30 CR2 15 > CR2 30 NR	100 NR	23 CR1 46 CR2 8 > CR2 23 NR 15 > 1st	56 CR1 28 CR2 5 > CR2 11 NR
45 ALL 21 AML 12 MDS 15 Lymp 6 O	35 ALL 65 AML	54 ALL 15 AML 8 AUL 8 CML 15 Lymp	63 ALL 37 AML
BM PT-CY	PBSC PT-CY	BM PT-CY PT-CY/ BEN	BM +PBSC
1–21	2-20	4-26	3-18
			5
[6 3 <u>5</u>	15 20	8	3 21
) 201	a) 201	201	201
Berger (Italy	Jaiswal (Indi	Katsanis (Tucson, Arizona)	Liu (China)

ditioning, RIC reduced intensity conditioning, GvHD graft-versus-host disease, e extensive, NRM non-relapse mortality, >1st. previous transplant, OS overall survival, DFS solid tumor, AUL acute undifferentiated leukemia, Lymp lymphoma, HD Hodgkin's disease, CR complete remission, NR not in remission, M median, MAC myeloablative con-N number, MD malignant disease, NMD nonmalignant disease, PT-CY post-transplant cyclophosphamide, PT-CY/BEN post-transplant cyclophosphamide/bendamustine, ST disease-free survival, F/U follow-up cies, and the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT) later expanded this study with 127 pediatric patients [19, 20]. Although this approach resulted in 91% engraftment and a low incidence (9%) of grade III–IV aGvHD, there were substantial risks associated with the removal of both T and B cells from the graft, such as delayed immune reconstitution, leading to opportunistic infections with a NRM rate of 37% and a relapse rate of 36% with DFS of 27%. T cell reconstitution in these studies was dependent on the number of infused CD34⁺ cells.

9.4.2 CD3/CD19 Depletion

In an attempt to decrease the incidence of infections and relapse from CD34⁺ selection, the aforementioned group from Germany applied the Miltenyi CliniMACS device to deplete CD3+/ CD19⁺ cells from granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF)-mobilized PBSC collections [21]. In utilizing this technique, grafts retained NK and monocyte activity against pathogens and leukemia. This modality of haplo-HCT was utilized in a study involving 46 pediatric patients with acute leukemia. Forty-three percent of these patients were not in remission, and for 41% it was their second or third transplant. Conditioning was myeloablative, initially consisting of OKT3, which was replaced with ATG when the monoclonal antibody was no longer available, fludarabine or clofarabine (based on risk/active disease), thiotepa, and melphalan [21]. Primary engraftment occurred in 87% of patients, with grade III-IV aGvHD in 7% and cGvHD in 21%. NRM was 11%, with a relapse rate of 63%, which was expected in this very high-risk population, and 26% DFS.

More recently, a group from Spain reported on their experience using CD3⁺/CD19⁺-depleted haplo-HCT in 70 pediatric leukemia patients with 19% in a state of refractory disease and 32% receiving a second or third transplant, which was an overall lower-risk population than the German study [22]. Their myeloablative conditioning regimen consisted of fludarabine, busulfan, and thiotepa. Engraftment occurred in 94%, grade III–IV aGvHD in 13%, cGvHD in 33%, and NRM in 20%. With a median follow-up of 22 months, the probability of relapse was 32%, and DFS rate was 52%. Looking further into the grafts, they found that recipients of killer-cell Ig-like receptor (KIR) B haplotype grafts developed a rapid NK cell expansion early after haplo-HCT, resulting in a lower probability of relapse and suggesting an advantageous NK-mediated graft versus leukemia (GvL) effect.

9.4.3 αβ T Cell and CD19 B Cell Depletion

A more refined approach to T cell depletion consists of haplo-HCT with $\alpha\beta$ T and B cell-depleted grafts. This transplant methodology allows the transfer of CD34⁺ stem cells, without $\alpha\beta$ T cells, which are primarily responsible for GvHD, but with $\gamma\delta$ T and NK cells, both of which are capable of eliciting antileukemic and anti-pathogenic effects. The German group reported their preliminary results with this approach using the same MAC regimen outlined above for CD3/CD19 depletion [23]. In this study, they performed an anti-T cell receptor (TCR)-aß microbead depletion via the Miltenyi CliniMACS device, rather than a total T cell depletion via CD3 microbeads. Forty-one patients (32 with hematologic malignancies, 4 with relapsed solid tumors, and 5 with nonmalignant conditions) underwent $\alpha\beta$ T cell/ CD19 B cell-depleted haplo-HCT. Twelve of the 36 patients with malignant disease were not in remission (33%), and for 22 of the 41 patients (54%), it was their second or subsequent transplant. Engraftment occurred in 88%, grade III-IV aGvHD in 15%, and cGvHD in 19% (9% extensive), and the relapse rate was 47%. With a median follow-up of 19 months, the disease-free survival was 51%. Of note, the ten patients who received their first transplant in complete remission (CR) showed a DFS of 100% at 1 year, illustrating the importance of disease status at the time of transplantation.

Locatelli et al. from Italy added to the investigation of $\alpha\beta$ T cell/CD19 B cell-depleted haplo-HCT with 80 acute leukemia pediatric patients in complete remission (39% CR1 and 56% CR2) [24]. All patients received a myeloablative preparative regimen (75% TBI based) and no post-transplant GvHD prophylaxis. Two patients experienced primary graft failure (98% engraftment), there was no grade III-IV aGvHD, and only 5% limited cGvHD was observed. NRM was only 5%, and relapse rates were 24%. With a median follow-up of 46 months, the 5-year probability of OS and DFS was 72% and 71%, respectively. As part of this study, they also compared the outcomes of the 80 haplo-HCT patients to that of 92 acute leukemia patients in CR that received MSD-HCT (n = 41) or MUD-HCT (n = 51) during the same time period. All three groups had comparable disease characteristics with the exception that 98% and 78% of MSD and MUD recipients were given bone marrow grafts (instead of PBSC) and all received post-transplant GvHD prophylaxis. Haplo-HCT was associated with a lower incidence of grade III-IV aGvHD and cGvHD and no significant difference in DFS among the three transplant groups.

In the context of $\alpha\beta$ T cell depletion, recent studies have examined the effects of zoledronic acid (ZOL) on yo T cell activity. A prospective analysis of 27 pediatric patients that underwent $\alpha\beta$ T cell/CD19 B cell-depleted haplo-HCT demonstrated that $\gamma\delta$ T cells were the predominant T cell population during the first few weeks posttransplant, with the central memory V δ 1 and V δ 2 subsets being most prevalent [25]. Vδ1 cells proliferated in response to CMV reactivation, while V82 cells expanded in vitro in response to ZOL exposure, becoming cytotoxic against lymphoid and myeloid blasts. These findings suggest a potential use of ZOL as a strategy to enhance a graft's antileukemic effects. The same group proceeded to treat 43 pediatric patients that had undergone αβ T cell/CD19 B cell-depleted haplo-HCT with ZOL [26]. ZOL administration started as early as 4-5 weeks post-HCT and was given every 28 days, with most patients receiving ZOL at least twice. Increased in vitro cytotoxicity of V δ 1 and V δ 2 cells was observed against primary leukemic blasts. Cytotoxic activity was further increased in V δ 2 but not V δ 1 cells in those patients given more than one treatment. More importantly, patients who received at least three ZOL infusions were found to have significantly improved survival (86%) compared to those who did not (54%). These studies have laid the foundation for further evaluation of ZOL following HCT.

9.4.4 Donor Selection Considerations in T Cell-Depleted Haploidentical Transplants

Several factors should be taken into consideration during the pretransplantation period, including donor characteristics. Donor age has been reported to affect patient outcomes in the T cell-depleted haploidentical setting. The Spanish group expanded their analysis of the patient outcomes noted above, transplanted with CD3/ CD19-depleted grafts, with an additional 25 patients receiving $\alpha\beta$ T cell and CD19 B celldepleted grafts [27]. Patients receiving grafts from younger donors (<40 years) had significantly faster recovery of CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells and B cells but not NK cells. Moreover, in the cases of $\alpha\beta$ T cell and CD19 B cell-depleted grafts, earlier $\gamma\delta$ T cell recovery was observed when compared to grafts from donors older than 40 years. They postulated that donor age was the main risk factor for higher NRM (13% vs. 43%) due to a higher infection rate in patients with older donors. Lower grade II-IV aGvHD was observed with younger donors (32% vs. 51%). Age of donor did not significantly affect relapse rate, which was found to instead be dependent on disease status at time of HCT, receiving NK KIR genotype A rather than B (KIR genotype A 79%) relapse vs. 25% with KIR genotype B) and absence of cGvHD. By univariate analysis, donor age was also found to influence DFS (35% vs. 59%) but not by multivariate analysis, with which only disease status and NK cell recovery at day +30 were significant.

KIRs are of particular importance in regulating NK cell function. The KIR gene family consists of numerous genes located on chromosome 19 and are inherited as haplotypes [28]. Inhibitory KIRs recognize HLA-A, HLA-B, and HLA-C alleles as ligands, with every individual expressing a unique KIR pattern. Donor NK cells can attack patient hematopoietic cells when they lack the ligand for the corresponding inhibitory KIR, leading to an NK-mediated GvL effect. There are two human KIR haplotypes: group A haplotype, which has a fixed number of genes encoding inhibitory receptors (except for the activating receptor KIR2DS4), and group B haplotypes, which have a variable gene number of one or more KIR B-specific genes (KIR2DS1, KIR2DS2, KIR2DS3, KIR2DS5, KIR2DL2, and KIR2DL5). Activating forms of KIRs have been identified, with KIR2DS1 and KIR2DS4 having specificity for HLA class I molecules. Among haplotype B individuals, a KIR B content score can be determined based on the number of centromeric and telomeric KIR B haplotype motifs. Miller et al. at the University of Minnesota found that both centromeric and telomeric B motifs can protect against AML relapse, but centromeric B homozygosity had the strongest effect [29]. Oevermann et al. analyzed the effect of donor KIR gene haplotype on relapse and DFS in children with ALL who received CD34+selected T cell-depleted haplo-HCT [30]. The KIR gene haplotype was evaluated in 85 donors, and the KIR B content score was determined in the 63 KIR haplotype B donors. Patients receiving a KIR haplotype B donor had a superior DFS than those transplanted from a KIR haplotype A donor (50.6% vs. 29.5%). Moreover, a high donor KIR B content score was associated with a significantly lower risk of relapse. These data indicate that KIR genotyping should be included in the donor selection algorithm for at least T cell-depleted haplo-HCT where NK cells may play a more critical role, with the aim of enhancing GvL effects by choosing KIR

haplotype B donors with high KIR B content

scores.

9.5 Pediatric Haploidentical Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation with T Cell-Replete Grafts

Yet another approach of haplo-HCT in pediatric leukemia is the transplantation of T cell-replete grafts. In the setting of T cell-replete grafts, GvHD prevention becomes of utmost importance, given that the graft contains all of the immune cells necessary to attack the immunocompromised host. Furthermore, graft rejection is similarly a risk, given that the graft also contains all of the cellular components recognized as foreign. Therefore, pre- and especially posttransplant immunosuppression are essential.

9.5.1 Post-transplant Cyclophosphamide (PT-CY)

More than half a century ago, it was demonstrated that a single dose of CY was able to prolong the survival of a skin allograft from a haploidentical donor if given between the first and fourth day following implantation of the graft [31]. The use of PT-CY originated from experimental HCT in murine models performed at Johns Hopkins University. This approach has been critical in the progression of T cell-replete haplo-HCT [32]. PT-CY is effective for several reasons, including the targeting of rapidly dividing alloreactive donor T cells that are responsible for GvHD while not affecting quiescent hematopoietic stem cells due to their relatively high levels of aldehyde dehydrogenase [33, 34]. Additional benefits of PT-CY are that it is inexpensive and simple to use and thus can be applied by any center performing allogeneic HCT. T cell-replete haplo-HCT with PT-CY has therefore emerged as the most widely applied regimen, at least in the USA, as it circumvents the need to manipulate stem cell grafts. While many of the initial studies focused primarily on adult patients, T cell-replete haplo-HCT with

PT-CY has become an increasingly utilized transplant approach in pediatric patients afflicted by both malignant and nonmalignant diseases. A concern with the use of PT-CY is that donor hematopoietic stem cells may be exposed to its mutagenic effects, which is particularly problematic in children. However, a recent analysis of 790 long-term survivors of PT-CY demonstrated that this is a rare occurrence present in only 5 patients (0.6%) [35]. The reports of haplo-HCT with PT-CY summarized below were all comprised of advanced hematologic malignancies including >CR2 and, in many cases, refractory disease. Some of these studies also involved patients that had previously undergone myeloablative transplantation.

Klein et al. from Johns Hopkins demonstrated the effectiveness of PT-CY in 40 pediatric and young adult patients (1-25 years) using their haplo-HCT RIC regimen (CY 14.5 mg/kg \times 2, FLU 30 mg/m² \times 5, and 200 cGy of TBI) with PT-CY [36]. Engraftment occurred in 94% of patients, while grade III-IV aGvHD and cGvHD developed in 13% and 24%, respectively, with a NRM of 13% and relapse rate of 52%. The OS at 1 year and 2 years was 56% and 52% with DFS at 43% and 32%, respectively. When compared to adult reports from the same institution using the same regimen, GvHD and NRM were somewhat increased, while the high relapse rate was similar. This underscores the necessity of MAC regimens for disease control in pediatric haplo-HCT for refractory and advanced hematologic malignancies.

Berger et al. described a cohort of 33 pediatric patients from 5 Italian centers who received haplo-HCT for hematologic malignancies [37]. The Johns Hopkins RIC was used in 19 patients, while 12 patients received chemotherapy-based MAC regimens and 2 patients were treated with TBI-based MAC. All but one patient engrafted (97%), with rates of grade III–IV aGvHD (3%) and cGvHD (4%), NRM at 9%, and relapse at 24%. The 1-year OS was 72%, with DFS of 61%. Of interest in this study, relapse was significantly decreased in patients that received a maternal graft (0% versus 53%), and these grafts were not associated with a higher risk of GvHD, suggesting the maternal T cells had preferential GvL effects.

Jaiswal et al. reported on the use of unmanipulated PBSCs in India, following MAC with busulfan 0.8 mg/kg \times 12, fludarabine 30 mg/m² ×5, and melphalan 140 mg/m² [38]. All patients had detectable leukemia prior to starting conditioning chemotherapy. Engraftment occurred in 100%, with grade III-IV aGvHD and cGvHD seen in 20% and 5%. Interestingly, all of the severe GvHD was seen in patients younger than 10 years, despite them having received equivalent number CD3⁺ cells/kg as their older counterparts. The authors hypothesized that PT-CY did not completely eliminate all alloreactive T cells in younger patients, possibly due to variable CY metabolism in this age group. The NRM in this study was high at 20% with relapse low at 25%, 2-year OS at 64%, and DFS at 59%.

We have treated 13 pediatric and young adult patients aged 4-26 years (7 ALL, 2 AML, 1 acute undifferentiated leukemia, 1 CML, 1 non-Hodgkin's, and 1 Hodgkin's lymphoma) at the University of Arizona Cancer Center with haplo-HCT and PT-CY or PT-CY/bendamustine (BEN) [39]. We have an ongoing phase I/Ib study of deescalating PT-CY and replacing it with BEN based on our findings that the latter may preserve GvL effects better than CY [40]. Our preparative regimens were myeloablative and consisted of TBI 1200 cGy + fludarabine 30 mg/m² ×4 for ALL [7]. For the other hematologic malignancies, we used a less intense MAC regimen than that in the Jaiswal study, consisting of busulfan 0.8 mg/kg \times 12, fludarabine 30 mg/m² \times 4, and melphalan 100 mg/m² [41]. All patients engrafted between days 12 and 26. The incidence of grade II-IV and III-IV aGvHD was 30.8% and 0%. cGvHD and extensive cGvHD were also low at 23.1% and 15.4%, respectively. With a median follow-up of 15.6 months (1.5–31.2 months), the OS and DFS stand at 100%. Taken together with the aforementioned published reports, our results strongly indicate that MAC haplo-HCT with

PT-CY is well tolerated by children and young adults and can be effectively applied in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies.

9.5.2 The Chinese Experience with GIAC Protocol

The group from Peking University has developed the GIAC protocol used to describe the four main components of their T cell-replete haplo-HCT approach. GIAC stands for G-CSF stimulation of the donor pre- and patient post-HCT; intensified immunosuppression via cyclosporine A, mycophenolate mofetil, and methotrexate; the addition of anti-thymocyte globulin to the conditioning regimen to assist with engraftment and decrease the incidence of GvHD; and a combination of PBSC and bone marrow. G-CSF exposure, in addition to mobilizing CD34⁺ stem cells, is believed to increase the production of IL-4 and promote polarization of T helper 1 (Th1) to Th2, enhancing immune tolerance and reducing the incidence of GvHD. In the context of pediatric leukemia, the GIAC protocol was used in a large cohort of 212 pediatric patients with AML and ALL who received haplo-HCT with an unmanipulated bone marrow and PBSC graft [42]. Study participants received an intense MAC regimen consisting of cytarabine, busulfan, cyclophosphamide, semustine, and anti-thymoglobulin in conjunction with multi-agent GvHD prophylaxis. All patients engrafted, with a NRM rate of 15%. The incidence of grade III-IV aGvHD was 14%, while cGvHD was reported to be 40% with 27% of patients having extensive cGvHD. OS and DFS were 63% and 57% for ALL and 73% and 73% for AML. While this regimen demonstrated excellent overall survival, which was identical to a contemporary cohort of pediatric patients receiving MSD transplants, the incidence of extensive cGvHD appeared high when compared to other haplo-HCT approaches.

9.6 Conclusion

In summary, haplo-HCT has quickly become an accepted transplant modality in pediatrics, comparable to MUD-HCT and MSD-HCT in treating patients with hematologic malignancies. Various options exist with respect to the choice of conditioning regimen, graft manipulation, and GvHD prophylaxis. It is clear that patients in remission and those that receive MAC regimens have lower rates of relapse. However, research is still needed to determine the optimal donor and graft characteristics, as well as to refine conditioning regimens, GvHD prophylaxis, and improve immune reconstitution for better pathogen and disease surveillance.

References

- BESSE K, Maiers M, Confer D, Albrecht M. On modeling human leukocyte antigen-identical sibling match probability for allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation: estimating the need for an unrelated donor source. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2016;22:410–7.
- Gragert L, Eapen M, Williams E, Freeman J, Spellman S, Baitty R, Hartzman R, Rizzo JD, Horowitz M, Confer D, Maiers M. Hla match likelihoods for hematopoietic stem-cell grafts in the U.S. registry. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:339–48.
- D'souza A, Lee S, Zhu X, Pasquini M. Current use and trends in hematopoietic cell transplantation in the United States. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2017;23:1417–21.
- Passweg JR, Baldomero H, Bader P, Bonini C, Duarte RF, DuFour C, Gennery A, Kroger N, Kuball J, Lanza F, Montoto S, Nagler A, Snowden JA, Styczynski J, Mohty M. Use of haploidentical stem cell transplantation continues to increase: the 2015 European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplant activity survey report. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2017;52:811–7.
- Beatty PG, Clift RA, Mickelson EM, Nisperos BB, Flournoy N, Martin PJ, Sanders JE, Stewart P, Buckner CD, Storb R, et al. Marrow transplantation from related donors other than HLA-identical siblings. N Engl J Med. 1985;313:765–71.
- Henslee PJ, Thompson JS, Romond EH, Doukas MA, Metcalfe M, Marshall ME, Macdonald JS. T cell depletion of HLA and haploidentical marrow reduces graft-versus-host disease but it may impair a graft-versus-leukemia effect. Transplant Proc. 1987;19:2701–6.
- Bacigalupo A, Dominietto A, Ghiso A, DI Grazia C, Lamparelli T, Gualandi F, Bregante S, Van Lint MT, Geroldi S, Luchetti S, Grasso R, Pozzi S, Colombo N, Tedone E, Varaldo R, Raiola AM. Unmanipulated haploidentical bone marrow transplantation and posttransplant cyclophosphamide for hematologic malignancies following a myeloablative conditioning: an update. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2015;50(Suppl 2):S37–9.

- Bashey A, Zhang X, Jackson K, Brown S, Ridgeway M, Solh M, Morris LE, Holland HK, Solomon SR. Comparison of outcomes of hematopoietic cell transplants from T-replete Haploidentical donors using post-transplantation cyclophosphamide with 10 of 10 HLA-A, -B, -C, -DRB1, and -DQB1 allele-matched unrelated donors and HLA-identical sibling donors: A multivariable analysis including disease risk index. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2016;22:125–33.
- Ciurea SO, Zhang MJ, Bacigalupo AA, Bashey A, Appelbaum FR, Aljitawi OS, Armand P, Antin JH, Chen J, Devine SM, Fowler DH, Luznik L, Nakamura R, O'donnell PV, Perales MA, Pingali SR, Porter DL, Riches MR, Ringden OT, Rocha V, Vij R, Weisdorf DJ, Champlin RE, Horowitz MM, Fuchs EJ, Eapen M. Haploidentical transplant with posttransplant cyclophosphamide vs matched unrelated donor transplant for acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2015;126:1033–40.
- McCurdy SR, Kanakry CG, Tsai HL, Kasamon YL, Showel MM, Bolanos-Meade J, Huff CA, Borrello I, Matsui WH, Brodsky RA, Ambinder RF, Bettinotti MP, Fuchs EJ, Rosner GL, Jones RJ, Luznik L. Grade II acute graft-versus-host disease and higher nucleated cell graft dose improve progression-free survival after HLA-Haploidentical transplant with post-transplant cyclophosphamide. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2017;24(2):343–52.
- 11. Crucitti L, Crocchiolo R, Toffalori C, Mazzi B, Greco R, Signori A, Sizzano F, Chiesa L, Zino E, Lupo Stanghellini MT, Assanelli A, Carrabba MG, Marktel S, Marcatti M, Bordignon C, Corti C, Bernardi M, Peccatori J, Bonini C, Fleischhauer K, Ciceri F, Vago L. Incidence, risk factors and clinical outcome of leukemia relapses with loss of the mismatched Hla after partially incompatible hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Leukemia. 2015;29:1143–52.
- Kekre N, Antin JH. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation donor sources in the 21st century: choosing the ideal donor when a perfect match does not exist. Blood. 2014;124:334–43.
- Lee SJ, Klein J, Haagenson M, Baxter-Lowe LA, Confer DL, Eapen M, Fernandez-Vina M, Flomenberg N, Horowitz M, Hurley CK, Noreen H, Oudshoorn M, Petersdorf E, Setterholm M, Spellman S, Weisdorf D, Williams TM, Anasetti C. High-resolution donorrecipient HLA matching contributes to the success of unrelated donor marrow transplantation. Blood. 2007;110:4576–83.
- 14. Michallet M, Sobh M, Serrier C, Morisset S, Labussiere H, Ducastelle S, Barraco F, Gilis L, Thomas X, Nicolini FE. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant for hematological malignancies from mismatched 9/10 human leukocyte antigen unrelated donors: comparison with transplants from 10/10 unrelated donors and human leukocyte antigen identical siblings. Leuk Lymphoma. 2015;56:999–1003.
- Nakamae H, Storer BE, Storb R, Storek J, Chauncey TR, Pulsipher MA, Petersen FB, Wade JC, Maris MB, Bruno B, Panse J, Petersdorf E, Woolfrey A, Maloney

DG, Sandmaier BM. Low-dose total body irradiation and fludarabine conditioning for HLA class I-mismatched donor stem cell transplantation and immunologic recovery in patients with hematologic malignancies: a multicenter trial. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2010;16:384–94.

- 16. Raiola AM, Dominietto A, Di Grazia C, Lamparelli T, Gualandi F, Ibatici A, Bregante S, Van Lint MT, Varaldo R, Ghiso A, Gobbi M, Carella AM, Signori A, Galaverna F, Bacigalupo A. Unmanipulated haploidentical transplants compared with other alternative donors and matched sibling grafts. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2014;20:1573–9.
- Sebastian Schafer H, Finke J. Mismatched unrelated alternative donors for hematological malignancies. Semin Hematol. 2016;53:77–81.
- Reisner Y, Martelli MF. Bone marrow transplantation across HLA barriers by increasing the number of transplanted cells. Immunol Today. 1995;16:437–40.
- Handgretinger R, Klingebiel T, Lang P, Schumm M, Neu S, Geiselhart A, Bader P, Schlegel PG, Greil J, Stachel D, Herzog RJ, Niethammer D. Megadose transplantation of purified peripheral blood Cd34(+) progenitor cells from HLA-mismatched parental donors in children. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2001;27:777–83.
- 20. Klingebiel T, Cornish J, Labopin M, Locatelli F, Darbyshire P, Handgretinger R, Balduzzi A, Owoc-Lempach J, Fagioli F, Or R, Peters C, Aversa F, Polge E, Dini G, Rocha V, Pediatric Diseases and Acute Leukemia Working Parties of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT). Results and factors influencing outcome after fully haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in children with very high-risk acute lymphoblastic leukemia: impact of center size: an analysis on behalf of the acute leukemia and pediatric disease Working parties of the European blood and marrow transplant group. Blood. 2010;115:3437–46.
- 21. Lang P, Teltschik HM, Feuchtinger T, Muller I, Pfeiffer M, Schumm M, Ebinger M, Schwarze CP, Gruhn B, Schrauder A, Albert MH, Greil J, Urban C, Handgretinger R. Transplantation of Cd3/ CD19 depleted allografts from haploidentical family donors in paediatric leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2014;165:688–98.
- 22. Diaz MA, Perez-Martinez A, Herrero B, Deltoro N, Martinez I, Ramirez M, Abad L, Sevilla J, Merino E, Ruiz J, Vicario JL, Gonzalez-Vicent M. Prognostic factors and outcomes for pediatric patients receiving an haploidentical relative allogeneic transplant using CD3/CD19-depleted grafts. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2016;51:1211–6.
- Lang P, Feuchtinger T, Teltschik HM, Schwinger W, Schlegel P, Pfeiffer M, Schumm M, Lang AM, Lang B, Schwarze CP, Ebinger M, Urban C, Handgretinger R. Improved immune recovery after transplantation of TCRalphabeta/CD19-depleted allografts from haploidentical donors in pediatric patients. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2015;50(Suppl 2):S6–S10.

- 24. Locatelli F, Merli P, Pagliara D, Li Pira G, Falco M, Pende D, Rondelli R, Lucarelli B, Brescia LP, Masetti R, Milano GM, Bertaina V, Algeri M, Pinto RM, Strocchio L, Meazza R, Grapulin L, Handgretinger R, Moretta A, Bertaina A, Moretta L. Outcome of children with acute leukemia given HLA-haploidentical HSCT after alphabeta T-cell and B-cell depletion. Blood. 2017;130:677–85.
- 25. Airoldi I, Bertaina A, Prigione I, Zorzoli A, Pagliara D, Cocco C, Meazza R, Loiacono F, Lucarelli B, Bernardo ME, Barbarito G, Pende D, Moretta A, Pistoia V, Moretta L, Locatelli F. Gammadelta T-cell reconstitution after HLA-haploidentical hematopoietic transplantation depleted of TCR-alphabeta+/CD19+ lymphocytes. Blood. 2015;125:2349–58.
- 26. Bertaina A, Zorzoli A, Petretto A, Barbarito G, Inglese E, Merli P, Lavarello C, Brescia LP, De Angelis B, Tripodi G, Moretta L, Locatelli F, Airoldi I. Zoledronic acid boosts gammadelta T-cell activity in children receiving alphabeta(+) T and CD19(+) cell-depleted grafts from an HLA-haplo-identical donor. Onco Targets Ther. 2017;6:e1216291.
- 27. Gonzalez-Vicent M, Molina B, Deltoro N, Sevilla J, Vicario JL, Castillo A, Ramirez M, Diaz MA. Donor age matters in T-cell depleted haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in pediatric patients: faster immune reconstitution using younger donors. Leuk Res. 2017;57:60–4.
- Middleton D, Gonzelez F. The extensive polymorphism of Kir genes. Immunology. 2010;129:8–19.
- 29. Cooley S, Weisdorf DJ, Guethlein LA, Klein JP, Wang T, Le CT, Marsh SG, Geraghty D, Spellman S, Haagenson MD, Ladner M, Trachtenberg E, Parham P, Miller JS. Donor selection for natural killer cell receptor genes leads to superior survival after unrelated transplantation for acute myelogenous leukemia. Blood. 2010;116:2411–9.
- 30. Oevermann L, Michaelis SU, Mezger M, Lang P, Toporski J, Bertaina A, Zecca M, Moretta L, Locatelli F, Handgretinger R. KIR B haplotype donors confer a reduced risk for relapse after haploidentical transplantation in children with ALL. Blood. 2014;124:2744–7.
- Berenbaum MC, Brown IN. Prolongation of homograft survival in mice with single doses of cyclophosphamide. Nature. 1963;200:84.
- 32. Luznik L, Jalla S, Engstrom LW, Iannone R, Fuchs EJ. Durable engraftment of major histocompatibility complex-incompatible cells after nonmyeloablative conditioning with fludarabine, low-dose total body irradiation, and posttransplantation cyclophosphamide. Blood. 2001;98:3456–64.
- Jones RJ, Barber JP, Vala MS, Collector MI, Kaufmann SH, Ludeman SM, Colvin OM, Hilton J. Assessment of aldehyde dehydrogenase in viable cells. Blood. 1995;85:2742–6.
- Kastan MB, Schlaffer E, Russo JE, Colvin OM, Civin CI, Hilton J. Direct demonstration of elevated alde-

hyde dehydrogenase in human hematopoietic progenitor cells. Blood. 1990;75:1947–50.

- 35. Symons HJ, Mogri H, Kanakry JA, Ambinder R, Luznik L, Fuchs EJ, Jones RJ, Kasamon YL. Rarity of donor-derived malignancy after allogeneic BMT with high-dose post-transplantation cyclophosphamide. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2014;20:S252.
- 36. Klein OR, Buddenbaum J, Tucker N, Chen AR, Gamper CJ, Loeb D, Zambidis E, Llosa NJ, Huo JS, Robey N, Holuba MJ, Kasamon YL, McCurdy SR, Ambinder R, Bolanos-Meade J, Luznik L, Fuchs EJ, Jones RJ, Cooke KR, Symons HJ. Nonmyeloablative Haploidentical bone marrow transplantation with post-transplantation cyclophosphamide for pediatric and young adult patients with high-risk hematologic malignancies. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2017;23:325–32.
- 37. Berger M, Lanino E, Cesaro S, Zecca M, Vassallo E, Faraci M, De Bortoli M, Barat V, Prete A, Fagioli F. Feasibility and outcome of Haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation with post-transplant high-dose cyclophosphamide for children and adolescents with hematologic malignancies: an AIEOP-GITMO retrospective multicenter study. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2016;22:902–9.
- 38. Jaiswal SR, Chakrabarti A, Chatterjee S, Bhargava S, Ray K, O'donnell P, Chakrabarti S. Haploidentical peripheral blood stem cell transplantation with post-transplantation cyclophosphamide in children with advanced acute leukemia with Fludarabine-, Busulfan-, and Melphalanbased conditioning. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2015;22(3):499–504.
- 39. Katsanis E, Sapp LN, Varner N, Koza S, Stea B, Zeng Y. Haploidentical bone marrow transplantation with post-transplant cyclophosphamide/Bendamustine in pediatric and young adult patients with hematologic malignancies. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2018;24:2034–9.
- Stokes J, Hoffman EA, Zeng Y, Larmonier N, Katsanis E. Post-transplant bendamustine reduces GvHD while preserving GvL in experimental haploidentical bone marrow transplantation. Br J Haematol. 2016;174:102–16.
- 41. Katsanis E, Sapp LN, Pelayo-Katsanis L, Whitney K, Zeng Y, Kopp LM. Alternative donor hematopoietic cell transplantation conditioned with Myeloablative Busulfan, Fludarabine, and Melphalan is well tolerated and effective against high-risk myeloid malignancies. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol. 2016;38:e315–8.
- 42. Liu DH, Xu LP, Liu KY, Wang Y, Chen H, Han W, Zhang XH, Yan CH, Zhang YY, Wang JZ, Chen YH, Wang FR, Huang XJ. Long-term outcomes of unmanipulated haploidentical HSCT for paediatric patients with acute leukaemia. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2013;48:1519–24.



10

Combination of Chemotherapy and Cytokine Therapy in Treatment of Cancers

M. Malvicini and Guillermo D. Mazzolini

Contents

10.1	Introduction	169
10.2	Immune Response in the Control of Cancer	170
10.2.1	Cancer Immunoediting Theory	170
10.2.2	Tumors Escape from the Host Immune Response	171
10.2.2.1	Regulatory T Lymphocytes	171
10.2.2.2	Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells and Their Immunosuppressive	
	Activity	172
10.3	Immunotherapy of Cancer	172
10.3.1	Enhancing Antitumor Immunity Using Cytokines	173
10.4	Overcoming Tumor Resistance and the Use of Chemotherapeutic	174
10.4.1	Chemotherany Plus Immunotherany	174
10.4.2	Rationale for Drug Selection	174
10.5	Combined Therapies	175
10.5.1	Preclinical Experience.	175
10.5.2	What Have We Learned from the Clinical Practice?	176
10.6	Concluding Remarks	177
Referenc	es	178

M. Malvicini

Gene Therapy Laboratory, Instituto de Investigaciones en Medicina Traslacional (IIMT; Universidad Austral-CONICET), Pilar, Argentina

Cancer Immunobiology Laboratory, Instituto de Investigaciones en Medicina Traslacional (IIMT; Universidad Austral-CONICET) Pilar, Buenos Aires, Argentina

G. D. Mazzolini (🖂)

Gene Therapy Laboratory, Instituto de Investigaciones en Medicina Traslacional (IIMT; Universidad Austral-CONICET), Pilar, Argentina e-mail: gmazzoli@austral.edu.ar

10.1 Introduction

The classical approaches to cancer therapy include the use of chemotherapeutic combinations and radiation, principally in advanced patients with unresectable tumors. On the other hand, emerging novel strategies such as antiangiogenic agents or immunotherapy include molecular targeted therapies. Despite the wide range of therapeutic options, for some specific tumor types the improvement of clinical response and survival of patients remain limited. Increasing evidence suggests that immune responses are involved in the control of cancer and that the immune system can be manipulated in different ways to recognize and attack tumors. During the last two decades, it is being observed a growing area of research focused on the combination between classical chemotherapy and novel strategies such as the use of cytokines, acting not only at the induction but also at the effector phase of the immune system regulating the innate and the adaptive immunity. The latest studies indicate that reducing the dose of conventional chemotherapy could act in synergy to generate immunity against many tumors. In this chapter we will discuss how the combination approach can be harnessed to achieve the maximal benefit to eradicate tumors.

10.2 Immune Response in the Control of Cancer

The natural history of a tumor includes subsequent phases starting with "in situ" growth, invasion, and metastasis. During these phases, crosstalk exists among all components of the tumor microenvironment and immune cells (macrophages, natural killer cells, lymphocytes, dendritic cells, and mast cells, among others) which may result in the promotion of cancer [1]. In solid tumors, e.g., colorectal carcinoma or liver cancer, immune cells could infiltrate tumors playing a key role in the control of cancer aggressiveness [2, 3].

The influence of chronic inflammation on the promotion of cancer growth has been well studied. The source of inflammatory stimuli may derive from microbial infections, as is the case of Helicobacter pylori infection and its association with gastric cancer or mucosal lymphoma [4]. On the other hand, chronic inflammatory diseases such as ulcerative colitis predispose to colorectal carcinoma [5]. The role of activated macrophages in chronic inflammatory processes is illustrated by the production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species as well as by the secretion of growth factors and cytokines such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and other pro-angiogenic molecules into avascular areas, resulting in angiogenesis stimulation [6]. Macrophages may promote tumor invasion by secreting proteases and cytokines such as IL-1 and IL-6 [7]. In addition,

macrophages could suppress both arms of the immune system by blocking dendritic cell maturation and inhibiting cytotoxic T-cell responses [8]. On the contrary, experimental and clinical data support that those macrophages might exert antitumoral effects [9]. For example, liver-resident macrophages (Kupffer cells) have the ability to engulf and kill circulating tumor cells, and their depletion resulted in increased metastasis in a rat model of colorectal carcinoma [9]. Thus, plasticity is a characteristic of macrophages that could result in heterogeneity of phenotypes inside the tumor milieu. In this context, macrophages are generally categorized into two distinct subsets as either classically activated and pro-inflammatory M1 or alternatively activated and immunosuppressive M2, although this nomenclature has become over interpreted [10].

Contrarily to some pro-tumoral effects observed under chronic inflammation, the presence of NK and lymphocytes, especially CD45⁺ and CD8+ T-cells, was associated with good prognosis in many cancers [11, 12]. The density of tumor-infiltrating T lymphocytes with cytotoxic and memory phenotypes is highly predictive of favorable clinical outcome in some cancers such as melanoma, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL), breast, ovarian, head and neck, non-small cell lung, and esophageal cancer [12, 13]. These immune cell populations might induce antitumoral activity through different mechanisms such as direct tumor killing and, importantly, by the generation of memory CD8⁺ T-cells. Then, suppressive cells and molecules such as ciclooxigenase-2 (COX-2) or as enzymes indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase enzyme (IDO) or arginase and cytokines (IL-6, IL-10, transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), M-CSF) might promote tumor growth, whereas other components, on the contrary, have a protective role.

10.2.1 Cancer Immunoediting Theory

In the last 30 years, we have witnessed a dramatic change in basic concepts related to tumor immunology, from the strict theory of tumor immunosurveillance postulated by Burnet and Thomas [14] to the very recent immunoediting concept developed by Schreiber and colleagues [15]. As a result, we know that the immune system is able to recognize and eliminate cancer cells, but also part of the relationship between immune cells and cancer cells shows that inducing some selective pressure on cancer cells may facilitate their escape from the immune system's action. Therefore, the result of this tumor-immune system interaction could be anti- or pro-tumoral [15]. In summary, the cancer immunoediting hypothesis postulates three subsequent phases: (1) elimination, in which the immune system can recognize and eliminate nascent tumor cells (immunosurveillance); (2) equilibrium, between the host and cancer cells; and (3) escape of cancer cells from the immune attack (immunoediting) [16].

A number of mechanisms are used by cancer cells to escape from the immune recognition and tumor elimination: (1) impairment of appropriate antigen presentation mechanisms, (2) production of immunosuppressive factors, (3) inactivation of co-stimulatory signals, and (4) promotion of suppressor cells such as regulatory T-cells (Tregs), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), and immature dendritic cells (DCs) [17].

10.2.2 Tumors Escape from the Host Immune Response

Most cancer immunotherapeutic strategies are aimed at stimulating the immune system. Unfortunately, these therapies are hampered, at least in part, by complex immunosuppressive mechanisms originated mainly within the tumor microenvironment. Selective recruitment and expansion of a variety of regulatory cells such as tolerogenic DCs, natural and inducible Tregs, MDSCs, TAMs, and natural killer T (NKT) has been observed [17]. Accordingly, removal of these cells or their functional inactivation may contribute to tumor elimination. From the therapeutic point of view, these cell populations may be used as targets for immunomodulation therapy in order to generate immunity against cancer cells.

10.2.2.1 Regulatory T Lymphocytes

Regulatory T-cells were identified by Sakaguchi et al. as a subtype of CD4⁺ T-cells that constitutively express the CD25 molecule and suppress T-cells' effector responses by CD4 + and CD8 + T-cells in vivo [18]. The transcription factor forkhead box P3 (Foxp3) is essential for their suppressive activity and represents a reliable intracellular marker in combination with CTLA-4 (CD152), TNF receptor-induced glucocorticoids (GITR), and lymphocyte-activation gene 3 (LAG-3) [19]. In addition, two CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Tregs subpopulations have been identified: "natural Tregs originated in the thymus, whose function is highly dependent on the expression of Foxp3, and 'induced" Tregs or Tr-1 cells that are characterized by their ability to inhibit the effector T-cell response by the secretion of IL-10 and TGF- β [18]. In addition to secreting immunosuppressive cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF- β , Tregs inhibit tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in part through the expression of CTLA-4. Also, Tregs block antitumor immunity impairing NK cell cytokine production, inducing tolerant DCs, and increasing the activity of IDO which is responsible for tryptophan degradation resulting in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cell apoptosis [20].

Increased number of CD4+ CD25+ Foxp3+ cells has been reported both in circulation and within the tumors in patients with lung, pancreatic, breast, ovarian, and skin cancer [21], thus, these particular type of cells are considered therapeutic targets. In line with this, monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) directed against specific epitopes located on the cell surface of Tregs such as CD25 and CTLA-4 have been developed [20]. Nevertheless, systemic depletion of Tregs by checkpoint inhibition may induce autoimmune responses [22]. One interesting strategy aimed at inducing antitumor immunity without the induction of autoimmunity is to target effector Tregs. In addition, the high proliferation capacity of Treg cells can be directly downregulated [23]. For example, chemotherapy agents can be used to eliminate Tregs as was demonstrated by using low doses of cyclophosphamide, which selectively removes CD4⁺ CD25⁺ cells and induces tumor regression and antimetastatic effects in several experimental models [24, 25]. Mechanisms behind this effect are, at least in part, based on alteration of the cytokine profile from Th1 to Th2 and increased proliferation of activated T lymphocytes [26]. Importantly, Scurr et al. recently 172

demonstrated that cyclophosphamide reduced Tregs, B-cells, and NK cells with the subsequent activation of IFN- γ + tumor-specific T-cells in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer [27].

10.2.2.2 Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells and Their Immunosuppressive Activity

MDSCs constitute a heterogeneous population of immature cells composed of certain types of macrophages, granulocytes, DCs, and other myeloid-derived cells in early stages of differentiation that exert immunosuppressive activity [28]. In mice, MDSCs are characterized by the expression of Gr-1 and CD11b molecules. MDSCs accumulate in the spleen and, in some cases, in lymph nodes in tumor-bearing mice [29]. In humans, MDSCs are CD11b⁺ CD14⁻ HLA-DR^{-/low} CD33⁺ CD15⁺ and are increased in cancer patients (e.g., in renal cell carcinoma (RCC)) and associated with poor outcome [29]. MDSCs can take up antigens in vivo and process and present to T-cells resulting in anergy. In this sense, it has been widely demonstrated that the PD1/PD-L1 signaling pathway mediates immune tolerance in the tumor microenvironment. MDSCs express the inhibitory ligand, PD-L1, resulting in an exhausted phenotype of effector T-cells. MDSCs also express Galectin 9, the ligand for TIM-3 on T-cells, capable of inducing lymphocyte apoptosis [30]. Moreover, MDSCs can release NO and peroxynitrite inhibiting T-cell activation and may induce expansion of regulatory T-cells, CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Foxp3⁺ cells, in vivo [31]. More recently, Deng et al. demonstrated that MDSC-derived exosomes polarize macrophages to an M2 phenotype, showing that some of the tumor-promoting functions of MDSCs could be mediated by secreted exosomes [32]. In summary, it is possible to increase the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy for example by inhibiting MDSCs activity, and by the use of blocking antibodies against cell surface molecules [33] or drugs affecting the number and activity of these cells [34]. Recent studies have demonstrated that gemcitabine, 5-fluorouracil, or indomethacin can promote antitumor immune response by selectively removing MDSCs in mice [35, 36].

10.3 Immunotherapy of Cancer

Cancer immunotherapy aims to control the growth and dissemination of malignant tumors by the activation of a specific immune response [37]. A number of strategies destined to induce an effective immune response against cancer cells and to revert the immunosuppressive milieu have been carried out: (1) adoptive T-cell therapy, (2) indiimmunological approaches (cytokines, rect immune checkpoint blockade monoclonal antibodies, dendritic cells-based vaccines), and (3) indirect non-immunological strategies (antigenencoding mRNA, metronomic chemotherapy, oncolytic viruses). Some of them are under evaluation in the clinic, but others, particularly the immune checkpoint inhibitors, have gained a place in the daily anticancer armamentarium [38].

Although several immunotherapeutic strategies have demonstrated to be potent in animal models, it was not until a few years ago with the use of immunostimulatory mAbs (e.g. ipilimumab, tremelimumab, daclizumab, nivolumab, atezolizumab) that clinical results were more satisfactory [39, 40]. A partial explanation for the frustrating clinical results is based on the presence of immunosuppressive mechanisms used by tumor cells to escape from the host immune system. This has led to the design of strategies to block factors derived from tumor microenvironments responsible for the inactivation of the immune system. As mentioned above, the use of mAbs directed against specific epitopes located on the cell surface of regulatory T-cells, such as CD25 and CTLA-4, aimed at reducing the amount and/or block its function, is under active investigation [41]. On the other hand, some drugs have been investigated to inhibit MDSC activity such as retinoic acid, vitamin D, the COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib, and others with dissimilar results [42].

In the design of a therapeutic strategy, the need to implement multiple approaches to block immunosuppressive mechanisms has to be taken into account. In this context, protocols of combined therapy consisting of a chemotherapeutic agent such as cyclophosphamide, gemcitabine, paclitaxel, or doxorubicin associated with immunostimulatory cytokines might act in synergy [43].

10.3.1 Enhancing Antitumor Immunity Using Cytokines

Cytokines are secreted by different immune cell types in response to several pathogens and antigens acting not only at the induction but also at the effector phase of the immune system, regulating innate and adaptive immunity in an autocrine or paracrine fashion. In the clinic, some cytokines (e.g., IFN- α or IL-2) have been used until very recently in patients with metastatic RCC or melanoma [44, 45].

Cytokines are classified according to their main functions as follows: (1) mediators of innate immunity, whose major cytokine sources are macrophages and NK cells, for example, TNF, IL-1 and IL-12, type I IFNs (α , y, β), IL-6, IL-15, IL-18, IL-23, IL-27. (2) Regulators of adaptive immune response that are produced mainly by T lymphocytes. Different types of antigens may stimulate naïve T CD4+ lymphocytes to differentiate into Th1 profile with IFN- γ and IL-12 as predominant cytokines or Th2 type of response with IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13 as the main cytokines. Typically, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IFN-γ, TGF-β, IL-13, and IL-17 belong to this type of cytokines. (3) Hematopoietic cytokines: they stimulate the growth and differentiation of bone marrow hematopoietic progenitor cells. Some cytokines of this group are called colony-stimulating factors (CSFs) which are produced by leucocytes and stromal cells in bone marrow.

Several strategies are used to modulate the immune response by exogenous administration of systemic cytokines for the treatment of cancer. Strategies involving systemic administration, intra- or peritumoral injection, or the use of cancer cells engineered to secrete cytokines have been extensively investigated. The first cytokine approved by the Food Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of metastatic melanoma was IL-2 [46]. Unfortunately, its toxicity and low potency make it unsuccessful as a standard therapy. Its mechanisms of action involve enhanced NK cell and CD8⁺ T-cell activity. Its low efficacy could be related, at least in part, to the expansion of Tregs resulting in the suppression of an effective antitumor response [47].

Interleukin-12 is a potent cytokine that showed antitumoral activity in a number of tumor models. Multiple mechanisms of action are known for this cytokine including the activation of NK cells, cytotoxic T lymphocytes, and the induction of a TH1 type of response as well as the ability to inhibit neoangiogenesis or to enhance the expression of adhesion molecules on endothelial cells, thus facilitating the homing of activated lymphocytes to the tumor [48, 49]. However, IL-12 was shown to eventually induce severe toxicity when administered systemically as a recombinant protein (in a phase II clinical trial) [50]. Unspecific toxic effects of systemic IL-12 administration might be solved by the use of gene therapy strategies allowing local tumoral/peritumoral expression of IL-12 with low systemic concentrations [51]. The use of GM-CSF confers some clinical advantages in melanoma, prostate cancer, and pulmonary metastases by inducing immune stimulation and enhancing tumor antigen presentation [52].

One of the most explored cytokines is interferon alpha (IFN- α). The IFN- α antitumor mechanism of action includes direct effect on tumor cells, induction of lymphocyte, and macrophage cytotoxic activities and antiangiogenesis [53]. Forni and colleagues were the first to show that the peritumoral injection of specific cytokines, particularly IL-2, could enhance tumor rejection through a coordinated host reaction composed of neutrophils, eosinophils, macrophages, NK cells, and lymphocytes [54]. On the other hand, intra-tumoral injection of viral vectors, such as an adenovirus carrying IL-12 gene (AdIL-12), proved to be safe and to generate some biological activity in patients with advanced gastrointestinal carcinomas such as an increase in tumor infiltration by both $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T-cells [55]. Moreover, recently, an autologous, dendritic cell-based vaccine Sipuleucel-T [APC 8015, Provenge®] was approved by the FDA. This vaccine is produced by ex vivo exposure of DC precursors to PA 2024, a recombinant protein target (PAP) fused to GM-CSF. Studies revealed that T-cell proliferation was specific to GM-CSF and human PAP, both vaccine components [56].

10.4 Overcoming Tumor Resistance and the Use of Chemotherapeutic Agents

Based on the concept of tumor resistance, in the 1970s chemotherapy was designed in combinatorial schemes in order to improve individual drug efficacy avoiding resistance and reducing toxicity. Despite these advances, cancer remains a major cause of illness and death, and conventional cytotoxic chemotherapy schemes have proved unable to cure most human cancers [57].

10.4.1 Chemotherapy Plus Immunotherapy

Combinatorial strategies against cancer could either consist in a simultaneous application of different immunotherapeutic approaches or a combination with standard chemo- or radio-Some chemotherapeutic therapy. agents showed ability to upregulate the expression of tumor-associated antigens (such as CEA) or to reduce tumor cell resistance to specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes [58]. Although lymphopenia is frequently induced after chemotherapy with the subsequent impact on immune system [59], some of these combinations have been found to generate synergistic rather than additive effects.

10.4.2 Rationale for Drug Selection

In spite of its frequent toxicity and immunosuppression, conventional chemotherapy represents therapy nowadays. the core of cancer Chemotherapy could lead to tumor cell death by apoptotic and/or non-apoptotic mechanisms such as autophagy or necrosis, and both events may occur simultaneously [60]. DNA damage and subsequent apoptosis is the mechanism of cancer destruction by drugs such as doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide, gemcitabine, cisplatin, and others [61]. Some other drugs induce non-apoptotic cell death; for example, paclitaxel modulates the activity of small Rho GTPase family members [59]. Apoptosis has been considered as a nonimmunogenic cell death; however, it is now clear that innate immunity can be triggered by apoptosis. Doxorubicin, an anthracycline drug which works by intercalating DNA, induces immunogenic apoptosis mediated by the release of the histone HMGB1, which in turn activates TLR-4 [62]. Doxorubicin and methotrexate also promote apoptosis by inducing upregulation of FAS-L in some cancer cells [63]. In normal tissue turnover, apoptotic death resulted tolerogenic, whereas necrotic death immunogenic.

Chemotherapy-induced apoptosis in vivo does not sequester tumor antigens and may induce cross presentation. One possible direct effect of chemotherapy on cross priming has been attributed to alkylating agents. Indeed, cyclophosphamide has an impact on DC homeostasis mediated by endogenous type I INFs induction leading to the preferential expansion of CD8+DC, the main subset involved in the cross presentation of cellderived antigens [63].

Toxicity induced by chemotherapy is extremely frequent in the clinic. However, experimental evidence shows that reducing the dose of conventional chemotherapy could act in synergy to generate immunity against many tumors. For example, it has been demonstrated that low-dose paclitaxel can reduce the number of tumor-infiltrating MDSCs in melanoma-bearing mice. Moreover, tumor-infiltrating MDSCs from paclitaxel-treated mice showed a reduced capability to suppress T-cell proliferation [64]. Gemcitabine and 5-FU can also selectively deplete MDSCs. In a murine model of thymoma, 5-FU-mediated MDSC depletion increased IFN-y production by tumor-specific CD8+ T-cells and also enhanced the survival of treated mice [35]. In a novel study, Blidner et al. characterized the effect of the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug indomethacin (IND) on MDSCs [36]. Mice with lung adenocarcinoma treated with IND inhibited the suppressive activity exerted by MDSCs on CD8 (+) T Cells.

On the other hand, besides its direct cytotoxic effect, cyclophosphamide is able to modulate the

immune system in a wide range of doses. Several researches, including the authors, have demonstrated that the use of low-dose cyclophosphamide promotes a Th2/Th1 shift in cytokine production, modulates the homeostatic equilibrium in different hematopoietic and immune compartments, induces the preferential expansion and persistence of antitumor T-cells, and selectively suppresses CD4⁺CD25⁺ naturally occurring Tregs [65–67].

The kind of immune response that would be favorable to tumor elimination should include the generation of cytotoxic T-cells with the capacity to directly lyse tumor cell targets. To this end, exogenous cytokines such as IL-2, INF, TNF, or IL-12 are good candidates to work in synergy with chemotherapy.

10.5 Combined Therapies

10.5.1 Preclinical Experience

The therapeutic use of certain cytokines in combination with systemic chemotherapy has been widely pursued in preclinical models. IL-2 was the first cytokine, which demonstrated an antitumoral effect by activating immune effector cells [68]. For example, it has been shown that combined treatment of IL-2 with low doses of doxorubicin induces an increased cytotoxic T-cell response and animal survival in mice with lymphoma (EL4 cells) [69]; CD8⁺ T-cell depletion abolished the effect of combined therapy [69]. This therapeutic profile was confirmed in a syngeneic E0771 breast cancer model in mice; the combined therapy reduced tumor-induced immunosuppression, and its therapeutic effect involved CD8⁺ T-cell response [70].

TNF α is a cytokine also used in combination with chemotherapy in a number of murine models. TNF α is produced by activated macrophages, CD4⁺ T lymphocytes, and NK cells. Studies describe that the combination of TNF α and doxorubicin leads to complete tumor regression in C57BL/6 mice inoculated with EL4 lymphoma cells. Moreover, the combination showed a synergistic effect, since complete regression could not be elicited in tumor-bearing mice treated with single agents [71]. TNF α combined with doxorubicin could also induce complete regression and long-term tumor-free survival in C57BL/6 mice inoculated with EO77l mammary tumor cells [72]. In addition, Regenass et al. have demonstrated that $TNF\alpha$ and doxorubicin combined therapy induced complete and partial regressions in a sarcoma model developed in BALB/c mice. Importantly, the use of an intermediate dose of doxorubicin was more effective than a higher dose [73]. TNF α in combination with cyclophosphamide was also explored in this model, showing that a low dose of cyclophosphamide combined with TNF α resulted in 80% complete tumor eradication, while higher doses of cyclophosphamide were less effective [73].

In several murine models, GM-CSF has demonstrated to be a potent immunostimulatory cytokine due to its capacity to enhance tumor antigen presentation by DCs and macrophages and to stimulate CD4+, CD8+ T, and NKT cell activity [74]. The optimal schedule and mechanisms of action of a vaccination with irradiated tumor cells engineered to secrete GM-CSF in combination with chemotherapy have been studied in a variety of tumor models [74]. For example, the antitumor efficiency of paclitaxel in combination with the vaccine was examined in a mouse model of RM-1 prostate cancer [75]. The results showed that the GM-CSF surfacemodified tumor cell vaccine was more potent at inducing the uptake of tumor antigens by DCs irradiated tumor cells than plus free GM-CSF. The administration of paclitaxel followed by the vaccination induced an increase of CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration in tumors, suggesting a possible induction of tumor-specific immune response [75]. Immunomodulating doses of chemotherapy were also tested in combination with GM-CSF-secreting, HER-2/neu (neu)-expressing whole-cell vaccine. Studies describe that neu transgenic mice exhibit immune tolerance to the neu-expressing tumors similarly to what is observed in cancer patients. Machiels et al. have demonstrated that cyclophosphamide, paclitaxel,

and doxorubicin enhanced the capacity of this vaccine to delay tumor growth in neu transgenic mice by a mechanism that involves T helper 1 neu-specific T-cell induction [76].

As mentioned above, IL-12 is a cytokine that acts as a link between the innate and the specific immune response [77]. IL-12 has been shown to induce tumor regression and rejection in a variety of murine tumor models by activation of mechanisms that involve IFN-y, CD4, and CD8 cells. IL-12 has the potential to be used as an immunomodulatory cytokine in the therapy of malignancies as well as in gene therapy-based protocols [78]. Brunda et al. have shown that systemic administration of murine IL-12 inhibits the growth of established subcutaneous tumors, experimental pulmonary or hepatic metastases of melanoma, sarcoma, or RCC, and local peritumoral injections of IL-12 can also result in the eradication of established tumors [48].

Importantly, it has been demonstrated that the combined administration of IL-12 with systemic chemotherapy results in potent antitumoral activity in mice. For instance, combination of a single low-dose cyclophosphamide with an adenovirus encoding interleukin-12 genes (AdIL-12) might represent a successful therapeutic strategy for experimental gastrointestinal tumors. This approach ameliorated immunosuppressive mechanisms elicited by cancer cells and showed synergistic antitumor immune response. In this sense, evidence shows that combined treatment overcomes tolerance by reducing the number of CD4+ CD25⁺ Foxp3⁺, both in peripheral blood as in the spleen, as well as the number of MDSCs in the spleen of tumor-bearing animals [67, 79]. Synergistic effects were also observed in squamous cell spontaneous tumors in C3H mice combining cyclophosphamide with a plasmid carrying IL-12 genes [80]. More recently, bone marrow-derived DCs (BMDCs) stimulated with tumor antigens or with IL-12 were used to treat MC38 colorectal carcinoma tumor-bearing mice. Notably, after combined treatment, high cytotoxic activity of effector cells and the elimination of Treg cells from spleens and tumors were observed [81].

10.5.2 What Have We Learned from the Clinical Practice?

Immune checkpoint inhibitors (e.g. CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors) have revolutionized the therapy of cancer, and several up to now nonresponders tumors show potent overall response rates and duration of responses. However, the suppressive tumor microenvironment is still a major obstacle for an effective antitumor response, particularly for immunotherapeutic strategies [82]. In general, immunotherapeutic protocols involve patients with advanced cancer disease that decreases the possibility of success. In addition, the immune system of the majority of treated patients is deteriorated or unable to recognize tumor antigens. Cytokines were used in combination with chemotherapy in order to improve its efficacy. The most widely used cytokines are INFα and/or IL2 in patients with metastatic melanoma or RCC. In fact, these cytokines are approved by the FDA as the standard treatment of these malignancies when used alone.

INF α is commonly used in this kind of combined strategy in the treatment of patients with advanced RCC. In a phase II clinical trial, the combination of $INF\alpha$ and vinblastine improved patient response rate but did not impact on overall survival [83]. Similar results in terms of survival were achieved in a phase III trial combining INF α with cis-retinoic acid [84]. In contrast, in a randomized phase III trial, which included patients with similar characteristics, the addition of cis-retinoic acid to INFa significantly increased progression-free and overall survival [85]. Another promising combination was 5-FU with IFN- α which has produced response rates of 23% [86] and 30% [87] when used together. However, even though one complete and six partial responses were observed, the combination of IFN- α and 5-FU was moderately active, since these response rates were similar to those seen in patients on IFN- α monotherapy. These results were improved with the addition of IL-2 reaching an approximate response rate of 50% [88, 89]. Nonetheless, their efficacy remains a matter of controversy [90]. IFN- α was tested in patients

with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). A randomized, phase II trial compared INFa combined with hepatic arterial infusion of 5-FU plus cisplatin (CDDP) and 5-FU alone. The authors observed an increase in progression-free survival period in combined regimens including IFN- α [91]. Another study evaluated the efficacy of combined 5-FU and pegylated interferon (PEG-IFN)- α 2b in patients with advanced HCC with similar results [92]. In contrast, a recent publication describes an open-label, multicenter, randomized phase III trial where 5-FU, cisplatin, and IFN- α 2b combined with radiotherapy did not improve the survival rate compared with 5-FU monotherapy in patients with advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma [93]. More recently, patients with advanced intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma received subcutaneous PEG-IFN-α2b along with hepatic arterial infusion of 5-FU [94] In this study, median survival time was 14.6 months indicating that this combination may be useful for patients with advanced cholangiocarcinoma. Currently, the efficacy of gene based-therapy using an adenovirus to deliver IFN-α-2b (rAd-IFN) in combination with Celecoxib and Gemcitabine is evaluating in patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma (NCT03710876)

As described above, IL-2 is another potent cytokine used in metastatic melanoma and RCC patients in high doses and is usually poorly tolerated. When used in combination with different chemotherapeutic agents, no generated beneficial activity was [95]. However, the safety and efficacy of F16-IL-2 (a variant of IL-2 retargeted to the extracellular domain A1 of tenascin C, TNC) administered in combination with doxorubicin were evaluated in patients with advanced solid tumors, including breast cancer. As a result, toxicities were controllable, and 67% disease control rates were observed in phase I and II studies, respectively [96].

In addition, G-CSF has been evaluated in a phase I trial in order to overcome the neutropenia associated with irinotecan and high doses of amrubicin. This study showed that amrubicin can be administered at 78% of the recommended singleagent dose in combination with irinotecan [97].

Safety and efficacy of G-CSF also have been assessed in combination with 5-FU, epirubicin, cyclophosphamide, and paclitaxel in breast cancer patients (NCT02225652) [98]. Combination of G-CSF with chemotherapy was associated with severe side effects, resulting in the early closure of the study. More recently, the impact of higher or lower dose cladribine, cytarabine and mitoxantrone in combination with G-CSF has started testing in patients with acute myeloid leukemia (NCT03012672) (for details, please see Table 10.1).

Finally, different forms of immunotherapy including cytokines and immune checkpoint inhibitors should be investigated for overall clinical benefits along with conventional chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy in patients at early stages of the disease such as after surgical removal of tumors with increased likelihood of recurrence. Further research is required to optimize the combination of different immunotherapy plus chemotherapy to obtain maximal clinical benefit.

10.6 Concluding Remarks

Combined immunotherapy clinical trials in cancer patients are challenging, and several strategies have been opened for clinical applications. In general, for all solid tumors, the common scenario chosen to test immunotherapeutic protocols almost always involves patients with advanced diseases that decreases the possibility of success. Then, due to the advanced status of the cancer disease, the immune system of the majority of treated patients is deteriorated and unable to recognize tumor antigens. Thus, conventional chemotherapy (even radiotherapy) could act in synergy to generate immunity against many tumors. The different forms of immunotherapy including the use of cytokines should be tested for overall clinical benefits along with conventional treatment regimens evidencing improvements in survival.

Cytokine	Condition	Chemotherapy	Phase	State	Reference	Outcome
	Malanama	Decorbozin	r nase	Active not	NCT00552619	Outcome
IL-2	wieranoma	Dacaibaziii	11	recruiting	NC100555018	
	Melanoma	+Cy	II	Withdrawn	NCT01833767	
	Breast cancer	+Doxorubicin	II	Terminated	NCT01131364	
	Pancreatic cancer	+Gemcitabine	Ι	Terminated	NCT01198522	
IL-2+ IFN-α	Melanoma	Cisplatin+dacarbazi n+vinblastine	III	Completed	NCT00002882	
IL-15	Metastatic melanoma	+Cy+TILs	Ι	Protocol was closed due to autoimmunity	NCT01369888	
	Skin Cancer	+Flu+TILs	II		NCT01369888	
IFN-α	RCC	+Vinblastine	III	Completed	72	Increased RR* similar OS*
	RCC	+Cis-retinoic acid	III	Completed	73	Similar RR* similar OS*
	RCC	+Cis-retinoic acid	II/III	Completed	74	Increased OS*
	RCC	+5-FU	II	Completed	76	No additional side effects
	HCC	+5-FU+cisplatin	II	Completed	80	No additional side effects similar OS*
	Ovarian carcinoma	+Carboplatin/ paclitaxel	III	Completed	NCT00047632	
	GI, renal, and lung cancer	+5-FU	II	Completed	NCT01658813	
	Malignant pleural mesothelioma	+Gemcitabine/ celocoxib	III	Recruiting	NCT03710876	
GM-CSF	Breast cancer	+FLAC	Ι	Completed	NCT00001269	
G-CSF	Breast cancer	+Fluorouracil, epirubicin, and cyclophosphamide followed by paclitaxel	Π	Completed	NCT02225652	/97
	Acute Myeloid Leukemia	+ cladribine, cytarabine, and mitoxantrone	II	Recruiting	NCT03012672	

 Table 10.1
 Cytokine plus chemotherapy combination in clinical trials

5-FU 5-fluorouracil, Cy cyclophosphamide, FLAC 5-fluorouracil, leucovorin, doxorubicin, cytoxan, Flu fludarabine, GI gastrointestinal carcinoma, GM-CSF granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor, G-CSF granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, HCC hepatocellular carcinoma, IFN- α Interferon-alpha, IL-2 Interleuquin-2, IL-15 Interleuquin-15, NCT National Clinical Trial Code, progression-free survival, RCC renal cell carcinoma, RR response rate, immuno-therapy versus chemotherapy alone, OS overall survival, TILs tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, * combined chemoimmunotherapy versus chemotherapy alone

References

- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646–74. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013.
- Sinicrope FA, Rego RL, Ansell SM, Knutson KL, Foster NR, Sargent DJ. Intraepithelial effector (CD3+)/regulatory (FoxP3+) T-cell ratio predicts a clinical outcome of human colon carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2009;137(4):1270–9. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2009.06.053.

- Gao Q, Qiu SJ, Fan J, Zhou J, Wang XY, Xiao YS, et al. Intratumoral balance of regulatory and cytotoxic T cells is associated with prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma after resection. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(18):2586–93. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2006.09.4565.
- 4. Hohenberger P, Gretschel S. Gastric cancer. Lancet. 2003;362(9380):305–15.
- Shenoy AK, Fisher RC, Butterworth EA, Pi L, Chang LJ, Appelman HD, et al. Transition from colitis to cancer: high Wnt activity sustains the tumor-initiating potential of colon cancer stem cell precursors. Cancer Res. 2012;72(19):5091–100. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-1806.
- Lewis JS, Landers RJ, Underwood JC, Harris AL, Lewis CE. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor by macrophages is up-regulated in poorly vascularized areas of breast carcinomas. J Pathol. 2000;192(2):150–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/1096-9896(2000)9999:9999<:::AID-PATH687>3.0.CO;2-G.
- Qian BZ, Pollard JW. Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis. Cell. 2010;141(1):39–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2010.03.014.
- Pollard JW. Tumour-educated macrophages promote tumour progression and metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4(1):71–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1256.
- Heuff G, Oldenburg HS, Boutkan H, Visser JJ, Beelen RH, Van Rooijen N, et al. Enhanced tumour growth in the rat liver after selective elimination of Kupffer cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 1993;37(2):125–30.
- Franklin RA, Liao W, Sarkar A, Kim MV, Bivona MR, Liu K, et al. The cellular and molecular origin of tumor-associated macrophages. Science. 2014;344(6186):921–5. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1252510.
- 11. Cho Y, Miyamoto M, Kato K, Fukunaga A, Shichinohe T, Kawarada Y, et al. CD4+ and CD8+ T cells cooperate to improve prognosis of patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2003;63(7):1555–9.
- Clemente CG, Mihm MC Jr, Bufalino R, Zurrida S, Collini P, Cascinelli N. Prognostic value of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in the vertical growth phase of primary cutaneous melanoma. Cancer. 1996;77(7):1303–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19960401)77:7<1303::AID-CNCR12>3.0.CO;2-5.
- Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, Gimotty PA, Massobrio M, Regnani G, et al. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(3):203–13. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa020177.
- Burnet FM. The concept of immunological surveillance. Prog Exp Tumor Res. 1970;13:1–27.
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(11):991– 8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1102-991.

- Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The three Es of cancer immunoediting. Annu Rev Immunol. 2004;22:329–60. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. immunol.22.012703.104803.
- Nagaraj S, Collazo M, Corzo CA, Youn JI, Ortiz M, Quiceno D, et al. Regulatory myeloid suppressor cells in health and disease. Cancer Res. 2009;69(19):7503– 6. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2152.
- Sakaguchi S. Naturally arising CD4+ regulatory t cells for immunologic self-tolerance and negative control of immune responses. Annu Rev Immunol. 2004;22:531–62. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. immunol.21.120601.141122.
- Thompson C, Powrie F. Regulatory T cells. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2004;4(4):408–14. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.coph.2004.05.001.
- Zou W. Regulatory T cells, tumour immunity and immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6(4):295– 307. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1806.
- Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. Nat Med. 2004;10(9):942–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1093.
- Lo B, Abdel-Motal UM. Lessons from CTLA-4 deficiency and checkpoint inhibition. Curr Opin Immunol. 2017;49:14–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. coi.2017.07.014.
- Tanaka A, Sakaguchi S. Regulatory T cells in cancer immunotherapy. Cell Res. 2017;27(1):109–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.151.
- Rabinovich GA, Rubinstein N, Matar P, Rozados V, Gervasoni S, Scharovsky GO. The antimetastatic effect of a single low dose of cyclophosphamide involves modulation of galectin-1 and Bcl-2 expression. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2002;50(11):597–603. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-001-0238-2.
- 25. Ghiringhelli F, Menard C, Puig PE, Ladoire S, Roux S, Martin F, et al. Metronomic cyclophosphamide regimen selectively depletes CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells and restores T and NK effector functions in end stage cancer patients. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56(5):641–8. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00262-006-0225-8.
- Proietti E, Greco G, Garrone B, Baccarini S, Mauri C, Venditti M, et al. Importance of cyclophosphamideinduced bystander effect on T cells for a successful tumor eradication in response to adoptive immunotherapy in mice. J Clin Invest. 1998;101(2):429–41. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI1348.
- Scurr M, Pembroke T, Bloom A, Roberts D, Thomson A, Smart K, et al. Low-dose cyclophosphamide induces antitumor T-cell responses, which associate with survival in metastatic colorectal Cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2017;23(22):6771–80. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0895.
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(3):162–74. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nri2506.

- Nagaraj S, Gabrilovich DI. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in human cancer. Cancer J. 2010;16(4):348– 53. https://doi.org/10.1097/PPO.0b013e3181eb3358.
- 30. Noman MZ, Desantis G, Janji B, Hasmim M, Karray S, Dessen P, et al. PD-L1 is a novel direct target of HIF-1alpha, and its blockade under hypoxia enhanced MDSC-mediated T cell activation. J Exp Med. 2014;211(5):781–90. https://doi.org/10.1084/ jem.20131916.
- Marigo I, Dolcetti L, Serafini P, Zanovello P, Bronte V. Tumor-induced tolerance and immune suppression by myeloid derived suppressor cells. Immunol Rev. 2008;222:162–79. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00602.x.
- 32. Deng Z, Rong Y, Teng Y, Zhuang X, Samykutty A, Mu J, et al. Exosomes miR-126a released from MDSC induced by DOX treatment promotes lung metastasis. Oncogene. 2017;36(5):639–51. https://doi. org/10.1038/onc.2016.229.
- 33. Sumida K, Wakita D, Narita Y, Masuko K, Terada S, Watanabe K, et al. Anti-IL-6 receptor mAb eliminates myeloid-derived suppressor cells and inhibits tumor growth by enhancing T-cell responses. Eur J Immunol. 2012;42(8):2060–72. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201142335.
- 34. Nagaraj S, Youn JI, Weber H, Iclozan C, Lu L, Cotter MJ, et al. Anti-inflammatory triterpenoid blocks immune suppressive function of MDSCs and improves immune response in cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(6):1812–23. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-3272.
- 35. Vincent J, Mignot G, Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Bruchard M, Chevriaux A, et al. 5-fluorouracil selectively kills tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells resulting in enhanced T cell-dependent antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2010;70(8):3052–61. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3690.
- 36. Blidner AG, Salatino M, Mascanfroni ID, Diament MJ, Bal de Kier Joffe E, Jasnis MA, et al. Differential response of myeloid-derived suppressor cells to the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agent indomethacin in tumor-associated and tumor-free microenvironments. J Immunol. 2015;194(7):3452–62. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1401144.
- Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Restifo NP. Cancer immunotherapy: moving beyond current vaccines. Nat Med. 2004;10(9):909–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1100.
- Perez-Gracia JL, Labiano S, Rodriguez-Ruiz ME, Sanmamed MF, Melero I. Orchestrating immune check-point blockade for cancer immunotherapy in combinations. Curr Opin Immunol. 2014;27:89–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2014.01.002.
- 39. Hodi FS, Butler M, Oble DA, Seiden MV, Haluska FG, Kruse A, et al. Immunologic and clinical effects of antibody blockade of cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 in previously vaccinated cancer patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(8):3005– 10. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0712237105.
- 40. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma.

N Engl J Med. 2010;363(8):711–23. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1003466.

- Grosso JF, Jure-Kunkel MN. CTLA-4 blockade in tumor models: an overview of preclinical and translational research. Cancer Immun. 2013;13:5.
- Ugel S, Delpozzo F, Desantis G, Papalini F, Simonato F, Sonda N, et al. Therapeutic targeting of myeloidderived suppressor cells. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2009;9(4):470–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. coph.2009.06.014.
- Kaneno R, Shurin GV, Kaneno FM, Naiditch H, Luo J, Shurin MR. Chemotherapeutic agents in low noncytotoxic concentrations increase immunogenicity of human colon cancer cells. Cell Oncol (Dordr). 2011;34(2):97–106. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13402-010-0005-5.
- Decatris M, Santhanam S, O'Byrne K. Potential of interferon-alpha in solid tumours: part 1. BioDrugs. 2002;16(4):261–81.
- Santhanam S, Decatris M, O'Byrne K. Potential of interferon-alpha in solid tumours: part 2. BioDrugs. 2002;16(5):349–72.
- Malek TR. The biology of interleukin-2. Annu Rev Immunol. 2008;26:453–79. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.immunol.26.021607.090357.
- Jilaveanu LB, Aziz SA, Kluger HM. Chemotherapy and biologic therapies for melanoma: do they work? Clin Dermatol. 2009;27(6):614–25. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.clindermatol.2008.09.020.
- Brunda MJ, Luistro L, Warrier RR, Wright RB, Hubbard BR, Murphy M, et al. Antitumor and antimetastatic activity of interleukin 12 against murine tumors. J Exp Med. 1993;178(4):1223–30.
- Berraondo P, Etxeberria I, Ponz-Sarvise M, Melero I. Revisiting Interleukin-12 as a Cancer immunotherapy agent. Clin Cancer Res. 2018;24(12):2716–8. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0381.
- 50. Cohen J. IL-12 deaths: explanat ion and a puzzle. Science. 1995;270:908.
- Mazzolini G, Narvaiza I, Perez-Diez A, Rodriguez-Calvillo M, Qian C, Sangro B, et al. Genetic heterogeneity in the toxicity to systemic adenoviral gene transfer of interleukin-12. Gene Ther. 2001;8(4):259– 67. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gt.3301387.
- 52. Dranoff G, Jaffee E, Lazenby A, Golumbek P, Levitsky H, Brose K, et al. Vaccination with irradiated tumor cells engineered to secrete murine granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor stimulates potent, specific, and long-lasting anti-tumor immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90(8):3539–43.
- 53. Kirkwood JM, Ibrahim JG, Sosman JA, Sondak VK, Agarwala SS, Ernstoff MS, et al. High-dose interferon alfa-2b significantly prolongs relapse-free and overall survival compared with the GM2-KLH/QS-21 vaccine in patients with resected stage IIB-III melanoma: results of intergroup trial E1694/S9512/C509801. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19(9):2370–80.
- 54. Forni G, Fujiwara H, Martino F, Hamaoka T, Jemma C, Caretto P, et al. Helper strategy in tumor immunology: expansion of helper lymphocytes and utilization of helper lymphokines for experimental and clinical

immunotherapy. Cancer Metast Rev. 1988;7(4):289–309. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00051371.

- 55. Sangro B, Mazzolini G, Ruiz J, Herraiz M, Quiroga J, Herrero I, et al. Phase I trial of intratumoral injection of an adenovirus encoding interleukin-12 for advanced digestive tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(8):1389–97. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2004.04.059.
- 56. Sipuleucel-T: APC 8015, APC-8015, Prostate Cancer Vaccine – Dendreon. Drugs in R&D. 2006;7(3):197.
- Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2013. CA Cancer J Clin. 2013;63(1):11–30. https:// doi.org/10.3322/caac.21166.
- Ramakrishnan R, Assudani D, Nagaraj S, Hunter T, Cho HI, Antonia S, et al. Chemotherapy enhances tumor cell susceptibility to CTL-mediated killing during cancer immunotherapy in mice. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(4):1111–24. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI40269.
- Lake RA, Robinson BW. Immunotherapy and chemotherapy--a practical partnership. Nat Rev Cancer. 2005;5(5):397–405. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrc1613.
- Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR. Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer. 1972;26(4):239–57.
- Binotto G, Trentin L, Semenzato G. Ifosfamide and cyclophosphamide: effects on immunosurveillance. Oncology. 2003;65(Suppl 2):17–20.
- Casares N, Pequignot MO, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Roux S, Chaput N, et al. Caspase-dependent immunogenicity of doxorubicin-induced tumor cell death. J Exp Med. 2005;202(12):1691–701. https://doi. org/10.1084/jem.20050915.
- 63. Nowak AK, Lake RA, Marzo AL, Scott B, Heath WR, Collins EJ, et al. Induction of tumor cell apoptosis in vivo increases tumor antigen cross-presentation, cross-priming rather than cross-tolerizing host tumor-specific CD8 T cells. J Immunol. 2003;170(10):4905–13.
- 64. Sevko A, Michels T, Vrohlings M, Umansky L, Beckhove P, Kato M, et al. Antitumor effect of paclitaxel is mediated by inhibition of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and chronic inflammation in the spontaneous melanoma model. J Immunol. 2013;190(5):2464–71. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1202781.
- 65. Bracci L, Moschella F, Sestili P, La Sorsa V, Valentini M, Canini I, et al. Cyclophosphamide enhances the antitumor efficacy of adoptively transferred immune cells through the induction of cytokine expression, B-cell and T-cell homeostatic proliferation, and specific tumor infiltration. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(2 Pt 1):644–53. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-06-1209.
- 66. Matar P, Rozados VR, Gervasoni SI, Scharovsky GO. Th2/Th1 switch induced by a single low dose of cyclophosphamide in a rat metastatic lymphoma model. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2002;50(11):588–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00262-001-0237-3.
- Malvicini M, Rizzo M, Alaniz L, Pinero F, Garcia M, Atorrasagasti C, et al. A novel synergistic combina-

tion of cyclophosphamide and gene transfer of interleukin-12 eradicates colorectal carcinoma in mice. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(23):7256–65. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1861.

- Sone S, Ogura T. Local interleukin-2 therapy for cancer, and its effector induction mechanisms. Oncology. 1994;51(2):170–6.
- 69. Ehrke MJ, Verstovsek S, Zaleskis G, Ho RL, Ujhazy P, Maccubbin DL, et al. Specific anti-EL4-lymphoma immunity in mice cured 2 years earlier with doxorubicin and interleukin-2. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 1996;42(4):221–30.
- Ewens A, Luo L, Berleth E, Alderfer J, Wollman R, Hafeez BB, et al. Doxorubicin plus interleukin-2 chemoimmunotherapy against breast cancer in mice. Cancer Res. 2006;66(10):5419–26. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3963.
- 71. Ehrke MJ, Verstovsek S, Maccubbin DL, Ujhazy P, Zaleskis G, Berleth E, et al. Protective specific immunity induced by doxorubicin plus TNF-alpha combination treatment of EL4 lymphoma-bearing C57BL/6 mice. Int J Cancer. 2000;87(1):101–9. https://doi. org/10.1002/1097-0215(20000701)87:1<101::AID-IJC15>3.0.CO;2-B.
- Mihich E, Ehrke MJ. Anticancer drugs plus cytokines: immunodulation based therapies of mouse tumors. Int J Immunopharmacol. 2000;22(12):1077–81.
- Regenass U, Muller M, Curschellas E, Matter A. Anti-tumor effects of tumor necrosis factor in combination with chemotherapeutic agents. Int J Cancer. 1987;39(2):266–73.
- 74. Jinushi M, Hodi FS, Dranoff G. Enhancing the clinical activity of granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor-secreting tumor cell vaccines. Immunol Rev. 2008;222:287–98. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00618.x.
- 75. He Q, Li J, Yin W, Song Z, Zhang Z, Yi T, et al. Low-dose paclitaxel enhances the anti-tumor efficacy of GM-CSF surface-modified whole-tumor-cell vaccine in mouse model of prostate cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60(5):715–30. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00262-011-0988-4.
- 76. Machiels JP, Reilly RT, Emens LA, Ercolini AM, Lei RY, Weintraub D, et al. Cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, and paclitaxel enhance the antitumor immune response of granulocyte/macrophagecolony stimulating factor-secreting whole-cell vaccines in HER-2/neu tolerized mice. Cancer Res. 2001;61(9):3689–97.
- 77. Trinchieri G. Immunobiology of interleukin-12. Immunol Res. 1998;17(1-2):269–78.
- Melero I, Mazzolini G, Narvaiza I, Qian C, Chen L, Prieto J. IL-12 gene therapy for cancer: in synergy with other immunotherapies. Trends Immunol. 2001;22(3):113–5.
- 79. Malvicini M, Alaniz L, Bayo J, García M, Piccioni F, Fiore E, et al. Single low-dose cyclophosphamide combined with interleukin-12 gene therapy is superior to a metronomic schedule in inducing immunity against colorectal carcinoma in mice. OncoImmunology. 2012;1(8):1–10.

- Torrero M, Li S. Treatment of SCCVII tumors with systemic chemotherapy and Interleukin-12 gene therapy combination. Methods Mol Biol. 2008;423:339– 49. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-194-9_26.
- 81. Rossowska J, Pajtasz-Piasecka E, Anger N, Wojas-Turek J, Kicielinska J, Piasecki E, et al. Cyclophosphamide and IL-12-transduced DCs enhance the antitumor activity of tumor antigenstimulated DCs and reduce Tregs and MDSCs number. J Immunother. 2014;37(9):427–39. https://doi. org/10.1097/CJI.000000000000054.
- Suzanne L. Topalian. Targeting Immune Checkpoints in Cancer Therapy. JAMA. 2017;318(17):1647.
- 83. Fossa SD, Martinelli G, Otto U, Schneider G, Wander H, Oberling F, et al. Recombinant interferon alfa-2a with or without vinblastine in metastatic renal cell carcinoma: results of a European multi-center phase III study. Ann Oncol. 1992;3(4):301–5.
- 84. Motzer RJ, Murphy BA, Bacik J, Schwartz LH, Nanus DM, Mariani T, et al. Phase III trial of interferon alfa-2a with or without 13-cis-retinoic acid for patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18(16):2972–80.
- 85. Aass N, De Mulder PH, Mickisch GH, Mulders P, van Oosterom AT, van Poppel H, et al. Randomized phase II/III trial of interferon alfa-2a with and without 13-cis-retinoic acid in patients with progressive metastatic renal cell carcinoma: the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Genitourinary tract Cancer group (EORTC 30951). J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(18):4172–8. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2005.07.114.
- Haarstad H, Jacobsen AB, Schjolseth SA, Risberg T, Fossa SD. Interferon-alpha, 5-FU and prednisone in metastatic renal cell carcinoma: a phase II study. Ann Oncol. 1994;5(3):245–8.
- Elias L, Blumenstein BA, Kish J, Flanigan RC, Wade JL, Lowe BA, et al. A phase II trial of interferon-alpha and 5-fluorouracil in patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. A Southwest Oncology Group study. Cancer. 1996;78(5):1085–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19960901)78:5<1085::AID-CNCR19>3.0.CO;2-Z.
- Atzpodien J, Kirchner H, Hanninen EL, Deckert M, Fenner M, Poliwoda H. Interleukin-2 in combination with interferon-alpha and 5-fluorouracil for metastatic renal cell cancer. Eur J Cancer. 1993;29A(Suppl 5):S6–8.
- 89. Sella A, Kilbourn RG, Gray I, Finn L, Zukiwski AA, Ellerhorst J, et al. Phase I study of interleukin-2 combined with interferon-alpha and 5-fluorouracil in patients with metastatic renal cell cancer. Cancer Biother. 1994;9(2):103–11.
- Dutcher JP, Logan T, Gordon M, Sosman J, Weiss G, Margolin K, et al. Phase II trial of interleukin 2, interferon alpha, and 5-fluorouracil in metastatic renal cell

cancer: a cytokine working group study. Clin Cancer Res. 2000;6(9):3442–50.

- 91. Yamashita T, Arai K, Sunagozaka H, Ueda T, Terashima T, Mizukoshi E, et al. Randomized, phase II study comparing interferon combined with hepatic arterial infusion of fluorouracil plus cisplatin and fluorouracil alone in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncology. 2011;81(5-6):281–90. https://doi.org/10.1159/000334439.
- 92. Kasai K, Ushio A, Kasai Y, Sawara K, Miyamoto Y, Oikawa K, et al. Therapeutic efficacy of combination therapy with intra-arterial 5-fluorouracil and systemic pegylated interferon alpha-2b for advanced hepatocellular carcinoma with portal venous invasion. Cancer. 2012;118(13):3302–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.26648.
- 93. Schmidt J, Abel U, Debus J, Harig S, Hoffmann K, Herrmann T, et al. Open-label, multicenter, randomized phase III trial of adjuvant chemoradiation plus interferon alfa-2b versus fluorouracil and folinic acid for patients with resected pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(33):4077–83. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2011.38.2960.
- 94. Kasai K, Kooka Y, Suzuki Y, Suzuki A, Oikawa T, Ushio A, et al. Efficacy of hepatic arterial infusion chemotherapy using 5-fluorouracil and systemic pegylated interferon alpha-2b for advanced intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014;21(11):3638–45. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-014-3766-7.
- 95. Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Kammula US, Hughes MS, Phan GQ, et al. Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with meta-static melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(13):4550–7. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0116.
- 96. Catania C, Maur M, Berardi R, Rocca A, Giacomo AM, Spitaleri G, et al. The tumor-targeting immunocytokine F16-IL2 in combination with doxorubicin: dose escalation in patients with advanced solid tumors and expansion into patients with metastatic breast cancer. Cell Adhes Migr. 2015;9(1-2):14–21. https:// doi.org/10.4161/19336918.2014.983785.
- 97. Asakuma M, Yamamoto M, Wada M, Ryuge S, Katono K, Yokoba M, et al. Phase I trial of irinotecan and amrubicin with granulocyte colony-stimulating factor support in extensive-stage small-cell lung cancer. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2012;69(6):1529– 36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00280-012-1858-2.
- 98. Pietri E, Andreis D, Fabbri F, Menna C, Schirone A, Kopf B, et al. A phase II study of a dose-density regimen with fluorouracil, epirubicin, and cyclophosphamide on days 1 and 4 every 14 days with filgrastim support followed by weekly paclitaxel in women with primary breast cancer. Oncologist. 2015;20(3):239– 40. https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2014-0326.



11

Type I Interferons: History and Perspectives as Immunotherapeutic Agents Against Cancer

Carolina Mendonça Gorgulho, Graziela Gorete Romagnoli, and Ramon Kaneno

Contents

11.1	Introduction	183
11.2	Role of Type I IFNs in Malignant Transformation	185
11.3	Role of Type I IFNs in Cancer Immunoediting	186
11.3.1	Type I IFNs and Natural Killer (NK) Cells	186
11.3.2	Type I IFNs and Dendritic Cells (DCs)	187
11.4	Immunotherapeutic Approaches	188
11.4.1	Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs) Agonists	189
11.4.2	RIG-Like Receptors (RLRs) Agonists	190
11.4.3	Stimulators of Interferon Genes (STING) Agonists	190
11.5	Concluding Remarks	192
Referen	ices	192

C. M. Gorgulho (🖂)

Department of Pathology, Medical School of Botucatu, São Paulo State University, Botucatu, SP, Brazil e-mail: caru_gorgulho@hotmail.com

G. G. Romagnoli Department of Pathology, Medical School of Botucatu, São Paulo State University, Botucatu, SP, Brazil

Department of Health Science, Oeste Paulista University, UNOESTE, Jaú, SP, Brazil

R. Kaneno

Department of Chemical and Biological Sciences, Biosciences Institute of Botucatu, Botucatu, SP, Brazil

11.1 Introduction

Six decades ago, it was observed that heatinactivated influenza A virus "interfered" (i.e., prevented) with the infection of chorioallantoic membranes of chick embryos by live influenza [1]. Up until then, some of the most popular explanations for the interfering activity of heatinactivated viruses included either exhaustion of food supply and resources within the experimental model or enzymatic digestion/physical blockade of cell receptors necessary for infection [2]. However, studies performed by Isaacs, Lidenmann, and other researchers including, but not limited to, Andrewes [3], Fazekas de St Groth [4], and Edney [5], led to the conclusion, in 1957, that viral interference of heat-inactivated particles was dependent on the secretion of a soluble

macromolecule, the very first description of a substance then called interferon (IFN).

Since then, IFNs have been classified into three distinct protein families (namely, type I, II, and III IFNs), according to their general biological and genetic properties, as well as their signaling pathways [6]. Interferons α and β (IFN- α and IFN- β , respectively) are the main proteins in the type I IFN family and shall be the focus of this chapter. Type II IFN consists of IFN-γ, also known as immune IFN, produced by immunocompetent cells and whose modulatory properties are well established [7], while type III IFN comprises IFN- λ , the latest addition to the family, whose function is involved in antiviral immunity as well as in the protection of "barrier organs" such as the skin [8]. In humans, there are 14 known isoforms for IFN- α and 1 for IFN- β [9] that are secreted by a multitude of cell types following activation of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) on the cell surface, cytosol, or endosomal compartments.

PRRs include the Toll-like receptor (TLR) family of proteins, sensitive to microbial components/ products and ectopically expressed endogenous components, such as nucleic acids [10, 11] and the RNA helicase retinoic acid-inducible gene protein I (RIG-I) [12]. Activation of PRRs is necessary for the induction of large quantities of type I IFN during infections, and ultimately type I IFN signaling triggers: (a) an antiviral cellular program both in the cell of origin and in the surrounding population, (b) stimulation of the innate arm of the immune response, and finally (c) driving of the adaptive immunity to elicit a pathogen-specific response [9]. A remarkable and more recent finding is that basal levels of IFN- β are found in healthy tissues and are responsible for several physiological functions, such as maintenance of the hematopoietic cell niche, bone remodeling, and stimulation of the immune system (IS) [13].

Different cell subsets of the IS maintain a basal level of IFN- β production driven by the microbiota, which sustains the expression of signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) and interferon regulatory factor 9 (IRF9) and tunes these cells to rapidly react to an eventual scenario of infection [13]. In a pathogen-free setting, macrophages keep their phagocytic abilities positively influenced by basal levels of type I IFNs [14], while NK (natural killer) cells heavily rely on type I IFN regulated stimulation in order

to maintain proliferative and effector functions [15]. In addition, loss of basal IFN- β production impairs responsiveness to other cytokines, such as IFN- γ and interleukin-6 (IL-6) [16, 17]. There are mainly two possible explanations for this hypothesis: (1) there is cross talk between type I IFN receptors and receptors for other cytokines, generating concomitant engagement of downstream targets belonging to multiple pathways and (2) basal, extremely low amounts of IFN- β regulate intermediate components, such as STATs 1 and 2, that participate in the signaling networks of other cytokines [18, 19]. The signaling pathway for virally induced IFN-β production is dependent on transcription factors IRFs 3 and 7, whereas constitutive IFN- β production requires the participation of c-Jun and nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) [20, 21].

In general, type I IFNs signal through a heterodimer composed of the interferon alpha receptor (IFNAR) chains 1 and 2 (IFNAR1 and IFNAR2, respectively) or through a homodimer composed of two units of IFNAR1, which binds IFN- β more efficiently [22, 23]. Both receptors are ubiquitously expressed in almost all cell types [24]. In the canonic activation pathway, binding of the receptor leads to the phosphorylation of STATs 1 and 2 by the receptor-associated proteins Janus kinase 1 (JAK1) and tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2) [9, 22, 25]. Phosphorylated STATs 1 and 2 enter the nucleus to bind IRF9 and induce the transcription of several IFN-stimulated genes. Albeit traditionally being tightly associated with antiviral immunity, type I IFNs have gained considerable space in the fields of oncology and cancer immunotherapy due to accumulating evidence of their direct action on tumor cells, as well as on the variety of cells that orchestrate and execute the innate and adaptive immune responses against tumors.

These immunocompetent cells interact with tumor cells from transformation to metastatic dissemination in a dynamic multistage process termed immunoediting. Immunoediting is generally divided into three phases: elimination (also referred to as immunosurveillance) [26], equilibrium, and escape [7, 26]. The concept of cancer immunosurveillance originally stated that transformed cells appear within our bodies rather frequently but are recognized and eliminated by the IS before leading to clinically observable diseases [27].

The regulatory role of the IS in the initial phases of carcinogenesis is evidenced by the fact that animals lacking the main components of the innate and adaptive immune response are more vulnerable to spontaneous and chemically induced tumors than those with an intact IS [26, 28]. This points to a more sophisticated notion of immune recognition that goes beyond differentiating self from phylogenetically distant pathogens but that is able to elegantly pick up on differences between self and transformed self [7]. However, even individuals with an intact IS frequently develop cancer, leading researchers to believe that immunosurveillance is only one facet through which the host's IS interacts with tumor cells. The experimental observation that tumors derived from immunocompetent hosts are less immunogenic than those obtained from immunodeficient hosts [29, 30] led to the conclusion that some phenotypical features of tumor cells are derived from the immunologic context in which they have arisen [7].

Therefore, not only can the IS recognize tumor cells, but it can also modulate tumor cell immunogenicity, in the phase of equilibrium, leading to the selection of immunologically "silent" variants that cross to the third and final phase of immunoediting termed escape, in which there is evasion from the effector mechanisms of the IS and progression of the disease [26]. Remarkably, researchers have found that type I IFNs participate in all the three immunoediting phases, a feature that can be exploited not only to better understand the cellular mechanisms underlying these processes but also for the development of novel therapeutic approaches. Several of these mechanisms and the correspondent phase of cancer immunoediting in which they happen will be discussed in the sections that follow.

11.2 Role of Type I IFNs in Malignant Transformation

The early observations that type I IFNs have a critical regulatory role over the transformation and growth of tumor cells were reported in the 1960s by Gresser [31], who injected animals with oncogenic viruses and demonstrated that those treated

with IFN developed fewer tumors and lived longer [32]. At the time, it was unclear whether IFNs acted directly on tumor cells or indirectly via modulation of the host's IS. In the 1970s, Stewart et al. showed that IFN-treated murine and human fibroblasts were more likely to undergo cell death following viral infection than non-treated fibroblasts [33]. Subsequent studies showed that direct antitumor effects of type I IFNs include antiviral activity, which in turn diminishes the occurrence of virus-associated tumors, and modulatory action over growth, proliferation, cell cycle, and cell death [32, 34]. Additionally, a human leukemia cell line, resistant to IFN in vitro, can be inhibited in vivo [35], leading to the idea that the effects of IFN involve other defense components of the host, especially the immunocompetent cells. This notion of cross talk between the IS, type I IFNs, and transformed cells was reinforced by the early observations that murine tumor cells increase the expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules on their surface upon IFN treatment [32].

It was observed that several hematologic tumors and some solid ones have chromosomal deletion or defects at 9p22, where the IFN genes are located [36–39], making researchers wonder if these or other related proteins work as tumor suppressors. Now, it is well established that IFN-induced cellular products that trigger an antiviral state also have antitumor activity when expressed in uninfected cells [40].

In the 1990s, it was observed that transfection of K562 cells (a human chronic myelogenous leukemia cell line) with cDNA of a subunit of the IFNAR induced cell differentiation, slowed their proliferation rate, and rendered these cells nontumorigenic in nude mice [41]. More recently, research performed on silencing of Ifnar or of its downstream targets has demonstrated the relevance of type I IFN signaling in the protection from cellular transformation and tumorigenesis [42, 43]. Transformed and non-transformed cells treated with IFN- α and IFN- β , but not IFN- γ , show increased levels of p53 and this effect is abrogated in the absence of type IFN signaling, further suggesting the participation of the type I IFN system in the transcription of the p53 gene and the protection from malignant transformation [44]. Samples from late-stage lung cancer

patients present lower expression of IFN- α/β genes than samples obtained from patients at earlier stages of the disease [45]. Similarly, in metastatic tissue, there is downregulation of IFN- α/β genes in comparison to non-metastatic. These results suggest that cells lose expression of IFN- α/β -related genes during lung tumorigenesis as well as during progression of the disease.

11.3 Role of Type I IFNs in Cancer Immunoediting

The nature of immune components infiltrating the tumor microenvironment can either hinder or benefit the clinical outcome of several human malignancies, while providing a valid prognostic tool [46]. In the past, several groups reported experimental findings that supported the participation of the IFN family on the interface between tumor and IS. Mice treated with different IFN-rich preparations have an increased survival time following intraperitoneal inoculation of tumor cells [47]. Conversely, treatment of mice with anti-IFN antibodies resulted in larger and biologically more aggressive tumors, as well as defective natural killer (NK) cell expansion [48]. Antibody-mediated neutralization of IFN- α/β in immunocompetent mice increases their susceptibility to intraperitoneal transplanted tumor cells [49].

Mice treated with blocking antibodies against IFNAR1 do not reject highly immunogenic chemically induced tumors, which are readily rejected by control animals [24]. IFNAR1 signaling is necessary both in early stages of tumor recognition by the IS and in the effector phases of rejection. In a murine model of 3'-methylcholanthrene (MCA) induced sarcomas, tumors generated in Ifnar1^{-/-} animals display an immunogenic phenotype similar to that observed in $Rag^{-/-}$ derived tumors. This means that lack of type I IFN signaling is extremely relevant to the editing role of the IS. Moreover, responsiveness of the hematopoietic compartment to type I IFN is necessary and sufficient for eliciting the rejection of tumors [50]. Priming of CD8⁺ T-cells with adequate stimuli is crucial for an antitumor immune response and it has been shown that CD8⁺ T-Cell infiltration in tumors correlates with the expression of a range of IFN-stimulated genes [51], such as lymphocyte-recruiting chemokines in melanoma and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) [52, 53].

11.3.1 Type I IFNs and Natural Killer (NK) Cells

Perhaps the very first indication of the immunomodulatory property of type I IFNs comes from the observation that IFN- α/β participates in the induction of cytotoxic activity, proliferation, and survival of NK cells in the context of viral infection [54, 55]. Now, type I IFNs and IL-12 are considered the main stimulatory cytokines for NK cells, which are originated in the bone marrow and comprise approximately 5-10% of circulating human lymphocytes [56]. Phenotypically, human NK cells are characterized by the expression of the marker CD56 and absence of CD3. The majority of human NK cells display the phenotype CD56dim CD16bright, generally associated with cytotoxic activity [57, 58]. NK cells kill virus-infected and tumor target cells by perforininduced osmotic lysis, apoptosis induced by perforin/granzymes, or by ligand-dependent cell death [59].

In cancer, experimental models of NK cell depletion show that type I IFNs play important roles in the maturation, activation, and maintenance of this cell population [60]. NK cells lacking IFNAR display impaired early maturation in the spleen [61, 62] and decreased surveillance in vitro [15, 50, 61]. It must be considered that in vivo this defect could be compensated by other cytokine signaling networks such as those involving IL-12 and IL-15 [60]. An example is that stimulation of dendritic cells (DCs) with type I IFNs induces production of IL-15 that is required to sustain the proliferation and activity of NK cells through a contact-dependent mechanism known as trans-presentation [63]. Tumor cells themselves can also signal through type I IFNs to enhance NK cell activity since upregu-
lated expression of NKG2D in their surface (e.g., induced by DNA-damaged cells) facilitates their elimination by NK cells [64].

Type I IFNs also modulate metastatic dissemination and NK cell-mediated elimination of circulating tumor cells. In a murine model of peritoneal metastasis, it was observed that treatment with IFN- β inhibits ascites accumulation via modulation of vascular hyperpermeability, although this effect seems to be unrelated to the already ascribed antitumor effect of IFN- β [65]. In a murine model of breast cancer that spontaneously metastasizes to the bone, metastatic tumor cells display downregulation of a large number of genes involved both in induction of type I IFN production and in signaling after type I IFN stimulation [66]. Conversely, forced expression of IRF7-an inducer of type I IFN production-in tumor cells resulted in enhanced immunomediated recognition in the bloodstream, dependent on the circulating population of CD8⁺ T-Cells and NK cells [66]. Depletion of the aforementioned immune populations significantly accelerates metastatic spreading and decreases survival time. Similar patterns of Irf7 expression were found in human primary breast tumors and matched bone metastasis. In accordance with these results, it was observed, in two models of spontaneous and orthotopic transplantable breast cancers, that Ifnar1-/- mice developed bone metastasis more rapidly than their WT counterparts [67]. In addition, NK cells isolated from Ifnar1-/- mice are not able to kill tumor cells in vitro or reduce metastatic burden in the bone in vivo after adoptive cell transfer therapy.

In a human disease setting, Hockland and colleagues have shown a short-term increase in the cytotoxic activity of ex vivo cultured NK cells isolated from IFN-treated lung cancer patients [68]. More recently, it was shown that circulating NK cells from pancreatic cancer patients treated with low-dose IFN therapy present an increase in NKG2D expression immediately after administration [69]. Similar results were reported by Edwards et al. in a study involving patients with multiple types of cancers [70].

11.3.2 Type I IFNs and Dendritic Cells (DCs)

Successful elimination of malignant cells by IS depends on the proper stimulation of tumorspecific T lymphocytes by antigen presenting cells (APCs). The most powerful and competent APCs are DCs, a rare cell type originated in the bone marrow, which act as sentinels of the environment through a wide variety of molecular sensors. These cells capture and process antigens, transmitting the message to lymphocytes in order to generate both effector and memory cells, working as the "bridge" between the innate and adaptive immunity [71]. DCs present processed antigen peptides complexed with major histocompatibility complex (MHC molecules) to naïve T-Cells in lymphoid organs [72]. When mature/activated DCs present antigens to naïve T lymphocytes, it triggers the generation of a clone of cells displaying effector functions such as cytokine production and cytotoxicity in order to eliminate tumor cells [71].

Different subsets of human DCs have been characterized. Conventional DCs (cDCs) develop through expression of the Id2 transcription factor and mainly express the phenotypical marker CD141. On the contrary, plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) differentially express the transcription factor E2-2 and are characterized by the CD303 marker [71, 73–75]. Among the variety of functions attributed to pDCs, the most notable is their ability to secrete high quantities of type I IFNs during viral infection [76]. Even though the role for cDCs in antitumor immunity is much more prominent, there have been reports of the participation of pDCs in the elimination of tumors in mice [77, 78]. Human CD141⁺ cDCs are the "equivalent" of the murine CD8⁺ population of cDCs, sharing the unique and critical ability to cross-present antigens, that is, presenting exogenous peptides in the context of MHC class I molecules to CD8+ T-Cells [71]. This cross-presentation is required for the launching of an antitumor immune response with the generation of specific cytotoxic tumor lymphocytes (CTLs). Due to their pivotal role Chap. 18 (Romagnoli and Kaneno). Diamond and others observed that deletion of IFNAR1 on murine DCs fully prevents rejection of immunogenic sarcomas, while adoptive transfer of IFN-competent DCs restores rejection of tumors [80]. These findings not only emphasize the importance of endogenous type I IFNs but also highlight the fact that DCs are primary targets for endogenous type I IFN production in vivo. Thus, strategies aiming to boost DC-based cancer vaccines via exogenous addition of type I IFN could be beneficial to this modality of immunotherapy. In fact, addition of IFN-α to human blood-derived DCs stimulated with an anti-CD40-MART-1 fusion protein enhances the frequency of MART-1 specific CD8⁺ IFN- γ^+ CTLs [81]. The same authors also reported that human blood DCs stimulated with the fusion protein anti-DEC205-IFN- α have their phenotype shifted to a more activated profile, with increased expression of CD80, CD86, CD40, and MHC class I [81].

Treatment of two lymphoma cell lines with a mixture of retinoic acid and IFN- α induced a particular form of apoptosis known as immunogenic cell death (ICD) that renders these cells more attractive targets for phagocytosis by DCs [82]. Moreover, IFN- α conditioned DCs pulsed with lysate of IFN- α treated tumor cells display a more activated phenotype and stimulate more efficient CTLs than controls. Treatment of animals with a mutated form of IFN- α (with low affinity to its receptors) coupled with an anti-Clec9A antibody to target cross-priming DCs increases the number of effector and memory CD8⁺ T-Cells in the draining lymph node in comparison to controls. This new form of DC-targeted therapy synergizes well with checkpoint blockade therapy with anti-PD-1 antibody, low-dose tumor necrosis factor (TNF) treatment, and immunogenic chemotherapy with doxorubicin to eliminate B16 tumors in mice [83].

11.4 Immunotherapeutic Approaches

Nowadays, type I IFNs are approved for the treatment of a number of cancers, such as chronic myeloid leukemia, myeloproliferative neoplasms, melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, and Kaposi's sarcoma [83–85]. However, dose-limiting toxicity and the pleiotropic nature of these cytokines oftentimes compromise the success of treatment and their applicability on the clinic. So, in order to avoid systemic toxicity and safely deliver the cytokines to their targets, immunotherapeutic approaches are highly demanded. The activation of the innate compartment through PRR signaling and the consequent induction of type I IFNs has gained much attention within the field of tumor immunotherapy, with satisfactory tolerability and, in general, no need for specific tumor markers [86]. Properly activated innate mechanisms in the tumor microenvironment could determine the success or failure of some forms of immunotherapy through blocking of immune evasion and activation of adaptive immunity [86]. TLRs, RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs) and the stimulator of interferon gene (STING) are prominent candidates and are currently under investigation, and so the following sections are a roundup of some of the most recent publications reporting preclinical data and available clinical trials on the subject.

The issue of patient tolerability to treatment with IFN- α/β is still not quite solved [85]. The biggest challenge today in the therapeutic use of type I IFNs, as well as other cytokines, is the toxic side effects, including fatigue, fever, nausea, depression, leukopenia, and others, compromising the efficacy of the treatment and reducing patient's quality of life [85]. As early as the 1970s, there have been reports on IFN-mediated toxicity, initially attributed to the low purity of IFN preparations [87]. However, even more purified preparations still induced the same symptoms, proving to be the main dose-limiting factor [88]. The route of administration is also a focal point and intravenous infusion was shown to allow the administration of higher doses in comparison to intramuscular route [89].

Hematological malignancies were the first group to benefit from type I IFN treatment. In the early 1980s, pioneer clinical studies were conducted to verify the feasibility of clinical use of type I IFNs in the clinic. Gutterman and colleagues reported a favorable response in two myeloma patients, one who had been resistant to cytotoxic treatment and the other who had relapsed after cytotoxic treatment [90]. Solid tumors, such as renal cell and breast carcinomas, melanoma, and lung cancers, were also evaluated as targets for IFN treatment; however, both for hematological and solid tumors, results were timid and not encouraging, with no response in late-stage patients and moderate responses for tumors of viral origin [32]. The low rate of success of antitumor IFN as a monotherapy drove researchers to seek other strategies to apply this cytokine in the clinic, such as in combination with cytotoxic drugs, or as an adjuvant to radiotherapy or surgery in earlier stages of disease [32].

Recombinant DNA technology eventually led to large-scale production of pure preparations of IFNs, which were subsequently the first cytokines to be approved as an anticancer treatment [40]. However, the issue of toxicity still remains and several strategies are still under investigation to circumvent this problem and benefit from IFN signaling in a more "physiological" fashion. An important finding was that the conjugation of polyethylene glycol (PEG) with IFNs reduce both their clearance rate and their immunogenicity, leading to less frequent administration and consequently less adverse side effects [91]. Pegylated IFN- α 2b (PEG-IFN- α 2b) is currently the main choice for the long-term treatment of viral hepatitis, presenting with less toxicity than the non-pegylated form [92].

11.4.1 Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs) Agonists

There are ten different TLRs characterized in humans, each one specialized in the recognition of different pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). TLRs 1, 2, 4, 5, and 6 are found

on the cell surface, while TLRs 3, 7, 8, and 9 are expressed in the cytosol on endosomal membranes [86]. Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG), monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL), and imiquimod, which signal through TLRs 2/4, 4, and 7, respectively, have been approved for the treatment of bladder, breast, and other types of cancer [93–95].

Phase I/II clinical trials evaluating the intratumoral administration of oligodeoxynucleotides containing unmethylated cytosine-guanosine motifs (CpG-ODN), a TLR9 agonist, for the treatment of neurological malignancies have been conducted, with reasonable tolerability but modest results [96, 97]. Intrathecal and subcutaneous injections of this compound were well tolerated by patients with neoplastic meningitis, with lymphopenia and inflammatory reactions being the most significant symptoms [98]. Association of oligodeoxynucleotides with bevacizumab (an anti-vascular endothelial growth factor monoclonal antibody) improves median survival, highlighting the advantages of combining different immunotherapeutic approaches. Both intradermal and intramuscular injections of a 9-polypeptide vaccine derived from breast carcinoma, along with a helper tetanus peptide and TLR3 ligand poly-ICLC, have minimal toxicity to patients but very low immune responses to two out of nine vaccinated peptides [99].

Sato-Kaneko et al. demonstrated, in a preclinical model of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, that a combination of checkpoint inhibition with anti-PD-1 antibody and TLR7 and 9 agonists enhanced the antitumor properties of either agent alone, both at injection and distant sites. This effect correlates with differentiation of M1 macrophages and infiltration of IFN-γ producing CD8+ T-Cells in the tumor and spleen [100]. Biweekly injections of a TLR7 agonist called 852A in heavily pretreated, high risk chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients were well tolerated and induced the production of inflammatory cytokines and IgM [101]. Interestingly, in a single patient, exposure to the TLR7 agonist seemed to render drug-resistant tumor cells more sensitive to a vincristine-based chemotherapeutic regimen. Indeed, there have been numerous reports of synergy between IFNs and cytotoxic drugs (addressed in this book by Malvicini et al.), as well as of a chemosensitizing property of type I IFNs [102–105].

The emerging field of nanotechnology/nanomedicine is investing in TLR-based immunotherapies in order to precisely deliver agonists to their cellular targets. For instance, encapsulation of resiquimod, a TLR7 ligand, into pegylated polymer-based nanoparticles is successfully uptaken by APCs, including DCs, which migrate to draining lymph nodes [106]. Such an approach could be a tool to enhance specific antitumor T-Cell responses, especially in combination with other immunotherapies like antigen vaccination. However, TLRs signaling in immune cells and also in cancer cells is a complex network that has not been fully elucidated. In fact, activation of TLRs in malignant cells can lead to tumorpromoting effects, such as immune evasion, chronic inflammation, and metastatic dissemination [107, 108].

11.4.2 RIG-Like Receptors (RLRs) Agonists

RIG-like receptors are a family of PRR specialized in the sensing of cytoplasmic viral RNA. They are members of DExD/H box RNA helicases and divided into three subgroups: RIG-I (retinoic acid-inducible gene I), MDA5 (melanoma differentiation-associated factor 5), and LGP2 (laboratory of genetics and physiology 2) [109–111]. Currently, growing experimental evidence suggests that the use of RLR ligands in the treatment of cancer can trigger beneficial effects, such as the preferential induction of cell death in malignant cells via IFN-dependent and independent mechanisms and immunostimulatory effects on APCs and NK cells [86, 112, 113].

As reviewed by Wu et al., RIG-I and MDA5 activation is able to induce tumor cell apoptosis in melanoma, prostatic, breast, neurological, gastric, and hepatic cancers [109]. Many silencing RNA molecules have been investigated in order to simultaneously achieve silencing of various genes as well as RIG-I signaling through binding of RNA and the consequent type I IFN production. For example, murine models show that the treatment of the pancreatic cell line Panc02 with different RLR agonists induces increased expression of IFN-β mRNA, IL-6, and IP-10 (an IFN regulated chemokine that attracts CD8⁺ T-Cell via binding of CXCR3) as well as cell death with immunogenic features [114]. This last effect can be abrogated after RIG-I or MDA5 silencing, highlighting the role of this signaling network to the effects observed. Moreover, the culture of CD8⁺ DC with treated Panc02 cells improves their maturation, making them more efficient in the cross-presentation of tumor antigens to CD8⁺ T-Cells. Finally, in vivo vaccination with 5'-ppp RNA-treated Panc02 cells renders mice immune to a subsequent challenge, and therapeutic administration of poly(I:C) (an MDA5 ligand) decreases tumor burden in tumor-bearing mice.

Very similar results were obtained with transfection of different human pancreatic cancer cell lines with poly(I:C) complexed with lipofectamine (to deliver it to the cytosol and bind to RLRs) or with systemic administration of PEI-conjugated poly(I:C) to mice bearing Panc02 tumors [115]. The use of a glutaminase silencing 5'-ppp RNA both inhibits this essential enzyme and induces type I IFN production [116]. This silencing RNA acts through intrinsic apoptotic mechanisms in tumor cells only, with no cytotoxic effect in non-transformed cells. Additionally, silenced cells produce IFN-B and IP-10 and express more MHC class I and Fas molecules, facilitating CTL-mediated killing. RIG-I signaling also induces production of reactive oxygen species and impairs autophagic degradation of damaged mitochondria, leading to tumor cell death.

11.4.3 Stimulators of Interferon Genes (STING) Agonists

The STING receptors are located in the membranes of the endoplasmic reticulum and their signaling pathway is triggered via sensing of DNA in the cytosol by cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS). STING activation can lead to type I IFN production via IRF3 or to secretion of proinflammatory cytokines via NF- κ B [117]. Thus, STING is thought to be involved in the genesis of DNA-mediated inflammatory disorders such as systemic lupus erythematosus or Aicardi-Goutières syndrome [118, 119]. In cancer, its importance comes mainly from the fact that in the tumor microenvironment, DNA released by dying tumor cells or DNA containing vesicles can gain access to the cytosol of infiltrating DCs, which in turn initiate an antitumor immune response [120].

Use of Ifnar^{-/-} mice and administration of IFN-blocking antibodies show that radiationmediated antitumor responses are dependent on type I IFN signaling, through sensitization of the host's hematopoietic compartment and posterior infiltration in the tumor microenvironment [121, 122]. Moreover, given that MyD88 (myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88), a downstream effector of TLR signaling, is essential for the efficacy of chemotherapy, researchers have investigated whether that is the case for radiation therapy as well. However, Woo and colleagues found that antitumor responses following radiation of MyD88^{-/-} and WT animals are very comparable [122]. Conversely, the authors also observed that tumor-bearing, irradiated mice knocked out for STING signaling have impaired radiation-mediated antitumor effects due to the abrogation of IFN- β production by tumorinfiltrating DCs.

Knocking out IRF3, a downstream target of STING activation, has similar effects. Other authors reported that deletion of STING or IRF3 renders mice unable to reject transplanted immunogenic tumors due to inefficient priming of CD8⁺ T-Cells by DCs in the tumor tissue, while no such effect was observed through deletion of TLR, MyD88, IRF7, or mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein (MAVS), these last two being downstream targets of RLR signaling [122, 123]. Taken together, these results highlight the role of STING as the predominant innate immune pathway of tumor detection and rejection in vivo.

Intratumoral injection of the flavonoid 5,6-dimethylxanthenone-4-acetic acid (DMXAA), a STING agonist compound, promotes potent

tumor rejection of B16, TRAMP-C2, and 4T-1 tumors, induces long-lasting immunologic memory, and increases the frequency of IFN- γ producing tumor-specific CD8⁺ T-Cells in the spleen. Conversely, STING-deficient mice are refractory to this agent [124]. Tumor-infiltrating macrophages and DCs respond to treatment with STING agonists by producing high concentrations of type I IFNs, and the main effector cells were found to be CD8⁺ DCs. In addition, a synthetic modified cyclic dinucleotide molecule induces IFN- β production in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells, indicating that this pathway could be an effective target for novel immunotherapies.

The phenomenon of cell senescence has been described as an antitumor mechanism, given its ability to promote cell cycle arrest, preventing damaged/mutated cells from proliferating. Gluck and colleagues demonstrated that cGAS (cyclic GMP-AMP (cGAMP) synthase, a molecule directly involved in the activation of STING) knockout murine embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) do not undergo senescence in the same fashion as their WT counterparts. Gene expression profiling revealed that shutting down the cGAS-STING pathway prevented MEFs from expressing crucial senescence-regulating genes [125]. Moreover, cGAS or STING deletion in MEFs or human cell lines prevented them from entering into senescence under conditions of oxidative stress, but treatment with IFN-ß in vitro reversed this condition. In an in vivo model, cGAS knockout and WT mice were injected with transposons encoding NrasG12V and markers of senescence were analyzed 6 days later. The livers of cGAS knockout mice displayed decreased levels of the molecules p21 and senescenceassociated β-galactosidase and these animals had limited capacity to produce the cytokines and chemokines of the senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) with immunostimulatory properties. As a result, clearance of Nras^{G12V +} cells was impaired in these animals.

Recently, a dual role has been ascribed to STING signaling. Liang et al. observed that following irradiation of MC38 tumor-bearing mice, there is an accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) in the tumor microenvironment that relies heavily upon CCR2 induction by STING activation and type I IFN signaling [126]. MDSCs impair T-Cell-mediated antitumor responses, promoting radio resistance. So, in order to benefit from the immunostimulatory potential of STING while restraining its regulatory mechanisms, they report that administration of anti-CCR2 antibody combined with radiation and cGAMP (cyclic guanosine monophosphate–adenosine monophosphate, a secondary messenger of the STING pathway) depleted CCR2⁺Ly6c^{hi} population in tumors, enhanced the CD8⁺/MDSC as well as CD8⁺/ T reg ratios, and promoted tumor rejection in 60% of the animals.

11.5 Concluding Remarks

Type I IFNs have distinct characteristics that render them important tools in the development of new therapeutic strategies. They have been linked to direct anti-proliferative properties over tumor cells, enhancement of immunogenicity by upregulation of MHC class I molecules, induction of tumor cell senescence, and death with immunogenic features. They also synergize with cytotoxic drugs that are already used in the clinic. Moreover, they have the astounding ability to drive the antitumor immune response by modulating the activity of many of its key components, such as NK and B-cells. More importantly, they have a tight association with the action of DCs, the main APCs, and orchestrators of the IS, which generate highly potent tumor-specific CTLs. In addition, conventional treatments such as radiation and chemotherapy rely on type I IFN signaling to promote the elimination of transformed cells. However, the vast range of biological effects and complex networks of signaling and feedback loops triggered by type I IFNs are complicating factors that need to be elucidated to circumvent the issues of toxicity and find very specific, effective targets to drive our attention to. Emerging fields such as gene therapy and nanomedicine are promising areas that could effectively harness the potential of type I IFNs and develop more applicable technologies in the future.

References

- Isaacs A, Lindenmann J. Virus interference. I. The interferon. Proc R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci. 1957;147(927):258–67.
- Lindenmann J. From interference to interferon: a brief historical introduction. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci. 1982;299(1094):3–6.
- Andrewes CH. Interference by one virus with the growth of another in tissue-culture. Br J Exp Pathol. 1942;23(4):214–20.
- Fazekas De St Groth S, Isaacs A, Edney M. Multiplication of influenza virus under conditions of interference. Nature. 1952;170(4327):573.
- Isaacs A, Edney M. Interference between inactive and active influenza viruses in the chick embryo. Aust J Exp Biol Med Sci. 1950;28(6):635–45.
- Musella M, Manic G, De Maria R, Vitale I, Sistigu A. Type-I-interferons in infection and cancer: unanticipated dynamics with therapeutic implications. Oncoimmunology. 2017;6(5):e1314424. https://doi. org/10.1080/2162402X.2017.1314424.
- Dunn GP, Koebel CM, Schreiber RD. Interferons, immunity and cancer immunoediting. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6(11):836–48. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nri1961.
- Zanoni I, Granucci F, Broggi A. Interferon (IFN)lambda takes the helm: immunomodulatory roles of type III IFNs. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1661. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.01661.
- Ivashkiv LB, Donlin LT. Regulation of type I interferon responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(1):36– 49. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3581.
- Kawai T, Akira S. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(5):373–84. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ni.1863.
- Zhou Y, He C, Wang L, Ge B. Post-translational regulation of antiviral innate signaling. Eur J Immunol. 2017;47(9):1414–26. https://doi. org/10.1002/eji.201746959.
- McNab F, Mayer-Barber K, Sher A, Wack A, O'Garra A. Type I interferons in infectious disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(2):87–103. https://doi. org/10.1038/nri3787.
- Gough DJ, Messina NL, Clarke CJ, Johnstone RW, Levy DE. Constitutive type I interferon modulates homeostatic balance through tonic signaling. Immunity. 2012;36(2):166–74. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.01.011.
- Poltorak A, He X, Smirnova I, Liu MY, Van Huffel C, Du X, et al. Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene. Science. 1998;282(5396):2085–8.
- Swann JB, Hayakawa Y, Zerafa N, Sheehan KC, Scott B, Schreiber RD, et al. Type I IFN contributes to NK cell homeostasis, activation, and antitumor function. J Immunol. 2007;178(12): 7540–9.

- Mitani Y, Takaoka A, Kim SH, Kato Y, Yokochi T, Tanaka N, et al. Cross talk of the interferonalpha/beta signalling complex with gp130 for effective interleukin-6 signalling. Genes Cells. 2001;6(7):631–40.
- Takaoka A, Mitani Y, Suemori H, Sato M, Yokochi T, Noguchi S, et al. Cross talk between interferon-gamma and -alpha/beta signaling components in caveolar membrane domains. Science. 2000;288(5475):2357–60.
- Fleetwood AJ, Dinh H, Cook AD, Hertzog PJ, Hamilton JA. GM-CSF- and M-CSF-dependent macrophage phenotypes display differential dependence on type I interferon signaling. J Leukoc Biol. 2009;86(2):411–21. https://doi.org/10.1189/ jlb.1108702.
- Gough DJ, Messina NL, Hii L, Gould JA, Sabapathy K, Robertson AP, et al. Functional crosstalk between type I and II interferon through the regulated expression of STAT1. PLoS Biol. 2010;8(4):e1000361. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1000361.
- Hata N, Sato M, Takaoka A, Asagiri M, Tanaka N, Taniguchi T. Constitutive IFN-alpha/beta signal for efficient IFN-alpha/beta gene induction by virus. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2001;285(2):518– 25. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.2001.5159.
- 21. Sato M, Suemori H, Hata N, Asagiri M, Ogasawara K, Nakao K, et al. Distinct and essential roles of transcription factors IRF-3 and IRF-7 in response to viruses for IFN-alpha/beta gene induction. Immunity. 2000;13(4):539–48.
- Corrales L, Matson V, Flood B, Spranger S, Gajewski TF. Innate immune signaling and regulation in cancer immunotherapy. Cell Res. 2017;27(1):96–108. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2016.149.
- Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Type I interferons in anticancer immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(7):405–14. https://doi. org/10.1038/nri3845.
- 24. Sheehan KC, Lai KS, Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Diamond MS, Heutel JD, et al. Blocking monoclonal antibodies specific for mouse IFN-alpha/beta receptor subunit 1 (IFNAR-1) from mice immunized by in vivo hydrodynamic transfection. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 2006;26(11):804–19. https://doi.org/10.1089/ jir.2006.26.804.
- Uze G, Schreiber G, Piehler J, Pellegrini S. The receptor of the type I interferon family. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2007;316:71–95.
- Zitvogel L, Tesniere A, Kroemer G. Cancer despite immunosurveillance: immunoselection and immunosubversion. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6(10):715– 27. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1936.
- Muenst S, Laubli H, Soysal SD, Zippelius A, Tzankov A, Hoeller S. The immune system and cancer evasion strategies: therapeutic concepts. J Intern Med. 2016;279(6):541–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/ joim.12470.
- Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The immunobiology of cancer immunosurveillance and immunoed-

iting. Immunity. 2004;21(2):137–48. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.immuni.2004.07.017.

- Crowe NY, Smyth MJ, Godfrey DI. A critical role for natural killer T cells in immunosurveillance of methylcholanthrene-induced sarcomas. J Exp Med. 2002;196(1):119–27.
- Shankaran V, Ikeda H, Bruce AT, White JM, Swanson PE, Old LJ, et al. IFNgamma and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. Nature. 2001;410(6832):1107–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/35074122.
- 31 Gresser I, Maurey C, Brouty-boye D. Mechanism of the antitumour effects of interferon. Nalure, Lond. 1972;239:167
- Priestman TJ. Interferons and cancer therapy. J Pathol. 1983;141(3):287–95. https://doi. org/10.1002/path.1711410308.
- 33. Stewart WE II, De Clercq E, Billiau A, Desmyter J, De Somer P. Increased susceptibility of cells treated with interferon to the toxicity of polyriboinosinicpolyribocytidylic acid. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1972;69(7):1851–4.
- Snell LM, McGaha TL, Brooks DG. Type I interferon in chronic virus infection and cancer. Trends Immunol. 2017;38(8):542–57. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.it.2017.05.005.
- Gresser I, Maury C, Brouty-Boye D. Mechanism of the antitumour effect of interferon in mice. Nature. 1972;239(5368):167–8.
- Chilcote RR, Brown E, Rowley JD. Lymphoblastic leukemia with lymphomatous features associated with abnormalities of the short arm of chromosome 9. N Engl J Med. 1985;313(5):286–91. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJM198508013130503.
- 37. Grander D, Heyman M, Brondum-Nielsen K, Liu Y, Lundgren E, Soderhall S, et al. Interferon system in primary acute lymphocytic leukemia cells with or without deletions of the alpha-/beta-interferon genes. Blood. 1992;79(8):2076–83.
- 38. Miyakoshi J, Dobler KD, Allalunis-Turner J, McKean JD, Petruk K, Allen PB, et al. Absence of IFNA and IFNB genes from human malignant glioma cell lines and lack of correlation with cellular sensitivity to interferons. Cancer Res. 1990;50(2):278–83.
- Cowan JM, Halaban R, Francke U. Cytogenetic analysis of melanocytes from premalignant nevi and melanomas. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1988;80(14):1159–64.
- Pitha PM. Introduction: interferon's connection to cancer. Semin Cancer Biol. 2000;10(2):69–72. https://doi.org/10.1006/scbi.2000.0309.
- 41. Colamonici OR, Porterfield B, Domanski P, Handa RK, Flex S, Samuel CE, et al. Ligand-independent anti-oncogenic activity of the alpha subunit of the type I interferon receptor. J Biol Chem. 1994;269(44):27275–9.
- 42. Chen HM, Tanaka N, Mitani Y, Oda E, Nozawa H, Chen JZ, et al. Critical role for constitutive type I interferon signaling in the prevention of cellular transformation. Cancer Sci. 2009;100(3):449–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2008.01051.x.

- 43. Yanai H, Chen HM, Inuzuka T, Kondo S, Mak TW, Takaoka A, et al. Role of IFN regulatory factor 5 transcription factor in antiviral immunity and tumor suppression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(9):3402–7. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0611559104.
- 44. Takaoka A, Hayakawa S, Yanai H, Stoiber D, Negishi H, Kikuchi H, et al. Integration of interferon-alpha/beta signalling to p53 responses in tumour suppression and antiviral defence. Nature. 2003;424(6948):516–23. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature01850.
- 45. Tong R, Feng L, Zhang L, Zhang J, Mao Y, Zhang K, et al. Decreased interferon alpha/beta signature associated with human lung tumorigenesis. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 2015;35(12):963–8. https://doi. org/10.1089/jir.2015.0061.
- 46. Pages F, Galon J, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Tartour E, Sautes-Fridman C, Fridman WH. Immune infiltration in human tumors: a prognostic factor that should not be ignored. Oncogene. 2010;29(8):1093–102. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2009.416.
- 47. Gresser I, Bourali C, Levy JP, Fontaine-Brouty-Boye D, Thomas MT. Increased survival in mice inoculated with tumor cells and treated with interferon preparations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1969;63(1):51–7.
- 48. Reid LM, Minato N, Gresser I, Holland J, Kadish A, Bloom BR. Influence of anti-mouse interferon serum on the growth and metastasis of tumor cells persistently infected with virus and of human prostatic tumors in athymic nude mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1981;78(2):1171–5.
- Gresser I, Belardelli F, Maury C, Maunoury MT, Tovey MG. Injection of mice with antibody to interferon enhances the growth of transplantable murine tumors. J Exp Med. 1983;158(6):2095–107.
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Sheehan KC, Shankaran V, Uppaluri R, Bui JD, et al. A critical function for type I interferons in cancer immunoediting. Nat Immunol. 2005;6(7):722–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ni1213.
- Woo SR, Corrales L, Gajewski TF. Innate immune recognition of cancer. Annu Rev Immunol. 2015;33:445–74. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevimmunol-032414-112043.
- Harlin H, Meng Y, Peterson AC, Zha Y, Tretiakova M, Slingluff C, et al. Chemokine expression in melanoma metastases associated with CD8+ T-cell recruitment. Cancer Res. 2009;69(7):3077–85. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2281.
- Ulloa-Montoya F, Louahed J, Dizier B, Gruselle O, Spiessens B, Lehmann FF, et al. Predictive gene signature in MAGE-A3 antigen-specific cancer immunotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(19):2388–95. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2012.44.3762.
- Biron CA, Nguyen KB, Pien GC, Cousens LP, Salazar-Mather TP. Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines.

Annu Rev Immunol. 1999;17:189–220. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.17.1.189.

- Kaneno R. Role of natural killer cells in antitumor resistance. Annu Rev Biomed Sci. 2005;7:127–48.
- Blum KS, Pabst R. Lymphocyte numbers and subsets in the human blood. Do they mirror the situation in all organs? Immunol Lett. 2007;108(1):45–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2006.10.009.
- Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Caligiuri MA. The biology of human natural killer-cell subsets. Trends Immunol. 2001;22(11):633–40.
- Schmidt S, Tramsen L, Lehrnbecher T. Natural killer cells in antifungal immunity. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1623. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2017.01623.
- Vivier E, Tomasello E, Baratin M, Walzer T, Ugolini S. Functions of natural killer cells. Nat Immunol. 2008;9(5):503–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1582.
- Muller L, Aigner P, Stoiber D. Type I interferons and natural killer cell regulation in cancer. Front Immunol. 2017;8:304. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2017.00304.
- 61. Mizutani T, Neugebauer N, Putz EM, Moritz N, Simma O, Zebedin-Brandl E, et al. Conditional IFNAR1 ablation reveals distinct requirements of type I IFN signaling for NK cell maturation and tumor surveillance. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1(7):1027–37. https://doi.org/10.4161/onci.21284.
- Guan J, Miah SM, Wilson ZS, Erick TK, Banh C, Brossay L. Role of type I interferon receptor signaling on NK cell development and functions. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e111302. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0111302.
- Lucas M, Schachterle W, Oberle K, Aichele P, Diefenbach A. Dendritic cells prime natural killer cells by trans-presenting interleukin 15. Immunity. 2007;26(4):503–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni. 2007.03.006.
- 64. Katlinskaya YV, Carbone CJ, Yu Q, Fuchs SY. Type 1 interferons contribute to the clearance of senescent cell. Cancer Biol Ther. 2015;16(8):1214–9. https:// doi.org/10.1080/15384047.2015.1056419.
- 65. Iwamura T, Narumi H, Suzuki T, Yanai H, Mori K, Yamashita K, et al. Novel pegylated interferon-beta as strong suppressor of the malignant ascites in a peritoneal metastasis model of human cancer. Cancer Sci. 2017;108(4):581–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.13176.
- 66. Bidwell BN, Slaney CY, Withana NP, Forster S, Cao Y, Loi S, et al. Silencing of Irf7 pathways in breast cancer cells promotes bone metastasis through immune escape. Nat Med. 2012;18(8):1224–31. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2830.
- 67. Rautela J, Baschuk N, Slaney CY, Jayatilleke KM, Xiao K, Bidwell BN, et al. Loss of host type-I IFN signaling accelerates metastasis and impairs NK-cell antitumor function in multiple models of breast cancer. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(11):1207–17. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0065.

- Hokland P, Hokland M, Olesen BK, Ernst P. Effect of recombinant alpha interferon on NK and ADCC function in lung cancer patients: results from a phase II trial. J Interf Res. 1984;4(4):561–9.
- Karakhanova S, Mosl B, Harig S, von Ahn K, Fritz J, Schmidt J, et al. Influence of interferon-alpha combined with chemo(radio)therapy on immunological parameters in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Int J Mol Sci. 2014;15(3):4104–25. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms15034104.
- Edwards BS, Merritt JA, Fuhlbrigge RC, Borden EC. Low doses of interferon alpha result in more effective clinical natural killer cell activation. J Clin Invest. 1985;75(6):1908–13. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI111905.
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):265– 77. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3258.
- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature. 1998;392(6673):245– 52. https://doi.org/10.1038/32588.
- 73. Cisse B, Caton ML, Lehner M, Maeda T, Scheu S, Locksley R, et al. Transcription factor E2-2 is an essential and specific regulator of plasmacytoid dendritic cell development. Cell. 2008;135(1):37–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.09.016.
- Medrano RFV, Hunger A, Mendonca SA, Barbuto JAM, Strauss BE. Immunomodulatory and antitumor effects of type I interferons and their application in cancer therapy. Oncotarget. 2017;8(41):71249– 84. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.19531.
- Murphy TL, Grajales-Reyes GE, Wu X, Tussiwand R, Briseno CG, Iwata A, et al. Transcriptional control of dendritic cell development. Annu Rev Immunol. 2016;34:93–119. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-immunol-032713-120204.
- Siegal FP, Kadowaki N, Shodell M, Fitzgerald-Bocarsly PA, Shah K, Ho S, et al. The nature of the principal type 1 interferon-producing cells in human blood. Science. 1999;284(5421):1835–7.
- 77. Le Mercier I, Poujol D, Sanlaville A, Sisirak V, Gobert M, Durand I, et al. Tumor promotion by intratumoral plasmacytoid dendritic cells is reversed by TLR7 ligand treatment. Cancer Res. 2013;73(15):4629–40. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3058.
- Wenzel J, Bekisch B, Uerlich M, Haller O, Bieber T, Tuting T. Type I interferon-associated recruitment of cytotoxic lymphocytes: a common mechanism in regressive melanocytic lesions. Am J Clin Pathol. 2005;124(1):37–48. https://doi.org/10.1309/4EJ9K L7CGDENVVLE.
- Kantoff PW, Higano CS, Shore ND, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, et al. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(5):411–22. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1001294.
- Diamond MS, Kinder M, Matsushita H, Mashayekhi M, Dunn GP, Archambault JM, et al. Type I interferon is selectively required by dendritic cells for immune

rejection of tumors. J Exp Med. 2011;208(10):1989–2003. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20101158.

- 81. Graham JP, Authie P, Karolina Palucka A, Zurawski G. Targeting interferon-alpha to dendritic cells enhances a CD8(+) T cell response to a human CD40-targeted cancer vaccine. Vaccine. 2017;35(35 Pt B):4532–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vaccine.2017.07.032.
- Montico B, Lapenta C, Ravo M, Martorelli D, Muraro E, Zeng B, et al. Exploiting a new strategy to induce immunogenic cell death to improve dendritic cell-based vaccines for lymphoma immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology. 2017;6(11):e1356964. https:// doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2017.1356964.
- Cauwels A, Van Lint S, Paul F, Garcin G, De Koker S, Van Parys A, et al. Delivering type I interferon to dendritic cells empowers tumor eradication and immune combination treatments. Cancer Res. 2017;78:463. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-17-1980.
- Jonasch E, Haluska FG. Interferon in oncological practice: review of interferon biology, clinical applications, and toxicities. Oncologist. 2001;6(1):34–55.
- Parker BS, Rautela J, Hertzog PJ. Antitumour actions of interferons: implications for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16(3):131–44. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2016.14.
- 86. Li K, Qu S, Chen X, Wu Q, Shi M. Promising targets for cancer immunotherapy: TLRs, RLRs, and STING-mediated innate immune pathways. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(2) https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms18020404.
- Merigan TC. Pharmacokinetics and side effects of interferon in man. Tex Rep Biol Med. 1977;35:541–7.
- Priestman TJ. Initial evaluation of human lymphoblastoid interferon in patients with advanced malignant disease. Lancet. 1980;2(8186):113–8.
- Rohatiner AZ, Balkwill FR, Griffin DB, Malpas JS, Lister TA. A phase I study of human lymphoblastoid interferon administered by continuous intravenous infusion. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 1982;9(2):97–102.
- 90. Gutterman JU, Blumenschein GR, Alexanian R, Yap HY, Buzdar AU, Cabanillas F, et al. Leukocyte interferon-induced tumor regression in human metastatic breast cancer, multiple myeloma, and malignant lymphoma. Ann Intern Med. 1980;93(3):399–406.
- Veronese FM, Mero A. The impact of PEGylation on biological therapies. BioDrugs. 2008;22(5):315–29.
- Tseng TC, Kao JH, Chen DS. Peginterferon alpha in the treatment of chronic hepatitis B. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2014;14(7):995–1006. https://doi.org/10. 1517/14712598.2014.907784.
- 93. Adams S, Kozhaya L, Martiniuk F, Meng TC, Chiriboga L, Liebes L, et al. Topical TLR7 agonist imiquimod can induce immune-mediated rejection of skin metastases in patients with breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(24):6748–57. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1149.

- Herr HW, Morales A. History of bacillus Calmette-Guerin and bladder cancer: an immunotherapy success story. J Urol. 2008;179(1):53–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.juro.2007.08.122.
- 95. Shi M, Chen X, Ye K, Yao Y, Li Y. Application potential of toll-like receptors in cancer immunotherapy: systematic review. Medicine. 2016;95(25):e3951. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000003951.
- Carpentier A, Laigle-Donadey F, Zohar S, Capelle L, Behin A, Tibi A, et al. Phase 1 trial of a CpG oligodeoxynucleotide for patients with recurrent glioblastoma. Neuro-Oncology. 2006;8(1):60–6. https://doi. org/10.1215/S1522851705000475.
- Carpentier A, Metellus P, Ursu R, Zohar S, Lafitte F, Barrie M, et al. Intracerebral administration of CpG oligonucleotide for patients with recurrent glioblastoma: a phase II study. Neuro-Oncology. 2010;12(4):401–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/nop047.
- Ursu R, Taillibert S, Banissi C, Vicaut E, Bailon O, Le Rhun E, et al. Immunotherapy with CpG-ODN in neoplastic meningitis: a phase I trial. Cancer Sci. 2015;106(9):1212–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cas.12724.
- 99. Dillon PM, Petroni GR, Smolkin ME, Brenin DR, Chianese-Bullock KA, Smith KT, et al. A pilot study of the immunogenicity of a 9-peptide breast cancer vaccine plus poly-ICLC in early stage breast cancer. J Immunother Cancer. 2017;5(1):92. https://doi. org/10.1186/s40425-017-0295-5.
- 100. Sato-Kaneko F, Yao S, Ahmadi A, Zhang SS, Hosoya T, Kaneda MM, et al. Combination immunotherapy with TLR agonists and checkpoint inhibitors suppresses head and neck cancer. JCI Insight. 2017;2(18) https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.93397.
- 101. Spaner DE, Shi Y, White D, Shaha S, He L, Masellis A, et al. A phase I/II trial of TLR-7 agonist immunotherapy in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia. 2010;24(1):222–6. https://doi. org/10.1038/leu.2009.195.
- 102. Hayashi T, Ding Q, Kuwahata T, Maeda K, Miyazaki Y, Matsubara S, et al. Interferon-alpha modulates the chemosensitivity of CD133expressing pancreatic cancer cells to gemcitabine. Cancer Sci. 2012;103(5):889–96. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2012.02235.x.
- 103. Sistigu A, Yamazaki T, Vacchelli E, Chaba K, Enot DP, Adam J, et al. Cancer cell-autonomous contribution of type I interferon signaling to the efficacy of chemotherapy. Nat Med. 2014;20(11):1301–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3708.
- 104. Schiavoni G, Mattei F, Di Pucchio T, Santini SM, Bracci L, Belardelli F, et al. Cyclophosphamide induces type I interferon and augments the number of CD44(hi) T lymphocytes in mice: implications for strategies of chemoimmunotherapy of cancer. Blood. 2000;95(6):2024–30.
- 105. Schiavoni G, Sistigu A, Valentini M, Mattei F, Sestili P, Spadaro F, et al. Cyclophosphamide synergizes with type I interferons through systemic dendritic

cell reactivation and induction of immunogenic tumor apoptosis. Cancer Res. 2011;71(3):768–78. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2788.

- 106. Widmer J, Thauvin C, Mottas I, Nguyen VN, Delie F, Allemann E, et al. Polymer-based nanoparticles loaded with a TLR7 ligand to target the lymph node for immunostimulation. Int J Pharm. 2018; 535(1–2):444–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm. 2017.11.031.
- 107. Liu Y, Yan W, Tohme S, Chen M, Fu Y, Tian D, et al. Hypoxia induced HMGB1 and mitochondrial DNA interactions mediate tumor growth in hepatocellular carcinoma through Toll-like receptor 9. J Hepatol. 2015;63(1):114–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep. 2015.02.009.
- 108. Huang B, Zhao J, Li H, He KL, Chen Y, Chen SH, et al. Toll-like receptors on tumor cells facilitate evasion of immune surveillance. Cancer Res. 2005;65(12):5009–14. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0784.
- 109. Wu Y, Wu X, Wu L, Wang X, Liu Z. The anticancer functions of RIG-I-like receptors, RIG-I and MDA5, and their applications in cancer therapy. Transl Res. 2017;190:51–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. trsl.2017.08.004.
- 110. Satoh T, Kato H, Kumagai Y, Yoneyama M, Sato S, Matsushita K, et al. LGP2 is a positive regulator of RIG-I- and MDA5-mediated antiviral responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(4):1512–7. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0912986107.
- 111. Zhu Z, Zhang X, Wang G, Zheng H. The laboratory of genetics and physiology 2: emerging insights into the controversial functions of this RIG-I-like receptor. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:960190. https://doi. org/10.1155/2014/960190.
- 112. Yu X, Wang H, Li X, Guo C, Yuan F, Fisher PB, et al. Activation of the MDA-5-IPS-1 viral sensing pathway induces cancer cell death and type I IFN-dependent antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2016;76(8):2166–76. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-2142.
- 113. Yu CY, Chiang RL, Chang TH, Liao CL, Lin YL. The interferon stimulator mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein facilitates cell death by disrupting the mitochondrial membrane potential and by activating caspases. J Virol. 2010;84(5):2421–31. https://doi. org/10.1128/JVI.02174-09.
- 114. Duewell P, Steger A, Lohr H, Bourhis H, Hoelz H, Kirchleitner SV, et al. RIG-I-like helicases induce immunogenic cell death of pancreatic cancer cells and sensitize tumors toward killing by CD8(+) T cells. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21(12):1825–37. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2014.96.
- 115. Duewell P, Beller E, Kirchleitner SV, Adunka T, Bourhis H, Siveke J, et al. Targeted activation of melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5 (MDA5) for immunotherapy of pancreatic carcinoma. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4(10):e1029698. https://doi.org/10.1080/21 62402X.2015.1029698.

- 116. Meng G, Xia M, Xu C, Yuan D, Schnurr M, Wei J. Multifunctional antitumor molecule 5'-triphosphate siRNA combining glutaminase silencing and RIG-I activation. Int J Cancer. 2014;134(8):1958– 71. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28416.
- 117. Barber GN. STING: infection, inflammation and cancer. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(12):760–70. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3921.
- 118. Crow YJ, Hayward BE, Parmar R, Robins P, Leitch A, Ali M, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding the 3'-5' DNA exonuclease TREX1 cause Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome at the AGS1 locus. Nat Genet. 2006;38(8):917–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1845.
- 119. Lee-Kirsch MA, Gong M, Chowdhury D, Senenko L, Engel K, Lee YA, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding the 3'-5' DNA exonuclease TREX1 are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Genet. 2007;39(9):1065–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ng2091.
- 120. Corrales L, Gajewski TF. Molecular pathways: targeting the stimulator of interferon genes (STING) in the immunotherapy of cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(21):4774–9. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1362.
- 121. Burnette BC, Liang H, Lee Y, Chlewicki L, Khodarev NN, Weichselbaum RR, et al. The efficacy of radiotherapy relies upon induction of type I interferon-dependent innate and adaptive immunity. Cancer Res. 2011;71(7):2488–96. https://doi. org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2820.

- 122. Woo SR, Fuertes MB, Corrales L, Spranger S, Furdyna MJ, Leung MY, et al. STINGdependent cytosolic DNA sensing mediates innate immune recognition of immunogenic tumors. Immunity. 2014;41(5):830–42. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.017.
- 123. Klarquist J, Hennies CM, Lehn MA, Reboulet RA, Feau S, Janssen EM. STING-mediated DNA sensing promotes antitumor and autoimmune responses to dying cells. J Immunol. 2014;193(12):6124–34. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1401869.
- 124. Corrales L, Glickman LH, McWhirter SM, Kanne DB, Sivick KE, Katibah GE, et al. Direct activation of STING in the tumor microenvironment leads to potent and systemic tumor regression and immunity. Cell Rep. 2015;11(7):1018–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.04.031.
- 125. Gluck S, Guey B, Gulen MF, Wolter K, Kang TW, Schmacke NA, et al. Innate immune sensing of cytosolic chromatin fragments through cGAS promotes senescence. Nat Cell Biol. 2017;19(9):1061–70. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3586.
- 126. Liang H, Deng L, Hou Y, Meng X, Huang X, Rao E, et al. Host STING-dependent MDSC mobilization drives extrinsic radiation resistance. Nat Commun. 2017;8(1):1736. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-01566-5.



T-Cell Immunotherapy: From Synthetic Biology to Clinical Practice

12

Dina Schneider and Rimas J. Orentas

Contents

12.1	Introduction	199	
12.2	T-Cell Responses to Cancer		
12.3	From Polyclonal to Single-Specificity Effector T-Cells	201	
12.4	From MHC to Antibody-Based Recognition: Therapy with T-Cells		
	Expressing CARs	203	
12.4.1	History of CAR Development	203	
12.4.2	CAR-T Design	203	
12.4.3	Inclusion of T-Cell Co-stimulatory Moieties	205	
12.4.4	CAR-T Technological Improvements.	206	
12.4.4.1	Safety Switches.	206	
12.4.4.2	Deletion of Native Surface Proteins in CART-Cells.	207	
12.4.4.3	Switch-Controlled CARs	208	
12.4.4.4	Reducing CART Immunogenicity	208	
12.4.4.5	Mitigating Tumor Antigen Escape	209	
12.4.5	Vectors Used for CAR Expression.	209	
12.4.6	Impact of T-Cell Culture and Expansion Techniques	210	
12.4.7	Clinical Advances in CAR Therapy	211	
12.5	Concluding Remarks	213	
References			

12.1 Introduction

With the completion of the human genome project, continued advances in gene vector technology, and new insights into the generation of differentiated cell populations from stem-like precursors, we are about to enter an era of unprecedented innovation in the application of biological therapy for cancer. These advances are based on decades of research that sought to define the fundamental mechanisms of immune cell function, much of it

D. Schneider

Lentigen Technology Inc., a Miltenyi Biotec Company, Gaithersburg, MD, USA e-mail: dina.schneider@lentigen.com

R. J. Orentas (⊠) Seattle Children's Research Institute, Seattle, WA, USA e-mail: Rimas.Orentas@seattlechildrens.org in animal model systems. From the first Nobel Prize in Medicine or Physiology granted in 1901 to Emil von Behring for the discovery in the immune serum of what came to be known as immunoglobulin, to the prize in 1996 to Peter Doherty and Rolf Zinkernagel for cell-mediated immune defense, the immune system has been rigorously analyzed, and the function of major immune cell subsets defined. The realization that cytotoxic T-cells can mount specific responses against cancer cells, similar to T-cell cytotoxicity exhibited against virus-infected cells, provided the rationale for the development of both cancer vaccines and the adoptive T-cell therapy. Early evidence of effective T-cell therapy was seen during bone marrow transplantation (the graft-versusleukemia effect) and in the presence of tumorinfiltrating T lymphocytes (TILs) in melanoma lesions. Specific antitumor T-cell clones could be isolated from TIL, expanded ex vivo, and reinfused into patient. The technical advances in identification, isolation, and ex vivo expansion of tumor-specific TILs, which can then be re-infused into patients, helped make tumor-specific adoptive cell therapy a reality. Furthermore, the technological innovation of conferring antibody-like specificity to cytolytic T-cells by genetically engineering these cells to express a tumor-reactive T-cell receptor (TCR) or a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) of choice has brought a sea-change to the field of cell-based immunotherapy. An important distinction exists between TCRs and CARs. Recognition of tumor antigen by a TCR requires the antigen to be processed within the target T-cell and presented to TCR in the context of the receptor molecule termed the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) in animals and human leukocyte antigen (HLA) in humans. Thus, the repertoire of antigens that can be presented to TCR is limited by the need for intracellular processing and for presentation in the context of specific MHC/HLA molecules that can be recognized by cytotoxic T-cells of a defined TCR specificity. By contrast, CAR receptors recognize unprocessed tumor surface molecules in an HLA-independent manner. Thus, genetically engineered CAR-T-cells can be redirected to all tumor cells bearing cell surface-expressed tumor-specific antigens. While both approaches are under clinical development, using CAR approach, we can now

for the first time synthesize a cellular receptor not

found in nature, express it in a recipient cell, and use those cells to cure disease. The high activity of CAR-T-cells and potentially fatal side effects has engendered caution, and the future of applying CAR-based therapy to human disease will depend on rational target selection and increasing the specificity and safety of this approach.

12.2 T-Cell Responses to Cancer

The ability of the immune system to control or eliminate cancer has been a subject of two conflicting hypotheses. The antigenic hypothesis states that cancers arise quite often and [1] that the immune system has the ability to recognize tumor cells bearing aberrant cellular antigens and eliminate them. In this view, cancer immunity is part of healthy somatic homeostasis. The alternative tolerogenic hypothesis states that we see cancer in the clinic because immunity often, or usually, fails. In this scenario, with respect to clinical disease, the immune system is, at best, irrelevant. In view of this, how is the role of the immune system in tumor elimination quantitatively defined?

In one transgenic mouse model of pancreatic cancer, tumors were generated by placing the SV40 virus oncoprotein, large T-antigen, under the control of the insulin promoter. Tumor senescence in this model could be induced via the combined action of interferon-gamma (IFN-y) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF), and is p16INK4adependent [1]. Both TNFR1 and STAT1 were required for the tumor to be responsive to immune control. In this model system, the control of cancer growth was quantifiable and intimately dependent on CD4⁺ cell-based Th1 immunity. However, in a different model system featuring spontaneous and rare induction of a T antigen-driven tumor, representing a truly autochthonous model, it was demonstrated that spontaneous tumors are inherently tolerogenic [2]. It means that as tumors arise, the immune system is prevented from mounting an immune response. Nevertheless, immunization with tumor antigen prior to the onset of tumors did prevent tumor outgrowth even in this model. These basic observations highlight our current understanding of tumor immuno-surveillance (reviewed in [3]) in which both antigenic and tolerogenic signals play a role in disease recognition and elimination. The discovery of T-cell checkpoint inhibitors and the associated important clinical breakthroughs demonstrate the ability of T-cells to mediate antitumor immunity once tolerogenic signals are inhibited. Checkpoints are inhibitory T-cell molecules, such as CTLA-4 and PD-1, that play a role in physiologic T-cell responses, by preventing extensive and prolonged activation of T-cells. Expression of these molecules on activated T-cells, followed by binding to a specific ligand expressed on the target cell, helps prevent T-cell exhaustion, activation induced cell death, and excessive inflammatory activity. However, checkpoint mechanisms are often hijacked by tumors in order to avoid elimination by activated T-cells. Using checkpoint blockade agents, either anti-CTLA4 antibody, anti-PD-1 antibody, or anti-PD-L1 antibody, tumor-induced inhibition of effector T-cells can be ablated, and significant clinical antitumor responses have been demonstrated using this approach [4, 5]. This indicates in patients that even while an autochthonous tumor may be actively inducing tolerance in T-cells, T-cells are present in the host that have the potential to respond. Once the negative signals are blocked, antitumor immunity can indeed result. These important findings have only increased the drive to develop new adoptive immunotherapy approaches for cancer featuring activated T-cells.

12.3 From Polyclonal to Single-Specificity Effector T-Cells

One of the most informative breakthroughs in adoptive immunotherapy was seen through a direct clinical intervention. Following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation (hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT)) for leukemia, some patients who relapsed with their disease following HSCT could be treated into remission by the reinfusion of lymphocytes from the original bone marrow donor (donor leukocyte infusion, DLI). For this purpose, the original donor has to be re-contacted for additional leukocytes harvest or the donor cells have to be harvested and consent obtained ahead of time. Despite the logistic complexity, this approach often has therapeutic benefit. The general mechanism by which the infused lymphocytes cause disease regression relies on the fact that while the newly grafted immune system in the patient is donor in origin, the relapsed disease is still derived from the original "self" hematopoietic system, and thus the leukemia is still able to be recognized by the graft as "nonself." The induction of tolerance in the original graft is also clearly demonstrated in this clinical situation, as the immune system that develops in the presence of residual disease is unreactive towards the leukemia-although it bears "patientself" or "graft non-self" antigens-and relapse occurs. The antileukemic effect seen with infusion of donor leukocytes into the relapsed patient demonstrates that leukemia-reactive cells do reside in the donor repertoire and they are able to effect antileukemic immune responses if they have not been tolerized.

The major toxicity of DLI is graft-versus-host disease (GVHD), which is related to the overall dose of infused T-cells [6]. Toxicity notwithstanding, DLI is able to make a major impact on relapsed chronic myelogenous leukemia but is less effective in other hematologic malignancies, reviewed in [7]. In ongoing effort, different groups are attempting to identify the antigenic specificity of the effector T-cell populations that mediate the antileukemia effect seen in the DLI product. It is hoped that as we learn what the effective cellular immune targets are, we can focus on increasing the frequency of these cells and decreasing the number of cells causing GVHD. Recent studies have demonstrated that TCR $\alpha\beta$ cells are responsible for GVHD in haploidentical allografts in leukemic patients [8]. By contrast, TCR $\alpha\beta$ -depleted and CD19depleted haploidentical leukocyte transplants can effectively mediate tumor rejection and are not associated with GVHD [8–10]. This is due to the fact that TCR $\gamma\Delta$ T present in the allografts postdepletion are capable of efficient engraftment and potent antileukemic responses [11].

In another approach, leukemia-specific antigens, which would allow precise targeting of leukemic cells by graft leukocytes, are sought out. Termed minor histocompatibility antigens (mHAgs), these antigens represent distinct HLA-binding peptides encoded by polymorphic genes that differ between donor and recipient. Engrafted donor T-cells are thought to be responsible for graft-versus-leukemia effect (GVL) via recognition of mHAgs. Several mHAgs have already been defined. The first class I-MHCrestricted mHAgs identified were HA-1 and HA-2 [12]. The antigenic entity, encoded by the HMHA1 gene, is a single amino-acid polymorphism that results in a dominant immunogenic peptide for one allele, HA-1 (H), while the HA-1 (R) allele is essentially a "null" phenotype due to unstable HLA-class I binding [13]. Griffioen et al. identified the HLA-DQ presentation of the autosomal gene phosphatidylinositol 4-kinasetype II β as a DLI target in a chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) patient receiving DLI [14], reasoning that HLA class II antigens may be less broadly presented throughout normal tissues and thereby less prone to induce GVHD. More recently, four novel HLA-B-restricted and four novel HLA-DR-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens that may mediate GVL reactivity have been identified [15, 16]. This steady progress in uncovering effective immune responses in the context of HSCT is one means to unravel how polymorphisms in commonly expressed genes may be used for antitumor immunity. One caveat is that HSCT is studied in a very unique context. As long as the antigen is restricted to the malignant cells or the original host immune cells, antileukemia reactivity can be expected to result. The degree to which antigenic targets are expressed on the non-transplanted host tissues is likely to be a direct correlate of GVHD and remains the major limitation of current approaches.

Another polyclonal T-cell approach to the adoptive immunotherapy of cancer was also developed in the context of HSCT. Prior to the development of anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (mAb) therapy, the development of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-driven post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD) was a devastating complication [17]. In these patients, the onset of PTLD was related to the degree of T-cell depletion in the marrow product. In order to counter this, investigators designed methods to expand donor-derived EBV-specific T-cell products and to make their administration part of the HSCT regimen [18]. As in DLI, continued description of the antigens associated with EBV-driven disease, the discovery of other non-viral tumorassociated epitopes, and the refinement of techniques to expand reactive T-cells have led to the continued expansion of adoptive immunotherapy approaches to human cancers [19].

The immunotherapeutic approach with perhaps the greatest demonstrated degree of efficacy, albeit in a restricted group of patients, is the treatment of patients with advanced melanoma with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), yielding 50% overall response and 20% tumor-free survival in patients with relapsed or refractory metastatic melanoma [20]. The ability to culture and expand TILs from tumor biopsy material remains the primary therapeutic bottleneck. However, when the infusion of TILs is combined with lympho-depletion of the host, transferred TILs persist long term and complete cures are seen. The preparative regimens developed for HSCT to deplete the host immune system, that is, the conditioning regimen, have proved essential in creating space for the therapeutic TIL to expand and eradicate melanoma. Whether this space is physical, where niches are made available in the host for the transferred cells to reside and receive growth signals, or it is a potential space created by decreased lymphocyte counts and the subsequent soluble mediators released by the host to increase lymphocyte counts that also increase the number of transferred cells, or an immunologic space wherein negative regulatory lymphocytic or myeloid populations are removed, has yet to be fully resolved and likely all of these factors may contribute. The combination of host conditioning and methodological advances in generation of high-quality effector T-cell populations has opened the door to a completely new universe of therapeutic options. The molecular characterization of individual TIL TCR specificities allowed this approach to be refined even further wherein a retroviral gene vector encoding a single TCR specific for the MART-1 antigen was used for the adoptive immunotherapy of melanoma by T-cells [21, 22]. Additional transgenic TCR specificities presently under clinical investigation include MAGE-A3 and MAGE-A4 for solid tumors [23, 24], NY-ESO-1 for melanoma and multiple myeloma [25, 26], WT1 for myeloid malignancies (NCT01621724, clinicaltrials.gov), HPV-

16 E6 and E7 for HPV-associated cancers ([27], NCT02858310), and thyroglobulin for metastatic thyroid cancer (NCT02390739). Identification of patient-specific autologous neo-epitopes and cognate tumor reactive TCR clonotypes, which can then be used to generate transgenic TCRs, has been accelerated in the recent years with the advent of screening methodologies [28-31]. This is the full logical extension of exploiting single TCR specificities present in the polyclonal TIL population. In summary, the scientific principles of infusing T-cells that have the capacity to recognize and lyse tumor cells have been firmly established. The next step, the creation of chimeric antigen receptors (CARs), allowed for another limitation of T-cell-based therapy, that is, the requirement of peptide-MHC interactions for therapeutic effect, to be side-stepped.

12.4 From MHC to Antibody-Based Recognition: Therapy with T-Cells Expressing CARs

12.4.1 History of CAR Development

In 1987–1989, it was shown for the first time that the binding domains from a hapten-specific antibody could be joined to the constant domains of a TCR and successfully trigger T-cell activation [32, 33]. Using this concept, studies led by Eschar et al. soon demonstrated that ovarian carcinoma cell lines could be lysed by T-cells transduced with a retroviral vector expressing a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) specific for the folate receptor, in which a single transcript encoded an extracellular antigen-binding motif combined with an intracellular T-cell signaling motif [34]. The specific lysis of tumor cell lines by T-cells engineered to express CARs was greeted with moderate interest, but in hindsight, it was clearly a watershed moment in the history of adoptive immunotherapy. Currently, many different scFvbased CARs have been developed that target tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) from various malignancies, and both antigen-specific cytolytic activity in vitro and antitumor effects in animal models have been demonstrated [35-40].

Compared with T-cell receptor (TCR), one of the advantages of CAR-modified T-cells is that they respond to antigens in a non-MHC-restricted manner and therefore can be used to treat patients with different MHC haplotypes or target tumor cells with downregulated MHC expression. Another feature of CARs is their expanded range of potential targets. CARs can be created which bind not only protein structures but also carbohydrate and glycolipid. Potentially, any cell surface tumor-restricted antigen could be used as target. A novel exception is a newer generation CAR wherein the scFv used to create them is derived from an antibody specific for a peptide–MHC molecule [41, 42].

12.4.2 CAR-T Design

The principal elements used in CAR-T design are depicted in Fig. 12.1a. A first-generation CAR-T molecule is comprised of an antigen-binding domain of choice (i.e., anti-CD19, anti-CD20, anti-CD22, or anti-Sp6, control), usually derived from an scFv, which is linked via an extracellular hinge to the transmembrane domain (often derived from CD8 or CD28) to a signaling domain, usually the ITAM-containing regions of the CD3 chain molecule (CD247, part of the TCR receptor complex). Second- and third-generation CARs also contain one or two co-stimulatory domains respectively, which may be derived from CD28, 4-1BB, OX40, or other signaling molecules, and provide additional stimulation or persistence for CAR-T function (Fig. 12.1b). To further refine CAR-T technology, subunit CARs and Tandem CARs were designed, which allow for targeting multiple tumor antigens as a means of mitigating tumor antigen escape. For example, tandem CARs have a "Boolean OR" gate function and can eliminate target cells even if one antigen is lost. Better control of on-target off-tumor toxicity and finetuning of CAR-T activation can be approached using a "Boolean AND" gate approach, such that engagement of both CAR binders is required for full functionality (Fig. 12.1c). Linking two scFv domains into one CAR in tandem also requires flexible linkers, such as the oft-used glycine-



Fig. 12.1 Common CAR-T design elements. T-cells can be designed to express complex CARs created from core design elements (**a**) that include scFv domains that bind antigen (shown are CD22, CD19, CD20, and control Sp6 ScFv), hinge and transmembrane (TM) domains, intracellular signaling domains (linked CD137/4-1BB and CD3-zeta or CD28), linkers to create more complex tandem structures (**c**), as well as inhibitory (**d**) or CID (**d**, chemi-

serine poly-linker (GGGGS)_x, where x = integer repeats, usually less than 5 (Fig. 12.1a). Finally, inhibitory CARs (iCARs) which employ an inhibitory, rather than a stimulatory intracellular signaling domain, may be used as an additional safeguard against unwarranted CAR T-mediated toxicity by inhibiting CAR-T function against normal cells expressing the antigen recognized by the iCAR binding domain (Fig. 12.1d). Switchcontrolled CARs (with a CID, chemically induced dimerization domain) require the addition of a synthetic dimerization agent for activation. When the dimerizing agent is present, the cell-surface targeting domain binds with the intracellular signaling domains, and a fully functional CAR molecule is thus assembled. This adds an additional layer of control of CAR temporal activation, resulting in greater safety (Fig. 12.1d).

cally induced dimerization) domains. Assembly of a binder with a hinge/TM domain and intracellular signaling domains results in an active CAR (**b**). Splitting activation domains (**c**) can result in a Boolean "AND" gate where the binding of two antigens is required for full activation of the T-cell while combining the binders in one chain creates a Boolean "OR" gate wherein target cells expressing either antigen will induce T-cell activation

Advances in CAR-T design and manufacture will require engineering of T-cells in manner that generates a cell product with predictable efficacy, controllable activation, and designed biological distribution. Combining the elements currently available in CAR design will continue to allow for greater potency and engineered control of the CAR-T therapeutic product. As shown in Fig. 12.2, the selection of initial cell substrate, inclusion in the transducing gene vector of auxiliary factors in addition to CAR-T template (such as pro-inflammatory cytokines or factors capable of neutralizing the inhibitory effect of tumor microenvironment), usage of the next generation "gated" CARs with tighter activation controls, and superior target selection will yield significant improvements in adoptive CAR-T therapies in the future.



Fig. 12.2 Engineering T-cells to increase product uniformity and function. The creation of an engineered therapeutic T-cells requires optimization by (**a**) choosing the appropriate starting cell population (Tscm, stem cell memory, Tcm, central memory, phenotyping selection of just CD4 and CD8 cells, or virus-specific T-cell populations), (**b**) choosing the appropriate gene vector, (**c**)

12.4.3 Inclusion of T-Cell Co-stimulatory Moieties

CARs that include only one intracellular signaling motif are called "first generation." Almost always, first-generation CARs include a signaling domain derived from the TCR signaling complex member CD3 ζ in their cytoplasmic domain. One notable exception is linkage of the extracellular antigen-binding domain of the CAR to the CD3 ε chain (developed by TCR² Therapeutics). While T-cells expressing firstgeneration CARs demonstrated target cell-specific cytolytic activity in vitro, initial clinical studies were disappointing. The tumor responses were modest and the persistence of the infused cells was limited [43, 44]. A number of factors may contribute to the lack of expansion or persistence of CAR-modified T-cells in vivo, which is notably different from the behavior of adoptively transferred antigen-specific CTLs. One

including enhanced engineering functionality such as CIDs (chemically induced dimerization domains), genetic control elements such as transcriptional switches, and the inclusion of other soluble factors such as binders or cytokines in the transgene package, and (\mathbf{d}) choosing the appropriate target that is expressed at high levels on the tumor but not on normal tissue

explanation is that T-cell activation requires both TCR engagement (signal 1) and co-stimulation provided by antigen-presenting cells (APCs, signal 2). Since tumor cells are deficient in co-stimulatory molecule expression (cell surface glycoproteins such as CD80 or CD86), CARredirected T-cells would not experience co-stimulation when engaging with a tumor cell. Moreover, T-cells may not receive tonic activation through the stimulation provided by antigen-presenting cells in secondary lymphoid organs. These deficiencies were overcome in the design of second-generation CARs, in which costimulatory signaling domains derived from CD28, 4-1BB, inducible T-cell co-stimulator (ICOS), OX40, or DAP10 were added in addition to the CD3-zeta signaling domain. In murine models, second-generation CARs displayed superior activity over first-generation CARs, showing improved proliferation, survival, and development of memory cells [45-47]. The

enhanced persistence imparted by CARs with two signaling domains has been further confirmed by treating CD19⁺ lymphoma patients with a mixture of T-cell transduced with either first-generation CD3² or second-generation CD28/CD3ζ CD19-CARs [48]. In this clinical study, six patients with B cell lymphomas were simultaneously infused with two autologous T-cell products expressing first- and secondgeneration CARs targeting CD19. CAR+ T-cells containing the CD28 endo-domain had a strikingly enhanced expansion and persistence compared with CAR-T-cells lacking this endo-domain [48]. Different co-stimulatory molecules may also deliver different signals, resulting in different functional outcomes. When the antitumor efficacy of second-generation CARs constructs with CD28/CD3ζ or CD137 (4-1BB)/CD3ζ were compared using CARs targeting CD22 or CD19 in mouse xenograft models, T-cells expressing CARs including a 4-1BB signal motif led to more robust antitumor activity in vivo [46]. However, in a mesothelioma tumor model, equal antitumor efficacy for CD28 and 4-1BB containing second-generation CARs was seen [49]. In an attempt to further optimize CAR design, several groups have developed third-generation CARs that contain two co-stimulatory domains combined with the CD3^{\zet} chain. However, reported results differ between second- and third-generation CARs. Notably, costimulatory endo-domains play a role in CAR-T exhaustion or persistence. CAR CD3ζ chain phosphorylation, triggered by spontaneous clustering of CAR molecules on cell surface, can induce premature exhaustion of CAR-T-cells and limit persistence. In the case of anti-GD2 CAR, the exhaustion was greater if the CD28 costimulatory domain was used, in comparison to constructs including the 4-1BB domain [50]. The optimal signaling endo-domains to be included in CAR vectors for conferring optimal T-cell antitumor effects in vivo remains an active field of research, and the variables to be overcome have yet to be fully defined. The chal-

lenges may be as varied as the mechanisms by

which tumors escape immuno-surveillance.

12.4.4 CAR-T Technological Improvements

12.4.4.1 Safety Switches

A significant effort is dedicated to refining CART therapy in order to make it safer. Concerns associated with CAR safety include "on target/off tumor" toxicity and the cytokine storm related to immune response associated with a large tumor burden. One vector-based option to mitigate these risks is to use a suicide gene to allow the elimination of CAR-T-cells in vivo. One extensively studied suicide gene is the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase/ganciclovir (HSV-TK/ GCV) system. GCV is activated by HSV/TK forming a monophosphate that is converted into its di- and triphosphate forms by cellular kinases. The triphosphate GCV is then incorporated into replicating DNA, resulting cell death through DNA polymerase inhibition. Bonini et al. utilized this strategy to deplete HSV-TK-expressing allogeneic lymphocytes effectively following HSCT [51]. However, the depletion is not always complete, and the foreign TK protein displays significant immunogenicity [52]. A suicide switch strategy employing modified Fas has been evaluated in vitro and in non-human primate model as well [53].

A more recent approach features inducible caspase 9. When vector-encoded iCaspase 9 is expressed, a pair of inactivate subunits are created. These are induced to form an activate dimer by a small molecule (AP1903), resulting in rapid cell death (as soon as 30 min after drug administration). This approach has been reported to control GVHD in recipients of haplo-identical HSCT [54]. Since the caspase 9 is of human origin, it is likely to be less immunogenic than HSV-TK. As the iCaspase 9 system directly induces cell death, DNA synthesis and cellular replication are not required to eliminate transduced cells, and therefore cell death is much more rapid. Another approach features equipping CAR-T-cells with an extracellular protein tag that can be bound by an injected clinical-grade antibody, leading to CAR-T-cell elimination via CDC (complement-dependent cytotoxicity) or

ADCC (antibody-dependent T-cell cytotoxicity). In one example of this approach, CAR-Tcells are endowed with a truncated epidermal growth factor receptor (tEGFR). This protein is encoded in the same lentiviral backbone as the CAR, the two open reading frames separated by a ribosomal skip sequence (2A) [55]. The tEGFR construct is composed of EGFR ecto-domains III and IV, and the transmembrane domain of the native human EGFR protein, but it excludes the functional dimerization and signaling domains of the native EGFR; thus, it is devoid of ligand binding or signaling activity. The tEGFR epitope is still recognized by the therapeutic antibody Cetuximab, thus enabling in vitro selection and tagging of CAR-transduced cells, and may be utilized as a CAR-T ablation switch. Although clinical efficiency of CAR-T depletion using this approach has not been determined, efficient elimination of tEGFR-tagged CAR-T-cells has been demonstrated in an NSG mouse tumor model [56]. Another protein that has been used as a CAR-T tag is CD20. This protein is amenable to detection by clinical grade anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody Rituximab. T-cells can be transduced either with a whole length CD20 molecule or with a CD20 tag. CD20 mimotopes have also been used pre-clinically to deplete CAR-T-cells in a tumor mouse model [57]. However, unwanted depletion of CD20⁺ B cells and inadvertent depletion of gene-modified T-cells when treating CD20⁺ EBV tumors with rituximab are limitations to be considered.

In addition to affording T-cell elimination in vivo, polypeptides tag may be used for identification of CAR-T positive cells by flow cytometry, and for enrichment of CART-cells during production. Such enrichment may be beneficial as it may allow to lower total dose of infused T-cells to be used. Non-transduced T-cells have been postulated to contribute to the toxicities associated with CART treatment, such as cytokine release syndrome (CRS). Along with CD20 and tEGFR tags discussed above, extracellular tags derived from truncated LNGFR, CD34, CD19, CD4, and glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored CD90 have been explored for identification and selection of transduced cells [58–61]. The tag approach was further refined in the generation of a short protein sequence combining epitopes of CD20 and CD34 termed RQR8, which is amenable to both CART enrichment and as a suicide switch using either Rituximab or Ofatumumab [57].

12.4.4.2 Deletion of Native Surface Proteins in CART-Cells

In the allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation setting (HSCT), donor-derived T-cells can be redirected by CAR vectors to achieve clinical response independent of MHC restriction. However, continued cell surface expression of TCRs from an HLA-disparate donor can cause GVHD upon adoptive transfer. In order to generate universal allogeneic CAR-T-cells for multiple recipients, Torikai et al. designed a zinc finger nuclease (ZEF) strategy to irreversibly knock out the endogenous TCR α and TCR β chains [62]. Their data showed that disrupting endogenous TCR expression in CD19 CAR-T-cells did not alter killing of cells expressing the CAR target antigen. A similar strategy was employed by Qasim et al., where universal CAR-T-cells were generated by TALEN-mediated disruption of the TCR α constant chain region in T-cells from an allogeneic donor, thereby abrogating TCR expression and reducing the risk of GVHD [63]. Simultaneously, a second gene was deleted in T-cells in this study. CD52 was also edited using TALEN, thereby enabling selective ablation of leukocytes by anti-CD52 antibody, but sparing the genetically modified CART-cells [63]. For a universal drug product to be utilized, the deletion of HLA genes from the surface of allogeneic CAR-T-cells has also been proposed to prevent rejection by the host.

Other engineering approaches include deletion of checkpoint blockade genes such as PD-1, Tim-3, and Lag-3 to fortify CART-cells against exhaustion induced by tumor cells expressing ligands to these proteins, or endowing resistance from activation-induced cell death (AICD) by deleting the Fas (CD95, APO-1) protein. Multiple T-cell genes can be erased at the same time using the CRISPR/Cas9 system, and the feasibility of deleting up to four genes in parallel with CART transduction has been demonstrated [64]. Directing CAR19 insertion into TCR- α locus using CRISPR/CAS9 approach was shown to carry a dual benefit in disrupting native TCR expression and enhancing the antitumor activity of the CAR [65]. If successfully expanded to large production scale, these deletion strategies may provide means to generate "universal" CART products to treat multiple patients.

12.4.4.3 Switch-Controlled CARs

Another means to control CAR-T function is to create soluble binding domains that can dissociate from the T-cell-expressed extracellular associative domain, linked to transmembrane and signaling domains. This creates a functional switch, whereby dissociation of the binding domain results in the inability to engage transgene-expressing T-cell.

The use of a soluble switch CAR, such as "biotin CAR," is another approach to making CAR therapy universal. In some studies, CARredirected T-cells caused initial tumor regression, but tumor relapse was observed due to the outgrowth of tumor with antigen-loss variants. In order to target tumors with heterogeneous antigen expression, a uniform CAR vector could be used, which expresses extracellular avidin linked to intracellular T-cell activation domains. Transduced T-cells would then be coated with biotinylated antigen-specific binding molecules (termed as biotin-binding immune receptor (BBIR)) [66]. The versatility afforded by BBIRs permits sequential or simultaneous targeting of a combination of distinct antigens. This platform also holds the potential for a high-throughput means to screen and select novel scFvs for the generation of single-specificity CAR constructs [66]. In this vein, a novel modular approach termed UniCAR has been recently developed [67]. UniCAR system consists of a soluble module, which is comprised of a tumor antigentargeting binding domain fused to a unique peptide epitope E5B9, and an effector module, which is comprised of a T-cell expressing the E5B9targeting domain fused to transmembrane and intracellular CAR domains. Another group has developed a similar approach termed sCAR-T [68]. In application of this technology, the effector module, that is, CAR-T-cells, will be infused into patients along with one or more soluble module(s) targeting antigens of choice. Since the soluble module has short half-life, the duration of each treatment will be controlled by the length of time when the soluble module is infused, with the goal of controlling potential on target/off tumor toxicity.

12.4.4.4 Reducing CART Immunogenicity

Another potential problem that may arise during CAR-T therapy is immunogenicity of CAR-T sequences to the host. In the worst-case scenario, CAR immunogenicity may lead to CAR-T graft rejection and treatment failure. CAR-induced immunogenicity may also lead to adverse immune reactions in the host, which may be life threatening. In one approach utilizing transiently transfected CAR-T-cells containing murine-derived scFv domain targeting mesothelin (CART-meso), repeat infusions were necessary in order to sustain therapeutic effect. Utilizing this approach in a phase I study of malignant pleural mesothelioma (NCT01355965), multiple infusions of CARTmeso cells were administered, and some patients have developed anti-CAR human anti-chimeric antibodies (HACAs) or human anti-mouse antibodies (HAMAs) [69]. Moreover, one patient treated with CAR-meso developed anaphylactic shock following the third infusion of the product, thought to be mediated by IgE antibodies elaborated against CAR-T-cells [70]. Historically, CAR antigen-binding domains were derived from linked mouse Fv heavy and light chain sequences (scFv), and they are one potential source for immunogenicity. A number of pre-clinical and early clinical studies are now using humanized scFv sequences or sequences derived from human antibody libraries [71–73], thus reducing the risk of anti-CAR reactivity in the host. However, even when fully human sequences are used in CAR design, fusion sites between different structural components of the CAR and joining synthetic linkers are potentially immunogenic. Effort has been made to pre-emptively identify immunogenic risk of CAR sequences in silico by identifying putative immunogenic peptides that can be presented to CD8⁺ T-cells in the context of MHC I, and to alter their sequences to abrogate immunogenic potential [72].

12.4.4.5 Mitigating Tumor Antigen Escape

A critical hindrance to lasting cancer remissions in CAR-T therapy is tumor antigen escape. While instances of tumor escape may be attributed to short persistence of CART-cells, phenotypic changes in the tumor, or the inhibitory effect of tumor microenvironment, loss of tumor antigen from tumor cell surface, aka tumor antigen escape, remains a major problem. Despite the short-term success of CAR19 therapy in B cell malignancies, a substantial fraction of all patients relapses with loss of CD19 antigen [74-77]. It has been postulated that tumor antigen escape can be prevented by simultaneously targeting several tumor antigens. Pre-clinical studies have demonstrated the feasibility of combining targeting CD19 and CD20 by tandem CAR constructs containing two scFv antigen-targeting domains linked sequentially in CAR ecto-domain [78, 79]. Schneider et al. have demonstrated that the tandem CAR construct CAR2019, targeting CD19 and CD20 tumor antigens simultaneously via linked targeting domains expressed by the same CAR-T molecule, was less prone to induce CD19 antigen loss on tumor cells than the single targeting CAR19, and that tandem CAR2019 had high antitumor efficacy and favorable toxicity profile as compared to either CAR19 or CAR20 alone, or a mixture of single-transduced CAR19 and CAR20 in a high-tumor-burden NSG mouse model system ([79], NCT03019055, clinicaltrials.gov). Similarly, tandem CARs targeting CD19 and CD123 antigens simultaneously were shown to prevent tumor antigen escape of leukemic blasts in vivo, and were more effective than each CAR individually or a mixture of two CAR-T populations each targeting one antigen [80]. In solid tumors, tandem CARs simultaneously targeting Her2 and IL13Rα2 antigens successfully controlled tumors and mitigated antigen escape in a mouse model of glioblastoma [81].

Furthermore, by virtue of targeting two antigens, tandem CARs had greater level of activation, but not exhaustion, which is a highly desired CAR-T therapy feature, especially in the context of treating solid tumors [81]. Future studies will determine the effectiveness of mitigating tumor antigen escape by simultaneously targeting multiple tumor antigens.

12.4.5 Vectors Used for CAR Expression

Current methods used to introduce DNA or RNA encoding CARs into effector T-cells are built on the approaches that gave success in TCR gene transfer and include both viral vector and nonviral delivery systems. Gamma-retroviral vectors have been used as for gene transfer for more than 20 years and include the MFG/SFG, MP71/SF91, and MSGV1 vector systems [82-84]. Genes encoded by these vectors integrate into the host genome and give consistent CAR expression in T-cells and their daughter cells. However, gamma-retrovirus vectors can only infect dividing cells and prefer to integrate near transcriptional start sites, raising concerns about insertional mutagenesis, as had been reported for CD34-expressing bone marrow progenitor cells [85, 86]. Nevertheless, retroviral gene transfer has shown acceptable safety and efficiency for the expression of CAR genes in mature human lymphocytes derived from peripheral blood [87]. To date, there has been no report of insertional oncogenesis or clonal overrepresentation in genemodified mature lymphocytes harvested from peripheral blood using gamma-retrovirus-based vectors [88]. Lentiviral vectors offer certain advantages over gamma-retroviral vectors. Lentiviral vectors can transduce non-dividing or minimally proliferating cells and therefore are more likely to transduce less differentiated or naïve T-cells. This may be beneficial for therapy as these cell types are thought to undergo less activation-induced cell death and reduced clonal exhaustion, as is seen in more rapidly dividing cell types. Compared with gamma-retroviral vectors, lentiviral vectors also have larger gene

insertional capacity and are at present considered to be less prone to insertional mutagenesis [89].

Transposon-based nonviral gene delivery systems, such as *sleeping beauty* and *PiggyBac* vectors [90-92], also appear to have random genomic integration profiles with acceptable gene transfer efficiency and are currently being developed as vectors for CAR expression in T lymphocytes. These nonviral delivery systems have the potential to greatly reduce the cost of vector manufacture. Some groups have reported that electroporation or nucleofection of RNA yields high levels of CAR expression in transfected lymphocytes [93]. Due to the short halflife of transduced RNA expression post transfer, this approach may require multiple CAR-Tcell infusions to achieve a clinical response. Nevertheless, transient expression approaches to somewhat minimize the safety concerns of CAR therapy caused by genomic vector integration, may limit host toxicity due to transient transcript expression, and may also avoid the requirement for extensive ex vivo activation and expansion, allowing for better persistence of CAR-T-cells in vivo.

12.4.6 Impact of T-Cell Culture and Expansion Techniques

In current clinical trials, human lymphocytes have been activated with agonistic mAbmediated CD3 stimulation, with or without additional CD28 co-stimulation, prior to transduction with CAR-encoding gene vectors. CARmodified T-cells then expand to large numbers in high-dose IL-2 culture conditions. This tends to generate very mature T effector (Teff) cells. Growing evidence suggests that "younger" cells (naïve or central memory-like) may better engraft and persist in vivo and have longer-lived antitumor potency [94-96]. A recently defined stem cell-like T-cell population (Tscm) has shown stronger engraftment potential and more effective antitumor activity in adoptive cell therapy in model systems [97]. Alternatively, evidence from other studies demonstrated enhanced efficacy when T-central memory (Tcm) cells

were redirected by CARs [98, 99]. Studies are under way to optimize methodologies for isolation of defined cell subsets under good manufacturing practices (GMP) for human clinical trials. For example, enriching T-cell subsets based on the expression of the phenotypic markers CD62L, CCR7, and CD45RO using immunomagnetic beads could be employed. Another challenge is how to expand or maintain a phenotypically younger cell population during in vitro culture. Efforts to explore other gamma-chain cytokines besides IL-2, such as IL-15, IL-7, or IL-21, for the expansion of therapeutic T-cell populations aim to modulate the resultant T-cell phenotypic and functional profiles [100, 101]. One study where CD4⁺ and CD8⁺_{CM} cells were isolated, manufactured separately, and then formulated at a defined CD4+ CD8+ ratio of 1:1 has shown efficacy, successful CART engraftment, and relatively low toxicity, thus paving the way for safer CAR-T regimens [75].

Small molecules known to modulate key metabolic and developmental pathways are also being tested for their ability to restrict T-cell differentiation. These include the mTOR pathway inhibitor rapamycin [102] and the GSK3b inhibitor TWS119 [103]. However, both inhibitors prevent T-cell proliferation in vitro and may not allow sufficient in vitro expansion. The ideal agent would promote Tcm-like or Tscm-like phenotypes (or other selected phenotypes) to be maintained without limiting cell expansion.

In addition to altering the cytokine milieu in vitro during transduced T-cell expansion, the CAR vector itself can also encode cytokine support. This strategy provides autocrine support for T-cell function, proliferation, or persistence and can favorably alter the tumor microenvironment upon therapeutic T-cell infusion. T-cells expressing vector-encoded IL-15 or IL-2 have increased viability and proliferative capacity in vitro despite withdrawal of exogenous IL-2 [104, 105]. IL-7-, IL-12-, or IL-21-secreting T-cells have been used to expand antigen-specific cells in vitro and have demonstrated enhanced tumor killing in animal models [106, 107]. Several groups have reported that CAR-T-cells transduced to also express a conditionally released

IL-12 demonstrated greater antitumor potency than T-cells expressing the CAR alone [108– 111]. In these studies, IL-12 was controlled by a nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFATs) responsive element, which was activated following T-cell activation by engagement of specific CAR ligand [112]. However, this approach requires further refinement, as a clinical study evaluating an inducible IL-12 vector featuring melanoma-specific TIL was recently terminated due to unexpected toxicities and a lack of durable responses (NCT01236573).

As with cytokines, co-stimulatory support with cell surface receptors can be engineered into T-cells independent of the actual CAR. Vectors that encode ligands from the immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamily or the TNF receptor family, including CD80 and CD137L (4-1BBL), are known to enhance T-cell proliferation and cytokine production upon antigen engagement [113]. In order to render CAR-modified T-cell targets more tumor specific, alternative strategies are being developed. Co-expression of two CARs in the same cell that separately deliver T-cell activation signals and co-stimulatory signals to the cell while engaging two distinct tumor antigens is being developed. Kloss et al. demonstrated that T-cells modified by both a CAR targeting prostate stem cell antigen (PSCA) with a suboptimal activation profile and a chimeric co-stimulatory receptor (CCR) targeting a second antigen, prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA) resulted in regression of tumor where both antigens are expressed [114]. This combinational antigen recognition strategy is one means to enforce stricter tumor specificity [115]. Strategies like this will become increasingly important as tumors that do not express a single antigen that distinguishes them from host normal tissue are described. In fact, one study was able to rank different pediatric tumors according to the degree of overall difference between their cell surface antigens and those expressed on normal tissue [116]. In this way, bioinformatics will continue to identify target antigens, which subsequently must be analyzed for actual protein expression in tissue arrays.

12.4.7 Clinical Advances in CAR Therapy

When the renowned oncologist and geneticist Wacław Szybalski coined the term "synthetic biology" in 1974, he was referring to the creation of whole genomes [117]. Herein, the term is adopted to refer to the creation of a synthetic protein based upon the understanding of protein subunit function. In this way, a new protein product that has never been encoded as a functional unit in the genome itself is expressed by means of gene vector technology. Insertion of the DNA encoding this unit using a viral gene vector makes this a permanent genomic alteration that will affect the function of the transformed cell for as long as that gene is expressed. To this view, the recent success seen in the clinic with T-cells engineered to express a CAR specific for the B cell antigen CD19 is a key success, bringing together decades of innovation in molecular cloning, viral gene vector development, and T-cell biology.

The treatment of diffuse large B cell lymphoma in adult patients remains a major clinical challenge. To that end, CAR technology specifically focusing on the B cell lineage antigen CD19 was developed. In 2010, Kochenderfer et al. reported the successful treatment of a patient with CD19-specific CAR-modified T-cells and followed up this report with a small trial featuring doses of $0.3-3 \times 10^7$ CAR⁺ T-cells/kg. In the follow-up report with anti-CD19 CAR, four of the eight patients treated had durable responses that coincided with prolonged depletion of B cells from the peripheral blood [40, 75, 76, 118–124]. Unique aspects of this trial included the use of a CD28 and CD3ζ chain-driven second-generation signaling package and the administration of IL-2 over 5 days following T-cell infusion. The toxicities seen were associated with high cytokine release and were attributed to interferon- γ and TNF- α release by the infused CAR-expressing lymphocytes. As the group at the NCI in Bethesda, Maryland, was developing these strategies, researchers at the Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center in New York and at the University of Pennsylvania in Philadelphia were developing

their own anti-CD19 CAR approaches [40, 76, 122–124]. Although the initial report by Porter et al. featured only three patients, the clarity of the difference between the immune response mediated by anti-CD19 CAR-T-cells and any effect from preparative or therapeutic chemotherapy was easily seen, and thus had a lasting impact on the field. Anti-CD19 CAR approaches have matured to a point that now a registered CAR19 product, Kymirah (Tisagenlecleucel) by Novartis, recently received Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval for the treatment of "certain pediatric and young adult patients with a form of acute lymphoblastic leukemia…" (www.FDA. gov, press release of August 30, 2017).

The approach in Philadelphia is unique in the use of a lentiviral as opposed to retroviral gene vector for the transduction of patient lymphocytes and in the use of a 4-1BB (CD137) as opposed to a CD28-based second signaling motif in the second-generation CAR construct. Children receiving 1.4×10^{6} - 1.2×10^{7} CAR⁺ T-cells/kg had profound antileukemic effects. The infused cells showed an amazing degree of in vivo expansion and were highly active against disease [123]. In the subsequent cytokine storm that followed T-cell infusions, the onset of severe fever was ablated by the administration of anti-IL-6 antibody. On the same day a Keymirah received FDA approval, anti-IL-6 receptor antibody, Actemra (Tocilizumab, Roche/Genentech), was also approved to treat cytokine release syndrome. As experience is gained, the clinical science of adoptive immunotherapy with CAR-modified T-cells will continue to advance, with safer and more predictable patterns of treatment emerging.

The targeting of new B cell lymphoma targets is expected to expand to include other B cell restricted self-antigens such as CD22 [71]. Identifying expendable self-antigens for the treatment of solid tumors remains a serious challenge. Investigators have begun to formulate bioinformatics approaches to identifying antigens restricted to tumors and not expressed on normal self-tissues, but these have yet to be validated directly at the protein expression level, perhaps using frozen of formalin-fixed normal tissue and tumor tissue arrays [116]. A string of on-target but off-tumor (that is reacting to the intended antigen—but finding problematic expression on normal tissue, as opposed to cancerous tissue), toxicities have been seen with T-cells engineered to target MAGE-A3 with TCR vectors, with TCRs against CEA, and with CARs specific for HER2 [24, 125, 126]. The experience with HER2 is especially informative as thousands of patients had received antibody to HER2 with no toxicity reported due to self-reactivity, as seen with CARmodified T-cells. Thus, even antibody screens on tissue arrays may not be sufficiently predictive of CAR-transduced T-cell activity.

The continuing development of a CAR expression vector for the neuroblastoma antigen GD2 is another example wherein an antibody in current clinical use has been adopted for use in CAR therapy. Use of anti-GD2 antibody therapy made a major impact on the outcome of advanced neuroblastoma patients who had been treated with a bone marrow transplantation regimen, increasing long-term survival by at least 20% [127]. Use of a GD2-specific first-generation CAR by investigators at the Baylor College of Medicine demonstrated that this first-generation less effective vector was safe and showed some indication of antitumor activity [128]. The primary side effect common to various trials with anti-GD2 antibody is peripheral nerve pain, indicating an off-tumor on-target antibody effect [129]. An ongoing clinical trial features a third-generation anti-GD2 CAR, iC9-GD2-CD28-OX40, which is comprised of CD28 and OX40 co-stimulatory domains and an inducible suicide safety switch (NCT01822652), should reveal whether or not this side effect is unique to antibody-based therapy or if CARs amplify this effect.

CAR-T or recombinant TCR function may be further enhanced by combination therapies. Synergistic effects may be achieved by inhibiting tumor growth by chemical means, while at the same time employing CAR-T-cells for active tumor killing. Pre-clinical data indicate that lenalidomide, an antitumor, anti-vasculogenic, and immunomodulatory drug indicated for monotherapy in multiple myeloma and myelodysplastic syndrome, boosts the function of anti-EGFRIII CAR by enhancing immune synapses between the effector and the target cells [130]. A clinical trial combining anti-BCMA CART-cells with lenalidomide for the treatment of multiple myeloma has recently opened (NCT03070327, www.clinicaltrials.gov). Another ongoing trial is evaluating the concurrent administration of ibrutinib, an inhibitor of Bruton tyrosine kinase (BTK) indicated as a monotherapy in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and mantle cell lymphoma (MCL), with CAR19 for the treatment of CLL (NCT02640209). Neutralizing the detrimental effects of tumor microenvironment is especially critical in adoptive cell therapy of solid tumors. To this end, checkpoint blockade may be used in combination with tumor-redirected T-cells. The addition of PD-1 blockade to E7 TCR therapy of human papilloma virus-associated cancers is an example of this approach and is under evaluation (NCT02858310).

Clinical trials administering CAR-modified T-cells to patients are increasing rapidly in number, and some have shown promising results. In recent reviews of open clinical trials, CAR-Tcells specific for the following tumor-associated antigens were reported: for hematologic malignancies-CD19, CD22, CD20, ROR1, Igk, and CD30 for B cell malignancies, CD123, CD33, LeY for AML, BCMA, CD38 and CD138 for multiple myeloma; for solid tumors- PSMA (prostate cancer), mesothelin (pancreatic and ovarian cancers and mesothelioma), FAP (mesothelioma), EGFRvIII (glioma, glioblastoma), EGFR (malignant glioma), CEA (liver metastases, lung, colorectal, gastric, breast cancer), GD2 (neuroblastoma, osteosarcoma, melanoma), GPC3 (hepatocellular carcinoma), HER2 (glioblastoma, sarcoma, glioblastoma multiforme), IL-13R α 2 (Glioma), along with numerous other targets in various stages of development [131, 132]. As with antibody-based therapies, we are entering a golden era for adoptive immunotherapy, and the fruits of many years of investment in basic T-cell biology, gene vector development, cancer biology, and clinical immunology are coming to bear on clinical disease. Continued understanding of how best to culture and engineer T-cells, outlined in Table 12.1, and development of the clinical science of adoptive immunother**Table 12.1** General features to consider in the engineer-ing of effector T-cell populations for adoptiveimmunotherapy

Primary concerns in the clinical utilization of CAR-modified T-cells

- 1. T lymphocyte population selection and culture
 - (a) Selection of starting material (i.e., PBMC, CD4⁺, CD8⁺, mixtures)
 - (b) Mechanism of T-cell activation (OKT3, CD3-CD28 beads)
 - (c) Cytokines or small molecules included in culture and expansion protocol
 - (d) Selection of optimal T-cell phenotype (Tcm, Tem, Tscm)

2. Gene vector design

- (a) Selection of target antigen (both at the epitope and tissue expression levels)
- (b) Creation of binding domain
- (c) Inclusion of other T-cell activation motifs beyond CD3-zeta (CD137, OX40, CD28)
- (d) Transient versus permanent gene transduction methodology
- (e) Evaluation of the need for a "safety switch" feature
- (f) Combination therapies

As discussed in the text, both selection and culture of the immune cell population and the specifics of the gene vector design will govern the biology and the anticancer effectiveness of the transferred cells upon infusion into the patient

apy will prove to be rich areas of investigation and will provide new benefits for cancer patients for many years to come.

12.5 Concluding Remarks

The current state of the art in CAR-modified T-cell therapy in the clinic is focused on CD19specific second-generation vectors that encode a 4-1BB (CD137) and CD3ζ-chain signaling package (see NCT02228096, NCT02445248 at clinicaltrials.gov). Interestingly, because of the high activity of anti-CD19 CARs, the CD28 and CD3ζ-chain signaling package is still highly effective against disease and may be clinically sufficient to approach a cure, especially if used as induction therapy before hematopoetic stem cell transplant (see NCT02614066, NCI-2015-00239, NCT02348216). The combination of CAR-based therapy with lymphodepletion or immune checkpoint blockade (such as anti-PD-1 or anti-CTLA4 antibody) demonstrates that we are in a rapidly changing clinical study environment in which new insights towards the effective use of CAR-Tcells against hematologic malignancies will continue to develop. In scenarios where immune activity is potentiated, a less active CAR (at least as defined in the laboratory) may be more desirable. Given the rapid translation of CAR-T-cell therapy into the clinic, where are the next breakthroughs going to come from? First will be with regard to the viral vector technology. Currently lentivirus-based approaches are state of the art. However, this represents a cost and developmental bottleneck; thus, new transfection-based approaches are awaiting development. Second, the ability to define the most effective CAR-Tcell populations with regard to phenotype and the ability to direct their developmental state through cytokines or modification of signal transduction pathways (such as with mTOR inhibitors) will continue to refine current culture techniques and approaches. The goal is to more rapidly define or create T-cell populations that could be infused at lower doses (thus requiring less laboratory effort) while retaining high antileukemic activity. Finally, the demonstration of an effective CARbased therapy against a solid tumor awaits clinical confirmation. The high degree of normal tissue damage that has been seen in some trials indicates that pathological tissue destruction is indeed possible. However, we do not yet know if it is a paucity of truly tumor-specific cell surface targets or if it is the tumor microenvironment that prohibits clinical antitumor effectiveness. An ongoing trial featuring a third-generation CAR specific for the pediatric tumor-associated antigen GD2 is of interest in this regard. The retroviral vector used in this trial expresses a GD2-specific binding motif and a combination of CD28, CD3ζ, and OX40 signaling motifs (see NCT01822652). This signaling combination is thought to perform similar to the 4-1BB second-

generation vectors, where the anti-apoptotic properties of a TNF-receptor superfamily member (OX40, TNFRSF4, or CD137, TNFRSF9) may enhance survival of the transduced cells once they are infused. This vector also encodes

an iCaspase-9 safety gene. If this credentialed tumor-specific anti-GD2 scFv fails to make an impact on disease in a CAR setting, this indicates that engineered T-cells alone cannot overcome the solid tumor microenvironment and future successes will hinge on altering this milieu. If the GD2-specific CAR is effective, we will have turned an important first corner in treating solid tumors with engineered T-cells.

As our ability to analyze the tumor microenvironment on a patient-specific basis matures, CARs may be specifically tuned for the solid tumor microenvironment they must encounter. The evasion of negative signals (such as TGF β or PD-L1), the appropriate chemokine receptor expression for homing to the tumor, the appropriate adhesion molecule expression for tissue invasion, and the maintained durability of response by evading metabolic exhaustion will all play important roles in creating the CAR-T approaches of the future [50, 133, 134].

References

- Braumüller H, et al. T-helper-1-cell cytokines drive cancer into senescence. Nature. 2013;494(7437):361–5.
- Willimsky G, Blankenstein T. Sporadic immunogenic tumours avoid destruction by inducing T-cell tolerance. Nature. 2005;437(7055):141–6.
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331(6024):1565–70.
- Topalian SL, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti–PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(26):2443–54.
- 5. Hodi FS, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(8):711–23.
- Bar M, et al. Donor lymphocyte infusion for relapsed hematological malignancies after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation: prognostic relevance of the initial CD3+ T-cell dose. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2013;19(6):949–57.
- Tomblyn M, Lazarus HM. Donor lymphocyte infusions: the long and winding road: how should it be traveled? Bone Marrow Transplant. 2008;42(9):569–79.
- Locatelli F, et al. Negative depletion of α/β+ T-cells and of CD19+ B lymphocytes: a novel frontier to optimize the effect of innate immunity in HLA-

mismatched hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Immunol Lett. 2013;155(1):21–3.

- Lang P, et al. Improved immune recovery after transplantation of TCR [alpha][beta]/CD19-depleted allografts from haploidentical donors in pediatric patients. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2015;50(S2):S6.
- Aversa F. T-cell depletion: from positive selection to negative depletion in adult patients. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2015;50(S2):S11.
- 11. Airoldi I, et al. $\gamma\delta$ T-cell reconstitution after HLAhaploidentical hematopoietic transplantation depleted of TCR- $\alpha\beta$ +/CD19+ lymphocytes. Blood. 2015;125(15):2349–58.
- Marijt WAE, et al. Hematopoiesis-restricted minor histocompatibility antigens HA-1- or HA-2specific T-cells can induce complete remissions of relapsed leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(5):2742–7.
- Nicholls S, et al. Secondary anchor polymorphism in the HA-1 minor histocompatibility antigen critically affects MHC stability and TCR recognition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(10):3889–94.
- Griffioen M, et al. Identification of phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase type II β as HLA class II-restricted target in graft versus leukemia reactivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(10):3837–42.
- Griffioen M, et al. Identification of 4 novel HLA-B* 40: 01 restricted minor histocompatibility antigens and their potential as targets for graft-versus-leukemia reactivity. Haematologica. 2012;97(8):1196–204.
- Stumpf AN, et al. Identification of 4 new HLA-DR– restricted minor histocompatibility antigens as hematopoietic targets in antitumor immunity. Blood. 2009;114(17):3684–92.
- Orentas RJ, et al. Monitoring and modulation of Epstein-Barr virus loads in pediatric transplant patients. Pediatr Transplant. 2003;7(4):305–14.
- Rooney CM, Heslop H, Brenner M. EBV specific CTL: a model for immune therapy. Vox Sang. 1998;74(S2):497–8.
- Gerdemann U, et al. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes simultaneously targeting multiple tumor-associated antigens to treat EBV negative lymphoma. Mol Ther. 2011;19(12):2258–68.
- Rosenberg SA, et al. Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(13):4550–7.
- Morgan RA, et al. Cancer regression in patients after transfer of genetically engineered lymphocytes. Science. 2006;314(5796):126–9.
- Chodon T, et al. Adoptive transfer of MART-1 T-cell receptor transgenic lymphocytes and dendritic cell vaccination in patients with metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20(9):2457–65.
- Lu Y-C, et al. A phase I study of an HLA-DPB1* 0401-restricted T-cell receptor targeting MAGE-A3 for patients with metastatic cancers. J Immunother Cancer. 2015;3(S2):P158.

- Morgan RA, et al. Cancer regression and neurologic toxicity following anti-MAGE-A3 TCR gene therapy. J Immunother. 2013;36(2):133.
- Robbins PF, et al. Tumor regression in patients with metastatic synovial cell sarcoma and melanoma using genetically engineered lymphocytes reactive with NY-ESO-1. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(7):917–24.
- Rapoport AP, et al. NY-ESO-1–specific TCR– engineered T-cells mediate sustained antigenspecific antitumor effects in myeloma. Nat Med. 2015;21(8):914–21.
- Draper LM, et al. Targeting of HPV-16+ epithelial cancer cells by TCR gene engineered T-cells directed against E6. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(19):4431–9.
- Gros A, et al. Prospective identification of neoantigenspecific lymphocytes in the peripheral blood of melanoma patients. Nat Med. 2016;22(4):433–8.
- Klebanoff CA, Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP. Prospects for gene-engineered T-cell immunotherapy for solid cancers. Nat Med. 2016;22(1):26–36.
- Pasetto A, et al. Tumor- and neoantigen-reactive T-cell receptors can be identified based on their frequency in fresh tumor. Cancer Immunol Res. 2016;4(9):734–43.
- 31. Lu Y-CW, et al. A rapid single-cell RNA-seq approach to identify neoantigen-specific T-cell receptors targeting tumor-specific mutations for use in gene-engineered T-cell immunotherapy. J Immnol. 2017;198(1 Suppl):126.14.
- Gross G, Waks T, Eshhar Z. Expression of immunoglobulin-T-cell receptor chimeric molecules as functional receptors with antibody-type specificity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989;86(24):10024–8.
- Kuwana Y, et al. Expression of chimeric receptor composed of immunoglobulin-derived V regions and T-cell receptor-derived C regions. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1987;149(3):960–8.
- 34. Hwu P, et al. Lysis of ovarian cancer cells by human lymphocytes redirected with a chimeric gene composed of an antibody variable region and the Fc receptor gamma chain. J Exp Med. 1993;178(1):361–6.
- Altenschmidt U, Klundt E, Groner B. Adoptive transfer of in vitro-targeted, activated T lymphocytes results in total tumor regression. J Immunol. 1997;159(11):5509–15.
- 36. Haynes NM, et al. Redirecting mouse CTL against colon carcinoma: superior signaling efficacy of single-chain variable domain chimeras containing TCR-zeta vs Fc epsilon RI-gamma. J Immunol. 2001;166(1):182–7.
- Rossig C, et al. Targeting of GD2-positive tumor cells by human T lymphocytes engineered to express chimeric T-cell receptor genes. Int J Cancer. 2001;94(2):228–36.
- Hwu P, et al. In vivo antitumor activity of T-cells redirected with chimeric antibody/T-cell receptor genes. Cancer Res. 1995;55(15):3369–73.
- Yun CO, et al. Targeting of T lymphocytes to melanoma cells through chimeric anti-GD3 immunoglobulin T-cell receptors. Neoplasia. 2000;2(5):449–59.

- Brentjens RJ, et al. Eradication of systemic B-cell tumors by genetically targeted human T lymphocytes co-stimulated by CD80 and interleukin-15. Nat Med. 2003;9(3):279–86.
- Stewart-Jones G, et al. Rational development of high-affinity T-cell receptor-like antibodies. Protein Data Bank, Rutgers University; 2009.
- 42. Skora AD, et al. Generation of MANAbodies specific to HLA-restricted epitopes encoded by somatically mutated genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112(32):9967–72.
- Kershaw MH, et al. A phase I study on adoptive immunotherapy using gene-modified T-cells for ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(20):6106–15.
- 44. Lamers CHJ, et al. Treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma with autologous T-lymphocytes genetically retargeted against carbonic anhydrase IX: first clinical experience. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(13):e20–2.
- 45. Kowolik CM, et al. CD28 costimulation provided through a CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptor enhances in vivo persistence and antitumor efficacy of adoptively transferred T-cells. Cancer Res. 2006;66(22):10995–1004.
- 46. Milone MC, et al. Chimeric receptors containing CD137 signal transduction domains mediate enhanced survival of T-cells and increased antileukemic efficacy in vivo. Mol Ther. 2009;17(8):1453–64.
- Brentjens RJ, et al. Genetically targeted T-cells eradicate systemic acute lymphoblastic leukemia xenografts. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(18):5426–35.
- Savoldo B, et al. CD28 costimulation improves expansion and persistence of chimeric antigen receptor-modified T-cells in lymphoma patients. J Clin Investig. 2011;121(5):1822–6.
- 49. Carpenito C, et al. Control of large, established tumor xenografts with genetically retargeted human T-cells containing CD28 and CD137 domains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(9):3360–5.
- Long AH, et al. 4-1BB costimulation ameliorates T-cell exhaustion induced by tonic signaling of chimeric antigen receptors. Nat Med. 2015;21(6):581–90.
- Bonini C. HSV-TK gene transfer into donor lymphocytes for control of allogeneic graft-versusleukemia. Science. 1997;276(5319):1719–24.
- Berger C. Analysis of transgene-specific immune responses that limit the in vivo persistence of adoptively transferred HSV-TK-modified donor T-cells after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Blood. 2006;107(6):2294–302.
- Berger C. Pharmacologically regulated Fasmediated death of adoptively transferred T-cells in a nonhuman primate model. Blood. 2003;103(4): 1261–9.
- 54. Di Stasi A, et al. Inducible apoptosis as a safety switch for adoptive cell therapy. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(18):1673–83.
- Wang X, et al. A transgene-encoded cell surface polypeptide for selection, in vivo tracking, and ablation of engineered cells. Blood. 2011;118(5):1255–63.

- Paszkiewicz PJ, et al. Targeted antibody-mediated depletion of murine CD19 CAR T-cells permanently reverses B cell aplasia. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(11):4262.
- 57. Philip B, et al. A highly compact epitope-based marker/suicide gene for easier and safer T-cell therapy. Blood. 2014;124(8):1277–87.
- Fehse B, et al. CD34 splice variant: an attractive marker for selection of gene-modified cells. Mol Ther. 2000;1(5):448–56.
- 59. Tey S-K, et al. Inducible caspase 9 suicide gene to improve the safety of allodepleted T-cells after haploidentical stem cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2007;13(8):913–24.
- Gaines P, Wojchowski DM. pIRES-CD4t, a dicistronic expression vector for MACS-or FACS-based selection of transfected cells. BioTechniques. 1999;26(4):683–8.
- Lemoine FM, et al. Efficient transduction and selection of human T-lymphocytes with bicistronic Thy1/HSV1-TK retroviral vector produced by a human packaging cell line. J Gene Med. 2004;6(4):374–86.
- 62. Torikai H, et al. A foundation for universal T-cell based immunotherapy: T-cells engineered to express a CD19-specific chimeric-antigen-receptor and eliminate expression of endogenous TCR. Blood. 2012;119(24):5697–705.
- Qasim W, et al. Molecular remission of infant B-ALL after infusion of universal TALEN gene-edited CAR T-cells. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9(374):eaaj2013.
- Ren J, et al. A versatile system for rapid multiplex genome-edited CAR T-cell generation. Oncotarget. 2017;8(10):17002.
- 65. Eyquem J, et al. Targeting a CAR to the TRAC locus with CRISPR/Cas9 enhances tumour rejection. Nature. 2017;543(7643):113.
- 66. Urbanska K, et al. A universal strategy for adoptive immunotherapy of cancer through use of a novel T-cell antigen receptor. Cancer Res. 2012;72(7):1844–52.
- 67. Feldmann A, et al. Retargeting of T lymphocytes to PSCA- or PSMA positive prostate cancer cells using the novel modular chimeric antigen receptor platform technology "UniCAR". Oncotarget. 2017;8(19):31368.
- Rodgers DT, et al. Switch-mediated activation and retargeting of CAR-T-cells for B-cell malignancies. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(4): E459–68.
- Beatty GL, et al. Mesothelin-specific chimeric antigen receptor mRNA-engineered T-cells induce antitumor activity in solid malignancies. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(2):112–20.
- Maus MV, et al. T-cells expressing chimeric antigen receptors can cause anaphylaxis in humans. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1(1):26–31.
- Haso W, et al. Anti-CD22–chimeric antigen receptors targeting B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2013;121(7):1165–74.

- Sommermeyer D, et al. Fully human CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptors for T-cell therapy. Leukemia. 2017;31(10):2191–9.
- Brudno JN, et al. T-cells expressing a novel fullyhuman anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor induce remissions of advanced lymphoma in a first-inhumans clinical trial. Blood. 2016;128(22):999.
- 74. Grupp SA, et al. T-cells engineered with a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) targeting CD19 (CTL019) have long term persistence and induce durable remissions in children with relapsed, refractory ALL. Blood. 2014;124(21):380.
- Turtle CJ, et al. CD19 CAR–T-cells of defined CD4+: CD8+ composition in adult B cell ALL patients. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(6):2123.
- Park JH, et al. Efficacy and safety of CD19-targeted 19-28z CAR modified T-cells in adult patients with relapsed or refractory B-ALL. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(15_Suppl):7010.
- Maude SL, et al. Sustained remissions with CD19specific chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-modified T-cells in children with relapsed/refractory ALL. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(15_Suppl):3011.
- Zah E, et al. T-cells expressing CD19/CD20 bispecific chimeric antigen receptors prevent antigen escape by malignant B cells. Cancer Immunol Res. 2016;4(6):498–508.
- Schneider D, et al. Leukemia cell surface antigen modulation induced by dual CD19/CD20 chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T-cells. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2017;23(3):S250–1.
- Ruella M, et al. Dual CD19 and CD123 targeting prevents antigen-loss relapses after CD19-directed immunotherapies. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(10):3814–26.
- Hegde M, et al. Tandem CAR T-cells targeting HER2 and IL13Rα2 mitigate tumor antigen escape. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(8):3036–52.
- Riviere I, Brose K, Mulligan RC. Effects of retroviral vector design on expression of human adenosine deaminase in murine bone marrow transplant recipients engrafted with genetically modified cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(15):6733–7.
- Schambach A, Swaney WP, van der Loo JCM. Design and production of retro- and lentiviral vectors for gene expression in hematopoietic cells. In: Genetic modification of hematopoietic stem cells. New York: Humana Press; 2009. p. 191–205.
- 84. Hughes MS, et al. Transfer of a TCR gene derived from a patient with a marked antitumor response conveys highly active T-cell effector functions. Hum Gene Ther. 2005;16(4):457–72.
- Hacein-Bey-Abina S. LMO2-associated clonal T-cell proliferation in two patients after gene therapy for SCID-X1. Science. 2003;302(5644):415–9.
- Sugamura K, et al. LMO2 and gene therapy for severe combined immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med. 2004;2004(350):2526–7.
- 87. Kochenderfer JN, et al. Adoptive transfer of syngeneic T-cells transduced with a chimeric anti-

gen receptor that recognizes murine CD19 can eradicate lymphoma and normal B cells. Blood. 2010;116(19):3875–86.

- Scholler J, et al. Decade-long safety and function of retroviral-modified chimeric antigen receptor T-cells. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4(132):132ra53.
- Wu X. Transcription start regions in the human genome are favored targets for MLV integration. Science. 2003;300(5626):1749–51.
- Peng PD, et al. Efficient nonviral Sleeping Beauty transposon-based TCR gene transfer to peripheral blood lymphocytes confers antigen-specific antitumor reactivity. Gene Ther. 2009;16(8):1042–9.
- Singh H, et al. Redirecting specificity of T-cell populations for CD19 using the Sleeping Beauty system. Cancer Res. 2008;68(8):2961–71.
- Nakazawa Y, et al. PiggyBac-mediated cancer immunotherapy using EBV-specific cytotoxic T-cells expressing HER2-specific chimeric antigen receptor. Mol Ther. 2011;19(12):2133–43.
- Zhao Y, et al. Multiple injections of electroporated autologous T-cells expressing a chimeric antigen receptor mediate regression of human disseminated tumor. Cancer Res. 2010;70(22):9053–61.
- Berger C, et al. Adoptive transfer of effector CD8+ T-cells derived from central memory cells establishes persistent T-cell memory in primates. J Clin Investig. 2008;118(1):294–305.
- Hinrichs CS, et al. Adoptively transferred effector cells derived from naive rather than central memory CD8+ T-cells mediate superior antitumor immunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(41):17469–74.
- 96. Klebanoff CA, et al. Determinants of successful CD8+ T-cell adoptive immunotherapy for large established tumors in mice. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(16):5343–52.
- Gattinoni L, et al. A human memory T-cell subset with stem cell–like properties. Nat Med. 2011;17(10):1290–7.
- Cieri N, et al. IL-7 and IL-15 instruct the generation of human memory stem T-cells from naive precursors. Blood. 2012;121(4):573–84.
- Terakura S, et al. Generation of CD19-chimeric antigen receptor modified CD8+ T-cells derived from virus-specific central memory T-cells. Blood. 2011;119(1):72–82.
- Yang S, et al. Modulating the differentiation status of ex vivo-cultured anti-tumor T-cells using cytokine cocktails. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;62(4):727–36.
- Hinrichs CS, et al. IL-2 and IL-21 confer opposing differentiation programs to CD8+ T-cells for adoptive immunotherapy. Blood. 2008;111(11):5326–33.
- 102. Rao RR, et al. The mTOR kinase determines effector versus memory CD8+ T-cell fate by regulating the expression of transcription factors T-bet and eomesodermin. Immunity. 2010;32(1):67–78.
- 103. Gattinoni L, et al. Wnt signaling arrests effector T-cell differentiation and generates CD8+ memory stem cells. Nat Med. 2009;15(7):808–13.

- 104. Hsu C, et al. Primary human T lymphocytes engineered with a codon-optimized IL-15 gene resist cytokine withdrawal-induced apoptosis and persist long-term in the absence of exogenous cytokine. J Immunol. 2005;175(11):7226–34.
- 105. Liu K, Rosenberg SA. Transduction of an IL-2 gene into human melanoma-reactive lymphocytes results in their continued growth in the absence of exogenous IL-2 and maintenance of specific antitumor activity. J Immunol. 2001;167(11):6356–65.
- 106. Markley JC, Sadelain M. IL-7 and IL-21 are superior to IL-2 and IL-15 in promoting human T cell-mediated rejection of systemic lymphoma in immunodeficient mice. Blood. 2010;115(17):3508–19.
- 107. Kaka AS, et al. Genetic modification of T-cells with IL-21 enhances antigen presentation and generation of central memory tumor-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocytes. J Immunother. 2009;32(7):726–36.
- 108. Kerkar SP, et al. Tumor-specific CD8+ T-cells expressing interleukin-12 eradicate established cancers in lymphodepleted hosts. Cancer Res. 2010;70(17):6725–34.
- 109. Chinnasamy D, et al. Local delivery of interleukin-12 using T-cells targeting VEGF receptor-2 eradicates multiple vascularized tumors in mice. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(6):1672–83.
- 110. Chmielewski M, Abken H. CAR T-cells transform to trucks: chimeric antigen receptor–redirected T-cells engineered to deliver inducible IL-12 modulate the tumour stroma to combat cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(8):1269–77.
- 111. Chmielewski M, et al. IL-12 release by engineered T-cells expressing chimeric antigen receptors can effectively muster an antigen-independent macrophage response on tumor cells that have shut down tumor antigen expression. Cancer Res. 2011;71(17):5697–706.
- 112. Zhang L, et al. Improving adoptive T-cell therapy by targeting and controlling IL-12 expression to the tumor environment. Mol Ther. 2011;19(4):751–9.
- 113. Stephan MT, et al. T cell–encoded CD80 and 4-1BBL induce auto- and transcostimulation, resulting in potent tumor rejection. Nat Med. 2007;13(12):1440–9.
- 114. Kloss CC, et al. Combinatorial antigen recognition with balanced signaling promotes selective tumor eradication by engineered T-cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2012;31(1):71–5.
- Hanada K-i, Restifo NP. Double or nothing on cancer immunotherapy. Nat Biotechnol. 2013;31(1):33–4.
- 116. Orentas RJ, et al. Identification of cell surface proteins as potential immunotherapy targets in 12 pediatric cancers. Front Oncol. 2012;2:194.
- 117. Szybalski W, Skalka A. Nobel prizes and restriction enzymes. Gene. 1978;4(3):181.
- 118. Kochenderfer JN, et al. Eradication of B-lineage cells and regression of lymphoma in a patient treated with autologous T-cells genetically engineered to recognize CD19. Blood. 2010;116(20):4099–102.
- Kochenderfer JN, et al. B-cell depletion and remissions of malignancy along with cytokine-associated

toxicity in a clinical trial of anti-CD19 chimericantigen-receptor-transduced T-cells. Blood. 2012;119(12):2709–20.

- 120. Lee DW, et al. T-cells expressing CD19 chimeric antigen receptors for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in children and young adults: a phase 1 doseescalation trial. Lancet. 2015;385(9967):517–28.
- 121. Grupp SA, et al. Durable remissions in children with relapsed/refractory aLL treated with T-cells engineered with a CD19-targeted chimeric antigen receptor (CTL019). Blood. 2015;126(23):681.
- 122. Brentjens RJ, et al. Safety and persistence of adoptively transferred autologous CD19-targeted T-cells in patients with relapsed or chemotherapy refractory B-cell leukemias. Blood. 2011;118(18):4817–28.
- 123. Grupp SA, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T-cells for acute lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(16):1509–18.
- 124. Porter DL, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T-cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(8):725–33.
- 125. Morgan RA, et al. Case report of a serious adverse event following the administration of T-cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing ERBB2. Mol Ther. 2010;18(4):843–51.
- 126. Parkhurst MR, et al. T-cells targeting carcinoembryonic antigen can mediate regression of metastatic colorectal cancer but induce severe transient colitis. Mol Ther. 2011;19(3):620–6.
- 127. Yu AL, et al. Anti-GD2 antibody with GM-CSF, interleukin-2, and isotretinoin for neuroblastoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(14):1324–34.
- Louis CU, et al. Antitumor activity and longterm fate of chimeric antigen receptor-positive T-cells in patients with neuroblastoma. Blood. 2011;118(23):6050–6.
- 129. Kushner BH, et al. Successful multifold dose escalation of anti-GD2 monoclonal antibody 3F8 in patients with neuroblastoma: a phase I study. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(9):1168–74.
- 130. Kuramitsu S, et al. Lenalidomide enhances the function of chimeric antigen receptor T-cells against the epidermal growth factor receptor variant III by enhancing immune synapses. Cancer Gene Ther. 2015;22(10):487.
- 131. Fesnak AD, June CH, Levine BL. Engineered T-cells: the promise and challenges of cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16(9):566–81.
- 132. Jackson HJ, Rafiq S, Brentjens RJ. Driving CAR T-cells forward. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2016;13(6):370–83.
- 133. Cherkassky L, et al. Human CAR T-cells with cell-intrinsic PD-1 checkpoint blockade resist tumor-mediated inhibition. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(8):3130–44.
- 134. Watanabe N, et al. Transgenic expression of a novel immunosuppressive signal converter on T-cells. In: Molecular therapy. New York: Nature Publishing Group; 2013.



13

Role of $\gamma\delta$ T Lymphocytes in Cancer Immunosurveillance and Immunotherapy

Telma Lança, Daniel V. Correia, and Bruno Silva-Santos

Contents

13.1	Introduction	220
13.2	TCRγδ Repertoires and Functions	220
13.2.1	Mouse γδ T-Cell Subsets	221
13.2.2	Human γδ T-Cell Subsets	221
13.3	γδ T-Cell Activation: TCRγδ Agonists	222
13.3.1	Phosphoagonists (Phosphoantigens)	222
13.3.1.1	Phosphoagonists Produced by Microorganisms and Eukaryotic Cells	222
13.3.1.2	Phosphoagonist Intermediates of Isoprenoid Biosynthetic Pathways	223
13.3.2	Aminobisphosphonates	224
13.3.3	Alkylamines	224
13.3.4	Protein Ligands	225
13.3.4.1	Self-Ligands	225
13.3.4.2	Non-Self-Ligands	226
13.4	γδ T-Cell Activation: Costimulatory Molecules	226
13.4.1	CD27	226
13.4.2	CD28	227
13.4.3	Fc Receptors: CD16	227
13.5	γδ T-Cell Activation via Natural Killer Receptors (NKRs)	228
13.5.1	NKG2D	228
13.5.2	NKG2A	231
13.5.3	Natural Cytotoxicity Receptors (NCRs)	231
13.5.4	DNAM-1	232
13.6	Tumor Cell Recognition by γδ T-Cells: TCRs Versus NKRs	232
13.7	γδ T-Cell Responses to Tumors	233
13.7.1	Antitumor Properties	233
13.7.2	Pro-Tumor Properties	235
13.8	γδ T-Cell Modulation in Cancer Clinical Trials	236

T. Lança

Department of Heath Technology, Technical University of Denmark, Copenhagen, Denmark e-mail: telan@dtu.dk D. V. Correia · B. Silva-Santos (⊠) Instituto de Medicina Molecular João Lobo Antunes, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de Lisboa, Lisbon, Portugal e-mail: bssantos@medicina.ulisboa.pt

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

N. Rezaei (ed.), Cancer Immunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_13

13.9	Concluding Remarks	238
Referen	ces	240

13.1 Introduction

The $\gamma\delta$ lineage of T lymphocytes was first described in the mid-1980s with reports of a new heterodimeric T-cell receptor that was associated with CD3 [1, 2]. Since then, $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells have been extensively studied (albeit considerably less than their $\alpha\beta$ counterparts), in a global effort to unravel the mechanisms underlying their development, antigen recognition, activation, and function.

 $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells are typically regarded as a "bridge" between innate and adaptive immune responses [3, 4]. On one hand, $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells may be considered a component of the adaptive immune system as they can somatically rearrange their *TCR* genes to generate great diversity and can selectively expand particular subpopulations upon infection. On the other hand, various $\gamma\delta$ T-cell subsets, displaying restricted (oligoclonal) TCR repertoires, can immediately respond to challenge—with little evidence of memory formation—and may thus be considered part of the innate immune system.

A combination of antigen specificity, tissue distribution, and functional properties, rather than in any of these individually, is essential for the pleiotropic $\gamma\delta$ T-cell responses [5]. In terms of functional attributes, $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells are important providers of cytotoxicity, cytokines, chemokines,

and other molecules that can substantially affect downstream immune responses [4]. As a result, the physiological roles fulfilled by $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells are varied and include protective immunity against extracellular and intracellular pathogens, tissue healing and epithelial cell maintenance, and most importantly—tumor surveillance [5]. In the following, the biology of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells will be introduced and their mechanisms of response to tumor cells, resulting in their application in cancer immunotherapy, would be discussed.

Notably, for clarity throughout this chapter, the V γ gene nomenclature of Heilig and Tonegawa [2] will be used for murine $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells and Lefranc and Rabbits [6] for human $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells.

13.2 TCRγδ Repertoires and Functions

Dere former det.

 $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells express a unique type of TCR that has been strongly conserved across 400–500 million years of evolution of jawed vertebrates. Despite the *TCR* γ and *TCR* δ genes being highly conserved in terms of general organization, V γ genes diverge considerably between species: the *TCR* γ locus in mice contains seven commonly utilized genes, as it does in humans (Table 13.1). On the

Species	V segment usage	Common VγVδ usage	V(d) J diversity	from the embryonic thymus	Distribution
Mouse	Vy1	Vγ1Vδ6.3 (liver)	High	From E18 onward	Spleen, liver
	Vγ4		High	From E15 onward	Spleen, liver, lung
	Vy5	Vγ5Vδ1	Invariant	From E15 until E17	Epidermis
	Vγ6	Vγ6Vδ1 (uterovaginal epithelia)	Invariant	From E16 until E18	Liver, lung, uterovaginal epithelia, tongue
	Vγ7	Vγ7Vδ4	Intermediate	Not applicable (extra-thymic development)	Gut epithelia
		Vγ7Vδ5			
		Vγ7Vδ6			
Human	Vδ1		High	Unknown	Spleen, liver, epithelia, dermis
	Vδ2	Vγ9Vδ2	Intermediate	Unknown	Peripheral blood
	V83		High	Unknown	Liver, gut epithelia

Table 13.1 Frequency, distribution, and repertoires of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells

contrary, there are 20–30 chicken V γ chain gene segments and more than 6 V γ families in skate [3]. The complexity of TCR $\gamma\delta$ genes correlates with the abundance of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells: in adult mice, they account for 0.5–2% of peripheral lymphocytes; in human blood, they can range between 1.5% and 15%; whereas in young ruminants, they can account for more than 70% of the peripheral CD3⁺ cells, declining to 5–25% with age [3].

Even though a great diversity of TCR $\gamma\delta$ can be theoretically generated in rodents and humans, the set of TCRs detected on peripheral $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells is far more limited. Individual $\gamma\delta$ T-cell subsets in particular tissue locations show biased use of certain TCR V gene segments and, in some cases, express "invariant" TCR with identical (canonical) junctional sequences [5] (Table 13.1).

13.2.1 Mouse $\gamma\delta$ T-Cell Subsets

Murine $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells are generated in the thymus in "developmental waves" that sequentially populate different tissues by regulated expression of appropriate chemokine receptors (Table 13.1). Mouse thymocytes bearing an invariant canonical Vy5V81 TCR at embryonic day E15-17 are the first to leave the fetal thymus, giving rise to skin-associated dendritic epidermal T-Cells (DETCs); thymocytes bearing a $V\gamma 6J\gamma 1C\gamma 1$ TCR at E16–18 give rise to the $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells in the tongue and reproductive tract; peri- and postnatal thymocytes bearing $V\gamma 1C\gamma 1$ and $V\gamma 4C\gamma 1$ TCRs give rise to systemic $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells. This sequential generation of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells at different stages of ontogeny is a fixed developmental program; for example, the disruption of the generation of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells in the early fetal thymus by the administration of an anti- $\gamma\delta$ -TCR antibody to pregnant mice resulted in selective absence of DETCs in adult mice [7].

It is thought that the highly restricted TCRs expressed by different subsets of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells enable them to recognize ligands that are specifically expressed in infected or stressed cells in particular anatomical sites where these cells populate. For example, epidermal intraepithelial V γ 5V δ 1 (DETCs) cells have been shown to carry out distinct functions which are not typical of other $\gamma\delta$

T-Cells, such as production of keratinocyte growth factor, which plays an important role in wound healing. These cells form a dendritic network which is unique among T-Cells, but similar to that of Langerhans cells, the antigen-presenting cells of the epidermis. In physiological states, DETCs constitute more than 90% of the epidermal T-Cells, with virtually no TCR diversity [8].

V γ 6V δ 1 T-Cells comprise the vast majority of the intraepithelial lymphocytes of the tongue and reproductive tract. These cells seem to play an important role in tissue remodeling at the maternal–fetal interface [9]. Moreover, V γ 6V δ 1 were also shown to mainly produce IL-17 during pulmonary inflammation, thus preventing lung fibrosis [10].

Cells that express the V γ 7 TCR $\gamma\delta$ (usually paired with V $\delta4$ or V $\delta5$) are typically found as intestinal epithelial lymphocytes (IELs) in gut epithelia and show cytoprotective, immunomodulatory, and antibacterial functions. These protective functions are associated with the production of epithelial cell trophic factors, inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-2 and IFN- γ), and cytotoxic molecules [11].

Cells that express V γ 1 and V γ 4 constitute the major peripheral recirculating $\gamma\delta$ T-cell subsets of the blood and lymphatics. V γ 1 cells are capable of killing *Listeria*-infected macrophages via Fas/Fas ligand [12] and are also shown to promote mouse chronic granulomatous disease [13]. The V γ 4 population tends to be IL-17 biased, whereas the V γ 1 population tends to produce IFN- γ [14].

13.2.2 Human γδ T-Cell Subsets

Human $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells use three main V δ and at most six V γ region genes to make their TCRs [3]. Nevertheless, the actual peripheral $\gamma\delta$ TCR combinatorial diversity is even more limited because the TCR V region repertoire of human $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells, as in rodents, is highly skewed in particular tissue locations [15].

The two main populations of human $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells constitute the V δ 1 and the V γ 9V δ 2 subsets. V δ 1 T-Cells are abundant in mucosal tissues, where they are thought to be involved in maintaining epithelial tissue integrity following damage,

infection, or transformation [3]. V γ 9V δ 2 T-Cells dominate (60–95% of all $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells) in the blood, where they comprise 1–10% of circulating lymphocytes in healthy adults.

Similarly to mice, the first $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells to emerge in the human fetal thymus, which are V δ 1 T-Cells, preferentially populate epithelial tissues, such as the intestine [16]. $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells derive from a subsequent pool of thymic progenitors. By studying $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells from the thymus or peripheral blood of children, it was revealed that the V γ 9V δ 2 pairing makes up only 5% of $\gamma\delta$ thymocytes, indicating selective (chronic) expansion of $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells in the periphery [17]. Such extensive peripheral expansion seems to be driven by antigens present in environmental microbes and certain edible plants which stimulate $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells during childhood. Of note, this $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ pairing is only present in humans and nonhuman primates [3, 18] and therefore has no equivalent in mice.

 $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ and $V\delta 1$ T-cell subsets differ in several aspects. Most Vy9V82 T-Cells display a memory phenotype acquired during perinatal life, whereas Vo1 T-Cells are mainly naive in young adults [19]. Vy9V62 T-Cells express more cytokines involved in promoting inflammation, such as TNF- α , IFN- γ , and IL-21, and higher levels of CCR5, suggesting that they can home to sites of inflammation [20]. By contrast, Vδ1 T-Cells express higher levels of L-selectin and CCR7, conferring that they can home to noninflamed tissues. Furthermore, while $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells react against a set of non-peptidic, phosphorylated compounds ("phosphoagonists"), Vδ1 T-Cells seem to recognize unrelated antigens still poorly defined. In the context of the robust response of Vo1 T-Cells to cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection, it was suggested that putative antigens are not virally encoded but instead consist of endogenous stress-induced ligands possibly shared by CMV-infected cells and several colon tumors [21]. Finally, $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ cells, but not V δ 1 cells, were recently shown to display (upon activation) several features of professional APCs, namely, the capacities to phagocytize and process antigens; to either present antigens on MHC-II or cross-present antigens on MHC-I; to upregulate CD80, CD86, or CD40; and to activate naive $\alpha\beta$ T-Cells [22, 23]. The APC function of V γ 9V82 T-Cells adds a new component to the role of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells as a "bridge" between innate and adaptive immunity.

13.3 γδ T-Cell Activation: TCRγδ Agonists

Immunologists have been searching for TCR $\gamma\delta$ ligands for about two decades. However, this has proven to be a very difficult task, likely due to the low affinity interactions that prevent biochemical purification of the putative ligands. An important characteristic of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells is that they do not recognize classical TCR ligands (peptides derived from processed proteins) and do not depend on MHC-mediated antigen presentation, which markedly distinguishes them from $\alpha\beta$ T-Cells.

It is postulated that $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells recognize a diverse set of "stress-associated" molecules, which may be complexed (or not) with an antigen-presenting element (distinct from classical MHC). As more TCR $\gamma\delta$ ligands will become elucidated, it will be interesting to determine whether they comprise molecules whose major function is to regulate immunity (as we conventionally view MHC) or molecules with intrinsic function(s) related to cellular dysregulation, for example, heat-shock proteins (HSPs) [4]. Below, the authors review the state of the art on the molecular entities suggested to activate $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells in a TCR-dependent manner.

13.3.1 Phosphoagonists (Phosphoantigens)

13.3.1.1 Phosphoagonists Produced by Microorganisms and Eukaryotic Cells

Early in vitro studies indicated that $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells strongly react in a non-MHC-restricted fashion to inactivated *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and a variety of other microorganisms, including *Plasmodium falciparum*, *Toxoplasma gondii*, *Yersinia enterocolitica*, and *Francisella tularen*- sis [24–28]. It was found later that the $\gamma\delta$ T-cellstimulating moiety of microbial extracts was not protein but rather consisted of phosphatasesensitive low-molecular-weight compounds [28, 29]. Different types of phosphorylated ligands were isolated from *Mycobacteria*, including four structurally related phosphoesters (so-called TUBag [1–4] 1996) [30]. The other identified phosphate-containing antigens were isopentenyl pyrophosphate (IPP) and its isomer dimethylallyl pyrophosphate (DMAPP). These molecules were collectively termed "phosphoantigens" [30–32].

As a class of compounds, phosphoantigens contain multiple members, either naturally produced or synthetic, able to activate $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells within a very large range of affinities [33]. The most potent natural phosphoantigen identified to date is a phosphorylated intermediate of isoprenoid biosynthesis pathway, produced by Eubacteria and Protozoa, but not by eukaryotes, called *E*-4hydroxy-3-methylbut-2-enyl-pyrophosphate (HMB-PP, also known as HDMAPP for hydroxydimethylallyl pyrophosphate) [28, 34].

The intracellular mechanisms of HMB-PPmediated V γ 9V δ 2 T-cell activation were previously described [35]. HMB-PP activates MEK/Erk and PI-3K/Akt pathways with similar kinetics to TCR/CD3 cross-linking using OKT3 (anti-CD3 ϵ mAb) and induces an almost identical transcriptional profile associated with $\gamma\delta$ T-cell activation, proliferation, and antitumor cytotoxicity [35].

Antibody blocking and gene transfer experiments showed that V γ 9V δ 2 TCR expression is required for cell activation [25, 36]. Nevertheless, it is still controversial if there is a direct interaction between the V γ 9V δ 2 TCR and phosphoantigens—for which the designation "phosphoagonists" may be more appropriate. In particular, while some studies suggested a direct ligation between V γ 9V δ 2 TCR and phosphoagonists [37, 38], all the attempts to co-crystallize phosphoagonists with the V γ 9V δ 2 TCR have not been successful [39].

Very recently, Scotet and co-workers showed that butyrophilin 3A (CD277/BTN3A) plays a key role in phosphoagonist-induced activation of $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells in both tumor and infectious contexts and that CD277-dependent activation

is conferred by V γ 9V δ 2 TCR [40]. Their work suggests that phosphoagonist may interact more directly with CD277 than the V γ 9V δ 2 TCR. How V γ 9V δ 2 T-Cells may detect phosphoagonistinduced changes of CD277 remains to be determined. These changes could be sensed directly by V γ 9V δ 2 TCR; however, the authors failed to demonstrate cognate interactions between recombinant V γ 9V δ 2 TCR and CD277 [40]. Alternatively, CD277 might promote recruitment of other molecules that interact with the V γ 9V δ 2 TCR, such as ecto-F1-ATPase [41, 42].

13.3.1.2 Phosphoagonist Intermediates of Isoprenoid Biosynthetic Pathways

Isoprenoids are essential metabolites, important for cellular and intercellular biology, and are produced by all living organisms. They constitute a diverse structural family, comprising ubiquinones, sterols, terpenes, carotenoids, gibberellins, and taxoids. All these compounds are synthesized through the same precursors, the IPP, and its isomer DMAPP. IPP can be synthesized via two different biosynthetic pathways. Archaebacteria, few Eubacteria, and most eukaryotes synthesize IPP from acetyl CoA through the mevalonate pathway (MVA) [43]. Cyanobacteria, algae, plastids, and most Eubacteria (including M. tuberculosis) produce IPP in a different way, through a carbohydratebased route referred to as methylerythritol phosphate or 1-deoxy-d-xylulose-5-phosphate (MEP pathway or DOXP pathway respectively) [44]. Which of these two pathways, MEP or MVA, have evolved first remains unknown, since MEP only exists in bacteria and plastids where it provides most primary isoprenoids instead of the MVA used by Archae [45]. Both pathways can be used simultaneously by some bacterial species, but for different roles, MAP for primary metabolism and MVA for secondary metabolites [46].

 $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells recognize metabolites of isoprenoid synthesis generated by the MEP pathway in certain pathogenic microorganisms but not by the mevalonate pathway in other bacteria and mammalian cells. HMB-PP has a 1000-fold stronger stimulating activity of $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells than IPP, probably due to its nonhuman origin
[28, 32]; this may allow the efficient detection of infected cells producing very small amounts of microbial phosphoantigens, while preventing activation by normal cells that express basal levels of the weak stimulatory mammalian metabolites. Moreover, the high potency of HMB-PP as a stimulator of V γ 9V82 T-Cells correlates with the $\gamma\delta$ T-cell stimulatory activity of the bacteria exploiting the MEP but not the MVA pathway (e.g., *M. tuberculosis* and *Escherichia coli*) [47]. To a lesser extent, the synthetic bromohydrin pyrophosphate (BrH-PP) is also considered as a strong activator of V γ 9V82 T-Cells and is frequently used in experimental procedures [33].

In plants and yeast, regulation of the MVA pathway occurs at the 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase (HMGR) level [48]. High levels of farnesyl pyrophosphate (FPP), sterols, or phenylalanine inhibit HMGR activity. In mammalian cells, the HMGR activity is inhibited by statins [49] and phenylalanine [50] or by a feedback inhibition with aminobisphosphonate-induced FPP accumulation [51]. The HMGR activity and, thus, the whole MVA pathway are increased in various cancer cell types, such as leukemia, non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) [52], and mammary and lung adenocarcinoma [53, 54].

13.3.2 Aminobisphosphonates

In 1999, Kunzmann et al. discovered that several patients with multiple myeloma (MM) treated with the well-established osteoporosis inhibitor pamidronic acid (pamidronate) presented significantly high numbers of blood-borne $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells [55]. Later, it was shown that pamidronate activates $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells in vitro to secrete cytokines (IFN- γ), proliferate, and exhibit strong cytotoxicity against various cancer cell lines [37]. Importantly, the bioactivity of aminobisphosphonates like pamidronate required the presence of accessory "antigen-presenting cells" (APCs) treated with this drug prior to the assay with the $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells [36]. A wide variety of tumor cell lines

pretreated with aminobisphosphonates could efficiently activate $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells to proliferate and produce cytokines in a TCR-dependent manner [56]. Zoledronate and ibandronate are more potent than pamidronate in promoting $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-cell activation [57].

It is well known that, in order to activate $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells, aminobisphosphonates must be internalized and exert a statin-sensitive effect, namely, inhibiting the endogenous MVA pathway [32]. Thus, aminobisphosphonates cause a pharmacological inhibition of the mevalonate pathway in the treated cells leading to IPP accumulation. More precisely, aminobisphosphonates are inhibitors of the farnesyl pyrophosphate synthase (FPPS), an enzyme acting downstream of IPP along the pathway [32]. Of note, nonaminobisphosphonate inhibitors for osteoporosis such as etidronate or clodronate neither inhibit the MVA pathway nor enable $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-cell activation.

13.3.3 Alkylamines

Similarly to aminobisphosphonates, alkylamines were shown to inhibit FPPS activity. Thus, $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells can be activated through accumulation of phosphoagonists in alkylaminetreated cells. Alkylamines are structurally composed of nonphosphate short alkyl chains bearing a terminal amino group. Prototypic bioactive alkylamines are ethylamine and sec-butylamine, present in wine and green tea and produced by certain plants and bacteria. Listeria monocytogenes, Bacteroides fragilis, Proteus morganii, Clostridium perfringens, and Salmonella typhimurium produce alkylamines in concentrations able to activate $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-cell responses [58]; contrary to phosphoagonists, they only work in the millimolar range (compared to nanomolar to picomolar for phosphoagonists). The activated $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells then release abundant Th1-type cytokines and for this reason, it is thought that alkylamine-rich diets may contribute to prevent (Th2-driven) food allergies [49].

13.3.4 Protein Ligands

13.3.4.1 Self-Ligands

Several self-proteins thought to report cellular "stress" have been shown to activate $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells via the TCR [15].

T10/T22

T10 and T22 are murine nonclassical MHC class I molecules expressed by highly activated cells that have been shown to bind specifically to two TCRγδ molecules (G8 and KN6) in surface plasmon resonance experiments [59, 60]. The crystal structures of these murine TCR $\gamma\delta$ complexed with T10/T22 have also been solved [60]. So far, these are the only structural evidences for direct binding of TCR $\gamma\delta$ to its ligand. Although MHC-I related, T10 and T22 do not present peptides or lipids, being instead recognized as intact proteins via contacts with an extended complementary-determining region (CDR)3 loop of TCRγδ [60-62]. T10-/T22specific $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells represent 0.4–0.6% of the peripheral $\gamma\delta$ T-cell pool of naive mice [59]; however, this reactivity is not conserved in humans (where T10 and T22 do not exist).

F1-ATPase

The human $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ TCR was shown to bind to Ecto-F1-ATPase, a form of the mitochondrial ATP synthase (ATPase) ectopically expressed at the cell membrane. This ligand was identified by screening monoclonal antibodies capable of inhibiting the recognition of tumor cell lines by $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells in vitro [41]. F1-ATPase is recognized by V γ 9V δ 2 TCR in a complex with the serum protein apolipoprotein A1 (ApoA-1). These components seem involved in endogenous phosphoantigen presentation, considering the ability of ecto-F1-ATPase to bind and present triphosphoric acid 1-adenosin-5'-yl ester 3-(3-methylbut-3-enyl) ester (ApppI) [63]. ApppI is an intracellular nucleotidic metabolite containing an isopentenyl moiety that accumulates in aminobisphosphonate-treated cells. ApppI can specifically activate Vy9V82 T-Cells, but not in its native form; it requires processing by a nucleotidic pyrophosphatase (NPP), which releases IPP and adenosine monophosphate (AMP). In this regard, ApppI should represent an inactive storage form of phosphoantigens that can only bind to ecto-F1-ATPase upon cleavage by NPP and generation of IPP [63].

However, the biological relevance of this interaction is still being addressed. It is possible that mitochondrial antigens could be an alerting signal that indicates the status and fate of the cell. On the other hand, the interaction between these molecules could be justified by the specific microbial origin of mitochondria, carrying antigens similar to modern microbes.

ULBP4

The nonclassical MHC class Ib protein, ULBP4, was detected on the cell surface of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-infected cells as well as on colon, ovarian, and liver cancer cells, suggesting a role in anti-infection and antitumor immunity. Immobilized soluble ULBP4 was shown to bind directly to soluble $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ TCR and to stimulate the activation of Jurkat V γ 9V δ 2 TCR transfectants (lacking NKG2D expression) [64]. Furthermore, ULBP4 ligation induced proliferation, cytokine production, and cytotoxic activity of human ovarian and colonic carcinoma-infiltrating $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells in vitro. However, blocking experiments indicated that both $V\gamma9V\delta2$ TCR and NKG2D are involved in ULBP4 recognition [64], raising questions about the hierarchy between NKG2D and Vy9V82 TCR in y8 T-cell activation and target recognition (Table 13.2).

Га	ble	e 13	3.2	Express	sion of	f NK	G2D i	in ly	mpl	hocy	te su	bsets
----	-----	------	-----	---------	---------	------	-------	-------	-----	------	-------	-------

Cell type	Mouse	Human			
NK cells	100%	100%			
CD8+	Before activation:	Before activation:			
T-Cells	absent	$\approx 100\%$			
	After activation:	After activation:			
	$\approx 100\%$	$\approx 100\%$			
CD4+	Rare or absent	Normally absent			
T-Cells					
γδ	Spleen (Vy4 and	Blood			
T-Cells	Vγ1): ≈25%	$(V\gamma 9V\delta 2) \approx 100\%$			
	IELs (Vy7): absent	Blood (V\delta1) $\approx 100\%$			
	Skin DETCs	IELs (V δ 1) $\approx 100\%$			
	(Vγ5Vδ1): ≈100%				

MICA

Dual recognition of tumors and infected cells is achieved by human V δ 1 cells, as TCR-dependent responses toward both epithelial cell-derived tumors and infected cells have been shown [21]. MHC I chain-related peptide A (MICA) has been proposed as an important tumor antigen, with recognition of MICA-positive tumor cells by V δ 1 lymphocytes infiltrating colon carcinomas [65–67]. Nevertheless, the very low affinity of MICA–V δ 1TCR interactions estimated by surface plasmon resonance analyses raises doubts about the functional relevance of MICA recognition by V δ 1 TCRs [68].

EPCR

Recently, a human V γ 4V δ 5 clone was shown to directly bind endothelial protein C receptor (EPCR), which allowed $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells to recognize both endothelial cells targeted by CMV and epithelial tumors. EPCR is a major histocompatibility complex-like molecule that binds lipids analogously to the antigen-presenting molecule CD1d [69].

Heat-Shock Proteins (HSPs)

Because of their role as sensors during cell stress or transformation, HSPs (heat-shock proteins) were initially proposed as antigenic targets for $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells. Some members of HSPs were shown to be upregulated on tumors, where $\gamma\delta$ T-Cell had infiltrated, suggesting HSP-65-dependent recognition of tumor cells by V γ 9V δ 2 T lymphocytes [46, 70]. Also, HSP-60 was shown to be recognized by V γ 9V δ 2 T-Cells [71] and promote their expansion [72].

13.3.4.2 Non-Self-Ligands

Tetanus toxoid, a strong immunogen derived from a protein, the tetanospasmin of *Clostridium tetani*, was the first defined antigen reported to be capable of stimulating $\gamma\delta$ T-cell responses [73, 74]. Others that followed include viral proteins such as glycoprotein I from herpes simplex [75] and staphylococcal enterotoxin A [76]. More recently, the defined mycobacterial protein ESAT-6 was found to stimulate $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells [77], and this may not be the only mycobacterial protein recognized by $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells [78].

13.4 γδ T-Cell Activation: Costimulatory Molecules

T-cell activation depends not only on TCR triggering but also on signals from several additional receptors, commonly referred to as costimulatory molecules. Although these mechanisms have been extensively studied for conventional $\alpha\beta$ T-Cells, they are less well established for $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells [79].

13.4.1 CD27

CD27 is a member from the TNF-receptor superfamily that plays critical roles on $\gamma\delta$ T-cell activation, particularly in response to viral and tumor challenge [80]. The ligand for CD27 is CD70, and the interaction between these molecules provides a potent second signal for cytokine production, induction of activation markers, and proliferation of primed and unprimed peripheral blood lymphocytes [81].

The authors have shown that the expression levels of CD27 define two stable subsets of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells in naive C57BL/6 mice [14, 79]. The majority of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells in the spleen, lymph nodes, and various tissues are CD27⁺ and secrete IFN- γ upon activation. By contrast, IL-17 is only produced by their CD27⁻ counterparts. Interestingly, these distinct phenotypes are "preprogrammed" in the thymus, as early as in embryonic stages [14, 82]. Moreover, CD27 stimulation (using soluble recombinant CD70) in fetal thymic organ cultures favored the development of IFN- γ^+ $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells [14].

In the periphery, CD70–CD27 interactions provide survival and proliferative signals that control TCR $\gamma\delta$ -driven activation. Thus, CD27 signaling activates the noncanonical NF- κ B pathway and enhances the expression of antiapoptotic and cell cycle-related genes in murine $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells [79, 83, 84].

In humans, an average of 80% of V γ 9V δ 2 T-Cells express CD27 [83] including both naive and central memory cells [85]. Upon activation with phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) and ionomycin, the vast majority of CD27⁺ V γ 9V δ 2 T-Cells produce IFN- γ , whereas less than 1% produce IL-17 [83]. A recent work performed by the authors demonstrated that CD70-CD27 interactions enhanced survival and proliferation of phosphoantigen-activated Vγ9Vδ2 T-Cells and promoted their Th1-like responses (i.e., the secretion of IFN- γ and TNF- α) [83]. Thus, a major role of CD27 costimulation in Vγ9Vδ2 T-Cells appears to be the protection from activation-induced cell death (AICD) following phosphoantigen-mediated (TCR-dependent) stimulation [83]. Interestingly, CD70 is strongly induced in phosphoantigen-activated $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells, which may therefore provide their own CD27 ligands during immune responses.

13.4.2 CD28

CD28, the receptor for B7.1 (CD80) or B7.2 (CD 86), is the primary costimulatory receptor for $\alpha\beta$ T-Cells. CD28 signaling has been shown to produce both qualitative and quantitative changes leading to lower activation thresholds and enhanced $\alpha\beta$ T-cell functions. CD28 signaling promotes proliferation, survival, and cytokine production of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-Cells, and such responses are frequently impaired in *Cd28^{-/-}* mice [86].

CD28 is upregulated upon activation in murine $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells and it is expressed by 40–60% of freshly isolated human peripheral blood $\gamma\delta$ cells [79, 87]. Although some reports suggested that CD28 costimulation promotes the proliferation of peripheral $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells, other biological processes appeared to be CD28 independent [79].

The authors have recently revisited the role of CD28 costimulation in $\gamma\delta$ T-cell activation. It was observed that CD28, constitutively expressed on freshly isolated lymphoid $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells, promoted $\gamma\delta$ T cell survival and proliferation in both mice and humans. Thus, $\gamma\delta$ cell expansion was significantly enhanced by CD28 receptor agonists

but abrogated by B7 antibody-mediated blockade [87]. Mechanistically, it was shown that the induction of IL-2 production is a major and specific function of CD28 (but not CD27) costimulation in $\gamma\delta$ cells, which are known to strongly benefit from IL-2 signals for their expansion [35, 88]. The fact that $\gamma\delta$ cells can produce high levels of IL-2 strictly upon CD28 costimulation defines important rules for their expansion in situ. Of note, CD28-deficient mice displayed reduced [relative to wild type (WT) controls] numbers of total or activated $\gamma\delta$ cells following *Plasmodium* berghei infection, which was not phenocopied in CD27-deficient animals. This demonstrates that the two costimulatory pathways play independent roles in $\gamma\delta$ T-cell activation in vivo [87]. Most importantly, CD28-deficient mice failed to expand both IFN- γ^+ and IL-17⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells in response to *Plasmodium* parasites [87], which contrasted with the selective effect of CD27 on IFN- γ -producing $\gamma\delta$ cells [84]. Regarding the latter, the authors further showed that CD28 acts nonredundantly and synergistically with CD27 in their activation and expansion following malaria infection [87].

13.4.3 Fc Receptors: CD16

NK cells are able to detect IgG antibody-coated cells through the FcyRIIIA (CD16) cell-surface receptor and to exert antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity (ADCC) and cytokine production. Specifically, higher cytolytic activity and early IFN- γ production are functional properties of CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ NK cells [89]. CD16 is coupled to the CD3 ς and FcR γ signal transduction proteins bearing immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs). Besides NK cells, a subset of V γ 9V δ 2 T-Cells has been shown to express CD16. CD16 upregulation is associated with terminal differentiation into effector cells of both $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells. Interestingly, Angelini et al. showed that this phenotypic differentiation was associated with decreased Vy9V82 TCR signaling that paralleled enhanced CD16-mediated T-cell activation [90]. The mechanisms underlying the balanced contribution of TCR versus

CD16 signaling along $\gamma\delta$ T-cell functional differentiation remain unclear. Nevertheless, experiments led by Lafont et al. have highlighted the role played by CD16 engagement in $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells. Indeed, cross-linking of CD16 on V γ 9V δ 2 T lymphocytes initiates intracellular signaling events similar, although significantly delayed, to those occurring following TCR activation. Moreover, as observed with the TCR activation process, CD16-triggered TNF- α production can be efficiently inhibited by the coincident ligation of CD94/NKG2A [91].

Recently, the activation of V γ 9V δ 2 T-Cells with the synthetic phosphoantigen BrH-PP was shown to improve the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy by the therapeutic mAb rituximab (RTX). Thus, combination of BrH-PP with RTX increased V γ 9V δ 2 T-cell binding and ADCC activity against CD20⁺ lymphoma cells in vitro. Moreover, a regimen combining RTX, BrH-PP, and IL-2 activated V γ 9V δ 2 T lymphocytes and enhanced B-cell depletion from blood and lymph nodes of cynomolgus macaques [92].

13.5 γδ T-Cell Activation via Natural Killer Receptors (NKRs)

13.5.1 NKG2D

Natural killer group 2 member D (NKG2D) is an activating C-type lectin receptor expressed on the surface of NK cells, CD8⁺ T-Cells, and $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells [93] (Table 13.2). NKG2D activation is best described in NK cells, where its cross-linking (on murine NK cells) was shown to trigger several effector mechanisms, such as Th1 cytokine production (IFN- γ , GM-CSF, TNF- α) and the release of cytotoxic granules [94, 95].

NKG2D itself does not possess signaling capacity. In humans, NKG2D exists on the cell surface complexed with the DAP10 adaptor protein that contains a YxxM motif which, upon tyrosine phosphorylation, couples the receptor complex to the PI3K/Grb2-Vav pathway [96, 97]. Murine NKG2D is encoded by two splice variants [98]. The long isoform (mNKG2D-L) associates only with DAP10, whereas the short isoform (mNKG2D-S) associates with DAP10 or DAP12 [98, 99].

Several mechanisms are known to regulate the cell-surface expression of the NKG2D receptor, including the differential action of particular cytokines. Thus, TGF- β 1 [100–102] and IL-21 [103] lead to downregulation of NKG2D expression on NK and CD8⁺ T-Cells. By contrast, IL-2 and IL-15 signals increase NKG2D surface expression [104, 105] by upregulating DAP10 mRNA and protein synthesis. Interestingly, it was shown that TCR ligation in CD8⁺ T-Cells also upregulates NKG2D/DAP10 cell-surface expression [106], which may underlie a costimulatory function for NKG2D in CD8⁺ T-Cells.

The role of NKG2D in T-Cells remains controversial, as some authors argue that NKG2D has solely a costimulatory function, whereas others defend that NKG2D signals can activate T-Cells in the absence of TCR engagement. Thus, for human CD8+ T-Cells, various reports showed that NKG2D-DAP10 can mediate cytolysis independent of TCR engagement when cells are exposed to IL-15 or high-dose IL-2 [105, 107-109]. Specifically for yo T-Cells, some studies reported the ability of $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells to trigger effector responses through NKG2D stimulation alone [110, 111]. However, others have failed to show any Vγ9Vδ2 T-cell NKG2D-induced activation without coincident TCR stimulation [112, 113]. In particular, it was recently shown that NKG2D triggering per se could not produce calcium fluxes in $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells, but its co-engagement with TCR/CD3 significantly augmented the intensity of calcium responses, which also translated into enhanced cytotoxicity (while not affecting IFN-γ production) [113].

The ligands for NKG2D belong to the MHC class Ib protein family (also known as nonclassical MHC), which are usually upregulated on transformed, stressed, or infected cells. The MHC class Ib molecules are structurally related to class Ia proteins in that they show typical (α 1– α 2) MHC fold on a single polypeptide, which, in the case of Ib, does not obligatorily paired with β 2-microglobulin. Furthermore, although many *MHC Ib* genes are located in the MHC locus,



Fig. 13.1 Mouse and human NKG2D ligands. All NKG2D ligands have $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ domains with structural homology to MHC class I, and MICA and MICB have also a $\alpha 3$ domain. By contrast with MHC class I, none of the NKG2D ligands associate with $\beta 2$ -microglobulin or

they tend to be oligomorphic, with few alleles present in the population (with the notable exception of MICA/B), which markedly contrasts with the extensive polymorphism of class Ia [114]. MHC class Ib molecules can work as ligands for particular types of TCRs or NK receptors, most notably NKG2D [114].

Mouse NKG2D binds to retinoic acid early transcript (Rae1), histocompatibility antigen 60 (H60), and murine UL16-binding proteinlike transcript 1 (MULT1) (Fig. 13.1). Human NKG2D binds to MHC I chain-related (MIC) peptides A and B (MICA and MICB) and to UL16-binding proteins (ULBP, members 1-6) (Fig. 13.1) [114, 115]. MICA/B, ULBP4, H60, and MULT1 are transmembrane proteins, while ULBP1, ULBP2, ULBP3, ULBP5, and ULBP6 and Rae1 localize to the cell surface using glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) linkages [93, 115]. None of the NKG2D ligands bind to peptide or lipid antigens but rather interact directly with the receptor. In addition, NKG2D ligands do not associate with β 2-microglobulin [93] in contrast to some other members of the MHC class Ib family (e.g., HLA-G or CD1d).

NKG2D ligands are usually induced by a variety of signals associated with cellular stress, namely, oxidative stress, ionizing radiation, DNA-damaging agents, viral infections, and intracellular bacterial infections [116]. Nonetheless, the various NKG2D ligands have distinct patterns of expression, indicating that they cannot be considered simply redundant in function.

bind peptides. MULT1, H60, MICA/B, and ULBP4 are transmembrane-anchored type I glycoproteins, whereas Rae1 and ULBP1, ULBP2, ULBP3, ULBP5, and ULBP6 bind to cell membrane by a GPI anchor

Despite the marked differences in their amino acid sequences, the different ligands interact with NKG2D in similar fashion, and the receptor does not seem to undergo marked conformational changes to accommodate different ligands [117]. So far, there is no evidence that the different ligands induce qualitatively distinct biological effects in responding cells, though this remains a possibility. Minimally, the various ligands would be predicted to differ quantitatively in their effects based on the marked differences in their affinity for NKG2D. At present, the relevance of such differences has not been documented.

The murine ligands Rae1 and H60 are rare in healthy adult tissues, but their transcription is strongly induced in keratinocytes after their exposure to carcinogens in vivo [118], and they are overexpressed in the cutaneous papillomas and carcinomas that subsequently develop, as well as in various tumor cell lines [98, 119]. The expression of Rae1 or H60 by target cells was shown to enhance cytolysis and the production of IFN- γ by cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) [120] and $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells [118] leading to tumor rejection in vivo. Moreover, transduction of Rae1, H60, or MULT1 into NK-cell-resistant target cells made them susceptible to NK-cell-mediated killing and stimulated IFN- γ secretion [120, 121].

In contrast to other mouse ligands (Rae1 and H60), MULT1 is expressed at marked levels by various normal cells at the mRNA level [122], but cell-surface expression is low or has not been documented. For example, C57BL/6 thymocytes

contain high levels of Mult1 mRNA but stain poorly with NKG2D tetramers [123]. However, MULT1 is expressed at functional levels on the cell surface of numerous tumor cell lines, indicating that these molecules might be regulated at a level other than transcription [123].

The human MICA and MICB proteins show restricted and low expression in healthy tissues but are strongly induced by cellular stress (including heat shock) and transformation. In addition, they accumulate in various tumor cell lines, particularly those of epithelial origin [66, 124]. Upregulation of MICA and MICB expression by these cells seems to result from activation of heat-shock transcription elements in the promoters of the corresponding genes, an event known to accompany transformation [66]. Interestingly, heat-shock elements have not been implicated in regulating the expression of Rae1, H60, MULT1, or ULBPs. Atypically for MHC Ib molecules, the MIC genes are highly polymorphic consisting of 61 MICA and 30 MICB alleles [93].

Whereas the membrane-bound form of MICA provides stimulatory signals to killer lymphocytes, soluble forms that shed from the cell surface may downregulate surface NKG2D and impair tumor cytolysis, constituting an important immune evasion mechanism [125, 126]. Moreover, NKG2D ligands can be expressed by tumor-released exosomes [127] that promote downregulation of surface NKG2D expression by NK and CD8⁺ T-Cells. Interestingly, a similar phenomenon occurs in human placenta to avoid immunosuppression during pregnancy [128].

Distantly related to the MIC proteins are the members of the ULBP family. In contrast with Rae1 or MICA, ULBPs are expressed at significant levels in a wide range of healthy tissues and cell lines of both epithelial and non-epithelial origin [129, 130]. Ectopic expression of ULBP1 or ULBP2 on murine EL4 or RMA tumor cells elicits potent antitumor responses in syngeneic C57BL/6 and SCID mice, recruiting NK, NKT, and T-Cells to the tumor [131]. Similarly, tumor cells that are insensitive to NK cells can be lysed effectively when transfected with ULBPs [132]. Moreover, tumor cell susceptibility to current first-line treatment to NHL, rituximab (antiCD20 mAb), was shown to greatly depend on ULBP1–ULBP3 expression [133].

We have demonstrated that ULBP1 is a nonredundant determinant of hematological tumor susceptibility to V γ 9V δ 2 T-Cells [134]. By using loss- and gain-of-function studies, the authors have shown that ULBP1 expression on leukemia and lymphoma cell lines is required and sufficient for V γ 9V δ 2 T-cell recognition [134]. Moreover, leukemic B-Cells were also shown to express ULBP3 that is recognized by V δ 1 T-Cells, the other major subset of human $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells [135].

Furthermore, epithelial tumors, such as ovarian and colon carcinomas, which express low or undetectable levels of ULBP1 [110], seem to rely on ULBP4 for V γ 9V δ 2 T-cell recognition [64].

Cancer cells can also shed proteins of the ULBP family. ULBP2 is secreted both from tumor cell lines and primary tumor cells from patients and sera-soluble ULBP2 was shown to have poor prognostic value in melanoma patients [136]. Other studies also correlate NKG2D ligand expression with cancer clinical prognosis; for example, loss of ULBP1 in hepatocellular carcinoma correlates with tumor progression and early recurrence [137], whereas expression of MICA/B and ULBP2 in breast cancer is an independent prognostic parameter for relapse-free period [138].

The expression of human NKG2D ligands seems to be modulated by proteasome regulation. For example, in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC), bortezomib (an approved drug for treatment for plasma cell myeloma) and other proteasome inhibitors with distinct mechanisms of action dramatically and specifically upregulated ULBP1 mRNA and cell-surface protein expression. In different types of tumors, such as hepatocellular carcinoma, low-dose proteasome inhibitor drugs caused upregulation of MICA and MICB, but not ULBP1-3 [139]. In contrast, other reports showed that several proteasome inhibitor drugs increased ULBP2 levels on Jurkat surface T-Cells, whereas MICA, MICB, ULBP1, ULBP3, and ULBP4 were not affected [140].

Moreover, both murine and human non-tumor cell lines may upregulate NKG2D ligands in response to DNA-damaging agents and DNA synthesis inhibitors. Activation of the DNA damage pathway is frequently activated in tumor cell lines, possibly due to the greater genomic instability of these cells compared with transformed cells [116].

Other mechanisms of NKG2D ligand expression regulation include differences in promoter sequences of the several ligands [141]; cytokine treatment, for example, TGF- β decreased transcription of MICA, ULBP2, and ULBP4 in human gliomas [142, 143] and IFN- γ decreased MICA message levels in melanoma [144]; and induction of p53, which lead to upregulation of ULBP1 and ULBP2 at the tumor cell surface [145].

An open question in the field is why there are so many ligands for the NKG2D receptor. It is possible that the several ligands stimulate NKG2D positive cells to respond to different forms of stress because they are capable of being expressed independent of each other [129, 130, 141] and because they engage NKG2D with different affinities, suggesting that NKG2D ligands may not be functionally equivalent. In any instance, NKG2D is clearly a key determinant of tumor immunosurveillance, since NKG2Ddeficient mice show increased growth of epithelial and lymphoid tumors in two transgenic models of de novo tumorigenesis [146].

13.5.2 NKG2A

As previously shown for NK cells, most human $V\gamma9V\delta2$ T-Cells express several inhibitory NK receptors, including killer Ig-like receptors (KIR), leukocyte Ig-like receptors (LIRs), and lectin-like receptors, such as the NKG2A/CD94 heterodimer.

The NKG2A/CD94 heterodimer is regarded as a crucial complex molecule for the inhibition of $\gamma\delta$ T-cell responses [147]. Most of these inhibitory NKRs decrease the killing of target cells expressing high levels of either classical or nonclassical MHC molecules. Due to the broad cellular distribution of some V γ 9V δ 2 TCR agonists such as IPP, which are upregulated on transformed cells, MHC class I-specific inhibitory NKR may selectively downregulate recognition of healthy cells by $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ CTL [118, 120, 148]. Accordingly, masking of inhibitory NKRs increases $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-cell killing of several hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic tumors [149].

13.5.3 Natural Cytotoxicity Receptors (NCRs)

Although TCR and NKG2D play central roles in the activation of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells, their response to tumors may involve other receptors, such as natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs), including the activating receptors NKp30 [150], NKp44 [151, 152], and NKp46 [153, 154].

NKp30 is encoded on chromosome 6 and has no homology with NKp44 and NKp46, which are encoded on chromosomes 6 and 9, respectively [150]. Notably, NKp30 is a pseudogene in mice, with the exception of the wild strain Mus caroli [155]. A functional but low level of NKp30 protein is expressed in resting peripheral chimpanzee NK cells [156]. Several studies have shown that NKp30 is a major activating receptor involved in tumor cell lysis by NK cells. IL-2 [157] and IL-21 [103] induce NKp30 upregulation, whereas TGF-β downregulates NKp30, leading to impaired NK cytotoxicity [158]. Additionally, an NKp30-dull phenotype was shown to be acquired during leukemia development in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) [158, 159] and breast cancer [160] patients. This downregulation is possibly a mechanism of escape from innate immunity.

A recent study conducted by the authors demonstrated that human V δ 1 T-Cells can be selectively induced to express NKp30, NKp44, and NKp46 [161]. Importantly, specific gain-of-function and loss-of-function experiments showed that NKp30 makes the most important contribution to TCRindependent leukemia cell recognition. Moreover, the V δ 1 NKp30⁺ subset is able to target primary hematological tumors highly resistant to fully activated V γ 9V δ 2 PBLs [161].

Several groups have shown the constitutive expression of NKp30 ligands on tumor cells by assessing the binding of soluble NKp30 [162]. However, only one ligand (*B7-H6*) was demonstrated to be clearly involved in NKp30-mediated

tumor cell recognition [163]. *B7-H6* is a surface protein similar to other members of the B7 family. In contrast to B7.1 and B7.2, that recognize both CD28 and CTLA-4, *B7-H6* is not promiscuous, since it does not bind to any other CD28 family members or other NCRs [163]. Similar to NKp30, but in contrast to other B7 members, a functional *B7-H6* gene is missing in *Mus musculus*.

B7-H6 transcripts have not been detected in most normal adult tissues, consistent with the absence of the protein on circulating cells, isolated from healthy individuals. In contrast, *B7-H6* surface expression is observed in a restricted panel of tumor cell lines from various origins including lymphoma, leukemia, melanoma, and carcinoma as well as on primary tumor blood cells [163]. The pattern of *B7-H6* expression, which appears so far to be limited to tumor cells, is another example of stress-induced self-recognition by NK cells [164]. However, in pilot experiments, treatment of some NKp30 ligand-negative tumor cells with a panel of DNA-damaging agents had no major effect on *B7-H6* expression.

NKp44 is a type I transmembrane protein non-covalently associated in the plasma membrane with a disulfide homodimer of DAP12 (a transmembrane accessory protein that contains an ITAM, which provides intracellular activation signals) [151, 152]. The NKp44 molecule is expressed on the surface of IL-2 stimulated, but not on resting human NK cells, and therefore is referred to as an activation-induced triggering receptor [152]. Anti-NKp44 mAb can reduce NK-cell cytotoxicity toward certain tumor target cells, thereby indicating that these targets express the appropriate ligands for the receptor [151]. However, the identity of NKp44 ligands on tumors is currently unknown.

NKp44 seems to be involved in V γ 9V δ 2 cytotoxicity against MM cell lines lacking expression of NKG2D ligands. However, the percentage of NKp44⁺ $\gamma \delta$ T-Cells in culture was very low [165], thus raising the question about the biological importance of NKp44 expression on V γ 9V δ 2 T-Cells. Nonetheless, it seems like NKp44 is important for V δ 1⁺ $\gamma \delta$ T-Cells, as gain-of-function and loss-of-function experiments

demonstrate that NKp44 is also a functional receptor in activated V δ 1⁺ T-Cells and mediates tumor cell killing [161]. Importantly, a synergistic effect between NKp30 and NKp44 (with no additional effect of NKp46) was observed [161]. The authors are currently exploiting the potential of NCR⁺ V δ 1⁺ T-Cells in cancer immunotherapy.

13.5.4 DNAM-1

Another important NK receptor is DNAX accessory molecule-1 (DNAM-1 or CD266), a transmembrane glycoprotein that associates with LFA-1. Its ligands include poliovirus receptor (PVR) and Nectin-2. In NK cells, DNAM-1 has a role in tumor cell recognition together with NCRs and to a lesser extent with NKG2D [166]. Decreased expression of DNAM-1 has been observed in NK cells from AML patients [158, 167]. In mouse, DNAM-1 is a crucial component of T-cell-mediated immunological surveillance and partially contributes to NK-mediated lymphoma rejection [168].

Importantly, the human V γ 9V δ 2 T-cell subset expresses DNAM-1, and upon recognition of ligands expressed by hepatocellular carcinoma cells, DNAM-1 signals were shown to increase V γ 9V δ 2 cell cytotoxicity and IFN- γ secretion [169]. Furthermore, a recent report demonstrated that V γ 9V δ 2 T-Cells efficiently killed autologous AML blasts dependent on DNAM-1 and TCR signals. The DNAM-1 ligands, PVR and Nectin-2, were expressed by the targeted AML blasts [170].

13.6 Tumor Cell Recognition by $\gamma \delta$ T-Cells: TCRs Versus NKRs

Studies on hematological tumors have highlighted the major role played by activating NKRs in tumor cell recognition by human $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells. This was observed for both $V\gamma9V\delta2^+$ and $V\delta1^+NKp30^+$ T-cell subsets, in which NKG2D and/or NKp30, rather than the respective TCRs, mediated leukemia/lymphoma cell recognition [134, 161].



Some other groups have suggested that $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells recognize tumor targets through TCR interactions with self-ligands overexpressed by tumor cells and simply use NKR signals to fine-tune their activation threshold (reviewed in [5, 171–173]). In this scenario, TCR-mediated activity would be tightly regulated by an interplay between activating and inhibitory NKRs [171].

Building on these considerations, the authors' current working model includes two stages of γδ T-cell activation/differentiation and tumor cell recognition (Fig. 13.2). First, $\gamma\delta$ cells are potently activated by (mostly unknown) TCRy\delta ligands in the presence of IL-2. This, which can be achieved for Vy9V82 cells using (microbial or synthetic) phosphoagonists (plus IL-2), endows them with potent cytolytic (and cytokine-secreting) function but requires a subsequent phase of target identification, namely, for discrimination between tumor and healthy cells. We propose this is mainly determined by activating NKRs that bind stress-inducible proteins which selectively accumulate on the surface of tumor cells. Of note, the segregation of these two processes (activation vs. tumor cell recognition) in experimental systems requires pre-activation of γδ T-Cells (through the TCR) before testing them against tumor targets. More importantly, we believe the integration of these two phases will be the key for success of $\gamma\delta$ cell-based protocols in future cancer clinical trials.

13.7 γδ T-Cell Responses to Tumors

13.7.1 Antitumor Properties

 $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells can kill transformed cells, through pathways that involve the engagement of deathinducing receptors, such as CD95 (also known as FAS) and TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand receptors (TRAILR), and the release of cytotoxic effector molecules, such as perforin and granzymes [173]. Murine IELs, activated DETCs, and human V γ 9V δ 2 cells primarily express granzymes A and B at levels substantially higher than conventional CD8⁺ T-Cells. Moreover, a significant fraction of V γ 9V δ 2 cells express intermediate levels of CD16 and thus $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells can improve antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity (ADCC) [174].

The importance of murine $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells in tumor immunosurveillance was first described in 2001 by a seminal paper from the Hayday lab. They showed that $\gamma\delta$ -deficient mice were highly susceptible to multiple regimens of cutaneous carcinogenesis. Moreover, they observed that the $\gamma\delta$ T-cell response in WT mice was determined by NKG2D recognition of Rae1 and H60 molecules, expressed by skin tumor cells. This work further revealed that $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells not only inhibited the early stages of papillomas development but also limited their progression to carcinomas [118].

In the murine B16 melanoma model, $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells were shown to infiltrate tumor lesions already at day 3 posttransplantation and to provide a critical early source of IFN- γ [175]. By using bone marrow chimeras and fetal liver reconstitution experiments, the authors showed that IFN-y production by $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells seems to be required to control the growth of both methylcholanthrene (MCA)-induced tumors and B16 melanoma tumors. This ability of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells to produce IFN- γ was crucial for the subsequent $\alpha\beta$ T-cell activation and differentiation. Thus, depletion of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells resulted in significantly reduced IFN- γ production by both CD4+ and CD8+ T-Cells upon challenge with tumor lysates [175]. The direct comparison of protective properties of γδ T-Cells and $\alpha\beta$ T-Cells was addressed in other chemical carcinogen-induced tumors, namely, squamous cell carcinoma [176]. While papilloma development was comparable in WT and Tcrb-/- mice, it was highly accelerated in Tcrd^{-/-} and in the double-knockout mice, $Tcrb^{-/-} d^{-/-}$. This study revealed that $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells are strongly protective, whereas the contribution of $\alpha\beta$ T-Cells for tumor progression control is more modest [176].

Subsequent studies also using carcinogeninduced skin tumors reinforced the nonredundant antitumoral role of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells [177–179]. Moreover, by backcrossing *Tcrd*^{-/-} mice with transgenic adenocarcinoma mouse prostate cancer (TRAMP) mice, Liu and colleagues showed that $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells limit the development and progression of spontaneously arising mouse prostate cancer [180]. The authors also assessed the possibility of developing an adoptive cell therapy, by treating TRAMP-C2 subcutaneous tumor-bearing mice, with adoptively transferred $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells. Treated mice with supraphysiological numbers of WT $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells develop measurably less disease compared with untreated mice [180].

γδ T-Cells were also characterized as prototypic antitumor mediators in B-cell lymphomas. Peng and colleagues showed that B-cell lymphomas arose with higher frequency in Fas mutant lpr mice that were additionally deficient for γδ T-Cells [181]. Moreover, γδ T-Cells were present in great numbers around B-Cell tumor masses in the spleens of *pfp*^{-/-} mice [182]. Also, in this work, both γδ T-Cells and NK cells were shown to display potent cytotoxicity against spontaneously arising MHC class I-deficient B-Cell lymphomas.

Studies in mice (Table 13.3) have thus provided important clues to the physiological roles of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells, but owing to the differences between mouse and human $\gamma\delta$ T-cell subsets, these studies have not generally predicted the behavior of human $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells [5].

This notwithstanding, both main subsets of human $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells, $V\gamma9V\delta2$ and $V\delta1$ cells, have been shown to lyse a broad range of tumor cell lines in vitro. The $V\gamma9V\delta2^+$ subset has been more widely studied than the $V\delta1$ subset, probably due to the easiness of isolation, as they comprise most of the $\gamma\delta$ -PBLs. They have been shown to display potent cytotoxicity toward several cell lines of different origins, including breast cancer [183], colon and nasopharyngeal carcinomas [184],

	Chemical carcinogen-	Transplantable			
Spontaneous tumors	induced tumors	tumor cell lines	Tumor type	Reference	
	MCA, DMBA + TPA	PDV	Skin fibrosarcoma	[118]	
			Squamous cell carcinoma		
	MCA	B16-F0	Skin fibrosarcoma	[175]	
			Squamous cell carcinoma		
	DMBA + TPA		Squamous cell carcinoma	[176]	
b2m ^{-/-}			Spontaneous B-cell	[182]	
pfn ^{-/-}			lymphomas		
TRAMP \times <i>Tcrd</i> ^{-/-}			Prostate carcinoma	[180]	
	DMBA + TPA		Squamous cell carcinoma	[177]	

Table 13.3 Mouse tumor models implicating $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells in tumor immunosurveillance

MCA methylcholanthrene, *DMBA* dimethylbenzanthracene, *TPA* 12-*O*-tetra-decanoylphorbol, $\beta 2m$ $\beta 2$ -microglobulin, *pfn* perforin, *TRAMP* transgenic adenocarcinoma mouse prostate cancer

melanoma [185], pancreatic adenocarcinomas [185], and particularly a large number of hematopoietic cell-derived tumors [186, 187], including Daudi cell line derived from Burkitt's lymphoma [48, 188–190], and recently also toward cancer stem cells [191, 192]. However, the frequency of V δ 2 cells within lymphocytes infiltrating solid tumors is generally low, even within V γ 9V δ 2-suscepible tumors, such as renal and colon carcinomas [184, 193].

Another important antitumor effect is the induction of IFN- γ -producing V γ 9V δ 2 T-Cells in vivo. Multiple antitumor effects have been attributed to IFN- γ , including direct inhibition of tumor growth or more indirect effects such as the upregulation of MHC class I molecules and blocking of angiogenesis [194]. Interestingly, a significant negative correlation between the serum levels of the angiogenic factors like vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and IFN- γ was found in cancer patients treated with amino-bisphosphonates [195].

Conventional mouse models cannot be used to explore the possible antitumor activity of $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ cells in vivo, due to the lack of homologous TCR and thus the reactivity to phosphoantigens. However, xenogeneic immune deficiency (SCID) mouse models of human tumors have been established and revealed the efficacy of $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells against several human tumors in vivo [35, 185, 196-202]. Pre-activated adoptively transferred human Vy9V82 T-Cells localized to tumors [197], increased survival, and inhibited tumor growth [35, 185, 197, 199, 201]. $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells are also active against freshly isolated tumor cells from patients with follicular B-cell lymphoma or B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL) [203]. Similarly, a high survival rate is obtained when Vy9V82 TCR+ tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) (expanded from human colorectal tumors in vitro) are transferred into Daudi cell-bearing BALB/c nude mice compared with the transfer of $\alpha\beta$ TCR⁺ TILs or mice without treatment [204].

Although less studied, $V\delta1$ T-Cells are also promising targets for cancer immunotherapy. $V\delta1$ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes from colorectal cancer were shown to lyse autologous and allogeneic colorectal, renal, and pancreatic tumor cell lines [205]. Moreover, circulating V δ 1 cells from chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients were able to lyse B-CLL cells expressing ULBP3 [206]. By contrast, with their V γ 9V δ 2 counterparts, V δ 1 cells are quite frequent within T-Cells infiltrating solid tumors [193, 205, 207, 208].

The authors have also recently demonstrated that V δ 1 antitumor properties can be enhanced by their culture in the presence of PHA and IL-2 [161]. Fully activated V δ 1 cells display stronger cytotoxicity against B-CLL cells than the corresponding V δ 9V δ 2 counterparts, which was attributed to the selective induction of NCR expression in V δ 1 cells [161].

Interestingly, V δ 1 cells share reactivity toward CMV-infected cells and tumor intestinal epithelial cells [21]. This dual recognition also seems to be a characteristic of the V γ 4V δ 5 clone [69]. Willcox and colleagues demonstrated that V γ 4V δ 5 TCR binds directly to endothelial protein C receptor (EPCR) and that is expressed in both endothelial cells targeted by cytomegalovirus and epithelial tumors [69].

13.7.2 Pro-Tumor Properties

The potent antitumoral properties of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells have been widely shown for more than 15 years. This notwithstanding, some recent studies imply a pro-tumorigenic role for γδ T-Cells, for example, $\gamma\delta$ T-cell depletion reduced papilloma incidence [209] and breast tumor-infiltrating $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells suppressed naive and effector T-cell responses and blocked maturation and function of dendritic cells (DCs) [210]. Moreover, intratumoral $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells represented the most significant independent prognostic factor for assessing the severity of breast cancer compared with the other known factors. Intratumoral $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells were positively correlated with FOXP3+ regulatory T-Cells but negatively correlated with cytotoxic CD8⁺ T-Cells in breast cancer tissues [211].

Peng and colleagues have shown that human $V\delta1$ cells derived from breast cancer biopsies inhibited the maturation and function of dendritic cells and suppressed proliferation and IL-2 production of CD4⁺ T-Cells in vitro [210]. Thus, a pro-tumor role of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells may be linked to immunosuppressive functions that need to be further characterized.

Alternatively, the controversial pro-tumor function of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells may rely on their production of IL-17, based on a study that showed that murine IL-17-producing γδ T-Cells promoted tumor growth in a murine fibrosarcoma tumor model [212]. However, murine IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells were reported to be necessary for Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) treatment of bladder cancer [213] and for chemotherapeutic efficacy in subcutaneous tumor models [214]. Actually, the role of IL-17 in tumor surveillance is itself paradoxical. IL-17 production has been associated with enhanced tumor development/ progression in murine models of intestinal [215], skin [216], bladder [217], and ovarian carcinoma [218]; but, by contrast, IL-17-deficient mice were more susceptible to the development of lung melanoma [219] and lung metastasis [220].

A recent work performed by the authors suggests that $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells promote tumor progression in a mouse model of ovarian cancer (unpublished data). The authors observed that $\gamma\delta$ -deficient mice displayed decreased tumor burden compared with wild-type mice. Interestingly, a selective expansion of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells in the peritoneal cavity of tumor-bearing mice was observed; therefore, the authors are investigating if $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells promote ID8 tumor progression through the production of IL-17.

Several functions of IL-17 in the tumor microenvironment seem to contribute to tumor progression. Apart from a minor direct effect on the proliferation and survival of tumor cells (as not all tumor cells express the IL-17 receptor and respond to IL-17), the major pro-tumor function of IL-17 in inflammation-associated cancer cells seems to rely on its proangiogenic properties on the surrounding endothelial cells and fibroblasts [221]. By acting on stromal cells and fibroblasts, IL-17 induces a wide range of angiogenic mediators [222, 223], including VEGF, which markedly promotes inflammatory and tumor angiogenesis.

A more detailed characterization of $\gamma\delta$ -TILs, in a wider set of preclinical tumor models, is required to clarify the role of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells in tumor immunosurveillance. This should take into account the two functional $\gamma\delta$ T-cell subsets recently identified: CD27⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells produce IFN- γ but no IL-17, whereas IL-17 production is restricted to CD27⁻ $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells [14].

13.8 γδ T-Cell Modulation in Cancer Clinical Trials

Several features of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells make them attractive targets for cancer immunotherapy: abundant IFN-y secretion; potent, broad, and MHC-unrestricted cytotoxicity; and the availability of clinical grade agonists for $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells. $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells can be directly activated in vivo with TCR agonists or can be expanded in vitro and then reinfused into patients (adoptive cell therapy) [224] (Fig. 13.3). Clinical grade agonists used so far include the synthetic phosphoagonist bromohydrin pyrophosphate (BrH-PP) and the aminobisphosphonates pamidronate and zoledronate. In most clinical trials, recombinant IL-2 (rIL-2; a fundamental cytokine for $\gamma\delta$ T-cell expansion) was used in combination with TCR agonists (Table 13.4).

The antitumor activity of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells was first tested in a clinical trial in 2003 in which rIL-2 was administered to patients combined with pamidronate for the treatment of NHL and MM [225]. The combination of pamidronate and low-dose rIL-2 was well tolerated and partial responses were observed in 33% of the patients. Aminobisphosphonates were originally developed as therapeutic drugs for osteoporosis but are increasingly used for cancer therapy due to their antiangiogenic and proapoptotic properties [241], as well as their properties of activating V γ 9V δ 2 T-Cells.

Several clinical trials followed, with most of them relying on an alternative strategy consisting of the adoptive transfer of in vitro-expanded $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells with aminobisphosphonate (zoledronate, pamidronate, and BrH-PP) [224]. Zoledronate (the most used aminobisphosphonate) is efficient at expanding in vitro $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells



Fig. 13.3 V γ 9V δ 2 T-cell-based clinical trials. Strategies used in clinical trials include in vivo activation or adoptive transfer of ex vivo expanded $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells with aminobisphosphonates (pamidronate or zoledronate) or phos-

from patients with different diseases [233] and its efficacy was tested in clinical trials in patients with MM [234], renal cell carcinoma [231, 242], non-small cell lung cancer [235, 238]. These studies revealed no serious treatment-related adverse effects and demonstrated efficient expansion of V γ 9V82 T-Cells [231] and inhibition of tumor growth [234]. However, the objective responses have been generally quite modest (Table 13.4).

Due to the potent activation properties of HMB-PP, this phosphoagonist seems a potential alternative to use in the clinic. In preclinical models, HMB-PP injection in macaques induced a prolonged major expansion of circulating $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells with cytotoxic properties [243]. In clinical studies, there has been a complete remission in a metastatic renal cell carcinoma patient [237]. The patient underwent six monthly cycles of autologous $\gamma\delta$ -PBLs, activated and/or expanded in vitro with HMB-PP plus rIL-2, combined with the infusion of zoledronate plus low-dose rIL-2. This response was associated with a sharp increase in IFN-y-producing Vγ9Vδ2 T-Cells following adoptive transfer, and the patient has been disease-free for 2 years without any additional treatment.

phoantigens (BrH-PP), in combination with IL-2. *RCC* renal cell carcinoma, *NSCLC* non-small cell lung cancer, *ZOL* zoledronate, *BrH-PP* bromohydrin pyrophosphate

Globally, the clinical trials completed to date (summarized in Table 13.4), particularly those stimulating γδ T-Cell in vivo, have shown objective responses in the range of 10-33%. While in some patients there was clearly insufficient expansion of Vy9V82 T-Cells [225, 227, 228], in other patients, this could not explain for the absence of objective response. A general disadvantage of autologous yo T-cell-mediated immunotherapy is the frequent impaired function of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells in cancer patients. This phenomenon has been described in certain chronic infectious diseases such as HIV infection or tuberculosis, although the cause of this $\gamma\delta$ T-cell anergy is not fully understood [244, 245]. Recent data obtained with other lymphocyte subsets suggest that tumor-derived PDL1/2 signals may be responsible for the inhibition of PD-1⁺ T-Cells [246, 247]; nevertheless, these findings need to be further investigated [248]. Current $\gamma\delta$ T-cell-based treatments, although feasible and safe, have obvious limitations. It is therefore critical to further clarify the basic mechanisms of yo T-cell responses to tumors and to successfully modulate their activity in the clinic.

				%	%			
Immunotherapy	Cancer type	Treatment	Ν	PD	SD	% PR	% CR	Reference
In vivo administration of bisphosphonates	Refractory low-grade non-Hodgkin lymphoma and multiple myeloma	PAM + rIL-2 (d6–d8) without preselection	10	80	10			[225]
		PAM + rIL-2 (d1–d6) with preselection	9	44	22	33		
	Advanced breast and prostate cancer	ZOL	9	ND	ND	ND	ND	[226]
	Metastatic hormone-	ZOL	9	78	11	11		[227]
	refractory prostate cancer	ZOL + rIL-2	9	33	44	44		
	Advanced stage IV breast cancer	ZOL + rIL-2	10	70	20	10		[228]
	Metastatic RCC	ZOL + rIL-2	6	ND	ND	ND	ND	[229]
	Advanced RCC, malignant melanoma, and AML	ZOL + rIL-2	21			25% (AML patients)		[230]
Adoptive transfer of Vγ9Vδ2 T-Cells	Advanced RCC	BrH-PP + rIL- 2	7	ND	ND	ND		[231]
expanded and activated in vitro	Metastatic RCC	BrH-PP + rIL- 2	10	40	60			[232]
	Solid tumors	ZOL + rIL-2	25	24				[233]
	Multiple myeloma	ZOL + rIL-2	6	ND	ND	ND	ND	[234]
	Non-small cell lung cancer	ZOL + rIL-2	10	63	37	0		[235]
	Solid tumors	BrH-PP + rIL- 2	28	ND	ND	ND		[236]
	Metastatic RCC	ZOL + rIL-2	1				100 (N = 1)	[237]
	Non-small cell lung cancer	ZOL + rIL-2	15	60	40			[238]
	Solid tumors	ZOL						[239]
		– chemotherapy	5	40	40			
		+ chemotherapy	20	30	5	15		
	Solid tumors	ZOL + rIL-2	18	61	17	11	6	[240]

Table 13.4 Cancer immunotherapeutic approaches based on Vy9V82 T-cell activation

PD progressive disease, *SD* stable disease, *PR* partial remission, *CR* complete response, *RCC* renal cell carcinoma, *AML* acute myeloid disease, *PAM* pamidronate, *ZOL* zoledronate, *ND* not determined

13.9 Concluding Remarks

Over the past decade, various studies have reported encouraging results to target $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells for cancer immunotherapy [224]. However, despite these important findings, various major questions remain unanswered. For instance, it will be very important to decipher the full repertoire of tumor antigens involved in $\gamma\delta$ T-cell recognition and to find additional determinants of tumor cell killing. $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells express a very diverse panel of inhibitory and activating receptors that directly impact on their activation state and function (Fig. 13.4). However, we still lack a dynamic picture of the receptors elicited along tumor-induced $\gamma\delta$ T-cell activation, as well as a deep understanding of the interplay between the numerous signaling cascades induced upon sequential or concomitant receptor engagement [79].





Fig. 13.4 Receptors involved in $\gamma\delta$ T-cell activation and tumor cell recognition. T-Cells use their signature TCR to recognize antigens and cellular immune responses whose magnitude depends on the integrated engagement of a

series of other surface receptors, including CD27, CD28, CD16, and natural killer receptors, such as NKG2D and DNAM-1

It will be very important to determine exactly how phosphoagonists trigger V γ 9V δ 2 TCRmediated activation. One important recent study showed that intracellular accumulation of phosphoantigens is associated with membrane reorganization of CD277 molecules (BTN3A), which in turn leads to V γ 9V δ 2 T-cell activation [40]. Moreover, Harly and colleagues also described agonist and blocking CD277-specific antibodies that could be used for immunotherapeutic modulation of V γ 9V δ 2 T-cell responses toward tumor cells.

We believe that preselection of patients will increase the success of $\gamma\delta$ T-cell-based clinical trials. Thus, patients with leukemia or lymphoma expressing ULBP1 [134], or ovarian epithelial carcinoma or colonic carcinoma expressing ULBP4, presumably will benefit the most from V γ 9V δ 2 T-cell therapy [64]. Also, additional work has identified a panel of ten genes encoding cell-surface proteins that segregated with "susceptible" versus "resistant" hematological tumors [249].

Nonetheless, the "anergy" of repeatedly challenged phosphoantigen-treated $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$

T-Cells reported in vitro and in clinical trials [225, 227, 232] constitutes a serious obstacle to phosphoantigen-based immunotherapies. This acquired anergy may be caused by inhibitory receptors expressed on V γ 9V δ 2 T-Cells, as it was seen for PD-1 on CD8⁺ T-Cells [250], but other mechanisms are also likely to be involved. Importantly, the promising results with PD-1 blockade in cancer clinical trials [251] suggest that its combination with V γ 9V δ 2 T-cell agonists may hold the key to improved success.

The absolute need for exogenous IL-2 administration in cancer patients has become the major drawback for the later stages of development of phosphoantigen therapies [232]. In vivo administration of IL-2 (a very pleiotropic molecule) has a very deep impact on the patients' immune system and unpredictable consequences concerning V γ 9V82 T-cell activation. For example, the authors revealed that Tregs (which are highly sensitive to IL-2) can inhibit γ 8 T-cell proinflammatory functions in mice [252] and other studies have shown this in humans [253]. Studies with α β T-Cells struggled with the same problem, although only a few trials have omitted IL-2 infusions [254]. As previously described, phosphoantigens alone cannot sustain $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-cell activation and very low levels of IL-2 lead to incomplete cell activation. Thus, the ex vivo activation of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells for adoptive cellular immunotherapy, avoiding IL-2 infusions, clearly seems to be a more attractive strategy. Still, nonresponsive (NR) patients are typically excluded from $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-cell-based adoptive immunotherapy trials, owing to the impossibility of increasing the number of cells in vivo or ex vivo. The reason for this is not yet understood, although autologous DCs pretreated with zoledronate induced some expansion of $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells in NR patients [255].

The antitumor properties of adoptively transferred $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells can also be improved during in vitro expansion. This could be achieved, for example, through addition of IL-15 (which may increase cytolytic properties and tumor reactivity of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells through upregulation of NKG2D signaling) or IFN- α (which may increase TNFrelated, apoptosis-inducing, ligand-dependent killing of tumor cells). Moreover, transduction of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells with tumor-specific TCRs, or chimeric tumor-specific antigen receptors [256], will enlarge the tumor cell recognition pattern of $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells.

On the other hand, the authors have demonstrated that V δ 1 T-Cells may be an important alternative to $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T-Cells. A novel, highly cytotoxic subset of Vo1 T-Cells that express NCRs has been characterized [161]. Interestingly, Vδ1 T-Cells were numerically enriched and displayed enhanced cytotoxicity when compared to their V δ 2 counterparts in a collection of 74 primary cutaneous melanomas [208]. Moreover, the authors' most recent work demonstrated that $V\delta 1$ T-Cells, but not V82 T-Cells, express CCR2 and migrate to CCL2, whose expression is strongly deregulated in multiple human tumor types [257]. We are now pursuing with preclinical studies to apply Vo1 T-Cells (expressing NCRs) in cancer immunotherapy. Of note, no clinical trial based on V δ 1 T-Cells has been conducted to date.

The in vivo efficacy of $\gamma\delta$ T-cell-based immunotherapies can also be improved by using combinatorial regimens with chemotherapy. For example, prior lymphodepletion (similarly to the protocols applied before bone marrow transplantation) may sustain $\gamma\delta$ T-cell proliferation and survival after adoptive transfer protocols. Moreover, along with the studies in mice [214, 258], $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells seem to be highly beneficial after chemotherapy-induced tumor cell death.

Finally, it was observed that despite their promise for cancer immunotherapy, $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells may, under certain conditions, display pro-tumor functions. Moreover, $\gamma\delta$ T-cell infiltration is associated with poor survival of breast cancer patients [211]. These findings raise interesting questions for future investigation: Are there distinct protumor versus antitumor $\gamma\delta$ T-cell subsets? Do these differentially infiltrate tumor types? Does the tumor microenvironment manipulate the balance between pro-tumor versus antitumor $\gamma\delta$ T-cell subsets? If so, can we intervene to tip the balance toward antitumor $\gamma\delta$ T-Cells?

It is hoped that the collective efforts in developing novel $\gamma\delta$ T-cell-based immunotherapy protocols will offer an alternative treatment to patients affected by cancer, particularly by preventing disease relapse upon failure of conventional treatments.

References

- Hayday AC, Saito H, Gillies SD, Kranz DM, Tanigawa G, Eisen HN, et al. Structure, organization, and somatic rearrangement of T-cell gamma genes. Cell. 1985;40(2):259–69.
- Heilig JS, Tonegawa S. Diversity of murine gamma genes and expression in fetal and adult T lymphocytes. Nature. 1986;322(6082):836–40.
- Hayday AC. [gamma][delta] cells: a right time and a right place for a conserved third way of protection. Annu Rev Immunol. 2000;18:975–1026.
- Hayday AC. Gamma delta T-cells and the lymphoid stress-surveillance response. Immunity. 2009;31(2):184–96.
- Bonneville M, O'Brien RL, Born WK. Gammadelta T-cell effector functions: a blend of innate programming and acquired plasticity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10(7):467–78.
- Lefranc MP, Rabbitts TH. The human T-cell receptor gamma (TRG) genes. Trends Biochem Sci. 1989;14(6):214–8.
- Carding SR, Kyes S, Jenkinson EJ, Kingston R, Bottomly K, Owen JJ, et al. Developmentally regulated fetal thymic and extrathymic T-cell recep-

tor gamma delta gene expression. Genes Dev. 1990;4(8):1304–15.

- Bergstresser PR, Sullivan S, Streilein JW, Tigelaar RE. Origin and function of Thy-1+ dendritic epidermal cells in mice. J Invest Dermatol. 1985;85(1 Suppl):85s–90s.
- Heyborne KD, Cranfill RL, Carding SR, Born WK, O'Brien RL. Characterization of gamma delta T lymphocytes at the maternal-fetal interface. J Immunol. 1992;149(9):2872–8.
- Simonian PL, Roark CL, Wehrmann F, Lanham AM, Born WK, O'Brien RL, et al. IL-17A-expressing T-cells are essential for bacterial clearance in a murine model of hypersensitivity pneumonitis. J Immunol. 2009;182(10):6540–9.
- Jameson J, Havran WL. Skin gammadelta T-cell functions in homeostasis and wound healing. Immunol Rev. 2007;215:114–22.
- Dalton JE, Howell G, Pearson J, Scott P, Carding SR. Fas-Fas ligand interactions are essential for the binding to and killing of activated macrophages by gamma delta T-Cells. J Immunol. 2004;173(6):3660–7.
- Romani L, Fallarino F, De Luca A, Montagnoli C, D'Angelo C, Zelante T, et al. Defective tryptophan catabolism underlies inflammation in mouse chronic granulomatous disease. Nature. 2008;451(7175):211–5.
- Ribot JC, DeBarros A, Pang DJ, Neves JF, Peperzak V, Roberts SJ, et al. CD27 is a thymic determinant of the balance between interferon-gamma- and interleukin 17-producing gammadelta T-cell subsets. Nat Immunol. 2009;10(4):427–36.
- Born WK, Reardon CL, O'Brien RL. The function of gammadelta T-cells in innate immunity. Curr Opin Immunol. 2006;18(1):31–8.
- McVay LD, Jaswal SS, Kennedy C, Hayday A, Carding SR. The generation of human gammadelta T-cell repertoires during fetal development. J Immunol. 1998;160(12):5851–60.
- Casorati G, De Libero G, Lanzavecchia A, Migone N. Molecular analysis of human gamma/delta+ clones from thymus and peripheral blood. J Exp Med. 1989;170(5):1521–35.
- Rakasz E, MacDougall AV, Zayas MT, Helgelund JL, Ruckward TJ, Hatfield G, et al. Gammadelta T-cell receptor repertoire in blood and colonic mucosa of rhesus macaques. J Med Primatol. 2000;29(6):387–96.
- De Rosa SC, Andrus JP, Perfetto SP, Mantovani JJ, Herzenberg LA, Roederer M. Ontogeny of gamma delta T-cells in humans. J Immunol. 2004;172(3):1637–45.
- De Rosa SC, Mitra DK, Watanabe N, Herzenberg LA, Roederer M. Vdelta1 and Vdelta2 gammadelta T-cells express distinct surface markers and might be developmentally distinct lineages. J Leukoc Biol. 2001;70(4):518–26.
- 21. Halary F, Pitard V, Dlubek D, Krzysiek R, de la Salle H, Merville P, et al. Shared reactivity of

V{delta}2(neg) {gamma}{delta} T-cells against cytomegalovirus-infected cells and tumor intestinal epithelial cells. J Exp Med. 2005;201(10):1567–78.

- 22. Brandes M, Willimann K, Bioley G, Levy N, Eberl M, Luo M, et al. Cross-presenting human gammadelta T-cells induce robust CD8+ alphabeta T-cell responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(7):2307–12.
- Brandes M, Willimann K, Moser B. Professional antigen-presentation function by human gammadelta T-cells. Science. 2005;309(5732):264–8.
- Morita CT, Beckman EM, Bukowski JF, Tanaka Y, Band H, Bloom BR, et al. Direct presentation of nonpeptide prenyl pyrophosphate antigens to human gamma delta T-cells. Immunity. 1995;3(4):495–507.
- Bukowski JF, Morita CT, Band H, Brenner MB. Crucial role of TCR gamma chain junctional region in prenyl pyrophosphate antigen recognition by gamma delta T-cells. J Immunol. 1998;161(1):286–93.
- 26. Pfeffer K, Schoel B, Gulle H, Kaufmann SH, Wagner H. Primary responses of human T-cells to mycobacteria: a frequent set of gamma/delta T-cells are stimulated by protease-resistant ligands. Eur J Immunol. 1990;20(5):1175–9.
- Carding SR, Egan PJ. The importance of gamma delta T-cells in the resolution of pathogen-induced inflammatory immune responses. Immunol Rev. 2000;173:98–108.
- 28. Hintz M, Reichenberg A, Altincicek B, Bahr U, Gschwind RM, Kollas AK, et al. Identification of (E)-4-hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl pyrophosphate as a major activator for human gammadelta T-cells in Escherichia coli. FEBS Lett. 2001;509(2):317–22.
- 29. Morita CT, Lee HK, Wang H, Li H, Mariuzza RA, Tanaka Y. Structural features of nonpeptide prenyl pyrophosphates that determine their antigenicity for human gamma delta T-cells. J Immunol. 2001;167(1):36–41.
- Constant P, Davodeau F, Peyrat MA, Poquet Y, Puzo G, Bonneville M, et al. Stimulation of human gamma delta T-cells by nonpeptidic mycobacterial ligands. Science. 1994;264(5156):267–70.
- Tanaka Y, Morita CT, Nieves E, Brenner MB, Bloom BR. Natural and synthetic non-peptide antigens recognized by human gamma delta T-cells. Nature. 1995;375(6527):155–8.
- 32. Gober HJ, Kistowska M, Angman L, Jeno P, Mori L, De Libero G. Human T-cell receptor gammadelta cells recognize endogenous mevalonate metabolites in tumor cells. J Exp Med. 2003;197(2):163–8.
- Sireci G, Espinosa E, Di Sano C, Dieli F, Fournie JJ, Salerno A. Differential activation of human gammadelta cells by nonpeptide phosphoantigens. Eur J Immunol. 2001;31(5):1628–35.
- 34. Eberl M, Altincicek B, Kollas AK, Sanderbrand S, Bahr U, Reichenberg A, et al. Accumulation of a potent gammadelta T-cell stimulator after deletion of the lytB gene in Escherichia coli. Immunology. 2002;106(2):200–11.

- 35. Correia DV, D'Orey F, Cardoso BA, Lanca T, Grosso AR, DeBarros A, et al. Highly active microbial phosphoantigen induces rapid yet sustained MEK/ Erk- and PI-3K/Akt-mediated signal transduction in anti-tumor human gammadelta T-cells. PLoS One. 2009;4(5):e5657.
- 36. Miyagawa F, Tanaka Y, Yamashita S, Mikami B, Danno K, Uehara M, et al. Essential contribution of germline-encoded lysine residues in Jgamma1.2 segment to the recognition of nonpeptide antigens by human gammadelta T-cells. J Immunol. 2001;167(12):6773–9.
- Kunzmann V, Bauer E, Feurle J, Weissinger F, Tony HP, Wilhelm M. Stimulation of gammadelta T-cells by aminobisphosphonates and induction of antiplasma cell activity in multiple myeloma. Blood. 2000;96(2):384–92.
- Kato Y, Tanaka Y, Tanaka H, Yamashita S, Minato N. Requirement of species-specific interactions for the activation of human gamma delta T-cells by pamidronate. J Immunol. 2003;170(7):3608–13.
- Allison TJ, Winter CC, Fournie JJ, Bonneville M, Garboczi DN. Structure of a human gammadelta T-cell antigen receptor. Nature. 2001;411(6839):820–4.
- 40. Harly C, Guillaume Y, Nedellec S, Peigne CM, Monkkonen H, Monkkonen J, et al. Key implication of CD277/butyrophilin-3 (BTN3A) in cellular stress sensing by a major human gammadelta T-cell subset. Blood. 2012;120(11):2269–79.
- 41. Scotet E, Martinez LO, Grant E, Barbaras R, Jeno P, Guiraud M, et al. Tumor recognition following Vgamma9Vdelta2 T-cell receptor interactions with a surface F1-ATPase-related structure and apolipoprotein A-I. Immunity. 2005;22(1):71–80.
- 42. Mookerjee-Basu J, Vantourout P, Martinez LO, Perret B, Collet X, Perigaud C, et al. F1-adenosine triphosphatase displays properties characteristic of an antigen presentation molecule for Vgamma9Vdelta2 T-cells. J Immunol. 2010;184(12):6920–8.
- Lange BM, Rujan T, Martin W, Croteau R. Isoprenoid biosynthesis: the evolution of two ancient and distinct pathways across genomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(24):13172–7.
- 44. Jomaa H, Wiesner J, Sanderbrand S, Altincicek B, Weidemeyer C, Hintz M, et al. Inhibitors of the nonmevalonate pathway of isoprenoid biosynthesis as antimalarial drugs. Science. 1999;285(5433):1573–6.
- 45. Jomaa H, Feurle J, Luhs K, Kunzmann V, Tony HP, Herderich M, et al. Vgamma9/Vdelta2 T-cell activation induced by bacterial low molecular mass compounds depends on the 1-deoxy-Dxylulose 5-phosphate pathway of isoprenoid biosynthesis. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 1999;25(4):371–8.
- 46. Bonneville M, Fournie JJ. Sensing cell stress and transformation through Vgamma9Vdelta2 T-cellmediated recognition of the isoprenoid pathway metabolites. Microbes Infect. 2005;7(3):503–9.

- Chen ZW, Letvin NL. Adaptive immune response of Vgamma2Vdelta2 T-cells: a new paradigm. Trends Immunol. 2003;24(4):213–9.
- Yang KY, Liu Y, Zhang S. Activation of a mitogenactivated protein kinase pathway is involved in disease resistance in tobacco. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(2):741–6.
- Poupot M, Fournie JJ. Non-peptide antigens activating human Vgamma9/Vdelta2 T lymphocytes. Immunol Lett. 2004;95(2):129–38.
- 50. Shefer S, Tint GS, Jean-Guillaume D, Daikhin E, Kendler A, Nguyen LB, et al. Is there a relationship between 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme a reductase activity and forebrain pathology in the PKU mouse? J Neurosci Res. 2000;61(5):549–63.
- Houten SM, Schneiders MS, Wanders RJ, Waterham HR. Regulation of isoprenoid/cholesterol biosynthesis in cells from mevalonate kinase-deficient patients. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(8):5736–43.
- 52. Harwood HJ Jr, Alvarez IM, Noyes WD, Stacpoole PW. In vivo regulation of human leukocyte 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase: increased enzyme protein concentration and catalytic efficiency in human leukemia and lymphoma. J Lipid Res. 1991;32(8):1237–52.
- 53. Gueddari N, Favre G, Hachem H, Marek E, Le Gaillard F, Soula G. Evidence for up-regulated low density lipoprotein receptor in human lung adenocarcinoma cell line A549. Biochimie. 1993;75(9):811–9.
- 54. Asslan R, Pradines A, Pratx C, Allal C, Favre G, Le Gaillard F. Epidermal growth factor stimulates 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase expression via the ErbB-2 pathway in human breast adenocarcinoma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;260(3):699–706.
- Kunzmann V, Bauer E, Wilhelm M. Gamma/delta T-cell stimulation by pamidronate. N Engl J Med. 1999;340(9):737–8.
- Kato Y, Tanaka Y, Miyagawa F, Yamashita S, Minato N. Targeting of tumor cells for human gammadelta T-cells by nonpeptide antigens. J Immunol. 2001;167(9):5092–8.
- Das H, Wang L, Kamath A, Bukowski JF. Vgamma2Vdelta2 T-cell receptor-mediated recognition of aminobisphosphonates. Blood. 2001;98(5):1616–8.
- 58. Kamath AB, Wang L, Das H, Li L, Reinhold VN, Bukowski JF. Antigens in tea-beverage prime human Vgamma 2Vdelta 2T cells in vitro and in vivo for memory and nonmemory antibacterial cytokine responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(10):6009–14.
- 59. Crowley MP, Fahrer AM, Baumgarth N, Hampl J, Gutgemann I, Teyton L, et al. A population of murine gammadelta T-Cells that recognize an inducible MHC class Ib molecule. Science. 2000;287(5451):314–6.
- Adams EJ, Strop P, Shin S, Chien YH, Garcia KC. An autonomous CDR3delta is sufficient for rec-

ognition of the nonclassical MHC class I molecules T10 and T22 by gammadelta T-cells. Nat Immunol. 2008;9(7):777–84.

- Shin S, El-Diwany R, Schaffert S, Adams EJ, Garcia KC, Pereira P, et al. Antigen recognition determinants of gammadelta T-cell receptors. Science. 2005;308(5719):252–5.
- Adams EJ, Chien YH, Garcia KC. Structure of a gammadelta T-cell receptor in complex with the nonclassical MHC T22. Science. 2005;308(5719):227–31.
- Vantourout P, Mookerjee-Basu J, Rolland C, Pont F, Martin H, Davrinche C, et al. Specific requirements for Vgamma9Vdelta2 T-cell stimulation by a natural adenylated phosphoantigen. J Immunol. 2009;183(6):3848–57.
- 64. Kong Y, Cao W, Xi X, Ma C, Cui L, He W. The NKG2D ligand ULBP4 binds to TCRgamma9/ delta2 and induces cytotoxicity to tumor cells through both TCRgammadelta and NKG2D. Blood. 2009;114(2):310–7.
- Groh V, Steinle A, Bauer S, Spies T. Recognition of stress-induced MHC molecules by intestinal epithelial gammadelta T-cells. Science. 1998;279(5357):1737–40.
- 66. Groh V, Rhinehart R, Secrist H, Bauer S, Grabstein KH, Spies T. Broad tumor-associated expression and recognition by tumor-derived gamma delta T-cells of MICA and MICB. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(12):6879–84.
- 67. Qi J, Zhang J, Zhang S, Cui L, He W. Immobilized MICA could expand human Vdelta1 gammadelta T-cells in vitro that displayed major histocompatibility complex class I chain-related A-dependent cytotoxicity to human epithelial carcinomas. Scand J Immunol. 2003;58(2):211–20.
- Zhao J, Huang J, Chen H, Cui L, He W. Vdeltal T-Cell receptor binds specifically to MHC I chain related A: molecular and biochemical evidences. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2006;339(1):232–40.
- 69. Willcox CR, Pitard V, Netzer S, Couzi L, Salim M, Silberzahn T, et al. Cytomegalovirus and tumor stress surveillance by binding of a human gammadelta T-cell antigen receptor to endothelial protein C receptor. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(9):872–9.
- Selin LK, Stewart S, Shen C, Mao HQ, Wilkins JA. Reactivity of gamma delta T-cells induced by the tumour cell line RPMI 8226: functional heterogeneity of clonal populations and role of GroEL heat shock proteins. Scand J Immunol. 1992;36(1):107–17.
- Laad AD, Thomas ML, Fakih AR, Chiplunkar SV. Human gamma delta T-cells recognize heat shock protein-60 on oral tumor cells. Int J Cancer. 1999;80(5):709–14.
- Wadia P, Atre N, Pradhan T, Mistry R, Chiplunkar S. Heat shock protein induced TCR gammadelta gene rearrangements in patients with oral cancer. Oral Oncol. 2005;41(2):175–82.
- Kozbor D, Trinchieri G, Monos DS, Isobe M, Russo G, Haney JA, et al. Human TCR-gamma+/ delta+, CD8+ T lymphocytes recognize tetanus

toxoid in an MHC-restricted fashion. J Exp Med. 1989;169(5):1847–51.

- 74. Kozbor D, Cassatella MA, Lessin S, Kagan J, Finver S, Faust J, et al. Expression and function of gamma delta- and alpha beta-T cell receptor heterodimers on human somatic T-cell hybrids. J Immunol. 1990;144(10):3677–83.
- Sciammas R, Bluestone JA. HSV-1 glycoprotein I-reactive TCR gamma delta cells directly recognize the peptide backbone in a conformationally dependent manner. J Immunol. 1998;161(10):5187–92.
- Rust CJ, Verreck F, Vietor H, Koning F. Specific recognition of staphylococcal enterotoxin A by human T-cells bearing receptors with the V gamma 9 region. Nature. 1990;346(6284):572–4.
- 77. Li L, Wu CY. CD4+ CD25+ Treg cells inhibit human memory gammadelta T-cells to produce IFN-gamma in response to M tuberculosis antigen ESAT-6. Blood. 2008;111(12):5629–36.
- Brodin P, Rosenkrands I, Andersen P, Cole ST, Brosch R. ESAT-6 proteins: protective antigens and virulence factors? Trends Microbiol. 2004;12(11):500–8.
- Ribot JC, Debarros A, Silva-Santos B. Searching for "signal 2": costimulation requirements of gammadelta T-cells. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2011;68(14):2345–55.
- Croft M. The role of TNF superfamily members in T-cell function and diseases. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(4):271–85.
- Hintzen RQ, Lens SM, Lammers K, Kuiper H, Beckmann MP, van Lier RA. Engagement of CD27 with its ligand CD70 provides a second signal for T-cell activation. J Immunol. 1995;154(6):2612–23.
- Haas JD, Ravens S, Duber S, Sandrock I, Oberdorfer L, Kashani E, et al. Development of interleukin-17-producing gammadelta T-cells is restricted to a functional embryonic wave. Immunity. 2012;37(1):48–59.
- DeBarros A, Chaves-Ferreira M, d'Orey F, Ribot JC, Silva-Santos B. CD70-CD27 interactions provide survival and proliferative signals that regulate T-cell receptor-driven activation of human gammadelta peripheral blood lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41(1):195–201.
- 84. Ribot JC, Chaves-Ferreira M, d'Orey F, Wencker M, Goncalves-Sousa N, Decalf J, et al. Cutting edge: adaptive versus innate receptor signals selectively control the pool sizes of murine IFN-gamma- or IL-17-producing gammadelta T-cells upon infection. J Immunol. 2010;185(11):6421–5.
- Dieli F, Poccia F, Lipp M, Sireci G, Caccamo N, Di Sano C, et al. Differentiation of effector/ memory Vdelta2 T-cells and migratory routes in lymph nodes or inflammatory sites. J Exp Med. 2003;198(3):391–7.
- Acuto O, Michel F. CD28-mediated co-stimulation: a quantitative support for TCR signalling. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003;3(12):939–51.
- Ribot JC, Debarros A, Mancio-Silva L, Pamplona A, Silva-Santos B. B7-CD28 costimulatory signals

control the survival and proliferation of murine and human gammadelta T-cells via IL-2 production. J Immunol. 2012;189(3):1202–8.

- 88. Casetti R, Perretta G, Taglioni A, Mattei M, Colizzi V, Dieli F, et al. Drug-induced expansion and differentiation of V gamma 9V delta 2T cells in vivo: the role of exogenous IL-2. J Immunol. 2005;175(3):1593–8.
- 89. De Maria A, Bozzano F, Cantoni C, Moretta L. Revisiting human natural killer cell subset function revealed cytolytic CD56(dim)CD16+ NK cells as rapid producers of abundant IFN-gamma on activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(2):728–32.
- Angelini DF, Borsellino G, Poupot M, Diamantini A, Poupot R, Bernardi G, et al. FcgammaRIII discriminates between 2 subsets of Vgamma9Vdelta2 effector cells with different responses and activation pathways. Blood. 2004;104(6):1801–7.
- 91. Lafont V, Liautard J, Sable-Teychene M, Sainte-Marie Y, Favero J. Isopentenyl pyrophosphate, a mycobacterial non-peptidic antigen, triggers delayed and highly sustained signaling in human gamma delta T lymphocytes without inducing eown-modulation of T-cell antigen receptor. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(19):15961–7.
- Gertner-Dardenne J, Bonnafous C, Bezombes C, Capietto AH, Scaglione V, Ingoure S, et al. Bromohydrin pyrophosphate enhances antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity induced by therapeutic antibodies. Blood. 2009;113(20):4875–84.
- Raulet DH. Roles of the NKG2D immunoreceptor and its ligands. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003;3(10):781–90.
- 94. Jamieson AM, Diefenbach A, McMahon CW, Xiong N, Carlyle JR, Raulet DH. The role of the NKG2D immunoreceptor in immune cell activation and natural killing. Immunity. 2002;17(1):19–29.
- 95. Bauer S, Groh V, Wu J, Steinle A, Phillips JH, Lanier LL, et al. Activation of NK cells and T-cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stress-inducible MICA. Science. 1999;285(5428):727–9.
- Wu J, Song Y, Bakker AB, Bauer S, Spies T, Lanier LL, et al. An activating immunoreceptor complex formed by NKG2D and DAP10. Science. 1999;285(5428):730–2.
- 97. Upshaw JL, Arneson LN, Schoon RA, Dick CJ, Billadeau DD, Leibson PJ. NKG2D-mediated signaling requires a DAP10-bound Grb2-Vav1 intermediate and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase in human natural killer cells. Nat Immunol. 2006;7(5):524–32.
- Diefenbach A, Tomasello E, Lucas M, Jamieson AM, Hsia JK, Vivier E, et al. Selective associations with signaling proteins determine stimulatory versus costimulatory activity of NKG2D. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(12):1142–9.
- Gilfillan S, Ho EL, Cella M, Yokoyama WM, Colonna M. NKG2D recruits two distinct adapters

to trigger NK cell activation and costimulation. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(12):1150–5.

- 100. Park YP, Choi SC, Kiesler P, Gil-Krzewska A, Borrego F, Weck J, et al. Complex regulation of human NKG2D-DAP10 cell surface expression: opposing roles of the gammac cytokines and TGFbeta1. Blood. 2011;118(11):3019–27.
- 101. Lee JC, Lee KM, Kim DW, Heo DS. Elevated TGFbeta1 secretion and down-modulation of NKG2D underlies impaired NK cytotoxicity in cancer patients. J Immunol. 2004;172(12):7335–40.
- 102. Kopp HG, Placke T, Salih HR. Platelet-derived transforming growth factor-beta down-regulates NKG2D thereby inhibiting natural killer cell antitumor reactivity. Cancer Res. 2009;69(19):7775–83.
- 103. Burgess SJ, Marusina AI, Pathmanathan I, Borrego F, Coligan JE. IL-21 down-regulates NKG2D/ DAP10 expression on human NK and CD8+ T-cells. J Immunol. 2006;176(3):1490–7.
- Dhanji S, Teh HS. IL-2-activated CD8+CD44high cells express both adaptive and innate immune system receptors and demonstrate specificity for syngeneic tumor cells. J Immunol. 2003;171(7):3442–50.
- 105. Roberts AI, Lee L, Schwarz E, Groh V, Spies T, Ebert EC, et al. NKG2D receptors induced by IL-15 costimulate CD28-negative effector CTL in the tissue microenvironment. J Immunol. 2001;167(10):5527–30.
- 106. Marusina AI, Burgess SJ, Pathmanathan I, Borrego F, Coligan JE. Regulation of human DAP10 gene expression in NK and T-Cells by Ap-1 transcription factors. J Immunol. 2008;180(1):409–17.
- 107. Meresse B, Chen Z, Ciszewski C, Tretiakova M, Bhagat G, Krausz TN, et al. Coordinated induction by IL15 of a TCR-independent NKG2D signaling pathway converts CTL into lymphokineactivated killer cells in celiac disease. Immunity. 2004;21(3):357–66.
- Verneris MR, Karami M, Baker J, Jayaswal A, Negrin RS. Role of NKG2D signaling in the cytotoxicity of activated and expanded CD8+ T-cells. Blood. 2004;103(8):3065–72.
- 109. Tang F, Chen Z, Ciszewski C, Setty M, Solus J, Tretiakova M, et al. Cytosolic PLA2 is required for CTL-mediated immunopathology of celiac disease via NKG2D and IL-15. J Exp Med. 2009;206(3):707–19.
- 110. Wrobel P, Shojaei H, Schittek B, Gieseler F, Wollenberg B, Kalthoff H, et al. Lysis of a broad range of epithelial tumour cells by human gamma delta T-Cells: involvement of NKG2D ligands and T-cell receptor- versus NKG2D-dependent recognition. Scand J Immunol. 2007;66(2–3):320–8.
- 111. Rincon-Orozco B, Kunzmann V, Wrobel P, Kabelitz D, Steinle A, Herrmann T. Activation of V gamma 9V delta 2T cells by NKG2D. J Immunol. 2005;175(4):2144–51.
- 112. Das H, Groh V, Kuijl C, Sugita M, Morita CT, Spies T, et al. MICA engagement by human

Vgamma2Vdelta2 T-cells enhances their antigen-dependent effector function. Immunity. 2001;15(1):83–93.

- 113. Nedellec S, Sabourin C, Bonneville M, Scotet E. NKG2D costimulates human V gamma 9V delta 2T cell antitumor cytotoxicity through protein kinase C theta-dependent modulation of early TCR-induced calcium and transduction signals. J Immunol. 2010;185(1):55–63.
- 114. Gomes AQ, Correia DV, Silva-Santos B. Nonclassical major histocompatibility complex proteins as determinants of tumour immunosurveillance. EMBO Rep. 2007;8(11):1024–30.
- 115. Eagle RA, Traherne JA, Hair JR, Jafferji I, Trowsdale J. ULBP6/RAET1L is an additional human NKG2D ligand. Eur J Immunol. 2009;39(11):3207–16.
- 116. Gasser S, Orsulic S, Brown EJ, Raulet DH. The DNA damage pathway regulates innate immune system ligands of the NKG2D receptor. Nature. 2005;436(7054):1186–90.
- 117. McFarland BJ, Kortemme T, Yu SF, Baker D, Strong RK. Symmetry recognizing asymmetry: analysis of the interactions between the C-type lectin-like immunoreceptor NKG2D and MHC class I-like ligands. Structure. 2003;11(4):411–22.
- 118. Girardi M, Oppenheim DE, Steele CR, Lewis JM, Glusac E, Filler R, et al. Regulation of cutaneous malignancy by gammadelta T-cells. Science. 2001;294(5542):605–9.
- 119. Cerwenka A, Bakker AB, McClanahan T, Wagner J, Wu J, Phillips JH, et al. Retinoic acid early inducible genes define a ligand family for the activating NKG2D receptor in mice. Immunity. 2000;12(6):721–7.
- 120. Diefenbach A, Jensen ER, Jamieson AM, Raulet DH. Rae1 and H60 ligands of the NKG2D receptor stimulate tumour immunity. Nature. 2001;413(6852):165–71.
- 121. Cerwenka A, Baron JL, Lanier LL. Ectopic expression of retinoic acid early inducible-1 gene (RAE-1) permits natural killer cell-mediated rejection of a MHC class I-bearing tumor in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(20):11521–6.
- 122. Radosavljevic M, Cuillerier B, Wilson MJ, Clement O, Wicker S, Gilfillan S, et al. A cluster of ten novel MHC class I related genes on human chromosome 6q24.2-q25.3. Genomics. 2002;79(1):114–23.
- 123. Diefenbach A, Hsia JK, Hsiung MY, Raulet DH. A novel ligand for the NKG2D receptor activates NK cells and macrophages and induces tumor immunity. Eur J Immunol. 2003;33(2):381–91.
- 124. Jinushi M, Takehara T, Tatsumi T, Kanto T, Groh V, Spies T, et al. Expression and role of MICA and MICB in human hepatocellular carcinomas and their regulation by retinoic acid. Int J Cancer. 2003;104(3):354–61.
- 125. Groh V, Wu J, Yee C, Spies T. Tumour-derived soluble MIC ligands impair expression of NKG2D and T-cell activation. Nature. 2002;419(6908):734–8.

- 126. Salih HR, Antropius H, Gieseke F, Lutz SZ, Kanz L, Rammensee HG, et al. Functional expression and release of ligands for the activating immunoreceptor NKG2D in leukemia. Blood. 2003;102(4):1389–96.
- 127. Clayton A, Mitchell JP, Court J, Linnane S, Mason MD, Tabi Z. Human tumor-derived exosomes down-modulate NKG2D expression. J Immunol. 2008;180(11):7249–58.
- 128. Hedlund M, Stenqvist AC, Nagaeva O, Kjellberg L, Wulff M, Baranov V, et al. Human placenta expresses and secretes NKG2D ligands via exosomes that down-modulate the cognate receptor expression: evidence for immunosuppressive function. J Immunol. 2009;183(1):340–51.
- 129. Cosman D, Mullberg J, Sutherland CL, Chin W, Armitage R, Fanslow W, et al. ULBPs, novel MHC class I-related molecules, bind to CMV glycoprotein UL16 and stimulate NK cytotoxicity through the NKG2D receptor. Immunity. 2001;14(2):123–33.
- 130. Pende D, Rivera P, Marcenaro S, Chang CC, Biassoni R, Conte R, et al. Major histocompatibility complex class I-related chain A and UL16-binding protein expression on tumor cell lines of different histotypes: analysis of tumor susceptibility to NKG2D-dependent natural killer cell cytotoxicity. Cancer Res. 2002;62(21):6178–86.
- 131. Sutherland CL, Rabinovich B, Chalupny NJ, Brawand P, Miller R, Cosman D. ULBPs, human ligands of the NKG2D receptor, stimulate tumor immunity with enhancement by IL-15. Blood. 2006;108(4):1313–9.
- 132. Kubin M, Cassiano L, Chalupny J, Chin W, Cosman D, Fanslow W, et al. ULBP1, 2, 3: novel MHC class I-related molecules that bind to human cytomegalovirus glycoprotein UL16, activate NK cells. Eur J Immunol. 2001;31(5):1428–37.
- 133. Inagaki A, Ishida T, Yano H, Ishii T, Kusumoto S, Ito A, et al. Expression of the ULBP ligands for NKG2D by B-NHL cells plays an important role in determining their susceptibility to rituximabinduced ADCC. Int J Cancer. 2009;125(1):212–21.
- 134. Lanca T, Correia DV, Moita CF, Raquel H, Neves-Costa A, Ferreira C, et al. The MHC class Ib protein ULBP1 is a nonredundant determinant of leukemia/ lymphoma susceptibility to gammadelta T-cell cytotoxicity. Blood. 2010;115(12):2407–11.
- 135. Poggi A, Carosio R, Fenoglio D, Brenci S, Murdaca G, Setti M, et al. Migration of V delta 1 and V delta 2T cells in response to CXCR3 and CXCR4 ligands in healthy donors and HIV-1-infected patients: competition by HIV-1 Tat. Blood. 2004;103(6):2205–13.
- 136. Paschen A, Sucker A, Hill B, Moll I, Zapatka M, Nguyen XD, et al. Differential clinical significance of individual NKG2D ligands in melanoma: soluble ULBP2 as an indicator of poor prognosis superior to S100B. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(16):5208–15.
- 137. Kamimura H, Yamagiwa S, Tsuchiya A, Takamura M, Matsuda Y, Ohkoshi S, et al. Reduced NKG2D ligand expression in hepatocellular carcinoma

correlates with early recurrence. J Hepatol. 2012;56(2):381–8.

- 138. de Kruijf EM, Sajet A, van Nes JG, Putter H, Smit VT, Eagle RA, et al. NKG2D ligand tumor expression and association with clinical outcome in early breast cancer patients: an observational study. BMC Cancer. 2012;12:24.
- 139. Armeanu S, Krusch M, Baltz KM, Weiss TS, Smirnow I, Steinle A, et al. Direct and natural killer cell-mediated antitumor effects of low-dose bortezomib in hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14(11):3520–8.
- 140. Vales-Gomez M, Chisholm SE, Cassady-Cain RL, Roda-Navarro P, Reyburn HT. Selective induction of expression of a ligand for the NKG2D receptor by proteasome inhibitors. Cancer Res. 2008;68(5):1546–54.
- 141. Eagle RA, Traherne JA, Ashiru O, Wills MR, Trowsdale J. Regulation of NKG2D ligand gene expression. Hum Immunol. 2006;67(3):159–69.
- 142. Friese MA, Wischhusen J, Wick W, Weiler M, Eisele G, Steinle A, et al. RNA interference targeting transforming growth factor-beta enhances NKG2D-mediated antiglioma immune response, inhibits glioma cell migration and invasiveness, and abrogates tumorigenicity in vivo. Cancer Res. 2004;64(20):7596–603.
- 143. Eisele G, Wischhusen J, Mittelbronn M, Meyermann R, Waldhauer I, Steinle A, et al. TGF-beta and metalloproteinases differentially suppress NKG2D ligand surface expression on malignant glioma cells. Brain. 2006;129(Pt 9):2416–25.
- 144. Schwinn N, Vokhminova D, Sucker A, Textor S, Striegel S, Moll I, et al. Interferon-gamma downregulates NKG2D ligand expression and impairs the NKG2D-mediated cytolysis of MHC class I-deficient melanoma by natural killer cells. Int J Cancer. 2009;124(7):1594–604.
- 145. Textor S, Fiegler N, Arnold A, Porgador A, Hofmann TG, Cerwenka A. Human NK cells are alerted to induction of p53 in cancer cells by upregulation of the NKG2D ligands ULBP1 and ULBP2. Cancer Res. 2011;71(18):5998–6009.
- 146. Guerra N, Tan YX, Joncker NT, Choy A, Gallardo F, Xiong N, et al. NKG2D-deficient mice are defective in tumor surveillance in models of spontaneous malignancy. Immunity. 2008;28(4):571–80.
- 147. Angelini DF, Zambello R, Galandrini R, Diamantini A, Placido R, Micucci F, et al. NKG2A inhibits NKG2C effector functions of gammadelta T-cells: implications in health and disease. J Leukoc Biol. 2011;89(1):75–84.
- 148. Lopez-Larrea C, Suarez-Alvarez B, Lopez-Soto A, Lopez-Vazquez A, Gonzalez S. The NKG2D receptor: sensing stressed cells. Trends Mol Med. 2008;14(4):179–89.
- 149. Trichet V, Benezech C, Dousset C, Gesnel MC, Bonneville M, Breathnach R. Complex interplay of activating and inhibitory signals received by Vgamma9Vdelta2 T-cells revealed by target cell

beta2-microglobulin knockdown. J Immunol. 2006;177(9):6129–36.

- 150. Pende D, Parolini S, Pessino A, Sivori S, Augugliaro R, Morelli L, et al. Identification and molecular characterization of NKp30, a novel triggering receptor involved in natural cytotoxicity mediated by human natural killer cells. J Exp Med. 1999;190(10):1505–16.
- 151. Vitale M, Bottino C, Sivori S, Sanseverino L, Castriconi R, Marcenaro E, et al. NKp44, a novel triggering surface molecule specifically expressed by activated natural killer cells, is involved in nonmajor histocompatibility complex-restricted tumor cell lysis. J Exp Med. 1998;187(12):2065–72.
- 152. Cantoni C, Bottino C, Vitale M, Pessino A, Augugliaro R, Malaspina A, et al. NKp44, a triggering receptor involved in tumor cell lysis by activated human natural killer cells, is a novel member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. J Exp Med. 1999;189(5):787–96.
- 153. Sivori S, Vitale M, Morelli L, Sanseverino L, Augugliaro R, Bottino C, et al. p46, a novel natural killer cell-specific surface molecule that mediates cell activation. J Exp Med. 1997;186(7):1129–36.
- 154. Pessino A, Sivori S, Bottino C, Malaspina A, Morelli L, Moretta L, et al. Molecular cloning of NKp46: a novel member of the immunoglobulin superfamily involved in triggering of natural cytotoxicity. J Exp Med. 1998;188(5):953–60.
- 155. Hollyoake M, Campbell RD, Aguado B. NKp30 (NCR3) is a pseudogene in 12 inbred and wild mouse strains, but an expressed gene in Mus caroli. Mol Biol Evol. 2005;22(8):1661–72.
- 156. Rutjens E, Mazza S, Biassoni R, Koopman G, Radic L, Fogli M, et al. Differential NKp30 inducibility in chimpanzee NK cells and conserved NK cell phenotype and function in long-term HIV-1-infected animals. J Immunol. 2007;178(3):1702–12.
- 157. Della Chiesa M, Carlomagno S, Frumento G, Balsamo M, Cantoni C, Conte R, et al. The tryptophan catabolite L-kynurenine inhibits the surface expression of NKp46- and NKG2D-activating receptors and regulates NK-cell function. Blood. 2006;108(13):4118–25.
- 158. Sanchez-Correa B, Morgado S, Gayoso I, Bergua JM, Casado JG, Arcos MJ, et al. Human NK cells in acute myeloid leukaemia patients: analysis of NK cell-activating receptors and their ligands. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60(8):1195–205.
- 159. Fauriat C, Just-Landi S, Mallet F, Arnoulet C, Sainty D, Olive D, et al. Deficient expression of NCR in NK cells from acute myeloid leukemia: evolution during leukemia treatment and impact of leukemia cells in NCRdull phenotype induction. Blood. 2007;109(1):323–30.
- 160. Mamessier E, Sylvain A, Thibult ML, Houvenaeghel G, Jacquemier J, Castellano R, et al. Human breast cancer cells enhance self tolerance by promoting evasion from NK cell antitumor immunity. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(9):3609–22.

- 161. Correia DV, Fogli M, Hudspeth K, da Silva MG, Mavilio D, Silva-Santos B. Differentiation of human peripheral blood Vdelta1+ T-cells expressing the natural cytotoxicity receptor NKp30 for recognition of lymphoid leukemia cells. Blood. 2011;118(4):992–1001.
- 162. Byrd A, Hoffmann SC, Jarahian M, Momburg F, Watzl C. Expression analysis of the ligands for the natural killer cell receptors NKp30 and NKp44. PLoS One. 2007;2(12):e1339.
- 163. Brandt CS, Baratin M, Yi EC, Kennedy J, Gao Z, Fox B, et al. The B7 family member B7-H6 is a tumor cell ligand for the activating natural killer cell receptor NKp30 in humans. J Exp Med. 2009;206(7):1495–503.
- 164. Kaifu T, Escaliere B, Gastinel LN, Vivier E, Baratin M. B7-H6/NKp30 interaction: a mechanism of alerting NK cells against tumors. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2011;68(21):3531–9.
- 165. von Lilienfeld-Toal M, Nattermann J, Feldmann G, Sievers E, Frank S, Strehl J, et al. Activated gammadelta T-cells express the natural cytotoxicity receptor natural killer p 44 and show cytotoxic activity against myeloma cells. Clin Exp Immunol. 2006;144(3):528–33.
- 166. Lakshmikanth T, Burke S, Ali TH, Kimpfler S, Ursini F, Ruggeri L, et al. NCRs and DNAM-1 mediate NK cell recognition and lysis of human and mouse melanoma cell lines in vitro and in vivo. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(5):1251–63.
- 167. Carlsten M, Baumann BC, Simonsson M, Jadersten M, Forsblom AM, Hammarstedt C, et al. Reduced DNAM-1 expression on bone marrow NK cells associated with impaired killing of CD34+ blasts in myelodysplastic syndrome. Leukemia. 2010;24(9):1607–16.
- 168. Tahara-Hanaoka S, Shibuya K, Kai H, Miyamoto A, Morikawa Y, Ohkochi N, et al. Tumor rejection by the poliovirus receptor family ligands of the DNAM-1 (CD226) receptor. Blood. 2006;107(4):1491–6.
- 169. Toutirais O, Cabillic F, Le Friec G, Salot S, Loyer P, Le Gallo M, et al. DNAX accessory molecule-1 (CD226) promotes human hepatocellular carcinoma cell lysis by Vgamma9Vdelta2 T-cells. Eur J Immunol. 2009;39(5):1361–8.
- 170. Gertner-Dardenne J, Castellano R, Mamessier E, Garbit S, Kochbati E, Etienne A, et al. Human Vgamma9Vdelta2 T-cells specifically recognize and kill acute myeloid leukemic blasts. J Immunol. 2012;188(9):4701–8.
- 171. Nedellec S, Bonneville M, Scotet E. Human Vgamma9Vdelta2 T-cells: from signals to functions. Semin Immunol. 2010;22(4):199–206.
- 172. Morita CT, Jin C, Sarikonda G, Wang H. Nonpeptide antigens, presentation mechanisms, and immunological memory of human Vgamma2Vdelta2 T-cells: discriminating friend from foe through the recognition of prenyl pyrophosphate antigens. Immunol Rev. 2007;215:59–76.

- 173. Thedrez A, Sabourin C, Gertner J, Devilder MC, Allain-Maillet S, Fournie JJ, et al. Self/non-self discrimination by human gammadelta T-cells: simple solutions for a complex issue? Immunol Rev. 2007;215:123–35.
- 174. Chen Z, Freedman MS. CD16+ gammadelta T-cells mediate antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity: potential mechanism in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. Clin Immunol. 2008;128(2):219–27.
- 175. Gao Y, Yang W, Pan M, Scully E, Girardi M, Augenlicht LH, et al. Gamma delta T-cells provide an early source of interferon gamma in tumor immunity. J Exp Med. 2003;198(3):433–42.
- 176. Girardi M, Glusac E, Filler RB, Roberts SJ, Propperova I, Lewis J, et al. The distinct contributions of murine T-cell receptor (TCR)gammadelta+ and TCRalphabeta+ T cells to different stages of chemically induced skin cancer. J Exp Med. 2003;198(5):747–55.
- 177. Strid J, Roberts SJ, Filler RB, Lewis JM, Kwong BY, Schpero W, et al. Acute upregulation of an NKG2D ligand promotes rapid reorganization of a local immune compartment with pleiotropic effects on carcinogenesis. Nat Immunol. 2008;9(2):146–54.
- 178. Chodaczek G, Papanna V, Zal MA, Zal T. Bodybarrier surveillance by epidermal gammadelta TCRs. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(3):272–82.
- 179. Antsiferova M, Huber M, Meyer M, Piwko-Czuchra A, Ramadan T, MacLeod AS, et al. Activin enhances skin tumourigenesis and malignant progression by inducing a pro-tumourigenic immune cell response. Nat Commun. 2011;2:576.
- 180. Liu Z, Eltoum IE, Guo B, Beck BH, Cloud GA, Lopez RD. Protective immunosurveillance and therapeutic antitumor activity of gammadelta T-cells demonstrated in a mouse model of prostate cancer. J Immunol. 2008;180(9):6044–53.
- 181. Peng SL, Robert ME, Hayday AC, Craft J. A tumorsuppressor function for Fas (CD95) revealed in T-celldeficient mice. J Exp Med. 1996;184(3):1149–54.
- 182. Street SE, Hayakawa Y, Zhan Y, Lew AM, MacGregor D, Jamieson AM, et al. Innate immune surveillance of spontaneous B-cell lymphomas by natural killer cells and gammadelta T-cells. J Exp Med. 2004;199(6):879–84.
- 183. Guo BL, Liu Z, Aldrich WA, Lopez RD. Innate antibreast cancer immunity of apoptosis-resistant human gammadelta-T cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2005;93(2):169–75.
- 184. Corvaisier M, Moreau-Aubry A, Diez E, Bennouna J, Mosnier JF, Scotet E, et al. V gamma 9V delta 2T cell response to colon carcinoma cells. J Immunol. 2005;175(8):5481–8.
- 185. Kabelitz D, Wesch D, Pitters E, Zoller M. Characterization of tumor reactivity of human V gamma 9V delta 2 gamma delta T-cells in vitro and in SCID mice in vivo. J Immunol. 2004;173(11):6767–76.
- 186. Fisch P, Meuer E, Pende D, Rothenfusser S, Viale O, Kock S, et al. Control of B-cell lymphoma recogni-

tion via natural killer inhibitory receptors implies a role for human Vgamma9/Vdelta2 T-cells in tumor immunity. Eur J Immunol. 1997;27(12):3368–79.

- 187. Beetz S, Wesch D, Marischen L, Welte S, Oberg HH, Kabelitz D. Innate immune functions of human gammadelta T-cells. Immunobiology. 2008;213(3–4):173–82.
- 188. Fisch P, Malkovsky M, Kovats S, Sturm E, Braakman E, Klein BS, et al. Recognition by human V gamma 9/V delta 2T cells of a GroEL homolog on Daudi Burkitt's lymphoma cells. Science. 1990;250(4985):1269–73.
- 189. Davodeau F, Peyrat MA, Hallet MM, Gaschet J, Houde I, Vivien R, et al. Close correlation between Daudi and mycobacterial antigen recognition by human gamma delta T-cells and expression of V9JPC1 gamma/V2DJC delta-encoded T-cell receptors. J Immunol. 1993;151(3):1214–23.
- 190. L'Faqihi FE, Guiraud M, Dastugue N, Brousset P, Le Bouteiller P, Halary F, et al. Acquisition of a stimulatory activity for Vgamma9/Vdelta2 T-cells by a Burkitt's lymphoma cell line without loss of HLA class I expression. Hum Immunol. 1999;60(10):928–38.
- 191. Todaro M, D'Asaro M, Caccamo N, Iovino F, Francipane MG, Meraviglia S, et al. Efficient killing of human colon cancer stem cells by gammadelta T lymphocytes. J Immunol. 2009;182(11):7287–96.
- 192. Lai D, Wang F, Chen Y, Wang C, Liu S, Lu B, et al. Human ovarian cancer stem-like cells can be efficiently killed by gammadelta T lymphocytes. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(7):979–89.
- 193. Das H, Sugita M, Brenner MB. Mechanisms of Vdelta1 gammadelta T-cell activation by microbial components. J Immunol. 2004;172(11):6578–86.
- 194. Qin Z, Schwartzkopff J, Pradera F, Kammertoens T, Seliger B, Pircher H, et al. A critical requirement of interferon gamma-mediated angiostasis for tumor rejection by CD8+ T-cells. Cancer Res. 2003;63(14):4095–100.
- 195. Santini D, Vincenzi B, Avvisati G, Dicuonzo G, Battistoni F, Gavasci M, et al. Pamidronate induces modifications of circulating angiogenetic factors in cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2002;8(5):1080–4.
- 196. Ensslin AS, Formby B. Comparison of cytolytic and proliferative activities of human gamma delta and alpha beta T-cells from peripheral blood against various human tumor cell lines. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1991;83(21):1564–9.
- 197. Lozupone F, Pende D, Burgio VL, Castelli C, Spada M, Venditti M, et al. Effect of human natural killer and gammadelta T-cells on the growth of human autologous melanoma xenografts in SCID mice. Cancer Res. 2004;64(1):378–85.
- 198. Malkovska V, Cigel FK, Armstrong N, Storer BE, Hong R. Antilymphoma activity of human gamma delta T-cells in mice with severe combined immune deficiency. Cancer Res. 1992;52(20):5610–6.
- 199. Yuasa T, Sato K, Ashihara E, Takeuchi M, Maita S, Tsuchiya N, et al. Intravesical administration of

gammadelta T-cells successfully prevents the growth of bladder cancer in the murine model. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58(4):493–502.

- 200. Otto M, Barfield RC, Martin WJ, Iyengar R, Leung W, Leimig T, et al. Combination immunotherapy with clinical-scale enriched human gammadelta T-cells, hu14.18 antibody, and the immunocytokine Fc-IL7 in disseminated neuroblastoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(23):8486–91.
- 201. Beck BH, Kim HG, Kim H, Samuel S, Liu Z, Shrestha R, et al. Adoptively transferred ex vivo expanded gammadelta-T cells mediate in vivo antitumor activity in preclinical mouse models of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2010;122(1):135–44.
- 202. Malkovska V, Cigel F, Storer BE. Human T-cells in hu-PBL-SCID mice proliferate in response to Daudi lymphoma and confer anti-tumour immunity. Clin Exp Immunol. 1994;96(1):158–65.
- 203. Tokuyama H, Hagi T, Mattarollo SR, Morley J, Wang Q, So HF, et al. V gamma 9V delta 2T cell cytotoxicity against tumor cells is enhanced by monoclonal antibody drugs-rituximab and trastuzumab. Int J Cancer. 2008;122(11):2526–34.
- 204. Chen J, Niu H, He W, Ba D. Antitumor activity of expanded human tumor-infiltrating gammadelta T lymphocytes. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2001;125(3):256–63.
- 205. Maeurer MJ, Martin D, Walter W, Liu K, Zitvogel L, Halusczcak K, et al. Human intestinal Vdelta1+ lymphocytes recognize tumor cells of epithelial origin. J Exp Med. 1996;183(4):1681–96.
- 206. Poggi A, Venturino C, Catellani S, Clavio M, Miglino M, Gobbi M, et al. Vdelta1 T lymphocytes from B-CLL patients recognize ULBP3 expressed on leukemic B-cells and up-regulated by transretinoic acid. Cancer Res. 2004;64(24):9172–9.
- 207. Zocchi MR, Ferrarini M, Migone N, Casorati G. T-cell receptor V delta gene usage by tumour reactive gamma delta T lymphocytes infiltrating human lung cancer. Immunology. 1994;81(2):234–9.
- 208. Cordova A, Toia F, La Mendola C, Orlando V, Meraviglia S, Rinaldi G, et al. Characterization of human gammadelta T lymphocytes infiltrating primary malignant melanomas. PLoS One. 2012;7(11):e49878.
- 209. Arwert EN, Lal R, Quist S, Rosewell I, van Rooijen N, Watt FM. Tumor formation initiated by nondividing epidermal cells via an inflammatory infiltrate. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(46):19903–8.
- 210. Peng G, Wang HY, Peng W, Kiniwa Y, Seo KH, Wang RF. Tumor-infiltrating gammadelta T-cells suppress T and dendritic cell function via mechanisms controlled by a unique toll-like receptor signaling pathway. Immunity. 2007;27(2):334–48.
- 211. Ma C, Zhang Q, Ye J, Wang F, Zhang Y, Wevers E, et al. Tumor-infiltrating gammadelta T lymphocytes predict clinical outcome in human breast cancer. J Immunol. 2012;189(10):5029–36.
- 212. Wakita D, Sumida K, Iwakura Y, Nishikawa H, Ohkuri T, Chamoto K, et al. Tumor-infiltrating

IL-17-producing gammadelta T-cells support the progression of tumor by promoting angiogenesis. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40(7):1927–37.

- 213. Takeuchi A, Dejima T, Yamada H, Shibata K, Nakamura R, Eto M, et al. IL-17 production by gammadelta T-cells is important for the antitumor effect of Mycobacterium bovis bacillus Calmette-Guerin treatment against bladder cancer. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41(1):246–51.
- 214. Ma Y, Aymeric L, Locher C, Mattarollo SR, Delahaye NF, Pereira P, et al. Contribution of IL-17-producing gamma delta T-cells to the efficacy of anticancer chemotherapy. J Exp Med. 2011;208(3):491–503.
- 215. Chae WJ, Gibson TF, Zelterman D, Hao L, Henegariu O, Bothwell AL. Ablation of IL-17A abrogates progression of spontaneous intestinal tumorigenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(12):5540–4.
- Wang L, Yi T, Zhang W, Pardoll DM, Yu H. IL-17 enhances tumor development in carcinogen-induced skin cancer. Cancer Res. 2010;70(24):10112–20.
- 217. Wang L, Yi T, Kortylewski M, Pardoll DM, Zeng D, Yu H. IL-17 can promote tumor growth through an IL-6-Stat3 signaling pathway. J Exp Med. 2009;206(7):1457–64.
- 218. Charles KA, Kulbe H, Soper R, Escorcio-Correia M, Lawrence T, Schultheis A, et al. The tumorpromoting actions of TNF-alpha involve TNFR1 and IL-17 in ovarian cancer in mice and humans. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(10):3011–23.
- Martin-Orozco N, Muranski P, Chung Y, Yang XO, Yamazaki T, Lu S, et al. T helper 17 cells promote cytotoxic T-cell activation in tumor immunity. Immunity. 2009;31(5):787–98.
- 220. Kryczek I, Wei S, Szeliga W, Vatan L, Zou W. Endogenous IL-17 contributes to reduced tumor growth and metastasis. Blood. 2009;114(2):357–9.
- 221. Murugaiyan G, Saha B. Protumor vs antitumor functions of IL-17. J Immunol. 2009;183(7):4169–75.
- 222. Numasaki M, Lotze MT, Sasaki H. Interleukin-17 augments tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced elaboration of proangiogenic factors from fibroblasts. Immunol Lett. 2004;93(1):39–43.
- 223. Takahashi H, Numasaki M, Lotze MT, Sasaki H. Interleukin-17 enhances bFGF-, HGF- and VEGF-induced growth of vascular endothelial cells. Immunol Lett. 2005;98(2):189–93.
- 224. Gomes AQ, Martins DS, Silva-Santos B. Targeting gammadelta T lymphocytes for cancer immunotherapy: from novel mechanistic insight to clinical application. Cancer Res. 2010;70(24):10024–7.
- 225. Wilhelm M, Kunzmann V, Eckstein S, Reimer P, Weissinger F, Ruediger T, et al. Gammadelta T-cells for immune therapy of patients with lymphoid malignancies. Blood. 2003;102(1):200–6.
- 226. Dieli F, Gebbia N, Poccia F, Caccamo N, Montesano C, Fulfaro F, et al. Induction of gammadelta T-lymphocyte effector functions by bisphosphonate zoledronic acid in cancer patients in vivo. Blood. 2003;102(6):2310–1.

- 227. Dieli F, Vermijlen D, Fulfaro F, Caccamo N, Meraviglia S, Cicero G, et al. Targeting human {gamma}delta} T-cells with zoledronate and interleukin-2 for immunotherapy of hormone-refractory prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 2007;67(15):7450–7.
- 228. Meraviglia S, Eberl M, Vermijlen D, Todaro M, Buccheri S, Cicero G, et al. In vivo manipulation of Vgamma9Vdelta2 T-cells with zoledronate and low-dose interleukin-2 for immunotherapy of advanced breast cancer patients. Clin Exp Immunol. 2010;161(2):290–7.
- 229. Lang JM, Kaikobad MR, Wallace M, Staab MJ, Horvath DL, Wilding G, et al. Pilot trial of interleukin-2 and zoledronic acid to augment gammadelta T-cells as treatment for patients with refractory renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60(10):1447–60.
- 230. Kunzmann V, Smetak M, Kimmel B, Weigang-Koehler K, Goebeler M, Birkmann J, et al. Tumor-promoting versus tumor-antagonizing roles of gammadelta T-cells in cancer immunotherapy: results from a prospective phase I/II trial. J Immunother. 2012;35(2):205–13.
- 231. Kobayashi H, Tanaka Y, Yagi J, Osaka Y, Nakazawa H, Uchiyama T, et al. Safety profile and anti-tumor effects of adoptive immunotherapy using gamma-delta T-cells against advanced renal cell carcinoma: a pilot study. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56(4):469–76.
- 232. Bennouna J, Bompas E, Neidhardt EM, Rolland F, Philip I, Galea C, et al. Phase-I study of Innacell gammadelta, an autologous cell-therapy product highly enriched in gamma9delta2 T lymphocytes, in combination with IL-2, in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57(11):1599–609.
- 233. Kondo M, Sakuta K, Noguchi A, Ariyoshi N, Sato K, Sato S, et al. Zoledronate facilitates large-scale ex vivo expansion of functional gammadelta T-cells from cancer patients for use in adoptive immuno-therapy. Cytotherapy. 2008;10(8):842–56.
- 234. Abe Y, Muto M, Nieda M, Nakagawa Y, Nicol A, Kaneko T, et al. Clinical and immunological evaluation of zoledronate-activated Vgamma9gammadelta T-cell-based immunotherapy for patients with multiple myeloma. Exp Hematol. 2009;37(8):956–68.
- 235. Nakajima J, Murakawa T, Fukami T, Goto S, Kaneko T, Yoshida Y, et al. A phase I study of adoptive immunotherapy for recurrent non-small-cell lung cancer patients with autologous gammadelta T-cells. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2010;37(5):1191–7.
- 236. Bennouna J, Levy V, Sicard H, Senellart H, Audrain M, Hiret S, et al. Phase I study of bromohydrin pyrophosphate (BrHPP, IPH 1101), a Vgamma9Vdelta2 T lymphocyte agonist in patients with solid tumors. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2010;59(10):1521–30.
- 237. Kobayashi H, Tanaka Y, Shimmura H, Minato N, Tanabe K. Complete remission of lung metastasis

following adoptive immunotherapy using activated autologous gammadelta T-cells in a patient with renal cell carcinoma. Anticancer Res. 2010;30(2):575–9.

- 238. Sakamoto M, Nakajima J, Murakawa T, Fukami T, Yoshida Y, Murayama T, et al. Adoptive immunotherapy for advanced non-small cell lung cancer using zoledronate-expanded gammadeltaTcells: a phase I clinical study. J Immunother. 2011;34(2):202–11.
- 239. Noguchi A, Kaneko T, Kamigaki T, Fujimoto K, Ozawa M, Saito M, et al. Zoledronate-activated Vgamma9gammadelta T-cell-based immunotherapy is feasible and restores the impairment of gammadelta T-cells in patients with solid tumors. Cytotherapy. 2011;13(1):92–7.
- 240. Nicol AJ, Tokuyama H, Mattarollo SR, Hagi T, Suzuki K, Yokokawa K, et al. Clinical evaluation of autologous gamma delta T-cell-based immunotherapy for metastatic solid tumours. Br J Cancer. 2011;105(6):778–86.
- 241. Johnson JR, Williams G, Pazdur R. End points and United States Food and Drug Administration approval of oncology drugs. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(7):1404–11.
- 242. Kobayashi H, Tanaka Y, Yagi J, Minato N, Tanabe K. Phase I/II study of adoptive transfer of gammadelta T-cells in combination with zoledronic acid and IL-2 to patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60(8):1075–84.
- 243. Ali Z, Shao L, Halliday L, Reichenberg A, Hintz M, Jomaa H, et al. Prolonged (E)-4-hydroxy-3-methylbut-2-enyl pyrophosphate-driven antimicrobial and cytotoxic responses of pulmonary and systemic Vgamma2Vdelta2 T-cells in macaques. J Immunol. 2007;179(12):8287–96.
- 244. Li B, Rossman MD, Imir T, Oner-Eyuboglu AF, Lee CW, Biancaniello R, et al. Disease-specific changes in gammadelta T-cell repertoire and function in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. J Immunol. 1996;157(9):4222–9.
- 245. Poccia F, Boullier S, Lecoeur H, Cochet M, Poquet Y, Colizzi V, et al. Peripheral V gamma 9/V delta 2T cell deletion and anergy to nonpeptidic mycobacterial antigens in asymptomatic HIV-1-infected persons. J Immunol. 1996;157(1):449–61.
- 246. Jin HT, Ahmed R, Okazaki T. Role of PD-1 in regulating T-cell immunity. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2011;350:17–37.
- 247. Zhou Q, Munger ME, Veenstra RG, Weigel BJ, Hirashima M, Munn DH, et al. Coexpression of Tim-3 and PD-1 identifies a CD8+ T-cell exhaustion phenotype in mice with disseminated acute myelogenous leukemia. Blood. 2011;117(17):4501–10.
- 248. Iwasaki M, Tanaka Y, Kobayashi H, Murata-Hirai K, Miyabe H, Sugie T, et al. Expression and function of PD-1 in human gammadelta T-cells that

recognize phosphoantigens. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41(2):345–55.

- 249. Gomes AQ, Correia DV, Grosso AR, Lanca T, Ferreira C, Lacerda JF, et al. Identification of a panel of ten cell surface protein antigens associated with immunotargeting of leukemias and lymphomas by peripheral blood gammadelta T-Cells. Haematologica. 2010;95(8):1397–404.
- 250. Fourcade J, Sun Z, Benallaoua M, Guillaume P, Luescher IF, Sander C, et al. Upregulation of Tim-3 and PD-1 expression is associated with tumor antigen-specific CD8+ T-cell dysfunction in melanoma patients. J Exp Med. 2010;207(10):2175–86.
- 251. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(26):2443–54.
- 252. Goncalves-Sousa N, Ribot JC, DeBarros A, Correia DV, Caramalho I, Silva-Santos B. Inhibition of murine gammadelta lymphocyte expansion and effector function by regulatory alphabeta T-cells is cell-contact-dependent and sensitive to GITR modulation. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40(1):61–70.
- 253. Kunzmann V, Kimmel B, Herrmann T, Einsele H, Wilhelm M. Inhibition of phosphoantigenmediated gammadelta T-cell proliferation by CD4+ CD25+ FoxP3+ regulatory T-cells. Immunology. 2009;126(2):256–67.
- 254. Pule MA, Savoldo B, Myers GD, Rossig C, Russell HV, Dotti G, et al. Virus-specific T-cells engineered to coexpress tumor-specific receptors: persistence and antitumor activity in individuals with neuroblastoma. Nat Med. 2008;14(11):1264–70.
- 255. Cabillic F, Toutirais O, Lavoue V, de La Pintiere CT, Daniel P, Rioux-Leclerc N, et al. Aminobisphosphonate-pretreated dendritic cells trigger successful Vgamma9Vdelta2 T-cell amplification for immunotherapy in advanced cancer patients. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2010;59(11):1611–9.
- 256. Deniger DC, Switzer K, Mi T, Maiti S, Hurton L, Singh H, et al. Bispecific T-cells expressing polyclonal repertoire of endogenous gammadelta T-cell receptors and introduced CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptor. Mol Ther. 2013;21(3):638–47.
- 257. Lança T, Souza MF, Gonçalves-Sousa N, Rei M, Grosso AR, Penido C, et al. Protective role of the inflammatory CCR2/CCL2 chemokine pathway through recruitment of type 1 cytotoxic gammadelta T lymphocytes to tumor beds. J Immunol. 2013;190(12):6673–80.
- 258. Mattarollo SR, Loi S, Duret H, Ma Y, Zitvogel L, Smyth MJ. Pivotal role of innate and adaptive immunity in anthracycline chemotherapy of established tumors. Cancer Res. 2011;71(14):4809–20.



4

Adoptive T-Cell Therapy: Optimizing Chemokine Receptor-Mediated Homing of T-Cells in Cancer Immunotherapy

Imran Siddiqui, Debora Vignali, Marinos Kallikourdis, Alberto Mantovani, and Paola Allavena

Contents

14.1	Introduction	251
14.2	T-Cell Infiltration Correlates with Prognosis	252
14.3	Adoptive T-Cell Therapy	253
14.4	Challenges in Adoptive T-Cell Therapy	254
14.5	Chemokines	255
14.6	Role of Chemokines in Directing Tissue Trafficking in Tumors	256
14.7	Overexpression of Chemokine Receptors in Engineered Lymphocytes to Be Used for Cancer Immunotherapy	259
14.8	Concluding Remarks	263
Refer	ences	264

I. Siddiqui · P. Allavena (🖂)

Department of Immunology and Inflammation, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center - IRCCS, Milan, Italy

e-mail: paola.allavena@humanitasresearch.it

D. Vignali

Adaptive Immunity Laboratory, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center - IRCCS, Milan, Italy

M. Kallikourdis

Adaptive Immunity Laboratory, Humanitas Clinical and Research Center - IRCCS, Milan, Italy

Department of Biomedical Sciences, Humanitas University, Milan, Italy

A. Mantovani Department of Immunology and Inflammation,

Humanitas Clinical and Research Center - IRCCS, Milan, Italy

Department of Biomedical Sciences, Humanitas University, Milan, Italy

14.1 Introduction

Cancer immunotherapy has emerged in the last decade as a promising strategy to prevent cancer by use of the immune system. Several approaches have been developed [1–5]; these include administration of immunostimulatory agents, highly specific monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), cancer vaccines, and cell-based therapies. Cancer immunotherapy can be broadly divided into three major branches: (a) immunostimulatory interventions, which enhance existing immune responses, (b) anticancer vaccines (including protein, peptide, and cell-based vaccines), which stimulate an immune response against the cancer, and (c) adoptive cell transfer based therapy,

which involves the administration of immune cells capable of directly attacking the tumor [6].

Immunostimulatory interventions include systemic administration of lymphocyte targeting growth factors such as interleukin-2 (IL-2), pro-immunogenic cytokines such as interferon alpha (IFN- α), or chemotherapeutics that selectively deplete immunoregulatory cell populations. Immunotherapy with high-dose interleukin-2 (IL-2) can mediate long-term survival only in a small percentage of patients [7]. Combination biochemotherapy is administered frequently and can also result in modest objective responses, but with no substantial improvement on overall survival compared with chemotherapy alone [8]. In the last few years, the use of monoclonal antibodies directed towards T-cell-associated immunosuppressive molecules, such as cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA4) and programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1), have revolutionized oncology treatments, providing tumor regression and durable responses also in patients with advanced diseases. However, only some patients responded to these treatments [7, 9–11]. Some anticancer agents that are currently used in the clinic also mediate immunostimulatory effects by selectively inhibiting/killing immunosuppressive cells such as Foxp3+ regulatory T-cells (Tregs) and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs). These include, for instance, antibody-based agents or kinase inhibitors mediating both the cytotoxic/cytostatic effect on tumor cells and the vessel network and the stimulatory effect on the immune system [12, 13].

Adoptive cell therapy (ACT) has emerged as an effective form of immunotherapy, with rates of complete durable responses (in specific clinical settings) as high as 40% [14, 15]. Notably, ACT must be conceptually differentiated from other cell-based immunotherapies, including the reinfusion of autologous DCs (dendritic cells) pulsed ex vivo with tumor antigens or tumor cell lysates (aimed at eliciting an anticancer T-cell response in vivo) and the infusion of allogeneic T and NK cells (aimed at obtaining a powerful and hopefully curative graft-versus-disease effect) [16, 17]. Immunotherapy using autologous T-cells has de facto emerged as a powerful treatment option for patients with metastatic melanoma. These it includes the adoptive transfer of autologous tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), T-cells transduced with high-affinity T-cell receptors against major tumor antigens, and T-cells transduced with chimeric antigen receptors composed of hybrid immunoglobulin light chains with endodomains of T-cell signaling molecules.

In this chapter, the authors will briefly review the scientific rationale behind ACT and discuss the recent advancement and studies evaluating various aspects of T-cell adoptive transfer in current oncological settings.

14.2 T-Cell Infiltration Correlates with Prognosis

Activated effector T-cells move through tissues, scan for MHC (Major Histocompatibility Complex) peptide complexes that convey further activation signals through their antigen receptors (TCRs), and are capable of indirectly sensing a variety of signals that can alert them against potentially threatening pathogens; the same applies to their responses to cancer. Tumor-specific T-cells are capable of directly recognizing antigens presented by specialized antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and also on the surface of tumor cells [18]. Tumors contain a variable number of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, whose importance is highlighted by their prognostic value in human cancer [19]. T-cells traffic to areas where their target antigens are expressed and can produce cytokines, chemokines, and angiogenic factors that affect tumor growth. T-cells that mediate effective antitumor responses may also directly mediate cytotoxic responses against tumor cells, either through their expression of apoptosis-inducing molecules or through the release of cytotoxic granules [19]. Mature differentiated CD8+ T-cells and some types of CD4+ T-cells release proinflammatory cytokines such as interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF), which enhance the immune response by upregulating the expression of MHC class I and MHC class II molecules on both tumor cells and tumor-resident APCs. CD4+ T-cells are capable of activating and regulating many aspects of innate and adaptive immunity, including the function of cytotoxic CD8+ T-cells.

Besides, they can also engage and authorize APCs, which in turn recruit additional T-cells and promote the activation of the innate immune system [20]. On the contrary, in other tumors, like melanoma, the protective role of TILs is compromised by the high proportion of Tregs that down-regulate the activation and expansion of tumor reactive lymphocytes [21].

It has been shown using genetic and histological analysis of a large cohort of colorectal cancer patient biopsies that both the type and the location of immune cell infiltrate predict improved patient survival. Specifically, patients whose tumor centers or invasive margins were highly infiltrated with T-cells had the best predicted survival. In contrast, patients with stage I tumors containing few or no infiltrating T-cells had a prognosis similar to metastatic stage IV patients, even though they originally presented with minimally invasive disease [22]. Other studies also show that in some tumors, particularly in colon carcinoma, the presence of TILs is a strong predictor of the clinical outcome. Higher CD3⁺ TIL densities, colonic site, and absence of nodal involvement were significantly associated with a lower risk of metachronous metastasis [23].

Many studies examining other cancers reached similar conclusions, consequently defining a better picture in which the immune infiltrate, also defined as the immune score, correlates with improved prognosis [24].

Indeed, increased antitumor response has been shown to correlate with higher leukocyte infiltrate in mice and humans [25–29]. Aiming to increase the trafficking of T-cells to tumors may indeed result in more effective antitumor responses. The generation of an effective immune response is a complex series of events involving threat recognition, antigen presentation by specialized cells in lymphoid tissues, and clonal expansion of antigen-specific T-cells [30, 31]. After their generation, antigen reactive T-cells need to move from lymph nodes and migrate to the site of threat and penetrate the affected tissue. Trafficking of T-cells to particular sites is in itself a multistage process involving rolling and arrest on endothelium, followed by extravasation and penetration of tissue.

The critical steps of arrest and tissue penetration are dependent on selectin and integrin expression on endothelium and lymphocytes [32] and the interaction between chemokines, secreted by tissues, and chemokine receptors expressed on the surface of T-cells [33–35].

14.3 Adoptive T-Cell Therapy

The treatment of patients with cell populations that have been expanded ex vivo is called adoptive cell transfer (ACT). Cells that are infused back into a patient after ex vivo expansion (> 10^{10} cells in some cases) can traffic to the tumor and mediate its destruction. Immunotherapy based on the adoptive transfer of tumor-specific lymphocytes isolated from excising tumor masses (such as TIL expanded with T-cell growth factor interleukin-2 (IL-2) ex vivo), or of genetically engineered T-cells, has a rich history dating back to several decades ago [36-38]. The transfusion of lymphocytes, referred to as adoptive T-cell therapy, is being tested for the treatment of cancer and chronic infections. Adoptive T-cell therapy has the potential to enhance antitumor immunity, augment vaccine efficacy, and limit Graft-versus-Host Disease (GVHD). This form of personalized medicine is now in various early- and late-stage clinical trials. These trials are currently testing the best strategies to infuse tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, CTLs, Th (T helper) cells, and Tregs [39, 40].

To date, one of the most powerful immunotherapies against metastatic melanoma has been ACT using autologous ex vivo expanded TILs adoptively transferred back into patients. This strategy for the treatment of metastatic melanoma patients was initially described in 1988 [41] and has since yielded dramatic results with greater than 50% clinical responses [42], many of which are lasting for years in recent clinical trials [14, 43–47]. Although ACT with TILs has delivered promising results in phase 1 and 2 trials at the Surgery Branch, NCI, USA [45, 46], it is not currently possible to treat every patient with metastatic melanoma with this strategy due to several reasons, including lack of an available tumor for surgical harvest, inability to isolate and grow viable TIL, or inability to show robust, specific effector function of isolated TIL. The latter could potentially be due to impairment of T-cell effector function due to "immune checkpoint" mechanisms. Indeed, combination therapy with anti-CTLA4 (NCT 01701674) has been recently demonstrated to be a feasible approach to improve ACT therapy in patients with metastatic melanoma [48].

Alternative investigative protocols have thus evolved in an effort to address these limitations. Use of genetic engineering to create antigenspecific effector T-cells from peripheral blood lymphocytes may be an option for those patients without tumors amenable to surgical resection or for patients in whom viable TIL cannot grow from their tumors [49–55].

More recently, other forms of ACT using engineered T-cells have entered clinical testing. These include T-cells propagated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) expressing cloned recombinant T-cell receptor (TCR) chains recognizing epitopes from shared tumorassociated antigens (TAAs) [54, 56], or expressing chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) composed of immunoglobulin variable regions recognizing tumor antigens. These immunoglobulin regions are fused to signaling domains of the TCR and of co-stimulatory molecules, such as CD28 and CD137/4-1BB [57, 58].

The pace of research in autologous T-cellbased therapies for melanoma has increased dramatically over the last decade with new target antigens and an increased number of clinical trials testing both TIL and TCR- or CAR-transduced T-cells [59]. Improved molecular biology techniques have also increased enthusiasm and feasibility for testing genetically engineered T-cells. Recent advances in cellular immunology and tumor biology are guiding new approaches to adoptive T-cell therapy. For example, the use of engineered T-cells is being tested as a strategy to improve the functions of effector and memory T-cells, and manipulation of the host to overcome immunotoxic effects in the tumor microenvironment has led to promising results in early-stage clinical trials. Challenges that face the field must be addressed before adoptive T-cell therapy can be translated into routine clinical practices.

14.4 Challenges in Adoptive T-Cell Therapy

Despite the frequent detection of circulating tumor antigen-specific T-cells, either spontaneously or following active immunization or adoptive transfer, immune-mediated cancer regression occurs only in a minority of patients. In addition, although some ACT patients achieve long-term disease-free survival, most patients still suffer relapses [60]. Furthermore, the requirement of a large number of laboratory expanded T-cells (>1 × 10¹⁰) makes ACT a costly and labor-intensive treatment [61]. One important limiting factor for ACT is the inefficient migration of T-cells into tumor tissue.

By labeling T-cells before ACT, it has been shown that the number of adoptively transferred T-cells migrating to the tumor microenvironment correlates positively with clinical response [49]. However, this analysis also showed that the trafficking efficiency of transferred T-cells was extremely low [62]. Therefore, strategies aimed at improving the migration of T-cells to tumor sites are likely to enhance the efficacy of ACT therapy and improve clinical response rates [63].

Homing of effector T-cells to inflamed tissues is thought to depend on various adhesion molecules such as LFA-1 and VLA-4 [29, 64] and also on the activity of specific chemokines [65]. The homing of T-cells toward tumors depends on an intricate network of guiding cues that is only beginning to be understood and involves chemokines secreted from the tumor milieu [66, 67]. The relatively low clinical activity of melanoma vaccines, despite induction of specific T-cell responses detected in the blood, has suggested the possibility of downstream resistance mechanisms at the level of the tumor microenvironment. Current studies indicate that some tumors lack key chemokines that can be critical for recruitment of activated T-cells into metastatic sites. This could represent an important barrier for effective T-cell-mediated rejection of tumors in vivo.

The typical tumor vasculature exhibits disorganized, tortuous, and highly permeable vessels causing increased interstitial pressure, heterogeneous permeability, and irregular blood flow. This complex tumor vasculature creates a major hurdle for tumor-specific T-cells: it hampers getting in direct contact with the target by crossing the abnormal tumor vessel barrier and interstitium [68]. A more detailed explanation could be that, within the tumor microenvironment, the presence of angiogenic factors such as vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs) and fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) causes downregulation of intracellular adhesion molecule (ICAM), vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM), and CD34 on endothelial cells [69].

More recent studies have shown that VEGF may also induce indirect inhibition of T-cell recruitment via the induction of FasL [70]. As a result, leukocyte-vessel wall interactions are diminished in tumors; effector T-cells, regardless of being induced in vivo by vaccination or adoptively transferred, may thus be impaired in their deployment towards tumor sites from getting in direct contact with target tumor cells. Strategies have been attempted to improve immunotherapy by reducing the endothelial barrier, favoring the penetration of drugs, and improving T-cell infiltration based on the use of angiogenesis inhibitors such as anginex, endostatin, and angiostatin or anti-VEGF reagents such as soluble chimeric VEGF receptor (VEGFR) and anti-VEGF or VEGFR antibodies [71–75]. These drugs transiently normalize the tumor vasculature, pruning away immature and permeable vessels and remodeling the remaining vasculature. In the tumor microenvironment, these drugs can also overcome the endothelial barrier by preventing VCAM and ICAM downregulation, therefore promoting leukocyte infiltration in tumors [69].

The inability of many T-cells to reach the cancer tissue depends also on stromal features, which may form physical barriers, thus impeding T-cell arrival, including that of CTL used in ACT. In the tumor microenvironment, cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAF) display an activated phenotype and continuously deposit collagens and other extracellular matrix proteins, eventually building a dense stroma, such as those found in some lung or pancreatic cancers [76]. High density extracellular matrix formation has several effects, such as the increase in the interstitial fluid pressure and dysfunction of new vessels, both affecting tissue perfusion of blood circulation. Increasing evidence shows that failure to respond to anticancer treatments is associated with a TGF β signature in fibroblasts. Targeting CAFs with TGF β -blocking agents decreased fibrosis formation and facilitated T-cell penetration in experimental murine tumors [77, 78]. In both reports, inhibition of TGF β significantly increased the response to anti-PD-1/PD-L1 immunotherapy, leading to tumor regression.

As anticipated above, another important issue potentially hampering the trafficking ability of adoptively transferred T-cells is the lack of stimuli specifically directing the migration of lymphocytes into tumor tissue, such as chemokines.

14.5 Chemokines

Chemokines were first recognized as a family of small protein molecules, induced by inflammatory conditions, and capable of attracting inflammatory leukocytes (such as monocytes, activated T-cells, and neutrophils) [79]. Chemokines act through transmembrane domain G-proteincoupled receptors to elicit a signaling cascade culminating in directed locomotion. They are classified into four groups (C, CC, CXC, and CX3C) according to the number and spacing of cysteines in a conserved N-terminal motif [65, 80]. In humans, more than 50 chemokines classified into four families according to their nomenclature have been described. Facing these ligands, 19 chemokine receptors have been identified, indicating that one receptor may be associated with several ligands [65]. Two functional types have been defined, namely, the "inflammatory" or inducible chemokines, recruiting effector cells in inflamed tissues, and the "homeostatic" chemokines, constitutively produced by lymphoid or non-lymphoid tissues that control leukocyte traffic under physiological conditions [34, 81-84].

256

The chemokine system is characterized by redundancy, with some receptors binding several chemokines (e.g., CCR1–CCR5) and others only one (e.g., CXCR4–CXCR6). Some receptors function as "deceptors" or decoy receptors that bind chemokines but do not transmit signals [85, 86]. Though originally identified in the control of leukocyte chemotaxis, especially during infection and inflammation, it is now known that virtually all cells, including tumor cells, express chemokines and chemokine receptors.

The pleiotropy in the chemotactic system is reflected by the diverse physiological and pathological processes it coordinates with, including patterning of neuronal cells in the developing nervous system, homeostatic transport of hematopoietic stem cells, lymphocytes and dendritic cells, inflammatory diseases, tumor growth, metastasis, angiogenesis, and recruitment of macrophages by tumors [66, 67, 87, 88].

Recent characterization of the function of chemokines and chemokine receptors in the immune system has shown how immune cell localization can act as a regulatory mechanisms during both immune responses and tolerance. Tumor cells and the microenvironment constitutively express a variety of chemokines that play a key role in orchestrating the recruitment and positioning of leukocytes, including effector cells with potential antitumor functions. Immune cell recruitment and cell-based systems that may control leukocyte trafficking in cancer immunotherapy are some of the potential areas of focus in the efforts to enhance T-cell immunotherapy against cancer.

However, chemokine action is not restricted to their eponymous function of "cell mobilization" and these molecules are key participants of the cancer-related inflammation [67, 82, 89]. CCL2 and related chemokines contribute to polarizing tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) in a tissue repair/remodeling, promoting tumor growth [90, 91]. Blocking the CCL2/CCR2 axis in a liver tumor mouse model inhibits monocyte recruitment and macrophage M2-like polarization at the tumor site [92]. Recent clinical trials using chemotherapy in combination with CCL2 inhibition have shown initial antitumor activity in patients with advanced prostate cancer (NCT00992186) and other solid tumors (NCT01204996) [93]. Chemokines have positive effects on tumor cell proliferation/survival and regulate angiogenesis: for instance, CXCL8 is a growth factor for most malignant melanomas and other tumors [94, 95], as well as CCL5 and CXCL12 [96, 97]. It has been shown in vitro that cancer-associated fibroblasts release chemokines CXCL12, CXCL14, CCL2, and CCL5 and a variety of cytokines involved in tumor cell growth, angiogenic and metastatic processes, and immune cell infiltration, as recently reviewed in [98].

14.6 Role of Chemokines in Directing Tissue Trafficking in Tumors

Recent studies highlighted the potential use of chemokines in cancer immunotherapy to improve innate and adaptive cell interactions and recruit effectors into the tumor microenvironment and lymphoid tissues [99]. Some of the most promising chemokine networks for cancer immunotherapy are CCL21/CCL19 and the receptor CCR7, CCL2/CCL3/CCL5/CCL16, and their cognate receptors. The chemokine receptor CCR7 and its ligands CCL21 and CCL19 were first identified for their homeostatic role in directing the migration of mature dendritic cells (DCs) from the periphery to tumor-draining lymph nodes, where they present antigen to naive T-Cells. The latter also use CCR7-mediated mechanisms to enter the T-cell zone [100]. These chemokines have also been shown to chemoattract B-cells and NK cells to the lymph nodes. More recently, ectopic CCL19 and CCL21 expression in the tumor microenvironment has been used to bring naive lymphocytes and mature DCs together in a pseudo-lymph node for cancer immunotherapy [101].

In 2000, the first studies using recombinant CCL21 as a monotherapy for preclinical tumor models demonstrated a potent immune-mediated antitumor response that led to complete eradication of lung carcinoma tumors [102]. This response was found to be CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocyte dependent with significant DC infiltration into tumors and tumor-draining lymph nodes.

Similar studies by Vicari et al. showed that mouse CCL21 exerted antitumor effects. This was mediated through its angiostatic effect, whilst activation of CD8⁺ T and possibly NK cells also lead to reduced implantation of CCL21-transduced CT26 colon carcinoma cells [103]. Furthermore, CCL19 transduction of murine breast carcinoma cells led to the rejection of tumors in a NK and CD4⁺ T-cell-mediated manner [104]. In addition to its use as a monotherapy, CCL21 has been included in combined immunotherapy protocols. Studies using murine B16 melanoma lysate-pulsed DCs, modified to produce CCL21, demonstrated the ability of this chemokine to enhance the antitumor effects of DC vaccination [105, 106].

The chemokines CCL2, CCL3, and CCL5 have overlapping roles in regulating the migration of multiple subsets of innate and adaptive immune cells. Upon binding of CCL2, CCL3, or CCL5 to their cognate receptors (CCR2, CCR1, and CCR5, respectively), immature DCs, monocytes, and memory and T effector cells extravasate from the vasculature and enter peripheral sites of inflammation or infection [107–109]. The broad chemotactic actions of these proteins have made them important components of cancer immunotherapy strategies aimed at increasing immune cell infiltration into tumors. To this end, CCL2, CCL3, and CCL5 used in monotherapy or in combination therapy have been shown to induce both tumor regression and immunity to the subsequent tumor challenge in multiple preclinical models, as described by Homey et al. [101]. Chemokine receptor CCR5 is involved in T-cell migration; post-IL-12 treatment, upregulation of mRNA expression of CCR5 has been seen in splenic T-cells as well as of ligands for CCR5 (MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β) in tumor masses. Administration of a synthetic CCR5 antagonist TAK-779 to tumorbearing mice during IL-12 immunotherapy prevented T-cell migration and tumor regression. Anti-CCR5 antibody was found to inhibit T-cell migration in the lymphoid cell migration assay. Similarly, human tumors made to overexpress CCL5 were more capable of attracting T-cells in mouse xenograft 2-photon imaging experiments [110]. These results indicate a critical role for CCR5 in the induction of T-cell migration to

tumor sites after IL-12 treatment [111]. CCL5 was also found to be effective when used as a monotherapy or in combination immunotherapy protocols. Aravindaram et al. demonstrated that B16/gp100 primary tumors and lung metastasis in C57BL/6JNarl mice are strongly suppressed in murine models treated with gp100 vaccination and CCL5 therapy, which induces more potent splenocyte cytotoxic activities toward B16/ gp100 cells [112]. Higher levels of IL-4, IL-6, IFN- γ , and TNF- α along with longer survival times are seen in mice treated with recombinant CCL5 protein and GM-CSF-transduced tumor cell vaccines when compared with mice treated solely with GM-CSF-transduced vaccines [113]. CCL5 and FLT3L combined with a DNA vaccine have also been shown to inhibit tumor growth in hepatitis B viral antigen HBc-expressed B16 melanoma model [114]. Lapteva et al. created an Ad-RANTES-E1A vaccine, which utilizes a recombinant oncolytic adenovirus expressing CCL5 that induces primary tumor regression and blocks metastasis in mammary carcinoma murine models [107].

Parker et al. showed enhanced tumor growth inhibition and greater levels of CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell infiltrates in murine flank neuroblastoma treated sequentially with HSV-1 expressing IL-12 and HSV-1 expressing CCL2 when compared with either treatment alone [115]. Furthermore, Nagai et al. demonstrated that vaccinations with human malignant glioma constitutively secreting CCL2 in nude mice induced tumor infiltration by NK cells and monocytes [116]. Similar results were found in studies using CCL3. Hirose et al. showed that nude mice given subcutaneous injections of Chinese hamster ovary cells genetically modified to secrete CCL3 demonstrated greater tumor growth inhibition and greater neutrophilic infiltration when compared with controls [117]. Cao et al. demonstrated that CCL3-recruited DCs, transduced with a tumor antigen gene, induced a strong CTL response and effectively eliminated established tumors and prevented metastases [118].

Among CXC chemokines, CXCL9 and CXCL10 are considered the main attracting stimuli for TIL, which express high levels of the cognate receptor CXCR3. Increased expression of these chemokines can elicit antitumor responses correlated with increased infiltration of CD4 and CD8 lymphocytes [119]. The importance of CXCL9 and CXCL10 in the recruitment of TIL at the tumor site is also supported by observations in human tumors characterized by the abundance of TIL, such as gastric and colorectal carcinoma [120, 121]. In these tumors, TILs predominantly express CXCR3, and significant levels of CXCL9 and CXCL10 are produced mainly by myeloid cells in the stroma. In line with these findings, a recent study demonstrated that lack of CXCL9 and CXCL10 produced by CD103+ dendritic cells (DCs) was the cause of poor infiltration of effector T-cells into tumors [122].

TIL can be recruited through the production of CX3CL1, a transmembrane and secreted chemokine also named Fractalkine. CX3CL1overexpressing neuroblastoma cells are capable of inducing migration, adhesion, and IFN- γ secretion by immune effector cells [123]. High expression of CX3CL1 was positively correlated with good prognosis and the number of TILs in colorectal carcinoma [124]. The chemokine CXCL16, also a transmembrane protein, can contribute as well to the recruitment of TIL in carcinomas. CXCL16 was found overexpressed by reactive astrocytes and glioma cells [125], neuroblastoma, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma [126], and breast carcinoma [127].

It has been reported that ionizing radiation therapy markedly enhanced CXCL16 secretion by mouse and human breast cancer cells, which recruited CXCR6⁺ effector T-cells [128]. CXCL16 has been described as a positive prognostic marker in renal [129] and in colorectal carcinoma, where tumors with high CXCL16 expression had an increased number of CD4+ and CD8⁺ cells and a better prognosis than the weak CXCL16 expression group [130]. On the contrary, in prostate cancer CXCL16 expression has been correlated with poor prognosis [131]. Similarly, the presence of fibroblasts with enhanced CXCL16 expression correlates with aggressive tumor phenotype and higher protumoral innate cell infiltration in patients with triple negative human breast cancer [132].

In spite of these positive effects for an antitumor immune response, chemokines also play a major role in enhancing the accumulation of immune suppressor cells responsible for promoting tumor growth. As regulators of cell migration, chemokine networks are frequently usurped by cancer cells for facilitating tumor growth and metastasis, suppressing antitumor immune responses, regulating angiogenesis, and influencing the formation and spread of metastases [67, 83]. Expression of chemokines by tumors may also have immunomodulatory effects resulting in decreased immunogenicity of the tumor [133, 134] or desensitization of chemokine receptors on T-cells [135]. CCL2 was shown to be overexpressed by tumor-associated fibroblasts in breast cancer and greater CCL2 and CCL5 levels in the tumor microenvironment correlated with the accumulation of macrophages and more advanced disease [136]. Similarly, Zhang et al. demonstrated multiple roles for CCL2 in promoting prostate cancer growth, including modulation of TAM migration and promotion of osteoclast maturation, as well as direct effects on prostate cancer cell proliferation, migration, and invasion [137].

In the tumor microenvironment, CXCL12 functions as an anti-inflammatory chemokine that skews the polarization of antigen-specific Tregs and IL-10-producing DCs/monocytic cells to restrain the inflammatory process and suppress antitumor immunity [138, 139]. CCL2 and CCL3 have been shown to increase the infiltration of Tregs, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), and TAM [140–143]. Furthermore, Foxp3⁺ regulatory T-cells migrate to the paracortical areas of peripheral lymph nodes in a CCR7-dependent manner [144].

On the whole, while chemokines are instrumental to direct tumor infiltration by immune effector cells, they may also contribute to the recruitment of suppressor cells that hamper antitumor immune responses and promote tumor tolerance. Immunotherapeutic strategies using depletion or inactivation of suppressor cell populations in addition to chemokine-based stimulation of antitumor immunity may thus prove especially effective.

14.7 Overexpression of Chemokine Receptors in Engineered Lymphocytes to Be Used for Cancer Immunotherapy

Adoptive T-cell immunotherapy with tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes or genetically modified T-cells has yielded important results in some cancers. However, T-cells need to traffic properly into tumors to adequately exert therapeutic effects. One approach to improve antitumor immunity is to increase the infiltration of immune cells into the tumor or facilitate the movement of antigenpresenting cells (APCs) to tumor-draining lymph nodes to prime naive T and B lymphocytes. The chemokine receptor pattern expressed by T lymphocytes depends on their differentiation and activation state and is influenced by the tumor microenvironment. Through specific antigenic priming, naive T lymphocytes differentiate into memory/effector cells, downregulate the receptors for homeostatic chemokines such as CXCR4 and CCR7, and upregulate those for the inflammatory chemokines according to the type of polarization: CCR1, CCR2, CCR3, and CCR4 for a Th2 response and CCR5 and CXCR3 for a Th1 response [145].

Furthermore, after T-cell activation, the chemokine receptor expression can be transiently modulated, thus acquiring new migratory capacities [90, 146]. Engineering T-cells by methods such as introduction of chimeric antigen receptor or introduction of co-stimulatory signal gene has indeed produced impressive results in adoptive T-cell-based cancer immunotherapy. Likewise, introduction of chemokine receptor gene into T-cell engineering may also become an important aspect of improving the process of T-cell immunotherapy. Advances in the genetic modification of T-cells and understanding of leukocyte trafficking can make it possible to afford the opportunity of engineering T-cells to express any one or combination of receptors and thus potentially direct their migration to a predetermined target (Fig. 14.1). Expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 into T-cells may be useful to target CTL to bone marrow for the treatment of leukemias or metastatic tumors growing in the milieu of marrow stromal cells that produce CXCL12, the ligand for CXCR4 [147]. Similarly, introduction of CXCR5 or CXCR2 to T-cells might be used for targeting CTL to follicular lymphoma cells producing CXCL13 or melanoma cells producing CXCL1, respectively [148, 149].

The published data regarding overexpression of chemokine receptors on T-cells directing antitumor effector T-cells to tumor sites are still limited. It was found, for example, that CCL2 and CCR4 play a role in T-cell chemoattraction by melanoma in vitro [150] and that tumor infiltration of T-cells is strongly associated with high CXCL9 and CXCL10 expression in melanoma in in situ hybridization studies [151]. CXCL12 is shown to enhance T-cell migration toward melanoma in vitro [152], but it also causes chemorepulsion in other systems [153]. The selective expression of chemokine receptors by different subsets of T-cells can determine specific trafficking of these subsets to tissues expressing the appropriate chemokine. Thus, for example, CCR7, expressed by naïve T-cells, facilitates migration to lymph nodes where the ligands for this receptor, CCL21 and CCL19, are produced [154]. The expression of chemokine receptors by T-cells and chemokines at sites of antigenic challenge determines the specific traffic of lymphocytes. For example, the ligands for CXCR3, CXCL10, and CXCL9 [155], which can be expressed by activated monocytes, fibroblasts, keratinocytes, and endothelial cells [156], may enable cells bearing CXCR3 to traffic preferentially to IFN- γ -producing inflammatory sites.

Recent evidence regarding the hierarchy of chemokine receptors that are involved in tumor antigen-specific T-cell trafficking has shown that in melanoma CXCR3 has a necessary and nonredundant role in lymphocyte homing compared to CCR2 and CCR5, which are nonessential [132]. However, it has been demonstrated that melanoma and other types of solid tumors do not express sufficient levels of CXCR3 ligands as well as CCL2, CCL4, and CCL5 [157]. Yet, the complete T-cell/tumor chemotactic network is still to be explored, as well as the pattern of chemokine receptors on clinically derived ex vivo


Fig. 14.1 Schematic representation of adoptive T-cell transfer therapy using T-cells genetically modified with chemokine receptors. Tumor mass is excised from the patient and TILs (tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes) are isolated from the tumor. TILs are cultured in IL-2 and transduced with the chemokine receptor matching with the ligand abundantly produced by tumor cells. Chemokine

receptor positive T-cells are selected and expanded in culture using medium enriched with IL-2 and other homeostatic cytokines such as IL-15 and IL-7. Expanded modified T-cells are infused back into patient after lymphodepletion, with better homing potential and effective tumor cell killing

cultured T-cells. Our understanding of how to exploit chemotactic signals in order to manipulate reactive T-cells to better reach tumor sites is far from being complete.

Tumor-reactive T-cells do not necessarily express the appropriate receptor for chemokines produced at the site of tumors, as discussed earlier. For example, CXCL1 is produced by a large percentage of melanomas [158], but its receptor, CXCR2, is expressed only in a small subset of T-cells [159]. In a study to identify which chemokines are produced by cancer cells and which chemokine receptors are expressed by cultured T-cell, CXCL1 and CCL5 were identified in a series of human tumor cell lines and fine needle aspirates; in addition, it was determined that several chemokine receptors are expressed by cultured human T-cells, including CCR1, CCR2, CCR4, CCR5, CXCR3, and CXCR4. Activated lymphocytes may also be a source of chemokines; in a strategy to direct T-cells toward chemokines expressed by tumors, CXCL1 was chosen because it was produced by tumors but not by T-cells themselves. The absence of CXCL1 by T-cells may be an important requisite for trafficking to tumors because endogenous chemokine production may block or cause downregulation of chemokine receptor on T-cells. However, T-cells did not express the receptor CXCR2. To compensate for this, T-cells were transduced with a retroviral vector encoding CXCR2. T-cells expressing CXCR2 were responsive in vitro toward both recombinant protein and tumor-derived chemokine. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that CXCL1 was able to induce the secretion of the proinflammatory cytokine IFN- γ by transduced T-cells, thereby extending the possibility of antitumor functions in modified T-cells. This study demonstrates the feasibility of redirecting the migration properties of T-cells toward chemokines secreted by tumors [149].

Several approaches have been applied to decipher the mechanism causing the unsuccessful migration and homing of effector T-cells to the tumor microenvironment. Methods such as Affymetrix gene expression profiling on a series of metastatic melanoma biopsies were performed to reveal T-cell-associated transcripts that could be of potential use. The presence of lymphocytes also correlates with the expression of defined chemokine genes. In this approach, a subset of six chemokines (CCL2, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, CXCL9, and CXCL10) was confirmed by protein array and quantitative reverse transcription PCR to be preferentially expressed in tumors that contained T-cells. Corresponding chemokine receptors were found to be upregulated on human CD8⁺ effector T-cells, and transwell migration assays confirmed the ability of each of these chemokines to promote migration of CD8⁺ effector cells in vitro. Screening by chemokine protein array identified a subset of melanoma cell lines that produced a similar broad array of chemokines. These melanoma cells recruited human CD8⁺ effector T-cells more effectively when implanted as xenografts in nonobese diabetic/ severe combined immunodeficient (NOD/SCID) mice in vivo. Chemokine blockade with specific antibodies inhibited migration of CD8⁺ T-cells. This study suggests that lack of critical chemokines in a subset of melanoma metastases may limit the migration of activated T-cells, which in turn could limit the effectiveness of antitumor immunity [160]. The majority of tumors, including neuroblastoma, produce the chemokine CCL2. In one recent study, forced co-expression of chemokine receptor CCR2b, along with chimeric antigen receptor specific for the tumorassociated antigen GD2, enhanced the tumor trafficking of activated T-cells [161]. As a result, adoptively transferred T-cells co-modified with both CCR2b and GD2-CAR had greater antitumor activity in vivo.

To better understand the importance of homing of the adoptively transferred T-cells to all tumor sites in a sufficient number, a similar study was done exploiting endogenous chemotactic signals in order to manipulate and enhance the directional trafficking of transferred T-cells toward melanoma. Based on chemokine profiling of 15 melanoma cultures, it was shown that CXCL1 and CXCL8 are abundantly expressed and secreted from melanoma cultures. However, the complementary analysis on 40 melanoma patient-derived tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) proved that the corresponding chemokine receptors are either not expressed (CXCR2) or expressed at low levels (CXCR1). Using the in vitro transwell system, it was demonstrated that TILs preferentially migrate toward melanoma and that endogenously expressing CXCR1 TIL cells are significantly enriched among the migrating lymphocytes. The role of the chemokine receptor CXCR1 was validated by the enhanced migration of CXCR1 engineered TIL cells toward melanoma or recombinant CXCL8. Cytotoxicity and interferon secretion activity were unaltered by CXCR1 expression profile.

Taken together, these results mark CXCR1 as a candidate for genetic manipulations aiming to enhance the trafficking of adoptively transferred T-cells [162]. This approach is complementary and potentially synergistic with other genetic strategies designed to enhance antitumor potency. In a similar study, the introduction of chemokine receptor CXCR2 gene into tumorspecific T-cells was shown to have enhanced localization to tumors and improved antitumor responses against melanoma expressing chemokines CXCL1 and CXCL8 [61]. The chemokine CXCL16 also plays an important role in T-cellmediated antitumor immune responses: mice lacking CXCR6, the receptor for CXCL16, displayed reduced recruitment of activated effector T-cells in breast tumor tissue and impaired tumor regression [128]. A similar study was done to suggest that the capacity of adoptively transferred T-cells to home to tumors may be, in part, dictated by the species and amounts of tumorderived chemokines, in particular CCL2 [163].

The chemokine CCL2 is highly secreted by malignant pleural mesotheliomas, but the corresponding chemokine receptor, CCR2, is minimally expressed on activated human T-cells genetically transduced with a chimeric antibody receptor (CAR) directed to the tumor antigen mesothelin (mesoCAR T-cells). The chemokine receptor CCR2b was thus transduced into meso-CAR T-cells using a lentiviral vector and the modified T-cells were used to treat established mesothelin-expressing tumors. CCR2b transduction led to CCL2-induced calcium flux and increased transmigration, as well as augmentation of in vitro T-cell killing ability. A single intravenous injection of 20 million mesoCAR CCR2b T-cells into immunodeficient mice bearing large, established tumors (without any adjunct therapy) resulted in a 12.5-fold increase in T-cell tumor infiltration by day 5 compared with meso-CAR T-cells. This was associated with significantly increased antitumor activity. This study concluded that CAR T-cells bearing a functional chemokine receptor can overcome the inadequate tumor localization that limits conventional CAR targeting strategies and can significantly improve antitumor efficacy in vivo [164].

In one of the most recent studies, the introduction of chemokine and receptor axis CCL2/ CCR2 is shown to potentiate in vivo anti-lung cancer reactivity mediated by CD8⁺ T-cells [165]. WT1 is a well-known tumor antigen expressed to various degrees by human lung cancer cells and the small cell lung cancer cell line used as a target that produces a high amount of chemokine CCL2. Lymphocytes were engineered to coexpress both WT1-specific TCR and chemokine receptor CCR2 not only via CCL2-tropic tumor trafficking but also via CCL2-enhanced WT1responsiveness. Based on this observation, the clinical feasibility of this strategy for adoptive immunotherapy against human lung cancer can be addressed in the future.

Similar in vivo experiments have also managed to demonstrate enhancement of T-cell recruitment to the tumor by transduction of the chemokine receptor CCR4 in two different models of cancer [166, 167]. A common feature of the studies highlighted so far is the attempt at enhancing T-cell recruitment to an injected tumor of known characteristics. An eventual translation to the clinic will require facing the hurdle of dealing with unknown tumors or metastatic sites. To tackle this, a recent study performed chemokine receptor-modified T-cell therapy in the transgenic adenocarcinoma of mouse prostate (TRAMP) mouse model of spontaneous prostate tumor and metastasis. Simulating the unknown variability that may occur in the clinic, the metastatic sites were analyzed in order to identify chemokines that were sufficiently differentially expressed at the target site. This enabled the selection of the most suitable chemokine receptors (in this case CCR2) to be used for a tailored modification of therapeutic cytotoxic T-cells. Indeed, the subsequent therapy with these cells led to improved homing and quantitatively more efficient antitumor response [168]. In principle, such an approach could be adapted to any tumor its or metastatic site from which a biopsy can be obtained prior to treatment, so as to tailor the T-cell therapy specifically to the patient.

Another innovative strategy attempted recently involves generating a recombinant chemokine receptor CXCR4 with optically activated domain. The photoactivatable chemokine receptor enabled targeted T-cell migration to mouse melanoma sites on which light was applied. While clearly limited to accessible tumor sites, this extraordinary example demonstrates how versatile the chemokine/chemokine receptor axis can become in a context of improving tumor immunotherapy [169].

One potentially crucial chemokine in a tumor context is CX3CL1 or Fractalkine, having an important role in leukocyte migration. Neuroblastoma cells overexpressing Fractalkine are capable of inducing migration, adhesion, and IFN- γ secretion by immune effector cells [123]. The role of this chemokine/receptor pair CX3CL1/CX3CR1 has been well established in glioblastoma, an aggressive tumor of the central nervous system, and in the adenocarcinoma of the pancreas [170, 171]. Recent studies by our group show overexpression of Fractalkine in colorectal cancer assessed in human clinical samples [172]. Fractalkine/CX3CL1 is a proinflammatory chemokine that chemoattracts and activates CX3CR1⁺ leukocytes such as CD8⁺, CD4⁺, and $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes, natural killer (NK) cells, dendritic cells (DCs), and monocytes. Leukocyte trafficking is modulated by multiple signal transduction pathways, including CX3CL1–CX3CR1 signaling [173]. High expression of CX3CL1 was positively correlated with good prognosis and the number of TILs in colorectal carcinoma [124]. High expression of CX3CL1 by tumor cells correlates with a good prognosis and increased tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T-cells, NK cells, and DCs in breast carcinoma [174]. The choice of the chemokine receptor CX3CR1 to enhance the homing potential of adoptively transferred T-cells has recently been studied in mouse tumor models. In a humanized mouse xenograft model of injectable colorectal cancer, human CX3CR1-transduced T-cells were demonstrated to have enhanced tumor homing and led to reduced tumor growth [175]. This study highlighted the feasibility of re-directioning T-cells via chemokine receptor transduction. Moreover, the lack of transduced T-cell recruitment in cancer cell lines overexpressing the ligand CX3CL1 suggested that circulating levels of the cognate ligand of CX3CR1 could interfere with the homing of transferred T-cells, eliminating the efficient chemotactic gradient necessary to reach the tumor site [175]. All these findings highlight the translational feasibility of approaches focused on improving ACT via more specific homing. Currently, a phase 2 clinical trial is recruiting patients with advanced melanoma (NCT01740557) to define safety and efficacy of treatment with chemotherapy in combination with transduced T-cells expressing CXCR2 receptor and nerve growth factor receptor, a specific highly expressed melanoma antigen [176].

14.8 Concluding Remarks

Over the past decade, it has become clear that the adoptive transfer of ex vivo expanded antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes promotes sustained antitumor effects in patients. Because of this compelling clinical evidence and the concomitant development of methodologies for robust gene transfer to human T lymphocytes, the field has rapidly evolved, offering new opportunities to extend T-cellbased therapies [177]. To exert a therapeutic effect, adoptively transferred tumor-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes must traffic to sites of tumor burden, exit the circulation, be directed exactly to tumor tissue, and deeply infiltrate the microenvironment. Several strategies have now been implemented to enhance the efficacy of ACT. The development of targeted small molecules, mAbs, and biological therapies that modify the microenvironment, for instance, to overcome the fibrotic physical barriers to normalize the cancer vasculature and favor T-cell infiltration, have opened new perspectives. With the notion that chemokines play a major role in directing effector cell trafficking during antitumor immune responses, they hold great potential in cancer immunotherapy. Studies in experimental tumor models and cancer patients clearly demonstrate the potential of chemokine immunotherapy to increase immune cell infiltration of tumors and suggest that future trials should seek to incorporate chemokines or their receptors into therapy protocols. The possibility of developing novel strategies aimed at improving T-cell homing to tumors used alone or in combination with other treatments, such as checkpoint blockade immunotherapy, may prove to be more efficient and holds great promises in oncology (Fig. 14.2).



Fig. 14.2 Optimizing adoptive T-cell transfer therapy using T-cells genetically modified with multiple factors. Tumor mass is excised from the patient and TILs (tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes) are isolated from the tumor. TILs are genetically modified with the chemokine receptor matching with the ligand abundantly produced by tumor cells along with CAR specific to the antigen expressed by tumor cells as well as with enhanced T-cell

Acknowledgments This work was funded by the FP7 European People Programme ATTRACT. I.S. was a recipient of a Marie Curie fellowship from FP7 ITN Number 238778.

References

- Sharma P, Allison JP. The future of immune checkpoint therapy. Science. 2015;6230:56–61.
- Buchbinder EI, Hodi FS. Melanoma in 2015: immune-checkpoint blockade – durable cancer control. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2016;2:77–8.
- Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Restifo NP. Cancer immunotherapy: moving beyond current vaccines. Nat Med. 2004;10:909–15.
- 4. Galluzzi L, Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, Galon J, Sautès-Fridman C, et al. Trial watch: adop-

activation signal genes such as CD28 or CD40. Modified T-cells are selected and expanded in cell culture using the medium enriched with IL-2. These personalized engineered cells can be used as the starting material for ACT that can be combined with therapeutic vaccination and with checkpoint inhibitors to enhance their antitumor activity

tive cell transfer immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1:306–15.

- Blattman JN, Greenberg PD. Cancer immunotherapy: a treatment for the masses. Science. 2004;305:200–5.
- Rosenberg SAS. Cell transfer immunotherapy for metastatic solid cancer–what clinicians need to know. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2011;8:577–85.
- Smith FOF, Downey SGS, Klapper JAJ, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Royal RE, et al. Treatment of metastatic melanoma using interleukin-2 alone or in conjunction with vaccines. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:5610–8.
- Atkins MB, Hsu J, Lee S, Cohen GI, Flaherty LE, Sosman JA, et al. Phase III trial comparing concurrent biochemotherapy with cisplatin, vinblastine, dacarbazine, interleukin-2, and interferon alfa-2b with cisplatin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine alone in patients with metastatic malignant melanoma (E3695): a trial coordinated by the Eastern

Cooperative Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:5748–54.

- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:711–23.
- Robert C, Thomas L, Bondarenko I, O'Day S, Weber J, Garbe C, et al. Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:2517–26.
- Rosenberg SA, Lotze MT, Muul LM, Leitman S, Chang AE, Ettinghausen SE, et al. Observations on the systemic administration of autologous lymphokine-activated killer cells and recombinant interleukin-2 to patients with metastatic cancer. N Engl J Med. 1985;313:1485–92.
- Galluzzi LL, Senovilla LL, Zitvogel LL, Kroemer GG. The secret ally: immunostimulation by anticancer drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2012;11:215–33.
- Tartour E, Pere H, Maillere B, Terme M, Merillon N, Taieb J, et al. Angiogenesis and immunity: a bidirectional link potentially relevant for the monitoring of antiangiogenic therapy and the development of novel therapeutic combination with immunotherapy. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2011;30:83–95.
- Rosenberg SAS, Yang JCJ, Sherry RMR, Kammula US, Hughes MS, Phan GQ, et al. Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17:4550–7.
- Gattinoni LL, Powell DJD, Rosenberg SAS, Restifo NPN. Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: building on success. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6:383–93.
- Shlomchik WDW. Graft-versus-host disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007;7:340–52.
- Tacken PJ, de Vries IJM, Torensma R, Figdor CG. Dendritic-cell immunotherapy: from ex vivo loading to in vivo targeting. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007;7:790–802.
- Finn OJ. Cancer immunology. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:2704–15.
- Restifo NPN, Dudley MEM, Rosenberg SAS. Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: harnessing the T cell response. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12:269–81.
- Hung KK, Hayashi RR, Lafond-Walker AA, Lowenstein CC, Pardoll DD, Levitsky HH. The central role of CD4(+) T cells in the antitumor immune response. J Exp Med. 1998;188:2357–68.
- Oble DA, Loewe R, Yu P. Focus on TILs: prognostic significance of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in human melanoma. Cancer Immun. 2009;9:3.
- 22. Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pagès C, et al. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. Science. 2006;313:1960–4.
- Laghi LL, Bianchi PP, Miranda EE, et al. CD3+ cells at the invasive margin of deeply invading (pT3-T4)

colorectal cancer and risk of post-surgical metastasis: a longitudinal study. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10:877–84.

- Schaer DA, Lesokhin AM, Wolchok JD. Hiding the road signs that lead to tumor immunity. J Exp Med. 2011;208:1937–40.
- Cohen PJP, Lotze MTM, Roberts JRJ, Rosenberg SAS, Jaffe ESE. The immunopathology of sequential tumor biopsies in patients treated with interleukin-2. Correlation of response with T-cell infiltration and HLA-DR expression. Am J Pathol. 1987;129:208–16.
- Rubin JT, Elwood LJ, Rosenberg SA, Lotze MT. Immunohistochemical correlates of response to recombinant interleukin-2-based immunotherapy in humans. Cancer Res. 1989;49:7086–92.
- 27. Cole DJD, Taubenberger JKJ, Pockaj BAB, Yannelli JRJ, Carter CC, Carrasquillo JJ, Leitman SS, Steinberg SMS, Rosenberg SAS, Yang YCY. Histopathological analysis of metastatic melanoma deposits in patients receiving adoptive immunotherapy with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 1994;38:299–303.
- 28. Pockaj BA, Sherry RM, Wei JP, Yannelli JR, Carter CS, Leitman SF, et al. Localization of 111indium-labeled tumor infiltrating lymphocytes to tumor in patients receiving adoptive immunotherapy. Augmentation with cyclophosphamide and correlation with response. Cancer. 1994;73:1731–7.
- Ogawa MM, Tsutsui TT, Zou JPJ, Mu JJ, Wijesuriya RR, Yu WGW, et al. Enhanced induction of very late antigen 4/lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1-dependent T-cell migration to tumor sites following administration of interleukin 12. Cancer Res. 1997;57:2216–22.
- Germain RNR. MHC-dependent antigen processing and peptide presentation: providing ligands for T lymphocyte activation. Cell. 1994;76:287–99.
- Davis MMM, Boniface JJJ, Reich ZZ, Lyons DD, Hampl JJ, Arden BB, et al. Ligand recognition by alpha beta T cell receptors. Immunology. 1997;16:523–44.
- Butcher ECE, Picker LJL. Lymphocyte homing and homeostasis. Science. 1996;272:60–6.
- Locati MM, Murphy MPM. Chemokines and chemokine receptors: biology and clinical relevance in inflammation and AIDS. Medicine (Abingdon). 1998;50:425–40.
- Campbell JJJ, Butcher ECE. Chemokines in tissuespecific and microenvironment-specific lymphocyte homing. Curr Opin Immunol. 2000;12:336–41.
- Sallusto F, Mackay CR, Lanzavecchia A. The role of chemokine receptors in primary, effector, and memory immune responses. Immunology. 1999;18:593–620.
- Fefer AA. Immunotherapy and chemotherapy of Moloney sarcoma virus-induced tumors in mice. Cancer Res. 1969;29:2177–83.
- 37. Greenberg PDP, Cheever MAM, Fefer AA. Eradication of disseminated murine leukemia by

chemoimmunotherapy with cyclophosphamide and adoptively transferred immune syngeneic Lyt-1+2– lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1981;154: 952–63.

- Rosenberg SAS, Terry WDW. Passive immunotherapy of cancer in animals and man. Adv Cancer Res. 1976;25:323–88.
- June CH. Adoptive T, cell therapy for cancer in the clinic. J Clin Invest. 2007;117:1466–76.
- June CH. Principles of adoptive T cell cancer therapy. J Clin Invest. 2007;117:1204–12.
- Yang JCJ, Rosenberg SAS. Current approaches to the adoptive immunotherapy of cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol. 1987;233:459–67.
- 42. Wrzesinski C, Paulos CM, Kaiser A, Muranski P, Palmer DC, Gattinoni L, Yu Z, Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP. Increased intensity lymphodepletion enhances tumor treatment efficacy of adoptively transferred tumor-specific T cells. J Immunother. 2009;33:1–7.
- 43. Besser MJ, Shapira-Frommer R, Treves AJ, et al. Clinical responses in a phase II study using adoptive transfer of short-term cultured tumor infiltration lymphocytes in metastatic melanoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:2646–55.
- 44. Chacon JA, Wu RC, Sukhumalchandra P, Molldrem JJ, Sarnaik A, Pilon-Thomas S, et al. Co-stimulation through 4-1BB/CD137 improves the expansion and function of CD8(+) melanoma tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes for adoptive T-cell therapy. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e60031.
- 45. Dudley MEM, Wunderlich JRJ, Yang JCJ, et al. Adoptive cell transfer therapy following nonmyeloablative but lymphodepleting chemotherapy for the treatment of patients with refractory metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:2346–57.
- 46. Dudley ME, Wunderlich JR, Robbins PF, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity in patients after clonal repopulation with antitumor lymphocytes. Science. 2002;298:850–4.
- 47. Goff SL, Smith FO, Klapper JA, Sherry R, Wunderlich JR, Steinberg SM, et al. Tumor infiltrating lymphocyte therapy for metastatic melanoma: analysis of tumors resected for TIL. J Immunother. 2010;33:840–7.
- 48. Mullinax JE, Hall M, Prabhakaran S, Weber J, Khushalani N, Eroglu Z, Brohl AS, Markowitz J, Royster E, Richards A, Stark V, Zager JS, Kelley L, Cox C, Sondak VK, Mulé JJ, Pilon-Thomas S, Sarnaik AA. Combination of Ipilimumab and Adoptive Cell Therapy with Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes for Patients with Metastatic Melanoma. Front Oncol. 2018;8:44.
- 49. Hughes MSM, Yu YYLY, Dudley MEM, et al. Transfer of a TCR gene derived from a patient with a marked antitumor response conveys highly active T-cell effector functions. Hum Gene Ther. 2005;16:457–72.
- Zhao Y, Zheng Z, Robbins PF, Khong HT, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Primary human lymphocytes transduced with NY-ESO-1 antigen-specific TCR genes

recognize and kill diverse human tumor cell lines. J Immunol. 2005;174:4415–23.

- 51. Roszkowski JJJ, Lyons GEG, Kast WMW, Yee CC, Van Besien KK, Nishimura MIM. Simultaneous generation of CD8+ and CD4+ melanoma-reactive T cells by retroviral-mediated transfer of a single T-cell receptor. Cancer Res. 2005;65:1570–6.
- 52. Engels BB, Noessner EE, Frankenberger BB, Blankenstein TT, Schendel DJD, Uckert WW. Redirecting human T lymphocytes toward renal cell carcinoma specificity by retroviral transfer of T cell receptor genes. Hum Gene Ther. 2005;16: 799–810.
- 53. Cohen CJC, Zheng ZZ, Bray RR, Zhao YY, Sherman LAL, Rosenberg SAS, et al. Recognition of fresh human tumor by human peripheral blood lymphocytes transduced with a bicistronic retroviral vector encoding a murine anti-p53 TCR. J Immunol. 2005;175:5799–808.
- Morgan RAR, Dudley MEM, Wunderlich JRJ, et al. Cancer regression in patients after transfer of genetically engineered lymphocytes. Science. 2006;314:126–9.
- 55. Johnson LAL, Heemskerk BB, Powell DJD, Cohen CJC, Morgan RAR, Dudley MEM, et al. Gene transfer of tumor-reactive TCR confers both high avidity and tumor reactivity to nonreactive peripheral blood mononuclear cells and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. J Immunol. 2006;177:6548–59.
- 56. Morgan RAR, Dudley MEM, Yu YYLY, Zheng ZZ, Robbins PFP, Theoret MRM, et al. High efficiency TCR gene transfer into primary human lymphocytes affords avid recognition of melanoma tumor antigen glycoprotein 100 and does not alter the recognition of autologous melanoma antigens. J Immunol. 2003;171:3287–95.
- 57. Kalos M, Levine BL, Porter DL. T cells with chimeric antigen receptors have potent antitumor effects and can establish memory in patients with advanced leukemia. Science. 2011;3(95):95ra73.
- Yvon E, Del Vecchio M, Savoldo B, Hoyos V. Immunotherapy of metastatic melanoma using genetically engineered GD2-specific T cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;14(18):5852–60.
- 59. Wu RR, Forget M-AM, Chacon JJ, Bernatchez CC, Haymaker CC, Chen JQJ, et al. Adoptive T-cell therapy using autologous tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes for metastatic melanoma: current status and future outlook. Cancer J. 2012;18:160–75.
- Rosenberg SA, Dudley ME. Adoptive cell therapy for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma. Curr Opin Immunol. 2009;21(2):233–40.
- Peng W, Ye Y, Rabinovich BA, et al. Transduction of tumor-specific T cells with CXCR2 chemokine receptor improves migration to tumor and antitumor immune responses. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:5458–68.
- 62. Fisher BB, Packard BSB, Read EJE, Carrasquillo JAJ, Carter CSC, Topalian SLS, et al. Tumor localization of adoptively transferred indium-111 labeled tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 1989;7:250–61.

- Srivastava S, Riddell SR. Chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapy: challenges to bench-to-bedside. J Immunol. 2018;2:459–68.
- Kedl RMR, Mescher MFM. Migration and activation of antigen-specific CD8+ T cells upon in vivo stimulation with allogeneic tumor. J Immunol. 1997;159:650–63.
- Zlotnik AA, Yoshie OO. Chemokines: a new classification system and their role in immunity. Immunity. 2000;12:121–7.
- Vicari APA, Caux CC. Chemokines in cancer. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2002;13:143–54.
- Balkwill FF. Cancer and the chemokine network. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4:540–50.
- Bellone M, Calcinotto A, Corti A. Won't you come on in? How to favor lymphocyte infiltration in tumors. Onco Targets Ther. 2010;1:986–8.
- Corti A, Pastorino F, Curnis F, Arap W, Ponzoni M, Pasqualini R. Targeted drug delivery and penetration into solid tumors. Med Res Rev. 2012;32:1078–91.
- Motz GT, Santoro SP, Wang LP, et al. Tumor endothelium FasL establishes a selective immune barrier promoting tolerance in tumors. Nat Med. 2014;20:607–15.
- Bellone M, Mondino A, Corti A. Vascular targeting, chemotherapy and active immunotherapy: teaming up to attack cancer. Trends Immunol. 2008;29:235–41.
- 72. Dirkx AEM, oude Egbrink MGA, Castermans K, et al. Anti-angiogenesis therapy can overcome endothelial cell anergy and promote leukocyteendothelium interactions and infiltration in tumors. FASEB J. 2006;20:621–30.
- 73. Li B, Lalani AS, Harding TC, Luan B, Koprivnikar K, Huan Tu G, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor blockade reduces intratumoral regulatory T cells and enhances the efficacy of a GM-CSFsecreting cancer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12:6808–16.
- 74. Shrimali RK, Yu Z, Theoret MR, Chinnasamy D, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA. Antiangiogenic agents can increase lymphocyte infiltration into tumor and enhance the effectiveness of adoptive immunotherapy of cancer. Cancer Res. 2010;70:6171–80.
- 75. Manning EA, Ullman JGM, Leatherman JM, Asquith JM, Hansen TR, Armstrong TD, et al. A vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 inhibitor enhances antitumor immunity through an immune-based mechanism. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:3951–9.
- Salmon H, Franciszkiewicz K, Damotte D, Dieu-Nosjean MC, et al. Matrix architecture defines the preferential localization and migration of T cells into the stroma of human lung tumors. J Clin Invest. 2012;122:899–910.
- Tauriello DVF, Palomo-Ponce S, Stork D, Berenguer-Llergo A, Badia-Ramentol J, et al. TGFb drives immune evasion in genetically reconstituted colon cancer metastasis. Nature. 2018;554:538–43.
- Mariathasan S, Turley SJ, Nickles D, Castiglioni A, Yuen K, Wang Y, Kadel Iii EE, et al. TGFβ

attenuates tumour response to PD-L1 blockade by contributing to exclusion of T cells. Nature. 2018;554(7693):544–8.

- Murphy PMP. The molecular biology of leukocyte chemoattractant receptors. Immunology. 1993;12:593–633.
- Zlotnik A, Morales J, Hedrick JA. Recent advances in chemokines and chemokine receptors. Crit Rev Immunol. 1999;19:1–47.
- Sallusto F, Kremmer E, Palermo B, Hoy A, Ponath P, Qin S, et al. Switch in chemokine receptor expression upon TCR stimulation reveals novel homing potential for recently activated T cells. Eur J Immunol. 1999;29:2037–45.
- Mantovani A, Savino B, Locati M, Zammataro L, Allavena P, Bonecchi R. The chemokine system in cancer biology and therapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2010;21:27–39.
- Rossi D, Zlotnik A. The biology of chemokines and their receptors. Immunology. 1999;18:217–42.
- Allavena P, Germano G, Marchesi F, Mantovani A. Chemokines in cancer related inflammation. Exp Cell Res. 2010;317(5):664–73.
- Mantovani A, Locati M, Vecchi A, Sozzani S, Allavena P. Decoy receptors: a strategy to regulate inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. Trends Immunol. 2001;22:328–36.
- 86. Locati M, de la Torre YM, Galliera E, Bonecchi R, Bodduluri H, Vago G, et al. Silent chemoattractant receptors: D6 as a decoy and scavenger receptor for inflammatory CC chemokines. Trends Immunol. 2005;16:679–86.
- Viola A, Molon B, Contento RL, et al. Front Biosci. 2007;13:6341–53.
- Jin T, Xu X, Hereld D. Chemotaxis, chemokine receptors and human disease. Cytokine. 2008;44:1–8.
- Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. Cancerrelated inflammation. Nature. 2008;454:436–44.
- Biswas SK, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. Nat Publ Group. 2010;11:889–96.
- Bonecchi R, Locati M, Mantovani A. Chemokines and cancer: a fatal attraction. Cancer Cell. 2011;19:434–5.
- 92. Li X, Yao W, Yuan Y, Chen P, Li B, Li J, et al. Targeting of tumour-infiltrating macrophages via CCL2/CCR2 signalling as a therapeutic strategy against hepatocellular carcinoma. Gut. 2017;66:157–67.
- Mantovani A, Marchesi F, Malesci A, Laghi L, Allavena P. Tumour-associated macrophages as treatment targets in oncology. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2017;7:399–416.
- Richmond A. Nf-kappa B, chemokine gene transcription and tumour growth. Nat Rev Immunol. 2002;2:664–74.
- 95. Schadendorf DD, Möller AA, Algermissen BB, Worm MM, Sticherling MM, Czarnetzki BMB. IL-8 produced by human malignant melanoma cells in vitro is an essential autocrine growth factor. J Immunol. 1993;151:2667–75.
- 96. Mrowietz UU, Schwenk UU, Maune SS, Bartels JJ, Küpper MM, Fichtner II, et al. The chemokine

RANTES is secreted by human melanoma cells and is associated with enhanced tumour formation in nude mice. Br J Cancer. 1999;79:1025–31.

- 97. Tan W, Zhang W, Strasner A, Grivennikov S, Cheng JQ, Hoffman RM, et al. Tumour-infiltrating regulatory T cells stimulate mammary cancer metastasis through RANKL-RANK signalling. Nature. 2011;470:548–53.
- Joyce JA, Fearon DT. T cell exclusion, immune privilege, and the tumor microenvironment. Science. 2015;348:74–80.
- 99. Lechner MG, Russell SM, Bass RS, Epstein AL. Chemokines, costimulatory molecules and fusion proteins for the immunotherapy of solid tumors. Immunotherapy. 2011;3(11):1317–40.
- 100. Förster RR, Schubel AA, Breitfeld DD, Kremmer EE, Renner-Müller II, Wolf EE, et al. CCR7 coordinates the primary immune response by establishing functional microenvironments in secondary lymphoid organs. Cell. 1999;99:23–33.
- Homey BB, Müller AA, Zlotnik AA. Chemokines: agents for the immunotherapy of cancer? Nat Rev Immunol. 2002;2:175–84.
- 102. Sharma S, Stolina M, Luo J, Strieter RM, Burdick M, Zhu LX, et al. Secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine mediates T cell-dependent antitumor responses in vivo. J Immunol. 2000;164:4558–63.
- 103. Vicari APA, Ait-Yahia SS, Chemin KK, Mueller AA, Zlotnik AA, Caux CC. Antitumor effects of the mouse chemokine 6Ckine/SLC through angiostatic and immunological mechanisms. J Immunol. 2000;165:1992–2000.
- 104. Braun SES, Chen KK, Foster RGR, Kim CHC, Hromas RR, Kaplan MHM, et al. The CC chemokine CK beta-11/MIP-3 beta/ELC/Exodus 3 mediates tumor rejection of murine breast cancer cells through NK cells. J Immunol. 2000;164:4025–31.
- 105. Kirk CJC, Hartigan-O'Connor DD, Nickoloff BJB, Chamberlain JSJ, Giedlin MM, Aukerman LL, et al. T cell-dependent antitumor immunity mediated by secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine: augmentation of dendritic cell-based immunotherapy. Cancer Res. 2001;61:2062–70.
- 106. Kirk CJC, Hartigan-O'Connor DD, Mule JJJ. The dynamics of the T-cell antitumor response: chemokine-secreting dendritic cells can prime tumor-reactive T cells extranodally. Cancer Res. 2001;61:8794–802.
- Lapteva N, Huang XF. CCL5 as an adjuvant for cancer immunotherapy. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2010;10:725–33.
- Menten P, Wuyts A, Van Damme J. Macrophage inflammatory protein-1. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2002;13:455–81.
- Soria G, Ben-Baruch A. The inflammatory chemokines CCL2 and CCL5 in breast cancer. Cancer Lett. 2002;267:271–85.
- Salmon H, Franciszkiewicz K, Damotte D, et al. Matrix architecture defines the preferential localiza-

tion and migration of T cells into the stroma of human lung tumors. J Clin Invest. 2012;122:899–910.

- 111. Uekusa YY, Yu W-GW, Mukai TT, et al. A pivotal role for CC chemokine receptor 5 in T-cell migration to tumor sites induced by interleukin 12 treatment in tumor-bearing mice. Cancer Res. 2002;62:3751–8.
- 112. Aravindaram K, Yu H-H, Lan C-W, Wang P-H, Chen Y-H, Chen H-M, et al. Transgenic expression of human gp100 and RANTES at specific time points for suppression of melanoma. Gene Ther. 2009;16:1329–39.
- 113. Inoue HH, Iga MM, Xin MM, et al. TARC and RANTES enhance antitumor immunity induced by the GM-CSF-transduced tumor vaccine in a mouse tumor model. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57:1399–411.
- 114. Song S, Liu C, Wang J, Zhang Y, You H, Wang Y, Liu F, Sun S. Vaccination with combination of Fit3L and RANTES in a DNA prime-protein boost regimen elicits strong cell-mediated immunity and antitumor effect. Vaccine. 2009;27:1111–8.
- 115. Parker JNJ, Meleth SS, Hughes KBK, Gillespie GYG, Whitley RJR, Markert JMJ. Enhanced inhibition of syngeneic murine tumors by combinatorial therapy with genetically engineered HSV-1 expressing CCL2 and IL-12. Cancer Gene Ther. 2005;12:359–68.
- 116. Nagai M, Masuzawa T. Vaccination with MCP-1 cDNA transfectant on human malignant glioma in nude mice induces migration of monocytes and NK cells to the tumor. Int Immunopharmacol. 2001;1:657–64.
- 117. Hirose KK, Hakozaki MM, Nyunoya YY, Kobayashi YY, Matsushita KK, Takenouchi TT, et al. Chemokine gene transfection into tumour cells reduced tumorigenicity in nude mice in association with neutrophilic infiltration. Br J Cancer. 1995;72:708–14.
- 118. Cao Q, Jin Y, Jin M, He S, Gu Q, He S, Qiu Y, Ge H, Yoneyama H, Zhang Y. Therapeutic effect of MIP-1alpha-recruited dendritic cells on preestablished solid and metastatic tumors. Cancer Lett. 2010;295:17–26.
- 119. Pan JJ, Burdick MDM, Belperio JAJ, Xue YYY, Gerard CC, Sharma SS, et al. CXCR3/CXCR3 ligand biological axis impairs RENCA tumor growth by a mechanism of immunoangiostasis. J Immunol. 2006;176:1456–64.
- 120. Ohtani H, Jin Z, Takegawa S, Nakayama T, Yoshie O. Abundant expression of CXCL9 (MIG) by stromal cells that include dendritic cells and accumulation of CXCR3+ T cells in lymphocyte-rich gastric carcinoma. J Pathol. 2008;217:21–31.
- 121. Musha HH, Ohtani HH, Mizoi TT, Kinouchi MM, Nakayama TT, Shiiba KK, et al. Selective infiltration of CCR5(+)CXCR3(+) T lymphocytes in human colorectal carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 2005;116:949–56.
- 122. Spranger S, Dai D, Horton B, Gajewski TF. Tumorresiding Batf3 dendritic cells are required for effec-

tor T cell trafficking and adoptive T cell therapy. Cancer Cell. 2017;31:711–23.

- 123. Zeng YY, Huebener NN, Fest SS, et al. Fractalkine (CX3CL1)- and interleukin-2-enriched neuroblastoma microenvironment induces eradication of metastases mediated by T cells and natural killer cells. Cancer Res. 2007;67:2331–8.
- 124. Ohta M, Tanaka F, Yamaguchi H, Sadanaga N, Inoue H, Mori M. The high expression of Fractalkine results in a better prognosis for colorectal cancer patients. Int J Oncol. 2004;26:41–7.
- 125. Ludwig AA, Schulte AA, Schnack CC, Hundhausen CC, Reiss KK, Brodway NN, et al. Enhanced expression and shedding of the transmembrane chemokine CXCL16 by reactive astrocytes and glioma cells. J Neurochem. 2005;93:1293–303.
- 126. Wente MNM, Gaida MMM, Mayer CC, Michalski CWC, Haag NN, Giese TT, et al. Expression and potential function of the CXC chemokine CXCL16 in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Int J Oncol. 2008;33:297–308.
- 127. Meijer J, Ogink J, Kreike B, Nuyten D, de Visser KE, Roos E. The chemokine receptor CXCR6 and its ligand CXCL16 are expressed in carcinomas and inhibit proliferation. Cancer Res. 2008;68:4701–8.
- 128. Matsumura S, Wang B, Kawashima N, et al. Radiation-induced CXCL16 release by breast cancer cells attracts effector T cells. J Immunol. 2008;181:3099–107.
- 129. Gutwein P, Schramme A, Sinke N, Abdel-Bakky MS, Voss B, Obermüller N, et al. Tumoural CXCL16 expression is a novel prognostic marker of longer survival times in renal cell cancer patients. Eur J Cancer. 2009;45:478–89.
- 130. Hojo S, Koizumi K, Tsuneyama K, Arita Y, Cui Z, Shinohara K, et al. High-level expression of chemokine CXCL16 by tumor cells correlates with a good prognosis and increased tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in colorectal cancer. Cancer Res. 2007;67:4725–31.
- 131. Darash-Yahana M, Gillespie JW, Hewitt SM, Chen YY, Maeda S, Stein I, et al. The chemokine CXCL16 and its receptor, CXCR6, as markers and promoters of inflammation-associated cancers. PLoS One. 2008;4:e6695.
- 132. Allaoui R, Bergenfelz C, Mohlin S, Hagerling C, Salari K, Werb Z, Anderson RL, et al. Cancerassociated fibroblast-secreted CXCL16 attracts monocytes to promote stroma activation in triplenegative breast cancers. Nat Commun. 2016;7:13050.
- 133. Rutledge BJB, Rayburn HH, Rosenberg RR, North RJR, Gladue RPR, Corless CLC, Rollins BJB. High level monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression in transgenic mice increases their susceptibility to intracellular pathogens. J Immunol. 1995;155:4838–43.
- 134. Peng L, Shu S, Krauss JC. Monocyte chemoattractant protein inhibits the generation of tumor-reactive T cells. Cancer Res. 1997;57:4849–54.

- 135. Kurt RAR, Baher AA, Wisner KPK, Tackitt SS, Urba WJW. Chemokine receptor desensitization in tumor-bearing mice. Cell Immunol. 2001;207:81–8.
- 136. Soria G, Ofri-Shahak M, Haas I, Yaal-Hahoshen N, Leider-Trejo L, Leibovich-Rivkin T, et al. Inflammatory mediators in breast cancer: coordinated expression of TNFα & IL-1β with CCL2 & CCL5 and effects on epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. BMC Cancer. 2011;11:130.
- 137. Zhang J, Lu Y, Pienta KJ. Multiple roles of chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 in promoting prostate cancer growth. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102(8):522–8.
- 138. Zou WW, Machelon VV, Coulomb-L'Hermin AA, Borvak J, Nome F, Isaeva T, et al. Stromal-derived factor-1 in human tumors recruits and alters the function of plasmacytoid precursor dendritic cells. Nat Med. 2001;7:1339–46.
- 139. Sun X, Cheng G, Hao M, Zheng J, Zhou X, Zhang J, et al. CXCL12/CXCR4/CXCR7 chemokine axis and cancer progression. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2010;29:709–22.
- Chen D, Bromberg JS. T regulatory cells and migration. Am J Transplant. 2006;6:1518–23.
- 141. Murdoch C, Muthana M, Coffelt SB, Lewis CE. The role of myeloid cells in the promotion of tumour angiogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008;8:618–31.
- 142. Fridlender ZG, Buchlis G, Kapoor V, Cheng G, Sun J, Singhal S, et al. CCL2 blockade augments cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Res. 2010;70:109–18.
- 143. Zhu X, Fujita M, Snyder LA, Okada H. Systemic delivery of neutralizing antibody targeting CCL2 for glioma therapy. J Neurooncol. 2011;104:83–92.
- 144. Ueha S, Yoneyama H, Hontsu S, Kurachi M, Kitabatake M, Abe J, et al. CCR7 mediates the migration of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells to the paracortical areas of peripheral lymph nodes through high endothelial venules. J Leukoc Biol. 2007;82:1230–8.
- 145. Mackay CRC, Marston WLW, Dudler LL. Naive and memory T cells show distinct pathways of lymphocyte recirculation. J Exp Med. 1990;171:801–17.
- 146. D'Ambrosio DD, Iellem AA, Bonecchi RR, Mazzeo DD, Sozzani SS, Mantovani AA, Sinigaglia FF. Selective up-regulation of chemokine receptors CCR4 and CCR8 upon activation of polarized human type 2 Th cells. J Immunol. 1998;161:5111–5.
- 147. Peled AA, Grabovsky VV, Habler LL, Sandbank JJ, Arenzana-Seisdedos FF, Petit II, Ben-Hur HH, Lapidot TT, Alon RR. The chemokine SDF-1 stimulates integrin-mediated arrest of CD34(+) cells on vascular endothelium under shear flow. J Clin Invest. 1999;104:1199–211.
- 148. Husson H, Freedman AS, Cardoso AA, Schultze J, Munoz O, Strola G, et al. CXCL13 (BCA-1) is produced by follicular lymphoma cells: role in the accumulation of malignant B cells. Br J Haematol. 2002;119:492–5.
- 149. Kershaw MH, Wang G, Westwood JA, Pachynski RK, Tiffany HL, Marincola FM, Wang E, Young HA, Murphy PM, Hwu P. Redirecting migration

of T cells to chemokine secreted from tumors by genetic modification with CXCR2. Hum Gene Ther. 2002;13:1971–80.

- 150. Zhang TT, Somasundaram RR, Berencsi KK, Caputo LL, Gimotty PP, Rani PP, Guerry DD, Swoboda RR, Herlyn DD. Migration of cytotoxic T lymphocytes toward melanoma cells in three-dimensional organotypic culture is dependent on CCL2 and CCR4. Eur J Immunol. 2006;36:457–67.
- 151. Kunz MM, Toksoy AA, Goebeler MM, Engelhardt EE, Bröcker EE, Gillitzer RR. Strong expression of the lymphoattractant C-X-C chemokine Mig is associated with heavy infiltration of T cells in human malignant melanoma. J Pathol. 1999;189:552–8.
- 152. Zhang TT, Somasundaram RR, Berencsi KK, Caputo L, Rani P, Guerry D, et al. CXC chemokine ligand 12 (stromal cell-derived factor 1 alpha) and CXCR4-dependent migration of CTLs toward melanoma cells in organotypic culture. J Immunol. 2005;174:5856–63.
- 153. Vianello F, Papeta N, Chen T, Kraft P, White N, Hart WK, et al. Murine B16 melanomas expressing high levels of the chemokine stromal-derived factor-1/ CXCL12 induce tumor-specific T cell chemorepulsion and escape from immune control. J Immunol. 2006;176:2902–14.
- 154. Campbell JJJ, Bowman EPE, Murphy KK, Youngman KRK, Siani MAM, Thompson DAD, Wu LL, Zlotnik AA, Butcher ECE. 6-C-kine (SLC), a lymphocyte adhesion-triggering chemokine expressed by high endothelium, is an agonist for the MIP-3beta receptor CCR7. J Cell Biol. 1998;141:1053–9.
- 155. Loetscher MM, Gerber BB, Loetscher PP, Jones SAS, Piali LL, Clark-Lewis II, Baggiolini MM, Moser BB. Chemokine receptor specific for IP10 and mig: structure, function, and expression in activated T-lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1996;184:963–9.
- Farber JMJ. Mig and IP-10: CXC chemokines that target lymphocytes. J Leukoc Biol. 1997;61:246–57.
- 157. Anderson KG, Stromnes IM, Greenberg PD. Obstacles posed by the tumor microenvironment to T cell activity: a case for synergistic therapies. Cancer Cell. 2017;31(3):311–25.
- 158. Haghnegahdar H, Du J, Wang D, Strieter RM, Burdick MD, Nanney LB, Cardwell N, Luan J, Shattuck-Brandt R, Richmond A. The tumorigenic and angiogenic effects of MGSA/GRO proteins in melanoma. J Leukoc Biol. 1999;67:53–62.
- 159. Chuntharapai AA, Lee JJ, Hébert CAC, Kim KJK. Monoclonal antibodies detect different distribution patterns of IL-8 receptor A and IL-8 receptor B on human peripheral blood leukocytes. J Immunol. 1994;153:5682–8.
- 160. Harlin H, Meng Y, Peterson AC, Zha Y, Tretiakova M, Slingluff C, McKee M, Gajewski TF. Chemokine expression in melanoma metastases associated with CD8+ T-cell recruitment. Cancer Res. 2009;69:3077–85.

- 161. Craddock JA, Lu A, Bear A, Pule M, Brenner MK, Rooney CM, et al. Enhanced tumor trafficking of GD2 chimeric antigen receptor T cells by expression of the chemokine receptor CCR2b. J Immunother. 2010;33(8):780–8.
- 162. Sapoznik S, Ortenberg R, Galore-Haskel G, Kozlovski S, Levy D, Avivi C, et al. CXCR1 as a novel target for directing reactive T cells toward melanoma: implications for adoptive cell transfer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(10):1833–47.
- 163. Brown CE, Vishwanath RP, Aguilar B, Starr R, Najbauer J, Aboody KS, Jensen MC. Tumor-derived chemokine MCP-1/CCL2 is sufficient for mediating tumor tropism of adoptively transferred T cells. J Immunol. 2007;179:3332–41.
- 164. Moon EK, Carpenito C, Sun J, Wang L-CS, Kapoor V, Predina J, Daniel J, Powell J, Riley JL, June CH, Albelda SM. Expression of a functional CCR2 receptor enhances tumor localization and tumor eradication by retargeted human T cells expressing a mesothelin-specific chimeric antibody receptor. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17:4719–30.
- 165. Asai H, Fujiwara H, An J, Ochi T, Miyazaki Y, Nagai K, et al. Co-introduced functional CCR2 potentiates in vivo anti-lung cancer functionality mediated by T cells double gene-modified to express WT1-specific T-cell receptor. PLoS One. 2013;8:e56820.
- 166. Di Stasi A, De Angelis B, Rooney CM, Zhang L, Mahendravada A, Foster AE, et al. T lymphocytes coexpressing CCR4 and a chimeric antigen receptor targeting CD30 have improved homing and antitumor activity in a Hodgkin tumor model. Blood. 2009;113:6392–402.
- 167. Rapp M, Grassmann S, Endres S, Anz D, Kobold S. ITOC2–025. Transduction with C-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CCR4) enhances tumour-specific migration of adoptively transferred T cells in a model of pancreatic cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51(Suppl 1):S9.
- 168. Garetto S, Sardi C, Martini E, Roselli G, Morone D, Angioni R, Cianciotti BC, Trovato AE, et al. Tailored chemokine receptor modification improves homing of adoptive therapy T cells in a spontaneous tumor model. Oncotarget. 2016;7:43010–26.
- 169. Xu Y, Hyun YM, Lim K, Lee H, Cummings RJ, Gerber SA, Bae S, et al. Optogenetic control of chemokine receptor signal and T-cell migration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111:6371–6.
- 170. Erreni M, Solinas G, Brescia P, Osti D, Zunino F, Colombo P, et al. Human glioblastoma tumours and neural cancer stem cells express the chemokine CX3CL1 and its receptor CX3CR1. Eur J Cancer. 2010;18:1–10.
- 171. Marchesi F, Piemonti L, Fedele G, Destro A, Roncalli M, Albarello L, et al. The chemokine receptor CX3CR1 is involved in the neural tropism and malignant behavior of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res. 2008;68:9060–9.

- 172. Erreni M, Bianchi P, Laghi L, Mirolo M, Fabbri M, Locati M, Mantovani A, Allavena P. Expression of chemokines and chemokine receptors in human colon cancer. Methods Enzymol. 2009;460:105–21.
- 173. Sans M, Danese S, de La Motte C, de Souza HSP, Rivera Reyes BM, West GA, Phillips M, Katz JA, Fiocchi C. Enhanced recruitment of CX3CR1+ T cells by mucosal endothelial cell–derived Fractalkine in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology. 2007;132:139–53.
- 174. Park MH, Lee JS, Yoon JH. High expression of CX3CL1 by tumor cells correlates with a good prognosis and increased tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells,

natural killer cells, and dendritic cells in breast carcinoma. J Surg Oncol. 2012;106(4):386–92.

- 175. Siddiqui I, Erreni M, van Brakel M, Debets R, Allavena P. Enhanced recruitment of genetically modified CX3CR1-positive human T cells into Fractalkine/CX3CL1 expressing tumors: importance of the chemokine gradient. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:21.
- 176. Vignali D, Kallikourdis M. Improving homing in T cell therapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2017;36:107–16.
- 177. Choi D, Kim T-G, Sung YC. The past, present, and future of adoptive T cell therapy. Immune Netw. 2012;12:139–47.



Monoclonal Antibodies for Cancer Immunotherapy

15

Amir-Hassan Zarnani, Davood Jafari, Mahmood Bozorgmehr, Mahdi Shabani, Leila Barzegar-Yarmohammadi, Fatemeh Ghaemimanesh, and Mahmood Jeddi-Tehrani

Contents

15.1	Introduction	274
15.2	Structural and Functional Features of Antibodies	275
15.3	Natural Antibodies in Cancer	275
15.4	Finding an Appropriate Antibody Target for Cancer Therapy	277
15.4.1	Characteristics of a Favorable Cell Surface Antigen	277
15.4.2	Classification of Cancer Antigens.	277
15.4.3	Target Identification Approaches	277
15.4.3.1	Genomics	277
15.4.3.2	Transcriptomics	278
15.4.3.3	Proteomics	278
15.4.3.4	Antibody-Based Technologies	279
15.5	Molecular Mechanisms Involved in Monoclonal Antibody-Based	
	Therapy	279
15.5.1	Direct Tumor Cell Elimination	279
15.5.2	Harnessing the Potential Capacity of Immune System to Eliminate	
	Tumors	280
15.5.2.1	Antibody-Dependent Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity	280
15.5.2.2	Complement-Dependent Cytotoxicity	280
15.5.2.3	Promotion of Tumor Antigen Cross-Presentation	281

A.-H. Zarnani

Immunology Section, Pathobiology Department, School of Public Health, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Immunobiology Research Center, Avicenna Research Institute, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

D. Jafari

Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Zanjan University of Medical Sciences, Zanjan, Iran

Immunotherapy Research and Technology Group, Zanjan University of Medical Sciences, Zanjan, Iran M. Bozorgmehr Immunobiology Research Center, Avicenna Research Institute, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

M. Shabani · L. Barzegar-Yarmohammadi · F. Ghaemimanesh · M. Jeddi-Tehrani (⊠) Monoclonal Antibody Research Center, Avicenna Research Institute, ACECR, Tehran, Iran e-mail: mahjed@avicenna.ac.ir

15.5.2.4	Targeting Immunomodulatory Receptors	282
15.5.3	Targeting Tumor Stroma and Vasculature	283
15.6	Engineered Antibodies	202
15.61	Eligineereu Alluboules	203
15.0.1	Chimaria and Humanized Managlangl Antibadies	204
15.0.2	Evilly Human Managlangi Antibadias	203
15.0.5	Fully Human Monocional Antibadies	283
15.6.3.1	Human Monoclonal Antibodies from Transgenic Mice Human Monoclonal Antibodies Created Through Phage Display	285
	Technology	285
15.6.4	Antibody Fragments	287
15.6.5	Bispecific Antibodies (BsAbs)	287
15.6.6	Antibody Fusion Constructs.	289
15.6.7	Improvement in Antibody Function	289
15.7	Evaluation of Antibody Efficacy	290
15.7.1	Preclinical Evaluations	290
15.7.2	Clinical Evaluations	290
15.8	Clinically-Approved Monoclonal Antibodies	291
15.8.1	Trastuzumab	291
15.8.2	Bevacizumab	292
15.8.3	Rituximab	292
15.8.4	Therapeutic Monoclonal Antibodies Approved by Non-FDA Organizations	203
	Organizations	295
15.9	Monoclonal Antibodies Currently Undergoing Clinical Trials	293
15.10	Combinational Monoclonal Antibody-Based Modalities	294
15.10.1	Combination with Chemotherapy	295
15.10.2	Combination with Radiotherapy	295
15.10.3	Combination with Other Immunotherapeutic Methods	296
15.10.4	Other Combinational Approaches	296
15.11	Current Limitations in Monoclonal Antibody-Based Therapies	297
15.11.1	Tumor Escape	297
15.11.2	Relatively Low Single Agent Activity	297
15.11.3	Low Tissue Penetration	298
15.11.4	Fc-Fc Receptor Interactions and Associated Limitations	298
15.11.5	High Production Cost	298
15.12	Concluding Remarks	299
Reference	:es	299

15.1 Introduction

Immune system patrols the body not only to identify and eliminate invading pathogens but also to keep the cancer cells under surveillance. As internal mirrors, antibodies (Abs) continuously monitor subtle changes in the quantity and/ or structure of the cell surface markers to recognize the altered molecules, commonly created during tumorigenesis. Accordingly, monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) have been proven as robust treatment modalities for many malignant diseases. Although Abs possess diverse clinically relevant mechanisms of action to control cancer progression, there are still several drawbacks to their functions. To overcome these shortcomings, engineering techniques have attempted to generate novel Ab constructs with superior features such as higher stability and binding affinity, and more effective tissue penetration. Furthermore, antibody–drug conjugates are considered as new potential therapeutic approaches for solid tumors and lymphomas, and antibodies with immunomodulatory effects have also recently obtained promising clinical benefits [1]. Apart from the continuously growing number of US Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved anticancer mAbs, there are still plenty of Abs waiting to be clinically authorized. This chapter concerns the major elements that should be considered in the development of Ab-based antitumor modalities.

15.2 Structural and Functional Features of Antibodies

Immunoglobulins (Igs) also called Abs are highly specific, antigen-reactive proteins in the immune system, which recognize and eliminate foreign antigens (Ags). Generally, each milliliter of normal human serum contains approximately 10¹⁶ Ig molecules. There are five classes (isotypes) of Igs (IgM, IgG, IgE, IgA, and IgD) in every individual. From a biotechnology perspective, IgG is the most important class of Ab commonly utilized as a therapeutic tool in clinical applications. The particular ability of IgG in performing crucial functions such as induction of antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) and complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) along with neutralization of pathogens has made it the best therapeutic choice among Ig isotypes.

All Ab isotypes, in their monomeric form, are Y-shaped tetrameric proteins consisting of two identical heavy (H, ~50 kDa), and two identical light chains (L, ~25 kDa)—with covalent (disulfide) and non-covalent bonds conferring remarkable rigidity [2]. Both L and H chains contain variable (V) and constant (C) domains. An Ig light chain contains only one V domain (V_L) and one C domain (C_L), whereas a heavy chain has one V domain (V_H) and three or four C domains (C_H1-C_H4).

The structural characteristics of Abs account for their binding versatility, binding specificity and biological activities. The classical structure of Igs consists of two fragment antigen-binding (Fab) regions, one hinge region and one fragment crystalline (F_c). Each Fab is composed of one *C* domain and one *V* domain of a heavy chain ($V_H - C_H$) associated with a complete light chain ($V_L - C_L$), and accounts for specific binding of Ab (paratope) to a unique epitope. Thus, the arms of an Ab confer the versatility and specificity of responses a host can raise against Ags.

The hinge region, that is a short segment made of the region between $C_{\rm H}1$ and $C_{\rm H}2$ domains of both heavy chains, links the Fab and Fc regions of an Ig molecule. This proline- and cysteine-rich region allows for segmental flexibility of the Fab arms and Fc portion relative to each other, which is vital for Ag binding and effector functions of Igs.

Fc, as the tail region of IgG, is composed of $C_{\rm H}2$ and $C_{\rm H}3$ domains of both heavy chains. This piece of Ig mediates effector functions including ADCC and CDC. Moreover, Fc determines serum half-life of an Ab molecule through interaction with the neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn). This pH-dependent binding prolongs half-life of human IgG1 from 1 day to up to several weeks. Immunoglobulins are glycoproteins, with glycans associated especially with their Fc region. Fc domain glycosylation contributes in supplying sustainability and modulates features like ligation to Fc receptors [3]. In case of an IgG molecule, there is a conserved N-linked glycosylation site located at asparagine (Asn)-297 on each of $C_{\rm H}2$ domains. The glycans retain the binding ability of IgG to Fc gamma receptors (FcyRs) on effector cells [4].

15.3 Natural Antibodies in Cancer

There are currently many mAbs that have been approved for the treatment of various tumor types [1]. One major challenge in this regard is to find proper tumor-specific Ags. In fact, most of the thus far produced mAbs bind to molecules that are not exclusive to tumor cells [5]. One potential solution might be achieved through investigating the already existing immune responses provided by different arms of the immune system and in particular natural Abs.

Natural Abs, mainly produced by B-1 lymphocytes, are found in circulation of normal individuals in the absence of apparent immunization or infection. Nevertheless, there is evidence proposing gut microbial flora as the potential source inducing the production of these Abs. Natural Abs serve as a rapid first-line defense mechanism recognizing mainly carbohydrate epitopes of microbial pathogens. These Abs are not affinity matured since they are encoded by a set of germ line variable genes with a limited repertoire [4]. IgM constructs large amount of such polyreactive Abs, and IgA and IgG confere lesser amount [6]. Numerous tumor-specific monoclonal natural Abs have been isolated from either normal individuals or cancer patients [7–9]. An intriguing feature of these Abs is their preferential binding to post-translationally modified carbohydrate Ags that are unique to transformed cells [7, 10, 11]. In fact, by modifying certain carbohydrate structures on their surface, tumor cells try to hide from humoral immune responses [12, 13]. However, this modification renders tumor cells easy targets for naturally occurring Abs.

Gangliosides, which are membrane bound carbohydrate antigens, regulate transmembrane signaling, which are vitally involved in tumor cell proliferation, invasion, and metastasis. It has been shown that gangliosides are inversely correlated with half-life of Abs. Naturally producing antibodies against ganglioside GM2 in melanoma have been demonstrated to associate with increased half-life. Lewis y (Ley), also known as CD174, exhibits a carbohydrate blood group antigen, which is overexpressed on the surface of neoplastic gastrointestinal tissues and possesses procoagulant and angiogenic functions [14].

Glycoproteins are regarded as the second category of carbohydrate antigens that bind to membrane. There are numerous specific glycoproteins, which undergo modifications during glycosylation after transformation of malignant cells. Mucins like MUC1 and MUC4, which both are in membranebound forms, are among such glycoproteins [14].

Heat shock proteins (HSPs) are also another classification of membrane conjugating molecules with altered glycosylation patterns on tumor cells [14]. Heat shock proteins serve to preserve the perfect folding of cellular proteins in normal cells [15, 16], and their overexpression or modification functions in favor of tumors causing higher drug resistance and malignancy level [17, 18]. The glucose-regulated protein 78 kDa (GRP78), is a member of the HSP family with a modified glycosylation pattern, which has been detected in various cancers including gastric [19], lung [20], and breast [21] cancers. An anti-GRP78 natural Ab, called SAM-6, was isolated from a patient with gastric cancer [22]. This Ab was shown to exclusively bind to an isoform of GRP78 specifically expressed by malignant cells. Interestingly, treatment of murine models of pancreatic cancer with SAM-6 culminated in diminished tumor weight and size along with increased incidence of apoptosis in treated tumors [22, 23]. SAM-6 has been shown to exert its antitumor impacts through an intracellularly triggered apoptosis pathway that resembles the conventional intrinsic or mitochondria-mediated pathway [24].

Post-translational modification (PTM) in glycosylation patterns has also been reported for decay acceleration factor (DAF or CD55) that serves to protect host cells from complementassociated lysis [25, 26]. Stomach carcinoma cells express this altered isoform of DAF to guard themselves against complement-mediated fatal effects. This, however, has been shown to make them ideal targets for a natural mAb called SC-1, which was isolated from a stomach cancer patient [27, 28]. According to the results of several in vitro and in vivo studies, binding of SC-1 to the modified isoform of DAF promotes apoptosis in stomach cancer cells [10, 27, 29-31]. Furthermore, in a set of clinical studies, intravenous injection of primary stomach cancer patients with SC-1 led to tumor regression and apoptotic effects that were exclusively observed in tumor tissues [30, 32, 33].

Nearly all cancer-associated epithelial cells express a growth factor receptor known as a new variant of cysteine-rich fibroblast growth factor receptor (CFR-1). Interestingly, this receptor has been reported to possess a tumor-restricted carbohydrate epitope that is recognized with a natural mAb called PAM-1 [11, 34, 35]. Akin to its aforementioned counterparts, PAM-1 reacts with a carbohydrate epitope that has undergone a modified glycosylation process restricted to malignant cells. In addition to inducing apoptosis in cancer cells, PAM-1 has also been applied to detection of precursor lesions and/or primary stages of cancers such as breast, squamous cell, colon, and stomach cancers [11, 34, 35].

Neural growth factor (NGF) has been shown to have a pivotal role in growth and metastasis of several cancers including breast cancer, squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus, malignant melanoma, and prostate cancer [36–39]. Injection of certain human cancers with intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg) has led to favorable antimetastatic results [40–42]. Interestingly, one study reported the existence of anti-NGF natural Abs in IVIg commercial batches. These Abs were able to hinder growth and differentiation of PC-12, a prostate cancer cell line [43]. Furthermore, IVIg has been shown to reduce migrating ability of two prostate cancer cell lines, DU-145 and PC-3, due to the existence of anti-NGF natural Abs [44]. Therefore, natural anti-NGF Abs can be considered as potential candidates to be used in the future diagnostic or therapeutic preclinical and clinical trials.

In general, there are many published reports supporting the potential roles natural Abs can play in fighting against cancers [7, 9, 10, 35]. Additionally, tumor Ag-specific natural Abs isolated from normal individuals and cancer patients can be used to identify novel Ags that are exclusive to tumor cells. These Abs could also be considered as specific tools for diagnosis of early stages and precancerous lesions of various tumors [24].

15.4 Finding an Appropriate Antibody Target for Cancer Therapy

15.4.1 Characteristics of a Favorable Cell Surface Antigen

Any alteration in Ag expression by tumor cells could be regarded as a potential candidate for Ab therapy. An ideal target Ag should have an abundant, homogenous, and exclusive expression on tumor cells, along with no or low expression on normal cells [45, 46]. More importantly, it should both play a vital role in tumorigenesis and be expressed on cancer stem cells in the vast majority of human cancers [1]. Furthermore, a perfect target should be highly immunogenic [47], and should be found in all or most subgroups of patients.

If targeting of a tumor-associated receptor is desired, then it is preferred to focus on a receptor that uses a signaling pathway not hired by other surface molecules. Furthermore, target receptors should have minimal secretion from tumor cells since secreted Ags can bind the circulating mAbs and neutralize their binding to the surface of cancer cells.

In Ab-based studies that aim at enhancing ADCC and/or CDC, optimal results could only be expected when the resultant Ag–Ab complexes are not rapidly internalized. This way, the

Fc portion of the therapeutic mAb would be more available to immune effector cells and/or complement proteins. By contrast, proper internalization is desirable for Abs that deliver toxins into cancer cells, and for those focusing on downregulation of cell surface receptors [1].

15.4.2 Classification of Cancer Antigens

At first, based on their expression pattern, tumor Ags were classified into two categories: tumorspecific antigens (TSAs), which are associated only with tumor cells, not any other cell, and tumor-associated antigens (TAAs), which are not exclusively expressed by cancer cells. In fact, these classifications are far from perfect because many molecules that were known as tumorspecific Ags are now found to be expressed on some normal cells as well. Thus, the current tumor Ag classification systems are mostly developed based on molecular structure, source, and function of Ags (Table 15.1) [48, 49].

15.4.3 Target Identification Approaches

Several efficient methods have been promoted to identify the potential differences between tumor and non-tumor cell lines and/or tissues at the DNA, mRNA, protein, or Ab reactivity levels. Several major techniques used for the discovery of tumor antigens are briefly described below.

15.4.3.1 Genomics

Cancer-related alterations in genome include silent mutations (e.g., deletions and insertions) [50, 51], gene amplification [52], and larger scale defects such as chromosomal translocations [53]. Today, gene amplifications or deletions as well as chromosomal translocations are detected using several techniques such as comparative genomic hybridization (CGH) [54, 55] and spectral karyo-typing (SKY) [56–58]. Amplification of *HER2* gene is known as the first solid tumor-associated genomic aberration, which led to the successful development of trastuzumab [59].

Ag category	Examples	Expression in cancer
Tissue differentiation Ags	Mclan-A/MART-1, gp100, tyrosinase, TRP-1, TRP-2	Melanoma
	PSA	Prostate carcinoma
	Prostate-specific membrane Ag (PSMA)	Prostate carcinoma
	MUC-1	Particular adenocarcinomas
	MUC-16 (CA-125)	Mainly ovarian cancer and also in endometrial cancer, fallopian tube cancer, lung cancer, breast cancer, and gastrointestinal cancer
	EpCAM	Various carcinoma types
	Gangliosides (GM2, GD2, GD3)	Melanomas, small cell lung cancer, and neuroblastoma
	CD5	T-cell leukemia/lymphoma
	CD19, CD20, CD21, CD25, CD37	B-cell lymphoma
	CD30	Hodgkin lymphoma
	CD33, CD45	Acute myeloblastic leukemia
	CAMPATH-1 (CDw52)	Lymphoid malignancies (T and B cell)
Oncofetal Ags	CEA	Expressed on several gastrointestinal malignancies and adenocarcinomas
	AFP	Hepatocellular carcinoma, germ cell tumors, and metastatic cancers of the liver
	β-hCG	Germ cell tumors and choriocarcinoma
Cancer-testis Ags	MAGE 1, 3, 12, NY-ESO, BAGE, GAGE, LAGE	Various tumors
Viral Ags	Human papillomavirus 16 E6 and E7 proteins	Cervical and anal cancers
Growth factor	EGFR	Lung, glioma, breast, head, and neck tumors
receptors	ERBB2	Breast, ovarian, stomach, and endometrial carcinoma
	CD140b (PDGFRB)	Various tumor types
Stromal Ags	Fibroblast activation protein (FAP)	Colon, breast, lung, head, and neck carcinoma
	Tenascin, metalloproteinases	Colon, breast, lung, head, and neck carcinoma
Vascular Ags	Endosialin	Breast cancer, colon carcinoma, neuroblastoma
	Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)	Metastatic colorectal cancer, non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), metastatic breast cancer, glioblastoma, metastatic renal cell carcinoma
	αVβ3	Melanoma and prostate cancer

Table 15.1 Classification of cancer antigens

15.4.3.2 Transcriptomics

Two approaches commonly employed to analyze global gene expression in tumors include microarray analysis and serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE). Microarray is based on the hybridization of fluorescently-labeled sequences (probes or targets) to their complementary sequences [60, 61]. Complementary DNA (cDNA) microarray has been used to identify the frequency of elevated tumor Ag expression, for instance, in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) [62]. In 1995, Velculescu et al. [63] described SAGE as a sequencing-based method for gene expression profiling, which facilitated the global and quantitative characterization of a transcriptome. Although DNA microarray is an excellent method for rapid screening of large numbers of samples and genes, it can only examine the already-identified sequences. In contrast, SAGE does not require prior knowledge, and represents an unbiased, comprehensive representation of transcripts [64]. Furthermore, SAGE can quantitatively identify low-abundance transcripts and detect relatively small differences in their expression [65]. Nonetheless, it is expensive and time-consuming [66] and requires relatively high amounts of RNA samples [67].

15.4.3.3 Proteomics

Genomic and transcriptomic analyses are indirect methods of protein identification and the number of transcripts identified by these methods does not necessarily correlate with protein levels [68–71]. In contrast, proteomics can be used as a direct method of searching for cancer-specific Ags. An additional advantage of proteomics is that it can identify differences in post-translational modification (PTM), a potentially important source of tumor Ags formation.

Proteomic evaluations were initiated by twodimensional gel electrophoresis and subsequent mass spectroscopy (2DE/MS) [72] and were expanded to more advanced methods. 2DE/MS has been widely used for separation of proteins in complex mixtures according to their molecular weight and isoelectric points; and identification of proteins that are differentially expressed in various malignances [73–78]. However, a major drawback of this technique is its inability to provide high throughput.

Other techniques that are used for the expression analysis of proteins include matrix-assisted laser desorption-ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-MS) (used for investigation of haptoglobin expression in ovarian cancer) [79]; surface-enhanced laser desorption/ionization-time-of-flight/mass spectrometry (SELDI-TOF-MS) (used to study the association of cytosolic ubiquitin and ferritin light chain levels in breast cancer prognosis) [80]; liquid chromatography combined with tandem MS (LC-MS-MS) (used for phosphoproteomic analysis of HeLa cells at various stages in the cell cycle) [81]; and more-quantitative techniques such as isotopecoded affinity tags (ICATe) (used to identify differences in specific protein expression between nipple aspirate fluid samples from tumor-bearing and disease-free breasts) [82]; and isotope tags for relative and absolute quantification (iTRAQe) (utilized for identification of serum biomarkers in metastatic prostate cancer) [83]. Despite the advantages of these methods in identification of low molecular weight and low-abundance protein fractions of the proteome, they fall short of identifying protein-protein interactions.

15.4.3.4 Antibody-Based Technologies

Protein microarray is a high-throughput gelfree method with a tremendous potential to explore the interactions, activities, and functions of proteins. This approach is divided into two major classes: (1) forward-phase arrays (FPAs) in which Abs are arrayed and probed with cell lysates, and (2) reverse-phase arrays (RPAs), where cell lysates are arrayed and probed with Abs [84, 85]. Protein microarray has been utilized to recognize cancer-associated glycan variations on the proteins musin-1 (MUC1) and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) in the sera of pancreatic cancer patients [86] or to identify biomarkers of bladder cancer [87].

Serological expression cloning (SEREX) was developed to combine serological analysis with Ag cloning techniques to identify human tumor Ags that elicit high-titer IgG [88]. SEREX is now being used for screening the sera of patients to detect a large range of different solid [89–92] and hematological malignancies [93, 94]. Moreover, SEREX in combination with two dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (2D-PAGE) technology created a serological proteome analysis (SERPA) technique [95] through which investigators were able to identify melanoma [96], breast [97], and colorectal cancer Ags [98].

15.5 Molecular Mechanisms Involved in Monoclonal Antibody-Based Therapy

In general, Ab-based approaches are able to damage tumor cells through three mechanisms: direct elimination of tumor cells, indirect immunemediated targeting of cancer cells, and the targeting of tumor stroma and vasculature system [1].

15.5.1 Direct Tumor Cell Elimination

Growth factor receptors that are overly expressed on tumor cells have been targeted by many therapeutic Abs that act through the blockade of ligand binding and/or abrogation of signal transduction [99]. Epithelial growth factor receptor (EGFR) family members have been the focus of several studies. For instance, HER2 is a member of the EGFR family with no identified ligand and Abs targeting this molecule have been shown to prevent receptor dimerization [100]. Trastuzumab, that is applied to the treatment of invasive breast cancers with overexpression of HER2, acts through prevention of receptor dimerization, along with activation of immune responses [101]. Moreover, pertuzumab, another anti-HER2 mAb, has been shown to bind to a site different from that of trastuzumab and inhibit receptor dimerization [102]. Notably, a combination of trastuzumab and pertuzumab has shown promising antitumor results in preclinical models [103]. Cetuximab, a chimeric EGFR-specific mAb, could inhibit ligand binding and prevent receptor dimerization [104]. Further efforts are underway to target similar molecules such as HER3 and HER4 [105, 106].

The receptor tyrosine-kinase-like orphan receptor 1 (ROR1) has been suggested as a survival factor for certain cancers such as chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) [46, 107], lung cancer, adenocarcinoma [108], and breast cancer [109]. Ab targeting of this transmembrane receptor by several studies has culminated in tumor cell elimination through the induction of apoptosis and necrosis [110–112]. A very recent study showed the role of ROR1 in survival of melanoma cell lines. Utilization of anti-ROR1 mAbs in this research could effectively induce apoptosis in the cell lines, proposing ROR1 as a potential target for future melanoma therapies [113].

15.5.2 Harnessing the Potential Capacity of Immune System to Eliminate Tumors

Due to their indispensable antitumor roles, immune responses have long been the focus of many Ab-based therapeutic strategies. The so far designed mAbs exert their antitumor effects through various immune-mediated mechanisms: ADCC, CDC, promoting Ag cross-presentation and targeting of immunomodulatory receptors (Fig. 15.1).

15.5.2.1 Antibody-Dependent Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity

 $Fc\gamma R$ -dependent interactions are known to induce either stimulatory or inhibitory signals. $Fc\gamma RIIIa$ as an activating receptor is expressed by dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, natural killer (NK) cells and neutrophils, and is essential for NK-mediated ADCC [114]. Within the process of ADCC, activation of immune cells-commonly natural killer (NK) cells-leads to target cell lysis through binding of IgG to surface of target cell [115]. There is an ensemble of results from both murine experiments and clinical trials establishing ADCC involvement in antitumor effects of certain mAbs. The relationship between Ab treatment and ADCC was confirmed by the study showing that rituximab (anti-CD20) and trastuzumab were less efficient in FcyR-deficient mice compared to the wild-type ones [116]. Further support was provided by the study reporting high response rates to rituximab in follicular non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) patients with certain polymorphisms in the FcyRIII encoding gene [117].

Notably, a recent promising approach has been to enhance ADCC through making modifications to the Fc domain of an Ab molecule. Accordingly, an anti-CD20 Ab with enhanced affinity for Fc γ RIIIA could significantly increase ADCC in comparison with the original Ab and rituximab [118].

15.5.2.2 Complement-Dependent Cytotoxicity

The potential capacity of IgG subclasses to activate the classical complement pathway ending in target cell lysis and immune cell recruitment has been harnessed by several studies with the aim of eliminating tumor cells. Indeed, there is compelling evidence highlighting the relationship between complement activation and therapeutic efficacy of antitumor mAbs. During cancer therapy, mAbs bind to complement proteins, culminating in direct cell cytotoxicity, which naturally occurs as CDC [119]. A preclinical therapy model showed that the antitumor impact of anti-CD20 mAb (rituximab) was thoroughly abrogated in C1q-deficient mice [120]. Consistently, complement depletion culminated in decreased protective effect of rituximab in a murine model of human B cell lymphoma [121]. The majority of so far clinically-approved antitumor mAbs has been shown to activate ADCC and the complement pathway.



Fig. 15.1 Major mechanisms of tumor cell elimination by monoclonal antibodies. (**a**) Direct elimination of tumor cells is often elicited by abrogation of signal transduction via growth factor receptors (e.g., members of the epithelial growth factor receptor family) and/or blockade of ligand-receptor binding. (**b**) Indirect killing of tumor cells can be achieved through binding of activatory Fc receptors on immune effector cells (e.g., natural killer cells) to the Fc portion of antitumor antibody promoting antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (*ADCC*); or activation of complement compartments on the F_c fragment of antibody leading to formation of membrane attack complex (*MAC*) and tumor cell osmotic lysis. Additionally,

15.5.2.3 Promotion of Tumor Antigen Cross-Presentation

It is well established that Ag cross-presentation by DCs plays a pivotal part in generation of T-cell responses following Ab therapy. In fact, DCs can present tumor Ag-derived peptides in the context of MHC-I molecules and stimulate tumor-specific CD8⁺ T-cells [122, 123]. The association between Ab therapy and induction of T-cell immunity was demonstrated by two studies indicating that the use of mAb increased cross-presentation of tumor Ags and cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) antibody-coated apoptotic tumor cells or apoptotic bodies that are produced following ADCC can be engulfed and presented by dendritic cells (DCs) to tumor-specific T-cells. Antibodies blocking T-cell inhibitory receptors (e.g., CTLA-4 and PD-1) or those stimulating activatory T-cell receptors (not shown) can also indirectly improve the outcome of antitumor responses. (c) Monoclonal antibodies can also be used to antagonize receptors or ligands of tumor vasculature system, and/or to target tumor stromal cells and their products. Ag antigen, CDC complement-dependent cytotoxicity, CTLcytotoxic Т lymphocyte, MHC major histocompatibility complex, NK natural killer

generation [124], and that cross-presentation was enhanced following the blockade of $Fc\gamma RIIB$, an inhibitory receptor [125].

In general, antitumor mAbs are known to promote T-cell responses through two distinct mechanisms. Firstly, Ab-mediated ADCC leads to apoptotic tumor cell generation and peptides derived from these cells might subsequently be engulfed and presented to specific T-cells by DCs [126]. Secondly, Ab-coated apoptotic tumor cells can be phagocytosed, through $Fc\gamma Rs$, and sent to the cross-presentation pathway ending in effective tumor-specific T-cell responses [124, 126]. However, one should bear in mind that DCs can mediate both immunostimulatory and immunomodulatory responses depending on the tumor microenvironment [127]. Thus, it is recommended to employ Ab-based antitumor strategies in combination with approaches that target suppressive agents of tumor microenvironment.

15.5.2.4 Targeting Immunomodulatory Receptors

The interaction of T-cell stimulatory or inhibitory receptors with their ligands on antigen presenting cells (APCs) or certain tumor cells determines the outcome of tumor-specific immune responses [1]. Therefore, the exertion of mAbs that target "immune checkpoints" (molecules on T-cells) has received widespread attention by several therapeutic studies [128].

Inhibition of pathways involved in checkpoints, such as programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1)/programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1), or cytotoxic T-cell lymphocyte associated protein-4 (CTLA-4), can reverse tumor-associated immune repression, which facilitates immune cell responses against tumors with clinically beneficial effects in approximately 20% of individuals [129]. Among these receptors, CTLA-4 has gained increasing credibility owing to the promising preclinical and clinical results. This T-cell receptor suppresses activated T-cells through binding to CD80 (B7.1) and CD86 (B7.2). One study showed that blocking of CTLA-4 on both effector and regulatory T-cell compartments contributed to the antitumor activity of anti-CTLA-4 Abs [130].

Data obtained from preclinical studies has provided the foundation for production of two clinically-approved anti-CTLA-4 mAbs (ipilimumab and tremelimumab). Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4, Yervoy[®]) owes its clinical approval to a pivotal study indicating that treatment with this mAb results in improved overall survival of patients with metastatic melanoma, and this is considered as a remarkable advancement [131]. However, one should be cautious about employing CTLA-4 blockade in general, since it has been shown to exert a series of toxic side effects called immune-related adverse effects (irAEs) [131, 132]. Likewise, blockade of another T-cell inhibitory receptor, namely PD-1, via a fully humanized monoclonal antibody (mAb) against PD-1 (Nivolumab; also known as MDX-1106), has led to favorable antitumor responses [133, 134] and additional PD-1 targeting Abs are being investigated [135, 136]. Anti-PD-1 reactivates "exhausted" T-cells through binding to PD-1 expressed on them [129]. Pembrolizumab was approved by FDA for the treatment of patients with previously untreated metastatic non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and metastatic melanoma [134].

PD-L1 overexpression, indicated by several clinical studies, has been attributed to a poor prognosis in several types of tumors such as bladder cancer, renal-cell carcinoma, esophageal cancer, gastric cancer, pancreatic cancer, ovarian cancer, and hepatocellular carcinoma. By expressing PD-L1, tumors can evade host immune surveillance, which inversely modulates immune responses through interacting with PD-1 molecule expressed on T-cells. Atezolizumab (anti-PD-L1 antibody, Tecentriq[®]) was also approved for therapy of unresectable bladder cancer and NSCLC in 2016 [134].

Some other agents determined for targeting immunoregulatory pathways are also under investigation that include antagonists of inhibitory checkpoints, such as TIM-3 and LAG-3. Additionally, some others have been designed against costimulatory molecules on immune cells, like CD40, CD137 (4-1BB), GITR, and OX-40 [137].

Urelumab (anti-4-1BB antibody) is a fully humanized IgG4 monoclonal antibody that has agonistic roles on T-cell activating receptor, CD137, that has shown encouraging antitumor efficacy in phase I clinical trials [126, 137, 138]. Urelumab specifically binds to and stimulates CD137-expressing immune cells, which then initiates an immune response, particularly a cytotoxic T-cell response, toward cancer cells [139]. On a cautionary note, high doses of this Ab can result in toxic effects, and studies with lower less toxic doses are currently underway [1]. Recently, an investigation was accompanied with achieving optimum urelumab dosage alongside with representations of immunologic activity, and was well tolerated [137]. Encouraging results upon employing Abs with agonistic impacts on CD40 have also been noted in the literature [135]. Among other CD40 agonists are checkpoint inhibitor mAbs, like anti-OX40 [140].

15.5.3 Targeting Tumor Stroma and Vasculature

Factors that support angiogenesis as well as those that form the extracellular matrix play an indispensable role in tumor survival [141–143]. Therefore, targeting tumor microenvironment has been shown to be of great therapeutic value in preclinical and clinical settings [144].

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), secreted by many solid tumors, supports tumor angiogenesis by binding to its receptor on endothelial cells. A combination of chemotherapy and anti-VEGF mAb (bevacizumab) is clinically approved for therapy of patients with colorectal, breast, and non-small cell lung cancers (NSCLCs) [143]. Ab-targeting of VEGF receptor (VEGFR) has also been investigated by several studies. Ramucirumab, an anti-VEGFR2 mAb, showed potential antitumor impacts in a murine cancer model [145]. Consistently, targeting of VEGFR-1 by a fully human mAb showed favorable preclinical results [146].

As for many therapeutic mAbs, the growing use of bevacizumab resulted in the emergence of bevacizumab-resistant tumors due to the upregulation of alternative angiogenic factors such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), which supports the growth of blood vessels through binding to its receptor (PDGFR) [147]. In fact, the addition of an anti-PDGFR mAb to anti-VEGFR-2 therapy showed promising antitumor results in preclinical models, introducing an efficient solution for the treatment of bevacizumabresistant tumors [148].

Cancer cells often press tissue stromal cells into service to provide a more hospitable microenvironment. In addition, cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), as the most frequent cell population in tumor microenvironment, have a crucial role in growth and metastasis of solid tumors. Hence, approaches that target CAFs and/or molecules secreted by them have recently gained momentum [149]. For instance, a mAb directed against fibroblast activation protein (FAP), produced by CAFs, elicited robust antitumor responses in a phase I clinical trial in patients with advanced or metastatic FAP-positive colorectal cancer and NSCLCs [142].

15.6 Engineered Antibodies

Two features of mAbs that have made them interesting drug candidates are high target specificity and organization into distinct structural and functional domains. These features have facilitated protein engineering of intact Abs by a variety of methods to suit for diverse therapeutic applications. Antibody engineering techniques have attempted to optimize the therapeutic efficacy of untouched Abs, and to overcome their shortcomings by creating novel Ab structures with features such as decreased immunogenicity, optimized stability, higher binding affinity, effective tissue penetration, modified Fc function, recruiting effector players of immune system, rapid renal clearance, and ease of production. Notably, advances in molecular biology have made it possible to go beyond optimization and in fact have created entirely new Ig domain-based structures, not found in nature, which can be tailored to achieve favorable results. A number of approaches have been developed to explore novel antibodies, including hybridomas, which are genetically engineered mice harboring human immunoglobulin sequences, and phage display. Each method has pros and cons; as a result, antibody discovery researchers will try several strategies simultaneously toward targeting a particular molecule [129]. This section describes Ab engineering (Fig. 15.2) as a way of generating optimized therapeutic Abs with improved effector functions.



Fig. 15.2 Schematic representation of different antibody fragments with therapeutic applications. Fragment antigen-binding (Fab) and F(ab')2 may be generated by papain or pepsin digestion of intact IgG, respectively. Other types of antibody fragments can be produced using antibody engineering methods. Single-chain fragment variables (sc F_{vs}) are composed of V_{H} -peptide linker- V_{L} (or vice versa). Diabodies are homodimers of scFvs, cova-

lently linked by a short peptide linker. Minibodies consist of two scFv-hinge-CH3 chains covalently connected by disulfide bonds. Bispecific antibodies, in general, consist of variable fragments of two different antibodies. Fab2 and bispecific diabody are two examples of bispecific structures. The triangle on the intact IgG indicates carbohydrates covalently attached to heavy chains

15.6.1 Murine Monoclonal Antibodies

Murine mAbs are entirely derived from mice using hybridoma technology, which involves the fusion of immortalized myeloma cells with B cells from immunized mice [150–154]. However, injection of humans with murine Abs induces the generation of human anti-mouse Abs (HAMA) that always target the injected murine mAb and, therefore, were not appropriate for therapies in chronic time periods [129]. Not only can these HAMA remove murine Abs upon repeated administrations, but also the formation of antibody-HAMA-complexes has shown end in mild to severe allergic reactions [155]. Therefore, major shortcomings of intact murine Abs have limited their clinical applications related to immunogenic problems and diversities between the immune systems of humans and rodents [156, 157]. Molecular biology and protein engineering settled this disadvantage in order to develop more human-like mAbs that have low immunogenicity [129].

Although the first mAb approved for clinical applications was a murine IgG2a Ab (OKT3, or muromonab; 1986) [158], many technical efforts were soon made to develop a secondgeneration mAb appropriate for human administration. Currently, murine Abs serve mainly as radioisotope-labeled agents aiming at targeted killing of tumor cells.

Technical advances in recombinant protein engineering, transgenic mice, and phage display have promoted the development of chimeric, humanized, and fully human mAbs. This has helped overcome the limitations of intact murine mAbs and resulted in creation of more effective therapeutic agents [159–161].

15.6.2 Chimeric and Humanized Monoclonal Antibodies

The desire to produce murine Abs with less immunogenicity in humans, and more immunologic efficacy, led to the production of various types of mAbs, such as chimeric, and humanized mAbs [48, 162, 163]. Chimeric mAbs are produced through hybridizing the antigen binding Fab regions from murine to backbone of human immunoglobulin, which is called "chimerisation" [129]. Such Abs are 75% human and much less immunogenic compared to the intact rodent ones, because interspecies immunodominant Ig epitopes are frequently located within the CH2 and CH3 domains of the Fc region [164]. Chimeric antibodies that have been approved are Erbitux® (cetuximab), Remicade® (infliximab), and Rituxan® (rituximab) [129]. Humanized mAbs, on the other hand, are constructed via engrafting of hypervariable regions of peptide binding loops from mouse (also named complementarity determining regions (CDRs)) onto human Abs rendering them 85-90% human, with less immunogenicity than chimeric Abs [129, 164]. Herceptin® (trastuzumab), a "humanized" antibody was extracted from a murine hybridoma and then underwent "humanization" process, through which except than binding site to the HER2 antigen was altered to a human sequence [129]. It is of note, however, that the binding affinity of the humanized mAbs is often weaker compared to parent murine mAbs. Therefore, additional manipulation needs to be made to humanized Abs to improve their affinity and specificity. These alterations are typically achieved by introducing mutations by methods like chain-shuffling randomization in the CDRs of Abs [165, 166]. In fact, the majority of currently approved Abs used in oncological applications and those used in advanced clinical trials are of humanized construct.

15.6.3 Fully Human Monoclonal Antibodies

To further reduce the immunogenicity of chimeric or humanized mAbs, both of which still contain some murine fragments, fully human mAbs were constructed [156, 167]. Replacement of mouse Ig variable and constant domains with those of the human effectively reduces the incidence of anti-antibody response (AAR) hypersensitivity reaction [168]. While some humanized mAbs are currently under studying for human clinical applications, Panitumumab[®] and Adalimumab[®] have been marketed for therapeutic purposes [169].

Transgenic mice (bearing human Ig germ line loci) and phage display (the display of Ab fragments on filamentous bacteriophages), as two of the well-established technologies for production of human mAbs, are reviewed here.

15.6.3.1 Human Monoclonal Antibodies from Transgenic Mice

A new approach for the development of fully human mAbs is the creation of a mouse strain engineered to produce a large repertoire of human Abs. Such mice are generated by introducing human Ig gene segment loci into the germ lines of mice deficient in Ab production [170]. Interestingly, VDJ recombination and somatic hypermutation of the human germ line Ab genes are carried out in a normal fashion in these mice, thereby producing high-affinity Abs with completely human sequences differing just in glycosylation patterns [171]. Such murine strains may serve as a source of high-affinity human mAbs generated against a broad spectrum of Ags, including those of the human. Development of genetically engineered mice facilitated production of fully humanized antibodies, such as Ofatumumab, Vectibix® (panitumumab), and ipilimumab [172] (Table 15.2).

15.6.3.2 Human Monoclonal Antibodies Created Through Phage Display Technology

Another important strategy uses synthetic (human) antibody libraries that are presented on the surface of phage or yeast, which is beneficial for targeting less immunogenic antigens [129]. Phage display was first described by George P. Smith [173] in 1985, when he demonstrated that a foreign DNA fragment can be fused to the

	Brand name/	Targeted	Antibody		Approval
Generic name ^a	company	antigen	construct	FDA-approved indication	date
Trastuzumab	HERCEPTIN/ Genentech	ERBB2	Humanized	Breast cancer, metastatic gastric or gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinoma	1998
Bevacizumab	AVASTIN/ Genentech and Roche	VEGF	Humanized	Metastatic colorectal cancer, non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer, metastatic breast cancer, glioblastoma, metastatic renal cell carcinoma	2004
Cetuximab	ERBITUX/ Bristol-Myers Squibb	EGFR	Chimeric	Head and neck cancer and colorectal cancer	2004
Panitumumab	VECTIBIX/Amgen	EGFR	Human	Metastatic colorectal carcinoma	2006
Ipilimumab	YERVOY/ Bristol-Myers Squibb	CTLA-4	Human	Unresectable or metastatic melanoma	2011
Pertuzumab	PERJETATM/ Genentech	ERBB2	Humanized	Metastatic breast cancer	2012
Conjugated antibod	lies: solid malignanci	es			
Ado-trastuzumab emtansine	KADCYLA/ Genentech	ERBB2	Humanized	Metastatic breast cancer	2013
Naked antibodies: I	hematological maligna	ancies			
Rituximab	Mabthera/Roche, Rituxan/Roche	CD20	Chimeric	Non-Hodgkin lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia	1997
Alemtuzumab	Campath/Genzyme	CD52	Humanized	B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia	2001
Ofatumumab	Arzerra/Genmab	CD20	Human	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia refractory to fludarabine and alemtuzumab	2009
Conjugated antibod	lies: hematological m	alignancies			
Brentuximab vedotin	ADCETRIS/Seattle Genetics	CD30	Chimeric	Refractory Hodgkin lymphoma, systemic anaplastic large cell lymphoma	2011
⁹⁰ Y-labeled ibritumomab tiuxetan	ZEVALIN/IDEC Pharmaceuticals	CD20	Murine	Relapsed or refractory, low-grade or follicular B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma, previously untreated follicular non-Hodgkin lymphoma	2002
Tositumomab and ¹³¹ I-labeled tositumomab	Bexxar/ GlaxoSmithKline	CD20	Murine	Rituximab-refractory non-Hodgkin lymphoma	2003

Table 15.2 Monoclonal antibodies approved by FDA for cancer therapy

^aCertain suffixes are used in generic names of monoclonal antibodies that are used as medications: -momab (murine), -ximab (chimeric), -zumab (humanized), or -mumab (human)

gene encoded for pIII coat protein of a filamentous phage and expressed as a fusion protein on the virion surface. A few years later, McCafferty [159] verified that a single-chain fragment variable (scFv) can be presented on a phage surface as a functional protein, while retaining its capability for antigen binding [174]. Today, this is a well-established technology for the development of novel fully human Abs. Phage display can mimic the immune system by creating large libraries of Ab genes and selecting for binding to desirable Ags. Exploration for specific antibody fragments with good affinities is possible upon biopanning the phages. The aim of this process is to enhance the efficacy of antigenspecific scFv, for increasing the affinity of scFV toward antigens, along with enhanced specificity [175]. Depending on the Ab source, there are several types of libraries: immune, naïve, and synthetic libraries. Immunized and naïve phage libraries are constructed through isolating the peripheral lymphocytes from immunized and non-immunized donors, respectively [176]. To create fully synthetic libraries, germ line Ab gene segments, VH, DH, and JH or $V\kappa/\lambda$ and $J\kappa/\lambda$ are cloned and arranged combinatorially in vitro to reconstitute genes encoding complete VH and VL chains [171]. Although, currently, there is no FDA-approved anticancer therapeutic mAb produced by phage display technology, several of such mAbs are in clinical development [177].

15.6.4 Antibody Fragments

The development of fully humanized Abs was a major breakthrough in therapeutic application of Abs. However, the large size of mAbs together with the presence of the Fc portion may be disadvantageous in some settings since it limits Ab penetration into tumor, especially in the case of solid tumors [178]. In fact, tissue penetration is known as a vital parameter in therapeutic settings, and often severely restricts the complete efficiency of the treatment [45, 179]. In addition, the long half-life of Abs, which is related to their Fc portion, is not appropriate for applications such as radioimmunotherapy or imaging as it may result in irradiation of healthy tissues and high background, respectively [180]. Antibody engineering offered new methods for overcoming these shortcomings, which are discussed below.

Antibody fragments including Fab, scFv, diabodies, and minibodies can be produced by elimination of the whole constant region or removal of a part of Fc or its entire portion from Ab [164]. In fact, better renal clearance and improved tumor penetration made such fragments attractive alternatives to the whole Ab molecule for radiotherapy and/or imaging application [181]. The biodistribution of intact radiolabeled chimeric mAb U36 (125I-cMAB U36) and its radiolabeled-recombinant fragment, 125I-F(ab')2, was compared in nude mice bearing head and neck xenograft tumors. Results demonstrated better tumor penetration and superior tumor-to-blood ratio for the latter [180]. Another study demonstrated acceptable tumor uptake of 1111In-panitumumab F(ab')2 in the athymic mice bearing LS-174T xenografts, suggesting this fragment as a promising candidate for imaging of HER1-positive cancers [182].

scFv fragment (27 kDa) contains the variable domains of one heavy and one light chain linked by a flexible linker and is capable of retaining the binding activity of the full Ig molecule in a monovalent fashion [183]. However, the main disadvantage of scFv is its too short serum half-life (~2 h) compared to the intact Abs (1-2 weeks), which may necessitate a successive administration of the molecule for achieving a proper response [164]. Interestingly, the intracellular expression of anti-Ras neutralizing scFv induced cell death in tumor cells expressing oncogenic Ras [184]. In a preclinical in vitro study, scFv-PEG-lipid conjugate, as an anti-HER2 liposome-inserting agent, was applied to HER2-overexpressing cancer cells [185].

Diabodies are homodimers of scFvs, covalently linked by a short peptide linker of four amino acids [186]. This kind of Ab fragment is a bivalent, medium-size (55 kDa) molecule with a higher avidity and superior tumor retention as compared to a single scFv. Engineered Ab fragments, such as diabodies, and scFv-Fc, have been successfully employed for immunopositron emission tomography (immunoPET) imaging of cancer cell surface biomarkers in preclinical models [187]. Larger fragments such as minibody (scFv-CH3; 80 kDa) [188] and scFv-Fc (110 kDa) [189] fusion proteins can exhibit even higher tumor uptakes. The longer serum half-life of these species improved their localization and allowed for longer exposure of the target tissue to the Ab fragment. In this regard, genetically engineered minibody and diabody displayed rapid, high-level tumor uptake coupled with rapid clearance from the circulation in the athymic mice bearing LS174T human colon carcinoma [190].

15.6.5 Bispecific Antibodies (BsAbs)

Different modifications have been applied to conventional therapeutic Abs in order to improve their clinical efficacy. Accordingly, bispecific Abs (BsAbs) have been devised that simultaneously target two different Ags or epitopes on the cell surface [191].

These hybrid proteins can be produced using different approaches such as chemical crosslinking, quadroma technology by somatic fusing of two different hybridoma cell lines [192], genetic techniques through recombinant DNA technology (knobs-into-holes strategy) [193]. Conjugating to two different antigens simultaneously confers a vast spectrum of applications, such as NK cells or T-cells to cancer cells, inhibition of two different signaling pathways, dual targeting of diverse disease-involved molecules, and delivering the desired molecule to targeted sites [194].

BsAbs present numerous beneficial aspects: (1) unlike combination monoclonal antibody strategy, BsAbs can lead specific immune effector cells to the vicinity of tumor cells in order to increase the efficacy of tumor cell killing. (2) Through interacting with two different antigens on the cell surface rather than one, BsAbs have the potential to enhance specificity of binding. (3) In comparison to the development of single antibody-based agents in combination strategies, BsAbs confer a chance to decrease the cost with respect to development, clinical trials implementation, and controlling reviews. (4) BsAbs will confer the opportunity to blocking of two different pathways at the same time that play specific or shared functions in the disease pathogenesis [194].

Until recently, synthesis of bispecific mAbs has been encountering difficulties [129]. Today, Ab engineering is capable of producing a wide variety of BsAbs with any antigen-binding combination, and molecular weight, as well as a predictable serum half-life. F(ab')2 heterodimer, various types of bivalent and trivalent scFvs, and tetravalent BsAb (including Ab-scFv, dimeric miniantibodies, and dimeric antibody-Fc molecules) are some examples of engineered BsAbs in this category [195].

Frequently, BsAbs have been designed to simultaneously bind tumor markers and effector cells. Effector cells such as T-cells are activated via CD3, while others like NK cells, macrophages, and neutrophils are generally activated through FcyRIIa, b, and FcyRIIa [196, 197]. In fact, there are many BsAbs with one arm specific to CD3 on cytotoxic T-cells and the other arm specific to a tumor Ag such as EGFR [198], HER2 [199], CA-125 [200], or CD20 [201]. Such BsAbs have been administrated in the immunotherapy of NHL, breast, ovarian, and prostate cancers. In 2009, the first bispecific trifunctional antibody, catumaxomab (Removab®), was approved for the therapy of malignant ascites in cases with EpCAM-positive tumors [1]. This bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE) antibody binds simultaneously to both EpCAM on human adenocarcinomas and CD3 on cytotoxic T-cells. The immunological reaction is triggered against tumor cell through binding of BiTE to T lymphocyte and target cell, and binding of heavy chains to an APC like a DC, macrophage, or NK cell [202, 203].

Blinatumomab, a recombinant bispecific tandem scFv molecule (bispecific T-cell engager, BiTE) directed against CD3 and CD19, is undergoing clinical trials and has demonstrated promising results in phase I and II studies in acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and NHL patients [204, 205]. Aside from approved catumaxomab (anti-CD3 and anti-EpCAM) and blinatumomab (anti-CD3 and anti-CD19), many more BsAbs are now in various phases of clinical development.

Although at the beginning of BsAb development T-cells received considerable interest, the attention of recent studies is shifting onto the employment of NK cells. T-cells are known as highly motile cells with robust tumor infiltration capacity. However, to become fully activated, these cells need to interact with co-stimulatory molecules such as B7 on APCs, and this is considered a major drawback to T-cell-based modalities [164].

In addition to activation of immune effector cells, BsAbs could be utilized in combination with cytotoxic agents resulting in accumulation of highly active but nonspecific payloads in desired tissues. Recently, recombinant bispecific immunotoxins were produced through fusing a tandem scFv to the catalytic or translocation domain of diphtheria toxin [206–208]. These immunotoxins were directed against CD19 and CD22 and showed improved efficacy against murine xenograft models of B cell malignancies and metastases [206–208].

On the other hand, another major escape mechanism of tumor cells may through down regulation of antigens that are target of antibody and deterring from recognition in the process of treatment. Several clinical trials have demonstrated that anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor T-cells (CART19) possess therapeutic potency against malignancies with relapsed B-cell. Nonetheless, a recent clinical trial of CD19 CAR T-cell therapy reported complete response in 90% of cases, whereas 11% of them finally presented relapsed tumors with CD19-negative status. Every additional antigen that had the possibility to be recognized via the CAR T-cells reduced the chance of antigen escape through selective proliferation of antigen-negative tumor cells and spontaneous mutation. As a result, combination of bispecific antibodies for production of T-cells recognizing multiple antigens is considered as a promising approach to prevent antigen escape. Development of the first bispecific CAR T-cells was occurred to inhibit the antigen escape process of malignant B cells, through which simultaneous recognition of both of CD19 and CD20 molecules was carried out via these CAR T-cells [209, 210].

15.6.6 Antibody Fusion Constructs

Antibody molecules in the fusion constructs are generally used to direct therapeutic agents such as toxins [211], cytokines [212], drugs [213], and radioisotopes [214] to the tumor microenvironment. The rationale behind this approach is the direct and specific delivering of higher concentrations of cytotoxic agents to tumor tissues, while avoiding damage to normal cells [215]. In fact, several potent drugs such as auristatins [216] and maytansinoids [217] (inhibitors of microtubule assembly) or emtansin [218] (a microtubule polymerization inhibitor) have been utilized in fusion with Abs in cancer therapy. Trastuzumab emtansine is an antibody-drug conjugate consisting of a maytansine derivative (DM1) conjugated to the FDA-approved trastuzumab [219]. Trastuzumab-DM1 has recently been shown to

inhibit tumor growth via induction of apoptosis, ADCC, and mitotic catastrophe in a trastuzumab/ lapatinib (a kinase inhibitor used in breast cancer therapy) resistant murine model [220].

Aside from drugs, various cytokines (e.g., IL-2, IFN- γ , TNF- α , and GM-CSF) have been investigated as therapeutic agents in conjugation with Abs as explained by their immunomodulatory and antitumor effects. At present, several immunocytokines are undergoing phase I and II clinical trials, and are close to FDA approval [221–223]. One therapeutic approach has combined a humanized Ab recognizing ED-B (extradomain B of fibronectin) with IL-12 [224]. This conjugated Ab has been evaluated in a phase I study in malignant melanoma and renal cell carcinoma (RCC) patients [224]. Moreover, Ab-IL-2 fusion proteins have been used in several phase I clinical trials to treat melanoma and neuroblastoma [225–227].

Tumor-targeted delivery of radioisotope agents in the form of radioimmunoconjugates is believed to improve its antitumor activity and safety. To minimize toxic effects, the conjugates are commonly designed based upon Abs with short serum half-lives. The only radioimmunotherapy agents licensed by the FDA are yttrium-90 (⁹⁰Y)-ibritumomab tiuxetan and iodine I 131 tositumomab. Either of these radioimmunoconjugates targets CD20, and each has been associated with potent responses in patients with relapsed NHL, or those with tumors resistant to rituximab [228].

15.6.7 Improvement in Antibody Function

Modifying Abs to improve their function has been a very active area of Ab engineering. Several strategies such as modulating the Fc carbohydrate, and/or protein sequences to enhance immune mediator functions, and altering half-life characteristics are instances of this concept. The existence of oligosaccharides and in particular the N-linked oligosaccharides at Asn-297 in the CH2 domain of IgG1 is crucial for binding to FcγR as well as complement fixation [229–231]. Two independent studies have demonstrated that lack of the fucose moiety from carbohydrate on Asn-297 significantly improves the binding of Ab to FcγRIII and ADCC [232, 233].

Altering protein sequence can be considered as another strategy to improve Ab function. Directed modification of amino acids within the Fc region of Ab leads to alteration of Ab halflife or enhancement of immune-mediated effector functions. A mutated Fc was able to decrease IgG affinity for FcRn, leading to shorter serum half-lives and thus rapid clearance of IgG-toxin or IgG-drug complexes [234]. However, for some therapeutic applications, increasing the half-life is favorable, as it would reduce the need for repetitive injections of the Ab to achieve a therapeutically relevant serum concentration. In one study, utilizing human IgG1 mutants with increased binding affinity to human FcRn led to a 2.5-folds increased serum half-life compared to the wild-type Ab [235].

Monoclonal Abs elicit effector functions following interactions of their Fc portion with various Fc receptors [1]. Hence, increasing the affinity of this interaction by engineering methods can play a major part in the efficacy of Ab-based therapies. Shields et al. determined several amino acids, located on the CH2 domain, as being important in IgG1 binding to Fc γ R [236]. The binding of IgG1 to Fc γ RIIIa, the major receptor mediating ADCC by NK cells, was 51% higher when alanine mutations were made at Ser298, Glu333, and Lys334. Notably, this mutant resulted in greater NK-mediated ADCC compared to a higher concentration of native IgG1 [236].

15.7 Evaluation of Antibody Efficacy

15.7.1 Preclinical Evaluations

Preclinical evaluation of Abs aims at predicting their potential pharmacologic and toxicologic effects in humans.

Different kinds of antitumor activities are evaluated by in vitro tests including inhibition of growth (e.g., trastuzumab [237, 238]), inhibition of metastasis or angiogenesis (e.g., bevacizumab [239, 240]), induction of apoptosis (e.g., rituximab [241, 242]), and induction of secondary immune functions such as ADCC (e.g., trastuzumab) [237, 238] or CDC (e.g., rituximab) [241].

The in vivo preclinical studies, on the other hand, can provide valuable information about product-specific dose level, dosing regimen, route of delivery, treatment duration, pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, toxicity [243, 244], and sensitization to chemotherapy [245] or radiotherapy [246].

Choosing the most relevant animal model is a critical step for successful preclinical safety evaluation of a mAb [247–249]. The speciesand target-specific nature of mAbs often rules out the use of rodents and in some cases makes it difficult to find the appropriate species. A non-human primate, if ethically justified, could be regarded as the species of choice for human/ humanized mAbs [243]. To achieve a thorough assessment, some prefer to use different models including mouse, rat, and monkey as in a study of humanized-anti CD40 mAb (SGN-40) [250].

15.7.2 Clinical Evaluations

Valuable information on the whole procedure of clinical safety evaluation of mAbs has been provided by various regulatory agencies. In 1997, FDA released a revised version of "Points to Consider (PTC) in the Manufacturing and Testing of Monoclonal Antibody Products for Human Use." This document presents a useful guideline for designing a clinical safety evaluation program of mAbs in areas such as dose estimation, pharmacokinetic evaluation, and immunogenicity consideration [244].

A critical step in the clinical evaluation of a therapeutic mAb is to assess its biodistribution, which is the ratio of Ab access to the tumor vs. normal tissues [142, 251, 252]. This step is essential for predicting Ab toxicity [252, 253], defining an appropriate Ab dose regimen, and determining the potential impacts of Ag saturation when using high Ab doses. Scott et al. used

a model of a clinical trial that incorporated biodistribution, pharmacokinetic, and pharmacodynamic evaluations with toxicity assessment [251] to the first-in-human clinical trials of several anticancer Abs [142, 251–253]. Further pharmacodynamic assessment methods, such as computerized tomography with magnetic resonance imaging, plasma-based protein, cell and genomic analyses, and tumor biopsies can also be used to evaluate the clinical efficacy of newly designed mAbs [254].

15.8 Clinically-Approved Monoclonal Antibodies

At the beginning of the twentieth century, Paul Ehrlich postulated "magic bullet" as a tool for specific targeting of diseases [255]. His hypothesis became practical with the development of an efficient method for generation of mAbs, in 1975, by Kohler and Milstein who are laureates of the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine in 1984 [150, 256]. Since then, these molecules have been known as ideal tools for therapy and imaging applications [164]. In this regard, mAb-based therapy of cancer has been used as a new therapeutic modality that has rapidly been adapted in many cancer types [257] and also received a great deal of interest by pharmaceutical companies. This interest has partly been stimulated due to the well-defined safety, efficacy, and quality of mAbs, and also because physicians and patients have clearly accepted mAbs as innovative therapeutics [156].

In 1982, for the first time, a therapeutic mAb was successfully used to treat B-cell lymphoma patients [258]. Consequently, Ehrlich's magic bullet hits the target by introducing rituximab (1997) and trastuzumab (1998) as the first chimeric and humanized FDA-approved mAbs for cancer therapy, respectively [255]. Since 1997, 13 mAbs including 7 mAbs specific to solid tumors and 6 mAbs specific to hematological malignancies have received FDA approval (Table 15.1). Here, we provide an overview of trastuzumab, bevacizumab (applied for hematological malignan-rituximab (applied for hematological malignan-

cies) as instances of the most successful therapeutic mAbs in clinical oncology [1].

15.8.1 Trastuzumab

Overexpression of human epidermal growth factor receptor-2 (HER2, c-erbB-2/neu, HER2/neu) is reported in approximately 15-20% of human breast cancers and is associated with a more aggressive disease and poor disease-free survival [259–261]. Trastuzumab (Herceptin[®]) is a humanized mAb against human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) and is considered as the pioneer in modern movement of mAb-based therapy of solid tumors [129]. Trastuzumab is a recombinant humanized mAb (rhumAb 4D5) reacting with an extracellular region of HER2 protein and inhibiting growth of the breast cancer cell line, SKBR-3 [262]. In a pivotal phase III clinical trial on metastatic breast cancer (MBC) patients with HER2 amplification, addition of trastuzumab to the chemotherapy regimen was associated with a few months delay in disease progression (median, 7.4 vs. 4.6 months), a higher rate of objective response (50% vs. 32%), a longer duration of response (median, 9.1 vs. 6.1 months) and survival (median, 25.1 vs. 20.3 months) [263]. Subsequently, four major international studies corroborated that trastuzumab either following or in combination with chemotherapy could reduce the risk of relapse and death by approximately 50% and 33%, respectively, in HER2-positive early breast cancer patients [264].

Although trastuzumab is accepted as the standard drug in the breast cancer therapy, its use has commonly led to favorable results in a small portion of human breast cancers [259–261]. In addition, up to 40% of patients with MBC do not respond to trastuzumab-based regimens and in those who respond, the median progression time is less than 1 year [265, 266]. Moreover, acquired trastuzumab resistance is a serious concern ending in disease progression [266, 267]. Notably, due to HER2 expression on cardiomyocytes, cardiac toxicity issues such as symptomatic congestive heart failure have been observed in some of the patients receiving trastuzumab therapies [268, 269]. In general, these shortcomings call for creation of novel and improved Ab-mediated therapies for MBC. The murine parent of trastuzumab, namely MuMAb4D5, was demonstrated to be inefficient on normal cells or tumor cells lacking the upregulation of HER2. Pertuzumab, recently FDA approved new humanized mAb, blocks HER2 dimerization through binding to a separate epitope on HER2 [129, 265]. The major achievement of HER2 program was that mAbs have a potential in treatment of solid tumors and that tyrosine kinase oncogenes could be regarded as feasible cancer targets [129]. Pertuzumab in combination with trastuzumab and docetaxel is a standard of care for patients with previously untreated MBC [269].

15.8.2 Bevacizumab

As mentioned earlier, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is a proangiogenic molecule with a critical role in tumor metastasis [270]. Bevacizumab is a humanized mAb that inhibits VEGF activity and is mainly used in combination with chemotherapy for the treatment of many types of advanced cancers such as colorectal cancer, RCC, NCLCs, ovarian cancer, and glioblastoma [271-277]. The addition of bevacizumab to cytotoxic chemotherapy has improved response rates and survival of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC) [278]. Moreover, in a phase III trial, the increase in overall survival of mCRC patients attributable to bevacizumab was 4.7 and 2.1 months following first-line and second-line therapies, respectively [279, 280]. Bevacizumab-based therapy resulted in improved clinical responses in other malignancies as well. For instance, incorporation of bevacizumab to a chemotherapy regimen produced a 2 months clinically relevant improvement in overall survival in NSCLCs compared to chemotherapy alone [276].

Regardless of the utility of several FDAapproved mAbs for cancer treatment, the therapeutic application of mAbs for solid tumors encounters several problems, which are discussed in Sect. 15.11. Compared with solid tumors, targeting of hematological malignancies has proven less complicated because mAbs have easy access to malignant cells allowing for administration of lower Ab doses to achieve potent therapeutic results. Here, rituximab is addressed as the first mAb approved for the treatment of hematological malignancies.

15.8.3 Rituximab

Rituximab is a chimeric mAb specific to CD20, the first Ag targeted for therapeutic purposes and expressed by more than 90% of B-cell lymphomas [281]. mAbs, which were approved initially, were designed to target those membrane proteins that were commonly expressed on both hematologic malignancies and their related immune cell precursors. This mAb was able to abrogate both cancer and normal cells [129]. Randomized studies have demonstrated that rituximab induces reasonable antitumor responses in patients with various lymphoid malignancies of B-cell origin, including indolent (e.g., follicular lymphoma (FL)) and aggressive (e.g., diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBC)) forms of NHL (NHL), and CLL. Noncomparative studies have also shown an activity in all other lymphomas [281–283].

A multicenter phase II study on relapsed low grade FL patients showed an overall remission rate of 48%, (including 6% of complete response (CR)), and a median progression time of 13 months following rituximab therapy [284]. In untreated FL patients, utilization of rituximab as the first-line therapy along with maintenance therapies led to the improvement in the overall response rate from 47% (7% CR) after initial treatment to 73% (37% CR) following maintenance treatment [285]. Consolidation therapy with 90Y-ibritumomab tiuxetan, which targets CD20, in the first remission of advanced-stage FL, increased the 8-year overall progression-free survival rate from 22% to 41%. Interestingly, the median time for the next treatment step was 8.1 years for ⁹⁰Y-ibritumomab vs. 3.0 years for control [286].

Furthermore, utilization of rituximab in combination with fludarabine and cyclophosphamide led to a significant improvement in the overall survival in CLL patients. Consistently, single-agent rituximab was efficient, even in patients with treatment-refractory or poor-prognosis CLL so that the overall response rate was 90.9% with a complete remission rate of 63.6%. Moreover, the median progression-free survival was 28.5 months, and the median duration of response was 26 months [287]. Nonetheless, administration of rituximab as a single agent to CLL has limited clinical activity inasmuch as it generally does not eradicate leukemia from the marrow. However, when employed in combination with chemotherapy, rituximab can improve the survival of patients relative to that of those treated with chemotherapy alone. Subsequently, FDA approved the use of rituximab in combination with fludarabine monophosphate and cyclophosphamide in previously untreated and chemotherapy-treated CD20⁺ CLL [288].

15.8.4 Therapeutic Monoclonal Antibodies Approved by Non-FDA Organizations

Apart from those authorized by FDA, there are mAbs that are approved outside the United States for cancer therapy (e.g., catumaxomab and nimotuzumab) [289, 290]. For instance, catumaxomab, a trifunctional Ab specific to epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM) on tumor cells, CD3 on T-cells, and Fcy receptors on accessory cells was approved by the European Union for the treatment of patients with malignant ascites generated by EpCAM-positive carcinomas [291]. Moreover, nimotuzumab, a humanized mAb against EGFR, was developed in Cuba and is approved to treat patients with head and neck cancer, glioma, and nasopharyngeal cancer in more than 20 countries in Asia, South America, and Africa [289, 290, 292].

15.9 Monoclonal Antibodies Currently Undergoing Clinical Trials

The current research is mainly focused on innovative mAbs to novel targets in order to overcome the current limitations of mAb therapy. Currently, approximately 350 mAbs are available with potential utilization for various disorders. Historically, about 50% of these Abs recognize tumor Ags [293]. Although most of these mAbs are in initial development stages, more than 100 anticancer mAbs are being evaluated in different phases of clinical trials [294]. Hence, in near future the number of approved mAbs is expected to rise significantly, which could help to improve the outcome of cancer patients by overcoming the current therapeutic limitations. This section briefly introduces some antitumor mAbs that are currently undergoing clinical trials. Several of the mAbs in trials try to provide an opportunity for the treatment of untreatable cancers through targeting of novel tumor Ags. For instance, intetumumab, a humanized mAb against human αV integrin, has been successfully tested in phase I/II clinical trials as the first-line treatment in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer [295, 296].

Some innovative mAbs target the wellvalidated Ags that were previously targeted with the approved mAbs, such as necitumumab (a fully human IgG1, passed phase I of clinical trial in advanced solid malignancies); and nimotuzumab (a humanized IgG1, passed phase I of clinical trial in NSCLC), which both bind specifically to EGFR [297-299]. Some newly designed mAbs in this category are those attempting to improve the functionality of previously-approved mAbs. For instance, obinutuzumab (GA-101), a glycoengineered humanized mAb, binds with high affinity to CD20 type II epitope, resulting in the induction of much stronger ADCC and superior cell killing properties compared to rituximab [300, 301]. Moreover, a phase I/II clinical trial demonstrated that GA-101 has a similar safety profile comparable to that of rituximab, and exhibits promising efficacy in patients with relapsed/refractory CD20-positive lymphoid malignancies [301–303].

Furthermore, there are mAbs designed to bridge cancer and immune cells. A BsAb, named blinatumomab, with dual specificity for CD19 and CD3, potentially engaged cytotoxic T-cells for redirected lysis of tumor cells [304]. Consistently, blinatumomab therapy led to a higher degree of in vitro lysis of human lymphoma cells, and was efficient at much lower concentrations compared to rituximab [305]. A phase II trial indicated that blinatumomab could induce complete long-lasting remission in B-lineage ALL patients with persistent or relapsed minimal residual disease (MRD). According to the results, blinatumomab administration induced a 76% MRD response rate defined as MRD negativity within four cycles of treatment [204, 306].

European Medical Agency (EMA) and FDA are evaluating avelumab, which is an anti-PD-L1 human IgG1 mAb, for the treatment of metastatic Merkel cell carcinoma. This mAb is also currently under assessment through phase III trials for patients with other cancer types, such as renal cell, non-small cell lung, gastric, ovarian, and urothelial cancers [307].

FDA in October 2016 approved olaratumab (Lartruvo[®]), which is a human IgG1 mAB targeting platelet-derived growth factor receptor α (PDGFR α), for the treatment of soft tissue sarcoma. ANNOUNCE study, an ongoing phase III trial, which evaluates olaratumab/doxorubicin combination compared with doxorubicin alone in advanced or metastatic soft tissue sarcoma patients, resulted in further support for authorization to be continued [307].

Finally, drug conjugates such as immunotoxins and antibody drug conjugates (ADCs) are another class of mAbs under clinical investigation. Moxetumomab pasudotox, which is a recombinant immunotoxin composed of the Fv fragment of an anti-CD22 mAb fused to a 38-kDa fragment of Pseudomonas exotoxin A, passed phase I clinical trial with safety and activity in relapsed/refractory hairy cell leukemia (HCL) [308]. Furthermore, this mAb is being evaluated in phase I trials in patients with CLL, B-cell lymphomas, and childhood ALL [309].

Gemtuzumab ozogamicin (Mylotarg[®]), a humanized IgG4 CD33 mAb linked to the toxin calicheamicin, is the first clinically validated cytotoxic immunoconjugate, which targets the CD33 antigen, found on leukemic blast cells in more than 80% of patients with AML, as well as normal myeloid cells. Bistranded DNA damage by calicheamicin results in the death of the myeloid cell but does not affect pluripotent stem cells. After 10 years of approved clinical use of GO, it was withdrawn from market in June 2010, because subsequent follow-up trials failed to demonstrate the supporting data suggesting clinical efficacy and significant benefits over conventional cancer therapies. In early 2017, it was reintroduced into the market based on several investigator-led clinical trials and results of Pfizer' clinical trial, the phase III, open-label, randomized trial enrolled 280 newly diagnosed AML patients [310–313].

Successful construction of clinically effective ADCs and advancements in ADC linker design and conjugation technologies are reflected by recent approval of brentuximab vedotin (Adcetris[®]) for CD30-positive Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) and systemic anaplastic large cell lymphoma (ALCL) and trastuzumab emtansine (Kadcyla[®]) for metastatic breast tumors overexpressing HER2/neu [314–318].

15.10 Combinational Monoclonal Antibody-Based Modalities

A brief review of the so far published data on cancer therapy reveals that a single method, such as Ab-based therapy, per se would not be efficacious enough to eradicate the fully armed tumor cells. Hence, in recent years researchers have employed multimodality approaches, which utilize more than a single antitumor agent [4, 319, 320]. This section describes the studies that have examined the effectiveness of combining Ab-targeting with additional common antitumor strategies.

15.10.1 Combination with Chemotherapy

Chemotherapy is one of the methods widely used in combination with Ab therapies to treat various cancers. This method is known to support antitumor immune responses via inducing tumor cell death, eliminating Tregs, and/or making tumor cells more sensitive to lysis by CTLs. Ab-targeted strategies, on the other hand, are believed to render tumor cells more susceptible to chemotherapeutic drugs [321, 322]. An anti-EGFR mAb in combination with chemotherapy could improve overall and/or progression-free survival compared to each agent alone, in patients with mCRC [323]. Moreover, the combination of AZD8055, a rapamycin analogue, and a CD40 agonist mAb, was employed to treat a murine model of metastatic RCC. Notably, the mixture provoked a robust antitumor response in terms of increased infiltration, stimulation, and proliferation of NK cells and CD8⁺ T-cells in metastatic areas compared with what was observed following the use of each treatment alone [324].

Nevertheless, to achieve potent antitumor results one must take into account the probable factors affecting each of the strategies used in a combination therapy approach. For instance, although generally effective, anti-EGFR mAb combined with chemotherapy would be of no therapeutic value if used to treat patients bearing *KRAS* mutant tumors [323, 325].

15.10.2 Combination with Radiotherapy

Radiotherapy, similar to chemotherapy, has extensively been used in combination with antitumor Abs. The traditional perception of radiotherapy function as a cytocidal weapon decreasing tumor metastasis has recently been shifted to that of a potent adjuvant helping immunotherapy. Radiotherapy is accompanied with immunological effects on tumor cells, including a promoted production of cytokines and peptides, comprising radiation-specific peptides, and an overexpression of adhesion and MHC Class I molecules [326]. Additionally, current evidence suggests that ionizing radiation per se can successfully induce immunogenic cell death leading to effective activation of antitumor immune responses [327, 328]. However, it should be noted that induction of a potent immunogenic cell death depends upon each tumor's intrinsic features as well as the genetic polymorphism for certain genes in each host [329, 330].

Additional proimmunogenic mechanisms have been shown to be promoted by ionizing radiation. For instance, chemokines including CXCXL9 and CXCL10, involved in T-cell recruitment, were released following radiotherapy of different tumors [331–333]. Interleukin 1β and TNF- α are examples of proinflammatory cytokines induced by radiation [331, 334, 335]. Moreover, sublethal doses of radiation have been shown to enhance the expression of certain molecules on tumor cells rendering them more susceptible to recognition and killing by tumor-specific T-cells [328]. On the other hand, radiation therapy has been reported to induce several immunosuppressive mechanisms instead of immune stimulation. There is evidence that radiation activates the latent form of TGF- β , an immunomodulatory cytokine involved in tumor progression [336, 337]. Moreover, radiotherapy has been indicated to induce tolerogenic properties in macrophages [338, 339]. Furthermore, an increase in the number of Tregs has been reported in some patients receiving radiation as an antitumor modality [340, 341].

Hence, radiation has the capacity to induce either proimmunogenic or immunosuppressive responses. In most cases, favorable impacts of radiotherapy dominate over the unfavorable ones. However, this is insufficient to thoroughly shift the balance of immune responses against tumor cells in the absence of accompanying immunotherapies [328].

In fact, promising results have been obtained by several preclinical studies that have combined radiotherapy with Ab targeting. Antibody blockade of CTLA-4 combined with local radiation in a murine model of breast cancer significantly increased the survival rate due to the induction of effective T-cell responses, whereas radiotherapy alone could only delay tumor growth, and anti-CTLA-4 mAb by itself was completely ineffective [328]. Consistently, the metastasis of poorly immunogenic colorectal and mammary carcinomas was successfully inhibited by a combination of radiation and anti-CTLA-4 mAb in mice [342]. Targeting of co-stimulatory molecules, such as CD137 (critical receptor on T-cell surface), CD40 or OX40 with immunomodulatory antibodies and ionizing radiation has resulted in several other beneficial antitumor effects [343–346]. Interestingly, the combination of radiotherapy and anti-CTLA-4 Ab has also led to promising results in clinical trials [347]. In a case report of melanoma, treatment of the patient with ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4 Ab) following radiation [348] could mimic the successful results previously observed in murine models [328, 342].

Nonetheless, to exploit the full potential of this type of combination to treat cancers entails the establishment of standard radiation regimens, which can result in effective domination of proimmunogenic over immunosuppressive responses. To this end, investigators are recommended to test different doses and frequencies of radiation in combination with each immunotherapeutic method for every cancer type and choose the optimal combination strategy [328, 342, 349].

15.10.3 Combination with Other Immunotherapeutic Methods

Antibody-based therapeutic methods have also been used together with other immunotherapeutic strategies to outsmart tumor-associated evasion mechanisms. For instance, anti-4-1BB mAb, as a CD4⁺ T-cell adjuvant, was applied together with in vitro activated antitumor T-cells to a murine model of microscopic pulmonary metastasis. The combination was advantageous over Ab administration or adoptive T-cell therapy alone. In fact, anti-4-1BB mAb served as an efficacious adjuvant through augmenting the antitumor function of transferred T-cells and resulted in persistence of infiltrated effector T-cells [350]. However, one major disadvantage of using anti4-1BB mAb is its toxic effects in higher doses. To overcome this issue, one study employed a combination of lower doses of anti-4-1BB and tumor lysate-pulsed DCs for the treatment of liver metastatic colon cancer. This nontoxic combination strategy resulted in a significant increase in tumor rejection comparable to the level obtained with higher toxic doses of anti-4-1BB alone [351]. In a very recent study, T-cells, engineered to express a type of tumor-specific MUC-1 receptor, were adoptively used to target prostate cancer cells. However, the vaccine efficacy was hindered by the heterogeneous expression of MUC-1 by tumor cells. Interestingly, the addition of a type of conventional anti-androgen mAb to the treatment regimen could improve the antitumor effects in vitro [352]. These examples substantiate the advantage of employing alternative immunotherapeutic approaches along with Ab-based modalities to obtain more potent and less toxic antitumor responses.

15.10.4 Other Combinational Approaches

In addition to the aforementioned more popular combination approaches, researchers have examined the efficacy of employing several lessknown modalities. For instance, a combination of Abs against two growth factors, secreted by human pancreatic cell lines, was successfully used to improve the efficacy of chemotherapy in pancreatic cancer patients [353]. Moreover, in a recent murine model of breast cancer, a recombinant protein with the capacity to bind to epithelial cell junctions was used as a partnering treatment for anti-EGFR-mAb. Interestingly, the cell junction opener protein could improve the intratumoral penetration of mAb culminating in robust antitumor responses [354].

Overall, with regard to Ab-based antitumor strategies, data obtained from preclinical and clinical studies corroborate that combinatorial approaches are undoubtedly superior to simple utilization of a mAb alone. Designing the most efficacious approaches entails gaining a precise understanding of the cellular and molecular
events underlying the interaction between the combined methods. Notably, the mAb of interest needs to be used in combination with a range of successful immunostimulating methods to choose the best partnering agent.

15.11 Current Limitations in Monoclonal Antibody-Based Therapies

15.11.1 Tumor Escape

It often occurs that patients with the same cancer type respond differently to a certain Ab-based strategy. This could be in part attributed to the diverse mechanisms tumor cells use to escape immune responses [355]. Here, we describe major mechanisms underlying tumor resistance to Ab-based modalities.

One reason for the resistance to mAb therapy in most cancer patients might be the presence of agents that inhibit CDC [356]. Protectin (CD59) inhibits homologous CDC by preventing formation of the membrane attack complex, thereby inhibiting cell lysis [357]. In fact, a great deal of evidence indicates that CD59 is highly effective in protecting NHL, melanoma, and CLL cells from antibody-mediated CDC and up-regulation of CD59 is an important determinant of sensitivity to Ab treatment in such cancers [358, 359].

Tumor cells might circumvent ADCC via expression of NK cell inhibitory molecules such as HLA-G, a non-classical HLA class I [360], which is known to be expressed on melanoma and other malignancies [361–363]. Interestingly, rituximab-mediated NK cell lysis depends on the HLA class I expression level on B-lymphoma cells [360].

To evade Ab-mediated therapies, tumor cells can downregulate the expression of Ags targeted by mAbs. Intriguingly, high receptor expression is known to be associated with a favorable response to trastuzumab. However, due to target receptor downregulation following Ab therapy, a proper response may not always be achieved [1]. Similarly, acquired rituximab resistance in B-cell lymphomas following exposure to rituximab has been associated with reduced levels of CD20 [364–366].

Masking of target proteins on tumor cells is another tumor escape mechanism. Resistance to trastuzumab was associated with increased expression of the membrane-associated glycoprotein MUC-4, which was shown to bind and sterically prevent HER2 from binding to trastuzumab [367–369].

Tumor resistance to Ab targeting might occur because of the induction of compensatory or alternative signaling by other cell surface receptors. Cetuximab (anti-EGFR mAb)-resistant tumors have been shown to escape Ab treatment through increased expression of G-protein coupled receptors [355, 370]. Furthermore, resistance to cetuximab treatment in colorectal cancers is often related to point mutations of *KRAS* and its downstream signaling molecules (e.g., BRAF) [371–374].

15.11.2 Relatively Low Single Agent Activity

Although numerous therapeutic mAbs have been approved for clinical use, in most cases, the overall response to a single mAb remains low. Accordingly, mAbs are commonly used in combination with other treatment modalities to achieve more favorable results (discussed in Sect. 15.10).

Protecting antibodies that interfere with clearance mechanisms through binding to the Fc domain of the neonatal Fc receptor—namely FcRn—has increased the serum half-life of antibodies (2–4 weeks in circulation). When extended function of a drug is required for a patient, this long half-life along with less frequent dosing is usually more desirable. Dosing of antibody is typically performed intravenously or subcutaneously. Due to immediate antibody degradation in the gut, oral administration is not recommended. Furthermore, pristine blood–brain barrier does not allow the therapeutic antibodies to pass in favorable quantities [129].

15.11.3 Low Tissue Penetration

Molecular size plays a key role in tumor penetration of therapeutic mAbs, and in fact, the diffusion rate inversely correlates with the cube root of molecular weight. Therefore, mAbs, as large molecules, would have difficulty diffusing into solid tumors, resulting in increased resistance of larger tumors to mAb-based modalities [375].

Using mAbs with high affinity can further diminish tumor penetration of Abs, a factor called "binding site barrier effect" [376]. In fact, there are several reports verifying that very high affinities can lead to suboptimal antitumor responses [377, 378]. The tight binding of mAbs to their Ag targets on the outer surface of solid tumors hampers their deeper penetration into tumor mass. Therefore, development of mAbs with optimal affinities for tumor Ags would result in efficient antitumor responses. However, achieving robust clinical responses mandates the consideration of several factors including Ag density, internalization, association, and dissociation rates; therefore, it is not always easy to develop perfect mAbs.

15.11.4 Fc–Fc Receptor Interactions and Associated Limitations

Elimination of tumors using mAbs that promote ADCC meets several challenges. First of all, a successful ADCC process requires a high affinity between Fc of a mAb and its receptor on effector cells; this is a major problem since a high percentage of the population expresses low affinity variants of the Fc receptor [117]. It has been shown that the presence of a valine (V) at position 158 of Fc γ RIIIa/CD16a instead of a phenylalanine (F) improves the FcR affinity for IgG [379, 380], and this replacement is shown to correlate with improved responses to rituximab therapy [117, 381].

Secondly, the glycosylation pattern of the Fc fragment of a mAb can be of major importance when working with therapeutic mAbs. In particular, the C_{H2} domain of IgG1 is glycosylated

(Asn-297) and this has been shown to have a key role in modulating the interaction of Fc with Fc γ RIIIa, thereby affecting the Ab efficacy. More specifically, the presence of fucose residues in the carbohydrate moiety has been reported to end in decreased ADCC efficiency [233].

A third challenge in front of ADCC triggering approaches is that there are a large number of IgG molecules in patients' sera, which compete with therapeutic mAbs in binding to FcRs. Specifically, IgG concentration in serum is 8-17 mg/mL, 66% of which is allocated to IgG1 molecules that can interact with FcγRIIIa. This explains why the effective mAb dosage needed for in vivo applications is much more than what is needed for in vitro ADCC experiments, which are performed in the absence of serum IgGs [382].

Finally, the affinity of mAbs for an inhibitory Fc receptor, called Fc γ RIIb, can significantly affect the outcome of an ADCC-based Ab therapy. Fc γ RIIb, expressed by several immune cells including DCs, macrophages, B cells, and neutrophils, is known as a negative regulator of immune responses [383]. In fact, signaling through this receptor keeps the potentially harmful immune reactions under control. This, however, poses a challenge to Ab therapy of tumors in which fully activated antitumor immune responses are desired. There is in fact evidence that binding of certain therapeutic mAbs to Fc γ RIIb leads to decreased therapeutic efficacy [164].

15.11.5 High Production Cost

Most therapies need high Ab doses over a long period of time, which requires large amounts of purified product per patient. In fact, therapeutic Ab production poses the costly process of establishing large mammalian cell cultures and extensive purification steps to companies, and ultimately places heavy financial burdens on cancer patients. Hence, improvement in alternative culture systems (e.g., microorganisms or plants) might lead to substantial reduction of production cost in the near future [384, 385].

15.12 Concluding Remarks

Despite the prominent role of the cellular arm of immune system in fighting against cancer, there is a great deal of evidence substantiating the effectiveness of the humoral immune system for cancer therapy. Not only can Abs directly destroy cancer cells, but also they can prevent tumor outgrowth and deliver radiation and/or powerful cytotoxic drugs to the tumor site. With this aim in view, many anticancer mAbs targeting different epitopes in several malignancies have opened their ways into the clinic, and there is rapid progress in discovering novel Ab targets for cancer therapy. Several engineering attempts have been evaluated in the development of improved therapeutic antibodies with the aim of promoting their efficacy and safety as antibody-based therapies. These attempts comprise antibody chimerization, humanization, and the development of fully human antibodies. mAbs are being investigated for new applications and, currently, manipulated for simultaneous targeting of two or more targets, conferring enhanced therapeutic efficacy. Due to the diverse evasion mechanisms of cancer, the application of Ab-based immunotherapeutic approaches per se may not be sufficient to overwhelm cancer outgrowth. Hence, Ab-based combinational cancer treatment modalities have been the focus of many recent investigations.

References

- 1. Scott AM, Wolchok JD, Old LJ. Antibody therapy of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):278.
- Subedi GP, Barb AW. The structural role of antibody N-glycosylation in receptor interactions. Structure. 2015;23(9):1573–83.
- Higel F, Seidl A, Sörgel F, Friess W. N-glycosylation heterogeneity and the influence on structure, function and pharmacokinetics of monoclonal antibodies and Fc fusion proteins. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2016;100:94–100.
- Abbas A, Lichtman A, Pillai S. Cellular and molecular immunology: with STUDENT CONSULT online access. London: Saunders; 2011. Google Scholar.
- Chari RV. Targeted cancer therapy: conferring specificity to cytotoxic drugs. Acc Chem Res. 2007;41(1):98–107.

- Díaz-Zaragoza M, Hernández-Ávila R, Viedma-Rodríguez R, Arenas-Aranda D, Ostoa-Saloma P. Natural and adaptive IgM antibodies in the recognition of tumor-associated antigens of breast cancer. Oncol Rep. 2015;34(3):1106–14.
- Brändlein S, Pohle T, Ruoff N, Wozniak E, Müller-Hermelink H-K, Vollmers HP. Natural IgM antibodies and immunosurveillance mechanisms against epithelial cancer cells in humans. Cancer Res. 2003;63(22):7995–8005.
- Vollmers HP, Brändlein S. Nature's best weapons to fight cancer. Revival of human monoclonal IgM antibodies. Hum Antibodies. 2002;11(4):131–42.
- Brandlein S, Vollmers HP. Natural IgM antibodies, the ignored weapons in tumour immunity. Histol Histopathol. 2004;19:897–905.
- Hensel F, Hermann R, Schubert C, Abé N, Schmidt K, Franke A, et al. Characterization of glycosylphosphatidylinositol-linked molecule CD55/decay-accelerating factor as the receptor for antibody SC-1-induced apoptosis. Cancer Res. 1999;59(20):5299–306.
- Hensel F, Brändlein S, Eck M, Schmidt K, Krenn V, Kloetzer A, et al. A novel proliferation-associated variant of CFR-1 defined by a human monoclonal antibody. Lab Investig. 2001;81(8):1097.
- Hakomori S-i. Tumor malignancy defined by aberrant glycosylation and sphingo(glyco)lipid metabolism. Cancer Res. 1996;56(23):5309–18.
- Hakomori S-i. Tumor-associated carbohydrate antigens defining tumor malignancy: basis for development of anti-cancer vaccines, The molecular immunology of complex carbohydrates, vol. 2. Boston, MA: Springer; 2001. p. 369–402.
- 14. Vollmers HP, Brändlein S. Tumors: too sweet to remember? Mol Cancer. 2007;6(1):78.
- Hendershot LM. The ER function BiP is a master regulator of ER function. Mount Sinai J Med. 2004;71(5):289–97.
- Macario AJ, de Macario EC. Sick chaperones, cellular stress, and disease. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(14):1489–501.
- 17. Zhai L, Kita K, Wano C, Wu Y, Sugaya S, Suzuki N. Decreased cell survival and DNA repair capacity after UVC irradiation in association with down-regulation of GRP78/BiP in human RSa cells. Exp Cell Res. 2005;305(2):244–52.
- Li J, Lee AS. Stress induction of GRP78/BiP and its role in cancer. Curr Mol Med. 2006;6(1):45–54.
- Song MS, Park YK, Lee J-H, Park K. Induction of glucose-regulated protein 78 by chronic hypoxia in human gastric tumor cells through a protein kinase C-ε/ERK/AP-1 signaling cascade. Cancer Res. 2001;61(22):8322–30.
- Uramoto H, Sugio K, Oyama T, Nakata S, Ono K, Yoshimastu T, et al. Expression of endoplasmic reticulum molecular chaperone Grp78 in human lung cancer and its clinical significance. Lung Cancer. 2005;49(1):55–62.

- 21. Fernandez PM, Tabbara SO, Jacobs LK, Manning FC, Tsangaris TN, Schwartz AM, et al. Overexpression of the glucose-regulated stress gene GRP78 in malignant but not benign human breast lesions. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2000;59(1):15–26.
- Pohle T, Brändlein S, Ruoff N, Müller-Hermelink HK, Vollmers HP. Lipoptosis: tumor-specific cell death by antibody-induced intracellular lipid accumulation. Cancer Res. 2004;64(11):3900–6.
- Brändlein S, Rauschert N, Rasche L, Dreykluft A, Hensel F, Conzelmann E, et al. The human IgM antibody SAM-6 induces tumor-specific apoptosis with oxidized low-density lipoprotein. Mol Cancer Ther. 2007;6(1):326–33.
- 24. Vollmers HP, Brändlein S. Natural antibodies and cancer. New Biotechnol. 2009;25(5):294–8.
- Davis L, Patel S, Atkinson J, Lipsky P. Decayaccelerating factor functions as a signal transducing molecule for human T cells. J Immunol. 1988;141(7):2246–52.
- Kuraya M, Fujita T. Signal transduction via a protein associated with a glycosylphosphatidylinositolanchored protein, decay-accelerating factor (DAF/ CD55). Int Immunol. 1998;10(4):473–80.
- Hensel F, Hermann R, Brändlein S, Krenn V, Schmausser B, Geis S, et al. Regulation of the new coexpressed CD55 (decay-accelerating factor) receptor on stomach carcinoma cells involved in antibody SC-1–induced apoptosis. Lab Investig. 2001;81(11):1553.
- Vollmers HP, O'Connor R, Müller J, Kirchner T, Müller-Hermelink HK. SC-1, a functional human monoclonal antibody against autologous stomach carcinoma cells. Cancer Res. 1989;49(9):2471–6.
- Mikesch J-H, Schier K, Roetger A, Simon R, Buerger H, Brandt B. The expression and action of decay-accelerating factor (CD55) in human malignancies and cancer therapy. Anal Cell Pathol. 2006;28(5, 6):223–32.
- 30. Vollmers HP, Zimmermann U, Krenn V, Timmermann W, Illert B, Hensel F, et al. Adjuvant therapy for gastric adenocarcinoma with the apoptosis-inducing human monoclonal antibody SC-1: first clinical and histopathological results. Oncol Rep. 1998;5(3):549–601.
- Illert B, Otto C, Vollmers HP, Hensel F, Thiede A, Timmermann W. Human antibody SC-1 reduces disseminated tumor cells in nude mice with human gastric cancer. Oncol Rep. 2005;13(4):765–70.
- 32. Vollmers HP, Hensel F, Hermann R, Dämmrich J, Wozniak E, Gessner P, et al. Tumor-specific apoptosis induced by the human monoclonal antibody SC-1: a new therapeutical approach for stomach cancer. Oncol Rep. 1998;5(1):35–75.
- 33. Vollmers HP, Dämmrich J, Hensel F, Ribbert H, Meyer-Bahlburg A, Ufken-Gaul T, et al. Differential expression of apoptosis receptors on diffuse and intestinal type stomach carcinoma. Cancer. 1997;79(3):433–40.

- 34. Brändlein S, Beyer I, Eck M, Bernhardt W, Hensel F, Müller-Hermelink HK, et al. Cysteine-rich fibroblast growth factor receptor 1, a new marker for precancerous epithelial lesions defined by the human monoclonal antibody PAM-1. Cancer Res. 2003;63(9):2052–61.
- 35. Brändlein S, Eck M, Ströbel P, Wozniak E, Müller-Hermelink HK, Hensel F, et al. PAM-1, a natural human IgM antibody as new tool for detection of breast and prostate precursors. Hum Antibodies. 2004;13(3):97–104.
- 36. Lambiase A, Micera A, Sgrulletta R, Bonini S, Bonini S. Nerve growth factor and the immune system: old and new concepts in the cross-talk between immune and resident cells during pathophysiological conditions. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. 2004;4(5):425–30.
- Tometten M, Blois S, Arck PC. Nerve growth factor in reproductive biology: link between the immune, endocrine and nervous system? In: Immunology of pregnancy. Basel: Karger Publishers; 2005. p. 135–48.
- Krüttgen A, Schneider I, Weis J. The dark side of the NGF family: neurotrophins in neoplasias. Brain Pathol. 2006;16(4):304–10.
- Papatsoris AG, Liolitsa D, Deliveliotis C. Manipulation of the nerve growth factor network in prostate cancer. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 2007;16(3):303–9.
- 40. Miknyoczki SJ, Wan W, Chang H, Dobrzanski P, Ruggeri BA, Dionne CA, et al. The neurotrophin-trk receptor axes are critical for the growth and progression of human prostatic carcinoma and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma xenografts in nude mice. Clin Cancer Res. 2002;8(6):1924–31.
- 41. Schachter J, Katz U, Mahrer A, Barak D, David LZB, Nusbacher J, et al. Efficacy and safety of intravenous immunoglobulin in patients with metastatic melanoma. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2007;1110(1):305–14.
- Fishman P, Bar-Yehuda S, Shoenfeld Y. IVIg to prevent tumor metastases. Int J Oncol. 2002;21(4):875–80.
- 43. Halvorson KG, Kubota K, Sevcik MA, Lindsay TH, Sotillo JE, Ghilardi JR, et al. A blocking antibody to nerve growth factor attenuates skeletal pain induced by prostate tumor cells growing in bone. Cancer Res. 2005;65(20):9426–35.
- Warrington RJ, Lewis KE. Natural antibodies against nerve growth factor inhibit in vitro prostate cancer cell metastasis. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60(2):187–95.
- Thurber GM, Zajic SC, Wittrup KD. Theoretic criteria for antibody penetration into solid tumors and micrometastases. J Nucl Med. 2007;48(6):995–9.
- 46. DaneshManesh AH, Mikaelsson E, Jeddi-Tehrani M, Bayat AA, Ghods R, Ostadkarampour M, et al. Ror1, a cell surface receptor tyrosine kinase is expressed in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and may serve as a putative target for therapy. Int J Cancer. 2008;123(5):1190–5.

- 47. Ademuyiwa FO, Bshara W, Attwood K, Morrison C, Edge SB, Ambrosone CB, et al. NY-ESO-1 cancer testis antigen demonstrates high immunogenicity in triple negative breast cancer. PLoS One. 2012;7(6):e38783.
- Pillay V, Gan HK, Scott AM. Antibodies in oncology. New Biotechnol. 2011;28(5):518–29.
- Sznol M, Davis T. Tumor antigens as targets for anti cancer drug development, Chapter 9. In: Anticancer drug development. Cambridge: Academic Press; 2001. p. 157–70.
- Lee W, Yue P, Zhang Z. Analytical methods for inferring functional effects of single base pair substitutions in human cancers. Hum Genet. 2009;126(4):481.
- 51. Zhang Y, Xiong Y, Yarbrough WG. ARF promotes MDM2 degradation and stabilizes p53: ARF-INK4a locus deletion impairs both the Rb and p53 tumor suppression pathways. Cell. 1998;92(6):725–34.
- 52. Vogt N, Lefèvre S-H, Apiou F, Dutrillaux A-M, Cör A, Leuraud P, et al. Molecular structure of doubleminute chromosomes bearing amplified copies of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene in gliomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(31):11368–73.
- Lugo TG, Pendergast A-M, Muller AJ, Witte ON. Tyrosine kinase activity and transformation potency of bcr-abl oncogene products. Science. 1990;247(4946):1079–82.
- Pinkel D, Albertson DG. Array comparative genomic hybridization and its applications in cancer. Nat Genet. 2005;37(6s):S11.
- Sattler HP, Rohde V, Bonkhoff H, Zwergel T, Wullich B. Comparative genomic hybridization reveals DNA copy number gains to frequently occur in human prostate cancer. Prostate. 1999;39(2):79–86.
- Adeyinka A, Kytola S, Mertens F, Pandis N, Larsson C. Spectral karyotyping and chromosome banding studies of primary breast carcinomas and their lymph node metastases. Int J Mol Med. 2000;5(3):235–75.
- Wong N, Lai P, Pang E, Wai-Tong Leung T, Wan-Yee Lau J, James Johnson P. A comprehensive karyotypic study on human hepatocellular carcinoma by spectral karyotyping. Hepatology. 2000;32(5):1060–8.
- Veldman T, Vignon C, Schröck E, Rowley JD, Ried T. Hidden chromosome abnormalities in haematological malignancies detected by multicolour spectral karyotyping. Nat Genet. 1997;15(4):406.
- Carter P, Fendly BM, Lewis GD, Sliwkowski MX. Development of herceptin. Breast Dis. 2000;11:103–11.
- Schena M, Shalon D, Davis RW, Brown PO. Quantitative monitoring of gene expression patterns with a complementary DNA microarray. Science. 1995;270(5235):467–70.
- Lockhart DJ, Dong H, Byrne MC, Follettie MT, Gallo MV, Chee MS, et al. Expression monitoring by hybridization to high-density oligonucleotide arrays. Nat Biotechnol. 1996;14(13):1675.
- 62. Greiner J, Schmitt M, Li L, Giannopoulos K, Bosch K, Schmitt A, et al. Expression of tumor-associated

antigens in acute myeloid leukemia: implications for specific immunotherapeutic approaches. Blood. 2006;108(13):4109–17.

- Velculescu VE, Zhang L, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. Serial analysis of gene expression. Science. 1995;270(5235):484–7.
- Wang SM. Understanding SAGE data. Trends Genet. 2007;23(1):42–50.
- 65. Zhang L, Zhou W, Velculescu VE, Kern SE, Hruban RH, Hamilton SR, et al. Gene expression profiles in normal and cancer cells. Science. 1997;276(5316):1268–72.
- 66. Hermeking H. Serial analysis of gene expression and cancer. Curr Opin Oncol. 2003;15(1):44–9.
- 67. Datson N, Van Der Perk-de Jong J, Van den Berg M, De Kloet E, Vreugdenhil E. MicroSAGE: a modified procedure for serial analysis of gene expression in limited amounts of tissue. Nucleic Acids Res. 1999;27(5):1300–7.
- 68. Lichtinghagen R, Musholt PB, Lein M, Römer A, Rudolph B, Kristiansen G, et al. Different mRNA and protein expression of matrix metalloproteinases 2 and 9 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 1 in benign and malignant prostate tissue. Eur Urol. 2002;42(4):398–406.
- 69. Basu A, Rojas H, Banerjee H, Cabrera IB, Perez KY, De León M, et al. Expression of the stress response oncoprotein LEDGF/p75 in human cancer: a study of 21 tumor types. PLoS One. 2012;7(1):e30132.
- Chen G, Gharib TG, Huang C-C, Taylor JM, Misek DE, Kardia SL, et al. Discordant protein and mRNA expression in lung adenocarcinomas. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2002;1(4):304–13.
- Kalinichenko SV, Kopantzev EP, Korobko EV, Palgova IV, Zavalishina LE, Bateva MV, et al. Pdcd4 protein and mRNA level alterations do not correlate in human lung tumors. Lung Cancer. 2008;62(2):173–80.
- O'Farrell PH. High resolution two-dimensional electrophoresis of proteins. J Biol Chem. 1975;250(10):4007–21.
- Celis JE, Ostergaard M, Rasmussen HH, Gromov P, Gromova I, Varmark H, et al. A comprehensive protein ressource for the study of bladder cancer: http://biobase.dk/cgi-bin/celis. Electrophoresis. 1999;20(2):300–9.
- 74. Østergaard M, Rasmussen HH, Nielsen HV, Vorum H, Ørntoft TF, Wolf H, et al. Proteome profiling of bladder squamous cell carcinomas: identification of markers that define their degree of differentiation. Cancer Res. 1997;57(18):4111–7.
- Bernard K, Litman E, Fitzpatrick JL, Shellman YG, Argast G, Polvinen K, et al. Functional proteomic analysis of melanoma progression. Cancer Res. 2003;63(20):6716–25.
- 76. Chen G, Gharib TG, Huang C-C, Thomas DG, Shedden KA, Taylor JM, et al. Proteomic analysis of lung adenocarcinoma: identification of a highly expressed set of proteins in tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2002;8(7):2298–305.

- 77. Le Naour F, Misek DE, Krause MC, Deneux L, Giordano TJ, Scholl S, et al. Proteomics-based identification of RS/DJ-1 as a novel circulating tumor antigen in breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2001;7(11):3328–35.
- Hanash SM, Strahler JR, Kuick R, Chu E, Nichols D. Identification of a polypeptide associated with the malignant phenotype in acute leukemia. J Biol Chem. 1988;263(26):12813–5.
- Ahmed N, Oliva KT, Barker G, Hoffmann P, Reeve S, Smith IA, et al. Proteomic tracking of serum protein isoforms as screening biomarkers of ovarian cancer. Proteomics. 2005;5(17):4625–36.
- Ricolleau G, Charbonnel C, Lodé L, Loussouarn D, Joalland MP, Bogumil R, et al. Surface-enhanced laser desorption/ionization time of flight mass spectrometry protein profiling identifies ubiquitin and ferritin light chain as prognostic biomarkers in node-negative breast cancer tumors. Proteomics. 2006;6(6):1963–75.
- Olsen JV, Blagoev B, Gnad F, Macek B, Kumar C, Mortensen P, et al. Global, in vivo, and site-specific phosphorylation dynamics in signaling networks. Cell. 2006;127(3):635–48.
- 82. Pawlik TM, Hawke DH, Liu Y, Krishnamurthy S, Fritsche H, Hunt KK, et al. Proteomic analysis of nipple aspirate fluid from women with early-stage breast cancer using isotope-coded affinity tags and tandem mass spectrometry reveals differential expression of vitamin D binding protein. BMC Cancer. 2006;6(1):68.
- Rehman I, Evans CA, Glen A, Cross SS, Eaton CL, Down J, et al. iTRAQ identification of candidate serum biomarkers associated with metastatic progression of human prostate cancer. PLoS One. 2012;7(2):e30885.
- Spurrier B, Ramalingam S, Nishizuka S. Reversephase protein lysate microarrays for cell signaling analysis. Nat Protoc. 2008;3(11):1796.
- Hartmann M, Roeraade J, Stoll D, Templin MF, Joos TO. Protein microarrays for diagnostic assays. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2009;393(5):1407–16.
- 86. Chen S, LaRoche T, Hamelinck D, Bergsma D, Brenner D, Simeone D, et al. Multiplexed analysis of glycan variation on native proteins captured by antibody microarrays. Nat Methods. 2007;4(5):437.
- Sanchez-Carbayo M, Socci ND, Lozano JJ, Haab BB, Cordon-Cardo C. Profiling bladder cancer using targeted antibody arrays. Am J Pathol. 2006;168(1):93–103.
- 88. Sahin U, Türeci O, Schmitt H, Cochlovius B, Johannes T, Schmits R, et al. Human neoplasms elicit multiple specific immune responses in the autologous host. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(25):11810–3.
- Jäger D. Potential target antigens for immunotherapy identified by serological expression cloning (SEREX). In: Target discovery and validation reviews and protocols. New York: Springer; 2007. p. 319–26.

- Imai K, Hirata S, Irie A, Senju S, Ikuta Y, Yokomine K, et al. Identification of HLA-A2-restricted CTL epitopes of a novel tumour-associated antigen, KIF20A, overexpressed in pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer. 2011;104(2):300.
- Edelman MJ, Hodgson L, Rosenblatt PY, Christenson RH, Vokes EE, Wang X, et al. CYFRA 21-1 as a prognostic and predictive marker in advanced nonsmall-cell lung cancer in a prospective trial: CALGB 150304. J Thorac Oncol. 2012;7(4):649–54.
- Lee S-Y, Obata Y, Yoshida M, Stockert E, Williamson B, Jungbluth AA, et al. Immunomic analysis of human sarcoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(5):2651–6.
- Krackhardt AM, Witzens M, Harig S, Hodi FS, Zauls AJ, Chessia M, et al. Identification of tumorassociated antigens in chronic lymphocytic leukemia by SEREX. Blood. 2002;100(6):2123–31.
- 94. Tschiedel S, Gentilini C, Lange T, Wölfel C, Wölfel T, Lennerz V, et al. Identification of NM23-H2 as a tumour-associated antigen in chronic myeloid leukaemia. Leukemia. 2008;22(8):1542.
- 95. Klade CS, Voss T, Krystek E, Ahorn H, Zatloukal K, Pummer K, et al. Identification of tumor antigens in renal cell carcinoma by serological proteome analysis. Proteomics. 2001;1(7):890–8.
- 96. Suzuki A, Iizuka A, Komiyama M, Takikawa M, Kume A, Tai S, et al. Identification of melanoma antigens using a Serological Proteome Approach (SERPA). Cancer Genomics-Proteomics. 2010;7(1):17–23.
- 97. Hamrita B, Chahed K, Kabbage M, Guillier CL, Trimeche M, Chaïeb A, et al. Identification of tumor antigens that elicit a humoral immune response in breast cancer patients' sera by serological proteome analysis (SERPA). Clin Chim Acta. 2008;393(2):95–102.
- He Y, Wu Y, Mou Z, Li W, Zou L, Fu T, et al. Proteomics-based identification of HSP60 as a tumor-associated antigen in colorectal cancer. Proteomics Clin Appl. 2007;1(3):336–42.
- Adams GP, Weiner LM. Monoclonal antibody therapy of cancer. Nat Biotechnol. 2005;23(9):1147.
- Chen J-S, Lan K, Hung M-C. Strategies to target HER2/neu overexpression for cancer therapy. Drug Resist Updat. 2003;6(3):129–36.
- Hudis CA. Trastuzumab—mechanism of action and use in clinical practice. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(1):39–51.
- 102. Franklin MC, Carey KD, Vajdos FF, Leahy DJ, De Vos AM, Sliwkowski MX. Insights into ErbB signaling from the structure of the ErbB2-pertuzumab complex. Cancer Cell. 2004;5(4):317–28.
- 103. Scheuer W, Friess T, Burtscher H, Bossenmaier B, Endl J, Hasmann M. Strongly enhanced antitumor activity of trastuzumab and pertuzumab combination treatment on HER2-positive human xenograft tumor models. Cancer Res. 2009;69(24):9330–6.
- 104. Sunada H, Magun BE, Mendelsohn J, MacLeod CL. Monoclonal antibody against epidermal growth

factor receptor is internalized without stimulating receptor phosphorylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1986;83(11):3825–9.

- 105. Schoeberl B, Pace EA, Fitzgerald JB, Harms BD, Xu L, Nie L, et al. Therapeutically targeting ErbB3: a key node in ligand-induced activation of the ErbB receptor–PI3K axis. Sci Signal. 2009;2(77):ra31.
- 106. Hollmen M, Määttä J, Bald L, Sliwkowski M, Elenius K. Suppression of breast cancer cell growth by a monoclonal antibody targeting cleavable ErbB4 isoforms. Oncogene. 2009;28(10):1309.
- 107. Daneshmanesh AH, Porwit A, Hojjat-Farsangi M, Jeddi-Tehrani M, Tamm KP, Grandér D, et al. Orphan receptor tyrosine kinases ROR1 and ROR2 in hematological malignancies. Leuk Lymphoma. 2013;54(4):843–50.
- 108. Yamaguchi T, Yanagisawa K, Sugiyama R, Hosono Y, Shimada Y, Arima C, et al. NKX2-1/TITF1/ TTF-1-induced ROR1 is required to sustain EGFR survival signaling in lung adenocarcinoma. Cancer Cell. 2012;21(3):348–61.
- 109. Zhang S, Chen L, Cui B, Chuang H-Y, Yu J, Wang-Rodriguez J, et al. ROR1 is expressed in human breast cancer and associated with enhanced tumorcell growth. PLoS One. 2012;7(3):e31127.
- 110. Daneshmanesh A, Hojjat-Farsangi M, Khan A, Jeddi-Tehrani M, Akhondi M, Bayat A, et al. Monoclonal antibodies against ROR1 induce apoptosis of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) cells. Leukemia. 2012;26(6):1348.
- 111. Gentile A, Lazzari L, Benvenuti S, Trusolino L, Comoglio PM. Ror1 is a pseudokinase that is crucial for Met-driven tumorigenesis. Cancer Res. 2011;71(8):3132–41.
- 112. Choudhury A, Derkow K, Daneshmanesh AH, Mikaelsson E, Kiaii S, Kokhaei P, et al. Silencing of ROR1 and FMOD with siRNA results in apoptosis of CLL cells. Br J Haematol. 2010;151(4):327–35.
- 113. Hojjat-Farsangi M, Ghaemimanesh F, Daneshmanesh AH, Bayat A-A, Mahmoudian J, Jeddi-Tehrani M, et al. Inhibition of the receptor tyrosine kinase ROR1 by anti-ROR1 monoclonal antibodies and siRNA induced apoptosis of melanoma cells. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e61167.
- Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Fcγ receptors: old friends and new family members. Immunity. 2006;24(1):19–28.
- 115. Bernard NF, Kiani Z, Tremblay-McLean A, Kant SA, Leeks CE, Dupuy FP. Natural killer (NK) cell education differentially influences HIV antibodydependent NK cell activation and antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1033.
- Clynes RA, Towers TL, Presta LG, Ravetch JV. Inhibitory Fc receptors modulate in vivo cytoxicity against tumor targets. Nat Med. 2000;6(4):443.
- 117. Cartron G, Dacheux L, Salles G, Solal-Celigny P, Bardos P, Colombat P, et al. Therapeutic activity of humanized anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody and

polymorphism in IgG Fc receptor FcγRIIIa gene. Blood. 2002;99(3):754–8.

- 118. Horton HM, Bernett MJ, Pong E, Peipp M, Karki S, Chu SY, et al. Potent in vitro and in vivo activity of an Fc-engineered anti-CD19 monoclonal antibody against lymphoma and leukemia. Cancer Res. 2008;68(19):8049–57.
- Rogers LM, Veeramani S, Weiner GJ. Complement in monoclonal antibody therapy of cancer. Immunol Res. 2014;59(1–3):203–10.
- 120. Di Gaetano N, Cittera E, Nota R, Vecchi A, Grieco V, Scanziani E, et al. Complement activation determines the therapeutic activity of rituximab in vivo. J Immunol. 2003;171(3):1581–7.
- Cragg MS, Glennie MJ. Antibody specificity controls in vivo effector mechanisms of anti-CD20 reagents. Blood. 2004;103(7):2738–43.
- 122. Berard F, Blanco P, Davoust J, Neidhart-Berard E-M, Nouri-Shirazi M, Taquet N, et al. Crosspriming of naive CD8 T cells against melanoma antigens using dendritic cells loaded with killed allogeneic melanoma cells. J Exp Med. 2000;192(11):1535–44.
- 123. Hoffmann TK, Meidenbauer N, Dworacki G, Kanaya H, Whiteside TL. Generation of tumor-specific T lymphocytes by cross-priming with human dendritic cells ingesting apoptotic tumor cells. Cancer Res. 2000;60(13):3542–9.
- 124. Dhodapkar KM, Krasovsky J, Williamson B, Dhodapkar MV. Antitumor monoclonal antibodies enhance cross-presentation of cellular antigens and the generation of myeloma-specific killer T cells by dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2002;195(1):125–33.
- 125. Dhodapkar KM, Kaufman JL, Ehlers M, Banerjee DK, Bonvini E, Koenig S, et al. Selective blockade of inhibitory Fcγ receptor enables human dendritic cell maturation with IL-12p70 production and immunity to antibody-coated tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(8):2910–5.
- 126. Weiner LM, Surana R, Wang S. Monoclonal antibodies: versatile platforms for cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10(5):317.
- 127. Rabinovich GA, Gabrilovich D, Sotomayor EM. Immunosuppressive strategies that are mediated by tumor cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2007;25:267–96.
- 128. Tsai H-F, Hsu P-N. Cancer immunotherapy by targeting immune checkpoints: mechanism of T cell dysfunction in cancer immunity and new therapeutic targets. J Biomed Sci. 2017;24(1):35.
- Shepard HM, Phillips GL, Thanos CD, Feldmann M. Developments in therapy with monoclonal antibodies and related proteins. Clin Med. 2017;17(3):220–32.
- 130. Peggs KS, Quezada SA, Chambers CA, Korman AJ, Allison JP. Blockade of CTLA-4 on both effector and regulatory T cell compartments contributes to the antitumor activity of anti–CTLA-4 antibodies. J Exp Med. 2009;206(8):1717–25.

- 131. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(8):711–23.
- Weber J. Ipilimumab: controversies in its development, utility and autoimmune adverse events. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58(5):823.
- 133. Brahmer JR, Drake CG, Wollner I, Powderly JD, Picus J, Sharfman WH, et al. Phase I study of singleagent anti–programmed death-1 (MDX-1106) in refractory solid tumors: safety, clinical activity, pharmacodynamics, and immunologic correlates. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(19):3167–75.
- Iwai Y, Hamanishi J, Chamoto K, Honjo T. Cancer immunotherapies targeting the PD-1 signaling pathway. J Biomed Sci. 2017;24(1):26.
- 135. Beatty GL, Chiorean EG, Fishman MP, Saboury B, Teitelbaum UR, Sun W, et al. CD40 agonists alter tumor stroma and show efficacy against pancreatic carcinoma in mice and humans. Science. 2011;331(6024):1612–6.
- Kirkwood JM, Tarhini AA, Panelli MC, Moschos SJ, Zarour HM, Butterfield LH, et al. Next generation of immunotherapy for melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(20):3445–55.
- 137. Segal NH, Logan TF, Hodi FS, McDermott D, Melero I, Hamid O, et al. Results from an integrated safety analysis of urelumab, an agonist anti-CD137 monoclonal antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2017;23(8):1929–36.
- 138. Sanmamed M, Chester C, Melero I, Kohrt H. Defining the optimal murine models to investigate immune checkpoint blockers and their combination with other immunotherapies. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(7):1190–8.
- Makkouk A, Chester C, Kohrt HE. Rationale for anti-CD137 cancer immunotherapy. Eur J Cancer. 2016;54:112–9.
- 140. Linch SN, McNamara MJ, Redmond WL. OX40 agonists and combination immunotherapy: putting the pedal to the metal. Front Oncol. 2015;5:34.
- 141. Deckert P. Current constructs and targets in clinical development for antibody-based cancer therapy. Curr Drug Targets. 2009;10(2):158–75.
- 142. Scott AM, Wiseman G, Welt S, Adjei A, Lee F-T, Hopkins W, et al. A phase I dose-escalation study of sibrotuzumab in patients with advanced or metastatic fibroblast activation protein-positive cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9(5):1639–47.
- 143. Ellis LM, Hicklin DJ. VEGF-targeted therapy: mechanisms of anti-tumour activity. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008;8(8):579.
- 144. Bissell MJ, Hines WC. Why don't we get more cancer? A proposed role of the microenvironment in restraining cancer progression. Nat Med. 2011;17(3):320.
- 145. Krupitskaya Y, Wakelee HA. Ramucirumab, a fully human mAb to the transmembrane signaling tyrosine kinase VEGFR-2 for the potential treatment of cancer. Curr Opin Invest Drugs. 2009;10(6):597–605.

- 146. Wu Y, Zhong Z, Huber J, Bassi R, Finnerty B, Corcoran E, et al. Anti-vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 antagonist antibody as a therapeutic agent for cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(21):6573–84.
- 147. Hirschi KK, Rohovsky SA, D'Amore PA. PDGF, TGF-β, and heterotypic cell–cell interactions mediate endothelial cell–induced recruitment of 10T1/2 cells and their differentiation to a smooth muscle fate. J Cell Biol. 1998;141(3):805–14.
- 148. Shen J, Vil MD, Prewett M, Damoci C, Zhang H, Li H, et al. Development of a fully human anti-PDGFRβ antibody that suppresses growth of human tumor xenografts and enhances antitumor activity of an anti-VEGFR2 antibody. Neoplasia. 2009;11(6):594–604.
- 149. Kakarla S, Song X-T, Gottschalk S. Cancerassociated fibroblasts as targets for immunotherapy. Immunotherapy. 2012;4(11):1129–38.
- Köhler G, Milstein C. Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. Nature. 1975;256(5517):495.
- 151. Hadavi R, Zarnani AH, Ahmadvand N, Mahmoudi AR, Bayat AA, Mahmoudian J, et al. Production of monoclonal antibody against human nestin. Avicenna J Med Biotechnol. 2010;2(2):69.
- 152. Shojaeian S, Allameh A, Zarnani AH, Chamankhah M, Ghods R, Bayat AA, et al. Production and characterization of monoclonal antibodies against the extracellular domain of CA 125. Immunol Investig. 2010;39(2):114–31.
- 153. Kazemi T, Tahmasebi F, Bayat AA, Mohajer N, Khoshnoodi J, Jeddi-Tehrani M, et al. Characterization of novel murine monoclonal antibodies directed against the extracellular domain of human HER2 tyrosine kinase receptor. Hybridoma. 2011;30(4):347–53.
- 154. Sarial S, Asadi F, Jeddi-Tehrani M, Hadavi R, Bayat AA, Mahmoudian J, et al. A high affinity monoclonal antibody recognizing the light chain of human coagulating factor VII. Hybridoma. 2012;31(6):443–8.
- 155. Stern M, Herrmann R. Overview of monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy: present and promise. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2005;54(1):11–29.
- 156. Nelson AL, Dhimolea E, Reichert JM. Development trends for human monoclonal antibody therapeutics. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2010;9(10):767.
- 157. Iannello A, Ahmad A. Role of antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity in the efficacy of therapeutic anti-cancer monoclonal antibodies. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2005;24(4):487–99.
- 158. Smith SL. Ten years of Orthoclone OKT3 (muromonab-CD3): a review. J Transpl Coord. 1996;6(3):109–21.
- 159. McCafferty J, Griffiths AD, Winter G, Chiswell DJ. Phage antibodies: filamentous phage displaying antibody variable domains. Nature. 1990;348(6301):552.
- Hudson PJ, Souriau C. Engineered antibodies. Nat Med. 2003;9(1):129.

- 161. Lonberg N. Human antibodies from transgenic animals. Nat Biotechnol. 2005;23(9):1117.
- 162. Jones PT, Dear PH, Foote J, Neuberger MS, Winter G. Replacing the complementarity-determining regions in a human antibody with those from a mouse. Nature. 1986;321(6069):522.
- 163. Morrison SL, Johnson MJ, Herzenberg LA, Oi VT. Chimeric human antibody molecules: mouse antigen-binding domains with human constant region domains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1984;81(21):6851–5.
- 164. Chames P, Van Regenmortel M, Weiss E, Baty D. Therapeutic antibodies: successes, limitations and hopes for the future. Br J Pharmacol. 2009;157(2):220–33.
- 165. Yamashita M, Katakura Y, Shirahata S. Recent advances in the generation of human monoclonal antibody. Cytotechnology. 2007;55(2–3):55–60.
- 166. Chothia C, Lesk AM, Tramontano A, Levitt M, Smith-Gill SJ, Air G, et al. Conformations of immunoglobulin hypervariable regions. Nature. 1989;342(6252):877.
- Chirino AJ, Ary ML, Marshall SA. Minimizing the immunogenicity of protein therapeutics. Drug Discov Today. 2004;9(2):82–90.
- Hwang WYK, Foote J. Immunogenicity of engineered antibodies. Methods. 2005;36(1):3–10.
- 169. Zhang Z, Hu W, Li L, Ding H, Li H. Therapeutic monoclonal antibodies and clinical laboratory tests: when, why, and what is expected? J Clin Lab Anal. 2018;32(3):e22307.
- Jakobovits A. Production of fully human antibodies by transgenic mice. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 1995;6(5):561–6.
- 171. Kim SJ, Park Y, Hong HJ. Antibody engineering for the development of therapeutic antibodies. Mol Cells. 2005;20(1):17–29.
- Lonberg N. Fully human antibodies from transgenic mouse and phage display platforms. Curr Opin Immunol. 2008;20(4):450–9.
- 173. Smith GP. Filamentous fusion phage: novel expression vectors that display cloned antigens on the virion surface. Science. 1985;228(4705):1315–7.
- 174. Ahmad ZA, Yeap SK, Ali AM, Ho WY, Alitheen NBM, Hamid M. scFv antibody: principles and clinical application. Clin Dev Immunol. 2012;2012:980250.
- 175. Mahmuda A, Bande F, Al-Zihiry KJK, Abdulhaleem N, Majid RA, Hamat RA, et al. Monoclonal antibodies: a review of therapeutic applications and future prospects. Trop J Pharm Res. 2017;16(3):713–22.
- 176. Schirrmann T, Meyer T, Schütte M, Frenzel A, Hust M. Phage display for the generation of antibodies for proteome research, diagnostics and therapy. Molecules. 2011;16(1):412–26.
- 177. Thie H, Meyer T, Schirrmann T, Hust M, Dubel S. Phage display derived therapeutic antibodies. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. 2008;9(6):439–46.
- 178. Schmidt MM, Wittrup KD. A modeling analysis of the effects of molecular size and binding

affinity on tumor targeting. Mol Cancer Ther. 2009;8(10):2861–71.

- 179. Jain RK. Physiological barriers to delivery of monoclonal antibodies and other macromolecules in tumors. Cancer Res. 1990;50(3 Suppl):814s–9s.
- 180. Sandström K, Haylock A-K, Spiegelberg D, Qvarnström F, Wester K, Nestor M. A novel CD44v6 targeting antibody fragment with improved tumorto-blood ratio. Int J Oncol. 2012;40(5):1525–32.
- 181. Yokota T, Milenic DE, Whitlow M, Schlom J. Rapid tumor penetration of a single-chain Fv and comparison with other immunoglobulin forms. Cancer Res. 1992;52(12):3402–8.
- 182. Wong KJ, Baidoo KE, Nayak TK, Garmestani K, Brechbiel MW, Milenic DE. In vitro and in vivo pre-clinical analysis of a F(ab')2 fragment of panitumumab for molecular imaging and therapy of HER1-positive cancers. EJNMMI Res. 2011;1(1):1.
- Bird RE, Hardman KD, Jacobson JW, Johnson S, Kaufman BM, Lee S-M, et al. Single-chain antigenbinding proteins. Science. 1988;242(4877):423–6.
- 184. Cochet O, Gruel N, Fridman W-H, Teillaud J-L. Ras and p53 intracellular targeting with recombinant singlechain Fv (scFv) fragments: a novel approach for cancer therapy? Cancer Detect Prev. 1999;23(6):506–10.
- 185. Nellis DF, Giardina SL, Janini GM, Shenoy SR, Marks JD, Tsai R, et al. Preclinical manufacture of anti-HER2 liposome-inserting, scFv-PEG-lipid conjugate. 2. Conjugate micelle identity, purity, stability, and potency analysis. Biotechnol Prog. 2005;21(1):221–32.
- 186. Holliger P, Prospero T, Winter G. "Diabodies": small bivalent and bispecific antibody fragments. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90(14):6444–8.
- Knowles SM, Wu AM. Advances in immuno–positron emission tomography: antibodies for molecular imaging in oncology. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(31):3884–92.
- 188. Hu S-z, Shively L, Raubitschek A, Sherman M, Williams LE, Wong JY, et al. Minibody: a novel engineered anti-carcinoembryonic antigen antibody fragment (single-chain Fv-CH3) which exhibits rapid, high-level targeting of xenografts. Cancer Res. 1996;56(13):3055–61.
- 189. Slavin-Chiorini DC, Kashmiri SV, Schlom J, Calvo B, Shu LM, Schott ME, et al. Biological properties of chimeric domain-deleted anticarcinoma immunoglobulins. Cancer Res. 1995;55(23 Suppl):5957s–67s.
- 190. Sundaresan G, Yazaki PJ, Shively JE, Finn RD, Larson SM, Raubitschek AA, et al. 124I-labeled engineered anti-CEA minibodies and diabodies allow high-contrast, antigen-specific small-animal PET imaging of xenografts in athymic mice. J Nucl Med. 2003;44(12):1962–9.
- Kontermann R. Dual targeting strategies with bispecific antibodies. MAbs. 2012;4(2):182–97.
- 192. Cotton R, Milstein C. Fusion of two immunoglobulin-producing myeloma cells. Nature. 1973;244(5410):42.

- 193. Ridgway JB, Presta LG, Carter P. 'Knobs-intoholes' engineering of antibody CH3 domains for heavy chain heterodimerization. Protein Eng Des Sel. 1996;9(7):617–21.
- 194. Fan G, Wang Z, Hao M, Li J. Bispecific antibodies and their applications. J Hematol Oncol. 2015;8(1):130.
- 195. Holliger P, Hudson PJ. Engineered antibody fragments and the rise of single domains. Nat Biotechnol. 2005;23(9):1126.
- 196. Du-Cuny L, Huwyler J, Fischer H, Kansy M. A potentiometric titration method for the crystallization of drug-like organic molecules. Int J Pharm. 2007;342(1–2):161–7.
- 197. Müller D, Kontermann RE. Recombinant bispecific antibodies for cellular cancer immunotherapy. Curr Opin Mol Ther. 2007;9(4):319–26.
- 198. Reusch U, Sundaram M, Davol PA, Olson SD, Davis JB, Demel K, et al. Anti-CD3× anti-epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) bispecific antibody redirects T-cell cytolytic activity to EGFR-positive cancers in vitro and in an animal model. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(1):183–90.
- 199. Sen M, Wankowski DM, Garlie NK, Siebenlist RE, Van Epps D, LeFever AV, et al. Use of anti-CD3× anti-HER2/neu bispecific antibody for redirecting cytotoxicity of activated T cells toward HER2/neu+ tumors. J Hematother Stem Cell Res. 2001;10(2):247–60.
- 200. Kriangkum J, Xu B, Gervais C, Paquette D, Jacobs FA, Martin L, et al. Development and characterization of a bispecific single-chain antibody directed against T cells and ovarian carcinoma. Hybridoma. 2000;19(1):33–41.
- 201. Gall JM, Davol PA, Grabert RC, Deaver M, Lum LG. T cells armed with anti-CD3× anti-CD20 bispecific antibody enhance killing of CD20+ malignant B cells and bypass complement-mediated rituximab resistance in vitro. Exp Hematol. 2005;33(4):452–9.
- 202. Tse B, Collins A, Oehler M, Zippelius A, Heinzelmann-Schwarz V. Antibody-based immunotherapy for ovarian cancer: where are we at? Ann Oncol. 2013;25(2):322–31.
- 203. Umebayashi M, Kiyota A, Koya N, Tanaka H, Onishi H, Katano M, et al. An epithelial cell adhesion molecule- and CD3-bispecific antibody plus activated T-cells can eradicate chemoresistant cancer stemlike pancreatic carcinoma cells in vitro. Anticancer Res. 2014;34(8):4509–19.
- 204. Topp MS, Kufer P, Gökbuget N, Goebeler M, Klinger M, Neumann S, et al. Targeted therapy with the T-cell–engaging antibody blinatumomab of chemotherapy-refractory minimal residual disease in B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients results in high response rate and prolonged leukemiafree survival. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(18):2493–8.
- 205. Bargou R, Leo E, Zugmaier G, Klinger M, Goebeler M, Knop S, et al. Tumor regression in cancer patients by very low doses of a T cell–engaging antibody. Science. 2008;321(5891):974–7.

- 206. Vallera DA, Oh S, Chen H, Shu Y, Frankel AE. Bioengineering a unique deimmunized bispecific targeted toxin that simultaneously recognizes human CD22 and CD19 receptors in a mouse model of B-cell metastases. Mol Cancer Ther. 2010;9(6):1872–83.
- 207. Vallera DA, Chen H, Sicheneder AR, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, Taras EP. Genetic alteration of a bispecific ligand-directed toxin targeting human CD19 and CD22 receptors resulting in improved efficacy against systemic B cell malignancy. Leuk Res. 2009;33(9):1233–42.
- 208. Vallera DA, Todhunter DA, Kuroki DW, Shu Y, Sicheneder A, Chen H. A bispecific recombinant immunotoxin, DT2219, targeting human CD19 and CD22 receptors in a mouse xenograft model of B-cell leukemia/lymphoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(10):3879–88.
- 209. Zhang X, Yang Y, Fan D, Xiong D. The development of bispecific antibodies and their applications in tumor immune escape. Exp Hematol Oncol. 2017;6(1):12.
- Makita S, Yoshimura K, Tobinai K. Clinical development of anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Cancer Sci. 2017;108(6):1109–18.
- 211. Dosio F, Stella B, Cerioni S, Gastaldi D, Arpicco S. Advances in anticancer antibody-drug conjugates and immunotoxins. Recent Pat Anticancer Drug Discov. 2014;9(1):35–65.
- Govindan SV, Goldenberg DM. Designing immunoconjugates for cancer therapy. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2012;12(7):873–90.
- 213. Flygare JA, Pillow TH, Aristoff P. Antibody-drug conjugates for the treatment of cancer. Chem Biol Drug Des. 2013;81(1):113–21.
- Govindan SV, Goldenberg DM. New antibody conjugates in cancer therapy. Sci World J. 2010;10:2070–89.
- 215. Wild R, Dhanabal M, Olson T, Ramakrishnan S. Inhibition of angiogenesis and tumour growth by VEGF121-toxin conjugate: differential effect on proliferating endothelial cells. Br J Cancer. 2000;83(8):1077.
- 216. Li D, Poon KA, Yu S-F, Dere R, Go M, Lau J, et al. DCDT2980S, an anti-CD22-monomethyl auristatin E antibody–drug conjugate, is a potential treatment for non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Mol Cancer Ther. 2013;12(7):1255–65.
- 217. Lutz RJ, Whiteman KR. Antibody-maytansinoid conjugates for the treatment of myeloma. MAbs. 2009;1(6):548–51.
- 218. Ballantyne A, Dhillon S. Trastuzumab emtansine: first global approval. Drugs. 2013;73(7):755–65.
- 219. Barginear MF, John V, Budman DR. Trastuzumab-DM1: a clinical update of the novel antibody-drug conjugate for HER2-overexpressing breast cancer. Mol Med. 2012;18(1):1473.
- Barok M, Tanner M, Köninki K, Isola J. Trastuzumab-DM1 causes tumour growth inhibi-

tion by mitotic catastrophe in trastuzumab-resistant breast cancer cells in vivo. Breast Cancer Res. 2011;13(2):R46.

- 221. Gillessen S, Gnad-Vogt US, Gallerani E, Beck J, Sessa C, Omlin A, et al. A phase I dose-escalation study of the immunocytokine EMD 521873 (Selectikine) in patients with advanced solid tumours. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(1):35–44.
- 222. Albertini MR, Hank JA, Gadbaw B, Kostlevy J, Haldeman J, Schalch H, et al. Phase II trial of hu14. 18-IL2 for patients with metastatic melanoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(12):2261–71.
- 223. Ribas A, Kirkwood JM, Atkins MB, Whiteside TL, Gooding W, Kovar A, et al. Phase I/II open-label study of the biologic effects of the interleukin-2 immunocytokine EMD 273063 (hu14. 18-IL2) in patients with metastatic malignant melanoma. J Transl Med. 2009;7(1):68.
- 224. Rudman SM, Jameson MB, McKeage MJ, Savage P, Jodrell DI, Harries M, et al. A phase 1 study of AS1409, a novel antibody-cytokine fusion protein, in patients with malignant melanoma or renal cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(7):1998–2005.
- 225. King DM, Albertini MR, Schalch H, Hank JA, Gan J, Surfus J, et al. Phase I clinical trial of the immunocytokine EMD 273063 in melanoma patients. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(22):4463–73.
- 226. Niculescu-Duvaz I. Technology evaluation: EMD-273063, EMD Lexigen. Curr Opin Mol Ther. 2004;6(5):559–66.
- 227. Osenga KL, Hank JA, Albertini MR, Gan J, Sternberg AG, Eickhoff J, et al. A phase I clinical trial of the hu14. 18-IL2 (EMD 273063) as a treatment for children with refractory or recurrent neuroblastoma and melanoma: a study of the Children's Oncology Group. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(6):1750–9.
- 228. Johnson T, Press O. Therapy of B-cell lymphomas with monoclonal antibodies and radioimmunoconjugates: the Seattle experience. Ann Hematol. 2000;79(4):175–82.
- 229. Presta LG. Engineering of therapeutic antibodies to minimize immunogenicity and optimize function. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2006;58(5–6):640–56.
- Strome SE, Sausville EA, Mann D. A mechanistic perspective of monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy beyond target-related effects. Oncologist. 2007;12(9):1084–95.
- 231. Ha S, Ou Y, Vlasak J, Li Y, Wang S, Vo K, et al. Isolation and characterization of IgG1 with asymmetrical Fc glycosylation. Glycobiology. 2011;21(8):1087–96.
- 232. Shields RL, Lai J, Keck R, O'Connell LY, Hong K, Meng YG, et al. Lack of fucose on human IgG1 N-linked oligosaccharide improves binding to human FcγRIII and antibody-dependent cellular toxicity. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(30):26733–40.
- 233. Shinkawa T, Nakamura K, Yamane N, Shoji-Hosaka E, Kanda Y, Sakurada M, et al. The absence of fucose but not the presence of galactose or bisecting N-acetylglucosamine of human IgG1 complex-type

oligosaccharides shows the critical role of enhancing antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(5):3466–73.

- Vaccaro C, Zhou J, Ober RJ, Ward ES. Engineering the Fc region of immunoglobulin G to modulate in vivo antibody levels. Nat Biotechnol. 2005;23(10):1283.
- 235. Hinton PR, Xiong JM, Johlfs MG, Tang MT, Keller S, Tsurushita N. An engineered human IgG1 antibody with longer serum half-life. J Immunol. 2006;176(1):346–56.
- 236. Shields RL, Namenuk AK, Hong K, Meng YG, Rae J, Briggs J, et al. High resolution mapping of the binding site on human IgG1 for FcγRI, FcγRII, FcγRIII, and FcRn and design of IgG1 variants with improved binding to the FcγR. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(9):6591–604.
- 237. Sliwkowski MX, Lofgren JA, Lewis GD, Hotaling TE, Fendly BM, Fox JA. Nonclinical studies addressing the mechanism of action of trastuzumab (Herceptin). Semin Oncol. 1999;26(4 Suppl 12):60–70.
- Baselga J, Albanell J, Molina MA, Arribas J. Mechanism of action of trastuzumab and scientific update. Semin Oncol. 2001;28(5 Suppl 16):4–11.
- Salgaller M. Technology evaluation: bevacizumab, Genentech/Roche. Curr Opin Mol Ther. 2003;5(6):657–67.
- Ferrara N. Role of vascular endothelial growth factor in physiologic and pathologic angiogenesis: therapeutic implications. Semin Oncol. 2002;29(6 Suppl 16):10–4.
- 241. Cerny T, Borisch B, Introna M, Johnson P, Rose AL. Mechanism of action of rituximab. Anti-Cancer Drugs. 2002;13:S3–10.
- 242. Maloney DG, Smith B, Rose A. Rituximab: mechanism of action and resistance. Semin Oncol. 2002;29(1 Suppl 2):2–9.
- 243. Brennan FR, Shaw L, Wing MG, Robinson C. Preclinical safety testing of biotechnologyderived pharmaceuticals. Mol Biotechnol. 2004;27(1):59–74.
- 244. US Food and Drug Administration. Points to consider in the manufacture and testing of monoclonal antibody products for human use. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services; 1997.
- 245. Kanekal S, Crain B, Elliott G, Singh SS. SDX-105 (Bendamustine) inhibits growth of SU-DHL-1 and Daudi lymphoma xenografts in SCID mice. Am Assoc Cancer Res. 2004;45:abstr 4575.
- 246. Pietras RJ, Poen JC, Gallardo D, Wongvipat PN, Lee HJ, Slamon DJ. Monoclonal antibody to HER-2/ neureceptor modulates repair of radiation-induced DNA damage and enhances radiosensitivity of human breast cancer cells overexpressing this oncogene. Cancer Res. 1999;59(6):1347–55.
- 247. Chapman K, Pullen N, Graham M, Ragan I. Preclinical safety testing of monoclonal antibodies: the significance of species relevance. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2007;6(2):120.

- 248. Hall WC, Price-Schiavi SA, Wicks J, Rojko JL. Tissue cross-reactivity studies for monoclonal antibodies: predictive value and use for selection of relevant animal species for toxicity testing. In: Pharmaceutical sciences encyclopedia. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley; 2008.
- Serabian MA, Huang Y. Preclinical safety evaluation of biopharmaceuticals. In: Pharmaceutical sciences encyclopedia. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley; 2008.
- 250. Kelley SK, Gelzleichter T, Xie D, Lee WP, Darbonne WC, Qureshi F, et al. Preclinical pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and activity of a humanized anti-CD40 antibody (SGN-40) in rodents and non-human primates. Br J Pharmacol. 2006;148(8):1116–23.
- 251. Scott AM, Lee F-T, Tebbutt N, Herbertson R, Gill SS, Liu Z, et al. A phase I clinical trial with monoclonal antibody ch806 targeting transitional state and mutant epidermal growth factor receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(10):4071–6.
- 252. Herbertson RA, Tebbutt NC, Lee F-T, MacFarlane DJ, Chappell B, Micallef N, et al. Phase I biodistribution and pharmacokinetic study of Lewis Y–targeting immunoconjugate CMD-193 in patients with advanced epithelial cancers. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(21):6709–15.
- Cheson BD, Leonard JP. Monoclonal antibody therapy for B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(6):613–26.
- 254. De Bono J, Ashworth A. Translating cancer research into targeted therapeutics. Nature. 2010;467(7315):543.
- Strebhardt K, Ullrich A. Paul Ehrlich's magic bullet concept: 100 years of progress. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008;8(6):473.
- 256. Clark M. Empowering the inventor—the case of monoclonal antibodies. Nat Biotechnol. 2005;23(9):1047.
- 257. Bhutani D, Vaishampayan UN. Monoclonal antibodies in oncology therapeutics: present and future indications. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2013;13(2):269–82.
- 258. Miller RA, Maloney DG, Warnke R, Levy R. Treatment of B-cell lymphoma with monoclonal anti-idiotype antibody. N Engl J Med. 1982;306(9):517–22.
- 259. Slamon DJ, Clark GM, Wong SG, Levin WJ, Ullrich A, McGuire WL. Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/ neu oncogene. Science. 1987;235(4785):177–82.
- 260. Slamon DJ, Godolphin W, Jones LA, Holt JA, Wong SG, Keith DE, et al. Studies of the HER-2/neu proto-oncogene in human breast and ovarian cancer. Science. 1989;244(4905):707–12.
- O'Mahony D, Bishop M. Monoclonal antibody therapy. Front Biosci. 2006;11:1620–35.
- 262. Carter P, Presta L, Gorman CM, Ridgway J, Henner D, Wong W, et al. Humanization of an antip185HER2 antibody for human cancer therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89(10):4285–9.
- 263. Slamon DJ, Leyland-Jones B, Shak S, Fuchs H, Paton V, Bajamonde A, et al. Use of chemotherapy

plus a monoclonal antibody against HER2 for metastatic breast cancer that overexpresses HER2. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(11):783–92.

- 264. Baselga J, Perez EA, Pienkowski T, Bell R. Adjuvant trastuzumab: a milestone in the treatment of HER-2-positive early breast cancer. Oncologist. 2006;11(Suppl 1):4–12.
- 265. Awada A, Bozovic-Spasojevic I, Chow L. New therapies in HER2-positive breast cancer: a major step towards a cure of the disease? Cancer Treat Rev. 2012;38(5):494–504.
- Nahta R, Esteva F. Trastuzumab: triumphs and tribulations. Oncogene. 2007;26(25):3637.
- 267. Huang Y, Fu P, Fan W. Novel targeted therapies to overcome trastuzumab resistance in HER2overexpressing metastatic breast cancer. Curr Drug Targets. 2013;14(8):889–98.
- 268. de Azambuja E, Bedard PL, Suter T, Piccart-Gebhart M. Cardiac toxicity with anti-HER-2 therapieswhat have we learned so far? Target Oncol. 2009;4(2):77–88.
- 269. Perez EA. Cardiac toxicity of ErbB2-targeted therapies: what do we know? Clin Breast Cancer. 2008;8:S114–S20.
- Robinson CJ, Stringer SE. The splice variants of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and their receptors. J Cell Sci. 2001;114(5):853–65.
- Braghiroli MI, Sabbaga J, Hoff PM. Bevacizumab: overview of the literature. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2012;12(5):567–80.
- 272. Heitz F, Harter P, Barinoff J, Beutel B, Kannisto P, Grabowski JP, et al. Bevacizumab in the treatment of ovarian cancer. Adv Ther. 2012;29(9):723–35.
- 273. Dhillon S. Bevacizumab combination therapy. Drugs. 2012;72(7):917–30.
- 274. Stevenson CE, Nagahashi M, Ramachandran S, Yamada A, Bear HD, Takabe K. Bevacizumab and breast cancer: what does the future hold? Future Oncol. 2012;8(4):403–14.
- 275. Macedo LT, da Costa Lima AB, Sasse AD. Addition of bevacizumab to first-line chemotherapy in advanced colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis, with emphasis on chemotherapy subgroups. BMC Cancer. 2012;12(1):89.
- 276. Sandomenico C, Costanzo R, Carillio G, Piccirillo MC, Montanino A, Di Maio M, et al. Bevacizumab in non small cell lung cancer: development, current status and issues. Curr Med Chem. 2012;19(7):961–71.
- 277. Sato S, Itamochi H. Bevacizumab and ovarian cancer. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2012;24(1):8–13.
- 278. Cartwright TH. Adverse events associated with antiangiogenic agents in combination with cytotoxic chemotherapy in metastatic colorectal cancer and their management. Clin Colorectal Cancer. 2013;12(2):86–94.
- McCormack PL, Keam SJ. Bevacizumab a review of its use in metastatic colorectal cancer. Drugs. 2008;68(4):487–506.
- 280. Tappenden P, Jones R, Paisley S, Carroll C. Systematic review and economic evaluation of

bevacizumab and cetuximab for the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. Health Technol Assess. 2007;11(12):1–128.

- 281. Coiffier B. Rituximab therapy in malignant lymphoma. Oncogene. 2007;26(25):3603.
- 282. Karlin L, Coiffier B. Improving survival and preventing recurrence of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma in younger patients: current strategies and future directions. Onco Targets Ther. 2013;6:289.
- 283. Wang S, Weiner G. Rituximab: a review of its use in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2008;8:759–68.
- 284. McLaughlin P, Grillo-López AJ, Link BK, Levy R, Czuczman MS, Williams ME, et al. Rituximab chimeric anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody therapy for relapsed indolent lymphoma: half of patients respond to a four-dose treatment program. J Clin Oncol. 1998;16(8):2825–33.
- Hainsworth JD. Prolonging remission with rituximab maintenance therapy. Semin Oncol. 2004;31(1 Suppl 2):17–21.
- 286. Morschhauser F, Radford J, Van Hoof A, Botto B, Rohatiner AZ, Salles G, et al. 90Yttriumibritumomab tiuxetan consolidation of first remission in advanced-stage follicular non-Hodgkin lymphoma: updated results after a median followup of 7.3 years from the international, randomized, phase III first-line indolent trial. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(16):1977–83.
- Wiernik PH, Adiga GU. Single-agent rituximab in treatment-refractory or poor prognosis patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Curr Med Res Opin. 2011;27(10):1987–93.
- James DF, Kipps TJ. Rituximab in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Adv Ther. 2011;28(7):534–54.
- Scott AM, Allison JP, Wolchok JD. Monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy. Cancer Immun Arch. 2012;12(1):14.
- 290. Vacchelli E, Eggermont A, Galon J, Sautès-Fridman C, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, et al. Trial watch: monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy. Onco Targets Ther. 2013;2(1):e22789.
- 291. Seimetz D. Novel monoclonal antibodies for cancer treatment: the trifunctional antibody catumaxomab (Removab®). J Cancer. 2011;2:309.
- 292. Boland WK, Bebb G. Nimotuzumab: a novel anti-EGFR monoclonal antibody that retains anti-EGFR activity while minimizing skin toxicity. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2009;9(9):1199–206.
- 293. Reichert JM. Which are the antibodies to watch in 2013? MAbs. 2013;5(1):1–4.
- 294. Reichert JM, Dhimolea E. The future of antibodies as cancer drugs. Drug Discov Today. 2012;17(17–18):954–63.
- 295. Heidenreich A, Rawal S, Szkarlat K, Bogdanova N, Dirix L, Stenzl A, et al. A randomized, double-blind, multicenter, phase 2 study of a human monoclonal antibody to human αν integrins (intetumumab) in combination with docetaxel and prednisone for the first-line treatment of patients with metastatic

castration-resistant prostate cancer. Ann Oncol. 2012;24(2):329–36.

- 296. Chu FM, Picus J, Fracasso PM, Dreicer R, Lang Z, Foster B. A phase 1, multicenter, open-label study of the safety of two dose levels of a human monoclonal antibody to human α v integrins, intetumumab, in combination with docetaxel and prednisone in patients with castrate-resistant metastatic prostate cancer. Investig New Drugs. 2011;29(4):674–9.
- 297. Kuenen B, Witteveen PO, Ruijter R, Giaccone G, Dontabhaktuni A, Fox F, et al. A phase I pharmacologic study of necitumumab (IMC-11F8), a fully human IgG1 monoclonal antibody directed against EGFR in patients with advanced solid malignancies. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(6):1915–23.
- 298. Bebb G, Smith C, Rorke S, Boland W, Nicacio L, Sukhoo R, et al. Phase I clinical trial of the anti-EGFR monoclonal antibody nimotuzumab with concurrent external thoracic radiotherapy in Canadian patients diagnosed with stage IIb, III or IV nonsmall cell lung cancer unsuitable for radical therapy. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2011;67(4):837–45.
- 299. Choi HJ, Sohn JH, Lee CG, Shim HS, Lee I-J, Yang WI, et al. A phase I study of nimotuzumab in combination with radiotherapy in stages IIB–IV non-small cell lung cancer unsuitable for radical therapy: Korean results. Lung Cancer. 2011;71(1):55–9.
- 300. van Oers MH. CD20 antibodies: type II to tango? Blood. 2012;119(22):5061–3.
- 301. Robak T. GA-101, a third-generation, humanized and glyco-engineered anti-CD20 mAb for the treatment of B-cell lymphoid malignancies. Curr Opin Investig Drugs. 2009;10(6):588–96.
- 302. Owen C, Stewart DA. Obinutuzumab for the treatment of lymphoproliferative disorders. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2012;12(3):343–51.
- 303. Salles G, Morschhauser F, Lamy T, Milpied N, Thieblemont C, Tilly H, et al. Phase 1 study results of the type II glycoengineered humanized anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody obinutuzumab (GA101) in B-cell lymphoma patients. Blood. 2012;119(22):5126–32.
- 304. Nagorsen D, Kufer P, Baeuerle PA, Bargou R. Blinatumomab: a historical perspective. Pharmacol Ther. 2012;136(3):334–42.
- 305. d'Argouges S, Wissing S, Brandl C, Prang N, Lutterbuese R, Kozhich A, et al. Combination of rituximab with blinatumomab (MT103/MEDI-538), a T cell-engaging CD19-/CD3-bispecific antibody, for highly efficient lysis of human B lymphoma cells. Leuk Res. 2009;33(3):465–73.
- 306. Topp MS, Gökbuget N, Zugmaier G, Degenhard E, Goebeler M-E, Klinger M, et al. Long-term followup of hematologic relapse-free survival in a phase 2 study of blinatumomab in patients with MRD in B-lineage ALL. Blood. 2012;120(26):5185–7.
- 307. Reichert JM. Antibodies to watch in 2017. MAbs. 2017;9(2):167–81.
- 308. Kreitman RJ, Tallman MS, Robak T, Coutre S, Wilson WH, Stetler-Stevenson M, et al. Phase

I trial of anti-CD22 recombinant immunotoxin moxetumomab pasudotox (CAT-8015 or HA22) in patients with hairy cell leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(15):1822–8.

- Kreitman RJ, Pastan I. Antibody fusion proteins: anti-CD22 recombinant immunotoxin moxetumomab pasudotox. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(20):6398–405.
- Damle NK, Frost P. Antibody-targeted chemotherapy with immunoconjugates of calicheamicin. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2003;3(4):386–90.
- 311. Rowe JM, Löwenberg B. Gemtuzumab ozogamicin in acute myeloid leukemia: a remarkable saga about an active drug. Blood. 2013;121(24):4838–41.
- Damle NK. Tumour-targeted chemotherapy with immunoconjugates of calicheamicin. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2004;4(9):1445–52.
- 313. Hamann PR, Hinman LM, Beyer CF, Lindh D, Upeslacis J, Flowers DA, et al. An anti-CD33 antibody–calicheamicin conjugate for treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. Choice of linker. Bioconjug Chem. 2002;13(1):40–6.
- 314. Kim EG, Kim KM. Strategies and advancement in antibody-drug conjugate optimization for targeted cancer therapeutics. Biomol Ther. 2015;23(6):493.
- 315. Peters C, Brown S. Antibody–drug conjugates as novel anti-cancer chemotherapeutics. Biosci Rep. 2015;35(4):e00225.
- Jain N, Smith SW, Ghone S, Tomczuk B. Current ADC linker chemistry. Pharm Res. 2015;32(11):3526–40.
- 317. LoRusso PM, Weiss D, Guardino E, Girish S, Sliwkowski MX. Trastuzumab emtansine: a unique antibody-drug conjugate in development for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2–positive cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(20):6437–47.
- Bradley AM, Devine M, DeRemer D. Brentuximab vedotin: an anti-CD30 antibody–drug conjugate. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2013;70(7):589–97.
- 319. Torabi-Rahvar M, Bozorgmehr M, Jeddi-Tehrani M, Zarnani AH. Potentiation strategies of dendritic cell-based antitumor vaccines: combinational therapy takes the front seat. Drug Discov Today. 2011;16(15–16):733–40.
- 320. Shojaeian J, Jeddi-Tehrani M, Dokouhaki P, Mahmoudi AR, Ghods R, Bozorgmehr M, et al. Mutual helper effect in copulsing of dendritic cells with 2 antigens: a novel approach for improvement of dendritic-based vaccine efficacy against tumors and infectious diseases simultaneously. J Immunother. 2009;32(4):325–32.
- 321. Zhang T, Herlyn D. Combination of active specific immunotherapy or adoptive antibody or lymphocyte immunotherapy with chemotherapy in the treatment of cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58(4):475–92.
- 322. Proietti E, Moschella F, Capone I, Belardelli F. Exploitation of the propulsive force of chemotherapy for improving the response to cancer immunotherapy. Mol Oncol. 2012;6(1):1–14.
- 323. Wang L, Chen X, Li W, Sheng Z. Antiepidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody

improves survival outcomes in the treatment of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Anti-Cancer Drugs. 2012;23(2):155–60.

- 324. Jiang Q, Weiss JM, Back T, Chan T, Ortaldo JR, Guichard S, et al. mTOR kinase inhibitor AZD8055 enhances the immunotherapeutic activity of an agonist CD40 antibody in cancer treatment. Cancer Res. 2011;71(12):4074–84.
- 325. Lin AY, Buckley NS, Lu A-TT, Kouzminova NB, Salpeter SR. Effect of KRAS mutational status in advanced colorectal cancer on the outcomes of anti-epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Colorectal Cancer. 2011;10(1):63–9.
- 326. Verbrugge I, Galli M, Smyth MJ, Johnstone RW, Haynes NM. Enhancing the antitumor effects of radiotherapy with combinations of immunostimulatory antibodies. Onco Targets Ther. 2012;1(9):1629–31.
- 327. Ma Y, Kepp O, Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Aymeric L, Locher C, et al. Chemotherapy and radiotherapy: cryptic anticancer vaccines. Semin Immunol. 2010;22(3):113–24.
- Formenti SC, Demaria S. Combining radiotherapy and cancer immunotherapy: a paradigm shift. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2013;105(4):256–65.
- 329. Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, et al. Toll-like receptor 4–dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Nat Med. 2007;13(9):1050.
- 330. Panaretakis T, Joza N, Modjtahedi N, Tesniere A, Vitale I, Durchschlag M, et al. The co-translocation of ERp57 and calreticulin determines the immunogenicity of cell death. Cell Death Differ. 2008;15(9):1499.
- 331. Lugade AA, Sorensen EW, Gerber SA, Moran JP, Frelinger JG, Lord EM. Radiation-induced IFN-γ production within the tumor microenvironment influences antitumor immunity. J Immunol. 2008;180(5):3132–9.
- 332. Matsumura S, Wang B, Kawashima N, Braunstein S, Badura M, Cameron TO, et al. Radiation-induced CXCL16 release by breast cancer cells attracts effector T cells. J Immunol. 2008;181(5):3099–107.
- 333. Matsumura S, Demaria S. Up-regulation of the proinflammatory chemokine CXCL16 is a common response of tumor cells to ionizing radiation. Radiat Res. 2010;173(4):418–25.
- 334. Hallahan DE, Spriggs DR, Beckett MA, Kufe DW, Weichselbaum RR. Increased tumor necrosis factor alpha mRNA after cellular exposure to ionizing radiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989;86(24):10104–7.
- 335. Ishihara H, Tsuneoka K, Dimchev AB, Shikita M. Induction of the expression of the interleukin-1β gene in mouse spleen by ionizing radiation. Radiat Res. 1993;133(3):321–6.
- 336. Barcellos-Hoff M, Derynck R, Tsang M, Weatherbee J. Transforming growth factor-beta activation in

irradiated murine mammary gland. J Clin Invest. 1994;93(2):892–9.

- 337. Jobling MF, Mott JD, Finnegan MT, Jurukovski V, Erickson AC, Walian PJ, et al. Isoform-specific activation of latent transforming growth factor β (LTGF-β) by reactive oxygen species. Radiat Res. 2006;166(6):839–48.
- 338. Tsai C-S, Chen F-H, Wang C-C, Huang H-L, Jung S-M, Wu C-J, et al. Macrophages from irradiated tumors express higher levels of iNOS, arginase-I and COX-2, and promote tumor growth. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;68(2):499–507.
- 339. Chiang C-S, Fu S-Y, Wang S-C, Yu C-F, Chen F-H, Lin C-M, et al. Irradiation promotes an m2 macrophage phenotype in tumor hypoxia. Front Oncol. 2012;2:89.
- 340. Schaue D, Comin-Anduix B, Ribas A, Zhang L, Goodglick L, Sayre JW, et al. T-cell responses to survivin in cancer patients undergoing radiation therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14(15):4883–90.
- 341. Schaue D, Xie MW, Ratikan JA, McBride WH. Regulatory T cells in radiotherapeutic responses. Front Oncol. 2012;2:90.
- 342. Dewan MZ, Galloway AE, Kawashima N, Dewyngaert JK, Babb JS, Formenti SC, et al. Fractionated but not single-dose radiotherapy induces an immune-mediated abscopal effect when combined with anti–CTLA-4 antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(17):5379–88.
- 343. Dempke WC, Fenchel K, Uciechowski P, Dale SP. Second-and third-generation drugs for immunooncology treatment—the more the better? Eur J Cancer. 2017;74:55–72.
- 344. Shi W, Siemann DW. Augmented antitumor effects of radiation therapy by 4-1BB antibody (BMS-469492) treatment. Anticancer Res. 2006;26(5A):3445–53.
- 345. Newcomb EW, Lukyanov Y, Kawashima N, Alonso-Basanta M, Wang S-C, Liu M, et al. Radiotherapy enhances antitumor effect of anti-CD137 therapy in a mouse Glioma model. Radiat Res. 2010;173(4):426–32.
- 346. Verbrugge I, Hagekyriakou J, Sharp LL, Galli M, West AC, McLaughlin NM, et al. Radiotherapy increases the permissiveness of established mammary tumors to rejection by immunomodulatory antibodies. Cancer Res. 2012;72(13):3163–74.
- 347. Slovin S, Higano C, Hamid O, Tejwani S, Harzstark A, Alumkal J, et al. Ipilimumab alone or in combination with radiotherapy in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: results from an open-label, multicenter phase I/II study. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(7):1813–21.
- 348. Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, Yamada Y, Yuan J, Kitano S, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(10):925–31.
- 349. Schaue D, Ratikan JA, Iwamoto KS, McBride WH. Maximizing tumor immunity with fractionated radiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;83(4):1306–10.

- 350. Li Q, Iuchi T, Jure-Kunkel MN, Chang AE. Adjuvant effect of anti-4-1BB mAb administration in adoptive T cell therapy of cancer. Int J Biol Sci. 2007;3(7):455.
- 351. Lee H, Park H-J, Sohn H-J, Kim JM, Kim SJ. Combinatorial therapy for liver metastatic colon cancer: dendritic cell vaccine and low-dose agonistic anti-4-1BB antibody co-stimulatory signal. J Surg Res. 2011;169(1):e43–50.
- 352. Sanchez C, Chan R, Bajgain P, Rambally S, Palapattu G, Mims M, et al. Combining T-cell immunotherapy and anti-androgen therapy for prostate cancer. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 2013;16(2):123.
- 353. Lindzen M, Lavi S, Leitner O, Yarden Y. Tailored cancer immunotherapy using combinations of chemotherapy and a mixture of antibodies against EGF-receptor ligands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(28):12559–63.
- 354. Beyer I, Van Rensburg R, Strauss R, Li Z, Wang H, Persson J, et al. Epithelial junction opener JO-1 improves monoclonal antibody therapy of cancer. Cancer Res. 2011;71(22):7080–90.
- 355. Ferris RL, Jaffee EM, Ferrone S. Tumor antigen–targeted, monoclonal antibody–based immunotherapy: clinical response, cellular immunity, and immunoescape. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(28):4390–9.
- 356. Juhl H, Helmig F, Baltzer K, Kalthoff H, Henne-Bruns D, Kremer B. Frequent expression of complement resistance factors CD46, CD55, and CD59 on gastrointestinal cancer cells limits the therapeutic potential of monoclonal antibody 17-1A. J Surg Oncol. 1997;64(3):222–30.
- 357. Jarvis GA, Li J, Hakulinen J, Brady KA, Nordling S, Dahiya R, et al. Expression and function of the complement membrane attack complex inhibitor protectin (CD59) in human prostate cancer. Int J Cancer. 1997;71(6):1049–55.
- 358. Ge X, Wu L, Hu W, Fernandes S, Wang C, Li X, et al. rILYd4, a human CD59 inhibitor, enhances complement-dependent cytotoxicity of ofatumumab against rituximab-resistant B-cell lymphoma cells and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(21):6702–11.
- 359. Coral S, Fonsatti E, Sigalotti L, De Nardo C, Visintin A, Nardi G, et al. Overexpression of protectin (CD59) down-modulates the susceptibility of human melanoma cells to homologous complement. J Cell Physiol. 2000;185(3):317–23.
- 360. Borgerding A, Hasenkamp J, Engelke M, Burkhart N, Trümper L, Wienands J, et al. B-lymphoma cells escape rituximab-triggered elimination by NK cells through increased HLA class I expression. Exp Hematol. 2010;38(3):213–21.
- Ugurel S, Reinhold U, Tilgen W. HLA-G in melanoma: a new strategy to escape from immunosurveillance? Oncol Res Treat. 2002;25(2):129–34.
- 362. Ibrahim EC, Aractingi S, Allory Y, Borrini F, Dupuy A, Duvillard P, et al. Analysis of HLA antigen expression in benign and malignant melanocytic lesions reveals that upregulation of HLA-G expression correlates with malignant transformation, high

inflammatory infiltration and HLA-A1 genotype. Int J Cancer. 2004;108(2):243–50.

- 363. Alkhouly N, Shehata I, Ahmed MB, Shehata H, Hassan S, Ibrahim T. HLA-G expression in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a significant prognostic tumor biomarker. Med Oncol. 2013;30(1):460.
- 364. Small GW, McLeod HL, Richards KL. Analysis of innate and acquired resistance to anti-CD20 antibodies in malignant and nonmalignant B cells. PeerJ. 2013;1:e31.
- 365. Czuczman MS, Olejniczak S, Gowda A, Kotowski A, Binder A, Kaur H, et al. Acquirement of rituximab resistance in lymphoma cell lines is associated with both global CD20 gene and protein down-regulation regulated at the pretranscriptional and posttranscriptional levels. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14(5):1561–70.
- 366. Golay J, Lazzari M, Facchinetti V, Bernasconi S, Borleri G, Barbui T, et al. CD20 levels determine the in vitro susceptibility to rituximab and complement of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia: further regulation by CD55 and CD59. Blood. 2001;98(12):3383–9.
- Nahta R, Esteva FJ. HER2 therapy: molecular mechanisms of trastuzumab resistance. Breast Cancer Res. 2006;8(6):215.
- 368. Price-Schiavi SA, Jepson S, Li P, Arango M, Rudland PS, Yee L, et al. Rat Muc4 (sialomucin complex) reduces binding of anti-ErbB2 antibodies to tumor cell surfaces, a potential mechanism for herceptin resistance. Int J Cancer. 2002;99(6):783–91.
- 369. Nagy P, Friedländer E, Tanner M, Kapanen AI, Carraway KL, Isola J, et al. Decreased accessibility and lack of activation of ErbB2 in JIMT-1, a herceptin-resistant, MUC4-expressing breast cancer cell line. Cancer Res. 2005;65(2):473–82.
- 370. Thomas SM, Bhola NE, Zhang Q, Contrucci SC, Wentzel AL, Freilino ML, et al. Cross-talk between G protein–coupled receptor and epidermal growth factor receptor signaling pathways contributes to growth and invasion of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2006;66(24):11831–9.
- 371. Misale S, Yaeger R, Hobor S, Scala E, Janakiraman M, Liska D, et al. Emergence of KRAS mutations and acquired resistance to anti-EGFR therapy in colorectal cancer. Nature. 2012;486(7404):532.
- 372. Yonesaka K, Zejnullahu K, Okamoto I, Satoh T, Cappuzzo F, Souglakos J, et al. Activation of ERBB2 signaling causes resistance to the EGFR-directed therapeutic antibody cetuximab. Sci Transl Med. 2011;3(99):99ra86.
- 373. Di Nicolantonio F, Martini M, Molinari F, Sartore-Bianchi A, Arena S, Saletti P, et al. Wild-type BRAF is required for response to panitumumab or cetuximab in metastatic colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(35):5705–12.

- 374. De Roock W, Claes B, Bernasconi D, De Schutter J, Biesmans B, Fountzilas G, et al. Effects of KRAS, BRAF, NRAS, and PIK3CA mutations on the efficacy of cetuximab plus chemotherapy in chemotherapy-refractory metastatic colorectal cancer: a retrospective consortium analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(8):753–62.
- Beckman RA, Weiner LM, Davis HM. Antibody constructs in cancer therapy. Cancer. 2007;109(2):170–9.
- 376. Fujimori K, Covell DG, Fletcher JE, Weinstein JN. A modeling analysis of monoclonal antibody percolation through tumors: a binding-site barrier. J Nucl Med. 1990;31(7):1191–8.
- 377. Adams GP, Schier R, McCall AM, Simmons HH, Horak EM, Alpaugh RK, et al. High affinity restricts the localization and tumor penetration of single-chain fv antibody molecules. Cancer Res. 2001;61(12):4750–5.
- 378. Rudnick SI, Lou J, Shaller CC, Tang Y, Klein-Szanto AJ, Weiner LM, et al. Influence of affinity and antigen internalization on the uptake and penetration of Anti-HER2 antibodies in solid tumors. Cancer Res. 2011;71(6):2250–9.
- 379. Koene HR, Kleijer M, Algra J, Roos D, von dem Borne AEK, de Haas M. FcγRIIIa-158V/F polymorphism influences the binding of IgG by natural killer cell FcγRIIIa, independently of the FcγRIIIa-48L/R/H phenotype. Blood. 1997;90(3):1109–14.
- 380. Wu J, Edberg JC, Redecha PB, Bansal V, Guyre PM, Coleman K, et al. A novel polymorphism of FcgammaRIIIa (CD16) alters receptor function and predisposes to autoimmune disease. J Clin Invest. 1997;100(5):1059–70.
- 381. Weng W-K, Levy R. Two immunoglobulin G fragment C receptor polymorphisms independently predict response to rituximab in patients with follicular lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(21):3940–7.
- 382. Preithner S, Elm S, Lippold S, Locher M, Wolf A, da Silva AJ, et al. High concentrations of therapeutic IgG1 antibodies are needed to compensate for inhibition of antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity by excess endogenous immunoglobulin G. Mol Immunol. 2006;43(8):1183–93.
- Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Antibodies, Fc receptors and cancer. Curr Opin Immunol. 2007;19(2):239–45.
- 384. Giritch A, Marillonnet S, Engler C, van Eldik G, Botterman J, Klimyuk V, et al. Rapid high-yield expression of full-size IgG antibodies in plants coinfected with noncompeting viral vectors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(40):14701–6.
- Graumann K, Premstaller A. Manufacturing of recombinant therapeutic proteins in microbial systems. Biotechnol J. 2006;1(2):164–86.



6

Toll-Like Receptor Pathway and Its Targeting in Treatment of Cancers

Seyed Hossein Aalaei-Andabili, Neda Amini, Farnaz Delavari, Mahsa Keshavarz-Fathi, Shaherin Basith, Sangdun Choi, and Nima Rezaei

Contents

16.1	Introduction	314
16.2	TLRs Play Important Roles in Human Carcinogenesis	315
16.3	TLR Regulates Tumor-Induced Immune System Response	316
16.4	TLR Targeting May Inhibit Cancer Cell Proliferation	318
16.5	TLR Triggering Can Promote Antitumor Response	318
16.6	Regulatory Effects of TLRs on PI3K/Akt Signaling Controlling Tumor Progression	319
16.7	TLR-Mediated Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1 (HIF-1) Expression Leads to Tumor Progression	319

S. H. Aalaei-Andabili

Department of Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, USA

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Florida, USA

N. Amini Department of Surgery, Sinai Hospital, Baltimore, Maryland, USA

Department of Surgery, The Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, Maryland, USA

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Maryland, USA

F. Delavari Interactive Research Education and Training Association (IRETA), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Geneva, Switzerland M. Keshavarz-Fathi Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

S. Basith · S. Choi Department of Molecular Science and Technology, College of Natural Science, Ajou University, Suwon, South Korea

N. Rezaei (🖂) Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Network of Immunity in Infection, Malignancy and Autoimmunity (NIIMA), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran e-mail: rezaei_nima@tums.ac.ir; rezaei_nima@yahoo.com

1	6.8	Role of TLRs in Tumor Cell Lysis and Apoptosis	319
1	6.9	TLRs Are Involved in Tumor Metastasis	320
1	6.10	Concluding Remarks	321
R	References		322

16.1 Introduction

The innate immune system has been shown to be responsible for the diagnosis and reaction to pathogens, leading to inflammatory response and accumulation of professional phagocytes to the site of invasion [1]. Also, it has been reported that innate immune response is significantly associated with changes in cellular metabolic signaling pathways [2]. In addition, the innate immune response has been found to be crucial for stimulation of adaptive immune response against pathogens by formation and presentation of antigens and the production of mediators that are needed in combination to induce T cell- and B cellmediated responses [3].

Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are transmembrane pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognize various pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), such as bacterial lipoproteins (TLR2), double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) (TLR3), lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (TLR4), flagellin (TLR5), single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) (TLR7 and 8), and cytosine-phosphorothioate-guanine (CpG) DNA (TLR9) [4]. In addition to TLRs, intracellular NOD-like receptors (NLRs) are also involved in human immunity. NLRs are intracellular innate immune detectors of microbial and other dangerous signals [5]. NLRs that contain NALP, NOD1, and NOD2 have been found to be involved in several signaling pathways, leading to regulation of production of proinflammatory cytokines, including interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) and IL-18. Moreover, NLRs play important roles in the induction of cell death [6]. Additionally, NLRs can discriminate between pathogens which break cellular and mucosal barriers and nonpathogenic microorganisms, therefore providing a functional benefit over TLRs to work as sentinels of the innate immune system at mucosal levels [7]. It

has been reported that NODs are also involved in immune response against tumors. Although simultaneous targeting of TLRs and NLRs has been found to be effective in the induction of CD4+ and CD8+ T cell function, leading to suppression of tumor growth [8], NOD's targeting/ triggering effects on tumors are not adequately stated. Hence, we decided to review the role of TLRs in tumorigenesis and discuss the prospect of TLRs in the treatment of cancers.

Activation of various TLRs may lead to complete opposite results, such as anti- or protumor effects. TLR role is cell specific, and the varied outcome of TLR function originates from difference of TLR stimulators in combination with other microenvironmental factors. It has been found that TLR4 and TLR9 activation leads to tumor cell escape from immune system attack, promoting tumor growth. In contrast, triggering of TLR3 on breast cancer cell promotes antiproliferative signaling. Besides, TLR3 expression in head and neck cancer (HNC) induces tumor aggressive behaviors [9].

It has been found that chronic inflammation may lead to cancer initiation [10]. TLR has been recognized as not only being responsible for secretion of proinflammatory cytokines but also for the upregulation of metalloproteinase and integrins, thereby promoting tumor cell invasion and metastasis [11]. Among tumorigenesis cytokines, IL-6 has been shown to play a crucial role in the differentiation, angiogenesis, proliferation, and apoptosis of several cell types [10]. Initially, it has been thought that TLRs are present only on immune cells; however, recently, it has been understood that TLRs also have important functions in human cancers (Table 16.1). Later, it has been discovered that TLRs promote proinflammatory cytokines, leading to tumor growth and chemoresistance. However, various differential

Cancer type	TLRs expressed
Basal cell carcinoma	TLR7
Breast cancer	TLR2, 3, 4, 5, 7,
	and 9
Brain cancer	TLR2 and 4
Colorectal cancer	TLR2, 3, 4, 5, 7,
	and 9
Cervical cancer	TLR3, 4, 5, and 9
Esophageal squamous cell	TLR3, 4, 7, and 9
carcinoma	
Gastric cancer	TLR2, 4, 5, and 9
Human head and neck	TLR4
squamous cell carcinoma	
Hepatocellular carcinoma	TLR2, 3, 4, 6, and 9
Laryngeal cancer	TLR2, 3, and 4
Lung cancer	TLR2, 3, 4, 7, 8,
Liver (HCC)	and 9
	TLR4
Melanoma	TLR2, 3, 4, and 7
Ovarian cancer	TLR2, 3, 4, and 5
Oral squamous cell carcinoma	TLR2 and 4
Pancreatic carcinoma	TLR2, 3, 4, 7, and 9
Prostate cancer	TLR3, 4, and 9

Table 16.1 Expression of TLRs in several cancer cells

pro- and antitumor effects have been recognized for TLRs [12]. In addition, the recent studies showed TLR can have a prognostic value. Overexpression of TLR7 and TLR5 is associated with worse overall survival in HPV-positive patients with oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma [13]. On the other hand, low expression of TLR9 in triple-negative breast cancer defined a very aggressive tumor subtype [14].

16.2 TLRs Play Important Roles in Human Carcinogenesis

In addition to bacterial and viral components, TLR expression increases in response to inflammation by-products and cellular injury, namely, damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) [15]. Even though TLR7 activation shows antitumor responses in various tumors, including basal cell carcinoma (BCC), breast cancer, and melanoma, it has been postulated that overexpression of TLR7 promotes pancreatic carcinogenesis through mediating several complex pathways [16]. TLR7 is significantly upregulated in both

neoplastic ductal epithelial and inflammatory cells, whereas it is undetectable in human normal pancreata. Also, it has been found that TLR7 expression is associated with tumor progression [17]. TLR7 plays important roles in pancreatic carcinogenesis by upregulation of intrapancreatic Notch, MAPK, and NF-kB signaling pathways [17, 18]. It has been discovered that Notch signaling pathway exacerbates inflammation and therefore regulates human pancreatic cancer initiation and maintenance [19]. The NF-kB and MAPK signaling pathways also have proinflammatory effects, mediating TLR7-stimulated pancreatic carcinogenesis [17]. In contrast to TLR7 effects on the pancreas, the expression of TLR4 has been shown to suppress lung carcinogenesis [20], whereas TLR2 expression leads to lung and gastric tumor cell progression [21, 22]. Although TLR7 has been considered responsible for intrapancreatic inflammation and fibrosis, destructing exocrine and endocrine organs, its pancreatic carcinogenesis is dependent on baseline levels of inflammation [23]. Moreover, it has been speculated that Kras oncogene is necessary for TLR7mediated pancreatic carcinogenesis, because no changes have been found in cell cycle regulation and tumor suppressor genes in TLR7-promoted pancreatitis [17]. Collectively, it seems that TLR7-induced pancreatic carcinogenic changes on Kras-transformed cells are secondary to direct effects on peritumoral inflammatory cells, rather than being direct effects of TLR7 stimulation [17].

In addition to TLR7, TLR4 is also involved in colorectal cancer (CRC) tumorigenesis but independent of the presence of baseline inflammation. TLR4 is expressed on CRC cells regardless of the tumor stage [24]. It has been suggested that TLR4 activation is crucial for dysplasia [25]. LPS-stimulated TLR4 activates phosphatidylinositol-3'-kinase (PI3K), leading to phosphorylation of phosphoinositides and, therefore, phosphorylation and activation of Akt. It has been found that PI3K/Akt pathway is expressed in CRC in a stage-dependent fashion [24]. Altogether, TLR7 agonists have been discovered as novel therapeutic approaches for the treatment of BCC and melanoma [26]. However, TLR7 ligation plays opposite roles in pancreatic cancer, indicating the importance of TLR7 signaling blockade in the prevention and treatment of malignancy. More evidently recent data shows a stage-dependent upregulation of both TLR7 and TLR8 expression in pancreatic cancer. TLR7 and TLR8 expression increases tumor cell proliferation and promotes chemoresistance in human pancreatic cancer [20, 27]. Also, targeting of TLR4 signaling pathway in CRC may prevent tumor initiation [12].

16.3 TLR Regulates Tumor-Induced Immune System Response

It has been found that almost all tumor cell lines express single or more commonly multiple TLRs, with TLR4 expression as the highest (Table 16.1). Hsp70 has been found to be highly expressed by tumor cells, playing a ligand role for TLR4. Hsp70-/LPS-mediated TLR4 overexpression leads to the production of nitric oxide (NO) and cytokines such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), transforming growth factor (TGF), tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), IL-6, and IL-12 p40 [28]. It has been postulated that TLR4 expression is responsible for immune suppression (Fig. 16.1). LPS-stimulated TLR4 expression inhibits T cell proliferation. Also,



Fig. 16.1 Role of TLR4 signaling in cancer. TLR4 is widely expressed on both immune and tumor cells. TLR4 signaling in cancer is considered a double-edged sword with both pro- and antitumor consequences. TLR4 signaling on immune cells (depicted on the left-hand side in green color) enhances antitumor immunity by cytokine/

chemokine upregulation, DC maturation, and function. TLR4 is also responsible for efficient tumor antigen crosspresentation. Alternatively, TLR4 signaling on tumor cells (depicted on the right-hand side in red color) increases their tumorigenic activity TLR4-mediated NO suppresses T cell activation [29]. In addition, TLR4-induced IL-6 promotes impairment of dendritic cell (DCs) maturation and activation of natural killer (NK) T cells and can also influence NK cell anergy [30]. Furthermore, IL-12 inhibits the generation of allogenic or tumor-specific CTL, contributing to the immune suppression [31].

TLR4 also has an important role in chronic induction of IL6 and activation of STAT3 which has a significant effect on uncontrolled cellular proliferation [32]. On the other hand, upregulated TLR4 increases B7-H1, B7-H2, and CD40 levels but decreases Fas expression on tumor cells, thereby leading to cancer cell escape from immune system surveillance and CTL attacks [28]. Therefore, TLR4 plays an important role in the protection of tumor cells from the immune system response (Fig. 16.1); nonetheless, it has been suggested that TLR4 function is necessary for DC maturation and CD4+ CD24+ regulatory T cell blockage [33].

TLR4 is highly expressed in both cell membrane and cytoplasm of human oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) [34]. The expression is associated with tumor cell differentiation, and TLR4 level is significantly higher on well- and moderately differentiated tumor cells when compared to poorly differentiated cancer cells. LPSstimulated TLR4 activates both NF-kB and p38 MAPK pathways, leading to the massive production of IL-6, IL-8, and VEGF. IL-6 is considered as a principal biomarker of poor prognosis in several human cancers [34]. Higher levels of IL-6 can lead to tumor progression, resistance to apoptosis, chemoresistance [35], tumor angiogenesis, and tumor invasion [36]. IL-8 plays anti-apoptotic roles and promotes tumor metastasis [37]. VEGF is involved in angiogenesis and immunosuppression and also suppresses DC number and differentiations [38]. These results indicate the crucial effects of TLR4 signaling in human OSCC survival and metastasis, therefore suggesting the importance of novel approaches targeting TLR4 signaling pathway for OSCC treatment.

Although TLR2, TLR3, and TLR4 are expressed in normal primary melanocytes, they are significantly overexpressed on most melanoma cell lines [39]. The presence of TLRs on normal

melanocytes plays important roles in the recruitment of innate immune cells. Overexpression of TLRs in melanocytes leads to chronic inflammation, thereby increasing the risk of tumor development and progression [40]. Upregulated TLR2, TLR3, and TLR4 promote production of proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1, IL-6, and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (GCSF)) and chemokines (CCL2 and CXCL10). Also, these TLRs stimulate the secretion of IL-10 and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) (inflammatory factor) [39]. Higher levels of TNF- α induce IL-6 and CCL2 synthesis, leading to the tumor progression. Also, TNF- α regulates infiltration of leukocytes in cancers by chemokine modulation [41]. Besides, CCL2 and CXCL10 promote escalating inflammation and immunity in melanoma cancer [42]. Additionally, TLR3 triggers NF-κB-mediated upregulation of inflammatory molecules and recruits leukocytes, promoting anticancer immune responses [43]. TLR4 is found to be highly expressed in breast cancer cells. It has been found that targeting of TLR4 signaling by TLR4AsiRNA leads to significant inhibition of breast cancer cell proliferation. Also, inhibition of TLR4 interrupts its downstream signaling pathway, leading to the strikingly depressed levels of IL-6 and IL-8, and, therefore, attenuates tumor cell survival by decreasing their resistance to cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) and natural killer cell (NKC) attack. These results suggest that targeting of TLR4-mediated signaling pathway by TLR4AsiRNA is a novel promising strategy for breast cancer treatment, although this inhibition may promote other cancers, including lung cancer [44]. Thus, manipulation of TLR4 should be done with precise attention considering its possible interactions. Additionally, LPSstimulated TLR4 upregulation promotes NF-kB signaling pathway and contributes in the production of inflammatory cytokines (including IL-6 and IL-8), VEGF, and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), leading to tumor progression and development of myeloidderived suppressor cell (MDSC) [45]. MDSC can promote chronic inflammation and also immune suppression by stimulation of regulatory T cell function [46].

On the other hand, flagellin-stimulated TLR5 leads to the production of various chemokines such as epithelial cell-derived neutrophil-activating peptide-78 (ENA-78), macrophage inflammatory protein 3 α (MIP3 α), monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1), macrophage-derived chemokine (MDC), IL-6, Gro- α , and osteoprotegerin, which are involved in monocyte, leukocyte, and neutrophil attraction [47]. TLR5-induced infiltration of immune cells, including neutrophils, suppress proliferation marker PCNA, promoting strong antitumor response through tumor necrosis and inhibition of tumor growth [47]. Thus, flagellininduced TLR5 expression can be used as a novel therapeutic approach for human breast cancer.

New technology allows for evaluation of tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) to develop vaccines for the treatment of cancer. However, most of these are poorly recognized by immune system. In result, vaccines containing these antigens require the inclusion of potent immunological adjuvant. Monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) is only approved TLR4 agonist for human use which is tested in clinical trials as a cancer vaccine adjuvant [48, 49].

16.4 TLR Targeting May Inhibit Cancer Cell Proliferation

TLR7 expression suppresses phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted on chromosome 10 (PTEN) [17]. Suppressed levels of PTEN lead to PI3K/Akt pathway activation and increased level of TGF- β , mediating phosphorylation and activation of STAT3 [50]. STAT3 acts as a proinflammatory marker and central to neoplastic progression in pancreatic tumor [51]. TGF- β promotes cancer invasion [52], and PI3K/Akt signaling pathway stimulates tumor cell proliferation, thus leading to tumor progression [53]. Also, it has been suggested that TLR4 has proproliferative roles. It has been found that human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) expresses almost all TLRs for its own benefit. TLR4 has been shown to be highly expressed in well- and moderately differentiated HNSCC but weakly present on poorly differentiated cells [45]. It has been suggested that well-differentiated cells

contain higher amounts of bacteria and bacterial products, thereby leading to higher expression of TLR4. LPS-induced expression of TLR4 can phosphorylate Akt, thus increasing tumor cell proliferation [45]. CADI-05 is a potent TLR2 agonist. The recent randomized trial showed patients with squamous non-small cell lung cancer who received CAD1-05 in addition to chemotherapy had a better median survival [54].

16.5 TLR Triggering Can Promote Antitumor Response

It has been reported that TLR5 is overexpressed in gastric cancer cell, leading to strong antitumor immune response and suppression of tumor growth [55]. In contrast, early activation of TLR5 has been shown to promote tumor growth in mouse mammary cells. High levels of TLR5 have been found in invasive ductal carcinoma cells, whereas moderate expression is observed in medullary carcinoma and invasive lobular carcinoma. Flagellin-induced expression of TLR5 in breast cancer cells increases phosphorylation of IkB, ERK, JNK, STAT1, and STAT3, leading to the induction of inflammatory cytokine (such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-8) mRNA. This flagellin-stimulated cytokine production leads to decreased level of proteins contributed in the cell cycle and inversely increased level of CDK inhibitor 27, thereby inhibiting breast cancer cells proliferation and colony formation. However, it has been found that flagellin fails to induce cancer cell apoptosis [47]. In addition, TLR expression can have an effect therapeutic response. A recent study showed TLR3 pathway rather than the cytoplasmic pathway plays more significant role on enhancing the therapeutic effect of radiation [56]. TLR polymorphism can also predict the response of cancer to chemotherapy. An association was found between TLR7 rs3853839 and progression-free survival among patients with metastatic colorectal cancer who received cetuximab-based chemotherapy in two independent clinical trials. The results were suggesting that this polymorphism predicts the efficacy of cetuximab [57].

16.6 Regulatory Effects of TLRs on PI3K/Akt Signaling Controlling Tumor Progression

Akt has been known to promote cyclinD1 and c-Myc expression by targeting the kinase PI3K/ Akt mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), which leads to proliferation of various cancer cells [58]. Also, Akt inhibits GSK-3b phosphorylation and therefore suppresses β -catenin nuclear translocation [59]. In addition, Akt regulates cell death through decreasing levels of pro-apoptotic molecules, such as caspase-9, p53, NOXA, and PUMA [60]; however, it inversely regulates increasing anti-apoptotic molecule levels including XIAP, Bcl-xL, and Mcl-1 [61]. Moreover, Akt functionally suppresses both p21Wsf1/Cip1 and p27Kip1 that are negative regulators of the cell cycle [62]. Furthermore, the presence of phosphorylated Akt has been reported to be associated with advanced stages of tumor and poor clinical prognosis [63].

Several TLRs have been detected on human prostate cancer cells. TLR3 and its ligand polyinosinic-polycytidylic (poly(I:C)) acid negatively regulate Akt-mediated pathways in human prostate cancer cells. Poly(I:C) dephosphorylates Akt and therefore impairs PI3K/Akt pathway, leading to the inhibition of cell proliferation by downregulation of cyclin D1 and c-Myc and upregulation of p21Wsf1/Cip1 and p27Kip1 [64]. Also, poly(I:C) increases β -catenin translocation into the nucleus [59, 64]. The PI3K/Akt pathway has also been found to play potent roles in CRC progression and metastasis. TLR4 is responsible for the activation of PI3K/Akt pathway and therefore promotion of tumor progression. Moreover, it has been reported that TLR4 targeting can prevent liver metastasis and burden of the tumor [65]. However, TLR4 pathway targeting seems to be a novel valuable therapeutic approach for the prevention of CRC progression and metastasis.

16.7 TLR-Mediated Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1 (HIF-1)

Expression Leads to Tumor Progression

It has been found that HIF-1 is involved in tumor progression [12]. In hypoxic conditions, HIF-1 α stabilizes and binds HIF-1 β , leading to the active form of HIF-1 [66], but, in normoxic situations, oxygen-sensing prolyl hydroxylases degrade HIF-1 α and keep its level low [67]. Poly(I:C)induced TLR3 increases the specific I.3 isoform of HIF-1α expression and HIF-1 complex nuclear accumulation in normoxic environment. TLR3's effect on the enhancement of HIF-1 α expression is based on the increase of HIF-1 α translation rather than prevention of its degradation [68]. Higher levels of HIF-1 α have been detected in prostate cancer bone metastasis indicating the importance of HIF-1α in prostate tumor prognosis [69]. It has been reported that poly(I:C)-stimulated TLR3 leads to the upregulation and nuclear translocation of HIF-1a in more advanced prostate cancer cells. Overexpressed HIF-1 increases VEGF secretion [12]. VEGF promotes neovascularization in hypoxic tumor space, leading to tumor progression [70]. HIF-1 α complex upregulates anti-apoptotic genes including Bcl-xL, survivin, and MCL-1 [71]. Moreover, the complex impairs caspase-3 function, inhibiting TLR3mediated apoptosis of progressed prostate cancer cells. However, forcing the upregulation of the HIF-1 α -isoform 3 in less aggressive prostate cancer cells can lead to HIF-1 complex nuclear accumulation secondary to the poly(I:C) stimulation. It seems that differential expression levels of HIF-1 α in different stages of prostate cancer cells regulate the tumor cell's response to TLR3 stimulation [12]. However, HIF-1 α level should be precisely regulated through changes in TLR signaling pathway.

16.8 Role of TLRs in Tumor Cell Lysis and Apoptosis

TLR3 and TLR7 have been found to be effective in increasing $\gamma\delta$ T cell cytotoxicity and cytokine production [72]. It has been reported that $\gamma\delta$ T cells play important roles in tumor cell lysis by massive production of IFN- γ and TNF- α . Also, $\gamma\delta$ T cells

secrete perforin, granzymes, and TNF- α apoptosis-stimulator ligands, mediating tumor cell lysis [73]. The cytotoxic effect of $\gamma\delta$ T cells increases in response to poly(I:C)-stimulated TLR3 overexpression. Additionally, $\gamma\delta$ T cell-secreted cytotoxic mediator levels increase in tumor cells secondary to poly(I:C)-induced TLR3 overexpression and imiquimod-stimulated TLR7 upregulation. In the presence of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, poly(I:C)-mediated TLR3 activates NF- κ B p65 and caspase signaling, leading to IFN- β production and apoptosis [74]. Imiquimod-induced TLR7 also increases MyD88 and NF- κ B signaling pathways, leading to caspase pathway activation and therefore resulting in tumor cell death [72].

It has been reported that the activation of killer receptor NKG2D, which binds to the stressinducible MHC class I chain-related antigens (MIC) A/B and UL16-binding proteins (ULBP) 1–4, is crucial for the cytotoxic activity of $\gamma\delta$ T cells [75]. Poly(I:C)-stimulated TLR3 leads to the production of TNF- α and, therefore, CD54 expression [76]. Although imiquimod-induced TLR7 decreases MHC class I molecules on tumor cells, imiquimod fails to increase CD54 levels. The presence of CD54 and NKG2D may increase the ability of $\gamma\delta$ T cell-mediated tumor lysis. These results indicate that several pathways are involved in tumor cell lysis [72]; nevertheless, it seems that TLR3 and TLR7 are involved in the cytotoxic function of $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and proper regulation of these TLRs may bring new treatment hopes for cancer patients. TLR7 activation also leads to the induction of STAT3, which occurs simultaneously with increasing proliferative and anti-apoptotic genes such as c-Myc and Bcl-Xl [17]. It has been reported that a high c-Myc level acts as a prognostic factor in advanced pancreatic tumor, and also its level is associated with poor survival in patients suffering from pancreatic cancer [53]. On the other hand, TLR7 upregulation impairs G1 phase control by downregulation of cyclin D1 and also increasing cyclin B1, leading to the G2 to M phase transition [17].

It has been suggested that tumor cell's resistance to the drug-induced apoptosis originates from TLR4-mediated Akt phosphorylation. On the other hand, it is reported that TLR4 leads to the translocation and binding of p65 subunit of NF-kB to DNA, thereby leading to the inhibition of cisplatin-induced apoptosis and NK cell-mediated tumor lysis. Also, TLR4-activated NF- κ B, MyD88, and IRAK4 are associated with tumor progression, as these factors play antiapoptotic and inflammatory roles. In addition, TLR4 has been considered responsible for tumor cell resistance to chemotherapy, suggesting TLR4 pathway targeting as an important novel treatment strategy for HNSCC [45]. During the targeting of the TLR4 signaling pathway, beneficial effects of TLR4 stimulation should be harnessed while eliminating the possible negative ones (Fig. 16.1). Therefore, it has been speculated that TLRs work like a double-edged sword, stimulating host immune reaction against tumor on one hand and promoting tumor progression on the other.

Moreover, poly(I:C)-induced expression of TLR3 promotes cancer cell apoptosis by caspase upregulation, with the induction of p53 and its pro-apoptotic target NOXA. In addition to apoptosis induction by poly(I:C), the ligand can induce autophagy that is cytoprotective toward apoptosis, indicating the inverse association of apoptosis and autophagy [64].

16.9 TLRs Are Involved in Tumor Metastasis

It has been accepted that the upregulated expression of TLR3 leads to increased chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5 (CCL5) and IL-6 levels. It has been suggested that cancer cell migration and perineural invasion is mediated by TLR3induced CCL5 and IL-6 [9]. CCL5 increases matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP-9) and, therefore, inhibits T cell antitumor response, leading to angiogenesis and tumor growth [77]. On the other hand, activated NF-kB stimulates genes that are involved in cell differentiation, cell invasion, and anti-apoptotic protein production, such as HIF-1 α [12] and apoptotic protein-2 inhibitor [78]. It has been speculated that higher levels of TLR3 in breast and intestinal malignancies and HNC are strongly associated with tumor invasion

and metastasis [79, 80]. The administration of bafilomycin A1 (BA1) which antagonizes TLR3 leads to decreased levels of CCL5 and IL-6, therefore controlling tumor aggressive behavior [80]. Also, TLR4 activation has been found to be responsible for apoptosis resistance in ovarian cancer cell [81]. These results highlight the importance of TLR targeting in the prevention of tumor progression and metastasis. Furthermore, upregulation of COX-2 has been found to be associated with an aggressive type of melanoma cancer. Interestingly, Goto et al. have found that TLR-mediated signaling pathway (MyD88 and NF- κ B) is also responsible for melanoma tumor cell migration [39]. These results show that TLRs play principal roles in the progression of melanoma cells, thereby suggesting the beneficial effect of targeting TLR signaling pathways in discovering a novel therapeutic approach for melanoma. It has been reported that TLRs are also involved in cancer recurrence and metastasis [65]. Tumor resection is a choice treatment; however, 30% of patients with grade III CRC and 10% of patients with grade I/II suffer from recurrence 5 years after curative surgery [82]. It has been found that surgical resection can induce local recurrence or distant metastasis [83]. Recently, it has been suggested that systemic inflammation and postoperative infection are associated with CRC recurrence [84]. TLR4 has been found to be highly expressed in patients with liver metastasis and poor clinical outcome [85]. Upon infection, LPS-induced upregulation of TLR4 leads to physical interaction of PI3K with MyD88, leading to phosphorylation of Akt and, therefore, β 1 integrin activation, which is the main subunit for collagen binding. LPS-stimulated TLR4 and β1 integrin are responsible for endothelial adhesion by enhancing cancer cell's binding mostly to type I/IV collagen and less to fibronectin and laminin [86]. Additionally, TLR4-mediated signaling promotes hepatic involvement and liver metastasis [87]. Another study in murine models emphasized the role of TLR4/MYD88-driven neutrophilic inflammation initiated by HMGB1. This study showed UV irradiation not only causes tumor-initiating genomic alterations in melanocytes but also promotes their perivascular

expansion and metastatic dissemination release from UV-damaged keratinocytes using TLR4/ MYD88 pathway [88].

Although few studies have found that TLR4induced cascade plays proliferative and antiapoptotic roles in cancer cells, leading to cancer metastasis [89], the same results were not obtained in other studies [65]. This LPS-induced signaling suggests a novel therapeutic target for preventing recurrence or metastasis in patients who were treated by curative resection of colorectal cancer. Three targeting approaches such as TLR4 targeting by eritoran, PI3K inhibition by PI 103, and β 1 integrin functional blockage by anti- β 1 integrin antibody have been suggested. Since PI3K and $\beta 1$ integrin play important roles in several normal processes and also LPS-induced TLR4 signaling-mediated events in cancer cells, TLR4 targeting strategy seems to be a better therapeutic approach in patients with CRC [62]. Thus, targeting of TLR4 signaling pathway can be beneficial for patients both with and without postoperative infection.

Even though TLR3 upregulation has proven to be beneficial for prostate cancer treatment, certain TLRs, such as TLR9, should be downregulated because of its boosting effects on cancer progression and invasiveness [90]. Thus, manipulation of TLR pathways should be performed meticulously in order to prevent improper interactions.

16.10 Concluding Remarks

Several studies have provided convincing evidences that TLRs play crucial roles in human cancers. The upregulation of some TLRs leads to tumor progression and therefore increasing of tumor metastasis. On the other hand, certain TLRs inhibit proliferative signaling pathways, leading to tumor regression. Interestingly, TLRs play critical roles in the regulation of tumor cell apoptosis and resistance to chemotherapy, indicating the importance of precise regulation of TLR signaling pathways. Since various TLRs promote contrary effects, their pathways should either be targeted or triggered based on tumor cell type and TLRs expressed. These facts highlight the key point that TLR functions like a double-edged sword. Thus, TLR expression should be regulated meticulously to bring promising therapeutic possibilities for patients suffering from cancers.

References

- Akira S, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell. 2006;124(4):783–801.
- Fontana MF, Banga S, Barry KC, Shen X, Tan Y, Luo ZQ, et al. Secreted bacterial effectors that inhibit host protein synthesis are critical for induction of the innate immune response to virulent Legionella pneumophila. PLoS Pathog. 2011;7(2):e1001289.
- Hoebe K, Janssen E, Beutler B. The interface between innate and adaptive immunity. Nat Immunol. 2004;5(10):971–4.
- Uematsu S, Akira S. Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. J Mol Med (Berl). 2006;84(9):712–25.
- Magalhaes JG, Sorbara MT, Girardin SE, Philpott DJ. What is new with Nods? Curr Opin Immunol. 2011;23(1):29–34.
- Inohara N, Ogura Y, Chen FF, Muto A, Nunez G. Human Nod1 confers responsiveness to bacterial lipopolysaccharides. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(4):2551–4.
- Hugot JP, Chamaillard M, Zouali H, Lesage S, Cezard JP, Belaiche J, et al. Association of NOD2 leucinerich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature. 2001;411(6837):599–603.
- Garaude J, Kent A, van Rooijen N, Blander JM. Simultaneous targeting of toll- and nod-like receptors induces effective tumor-specific immune responses. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4(120):120ra16.
- Chuang HC, Huang CC, Chien CY, Chuang JH. Tolllike receptor 3-mediated tumor invasion in head and neck cancer. Oral Oncol. 2012;48(3):226–32.
- Aggarwal BB, Shishodia S, Sandur SK, Pandey MK, Sethi G. Inflammation and cancer: how hot is the link? Biochem Pharmacol. 2006;72(11):1605–21.
- Wang RF, Miyahara Y, Wang HY. Toll-like receptors and immune regulation: implications for cancer therapy. Oncogene. 2008;27(2):181–9.
- Paone A, Galli R, Gabellini C, Lukashev D, Starace D, Gorlach A, et al. Toll-like receptor 3 regulates angiogenesis and apoptosis in prostate cancer cell lines through hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha. Neoplasia. 2010;12(7):539–49.
- Jouhi L, Mohamed H, Makitie A, Remes SM, Haglund C, Atula T, et al. Toll-like receptor 5 and 7 expression may impact prognosis of HPV-positive oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma patients. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2017;66(12):1619–29.
- Tuomela J, Sandholm J, Karihtala P, Ilvesaro J, Vuopala KS, Kauppila JH, et al. Low TLR9 expression defines an aggressive subtype of triple-negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;135(2):481–93.

- Rakoff-Nahoum S, Medzhitov R. Toll-like receptors and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9(1):57–63.
- Kanzler H, Barrat FJ, Hessel EM, Coffman RL. Therapeutic targeting of innate immunity with Toll-like receptor agonists and antagonists. Nat Med. 2007;13(5):552–9.
- Ochi A, Graffeo CS, Zambirinis CP, Rehman A, Hackman M, Fallon N, et al. Toll-like receptor 7 regulates pancreatic carcinogenesis in mice and humans. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(11):4118–29.
- Hu X, Chung AY, Wu I, Foldi J, Chen J, Ji JD, et al. Integrated regulation of Toll-like receptor responses by Notch and interferon-gamma pathways. Immunity. 2008;29(5):691–703.
- Gungor C, Zander H, Effenberger KE, Vashist YK, Kalinina T, Izbicki JR, et al. Notch signaling activated by replication stress-induced expression of midkine drives epithelial-mesenchymal transition and chemoresistance in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res. 2011;71(14):5009–19.
- Bauer AK, Dixon D, DeGraff LM, Cho HY, Walker CR, Malkinson AM, et al. Toll-like receptor 4 in butylated hydroxytoluene-induced mouse pulmonary inflammation and tumorigenesis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2005;97(23):1778–81.
- Huang B, Zhao J, Shen S, Li H, He KL, Shen GX, et al. Listeria monocytogenes promotes tumor growth via tumor cell toll-like receptor 2 signaling. Cancer Res. 2007;67(9):4346–52.
- 22. West AC, Tang K, Tye H, Yu L, Deng N, Najdovska M, et al. Identification of a TLR2-regulated gene signature associated with tumor cell growth in gastric cancer. Oncogene. 2017;36(36):5134–44.
- Omary MB, Lugea A, Lowe AW, Pandol SJ. The pancreatic stellate cell: a star on the rise in pancreatic diseases. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(1):50–9.
- Doan HQ, Bowen KA, Jackson LA, Evers BM. Tolllike receptor 4 activation increases Akt phosphorylation in colon cancer cells. Anticancer Res. 2009;29(7):2473–8.
- 25. Fukata M, Chen A, Klepper A, Krishnareddy S, Vamadevan AS, Thomas LS, et al. Cox-2 is regulated by Toll-like receptor-4 (TLR4) signaling: role in proliferation and apoptosis in the intestine. Gastroenterology. 2006;131(3):862–77.
- 26. Wenzel J, Uerlich M, Haller O, Bieber T, Tueting T. Enhanced type I interferon signaling and recruitment of chemokine receptor CXCR3-expressing lymphocytes into the skin following treatment with the TLR7-agonist imiquimod. J Cutan Pathol. 2005;32(4):257–62.
- 27. Grimmig T, Matthes N, Hoeland K, Tripathi S, Chandraker A, Grimm M, et al. TLR7 and TLR8 expression increases tumor cell proliferation and promotes chemoresistance in human pancreatic cancer. Int J Oncol. 2015;47(3):857–66.
- Huang B, Zhao J, Li H, He KL, Chen Y, Chen SH, et al. Toll-like receptors on tumor cells facilitate evasion of immune surveillance. Cancer Res. 2005;65(12):5009–14.

- Bronte V, Serafini P, Mazzoni A, Segal DM, Zanovello P. L-arginine metabolism in myeloid cells controls T-lymphocyte functions. Trends Immunol. 2003;24(6):302–6.
- Sun R, Tian Z, Kulkarni S, Gao B. IL-6 prevents T cell-mediated hepatitis via inhibition of NKT cells in CD4+ T cell- and STAT3-dependent manners. J Immunol. 2004;172(9):5648–55.
- 31. Nishioka Y, Wen H, Mitani K, Robbins PD, Lotze MT, Sone S, et al. Differential effects of IL-12 on the generation of alloreactive CTL mediated by murine and human dendritic cells: a critical role for nitric oxide. J Leukoc Biol. 2003;73(5):621–9.
- 32. Gruffaz M, Vasan K, Tan B, Ramos da Silva S, Gao SJ. TLR4-mediated inflammation promotes KSHV-induced cellular transformation and tumorigenesis by activating the STAT3 pathway. Cancer Res. 2017;77(24):7094–108.
- Furumoto K, Soares L, Engleman EG, Merad M. Induction of potent antitumor immunity by in situ targeting of intratumoral DCs. J Clin Invest. 2004;113(5):774–83.
- 34. Sun Z, Luo Q, Ye D, Chen W, Chen F. Role of tolllike receptor 4 on the immune escape of human oral squamous cell carcinoma and resistance of cisplatininduced apoptosis. Mol Cancer. 2012;11:33.
- 35. Penson RT, Kronish K, Duan Z, Feller AJ, Stark P, Cook SE, et al. Cytokines IL-1beta, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, MCP-1, GM-CSF and TNFalpha in patients with epithelial ovarian cancer and their relationship to treatment with paclitaxel. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2000;10(1):33–41.
- 36. Hefler LA, Grimm C, Ackermann S, Malur S, Radjabi-Rahat AR, Leodolter S, et al. An interleukin-6 gene promoter polymorphism influences the biological phenotype of ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 2003;63(12):3066–8.
- Lokshin AE, Winans M, Landsittel D, Marrangoni AM, Velikokhatnaya L, Modugno F, et al. Circulating IL-8 and anti-IL-8 autoantibody in patients with ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;102(2):244–51.
- Campoli M, Ferrone S, Zea AH, Rodriguez PC, Ochoa AC. Mechanisms of tumor evasion. Cancer Treat Res. 2005;123:61–88.
- 39. Goto Y, Arigami T, Kitago M, Nguyen SL, Narita N, Ferrone S, et al. Activation of Toll-like receptors 2, 3, and 4 on human melanoma cells induces inflammatory factors. Mol Cancer Ther. 2008;7(11):3642–53.
- de Visser KE, Coussens LM. The interplay between innate and adaptive immunity regulates cancer development. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2005;54(11):1143–52.
- Balkwill F. Tumor necrosis factor or tumor promoting factor? Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2002;13(2):135–41.
- 42. Brightling CE, Ammit AJ, Kaur D, Black JL, Wardlaw AJ, Hughes JM, et al. The CXCL10/CXCR3 axis mediates human lung mast cell migration to asthmatic airway smooth muscle. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2005;171(10):1103–8.

- 43. Galli R, Starace D, Busa R, Angelini DF, Paone A, De Cesaris P, et al. TLR stimulation of prostate tumor cells induces chemokine-mediated recruitment of specific immune cell types. J Immunol. 2010;184(12):6658–69.
- 44. Yang H, Zhou H, Feng P, Zhou X, Wen H, Xie X, et al. Reduced expression of Toll-like receptor 4 inhibits human breast cancer cells proliferation and inflammatory cytokines secretion. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2010;29:92.
- 45. Szczepanski MJ, Czystowska M, Szajnik M, Harasymczuk M, Boyiadzis M, Kruk-Zagajewska A, et al. Triggering of Toll-like receptor 4 expressed on human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma promotes tumor development and protects the tumor from immune attack. Cancer Res. 2009;69(7):3105–13.
- 46. Serafini P, Mgebroff S, Noonan K, Borrello I. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells promote cross-tolerance in B-cell lymphoma by expanding regulatory T cells. Cancer Res. 2008;68(13):5439–49.
- 47. Cai Z, Sanchez A, Shi Z, Zhang T, Liu M, Zhang D. Activation of Toll-like receptor 5 on breast cancer cells by flagellin suppresses cell proliferation and tumor growth. Cancer Res. 2011;71(7):2466–75.
- Cluff CW. Monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) as an adjuvant for anti-cancer vaccines: clinical results. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2010;667:111–23.
- 49. Chakravarty J, Kumar S, Trivedi S, Rai VK, Singh A, Ashman JA, et al. A clinical trial to evaluate the safety and immunogenicity of the LEISH-F1+MPL-SE vaccine for use in the prevention of visceral leishmaniasis. Vaccine. 2011;29(19):3531–7.
- Connolly MK, Bedrosian AS, Malhotra A, Henning JR, Ibrahim J, Vera V, et al. In hepatic fibrosis, liver sinusoidal endothelial cells acquire enhanced immunogenicity. J Immunol. 2010;185(4):2200–8.
- 51. Lesina M, Kurkowski MU, Ludes K, Rose-John S, Treiber M, Kloppel G, et al. Stat3/Socs3 activation by IL-6 transsignaling promotes progression of pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia and development of pancreatic cancer. Cancer Cell. 2011;19(4):456–69.
- 52. Chow JY, Quach KT, Cabrera BL, Cabral JA, Beck SE, Carethers JM. RAS/ERK modulates TGFbeta-regulated PTEN expression in human pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells. Carcinogenesis. 2007;28(11):2321–7.
- Nagy A, Kozma L, Kiss I, Ember I, Takacs I, Hajdu J, et al. Copy number of cancer genes predict tumor grade and survival of pancreatic cancer patients. Anticancer Res. 2001;21(2B):1321–5.
- Belani CP, Chakraborty BC, Modi RI, Khamar BM. A randomized trial of TLR-2 agonist CADI-05 targeting desmocollin-3 for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(2):298–304.
- 55. Rhee SH, Im E, Pothoulakis C. Toll-like receptor 5 engagement modulates tumor development and growth in a mouse xenograft model of human colon cancer. Gastroenterology. 2008;135(2):518–28.

- 56. Yoshida S, Shime H, Takeda Y, Nam JM, Takashima K, Matsumoto M, et al. Toll-like receptor 3 signal augments radiation-induced tumor growth retardation in a murine model. Cancer Sci. 2018;109(4):956–65.
- 57. Okazaki S, Stintzing S, Sunakawa Y, Cao S, Zhang W, Yang D, et al. Predictive value of TLR7 polymorphism for cetuximab-based chemotherapy in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Int J Cancer. 2017;141(6):1222–30.
- Vivanco I, Sawyers CL. The phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase AKT pathway in human cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002;2(7):489–501.
- Sharma M, Chuang WW, Sun Z. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt stimulates androgen pathway through GSK3beta inhibition and nuclear beta-catenin accumulation. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(34):30935–41.
- 60. Thakkar H, Chen X, Tyan F, Gim S, Robinson H, Lee C, et al. Pro-survival function of Akt/protein kinase B in prostate cancer cells. Relationship with TRAIL resistance. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(42):38361–9.
- 61. Shankar S, Chen Q, Ganapathy S, Singh KP, Srivastava RK. Diallyl trisulfide increases the effectiveness of TRAIL and inhibits prostate cancer growth in an orthotopic model: molecular mechanisms. Mol Cancer Ther. 2008;7(8):2328–38.
- Muise-Helmericks RC, Grimes HL, Bellacosa A, Malstrom SE, Tsichlis PN, Rosen N. Cyclin D expression is controlled post-transcriptionally via a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem. 1998;273(45):29864–72.
- 63. Ayala G, Thompson T, Yang G, Frolov A, Li R, Scardino P, et al. High levels of phosphorylated form of Akt-1 in prostate cancer and non-neoplastic prostate tissues are strong predictors of biochemical recurrence. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10(19):6572–8.
- 64. Harashima N, Inao T, Imamura R, Okano S, Suda T, Harada M. Roles of the PI3K/Akt pathway and autophagy in TLR3 signaling-induced apoptosis and growth arrest of human prostate cancer cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(5):667–76.
- 65. Hsu RY, Chan CH, Spicer JD, Rousseau MC, Giannias B, Rousseau S, et al. LPS-induced TLR4 signaling in human colorectal cancer cells increases beta1 integrin-mediated cell adhesion and liver metastasis. Cancer Res. 2011;71(5):1989–98.
- Wenger RH, Stiehl DP, Camenisch G. Integration of oxygen signaling at the consensus HRE. Sci STKE. 2005;2005(306):re12.
- Brahimi-Horn MC, Pouyssegur J. HIF at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2009;122(Pt 8):1055–7.
- Dery MA, Michaud MD, Richard DE. Hypoxiainducible factor 1: regulation by hypoxic and non-hypoxic activators. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2005;37(3):535–40.
- Zhong H, De Marzo AM, Laughner E, Lim M, Hilton DA, Zagzag D, et al. Overexpression of hypoxiainducible factor 1alpha in common human cancers and their metastases. Cancer Res. 1999;59(22):5830–5.

- Ferrara N. VEGF and the quest for tumour angiogenesis factors. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002;2(10):795–803.
- Chen N, Chen X, Huang R, Zeng H, Gong J, Meng W, et al. BCL-xL is a target gene regulated by hypoxia-inducible factor-1{alpha}. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(15):10004–12.
- Shojaei H, Oberg HH, Juricke M, Marischen L, Kunz M, Mundhenke C, et al. Toll-like receptors 3 and 7 agonists enhance tumor cell lysis by human gammadelta T cells. Cancer Res. 2009;69(22):8710–7.
- Mattarollo SR, Kenna T, Nieda M, Nicol AJ. Chemotherapy and zoledronate sensitize solid tumour cells to Vgamma9Vdelta2 T cell cytotoxicity. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56(8):1285–97.
- Salaun B, Coste I, Rissoan MC, Lebecque SJ, Renno T. TLR3 can directly trigger apoptosis in human cancer cells. J Immunol. 2006;176(8):4894–901.
- 75. Cosman D, Mullberg J, Sutherland CL, Chin W, Armitage R, Fanslow W, et al. ULBPs, novel MHC class I-related molecules, bind to CMV glycoprotein UL16 and stimulate NK cytotoxicity through the NKG2D receptor. Immunity. 2001;14(2):123–33.
- Guo BL, Liu Z, Aldrich WA, Lopez RD. Innate anti-breast cancer immunity of apoptosis-resistant human gammadelta-T cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2005;93(2):169–75.
- Adler EP, Lemken CA, Katchen NS, Kurt RA. A dual role for tumor-derived chemokine RANTES (CCL5). Immunol Lett. 2003;90(2–3):187–94.
- Ara T, Declerck YA. Interleukin-6 in bone metastasis and cancer progression. Eur J Cancer. 2010;46(7):1223–31.
- Bugge M, Bergstrom B, Eide OK, Solli H, Kjonstad IF, Stenvik J, et al. Surface Toll-like receptor 3 expression in metastatic intestinal epithelial cells induces inflammatory cytokine production and promotes invasiveness. J Biol Chem. 2017;292(37):15408–25.
- Gonzalez-Reyes S, Marin L, Gonzalez L, Gonzalez LO, del Casar JM, Lamelas ML, et al. Study of TLR3, TLR4 and TLR9 in breast carcinomas and their association with metastasis. BMC Cancer. 2010;10:665.
- Kelly MG, Alvero AB, Chen R, Silasi DA, Abrahams VM, Chan S, et al. TLR-4 signaling promotes tumor growth and paclitaxel chemoresistance in ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. 2006;66(7):3859–68.
- 82. Kobayashi H, Mochizuki H, Sugihara K, Morita T, Kotake K, Teramoto T, et al. Characteristics of recurrence and surveillance tools after curative resection for colorectal cancer: a multicenter study. Surgery. 2007;141(1):67–75.
- 83. van der Bij GJ, Oosterling SJ, Beelen RH, Meijer S, Coffey JC, van Egmond M. The perioperative period is an underutilized window of therapeutic opportunity in patients with colorectal cancer. Ann Surg. 2009;249(5):727–34.
- 84. Eberhardt JM, Kiran RP, Lavery IC. The impact of anastomotic leak and intra-abdominal abscess on cancer-related outcomes after resection for colorec-

tal cancer: a case control study. Dis Colon Rectum. 2009;52(3):380-6.

- 85. Wang EL, Qian ZR, Nakasono M, Tanahashi T, Yoshimoto K, Bando Y, et al. High expression of Toll-like receptor 4/myeloid differentiation factor 88 signals correlates with poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer. 2010;102(5):908–15.
- Somanath PR, Kandel ES, Hay N, Byzova TV. Akt1 signaling regulates integrin activation, matrix recognition, and fibronectin assembly. J Biol Chem. 2007;282(31):22964–76.
- McDonald B, Spicer J, Giannais B, Fallavollita L, Brodt P, Ferri LE. Systemic inflammation increases cancer cell adhesion to hepatic sinusoids by neutrophil mediated mechanisms. Int J Cancer. 2009;125(6):1298–305.
- Bald T, Quast T, Landsberg J, Rogava M, Glodde N, Lopez-Ramos D, et al. Ultraviolet-radiation-induced inflammation promotes angiotropism and metastasis in melanoma. Nature. 2014;507(7490):109–13.
- 89. He W, Liu Q, Wang L, Chen W, Li N, Cao X. TLR4 signaling promotes immune escape of human lung cancer cells by inducing immunosuppressive cytokines and apoptosis resistance. Mol Immunol. 2007;44(11):2850–9.
- Stark JR, Wiklund F, Gronberg H, Schumacher F, Sinnott JA, Stampfer MJ, et al. Toll-like receptor signaling pathway variants and prostate cancer mortality. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2009;18(6):1859–63.



17

Recent Advances in the Use of NK Cells Against Cancer

Amy E. Gillgrass, Tamara Krneta, Sophie M. Poznanski, and Ali A. Ashkar

Contents

17.1	Introduction	327
17.2	NK Cell Basics	328
17.2.1	Why Should NK Cells Be Targeted as Anticancer Agents?	328 329
17.3	Challenges Involved in Targeting NK Cells	329
17.3.1 17.3.2	How Many NK Cells Are in Cancer Patients and Tumors? What Is the Functionality of NK Cells in Tumors?	329 330
17.4	Cancer Immunotherapies Involving NK Cells	332
17.5 17.5.1	Adoptive NK Cell Transfer How Can We Produce Large Numbers of Activated NK Cells?	332 332
17.6	Autologous Transfer of NK Cells	334
17.7	Allogeneic Transfer of NK Cells	335
17.8	NK Cell Lines for Allogeneic Adoptive Transfer	336
17.9	NK Cells, ADCC, and mAb Therapy	337
17.10	Cytokines and Promoting NK Activation/Stopping Inhibition	338
17.11	Concluding Remarks	340
References		

17.1 Introduction

In the recent past, cancer immunotherapy was focused on adaptive immune cells such as CD8⁺ T cells and their antitumor cytotoxic capabilities. More recently, due to increased understanding of the biology and function of innate immune cells in tumors as well as technical advances, natural killer (NK) cells have emerged as an exciting new option for targeting tumor cells. In this chapter,

A. E. Gillgrass \cdot T. Krneta \cdot S. M. Poznanski \cdot A. A. Ashkar (\boxtimes)

Department of Pathology and Molecular Medicine, McMaster Immunology Research Center (MIRC), McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada e-mail: gillgra@mcmaster.ca; poznans@mcmaster.ca; ashkara@mcmaster.ca

we will introduce important facts about NK cells that are required in order to understand their function in the tumor microenvironment, and we will then proceed to recent clinical studies utilizing NK cells to fight cancer. Cancer immunotherapy using NK cells is progressing rapidly, and initial results, both preclinical and clinical, are very promising.

17.2 NK Cell Basics

NK cells are lymphocytes of the innate immune system, well known for their role in immunosurveillance and defense against virally infected or malignant cells. NK cells complement T cell immunity in their ability to recognize transformed cells without prior sensitization [1]. Human NK cells can be defined by their expression of the cell surface marker CD56. CD56^{bright} NK cells are referred to as the immunoregulatory subset and precede the CD56^{dim} subset in maturity [2, 3]. The CD56^{dim} population represents the majority of NK cells in peripheral blood (90%), and this subset is highly cytotoxic. Overall, NK cells make up 10-15% of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) in the circulation [4]. From the circulation, they are able to extravasate into inflammatory peripheral sites containing malignant cells.

17.2.1 How Do NK Cells Become Activated to Kill?

Once in contact with malignant cells, NK cells can be activated to kill tumor cells through several different mechanisms. Cytokine activation of NK cells requires priming from factors such as interleukin-15 (IL-15), an important cytokine in the survival, development, and activation of NK cells [5–7]. Several other cytokines are also known to activate NK cells including IL-2, IL-12, and IL-18 [8, 9]. In addition to cytokines, NK cell activation is regulated by the expression of activating or inhibitory receptors present on the NK cell's surface. Whether or not an NK cell kills its target is determined by the balance of these receptors and the density of their corresponding ligands. NK cells kill target cells which lack inhibitory ligands, such as MHC class I molecules, on their cell surface. In this way, it is ensured that NK cells do not harm healthy cells which express MHC I but only those in which MHC I has been downregulated [10]. In humans, the two main groups of inhibitory receptors include the killer immunoglobulin receptors (KIRs), which bind to HLA class I, and CD94-NKG2A/B, which recognizes HLA-E [11]. The loss of a single MHC class I allele can lead to the induction of NK cell lysis of tumor cell targets, a process which is known as "missing self" NK cell activation [12]. Unlike what was initially believed, NK cells are capable of overcoming the inhibitory signals delivered by MHC class I molecules by recognizing activating ligands upregulated on target cells. In general, activating ligands are not expressed on untransformed cells to prevent autoimmunity. However, when cells become transformed, stress caused by DNA damage can upregulate activating ligands, causing the cell to become a target for NK cell destruction [13]. This type of NK cell activation is known as "stress-induced self" activation [12]. A well-known example of an NK cell activating receptor is NKG2D. The ligands for NKG2D, which include MHC class I polypeptide-related sequence A and B (MICA and MICB), are stress-inducible proteins [12]. The DNA damage response, which occurs during tumorigenesis, causes the upregulation of these ligands, relaying signals to the NK cell to cause tumor cell destruction. Another important group of NK cell activating receptors are the natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs). This family includes the receptors NKp44 and NKp46, of which the corresponding ligands on tumor cells have yet to be discovered [12], and NKp30 which recognizes B7-H6 expressed by tumor cells [14].

Upon activation, NK cells are able to kill tumor cells directly through the release of cytotoxic granules containing perforin and granzyme, through antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) and death receptor ligands on their surface such as TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) and Fas ligand [1]. ADCC is a mechanism which results in the destruction of antibody-coated cells by NK cells [15]. NK cells express the FC γ RIII (also known as CD16) which binds to the Fc portion of IgG on target cells and causes cell lysis. TRAIL and Fas ligand also bind to their corresponding receptors on tumor cells and cause cell death. Activation of NK cells can also cause the release of IFN- γ , a critical cytokine for tumor control. IFN- γ acts indirectly to induce type I immune responses in the surrounding environment as well as directly on cancer cells themselves [11]. The direct mechanism of IFN- γ on cancer cells still remains to be determined.

17.2.2 Why Should NK Cells Be Targeted as Anticancer Agents?

The supporting evidence which demonstrates that NK cells play an important role as anticancer agents comes from both mouse and human research. Using transgenic mouse models that lack NK cells or their activation receptors, it was revealed that these cell types are vital in cancer immunosurveillance [16]. For instance, in a model of spontaneous epithelial and lymphoid malignancy, the absence of the NK cell activating receptor NKG2D resulted in defective tumor surveillance and an increase in tumor growth [17]. The importance of NK cells in early tumorigenesis was also shown in a Her2/neu transgenic mouse model generated on a perforin-deficient background [18]. In this model, NK cells and perforin reduced the onset and number of mammary tumors growing in the Her2/neu model.

In humans, the importance of NK cells in tumor surveillance is mostly derived from correlative studies [9]. For instance, in an 11-year follow-up study, it was found that low NK cell cytotoxicity in peripheral blood lymphocytes correlated with an increase in cancer risk [19]. In addition, the presence of NK cells within several different cancers, including squamous cell lung cancer, gastric cancer, and colorectal cancer, has been shown to be a positive prognostic factor for these patients [20–22]. It has also been found that not only can NK cells kill many human cancer cell lines, they are also capable of killing human

melanoma cells that have the characteristics of cancer stem cells [23]. From these studies, it is clear that there is a correlation between the presence of NK cells in a tumor and a positive clinical benefit for cancer patients and that NK cells have the potential to kill parts of tumors resistant to other therapies. However, it has also become evident that not only is the presence of NK cells important but their phenotype and functional status is equally significant to net clinical outcome.

17.3 Challenges Involved in Targeting NK Cells

The importance of NK cells in controlling cancer growth has been clearly defined. However, scientists face many challenges when targeting NK cells in the fight against cancer, because tumors develop a slew of different strategies to avoid NK cell attack. Some of these challenges include low NK cell numbers and altered homing into malignant tissues as well as low NK cell activity in cancer patients. Despite the many challenges involved in targeting NK cells to efficiently kill tumor cells, novel immunotherapeutic strategies which may overcome these obstacles are under investigation.

17.3.1 How Many NK Cells Are in Cancer Patients and Tumors?

A major challenge in the study of intratumoral NK cells has been that very limited numbers of NK cells can be detected and extracted within established tumors [24]. This is consistent with research that has demonstrated that NK cells are decreased in a variety of different cancer patients including head and neck cancer, breast cancer, and chronic myelogenous leukemia [25, 26]. The low numbers of NK cells observed have been linked to a mechanism of spontaneous NK cell apoptosis in the circulation of these patients, particularly in the CD56^{dim} population. CD56^{dim} NK cells are defined as having preferential homing abilities for inflammatory sites; therefore, an

increase in apoptosis in this population would greatly decrease the ability of NK cells to accumulate within tumors and contribute to tumor cell elimination [3]. As the number of NK cells decreases with tumor growth, cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion are reduced as well. In addition, the ability of these NK cells to interact with and activate other innate and adaptive immune cells within the tumor is lost.

In animal studies, tumor growth has been linked to decreased lymphopoiesis, which results in a reduction in overall NK cell numbers [27]. In addition to overall low NK cell numbers, distant tumor growth has been found to have significant effects on NK cell maturation [28]. NK cells from mice challenged with several tumor lineages have been shown to undergo a maturation arrest in the bone marrow leading to a decrease in mature, functional NK cells that can produce IFN- γ in the periphery. In human studies, it has been shown that advanced breast cancer patients have an increased proportion of immature NK cell subsets in their peripheral blood [3]. Similar findings were found in patients with non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC), where a majority of tumor-infiltrating NK cells had a CD11b⁻CD27⁻ phenotype, indicative of inactive and immature cells [29]. Interestingly, the presence of these immature NK cells had an impact on clinical outcome for NSCLC patients, as the frequency of these cells correlated with increasing tumor stage and size. These studies stress that a deeper understanding of the ability of tumors to alter the NK cell educational process in cancer patients is required. This knowledge will be crucial to effectively utilizing these cells for future immunotherapies.

Low numbers of NK cells in tumor samples from cancer patients can also be attributed to inefficient homing of the NK cells to malignant tissues [30]. This is particularly evident in patients with large solid tumors, where NK cell therapy represents an extraordinary challenge. In these patients, it is very difficult to adoptively transfer or activate enough NK cells to home to one or multiple tumors and impart meaningful effects on tumor growth [15]. There is a greater chance of directing NK cells to malignant tissues in patients with minimal disease or those that have already undergone surgery or chemotherapy to eliminate any residual tumor cells [15]. The goal of any NK cell cancer immunotherapy should involve two parts: to increase the number of NK cells in malignant tissues and to activate them to a sufficient level so that they can suppress tumor growth.

17.3.2 What Is the Functionality of NK Cells in Tumors?

It has also become apparent from clinical evidence that the activity of NK cells from cancer patients is greatly reduced. There are multiple mechanisms in place which fully activate NK cells toward tumor cell destruction. In addition to recognizing cells which lack MHC class I, NK cells require multiple stimulatory signals to achieve maximal response. These include the coactivation of various activating receptors present on NK cells with their corresponding ligands on the surface of tumor cells [15]. However, NK cells from human tumors have a reduction in the expression of activating receptors. Instead, these altered NK cells have an increase in the expression of inhibitory receptors-known to reduce NK cell activity. For instance, the progression of human breast cancer has been associated with a reduction in the function of tumor-infiltrating NK cells in comparison to peripheral blood NK cells [24]. Tumor-infiltrating NK cells were found to display a decrease in the expression of activating NK cell receptors (such as NKp30, NKG2D, DNAM-1, and CD16) and an increase in inhibitory receptors (such as NKG2A). Importantly, the NK cells displaying this altered phenotype had reduced cytotoxic capabilities. This altered NK cell phenotype has also been described in patients with NSCLC, where the local tumor microenvironment drastically impairs the ability of NK cells to degranulate and produce IFN- γ , rendering them less tumoricidal and indirectly supportive to cancer growth [31]. Similarly, in another study on NSCLC, the majority of NK cells infiltrating the tumor displayed a CD56^{bright} phenotype and were less capable of tumor cell killing compared to peripheral blood or normal lung tissue NK cells [32]. Defective expression of activating receptors has also been a hallmark of metastatic melanoma [33] and acute myeloid leukemia (AML) [34], suggesting that this altered phenotype is a common feature of the antitumor immune response. If novel NK cell immunotherapies are to achieve clinical responses in patients, they have to find a way to increase the expression and maintenance of activating receptors on NK cells at the tumor site.

Why is it that when NK cells arrive at the tumor site, they lose their activity? Like all other immune cells, NK cells can change their characteristics based on the factors present within their environment. Within human tumors, NK cell inhibition can be mediated by interactions with neoplastic cells, T-regulatory cells, myeloid cells, or stromal cells [35]. Each of these cell types can express or release inhibitory factors, which can have profound effects on NK cell activity. For instance, the immunosuppressive cytokine TGF- β has been found to inhibit the expression of activating receptors NKp30 and NKG2D on human NK cells, thereby decreasing their killing ability [36]. TGF- β levels are often found to be elevated in cancer patients, including lung and colorectal cancer patients, and this is associated with a weakened NK cell immune response [37]. It was previously found that an inverse correlation exists between NK cell activation and T-regulatory cell expansion in tumor-bearing patients [38]. These findings were explained by a mechanism linked to the expression of membrane-bound TGF- β on T-regulatory cells causing direct inhibition of NK cell effector functions and NKG2D expression. These data suggest that minimizing T-regulatory cell numbers or the levels of TGF- β in the tumor could constitute a novel way to activate NK cells. PGE₂, a small lipid molecule, has also been found to modulate NK cell antitumor responses. It has been demonstrated that PGE₂ directly suppresses cytotoxicity and IFN-y production by human NK cells [39]. Furthermore, the tryptophan catabolite, L-kynurenine, generated by the enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) has immunomodulatory properties which can have drastic effects on NK cells. L-Kynurenine can interfere with the cytokine-induced upregulation of NKp46 and NKG2D, thereby modulating NK cell cytotoxic capacity [40].

In addition to being suppressed by factors within their environment, NK cells themselves can also upregulate immunoregulatory molecules such as programmed cell death-1 (PD-1). In a human study, it was found that NK cells from multiple myeloma (MM) patients expressed increased levels of PD-1 compared to healthy donor NK cells [41]. The direct interaction between PD-1 on NK cells and its corresponding ligand PD-L1 on tumor cells resulted in reduced NK cell function against MM tumor targets [41]. These examples allude to the fact that the most promising therapeutic approaches will involve combination therapies which include the activation of endogenous or adoptively transferred NK cells with removal of the suppressive signals that inhibit them.

As there is abundant evidence of an altered intratumoral NK cell state, it was hypothesized that these altered NK cells induce a unique gene expression signature distinct from NK cells found in healthy tissues. To examine this idea, researchers flow sorted NK cells isolated from non-tumoral and tumoral lung tissues from NSCLC patients and used microarray analysis to determine gene expression changes [42]. It was found that intratumoral NK cells have a unique transcriptional signature induced by the tumor microenvironment. This transcriptional signature suggests that NK cells which initially arrive at the tumor site become activated and then eventually exhausted after tumor cell recognition. In addition to an altered gene expression state, new evidence is arising which promotes the idea that NK cells are not only nonfunctional within tumors but that they might be able to support tumor growth through the release of pro-angiogenic factors. Tumors from patients with NSCLC were isolated and analyzed for their expression of pro-angiogenic factors [43]. Flow cytometric analysis of NK cells from these tumors revealed that these cells produced vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGF), placental growth factor (PIGF), and interleukin-8 (IL-8). Induction of pro-angiogenic factors was mediated by TGF- β ,

as exposure to the immunosuppressive cytokine caused upregulation of VEGF and PIGF in NK cells from healthy subjects. In addition, NK cells from the ascites fluid of ovarian cancer patients were found to have an enriched CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ immunoregulatory and poorly cytotoxic phenotype [44]. This phenotype is similar to that of decidual NK cells, which have functions that support tissue remodeling and angiogenesis [45]. Ascites fluid directly induces this phenotypic change as incubation of healthy donor PBMCs in ascites fluid enhanced this CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ NK cell population and downregulated expression of other NK cell activation receptors [44]. Further research into the pro-angiogenic phenotype of NK cells and the impact they have on tumorigenesis is needed in other cancer types.

17.4 Cancer Immunotherapies Involving NK Cells

As outlined, there is extensive evidence that NK cells are capable of killing tumor cells both in animal models and in human studies. This has led to a high degree of interest in using NK cells as an immunotherapy over the last 20 years. While there have been many disappointing results and challenges, there are also many studies that indicate we are finally gaining enough knowledge about NK cells to design trials with much higher levels of success. Herein, the historical journey of NK cell-related immunotherapy will be outlined followed by the newest and most exciting studies in the field. Since cancer patients lack high numbers of NK cells and possess poorly activated NK cells, a natural idea to remedy this would be to transfer activated NK cells to these patients. One of the largest barriers to successful therapy with NK cells has been the production of large numbers of activated cells. Thus, the technological advances that are and will be extremely important for the area of adoptive cell transfer (autologous and allogeneic) will be discussed. In addition, the role of NK cells in monoclonal antibody (mAb) therapies and the status of systemic cytokine treatments to increase NK cell responses will be addressed.

17.5 Adoptive NK Cell Transfer

17.5.1 How Can We Produce Large Numbers of Activated NK Cells?

The main barrier to performing large clinical trials involving NK cell adoptive transfer has been the ability to produce large numbers of activated NK cells under good manufacturing practice (GMP) conditions. NK cells do not grow easily in culture and it has been difficult to produce large numbers of them. Different sources have been used to grow NK cells including the most common, human PBMCs (patient or donor derived), as well as NK cells derived from umbilical cord blood (UCB) or human stem cells. New knowledge regarding NK cell survival, proliferation, and activation has been employed to expand NK cells to the highest numbers possible while still ensuring that they possess a phenotype capable of killing tumor cells. In addition, advances in technology have allowed the upscaling of production. Multiple studies have been published over the last 10 years. These can be subgrouped into those involving cytokines, feeder cell lines, or artificial antigen-presenting cells (aAPCs).

Cytokines such as IL-2 and IL-15 have long been known to support NK cell proliferation, survival, and/or activation [5–7, 46, 47]. Thus, they were a natural starting point for this technology. Klingemann and Martinson [48] published an early study in which lymphocytes were isolated from PBMCs and underwent CD56 positive selection via magnetic bead technology [48]. Cells were then cultured in the presence of IL-2 or IL-2 + IL-15. While there was expansion during the second week, it was variable and high levels of CD3+CD56+ NKT cells were produced. While the cells in the IL-2/IL-15 combination treatment were highly cytotoxic, the NK cells produced were mostly CD16 negative [48]. Another group performed a similar protocol, in which CD3+ cells were removed and the remaining cells were cultured overnight with IL-2 [49]. While these initial studies were a good starting point, they were limited by the poor expansion capability of NK cells under these conditions.

Further advancement in the field came with the addition of irradiated feeder cells to the protocols. In the majority of these studies, NK cells were isolated from PBMCs via immunomagnetic bead treatment to deplete CD3⁺ cells and enrich CD56⁺ cells. The cells were then subsequently cultured with irradiated feeder cells at a ratio of 1:10 (NK/feeder). In two similar studies, NK cells were purified from PBMCs via this method, and the immune cells that remained after selection were irradiated and cultured with NK cells [50, 51]. In addition, the cytokines IL-2 \pm IL-15 and an anti-CD3 mAb (OKT3) were added. After 2-3 weeks, the cells were harvested and had expanded between 117- and 300-fold [50, 51]. The clinical potential of this method was demonstrated in a recent study that utilized patient NK cells to mimic an autologous transplant setting and then used either patient feeder cells or donor feeder cells to stimulate NK cells [51]. Patient NK cells incubated with healthy donor feeder cells were able to expand more and had increased purity (93.8% CD56+CD3-) [51]. Another variant of this method is the use of allogeneic irradiated feeder cell lines. For example, Berg et al. utilized an irradiated Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)transformed lymphoblastoid cell line (EBV-LCL) as feeder cells to expand NK cells (with the addition of IL-2) [52]. After 28 days of culture, the NK cells expanded 300-1000-fold and had high cytotoxicity [52]. IL-21 is another gamma chain cytokine involved in NK cell proliferation [53]. Recently, Granzin et al. have further enhanced EBV-LCL-based expansion with the addition of IL-21 [54]. They achieved a striking 10¹¹-fold NK cell expansion following 6 weeks of culture which were able to inhibit melanoma tumor growth in a xenograft model.

An alternate feeder cell line that has been used frequently in GMP manufacturing of NK cells is a variant of the K562 cell line, which has been modified to express the membrane-bound form of IL-15 attached to the CD8 α receptor and human 41BBL (K562-mbIL15-41BBL) [53–56]. When NK cells from either patients or healthy donors were cultured with irradiated K562-mbIL15-41BBL cells and IL-2, there was rapid expansion of the NK cells (in 7 days, expanded

median 21.6-fold). After a final CD3⁺ depletion, NK cells had high levels of activation and were able to kill tumor cells in vitro and in a xenograft model [55]. While the success of these protocols was impressive, further modifications have been made to improve upon them. Gong et al. modified the K562-mbIL15-41BBL cells to also coexpress MICA, an NKG2D-activating ligand [57]. After 24 days of culture with this feeder cell line, the NK cells expanded by 550-fold and had increased activation and cytotoxicity compared to those cultured with the original K562-mbIL15-41BBL cells [57]. Another breakthrough came in an attempt to optimize the signals that NK cells require ex vivo to propagate. In this case, a new K562-based cell line was created, termed an aAPC [58]. Researchers engineered the K562 cell line to express FcyRI, B7-2, and 41BBL and added either mbIL-15, mbIL-21, or both [58]. When the irradiated K562 cell line that included mbIL-21 (K562-mbIL21) was cultured with PBMCs and IL-2 (no selection, 1:2 ratio PBMC/aAPCs) for 21 days, they expanded by 47,967-fold (825-fold expansion with the IL-15 construct) [58]. This level of expansion was higher than ever reported before for NK cells and was attributed to the fact that IL-21 signaling promotes an increase in telomere length and prevents the senescence that NK cells usually reach [58]. Not only were these cells highly cytotoxic, they also had an increased ability to perform ADCC [58]. Others have also used these aAPCs to produce NK cells from human stem cells [59] and ovarian cancer patient ascites fluid [60] and have shown their therapeutic effectiveness against xenograft models of human cancer [61, 62].

Since these aAPC expansion methods hold potential given the high fold expansion and cytotoxicity of the resulting expanded NK cells, methods to sustain or further expand these NK cells in vivo following infusion were needed. To address this, recently a particle-based method of NK cell expansion has been developed which utilizes closed plasma membrane vesicles produced from the plasma membrane of K562-mbIL15-41BBL (PM15) or K562-mbIL21 (PM21) cells [63]. The PM21 particles induced the highest fold expansion ex vivo (over 100,000-
fold expansion) of NK cells from healthy donors by 28 days of culture and were also effective in expanding NK cells from leukemia patients. Furthermore, they were able to induce NK cell expansion in vivo by infusing PM21-preactivated PBMCs along with PM21 particles into immunocompromised NSG mice. These PM21 particles hold potential for clinical application as they can be stored, enabling use as an off-the-shelf product, and negate the need for additional safety measures required with the use of irradiated tumor cell lines. Importantly, they can be infused in vivo along with NK cell treatment to support in vivo NK cell expansion and persistence.

As can be imagined, the ability to grow largescale cultures of NK cells in a GMP facility is also dependent on practical technologies. The methods currently used to grow NK cells include tissue culture flasks, cell culture bags, and bioreactors. A study attempted to expand NK cells in all three of these conditions and compare the resultant products [64]. Interestingly, the cells grown in the closed system or fully automated bioreactor were more cytotoxic than those grown in flasks and had higher NKp44 levels [64]. This method would be ideal if NK cell therapy becomes increasingly employed, as it is less labor intensive and can produce even higher levels of NK cells in a similar time frame. However, it might not be able to be used in all protocols, as certain NK expansion methods cannot be performed in a closed system.

Another major barrier to the large-scale use of NK cell adoptive therapy has been an inability to utilize frozen NK cells. Several recent reports using the previously mentioned expansion protocols have assessed the viability of these cells. Berg et al. found that expanded NK cells could be frozen and when thawed had decreased activating receptors and cytotoxicity. However, their activity could be restored with IL-2 treatment [52]. Others found that NK cells could be successfully expanded from frozen CD34⁺ umbilical cord blood samples [65, 66]. Recently, it was reported that NK cells produced via the feeder cell line K562-mbIL15-41BBL or the aAPC K562mbIL21 method could be frozen, even long term, and still function well when thawed [56, 65, 67]. These reports give hope that certain centers could produce expanded NK cells (either autologous

or allogeneic) and ship them to smaller centers, allowing more patients the opportunity to receive these novel treatment options.

17.6 Autologous Transfer of NK Cells

The initial clinical trials involving NK cell transfer were autologous in nature and involved the use of IL-2 both in vivo and in vitro. These trials were based on the observation that IL-2-activated patient NK cells cultured with matched autologous melanoma cell lines demonstrated high cytotoxic activity [68]. In several phase I/II trials, patients were treated with IL-2 and their lymphocytes were subsequently harvested by leukapheresis. Patient lymphocytes were then cultured for several days in vitro with IL-2 before these lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) cells were reinfused back into the patient [69-73]. After LAK cells were infused into the patient, IL-2 was administered again systemically. Examination of the LAK cells revealed that the cells with cytotoxic activity against tumor cells were NK cells, not T cells [69]. These trials took place in patients with advanced colon, breast, lung, ovarian, pancreatic, renal cell, and melanoma cancers and overall had disappointing results [70–73]. In addition, some reported treatment-related deaths due to high-dose IL-2 [71]. A few trials attempted to transfer autologous NK cells generated by IL-2 ex vivo treatment as a post autologous stem cell transplant treatment and found that although it was well tolerated and there was increased NK cytolytic function, there were no real clinical improvements for the patient [74, 75]. In a subsequent trial, patients with metastatic melanoma and renal cell carcinoma (RCC) received autologous transfer of IL-2-activated NK cells after lymphodepletion [76]. In this trial, PBMCs were depleted of CD3 cells and the resultant cells were cultured with irradiated autologous PBMCs as feeder cells, IL-2, and OKT3 (and anti-CD3) for 21 days [76]. The IL-2-activated NK cells achieved high lytic activity in vitro; however, once the cells were transferred to the patients, no clinical responses were observed. In these patients, the expression of NKG2D on the transferred NK cells was lowered and the re-isolated NK cells could not lyse tumor cells in vitro unless they were restimulated with IL-2.

After these disappointing results, the field shifted gears and began to concentrate on allogeneic NK cell adoptive transfer, which will be discussed in the following section. Nevertheless, researchers are still working on novel ways to increase clinical responses after autologous NK cell transfer. As further research was conducted on IL-2, it came to light that perhaps the use of this cytokine decreased the effectiveness of autologous NK cell therapy. While IL-2 activates NK cells, it has also been shown to increase T-regulatory cells in vivo which, as mentioned, can negatively regulate antitumor NK cell responses [77, 78]. In fact, in an animal model of lung cancer, depletion of T-regulatory cells improved the outcome of NK cell adoptive transfer [79]. We will discuss the possibility of other cytokines to support NK cell activation in another section. Thus, researchers have started to employ new methods to expand NK cells, including aAPCs. A preclinical paper was published which utilized the K562-mbIL21 aAPC previously described [58, 67]. Researchers were able to expand NK cells from children with neuroblastoma by 2363 ± 443 -fold. These cells expressed high levels of the activating receptors NKG2D and CD16 resulting in greater cytotoxicity against neuroblastoma cells lines as well as in a xenograft model of neuroblastoma [67]. These promising preclinical data instigated a clinical trial of autologous expanded NK cells for neuroblastoma treatment which is currently underway (NCT02573896). Another recent preclinical study demonstrated that NK cells from the peripheral blood of breast cancer patients could be as efficiently expanded with K562-mbIL21 as NK cells from healthy donors [80]. Furthermore, these expanded breast cancer patient NK cells demonstrated potent and comparable cytotoxicity as healthy donor expanded NK cells against triple-negative breast cancer cell lines and autologous primary breast cancer cells and were able to prevent breast cancer engraftment in a xenograft model. In a translational study that used a patient-derived xenograft model of human ovarian cancer, NK cells from the peripheral blood or ascites fluid of ovarian cancer patients showed striking anti-tumour efficacy after K562-mbIL21

expansion, as the expanded NK cells eliminated large macroscopic tumours, improved survival time 3-5 fold, and were as effective against the patient's own tumour in vivo as NK cells expanded from healthy donor blood [61]. These studies suggest that NK cell expansion via K562mbIL21 may activate NK cells enough to overcome the impaired function and susceptibility to inhibition previously reported with autologous NK cells. If these results can be translated into the clinic, they will provide new hope for the area of autologous NK cell transfer. There will likely be many more clinical studies published in the near future based on this platform.

17.7 Allogeneic Transfer of NK Cells

As mentioned, NK cells are negatively regulated by MHC I expression on target cells (KIR on NK cell and HLA class I allele on target cell). In 2002, Ruggeri et al. published a seminal study that revealed that this fact can be exploited [81]. If NK cells possessing a KIR that recognizes a particular HLA molecule are transferred into a host lacking that HLA allele, they will have increased cytotoxicity against cells lacking that particular HLA allele. This is known as donor vs. recipient NK cell alloreactivity [81]. For instance, 112 leukemia patients received a hematopoietic transplant with either KIR ligand incompatibility or not (from an HLA haplotype-mismatched family donor) [81]. It was found that receiving NK cells from an alloreactive donor increased 5-year event-free survival by 55% over those who received nonalloreactive NK cells in AML [81]. It also simultaneously prevented graft-versushost disease (GVHD) and decreased rejection [81]. This was a huge development in the field of adoptive NK cell therapy as it could explain some of the failures of autologous NK cell transfer. The next development was described in a non-transplant setting where allogeneic PBMCs were taken from haploidentical related donors, enriched for NK cells, and cultured overnight in IL-2 [49]. These were then infused into 19 poor prognosis AML patients after they underwent a high-dose immunosuppressive regime [49]. Remission was achieved in 5 of 19 patients and the NK cells expanded in vivo [49]. Success in these early studies led to a plethora of similar clinical trials both in hematological cancers [82– 85] and solid tumors [83, 85–87]. While some early studies found success with enriched but not expanded alloreactive NK cells [82, 84], others at the phase II level proved non-beneficial [85].

For solid tumors, one consideration for improving therapeutic efficacy is the route of NK cell administration. For instance, Geller and colleagues had failed to see a clinical effect for IL-2activated allogeneic NK cells against breast and ovarian cancer following intravenous (IV) NK cell infusion to patients [88]. Given this, they turned to a preclinical xenograft model of ovarian cancer to assess whether administration of NK cells directly into the tumor environment via intraperitoneal (IP) infusion could enhance the antitumor efficacy of NK cells. They found that NK cells persisted via this route of delivery (with supporting IL-2 administration) and were effective in reducing tumor burden [88]. These results instigated an ongoing clinical trial of IP delivery of NK cells for patients with ovarian cancer (NCT02118285) and highlight potential advantages of administering NK cells directly to the tumor site.

There have been several preclinical studies using the newest methods of NK cell expansion (feeder cells lines-irradiated allogeneic PBMCs, K562-mbIL15-41BBL, K562-mbIL21, the additive OKT3) and the testing of their efficacy in various solid tumor xenograft models [62, 89–93]. For example, NK cells were transferred after their expansion with K562-mbIL15-41BBL into a xenograft model of myeloma. These NK cells were found to have high levels of activating receptors (NKG2D) and inhibited tumor growth and were found to still proliferate after a month in the tumor (with IL-2 systemic treatments) [90]. This study indicates that NK cells can persist in the host and remain active. One benefit of using aAPC-expanded NK cells is that the generation of large numbers of NK cells via expansion is efficient enough to enable repeated administrations of therapeutic NK cell doses which could further improve the therapeutic effect. Indeed, studies by Poznanski et al. and Hermanson et al. administered repeated infusions of K562-mbIL21 expanded NK cells in xenograft models of human

ovarian cancer and found that the expanded NK cells reduced tumor burden and improved survival of the mice [61, 62]. Collectively, the results indicate that generating large numbers of activated NK cells with the latest techniques may be very useful and efficacious in NK cell adoptive transfers.

As a result of these promising preclinical results, currently clinical trials are underway to assess the efficacy of the adoptive transfer of aAPC-expanded NK cells, particularly for the treatment of hematologic malignancies (NCT02123836, NCT01904136). Preliminary results from one trial (NCT01904136) which administered three doses of K562-mbIL21 expanded NK cells following HaploSCT for patients with myeloid malignancies indicate that high doses of expanded NK cells (up to 3×10^8 cells/kg body weight) were safe and therapeutically effective, as expanded NK cells reduced relapse rate and improved survival of patients [94].

17.8 NK Cell Lines for Allogeneic Adoptive Transfer

The development of NK cell lines for adoptive transfer into cancer patients is a highly attractive option for its ease of use and its ability to expand NK cells to high numbers. The most established NK cell line used thus far has been the NK-92 line, which was established from a 50-year-old male with non-Hodgkin lymphoma [95]. This cell line is dependent on IL-2 for growth and is cytotoxic against tumor cell lines, primary tumor cells, and xenograft tumor models [95, 96]. The cytotoxicity can be attributed to the lack of inhibitory KIRs on these NK cells [97]. This cell line has been approved for use in clinical trials, and a GMP method is available which can expand these cells by 200-fold in 2 weeks [97, 98]. In a phase I trial conducted on 12 patients with refractory RCC and melanoma, escalating doses of NK cells from 1×10^8 to 3×10^9 /m² were administered [90]. There was only mild toxicity at the highest dose and some response (one mixed response, one partial response, one survived) [99]. New cell lines are also being established that have even higher levels of cytotoxicity than NK-92 to improve results in clinical trials [100]. Another benefit to an NK cell line is the ability to manipulate it genetically to improve its performance. Several recent studies have created NK-92 variants, such as a cell line that expresses a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) which is the scFv fragment of a CD20-specific antibody connected to the CD3 ζ chain to signal in the cell [101]. It is able to efficiently kill $CD20^+$ targets normally resistant to NK killing [101]. Similar results have also recently been demonstrated for CD19-specific CAR-modified NK-92 cells [102]. Another NK-92 variant expresses a CAR that targets an antigen overexpressed in neuroblastoma called disialoganglioside [103]. This type of innovative NK cell line may be very useful in the future as the NK cells can be activated through regular mechanisms or via their new receptor. Genetic manipulation is not limited to NK cell lines as several reports have shown that NK cells isolated or expanded ex vivo from PBMCs can also be manipulated to express CARs specific to tumor antigens such as Her2 or CD19 or to express chemokine receptors such as CCR7 to promote migration of the NK cells to the lymph node [104–106]. Strategies targeting chemokine receptors on NK cells may be able to overcome inefficient homing of NK cells to tumors in certain cancer types. While relatively high transduction efficiencies have now been obtained, primary NK cells tend to only transiently express CARs, and thus one outstanding challenge in the field is to maintain CAR expression [107]. As these advances improve results in preclinical models, genetic manipulation may prove to be a powerful tool for NK cell therapies. Currently, clinical trials are underway to assess the adoptive transfer of CD19-directed CAR NK cells derived from various sources, including NK cells expanded from **PBMCs** K562-mbIL15-41BBL via (NCT01974479), IL-2 activated (NCT01974479), or umbilical cord blood derived (NCT03056339), for the treatment of B cell malignancies.

17.9 NK Cells, ADCC, and mAb Therapy

Multiple mAbs to tumor antigens have been approved for use in humans and have become a commonly used immunotherapy proven to be quite efficacious. Initially, the methods by which these mAbs worked were a hot area of debate. The mystery was partly solved when an important paper in the field showed that Fc receptors on either monocytes/macrophages, neutrophils, or NK cells were key molecules in the ability of mAbs to function against tumors [108]. Herceptin (trastuzumab (TZB)) was unable to protect from Her2+ breast cancer cells in a xenograft model when Fc receptor γ was knocked out [108]. As mentioned, Fc receptor γ is a key molecule involved in ADCC. Further studies revealed that NK cells express CD16 (FcyRIII), an activating receptor that binds to the Fc region of IgG1 and is able to trigger ADCC [109, 110]. Others have shown that in cancer cell lines resistant to NK cell killing, the addition of a mAb allows NK cells to perform ADCC on resistant tumor cells [111, 112]. After these studies were published, researchers began to view mAb treatment in a new light. They found that in patients that respond to TZB therapy, there are increased levels of NK cell activity and ADCC in comparison to those that do not respond [113]. In addition, they found that in both Rituxan (rituximab (RXB)) and TZB mAB therapy, patients with certain polymorphisms in the FcyRII and FcyRIIIa had a better objective response rate and progression-free survival [114, 115]. This was also related to an increased ability of their PBMCs to kill tumor cell lines via ADCC [115]. One study demonstrated the critical role of NK cells in mABmediated cytotoxic activity by demonstrating that depletion of NK cells abrogated the cytotoxic effect of anti-CD20 mAb against chronic lymphocytic B cell leukemia [116]. Clinical trials using the antibody farletuzumab that targets folate receptor alpha to treat ovarian cancer further highlighted the important role of NK cells in mediating the antitumor effects of mAB therapy. While farletuzumab showed promising results in phase I [117] and II [118] clinical trials, no overall significant difference in progression-free survival was observed between farletuzumab and placebo groups in a phase III trial (NCT00849667). However, when patients were stratified based on levels of the biomarker CA-125, which is known to potently inhibit NK cell function, an improvement in progressionfree and overall survival was observed in the treatment arm compared to placebo in patients with lower CA-125 levels [119]. These results suggest that mAb therapies mediate antitumor functions via NK cells, but that they may require combination with additional therapies to overcome a highly immunosuppressive environment. Once the contribution of NK cells and ADCC to mAb therapy success became known, it opened up a whole new area of ways by which we may be able to improve upon its efficacy.

The use of combination strategies to increase ADCC of tumor targets by NK cells has been reviewed recently [120]. Here, we shall discuss several strategies that seem promising. First of all, it has been shown that in cancer patients with advanced disease, NK cell numbers are decreased and their phenotype is altered [3, 25, 27, 33, 34]. One of the most obvious strategies to overcome this issue would be to transfer highly activated allogeneic or autologous NK cells at the same time as mAb therapy in cancer patients. Several preclinical models have indicated that when NK cells are activated, they are capable of killing cancer cells in conjunction with mAb therapy [110, 112]. The expression of CD16 on activated NK cells which are to be used in conjunction with the mAb is important, as not all expanded NK cells will express this molecule [110]. While the tumour microenvironment is known to downregulate CD16 expression on NK cells, expanded NK cells were shown to sustain high expression of CD16 in the ovarian cancer tumour microenvironment, suggesting the potential for combining expanded NK cells with antibody therapy [61]. Preliminary clinical trials are underway to assess the combination of expanded NK cells with mAb therapy (NCT02805829, NCT02030561). The optimal activation of NK cells and the dosing amount and schedule still remain to be determined. When these factors have been worked out, this combination strategy may prove to be an extremely promising therapy.

Another way to improve mAb therapy is to alter the antibody itself. In an interesting clinical trial (NCT01221571), researchers created a tetravalent bispecific antibody (CD30XCD16A) that has two binding sites for the tumor antigen (CD30) and two binding sites for CD16 on NK cells [121]. In their in vitro studies, this antibody was able to restore NK cell cytotoxicity to patient NK cells that were previously nonfunctional [121]. The phase I trial results show that while all patients had progressive disease upon the start of treatment, antibody treatment activated NK cells in the peripheral blood of patients and 8 of 13 patients experienced tumor regression following treatment [122]. Another strategy that can be employed is to improve the binding of the Fc to the activating $Fc\gamma R$ by changing the protein backbone of the antibody. Kellner et al. designed a humanized Fc domain-engineered, affinity-matured CD19 antibody (MOR 208) [123]. In vitro, against cell lines and primary isolates of ALL and utilizing in vivo xenograft models, this antibody was more effective at triggering ADCC via NK cells than the original antibody [123]. In an autologous setting, patients with NK cells were capable of killing their own tumor cells when this MOR 208 was utilized [123]. Another possible way to improve mAb therapy is to perform sequential antibody therapy. Kohrt et al. published an interesting study in which they combined TZB mAb with an agonistic antibody to CD137, which was upregulated on NK cells after TZB treatment [124]. This combination decreased tumor growth in a xenotransplant model using patient breast tumors by increasing ADCC of tumor cells [124].

Lastly, cytokines may play a role in enhancing NK cell activation/numbers and increasing the efficacy of mAb therapy. It was shown that peripheral blood NK cells from advanced cancer patients are capable of performing ADCC in the presence of tumor mAb after in vitro activation with either IL-2 or IL-15 [125]. There is no question that cytokines play an indispensable role in the ex vivo activation of NK cells. It is also possible that cytokines may be useful via systemic administration. These would include cytokines such as IL-2, IL-15, IL-18, and IL-21 that have all been found to affect NK cell activation. The usefulness of these cytokines will be discussed in the next section.

17.10 Cytokines and Promoting NK Activation/Stopping Inhibition

IL-2 was the first cytokine approved for use in humans against melanoma and renal cell carcinoma. While it is known to have the ability to stimulate immune cells such as NK cells and T cells, it has had very disappointing results in the clinic. There have been multiple phase II trials with IL-2. While a small percentage of cancer patients do respond (response rate 14–16%), it induces severe acute vascular leak syndrome in some patients [126–128]. In addition, it has come to light that IL-2 increases T-regulatory cells, which are highly undesirable in any anticancer therapy [77]. There are several other class I gamma chain cytokines that have garnered interest in cancer immunotherapy due to their effects on immune effector cells. These include IL-15 and recently IL-21.

IL-15 was discovered almost 20 years ago and was soon found to be a factor that promotes the survival, proliferation, and activation of NK cells [5-7, 129, 130]. It was very quickly compared to IL-2 and found to be just as good, if not better, at promoting proliferation and cytotoxicity of NK cells [131–133]. Recently, a study comparing IL-2 and IL-15 activated NK cells demonstrated that IL-15 stimulation confers improved and sustained NK cell cytotoxic activity and survival following cytokine withdrawal as compared to IL-2 activated NK cells [134]. In many animal models, IL-15 has been shown to have strong antitumor effects [135–137]. Unlike IL-2, IL-15 does not increase T-regulatory cells [138]. IL-15 appears to have low toxicity in primate studies and is effective at increasing NK cells [138-140]. The wait for these results to be translated into clinical trials was delayed due to the difficulties encountered in generating large amounts of GMP quality IL-15. Recently, one clinical trial demonstrated that IL-15 administration to patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma or melanoma induced NK cell tissue redistribution and efflux from blood, followed by NK cell hyperproliferation in the blood, and resulted in a reduction in marker lesions in five patients; however, dosing strategies and toxicity reduction still require optimization [141]. Phase I/ phase II trials with recombinant IL-15 in combination with NK/lymphocyte cell infusions were initiated (NCT01385423, NCT01369888, NCT01337544); however, two of the trials were terminated early due to complications such as

toxicities. Thus, while IL-15 holds promise as a potent antitumor cytokine and NK cell activator, further work needs to be done to optimize its antitumor effects while minimizing toxicity.

IL-21 was discovered as a cytokine that is similar in structure to IL-2 and IL-15 and plays a role in the proliferation and maturation of NK cells [59]. In contrast to IL-2, IL-21 inhibits the differentiation of T-regulatory cells and does not promote vascular leak syndrome [128, 142, 143]. It has been safely used in multiple phase I and phase II studies with metastatic melanoma or renal cell carcinoma [144–146]. It has been shown to have antitumor activity and is able to boost antitumor NK cell responses [144–146]. IL-21 stimulation of expanded NK cells or patient NK cells in the presence of mAb to tumor antigens has been shown to increase NK cell cytolytic activity against tumor cells [147]. Promising preclinical results such as these have led to the use of IL-21 in conjunction with cetuximab (mAb to EGFR) in a recent phase I trial, which had promising results [148]. While the use of cytokines alone is unlikely to produce enough of an effect on immune cells to eliminate tumors, clinical trials are moving in the right direction. The use of cytokines in combination with adoptive transfer of NK cells or the use of mAb protocols will likely increase the effectiveness of these treatments.

While monokine stimulation can activate NK cells, cytokines are capable of synergizing when used in combination to even further activate NK cells. For instance, different combinations of IL-2, IL-12, IL-15, IL-18, and IL-21 rapidly and potently activate NK cells and increase expression of the high affinity IL-2 receptor (CD25) and IFN- γ production [149]. Stimulation with a combination of IL-18 and IL-12 synergistically enhances NK cell IFN- γ production and degranulation as compared to stimulation with each cytokine alone [150]. Furthermore, administration of IL-18 with IL-12 was shown to overcome NK cell anergy in MHC class I-deficient tumors and improve survival of tumor-bearing mice [151]. As a result, combined cytokine stimulation has attracted attention as a strategy to more highly activate NK cells and improve their function in immunosuppressive tumor environments.

Combined stimulation with IL-12/IL-15/IL-18 has had particular success as a strategy to highly activate NK cells for cancer immunotherapy. This cytokine combination induces highly elevated and sustained levels of IFN-y production and increased cytotoxicity by murine NK cells and freshly isolated or K562-mbIL21 expanded human NK cells [152-156]. IL-12/IL-15/IL-18 pre-activated NK cells also have high expression of CD25 and, as a result, have been shown to persist in vivo with sustained effector function without requiring exogenous IL-2 administration, as they were able to survive off of picomolar concentrations of IL-2 produced by CD4⁺ T cells [153]. Given the toxic side effects of exogenous IL-2 administration, this ability to persist without exogenous IL-2 administration is attractive for clinical application. Interestingly, IL-12/IL-15/IL-18 pre-activated NK cells also exhibit memory-like properties as they have been shown to persist long term (up to 3 months in mice) and have enhanced responsiveness following restimulation and have thus been termed "cytokine-induced memory-like (CIML) NK cells" [153, 154]. CIML NK cells have had much success in preclinical cancer models. Indeed, Ni and colleagues demonstrated that a combination of CIML NK cells with radiation therapy reduced tumor growth in a mouse lymphoma model, whereas IL-2 or IL-15-activated NK cells failed to demonstrate a therapeutic effect [153]. Furthermore, in a xenograft model of human leukemia, CIML NK cells were significantly better at controlling tumor growth than control (IL-15 pre-activated) NK cells and significantly improved survival [155]. Given this promising preclinical data, a phase I clinical trial was conducted in which CIML NK cells were administered to leukemia patients. In this trial, five of nine patients experienced a clinical response, four of whom experienced complete remissions [155]. These data indicate that synergistic cytokine preactivation of NK cells may enhance therapeutic effect and overcome the limitations of poor persistence and loss of effector function in vivo of monokine-activated NK cells.

Another way to enhance the activity of NK cells against tumor cells is to block inhibition of the NK cells. As mentioned, a major concern sur-

rounding endogenous NK cells in cancer patients is that tumor cells and their surrounding microenvironment possess strategies to downregulate NK cell activity. Therefore, simultaneously targeting immunosuppressive molecules while attempting to adoptively transfer NK cells or provide mAb therapy would be extremely advantageous for patients. For example, when a KIR on an NK cell comes into contact with a cell expressing an HLA I molecule that it recognizes, it sends an inhibitory message to that NK cell. Researchers have made a human mAb against KIR 2DL1, 2, and 3 (the inhibitory KIRS) [157]. This antibody (1-7F9 or IPH2101) is functional in cell lines and in vivo models, allowing NK cells to kill cells expressing HLA I molecules that would normally prevent their activation [157]. This has proceeded to phase I trials in MM and AML and has proven to be safe and tolerable [158, 159]. Another mAb against PD-1 (CT-011), an inhibitory molecule on NK cells that can be bound by tumor PD-L1/2 has been proven safe in a phase I study and has now entered phase II trials [160]. Lastly, TGF- β is frequently produced in the tumor microenvironment and can negatively regulate NK cell activity [36, 37]. While there have been concerns about using a mAb to TGF-β due to its tumorpromoting and tumor-suppressing abilities, phase I trials have begun with a GC-1008 antibody (fresolimumab) [161]. In 29 malignant melanoma and RCC patients, this antibody was well tolerated [161]. In addition to safety, the trial demonstrated initial evidence for antitumor effects as a partial response or stable disease was observed in some patients [162]. For certain tumor types that express high levels of TGF- β , this may be an important additional therapy when considering NK cell immunotherapy.

17.11 Concluding Remarks

NK cell immunotherapy is on the brink of becoming a major lifesaving therapy. The development of technologies and methods to increase NK cell expansion and activation from both patientand donor-derived sources has made adoptive therapy, either autologous or allogeneic, a very attractive option. We are no longer limited by the low numbers of poorly activated NK cells present in cancer patients. In addition, NK cells can be genetically manipulated to make them even more directed toward the tumor with CARs. One challenge that remains is the adoptive transfer of enough NK cells to home to large tumors. While preclinical studies report that adoptively transferred NK cells can persist and are found in the tumor (especially with the new expansion protocols), there is still room for enhancement. The possibility of genetically modifying NK cells to express chemokine receptors may be an interesting addition. Furthermore, delivering NK cells directly to the tumor site may overcome this obstacle. The knowledge we have gained in learning how mAbs work to kill tumors has led to revolutionary ideas in regard to combination therapies-mAb with adoptive NK transfer and cytokines. There is also the option of genetically engineering the mAb to increase its effectiveness. We have, at least in preclinical models, been able to increase the activation of NK cells by blocking inhibitory molecules such as KIRs, PD-1, and TGF- β . These therapies may be able to subvert the effect of the tumor on NK cell deactivation and emerging results from clinical trials indicate potential therapeutic effects. In addition, it also appears as if the freezing of NK cells, either before or after expansion, is no longer a large consideration. This paves the way for certain centers to become specialized in producing GMP quality NK cells that can be administered to patients elsewhere.

While we have made advances in many of the challenges faced in NK cell immunotherapy, there is still the need for basic research on the interactions of NK cells and the tumor microenvironment. One area that still remains unknown is exactly what the NK cell requires to kill tumor cells most effectively. For example, the role of IFN- γ production by NK cells in tumor cell death is still a gray zone. Is it direct, is it indirect, or both? It has been shown that IFN- γ from NK cells is extremely important for their antitumor activity in melanoma lung metastasis, but exactly how it is necessary is unknown [163]. If basic researchers continue to investigate questions such as these, it may lead to knowledge which will help stimulate NK cells in such a way as to produce the most effective antitumor activities. In addition, it may mean that for certain tumor types, NK cells expressing certain activating receptors or death receptors or the ability to produce certain cytokines may be more effective.

Now that there are many tools to promote effective NK cell responses against tumors, the next step will be to figure out which therapeutic combinations will be most effective for certain patients and cancers. It is also possible that in patients with preexisting conditions, some immunotherapies should be avoided. This leads to the idea of a personalized medicinal approach, which will match the benefit a person will receive from a particular therapy with his/her tumor characteristics. For example, if a patient's tumor expresses HER-2 and they have high circulating levels of TGF- β , it may indicate that they should receive TZB, anti-TGF- β antibody, and an infusion of allogeneic NK cells (with IL-15 in vivo). Research should proceed with clinical trials involving various combination therapies. However, to be able to perform personalized medicine, further research needs to be conducted on potential biomarkers which can be used to determine the most effective therapy for an individual. While the hope for NK cell immunotherapy is very high, we still need time to determine the most successful therapeutic combinations and apply them on a large scale. The next 10 years will be very exciting and progressive as the current early findings move their way into practice.

Funding Ashkar AA holds a Tier 1 Canada Research Chair. Gillgrass AE was funded by the Canadian Institute of Health Research and the Canadian Breast Cancer Foundation. Poznanski SM was funded by the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care.

References

- 1. Srivastava S, Lundqvist A, Childs RW. Natural killer cell immunotherapy for cancer: a new hope. Cytotherapy. 2008;10(8):775–83.
- Farag SS, Caligiuri MA. Human natural killer cell development and biology. Blood Rev. 2006;20(3):123–37.

- Mamessier E, Pradel LC, Thibult ML, Drevet C, Zouine A, Jacquemier J, et al. Peripheral blood NK cells from breast cancer patients are tumor-induced composite subsets. J Immunol. 2013;190(5):2424–36.
- Gregoire C, Chasson L, Luci C, Tomasello E, Geissmann F, Vivier E, et al. The trafficking of natural killer cells. Immunol Rev. 2007;220:169–82.
- Carson WE, Fehniger TA, Haldar S, Eckhert K, Lindemann MJ, Lai CF, et al. A potential role for interleukin-15 in the regulation of human natural killer cell survival. J Clin Invest. 1997;99(5):937–43.
- Ranson T, Vosshenrich CA, Corcuff E, Richard O, Muller W, Di Santo JP. IL-15 is an essential mediator of peripheral NK-cell homeostasis. Blood. 2003;101(12):4887–93.
- Cooper MA, Bush JE, Fehniger TA, VanDeusen JB, Waite RE, Liu Y, et al. In vivo evidence for a dependence on interleukin 15 for survival of natural killer cells. Blood. 2002;100(10):3633–8.
- Chaix J, Tessmer MS, Hoebe K, Fuséri N, Ryffel B, Dalod M, et al. Cutting edge: priming of NK cells by IL-18. J Immunol. 2008;181:1627–31.
- Waldhauer I, Steinle A. NK cells and cancer immunosurveillance. Oncogene. 2008;27(45):5932–43.
- Moretta A, Bottino C, Vitale M, Pende D, Biassoni R, Mingari MC, et al. Receptors for HLA class-I molecules in human natural killer cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 1996;14:619–48.
- Zamai L, Ponti C, Mirandola P, Gobbi G, Papa S, Galeotti L, et al. NK cells and cancer. J Immunol. 2007;178(7):4011–6.
- Vivier E, Ugolini S, Blaise D, Chabannon C, Brossay L. Targeting natural killer cells and natural killer T cells in cancer. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(4):239–52.
- Gasser S, Orsulic S, Brown EJ, Raulet DH. The DNA damage pathway regulates innate immune system ligands of the NKG2D receptor. Nature. 2005;436(7054):1186–90.
- Pesce S, Tabellini G, Cantoni C, Patrizi O, Coltrini D, Rampinelli F, et al. B7-H6-mediated downregulation of NKp30 in NK cells contributes to ovarian carcinoma immune escape. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4(4):e1001224.
- Ljunggren HG, Malmberg KJ. Prospects for the use of NK cells in immunotherapy of human cancer. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007;7(5):329–39.
- Kim S, Iizuka K, Aguila HL, Weissman IL, Yokoyama WM. In vivo natural killer cell activities revealed by natural killer cell-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(6):2731–6.
- Guerra N, Tan YX, Joncker NT, Choy A, Gallardo F, Xiong N, et al. NKG2D-deficient mice are defective in tumor surveillance in models of spontaneous malignancy. Immunity. 2008;28(4):571–80.
- Street SE, Zerafa N, Iezzi M, Westwood JA, Stagg J, Musiani P, et al. Host perforin reduces tumor number but does not increase survival in oncogene-

driven mammary adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res. 2007;67(11):5454–60.

- Imai K, Matsuyama S, Miyake S, Suga K, Nakachi K. Natural cytotoxic activity of peripheral-blood lymphocytes and cancer incidence: an 11-year follow-up study of a general population. Lancet. 2000;356(9244):1795–9.
- Ishigami S, Natsugoe S, Tokuda K, Nakajo A, Che X, Iwashige H, et al. Prognostic value of intratumoral natural killer cells in gastric carcinoma. Cancer. 2000;88(3):577–83.
- Coca S, Perez-Piqueras J, Martinez D, Colmenarejo A, Saez MA, Vallejo C, et al. The prognostic significance of intratumoral natural killer cells in patients with colorectal carcinoma. Cancer. 1997;79(12):2320–8.
- 22. Villegas FR, Coca S, Villarrubia VG, Jimenez R, Chillon MJ, Jareno J, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor infiltrating natural killer cells subset CD57 in patients with squamous cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer. 2002;35(1):23–8.
- Pietra G, Manzini C, Vitale M, Balsamo M, Ognio E, Boitano M, et al. Natural killer cells kill human melanoma cells with characteristics of cancer stem cells. Int Immunol. 2009;21(7):793–801.
- Mamessier E, Sylvain A, Thibult ML, Houvenaeghel G, Jacquemier J, Castellano R, et al. Human breast cancer cells enhance self tolerance by promoting evasion from NK cell antitumor immunity. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(9):3609–22.
- Bauernhofer T, Kuss I, Henderson B, Baum AS, Whiteside TL. Preferential apoptosis of CD56dim natural killer cell subset in patients with cancer. Eur J Immunol. 2003;33(1):119–24.
- 26. Mellqvist UH, Hansson M, Brune M, Dahlgren C, Hermodsson S, Hellstrand K. Natural killer cell dysfunction and apoptosis induced by chronic myelogenous leukemia cells: role of reactive oxygen species and regulation by histamine. Blood. 2000;96(5):1961–8.
- Richards J, McNally B, Fang X, Caligiuri MA, Zheng P, Liu Y. Tumor growth decreases NK and B cells as well as common lymphoid progenitor. PLoS One. 2008;3(9):e3180.
- Richards JO, Chang X, Blaser BW, Caligiuri MA, Zheng P, Liu Y. Tumor growth impedes naturalkiller-cell maturation in the bone marrow. Blood. 2006;108(1):246–52.
- 29. Jin J, Fu B, Mei X, Yue T, Sun R, Tian Z, et al. CD11b(-)CD27(-) NK cells are associated with the progression of lung carcinoma. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e61024.
- Albertsson PA, Basse PH, Hokland M, Goldfarb RH, Nagelkerke JF, Nannmark U, et al. NK cells and the tumour microenvironment: implications for NK-cell function and anti-tumour activity. Trends Immunol. 2003;24(11):603–9.
- Platonova S, Cherfils-Vicini J, Damotte D, Crozet L, Vieillard V, Validire P, et al. Profound coordinated alterations of intratumoral NK cell pheno-

type and function in lung carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2011;71(16):5412–22.

- 32. Carrega P, Morandi B, Costa R, Frumento G, Forte G, Altavilla G, et al. Natural killer cells infiltrating human nonsmall-cell lung cancer are enriched in CD56 bright CD16(–) cells and display an impaired capability to kill tumor cells. Cancer. 2008;112(4):863–75.
- 33. Konjevic G, Mirjacic Martinovic K, Vuletic A, Jovic V, Jurisic V, Babovic N, et al. Low expression of CD161 and NKG2D activating NK receptor is associated with impaired NK cell cytotoxicity in metastatic melanoma patients. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2007;24(1):1–11.
- 34. Costello RT, Sivori S, Marcenaro E, Lafage-Pochitaloff M, Mozziconacci MJ, Reviron D, et al. Defective expression and function of natural killer cell-triggering receptors in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2002;99(10):3661–7.
- 35. Vacca P, Martini S, Garelli V, Passalacqua G, Moretta L, Mingari MC. NK cells from malignant pleural effusions are not anergic but produce cytokines and display strong antitumor activity on short-term IL-2 activation. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43(2):550–61.
- 36. Castriconi R, Cantoni C, Della Chiesa M, Vitale M, Marcenaro E, Conte R, et al. Transforming growth factor beta 1 inhibits expression of NKp30 and NKG2D receptors: consequences for the NK-mediated killing of dendritic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(7):4120–5.
- Lee JC, Lee KM, Kim DW, Heo DS. Elevated TGFbeta1 secretion and down-modulation of NKG2D underlies impaired NK cytotoxicity in cancer patients. J Immunol. 2004;172(12):7335–40.
- Ghiringhelli F, Menard C, Terme M, Flament C, Taieb J, Chaput N, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells inhibit natural killer cell functions in a transforming growth factor-beta-dependent manner. J Exp Med. 2005;202(8):1075–85.
- Joshi PC, Zhou X, Cuchens M, Jones Q. Prostaglandin E2 suppressed IL-15-mediated human NK cell function through down-regulation of common gammachain. J Immunol. 2001;166(2):885–91.
- 40. Della Chiesa M, Carlomagno S, Frumento G, Balsamo M, Cantoni C, Conte R, et al. The tryptophan catabolite L-kynurenine inhibits the surface expression of NKp46- and NKG2D-activating receptors and regulates NK-cell function. Blood. 2006;108(13):4118–25.
- 41. Benson DM Jr, Bakan CE, Mishra A, Hofmeister CC, Efebera Y, Becknell B, et al. The PD-1/PD-L1 axis modulates the natural killer cell versus multiple myeloma effect: a therapeutic target for CT-011, a novel monoclonal anti-PD-1 antibody. Blood. 2010;116(13):2286–94.
- 42. Gillard-Bocquet M, Caer C, Cagnard N, Crozet L, Perez M, Fridman WH, et al. Lung tumor microenvironment induces specific gene expression signature in intratumoral NK cells. Front Immunol. 2013;4:19.

- 43. Bruno A, Focaccetti C, Pagani A, Imperatori AS, Spagnoletti M, Rotolo N, et al. The proangiogenic phenotype of natural killer cells in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. Neoplasia. 2013;15(2):133–42.
- 44. Belisle JA, Gubbels JA, Raphael CA, Migneault M, Rancourt C, Connor JP, et al. Peritoneal natural killer cells from epithelial ovarian cancer patients show an altered phenotype and bind to the tumour marker MUC16 (CA125). Immunology. 2007;122:418–29.
- 45. Hanna J, Goldman-Wohl D, Hamani Y, Avraham I, Greenfield C, Natanson-Yaron S, et al. Decidual NK cells regulate key developmental processes at the human fetal-maternal interface. Nat Med. 2006;12(9):1065–74.
- Henney CS, Kuribayashi K, Kern DE, Gillis S. Interleukin-2 augments natural killer cell activity. Nature. 1981;291(5813):335–8.
- Kuribayashi K, Gillis S, Kern DE, Henney CS. Murine NK cell cultures: effects of interleukin-2 and interferon on cell growth and cytotoxic reactivity. J Immunol. 1981;126(6):2321–7.
- Klingemann HG, Martinson J. Ex vivo expansion of natural killer cells for clinical applications. Cytotherapy. 2004;6(1):15–22.
- 49. Miller JS, Soignier Y, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, McNearney SA, Yun GH, Fautsch SK, et al. Successful adoptive transfer and in vivo expansion of human haploidentical NK cells in patients with cancer. Blood. 2005;105(8):3051–7.
- 50. Siegler U, Meyer-Monard S, Jorger S, Stern M, Tichelli A, Gratwohl A, et al. Good manufacturing practice-compliant cell sorting and large-scale expansion of single KIR-positive alloreactive human natural killer cells for multiple infusions to leukemia patients. Cytotherapy. 2010;12(6):750–63.
- 51. Kim EK, Ahn YO, Kim S, Kim TM, Keam B, Heo DS. Ex vivo activation and expansion of natural killer cells from patients with advanced cancer with feeder cells from healthy volunteers. Cytotherapy. 2013;15(2):231–41.e1.
- 52. Berg M, Lundqvist A, McCoy P Jr, Samsel L, Fan Y, Tawab A, et al. Clinical-grade ex vivo-expanded human natural killer cells up-regulate activating receptors and death receptor ligands and have enhanced cytolytic activity against tumor cells. Cytotherapy. 2009;11(3):341–55.
- Fujisaki H, Kakuda H, Imai C, Mullighan CG, Campana D. Replicative potential of human natural killer cells. Br J Haematol. 2009;145(5):606–13.
- 54. Granzin M, Stojanovic A, Miller M, Childs R, Huppert V, Cerwenka A. Highly efficient IL-21 and feeder cell-driven ex vivo expansion of human NK cells with therapeutic activity in a xenograft mouse model of melanoma. Onco Targets Ther. 2016;5(9):e1219007.
- 55. Fujisaki H, Kakuda H, Shimasaki N, Imai C, Ma J, Lockey T, et al. Expansion of highly cytotoxic human natural killer cells for cancer cell therapy. Cancer Res. 2009;69(9):4010–7.

- 56. Lapteva N, Durett AG, Sun J, Rollins LA, Huye LL, Fang J, et al. Large-scale ex vivo expansion and characterization of natural killer cells for clinical applications. Cytotherapy. 2012;14(9):1131–43.
- 57. Gong W, Xiao W, Hu M, Weng X, Qian L, Pan X, et al. Ex vivo expansion of natural killer cells with high cytotoxicity by K562 cells modified to coexpress major histocompatibility complex class I chain-related protein A, 4-1BB ligand, and interleukin-15. Tissue Antigens. 2010;76(6):467–75.
- Denman CJ, Senyukov VV, Somanchi SS, Phatarpekar PV, Kopp LM, Johnson JL, et al. Membrane-bound IL-21 promotes sustained ex vivo proliferation of human natural killer cells. PLoS One. 2011;7(1):e30264.
- 59. Knorr DA, Ni Z, Hermanson D, Hexum MK, Bendzick L, Cooper LJ, et al. Clinical-scale derivation of natural killer cells from human pluripotent stem cells for cancer therapy. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2013;2(4):274–83.
- 60. Nham T, Poznanski SM, Fan IY, Shenouda MM, Chew MV, Lee AJ et al. Ex vivo-expanded NK cells from blood and ascites of ovarian cancer patients are cytotoxic against autologous primary ovarian cancer cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2018; 67(4):575–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-017-2112-x.
- Poznanski SM, Nham T, Chew MV, Lee AJ, Hammill JA, Fan IY et al. Expanded CD56^{superbright} CD16+ NK cells from ovarian cancer patients are cytotoxic against autologous tumor in a patient-derived xenograft murine model. Cancer Immunol Res. 2018;6(10):1174–85. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0144.
- Hermanson DL, Bendzick L, Pribyl L, McCullar V, Vogel RI, Miller JS, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cell-derived natural killer cells for treatment of ovarian cancer. Stem Cells. 2016;34(1):93–101.
- 63. Oyer JL, Pandey V, Igarashi RY, Somanchi SS, Zakari A, Solh M, et al. Natural killer cells stimulated with PM21 particles expand and biodistribute in vivo: clinical implications for cancer treatment. Cytotherapy. 2016;18(5):653–63.
- 64. Sutlu T, Stellan B, Gilljam M, Quezada HC, Nahi H, Gahrton G, et al. Clinical-grade, large-scale, feederfree expansion of highly active human natural killer cells for adoptive immunotherapy using an automated bioreactor. Cytotherapy. 2010;12(8):1044–55.
- 65. Nham T, Poznanski SM, Fan IY, Vahedi F, Shenouda MM, Lee AJ, et al. Ex Vivo-expanded Natural Killer cells derived from long-term cryopreserved cord blood are cytotoxic against primary breast cancer cells. J Immunother. 2018;41(2):64–72. https://doi. org/10.1097/CJI.000000000000192.
- 66. Spanholtz J, Tordoir M, Eissens D, Preijers F, van der Meer A, Joosten I, et al. High log-scale expansion of functional human natural killer cells from umbilical cord blood CD34-positive cells for adoptive cancer immunotherapy. PLoS One. 2010;5(2):e9221.
- 67. Liu Y, Wu HW, Sheard MA, Sposto R, Somanchi SS, Cooper LJ, et al. Growth and activation of natural killer cells ex vivo from children with neuroblas-

toma for adoptive cell therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(8):2132–43.

- 68. Carrega P, Pezzino G, Queirolo P, Bonaccorsi I, Falco M, Vita G, et al. Susceptibility of human melanoma cells to autologous natural killer (NK) cell killing: HLA-related effector mechanisms and role of unlicensed NK cells. PLoS One. 2009;4(12):e8132.
- 69. Phillips JH, Gemlo BT, Myers WW, Rayner AA, Lanier LL. In vivo and in vitro activation of natural killer cells in advanced cancer patients undergoing combined recombinant interleukin-2 and LAK cell therapy. J Clin Oncol. 1987;5(12):1933–41.
- Rosenberg SA, Lotze MT, Muul LM, Chang AE, Avis FP, Leitman S, et al. A progress report on the treatment of 157 patients with advanced cancer using lymphokine-activated killer cells and interleukin-2 or high-dose interleukin-2 alone. N Engl J Med. 1987;316(15):889–97.
- 71. Rosenberg SA, Lotze MT, Yang JC, Topalian SL, Chang AE, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Prospective randomized trial of high-dose interleukin-2 alone or in conjunction with lymphokine-activated killer cells for the treatment of patients with advanced cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1993;85(8):622–32.
- 72. Sparano JA, Fisher RI, Weiss GR, Margolin K, Aronson FR, Hawkins MJ, et al. Phase II trials of high-dose interleukin-2 and lymphokine-activated killer cells in advanced breast carcinoma and carcinoma of the lung, ovary, and pancreas and other tumors. J Immunother Emphasis Tumor Immunol. 1994;16(3):216–23.
- 73. Hawkins MJ, Atkins MB, Dutcher JP, Fisher RI, Weiss GR, Margolin KA, et al. A phase II clinical trial of interleukin-2 and lymphokineactivated killer cells in advanced colorectal carcinoma. J Immunother Emphasis Tumor Immunol. 1994;15(1):74–8.
- 74. DeMagalhaes-Silverman M, Donnenberg A, Lembersky B, Elder E, Lister J, Rybka W, et al. Posttransplant adoptive immunotherapy with activated natural killer cells in patients with metastatic breast cancer. J Immunother. 2000;23(1):154–60.
- 75. Burns LJ, Weisdorf DJ, DeFor TE, Vesole DH, Repka TL, Blazar BR, et al. IL-2-based immunotherapy after autologous transplantation for lymphoma and breast cancer induces immune activation and cytokine release: a phase I/II trial. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2003;32(2):177–86.
- 76. Parkhurst MR, Riley JP, Dudley ME, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive transfer of autologous natural killer cells leads to high levels of circulating natural killer cells but does not mediate tumor regression. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(19):6287–97.
- 77. Zhang H, Chua KS, Guimond M, Kapoor V, Brown MV, Fleisher TA, et al. Lymphopenia and interleukin-2 therapy alter homeostasis of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Med. 2005;11(11): 1238–43.
- Smyth MJ, Teng MW, Swann J, Kyparissoudis K, Godfrey DI, Hayakawa Y. CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells suppress NK cell-mediated immunotherapy of cancer. J Immunol. 2006;176(3):1582–7.

- Salagianni M, Lekka E, Moustaki A, Iliopoulou EG, Baxevanis CN, Papamichail M, et al. NK cell adoptive transfer combined with Ontak-mediated regulatory T cell elimination induces effective adaptive antitumor immune responses. J Immunol. 2011;186(6):3327–35.
- 80. Shenouda MM, Gillgrass A, Nham T, Hogg R, Lee AJ, Chew MV, et al. Ex vivo expanded natural killer cells from breast cancer patients and healthy donors are highly cytotoxic against breast cancer cell lines and patient-derived tumours. Breast Cancer Res. 2017;19(1):76.
- Ruggeri L, Capanni M, Urbani E, Perruccio K, Shlomchik WD, Tosti A, et al. Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in mismatched hematopoietic transplants. Science. 2002;295(5562):2097–100.
- 82. Curti A, Ruggeri L, D'Addio A, Bontadini A, Dan E, Motta MR, et al. Successful transfer of alloreactive haploidentical KIR ligand-mismatched natural killer cells after infusion in elderly high risk acute myeloid leukemia patients. Blood. 2011;118(12):3273–9.
- 83. Leung W, Handgretinger R, Iyengar R, Turner V, Holladay MS, Hale GA. Inhibitory KIR-HLA receptor-ligand mismatch in autologous haemato-poietic stem cell transplantation for solid tumour and lymphoma. Br J Cancer. 2007;97(4):539–42.
- 84. Rubnitz JE, Inaba H, Ribeiro RC, Pounds S, Rooney B, Bell T, et al. NKAML: a pilot study to determine the safety and feasibility of haploidentical natural killer cell transplantation in childhood acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(6):955–9.
- 85. Stern M, Passweg JR, Meyer-Monard S, Esser R, Tonn T, Soerensen J, et al. Pre-emptive immunotherapy with purified natural killer cells after haploidentical SCT: a prospective phase II study in two centers. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2013;48(3):433–8.
- 86. Iliopoulou EG, Kountourakis P, Karamouzis MV, Doufexis D, Ardavanis A, Baxevanis CN, et al. A phase I trial of adoptive transfer of allogeneic natural killer cells in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2010;59(12):1781–9.
- Geller MA, Cooley S, Judson PL, Ghebre R, Carson LF, Argenta PA, et al. A phase II study of allogeneic natural killer cell therapy to treat patients with recurrent ovarian and breast cancer. Cytotherapy. 2011;13(1):98–107.
- Geller MA, Knorr DA, Hermanson DA, Pribyl L, Bendzick L, McCullar V, et al. Intraperitoneal delivery of human natural killer cells for treatment of ovarian cancer in a mouse xenograft model. Cytotherapy. 2013;15(10):1297–306.
- Cho D, Shook DR, Shimasaki N, Chang YH, Fujisaki H, Campana D. Cytotoxicity of activated natural killer cells against pediatric solid tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(15):3901–9.
- 90. Garg TK, Szmania SM, Khan JA, Hoering A, Malbrough PA, Moreno-Bost A, et al. Highly activated and expanded natural killer cells for multiple myeloma immunotherapy. Haematologica. 2012;97(9):1348–56.

- 91. Lim O, Lee Y, Chung H, Her JH, Kang SM, Jung MY, et al. GMP-compliant, large-scale expanded allogeneic natural killer cells have potent cytolytic activity against cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):e53611.
- 92. Rujkijyanont P, Chan WK, Eldridge PW, Lockey T, Holladay M, Rooney B, et al. Ex vivo activation of CD56+ immune cells that eradicate neuroblastoma. Cancer Res. 2013;73(8):2608–18.
- 93. Besser MJ, Shoham T, Harari-Steinberg O, Zabari N, Ortenberg R, Yakirevitch A, et al. Development of allogeneic NK cell adoptive transfer therapy in metastatic melanoma patients: in vitro preclinical optimization studies. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e57922.
- 94. Ciurea SO, Schafer JR, Bassett R, Denman CJ, Cao K, Willis D, et al. Phase 1 clinical trial using mbIL21 ex-vivo expanded donor-derived NK cells after haploidentical transplantation. Blood. 2017;130(16):1857–68.
- Gong JH, Maki G, Klingemann HG. Characterization of a human cell line (NK-92) with phenotypical and functional characteristics of activated natural killer cells. Leukemia. 1994;8(4):652–8.
- 96. Tam YK, Miyagawa B, Ho VC, Klingemann HG. Immunotherapy of malignant melanoma in a SCID mouse model using the highly cytotoxic natural killer cell line NK-92. J Hematother. 1999;8(3):281–90.
- 97. Tonn T, Becker S, Esser R, Schwabe D, Seifried E. Cellular immunotherapy of malignancies using the clonal natural killer cell line NK-92. J Hematother Stem Cell Res. 2001;10(4):535–44.
- Tam YK, Martinson JA, Doligosa K, Klingemann HG. Ex vivo expansion of the highly cytotoxic human natural killer-92 cell-line under current good manufacturing practice conditions for clinical adoptive cellular immunotherapy. Cytotherapy. 2003;5(3):259–72.
- 99. Arai S, Meagher R, Swearingen M, Myint H, Rich E, Martinson J, et al. Infusion of the allogeneic cell line NK-92 in patients with advanced renal cell cancer or melanoma: a phase I trial. Cytotherapy. 2008;10(6):625–32.
- 100. Cheng M, Ma J, Chen Y, Zhang J, Zhao W, Wei H, et al. Establishment, characterization, and successful adaptive therapy against human tumors of NKG cell, a new human NK cell line. Cell Transplant. 2011;20(11–12):1731–46.
- 101. Muller T, Uherek C, Maki G, Chow KU, Schimpf A, Klingemann HG, et al. Expression of a CD20specific chimeric antigen receptor enhances cytotoxic activity of NK cells and overcomes NK-resistance of lymphoma and leukemia cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57(3):411–23.
- 102. Esser R, Muller T, Stefes D, Kloess S, Seidel D, Gillies SD, et al. NK cells engineered to express a GD2-specific antigen receptor display built-in ADCC-like activity against tumour cells of neuroectodermal origin. J Cell Mol Med. 2012;16(3):569–81.
- 103. Romanski A, Uherek C, Bug G, Seifried E, Klingemann H, Wels WS, et al. CD19-CAR engineered NK-92 cells are sufficient to overcome NK

cell resistance in B-cell malignancies. J Cell Mol Med. 2016;20(7):1287–94.

- 104. Kruschinski A, Moosmann A, Poschke I, Norell H, Chmielewski M, Seliger B, et al. Engineering antigen-specific primary human NK cells against HER-2 positive carcinomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(45):17481–6.
- 105. Somanchi SS, Somanchi A, Cooper LJ, Lee DA. Engineering lymph node homing of ex vivoexpanded human natural killer cells via trogocytosis of the chemokine receptor CCR7. Blood. 2012;119(22):5164–72.
- 106. Imai C, Iwamoto S, Campana D. Genetic modification of primary natural killer cells overcomes inhibitory signals and induces specific killing of leukemic cells. Blood. 2005;106(1):376–83.
- 107. Chu Y, Hochberg J, Yahr A, Ayello J, van de Ven C, Barth M, et al. Targeting CD20+ aggressive B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma by anti-CD20 CAR mRNA-modified expanded natural killer cells in vitro and in NSG mice. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(4):333–44.
- Clynes RA, Towers TL, Presta LG, Ravetch JV. Inhibitory Fc receptors modulate in vivo cytotoxicity against tumor targets. Nat Med. 2000;6(4):443–6.
- 109. Sulica A, Morel P, Metes D, Herberman RB. Ig-binding receptors on human NK cells as effector and regulatory surface molecules. Int Rev Immunol. 2001;20(3–4):371–414.
- 110. Deng X, Terunuma H, Nieda M, Xiao W, Nicol A. Synergistic cytotoxicity of ex vivo expanded natural killer cells in combination with monoclonal antibody drugs against cancer cells. Int Immunopharmacol. 2012;14(4):593–605.
- 111. Gottschalk N, Kimmig R, Lang S, Singh M, Brandau S. Anti-epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) antibodies overcome resistance of ovarian cancer cells to targeted therapy and natural cytotoxicity. Int J Mol Sci. 2012;13(9):12000–16.
- 112. Roberti MP, Barrio MM, Bravo AI, Rocca YS, Arriaga JM, Bianchini M, et al. IL-15 and IL-2 increase cetuximab-mediated cellular cytotoxicity against triple negative breast cancer cell lines expressing EGFR. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;130(2):465–75.
- 113. Beano A, Signorino E, Evangelista A, Brusa D, Mistrangelo M, Polimeni MA, et al. Correlation between NK function and response to trastuzumab in metastatic breast cancer patients. J Transl Med. 2008;6:25.
- 114. Weng WK, Levy R. Two immunoglobulin G fragment C receptor polymorphisms independently predict response to rituximab in patients with follicular lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(21):3940–7.
- 115. Musolino A, Naldi N, Bortesi B, Pezzuolo D, Capelletti M, Missale G, et al. Immunoglobulin G fragment C receptor polymorphisms and clinical efficacy of trastuzumab-based therapy in patients with HER-2/neu-positive metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(11):1789–96.

- 116. Laprevotte E, Ysebaert L, Klein C, Valleron W, Blanc A, Gross E, et al. Endogenous IL-8 acts as a CD16 co-activator for natural killer-mediated anti-CD20 B cell depletion in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Res. 2013;37(4):440–6.
- 117. Kim KH, Jelovac D, Armstrong DK, Schwartz B, Weil SC, Schweizer C, et al. Phase 1b safety study of farletuzumab, carboplatin and pegylated liposomal doxorubicin in patients with platinumsensitive epithelial ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2016;140(2):210–4.
- 118. Armstrong DK, White AJ, Weil SC, Phillips M, Coleman RL. Farletuzumab (a monoclonal antibody against folate receptor alpha) in relapsed platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;129(3):452–8.
- 119. Vergote I, Armstrong D, Scambia G, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase III study to assess efficacy and safety of weekly farletuzumab in combination with carboplatin and taxane in patients with ovarian cancer in first platinum-sensitive relapse. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34:2271–78.
- 120. Kohrt HE, Houot R, Marabelle A, Cho HJ, Osman K, Goldstein M, et al. Combination strategies to enhance antitumor ADCC. Immunotherapy. 2012;4(5):511–27.
- 121. Reiners KS, Kessler J, Sauer M, Rothe A, Hansen HP, Reusch U, et al. Rescue of impaired NK cell activity in Hodgkin lymphoma with bispecific antibodies in vitro and in patients. Mol Ther. 2013;21(4):895–903.
- 122. Rothe A, Sasse S, Topp MS, Eichenauer DA, Hummel H, Reiners KS, et al. A phase 1 study of the bispecific anti-CD30/CD16A antibody construct AFM13 in patients with relapsed or refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood. 2015;125(26):4024–31.
- 123. Kellner C, Zhukovsky EA, Potzke A, Bruggemann M, Schrauder A, Schrappe M, et al. The Fc-engineered CD19 antibody MOR208 (XmAb5574) induces natural killer cell-mediated lysis of acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells from pediatric and adult patients. Leukemia. 2013;27(7):1595–8.
- 124. Kohrt HE, Houot R, Weiskopf K, Goldstein MJ, Scheeren F, Czerwinski D, et al. Stimulation of natural killer cells with a CD137-specific antibody enhances trastuzumab efficacy in xenotransplant models of breast cancer. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(3):1066–75.
- 125. Roberti MP, Rocca YS, Amat M, Pampena MB, Loza J, Colo F, et al. IL-2- or IL-15-activated NK cells enhance Cetuximab-mediated activity against triple-negative breast cancer in xenografts and in breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;136(3):659–71.
- 126. Fyfe G, Fisher RI, Rosenberg SA, Sznol M, Parkinson DR, Louie AC. Results of treatment of 255 patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma who received high-dose recombinant interleukin-2 therapy. J Clin Oncol. 1995;13(3):688–96.
- 127. Atkins MB, Lotze MT, Dutcher JP, Fisher RI, Weiss G, Margolin K, et al. High-dose recombinant inter-

leukin 2 therapy for patients with metastatic melanoma: analysis of 270 patients treated between 1985 and 1993. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17(7):2105–16.

- Sivakumar PV, Garcia R, Waggie KS, Anderson-Haley M, Nelson A, Hughes SD. Comparison of vascular leak syndrome in mice treated with IL21 or IL2. Comp Med. 2013;63(1):13–21.
- 129. Burton JD, Bamford RN, Peters C, Grant AJ, Kurys G, Goldman CK, et al. A lymphokine, provisionally designated interleukin T and produced by a human adult T-cell leukemia line, stimulates T-cell proliferation and the induction of lymphokineactivated killer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91(11):4935–9.
- 130. Grabstein KH, Eisenman J, Shanebeck K, Rauch C, Srinivasan S, Fung V, et al. Cloning of a T cell growth factor that interacts with the beta chain of the interleukin-2 receptor. Science. 1994;264(5161):965–8.
- 131. Ozdemir O, Savasan S. Combinational IL-2/IL-15 induction does not further enhance IL-15-induced lymphokine-activated killer cell cytotoxicity against human leukemia/lymphoma cells. Clin Immunol. 2005;115(3):240–9.
- 132. Szczepanski MJ, Czystowska M, Szajnik M, Harasymczuk M, Boyiadzis M, Kruk-Zagajewska A, et al. Triggering of Toll-like receptor 4 expressed on human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma promotes tumor development and protects the tumor from immune attack. Cancer Res. 2009;69(7):3105–13.
- 133. Decot V, Voillard L, Latger-Cannard V, Aissi-Rothe L, Perrier P, Stoltz JF, et al. Natural-killer cell amplification for adoptive leukemia relapse immunotherapy: comparison of three cytokines, IL-2, IL-15, or IL-7 and impact on NKG2D, KIR2DL1, and KIR2DL2 expression. Exp Hematol. 2010;38(5):351–62.
- 134. Mao Y, van Hoef V, Zhang X, Wennerberg E, Lorent J, Witt K, et al. IL-15 activates mTOR and primes stress-activated gene-expression leading to prolonged anti-tumor capacity of NK cells. Blood. 2016;128(11):1475–89.
- 135. Tang F, Zhao LT, Jiang Y, de Ba N, Cui LX, He W. Activity of recombinant human interleukin-15 against tumor recurrence and metastasis in mice. Cell Mol Immunol. 2008;5(3):189–96.
- 136. Yajima T, Nishimura H, Wajjwalku W, Harada M, Kuwano H, Yoshikai Y. Overexpression of interleukin-15 in vivo enhances antitumor activity against MHC class I-negative and -positive malignant melanoma through augmented NK activity and cytotoxic T-cell response. Int J Cancer. 2002;99(4):573–8.
- 137. Ugen KE, Kutzler MA, Marrero B, Westover J, Coppola D, Weiner DB, et al. Regression of subcutaneous B16 melanoma tumors after intratumoral delivery of an IL-15-expressing plasmid followed by in vivo electroporation. Cancer Gene Ther. 2006;13(10):969–74.
- Berger C, Berger M, Hackman RC, Gough M, Elliott C, Jensen MC, et al. Safety and immunologic effects of IL-15 administration in nonhuman primates. Blood. 2009;114(12):2417–26.

- 139. Mueller YM, Petrovas C, Bojczuk PM, Dimitriou ID, Beer B, Silvera P, et al. Interleukin-15 increases effector memory CD8+ T cells and NK cells in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. J Virol. 2005;79(8):4877–85.
- 140. Lugli E, Goldman CK, Perera LP, Smedley J, Pung R, Yovandich JL, et al. Transient and persistent effects of IL15 on lymphocyte homeostasis in nonhuman primates. Blood. 2010;116(17):3238–48.
- 141. Conlon KC, Lugli E, Welles HC, Rosenberg SA, Fojo AT, Morris JC, et al. Redistribution, hyperproliferation, activation of natural killer cells and CD8 T cells, and cytokine production during first-in-human clinical trial of recombinant human interleukin-15 in patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(1):74–82.
- 142. Tian Y, Yuan C, Ma D, Zhang Y, Liu Y, Zhang W, et al. IL-21 and IL-12 inhibit differentiation of Treg and TH17 cells and enhance cytotoxicity of peripheral blood mononuclear cells in patients with cervical cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2011;21(9):1672–8.
- 143. Schmidt H, Brown J, Mouritzen U, Selby P, Fode K, Svane IM, et al. Safety and clinical effect of subcutaneous human interleukin-21 in patients with metastatic melanoma or renal cell carcinoma: a phase I trial. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(21):5312–9.
- 144. Petrella TM, Tozer R, Belanger K, Savage KJ, Wong R, Smylie M, et al. Interleukin-21 has activity in patients with metastatic melanoma: a phase II study. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(27):3396–401.
- 145. Frederiksen KS, Lundsgaard D, Freeman JA, Hughes SD, Holm TL, Skrumsager BK, et al. IL-21 induces in vivo immune activation of NK cells and CD8(+) T cells in patients with metastatic melanoma and renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57(10):1439–49.
- 146. Eskelund CW, Nederby L, Thysen AH, Skovbo A, Roug AS, Hokland ME. Interleukin-21 and rituximab enhance NK cell functionality in patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Leuk Res. 2011;35(7):914–20.
- 147. Park YK, Shin DJ, Cho D, Kim SK, Lee JJ, Shin MG, et al. Interleukin-21 increases direct cytotoxicity and IFN-gamma production of ex vivo expanded NK cells towards breast cancer cells. Anticancer Res. 2012;32(3):839–46.
- 148. Steele N, Anthony A, Saunders M, Esmarck B, Ehrnrooth E, Kristjansen PE, et al. A phase 1 trial of recombinant human IL-21 in combination with cetuximab in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer. 2012;106(5):793–8.
- 149. Nielsen CM, Wolf AS, Goodier MR, Riley EM. Synergy between common γ chain family cytokines and IL-18 potentiates innate and adaptive pathways of NK cell activation. Front Immunol. 2016;7:101.
- 150. Martinovic KM, Babovic N, Dzodic R, Jurisic V, Matkovic S, Gordana K. Favorable in vitro effects of combined IL-12 and IL-18 treatment on NK cell cytotoxicity and CD25 receptor expression in metastatic melanoma patients. J Transl Med. 2015;13:120.

- 151. Ardolino M, Azimi CS, Ianello A, Trevino TN, Horan L, Zhang L, et al. Cytokine therapy reverses NK cell anergy in MHC-deficient tumors. J Clin Invest. 2014;124(4):4781–94.
- 152. Cooper MA, Elliott JM, Keyel PA, Yang L, Carrero JA, Yokoyama WM. Cytokine-induced memorylike natural killer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(6):1915–9.
- 153. Ni J, Miller M, Stojanovic A, Garbi N, Cerwenka A. Sustained effector function of IL-12/15/18–preactivated NK cells against established tumors. J Exp Med. 2012;209(13):2351–65.
- 154. Romee R, Schneider SE, Leong JW, Chase JM, Keppel CR, Sullivan RP, et al. Cytokine activation induces human memory-like NK cells. Blood. 2012;120(24):4751–60.
- 155. Romee R, Rosario M, Berrien-Elliott MM, Wagner JA, Jewell BA, Schappe T, et al. Cytokine-induced memory-like natural killer cells exhibit enhanced responses against myeloid leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8(357):357ra123.
- 156. Lusty E, Poznanski SM, Kwofie K, Mandur TS, Lee DA, Richards CD, et al. IL-18/IL-15/IL-12 synergy induces elevated and prolonged IFN-γ production by ex vivo expanded NK cells which is not due to enhanced STAT4 activation. Mol Immunol. 2017;88:138–47.
- 157. Romagne F, Andre P, Spee P, Zahn S, Anfossi N, Gauthier L, et al. Preclinical characterization of 1-7F9, a novel human anti-KIR receptor therapeutic antibody that augments natural

killer-mediated killing of tumor cells. Blood. 2009;114(13):2667–77.

- 158. Vey N, Bourhis JH, Boissel N, Bordessoule D, Prebet T, Charbonnier A, et al. A phase 1 trial of the anti-inhibitory KIR mAb IPH2101 for AML in complete remission. Blood. 2012;120(22):4317–23.
- 159. Benson DM Jr, Hofmeister CC, Padmanabhan S, Suvannasankha A, Jagannath S, Abonour R, et al. A phase 1 trial of the anti-KIR antibody IPH2101 in patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. Blood. 2012;120(22):4324–33.
- 160. Berger R, Rotem-Yehudar R, Slama G, Landes S, Kneller A, Leiba M, et al. Phase I safety and pharmacokinetic study of CT-011, a humanized antibody interacting with PD-1, in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14(10):3044–51.
- Lonning S, Mannick J, McPherson JM. Antibody targeting of TGF-beta in cancer patients. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. 2011;12(12):2176–89.
- 162. Morris JC, Tan AR, Olencki TE, Shapiro GI, Dezube BJ, Reiss M, et al. Phase I study of GC1008 (fresolimumab): a human anti-transforming growth factorbeta (TGFβ) monoclonal antibody in patients with advanced malignant melanoma or renal cell carcinoma. PLoS One. 2014;9(3):e90353.
- 163. Takeda K, Nakayama M, Sakaki M, Hayakawa Y, Imawari M, Ogasawara K, et al. IFN-gamma production by lung NK cells is critical for the natural resistance to pulmonary metastasis of B16 melanoma in mice. J Leukoc Biol. 2011;90(4):777–85.



8

Dendritic Cell Vaccines for Cancer Therapy: Fundamentals and Clinical Trials

Graziela Gorete Romagnoli and Ramon Kaneno

Contents

18.1	Introduction	349
18.2	Strategies for Developing Clinical-Grade DC Vaccines	351
18.3	Routes of Administration	353
18.4	DC Vaccine for Prostate Cancer	354
18.5	DC Vaccine for Melanoma	355
18.6	DC Vaccine for Colorectal Cancer	355
18.7	DC Vaccine for Nervous Tissue Cancer	357
18.8	Concluding Remarks	358
References		358

18.1 Introduction

Mobilization of the immune system for the generation of an effective lymphocyte response against tumor tissue is one of the goals of immunotherapy. It implies the necessity of a coordinated participation of the innate and adaptive

G. G. Romagnoli

Department of Pathology, School of Medicine of Botucatu, UNESP – São Paulo State University, Botucatu, SP, Brazil

Department Health Science, Oeste Paulista University – UNOESTE, Jaú, SP, Brazil immunity mechanisms in order to both trigger an effective response against tumor cells and preserve the host from an autoimmune response. In this aspect, dendritic cells (DC) perform a fundamental role in linking the innate defenses to the specific responsiveness by lymphocytes.

The very first report on dendritic cells was published in 1868 by Paul Langerhans who found branched skin cells by gold staining (called Langerhans cells), whose "dendritic" extensions of plasmatic membrane resembled nervous cells [1]. A century later Prunieras [2] coined the expression "dendritic cells" for the Langerhans cells and proposed that they can capture antigens and are involved in primary defense against pathogens. However, the key contribution toward the morphological, phenotypical, functional identification and classification of dendritic cells

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

R. Kaneno (🖂)

Department of Chemical and Biological Sciences, Institute of Biosciences of Botucatu, UNESP – São Paulo State University, Botucatu, SP, Brazil e-mail: rskaneno@yahoo.com.br

N. Rezaei (ed.), Cancer Immunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_18

as a new population of leukocytes was given by Steinman and Cohn, whose seminal reports from 1973 to 1978 are considered the beginning of a new era in this research field [3–7].

There are two main DC populations: the conventional myeloid-derived DC (cDC or mDC) and the plasmacytoid DC (pDC) [8]. These two populations show some differences in their morphology, and in their multifunctional role in the immunosurveillance and regulation of the immune system [9, 10], being usually discriminated through a wide phenotypical variation of surface markers. Conventional DC are identified by the expression of CD11c, CD1a, or CD83 [11, 12] and maturation markers CD80, CD86, and CD40, among others. These cells are subdivided into CD1c⁺(BDCA1⁺ cells) and CD141⁺ (BDCA3⁺) subsets [13, 14]. Maturation/activation of these cells is characterized by the expression of CD80, CD86, CD40, and CCR7 [8]. Co-receptors ICOSL, TNFSF4, and TNFSF8 as well as receptors for IL-2, IL-1, IL12, and IL-18 are also found under maturation [15]. Differently, pDC are featured by the lack of CD11c and positivity for CD303 (BDCA 2 or CLEC4C) AND CD123 (IL-3 receptor). They also express CD68, CD45RA, and ILT3 [16].

DC are the main professional antigenpresenting cells (APC) and perform a continuous surveillance and recognition of the microenvironment of tissues and organs where they are found as immature cells (iDC). In this condition they have a high capacity for capturing soluble and particulate antigens by endocytosis, phagocytosis, and micropinocytocis [3, 11, 17, 18]. The intakes of opsonized and non-opsonized antigens can be mediated by several surface receptors such as FcyR [11], mannose receptor (MR) [19], DC-SIGN [20], type C lectin receptors (DEC-205) [21], as well as *Toll*-like receptors [12, 22]. These antigens are then processed into peptides that are subsequently presented to T lymphocytes in the context of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) [11, 12, 23].

Immature DC do not have the unique ability for stimulating *naïve* T cells since in this state they do not have the co-stimulatory signals required for T cell activation. Considering that contact between iDC and a specific T cell can drive lymphocytes to cell anergy or induce regulatory cells [24, 25], DC maturation is critical for achieving the balance between effector responsiveness and autotolerance [11].

Pro-inflammatory signals induce not only the migration of iDC to the secondary lymphoid organs but also their maturation and activation. In contrast with iDC, mature DC show reduced endocytic and antigen processing ability while becoming highly efficient presenters of processed antigens for lymphocytes at the T cell sites of lymphoid organs. DC maturation increases the density of CCR7, driving their chemotactic migration toward the T cell populated regions [11, 26].

Maturation is also followed by increased expression of a set of the abovementioned surface markers and by the production of several pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-12, IL-18, TNF- α , IL-23, IL-10, and IFN- α , depending on the stimulating factor [27–29].

Phenotypical and cytokine features of mature DC contribute to the recruitment, interaction, and activation of lymphocytes for the development of an efficient specific response against pathogenic microbes, allergens, and allogeneic tissues [30, 31] and were also evidenced in antitumor response [8]. In fact, it was reported that tumor mass-infiltrating DC are usually suppressed or maintained as iDC in situ. These observations have instigated many authors to try to stimulate infiltrating DC to play a more effective role against tumor cells [32, 33] or to transfer autologous or allogeneic DC after in vitro loading with tumor antigens, thus giving rise to several studies on the feasibility of using DC as therapeutic vaccines for active immunization of cancer patients.

Such studies have benefited from the observation that murine DC can be differentiated in vitro from bone marrow precursors. Further investigations were strongly reinforced by the finding that human DC could be differentiated from peripheral blood monocytes through treatment with adequate cytokine cocktails, usually, a combination of IL-4 and GM-CSF [8, 34–37], while cocktails to promote their maturation largely vary [38–40].

Being the main professional antigenpresenting cells, DC constitutively express both MHC class I and class II antigens on their surface. Classically, endogenous antigens are processed by the cytosolic pathway which resulting peptides are associated with MHC class I molecules, while exogenous antigens are processed by endocytic pathway, providing peptides to be associated with class II molecules. DC have the unique ability to transfer peptides generated by endocytic pathway to the cytosol that is further associated with class I molecules [41]. This feature allows the cross-presentation of exogenous antigens for CD8⁺ lymphocytes ensuring an effective antigen-presenting function. Then, strategies for improving the expression of these molecules have been proven to enhance the antitumor response triggered by DC vaccines. In this aspect, it was early observed that increasing the expression of MHC class II molecules on DC by transfecting them with MHC class II transactivator genes (CIITA) induces four times more CTL than parental untransfected DC or DC transfected with irrelevant genes [42].

In an early report, even before the flourishing of proposals for DC-based antitumor vaccines (DC vaccine), it was observed that monocytederived phagocytic cells could be sensitized by apoptotic bodies obtained by dead tumor cells [43]. Current studies are still using peripheral blood cells to generate human DC and bone marrow cells for murine ones; however, the efficiency of these vaccines appears to be dependent on a number of factors, such as generation of mature DC [44-46], sustained production of IL-12 [47–50], and overcoming of the suppressive microenvironment provided by regulatory T cells [44, 51–54] and myeloid-derived suppressor cells [55–58]. In fact, there is a variety of approaches to generate DC vaccines and it has been observed that each type of tumor has particular features that can hinder the effectiveness of such preparations.

18.2 Strategies for Developing Clinical-Grade DC Vaccines

One of the main issues for the generation of clinical-grade antitumor DC vaccines is choosing the technique for DC loading with tumor antigens. They range from the easier antigen preparation of tumor cell lysates by quick freezeand-thaw cycles until the generation of tumor-DC hybrid cells or their transfection with tumor nucleic acid. However, there is still no definitive agreement about what strategy is the best.

Results with DC loaded with lysates of tumor cells are controversial since some studies have shown that this approach results in a poor protective role of DC, whereas other authors have successfully prepared DC. Some details can be crucial to the effectiveness of lysate-pulsed DC vaccines. For instance, tumor cell lysate gains properties to stimulate DC maturation (or reduce their suppressive role) whether tumor cells are stressed by heating at 42 °C for 25 min prior to the cell lysate preparation [59, 60]. It is hypothesized that the expression of heat shock proteins by tumor cells can avoid the suppressive effect of cell lysate by increasing DC maturation, an observation corroborated by others [61-63]. Induction of HSPs may be a required feature for increasing the immunogenicity of tumor cells by treatment with chemotherapeutic agents, as well. We observed that low nontoxic concentrations of paclitaxel or doxorubicin are able to alter the expression of a number of genes including the increased expression of HSP70, HSP40, and HSP105 mRNA [60].

Besides heat shock proteins, the main dangerassociated molecular patterns (DAMPs or danger signals) ecto-CRT (ecto-calreticulin), HMGB1 (high mobility group box-1), and ATP also increase the immunogenicity of tumor cells and enhance the efficiency of loaded DC [64–66]. Expression of such DAMPs can be efficiently induced by challenging tumor cells with ionizing radiation, photodynamic therapy [67], and chemotherapeutic agents, as well [60, 68, 69].

Cross-priming performed by DC is a phenomenon that can enhance the transference of antigenic peptides through heat shock proteins (HSP), such as gp96 and HSP70 [70–72]. Some HSPs obtained from tumor cells seem to be loaded with tumor antigens and can be internalized by DC through phagocytosis receptors. Such peptides can further be presented in the MHC class I context for inducing a CD8⁺ response and subsequent specific attack toward tumor cells [73–76]. Although the use of HSPs seems to represent a good strategy for enhancing the DC loading with tumor antigens [77–79], the clinical application faces some limitations such as the difficulty to construct the HSP-peptide complex and the necessity of a large amount of antigen source for obtaining a sufficient quantity of purified HSPs [80].

Aiming to compare different methods for loading DC with tumor antigens, it was observed that lysate obtained from a homogenate of solid tumor cells showed a poor effect on the ability of DC to stimulate antitumor activity [81]. Stressed tumor cells were obtained by freeze-thaw cycles or by irradiation at 30 Gy, with the irradiation being more useful than a freeze-and-thaw process. However, for these authors, the best method for loading DC was their fusion with live tumor cells. They observed that irradiation of tumor cells at 30 Gy was effective at blocking their proliferative ability and did not affect their usefulness in preparing tumor-DC hybrids. In a phase I study, advanced melanoma patients were vaccinated with CD34⁺-derived DC pulsed with melanoma peptides. Some of the patients showed peptidespecific DTH response, as well as Melan-A- and gp-100-specific CTL in the peripheral blood [52]. DC loading with tumor-associated proteins or peptides should be preferred in relation to total tumor lysates for the clinical purpose; however, a meta-analysis made by Neller et al. [82] indicate that DC loading with whole tumor lysate shows higher clinical efficacy for diverse cancer types than pulsing them with defined antigens.

One of the limitations for preparing DC vaccine pulsed with tumor lysate is that sometimes the amount of available tumor tissue is not sufficient for repeated applications in the patient. Then, an alternative proposed to overcome this limitation was using tumor nucleic acids in order to induce the expression of tumor antigens by DC themselves. The use of tumor RNA for encoding tumor antigens was first proposed by Nair and Gilboa's group [83, 84], and there is substantial evidence that RNA transfection is a superior method for loading antigens onto DC [85–87]. An important point to consider is that tumor RNA can be amplified through molecular biology techniques so that even a small amount of original RNA can be employed to obtain sufficient material for DC loading. Moreover, both total RNA and selected sequences can be used for DC pulsing to drive the antigen presentation toward a more specific immune response. Finally, RNA shows a safety advantage for DNA, since it cannot be permanently integrated into the host genome.

The strategy of DC transfection with CEA RNA has been used both in murine [88, 89] and human systems [84, 90, 91]. Sakakibara et al. [92] have proposed a method for generating DC vaccines more rapidly by incubating monocytes with GM-CSF and IL-4 for 24 h (Fast DC) transfection with tumor mRNA and cultivation with maturation cocktail for an additional 48 h. The authors observed that mature "fast" DC and standard DC displayed comparable levels of many markers expressed on DC, including HLA-DR, CD83, CD86, CD208, and CCR7. Both were equally able to elicit specific T cell response and IFN γ -secreting T cells, leading to the conclusion that mature "fast" DC are functional antigenpresenting cells (APCs) capable of inducing primary T cell responses.

Vaccination with DC/tumor hybridomas using autologous melanoma or renal carcinoma cells and allogeneic DC is able to change the natural history of the diseases, since it may present stabilization [34] or even regression of metastatic lesions followed by local fibrosis [93]. Whether a patient was unable to fight the tumor development, it is probable that his/her own DC was unable to efficiently process and present relevant tumor antigens to generate specific CTLs. The fact that most tumor antigen peptides are considered to be self-antigens hampers the generation of an effective CTL response. This point of view has led some authors to suggest the use of allogeneic or semi-allogeneic systems to generate DC vaccines. Fusion of allogeneic DC with autologous metastatic colon cancer cells is able to activate both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in just 24 h, in a higher number than controls, while CD8⁺ cells are significantly more efficient to lyse target cells [94]. It also can solve some practical problems such as: (a) it is usually possible to generate a limited sample of autologous DC for vaccination, whereas a higher number of DC could be generated from healthy allogeneic or semi-allogeneic donors; (b) the cellular reactivity triggered by allogeneic or semi-allogeneic DC for allogeneic MHC antigens could facilitate the elimination of escaped tumor variants, as happens in the recipients of semi-allogeneic bone marrow transplantation; and (c) autologous tumor cells are sometimes scarce, which may be overcome by the use of stable tumor cell lines as the source of allogeneic tumor antigens for pulsing autologous DC.

Evaluation of the efficiency of syngeneic, allogeneic, and semi-allogeneic DC has shown that hybrids prepared with allogeneic or semi-allogeneic DC were more effective than syngeneic ones and also worked better as therapeutic vaccines, thus protecting hosts from pulmonary metastasis. Actually, allogeneic and semi-allogeneic DC more effectively induce CTL activity, as well as NK cytotoxicity, and induce higher levels of IFN- γ , by increasing the IFN- γ / IL-10 ratio [95].

The use of exosomes for DC loading has also been proposed by some authors [96–99]. Exosomes are defined as constitutive nanovesicles that can be excited by both tumor and DC displaying a sample of all membrane molecules of original cells [100, 101]. It was observed that vaccination with tumor peptides is more effective when they are carried on exosomes [97, 102]. However, in order to avoid a suppressive effect of tumor exosomes on DC, cancer cells should be submitted to physical stress to increase the expression of danger signals. Regarding this, Dai et al. [61] showed that these nanovesicles can be isolated from heat-stressed tumor cells, culturing them for 43 h at 37 °C, followed by incubation for 1 h at 43 °C. After purification by ultracentrifugation on a discontinuous density sucrose cushion, exosomes were used to induce maturation of monocyte-derived DC. DC loaded with such nanovesicles showed strong upregulation of HLA-DR, CD86, and CD40, as well as the production of IL-12p70 and TNF- α . This technology can be also used for increasing the immunogenicity of tumor cells, since they are able to uptake mature DC exosomes and express themselves, thus activating molecules such as HLA-DR and CD86 [103].

18.3 Routes of Administration

Another fundamental aspect of DC-based immunotherapy is the route of choice for administrating ex vivo prepared DC. Clinical trials have reported various routes of DC administration, aiming to achieve an efficient delivery of cells to the appropriate immune site. DC can be inoculated by intradermal (i.d.), subcutaneous (s.c.), or intranodal (i.n.) routes to deliver loaded cells to regional lymphoid tissues, whereas intravenous (i.v.) methods should be chosen for their systemic distribution. There are also a number of studies showing the feasibility of intratumor (intralesional) inoculation of DC vaccines.

In vivo tracking of s.c.- and i.d.-inoculated DC in multiple myeloma patients revealed their migration to the regional lymph nodes [104]. In fact, the i.d. route seems to be more efficient than s.c. for cell delivery to lymph nodes of patients with metastatic diseases [105]. Although these routes lack DC migration to the spleen, they appear to be more effective for inducing specific antitumor response than the i.v. method [106, 107]. Tracking studies have also revealed that i.v. inoculation promotes DC distribution to the liver, spleen, lungs, and bone marrow. It was observed that DC accumulates in the spleen just 3-24 h after inoculation [106]. Since the majority of relapsing diseases result from metastatic tumor cells, it is reasonable to infer that systemic distribution of DC to the main targets for metastasis (lung, liver, and bone marrow) would be preferred in the protocols developed for preventing them [108-110].

Despite the suppressive microenvironment established at the tumor site, intralesional administration of DC was shown to be feasible, safe, and well tolerated [111–113]. Of course, this choice is limited by the tumor accessibility while Mirvish et al. [114] suggest that in some cases the combination of different routes should be necessary for achieving successful immunization. Considering the different designs for tumor antigen delivery, as well as the different administration routes, in the next section, we will highlight the clinical experience in relation to selected diseases.

18.4 DC Vaccine for Prostate Cancer

Prostate cancer (PCa) is the second most frequent type of neoplasia worldwide, accounting for more than 903,500 new cases each year [115]. Most patients are successfully treated by prostatectomy or radiotherapy, but about 30% of them relapse [116]. In this aspect, immunotherapeutic approaches become attractive as an alternative treatment, particularly for patients with the advanced disease, since the conventional treatments are merely directed against the symptoms. In addition, its feature of slow progression facilitates the manipulation of the immune system in order to enhance the recognition of tumor antigens.

The first DC vaccine approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) was called *sipuleucel-T* (Provenge—Dendreon, Seattle, WA, USA) and was developed for castrationresistant metastasis of PCa (for both symptomatic and asymptomatic patients) [117–119]. It is a DC-enriched autologous cell suspension from the patient's own body, prepared by culturing them with a fusion protein called PA2024, which is constituted by the granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and the prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP), widely expressed by tumor cells. The analysis of disease progression and overall survival in two phase III studies (D9901 and D9902A) found that this vaccine was able to increase the overall survival from 4.5 to 6.7 months [117, 120].

A third phase III trial showed that *sipuleucel*-T improved patient survival time by 4.1 months, with a 22% lower relative risk of death than in control group [121]. Another positive result of these trials is that patients have shown a variable reduction of PSA levels (prostatic specific anti-

gen), the main prognostic marker of this disease [120, 122].

The cellular immune response was also improved by treatment with *sipuleucel-T*, with 73% of patients presenting an adequate lymphoproliferative response, whereas merely 12% of the placebo group showed similar responsiveness [121]. In addition, generation of PAP-specific T lymphocytes was significantly higher in vaccinated patients than in those receiving placebo (27.3% vs. 8.0%), while minimal and welltolerated collateral effects were also observed [118, 123].

In another successful approach, prostatectomized patients with biochemical relapsing disease were treated with autologous DC pulsed with human recombinant PSA (DendritophagerPSA) [124, 125]. Nine out of 24 patients showed 50% reduction in PSA levels whereas 11 others showed less pronounced diminution (6-39%). In addition, 13 patients showed PSA-specific T lymphocyte responsiveness. Six of the patients did not present any sign of circulating tumor cells during a 6-month follow-up. These results are favorable since handling patients with biochemical relapse is still a challenge for oncologists, urologists, and radiotherapists, due to the difficulty of ascertaining the correct location of relapsing disease.

Considering the difficulty of obtaining sufficient amounts of tumor antigens, Fong et al. [125] have proposed the use of xenogeneic murine PAP for loading autologous DC. Six out of 21 patients with metastatic prostate cancer showed stabilization of the disease, with no rise of PSA levels nor the development of PSA-specific T cells.

Preparation of DC/tumor hybrid cells was also tested for prostate cancer. Hybridomas prepared with three different PC cell lines successfully induced an in vitro response in a mixed leukocyte culture by enhancing the IFN- γ production. Results were especially evident when ONYCAP23 and LNCaP were used for fusion (73% and 67%, respectively). Interestingly, the use of ONYCAP23 cells for fusion has induced specific T cell response to different tumor targets [126]. A phase I/II study using DC pulsed with allogeneic tumor cell lysate has demonstrated good tolerance and absence of toxic effects. However, although some patients have presented significant in vitro proliferation of specific antitumor lymphocytes, this approach has not achieved relevant clinical results [127].

18.5 DC Vaccine for Melanoma

The first clinical study on DC vaccines in melanoma patients was published by Nestle et al. [128], who analyzed the efficacy of DC pulsed with HLA-A2-restricted peptides and autologous tumor cell lysates. Two out of six patients presented complete response to vaccination while four of them developed specific DTH response.

Dendritic cells loaded with allogeneic tumor cell lysate and assayed in phase I/II study showed that only 1 out of 15 patients with melanoma treated with autologous iDC pulsed with tumor lysate showed complete remission of metastasis. When the follow-up was discontinued, this patient had maintained an asymptomatic condition for 24 months [129]. In another study, melanoma patients were treated with DC pulsed with melanoma peptides (HLA-A2+) or tumor lysates (HLA-A2–), in association with IL-12, celecoxib, and metronomic doses of cyclophosphamide (phase II study). This association was well tolerated by patients, and 29% of patients with metastasis had the disease stabilized for 7–13.7 months. These patients also showed a higher median overall survival than patients with progressive disease (10.5 vs. 6 months). No significant difference in efficacy was observed between DC loaded with cell lysate or peptides, although no correlation was found between the development of specific immune response and clinical response [130].

Purified gp-100 was also used as tumorassociated antigen for loading DC by varied protocols to prepare vaccines for 97 grade III melanoma patients. Authors observed that 64 of them generated specific T response [131]. Responsiveness to gp-100 can be improved by desialylation of DC surface, since the sialic acid contents inhibit cell maturation/stimulation [132]. The use of autologous tumor RNA for loading DC promotes increased numbers of IFN- γ producing CD4⁺ cells [133]. This result deserves attention because the strategy of using RNA aims to stimulate CD8⁺ response; that is, the generation of tumor peptides as a product of transfecting tumor RNA should be processed through the cytosolic machinery. Thus, the effect observed on the activation of CD4⁺ cells can favor the establishment of memory CD8⁺ cells [134, 135]. In phase I/II study, Kyte's group showed that administration of RNA-pulsed DC was able to induce a specific DTH reaction and in vitro lymphoproliferative responsiveness as well as IFN- γ production [136].

Cell fusion technology was also applied to melanoma and kidney cancer patients, by fusing autologous tumor cells with allogeneic DC obtained from healthy donors [34, 137]. The measurable clinical response from these patients demonstrated that the disease had been stabilized for a median of 6 months, with no relevant side effects [34].

18.6 DC Vaccine for Colorectal Cancer

DC are constitutive cells of lamina propria and are involved in every local pathological condition. Mechanical disaggregation and enzymatic digestion of intestine specimens of patients with different types of colon disease-including colorectal cancer, Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, and nonmalignant, noninflammatory conditions-show that DC correspond to 2% of cells isolated from lamina propria [138]. As to the ability of these cells to stimulate lymphocyte activity, DC-rich suspension induces mixed lymphocyte response (MLR) by T cells. However, tumor-infiltrating DC poorly stimulate T lymphocytes in a primary allogeneic culture (MLR) and are not able to induce significant levels of IL-2 or IFN-γ [138].

The C-type lectin DC-SIGN (DC-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing non-integrin) is involved in the recognition of colorectal cancer cells by DC [139]. Immature DC within colon tumor tissue expressing DC-SIGN, but not mature DC, interact with tumor cells by binding to Lewis^x and Lewis^y carbohydrate of CEA on in tumor cells. Interestingly, DC-SIGN does not interact with CEA expressed by normal colon epithelium that shows low levels of Lewis epitopes. Therefore, DC interact with human colon SW1116 tumor cells that express aberrantly glycosylated Lewis epitopes (Le^a/Le^b) of CEA and CEA-related cell adhesion molecule 1 (CEACAM1), an interaction that induces the production of immunosuppressive cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-10 [140].

Immunohistochemical analysis of infiltrating cells showed that mature CD83+ DC are found in almost all primary colon carcinoma samples and in some metastases. Heterogeneous infiltration patterns vary from diffuse cells to clustered DC that tend to accumulate around vascular structures and the marginal zone of lymphoid aggregates [141]. Data on maturation markers on DC that infiltrate primary tumors are contradictory. Indeed some authors observed that around 90% of CD83⁺ cells were double-stained by anti-CD40 or anti-CD86 antibodies, indicating their in vivo activation [141], whereas others reported that 64-97% of cells do not express B-7 molecules [142, 143], even after stimulation with TNF- α , IL-4, and GM-CSF [143]. The density of DC at the tumor site was higher in patients with a high proportion of activation markers (CD86 and CD40), suggesting that mature DC can actively migrate to or be activated in the tumor microenvironment under exposure to tumor antigens [141].

Immunization of patients with DC vaccine in phase I/phase II clinical trials showed that the vaccine was effective for 16.7% of patients in the phase I study and for 23% of them in phase II study [84]. Messenger RNA of TAT protein transduction domain and calreticulin increase the immunogenicity of CEA and the effectiveness of mRNA-pulsed human DC. It is interesting that transfection of DC with calreticulin mRNA seems to be associated with activation of CD4⁺ T cells whereas TAT protein mRNA preferentially stimulates CD8⁺ cells [144]. Since mRNA represents only up to 5% of total cell RNA, *in vitro* amplification of mRNA was shown to be feasible for producing immunogenically active CEA-encoding mRNA [90].

Instead of using mRNA for known specific antigens such as CEA and Her2/neu, DC transfected with total tumor RNA were able to induce CTL response, while effector cells were able to recognize both the original tumor cell line used for RNA preparation (SW480) and other cell lines, such as HCT-116 (colon cancer) and A498 (kidney cancer) [145]. Supporting this strategy, a clinical trial using total RNA extracted from metastasis tumor cells for pulsing autologous DC, followed by inoculation in the patients (four injections, every 4 weeks), showed an ability to induce specific T response to CEA [146].

We transfected monocyte-derived DC with total RNA of colorectal cancer cells previously submitted to the treatment with low concentrations of 5-fluorouracil and observed that transfection increased the percentage of CD83⁺, HLA-DR+, CD80⁺, and CD86⁺ cells. The functional evaluation showed that they are more efficient than DC transfected with the RNA of non-stressed cells to induce the proliferation of allogeneic lymphocytes and the generation of tumor-specific cytolytic T cells, as demonstrated by IFN-γ production following *in vitro* challenge with target cells [147]. These results were further confirmed in vivo in a murine model [69], reinforcing the view that low levels of 5-fluorouracil, as well as paclitaxel and doxorubicin [60], are able to increase the immunogenicity of tumor cells and their ability to prime DC.

Analysis of ten clinical samples of colorectal carcinomas showed that 60% of them overexpressed the antigen EphA2 [148]. Murine DC pulsed with human EphA2 was observed to induce antitumor response against EphA2transfected MC38 cells. Results have shown that Eph-DC strongly delayed the tumor growth and induced specific CD8⁺ cells and CD4⁺ that play a critical role in the antitumor response.

Evaluation of therapeutic DC vaccines prepared with autologous tumor lysates in 58 patients older than 65 years showed that 26 achieved total (1) or partial remission (26) while 30 had stabilization of disease. Among the different kinds of disease, 18 corresponded to colorectal adenoma and decrease of CEA serum levels was found in 24% of the patients, while the expression of other tumor markers as CA199, CA724, alpha-fetoprotein, and neuron-specific enolase decreased in a small number of patients [149].

18.7 DC Vaccine for Nervous Tissue Cancer

The first DC vaccination study in patients with malignant glioma was reported in 2001 by Yu et al. [150], showing increased tumor-specific cytotoxicity in four out of seven patients treated with peptide-pulsed DC. In phase I clinical trial conducted by Sampson et al. [151], 13 patients with glioblastoma (GBM) and 3 with WHO grade III glioma were i.d. inoculated with autologous DC vaccine. Peripheral blood monocytederived DC were pulsed with peptide from a mutated region of EGFRvIII conjugated with KLH (keyhole limpet hemocyanin). After three doses, immunization resulted in the restoration of immune responsiveness, which was followed only by grade I or II local reactions at the administration site. The treatment resulted in a median survival time of 110.8 weeks, which was higher than usually observed in patients under other types of therapy such as temozolomide (63.3 weeks, [152]) and carmustine wafers (59.6 weeks, [153]).

Parajuli et al. [154] studied *in vitro* the ability of different DC vaccine strategies to induce T cell response against malignant astrocytomas. Autologous monocyte-derived DC were pulsed with autologous tumor lysate, transfection with total tumor mRNA, or by fusion of DC with tumor cells. The authors concluded that all of the strategies used for pulsing DC efficiently induced T cell cytotoxicity, which was further improved by addition of CD40 ligand [155]. Twelve GBM patients followed in a phase I trial were treated with DC vaccines pulsed with peptides eluted from autologous tumor cells. After three doses, 50% of the patients presented increased immunological response against autologous tumor cells and survival time was higher than historical control data [156].

In a very expressive clinical trial, 56 patients with relapsing GBM were treated with at least three doses of autologous DC loaded with autologous tumor lysate, promoting a 3-month median progression-free survival and a 9.6-month overall survival. Almost 15% of patients presented a 2-year overall survival, although some of them have presented relapse during the follow-up [157]. In a phase II study patients producing increased levels of IFN- γ showed higher overall survival than nonresponders [158].

The polarization of type 1 response can also be achieved by polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid stabilized by lysine and carboxymethylcellulose (poly-ICLC), a type 1 IFN inducer (see more details in the Chapter 11). This product acts on TLR3 [159] to induce the production of IFN- γ , IL-6, TNF- γ , and chemokines including CCL2, CCL5, CCL20, and CXCL10 from astrocyte and microglia [160, 161]. Among the 38 patients with malignant glioma enrolled in the first clinical trial, those inoculated with poly-ICLC showed minimal toxicity associated with the treatment. Sixty-seven percent of the patients exhibited tumor regression or stabilization under radiological evaluation, with a 19-month median survival [162]. The antitumor response was associated with activation of 2'5'-oligoadenylate synthetases, which are antiviral proteins induced by type I IFN [163]. In another study, 30 adult patients with glioblastoma multiforme received poly-ICLC in combination with radiotherapy, thereby demonstrating an advantage in relation to historical studies using radiotherapy alone [164]. Okada's group also analyzed the effect of associating poly-ICLC with DC vaccines generated under IFN- α (called α DC1 by authors), previously shown to be more effective than conventional DC at inducing an antigen-specific CTL response [165].

18.8 Concluding Remarks

Despite their demonstrated effectiveness and promising results, the clinical use of DC vaccines is promising but not definitive. It can be partially explained by the difficulty of establishing a standard effective source of antigens and because several tumor-associated antigens are shared by normal cells. In addition, the increased Treg cells in advanced cancer, as well as other suppressor cells, can hinder the efficacy of a DC vaccine. In fact, even after activation, the autologous DC of breast cancer patients induce higher levels of regulatory T cells (Treg) than DC from healthy donors [166], which determines a low immunogenicity of autologous monocyte-derived DC usually suppressed or induced to tolerance by Treg cytokines.

Reduction of Treg activity by blocking the regulatory molecules CTLA-4 or PD-L1 with monoclonal antibodies can be a good strategy to overcome this obstacle. The FDA reinforced this possibility through its 2011 approval of anti-CTLA-4 (ipilimumab, Yervoy; Bristol-Myer Squibb) for treatment of metastatic advanced melanoma. Treatment was well tolerated by patients and the combination with autologous DC vaccine or peptide-based vaccination was able to develop a significant antitumor response [167, 168].

In conclusion, despite these limitations, promising results are stimulating the search for the best pathways toward improving tumor immunogenicity, the DC antigen-presenting function, the responsiveness of effector cells in the tumor microenvironment, as well as overcoming the tolerogenic or suppressive status of the patient's immune system. Association of different immunotherapeutic approaches or combination of immunotherapy with chemotherapy can open up new avenues for fighting cancer.

References

- 1. Langerhans P. Uber die nervender menschlichen haut. Virhouv Arch. 1868;44:13.
- Prunieras M. Interactions between keratinocytes and dendritic cells. J Invest Dermatol. 1969;52(1):1–17.
- 3. Steinman RM, Cohn ZA. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice.

I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. J Exp Med. 1973;137(5):1142–62.

- Steinman RM, Adams JC, Cohn ZA. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. IV. Identification and distribution in mouse spleen. J Exp Med. 1975;141(4):804–20.
- Steinman RM, Lustig DS, Cohn ZA. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. 3. Functional properties in vivo. J Exp Med. 1974;139(6):1431–45.
- Steinman RM, Witmer MD. Lymphoid dendritic cells are potent stimulators of the primary mixed leukocyte reaction in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1978;75(10):5132–6.
- Steinman RM, Kaplan G, Witmer MD, Cohn ZA. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. V. Purification of spleen dendritic cells, new surface markers, and maintenance in vitro. J Exp Med. 1979;149(1):1–16.
- Banchereau J, Palucka AK. Dendritic cells as therapeutic vaccines against cancer. Nat Rev Immunol. 2005;5(4):296–306.
- Naik SH. Demystifying the development of dendritic cell subtypes, a little. Immunol Cell Biol. 2008;86(5):439–52.
- Satpathy AT, Wu X, Albring JC, Murphy KM. Re(de) fining the dendritic cell lineage. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(12):1145–54.
- Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, et al. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2000;18:767–811.
- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature. 1998;392(6673):245–52.
- Macri C, Pang ES, Patton T, O'Keeffe M. Dendritic cell subsets. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2018;84:11–21.
- 14. Dzionek A, Sohma Y, Nagafune J, Cella M, Colonna M, Facchetti F, et al. BDCA-2, a novel plasmacy-toid dendritic cell-specific type II C-type lectin, mediates antigen capture and is a potent inhibitor of interferon alpha/beta induction. J Exp Med. 2001;194(12):1823–34.
- Nasi A, Bollampalli VP, Sun M, Chen Y, Amu S, Nylen S, et al. Immunogenicity is preferentially induced in sparse dendritic cell cultures. Sci Rep. 2017;7:43989.
- Collin M, Bigley V. Human dendritic cell subsets: an update. Immunology. 2018;154(1):3–20.
- Trombetta ES, Mellman I. Cell biology of antigen processing in vitro and in vivo. Annu Rev Immunol. 2005;23:975–1028.
- Steinman RM, Cohn ZA. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. II. Functional properties in vitro. J Exp Med. 1974;139(2):380–97.
- Syme RM, Spurrell JC, Amankwah EK, Green FH, Mody CH. Primary dendritic cells phagocytose Cryptococcus neoformans via mannose receptors and Fcgamma receptor II for presentation to T lymphocytes. Infect Immun. 2002;70(11):5972–81.

- Cambi A, Gijzen K, de Vries LJ, Torensma R, Joosten B, Adema GJ, et al. The C-type lectin DC-SIGN (CD209) is an antigen-uptake receptor for Candida albicans on dendritic cells. Eur J Immunol. 2003;33(2):532–8.
- 21. Mahnke K, Guo M, Lee S, Sepulveda H, Swain SL, Nussenzweig M, et al. The dendritic cell receptor for endocytosis, DEC-205, can recycle and enhance antigen presentation via major histocompatibility complex class II-positive lysosomal compartments. J Cell Biol. 2000;151(3):673–84.
- Steinman RM. The dendritic cell system and its role in immunogenicity. Annu Rev Immunol. 1991;9:271–96.
- Mohamadzadeh M, Mohamadzadeh H, Brammer M, Sestak K, Luftig RB. Identification of proteases employed by dendritic cells in the processing of protein purified derivative (PPD). J Immune Based Ther Vaccines. 2004;2(1):8.
- Steinman RM. The control of immunity and tolerance by dendritic cell. Pathol Biol (Paris). 2003;51(2):59–60.
- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC. Tolerogenic dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2003;21:685–711.
- Sallusto F, Schaerli P, Loetscher P, Schaniel C, Lenig D, Mackay CR, et al. Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor expression during dendritic cell maturation. Eur J Immunol. 1998;28(9):2760–9.
- Arina A, Tirapu I, Alfaro C, Rodriguez-Calvillo M, Mazzolini G, Inoges S, et al. Clinical implications of antigen transfer mechanisms from malignant to dendritic cells. Exploiting cross-priming. Exp Hematol. 2002;30(12):1355–64.
- Guermonprez P, Valladeau J, Zitvogel L, Thery C, Amigorena S. Antigen presentation and T cell stimulation by dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2002;20:621–67.
- Yanagihara S, Komura E, Nagafune J, Watarai H, Yamaguchi Y. EBI1/CCR7 is a new member of dendritic cell chemokine receptor that is up-regulated upon maturation. J Immunol. 1998;161(6):3096–102.
- 30. Katou F, Ohtani H, Nakayama T, Ono K, Matsushima K, Saaristo A, et al. Macrophage-derived chemokine (MDC/CCL22) and CCR4 are involved in the formation of T lymphocyte-dendritic cell clusters in human inflamed skin and secondary lymphoid tissue. Am J Pathol. 2001;158(4):1263–70.
- Adema GJ, Hartgers F, Verstraten R, de Vries E, Marland G, Menon S, et al. A dendritic-cell-derived C-C chemokine that preferentially attracts naive T cells. Nature. 1997;387(6634):713–7.
- 32. Malvicini M, Ingolotti M, Piccioni F, Garcia M, Bayo J, Atorrasagasti C, et al. Reversal of gastrointestinal carcinoma-induced immunosuppression and induction of antitumoural immunity by a combination of cyclophosphamide and gene transfer of IL-12. Mol Oncol. 2011;5(3):242–55.
- Narumi K, Kondoh A, Udagawa T, Hara H, Goto N, Ikarashi Y, et al. Administration route-dependent

induction of antitumor immunity by interferon-alpha gene transfer. Cancer Sci. 2010;101(7):1686–94.

- Barbuto JA, Ensina LF, Neves AR, Bergami-Santos P, Leite KR, Marques R, et al. Dendritic cell-tumor cell hybrid vaccination for metastatic cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2004;53(12):1111–8.
- 35. Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A. Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colonystimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha. J Exp Med. 1994;179(4):1109–18.
- 36. Wesa A, Kalinski P, Kirkwood JM, Tatsumi T, Storkus WJ. Polarized type-1 dendritic cells (DC1) producing high levels of IL-12 family members rescue patient TH1-type antimelanoma CD4+ T cell responses in vitro. J Immunother. 2007;30(1):75–82.
- 37. Giermasz AS, Urban JA, Nakamura Y, Watchmaker P, Cumberland RL, Gooding W, et al. Type-1 polarized dendritic cells primed for high IL-12 production show enhanced activity as cancer vaccines. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58(8):1329–36.
- Jonuleit H, Kuhn U, Muller G, Steinbrink K, Paragnik L, Schmitt E, et al. Pro-inflammatory cytokines and prostaglandins induce maturation of potent immunostimulatory dendritic cells under fetal calf serum-free conditions. Eur J Immunol. 1997;27(12):3135–42.
- 39. Boullart AC, Aarntzen EH, Verdijk P, Jacobs JF, Schuurhuis DH, Benitez-Ribas D, et al. Maturation of monocyte-derived dendritic cells with Toll-like receptor 3 and 7/8 ligands combined with prostaglandin E2 results in high interleukin-12 production and cell migration. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57(11):1589–97.
- Wu X, Xu F, Liu J, Wang G. Comparative study of dendritic cells matured by using IL-1beta, IL-6, TNF-alpha and prostaglandins E2 for different time span. Exp Ther Med. 2017;14(2):1389–94.
- Joffre OP, Segura E, Savina A, Amigorena S. Crosspresentation by dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(8):557–69.
- 42. Marten A, Ziske C, Schottker B, Weineck S, Renoth S, Buttgereit P, et al. Transfection of dendritic cells (DCs) with the CIITA gene: increase in immunostimulatory activity of DCs. Cancer Gene Ther. 2001;8(3):211–9.
- 43. Henry F, Bretaudeau L, Hequet A, Barbieux I, Lieubeau B, Meflah K, et al. Role of antigenpresenting cells in long-term antitumor response based on tumor-derived apoptotic body vaccination. Pathobiology. 1999;67(5–6):306–10.
- 44. Gianotti L, Sargenti M, Galbiati F, Nespoli L, Brivio F, Rescigno M, et al. Phenotype and function of dendritic cells and T-lymphocyte polarization in the human colonic mucosa and adenocarcinoma. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2008;34(8):883–9.
- 45. Kalinski P, Schuitemaker JH, Hilkens CM, Wierenga EA, Kapsenberg ML. Final maturation of dendritic cells is associated with impaired responsiveness

to IFN-gamma and to bacterial IL-12 inducers: decreased ability of mature dendritic cells to produce IL-12 during the interaction with Th cells. J Immunol. 1999;162(6):3231–6.

- 46. Kim KD, Choi SC, Kim A, Choe YK, Choe IS, Lim JS. Dendritic cell-tumor coculturing vaccine can induce antitumor immunity through both NK and CTL interaction. Int Immunopharmacol. 2001;1(12):2117–29.
- 47. Chiyo M, Shimozato O, Iizasa T, Fujisawa T, Tagawa M. Antitumor effects produced by transduction of dendritic cells-derived heterodimeric cytokine genes in murine colon carcinoma cells. Anticancer Res. 2004;24(6):3763–7.
- Jack AM, Aydin N, Montenegro G, Alam K, Wallack M. A novel dendritic cell-based cancer vaccine produces promising results in a syngenic CC-36 murine colon adenocarcinoma model. J Surg Res. 2007;139(2):164–9.
- 49. Shan BE, Hao JS, Li QX, Tagawa M. Antitumor activity and immune enhancement of murine interleukin-23 expressed in murine colon carcinoma cells. Cell Mol Immunol. 2006;3(1):47–52.
- Wurzenberger C, Koelzer VH, Schreiber S, Anz D, Vollmar AM, Schnurr M, et al. Short-term activation induces multifunctional dendritic cells that generate potent antitumor T-cell responses in vivo. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58(6):901–13.
- 51. Luo Y, O'Hagan D, Zhou H, Singh M, Ulmer J, Reisfeld RA, et al. Plasmid DNA encoding human carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) adsorbed onto cationic microparticles induces protective immunity against colon cancer in CEA-transgenic mice. Vaccine. 2003;21(17–18):1938–47.
- 52. Mackensen A, Herbst B, Chen JL, Kohler G, Noppen C, Herr W, et al. Phase I study in melanoma patients of a vaccine with peptide-pulsed dendritic cells generated in vitro from CD34(+) hematopoietic progenitor cells. Int J Cancer. 2000;86(3):385–92.
- 53. Okano F, Merad M, Furumoto K, Engleman EG. In vivo manipulation of dendritic cells overcomes tolerance to unmodified tumor-associated self antigens and induces potent antitumor immunity. J Immunol. 2005;174(5):2645–52.
- 54. Roux S, Apetoh L, Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Mignot G, Puig PE, et al. CD4+CD25+ Tregs control the TRAIL-dependent cytotoxicity of tumor-infiltrating DCs in rodent models of colon cancer. J Clin Invest. 2008;118(11):3751–61.
- Marigo I, Dolcetti L, Serafini P, Zanovello P, Bronte V. Tumor-induced tolerance and immune suppression by myeloid derived suppressor cells. Immunol Rev. 2008;222:162–79.
- 56. Lu T, Ramakrishnan R, Altiok S, Youn JI, Cheng P, Celis E, et al. Tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells induce tumor cell resistance to cytotoxic T cells in mice. J Clin Invest. 2011;121(10):4015–29.
- 57. Youn JI, Gabrilovich DI. The biology of myeloidderived suppressor cells: the blessing and the curse

of morphological and functional heterogeneity. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40(11):2969–75.

- 58. Cheng P, Corzo CA, Luetteke N, Yu B, Nagaraj S, Bui MM, et al. Inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation and accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer is regulated by S100A9 protein. J Exp Med. 2008;205(10):2235–49.
- Hatfield P, Merrick AE, West E, O'Donnell D, Selby P, Vile R, et al. Optimization of dendritic cell loading with tumor cell lysates for cancer immunotherapy. J Immunother. 2008;31(7):620–32.
- Kaneno R, Shurin GV, Kaneno FM, Naiditch H, Luo J, Shurin MR. Chemotherapeutic agents in low noncytotoxic concentrations increase immunogenicity of human colon cancer cells. Cell Oncol (Dordr). 2011;34(2):97–106.
- 61. Dai S, Wan T, Wang B, Zhou X, Xiu F, Chen T, et al. More efficient induction of HLA-A*0201-restricted and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA)-specific CTL response by immunization with exosomes prepared from heat-stressed CEA-positive tumor cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(20):7554–63.
- 62. Matera L, Forno S, Galetto A, Moro F, Garetto S, Mussa A. Increased expression of HSP70 by colon cancer cells is not always associated with access to the dendritic cell cross-presentation pathway. Cell Mol Biol Lett. 2007;12(2):268–79.
- 63. Qiu J, Li GW, Sui YF, Song HP, Si SY, Ge W. Heatshocked tumor cell lysate-pulsed dendritic cells induce effective anti-tumor immune response in vivo. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12(3):473–8.
- 64. Garg AD, Martin S, Golab J, Agostinis P. Danger signalling during cancer cell death: origins, plasticity and regulation. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21(1):26–38.
- Kepp O, Senovilla L, Vitale I, Vacchelli E, Adjemian S, Agostinis P, et al. Consensus guidelines for the detection of immunogenic cell death. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3(9):e955691.
- 66. Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:51–72.
- 67. Vandenberk L, Belmans J, Van Woensel M, Riva M, Van Gool SW. Exploiting the immunogenic potential of cancer cells for improved dendritic cell vaccines. Front Immunol. 2015;6:663.
- de Almeida R, Nakamura CN, de Lima Fontes M, Deffune E, Felisbino SL, Kaneno R, et al. Enhanced immunization techniques to obtain highly specific monoclonal antibodies. MAbs. 2018;10(1):46–54.
- 69. de Camargo MR, Gorgulho CM, Rodrigues CP, Penitenti M, Frederico JCL, Rodrigues MAM, et al. Low concentration of 5-fluorouracil increases the effectiveness of tumor RNA to activate murine dendritic cells. Cancer Biother Radiopharm. 2017;32(8):302–8.
- Li Z, Menoret A, Srivastava P. Roles of heatshock proteins in antigen presentation and crosspresentation. Curr Opin Immunol. 2002;14(1):45–51.

- Srivastava P. Roles of heat-shock proteins in innate and adaptive immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2002;2(3):185–94.
- Tamura Y, Peng P, Liu K, Daou M, Srivastava PK. Immunotherapy of tumors with autologous tumor-derived heat shock protein preparations. Science. 1997;278(5335):117–20.
- 73. Castellino F, Boucher PE, Eichelberg K, Mayhew M, Rothman JE, Houghton AN, et al. Receptormediated uptake of antigen/heat shock protein complexes results in major histocompatibility complex class I antigen presentation via two distinct processing pathways. J Exp Med. 2000;191(11):1957–64.
- 74. Singh-Jasuja H, Scherer HU, Hilf N, Arnold-Schild D, Rammensee HG, Toes RE, et al. The heat shock protein gp96 induces maturation of dendritic cells and down-regulation of its receptor. Eur J Immunol. 2000;30(8):2211–5.
- Blachere NE, Li Z, Chandawarkar RY, Suto R, Jaikaria NS, Basu S, et al. Heat shock protein-peptide complexes, reconstituted in vitro, elicit peptidespecific cytotoxic T lymphocyte response and tumor immunity. J Exp Med. 1997;186(8):1315–22.
- Kurotaki T, Tamura Y, Ueda G, Oura J, Kutomi G, Hirohashi Y, et al. Efficient cross-presentation by heat shock protein 90-peptide complex-loaded dendritic cells via an endosomal pathway. J Immunol. 2007;179(3):1803–13.
- Binder RJ, Anderson KM, Basu S, Srivastava PK. Cutting edge: heat shock protein gp96 induces maturation and migration of CD11c+ cells in vivo. J Immunol. 2000;165(11):6029–35.
- Binder RJ, Han DK, Srivastava PK. CD91: a receptor for heat shock protein gp96. Nat Immunol. 2000;1(2):151–5.
- Chandawarkar RY, Wagh MS, Srivastava PK. The dual nature of specific immunological activity of tumor-derived gp96 preparations. J Exp Med. 1999;189(9):1437–42.
- Wang HH, Mao CY, Teng LS, Cao J. Recent advances in heat shock protein-based cancer vaccines. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int. 2006;5(1):22–7.
- 81. Yasuda T, Kamigaki T, Nakamura T, Imanishi T, Hayashi S, Kawasaki K, et al. Dendritic cell-tumor cell hybrids enhance the induction of cytotoxic T lymphocytes against murine colon cancer: a comparative analysis of antigen loading methods for the vaccination of immunotherapeutic dendritic cells. Oncol Rep. 2006;16(6):1317–24.
- Neller MA, Lopez JA, Schmidt CW. Antigens for cancer immunotherapy. Semin Immunol. 2008;20(5):286–95.
- Boczkowski D, Nair SK, Snyder D, Gilboa E. Dendritic cells pulsed with RNA are potent antigen-presenting cells in vitro and in vivo. J Exp Med. 1996;184(2):465–72.
- Morse MA, Nair SK, Mosca PJ, Hobeika AC, Clay TM, Deng Y, et al. Immunotherapy with autologous, human dendritic cells transfected with car-

cinoembryonic antigen mRNA. Cancer Investig. 2003;21(3):341–9.

- 85. Strobel I, Berchtold S, Gotze A, Schulze U, Schuler G, Steinkasserer A. Human dendritic cells transfected with either RNA or DNA encoding influenza matrix protein M1 differ in their ability to stimulate cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Gene Ther. 2000;7(23):2028–35.
- Mitchell DA, Nair SK. RNA-transfected dendritic cells in cancer immunotherapy. J Clin Invest. 2000;106(9):1065–9.
- 87. Van Tendeloo VF, Ponsaerts P, Lardon F, Nijs G, Lenjou M, Van Broeckhoven C, et al. Highly efficient gene delivery by mRNA electroporation in human hematopoietic cells: superiority to lipofection and passive pulsing of mRNA and to electroporation of plasmid cDNA for tumor antigen loading of dendritic cells. Blood. 2001;98(1):49–56.
- Eppler E, Horig H, Kaufman HL, Groscurth P, Filgueira L. Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) presentation and specific T cell-priming by human dendritic cells transfected with CEA-mRNA. Eur J Cancer. 2002;38(1):184–93.
- Ojima E, Inoue Y, Watanabe H, Hiro J, Toiyama Y, Miki C, et al. The optimal schedule for 5-fluorouracil radiosensitization in colon cancer cell lines. Oncol Rep. 2006;16(5):1085–91.
- Bergant M, Meden L, Repnik U, Sojar V, Stanisavljevic D, Jeras M. Preparation of native and amplified tumour RNA for dendritic cell transfection and generation of in vitro anti-tumour CTL responses. Immunobiology. 2006;211(3):179–89.
- Nair SK, Boczkowski D, Morse M, Cumming RI, Lyerly HK, Gilboa E. Induction of primary carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA)-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in vitro using human dendritic cells transfected with RNA. Nat Biotechnol. 1998;16(4):364–9.
- 92. Sakakibara M, Kanto T, Hayakawa M, Kuroda S, Miyatake H, Itose I, et al. Comprehensive immunological analyses of colorectal cancer patients in the phase I/II study of quickly matured dendritic cell vaccine pulsed with carcinoembryonic antigen peptide. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60(11):1565–75.
- Dall'Oglio M, Srougi M, Barbuto JA. Complete response of metastatic renal cancer with dendritic cell vaccine. Int Braz J Urol. 2003;29(6):517–9.
- 94. Xu F, Ye YJ, Cui ZR, Wang S. Allogeneic dendritomas induce anti-tumour immunity against metastatic colon cancer. Scand J Immunol. 2005;61(4):364–9.
- 95. Yasuda T, Kamigaki T, Kawasaki K, Nakamura T, Yamamoto M, Kanemitsu K, et al. Superior antitumor protection and therapeutic efficacy of vaccination with allogeneic and semiallogeneic dendritic cell/tumor cell fusion hybrids for murine colon adenocarcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56(7):1025–36.

- Chaput N, Taieb J, Schartz NE, Andre F, Angevin E, Zitvogel L. Exosome-based immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2004;53(3):234–9.
- 97. Chaput N, Schartz NE, Andre F, Taieb J, Novault S, Bonnaventure P, et al. Exosomes as potent cell-free peptide-based vaccine. II. Exosomes in CpG adjuvants efficiently prime naive Tc1 lymphocytes leading to tumor rejection. J Immunol. 2004;172(4):2137–46.
- Viaud S, Ullrich E, Zitvogel L, Chaput N. Exosomes for the treatment of human malignancies. Horm Metab Res. 2008;40(2):82–8.
- 99. Mignot G, Roux S, Thery C, Segura E, Zitvogel L. Prospects for exosomes in immunotherapy of cancer. J Cell Mol Med. 2006;10(2):376–88.
- 100. Andre F, Schartz NE, Chaput N, Flament C, Raposo G, Amigorena S, et al. Tumor-derived exosomes: a new source of tumor rejection antigens. Vaccine. 2002;20(Suppl 4):A28–31.
- 101. Andre F, Chaput N, Schartz NE, Flament C, Aubert N, Bernard J, et al. Exosomes as potent cell-free peptide-based vaccine. I. Dendritic cellderived exosomes transfer functional MHC class I/peptide complexes to dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2004;172(4):2126–36.
- 102. Viaud S, Thery C, Ploix S, Tursz T, Lapierre V, Lantz O, et al. Dendritic cell-derived exosomes for cancer immunotherapy: what's next? Cancer Res. 2010;70(4):1281–5.
- 103. Romagnoli GG, Toniolo PA, Migliori IK, Caldini EG, Ferreira MA, Pizzo CR, et al. Tumor cells incorporate exosomes derived from dendritic cells through a mechanism involving the tetraspanin CD9. Exosomes Microvesicles. 2013;4:12.
- 104. Prince HM, Wall DM, Ritchie D, Honemann D, Harrrison S, Quach H, et al. In vivo tracking of dendritic cells in patients with multiple myeloma. J Immunother. 2008;31(2):166–79.
- 105. Morse MA, Coleman RE, Akabani G, Niehaus N, Coleman D, Lyerly HK. Migration of human dendritic cells after injection in patients with metastatic malignancies. Cancer Res. 1999;59(1):56–8.
- 106. Huck SP, Tang SC, Andrew KA, Yang J, Harper JL, Ronchese F. Activation and route of administration both determine the ability of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells to accumulate in secondary lymphoid organs and prime CD8+ T cells against tumors. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57(1):63–71.
- 107. Verdijk P, Aarntzen EH, Punt CJ, de Vries IJ, Figdor CG. Maximizing dendritic cell migration in cancer immunotherapy. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2008;8(7):865–74.
- 108. Eggert AA, Schreurs MW, Boerman OC, Oyen WJ, de Boer AJ, Punt CJ, et al. Biodistribution and vaccine efficiency of murine dendritic cells are dependent on the route of administration. Cancer Res. 1999;59(14):3340–5.
- 109. Mullins DW, Sheasley SL, Ream RM, Bullock TN, Fu YX, Engelhard VH. Route of immunization with peptide-pulsed dendritic cells controls the distribu-

tion of memory and effector T cells in lymphoid tissues and determines the pattern of regional tumor control. J Exp Med. 2003;198(7):1023–34.

- 110. Okada N, Mori N, Koretomo R, Okada Y, Nakayama T, Yoshie O, et al. Augmentation of the migratory ability of DC-based vaccine into regional lymph nodes by efficient CCR7 gene transduction. Gene Ther. 2005;12(2):129–39.
- 111. Feijoo E, Alfaro C, Mazzolini G, Serra P, Penuelas I, Arina A, et al. Dendritic cells delivered inside human carcinomas are sequestered by interleukin-8. Int J Cancer. 2005;116(2):275–81.
- 112. Mazzolini G, Alfaro C, Sangro B, Feijoo E, Ruiz J, Benito A, et al. Intratumoral injection of dendritic cells engineered to secrete interleukin-12 by recombinant adenovirus in patients with metastatic gastrointestinal carcinomas. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(5):999–1010.
- 113. Guo J, Zhu J, Sheng X, Wang X, Qu L, Han Y, et al. Intratumoral injection of dendritic cells in combination with local hyperthermia induces systemic antitumor effect in patients with advanced melanoma. Int J Cancer. 2007;120(11):2418–25.
- 114. Mirvish ED, Pomerantz RG, Falo LD, Geskin LJ. Dendritc cell vaccines in cancer: obstacles to overcome. In: Shurin MR, Salter RD, editors. Dendritic cells in cancer. New York: Springer; 2009. p. 309–30.
- 115. Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61(2):69–90.
- 116. Roehl KA, Han M, Ramos CG, Antenor JA, Catalona WJ. Cancer progression and survival rates following anatomical radical retropubic prostatectomy in 3,478 consecutive patients: long-term results. J Urol. 2004;172(3):910–4.
- 117. Cheever MA, Higano CS. PROVENGE (Sipuleucel-T) in prostate cancer: the first FDAapproved therapeutic cancer vaccine. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(11):3520–6.
- 118. Di Lorenzo G, Ferro M, Buonerba C. Sipuleucel-T (Provenge(R)) for castration-resistant prostate cancer. BJU Int. 2012;110(2 Pt 2):E99–104.
- 119. Quintero IB, Araujo CL, Pulkka AE, Wirkkala RS, Herrala AM, Eskelinen EL, et al. Prostatic acid phosphatase is not a prostate specific target. Cancer Res. 2007;67(14):6549–54.
- Higano CS, Small EJ, Schellhammer P, Yasothan U, Gubernick S, Kirkpatrick P, et al. Sipuleucel-T. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2009;9(7):513–4.
- 121. Kantoff PW, Higano CS, Shore ND, Berger ER, Small EJ, Penson DF, et al. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(5):411–22.
- 122. Freedland SJ, Mangold LA, Walsh PC, Partin AW. The prostatic specific antigen era is alive and well: prostatic specific antigen and biochemical progression following radical prostatectomy. J Urol. 2005;174(4 Pt 1):1276–81; discussion 81; author reply 81.

- 123. Small EJ, Schellhammer PF, Higano CS, Redfern CH, Nemunaitis JJ, Valone FH, et al. Placebocontrolled phase III trial of immunologic therapy with sipuleucel-T (APC8015) in patients with metastatic, asymptomatic hormone refractory prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(19):3089–94.
- 124. Barrou B, Benoit G, Ouldkaci M, Cussenot O, Salcedo M, Agrawal S, et al. Vaccination of prostatectomized prostate cancer patients in biochemical relapse, with autologous dendritic cells pulsed with recombinant human PSA. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2004;53(5):453–60.
- 125. Fong L, Brockstedt D, Benike C, Breen JK, Strang G, Ruegg CL, et al. Dendritic cell-based xenoantigen vaccination for prostate cancer immunotherapy. J Immunol. 2001;167(12):7150–6.
- 126. Lundqvist A, Palmborg A, Bidla G, Whelan M, Pandha H, Pisa P. Allogeneic tumor-dendritic cell fusion vaccines for generation of broad prostate cancer T-cell responses. Med Oncol. 2004;21(2):155–65.
- 127. Pandha HS, John RJ, Hutchinson J, James N, Whelan M, Corbishley C, et al. Dendritic cell immunotherapy for urological cancers using cryopreserved allogeneic tumour lysate-pulsed cells: a phase I/II study. BJU Int. 2004;94(3):412–8.
- 128. Nestle FO, Alijagic S, Gilliet M, Sun Y, Grabbe S, Dummer R, et al. Vaccination of melanoma patients with peptide- or tumor lysate-pulsed dendritic cells. Nat Med. 1998;4(3):328–32.
- 129. Salcedo M, Bercovici N, Taylor R, Vereecken P, Massicard S, Duriau D, et al. Vaccination of melanoma patients using dendritic cells loaded with an allogeneic tumor cell lysate. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2006;55(7):819–29.
- 130. Ellebaek E, Engell-Noerregaard L, Iversen TZ, Froesig TM, Munir S, Hadrup SR, et al. Metastatic melanoma patients treated with dendritic cell vaccination, Interleukin-2 and metronomic cyclophosphamide: results from a phase II trial. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(10):1791–804.
- 131. Boudewijns S, Bol KF, Schreibelt G, Westdorp H, Textor JC, van Rossum MM, et al. Adjuvant dendritic cell vaccination induces tumor-specific immune responses in the majority of stage III melanoma patients. Onco Targets Ther. 2016;5(7):e1191732.
- 132. Silva M, Silva Z, Marques G, Ferro T, Goncalves M, Monteiro M, et al. Sialic acid removal from dendritic cells improves antigen cross-presentation and boosts anti-tumor immune responses. Oncotarget. 2016;7(27):41053–66.
- 133. Kyte JA, Kvalheim G, Aamdal S, Saeboe-Larssen S, Gaudernack G. Preclinical full-scale evaluation of dendritic cells transfected with autologous tumormRNA for melanoma vaccination. Cancer Gene Ther. 2005;12(6):579–91.
- 134. Shedlock DJ, Shen H. Requirement for CD4 T cell help in generating functional CD8 T cell memory. Science. 2003;300(5617):337–9.
- 135. Janssen EM, Lemmens EE, Wolfe T, Christen U, von Herrath MG, Schoenberger SP. CD4+

T cells are required for secondary expansion and memory in CD8+ T lymphocytes. Nature. 2003;421(6925):852–6.

- Kyte JA, Gaudernack G. Immuno-gene therapy of cancer with tumour-mRNA transfected dendritic cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2006;55(11):1432–42.
- 137. das Neves FJ, Mattos IE, Koifman RJ. [Colon and rectal cancer mortality in Brazilian capitals, 1980– 1997]. Arq Gastroenterol. 2005;42(1):63–70.
- Pavli P, Hume DA, Van De Pol E, Doe WF. Dendritic cells, the major antigen-presenting cells of the human colonic lamina propria. Immunology. 1993;78(1):132–41.
- Klaas M. Security, stat! ED safety requires cooperation between departments. Health Facil Manag. 2005;18(1):22–6.
- 140. Nonaka M, Ma BY, Murai R, Nakamura N, Baba M, Kawasaki N, et al. Glycosylation-dependent interactions of C-type lectin DC-SIGN with colorectal tumor-associated Lewis glycans impair the function and differentiation of monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2008;180(5):3347–56.
- 141. Schwaab T, Weiss JE, Schned AR, Barth RJ Jr. Dendritic cell infiltration in colon cancer. J Immunother. 2001;24(2):130–7.
- 142. Chaux P, Moutet M, Faivre J, Martin F, Martin M. Inflammatory cells infiltrating human colorectal carcinomas express HLA class II but not B7-1 and B7-2 costimulatory molecules of the T-cell activation. Lab Investig. 1996;74(5):975–83.
- 143. Chaux P, Favre N, Martin M, Martin F. Tumorinfiltrating dendritic cells are defective in their antigen-presenting function and inducible B7 expression in rats. Int J Cancer. 1997;72(4):619–24.
- 144. Kim SG, Park MY, Kim CH, Sohn HJ, Kim HS, Park JS, et al. Modification of CEA with both CRT and TAT PTD induces potent anti-tumor immune responses in RNA-pulsed DC vaccination. Vaccine. 2008;26(50):6433–40.
- 145. Nencioni A, Muller MR, Grunebach F, Garuti A, Mingari MC, Patrone F, et al. Dendritic cells transfected with tumor RNA for the induction of antitumor CTL in colorectal cancer. Cancer Gene Ther. 2003;10(3):209–14.
- 146. Nair SK, Morse M, Boczkowski D, Cumming RI, Vasovic L, Gilboa E, et al. Induction of tumorspecific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in cancer patients by autologous tumor RNA-transfected dendritic cells. Ann Surg. 2002;235(4):540–9.
- 147. De Almeida CV, Zamame JA, Romagnoli GG, Rodrigues CP, Magalhaes MB, Amedei A, et al. Treatment of colon cancer cells with 5-fluorouracil can improve the effectiveness of RNA-transfected antitumor dendritic cell vaccine. Oncol Rep. 2017;38(1):561–8.
- 148. Yamaguchi S, Tatsumi T, Takehara T, Sakamori R, Uemura A, Mizushima T, et al. Immunotherapy of murine colon cancer using receptor tyrosine kinase EphA2-derived peptide-pulsed dendritic cell vaccines. Cancer. 2007;110(7):1469–77.

- 149. Liu Y, Liu H, Liu H, He P, Li J, Liu X, et al. Dendritic cell-activated cytokine-induced killer cell-mediated immunotherapy is safe and effective for cancer patients >65 years old. Oncol Lett. 2016;12(6):5205–10.
- 150. Yu JS, Wheeler CJ, Zeltzer PM, Ying H, Finger DN, Lee PK, et al. Vaccination of malignant glioma patients with peptide-pulsed dendritic cells elicits systemic cytotoxicity and intracranial T-cell infiltration. Cancer Res. 2001;61(3):842–7.
- 151. Sampson JH, Archer GE, Mitchell DA, Heimberger AB, Bigner DD. Tumor-specific immunotherapy targeting the EGFRvIII mutation in patients with malignant glioma. Semin Immunol. 2008;20(5):267–75.
- Stupp R, van den Bent MJ, Hegi ME. Optimal role of temozolomide in the treatment of malignant gliomas. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2005;5(3):198–206.
- 153. Westphal M, Hilt DC, Bortey E, Delavault P, Olivares R, Warnke PC, et al. A phase 3 trial of local chemotherapy with biodegradable carmustine (BCNU) wafers (Gliadel wafers) in patients with primary malignant glioma. Neuro-Oncology. 2003;5(2):79–88.
- 154. Parajuli P, Mathupala S, Sloan AE. Systematic comparison of dendritic cell-based immunotherapeutic strategies for malignant gliomas: in vitro induction of cytolytic and natural killer-like T cells. Neurosurgery. 2004;55(5):1194–204.
- 155. Sloan AE, Parajuli P, Mathupala S. DC-tumor cell fusion for induction of tumor-specific T-cell response against malignat brain tumors: comparison with DC pulsed with total tumor RNA or tumor lysate. Proceedings of the American Association for Cancer Research San Francisco, CA; 2002.
- 156. Liau LM, Prins RM, Kiertscher SM, Odesa SK, Kremen TJ, Giovannone AJ, et al. Dendritic cell vaccination in glioblastoma patients induces systemic and intracranial T-cell responses modulated by the local central nervous system tumor microenvironment. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(15):5515–25.
- 157. De Vleeschouwer S, Fieuws S, Rutkowski S, Van Calenbergh F, Van Loon J, Goffin J, et al. Postoperative adjuvant dendritic cell-based immunotherapy in patients with relapsed glioblastoma multiforme. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14(10):3098–104.
- Wheeler CJ, Black KL, Liu G, Mazer M, Zhang XX, Pepkowitz S, et al. Vaccination elicits correlated immune and clinical responses in glioblastoma multiforme patients. Cancer Res. 2008;68(14):5955–64.
- 159. Trumpfheller C, Caskey M, Nchinda G, Longhi MP, Mizenina O, Huang Y, et al. The microbial mimic poly IC induces durable and protective CD4+ T cell

immunity together with a dendritic cell targeted vaccine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(7):2574–9.

- 160. Farina C, Krumbholz M, Giese T, Hartmann G, Aloisi F, Meinl E. Preferential expression and function of Toll-like receptor 3 in human astrocytes. J Neuroimmunol. 2005;159(1–2):12–9.
- 161. Park C, Lee S, Cho IH, Lee HK, Kim D, Choi SY, et al. TLR3-mediated signal induces proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine gene expression in astrocytes: differential signaling mechanisms of TLR3-induced IP-10 and IL-8 gene expression. Glia. 2006;53(3):248–56.
- 162. Salazar AM, Levy HB, Ondra S, Kende M, Scherokman B, Brown D, et al. Long-term treatment of malignant gliomas with intramuscularly administered polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid stabilized with polylysine and carboxymethylcellulose: an open pilot study. Neurosurgery. 1996;38(6):1096–103; discussion 103–4.
- 163. Takahashi A, Iwasaki Y, Miyaike J, Taniguchi H, Shimomura H, Hanafusa T, et al. Quantitative analysis of p40/p46 and p69/p71 forms of 2',5'-oligoadenylate synthetase mRNA by competitive PCR and its clinical application. Clin Chem. 2002;48(9):1551–9.
- 164. Butowski N, Chang SM, Junck L, DeAngelis LM, Abrey L, Fink K, et al. A phase II clinical trial of poly-ICLC with radiation for adult patients with newly diagnosed supratentorial glioblastoma: a North American Brain Tumor Consortium (NABTC01-05). J Neuro-Oncol. 2009;91(2):175–82.
- 165. Mailliard RB, Wankowicz-Kalinska A, Cai Q, Wesa A, Hilkens CM, Kapsenberg ML, et al. alpha-type-1 polarized dendritic cells: a novel immunization tool with optimized CTL-inducing activity. Cancer Res. 2004;64(17):5934–7.
- 166. Ramos RN, Chin LS, Dos Santos AP, Bergami-Santos PC, Laginha F, Barbuto JA. Monocytederived dendritic cells from breast cancer patients are biased to induce CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J Leukoc Biol. 2012;92(3):673–82.
- 167. Phan GQ, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Hwu P, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, et al. Cancer regression and autoimmunity induced by cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 blockade in patients with metastatic melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(14):8372–7.
- 168. Hodi FS, Mihm MC, Soiffer RJ, Haluska FG, Butler M, Seiden MV, et al. Biologic activity of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 antibody blockade in previously vaccinated metastatic melanoma and ovarian carcinoma patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(8):4712–7.



Tumor-Associated Macrophages and Cancer Development

Ken-ichi Isobe and Hengyi Xiao

Contents

19.1	Introduction	365
19.2	Cancer and Inflammation	366
19.3	Development of Myeloid Lineage Cells Including Macrophages	367
19.4	Characteristics of TAMs	369
19.5	"Reeducating" TAMs to Cytotoxic Phenotype	369
19.6	Concluding Remarks	370
References		370

19.1 Introduction

It has been revealed that tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) can enhance tumor progression by promoting invasion, migration, and angiogenesis of the tumor [1]. They are often abundantly present in malignant tumors and share multiple features with M2 macrophages, known as alternatively activated anti-inflammatory macrophages with immunosuppressive function [2]. The localization of TAMs in human sample is usually determined by marking the expression of CD163 and CD68 proteins [3–5].

The infiltration of macrophages is largely correlated to poor prognosis of malignant tumors [5-7]. However, various aspects of the accumulation of macrophages in solid tumor tissue remain to be elucidated. One story about this process deems that the repeated inflammation caused by microorganism infection is the major force for the accumulation of macrophages and other inflammatory cells in local, which resultantly affect oncogenesis of tissue cells. Another theory for this process gives priority to the transformed tissue cells, indicating that it is the secretory substances from tumor cells which initiate monocyte migration from blood vessels to tumor site and/or promote the proliferation of tissue macrophages [8]. In this chapter, the correlation between inflammation and cancer will be reviewed at first, and then the information about macrophage ontogeny will be discussed, attempting to summarize the knowledge

K.-i. Isobe

Department of Food Science and Nutrition, Nagoya Wuman's University, Mizuho-ku, Nagoya, Japan e-mail: kisobe@nagoya-wu.ac.jp

H. Xiao (🖂)

Aging Research Group, National Clinical Center for Geriatrics, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China e-mail: hengyix@scu.edu.cn

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

N. Rezaei (ed.), Cancer Immunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_19

and hints meaningful to further understanding the properties and function of TAMs and helpful to develop tumor therapy.

19.2 Cancer and Inflammation

Pathologists have recognized that tumors often arise at sites with chronic inflammation and that inflammatory cells were always present in biopsied samples from tumors. Galen originally noted this relationship, and Rudolf Virchow reported more evidence in the nineteenth century [1]. Recent molecular and epidemiological studies have led to a general acceptance that inflammation and cancer are correlated [4, 9]. Many triggers of chronic inflammation can increase the risk of cancer development. For example, inflammatory bowel disease is associated with colon cancer, helicobacter pylori with gastric cancer and gastric mucosal lymphoma, and prostatitis with prostate cancer [10].

Two mechanical illustrations have been proposed for the association of inflammation with tumor development. One emphasizes the activation of oncogenes (intrinsic) and another underlies immune cell infiltration which includes the filtration of TAMs, neutrophils, mast cells, and T cells [11]. Although the main focus of this chapter is the second line of understanding, particularly as to TAM filtration, the first mechanical illustration pointing to the inflammation caused by oncogene activation would be briefly discussed here, as clearing up the concept of the inflammatory process triggered by cancer cells (intrinsic) or by immune cells (extrinsic) is important for our comprehension about the role of TAMs in tumorigenesis. The basic concept about "intrinsic" tumor inflammation says that some oncogenes can activate the production of inflammatory chemokines. One example of these oncogenes is RET, a membrane-type protein tyrosine kinase. It is well known that papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC) is associated with the rearrangement of RET protooncogene to form RET/PTC oncogene, while RET/PTC leads to successive MAPK activation and uncontrolled cell proliferation because of its constitutively activated kinase activity [12]. In

addition, when exogenously expressed in primary normal human thyrocytes, RET/PTC1 oncogene can evidently induce the expression of a large set of genes involved in inflammation and tumor invasion, including those encoding chemokines (CCL2, CCL20, CXCL8, and CXCL12), chemokine receptors (CXCR4), cytokines (IL1B, CSF-1, GM-CSF, and G-CSF), matrix-degrading enzymes (metalloproteases and urokinase-type plasminogen activator and its receptor), and adhesion molecules (L-selectin) 13 [8]. These RET-induced chemokines act to recruit neutrophils and monocytes from blood vessels; among the recruited cells, monocytes consequently developed into macrophages in the tumor site [13].

As to the "extrinsic" tumor inflammation, it is proposed that chronic inflammatory cell filtration, including TAM filtration, can influence the proliferation and transformation of tissue cells [11]. Macrophages express innate immune receptors called pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), which inspect infection by recognizing conserved microbial features common to various classes of microbes detected [14, 15]. In addition, toll-like receptors (TLRs) on macrophages target a range of microbial ligands, including lipopolysaccharide (for TLR4), lipoproteins (for TLR2), flagellin (for TLR5), unmethylated CpG motifs in DNA (for TLR9), double-stranded RNA (for TLR3), and single-stranded RNA (for TLR7 and TLR8) [16, 17]. The first proof that chronic inflammation induces tumorigenesis comes from the studies for colitis-induced colonic cancer. In the intestine where plenty of bacteria exist, LPS of gram-negative bacteria binds to TLR4 on the surface of immune cells, leading to the activation of NF-kB signaling, a key player in inflammatory processes [18, 19]. Canonical NF-κB pathway acts through the activation of $I-\kappa B$ kinase (IKK) complex, the phosphorylation of I- κ Bs by IKK β , the ubiquitin-dependent degradation of I-kBs/ p50, and the entrance of NF-κB (p50/p65 or c-rel/ p65) dimers to the nucleus [20-22]. On the other hand, alternative NF-kB pathway cascades through IKKα-dependent phosphorylation and cleavage of p100/NFkB2, followed by the formation and nuclear entrance of p52/RelB heterodi-



Figure: Two Mechanisms proposed to explain the association between TAMs and tumorigenesis

Fig. 19.1 Two mechanisms proposed to explain the association between TAMs and tumorigenesis. (a) A large set of chemokines (CCL2 and others) and cytokines (G-CSF and so on) secreted by tumor cells can promote the recruitment of monocytes in local region and then educate these filtrated monocytes to become TAMs in the location. (b)

mer [23]. In a colitis-associated cancer model, Greten et al. found that deletion of IKKß in intestinal epithelial cells induced a dramatic decrease in tumor incidence without affecting tumor size; instead, deletion of IKK β in myeloid cells resulted in a significant decrease in tumor size. They reported that IKK^β depletion in myeloid cells diminished the expression of proinflammatory cytokines which serve as tumor growth factors in this model. They also showed that the oral administration of dextran sodium sulfate disrupted the intestinal endothelial lining, together with the activation of lamina propria macrophages caused by enteric bacteria in the gut. Importantly, they found these activated cells hold active NF-kB pathway and triggered release of inflammatory mediators known to support tumorigenesis. These tumor-promoting inflammatory mediators include COX-2-derived PGE2 and IL-6 [24]. Similar findings were reported in another inflammatory system related to liver cancer [25]. In contrast to inflammatory cytokines,

The inflammatory cytokines produced by TAMs can influence the proliferation of tumor cells. When the factors produced by M2-like TAMs are preponderated, tumor proliferation increases, while the factors produced by M1-like TAMs (reeducated TAMs) are inhibitory for tumor proliferation

NF- κ B were also found to activate the expression of other genes playing roles for tumorigenesis, such as the genes encoding adhesion molecules, enzymes for prostaglandin synthesis (such as COX2), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), and angiogenic factors. Noteworthy, although noncanonical NF- κ B signaling has been shown to be involved in colon inflammation and tumorigenesis, its contribution to tumorigenesis is mainly dependent upon intrinsic mechanism but peripherally upon immune cells (Fig. 19.1) [26].

19.3 Development of Myeloid Lineage Cells Including Macrophages

Tissue macrophages are divided into two types; nonetheless, some overlap exists in surface marker expression between these two types of macrophage [27]. M1 macrophages (classically activated macrophages or inflammatory macrophages) act essentially to defend the host from a variety of bacteria, protozoa, and viruses and have roles in antitumor immunity. On the other hand, M2 macrophages (alternatively activated macrophages) exert anti-inflammatory properties and can promote wound healing [28]. From the view of functional features, TAMs are overtly similar to M2 macrophages. Tissue macrophages in adults are usually believed to be recruited from monocytes in blood vessels, while monocytes are derived from hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) in bone marrow (BM). Two types of monocytes have been classified. LY6Chi monocytes (inflammatory monocytes) expressing CCR2 are recruited to acute inflammatory tissues and become M1 macrophages there [29], whereas LY6C^{low} monocytes (patrolling monocytes) expressing CX3Cl1 are recruited to and become M2 macrophages in tissues usually with chronic inflammation [30]. Recently, the previously believed notion that the origin of adult macrophages stemmed from HSCs in BM has been challenged, since it is reported that macrophages impositioned vested in the yolk sac (YS) from day 8 (E8) in murine embryo [31], whereas definitive HSCs appeared in the hematogenic endothelium of the aorta-gonado-mesonephros region at E10.5 [32–34] and then migrated to the fetal liver [35]. As shown by Schulz et al., YS-derived F4/80 bright macrophages repopulate in adult tissues and turn to liver Kupffer cells, epidermal cells, Langerhans and brain microgliaindependent HSCs [36]. Why do macrophages exist during fetal development in limited organs but in almost all adult tissues is an open question. A possible pathway through which macrophages play their role in development is through guiding morphogenesis [37]. A well-studied example is the mammary gland. Mammalian mammary ducts develop multilaminate bulbous termini known as terminal end buds (TEBs) at puberty and during pregnancy. Macrophages are found within the TEB structure, where they phagocytose apoptotic epithelial cells alone with lumen formation [38, 39]. TAMs may have similar properties but play a role in tumor development instead of tissue development. The vertebrate immune system has evolved in concert with parasites, protozoa, bacteria, and virus infection. A situation faced today is that although the parasite infection has decreased largely for human beings, our immune system against parasites still works actively for allergy reaction, wound healing, and others. Herein, the recent discovery about helminth immunity is briefly narrated. Several kinds of cells participating in helminth immunity should be mentioned ahead; the first cell type which must be pointed is T helper 2 (Th2) cells secreting IL4 in gut or lung when helminth infection occurs. The second kind of cells is gut epithelial Goblet cells, which express IL4Ra, secretory mucus, and produces resistin-like molecule- β (RELM β), an innate protein with direct anti-helminth activity. The third one is M2 macrophages, which own IL4Ra and produce arginase 1, chitinase 3-like proteins 3 and 4 (also known as YM1 and YM2, respectively), and RELM α . Since high arginase activity of myeloid cells coincides with the transport of extracellular L-arginine into cells, causing a reduction of L-arginine in the microenvironment, this decrease in L-arginine would result in T cell hyporesponsiveness [40]. The same thing happens in TAMs. For example, as reported by Rodriguez et al., a subpopulation of mature tumor-associated myeloid cells express high levels of arginase I in 3LL murine lung carcinoma model, and L-Arg depletion by tumor-associated myeloid cells inhibited antigen-specific proliferation of T cells [41]. Despite the high activity of arginaseinduced L-Arg depletion, macrophages can convert L-Arg to inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) by other mechanism, which will be discussed later.

Bacterial infection induces macrophage activation, which first recruits neutrophils to the infected site. Neutrophils and macrophages phagocyte the bacteria inside the phagolysosome and kill the bacteria by enzymes inside the lysosome or by reactive oxygen species (ROS) and then produced nitric oxide (NO) radicals. T lymphocytes in regional lymph nodes are stimulated by dendritic cells, followed by the clonal expansion and the migration of these T lymphocytes to infected sites. Among these T cells, Th1 cells produce IFNy to kill the bacteria inside the

phagocytes; Th17 cells produce IL-17 to recruit more neutrophils to the infected site. However, excessive or continued activities of phagocytes and T cells may induce tissue damages and fibrosis, thereby suppressing tissue regeneration. Early studies showed that macrophages can suppress T cell proliferation by producing NO radicals [42, 43] and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) [44]. This T cell suppressive function of macrophages is one of TAM characteristics. These macrophages in tumor are specifically called myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) [45]. Recently, M2 macrophages have been divided into M2a, M2b, and M2c subgroups according to their inducing stimuli. M2a (induced by exposure to IL-4 and IL-13) and M2b (induced by combined exposure to immune complexes and TLR or IL-1R agonists) exert immunoregulatory functions and drive type II responses, whereas M2c macrophages (induced by IL-10) are more related to the suppression of immune responses and tissue remodeling [46].

19.4 Characteristics of TAMs

Tumor-associated macrophages have been shown to perform a number of different roles in the tumor microenvironment to facilitate tumor progression [37, 47–49], and the density of TAMs in human tumors closely correlates with poor prognosis [5]. TAMs are recruited as monocytes from the bloodstream into tumor tissue. Some chemoattractants produced by both malignant cells and stromal tumor compartments play an important role in this recruitment [50, 51]. For example, stromal- and epithelial cell-produced CSF1 seems the most important chemoattractant working for the recruitment of TAMs to tumor [52], while Csf1 deficiency in macrophages suppressed tumor progression in the mice intestinal cancer model with APC716 mutation [53]. Up to now, various features of TAMs have been identified; however, other features remain to be elucidated. One of these is the close relationship of TAMs and tumor angiogenesis, since TAMs express various angiogenic molecules, including VEGF [54]. Macrophages also promote intestinal cancer by producing TNF, which activates Wnt-catenin pathway essential for tumor progression in intestinal cells [53]. Moreover, TAMs downregulate the expression of major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC II) and their ability of antigen presentation. As for cytokine production, TAMs express COX2-derived prostaglandin E₂, as well as the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 [55]. Murine TAMs express low levels of IL-12 but high levels of M2-specific genes, such as argi-(Arg-1), macrophage galactose-type nase-1 C-type lectin-2 (Mgl2), Fizz1, and Ym1 [56, 57]. These characteristics are similar to M2 macrophages. However, TAMs express both M1 and M2 markers in certain circumstances, relevant to tumor type and the stage of tumor development. For example, increased expression of inducible nitric oxide (iNOS or NOS2, an enzyme expressed by M1 macrophages) together with elevated levels of Arg-1 (usually expressed by M2 macrophages) was observed in TAMs in CT26 murine colon tumors, Meth A⁻ sarcoma, and prostate tumors [58, 59]. Meanwhile, TAMs are thought to suppress T cell proliferation or induce regulatory T cells by the expression of IL-10, TGF β , Arg-1, and prostaglandins [60–63]. immunosuppressive macrophages are These called myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs). MDSCs are increased in patients with head and neck, breast, non-small-cell lung, and renal cancers [64-66]. Phenotype of murine MDSCs is CD11b⁺, Gr-1⁺, IL-4 α ⁺, and F4/80⁻.

19.5 "Reeducating" TAMs to Cytotoxic Phenotype

Due to the large population of TAMs existing in many tumors, a therapeutic approach increasing their tumoricidal activity and attempting to activate antitumor immunity would be most appealing. As previously mentioned, NF- κ B signaling pathway is important for cancer-related inflammation and malignant progression. Hagemann et al. stated that the infection of TAMs with Adv-IKK β DN to isolated CD11b⁺ TAMs from ID8 ovarian cancer-bearing mice inhibited NF- κ B signaling, and the inactivation of IKK β in
TAMs also prevented tumor cell invasion through macrophage-mediated tumoricidal activity in vitro. Moreover, they demonstrated that IL-12^{high} IL-10^{low} phenotype of IKKβ-targeted macrophages was associated with decreased expression of arginase-1 and elevated expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase (NOS2). They also showed that adoptive transfer of converted tumor by Adv-IKK^{BDN} in vivo induced IL-12mediated increase in NK cells [67]. Another line of evidence revealed that inhibition of COX-2 can prevent breast cancer metastasis. This was recognized based on the fact that the specific inhibitor of COX-2, etodolac, inhibited human M2 macrophage differentiation, as evidenced by the decreased expressions of CD14 and CD163 genes and increased TNF α production. Using a BALB/c breast cancer model, Na et al. found that etodolac significantly reduced lung cancer metastasis, possibly due to the increased expressions of IA/IE and TNFa genes and decreased expressions of M2 macrophage-related genes [68].

19.6 Concluding Remarks

TAMs have been shown to enhance tumor invasion, migration, and angiogenesis by inflammation. Recent progresses to elucidate the molecular mechanisms of the functions of TAMs opened the new ways to treat cancer patients by reeducating TAMs to be tumor inhibitory cells.

References

- Pollard JW. Tumor-educated macrophages promote tumour progression and metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004;4:71–8.
- Sica A, Schioppa T, Mantovani A, Allavena P. Tumorassociated macrophages are a distinct M2 polarized population promoting tumor progression: potential targets of anti-cancer therapy. Eur J Cancer. 2006;42(6):717–27.
- Buechler C, Ritter M, Orso E, Langmann T, Klucken J, Schmitz G. Regulation of scavenger receptor CD163 expression in human monocytes and macrophages by pro- and anti-inflammatory stimuli. J Leukoc Biol. 2000;67(1):97–103.
- Lau SK, Chu PG, Weiss LM. CD163: a specific marker of macrophages in paraffin-embedded tissue samples. Am J Clin Pathol. 2004;122(5):794–801.

- Bingle L, Brown NJ, Lewis CE. The role of tumourassociated macrophages in tumour progression: implications for new anticancer therapies. J Pathol. 2002;196(3):254–65.
- Leek RD, Lewis CE, Whitehouse R, Greenall M, Clarke J, Harris AL. Association of macrophage infiltration with angiogenesis and prognosis in invasive breast carcinoma. Cancer Res. 1996;56(20):4625–9.
- Lee AH, Happerfield LC, Bobrow LG, Millis RR. Angiogenesis and inflammation in invasive carcinoma of the breast. J Clin Pathol. 1997;50(8):669–73.
- Bottazzi B, Polentarutti N, Acero R, Balsari A, Boraschi D, Ghezzi P, et al. Regulation of the macrophage content of neoplasms by chemoattractants. Science. 1983;220:210–2.
- Balkwill F, Charles KA, Mantovani A. Smoldering and polarized inflammation in the initiation and promotion of malignant disease. Cancer Cell. 2005;7:211–7.
- Sfanos KS, De Marzo AM. Prostate cancer and inflammation: the evidence. Histopathology. 2012;60(1):199–215.
- Murdoch C, Muthana M, Coffelt SB, Lewis CE. The role of myeloid cells in the promotion of tumour angiogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008;8:618–31.
- Romei C, Ellsei R. RET/PTC translocations and clinico-pathological features in human papillary thyroid carcinoma. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2012;3:54.
- Borrello MG, et al. Induction of a proinflammatory program in normal human thyrocytes by the RET/PTC1 oncogene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102:14825–30.
- 14. Janeway CA Jr. Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol. 1989;54:1–13.
- Medzhitov R. Recognition of microorganisms and activation of the immune response. Nature. 2007;449:819–26.
- Kawai T, Akira S. Pathogen recognition with toll-like receptors. Curr Opin Immunol. 2005;17:338–44.
- Akira S, Takeda K, Kaisho T. Toll-like receptors: critical proteins linking innate and acquired immunity. Nat Immunol. 2001;2:675–80.
- Barnes PJ, Karin M. Nuclear factor-κB: a pivotal transcription factor in chronic inflammatory diseases. N Engl J Med. 1997;336(15):1066–71.
- Chen LW, Egan L, Li ZW, Greten FR, Kagnoff MF, Karin M. The two faces of IKK and NF-κB inhibition: prevention of systemic inflammation but increased local injury following intestinal ischemia-reperfusion. Nat Med. 2003;9:575–81.
- Li Q, Van Antwerp D, Mercurio F, Lee KF, Verma IM. Severe liver degeneration in mice lacking the IkappaB kinase 2 gene. Science. 1999;284:321–5.
- 21. Li ZW, Chu W, Hu Y, Delhase M, Deerinck T, Ellisman M, et al. The IKKbeta subunit of IkappaBkinase (IKK) is essential for nuclear factor kappaB activation and prevention of apoptosis. J Exp Med. 1999;189:1839–45.
- Karin M. Nuclear factor-κB in cancer development and progression. Nature. 2006;441:431–6.

- Senftleben U, Cao Y, Xiao G, Greten FR, Krahn G, Bonizzi G, et al. Activation by IKKalpha of a second, evolutionary conserved, NF-kappa B signaling pathway. Science. 2001;293:1495–9.
- Greten FR, Eckmann L, Greten TF, Park JM, Li ZW, Egan LJ, et al. IKKβ links inflammation and tumorigenesis in a mouse model of colitis-associated cancer. Cell. 2004;118:285–96.
- Pikarsky E, Porat RM, Stein I, Abramovitch R, Amit S, Kasem S, et al. NF-κB functions as a tumour promoter in inflammation-associated cancer. Nature. 2004;431:461–6.
- Allen IC, Wilson JE, Schneider M, Lich JD, Roberts RA, Arthur JC, et al. Suppresses colon inflammation and tumorigenesis through the negative regulation of non-canonical NF-κB signaling and MAP kinase activation. Immunity. 2012;36(5):742–54.
- Geissmann F, Gordon S, Hume DA, Mowat AM, Randolph GJ. Unravelling mononuclear phagocyte heterogeneity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10(6):453–60.
- Murra PJ, Wynn TA. Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(11):723–37.
- 29. Tsou CL, Peters W, Si Y, Slaymaker S, Aslanian AM, Weisberg SP, et al. Critical roles for CCR2 and MCP-3 in monocyte mobilization from bone marrow and recruitment to inflammatory sites. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(4):902–9.
- Auffray C, Fogg D, Garfa M, Elain G, Join-Lambert O, Kayal S, et al. Monitoring of blood vessels and tissues by a population of monocytes with patrolling behavior. Science. 2007;317(5838):666–70.
- Bertrand JY, Jalil A, Klaine M, Jung S, Cumano A, Godin I. Three pathways to mature macrophages in the early mouse yolk sac. Blood. 2005;106:3004–11.
- Kissa K, Herbomel P. Blood stem cells emerge from aortic endothelium by a novel type of cell transition. Nature. 2010;464:112–5.
- Bertrand JY, Chi NC, Santoso B, Teng S, Stainier DY, Traver D. Haematopoietic stem cells derive directly from aortic endothelium during development. Nature. 2010;464:108–11.
- Boisset JC, van Cappellen W, Andrieu-Soler C, Galjart N, Dzierzak E, Robin C. In vivo imaging of haematopoietic cells emerging from the mouse aortic endothelium. Nature. 2010;464:116–20.
- Orkin SH, Zon LI. Hematopoiesis: an evolving paradigm for stem cell biology. Cell. 2008;132:631–44.
- Schulz C, Gomez Perdiguero E, Chorro L, Szabo-Rogers H, Cagnard N, Kierdorf K. A lineage of myeloid cells independent of Myb and hematopoietic stem cells. Science. 2012;336:86–90.
- Pollard JW. Trophic macrophages in development and disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9:259–70.
- Gouon-Evans V, Rothenberg ME, Pollard JW. Postnatal mammary gland development requires macrophages and eosinophils. Development. 2000;127:2269–82.
- Ingman WV, Wyckoff J, Gouon-Evans V, Condeelis J, Pollard JW. Macrophages promote collagen fibril-

logenesis around terminal end buds of the developing mammary gland. Dev Dyn. 2006;235:3222–9.

- Choi BS, Martinez-Falero IC, Corset C, Munder M, Modolell M, Müller I, Kropf P. Differential impact of L-arginine deprivation on the activation and effector functions of T cells and macrophages. J Leukoc Biol. 2009;85(2):268–77.
- Rodriguez PC, Quiceno DG, Zabaleta J, Ortiz B, Zea AH, Piazuelo MB. Arginase I production in the tumor microenvironment by mature myeloid cells inhibits T-cell receptor expression and antigen-specific T-cell responses. Cancer Res. 2004;64:5839–49.
- Isobe K, Nakashima I. Feedback suppression of staphylococcal enterotoxin-stimulated T-lymphocyte proliferation by macrophages through inductive nitric oxide synthesis. Infect Immun. 1992;60(11):4832–7.
- 43. Kawabe T, Isobe KI, Hasegawa Y, Nakashima I, Shimokata K. Immunosuppressive activity induced by nitric oxide in culture supernatant of activated rat alveolar macrophages. Immunology. 1992;76(1):72–8.
- 44. Hara T, Ogasawara N, Akimoto H, Takikawa O, Hiramatsu R, Kawabe T, et al. High-affinity uptake of kynurenine and nitric oxide-mediated inhibition of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in bone marrowderived myeloid dendritic cells. Immunol Lett. 2008;116(1):95–102.
- Miller LS, Cho JS. Immunity against Staphylococcus aureus cutaneous infections. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(8):505–18.
- 46. Mantovani A, Sica A, Sozzani S, Allavena P, Vecchi A, Locati M. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. Trends Immunol. 2004;25:677–86.
- Mantovani A, Bottazzi B, Colotta F, Sozzani S, Ruco L. The origin and function of tumor-associated macrophages. Immunol Today. 1993;13:463–4.
- Condeelis J, Pollard JW. Macrophages: obligate partners for tumor cell migration, invasion, and metastasis. Cell. 2006;124:263–6.
- Joyce JA, Pollard JW. Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9:239–52.
- Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. Cancerrelated inflammation. Nature. 2008;454:436–44.
- Lewis CE, Pollard JW. Distinct role of macrophages in different tumor microenvironments. Cancer Res. 2006;66:605–12.
- Lin EY, Nguyen AV, Russell RG, Pollard JW. Colonystimulating factor 1 promotes progression of mammary tumors to malignancy. J Exp Med. 2001;193:727–40.
- 53. Oguma K, Oshima H, Aoki M, Uchio R, Naka K, Nakamura S, et al. Activated macrophages promote Wnt signalling through tumour necrosis factor-α in gastric tumour cells. EMBO J. 2008;27:1671–81.
- 54. Stockmann C, Doedens A, Weidemann A, Zhang N, Takeda N, Greenberg JI, et al. Deletion of vascular endothelial growth factor in myeloid cells accelerates tumorigenesis. Nature. 2008;456:814–8.
- 55. Huang M, Stolina M, Sharma S, Mao JT, Zhu L, Miller PW, Wollman J, et al. Non-small cell lung cancer cyclooxygenase-2-dependent regulation of

cytokine balance in lymphocytes and macrophages: up-regulation of interleukin 10 and downregulation of interleukin 12 production. Cancer Res. 1998;58:1208–16.

- Mantovani A, Sozzani S, Locati M, Allavena P, Sica A. Macrophage polarization: tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes. Trends Immunol. 2002;23:549–55.
- 57. Van Ginderachter JA, Movahedi K, Ghassabeh GH, et al. Classical and alternative activation of mononuclear phagocytes: picking the best of both worlds for tumor promotion. Immunobiology. 2006;211:487–501.
- Kusmartsev S, Gabrilovich DI. STAT1 signaling regulates tumor-associated macrophage-mediated T cell deletion. J Immunol. 2005;174:4880–91.
- 59. Tsai CS, Chen FH, Wang CC, Huang HL, Jung SM, Wu CJ, et al. Macrophages from irradiated tumors express higher levels of iNOS, arginase-I and COX-2, and promote tumor growth. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2007;68:499–507.
- Balkwill F, Mantovani A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? Lancet. 2001;357:539–45.
- Sinha P, Clements VK, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Interleukin-13-regulated M2 macrophages in combination with myeloid suppressor cells block immune surveillance against metastasis. Cancer Res. 2005;65:11743–51.

- 62. Sica A, Saccani A, Bottazzi B, Polentarutti N, Vecchi A, van Damme J, et al. Autocrine production of IL-10 mediates defective IL-12 production and NF-kappa B activation in tumor-associated macrophages. J Immunol. 2000;164:762–7.
- Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. Nat Med. 2004;10:942–9.
- Bronte V, Serafini P, Apolloni E, Zanovello P. Tumorinduced immune dysfunctions caused by myeloid suppressor cells. J Immunother. 2001;24:431–46.
- Nagaraj S, Gabrilovich DI. Tumor escape mechanism governed by myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cancer Res. 2008;68:2561–3.
- 66. Sinha P, Clements VK, Bunt SK, Albelda SM, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Cross-talk between myeloidderived suppressor cells and macrophages subverts tumor immunity toward a type 2 response. J Immunol. 2007;179:977–83.
- Hagemann T, Lawrence T, McNeish I, et al. "Re-educating" tumor-associated macrophages by targeting NF-kappaB. J Exp Med. 2008;205:1261–8.
- Na YR, Yoon YN, Son DI, Seok SH. Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition blocks m2 macrophage differentiation and suppresses metastasis in murine breast cancer model. PLoS One. 2013;8(5):e63451.



Exosomes: Pros and Cons for Fighting Cancer

20

Graziela Gorete Romagnoli, Carolina Mendonça Gorgulho, and Ramon Kaneno

Contents

20.1	Introduction	373	
20.2	Tumor Cell-Derived Exosomes	374	
20.3	Exosomes Secreted by Dendritic Cells	376	
20.4	Diagnostic Application of Exo	378	
20.5	New Perspectives of Using Exo for Therapy	378	
20.6	Concluding Remarks	379	
References		379	

G. G. Romagnoli (🖂)

Department of Pathology, School of Medicine – São Paulo State University – UNESP, Botucatu, SP, Brazil

Department of Chemical and Biological Sciences, Institute of Biosciences – São Paulo State University – UNESP, Botucatu, SP, Brazil

Department Health Science, Oeste Paulista University – UNOESTE, Jaú, SP, Brazil e-mail: graromagnoli@yahoo.com.br

C. M. Gorgulho Department of Pathology, School of Medicine – São Paulo State University – UNESP, Botucatu, SP, Brazil

Department of Chemical and Biological Sciences, Institute of Biosciences – São Paulo State University – UNESP, Botucatu, SP, Brazil

R. Kaneno

Department of Chemical and Biological Sciences, Institute of Biosciences – São Paulo State University – UNESP, Botucatu, SP, Brazil

20.1 Introduction

The development and progression of cancer depend on a genetic instability of cells, but also on the interaction of tumor cells with the extracellular matrix compounds and immune cells [1, 2]. Classical cell communication involves a ligandreceptor interaction, being that the ligand can be on the cell surface, free in the extracellular medium, and even in extracellular vesicles (EVs) [3, 4]. EVs have been largely studied on the participation on the intercellular communication due to their ability to deliver bioactive molecules, such as proteins, lipids, miRNAs, mRNAs, and DNA [3–5].

Exosomes (Exo) are the most well-known EVs. They are small lipidic double-layer vesicles, originated from the invagination of late endosomes and raging from 30 to 150 nm [3, 6]. These endosomes are also called multivesicular bodies (MVBs) [3, 6] and fuse with the cell membrane, in order to deliver the intraluminal vesicles to the extracellular medium, when they become exosomes. Formation of intraluminal vesicles is not an aleatory (random) process of endocytic pathway, being rather coordinated by a group of proteins containing ubiquitin-interaction domains that bind with high avidity to ubiquitinated cargo [3]. This formation can also happen independently of ubiquitination, through ALIX protein, which works as an indirect adaptor to bring transmembrane heparin sulfate proteoglycans into MVBs [3]. Secretion of Exo is also a coordinated process, controlled by GTP proteins, belonging to the Rabs family [6].

Exo were described for the first time in the 1980s as a mechanism that helps to deliver/eliminate transferrin receptors during the maturation of erythrocytes [7, 8]. Therefore, this role in the elimination of intracellular material helps to keep the cell homeostasis. For instance, the elimination of aggregated intracellular proteins, such as TDP-43 throughout Exo by neurons, promotes cell clearance and probably decreases the gravity of clinical signs of neurodegenerative disease amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) [9].

Almost a decade after the first description of the Exo, some groups showed the evidence that Exo could be associated with intercellular communications during the immune response [10, 11]. Since Exo are considered a mini reflection of the original cells, Exo secreted by tumor cells can be both a rich source of tumor antigens [12–14] and bring suppressive molecules to hinder the immune response and enhance the tumor progression [15–17], while those delivered Exo delivered by antigen-presenting cells bring proteins directly involved in the induction of T cell response, such as the molecules of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and II and costimulatory molecules [10, 11, 18, 19].

Exo are also found in bodily fluids such as saliva, urine, and serum, leading several authors to show the feasibility of using them as a "liquid biopsy" for cancer diagnosis [20-22].

20.2 Tumor Cell-Derived Exosomes

The role of tumor cell-derived Exo in carcinogenesis is controversial since they can both contribute to an antitumor immune response and to evade this response enhancing angiogenesis and metastasis [23].

Dissemination of tumor cells to secondary sites depends on the formation of pre-metastatic niches, and tumor Exo contribute for this process inducing higher vascular permeability inside the primary tumor and in the secondary site as well [24, 25], facilitating the cell migration and colonization of this new site. It was observed that the integrity of endothelial barrier is broken by interference microRNAs, such as miR-105 found in tumor Exo, since treatment with anti-mi-R105 decreases the tumor volume in animals bearing xenogeneic tumor [25].

In fact, miRNAs seem to have a significant contribution to the role of Exo in promoting tumorigenesis, since those derived from metastatic breast cancer cells express more miRNA than those secreted by nonmetastatic cells [26]. Pre-miRNAs, such as Dirce, are found in Exo and are able to induce proliferation of tumor cells both in vitro and in vivo. Such a proliferative response can be blocked by antibodies (anti-Dirce) that reduce the tumor size in murine models in vivo [26]. The transcriptome of nontransformed MCF-10A cells is also modified by exposition to Exo, inhibiting the expression of tumor suppressor gene PTEN and converting them into tumor cells. In addition, motility and invasive growth are enhanced by Exo-derived metalloproteinases that directly modulate the extracellular matrix [15].

Tumor stromal cells also deliver Exo and are able to transfer miRNA (miR-21, -143 and -378e) to T47D breast cancer cells that gain an invasive feature, increasing the formation of mammospheres and the expression of SNAIL (zinc-finger transcriptional repressor) while reducing the expression of E-cadherin [27]. This phenotype is associated with the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), a process related to tumor progression. In addition, there is an increased expression of markers associated with cancer stem cells (CSCs) such as oct3/4, Nanog e SOX2 [27]. Maus et al. [28] have demonstrated, for the first time, the presence of extracellular vesicles in afferent lymphatic channels of patients with metastatic melanoma, suggesting their role in the formation of pre-metastatic niches.

Tumor Exo bring tumor-associated antigens as demonstrated in vesicles derived from colorectal cancer cells (CRC) as well as in plasma of metastatic CEA⁺ CRC patients [29]. Presence of circulating tumor Exo may have negative consequences since they could be recognized by antitumor therapeutic antibodies. For instance, Exo carrying Her-2 can be recognized by trastuzumab, a humanized anti-Her-2 monoclonal antibody used in the clinic. Such a reaction seems to cause sequestration of antibodies, hindering their antitumor effect [30]. Depletion of tumor Exo can be an alternative to keep specific antitumor antibodies working as observed by depletion of CD20⁺ Exo that increases the cytotoxic activity of anti-CD20 antibodies against CD20⁺ lymphoma B cells in vitro [31].

Another suppressive mechanism of tumor exosomes is their ability to induce apoptosis of immune cells. Concerning this, it was observed that Fas-ligand (Fas-L) loaded Exo secreted by melanoma cells induce apoptosis of T lymphocytes [32]. In addition to Fas-L, tumor Exo also carry TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL), being able to induce apoptosis of autologous CD8⁺ lymphocytes [29]. Galectin 9 expressed by Exo obtained from plasma of patients with EBVassociated nasopharyngeal carcinoma is able to induce apoptosis of EBV-specific CD4⁺ T cells by binding with TIM-3 receptor [33].

Subversion of protective response by tumor Exo can affect several defense cells. For instance, dendritic cells (DCs) treated with hypoxiainduced melanoma-derived extracellular vesicles show a reduced expression of markers CD83 and CD86, as well as reduced production of cytokines and chemokines involved in the Th-1 profile [28]. They also hinder the differentiation of DC precursor cells or drive this differentiation into TGF-β producing myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) [34]. Under the influence of tumor Exo, monocytes increase the expression of the programmed cell death ligand-1 (PD-L1), a potent regulatory molecule [35]. This increased PD-L1 expression on monocytes is due to the transference of Y RNA hY4 (a type of noncodificated miRNA) through the Exo, as happens with plasma vesicles isolated from patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), which happens in a TLR-7-dependent fashion [35].

The suppressive role of tumor Exo can favor the differentiation of both MDSC and regulatory T lymphocytes to keep the control on Th-1 lymphocytes and NK, probably due to the loading of TGF- β by nanovesicles [17, 36–38].

In opposition to this suppressive role, tumor Exo represent a rich source of tumor antigens, being able to trigger an antitumor response. It happens because Exo are incorporated by DC more efficiently than irradiated tumor cells, apoptotic bodies, or tumor cell lysates [13]. Even in patients bearing weakly immunogenic tumors, Exo isolated from the ascitic fluid were shown to carry relevant tumor antigens such as Her2/neu, Mart1, and Hsc70. DC sensitized with said Exo induced the generation of tumor-specific T lymphocytes, increase the production of IFN- γ , and enhance the antitumor cytotoxicity [14].

Besides tumor antigens, chaperones such as HSP70 and HSP90 can also be found in those Exo isolated from ascitic fluid of patients with T cell lymphoma [39]. Immunization of animals with these Exo triggers the generation of tumor-specific T lymphocytes following further challenge with live tumor cells, with a significant proliferation of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocytes, high levels of IFN- γ production, and enhanced resistance to tumor growth.

In another study it was observed that DCs treated with Exo isolated from patients with glioma, expressing MAGE-1 and HSP70, presented with increase on CD86 and HLA-DR, showing higher effectiveness to induce tumor-specific CD8⁺ lymphocytes than those sensitized with tumor lysate. In addition, resulting lymphocytes showed higher toxicity than their counterparts [40]. In a murine model, vaccination with DC pulsed with Exo from WEHI3B myeloid leukemia cells improves the survival of tumor-bearing animals, in comparison with the treatment with DC pulsed with WEHI3B lysate [41]. Authors demonstrated that Exo is a rich source of tumor antigens with long-term storage in MHC class II compartment. These Exo induce strong trogocytosis (a kind of intercellular transfer of cell surface proteins and membrane patches) with T lymphocytes that can be the reason for the high proliferation of WEHI3B-specific CD4+ T cells. In agreement with this view, it was reported that co-delivery of tumor derived Exo and α -galactosylceramide to DC is better than the tumor lysate to induce the proliferation of tumor-specific T cells, against glioblastoma [42].

DCs loaded with Exo of murine leukemia cells have significant prophylactic effect protecting 87% of animals against the development of leukemia [43]. These DCs showed therapeutic effect, delaying the tumor development in 100% of animals.

Clinical studies show that Exo isolated from ascites of cancer patients seem to be useful for inducing antitumor lymphocyte responsiveness. For instance, Exo obtained from ascites of colorectal cancer patients express CEA (carcinoembryonic antigen) and their administration together with GM-CSF (granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor) induced a delayed hypersensitivity to the Exo. Challenge of CTL infiltrating the delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) region with tumor cells showed the presence of specific anti-CEA lymphocytes [12]. This ability to transfer immunogenicity was also observed in Exo obtained from ascites of patients with weakly immunogenic cancers in which tumor markers Her2-neu, Mart1, and Hsc70 were identified [14].

Increasing the immunogenicity of tumor cells is one of the goals for using their Exo for active immunotherapy. According to this, Exo of heattreated ascites of gastric cancer patients show to be enriched for HSP70 and HSP60, being more effective than non-heated material to increase the expression of CD40, CD80, CD86, and MHC class II on DC [44]. This change is followed by increased functional effectiveness to induce lymphocyte proliferation in mixed lymphocyte reaction as well as the generation of tumor-specific CTL *in vitro*.

These data indicate that feasibility of using tumor-derived Exo seems to be dependent on the expression of danger signals provided by heat shock proteins, while those expressing regulatory signals (e.g., PD-L1 and CTLA-4) or bringing interference micro-RNA are rather associated with the facilitation of tumor growth. Therefore, blocking these regulatory signals and/or enhancing the expression of DAMPS (HSPs, HMGB-1, calreticulin) on tumor Exo, as well as select phenotypically immunogenic vesicles, may be rationale strategies to allow their use to achieve active antitumor immunity. Another strategy proposed by some authors is to use Exo obtained from antigen-presenting cells, as a tool for transferring selected immunogenic signals.

20.3 Exosomes Secreted by Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) are the main antigenpresenting cells, with the singular ability to activate *naïve* T lymphocytes [45]. DC classically present exogenous peptides linked to MHC class II molecules, while endogenously generated peptides are loaded on MHC class I molecules [46]. In addition, these cells are able to cross-present exogenous peptides in association with MHC class I molecules [47, 48].

Such a functional feature and the expression of costimulatory signals (including CD80, CD86, CD40, and ICAM-1) [46] are reflected in their Exo (DC-Exo), making them potential immunomodulatory nanovesicles. In fact, it was observed in P815 murine models of mastocytoma and TS/A spontaneous mouse mammary adenocarcinoma that treatment of tumor-bearing mice with DC-Exo loaded with tumor antigen peptides was able to induce tumor regression by direct activation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes [11]. Although Exo are able to directly activate T lymphocytes, this in vivo activity seems to be rather dependent on the incorporation by host DC [49, 50] and is more effective to stimulate primed lymphocytes than naïve T cells [51]. In addition, DC sensitization by antigen-loaded Exo seems to be more efficient than their exposition to soluble antigens, since the former induces higher levels of antigenspecific T lymphocyte hybridomas [52].

In another study it was demonstrated that Exo obtained from DC pulsed in vitro with a lysate of glioblastoma cells enriched with chaperones can be incorporated by syngeneic DC to induce a significant *in vitro* and *in vivo* antitumor responsiveness, featured by increased CTL activity, increased systemic production of IL-12 and IFN- γ , and enhanced survival of tumor-bearing mice [53].

DC-Exo are able to activate other effector cells such as natural killer (NKs) cells. For instance, it was observed that they carry the surface ligand for NKG2D, providing the activation of NK cells, as well as their proliferation in an IL-15Ra-dependent fashion, leading to tumor regression [54].

DC-Exo can also be incorporated into different tumor cell lines (SK-BR-3, U87, and K562), altering their phenotype. This Exo incorporation seems to be dependent on the tetraspanin CD9, expressed in tumor cells [55]. Furthermore, challenge with this new phenotype of tumor cell was able to induce IFN- γ production by previously sensitized T lymphocytes [56]. Interestingly, tetraspanins (e.g., CD9, CD63, and CD81) are a constitutive label of Exo [57] that can be relevant for their adhesion on the target cells, since they are involved in cell adhesion and cell stimulation as well as in functional signaling [58, 59].

Bioactive DNA, mRNA, and miRNA inside Exo [34, 60] contribute to their immunomodulatory property. For instance, it was observed that miRNA isolated from DC-Exo suppresses target mRNA of acceptor DCs, indicating that the luminal contents of these nanovesicles can also be transferred to target cells with posttranscriptional implications on their activity [61].

Immature and mature DCs can bind Exo on their surface following their internalization into endocytic vesicles [62]; however mature DCs retain more Exo on their surface [19]. Internalized Exo can be processed and antigens are presented via self MHC [19, 62, 63]. The interaction of Exo with cell membranes can occur through proteins such as integrins and tetraspanins [55, 64–66]. Extracellular cleavage of Exo surface proteins by proteases originate soluble ligands, which can bind to receptors on target cells [64]. Another Exo interaction fashion is cross-dressing, where proteins of Exo surface are transferred to the membrane of target cells, as happens with the MHC/tumor peptide complex [19, 67].

The expression of some molecules on the surface of Exo seems to reinforce their functional role in the immune response. In this aspect, LFA-1 integrins (CD11a/CD18) can work as receptors for these nanovesicles, since LFA-1 on murine CD8⁺ DCs interact with ICAM-1 on Exo, promoting their uptake. These Exo-loaded DCs further increase the expression of activation marker CD69 by lymphocytes [68]. In addition, ICAM-1 expressed by DC's Exo interact with LFA-1 on activated T lymphocytes, facilitating the transference of Exo MHC class II to the lymphocytes [69]. The interaction of C-type lectin with mannose-rich C-type lectin receptor is also involved in the incorporation of Exo by DCs, favoring the development of antitumor immune response in a murine model [70].

As previously described in preclinical studies, tumor antigen-loaded DCs show high potential to induce both in vitro and in vivo antitumor response [11, 56, 71]. In the first clinical trial involving patients with stage III/IV melanoma, it was observed the feasibility and safety of Exo of autologous DC pulsed with MAGE-3 peptide [72]. Two out of 15 patients have the disease stabilized, one of them for 24 months. Two other patients showed partial or minor responses. Increased NK activity was observed in 7 out of 13 patients, including that one who experienced partial clinical response to the treatment. Despite this effect on NK cells, no generation of specific anti-MAGE cytotoxic lymphocytes was observed.

A second clinical study was developed with patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) treated with Exo of autologous DC pulsed with MAGE peptides [73]. In this study six out nine vaccinated patients have the disease stabilized with no evidence of toxic effects. Their antitumor specific responsiveness was checked by DTH for MAGE peptides, and three out of nine patients showed the positive response.

In these two studies, DCs were pulsed with tumor peptides alone with no additional activation signal. DCs stimulated with tumor peptides and IFN- γ provide highly immunogenic Exo able to directly induce the generation of effector T lymphocytes *in vitro* and *in vivo* in the experimental model [74]. In a third clinical trial with NSCLC patients, the administration of Exo obtained from autologous DCs pulsed with tumor peptide and IFN- γ was well tolerated by 82% of patients with no signals of toxicity and overall median

survival of 15 months [75]. After the administration of four doses, a longer progression-free survival correlates with increased NK activity that showed to be dependent on NKp30 that links to BAG6 expressed by Exo.

20.4 Diagnostic Application of Exo

Although the presence of some oncoproteins can sometimes hinder the therapeutic usage of Exo, this feature enables their use for diagnostic purposes, since their bilipid membrane preserves their rich proteic and genetic content from degradation by extracellular enzymes. Exo in biological fluids can be isolated to be used as a noninvasive liquid biopsy. Melo et al. [22] elegantly demonstrated that Exo isolated from serum of patients with pancreatic cancer precursor lesions (PCPL) and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) have a rich expression of the proteoglycan glypcan-1 (GPC1) on their surface. Identification of GPC1+ Exo showed 100% of specificity and sensibility for both pathological conditions, being superior to the gold standard identification of carbohydrate antigen 19-9 (CA19-9) for diagnosis of PDAC that showed 63-80% of specificity/ sensibility for adenocarcinoma. Using a genetically engineered murine model for PCDA, the authors showed that GPC1⁺ Exo can be identified within 16 days, much earlier than the tumor identification by magnetic resonance (only visible of the fifth week) or by histopathological analysis. Another interesting point is that GPC1⁺ Exo are also loaded with KRASG12D, a gene frequently mutated in PCDA patients, reinforcing the proposal for using plasmatic Exo for diagnosis in the early phase of the disease.

Exo isolated from serum or plasma of patients with colorectal cancer also showed to be useful for diagnosis as reported by Hon et al. [76], since they are loaded with RNA (mRNA and long noncoding RNAs, lncRNAs), miRNA, and proteins associated with early and late phases of tumorigenesis, tumor proliferation and progression, increase of vascular permeability, remodeling of extravascular matrix, drug resistance, shorter disease-free survival, and poor prognosis.

In addition, Exo obtained from urine, saliva, and serum of patients with different kinds of cancer (such as bladder, breast, lung, melanoma, and prostate) can also be used for identification of biomarker [20]. Therefore this is a field that deserves new investigations in order to standardize and simplify the methodology for isolation and characterization of Exo for diagnostic purposes.

20.5 New Perspectives of Using Exo for Therapy

An attractive feature of Exo is the feasibility of using them as a biotechnological tool for drug delivery, since their biological nature favors their circulation and permanence in the blood, reducing the natural clearance by phagocytic cells observed when a synthetic nanomaterial is used as drug carriers [77, 78]. In addition, they show low toxicity according to previously reported trials [12, 72, 73, 75]. Depending on their original source and the administration route, Exo have an intrinsical ability of homing to target cells [77, 79]. For instance, Exo of B lymphocytes are fivefold more efficient to adhere to follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) than immune cells [80]. It was also observed that regions of lymphoid organs where DCs are surrounded by B lymphocytes show several Exo expressing MHC class II. Since FDC express, but are not able to synthesize MHC class II, the finding of these molecules on the cell surface could be explained by incorporation of Exo from B lymphocytes. The potential of migration of Exo for sentinel lymph nodes [81], associated with metastasis and growth of tumor cells, can also be explored for loading them with antitumor or immunostimulating agents, in order to avoid the development of pre-metastatic niches.

Exo can be loaded with lipophilic and hydrophilic drugs both during their biogenesis and after their purification [77]. Then, Exo of different cell lines were loaded with anti-inflammatory agent curcumin, enhancing the *in vivo* effect of this drug in order to decrease the development of glioblastoma [82].

Antitumor agent paclitaxel was incorporated to macrophage-derived Exo (Exo-PTX) to achieve a stable and adequately disperse product that showed higher in vitro toxicity for drug-resistant cell lines than pure paclitaxel [83]. In vivo, this Exo-PTX was tested in the murine model of pulmonary metastasis of Lewis lung carcinoma and showed considerable ability to inhibit the growth of cells in the lungs. Other authors have shown that both Exo derived from iDC and tumor cells loaded with doxorubicin (DOX) accumulate in the tumor site when injected in mice bearing ovarian cancer. These Exo nanocarriers were more effective than the higher doses of pure DOX [84, 85]. In addition, cardiotoxicity usually associated with the administration of DOX is reduced by its incorporation into Exo [84, 86].

20.6 Concluding Remarks

Since Exo bring a variety of antigens, receptors, and nucleic acids of the cells that originate them, it can be considered that they may reflex both the stimulatory and suppressive properties of those cells. Exo secreted by tumor cells show immunoregulatory properties rather than ability to stimulate an antitumor immune response, unless the original cells are previously submitted to stressing conditions to induce the expression of danger signals. This suppressive role limits the use of tumor-derived Exo for therapeutic purposes but the variety of surface markers they bring points out them as reliable liquid biopsies for early diagnosis of cancer.

On the other hand, taking DC as the main APC for triggering an antitumor immunoresponse, the expression of co-stimulatory signals and processed tumor-associated antigens by DC-derived Exo can make them a useful source of immunostimulatory signals, helping to overcome the immunosuppressive status induced by cancer cells, deserving more studies to support their clinical use.

References

- Lin WW, Karin M. A cytokine-mediated link between innate immunity, inflammation, and cancer. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(5):1175–83. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI31537.
- Orimo A, Gupta PB, Sgroi DC, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Delaunay T, Naeem R, et al. Stromal fibroblasts present in invasive human breast carcinomas promote tumor growth and angiogenesis through elevated SDF-1/CXCL12 secretion. Cell. 2005;121(3):335– 48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.02.034.
- McGough IJ, Vincent JP. Exosomes in developmental signalling. Development. 2016;143(14):2482–93. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.126516.
- Pitt JM, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Extracellular vesicles: masters of intercellular communication and potential clinical interventions. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(4):1139–43. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI87316.
- De Jong OG, Van Balkom BW, Schiffelers RM, Bouten CV, Verhaar MC. Extracellular vesicles: potential roles in regenerative medicine. Front Immunol. 2014;5:608. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2014.00608.
- Colombo M, Raposo G, Thery C. Biogenesis, secretion, and intercellular interactions of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2014;30:255–89. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-cellbio-101512-122326.
- Johnstone RM, Adam M, Hammond JR, Orr L, Turbide C. Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes). J Biol Chem. 1987;262(19):9412–20.
- Pan BT, Johnstone RM. Fate of the transferrin receptor during maturation of sheep reticulocytes in vitro: selective externalization of the receptor. Cell. 1983;33(3):967–78.
- Iguchi Y, Eid L, Parent M, Soucy G, Bareil C, Riku Y, et al. Exosome secretion is a key pathway for clearance of pathological TDP-43. Brain. 2016;139(Pt 12):3187–201. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aww237.
- Raposo G, Nijman HW, Stoorvogel W, Liejendekker R, Harding CV, Melief CJ, et al. B lymphocytes secrete antigen-presenting vesicles. J Exp Med. 1996;183(3):1161–72.
- Zitvogel L, Regnault A, Lozier A, Wolfers J, Flament C, Tenza D, et al. Eradication of established murine tumors using a novel cell-free vaccine: dendritic cellderived exosomes. Nat Med. 1998;4(5):594–600.
- Dai S, Wei D, Wu Z, Zhou X, Wei X, Huang H, et al. Phase I clinical trial of autologous ascites-derived exosomes combined with GM-CSF for colorectal cancer. Mol Ther. 2008;16(4):782–90. https://doi. org/10.1038/mt.2008.1.
- 13. Wolfers J, Lozier A, Raposo G, Regnault A, Thery C, Masurier C, et al. Tumor-derived exosomes are a

source of shared tumor rejection antigens for CTL cross-priming. Nat Med. 2001;7(3):297–303. https://doi.org/10.1038/85438.

- Andre F, Schartz NE, Movassagh M, Flament C, Pautier P, Morice P, et al. Malignant effusions and immunogenic tumour-derived exosomes. Lancet. 2002;360(9329):295–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(02)09552-1.
- Lu J, Li J, Liu S, Wang T, Ianni A, Bober E, et al. Exosomal tetraspanins mediate cancer metastasis by altering host microenvironment. Oncotarget. 2017;8(37):62803–15. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.19119.
- Whiteside TL. Exosomes and tumor-mediated immune suppression. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(4):1216–23. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI81136.
- Xiang X, Poliakov A, Liu C, Liu Y, Deng ZB, Wang J, et al. Induction of myeloid-derived suppressor cells by tumor exosomes. Int J Cancer. 2009;124(11):2621– 33. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.24249.
- Robbins PD, Morelli AE. Regulation of immune responses by extracellular vesicles. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(3):195–208. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3622.
- Pitt JM, Andre F, Amigorena S, Soria JC, Eggermont A, Kroemer G, et al. Dendritic cell-derived exosomes for cancer therapy. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(4):1224– 32. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI81137.
- Li W, Li C, Zhou T, Liu X, Li X, Chen D. Role of exosomal proteins in cancer diagnosis. Mol Cancer. 2017;16(1):145. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12943-017-0706-8.
- Lea J, Sharma R, Yang F, Zhu H, Ward ES, Schroit AJ. Detection of phosphatidylserine-positive exosomes as a diagnostic marker for ovarian malignancies: a proof of concept study. Oncotarget. 2017;8(9):14395–407. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.14795.
- Melo SA, Luecke LB, Kahlert C, Fernandez AF, Gammon ST, Kaye J, et al. Glypican-1 identifies cancer exosomes and detects early pancreatic cancer. Nature. 2015;523(7559):177–82. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature14581.
- Kalluri R. The biology and function of exosomes in cancer. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(4):1208–15. https:// doi.org/10.1172/JCI81135.
- Lobb RJ, Lima LG, Moller A. Exosomes: key mediators of metastasis and pre-metastatic niche formation. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2017;67:3–10. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2017.01.004.
- Zhou W, Fong MY, Min Y, Somlo G, Liu L, Palomares MR, et al. Cancer-secreted miR-105 destroys vascular endothelial barriers to promote metastasis. Cancer Cell. 2014;25(4):501–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccr.2014.03.007.
- Melo SA, Sugimoto H, O'Connell JT, Kato N, Villanueva A, Vidal A, et al. Cancer exosomes perform cell-independent microRNA biogenesis and promote tumorigenesis. Cancer Cell. 2014;26(5):707–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.005.
- 27. Donnarumma E, Fiore D, Nappa M, Roscigno G, Adamo A, Iaboni M, et al. Cancer-associated fibro-

blasts release exosomal microRNAs that dictate an aggressive phenotype in breast cancer. Oncotarget. 2017;8(12):19592–608. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.14752.

- Maus RLG, Jakub JW, Nevala WK, Christensen TA, Noble-Orcutt K, Sachs Z, et al. Human melanomaderived extracellular vesicles regulate dendritic cell maturation. Front Immunol. 2017;8:358. https://doi. org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00358.
- Huber V, Fais S, Iero M, Lugini L, Canese P, Squarcina P, et al. Human colorectal cancer cells induce T-cell death through release of proapoptotic microvesicles: role in immune escape. Gastroenterology. 2005;128(7):1796–804.
- Ciravolo V, Huber V, Ghedini GC, Venturelli E, Bianchi F, Campiglio M, et al. Potential role of HER2overexpressing exosomes in countering trastuzumabbased therapy. J Cell Physiol. 2012;227(2):658–67. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.22773.
- 31. Aung T, Chapuy B, Vogel D, Wenzel D, Oppermann M, Lahmann M, et al. Exosomal evasion of humoral immunotherapy in aggressive B-cell lymphoma modulated by ATP-binding cassette transporter A3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(37):15336–41. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1102855108.
- 32. Andreola G, Rivoltini L, Castelli C, Huber V, Perego P, Deho P, et al. Induction of lymphocyte apoptosis by tumor cell secretion of FasL-bearing microvesicles. J Exp Med. 2002;195(10):1303–16.
- 33. Klibi J, Niki T, Riedel A, Pioche-Durieu C, Souquere S, Rubinstein E, et al. Blood diffusion and Th1-suppressive effects of galectin-9-containing exosomes released by Epstein-Barr virus-infected nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. Blood. 2009;113(9):1957–66. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-02-142596.
- Valenti R, Huber V, Iero M, Filipazzi P, Parmiani G, Rivoltini L. Tumor-released microvesicles as vehicles of immunosuppression. Cancer Res. 2007;67(7):2912–5. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-0520.
- 35. Haderk F, Schulz R, Iskar M, Cid LL, Worst T, Willmund KV, et al. Tumor-derived exosomes modulate PD-L1 expression in monocytes. Sci Immunol. 2017;2(13) https://doi.org/10.1126/sciimmunol. aah5509.
- 36. Szczepanski MJ, Szajnik M, Welsh A, Whiteside TL, Boyiadzis M. Blast-derived microvesicles in sera from patients with acute myeloid leukemia suppress natural killer cell function via membrane-associated transforming growth factor-beta1. Haematologica. 2011;96(9):1302–9. https://doi.org/10.3324/ haematol.2010.039743.
- 37. Szajnik M, Czystowska M, Szczepanski MJ, Mandapathil M, Whiteside TL. Tumor-derived microvesicles induce, expand and up-regulate biological activities of human regulatory T cells (Treg). PLoS One. 2010;5(7):e11469. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0011469.
- Clayton A, Mitchell JP, Court J, Mason MD, Tabi Z. Human tumor-derived exosomes selectively impair

lymphocyte responses to interleukin-2. Cancer Res. 2007;67(15):7458–66. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3456.

- 39. Menay F, Herschlik L, De Toro J, Cocozza F, Tsacalian R, Gravisaco MJ, et al. Exosomes isolated from ascites of T-cell lymphoma-bearing mice expressing surface CD24 and HSP-90 induce a tumor-specific immune response. Front Immunol. 2017;8:286. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00286.
- Bu N, Wu H, Sun B, Zhang G, Zhan S, Zhang R, et al. Exosome-loaded dendritic cells elicit tumor-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T cells in patients with glioma. J Neuro-Oncol. 2011;104(3):659–67. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11060-011-0537-1.
- Gu X, Erb U, Buchler MW, Zoller M. Improved vaccine efficacy of tumor exosome compared to tumor lysate loaded dendritic cells in mice. Int J Cancer. 2015;136(4):E74–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29100.
- 42. Liu H, Chen L, Liu J, Meng H, Zhang R, Ma L, et al. Co-delivery of tumor-derived exosomes with alpha-galactosylceramide on dendritic cellbased immunotherapy for glioblastoma. Cancer Lett. 2017;411:182–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. canlet.2017.09.022.
- 43. Yao Y, Wang C, Wei W, Shen C, Deng X, Chen L, et al. Dendritic cells pulsed with leukemia cellderived exosomes more efficiently induce antileukemic immunities. PLoS One. 2014;9(3):e91463. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091463.
- 44. Zhong H, Yang Y, Ma S, Xiu F, Cai Z, Zhao H, et al. Induction of a tumour-specific CTL response by exosomes isolated from heat-treated malignant ascites of gastric cancer patients. Int J Hyperth. 2011;27(6):604– 11. https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2011.564598.
- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature. 1998;392(6673):245– 52. https://doi.org/10.1038/32588.
- 46. Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, et al. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2000;18:767–811. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.18.1.767.
- 47. Arina A, Tirapu I, Alfaro C, Rodriguez-Calvillo M, Mazzolini G, Inoges S, et al. Clinical implications of antigen transfer mechanisms from malignant to dendritic cells. exploiting cross-priming. Exp Hematol. 2002;30(12):1355–64.
- Melero I, Arina A, Murillo O, Dubrot J, Alfaro C, Perez-Gracia JL, et al. Immunogenic cell death and cross-priming are reaching the clinical immunotherapy arena. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(8):2385–9. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-0314.
- 49. Hao S, Bai O, Yuan J, Qureshi M, Xiang J. Dendritic cell-derived exosomes stimulate stronger CD8+ CTL responses and antitumor immunity than tumor cell-derived exosomes. Cell Mol Immunol. 2006;3(3):205–11.
- Vincent-Schneider H, Stumptner-Cuvelette P, Lankar D, Pain S, Raposo G, Benaroch P, et al. Exosomes bearing HLA-DR1 molecules need dendritic cells to

efficiently stimulate specific T cells. Int Immunol. 2002;14(7):713–22.

- Muntasell A, Berger AC, Roche PA. T cell-induced secretion of MHC class II-peptide complexes on B cell exosomes. EMBO J. 2007;26(19):4263–72. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601842.
- 52. Mallegol J, Van Niel G, Lebreton C, Lepelletier Y, Candalh C, Dugave C, et al. T84-intestinal epithelial exosomes bear MHC class II/peptide complexes potentiating antigen presentation by dendritic cells. Gastroenterology. 2007;132(5):1866–76. https://doi. org/10.1053/j.gastro.2007.02.043.
- 53. Bu N, Wu H, Zhang G, Zhan S, Zhang R, Sun H, et al. Exosomes from dendritic cells loaded with chaperone-rich cell lysates elicit a potent T cell immune response against intracranial glioma in mice. J Mol Neurosci. 2015;56(3):631–43. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12031-015-0506-9.
- 54. Viaud S, Terme M, Flament C, Taieb J, Andre F, Novault S, et al. Dendritic cell-derived exosomes promote natural killer cell activation and proliferation: a role for NKG2D ligands and IL-15Ralpha. PLoS One. 2009;4(3):e4942. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004942.
- 55. Romagnoli GG, Toniolo PA, Migliori IK, Caldini EG, Ferreira MA, Pizzo CR, et al. Tumour cells incorporate exosomes derived from dendritic cells through a mechanism involving the tetraspanin CD9. Exosomes Microvesicles. 2013;1:4. https://doi.org/10.5772/52069.
- 56. Romagnoli GG, Zelante BB, Toniolo PA, Migliori IK, Barbuto JA. Dendritic cell-derived exosomes may be a tool for cancer immunotherapy by converting tumor cells into immunogenic targets. Front Immunol. 2014;5:692. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00692.
- Thery C, Zitvogel L, Amigorena S. Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function. Nat Rev Immunol. 2002;2(8):569–79. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri855.
- Denzer K, Kleijmeer MJ, Heijnen HF, Stoorvogel W, Geuze HJ. Exosome: from internal vesicle of the multivesicular body to intercellular signaling device. J Cell Sci. 2000;113(Pt 19):3365–74.
- Andre F, Escudier B, Angevin E, Tursz T, Zitvogel L. Exosomes for cancer immunotherapy. Ann Oncol. 2004;15(Suppl 4):141–4. https://doi.org/10.1093/ annonc/mdh918.
- 60. Kitai Y, Kawasaki T, Sueyoshi T, Kobiyama K, Ishii KJ, Zou J, et al. DNA-containing exosomes derived from cancer cells treated with topotecan activate a STING-dependent pathway and reinforce antitumor immunity. J Immunol. 2017;198(4):1649–59. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1601694.
- Montecalvo A, Larregina AT, Shufesky WJ, Stolz DB, Sullivan ML, Karlsson JM, et al. Mechanism of transfer of functional microRNAs between mouse dendritic cells via exosomes. Blood. 2012;119(3):756–66. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-02-338004.
- 62. Montecalvo A, Shufesky WJ, Stolz DB, Sullivan MG, Wang Z, Divito SJ, et al. Exosomes as a short-

range mechanism to spread alloantigen between dendritic cells during T cell allorecognition. J Immunol. 2008;180(5):3081–90.

- Raposo G, Stoorvogel W. Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol. 2013;200(4):373–83. https://doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.201211138.
- Mathivanan S, Ji H, Simpson RJ. Exosomes: extracellular organelles important in intercellular communication. J Proteome. 2010;73(10):1907–20. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jprot.2010.06.006.
- Chaput N, Thery C. Exosomes: immune properties and potential clinical implementations. Semin Immunopathol. 2011;33(5):419–40. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00281-010-0233-9.
- 66. Bretz NP, Ridinger J, Rupp AK, Rimbach K, Keller S, Rupp C, et al. Body fluid exosomes promote secretion of inflammatory cytokines in monocytic cells via toll-like receptor signaling. J Biol Chem. 2013;288(51):36691–702. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M113.512806.
- Nakayama M. Antigen presentation by MHC-dressed cells. Front Immunol. 2014;5:672. https://doi. org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00672.
- Segura E, Guerin C, Hogg N, Amigorena S, Thery C. CD8+ dendritic cells use LFA-1 to capture MHCpeptide complexes from exosomes in vivo. J Immunol. 2007;179(3):1489–96.
- Nolte-'t Hoen EN, Buschow SI, Anderton SM, Stoorvogel W, Wauben MH. Activated T cells recruit exosomes secreted by dendritic cells via LFA-1. Blood. 2009;113(9):1977–81. https://doi. org/10.1182/blood-2008-08-174094.
- Hao S, Bai O, Li F, Yuan J, Laferte S, Xiang J. Mature dendritic cells pulsed with exosomes stimulate efficient cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses and antitumour immunity. Immunology. 2007;120(1):90–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.2006.02483.x.
- 71. Chaput N, Schartz NE, Andre F, Taieb J, Novault S, Bonnaventure P, et al. Exosomes as potent cell-free peptide-based vaccine. II. Exosomes in CpG adjuvants efficiently prime naive Tc1 lymphocytes leading to tumor rejection. J Immunol. 2004;172(4):2137–46.
- Escudier B, Dorval T, Chaput N, Andre F, Caby MP, Novault S, et al. Vaccination of metastatic melanoma patients with autologous dendritic cell (DC) derived-exosomes: results of thefirst phase I clinical trial. J Transl Med. 2005;3(1):10. https://doi. org/10.1186/1479-5876-3-10.
- 73. Morse MA, Garst J, Osada T, Khan S, Hobeika A, Clay TM, et al. A phase I study of dexosome immunotherapy in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer. J Transl Med. 2005;3(1):9. https://doi. org/10.1186/1479-5876-3-9.
- 74. Viaud S, Ploix S, Lapierre V, Thery C, Commere PH, Tramalloni D, et al. Updated technology to produce highly immunogenic dendritic cell-derived exosomes of clinical grade: a critical role of interferongamma. J Immunother. 2011;34(1):65–75. https://doi. org/10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181fe535b.

- Besse B, Charrier M, Lapierre V, Dansin E, Lantz O, Planchard D, et al. Dendritic cell-derived exosomes as maintenance immunotherapy after first line chemotherapy in NSCLC. Onco Targets Ther. 2016;5(4):e1071008. https://doi.org/10.1080/21624 02X.2015.1071008.
- 76. Hon KW, Abu N, Ab Mutalib NS, Jamal R. Exosomes as potential biomarkers and targeted therapy in colorectal cancer: a mini-review. Front Pharmacol. 2017;8:583. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00583.
- Lai RC, Yeo RW, Tan KH, Lim SK. Exosomes for drug delivery – a novel application for the mesenchymal stem cell. Biotechnol Adv. 2013;31(5):543–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2012.08.008.
- Batrakova EV, Kim MS. Using exosomes, naturallyequipped nanocarriers, for drug delivery. J Control Release. 2015;219:396–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2015.07.030.
- Wiklander OP, Nordin JZ, O'Loughlin A, Gustafsson Y, Corso G, Mager I, et al. Extracellular vesicle in vivo biodistribution is determined by cell source, route of administration and targeting. J Extracell Vesicles. 2015;4:26316. https://doi.org/10.3402/jev. v4.26316.
- Denzer K, van Eijk M, Kleijmeer MJ, Jakobson E, de Groot C, Geuze HJ. Follicular dendritic cells carry MHC class II-expressing microvesicles at their surface. J Immunol. 2000;165(3):1259–65.
- Hood JL, San RS, Wickline SA. Exosomes released by melanoma cells prepare sentinel lymph nodes for tumor metastasis. Cancer Res. 2011;71(11):3792–801. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4455.
- 82. Zhuang X, Xiang X, Grizzle W, Sun D, Zhang S, Axtell RC, et al. Treatment of brain inflammatory diseases by delivering exosome encapsulated antiinflammatory drugs from the nasal region to the brain. Mol Ther. 2011;19(10):1769–79. https://doi. org/10.1038/mt.2011.164.
- Kim MS, Haney MJ, Zhao Y, Mahajan V, Deygen I, Klyachko NL, et al. Development of exosomeencapsulated paclitaxel to overcome MDR in cancer cells. Nanomedicine. 2016;12(3):655–64. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nano.2015.10.012.
- 84. Tian Y, Li S, Song J, Ji T, Zhu M, Anderson GJ, et al. A doxorubicin delivery platform using engineered natural membrane vesicle exosomes for targeted tumor therapy. Biomaterials. 2014;35(7):2383–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.11.083.
- Hadla M, Palazzolo S, Corona G, Caligiuri I, Canzonieri V, Toffoli G, et al. Exosomes increase the therapeutic index of doxorubicin in breast and ovarian cancer mouse models. Nanomedicine (Lond). 2016;11(18):2431–41. https://doi.org/10.2217/ nnm-2016-0154.
- 86. Srivastava A, Amreddy N, Babu A, Panneerselvam J, Mehta M, Muralidharan R, et al. Nanosomes carrying doxorubicin exhibit potent anticancer activity against human lung cancer cells. Sci Rep. 2016;6:38541. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep38541.



Photodynamic Therapy and Antitumor Immune Response

21

Sulbha K. Sharma and Michael R. Hamblin

Contents

21.1	Introduction	384
21.2	Photodynamic Therapy	384
21.3	DAMPs (Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns) and Tumor Ablative Therapies	386
21.4	PDT and Adaptive Immunity Recognizing Specific Antigens	387
21.5	Cancer and Immunosuppression	392
21.5.1	Regulatory T-Cells	393
21.5.2	Myeloid Suppressor Cells	393
21.5.3	Immature Dendritic Cells	393
21.5.4	Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase	394
21.6	PDT and Immunostimulant Combinations	394
21.7	PDT and Checkpoint Inhibitors	396
21.8	Concluding Remarks and Clinical Applications	397
References		398

S. K. Sharma

Department of Dermatology, Wellman Center for Photomedicine, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

Department of Dermatology, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education of Research Network (USERN), Boston, MA, USA

M. R. Hamblin (⊠) Department of Dermatology, Wellman Center for Photomedicine, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA Department of Dermatology, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education of Research Network (USERN), Boston, MA, USA

Department of Dermatology, Harvard-MIT Division of Health Sciences and Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA e-mail: hamblin@helix.mgh.harvard.edu

21.1 Introduction

Despite high investment in the field of cancer research, the overall results have been somewhat discouraging and have only produced marginal improvements in some types of cancer [1-4]. New-generation cancer drugs are now being tailored according to the patient and tumor genetic signatures and designed to exploit biochemical characteristics associated with tumors (such as ligands, receptors, and signaling pathways). But these approaches come with certain limitations, such as high cost, and more importantly, they are not applicable to a broad range of cancer patients and thus have limitations in comparison with older cheaper chemotherapeutic drugs [5]. Moreover, there are other difficulties, which arise due to the fact that the tumor often develops drug resistance and is often only detected at an advanced stage [6-12]. To complicate and worsen the situation further, some tumors appear to acclimatize and adapt to these initially active tailored drugs. Any time a specific pathway is blocked, the tumor tends to overcome this obstacle to its survival by developing an alternative pathway to continue its growth. Regardless of advances in cancer treatment, the conventional treatment package including surgery + radiation therapy + chemotherapy remains the most prevalent option for oncologists. In this chapter, we will discuss in detail an alternative antitumor technique called photodynamic therapy (PDT) and its ability to stimulate antitumor immune responses.

21.2 Photodynamic Therapy

There have been many preclinical and clinical studies carried out worldwide, showing that PDT has been proven to be a promising modality for the treatment of cancer and other malignancies [13–16]. PDT is now a clinically approved modality for the treatment and management of both nonmalignant and neoplastic diseases. It has the potential to overcome many of the shortcomings and problems associated with conventional cancer treatments. In photodynamic therapy a PS is the administered either systemically, locally, or

topically to a patient bearing a lesion (mostly cancer), followed after some time by the illumination of the lesion with visible light of appropriate wavelength. In the presence of oxygen, the excited PS generates cytotoxic reactive oxygen species (ROS) and therefore leads to cell death [17–21].

Since the lifetime of the ROS such as singlet oxygen is very short, approximately 10-320 ns, it has very limited cellular diffusion (10–55 nm), therefore PDT is highly localized [22], and the photodynamic damage only occurs in the vicinity of the PS molecular location. The PDT effect on the tumor occurs by three interrelated mechanisms: (1) killing of tumor cells directly; (2) tumor vasculature damage; and (3) induction of a strong inflammatory reaction that can lead to development of systemic immunity. The interaction between these three mechanisms and the tumor mass depends on factors such as the type and dose of the PS, the time frame of the PS administration (drug-light interval), the light characteristics (wavelength, total energy exposure or light dose, fluence rate, etc.), and the oxygen concentration in the tumor (Fig. 21.1).

PDT has numerous advantages over other cancer treatment options presently in use. In addition to its selectivity and the possibility of repeated or multiple application, it is considered inexpensive (in comparison with some recent targeted agents) and has tolerable side effects. Moreover, tumors are rarely resistant to PDT [23, 24]. Several types of economical PS compounds are commercially available, and some are already approved to be used on patients. Most of the PS classes in common use are based on porphyrin or chlorin-type backbones or their derivatives. With the newer PS classes, problems such as prolonged skin photosensitization have been virtually eliminated [25]. In addition, these compounds absorb in the farred region of the visible spectrum, optimal for deep tissue penetration. The list of benefits can be extended to include the absence of the adverse effects produced by radiation therapy and chemotherapy, lack of any significant change in tissue temperature during illumination, preservation of the connective tissue structures (collagen) at the site of PDT application, minimal induction of



Fig. 21.1 PDT-induced antitumor effects. In tumors, cells loaded with PS absorb light and generate ROS species, which leads to predominantly apoptotic and necrotic cell death. Tumor cell death is accompanied with activation of the complement cascade, pro-inflammatory cytokine activation, rapid accumulation of neutrophils, followed by DCs and macrophages. Dying tumor cells

and their debris are phagocytosed by phagocytic cells and DCs, which then migrate to the local lymph nodes and differentiate into antigen-presenting cells. Tumor antigen presentation is then followed by clonal expansion of tumor-specific lymphocytes that home to tumor sites and eliminate residual tumor cells

fibrosis compared to radiation therapy, and an improved cosmetic outcome. Therefore, PDT is a very promising treatment modality that needs further translational and clinical studies.

Studies have shown several and interconnected biological and physiological effects that occur during in vivo PDT. These effects depend on various factors such as the PS concentration, the location of PS in the organism/tumor site, and the dosage and rate of the applied irradiation. PDT effects include direct cell killing, occlusion of the tumor-associated vasculature, and modulation of the immune system, and sometimes all of these effects can be observed occurring simultaneously in a tumor model. At the cellular level, both necrosis and apoptosis have been observed to occur after PDT [14, 26–29]. It is a known fact that direct damage of the tumor cells and the nearby vasculature initiates several cell signaling cascades. Besides this, damage to endothelial cells leads to formation of thrombosis and consequently leads to occlusion of the tumor vasculature. In all these cases, the released fragments from the damaged cells and cytokines trigger a range of inflammatory mediators, which in turn activate the body's defense mechanism, i.e., the innate immune response, which can also affect adaptive immunity. Thus, we can say that PDT generates a distinct systemic effect as well as working in sync with the body's natural defense mechanisms. The overall success of PDT lies in the fact that it employs the body's "natural pathways" of defense. PDT has been clinically applied to the treatment of early stage pulmonary, gastric, and esophageal carcinoma and has been examined for application to other diseases such as retinal diseases [30, 31] or cardiovascular disorders [32, 33].

21.3 DAMPs (Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns) and Tumor Ablative Therapies

The immunogenicity of cancer cells is an emerging determinant of anticancer immunotherapy [34]. One of the most attractive features of PDT is that besides destroying the tumor itself, it can also trigger an acute inflammatory reaction, thus activating the body's immune system against the cancer cells as discussed above (Fig. 21.2). Thus, induction of a strong inflammatory reaction is a vital part of the antitumor effect of PDT. The local effect of PDT is localized edema and a strong acute inflammation reaction [35, 36]. PDT ends up generating an acute chemical insult within the tumor tissue which is recognized by the body as a type of localized trauma. After this trauma, there occurs a protective mechanism to reestablish tissue integrity and restore homeostasis at the damaged site. This includes removal of damaged cells, and then promoting the healing process at the affected area, in order to reinstate normal homeostasis. This elicited inflammation is initially nonspe-



Fig. 21.2 PDT-induced inflammation. Damaging the endothelial cells (ECs) activates a cascade of events leading to local inflammation, vessel dilation, and platelet aggregation. Much of these effects are caused by the release of thromboxane (TBX), cytokines (such as inter-

leukins IL1 β , IL6, IL8, tumor necrosis factor- α), and infiltration of immune system cells (necrotic and apoptotic cells provide antigens to the DCs that migrate to lymph nodes) cific for the tumor antigens and is orchestrated by the innate immune system [37].

PDT generates rapid and prolific "danger" signals, called damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) or cell death-associated molecular patterns (CDAMPs), at the site of treatment, which are detected by the innate immune system [38–42]. The pattern of recognition receptors is responsible for detecting the PDT-caused localized insult perceived as "altered self" [37]. This response has probably developed over evolution to protect the host against pathogen invasion at sites of tissue damage. At the onset of inflammation, the tumor vasculature undergoes significant changes and becomes adhesive for inflammatory cells and permeable/leaky for blood proteins [37]. Numerous inflammatory cells, first neutrophils followed by mast cells, monocytes, and macrophages, infiltrate the PDT illumination site [43]. At this stage, the primary function of these cells is to "neutralize" the DAMPs/CDAMPs by eliminating cellular debris, compromised tissue components, etc. [37]. The vascular occlusion, observed after PDT illumination, effectively "walls off" the damaged area, until the damaged cells are removed by phagocytosis, thus preventing further spreading of the tissue damage [37]. Studies have shown that depletion of these inflammatory cells or inhibiting their activity diminishes the therapeutic effect of PDT [44–47]. Moreover, it has been shown that interleukins IL-1 β and IL-6 are among the most critical cytokines in this process. Furthermore blocking the function of various adhesion molecules can render PDT ineffective [48, 49]. On the other hand, blocking the anti-inflammatory cytokines, IL-10 and TGF- β , can remarkably improve the outcome of PDT [37, 50].

In recent years a large volume of data has emerged on the effect of in situ tumor destruction (radiotherapy, chemical and biological ablation, PDT, cryoablation, high-temperature ablation (radiofrequency, microwave, laser, and ultrasound), and electrical-based techniques) on the inflammatory and immune components resulting in systemic antitumor immune responses. It is clear that in situ tumor ablation can allow release of tumor antigens, antigen cross-presentation, and the release of DAMPS, thus making the tumor act as its own cellular vaccine [51]. It is now clear that cancer cells can succumb to some anticancer therapies by undergoing a particular form of cell death that is characterized by an increased immunogenic potential, owing to the production of DAMPs. The release of DAMPs and other immunostimulatory factors by the cells gives rise to an immunogenic cell death (ICD) favoring the establishment of a productive interface with the immune system. ICD results in the elicitation of tumor-targeted immune responses associated with the elimination of residual, treatment-resistant cancer cells, as well as with the establishment of long-term immunological memory. Although ICD has been characterized with increased precision since its discovery, several questions remain to be addressed [52].

21.4 PDT and Adaptive Immunity Recognizing Specific Antigens

As discussed earlier, the long-term efficiency of the PDT treatment strongly depends on the initiation of antitumor immunity; and this response is reduced in immunocompromised mice [44, 53]. Moreover this reduced efficacy can be restored by transfer of bone marrow or T-cells, from immunocompetent mice. In this process, recognition of the major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) is critical for activation of CD8+ T-cells; thus tumors that lack MHC-I expression are generally resistant to cell-mediated antitumor immune reactions [54, 55]. In a case in point, patients with vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia (VIN) who lacked high expression of MHC I molecules did not respond as well to PDT treatment, as did patients expressing high levels of MHC-I [56, 57]. Moreover, patients who responded well to PDT treatment had increased CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration into the treatment site as compared to nonresponders.

Research has shown that PDT treatment of cancer involves both innate and adaptive immune response by stimulating the release or expression of different pro-inflammatory mediators [35, 36,

49]. As a result, a powerful acute inflammatory response is launched causing accumulation of extensive numbers of neutrophils and other inflammatory cells at the PDT-treated site that can attack the cancer cells [36, 43]. The fact is that this initial reaction is not only a powerful tool to elicit direct antitumor effects [58–60], but as importantly, it stimulates the cells to release secondary inflammatory mediators (including the cytokines IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-10 and prostaglandins, histamines, leukotrienes, etc.) [61]. The one area that needed to be further explored was to study the local treatment effects on eliciting systemic immunological response, in particular, establishing the link between PDTmediated immunity and tumor antigen recognition. Our laboratory was one of the first to recognize this effect. The authors designed a study in which a pair of equally lethal BALB/c colon adenocarcinomas were used: firstly, CT26 wild-type tumors (CT26WT), i.e., antigen negative, and, secondly, CT26.CL25 transduced with lacZ gene, thus expressing the tumor antigen β -galactosidase (β -gal). The idea was to study if PDT treatment would elicit a systemic antigen and epitope-specific antitumor immune response in otherwise identical cancer cells [62]. In this study, both used cell lines were equally lethal, and the level of β -gal expression in CT26.CL25 cells was low enough to allow the tumor to grow without triggering any clinically significant immune response (often seen in cancer patients). The PDT application could therefore generate significant differences in the therapeutic outcome and the observed elicitation of immune response.

The outcome was that PDT induced a local response in all β -gal antigen-negative CT26WT tumors, with clear reduction in size, but this lasted only until day 18 (Fig. 21.3) after that local regrowth occurred. The net result was that the growth was only stalled for 8–10 days. In the case of CT26.CL25 tumors, however, the difference was dramatic (Fig. 21.4); tumor reduction was not only complete after day 20, but most importantly, 100% of these β -gal antigen-positive tumors stayed in remission during the complete trial period of 90 days [62]. During the study, the PDT-induced immune response leading to elevated levels of released IFN- γ and TNF- α cyto-

kines was also observed. Our study also showed that PDT can induce a very strong antigenspecific immune response, capable of generating memory immunity which allows mice to reject a rechallenge with the same antigen-positive cells. The induced immune response was potent enough to cause regression of a distant well-established antigen-positive tumor outside the treatment area (on the opposite flank) [62] (Fig. 21.5). The presence of activated antigen-specific and epitopespecific effector CTLs was also confirmed. During the study, it was found that regression of distant and untreated tumors took place in 70% of the treated mice.

For the first time it was demonstrated that tumor cells may escape PDT-induced immunosurveillance due to loss of the tumor antigen. In clinical settings, it is known that some tumors escape from immune recognition and resist elimination; only now, we realized that this is occurs due to tumor antigen loss. We also demonstrated that PDT-induced antitumor effects are abrogated when there is no functional adaptive immune response as in athymic nude mice (Fig. 21.4). Clearly, effective vascular PDT treatment can not only destroy a local tumor but also induce systemic strong antigen-specific antitumor immune response. In addition, this immunity is so potent that it is able to induce regression and destruction of distant, antigen-positive tumors outside the irradiation field. The treatment also proved to be effective in inducing long-term immune memory effect, imparting a resistance to rechallenge. Our study was successful in proving that the observed tumor-destructive effect was mediated by tumor antigen-specific cytotoxic T-cells, induced after PDT, which are capable of recognizing the immuno-dominant epitope of the β -gal antigen.

To examine antigen-specific PDT-induced antitumor immune response in a more clinically relevant tumor model, the authors designed a different study, where a naturally occurring cancer antigen, namely, P1A, a mouse homologue of the human MAGE-type antigen, was employed [63]. We decided to use this specific cancer-testis antigen, since it is not only well-established, but more importantly, it is mostly expressed in testis and cancers and only at very low levels in other tissues [64–67]; P1A antigen-positive mouse



Fig. 21.3 In vivo PDT of tumor (one leg model). (a) Mean tumor volumes of CT26WT tumors and (b) CT26. CL25 tumors; means of 10–15 tumors. (c) Kaplan-Meier survival curves of % of mice cured from CT26.CL25 tumors and rechallenged either with CT26.CL25 or CT26WT tumor cells. (d) Mean level of cytokines TNF- α , INF- γ , IL-2, and IL-4; measured 5 days after PDT in CT26.CL25 and CT26WT tumor-bearing mice and control mice (Used with permission from Ref. [62])

mastocytoma P815 wild-type (parental) and P1A antigen-negative P1.204 (P815 derived) cell lines were compared.

Murine methylcholanthrene-induced mastocytoma P815 cancer cells are known to generate very interesting immunologic response patterns. The significance of P815 antigen arises from the fact that it shares many characteristics identified in TAA genes in human, such as those belonging to melanoma MAGE family and other tumors [68, 69]; these antigens are not expressed in most mature tissues with the exception of testis and placenta [70]. It is known that P815 can elicit CTL response against at least four distinct antigens: AB, C, D, and E [70–79]. It appears that the main CTL response against P815 tumor is geared toward AB and E antigens [73]. Also, it has been shown that T-cells isolated from DBA/2 mice implanted with P815 tumors primarily recognize either antigen AB or C-D-E, but not both [79]. Moreover, the two epitopes of the P815AB, P815A, and P815B are recognized by two different CTLs. Another gene codes for P815E and different CTLs recognize this antigen. On the other





CL25 tumors (one group untreated, one group with right leg tumor and PDT treated, and one group with right leg tumor surgically removed); two groups with two bilateral CT26WT tumors (one group untreated, one group with right leg tumor PDT treated). (f) Mismatched CT26.CL25 and CT26WT tumors; CT26.CL25 treated with PDT (g) Mismatched CT26.CL25 and CT26WT tumors; CT26.CL25 treated with PDT (Adapted from Mroz et al. open access [62])





(c) Kaplan-Meier survival curves of % surviving BALB/c and BALB/c Nu/Nu mice with either CT26.CL25 or CT26WT tumors, PDT treated. Non-treated BALB/c Nu/Nu mice with CT26.CL25 tumor is used as control (From Mroz et al. [62]; open access)

hand, the P815-derived P1.204 cell line is an immune system escape variant [80]; it has lost the P815AB antigen and only retains the P815E antigen.

During in vivo experiments performed by the authors, the majority of mice with P815 tumors demonstrated tumor regression after PDT irradiation and no recurrence during the trial period of 90 days. In stark contrast, mice with P1.204 tumors did not respond with tumor regression but rather with progression. The difference in response between the two tumor types was hypothesized to be due to differential triggering of immune response. To confirm the PDTgenerated long-term immune system "activation" in this clinically relevant tumor model, we rechallenged the cured mice with the same tumor from which they were originally cured. Only mice cured for P1A antigen-positive P815 tumors rejected the rechallenge with P815, while all the naïve mice injected with either tumor cell type grew tumors. The implication of the finding is that P1A antigen-positive P815 tumors, after PDT treatment, develop strong and robust enough immune response that prevents tumor growth upon challenge with a tumorigenic dose of cells [80].

In the ex vivo study, the extent of induction of an antitumor immune response, as a result of PDT treatment of P1A expressing P815 tumors, and whether the antigen activated T-cells before and/or after PDT, was investigated. Cytokines secreted from CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells were measured upon stimulation. Our results showed that PDT of P1A antigen-positive tumors led to marked increase in IL-2 and TNF- α levels. Moreover, we were able to identify a population of CD8+ T-cells that were able to recognize the known epitope (LPYLGWLVF) of the P1A antigen using a pentamer approach and flow cytometry. In addition, when nude mice (lacking an adaptive immune system) bearing the P1A antigen-positive P815 tumors were treated with PDT, the antitumor effectiveness of PDT was curtailed to nil. Interestingly, the survival of these mice could be significantly prolonged by adoptive transfer of activated lymph node cells isolated from PDT-treated immunocompetent mice bearing the P815 tumor.

The initial escape of P815 tumors from immunosurveillance (and accordingly lack of response) has been documented to be due to antigenic loss [22, 38, 39]. It has been shown [74] that there are three different escape mechanisms employed by P1A tumors, presenting the peptide epitope

LPYLGWLVF (expressed in different tumor models). In P815 tumors, all progressions occurred due to antigenic loss, while in J558 tumors (another P1A-positive tumor), all progressions took place due to antigenic drift (antigen mutation) [38], whereas all progressing methA tumors (a third P1A-positive tumor) developed resistance to CTLs.

Green fluorescent protein (GFP) is used as an optical reporter to noninvasively image the progression of mouse tumors (using whole-body fluorescence imaging) and, in addition, may act as a foreign (jellyfish) antigen. We asked whether GFP-expressing tumors could be used to monitor the response of tumor-bearing mice to PDT and whether the tumor response differed when a nonimmunogenic tumor cell line was transduced with GFP. RIF-1 or RIF-1 EGFP (stably transduced with a retroviral vector) cells were injected in the leg of C3H/HeN mice and both cells and tumors grew equally well. We used PDT with benzoporphyrin derivative and a short drug-light interval. There were complete cures and 100% mouse survival of RIF-1 EGFP while RIF-1 wild-type tumors all recurred. Cured mice were resistant to rechallenge with RIF-1 EGFP cells and a rechallenge with wild-type RIF-1 cells grew significantly slower. There was also slower RIF-1 EGFP rechallenge growth but no rejection when RIF-1 EGFP tumors were surgically removed. There was a low rate of PDT cure of tumors when RIF-1 cells were transduced with an empty retroviral vector. The presence of antibodies against EGFP in mouse serum suggests EGFP can act as a foreign antigen and PDT can then stimulate a long-term memory immune response [81].

21.5 Cancer and Immunosuppression

Cancer often develops as a complication of severe immunosuppression. Tumor cells proliferate in an immunosuppressive microenvironment, which can be an obstacle in the immunotherapy of cancer. Cancers take advantage of the immune regulatory mechanism of the host that prevents autoimmunity, resulting in evasion of immunosurveillance and resistance to immune destruction. Regulatory T-cells, myeloid suppressor cells, inhibitory cytokines, and immune checkpoint receptors are the major components of the immunosuppression mechanisms in cancer progression [82]. Advances in the understanding of tumor immunology are opening up a new range of therapeutic targets, including overcoming immunosuppressive factors in the tumor microenvironment [83]. Manipulating immune responses may thus provide an exciting new option for cancer immunotherapy [84].

21.5.1 Regulatory T-Cells

CD4⁺ regulatory T-cells (Tregs) are a highly immunosuppressive subset of CD4⁺ T-cells that protect the host from developing autoimmune diseases and allergies, whereas in malignancies, they promote tumor progression by suppressing antitumor immunity. The elucidation of factors influencing Treg homeostasis and function has important implications for anticancer therapies. Thus, the manipulation of Tregs for up- or downregulation of their suppressive function is a new therapeutic strategy for treating cancer and autoimmune diseases [85]. Treg depletion augments antitumor immune responses in animal models. Additionally, increased numbers of Tregs and, in particular, decreased ratios of CD8(+) T-cells to Tregs among tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes are correlated with poor prognosis in various types of human cancers. Thus, implementation of a strategy restricting Treg-mediated immune suppression may expand the therapeutic spectrum of cancer immunotherapy, especially in patients with a lower number of neoantigens [86].

21.5.2 Myeloid Suppressor Cells

Tumor-associated myeloid cells comprise a heterogeneous population acting systemically (myeloid-derived suppressor cells/MDSCs) and/ or locally in the tumor microenvironment (MDSCs and tumor-associated macrophages/ TAMs). Both populations promote cancer cell proliferation and survival, angiogenesis, and lymphangiogenesis and elicit immunosuppression through different pathways, including the expression of immunosuppressive cytokines and checkpoint inhibitors. Several studies have demonstrated that myeloid cells can express different functional programs in response to different microenvironmental signals, a property defined as functional plasticity. Myeloid suppressor cells can on one hand support tumor growth and, on the other, limit autoimmune responses, indicating that their therapeutic reprogramming can generate opportunities in relieving immunosuppression in the tumor microenvironment or reinstating tolerance in autoimmune conditions [87].

Development of metastasis is determined by both the accretion of essential changes in cancerous cells and by their communication with different stromal elements in the tumor microenvironment. Specifically, the inflammatory response and emergence of immune regulatory cells, such as myeloid-derived suppressor cells (M2-activated macrophages, tolerogenic dendritic cells, neutrophils, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs)) and lymphoid-derived regulatory cells (regulatory T, B, and NK cells) to the tumor site have all been reported to support tumor growth, in addition to tumor invasion and metastasis. Although the potential role for myeloid regulatory cells in tumor invasion and development of the pre-metastatic niche has been suggested, the concept still requires further supportive experimental and clinical evidence, as well as data related to specific factors and mechanisms responsible for myeloid regulatory cell functioning at malignant sites [88]. Different approaches are currently being explored to target MDSC with the aim to enhance immune-based therapies [89].

21.5.3 Immature Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) comprise a heterogeneous population of cells that play a key role in initiating, directing, and regulating adaptive immune responses, including those critically involved in tumor immunosurveillance. The efficiency of anticancer therapy exploiting dendritic cells depends upon the maturation status of the DCs and how it changes following their interaction with cancer cells. In a study, using mouse xenograft models of human tumors, it was shown that fast-growing "angiogenic" tumors were infiltrated by a more immature DC population than comparable dormant nonvascular tumors. Since immature DCs actively promote angiogenesis and tumor growth, strategies to promote DC maturation or methods for DC ablation suppresses this response. It was thus concluded that angiogenesis could be dependent on the presence of immature DCs. Thus, cancer immunotherapies that promote DC maturation may act by both augmenting the host immune response to the tumor and by suppressing tumor angiogenesis [90].

DCs are the sentinel antigen-presenting cells of the immune system, such that their productive interface with the dying cancer cells is crucial for proper communication of the "nonself" status of cancer cells to the adaptive immune system. The efficiency and the ultimate success of this communication depends upon the maturation status of the DCs and their interaction with cancer cells. Immature DCs facilitate tolerance toward cancer cells, while fully mature DCs that secrete the correct combinations of cytokines can strongly promote anticancer immunity [91].

21.5.4 Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase

Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) is an inducible enzyme that catalyzes the rate-limiting first step in tryptophan catabolism. This enzyme is overexpressed in response to IFN gamma in a variety of different malignancies. IDO causes immunosuppression through breakdown of tryptophan in the tumor microenvironment and the tumor-draining lymph nodes. The depletion of tryptophan and production of toxic catabolites renders effector T-cells inactive and dendritic cells immunosuppressive. Thus, the IDO pathway is an important mechanism for tumor-related immunosuppression, and blocking it could improve cancer immunotherapy outcomes. Preclinical data suggest that IDO inhibition can delay tumor growth, enhance dendritic cell vaccines, and synergize with chemotherapy through immune-mediated mechanisms [92]. IDO is an immunosuppressive enzyme, which mediates tumor immune escape in various cancers including hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Therefore, IDO inhibitors as adjuvant therapeutic agents may have clinical implications in HCC. This review proposes future prospects of IDO not only as a therapeutic target but also as a prognostic marker for HCC [93].

21.6 PDT and Immunostimulant Combinations

Treatment with PDT alone is often non-curative due to tumor-induced immune cell dysfunction and immune suppression. Motivated by this fact PDT can be combined with immunostimulants and other strategies designed overcome the tumor-induced immune suppressive mechanisms described above, in order to enhance antitumor immunity. There have been many studies reporting good results using this approach.

A study was performed in an animal model of metastatic cancer, to compare PDT alone with PDT combined with low-dose cyclophosphamide (CY). Low-dose CY is a treatment that has been suggested to deplete regulatory T-cells (T-regs) and augment the immune response to some tumors. We used J774 tumors (a highly metastatic reticulum cell sarcoma line) and PDT with benzoporphyrin derivative monoacid ring A, verteporfin for injection, and a short (15 min) drug-light interval. CY (50 or 150 mg/kg i.p.) was injected 48 h before light delivery. PDT alone led to tumor regressions and a survival advantage but no permanent cures were obtained. BPD-PDT in combination with low-dose CY (but not high-dose CY) led to 70% permanent cures. Low-dose CY alone gave no permanent cures but

did provide a survival advantage and was shown to reduce CD4+FoxP3+ T-regs in lymph nodes, whereas high-dose CY reduced other lymphocyte classes as well. Cured animals were rechallenged with J774 cells, and the tumors were rejected in 71% of mice. Cured mice had tumor-specific T-cells in spleens as determined by a (51)Cr release assay (Fig. 21.6) [94].

Fig. 21.6 Kaplan-Meier survival curves of mice treated with PDT combined with low-dose CY. (a) Plots represent no tumor treatment (as control), only PDT, low-dose CY, and low-dose CY + PDT. (b) Plots represent no tumor treatment (as control), only PDT, high-dose CY, and high-dose CY + PDT. Mice were killed in cases when the primary tumor diameter reached 1.5 cm or body weight dropped >15%



Our lab also investigated PDT mediated by verteporfin and 690 nm light delivered 15 min later, in combination with an immunomodulation approach using CpG oligodeoxynucleotide for the treatment of 4T1 metastatic breast cancer in a BALB/c immunocompetent mouse model. In vitro, CpG primed immature dendritic cells (DC) via toll-like receptor 9 to phagocytose PDT killed tumor cells leading to DC maturation and activation. Peritumoral injection of CpG after PDT in mice gave improved local tumor control and a survival advantage compared to either treatment alone (p < 0.05). CpG may be a valuable dendritic cell targeted immunoadjuvant to combine with PDT [95].

In another study, we investigated whether the combination of PDT with low-dose CY could foster immunity against wild-type CT26 tumors expressing self-antigen (gp70) [96]. We had previously shown that CT26 wild-type tumors did not produce a long-term memory immune response when treated with PDT alone [62]. Administration of CY before PDT led to depletion of Treg and potentiated PDT-mediated immunity, leading to long-term survival. However the development of memory immunity (resistance to rechallenge) was only uncovered by a second round of Treg depletion using a second administration of low-dose CY [96].

It was recently reported that PDT can induce strong antitumour immunity toward tumor cells expressing the tumor-associated antigen P1A. Using four different mouse tumor models, we showed that antitumor immune response could be further improved when PDT is combined with a clinically approved epigenetic reversal agent that induces expression of an epigenetically silenced P1A antigen. Taken together these findings showed that PDT leads to strong specific antitumor immune responses and that epigenetic modification of tumor antigens levels may be a novel approach to further enhance the effectiveness of PDT providing a strong rationale for clinical development of this therapeutic approach [97].

The purpose of one of the studies was to determine if local PDT followed by intratumoral injection of naïve dendritic cells (IT-DC) could induce systemic antitumor immunity that could inhibit the growth of untreated tumors. It was concluded that PDT plus IT-DC administered to one tumor site led to tumor regression at distant sites, including multiple lung metastases. PDT + IT-DC induced potent systemic antitumor immunity in mice and should be evaluated in the treatment of human cancer [98].

21.7 PDT and Checkpoint Inhibitors

In recent years the introduction of checkpoint inhibitors has revolutionized the clinical treatment of many forms of advanced cancer [99]. Checkpoint inhibitors are particularly useful for potentiating T-cell-mediated immune attack against tumors. Ipilimumab (Yervoy), a monoclonal antibody targeting CTLA-4 receptor, is approved for the treatment of melanoma. Normally the CTLA-4 receptor antagonizes T-cell-mediated immunity; ipilimumab blocks this receptor leading to increased tumor killing by cytotoxic T-cells [100]. Another new anticancer drug is pembrolizumab (Keytruda), a monoclonal antibody, which targets the programmed cell death 1 (PD-1) receptor. Pembrolizumab is approved for the use against melanoma [101]. PD-1 is expressed on the surface of T-cells and B-cells and negatively regulates immune response. Inhibiting PD-1 prevents its cognate ligand PD-L1 (which is expressed on tumor cells) from binding to PD-1 and thereby killing the attacking T-cells. There are now other checkpoint inhibitors that target PD-1 or its cognate ligand PDL-1, such as nivolumab (Opdivo), atezolizumab, avelumab, and durvalumab.

There have recently been several papers that have explored the combination of PDT with checkpoint inhibitors in experimental animal tumor models. A study by Kleinovink et al. [102] studied PDT mediated by Bremachlorin and 660 nm light with a 6-h drug light interval on day 8 after MC38 tumors were implanted in C57BL/6 mice. PDT was combined with anti-CTLA4 antibody injected three times on days 7, 10, and 14 after tumor inoculation. The combination had an improved effect on double-tumor-bearing mice (only one tumor treated with PDT). Muchowicz et al. [103] tested the combination of BPD-PDT (15-min drug light interval) with anti-PDL-1 antibody injected every second day, in six doses, starting from 1 day before PDT in BALB/c mice with orthotopic 4T1 tumors. The combination led to 50% cures in this difficult model. A study by Gao et al. [104] looked at a combination of PDT using an integrin $\alpha\nu\beta$ 6-targeted phthalocyanine with an anti-PD-1 antibody in a 4T1 tumor model. The combination gave improved antitumor immunity and suppressed lung metastases metastasis.

The laboratory of Wenbin Lin at the University of Chicago has published a series of papers describing the combination of various nanotechnology-based PDT agents and checkpoint inhibitors in mice. One study [105] investigated the combination of nanoscale coordination polymer (NCP) core-shell nanoparticles loaded with oxaliplatin in the core and the PS pyropheophorbide attached to the shell, with anti PD-L1 antibody against CT26 tumors in BALB/c mice. They showed regression of both PDT treated primary tumors and nonirradiated distant tumors. Another study [106] used core-shell nanoparticles with zinc pyrophosphate and а lipid-conjugated pyropheophorbide PS in combination with anti PDL-1 antibody to produce antitumor immunity against 4T1 tumors. A third paper [107] reported PDT using a chlorin-based metal-organic framework (MOF) that also contained the indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) inhibitor (4-amino-N-(3-chloro-4-fluorophenyl)-N'hydroxy-1,2,5-oxadiazole-3-carboximidamide) encapsulated in the channels of the MOF nanoparticles. PDT with this nanovehicle caused effective tumor regression of both primary, treated tumors and distant, untreated tumors in two syngeneic mouse models of colorectal cancer.

Xu and coworkers [108] constructed upconversion nanoparticles (UCNPs) loaded with the PS chlorin e6 and imiquimod (R837), a toll-likereceptor-7 agonist. PDT using NIR light excited the UCNP-Ce6-R837 nanoparticles when combined with anti-CTLA-4 antibody resulted in strong antitumor immune response to inhibit the growth of untreated distant tumors and produce memory immunity.

It should be noted that two very recent papers [109, 110] have reported that the response to checkpoint inhibitors has been shown to depend on the precise composition of the intestinal microbiome in both experimental models and also in patients. Apparently some bacteria in the gut encourage the development of antitumor immunity, while other bacterial species inhibit this response [111].

21.8 Concluding Remarks and Clinical Applications

There have been few reports as yet of antitumor immunity in patients treated with PDT. Abdel-Hady et al. [69] reported that high-risk HPV-infected premalignant genital lesions showed a poor response to ALA-PDT when the patients showed loss of HLA class I in the lesion, and when there was high CD8 infiltration in the lesion after PDT, the response was likely to be better. Kabingu et al. [112] reported that patients with cutaneous basal cell carcinomas (BCC) treated with ALA-PDT were more likely to have peripheral blood leukocytes that recognized Hip1, a transmembrane protein, which is overexpressed in BCC and can function as a tumor antigen, compared to patients that underwent surgery. Superficial lesions appeared to be especially susceptible to increased systemic antitumor immunity. Thong et al. showed [101] using Fotolon (a chlorin-based PS) in a single angiosarcoma patient that high fluence rate PDT showed success in local control, but only for up to 1 year. After recurrence, the tumor was treated again with low fluence rate PDT, but this time the treatment achieved tumor eradication, and spontaneous remission of non-treated distant lesions was observed, showing that an antitumor immune response had been activated.

Nevertheless, it is clear that antitumor systemic immunity after clinical PDT remains the exception rather than the rule. The reasons for this variability are many and diverse. The PDT parameters such as choice of PS, doses of both PS and light, fluence rate, and drug-light interval are all important in optimizing the immune response. The expression of the appropriate type and amount of antigens and neoantigens within the tumor is of critical importance. Another possible reason for this failure is the weakness of the immune system in older people as well as in patients with advanced tumor stages. Stage 4 cancer patients can often suffer from severe immunosuppression. Identifying and overcoming the immunosuppressive mechanisms that allow the tumor to grow in the first place provides a wealth of opportunities for combination treatments. These may include coadministration of various immunostimulatory adjuvants, strategies that involve dendritic cells, depletion of regulatory T-cells, and epigenetic reversal agents. In particular, the recent growth in popularity of checkpoint inhibitors, many of which are already approved for use in cancer patients, urgently suggests these agents should be clinically tested in patients who are receiving PDT. Future research will be able to test and optimize many of these PDT-based combinations.

Acknowledgments Research in the Hamblin laboratory is supported by US NIH Grant R01AI050875.

References

- Bergh J. Quo vadis with targeted drugs in the 21st century? J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(1):2–5.
- Simard EP, Ward EM, Siegel R, Jemal A. Cancers with increasing incidence trends in the United States: 1999 through 2008. CA Cancer J Clin. 2012;62(2):118–28.
- Siegel RL, Ward EM, Jemal A. Trends in colorectal cancer incidence rates in the United States by tumor location and stage, 1992–2008. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2012;21(3):411–6.
- Fojo T, Grady C. How much is life worth: cetuximab, non-small cell lung cancer, and the \$440 billion question. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2009;101(15):1044–8.
- Simon R. Lost in translation: problems and pitfalls in translating laboratory observations to clinical utility. Eur J Cancer. 2008;44(18):2707–13.
- 6. Monzani E, Shtil AA, La Porta CA. The water channels, new druggable targets to combat cancer cell

survival, invasiveness and metastasis. Curr Drug Targets. 2007;8(10):1132–7.

- La Porta CA. Mechanism of drug sensitivity and resistance in melanoma. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2009;9(3):391–7.
- Laconi E, Pani P, Farber E. The resistance phenotype in the development and treatment of cancer. Lancet Oncol. 2000;1:235–41.
- Bianco R, Damiano V, Gelardi T, Daniele G, Ciardiello F, Tortora G. Rational combination of targeted therapies as a strategy to overcome the mechanisms of resistance to inhibitors of EGFR signaling. Curr Pharm Des. 2007;13(33):3358–67.
- Bianco R, Garofalo S, Rosa R, Damiano V, Gelardi T, Daniele G, et al. Inhibition of mTOR pathway by everolimus cooperates with EGFR inhibitors in human tumours sensitive and resistant to anti-EGFR drugs. Br J Cancer. 2008;98(5):923–30.
- Gelardi T, Caputo R, Damiano V, Daniele G, Pepe S, Ciardiello F, et al. Enzastaurin inhibits tumours sensitive and resistant to anti-EGFR drugs. Br J Cancer. 2008;99(3):473–80.
- Bianco R, Rosa R, Damiano V, Daniele G, Gelardi T, Garofalo S, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 contributes to resistance to anti-epidermal growth factor receptor drugs in human cancer cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14(16):5069–80.
- Robertson CA, Evans DH, Abrahamse H. Photodynamic therapy (PDT): a short review on cellular mechanisms and cancer research applications for PDT. J Photochem Photobiol B. 2009;96(1):1–8.
- Moan J, Peng Q. An outline of the hundred-year history of PDT. Anticancer Res. 2003;23(5A):3591–600.
- Juarranz A, Jaen P, Sanz-Rodriguez F, Cuevas J, Gonzalez S. Photodynamic therapy of cancer. Basic principles and applications. Clin Transl Oncol. 2008;10(3):148–54.
- Agostinis P, Berg K, Cengel KA, Foster TH, Girotti AW, Gollnick SO, et al. Photodynamic therapy of cancer: an update. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61(4):250–81.
- Gollmer A, Besostri F, Breitenbach T, Ogilby PR. Spatially resolved two-photon irradiation of an intracellular singlet oxygen photosensitizer: correlating cell response to the site of localized irradiation. Free Radic Res. 2013;47(9):718–30.
- Pimenta FM, Jensen RL, Holmegaard L, Esipova TV, Westberg M, Breitenbach T, et al. Singletoxygen-mediated cell death using spatially-localized two-photon excitation of an extracellular sensitizer. J Phys Chem B. 2012;116(34):10234–46.
- Ogilby PR. Singlet oxygen introduction. Photochem Photobiol. 2006;82(5):1133–5.
- Vatansever F, de Melo WC, Avci P, Vecchio D, Sadasivam M, Gupta A, et al. Antimicrobial strategies centered around reactive oxygen species—bactericidal antibiotics, photodynamic therapy, and beyond. FEMS Microbiol Rev. 2013;37(6):955–89.

- Castano AP, Demidova TN, Hamblin MR. Mechanisms in photodynamic therapy: part one-photosensitizers, photochemistry and cellular localization. Photodiagn Photodyn Ther. 2004;1(4):279–93.
- Moan J, Berg K, Kvam E, Western A, Malik Z, Ruck A, et al. Intracellular localization of photosensitizers. Ciba Found Symp. 1989;146:95–107; discussion 11.
- Robey RW, To KK, Polgar O, Dohse M, Fetsch P, Dean M, et al. ABCG2: a perspective. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2009;61(1):3–13.
- Xue LY, Chiu SM, Oleinick NL. Atg7 deficiency increases resistance of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells to photodynamic therapy. Autophagy. 2010;6(2):248–55.
- Boyle RW, Dolphin D. Structure and biodistribution relationships of photodynamic sensitizers. Photochem Photobiol. 1996;64(3):469–85.
- Oleinick NL, Morris RL, Belichenko I. The role of apoptosis in response to photodynamic therapy: what, where, why, and how. Photochem Photobiol Sci. 2002;1(1):1–21.
- Almeida RD, Manadas BJ, Carvalho AP, Duarte CB. Intracellular signaling mechanisms in photodynamic therapy. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2004;1704(2):59–86.
- Granville DJ, McManus BM, Hunt DW. Photodynamic therapy: shedding light on the biochemical pathways regulating porphyrinmediated cell death. Histol Histopathol. 2001;16(1):309–17.
- Girotti AW. Photosensitized oxidation of membrane lipids: reaction pathways, cytotoxic effects, and cytoprotective mechanisms. J Photochem Photobiol B. 2001;63(1–3):103–13.
- Obana A, Gohto Y, Kaneda K, Nakajima S, Takemura T, Miki T. Selective occlusion of choroidal neovascularization by photodynamic therapy with a watersoluble photosensitizer, ATX-S10. Lasers Surg Med. 1999;24(3):209–22.
- Kramer M, Miller JW, Michaud N, Moulton RS, Hasan T, Flotte TJ, et al. Liposomal benzoporphyrin derivative verteporfin photodynamic therapy. Selective treatment of choroidal neovascularization in monkeys. Ophthalmology. 1996;103(3):427–38.
- 32. Tang G, Hyman S, Schneider JH Jr, Giannotta SL. Application of photodynamic therapy to the treatment of atherosclerotic plaques. Neurosurgery. 1993;32(3):438–43; discussion 43.
- Hsiang YN, Crespo MT, Machan LS, Bower RD, Todd ME. Photodynamic therapy for atherosclerotic stenoses in Yucatan miniswine. Can J Surg. 1994;37(2):148–52.
- 34. Garg AD, Agostinis P. Cell death and immunity in cancer: from danger signals to mimicry of pathogen defense responses. Immunol Rev. 2017;280(1):126–48.
- Dougherty TJ, Gomer CJ, Henderson BW, Jori G, Kessel D, Korbelik M, et al. Photodynamic therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1998;90(12):889–905.

- Cecic I, Stott B, Korbelik M. Acute phase responseassociated systemic neutrophil mobilization in mice bearing tumors treated by photodynamic therapy. Int Immunopharmacol. 2006;6(8):1259–66.
- Korbelik M. PDT-associated host response and its role in the therapy outcome. Lasers Surg Med. 2006;38(5):500–8.
- Garg AD, Nowis D, Golab J, Vandenabeele P, Krysko DV, Agostinis P. Immunogenic cell death, DAMPs and anticancer therapeutics: an emerging amalgamation. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2010;1805(1):53–71.
- Garg AD, Nowis D, Golab J, Agostinis P. Photodynamic therapy: illuminating the road from cell death towards anti-tumour immunity. Apoptosis. 2010;15(9):1050–71.
- Manfredi AA, Capobianco A, Bianchi ME, Rovere-Querini P. Regulation of dendritic- and T-cell fate by injury-associated endogenous signals. Crit Rev Immunol. 2009;29(1):69–86.
- Bianchi ME. DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. J Leukoc Biol. 2007;81(1):1–5.
- Wang X, Ji J, Zhang H, Fan Z, Zhang L, Shi L, et al. Stimulation of dendritic cells by DAMPs in ALA-PDT treated SCC tumor cells. Oncotarget. 2015;6(42):44688–702.
- Krosl G, Korbelik M, Dougherty GJ. Induction of immune cell infiltration into murine SCCVII tumour by photofrin-based photodynamic therapy. Br J Cancer. 1995;71(3):549–55.
- Korbelik M, Dougherty GJ. Photodynamic therapymediated immune response against subcutaneous mouse tumors. Cancer Res. 1999;59(8):1941–6.
- 45. de Vree WJ, Essers MC, Koster JF, Sluiter W. Role of interleukin 1 and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in photofrin-based photodynamic therapy of rat rhabdomyosarcoma tumors. Cancer Res. 1997;57(13):2555–8.
- Chen WR, Huang Z, Korbelik M, Nordquist RE, Liu H. Photoimmunotherapy for cancer treatment. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol. 2006;25(1–2):281–91.
- Kousis PC, Henderson BW, Maier PG, Gollnick SO. Photodynamic therapy enhancement of antitumor immunity is regulated by neutrophils. Cancer Res. 2007;67(21):10501–10.
- Sun J, Cecic I, Parkins CS, Korbelik M. Neutrophils as inflammatory and immune effectors in photodynamic therapy-treated mouse SCCVII tumours. Photochem Photobiol Sci. 2002;1(9):690–5.
- 49. Gollnick SO, Evans SS, Baumann H, Owczarczak B, Maier P, Vaughan L, et al. Role of cytokines in photodynamic therapy-induced local and systemic inflammation. Br J Cancer. 2003;88(11):1772–9.
- Gollnick SO, Liu X, Owczarczak B, Musser DA, Henderson BW. Altered expression of interleukin 6 and interleukin 10 as a result of photodynamic therapy in vivo. Cancer Res. 1997;57(18):3904–9.
- Keisari Y. Tumor abolition and antitumor immunostimulation by physico-chemical tumor ablation. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed). 2017;22:310–47.

- 52. Garg AD, Galluzzi L, Apetoh L, Baert T, Birge RB, Bravo-San Pedro JM, et al. Molecular and translational classifications of DAMPs in immunogenic cell death. Front Immunol. 2015;6:588.
- 53. Korbelik M, Krosl G, Krosl J, Dougherty GJ. The role of host lymphoid populations in the response of mouse EMT6 tumor to photodynamic therapy. Cancer Res. 1996;56(24):5647–52.
- 54. Maeurer MJ, Gollin SM, Martin D, Swaney W, Bryant J, Castelli C, et al. Tumor escape from immune recognition: lethal recurrent melanoma in a patient associated with downregulation of the peptide transporter protein TAP-1 and loss of expression of the immunodominant MART-1/Melan-a antigen. J Clin Invest. 1996;98(7):1633–41.
- 55. Maeurer MJ, Gollin SM, Storkus WJ, Swaney W, Karbach J, Martin D, et al. Tumor escape from immune recognition: loss of HLA-A2 melanoma cell surface expression is associated with a complex rearrangement of the short arm of chromosome 6. Clin Cancer Res. 1996;2(4):641–52.
- 56. Daayana S, Winters U, Stern PL, Kitchener HC. Clinical and immunological response to photodynamic therapy in the treatment of vulval intraepithelial neoplasia. Photochem Photobiol Sci. 2011;10(5):802–9.
- 57. Zawislak A, Donnelly RF, McCluggage WG, Price JH, McClelland HR, Woolfson AD, et al. Clinical and immunohistochemical assessment of vulval intraepithelial neoplasia following photodynamic therapy using a novel bioadhesive patch-type system loaded with 5-aminolevulinic acid. Photodiagn Photodyn Ther. 2009;6(1):28–40.
- Stott B, Korbelik M. Activation of complement C3, C5, and C9 genes in tumors treated by photodynamic therapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56(5):649–58.
- Cecic I, Korbelik M. Deposition of complement proteins on cells treated by photodynamic therapy in vitro. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol. 2006;25(1–2):189–203.
- Korbelik M, Cecic I. Complement activation cascade and its regulation: relevance for the response of solid tumors to photodynamic therapy. J Photochem Photobiol B. 2008;93(1):53–9.
- Cecic I, Korbelik M. Mediators of peripheral blood neutrophilia induced by photodynamic therapy of solid tumors. Cancer Lett. 2002;183(1):43–51.
- Mroz P, Szokalska A, Wu MX, Hamblin MR. Photodynamic therapy of tumors can lead to development of systemic antigen-specific immune response. PLoS One. 2010;5(12):e15194.
- 63. Mroz P, Vatansever F, Muchowicz A, Hamblin MR. Photodynamic therapy of murine mastocytoma induces specific immune responses against the cancer/testis antigen P1A. Cancer Res. 2013;73(21):6462–70.
- 64. Sharma A, Bode B, Wenger RH, Lehmann K, Sartori AA, Moch H, et al. Gamma-radiation promotes immunological recognition of cancer cells through

increased expression of cancer-testis antigens in vitro and in vivo. PLoS One. 2011;6(11):e28217.

- 65. Chiriva-Internati M, Pandey A, Saba R, Kim M, Saadeh C, Lukman T, et al. Cancer testis antigens: a novel target in lung cancer. Int Rev Immunol. 2012;31(5):321–43.
- 66. Smith HA, McNeel DG. The SSX family of cancertestis antigens as target proteins for tumor therapy. Clin Dev Immunol. 2010;2010:150591.
- 67. Pandey A, Kurup A, Shrivastava A, Radhi S, Nguyen DD, Arentz C, et al. Cancer testes antigens in breast cancer: biological role, regulation, and therapeutic applicability. Int Rev Immunol. 2012;31(5):302–20.
- 68. Brandle D, Bilsborough J, Rulicke T, Uyttenhove C, Boon T, Van den Eynde BJ. The shared tumor-specific antigen encoded by mouse gene P1A is a target not only for cytolytic T lymphocytes but also for tumor rejection. Eur J Immunol. 1998;28(12):4010–9.
- 69. Abdel-Hady ES, Martin-Hirsch P, Duggan-Keen M, Stern PL, Moore JV, Corbitt G, et al. Immunological and viral factors associated with the response of vulval intraepithelial neoplasia to photodynamic therapy. Cancer Res. 2001;61(1):192–6.
- Uyttenhove C, Godfraind C, Lethe B, Amar-Costesec A, Renauld JC, Gajewski TF, et al. The expression of mouse gene P1A in testis does not prevent safe induction of cytolytic T cells against a P1A-encoded tumor antigen. Int J Cancer. 1997;70(3):349–56.
- 71. Van den Eynde B, Lethe B, Van Pel A, De Plaen E, Boon T. The gene coding for a major tumor rejection antigen of tumor P815 is identical to the normal gene of syngeneic DBA/2 mice. J Exp Med. 1991;173(6):1373–84.
- Ramarathinam L, Sarma S, Maric M, Zhao M, Yang G, Chen L, et al. Multiple lineages of tumors express a common tumor antigen, P1A, but they are not cross-protected. J Immunol. 1995;155(11):5323–9.
- Bilsborough J, Van Pel A, Uyttenhove C, Boon T, Van den Eynde BJ. Identification of a second major tumor-specific antigen recognized by CTLs on mouse mastocytoma P815. J Immunol. 1999;162(6):3534–40.
- 74. Bai XF, Liu JQ, Joshi PS, Wang L, Yin L, Labanowska J, et al. Different lineages of P1Aexpressing cancer cells use divergent modes of immune evasion for T-cell adoptive therapy. Cancer Res. 2006;66(16):8241–9.
- Lethe B, van den Eynde B, van Pel A, Corradin G, Boon T. Mouse tumor rejection antigens P815A and P815B: two epitopes carried by a single peptide. Eur J Immunol. 1992;22(9):2283–8.
- Levraud JP, Pannetier C, Langlade-Demoyen P, Brichard V, Kourilsky P. Recurrent T cell receptor rearrangements in the cytotoxic T lymphocyte response in vivo against the p815 murine tumor. J Exp Med. 1996;183(2):439–49.
- 77. Markiewicz MA, Fallarino F, Ashikari A, Gajewski TF. Epitope spreading upon P815 tumor rejection triggered by vaccination with the single class

I MHC-restricted peptide P1A. Int Immunol. 2001;13(5):625–32.

- Ni B, Lin Z, Zhou L, Wang L, Jia Z, Zhou W, et al. Induction of P815 tumor immunity by DNA-based recombinant Semliki Forest virus or replicon DNA expressing the P1A gene. Cancer Detect Prev. 2004;28(6):418–25.
- Brichard VG, Warnier G, Van Pel A, Morlighem G, Lucas S, Boon T. Individual differences in the orientation of the cytolytic T cell response against mouse tumor P815. Eur J Immunol. 1995;25(3):664–71.
- Uyttenhove C, Maryanski J, Boon T. Escape of mouse mastocytoma P815 after nearly complete rejection is due to antigen-loss variants rather than immunosuppression. J Exp Med. 1983;157(3):1040–52.
- Castano AP, Liu Q, Hamblin MR. A green fluorescent protein-expressing murine tumour but not its wild-type counterpart is cured by photodynamic therapy. Br J Cancer. 2006;94(3):391–7.
- Cottier H, Hess MW, Walti ER. Immunodeficiency and cancer: mechanisms involved. Schweiz Med Wochenschr. 1986;116(34):1119–26.
- Tremble LF, Forde PF, Soden DM. Clinical evaluation of macrophages in cancer: role in treatment, modulation and challenges. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2017;66:1509.
- Wu D. Innate and adaptive immune cell metabolism in tumor microenvironment. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2017;1011:211–23.
- Togashi Y, Nishikawa H. Regulatory T cells: molecular and cellular basis for Immunoregulation. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2017;410:3–27.
- Takeuchi Y, Nishikawa H. Roles of regulatory T cells in cancer immunity. Int Immunol. 2016;28(8):401–9.
- Sica A, Massarotti M. Myeloid suppressor cells in cancer and autoimmunity. J Autoimmun. 2017;85:117.
- Keskinov AA, Shurin MR. Myeloid regulatory cells in tumor spreading and metastasis. Immunobiology. 2015;220(2):236–42.
- Haile LA, Greten TF, Korangy F. Immune suppression: the hallmark of myeloid derived suppressor cells. Immunol Investig. 2012;41(6–7):581–94.
- Fainaru O, Almog N, Yung CW, Nakai K, Montoya-Zavala M, Abdollahi A, et al. Tumor growth and angiogenesis are dependent on the presence of immature dendritic cells. FASEB J. 2010;24(5):1411–8.
- Dudek AM, Martin S, Garg AD, Agostinis P. Immature, semi-mature, and fully mature dendritic cells: toward a DC-Cancer cells Interface that augments anticancer immunity. Front Immunol. 2013;4:438.
- Soliman H, Mediavilla-Varela M, Antonia S. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase: is it an immune suppressor? Cancer J. 2010;16(4):354–9.
- Asghar K, Farooq A, Zulfiqar B, Rashid MU. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase: as a potential prognostic marker and immunotherapeutic target for hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23(13):2286–93.

- 94. Castano AP, Mroz P, Wu MX, Hamblin MR. Photodynamic therapy plus low-dose cyclophosphamide generates antitumor immunity in a mouse model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(14):5495–500.
- 95. Xia Y, Gupta GK, Castano AP, Mroz P, Avci P, Hamblin MR. CpG oligodeoxynucleotide as immune adjuvant enhances photodynamic therapy response in murine metastatic breast cancer. J Biophotonics. 2014;7(11–12):897–905.
- 96. Reginato E, Mroz P, Chung H, Kawakubo M, Wolf P, Hamblin MR. Photodynamic therapy plus regulatory T-cell depletion produces immunity against a mouse tumour that expresses a self-antigen. Br J Cancer. 2013;109(8):2167–74.
- 97. Wachowska M, Gabrysiak M, Muchowicz A, Bednarek W, Barankiewicz J, Rygiel T, et al. 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine potentiates antitumour immune response induced by photodynamic therapy. Eur J Cancer. 2014;50(7):1370–81.
- Saji H, Song W, Furumoto K, Kato H, Engleman EG. Systemic antitumor effect of intratumoral injection of dendritic cells in combination with local photodynamic therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(8):2568–74.
- 99. Sharon E, Streicher H, Goncalves P, Chen HX. Immune checkpoint inhibitors in clinical trials. Chin J Cancer. 2014;33(9):434–44.
- 100. Rotte A, Jin JY, Lemaire V. Mechanistic overview of immune checkpoints to support the rational design of their combinations in cancer immunotherapy. Ann Oncol. 2017;29(1):71–83.
- 101. Dagogo-Jack I, Lanfranchi M, Gainor JF, Giobbie-Hurder A, Lawrence DP, Shaw AT, et al. A retrospective analysis of the efficacy of Pembrolizumab in melanoma patients with brain metastasis. J Immunother. 2017;40(3):108–13.
- 102. Kleinovink JW, Fransen MF, Lowik CW, Ossendorp F. Photodynamic-immune checkpoint therapy eradicates local and distant tumors by CD8(+) T cells. Cancer Immunol Res. 2017;5(10):832–8.
- 103. Muchowicz A, Wachowska M, Stachura J, Tonecka K, Gabrysiak M, Wolosz D, et al. Inhibition of lymphangiogenesis impairs antitumour effects of photodynamic therapy and checkpoint inhibitors in mice. Eur J Cancer. 2017;83:19–27.
- 104. Gao L, Zhang C, Gao D, Liu H, Yu X, Lai J, et al. Enhanced anti-tumor efficacy through a combination of integrin alphavbeta6-targeted photodynamic therapy and immune checkpoint inhibition. Theranostics. 2016;6(5):627–37.
- 105. Zecha JA, Raber-Durlacher JE, Nair RG, Epstein JB, Elad S, Hamblin MR, et al. Low-level laser therapy/photobiomodulation in the management of side effects of chemoradiation therapy in head and neck cancer: part 2: proposed applications and treatment protocols. Support Care Cancer. 2016;24(6):2793–805.
- 106. Duan X, Chan C, Guo N, Han W, Weichselbaum RR, Lin W. Photodynamic therapy mediated by nontoxic

Core-Shell nanoparticles synergizes with immune checkpoint blockade to elicit antitumor immunity and Antimetastatic effect on breast Cancer. J Am Chem Soc. 2016;138(51):16686–95.

- 107. Lu K, He C, Guo N, Chan C, Ni K, Weichselbaum RR, et al. Chlorin-based nanoscale metal-organic framework systemically rejects colorectal cancers via synergistic photodynamic therapy and checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. J Am Chem Soc. 2016;138(38):12502–10.
- 108. Xu J, Xu L, Wang C, Yang R, Zhuang Q, Han X, et al. Near-infrared-triggered photodynamic therapy with multitasking upconversion nanoparticles in combination with checkpoint blockade for immunotherapy of colorectal cancer. ACS Nano. 2017;11(5):4463–74.
- 109. Routy B, Le Chatelier E, Derosa L, Duong CPM, Alou MT, Daillere R, et al. Gut microbiome influ-

ences efficacy of PD-1-based immunotherapy against epithelial tumors. Science. 2017;359(6371):91–7.

- 110. Gopalakrishnan V, Spencer CN, Nezi L, Reuben A, Andrews MC, Karpinets TV, et al. Gut microbiome modulates response to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in melanoma patients. Science. 2017;359(6371):97–103.
- 111. Marinelli L, Tenore GC, Novellino E. Probiotic species in the modulation of the anticancer immune response. Semin Cancer Biol. 2017;46:182–90.
- 112. Kabingu E, Oseroff AR, Wilding GE, Gollnick SO. Enhanced systemic immune reactivity to a basal cell carcinoma associated antigen following photodynamic therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(13):4460–6.



Reprogramming of Tumor Microenvironment in Therapy

22

Magdalena Jarosz-Biej, Ryszard Smolarczyk, Tomasz Cichoń, and Stanisław Szala

Contents

22.1	Introduction	403
22.2	Recruitment of Inflammatory Cells by Cancer Cells	404
22.3	The Role of TAM Macrophages in the Tumor Microenvironment	405
22.4	Polarization of the Microenvironmental Cell Phenotype	407
22.5	Reversion of Tumor Microenvironment	409
22.6	Instead of Conclusion	410
References		410

22.1 Introduction

Cancer is an abnormal variant of tissue in which proliferating and dying cells coexist in a low-pH and oxygen-deficient environment. It is created by the unique metabolism of cancer cells and abnormal vascularity. Hypoxia with the presence of danger signals from dying cells induces an inflammatory reaction similar to the one present in damaged tissue. "Repairing" of the altered tumor tissue includes mechanisms of wound

e-mail: Magdalena.Jarosz-Biej@io.gliwice.pl; Ryszard.Smolarczyk@io.gliwice.pl; Tomasz.Cichon@io.gliwice.pl; Stanislaw.Szala@io.gliwice.pl healing such as neovascularization, removal of cellular debris, transformation of the environment, and immunosuppression [1].

Autonomic cancer cells develop specific relationships ("dialogs") with normal cells. They create a new microenvironment, a specific ecological niche that allows the growth of cancer cells [2]. Paradoxically, the cancer environment also consists of normal cells. The behavior of cancer cells therefore is determined by not only accumulated mutations and mutational profiles but also "social" interactions with other cells [3]. At each stage of tumor formation, cancer cells coinhabit with different cell types [4]. The main interactions between cancer cells and microenvironment cells are cell-cell-like [5].

The cancer microenvironment is a dynamic structure that changes over time. Important structural and functional elements of the tumor microenvironment include cancer-associated fibroblasts, myofibroblasts, immune system cells,

M. Jarosz-Biej $(\boxtimes) \cdot R.$ Smolarczyk \cdot T. Cichoń S. Szala

Center for Translational Research and Molecular Biology of Cancer, Maria Sklodowska-Curie National Research Institute of Oncology, Gliwice Branch, Gliwice, Poland

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

N. Rezaei (ed.), Cancer Immunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_22

blood and lymph vessels, and extracellular matrix (ECM) [3, 5–7]. Immune cells are recruited by tumor cells. In a pro-inflammatory environment (inflammation is an important hallmark of cancer [2]), cancer cells secrete signals that trigger specific reprogramming of normal cells recruited to the tumor [8, 9]. This reprogramming leads to the appearance of a cell phenotype that promotes tumor growth [2, 10]. Modified immune reaction cells form a novel-specific microenvironment, which is both proangiogenic and immunosuppressive [11]. This environment is created inter alia by the emerging blood vessels and immunosuppressive properties of cancer and inflammatory cells. Such a milieu shields cancer cells from immune surveillance [12, 13].

The formation of a network of tumor blood vessels influences the progression of cancer [14, 15]. The structure of tumor blood vessels is defective and functionally impaired [16–18]. In the initial stage of tumor growth, oxygen and nutrients are delivered through the vessels. In the further progression, deliveries are insufficient and hypoxia regions occur. Hypoxia is a factor that induces the formation of new blood vessels (angiogenesis) by the activation of hypoxiainducible factor (HIF), which increases the secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) by cancer cells. VEGF and released growth factors induce defective vessel formation. In hypoxic conditions, cancer cells produce lactates, as well as many cytokines that affect the tumor microenvironment [19]. Hypoxia also affects the cytotoxic properties of immune cells, including T-lymphocytes and dendritic cells (DCs). It inhibits their proliferation, and it also transforms the macrophage phenotype into immunosuppressive, pro-tumor one [17].

The tumor microenvironment is dynamic and undergoes constant changes. Using the appropriate treatment, tumor microenvironment may be reprogrammed into an antiangiogenic and immunomodulatory one, in other words, an environment that inhibits the growth of tumors. The purpose of our article is to draw attention to the role of cells of microenvironment in tumor progression, as well as to the possibility of taking advantage of reprogramming tumor microenvironment cells for therapeutic purposes.

22.2 Recruitment of Inflammatory Cells by Cancer Cells

Mutations of certain genes in cancer cells (including *RET*, *RAS*, *Myc*, and *p53*) trigger transcription of genes encoding chemotactic factors, for instance, CC and CXC subgroup of chemokines, the main chemoattractants of inflammatory reaction [8].

Cancer cells release tumor-derived factors (TDFs) that alter hematopoiesis and promote the expansion of myeloid cells. The increased myelopoiesis causes the accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) and tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs). Reprogrammed cancer myeloid cells block the function of T-lymphocytes and stimulate many processes associated with tumor progression. Among TDFs are CC chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2) (MCP-1) and CCL5 (RANTES) chemokines that recruit and activate macrophages. These chemokines are produced by tumor cells, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and TAMs themselves. Other chemokines involved in the recruitment of monocytes include CCL3, CCL4, CCL8, and CCL22 [20]. In addition, CCL20 recruits dendritic cells (DCs); CCL22 is a chemoattractant of regulatory T-lymphocytes (Tregs), and CXCL1, CXCL5, CXCL6, and CXCL8 mobilize polymorphonuclear (PMN) leukocytes [21, 22]. In addition to chemokines, cytokines and growth factors are involved in the recruitment of inflammatory cells. For example, TAMs are mobilized by (besides CCL2, CCL5, CCL7, CXCL8, and CXCL12 chemokines) VEGF and plateletderived growth factor (PDGF) cytokines as well as M-CSF [23]. The CSF-1 cytokine, produced by monocytes, macrophages, and other cells, recruits macrophages to the tumor. In contrast, endothelial monocyte-activating polypeptide II (EMAP II) is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that recruits macrophages to necrotic and apoptotic areas of the tumor to remove dead cells [20].

Mobilization and recruitment processes involve also damage-associated molecular pattern (DAMP) molecules, especially high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) protein. HMGB1 is passively released from necrotic cancer cells, whereas actively from immune cells. HMGB1 stimulates neutrophils and monocytes to release pro-inflammatory cytokines [13]. HMGB1 is also a proangiogenic factor [24, 25]. Under hypoxia conditions, HIF-1 α accumulates in cancer cells and induces HMGB1 translocation and secretion. This results in the production of IL-10 and the activation of alternative M2 macrophages [19]. Cancer cells under hypoxic conditions also produce large amounts of lactates that affect the inhibition of immune responses. Low-pH and high-lactate levels reduce the activation of pro-inflammatory macrophages by inhibiting NFkB (nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells) activity, which in turn affects the activation of T-cells and NK cells [19]. HIF-1 and HIF-2 genetic programs shift oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis in cancer cells, which results in a change in the concentration of intermediate metabolites, including glucose and amino acids. These changes in the microenvironment not only recruit macrophages but also switch their phenotype into promoting tumor growth [19].

Recruited immune cells undergo a specific reprogramming (polarization) in response to factors secreted by tumor cells (cytokines, growth factors, and chemokines) [10]. This polarization, in fact, consists in the appearance of a specific phenotype in the cells of the inflammatory reaction-broadly speaking-the phenotype that promotes the growth of tumors. The main populations of inflammatory cells promoting tumor growth are tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), Tie2-expressing monocytes (TEMs), tumorassociated neutrophils (TANs), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), dendritic cells (DCs), and T-cells [7]. The population of macrophages is one of the better-studied cell subsets in which the pro-cancer phenotype appears. The appearance of tumor-promoting phenotype among macrophages is possible due to the extraordinary plasticity of these cells [26].

22.3 The Role of TAM Macrophages in the Tumor Microenvironment

Macrophages are a highly heterogeneous cell population [27]. In tumors, three populations of macrophages may be distinguished: tissueresident macrophages (arising from yolk sac progenitors), monocyte-derived TAMs, and undifferentiated monocytic-like cells called MDSC [1, 19].

Cancer cells under hypoxic conditions secrete a number of growth factors and chemokines, including CCL2, M-CSF, and VEGF, which recruit monocytes circulating in the bloodstream. In hypoxic conditions, in the presence of factors secreted by microenvironment cells, recruited cells undergo a specific reprogramming. Monocytes differentiate into tumor-specific TAMs [28, 29]. TAMs are one of the most abundant and crucial nonneoplastic cell types in tumor microenvironment [7]. TAMs may constitute up to 50% of tumor mass [23]. The removal of TAMs inhibits the growth of tumors in mice, indicating the involvement of TAMs in tumor progression [19]. TAMs are involved in all stages of tumorigenesis: angiogenesis, immunosuppression, matrix remodeling, invasiveness, and metastasis (Fig. 22.1) [28, 29]. The phenotype of TAMs is similar to that of M2 macrophages [7, 21, 29, 30]. The formation of the M2 phenotype depends on Th2 cells, which are the source of IL-4 and IL-13, and also tumor cells, cancer-specific fibroblasts (CAFs), and T_{reg} lymphocytes, which produce transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) and IL-10. CAFs secrete CC chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2) that recruits macrophages to the tumor. In addition, they release stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1)/CXCL12, which is a macrophages chemoattractant and affects their polarization toward M2 phenotype [7]. Tumor-infiltrating macrophages produce autocrine factors CXCL12, IL-10, and migration inhibitory factor (MIF) that affect TAM self-polarization. The components of the extracellular matrix, including biglycan and hyaluronan, are also important factors in the polarization of TAMs [29].

TAMs play different roles in tumor environment [7, 9, 31]. They directly affect the growth of cancer cells by promoting the process of angiogenesis and resistance of cancer cells to chemotherapy and indirectly by inducing dysfunctions of the immune system [4, 7]. TAMs synthesize EGF, which stimulates the growth of cancer cells. They release proangiogenic factors (VEGF, PDGF and TGF- β) and several FGF (fibroblast growth factor) family factors. TAMs stimulate


Fig. 22.1 The role of TAMs in cancer progression. Cancer cells secrete a number of cytokines and chemokines that affect the tumor microenvironment. Signals of the inflammatory reaction recruit immune system cells, including monocytes. Recruited monocytes undergo specific reprogramming in the presence of factors secreted by

tumor cells. Monocytes are transformed into macrophages specific for tumors (TAMs). TAMs are involved in tumor progression: angiogenesis, immunosuppression, matrix remodeling, invasiveness, and metastasis (Data from Tariq et al. [28] and Mantovani et al. [9])

immunosuppression (IL-10) [11, 29]. By secreting CCL17 and CCL22 chemokines, TAMs recruit T-lymphocytes (T_{reg} and Th2) and inhibit CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cell effector functions [7, 32]. TAMs secrete a CCL8 chemokine that recruits "naïve" T-lymphocytes. In tumor environment, these lymphocytes become anergic. TAMs also inhibit NK cell cytotoxicity by secretion of TGF- β [7].

TAMs accumulate in hypoxic areas [30, 31]. Macrophages are recruited into the hypoxic areas of the tumor, by tumor cells that secrete chemoattractants, i.e., VEGF, endoglin, and CCL2 [33]. The hypoxic environment increases the expression of M2 pro-tumor genes of TAMs [34]. Under such conditions, TAMs induce transcription factors HIF-1α, VEGF, and CXCL12 (and its receptor CXCR4), which modulate TAM migration into avascular regions [10, 28]. HIF-1 α controls the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and arginase 1 (Arg1). At low concentrations of IFN- γ , transcription factor HIF-2 α induces the expression of Arg1, inhibits the synthesis of NO, and favors the formation of Th2 phenotype. Under high IFN- γ concentration, HIF-1 α dominates. The latter stimulates induction of iNOS, which metabolizes arginine to NO and leads to the appearance of Th1 phenotype [10]. The accumulation of TAMs in hypoxia regions correlates with angiogenesis and the invasive phenotype [35].

TAMs release immunosuppressive cytokines (TGF- β and IL-10) and synthesize the immunosuppressive arginase 1 enzyme [1, 30, 36]. These cytokines and arginase exert considerable effect on the growth of cancer cells. TGF- β stimulates M1 to M2 polarization of macrophages and inhibits the cytolytic activity of NK cells, as well as migration and activity of dendritic cells. TGF- β stimulates the differentiation of CD4⁺ T-cells to Th2 and blocks the activity of CD8⁺ T-cells by inhibiting the activity of granzyme A and B, as well as of IFN- γ . TGF- β also promotes the activity of T_{reg} lymphocytes [11, 20, 36]. In addition, TAMs induce T_{reg} lymphocytes via prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) as well as chemotactic factors CCL17, CCL18, and CCL22 [29]. TAMs

inhibit the activation of CD8⁺ lymphocytes mainly through several mechanisms: removal of metabolites important for T-cell proliferation, inhibition of T-cell function through the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines, and activation of T-cell checkpoint blockade by blocking inhibitory receptors [4].

TAMs are programmed to release proangiogenic factors and enzymes involved in the formation of blood vasculature [11, 29, 36]. Proangiogenic agents include, among others, VEGF, PDGF, TGF- β , and FGF, whereas enzymes modifying extracellular matrix (ECM) are matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2, MMP-7, MMP-9, MMP-12, and "plasmin system." MMP-9 metalloproteinase releases proangiogenic factors sequestered by extracellular matrix proteins [11, 30]. TAMs also participate in the formation of vascular junctions [37] and play a major role in the creation of the so-called angiogenic switch [20, 38, 39]. As a result of this switch, tumors shift from avascular type of growth to vascular one (and become dependent on the formation of own blood vascular supply). TAMs, which synthesize VEGF-C and VEGF-D, also participate in the formation of lymphatic vessels [11].

22.4 Polarization of the Microenvironmental Cell Phenotype

Macrophages possess a dual nature (thus, they have been called "a double-edged sword") (Fig. 22.2): under certain conditions, they are cytotoxic and eliminate cancer cells (e.g., M1 macrophages), while under others, they stimulate tumor growth being proangiogenic and immunosuppressive (e.g., TAMs (M2)) [26, 28, 30, 40, 41].

Polarization of macrophages depends on environmental context of various signals secreted by both cancer and other tumor *milieu* cells [1, 9, 42]. The signals may be divided into immune signals (e.g., IL-4, IL-13, IL-10, TFN- α , CCL2, periostin (POSTN), CSF-1), tumor cell death signals (e.g., fragments of nucleic acids, ATP,



Fig. 22.2 The polarization of M1 and M2 macrophages. Monocytes may be activated at the classical (M1) or at an alternative way (M2). The M1 phenotype is a proinflammatory phenotype. Cells with this phenotype have the ability to phagocytosis. The M2 phenotype can "turn off" the inflammatory response and promote the emergence of new blood vessels (acc. to Hesketh et al. [41],

HMGB, calreticulin), and tumor metabolism signals (e.g., lactate). Signals of the surrounding environment determine the polarization of TAMs [1]. Depending on certain signals' domination, macrophages present either M1 or M2 phenotype. The domination of IFN- γ results in the appearance of M1 phenotype. On the other hand, IL-4/IL-13 and TGF-β in tumor microenvironment induce M2 phenotype (TAM) in macrophages [28, 43]. In a hypoxic environment, macrophages display the M2 phenotype. In contrast, M1 macrophages are present in well-oxygenated areas [19]. The process of angiogenesis and normalization of tumor blood vessels is associated with dynamic changes in TAM phenotype [33, 44, 45]. When M2 macrophages participate in the formation of abnormal, dysfunctional blood vessels, M1 are involved in the process of normalization of irregular tumor vascular network [33, 39, 44–46].

changed). The phenotype of tumor-associated TAM macrophages is similar to M2. The combination of antiangiogenic factors with immunostimulating agents converts the phenotype of TAMs from proangiogenic and immunosuppressive M2 to antiangiogenic and immunostimulatory M1: tumor-suppressive phenotype

Interactions between innate (among others by macrophages) and adaptive (including T-lymphocytes) immune system are essential in preventing cancer progression [4]. M2 macrophages display immunosuppressive properties and affect lymphocyte infiltration. They produce chemokines, including CCL-17 and CCL-22, which recruit regulatory T-cells (T_{regs}) and Th2 cells and inhibit Th1-mediated response [32]. They also inhibit the activation of CD8+ lymphocytes, whereas M1 macrophages increase the recruitment and activation of CD8+ and NK cells [7, 47]. M1 macrophages induce tumor infiltration by T-lymphocytes and increase their ability to kill cancer cells [47]. M1 macrophages affect NK cells by cell-to-cell as well as through soluble interactions. This leads to the activation of NK cell cytotoxicity [48].

Dual (bipolar) phenotypes are exhibited also by other cells of the immune system. Depending on circumstances, such cells display a phenotype that either inhibits tumor growth or stimulates it [13]. The presence of TGF- β , a strong immunosuppressant and proangiogenic factor, in tumor *milieu* results in tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs) becoming cells that stimulate tumor growth (type II) [49]. *Milieu* lacking TGF- β causes neutrophils to participate in the elimination of cancer cells (type I) [50]. Dual nature is also shown by NKT cells [51], dendritic cells [52], mast cells [53], T_{reg} cells [54], and NK cells [55, 56].

22.5 Reversion of Tumor Microenvironment

Reprogramming of the microenvironmental cell phenotype, including macrophages, has a therapeutic meaning [4, 43]. There are at least three main therapeutic approaches to modify TAMs: (1) reduction of the presence of TAMs, (2) prevention of the accumulation of TAM, and (3) induction of functional TAM reprogramming toward the anticancer phenotype [4, 28– 30, 57]. Trabectedin is one of the anticancer factors that affect the survival of TAMs. It is an agent cytotoxic for mononuclear phagocytes. It activates caspase 8, which is essential in monocyte apoptosis [4, 7, 9, 57]. In addition, anti-204 immunotoxin directed against scavenger receptor A (204) overexpressed on the surface of TAMs is a promising target. After administration, it eliminates TAMs and inhibits tumor progression in mice bearing peritoneal ovarian cancer [7]. Another promising strategy is the inhibition of TAM accumulation by targeting factors that affect the differentiation of monocytes into tumor-suppressive M1 or tumor-promoting M2. Among these factors are tumorderived chemokines CCL2 and CSF-1 [4, 9]. Bindarit, a CCL2 inhibitor, significantly restrains the recruitment of M2 and the growth of tumors in human melanoma. In contrast, CSFR-1 inhibitors restrain M2 infiltration and improve the effectiveness of chemotherapy with an increased response of CD8+ cytotoxic lymphocytes [4, 7, 27, 30, 57].

However, the main goal of the new therapeutic strategies is targeting the tumor-promoting functions of TAMs rather than TAMs per se [1]. Due to the plasticity of macrophages, through the manipulation of environmental factors, the polarization of macrophage phenotype from M2 to M1 may be affected [4, 28, 57]. For example, by administering IL-12 or polyl:C, a conversion of tumor-promoting toward tumor-inhibiting macrophages was observed [7]. Reprogramming of macrophages toward M1 may also result in the normalization of tumor blood vessels. It improves the drug delivery process by increasing tumor blood supply [6, 33, 39]. Rolny et al. [44] glycoproteins that histidine-rich observed through downregulation of PIGF repolarizes M2 macrophages toward M1, which leads to the stimulation of antitumor response and vessel normalization. Similar results of TAM repolarization have been observed in our experiment where endoglin-based DNA vaccine in combination with interleukin 12 (IL-12) was used [46]. Endoglin (ENG) is overexpressed not only on the surface of activated vascular endothelial cells but also on some cancer cells (among others, B16-F10) [58–61]. Endoglin plays important roles in vascular remodeling [62] and blood vessel maturation during angiogenesis [63]. ENGbased DNA vaccine inhibits angiogenesis [60]. IL-12 gene therapy, in turn, acts as immunostimulant [64–66]. The combination of endoglinbased DNA vaccine with interleukin 12 repolarizes TAM phenotype from M2-like (protumor) into M1-like (antitumor), which affects the structure of tumor blood vessels (improves tumor vessel maturation and perfusion and reduces hypoxia), enhances tumor immune cell infiltration (CD4+, CD8+ lymphocytes, and NK cells), improves the effect of chemotherapy, and leads to tumor growth regression [46]. After administration of 5,6-dimethylxanthenone-4-acetic acid (DMXAA), we also observed a change in TAM phenotype. 5,6-Dimethylxanthenone-4-acetic acid ((DMXAA) also known as ASA404 or vadimezan) is a xanthene, which induces apoptosis in tumor vascular endothelium cells, that results in necrosis appearance at tumor core. DMXAA, besides destroying existing vessels, stimulates the immune response in mice. The stimulation is carried out by reprogramming proangiogenic and immunosuppressive M2 macrophages toward cytotoxic M1 phenotype [67, 68]. Our studies have shown that DMXAA increases the levels of M1 macrophages in tumors and inhibits the tumor growth [69].

22.6 Instead of Conclusion

In general, the tumor microenvironment determines two main processes: the formation of new blood vessels (angiogenesis) and the escape of tumor cells from the immune surveillance (immunosuppression). During progression, cancer cells recruit and reprogram normal cells. Reprogrammed cells become involved in all stages of cancerogenesis. TAMs, which are the main cells of the immune system involved in tumor progression, display remarkable plasticity. TAM phenotype is similar to M2 macrophage phenotype. New therapeutic strategies take advantage of the possibility of TAM reversion from the proangiogenic and immunosuppressive phenotype of M2 to the antiangiogenic and immunostimulatory M1 that inhibits tumor growth. We believe that this therapeutic approach deserves attention and requires closer scrutiny.

Acknowledgments We thank N. Kułach, Ph.D., for the language assistance in preparing the manuscript. This study was supported by Grants No. UMO-2013/11/B/NZ4/04468 and UMO-2018/31/D/NZ5/01754 financed by the National Science Centre (Poland). *Conflict of interest*: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Ostuni R, Kratochvill F, Murray PJ, Natoli G. Macrophages and cancer: from mechanisms to therapeutic implications. Trends Immunol. 2015;36(4):229–39.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646–74.
- Hanahan D, Coussens LM. Accessories to the crime: functions of cells recruited to the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Cell. 2012;21(3):309–22.
- Petty AJ, Yang Y. Tumor-associated macrophages: implications in cancer immunotherapy. Immunotherapy. 2017;9(3):289–302.

- Chen F, Zhuang X, Lin L, Yu P, Wang Y, Shi Y, et al. New horizons in tumor microenvironment biology: challenges and opportunities. BMC Med. 2015;13:45.
- Johansson A, Hamzah J, Ganss R. More than a scaffold: stromal modulation of tumor immunity. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2016;1865(1):3–13.
- Zheng X, Turkowski K, Mora J, Brüne B, Seeger W, Weigert A, et al. Redirecting tumor-associated macrophages to become tumoricidal effectors as a novel strategy for cancer therapy. Oncotarget. 2017;8(29):48436–52.
- Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. Cancerrelated inflammation. Nature. 2008;454(7203):436–44.
- Mantovani A, Marchesi F, Malesci A, Laghi L, Allavena P. Tumour-associated macrophages as treatment targets in oncology. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2017;14(7):399–416.
- Swartz MA, Iida N, Roberts EW, Sangaletti S, Wong MH, Yull FE, et al. Tumor microenvironment complexity: emerging roles in cancer therapy. Cancer Res. 2012;72(10):2473–80.
- Ruffell B, Affara NI, Coussens LM. Differential macrophage programming in the tumor microenvironment. Trends Immunol. 2012;33(3):119–26.
- Szala S, Mitrus I, Sochanik A. Can inhibition of angiogenesis and stimulation of immune response be combined into a more effective antitumor therapy? Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2010;59(10):1449–55.
- Chow MT, Möller A, Smyth MJ. Inflammation and immune surveillance in cancer. Semin Cancer Biol. 2012;22(1):23–32.
- Weis SM, Cheresh DA. Tumor angiogenesis: molecular pathways and therapeutic targets. Nat Med. 2011;17(11):1359–70.
- Viallard C, LarriveÂe B. Tumor angiogenesis and vascular normalization: alternative therapeutic targets. Angiogenesis. 2017;20(4):409–26.
- De Bock K, Cauwenberghs S, Carmeliet P. Vessel abnormalization: another hallmark of cancer? Molecular mechanisms and therapeutic implications. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2011;21(1):73–9.
- Gkretsi V, Stylianou A, Papageorgis P, Polydorou C, Stylianopoulos T. Remodeling components of the tumor microenvironment to enhance cancer therapy. Front Oncol. 2015;5:214.
- Martin JD, Fukumura D, Duda DG, Boucher Y, Jain RK. Reengineering the tumor microenvironment to alleviate hypoxia and overcome cancer heterogeneity. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2016;6(12):pii: a027094.
- Dehne N, Mora J, Namgaladze D, Weigert A, BruÈne B. Cancer cell and macrophage cross-talk in the tumor microenvironment. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2017;35:12–9.
- Goswami KK, Ghosh T, Ghosh S, Sarkar M, Bose A, Baral R. Tumor promoting role of anti-tumor macrophages in tumor microenvironment. Cell Immunol. 2017;316:1–10.
- 21. Mantovani A, Savino B, Locati M, Zammataro L, Allavena P, Bonecchi R. The chemokine system in

cancer biology and therapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2010;21(1):27–39.

- Allavena P, Germano G, Marchesi F, Mantovani A. Chemokines in cancer related inflammation. Exp Cell Res. 2011;317(5):664–73.
- Solinas G, Germano G, Mantovani A, Allavena P. Tumor-associated macrophages (TAM) as major players of the cancer-related inflammation. J Leukoc Biol. 2009;86(5):1065–73.
- 24. van Beijnum JR, Nowak-Sliwinska P, van den Boezem E, Hautvast P, Buurman WA, Griffioen AW. Tumor angiogenesis is enforced by autocrine regulation of high-mobility group box 1. Oncogene. 2013;32(3):363–74.
- Sica A, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(3):787–95.
- Biswas SK, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(10):889–96.
- Franklin RA, Li MO. Ontogeny of tumor-associated macrophages and its implication in cancer regulation. Trends Cancer. 2016;2(1):20–34.
- Tariq M, Zhang J, Liang G, Ding L, He Q, Yang B. Macrophage polarization: anti-cancer strategies to target tumor-associated macrophage in breast cancer. J Cell Biochem. 2017;118(9):2484–501.
- Yang L, Zhang Y. Tumor-associated macrophages: from basic research to clinical application. J Hematol Oncol. 2017;10(1):58.
- Chanmee T, Ontong P, Konno K, Itano N. Tumorassociated macrophages as major players in the tumor microenvironment. Cancers (Basel). 2014;6(3):1670–90.
- Qian B-Z, Pollard JW. Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis. Cell. 2010;141(1):39–51.
- Marelli G, Sica A, Vannucci L, Allavena P. Inflammation as target in cancer therapy. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2017;35:57–65.
- Chen P, Bonaldo P. Role of macrophage polarization in tumor angiogenesis and vessel normalization: implications for new anticancer therapies. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol. 2013;301:1–35.
- Kuol N, Stojanovska L, Nurgali K, Apostolopoulos V. The mechanisms tumor cells utilize to evade the host's immune system. Maturitas. 2017;105:8–15.
- Quail DF, Joyce JA. Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. Nat Med. 2013;19(11):1423–37.
- Hao N-B, Lü M-H, Fan Y-H, Cao Y-L, Zhang Z-R, Yang S-M. Macrophages in tumor microenvironments and the progression of tumors. Clin Dev Immunol. 2012;2012:948098.
- 37. Fantin A, Vieira JM, Gestri G, Denti L, Schwarz Q, Prykhozhij S, et al. Tissue macrophages act as cellular chaperones for vascular anastomosis downstream of VEGF-mediated endothelial tip cell induction. Blood. 2010;116(5):829–40.
- Lin EY, Li J-F, Gnatovskiy L, Deng Y, Zhu L, Grzesik DA, et al. Macrophages regulate the angiogenic

switch in a mouse model of breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2006;66(23):11238–46.

- Guo C, Buranych A, Sarkar D, Fisher PB, Wang XY. The role of tumor-associated macrophages in tumor vascularization. Vasc Cell. 2013;5(1):20.
- Allavena P, Sica A, Garlanda C, Mantovani A. The yin-Yang of tumor-associated macrophages in neoplastic progression and immune surveillance. Immunol Rev. 2008;222:155–61.
- Hesketh M, Sahin KB, West ZE, Murray RZ. Macrophage phenotypes regulate scar formation and chronic wound healing. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(7):pii: E1545.
- Mantovani A, Biswas SK, Galdiero MR, Sica A, Locati M. Macrophage plasticity and polarization in tissue repair and remodelling. J Pathol. 2013;229(2):176–85.
- Ngambenjawong C, Gustafson HH, Pun SH. Progress in tumor-associated macrophage (TAM)-targeted therapeutics. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2017;114:206–21.
- 44. Rolny C, Mazzone M, Tugues S, Laoui D, Johansson I, Coulon C, et al. HRG inhibits tumor growth and metastasis by inducing macrophage polarization and vessel normalization through downregulation of PIGF. Cancer Cell. 2011;19(1):31–44.
- 45. Huang Y, Yuan J, Righi E, Kamoun WS, Ancukiewicz M, Nezivar J, et al. Vascular normalizing doses of antiangiogenic treatment reprogram the immuno-suppressive tumor microenvironment and enhance immunotherapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(43):17561–6.
- 46. Jarosz-Biej M, Kamińska N, Matuszczak S, Cichoń T, Pamuła-Piłat J, Czapla J, et al. M1-like macrophages change tumor blood vessels and microenvironment in murine melanoma. PLoS One. 2018;13(1):e0191012.
- 47. Wallerius M, Wallmann T, Bartish M, Östling J, Mezheyeuski A, Tobin NP, et al. Guidance molecule SEMA3A restricts tumor growth by differentially regulating the proliferation of tumor-associated macrophages. Cancer Res. 2016;76(11):3166–78.
- 48. Mattiola I, Pesant M, Tentorio PF, Molgora M, Marcenaro E, Lugli E, et al. Priming of human resting NK cells by autologous M1 macrophages via the engagement of IL-1β, IFN-β, and IL-15 pathways. J Immunol. 2015;195(6):2818–28.
- 49. Fridlender ZG, Sun J, Kim S, Kapoor V, Cheng G, Ling L, et al. Polarization of tumor-associated neutrophil (TAN) phenotype by TGF-β: "N1" versus "N2" TAN. Cancer Cell. 2009;16(3):183–94.
- Yang L, Lin PC. Mechanisms that drive inflammatory tumor microenvironment, tumor heterogeneity, and metastatic progression. Semin Cancer Biol. 2017;47:185–95.
- 51. Renukaradhya GJ, Khan MA, Vieira M, Du W, Gervay-Hague J, Brutkiewicz RR. Type I NKT cells protect (and type II NKT cells suppress) the host's innate antitumor immune response to a B-cell lymphoma. Blood. 2008;111(12):5637–45.
- Shurin GV, Ouellette CE, Shurin M. Regulatory dendritic cells in the tumor immunoenvironment. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(2):223–30.

- Dalton DK, Noelle RJ. The roles of mast cells in anticancer immunity. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(9):1511–20.
- 54. Erdman SE, Sohn JJ, Rao VP, Nambiar PR, Ge Z, Fox JG, et al. CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory lymphocytes induce regression of intestinal tumors in Apc^{Min/+} mice. Cancer Res. 2005;65(10):3998–4004.
- 55. Ebata K, Shimizu Y, Nakayama Y, Minemura M, Murakami J, Kato T, et al. Immature NK cells suppress dendritic cell functions during the development of leukemia in a mouse model. J Immunol. 2006;176(7):4113–24.
- Waldhauer I, Steinle A. NK cells and cancer immunosurveillance. Oncogene. 2008;27(45):5932–43.
- Belgiovine C, D'Incalci M, Allavena P, Frapolli R. Tumor-associated macrophages and antitumor therapies: complex links. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2016;73(13):2411–24.
- Fonsatti E, Nicolay HJ, Altomonte M, Covre A, Maio M. Targeting cancer vasculature via endoglin/ CD105: a novel antibody-based diagnostic and therapeutic strategy in solid tumours. Cardiovasc Res. 2010;86(1):12–9.
- Nassiri F, Cusimano MD, Scheithauer BW, Rotondo F, Fazio A, Yousef GM, et al. Endoglin (CD105): a review of its role in angiogenesis and tumor diagnosis, progression and therapy. Anticancer Res. 2011;31(6):2283–90.
- 60. Jarosz M, Jazowiecka-Rakus J, Cichoń T, Głowala-Kosińska M, Smolarczyk R, Smagur A, et al. Therapeutic antitumor potential of endoglin-based DNA vaccine combined with immunomodulatory agents. Gene Ther. 2013;20(3):262–73.
- Rosen LS, Gordon MS, Robert F, Matei DE. Endoglin for targeted cancer treatment. Curr Oncol Rep. 2014;16(2):365.
- 62. Casey SC, Amedei A, Aquilano K, Azmi AS, Benencia F, Bhakta D, et al. Cancer prevention and therapy through the modulation of the tumor microenvironment. Semin Cancer Biol. 2015;35(Suppl):S199–223.
- 63. Tian H, Ketova T, Hardy D, Xu X, Gao X, Zijlstra A, et al. Endoglin mediates vascular maturation by promoting vascular smooth muscle cell migration and spreading. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2017;37(6):1115–26.
- 64. Kilinc MO, Aulakh KS, Nair RE, Jones SA, Alard P, Kosiewicz MM, et al. Reversing tumor immune suppression with intratumoral IL-12: activation of tumor-associated T effector/memory cells, induction of T suppressor apoptosis, and infiltration of CD8+ T effectors. J Immunol. 2006;177(10):6962–73.
- 65. Del Vecchio M, Bajetta E, Canova S, Lotze MT, Wesa A, Parmiani G, et al. Interleukin-12: biological properties and clinical application. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(16):4677–85.
- Lasek W, Zagożdżon R, Jakobisiak M. Interleukin 12: still a promising candidate for tumor immunotherapy? Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63(5):419–35.
- Fridlender ZG, Jassar A, Mishalian I, Wang LC, Kapoor V, Cheng G, et al. Using macrophage activation to augment immunotherapy of established tumours. Br J Cancer. 2013;108(6):1288–97.

- 68. Downey CM, Aghaei M, Schwendener RA, Jirik FR. DMXAA causes tumor site-specific vascular disruption in murine non-small cell lung cancer, and like the endogenous non-canonical cyclic dinucleotide STING agonist, 2'3'-cGAMP, induces M2 macrophage repolarization. PLoS One. 2014;9(6):e99988.
- 69. Smolarczyk R, Cichoń T, Pilny E, Jarosz-Biej M, Poczkaj A, Kułach N, et al. Combination of antivascular agent - DMXAA and HIF-1 α inhibitor – digoxin inhibits the growth of melanoma tumors. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):7355.



Stanisław Ryszard Szala was born on May 16, 1942, in Kremenets in Volhynia. He spent his childhood in Gorzów Wielkopolski. He studied at the University of Lodz, Faculty of Biology and Earth Sciences. He worked at the Institute of Oncology in Gliwice for 43 years, where he held the positions of head of the Department of Molecular Biology and the scientific director . A member of Polish Academy of Arts and Sciences and scientific councils of numerous institutes, scientific foundations, and periodicals. Author of books and over a hundred scientific papers on genes, gene therapy, and tumor blood vessels, published in world scientific journals: Nature, PNAS, Gene Ther., and PLOS One. He held numerous internships abroad-over 5 years in Copenhagen, Edinburgh, Bethesda, Paris, and Philadelphia. Winner of numerous scientific award in the country and abroad, including the award of Polish Academy of Science, Polish Academy of Arts and Sciences, European Association for Cancer Research, and the American Association for Advancement of Science. He was awarded the Gold Cross of Merit and the Knight's Cross of the Order of Polonia Restituta. He also devoted himself to the education of young researchers whom he used to call his children. Promoter of 21 Ph.D.s, last in June 2018, and supervisor and reviewer of over 70 M.A. theses. A contemporary Renaissance man: violist, painter, and poetry and philosophy lover. He loved classical music, especially Bach's fugues and the Goldberg Variations. He painted a series of watercolors, which were exhibited in Gorzów Wielkopolski in September 2018. Professor Szala passed away on November 9, 2018.



Immunotherapies Targeting a Tumor-Associated Antigen 5T4 Oncofetal Glycoprotein

23

Peter L. Stern

Contents

23.1 23.1.1	Introduction	413 414
23.2	5T4 and Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition (EMT)	415
23.3	5T4 Modulation of Chemokine and Wnt Signaling Pathways	416
23.4	Vaccines	417
23.4.1	Preclinical Studies	418
23.4.2	Early-Phase Clinical Trials of MVA-h5T4 (TroVax)	418
23.4.3	TroVax Phase III Clinical Trial in RCC	419
23.4.4	Insights from the 5T4 KO Mouse	420
23.4.5	Improving Vaccine Regimens	421
23.5	5T4 Antibody-Targeted Superantigen Therapy	422
23.5.1	Preclinical Studies	422
23.5.2	Early-Phase Clinical Studies	422
23.5.3	A Phase II/III Clinical Trial in RCC	423
23.6	Other 5T4 Antibody-Targeted Therapies	424
23.6 23.6.1	Other 5T4 Antibody-Targeted Therapies Antibody-Drug Conjugates (ADC)	424 424
23.6 23.6.1 23.6.2	Other 5T4 Antibody-Targeted Therapies Antibody-Drug Conjugates (ADC) Direct 5T4 Antibody Effects	424 424 426
23.6 23.6.1 23.6.2 23.6.3	Other 5T4 Antibody-Targeted Therapies Antibody-Drug Conjugates (ADC) Direct 5T4 Antibody Effects	424 424 426 427
23.6 23.6.1 23.6.2 23.6.3 23.7	Other 5T4 Antibody-Targeted Therapies Antibody-Drug Conjugates (ADC) Direct 5T4 Antibody Effects 5T4 Chimeric Antigen Receptors Concluding Remarks	424 424 426 427 428

23.1 Introduction

P. L. Stern (🖂)

Division of Molecular and Clinical Cancer Sciences, School of Medical Sciences Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK e-mail: peterstern125@btinternet.com Historically, a starting place for developing any immunotherapy was the identification of a suitable tumor-associated target antigen. Such targets need to show selective expression in tumors compared to normal tissues. Neoantigens are generated as a result of specific mutations (e.g., p53) or translocations (e.g., BCR-ABL) or oncogenic viruses (e.g., HPV 16 E6 and E7) associ-

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

N. Rezaei (ed.), Cancer Immunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_23

ated with mechanisms of carcinogenesis as well as the frequent genomic instability that occurs in tumor evolution. In addition, re-expression of embryonic products by tumor cells (oncofetal antigens; e.g., CEA) or aberrant overexpression of adult molecules can also be useful immune targets where there is no immune tolerance. TAAs which are characteristic of a range of different tumor types provide for wide usage of any developed therapy although the idiotypic antigens of tumors can also be targeted in a personalized medicine approach. This chapter will focus on the identification of an oncofetal antigen, 5T4, and its use as a target for multiple immunotherapeutic strategies in human cancer.

23.1.1 5T4 Trophoblast Glycoprotein Is an Oncofetal Antigen

The 5T4 oncofetal glycoprotein was identified by searching for shared surface molecules of human trophoblast and cancer cells with the rationale that they may function to allow survival of the fetus as a semi-allograft in the mother or a tumor in its host. It was hypothesized that such functions would be likely to include those concerned with growth, invasion, or altered immunosurveillance in the host.

Purified glycoproteins from human syncytiotrophoblast microvillous plasma membranes were used as an immunogen to raise monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) which were screened for binding to trophoblast and different tumor cell lines but not normal human peripheral blood mononuclear cells [1]. Subsequently, immunohistochemistry established that the specific mAb (mAb-h5T4) detected expression by many different types of carcinoma but only low levels in some normal tissue epithelia [2, 3]. Further biochemical and genomic studies established the molecules as approximately 72 kDa heavily *N*-glycosylated proteins encoded on the long arm of chromosome 6 at q14–15 [4–6]. Importantly, there was a useful expression profile in many different primary and metastatic cancers characterized by high tumor levels, but in some cases, there was an additional stromal expression. The cancers characterized include cervical [3], cervical precancer [7], colorectal [8–10], gastric [11, 12], ovarian [13], oral [14], prostate [15], lung [16, 17], renal tumors [18], and some others [19]. For colorectal, gastric, and ovarian cancers, there was evidence of tumor expression levels correlating with poorer clinical outcome. Studies in nonsmall-cell lung carcinoma have shown that among heterogeneously positive tumor cells, 5T4-expressing subpopulations are markedly enriched for tumor-initiating cells [16]. Such cells reflect the sustained properties of normal tissue renewal and are exploited by the cancer to maximize survival and proliferation [20]. Importantly, the presence of 5T4 tumor-initiating cells is associated with poorer clinical outcome possibly derivative from their ability to avoid treatment-induced toxicity and correlated with their increased clonogenicity [16]. 5T4 expression has recently been shown to correlate with the risk of relapse in pre-B acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) patients [21]. The high-risk cytogenetic category patients showed significantly higher 5T4 transcript levels than the lowrisk or "other" groups. Flow cytometric analysis determined that bone marrow from relapse patients have a significantly higher percentage of 5T4-positive leukemic blasts than healthy donors. Several reports based on xenotransplantation of ALL in NOD/SCID mice have led to the hypothesis that ALL may be maintained from a rare subpopulation of leukemia-initiating cells (LICs) [20]. It is possible that 5T4 might be a marker of such LICs and correlate with relative resistance to chemotherapy including through increased ability to migrate to extramedullary sites providing for disease relapse following treatment.

Isolation of the human gene coding for the 5T4 protein showed that it was a member of the leucine-rich repeat (LRR)-containing family of proteins [22] (Fig. 23.1). The latter motif is associated with protein-protein interactions of a functionally diverse set of molecules [23]. The extracellular part of the 5T4 molecule has ~3.5 LRRs in two domains separated by a short hydrophilic sequence with each domain having N- and C-terminal LRR flanking region motifs; there is a transmembrane domain and a short cytoplasmic sequence. Overexpression of the 5T4 gene in different cell types provided the first indications of

5T4 ectodomain forms a typical LRR horseshoe



Fig. 23.1 Structure of 5T4 molecules. Human and mouse 5T4 analyzed by a homology modeling approach using the variable lymphocyte receptor A29 (PDB entry 206q)

functionality relevant to cancer spread. Constitutive expression of human 5T4 cDNA in murine fibroblasts showed 5T4 to be found on the tips of microvilli and induced a more spindleshaped morphology, disruption of cell contacts, and a reduction in adherence [24]. Similar changes occurred when h5T4 was overexpressed in normal murine epithelial cells where there was also clear evidence of E-cadherin downregulation, increased motility, and cytoskeletal disruption dependent on the intracellular part of 5T4 [25]. Furthermore, a yeast two-hybrid screen using the 5T4 cytoplasmic domain as a probe identified a PDZ domain-containing interactor, TIP2/GPIC, which is known to mediate links to the actin cytoskeleton [26]. The isolation of the murine 5T4 gene confirmed its evolutionary conservation and provided additional tools for evaluating 5T4-targeted immunotherapies [27, 28].

These expression patterns and mechanistic studies supported the use of 5T4 as a suitable target for several different types of immunotherapy. More recently, further insights into the function of 5T4 in modulating cancer spread have been established. and energy minimized to produce RAW structures (Courtesy of Alex Weber and Andriy Kubarenko, DKFZ, Germany)

23.2 5T4 and Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition (EMT)

EMT occurs during embryonic development and is important for the metastatic spread of epithelial tumors [29]. The 5T4 oncofetal antigen is an early marker of differentiation of mouse and human embryonic stem (ES) cell [30-32]. This process is also an EMT-like event characterized by the differentiation of ES cells in monolayer culture associated with an E- to N-cadherin switch, upregulation of E-cadherin repressor molecules (Snail and Slug proteins), and increased matrix metalloproteinase (MMP-2 and MMP-9) activity and motility [33, 34]. Interestingly, undifferentiated E-cadherin KO ES cells constitutively express surface 5T4, while abrogation of E-cadherin-mediated cell-cell contact in undifferentiated ES cells using neutralizing antibodies results in increased motility, altered actin cytoskeleton arrangement, and a mesenchymal phenotype with cell surface expression of 5T4 molecules [33, 34]. These data and our previous observations showing 5T4 overexpression in epithelial cells associated with downregulation of E-cadherin [25] suggest that the latter functions to prevent cell surface localization of 5T4 possibly by stabilizing cortical actin cytoskeletal organization.

23.3 5T4 Modulation of Chemokine and Wnt Signaling Pathways

To further investigate additional changes on early ES differentiation, a comparative microarray analysis of undifferentiated (5T4-) and early differentiating (5T4 +) murine ES cells was performed. One particular transcriptional change identified was the downregulation of transcripts for the dipeptidyl peptidase IV, CD26, which codes for a cell surface protease that cleaves the chemokine CXCL12 [35]. CXCL12 binds to the widely expressed cell surface seven transmembrane domain G-protein-coupled receptor CXCR4 [36] and to the recently identified receptor CXCR7/RDC1 [37]. Subsequently, 5T4 molecules were shown to be required for functional expression of CXCR4 at the cell surface in some embryonic and tumor cells [17, 21, 38]. Both CXCL12 expression and CXCR4 expression have been associated with tumorigenesis in many cancers including breast, ovarian, renal, prostate, and neuroblastoma [36, 39, 40]. These CXCR4expressing tumors preferentially spread to tissues that highly express CXCL12, including the lungs, liver, lymph nodes, and bone marrow. The observation that some mAbs against m5T4 can inhibit CXCL12 chemotaxis of differentiating ES cells and mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEF) suggests a 5T4 contribution at the cell surface facilitating the biological response to CXCL12 through CXCR4. It is apparent that 5T4 is not a simple chaperone providing for trafficking of the receptor to the cell surface since CXCR4 surface expression depends on microtubules, whereas 5T4 does not [38]. Further, FRET studies do not support a direct interaction between the molecules, while preliminary proteomic analysis following cross-linking of 5T4 molecules indicates

many cytoskeleton-associated interactions [41] (Vaghjani and Stern, unpublished). This regulation of CXCR4 surface expression by 5T4 molecules provides a novel means to control responses to the chemokine CXCL12, for example, during embryogenesis, but can also be selected to advantage the spread of a 5T4-positive tumor from its primary site. Interestingly, the absence of 5T4 expression is associated with CXCR7 expression (the other CXCL12 receptor) in embryonic cells and some human tumors [17]. This receptor has a higher affinity for its ligand and activates a different signaling pathway involving transactivation of the EGR receptor with stimulation of proliferative or anti-apoptotic rather than chemotactic pathways [17]. A functional scenario could include that at the periphery of a tumor, surface 5T4 expression favors a chemotactic response to a CXCL12 chemokine gradient and spread toward local vasculature, whereas at the center, 5T4-negative parts may respond through proliferation to the same, albeit weaker, stimulus.

Using B-ALL cell lines (Sup 5T4 + and Sup 5T4 –) derived from Sup-B15 (BCP-ALL), 5T4 expression was shown to correlate with a more immature ALL phenotype, CXCR4/CXCL12 chemotaxis, increased invasion, and adhesion in vitro. Significantly, following intraperitoneal challenge of immunocompromised mice while both Sup and Sup5T4 cells most often migrated to and expanded within the gonadal fat tissue, Sup5T4 cells had a much greater propensity to spread to the omentum and ovaries [21]. In addition, patient-derived BCP-ALL 5T4-positive cells show preferential ability to overcome a NOD-scid IL2R ynull mouse xenograft barrier, migrate in vitro on a CXCL12 gradient, preferentially localize to bone marrow in vivo, and display ability to reconstitute the original clonal composition on limited dilution engraftment in xenografts [42]. It is possible that 5T4 might be a marker of putative LICs and correlate with relative resistance to chemotherapy including through increased ability to migrate to extramedullary sites providing for disease relapse following treatment.

Cellular regulation through Wnt protein signaling is an important factor in development and normal tissue homeostasis, but aberrant signaling can lead to disease including cancer [43]. We



Fig. 23.2 5T4 functional influences on tumor spread. Integrated 5T4 regulation of both the chemokine and Wnt pathways acts to promote cancer spread as well as functional migration in development and cancer

have recently shown that 5T4 inhibits Wnt/ β catenin canonically while concomitantly activating the noncanonical Wnt signaling pathway associated with increased motility [44]. 5T4 interferes with canonical signaling by binding to the Wnt coreceptor LRP6 which then blocks Wnt-induced LRP6 internalization that is required for activation of the Wnt- β -catenin pathway. A 1.8 Å resolution of an 5T4 extracellular domain crystal has confirmed the structural basis of this 5T4 inhibition [45]. At the same time, 5T4 enhances the β -catenin-independent Wnt signaling through promoting a noncanonical function of Dickkopf-1 influencing the actin and microtubular skeleton [44, 46].

It is likely that the integrated 5T4 regulation of both the chemokine and Wnt pathways acts to promote cancer spread as well as functional migration in development (Fig. 23.2).

23.4 Vaccines

When recently assessed by the National Cancer Institute priority ranking methodology for TAAs as vaccine targets based on predetermined and preweighted criteria [47], 5T4 was found to rank 9/75 which is above NY-ESO-1, CEA, gp100, PSA, and p53 [19]. Its favorable properties include a good tumor/normal tissue expression profile, an association with tumor-initiating subpopulations, and its several functional attributes that enhance metastasis. Viral vector-based immunotherapy aims to overcome the relative poor immunogenicity of TAAs by presenting the antigens in a foreign viral vector with the principal goal of generating effector T-cells able to kill 5T4-positive tumors. Lack of high-avidity T-cell receptors (TCRs) in the T-cell repertoire and specific or nonspecific T regulatory cells may be major limiting factors for vaccine immunogenicity and effectiveness. The highly attenuated and modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) strain was an early choice for the viral vector to express either human or mouse 5T4 and evaluation of immunogenicity and antitumor activity in preclinical studies.

23.4.1 Preclinical Studies

Immunization of mice with MVA-h5T4 and MVA-m5T4 constructs induced antibody responses to human and mouse 5T4, respectively. Mice vaccinated with MVA-h5T4 were protected when challenged with syngeneic tumor line transfectants expressing h5T4. In active treatment studies, inoculation with MVA-h5T4 was able to treat established CT26-h5T4 lung tumor and to a lesser extent B16.h5T4 subcutaneous tumors [48]. In this xenogeneic-TAA model, it was shown that the likely component of protection was antibody with induction dependent on the CD4⁺ T-cells [49]. Vaccination of mice with MVA-m5T4, a perhaps more relevant model for human cancers, was able to control the growth of autologous B16 cells expressing m5T4 in a tumor protection scenario. Furthermore, mice vaccinated with MVA-m5T4 showed no signs of autoimmune toxicity [48].

Further studies investigated the human T-cell repertoire. Human CD8+ T-cells recognizing HLA-restricted 5T4 peptides have been identified by methods using monocyte-derived dendritic cells (DC) to stimulate peripheral blood lymphocytes from healthy individuals in the absence of CD4⁺ T-cells [50, 51]. These data are consistent with the influence of Tregs on limiting immune responses to TAA [52]. Subsequently, it was shown that the generation of CD4⁺ cells recognizing 5T4 peptides also required initial depletion of T regulatory cells. Interestingly, CD4+ T-cells spontaneously recognizing a 5T4 epitope restricted by HLA-DR were identified in tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes from a regressing renal cell carcinoma (RCC) lung metastasis. These cells produced both interferon gamma (IFN- γ) and IL-10 suggesting that such h5T4-specific

CD4⁺ T-cells boosted or induced by vaccination could act to modulate both cell- or antibodymediated antitumor response either positively or negatively depending on the differentiation status of the T-cell [53].

23.4.2 Early-Phase Clinical Trials of MVA-h5T4 (TroVax)

The preclinical data supported the development of TroVax for tumor immunotherapy. A succession of phase I or II clinical trials in colorectal cancer, prostate cancer, and RCC patients (including with chemotherapy or cytokine treatments) established the optimal dose and route of vaccination as well as safety, tolerability, and vaccine immunogenicity (serology, lymphocyte proliferation, and ELISPOT assays). Two or three TroVax immunizations were needed to generate somewhat transient 5T4-specific cellular immunity, and this was independent of the vector-specific response leading to a protocol of multiple booster vaccinations. In several trials, there was evidence of association of 5T4 immune responses with better clinical outcome albeit in relatively small study sizes (summarized in Table 23.1). For example, in a clinical trial of TroVax in patients undergoing surgical resection of colorectal cancer liver metastases, 17 of 19 colorectal cancer patients showed 5T4 expression in the liver metastases or surrounding stroma, and 18 mounted a 5T4-specific cellular and/or humoral response. In patients who received at least four vaccinations and potentially curative surgery (n = 15), those with above median 5T4-specific proliferative responses or T-cell infiltration into the resected tumor showed significantly longer survival compared with those with below median responses [56]. Further investigations assessed the levels of systemic T regulatory cells, plasma cytokine levels, phenotype of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes including T regulatory cells (Tregs), and tumor HLA class I loss of expression. More than half of the patients showed phenotypes consistent with relative immune suppression and/ or escape, highlighting the complexity of positive

		% 5T4-specific immune response (IR)			Immune and		
Indication trial	Patient treatment	Antibody	Proliferation	ELISPOT	Total	clinical responses (patients with IR measures)	Reference
Metastatic colorectal phase 1 (22)	Post chemotherapy	82	88	100	94	Antibody vs. TTP/survival (17)	Harrop et al. [49]
Metastatic colorectal phase II (19)	First line + 5FU/LV/ irinotecan	83	83	92	100	None (12)	Harrop et al. [54]
Metastatic colorectal phase II (17)	First line + 5FU/LV/ oxaliplatin	91	91	91	100	ELISPOT vs. tumor response (11)	Harrop et al. [54]
Metastatic colorectal phase II (20)	Adjuvant to liver metastasis surgery	100	88	53	100	Proliferation vs. survival (17)	Elkord et al. [56]
Prostate- hormone refractory phase 11 (27)	Second line ± GM-CSF	100	Nt	36	100	ELISPOT vs. PFS (24)	Amato et al. [55]
Metastatic renal cell carcinoma phase II (11)	First and second line + IFN-α	100	Nt	36	100	None (11)	Amato et al. [57]
Metastatic renal cell carcinoma phase II (28)	First and second line \pm IFN- α	91	Nt	30	91	Antibody vs. survival (23)	Amato et al. [58]
Metastatic renal cell carcinoma phase II (25)	Second-line low-dose Il-2	90	Nt	30	90	ELISPOT vs. survival (20)	Amato et al. [57]
Metastatic renal cell carcinoma phase II (28)	Second-line high-dose IL-2	100	Nt	36	100	Antibody vs. survival (19)	Kaufman et al. [59]

Table 23.1 TroVax: early clinical studies of immunogenicity and clinical response

TroVax clinical development overview nt not tested

and negative factors challenging any simple correlation with clinical outcome [60].

23.4.3 TroVax Phase III Clinical Trial in RCC

Building on the several phase II studies in RCC (Table 2 in Ref. [61]), a phase III trial in RCC patients was designed to determine if the addition of TroVax to available standard of care (SOC) therapy could improve survival for patients with metastatic RCC. This international multicenter

trial randomized 733 patients who received seven or eight injections of TroVax (n = 365) or placebo (n = 368) along with either interferon- α (IFN- α), IL-2, or sunitinib as first-line treatment [62]. The primary end point was overall survival, and progress-free survival, objective response rate, and safety were secondary measures. When the survival data was censored, there was a median follow-up of 12.9 months. While TroVax was safe and well tolerated in all these patients, it failed to meet its primary end point, as there was no significant difference in survival for the TroVax- and placebo-treated groups. However, in the subset of patients with a good prognosis (Motzer grade 0) receiving IL-2, there was a significantly improved survival with TroVax compared to the placebo group. No other SOC subset, albeit less mature, showed evidence of a TroVax benefit. Analysis of a selected group of 50 TroVax-vaccinated patients with the highest increase in 5T4 antibody responses showed a favorable survival compared to placebo patients, while a similar group with the highest increase in MVA antibody did not.

5T4 antibody response was quantified after the third and fourth vaccinations, and an immune response surrogate (IRS) was constructed and then used to evaluate survival benefit in 590 patients from the phase III study. A high antibody response was associated with longer survival within the TroVax-treated group. The IRS was derivative from a linear combination of pretreatment 5T4 antibody levels, hemoglobin, and hematocrit and was able to predict patient benefit in the phase III study. Importantly, the IRS was associated with antibody response and survival in independent data sets from other TroVax trials [63, 64]. Further statistical modeling identified several baseline clinical factors associated with inflammatory anemia (CRP, hemoglobin, hematocrit, IL-6, ferritin, platelets), which demonstrated a significant relationship with tumor burden and survival. From these prognostic factors, the mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (MCHC) was shown to be the best predictor of treatment benefit and was positively associated with tumor shrinkage in different clinical studies of TroVax in vaccinated patients. These results support a view that patients with a relatively small tumor burden and high MCHC would be most likely to benefit from TroVax vaccination [65]. However, our studies in colorectal cancer patients with liver metastasis highlighted a multiplicity of immune regulatory factors that can negatively influence the outcome of patients even with effective immunogenicity of the vaccine [53, 60].

TroVax has now been tested in over 500 patients in ten different clinical trials, and in most patients, antibody responses are induced, whereas cellular T-cell responses are less frequently detected (reviewed by Kim et al. [61]). A desired goal of vaccination is the generation of 5T4 effector CD8+ T-cells although the most frequently used T-cell assay was proliferation which probably reflects a CD4 response. Only relatively rarely have highfrequency CD8⁺ T-cell responses been definitively demonstrated by ELISPOT. The available evidence from the TroVax clinical studies has suggested that the use of the same vaccine for priming and multiple boosting does not limit the 5T4 immune response as a result of anti-vector responses. However, preclinical studies of different prime/heterologous boost vaccine combinations (replication-defective adenovirus (rAd) and retrovirally transduced DC lines expressing h5T4) have shown that the order of immunization can influence the overall therapeutic efficacy by the generation of different 5T4-specific cellular immune responses in tumor-bearing mice [66]. In particular, a role for Tregs in limiting the therapeutic value of vaccination was demonstrated. The use of the complete 5T4 coding sequence in the vaccine construct could provide epitopes able to stimulate both regulatory and effector T-cell responses.

23.4.4 Insights from the 5T4 KO Mouse

A recent study exploited the 5T4 knockout (KO) mice to analyze the mechanisms by which endogenous expression of 5T4 influences autologous T-cell immunity and tolerance [67]. While the 5T4 KO mice show no obvious changes in T-cell, B-cell, and/or myeloid populations, 5T4 is expressed in murine thymus and thus might influence the repertoire and/or induction of specific Tregs cells leading to the control of natural or vaccine-induced immunity [68]. Mouse 5T4-specific T-cell epitopes were identified using the 5T4 KO mouse, and wild-type (WT) responses were evaluated as a model to refine and improve immunogenicity. Studying the immune response (INF-y ELISPOT) of 5T4 KO mice to rAdm5T4 vaccination identified only two dominant H2b-restricted epitopes for which the WT mouse response was either significantly reduced (only low-avidity CD8) or absent (CD4). Other data suggest the possibility that in the absence of WT 5T4-specific CD4⁺ T helper cells, there is an alternative differentiation process generating 5T4-specific Tregs. While a single rAdm5T4 vaccination of 5T4 KO mice provides protection against B16m5T4 tumor challenge, there is no effect in WT mice. Treatment of WT mice with folate receptor 4 (FR4) antibody to deplete Tregs [69], after Adm5T4 vaccination, alters the balance of effectors and provides a modest protection against autologous B16m5T4 challenge. These data are consistent with the efficacy of 5T4 and some other TAA vaccines being limited by the combination of TAA-specific Tregs, as well as the deletion and/or alternative differentiation of CD4⁺ and/or CD8⁺ T-cells [67]. An alternative to vaccination is the adoptive transfer of tumorspecific lymphocytes. To test the potency of this approach in the m5T4 model, primed 5T4 KO splenocytes were adoptively transferred to naïve WT recipient animals but failed to protect against B16m5T4 tumor challenge. Attempts to in vivo modulate Tregs using FR4 mAb were unsuccessful in achieving major protection against tumor challenge despite the clear evidence of survival of adoptively transferred T-cells. Protocols for clinical adoptive cell therapy now incorporate preconditioning which results in a reduction of suppressor cells and conditions which favor homeostatic expansion [52, 70, 71]. However, a clinical study investigating the adoptive transfer of CD25-depleted (includes Tregs) peripheral blood mononuclear cells in cyclophosphamide/ fludarabine preconditioned RCC patients showed that this treatment resulted in only a short period of in vivo Tregs depletion [72].

23.4.5 Improving Vaccine Regimens

The challenge for optimizing 5T4 (and other TAA) vaccine immunogenicity requires a means to stimulate appropriate effector T-cell responses and not concomitantly immunomodulatory cells which may always limit the therapeutic effect. We are exploring the use of 5T4-specific CD8

epitopes engineered into an ImmunoBody DNA as this approach [73] can potentially improve vaccine immunogenicity by favoring generation of high-avidity CD8⁺ T-cells capable of functioning in an autologous tumor-bearing animals.

Successful licensing of treatment following clinical trials evaluating blockade of the immune checkpoints like CTLA-4 and PD1 is currently driving immuno-oncology [74, 75]. However, the benefits of increased survival are still only seen in a subset of patients. Indeed, in these terms, a study of the Pfizer CTLA-4 antibody, tremelimumab, in 18 patients with metastatic gastric and esophageal adenocarcinomas as a second-line treatment also gave encouraging results [76]. Four patients had stable disease with clinical benefit, and one patient achieved a partial response after eight cycles (25.4 months) and remained well at 32.7 months. Interestingly, de novo proliferative responses to 5T4 (8 of 18 patients) and carcinoembryonic antigen (5 of 13) were detected. Indeed, patients with a posttreatment carcinoembryonic antigen proliferative response had a median survival of 17.1 months compared with 4.7 months for nonresponders. Such in vitro evidence of enhanced proliferative responses to relevant TAAs suggests that combining CTLA-4 blockade with specific vaccination may provide additional benefit [76].

A recent study of a prime boost regime based on simian adenovirus (ChAdOx1) and MVA expressing h5T4 shows that it was able to protect against B16-h5T4 challenge in mice but only delay tumor growth in a therapeutic setting [77]. However, the ChAdOx1/MVA h5T4 vaccination in combination with immune checkpoint inhibition by anti-PD-1 antibody was able to therapeutically delay growth and improve survival [77]. To be effective, cancer vaccines will most likely need to stimulate polyclonal antitumor-specific immune responses as well as avoid stimulating immune suppressive factors. Combinatorial approaches that aim to remove or reduce existing immune suppressive factors can stimulate more effective antitumor activity [78].

Current trial designs for evaluation of TroVax are utilizing biomarker information to target patients most likely to benefit from cancer vaccination [79, 80]. This approach is being implemented in investigator-led studies in prostate cancer (VANCE; NCT02390063), mesothelioma (SKOPOS; NCT01569919), ovarian cancer (TRIOC; NCT01556841), and colorectal cancer (TaCTiCC). In the phase I/II TaCTiCC trial of advanced colorectal cancer patients, TroVax plus low-dose cyclophosphamide (delivered prior to vaccination) led to robust 5T4 immune responses that were associated with improved progression-free and overall survival. Low-dose cyclophosphamide alone also produced strong immune responses that were associated with prolonged remission [81].

23.5 5T4 Antibody-Targeted Superantigen Therapy

Bacterial superantigens such as staphylococcal enterotoxin A (SEA) can activate T-cells by linking the latter through binding to a particular family of V-beta chain containing TCRs to MHC class II molecules on antigen-presenting cells. With an antibody-superantigen fusion protein, large amounts of cytotoxic and cytokineproducing T-cells can be targeted by the antibody specificity for a TAA for in vivo tumor treatment [82, 83]. Challenges in developing safe and efficacious therapy for cancer depend on selection of a suitable TAA, overcoming the toxicity associated with MHC class II binding, and any preexisting immunity to the bacterial protein [84].

23.5.1 Preclinical Studies

A first-generation 5T4 mAb-derived Fab-SEA fusion (ABR-214936) incorporated a point mutation in the SEA sequence reducing the affinity for binding to MHC class II molecules and optimized for bacterial production [85]. This agent (ABR-214936) maintained 5T4-specific superantigen antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (SADCC), while toxicity for MHC class II-expressing cells was reduced by 1000-folds in vitro (SDCC); therapeutic efficacy was demonstrated in murine xenograft tumor models [86]. Recently, a humanized 5T4 scFv fused to streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin C, mutated at the high-affinity MHC II binding site, has also been successfully evaluated in xenograft models and might provide an alternative strategy for tumor targeting of superantigens [87].

23.5.2 Early-Phase Clinical Studies

In a phase I study of ABR-214936 in non-smallcell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) patients, a maximum tolerated dose (MTD), given intravenously over 4 days, as a function of the preexisting anti-SEA antibody was determined [88]. In phase II studies of ABR-214936 in RCC patients, the treatment cycle was repeated after 1 month, and survival was significantly prolonged compared to that of expected. Patients receiving higher drug exposure had greater disease control and lived almost twice as long as expected, whereas low drug exposure patients survived as expected (Fig. 23.3); sustained IL-2 production at day 2 appeared to be a biomarker for the clinical effect [89].

The high degree of disease control and the prolonged survival suggested this treatment could be effective and led to the development of an improved variant (ANYARA or naptumomab estafenatox or ABR-217620). This version has 90% homology to ABR-214936, incorporating a hybrid SEA/E-120 superantigen sequence with additional point mutations reducing MHC class II binding and antigenicity [90, 91]. Preclinical evaluation showed reduced binding to preformed anti-superantigen antibodies, lower toxicity, higher affinity for 5T4, and improved tumor cell killing. Phase I clinical studies showed that ANYARA was well tolerated both as monotherapy and in combination with docetaxel, and there was a good correlation of the preclinical studies with the MTD [92]. Evidence of immunological and antitumor activity included a dose-dependent induction of IL-2 and INF-y (biomarkers for activation), selective expansion T-cell of ANYARA reactive T-cells, infiltration of T-cells into the tumor, and selective retention of ANYARA in tumor tissue as demonstrated using PET. ABR-217620 selectively engages with



Clinical Trial of ABR-214936 in patients with advanced RCC

Connection between disease control and survival

Fig. 23.3 5T4 antibody-directed superantigen therapy. Clinical trial of 5T4 antibody-directed superantigen therapy in patients with advanced RCC. This shows that patients with high IL-2 after the second infusion and high

TRBV7-9 and exploits TCR-peptide-MHC affinity mimicry in mediating T-cell cytotoxicity [93].

23.5.3 A Phase II/III Clinical Trial in RCC

A multinational (50 sites in Europe: United Kingdom, Russia, Ukraine, Bulgaria, Romania), randomized phase II/III study of ANYARA in combination with IFN- α vs. IFN- α alone in 513 advanced RCC patients has been conducted. The safety profile was good, and in line with previous observations, the most common adverse events associated with ANYARA treatment were grade 1-2 fever, nausea, and vomiting. No new and unexpected safety concerns were identified in the study. Unfortunately, the primary end point-to show a survival advantage in the intention to treat population-was not reached. Unexpectedly, and in contrast to previous studies conducted in other countries, a majority of the patients showed high levels of preformed antibodies against the supe-

exposure are more likely to have disease control at day 112 and the longest survival (Adapted with permission from *British Journal of Cancer*: Shaw et al. [89])

rantigen component of ANYARA. A subgroup analysis, excluding patients with high levels of preformed antibodies, resulted in a trend for survival benefit with ANYARA treatment. This was consistent with the results of the previous version of ABR214936 in RCC patients [89]. Interestingly, high baseline levels of IL-6 were associated with a poorer outcome in this study, and this was also seen in trials of RCC patients treated with TroVax [65] or pazopanib [94]. In a hypothesis-generating analysis of approximately 25% of patients with low/normal levels of baseline IL-6 and low anti-superantigen antibody levels, a statistically significant treatment advantage for overall survival was seen (p = 0.02,HR = 0.59). In North America and Western Europe, this subgroup accounts for 40-50% of the total number of advanced RCC patients [95]. Patients with low baseline IL-6 and normal anti-SEA/E-120 may respond well to ABR-217620 by T-cell activation and expansion paving the way for antitumor effects [96]. Future development strategies for optimizing use of ANYARA are

likely to include combination use with other treatment modalities such as a tyrosine kinase inhibitor in the favorable RCC subgroup.

23.6 Other 5T4 Antibody-Targeted Therapies

This section will consider therapies using 5T4 antibody for the delivery of toxins and inhibition of function in cancer spread and in the context of chimeric antigen receptors expressed in T-cells using retroviruses.

23.6.1 Antibody-Drug Conjugates (ADC)

ADCs chemically combine the specificity of the antibody with a cytotoxic drug. The challenge is to produce an efficacious and safe agent, and this demands optimizing the properties of a suitable TAA-specific antibody in combination with the linkage chemistry and the payload characteristics. The original mAb 5T4 (clone H8) was shown to internalize into cells and utilized to target the calicheamicin toxin. The latter is a potent cytotoxic drug which causes double-strand DNA breaks. The conjugation methodology used stable chemical linkers between antibody and drug which restricted the release of calicheamicin to cells that internalize the ADC. The efficacy of the anti-5T4 conjugates was demonstrated in several tumor models including an orthotopic model for 5T4-positive lung cancer [97]. This efficacy derives, at least in part, from the targeting of tumor-initiating cells (TICs) in (NSCLC) xenografts, and the abundance of these 5T4-positive TICs is correlated with worse clinical outcome for the patients [16]. Consistent with other mechanistic studies [33, 34], co-expression of 5T4 and factors involved in the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition was observed in undifferentiated but not in differentiated lung tumor cells.

These observations support the possibility that the anti-5T4 ADC might cause complete regression of tumors through targeting 5T4-expressing TICs, even where there is considerable heterogeneity in expression of 5T4 within the tumor. To

test this, the efficacy of an anti-5T4 ADC on the growth of two patient-derived xenograft (PDX) lines with heterogeneous and different levels of 5T4 expression predominantly at the lung tumorstroma interface was assessed. These tumors were treated with anti-5T4 ADC, anti-CD33 ADC, or vehicle; the anti-CD33 ADC served as a negative control because these PDX lines do not express CD33. In both cases, treatment with anti-5T4 ADC caused tumor regression, and no regrowth was observed even 3 months after the last dose; in contrast, treatment with anti-CD33 ADC or vehicle did not inhibit tumor growth. Treatment with calicheamicin (not conjugated to an antibody) did not show any significant impact on tumor growth. In contrast to the efficacy observed with anti-5T4 ADC, treatment of both PDXs with cisplatin at the maximum tolerable dose regressed tumors only transiently, and the tumors regrew after treatment was completed. These results highlight the superior long-term efficacy of an ADC that targets TICs as compared with a conventional chemotherapeutic. Thus, despite heterogeneous expression of 5T4 in NSCLC patient-derived xenografts, treatment with an anti-5T4 antibody-drug conjugate resulted in complete and sustained tumor regression. Thus, the aggressive growth of heterogeneous solid tumors can be blocked by therapeutic agents that target a subpopulation of cells near the top of the cellular hierarchy [16].

A further development of this approach has used a different 5T4 humanized mAb (A1) linked by sulfhydryl-based conjugation to deliver a tubulin inhibitor, monomethyl auristatin F (MMAF) via a maleimidocaproyl linker [98]. This conjugate (A1mcMMAF) showed potent in vivo activity in a variety of tumor models, with induction of long-term regression after the last dose. Evidence of the selective accumulation of the 5T4 (but not control) conjugates with release of the payload and consequent mitotic arrest in the tumor tissue was demonstrated. Depending on the particular tumor, 3-10 mg/kg doses given three times every 4 days were sufficient to produce a complete pathogenic response; this was independent of the degree of heterogeneity in 5T4 expression. This effect was shown to be consistent with the targeting of TICs within the tumors.

Outcome in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia is prognosticated on levels of minimal residual disease after remission induction therapy [99]. Higher minimal residual disease levels are associated with inferior results even with intensification of therapy and suggest identification and targeting of minimal residual disease cells as a therapeutic strategy [100]. It has been shown that there is high expression of 5T4 in subclonal populations of patient-derived xenografts from patients with high post induction minimal residual disease levels [42]. Treatment with A1mcMMAF significantly improved survival without overt toxicity in mice engrafted with a 5T4-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia cell line (Fig. 23.4). Mice engrafted with 5T4-positive patient-derived xenograft cells, were treated with combination chemotherapy or dexamethasone alone and then given A1mcMMAF in the minimal residual disease setting. While dexametha-



Fig. 23.4 A1mcMMAF monotherapy of Sup5T4 cells in vivo. Animals were challenged with Sup5T4 cells ip at day 0 and received either no treatment (black circles/line) or one (light blue squares/line) or two (dark blue triangles/line) cycles of A1mcMMAF or one (red triangles/line) or two (purple diamonds/line) cycles of control-ADC treatment starting after 1 week. (a) IVIS images of tumor growth at day 43. (b) Growth of tumors was quantified using log radiance (photons/sec/cm²/sr) = photons. A1mcMMAF shows significant growth control: ANOVA-Tukey: untreated vs. one cycle or two cycles of A1mcMMAF; p < 0.0001; control-ADC one or two cycles vs. A1mcMMAF one or two cycles, respectively: p < 0.05

and p < 0.01. (c) Kaplan-Meier plots show that only A1mcMMAF (one or two cycles) but not the control-ADC treatments influences the overall survival. Log-rank Mantel-Cox shows significant affects compared to untreated animals of one and two cycles of A1mcMMAF, respectively (p = 0.04, HZR: 6.3 (1.08–36.52), and p = 0.002, HZR: 24.14 (3.36–173.4)) and no significant differences of control-ADC treatments. Dotted vertical lines represent timing of doses of ADC therapy (Reproduced from McGinn et al. [42], Haematologica 2017 Jun; 102(6):1075–1084; Haematologica Journal website http://www.haematologica.org)

sone or A1mcMMAF alone improved outcomes, the sequential administration of dexamethasone and A1mcMMAF significantly improved survival over either monotherapy [42]. These data show specifically targeting minimal residual disease cells improved outcomes and support further investigation of A1mcMMAF in high-risk B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients identified by 5T4 expression at diagnosis.

The A1 antibody is cross-reactive with cynomolgus monkey 5T4, and this species was used to explore any potential toxicity and the pharmacokinetics of the conjugate and its payload as a first step for translation into clinical treatments. The A1mcMMAF exhibited no overt toxicity at doses up to $10 \text{ mg/kg/cycle} \times 2$ and displayed a half-life of 5 days. Importantly, after treatment with the A1mcMMAF, the cys-mcMMAF concentrations remained very low in the plasma of monkeys; cysmcMMAF was shown to accumulate in the tumor tissue in mouse studies. These observations suggest that the A1mcMMAF provides sufficient targeted payload to the tumor tissue with limited nonspecific exposure of the cytotoxic agent [101]. A first in human trial of A1mcMMAF showed tolerable toxicity in patients with solid tumors [102].

23.6.2 Direct 5T4 Antibody Effects

We have shown, as for mouse embryonic cells [38], that some mAbs to 5T4 can block 5T4-positive SupB15 leukemic cells [21] and PDX blasts CXCR4/CXCL12 chemotaxis in vitro [42]. In the latter case, one can speculate that this capacity is reflected in the enrichment of 5T4-positive blasts in mouse bone marrow in vivo [42]. Notably, in vivo antibody treatment is able to prevent the spread of 5T4-positive Sup-B15 B-ALL cells in the xenograft model [21] (Fig. 23.5). This may be of clinical relevance when considering ways to increase the exposure of leukemia cells to cytotoxic drugs. A CXCR4 inhibitor, AMD3100, has been used as a means to mobilize leukemic blasts from the bone marrow systemically to increase the relative bioavailability of chemotherapy [103]. A limitation of such therapy is that CXCR4 is a chemokine receptor widely expressed by many cell lineages. Since normal tissue levels of 5T4 are low, if its influence on chemotaxis could be specifically targeted, it might allow a disruption of CXCR4 function more specifically to malignant hematopoietic cells. In the context of BCP-ALL, the use of 5T4 as a relapse risk prognostic and potential

5T4 antibody inhibition of leukemia spread 1.0×1010 1.0×10¹¹ P = 0.002P = 1.00.023 = 0.891.0×10⁰⁹ 1.0×10¹⁰ [>]hotons ²hotons 1.0×10⁰⁸ 1.0×10^{09} 1.0×10⁰⁷ 1.0×10⁰⁸ 1.0×10⁰⁶ AMD 3100 MADSTA AMD 3100 NNS NNS Total tumour at day 40

Spread to ovaries at day 40

leukemia $(5 \times 10e6)$. Significant reduction in total tumor load and for spread to the ovaries at day 40 for mAb5T4 compared to either NMS- or AMD3100-treated animals (Mann-Whitney)

Fig. 23.5 5T4 antibody inhibition of leukemia spread. One hundred μg mAb 5T4 but not normal mouse serum (NMS) (both given at day 1 and then every other day for 10 days) or AMD3100 (plerixafor at 1.25 mg/kg, given daily for 10 days) blocks spread of intravenous Sup5T4

therapeutic target and insight into its mechanistic involvement of tumor spread and relapse are the focus of ongoing research.

23.6.3 5T4 Chimeric Antigen Receptors

There are a plethora of reports documenting dramatic tumor responses in conditioned patients receiving adoptive transfer of ex vivo expanded TILs [70, 74]. The precise specificity and differentiation status of the TILs is largely unknown but when successful presumably favors an antitumor effector rather than T regulatory cell bias. Genetic modification of T-cells to express chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) can produce effector populations with defined antigen specificities that function independently of the natural TCR. Firstgeneration CARs typically expressed immunoglobulin-derived single-chain variable fragment (scFv) as the antigen recognition motif fused to either TCR CD3 ζ or Fc receptor of IgG (Fc ϵ RI γ) signaling domain for T-cell activation [104]. Recently, CAR variants incorporating costimulatory elements such as CD28 or 4-1BB or inducible IL-12 production to promote the survival and local expansion of the CAR T-cells in the patient's tumor have been developed. Early clinical testing of modified T-cells expressing such CARs targeted CD19 (leukemia/lymphoma), PSMA (prostate), and CEA (colorectal and breast cancer) [104–106]. Recently, clinical proof of concept using CAR T-cell directed at CD19, based on its expression at the cell surface in many leukemia and lymphomas, has now been delivered. The elimination of normal B-cells has been deemed a tolerable and manageable side effect with three different B-cell malignancies, diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and ALL, all showing high rates of complete response in spite of differences in disease histology, CAR construct, and production [107].

A high-affinity scFv specific for h5T4 [108] was used to construct a first-generation CAR. This

CAR, in contrast to CEA- and CD19-specific CARs, showed enhanced specific cytokine release and cytotoxicity in vitro only when possessing an extracellular spacer region [109]. This might reflect the relative accessibility of the target antigen epitopes. In a proof of concept study, 5T4 CAR-modified T-cells from RCC patients were shown to kill 5T4-expressing RCC cell lines [18]. The in vivo activity and use in combination with vaccination were also tested in an animal model [110]. Human 5T4-specific engineered murine T-cells demonstrated antigenspecific, non-MHC-restricted cytolysis of h5T4-positive mouse B16 and CT26 tumor cells in vitro by cytotoxicity assay and antitumor activity in vivo using a Winn assay. In subcutaneous B16h5T4 melanoma challenge, early local but not systemic intravenous administration of the h5T4-specific CAR T-cells significantly increased mouse survival. This improvement was further enhanced when combined with immunization with rAd-h5T4 vaccine, followed by post-CAR T-cell treatment with bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDC) in the active therapy model. An autologous tumor model would provide a more realistic platform for assessing such bystander effects and for safety testing. Therefore, scFv from mouse antibodies to 5T4 [38] have been used to construct CARs with modified murine T-cells, and they were able to kill m5T4-expressing tumor cells in vitro [111]. The next step will compare m5T4-specific natural T-cells (generated in the 5T4 KO mouse; [67]) and gene-modified T-cells in therapy of an autologous m5T4B16 tumor in WT and 5T4 KO mice. Overall, 5T4 CAR T-cells are powerful means to bypass a number of mechanisms which allow tumors to escape T-cell killing [60] and can be readily scaled up for clinical use. The 5T4 expression by TIC/LICs with CAR T-cell targeting may ensure more complete responses, for example, in B-ALL and might be used in combination with other specific CAR T-cells or immunotherapies modulating local immune suppression [19, 78].

23.7 Concluding Remarks

The functional biology of 5T4 molecules is consistent with a role in the directional movement of cells. These processes are highly regulated in normal developing and adult tissues. 5T4 expression by cancer cells contributes to their spread and allows for immune targeting of 5T4. Several different 5T4-specific immunotherapies have been evaluated in late-phase clinical trials, and the data suggest certain subgroups of patients can get clinical benefit from the treatments. Further clinical studies are needed to focus the use of 5T4-specific immunotherapies in the management of particular cancers. Metastatic cancer continues to be very difficult to cure in most cases as is clear from the relatively low response rates to most conventional chemo and/or radiation treatments. The heterogeneity of tumors likewise poses immense hurdles for individualized treatment strategies based on blocking particular signaling pathways. То most immunologists, immunotherapy is the most rational and potentially efficacious approach to the treatment of such disseminated and heterogeneous targets. It is clear that the immune system can be vital in controlling the tumors but in some circumstances can also promote their development. Understanding how to control this balance is the key to the effective use of immunotherapy, and this will involve both systemic and local tumor microenvironment factors. It is imperative that oncologists begin to consider how their conventional treatment strategies influence the immune system since it may be controlling otherwise "unseen" cancer or be required for optimal disease resolution.

References

- Hole N, Stern PL. A 72 kD trophoblast glycoprotein defined by a monoclonal antibody. Br J Cancer. 1988;57(3):239–46.
- Southall PJ, Boxer GM, Bagshawe KD, Hole N, Bromley M, Stern PL. Immunohistological distribution of 5T4 antigen in normal and malignant tissues. Br J Cancer. 1990;61(1):89–95.
- Connor ME, Stern PL. Loss of MHC class-I expression in cervical carcinomas. Int J Cancer. 1990;46(6):1029–34.

- Hole N, Stern PL. Isolation and characterization of 5T4, a tumour-associated antigen. Int J Cancer. 1990;45(1):179–84.
- Shaw DM, Woods AM, Myers KA, Westwater C, Rahi-Saund V, Davies MJ, et al. Glycosylation and epitope mapping of the 5T4 glycoprotein oncofoetal antigen. Biochem J. 2002;363(Pt 1):137–45.
- Boyle JM, Grzeschik KH, Heath PR, Morten JE, Stern PL. Trophoblast glycoprotein recognised by monoclonal antibody 5T4 maps to human chromosome 6q14-q15. Hum Genet. 1990;84(5):455–8.
- Jones H, Roberts G, Hole N, McDicken IW, Stern P. Investigation of expression of 5T4 antigen in cervical cancer. Br J Cancer. 1990;61(1):96–100.
- Starzynska T, Rahi V, Stern PL. The expression of 5T4 antigen in colorectal and gastric carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 1992;66(5):867–9.
- Starzynska T, Marsh PJ, Schofield PF, Roberts SA, Myers KA, Stern PL. Prognostic significance of 5T4 oncofetal antigen expression in colorectal carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 1994;69(5):899–902.
- Mulder WM, Stern PL, Stukart MJ, de Windt E, Butzelaar RM, Meijer S, et al. Low intercellular adhesion molecule 1 and high 5T4 expression on tumor cells correlate with reduced disease-free survival in colorectal carcinoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 1997;3(11):1923–30.
- Starzynska T, Wiechowska-Kozlowska A, Marlicz K, Bromley M, Roberts SA, Lawniczak M, et al. 5T4 oncofetal antigen in gastric carcinoma and its clinical significance. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 1998;10(6):479–84.
- Naganuma H, Kono K, Mori Y, Takayoshi S, Stern PL, Tasaka K, et al. Oncofetal antigen 5T4 expression as a prognostic factor in patients with gastric cancer. Anticancer Res. 2002;22(2B):1033–8.
- Wrigley E, McGown AT, Rennison J, Swindell R, Crowther D, Starzynska T, et al. 5T4 oncofetal antigen expression in ovarian carcinoma. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 1995;5(4):269–74.
- Ali A, Langdon J, Stern P, Partridge M. The pattern of expression of the 5T4 oncofoetal antigen on normal, dysplastic and malignant oral mucosa. Oral Oncol. 2001;37(1):57–64.
- Abern M, Kaufman HL, Latchamsetty K. An update on TroVax for the treatment of progressive castration-resistant prostate cancer. Oncol Targets Ther. 2011;4:33–41.
- Damelin M, Geles KG, Follettie MT, Yuan P, Baxter M, Golas J, et al. Delineation of a cellular hierarchy in lung cancer reveals an oncofetal antigen expressed on tumor-initiating cells. Cancer Res. 2011;71(12):4236–46.
- McGinn OJ, Marinov G, Sawan S, Stern PL. CXCL12 receptor preference, signal transduction, biological response and the expression of 5T4 oncofoetal glycoprotein. J Cell Sci. 2012;125(Pt 22):5467–78.
- Griffiths RW, Gilham DE, Dangoor A, Ramani V, Clarke NW, Stern PL, et al. Expression of the 5T4 oncofoetal antigen in renal cell carcinoma: a poten-

tial target for T-cell-based immunotherapy. Br J Cancer. 2005;93(6):670–7.

- Stern PL, Harrop R. 5T4 oncofoetal antigen: an attractive target for immune intervention in cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2017 Apr;66(4):415– 26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-016-1917-3.
- Kreso A, Dick JE. Evolution of the cancer stem cell model. Cell Stem Cell. 2014;14(3):275–91.
- 21. Castro FV, McGinn OJ, Krishnan S, Marinov G, Li J, Rutkowski AJ, et al. 5T4 oncofetal antigen is expressed in high risk of relapse childhood pre-B acute lymphoblastic leukemia and is associated with a more invasive and chemotactic phenotype. Leukemia. 2012;26(7):1487–98.
- 22. Myers KA, Rahi-Saund V, Davison MD, Young JA, Cheater AJ, Stern PL. Isolation of a cDNA encoding 5T4 oncofetal trophoblast glycoprotein. An antigen associated with metastasis contains leucine-rich repeats. J Biol Chem. 1994;269(12):9319–24.
- Bella J, Hindle KL, McEwan PA, Lovell SC. The leucine-rich repeat structure. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2008;65(15):2307–33.
- Carsberg CJ, Myers KA, Evans GS, Allen TD, Stern PL. Metastasis-associated 5T4 oncofoetal antigen is concentrated at microvillus projections of the plasma membrane. J Cell Sci. 1995;108(Pt 8):2905–16.
- Carsberg CJ, Myers KA, Stern PL. Metastasisassociated 5T4 antigen disrupts cell-cell contacts and induces cellular motility in epithelial cells. Int J Cancer. 1996;68(1):84–92.
- 26. Awan A, Lucic MR, Shaw DM, Sheppard F, Westwater C, Lyons SA, et al. 5T4 interacts with TIP-2/GIPC, a PDZ protein, with implications for metastasis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2002;290(3):1030–6.
- 27. King KW, Sheppard FC, Westwater C, Stern PL, Myers KA. Organisation of the mouse and human 5T4 oncofoetal leucine-rich glycoprotein genes and expression in foetal and adult murine tissues. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1999;1445(3):257–70.
- Woods AM, Wang WW, Shaw DM, Ward CM, Carroll MW, Rees BR, et al. Characterization of the murine 5T4 oncofoetal antigen: a target for immunotherapy in cancer. Biochem J. 2002;366(Pt 1):353–65.
- Nieto MA, Cano A. The epithelial-mesenchymal transition under control: global programs to regulate epithelial plasticity. Semin Cancer Biol. 2012;22(5–6):361–8.
- Barrow KM, Ward CM, Rutter J, Ali S, Stern PL. Embryonic expression of murine 5T4 oncofoetal antigen is associated with morphogenetic events at implantation and in developing epithelia. Dev Dyn. 2005;233(4):1535–45.
- Ward CM, Barrow K, Woods AM, Stern PL. The 5T4 oncofoetal antigen is an early differentiation marker of mouse ES cells and its absence is a useful means to assess pluripotency. J Cell Sci. 2003;116(Pt 22):4533–42.
- Ward CM, Eastham AM, Stern PL. Cell surface 5T4 antigen is transiently upregulated during early

human embryonic stem cell differentiation: effect of 5T4 phenotype on neural lineage formation. Exp Cell Res. 2006;312(10):1713–26.

- Eastham AM, Spencer H, Soncin F, Ritson S, Merry CL, Stern PL, et al. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition events during human embryonic stem cell differentiation. Cancer Res. 2007;67(23):11254–62.
- 34. Spencer HL, Eastham AM, Merry CL, Southgate TD, Perez-Campo F, Soncin F, et al. E-cadherin inhibits cell surface localization of the pro-migratory 5T4 oncofetal antigen in mouse embryonic stem cells. Mol Biol Cell. 2007;18(8):2838–51.
- Christopherson KW, Hangoc G, Mantel CR, Broxmeyer HE. Modulation of hematopoietic stem cell homing and engraftment by CD26. Science. 2004;305(5686):1000–3.
- Vandercappellen J, Van Damme J, Struyf S. The role of CXC chemokines and their receptors in cancer. Cancer Lett. 2008;267(2):226–44.
- Burns JM, Summers BC, Wang Y, Melikian A, Berahovich R, Miao Z, et al. A novel chemokine receptor for SDF-1 and I-TAC involved in cell survival, cell adhesion, and tumor development. J Exp Med. 2006;203(9):2201–13.
- Southgate TD, McGinn OJ, Castro FV, Rutkowski AJ, Al-Muftah M, Marinov G, et al. CXCR4 mediated chemotaxis is regulated by 5T4 oncofetal glycoprotein in mouse embryonic cells. PLoS One. 2010;5(4):e9982.
- Balkwill F. The significance of cancer cell expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR4. Semin Cancer Biol 2004;14(3):171–9.
- Burger JA, Kipps TJ. CXCR4: a key receptor in the crosstalk between tumor cells and their microenvironment. Blood. 2006;107(5):1761–7.
- Marinov G. Trafficking and functional interactions of the oncofoetal trophoblast glycoprotein 5T4. Manchester: University of Manchester; 2013.
- 42. McGinn OJ, Krishnan S, Bourquin JP, Sapra P, Dempsey C, Saha V, Stern PL. Targeting the 5T4 oncofetal glycoprotein with an antibody drug conjugate (A1mcMMAF) improves survival in patientderived xenograft models of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2017;102(6):1075–84. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2016.158485.
- Nusse R, Clevers H. Wnt/β-catenin signaling, disease, and emerging therapeutic modalities. Cell. 2017;169(6):985–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2017.05.016.
- 44. Kagermeier-Schenk B, Wehner D, Ozhan-Kizil G, Yamamoto H, Li J, Kirchner K, et al. Waif1/5T4 inhibits Wnt/β-catenin signaling and activates noncanonical Wnt pathways by modifying LRP6 subcellular localization. Dev Cell. 2011;21(6):1129–43.
- 45. Zhao Y, Malinauskas T, Harlos K, Jones EY. Structural insights into the inhibition of Wnt signaling by cancer antigen 5T4/Wnt-activated inhibitory factor 1. Structure. 2014;22(4):612–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2014.01.009.
- Stern PL, Brazzatti J, Sawan S, McGinn OJ. Understanding and exploiting 5T4 oncofoe-

tal glycoprotein expression. Semin Cancer Biol. 2014 Dec;29:13–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. semcancer.2014.07.004.

- 47. Cheever MA, Allison JP, Ferris AS, Finn OJ, Hastings BM, Hecht TT, et al. The prioritization of cancer antigens: a national cancer institute pilot project for the acceleration of translational research. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(17):5323–37. https://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0737.
- 48. Mulryan K, Ryan MG, Myers KA, Shaw D, Wang W, Kingsman SM, et al. Attenuated recombinant vaccinia virus expressing oncofetal antigen (tumor-associated antigen) 5T4 induces active therapy of established tumors. Mol Cancer Ther. 2002;1(12):1129–37.
- 49. Harrop R, Connolly N, Redchenko I, Valle J, Saunders M, Ryan MG, et al. Vaccination of colorectal cancer patients with modified vaccinia Ankara delivering the tumor antigen 5T4 (TroVax) induces immune responses which correlate with disease control: a phase I/II trial. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(11 Pt 1):3416–24.
- Smyth LJ, Elkord E, Taher TE, Jiang HR, Burt DJ, Clayton A, et al. CD8 T-cell recognition of human 5T4 oncofetal antigen. Int J Cancer. 2006;119(7):1638–47.
- Redchenko I, Harrop R, Ryan MG, Hawkins RE, Carroll MW. Identification of a major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted T-cell epitope in the tumour-associated antigen, 5T4. Immunology. 2006;118(1):50–7.
- Oleinika K, Nibbs RJ, Graham GJ, Fraser AR. Suppression, subversion and escape: the role of regulatory T cells in cancer progression. Clin Exp Immunol. 2013;171(1):36–45.
- Elkord E, Burt DJ, Drijfhout JW, Hawkins RE, Stern PL. CD4+ T-cell recognition of human 5T4 oncofoetal antigen: implications for initial depletion of CD25+ T cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57(6):833–47.
- 54. Harrop R, Drury N, Shingler W, Chikoti P, Redchenko I, Carroll MW, et al. Vaccination of colorectal cancer patients with TroVax given alongside chemotherapy (5-fluorouracil, leukovorin and irinotecan) is safe and induces potent immune responses. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57(7):977–86.
- 55. Amato RJ, Drury N, Naylor S, Jac J, Saxena S, Cao A, et al. Vaccination of prostate cancer patients with modified vaccinia Ankara delivering the tumor antigen 5T4 (TroVax): a phase 2 trial. J Immunother. 2008;31(6):577–85.
- 56. Elkord E, Dangoor A, Drury NL, Harrop R, Burt DJ, Drijfhout JW, et al. An MVA-based vaccine targeting the oncofetal antigen 5T4 in patients undergoing surgical resection of colorectal cancer liver metastases. J Immunother. 2008;31(9):820–9.
- 57. Amato RJ, Shingler W, Naylor S, Jac J, Willis J, Saxena S, et al. Vaccination of renal cell cancer patients with modified vaccinia Ankara delivering tumor antigen 5T4 (TroVax) administered with

interleukin 2: a phase II trial. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14(22):7504–10.

- 58. Amato RJ, Shingler W, Goonewardena M, de Belin J, Naylor S, Jac J, et al. Vaccination of renal cell cancer patients with modified vaccinia Ankara delivering the tumor antigen 5T4 (TroVax) alone or administered in combination with interferonalpha (IFN-alpha): a phase 2 trial. J Immunother. 2009;32(7):765–72.
- 59. Kaufman HL, Taback B, Sherman W, Kim DW, Shingler WH, Moroziewicz D, et al. Phase II trial of modified vaccinia Ankara (MVA) virus expressing 5T4 and high dose Interleukin-2 (IL-2) in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. J Transl Med. 2009;7:2.
- 60. Elkord E, Dangoor A, Burt DJ, Southgate TD, Daayana S, Harrop R, et al. Immune evasion mechanisms in colorectal cancer liver metastasis patients vaccinated with TroVax (MVA-5T4). Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58(10):1657–67.
- Kim DW, Krishnamurthy V, Bines SD, Kaufman HL. TroVax, a recombinant modified vaccinia Ankara virus encoding 5T4: lessons learned and future development. Hum Vaccin. 2010;6(10):784–91.
- 62. Amato RJ, Hawkins RE, Kaufman HL, Thompson JA, Tomczak P, Szczylik C, et al. Vaccination of metastatic renal cancer patients with MVA-5T4: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III study. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(22):5539–47.
- 63. Harrop R, Shingler W, Kelleher M, de Belin J, Treasure P. Cross-trial analysis of immunologic and clinical data resulting from phase I and II trials of MVA-5T4 (TroVax) in colorectal, renal, and prostate cancer patients. J Immunother. 2010;33(9):999–1005.
- 64. Harrop R, Shingler WH, McDonald M, Treasure P, Amato RJ, Hawkins RE, et al. MVA-5T4-induced immune responses are an early marker of efficacy in renal cancer patients. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60(6):829–37.
- 65. Harrop R, Treasure P, de Belin J, Kelleher M, Bolton G, Naylor S, et al. Analysis of pre-treatment markers predictive of treatment benefit for the therapeutic cancer vaccine MVA-5T4 (TroVax). Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(12):2283–94.
- Ali S, Mulryan K, Taher T, Stern PL. Immunotherapy success in prophylaxis cannot predict therapy: primeboost vaccination against the 5T4 oncofoetal antigen. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56(2):165–80.
- 67. Castro FV, Al-Muftah M, Mulryan K, Jiang HR, Drijfhout JW, Ali S, et al. Regulation of autologous immunity to the mouse 5T4 oncofoetal antigen: implications for immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(7):1005–18.
- Kimura A, Kishimoto T. IL-6: regulator of Treg/ Th17 balance. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40(7):1830–5.
- 69. Teng MW, Swann JB, von Scheidt B, Sharkey J, Zerafa N, McLaughlin N, et al. Multiple antitumor mechanisms downstream of prophylactic regulatory T-cell depletion. Cancer Res. 2010;70(7):2665–74.

- Lee S, Margolin K. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in melanoma. Curr Oncol Rep. 2012;14(5):468–74.
- Rosenberg SA, Dudley ME. Adoptive cell therapy for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma. Curr Opin Immunol. 2009;21(2):233–40.
- Thistlethwaite FC, Elkord E, Griffiths RW, Burt DJ, Shablak AM, Campbell JD, et al. Adoptive transfer of T(reg) depleted autologous T cells in advanced renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57(5):623–34.
- Metheringham RL, Pudney VA, Gunn B, Towey M, Spendlove I, Durrant LG. Antibodies designed as effective cancer vaccines. MAbs. 2009;1(1):71–85.
- 74. McGranahan N, Furness AJ, Rosenthal R, Ramskov S, Lyngaa R, Saini SK, et al. Clonal neoantigens elicit T cell immunoreactivity and sensitivity to immune checkpoint blockade. Science. 2016;351(6280):1463–9.
- Wolchok JD, Kluger H, Callahan MK, Postow MA, Rizvi NA, Lesokhin AM, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(2):122–33.
- 76. Ralph C, Elkord E, Burt DJ, O'Dwyer JF, Austin EB, Stern PL, et al. Modulation of lymphocyte regulation for cancer therapy: a phase II trial of tremelimumab in advanced gastric and esophageal adenocarcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(5):1662–72.
- Cappuccini F, Pollock E, Stribbling S, Hill AVS, Redchenko I. 5T4 oncofoetal glycoprotein: an old target for a novel prostate cancer immunotherapy. Oncotarget. 2017; https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.17666.
- Stern PL. Is immunity in cancer the key to improving clinical outcome? Ther Adv Vaccines. 2017;5(3):55– 68. https://doi.org/10.1177/2051013617720659.
- Amato RJ, Xiong Y, Peng H, Mohlere V. Clinical outcomes model in renal cell cancer patients treated with modified vaccinia Ankara plus tumor-associated antigen 5T4. Int J Biol Markers. 2015;30(1):e111– 21. https://doi.org/10.5301/jbm.5000112.
- Said R, Amato RJ. Identification of pre- and posttreatment markers, clinical, and laboratory parameters associated with outcome in renal Cancer patients treated with MVA-5T4. Front Oncol. 2013;3:185. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2013.00185.
- Scurr M, Bloom A, Pembroke T, Srinivasan R, Brown C, Smart K, et al. Escalating regulation of 5T4-specific IFN-γ(+) CD4(+) T cells distinguishes colorectal cancer patients from healthy controls and provides a target for in vivo therapy. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1(6) https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066. CIR-13-0035.
- 82. Dohlsten M, Abrahmsén L, Björk P, Lando PA, Hedlund G, Forsberg G, et al. Monoclonal antibodysuperantigen fusion proteins: tumor-specific agents for T-cell-based tumor therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91(19):8945–9.
- Dohlsten M, Hansson J, Ohlsson L, Litton M, Kalland T. Antibody-targeted superantigens are potent induc-

ers of tumor-infiltrating T lymphocytes in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(21):9791–5.

- 84. Hedlund G, Forsberg G, Nederman T, Sundstedt A, Dahlberg L, Tiensuu M, et al. Tumor-targeted superantigens. In: Schmidt SR, editor. Fusion protein technologies for biopharmaceuticals: applications and challenges. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley; 2013.
- 85. Forsberg G, Forsgren M, Jaki M, Norin M, Sterky C, Enhörning A, et al. Identification of framework residues in a secreted recombinant antibody fragment that control production level and localization in *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Chem. 1997;272(19):12430–6.
- Forsberg G, Ohlsson L, Brodin T, Björk P, Lando PA, Shaw D, et al. Therapy of human non-small-cell lung carcinoma using antibody targeting of a modified superantigen. Br J Cancer. 2001;85(1):129–36.
- 87. Patterson KG, Dixon Pittaro JL, Bastedo PS, Hess DA, Haeryfar SM, McCormick JK. Control of established colon cancer xenografts using a novel humanized single chain antibody-streptococcal superantigen fusion protein targeting the 5T4 oncofetal antigen. PLoS One. 2014;9(4):e95200. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0095200.
- Cheng JD, Babb JS, Langer C, Aamdal S, Robert F, Engelhardt LR, et al. Individualized patient dosing in phase I clinical trials: the role of escalation with overdose control in PNU-214936. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(4):602–9.
- 89. Shaw DM, Connolly NB, Patel PM, Kilany S, Hedlund G, Nordle O, et al. A phase II study of a 5T4 oncofoetal antigen tumour-targeted superantigen (ABR-214936) therapy in patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 2007;96(4):567–74.
- Erlandsson E, Andersson K, Cavallin A, Nilsson A, Larsson-Lorek U, Niss U, et al. Identification of the antigenic epitopes in staphylococcal enterotoxins a and E and design of a superantigen for human cancer therapy. J Mol Biol. 2003;333(5):893–905.
- Forsberg G, Skartved NJ, Wallén-Ohman M, Nyhlén HC, Behm K, Hedlund G, et al. Naptumomab estafenatox, an engineered antibody-superantigen fusion protein with low toxicity and reduced antigenicity. J Immunother. 2010;33(5):492–9.
- 92. Borghaei H, Alpaugh K, Hedlund G, Forsberg G, Langer C, Rogatko A, et al. Phase I dose escalation, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic study of naptumomab estafenatox alone in patients with advanced cancer and with docetaxel in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(25):4116–23.
- 93. Hedlund G, Eriksson H, Sundstedt A, Forsberg G, Jakobsen BK, Pumphrey N, Rödström K, Lindkvist-Petersson K, Björk P. The tumor targeted superantigen ABR-217620 selectively engages TRBV7-9 and exploits TCR-pMHC affinity mimicry in mediating T cell cytotoxicity. PLoS One. 2013;8(10):e79082. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0079082.

- 94. Tran HT, Liu Y, Zurita AJ, Lin Y, Baker-Neblett KL, Martin AM, et al. Prognostic or predictive plasma cytokines and angiogenic factors for patients treated with pazopanib for metastatic renal-cell cancer: a retrospective analysis of phase 2 and phase 3 trials. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(8):827–37.
- 95. Eisen T, Hedlund G, Forsberg G, Hawkins R. Naptumomab estafenatox: targeted immunotherapy with a novel immunotoxin. Curr Oncol Rep. 2014;16(2):370. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11912-013-0370-0.
- 96. Elkord E, Burt DJ, Sundstedt A, Nordle Ö, Hedlund G, Hawkins RE. Immunological response and overall survival in a subset of advanced renal cell carcinoma patients from a randomized phase 2/3 study of naptumomab estafenatox plus IFN-α versus IFN-α. Oncotarget. 2015;6(6):4428–39.
- Boghaert ER, Sridharan L, Khandke KM, Armellino D, Ryan MG, Myers K, et al. The oncofetal protein, 5T4, is a suitable target for antibody-guided anti-cancer chemotherapy with calicheamicin. Int J Oncol. 2008;32(1):221–34.
- 98. Sapra P, Damelin M, Dijoseph J, Marquette K, Geles KG, Golas J, et al. Long-term tumor regression induced by an antibody-drug conjugate that targets 5T4, an oncofetal antigen expressed on tumor-initiating cells. Mol Cancer Ther. 2013;12(1):38–47.
- 99. Den Boer ML, van Slegtenhorst M, De Menezes RX, Cheok MH, Buijs-Gladdines JG, Peters ST, et al. A subtype of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia with poor treatment outcome: a genome-wide classification study. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(2):125–34.
- Hunger SP, Mullighan CG. Redefining ALL classification: toward detecting high-risk ALL and implementing precision medicine. Blood. 2015;125(26):3977–87.
- 101. Damelin M, Zhong W, Myers J, Sapra P. Evolving strategies for target selection for antibody-drug conjugates. Pharm Res. 2015;32(11):3494–507. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11095-015-1624-3.
- 102. Shapiro GI, Vaishampayan UN, LoRusso P, Barton J, Hua S, Reich SD, Shazer R, Taylor CT, Xuan D, Borghaei H. First-in-human trial of an anti-

5T4 antibody-monomethylauristatin conjugate, PF-06263507, in patients with advanced solid tumors. Investig New Drugs. 2017;35(3):315–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10637-016-0419-7.

- 103. Welschinger R, Liedtke F, Basnett, et al. Plerixafor (ADM3100) induces prolonged mobilization of acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells and increases the proportion of cycling cells in the blood of mice. Exp Hematol. 2013;4193:293–302.e1.
- 104. Gilham DE, Debets R, Pule M, Hawkins RE, Abken H. CAR-T cells and solid tumors: tuning T cells to challenge an inveterate foe. Trends Mol Med. 2012;18(7):377–84.
- 105. Chmielewski M, Abken H. CAR T cells transform to trucks: chimeric antigen receptor-redirected T cells engineered to deliver inducible IL-12 modulate the tumour stroma to combat cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(8):1269–77.
- 106. Lipowska-Bhalla G, Gilham DE, Hawkins RE, Rothwell DG. Targeted immunotherapy of cancer with CAR T cells: achievements and challenges. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(7):953–62.
- 107. Sadelain M, Riviere I, Riddell S. Therapeutic T cell engineering. Nature. 2017;545(7655):423–31.
- 108. Shaw DM, Embleton MJ, Westwater C, Ryan MG, Myers KA, Kingsman SM, et al. Isolation of a high affinity scFv from a monoclonal antibody recognising the oncofoetal antigen 5T4. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2000;1524(2–3):238–46.
- 109. Guest RD, Hawkins RE, Kirillova N, Cheadle EJ, Arnold J, O'Neill A, et al. The role of extracellular spacer regions in the optimal design of chimeric immune receptors: evaluation of four different scFvs and antigens. J Immunother. 2005;28(3):203–11.
- 110. Jiang HR, Gilham DE, Mulryan K, Kirillova N, Hawkins RE, Stern PL. Combination of vaccination and chimeric receptor expressing T cells provides improved active therapy of tumors. J Immunol. 2006;177(7):4288–98.
- 111. Al-Muftah M. Investigating the oncofoetal antigen 5T4 as a target for cancer immunotherapy. PhD Thesis, University of Manchester; 2011.



Aging and Cancer Prognosis



Arvin Haj-Mirzaian, Khashayar Afshari, and Amir Hossein Abdolghaffari

Contents

24.1	Introduction	434
24.2	Aging and Cancer Demography	434
24.3	General Content of Cellular Aging	435
24.4	Clinical Aspects of Aging, Age-Related Disease, and Immunity	437
24.5	Hypothesis of Increase in Cancer Risk by Aging	438
24.6	An Epitome of Aging, Immunity, and Cancer	439
24.7	Aging and Immunity as Prognostic Factors in Cancer	440
24.8	Cancer Treatment Approaches Based on Aging and Immunity	442
24.9	Conclusion	443
Refer	ences	443

The original version of this chapter was revised. A correction to this chapter is available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_33

A. Haj-Mirzaian Experimental Medicine Research Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

K. Afshari Experimental Medicine Research Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran A. H. Abdolghaffari (⊠) Department of Toxicology and Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Tehran Medical Sciences, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran

Medicinal Plants Research Center, Institute of Medicinal Plants, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

Toxicology and Diseases Group (TDG), Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center (PSRC), The Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences (TIPS), and Faculty of Pharmacy, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

GI Pharmacology Interest Group (GPIG), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education of Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran e-mail: amirhosein172@hotmail.com

24.1 Introduction

Aging is a natural and biological procedure that definitely occurs in all living organisms and could induce a progressive loss of function or decrease the capacity of tissues for regeneration [1, 2]. Aging could increase the risk of many chronic diseases with different pathways such as mutation accumulation, wear and tear, and antagonistic pleiotropy [3]. It is considered that aging is one of the potential risk factors for cancer developments; majority of cancer diagnoses are in individuals over 65 years old [4]. In this regard, cancer is an aging-related disease [5-7], and a better understanding of the aging process could clarify the reason for increased cancer incidence in advanced ages. Typical features of the age pattern for cancer incidence rate include a peak in early childhood, low rate in youth, and increase in elderly [3, 8–10].

Advances in the clinical and experimental research of aging and cancer have shown insight into the molecular and cellular pathways of these processes. The antagonistic pleiotropy hypothesis indicates that the genes which induce aging could survive in the evolutionary selection, because they could induce some useful and valuable effects during the reproductive period [11, 12]. Briefly, many of these biological procedures during aging could perform a pro-survival function during earlier periods of life. In this regard, cellular senescence, as an example of this paradigm, was demonstrated to be an essential process during embryonic development [13]. Also, this process is a robust tumor suppressor mechanism which could play as a preventer agent of cellular damages and oncogenic mutations [14, 15]. This process is the same as the one which could induce a multiple age-related pathologies [16], including cancer [17].

Recently, researchers have shown that the inflammation that is commonly induced by exogenous pathogens, DNA impairments, UV radiation, and physical trauma could modulate some multiple biological processes, including cancer and aging-related pathologies [18–21]. On the other hand, it is clear that during the aging process, the function of the immune system declines,

and other tissues deteriorate [22]. One of the theories, which shows the cause of decreasing function of the immune system during aging, is age-related thymic involution. This is a progressive shrinking process of the thymus and is related to the natural decline of the immune system over time [23]. It has been suggested that immune surveillance is a key factor in avoiding cancer progression; therefore, immunosenescence is an important key factor that could link tumorigenesis and aging [24].

24.2 Aging and Cancer Demography

Cancer diagnoses vary during an individual's life span and depend on many factors. It has been estimated that the cumulative risk for cancer increases by age 70 years old and then decreases slightly [25]. The lifetime risk of ever being diagnosed with cancer in the total US population is about 41% [25]. However, most of older individuals remain without any diagnoses of cancer in their life span. Also, it should be noted that cancer became a rare condition after 90 years old [26]. It has been estimated that more than half of all cancers occurred in people more than 65 years old in 2009, and by considering the growing number of older adults, it's predicted that the numbers would increase to 70% until 2030 [27]. Therefore, this topic shows the necessity to focus on opportunities for primary prevention rather than relying on treatments.

In the midlife, health becomes a valuable condition establishing the foundation for longevity later in life. In the period of midlife, people are confronted with many risk factors for a variety of diseases including cancer. Tobacco use, lack of physical activity, poor nutrition, infection, etc. are considered to be among these risk factors [28, 29]. Although many of these factors are changeable, others including genetic and aging of the cells are unchangeable throughout life. In addition, some preventable conditions and disorders such as diabetes and obesity, which could increase during midlife, are correlated with elevated cancer risk or decreased malignancy survival. The incidence of chronic conditions such as obesity, lower physical activity, and diabetes has increased in the recent decades. Hence, it could be estimated that prior generations which include adults who are currently aged from 45 to 64 years old are expected to live longer than their descendents who seem to be experiencing higher rates of these chronic conditions [30, 31]. Therefore, the prevention or management of chronic conditions and the promotion of general health during midlife are promising strategies to prevent or delay cancer incidence at older ages.

24.3 General Content of Cellular Aging

Cellular aging and the age-related physiological changes are fascinating subjects to investigate. Aging is commonly characterized by a developing accumulation of cell and tissue destructions, resulting in reduced organ function and increased susceptibility to disease and age-related disorders [32]. Aging could affect all macromolecular components at the cellular level. For example, the yellow-brown granular pigment lipofuscin that contributed to brown atrophy of tissue, in the elderly individuals, was one of the first to be reported; this process consists of complexes of oxidized lipids covalently linked to proteins [33]. On the other hand, nonenzymatic biological side reactions such as glycation, as a part of the free radical hypothesis of aging, have been suggested to interpret the main mechanism of aging in elderly animals [34, 35].

Recently, researchers have been focused on the decline in proteostasis process and protein quality control. These impairments lead to an increase in number of the abnormal proteins in aged individuals [36]. The ubiquitin-proteasome, chaperone, and autophagy systems are the intracellular proteostasis mechanisms that are typically acting in the normal cells. It has been suggested that aging could induce changes in all of these pathways. Chaperons could recognize the initial protein misfolding; this process requires ATP, which might be limited in older ages [37, 38]. Therefore, repairment of misfolded or damaged proteins might be decreased by aging, and subsequently, the number of abnormal proteins in cells increases. In addition, both proteasomal and autophagy functions could be affected by aging; decline in these pathways leads to both intracellular and extracellular abnormal accumulation [39]. Aging is also correlated with epigenetic modifications including changes in histone and DNA methylation patterns, which result in the progressive and profound modification of transcriptional profiles of coding and noncoding RNA [40, 41]. Several lines of experimental evidence have been indicating that such large-scale changes are related to the inflammatory status and are in response to environmental stimuli and nutrient availability [42]. In addition, a decrease in the proliferative capacity in senescent cells is correlated with the general loss of histones and with an imbalance between activating and repressive histone alterations [43, 44]. Also, aging could affect DNA methylation patterns, and the methylation status of some specific regions (termed clock CpGs) could correctly predict cellular age [45]. Interestingly, studies have revealed that more than 30% of chromatin, including the formation of large-scale domains of H3K4me3 and H3K27me3 over lamina-related domains, as well as significant losses of H3K27me3 outside these domains, is dramatically reorganized and linked to the transcriptional downregulation of lamin B1 in senescence. These processes could be a key trigger of global and local chromatin alterations that could affect gene expression, aging, and cancer [40, 46, 47]. Overall, age is correlated with global DNA hypo-methylation and local hypermethylation in some particular regions. These conditions in combination with histone alteration are linked to inflammation, aging, and oxidative stress, which could affect the activation or the repression of specific transcriptional programs, including those involved in the expression of cytokines, oncogenes, and tumor suppressor genes. Therefore, these conditions could make tissues prone to chronic inflammatory diseases associated with age and cancer [48]. In general, both endogenous and exogenous sources of DNA damage could be accompanied with genotoxicity

[49]. Furthermore, alternation in all macromolecule such as membrane lipids, proteins, and DNA and the underlying implications could influence the organ functions at both cellular and tissue levels, which is the primary hallmark of aging [50–52].

For half a century, one of the most potent hypotheses indicated as an increment factor for survival and reducing age-associated changes was to restrict the caloric intake. Animal studies showed that decreasing the caloric intake by 20-40% could increase the life span for about 20-50% without any increment of survival in mice [53]. However, in primates, investigations have shown no significant increase in the lifetime with lower cholesterol intake, better insulin sensitivity, etc. [54, 55]. On the other hand, molecular studies have suggested that telomere shortening as a mechanism of aging could increase the vulnerability of aging cells to DNA and dysregulation [56–58]. damage The decreased telomere sequence, which is called

"replicative senescence," as well as other replicative dysregulation, might result in an unsatisfactory replacement of damaged or dead cells from their respective precursor cell populations. Many of these resting precursor cells begin to differentiate along adipocyte-like pathways, rather than into other tissue types [59]. Subpopulations of adipocytes, hepatocytes, fibroblasts, and other cells might enter the senescence period with aging and develop the senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP) [60]. SASP cells have a potential to release the inflammatory cytokines, growth factors, proteases, and other damaging factors that could change the activity of other localized normal cells [61]. Researchers have been focused on the damaging effects of SASP to develop a chemical which has an ability to kill and eliminate senescent cells to decrease the age-related diseases (Fig. 24.1) [62]. In this regard, eliminating these cells has improved the cardiac and vascular function in mice [62]. Therefore, senescent cell removal might increase



Fig. 24.1 This schematic briefly shows the senescent procedure in a normal tissue which could lead to an increase in the risk of malignancies

the life span and life expectancy [63]. It has been demonstrated that in the senescent cells, the nucleus is defined by senescence-associated heterochromatin foci (SAHF) and DNA segments with chromatin alterations reinforcing senescence (DNA-SCARS) [64]. In addition, senescence could affect tumor suppression, cell development, and wound healing and plays as an important pathological agent for age-associated diseases. In this regard, experimental studies showed that eliminating the senescent cells in mice could result in greater resistance against the age-related disorders [65].

Also, other hypotheses have shown that DNA damage could activate the p53 gene. Activation of this gene results in many molecular pathways, which could affect the cell function and viability. For those cells that have a rapid turnover, an activated p53 gene could stop the normal cell growth and turn it to the apoptosis state. Also, this process leads to loss of function of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivators alpha and beta (PGC1-alpha and PGC1-beta) and might result in mitochondrial dysfunction and subsequently increase the level of free radicals with loss of antioxidant defenses [66].

Interestingly, recent articles have focused on the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway, which modulates nutrient delivery and is considered to play an essential role in the ability of caloric limitation to increase life span. Rapamycin has been determined to provide longevity in mice [67]. Therefore, although senescent cell removal and preventing senesce could influence the duration of life span, aging is a natural biological process leading to increase of the age-related diseases; hence, struggling with this condition remains a novel topic to discuss.

24.4 Clinical Aspects of Aging, Age-Related Disease, and Immunity

It has been well recognized that aging could induce functional decline in multiple organs which does not occur in young, normal, and healthy individuals [68]. For example, the renal function could decrease while aging [69]; this reduction has been proven to be a useful biological marker of aging in the clinical studies. However, these changes could not be accompanied with renal complication in the absence of any other disorders or exposure to a nephrotoxic agent. In addition, it has been observed that bone marrow is affected by aging through a decrease in marrow stem cells and their proliferative potential [70, 71]. Also, studies show that there are significant age-related changes in the immune system functions [72, 73]. However, these changes either do not influence health of the aged individuals or are associated with minimal clinical consequences in the absence of any other diseases. Aging is not a disease, but these physiological changes could make individuals prone to a variety of disorders. In this regard, studies indicated that aging-related changes could induce the following factors due to change in immune system responses: increased reactivation of tuberculosis [74, 75], or herpes zoster [76], and less responding capability to vaccination against diseases such as influenza [77, 78]. This decrement of immune responses might also be correlated with malignant conditions in elderly individuals [79].

Clinical studies suggest a significant inverse relationship between cardiovascular, respiratory, nervous, endocrine, gastrointestinal, and genitourinary system functions and age in elderly individuals in comparison to younger patients [80, 81]. The immune system like any other organ might be affected by aging. The immune system acts as a defensive factor against infection and also a detector and removal agent for malignant cells. By aging, the immune system responses inappropriately against various conditions, and this process could cause increased susceptibility to infections, cancer, and incidence of autoimmune disease.

Age-related immune dysfunction is an interesting topic to discuss, and there is limited documents investigating the effect of aging on the immune system and its consequences [82]. Although many experimental studies have assessed this association at a basic level, few clinical studies evaluated the effect of aging on immune system changes. The prevalence of cancer and mortality notably increases in individuals more than 65 years old and reduces by the age 85-90. Overall, there are two causes of immunodeficiency, that is, primary and secondary. The most important primary causes of immunodeficiency are correlated with antibody deficiency, aging, and immuno-senescence. Secondary causes of immunodeficiency include malnutrimalignancy tion, treatment or immunesuppressive drugs, immunomodulatory agents (such as infliximab), drug-induced hypogammaglobulinemia, metabolic conditions, and infections. It has been indicated that both innate and adaptive immune systems are involved in the first barrier against malignant cells. Individuals with no sufficient response of the immune system are highly at risk of malignancies; this condition is observed in immune-deficient patients which indicates the role of the immune system in defending against malignant cells [83]. On the other hand, exposure to the carcinogenic agents and accumulation of mutation load could increase the risk of cancer in the elderly [84].

It has been suggested that immuno-senescence is characterized by reduction in the number of naive T-cells in peripheral blood and lymph nodes [85-87]. Although the number of memory T-cell increases by aging, the functional integrity of T-cells including CD4+ and CD8+ cells decreases in elderly individuals. This condition might be the reason of reduced immune response to cancer antigens that are expressed by malignant cells [88, 89]. It seems that antigen presentation by dendritic cells (DCs) remains unchanged during the aging process; this subject caused researchers to focus more on T-cells in immunosenescence [90]. Also, many documents have shown that the activity of innate immune system could increase the level of pro-inflammatory cytokines and subsequently induce inflammation, which associates with an adverse effect on health in the elderly [91]. These hypotheses have been proven by many clinical trials showing decrease in immunity responses to vaccination in older individuals [92]. However, the most important factors involved in immuno-senescence and the underlying causes of age-associated changes remain mostly unclear [93].

24.5 Hypothesis of Increase in Cancer Risk by Aging

There are many types of theories that have been evaluated to show the increased risk of cancer is correlated with aging. Right after genetic factors, one of the most critical risk factors is exposures to carcinogenic agents. Carcinogenic exposures seem to affect similarly across human and other mammals. This hypothesis was evaluated in preclinical experiments on rodents and by an observational study on occupational exposures in humans [9, 94, 95]. These studies showed that skin administration of the regular benzpyrene significantly increases the prevalence of malignant epithelial tumors. This increment was related to the duration of exposure; however, it was not related to the age onset of exposures. On the other hand, the study by Doll et al. [94] showed that the occupational exposures could increase the incidence of cancer in humans. Overall, it could be concluded that the risk of exposures and accumulator dose of carcinogenic factors in the body could be increased by aging [3, 96].

Another hypothesis for increasing the risk of cancer in the elderly is the increment in vulnerability of individuals to cancer, and aging-related procedures might be a powerful reason for this hypothesis [3, 96–100]. In this regard, animal studies demonstrated that tissues obtained from elderly mice are more susceptible to be transformed by carcinogenic factors rather than tissues taken from younger subjects [101]. There have been many hypotheses investigated, showing how aging could increase individual's vulnerability to cancer. Some papers [3, 97] suggested that aging could decrease threshold of an organism to cancer due to several pathways including disturbance in hormonal balance, an increase in the number of loci of chronic proliferation, and the decline in the immune system by aging. The exact mechanism in which immuno-senescence leads to increased incidence of malignancies is still unclear and contradictory [102, 103]. Krtolica et al. proposed that the accumulation of senescent cells in the stroma, while aging, disrupts the local tissue integrity with factors secreted by these cells [10]. This may-in authors' opinion-create a pro-oncogenic tissue microenvironment. Overall, the increment in cancer risk by aging cannot have a single cause, and it is assumed to be a multifactorial process; therefore, decreasing immunity and accumulation in carcinogenic factor exposures could increase the mutation load and also escalate individual's vulnerability to cancer [3, 96, 98]. Recently, there are many researches that indicate aging or agingrelated pathologies could produce a change in the immune system with a low-grade inflammation, which is triggered by various damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and autophagyrelated immune changes. These changes in immunity are considered to create protumorigenic conditions that make aged organisms become more vulnerable to oncogenic insults [22]. Also, it should be noted that the abovementioned concepts not only could increase age-associated cancer risk but also might increase age-related diseases.

24.6 An Epitome of Aging, Immunity, and Cancer

As mentioned above and in Chap. 23, Vol 1 entitled "Immuno-senescence, Oxidative Stress, and Cancers," it has been indicated that aging is related with a low-grade of chronic sterile inflammation, which could be accompanied with all aging-associated diseases [18, 91, 104]. Results obtained from some epidemiological analysis demonstrate a direct relation between elderly and high levels of inflammatory factors including IL-6 and C-reactive protein (CRP). This is the biological theme of the elderly, and it is considered as the outcome of exposure to various internal and external factors throughout life and in turn a driving factor in multiple age-related pathologies [23, 105, 106].

Generally, inflammation is a sophisticated biological reply to detrimental provocations including pathogen invasion, physical trauma, or irradiation and also is considered as an eliminator

factor for harmful agents and then plays a role in restoring the tissues and homeostasis [107, 108]. Chronic inflammation, as a low-grade permanent process, could lead to tissue remodeling or dysfunction, while acute inflammation is considered as a beneficial process for promoting the tissue repairment [109]. It has been suggested that chronic inflammation could lead to induction or distribution of multiple pathological procedures, including degenerative disease that follows with aging and cancer [64, 110, 111]. It has been indicated that immune cells, mainly macrophages, and nonimmune cells such as epithelial and fibroblast cells are considered as the inflammatory responses which accompany aging [112]. However, there have been several methods that stop inflammation in aging. Two sources have been suggested in the pathophysiology of chronic low-grade inflammation (inflammaging); one source is the increased frequency of cellular aging and inflammatory factors especially IL-6, and another one is contributed to innate immune system responses which result from various proinflammatory factors. DAMPs, DNA fragments or DNA culprits, and various microbial elements that might be debris of macromolecules are those known agents which are involved in the pathophysiology of this chronic low-grade inflammation [113]. The immune response involved in the aging inflammation initiates with activation of innate immune receptors which is the result of the accumulation of DAMPs [114, 115]. Toll-like receptors (TLR) are the kind of transmembrane receptors that are typically considered as innate sensors and are commonly activated by these components [115]. Activation of TLRs could subsequently result in activation of the proinflammatory transcription factors including NF- κ B and activator protein 1 (AP-1); upregulation of various inflammatory cytokines including TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-12; and activation of type I IFN immune response via myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MYD88). Other intracellular receptors such as NOD-like receptors (NLRs) establish a fundamental component of the inflammasome complex. The inflammasome is a multi-protein cytoplasmic complex that uses

a signaling core for inflammatory responses. NRL family senses the DAMPs and leads to activation of caspase-1 (inflammasome complex) and subsequently results in secretion of mature pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β and IL-18 [116, 117].

Chronic inflammation is correlated tightly to the growth of age-associated disorders such as cancer. It has been shown that the chronic lowgrade inflammation could increase tumorigenewhich is related to myeloid-derived sis. suppressor cells (MDSCs). MDSCs are a heterogenic group of myeloid lineage-derived cells that could play as an immune-suppressive factor. Past studies showed that MDSCs could accumulate in melanoma lesions and lymphoid organs in a mouse model of melanoma. Their accumulation was correlated to reduce the representation of T-cell receptor ζ chain and decreased antitumoral immune activity [118]. Studies have determined that breast cancer is a well-known example of the robust linkage between proinflammatory malignancies. Also, they showed the connection between IL-6, as a major component of aging inflammation, and cancer development and progression [119]. Interestingly, it was suggested that IL-6 could be used as a prognostic factor in breast cancer, and high concentration of IL-6 correlates with poor prognosis in breast cancer [120]. On the other hand, studies revealed a raised IL-6 mRNA in aggressive breast ductal cell carcinoma in comparison to a healthy tissue [121]. In a different in vitro model, IL-6 stimulated non-stem cancer cells of breast and prostate cancer cell lines to gain cancer stem cell properties [122]. Breast cancer is one example that can serve to highlight the possible contribution of inflammaging to cancer propagation. Also, there are many topics that are in line with each other on various types of cancers such as prostate [122]; thus, it could be concluded that these hypotheses could highlight the possible connection of aging inflammation and cancer developments.

Recently, Hanahan et al. demonstrated the new hallmarks of cancer; they showed the association between cancer and immune responses [123]. It has been demonstrated that aging could

induce transformations in the immune system such as sensitivity to infections, autoimmunity, decrease in vaccination response, and cancer development [124, 125]. From the perspective of immunity, aging is described by thymic involution, decreased in T-cell diversity, reduced naive T-cell population, increased in memory T-cells, and decreased cytotoxic activity of natural killer cells (NK) and macrophage age-related changes [24, 126–129]. Therefore, age-induced changes in T-cells, macrophage, neutrophils, and NK cells could significantly affect the changing tumoral microenvironment and provide compromising immune surveillance (Table 24.1). In an interesting study, the effect of the aging immune system on cell fate in mouse model of squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) has been studied. They showed that induction of mutation in a growth gene of keratinocyte could result in the rapid cell growth and hyperplastic reaction in younger mice with no creation of malignant cells; however, in older mice, in addition to high speed of growth, they observed evidence of dysplastic changes, which half of them converted to SCC. Also, they demonstrated a shift toward the pro-tumorigenic Th2 inflammatory response, increased expression of the immune checkpoint activator PD-L1, and increased SA-β-Gal staining in the dermis which probably represents senescent immune cells in older mice [130].

24.7 Aging and Immunity as Prognostic Factors in Cancer

Numerous studies have indicated that age is a critical risk factor for cancer prognosis and development, and it is clear that an elderly patient diagnosed with cancer has a higher risk for recurrence and lower survival rate. The neoplastic prevalence and mortality of malignant conditions are directly correlated with aging. As mentioned previously, in patients older than 65 years old, nearly more than 50% of all types of malignant neoplasia will appear [131]. However, it should be noted that this condition does not apply to all cancers.

Affected items	Outcome	Involvement function	Pathological results	Final outcome
Inflammation	Increase low-grade chronic inflammation	↑ Cytokines ↑ DAMPs ↑ TLR activation NLRs	Increased tumorigenesis	Increase risk of cancer
Thymic involution	Decreased T-cell diversity	Decreased in naive T-cells	Decreased immune responses to malignant condition	
Natural killer cells	Decreased in cytotoxicity	Impairment toxicity	Decreased immune responses to malignant condition	
Macrophages	Decrease in antigen presentation, phagocytosis, ROS production, and cytokine production	Controversies for phagocytosis Impaired recruitment ↓ Response to stimuli factors ↑ Response to IL-4/ IL13 Products released	Decreased immune responses to malignant condition	
Neutrophils	Impairment of neutrophil function	Intact adhesion, Controversies for migration and chemotaxis ↓ Phagocytosis Intracellular killing ↓ and ↑ various products released ↓ Apoptosis	Decreased immune responses to malignant condition	

 Table 24.1
 Effect of aging on immune system: consequent increased tumorigenesis due to the decrease of immune responses to malignant conditions and increased tumorigenesis and cancer

Many clinical and experimental studies have shown a poor prognosis in aged patients who suffer from cancer. For example, a study run by Høst et al. on 31,594 females with breast cancer reported the poor outcome among elderly individuals [132]. However, they also indicated that this condition might be due to the lower efficacy of treatments in elderly patient because they have more organ disability and lower tolerance to treatments used in younger patients. On the other hand, other studies demonstrated that in aged individuals, the cancer might become more aggressive with high rates of metastasis. For example, Faruk et al. showed that the rate of metastatic pancreatic carcinoma was significantly higher in elderly individuals and also the overall survival of aged patients with metastatic cancer was significantly lower in comparison to younger individuals suffering from metastatic cancer [133]. In line with recently mentioned studies, Balch et al. showed that the incidence of melanoma increased among younger population; however, the mortality rate was significantly higher in older patients [134]. However, it is not well recognized how aging affects cancer prognosis. One of the most important reasons is using less invasive treatments in older patients due to their organ dysfunction during their aging process. Recent manuscripts showed that immune senescence could be a recently identified reason for poor prognosis of cancer in elderly.

As mentioned before in this chapter, the most critical aspects describing the aging process are the inevitable loss of renewal capacity and involution of tissues and organs. Also, in aged individuals, the immune system does not have an efficient response against malignancies, and this condition is tightly associated with induction of more aggressive cancers along with poor prognosis. It is clear that the immune system acts as a preventing factor by activating and inducing an efficient immune response against tumors and
malignant conditions. Therefore, aging could increase the risk of cancer development by affecting the immune system [135]. For example, the immune stimulation of T-cells by dendritic cells is essential for their efficient activation, and this is changed by aging within the co-receptors including B7.1, B7.2, OX40, CD27, CD30, and CD40. Aging leads to weakening of the T-cell responses. One clinical study showed that NK cells might play a critical and prognostic role in metastatic colorectal cancer; they also observed that these cells are able to eliminate metastasis. On the other hand, they showed that in addition to tumor stage, infiltration of CD8+ and CD57+ cells in the tumor margin is an independent prognostic factor in these individuals [136]. Also, Walsh et al. suggested that preoperative neutrophils to lymphocyte ratio could be a promising predictor for colorectal cancer prognosis [137]. The unique features of immuno-senescence prevent an efficient immune response against malignancies and contribute to the overall decrease threshold to malignant conditions with aging [138].

24.8 Cancer Treatment Approaches Based on Aging and Immunity

Researchers have evaluated many mechanisms to increase longevity and life expectancy. The results of the most parts of these efforts demonstrated that longevity is tightly related to reduction of the risk factors for infections. autoimmunity, or cancer. It has been well documented that good nutrition and exercise could significantly relate to longevity. In this regard, some vitamin or mineral supplements including vitamins A, D, E, B6, B12, folate, and C, selenium, zinc, copper, and iron are necessary for normal immune system function, and lack of these components could lead to decrease in the immune system's function. Also, it has been suggested that immune responses increase in elderly if the adequate amount of these components is received [139-141]. In addition, past studies showed that chronic stress is the most powerful agent that could affect the immune system and its responses. It has been suggested that chronic stress is associated with accelerated immunosenescence; therefore, stress management therapies might reverse some features of immuno-senescence [142–144].

Cytokine therapies as a novel treatment could affect the immune system aging. In this regard, experimental studies have revealed that recombinant interlukin-7 (IL-7) could increase thymic output of T-cells or T-cell function (CD4+, CD8+, central memory CD8+, and T-cell receptor excision circle or TRECs) in a mouse model of thymic atrophy [112]. Interestingly, a phase I study of recombinant human IL-7 on 16 individuals with refractory cancer showed the increment of naive and central memory cells [145]. On the other hand, animal studies have demonstrated that mTOR inhibitors could extend the longevity and partially reverse aging effects on immune cells. Studies suggested that using mTOR inhibitors could increase the life span in 9-14 percent of mice and this range is sex dependent [146, 147]. In contrast, long treatment of mTOR inhibitors could not affect the life span in marmosets [148]. Human studies of mTOR inhibitors have revealed that this agent might counter some measure of immuno-senescence. After using the mTOR inhibitors, researchers observed the high response to influenza vaccine in 20% of individuals with more than 65 years old [149].

Recently, it has been shown that the immune system could play a critical role in tumorigenesis, and immunotherapy could be used as an effective anticancer treatment. In this regard, FDA approved that IL-2 could be administrated as a treatment for renal cancer and melanoma, and this treatment became the first immunotherapeutic agent for achieving durable cancer response [122]. On the other hand, a phase I clinical trial of anti-CD28 antibody showed that using this treatment leads to destructive cytokine storm response, causing intensive care unit (ICU) admission of those individuals who underwent this treatment [123]. However, immunotherapy is now one of the fundamental treatments in oncology that is owing to advances in immunological researches.

Overall, immunotherapy methods in this field include chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cellbased therapy, T-cell transfer, and immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI) [125–127]. In clinic, these treatments are the most common immunotherapeutic strategies. Although cancer occurs mainly in the elderly, most of the experimental studies evaluated the effect of immunotherapies on young rodents. Past studies on the effectiveness of combination therapy with anti-CD40 and IL-2 in a mouse model showed that younger mice achieved good response with metastatic tumor regression; however, aged mice suffered from severe macrophage-mediated cytokine storm and died within 2 days [128]. These data suggest that the therapeutic and toxic effects of immunotherapy are based on age. Finally, a new meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials reviews the effectiveness of ICI among younger and older cancer individuals [129]. When a cutoff point was set in the range of 65-70 years old, both younger and older patients presented similar improvement in overall survival and disease-free survival. However, in a subgroup of patients older than 75 years, no significant effect of anti PD-1was observed. This further indicates the possible impact of immuno-senescence on anticancer treatment.

24.9 Conclusion

Aging overlaps with decrease in immune system's function and responses, thus resulting in increased vulnerability to cancer in elderly individuals. Age-induced changes in T-cells, macrophages, neutrophils, natural killer cells, and autophagy could significantly affect the response of the immune system to cancerous cells. On the other hand, over-release of pro-inflammatory cytokines could lead to low-grade inflammation and subsequently age-related disease. It could be concluded that age can be considered as a prognostic factor in origination of malignancies. According to previous studies on cancer treatment, based on aging and immunity, enhancement of the immune system would lead to significant decline in incidence, morbidity, and mortality of cancer. However, supplementary research is required to demonstrate age-related changes in immuno-senescence in the aspect of cancer.

References

- Granger A, Mott R, Emambokus N. Is aging as inevitable as death and taxes? Cell Metab. 2016;23(6):947–8.
- López-Otín C, Blasco MA, Partridge L, Serrano M, Kroemer G. The hallmarks of aging. Cell. 2013;153(6):1194–217.
- Ukraintseva S, Yashin A. Individual aging and cancer risk: how are they related? Demogr Res. 2003;9:163–96.
- Hsu T. Educational initiatives in geriatric oncology—who, why, and how? J Geriatr Oncol. 2016;7(5):390–6.
- Sankaranarayanan K, Chakraborty R, Boerwinkle E. Ionizing radiation and genetic risks: VI. Chronic multifactorial diseases: a review of epidemiological and genetical aspects of coronary heart disease, essential hypertension and diabetes mellitus. Mutat Rese. 1999;436(1):21–57.
- Ukraintseva S, Sergeev A. Analysis of genetic heterogeneity of bronchial asthma as related to the age of onset. Genetika. 2000;36(2):201–5.
- Ukraintseva S. On the role of age in asthma morbidity. Clin Gerontol. 2000;6:29–33.
- Castellsagué X, Muñoz N. Chapter 3: cofactors in human papillomavirus carcinogenesis—role of parity, oral contraceptives, and tobacco smoking. JNCI Monogr. 2003;2003(31):20–8.
- Peto R, Parish S, Gray R. There is no such thing as ageing, and cancer is not related to it. IARC Sci Publ. 1985;58:43–53.
- Krtolica A, Campisi J. Cancer and aging: a model for the cancer promoting effects of the aging stroma. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2002;34(11):1401–14.
- Williams PD, Day T. Antagonistic pleiotropy, mortality source interactions, and the evolutionary theory of senescence. Evolution. 2003;57(7):1478–88.
- Ungewitter E, Scrable H. Antagonistic pleiotropy and p53. Mech Ageing Dev. 2009;130(1):10–7.
- Muñoz-Espín D, Cañamero M, Maraver A, Gómez-López G, Contreras J, Murillo-Cuesta S, et al. Programmed cell senescence during mammalian embryonic development. Cell. 2013;155(5): 1104–18.
- Campisi J. Cellular senescence as a tumor-suppressor mechanism. Trends Cell Biol. 2001;11:S27–31.
- Campisi J, Di Fagagna FDA. Cellular senescence: when bad things happen to good cells. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2007;8(9):729–40.
- Ovadya Y, Krizhanovsky V. Senescent cells: SASPected drivers of age-related pathologies. Biogerontology. 2014;15(6):627–42.

- Coppé J-P, Desprez P-Y, Krtolica A, Campisi J. The senescence-associated secretory phenotype: the dark side of tumor suppression. Annu Rev Pathol Mech Dis. 2010;5:99–118.
- Franceschi C, Bonafè M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, et al. Inflamm-aging: an evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2000;908(1):244–54.
- Lasry A, Zinger A, Ben-Neriah Y. Inflammatory networks underlying colorectal cancer. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(3):230–40.
- Chung HY, Cesari M, Anton S, Marzetti E, Giovannini S, Seo AY, et al. Molecular inflammation: underpinnings of aging and age-related diseases. Ageing Res Rev. 2009;8(1):18–30.
- Cho WC, Kwan CK, Yau S, So PP, Poon PC, Au JS. The role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of lung cancer. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2011;15(9):1127–37.
- 22. Zinger A, Cho WC, Ben-Yehuda A. Cancer and aging-the inflammatory connection. Aging Dis. 2017;8(5):611.
- Shanley DP, Aw D, Manley NR, Palmer DB. An evolutionary perspective on the mechanisms of immunosenescence. Trends Immunol. 2009;30(7):374–81.
- Gayoso I, Sanchez-Correa B, Campos C, Alonso C, Pera A, Casado JG, et al. Immunosenescence of human natural killer cells. J Innate Immun. 2011;3(4):337–43.
- 25. Howlader N, Noone A, Krapcho M, Neyman N, Aminou R, Altekruse S, et al. SEER cancer statistics review, 1975–2009 (vintage 2009 populations). Based on November 2011 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER web site, April 2012. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2012.
- Pavlidis N, Stanta G, Audisio RA. Cancer prevalence and mortality in centenarians: a systematic review. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2012;83(1):145–52.
- White MC, Holman DM, Boehm JE, Peipins LA, Grossman M, Henley SJ. Age and cancer risk: a potentially modifiable relationship. Am J Prev Med. 2014;46(3):S7–S15.
- Prasad S, Sung B, Aggarwal BB. Age-associated chronic diseases require age-old medicine: role of chronic inflammation. Prev Med. 2012;54:S29–37.
- Ott J, Ullrich A, Mascarenhas M, Stevens G. Global cancer incidence and mortality caused by behavior and infection. J Public Health. 2010;33(2):223–33.
- 30. King DE, Matheson E, Chirina S, Shankar A, Broman-Fulks J. The status of baby boomers' health in the United States: the healthiest generation? JAMA Intern Med. 2013;173(5):385–6.
- Power C, Kuh D, Morton S. From developmental origins of adult disease to life course research on adult disease and aging: insights from birth cohort studies. Annu Rev Public Health. 2013;34:7–28.
- Fontana L, Partridge L, Longo VD. Extending healthy life span—from yeast to humans. Science. 2010;328(5976):321–6.

- Martin GM. Cellular aging—postreplicative cells. A review (part II). Am J Pathol. 1977;89(2):513.
- Yin D, Chen K. The essential mechanisms of aging: irreparable damage accumulation of biochemical side-reactions. Exp Gerontol. 2005;40(6):455–65.
- Šoškić V, Groebe K, Schrattenholz A. Nonenzymatic posttranslational protein modifications in ageing. Exp Gerontol. 2008;43(4):247–57.
- Kaushik S, Cuervo AM. Proteostasis and aging. Nat Med. 2015;21(12):1406–15.
- Feldman DE, Frydman J. Protein folding in vivo: the importance of molecular chaperones. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 2000;10(1):26–33.
- Ma Y, Li J. Metabolic shifts during aging and pathology. Compr Physiol. 2015;5(2):667–86.
- Hipp MS, Park S-H, Hartl FU. Proteostasis impairment in protein-misfolding and-aggregation diseases. Trends Cell Biol. 2014;24(9):506–14.
- 40. Shah PP, Donahue G, Otte GL, Capell BC, Nelson DM, Cao K, et al. Lamin B1 depletion in senescent cells triggers large-scale changes in gene expression and the chromatin landscape. Genes Dev. 2013;27(16):1787–99.
- Fougère B, Boulanger E, Nourhashémi F, Guyonnet S, Cesari M. Chronic inflammation: accelerator of biological aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2016;72(9):1218–25.
- Sen P, Shah PP, Nativio R, Berger SL. Epigenetic mechanisms of longevity and aging. Cell. 2016;166(4):822–39.
- Dang W, Steffen KK, Perry R, Dorsey JA, Johnson FB, Shilatifard A, et al. Histone H4 lysine 16 acetylation regulates cellular lifespan. Nature. 2009;459(7248):802–7.
- 44. O'sullivan RJ, Kubicek S, Schreiber SL, Karlseder J. Reduced histone biosynthesis and chromatin changes arising from a damage signal at telomeres. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2010;17(10):1218–25.
- Horvath S. DNA methylation age of human tissues and cell types. Genome Biol. 2013;14(10):3156.
- Freund A, Laberge R-M, Demaria M, Campisi J. Lamin B1 loss is a senescence-associated biomarker. Mol Biol Cell. 2012;23(11):2066–75.
- 47. Shimi T, Butin-Israeli V, Adam SA, Hamanaka RB, Goldman AE, Lucas CA, et al. The role of nuclear lamin B1 in cell proliferation and senescence. Genes Dev. 2011;25(24):2579–93.
- Monti D, Ostan R, Borelli V, Castellani G, Franceschi C. Inflammaging and omics in human longevity. Mech Ageing Dev. 2016;165(Pt B):129–38.
- Gravina S, Sedivy JM, Vijg J. The dark side of circulating nucleic acids. Aging Cell. 2016;15(3):398–9.
- López-Otín C, Galluzzi L, Freije JM, Madeo F, Kroemer G. Metabolic control of longevity. Cell. 2016;166(4):802–21.
- Gladyshev VN. Aging: progressive decline in fitness due to the rising deleteriome adjusted by genetic, environmental, and stochastic processes. Aging Cell. 2016;15(4):594–602.

- Zhang R, Chen H-Z, Liu D-P. The four layers of aging. Cell Syst. 2015;1(3):180–6.
- Liao CY, Rikke BA, Johnson TE, Diaz V, Nelson JF. Genetic variation in the murine lifespan response to dietary restriction: from life extension to life shortening. Aging Cell. 2010;9(1):92–5.
- 54. Mattison JA, Roth GS, Beasley TM, Tilmont EM, Handy AM, Herbert RL, et al. Impact of caloric restriction on health and survival in rhesus monkeys from the NIA study. Nature. 2012;489(7415):318–21.
- Colman RJ, Anderson RM, Johnson SC, Kastman EK, Kosmatka KJ, Beasley TM, et al. Caloric restriction delays disease onset and mortality in rhesus monkeys. Science. 2009;325(5937):201–4.
- Lee H-W, Blasco MA, Gottlieb GJ, Horner JW, Greider CW, DePinho RA. Essential role of mouse telomerase in highly proliferative organs. Nature. 1998;392(6676):569–74.
- Rudolph KL, Chang S, Lee H-W, Blasco M, Gottlieb GJ, Greider C, et al. Longevity, stress response, and cancer in aging telomerase-deficient mice. Cell. 1999;96(5):701–12.
- Salpea KD, Humphries SE. Telomere length in atherosclerosis and diabetes. Atherosclerosis. 2010;209(1):35–8.
- Kirkland JL, Tchkonia T, Pirtskhalava T, Han J, Karagiannides I. Adipogenesis and aging: does aging make fat go MAD? Exp Gerontol. 2002;37(6):757–67.
- 60. Zhu Y, Armstrong JL, Tchkonia T, Kirkland JL. Cellular senescence and the senescent secretory phenotype in age-related chronic diseases. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metabo Care. 2014;17(4):324–8.
- Hoare M, Narita M. Transmitting senescence to the cell neighbourhood. Nat Cell Biol. 2013;15(8):887–9.
- Childs BG, Durik M, Baker DJ, Van Deursen JM. Cellular senescence in aging and age-related disease: from mechanisms to therapy. Nat Med. 2015;21(12):1424–35.
- Baker DJ, Childs BG, Durik M, Wijers ME, Sieben CJ, Zhong J, et al. Naturally occurring p16Ink4apositive cells shorten healthy lifespan. Nature. 2016;530(7589):184–9.
- Rodier F, Campisi J. Four faces of cellular senescence. J Cell Biol. 2011;192(4):547–56.
- 65. Xu M, Palmer AK, Ding H, Weivoda MM, Pirtskhalava T, White TA, et al. Targeting senescent cells enhances adipogenesis and metabolic function in old age. elife. 2015;4:e12997.
- 66. Sahin E, Colla S, Liesa M, Moslehi J, Müller FL, Guo M, et al. Telomere dysfunction induces metabolic and mitochondrial compromise. Nature. 2011;470(7334):359–65.
- 67. Miller RA, Harrison DE, Astle C, Baur JA, Boyd AR, De Cabo R, et al. Rapamycin, but not resveratrol or simvastatin, extends life span of geneti-

cally heterogeneous mice. J Gerontol Ser A. 2011;66(2):191–201.

- 68. Duthie E. Physiology of aging: relevance to symptom perceptions and treatment tolerance. In: Balducci L, Lyman GH, Ershler WB, Extermann M, editors. Comprehensive geriatric oncology. 2nd ed. London: Martin Dunitz; 1998.
- Lindeman RD. Overview: renal physiology and pathophysiology of aging. Am J Kidney Dis. 1990;16(4):275–82.
- Harrison DE. Proliferative capacity of erythropoietic stem cell lines and aging: an overview. Mech Ageing Dev. 1979;9(5):409–26.
- Harrison D, Astle C, Stone M. Numbers and functions of transplantable primitive immunohematopoietic stem cells. Effects of age. J Immunol. 1989;142(11):3833–40.
- Miller RA. Aging and immune function. Int Rev Cytol. 1991;124:187–215.
- Miller RA. The aging immune system: primer and prospectus. Science. 1996;273(5271):70.
- DUBROW EL. Reactivation of tuberculosis: a problem of aging. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1976;24(11):481–7.
- NAGAMI PH, YOSHIKAWA TT. Tuberculosis in the geriatric patient. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1983;31(6):356–63.
- Gelato M. Aging and immune function: a possible role for growth hormone. Horm Res Paediatr. 1996;45(1–2):46–9.
- 77. Arden NH, Patriarca PA, Kendal AP. Experiences in the use and efficacy of inactivated influenza vaccine in nursing homes. Options for the control of influenza. New York, NY: Alan R Liss, Inc.; 1986. p. 155–68.
- Powers D, Sears S, Murphy B, Thumar B, Clements M. Systemic and local antibody responses in elderly subjects given live or inactivated influenza a virus vaccines. J Clin Microbiol. 1989;27(12):2666–71.
- Kaesberg PR, Ershler WB. The importance of immunesenescence in the incidence and malignant properties of cancer in hosts of advanced age. J Gerontol. 1989;44(6):63–6.
- Meier JM, Alavi A, Iruvuri S, Alzeair S, Parker R, Houseni M, et al. Assessment of age-related changes in abdominal organ structure and function with computed tomography and positron emission tomography. Sem Nucl Med. 2007;37(3):154–72.
- Taffet GE. Normal aging. Waltham, MA: UpToDate Waltham; 2013.
- Agarwal S, Busse PJ. Innate and adaptive immunosenescence. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2010;104(3):183–90.
- Kersey JH, Spector BD, Good RA. Immunodeficiency and cancer. Adv Cancer Res. 1973;18:211–30.
- Malaguarnera L, Cristaldi E, Malaguarnera M. The role of immunity in elderly cancer. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2010;74(1):40–60.
- 85. Fagnoni FF, Vescovini R, Passeri G, Bologna G, Pedrazzoni M, Lavagetto G, et al. Shortage

of circulating naive CD8+ T cells provides new insights on immunodeficiency in aging. Blood. 2000;95(9):2860–8.

- 86. Lazuardi L, Jenewein B, Wolf AM, Pfister G, Tzankov A, Grubeck-Loebenstein B. Agerelated loss of naïve T cells and dysregulation of T-cell/B-cell interactions in human lymph nodes. Immunology. 2005;114(1):37–43.
- Koch S, Larbi A, Derhovanessian E, Özcelik D, Naumova E, Pawelec G. Multiparameter flow cytometric analysis of CD4 and CD8 T cell subsets in young and old people. Immun Ageing. 2008;5(1):6.
- Naylor K, Li G, Vallejo AN, Lee W-W, Koetz K, Bryl E, et al. The influence of age on T cell generation and TCR diversity. J Immunol. 2005;174(11):7446–52.
- 89. Hadrup SR, Strindhall J, Køllgaard T, Seremet T, Johansson B, Pawelec G, et al. Longitudinal studies of clonally expanded CD8 T cells reveal a repertoire shrinkage predicting mortality and an increased number of dysfunctional cytomegalovirusspecific T cells in the very elderly. J Immunol. 2006;176(4):2645–53.
- Solana R, Pawelec G, Tarazona R. Aging and innate immunity. Immunity. 2006;24(5):491–4.
- Franceschi C, Capri M, Monti D, Giunta S, Olivieri F, Sevini F, et al. Inflammaging and antiinflammaging: a systemic perspective on aging and longevity emerged from studies in humans. Mech Ageing Dev. 2007;128(1):92–105.
- Kovaiou RD, Herndler-Brandstetter D, Grubeck-Loebenstein B. Age-related changes in immunity: implications for vaccination in the elderly. Expert Rev Mol Med. 2007;9(3):1–17.
- Derhovanessian E, Solana R, Larbi A, Pawelec G. Immunity, ageing and cancer. Immun Ageing. 2008;5(1):11.
- Doll R, Morgan L, Speizer F. Cancers of the lung and nasal sinuses in nickel workers. Br J Cancer. 1970;24(4):623–32.
- Peto R, Roe F, Lee P, Levy L, Clack J. Cancer and ageing in mice and men. Br J Cancer. 1975;32(4):411–26.
- Rubin H. The role of selection in progressive neoplastic transformation. Adv Cancer Res. 2001;83:159–207.
- Dilman V. Aging, climacteric and cancer. Leningrad: Medicina; 1968. (in Russian).
- Anisimov VN, Petrov N. Carcinogenesis and aging. Cleveland, OH: CRC Press; 1987.
- Anisimov VN. The relationship between aging and carcinogenesis: a critical appraisal. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2003;45(3):277–304.
- 100. Krtolica A, Parrinello S, Lockett S, Desprez P-Y, Campisi J. Senescent fibroblasts promote epithelial cell growth and tumorigenesis: a link between cancer and aging. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2001;98(21):12072–7.

- 101. Summerhayes I, Franks L. Effects of donor age on neoplastic transformation of adult mouse bladder epithelium in vitro. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1979;62(4):1017–23.
- 102. Zinzar SN, Svet-Moldavsky GJ, Karmanova NV. Nonimmune and immune surveillance. II. Effect of recipient's age, tumor immunogenicity, and neonatal thymectomy on tumor growth inhibition. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1978;61(3):737–45.
- 103. Cohen C, Thoas G, Hagopian G, Kufe D, Pollock R, Holland J. Neoplasms of the fallopian tube cancer medicine, vol. 1683. Canada, BC: Decker Inc; 2000.
- Franceschi C, Campisi J. Chronic inflammation (inflammaging) and its potential contribution to ageassociated diseases. J Gerontol A Biomed Sci Med Sci. 2014;69(Suppl 1):S4–9.
- 105. Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Preacher KJ, MacCallum RC, Atkinson C, Malarkey WB, Glaser R. Chronic stress and age-related increases in the proinflammatory cytokine IL-6. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2003;100(15):9090–5.
- 106. Ershler WB, Keller ET. Age-associated increased interleukin-6 gene expression, late-life diseases, and frailty. Annu Rev Med. 2000;51(1):245–70.
- 107. Pasparakis M. Regulation of tissue homeostasis by NF-κB signalling: implications for inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(11):778–88.
- 108. Medzhitov R. Inflammation 2010: new adventures of an old flame. Cell. 2010;140(6):771–6.
- 109. Medzhitov R. Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. Nature. 2008;454(7203):428–35.
- Coussens LM, Werb Z. Inflammation and cancer. Nature. 2002;420(6917):860–7.
- 111. Vasto S, Carruba G, Lio D, Colonna-Romano G, Di Bona D, Candore G, et al. Inflammation, ageing and cancer. Mech Ageing Dev. 2009;130(1):40–5.
- 112. Oishi Y, Manabe I. Macrophages in age-related chronic inflammatory diseases. NPJ Aging Mech Dis. 2016;2:16018.
- Rubartelli A, Lotze MT. Inside, outside, upside down: damage-associated molecular-pattern molecules (DAMPs) and redox. Trends Immunol. 2007;28(10):429–36.
- 114. Feldman N, Rotter-Maskowitz A, Okun E. DAMPs as mediators of sterile inflammation in aging-related pathologies. Ageing Res Rev. 2015;24:29–39.
- 115. Piccinini A, Midwood K. DAMPening inflammation by modulating TLR signalling. Mediat Inflamm. 2010;2010:1.
- 116. Tschopp J, Schroder K. NLRP3 inflammasome activation: the convergence of multiple signalling pathways on ROS production? Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10(3):210–5.
- 117. Strowig T, Henao-Mejia J, Elinav E, Flavell R. Inflammasomes in health and disease. Nature. 2012;481(7381):278–86.

- 118. Meyer C, Sevko A, Ramacher M, Bazhin AV, Falk CS, Osen W, et al. Chronic inflammation promotes myeloid-derived suppressor cell activation blocking antitumor immunity in transgenic mouse melanoma model. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2011;108(41):17111–6.
- Bonafè M, Storci G, Franceschi C. Inflamm-aging of the stem cell niche: breast cancer as a paradigmatic example. BioEssays. 2012;34(1):40–9.
- 120. Knüpfer H, Preiß R. Significance of interleukin-6 (IL-6) in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2007;102(2):129–35.
- 121. Sansone P, Storci G, Tavolari S, Guarnieri T, Giovannini C, Taffurelli M, et al. IL-6 triggers malignant features in mammospheres from human ductal breast carcinoma and normal mammary gland. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(12):3988.
- 122. Iliopoulos D, Hirsch HA, Wang G, Struhl K. Inducible formation of breast cancer stem cells and their dynamic equilibrium with non-stem cancer cells via IL6 secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2011;108(4):1397–402.
- 123. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646–74.
- 124. Gruver A, Hudson L, Sempowski G. Immunosenescence of ageing. J Pathol. 2007;211:144–56.
- 125. Panda A, Arjona A, Sapey E, Bai F, Fikrig E, Montgomery RR, et al. Human innate immunosenescence: causes and consequences for immunity in old age. Trends Immunol. 2009;30(7):325–33.
- 126. Maue AC, Yager EJ, Swain SL, Woodland DL, Blackman MA, Haynes L. T-cell immunosenescence: lessons learned from mouse models of aging. Trends Immunol. 2009;30(7):301–5.
- 127. Lynch HE, Goldberg GL, Chidgey A, Van den Brink MR, Boyd R, Sempowski GD. Thymic involution and immune reconstitution. Trends Immunol. 2009;30(7):366–73.
- 128. Koch S, Solana R, Rosa OD, Pawelec G. Human cytomegalovirus infection and T cell immunosenescence: a mini review. Mech Ageing Dev. 2006;127(6):538–43.
- 129. Colonna-Romano G, Aquino A, Bulati M, Lio D, Candore G, Oddo G, et al. Impairment of gamma/delta T lymphocytes in elderly: implications for immunosenescence. Exp Gerontol. 2004;39(10):1439–46.
- 130. Golomb L, Sagiv A, Pateras I, Maly A, Krizhanovsky V, Gorgoulis V, et al. Age-associated inflammation connects RAS-induced senescence to stem cell dysfunction and epidermal malignancy. Cell Death Differ. 2015;22(11):1764–74.
- 131. Carbone PP. Advances in the systemic treatment of cancers in the elderly. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2000;35(3):201–18.
- 132. Host H, Lund E. Age as a prognostic factor in breast cancer. Cancer. 1986;57(11):2217–21.

- 133. Tas F, Sen F, Keskin S, Kilic L, Yildiz I. Prognostic factors in metastatic pancreatic cancer: older patients are associated with reduced overall survival. Mol Clin Oncol. 2013;1(4):788–92.
- 134. Balch CM, S-j S, Gershenwald JE, Thompson JF, Coit DG, Atkins MB, et al. Age as a prognostic factor in patients with localized melanoma and regional metastases. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013;20(12):3961–8.
- 135. Malaguarnera L, Ferlito L, Di Mauro S, Imbesi R, Scalia G, Malaguarnera M. Immunosenescence and cancer: a review. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2001;32(2):77–93.
- 136. Menon AG, Janssen-van Rhijn CM, Morreau H, Putter H, Tollenaar RA, van de Velde CJ, et al. Immune system and prognosis in colorectal cancer: a detailed immunohistochemical analysis. Lab Investig. 2004;84(4):493–501.
- 137. Walsh S, Cook E, Goulder F, Justin T, Keeling N. Neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio as a prognostic factor in colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol. 2005;91(3):181–4.
- 138. Fulop T, Kotb R, Fortin CF, Pawelec G, De Angelis F, Larbi A. Potential role of immunosenescence in cancer development. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010;1197(1):158–65.
- Roy M, Hunter P, Perry JA, Cross KM. Development of a universal nutritional screening platform for plastic surgery patients. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open. 2017;5(7):e1342.
- 140. Campbell GA, Patrie JT, Gaylinn BD, Thorner MO, Bolton WK. Oral ghrelin receptor agonist MK-0677 increases serum insulin-like growth factor 1 in hemodialysis patients: a randomized blinded study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2018;33(3):523–30.
- 141. Fulton SL, McKinley MC, Neville CE, Baldrick FR, Mulligan C, McCall DO, et al. The effect of increased fruit and vegetable consumption on selected macronutrient and micronutrient intakes in four randomised-controlled trials. Br J Nutr. 2017;117(9):1270–8.
- 142. Haj-Mirzaian A, Amiri S, Amini-Khoei H, Hosseini M-J, Haj-Mirzaian A, Momeny M, et al. Anxiety and depressive-like behaviors are associated with altered hippocampal energy and inflammatory status in a mouse model of Crohn's disease. Neuroscience. 2017;366:124–37.
- 143. Haj-Mirzaian A, Amiri S, Kordjazy N, Momeny M, Razmi A, Rahimi-Balaei M, et al. Lithium attenuated the depressant and anxiogenic effect of juvenile social stress through mitigating the negative impact of interlukin-1beta and nitric oxide on hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis function. Neuroscience. 2016;315:271–85.
- 144. Bauer ME, Muller GC, Correa BL, Vianna P, Turner JE, Bosch JA. Psychoneuroendocrine interventions aimed at attenuating immunosenescence: a review. Biogerontology. 2013;14(1):9–20.

- 145. Sportès C, Hakim FT, Memon SA, Zhang H, Chua KS, Brown MR, et al. Administration of rhIL-7 in humans increases in vivo TCR repertoire diversity by preferential expansion of naive T cell subsets. J Exp Med. 2008;205(7):1701–14.
- 146. Harrison DE, Strong R, Sharp ZD, Nelson JF, Astle CM, Flurkey K, et al. Rapamycin fed late in life extends lifespan in genetically heterogeneous mice. Nature. 2009;460(7253):392–5.
- 147. Miller RA, Harrison DE, Astle CM, Fernandez E, Flurkey K, Han M, et al. Rapamycin-mediated lifespan increase in mice is dose and sex dependent and

metabolically distinct from dietary restriction. Aging Cell. 2014;13(3):468–77.

- 148. Tardif S, Ross C, Bergman P, Fernandez E, Javors M, Salmon A, et al. Testing efficacy of administration of the antiaging drug rapamycin in a nonhuman primate, the common marmoset. J Gerontol Ser A Biomed Sci Med Sci. 2014;70(5):577–88.
- 149. Mannick JB, Del Giudice G, Lattanzi M, Valiante NM, Praestgaard J, Huang B, et al. mTOR inhibition improves immune function in the elderly. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(268):268ra179-268ra179.



Biomarkers for Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors



Pouya Mahdavi Sharif, Mahsa Keshavarz-Fathi, and Nima Rezaei

Contents

25.1	Introduction	450
25.2	Overview of Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors: Mechanism of Action	450
25.2.1	Central Tolerance	450
25.2.2	Peripheral Tolerance	451
25.2.3	CTLA-4 Receptor	451
25.2.4	PD-1 Receptor	451
25.2.5	Immune Escape Mechanism	451
25.3	The Essential Need for Biomarkers	452
25.4	Demographic Characteristics	452
25.4.1	Sex	452
25.4.2	Age	452
25.4.3	Tumor Size	452
25.5	PD-L1 Expression	452
25.6	Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes (TIL)	453
25.7	TIL Molecular Characteristics	454
25.8	Tumor Mutational Burden	454
25.9	Mutations in the Specific Genes	455
25.10	Heterogeneity in the <i>HLA</i> Genes and Expression of MHC	456
25.11	Expression of Immune-Related Genes	456

P. Mahdavi Sharif · M. Keshavarz-Fathi School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

N. Rezaei (⊠) Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Network of Immunity in Infection, Malignancy and Autoimmunity (NIIMA), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran e-mail: rezaei_nima@tums.ac.ir; rezaei_nima@yahoo.com

25.12	Blood Biomarkers	457
25.12.1	Lactate Dehydrogenase	457
25.12.2	Peripheral Cell Count	457
25.12.3	Other Blood Biomarkers	458
25.13	The Importance of Gut Microbiota	458
25.14	Other Possible Biomarkers	458
25.15	Combination of Different Biomarkers	459
25.16	Conclusion	460
References		

25.1 Introduction

Perhaps the history of immunotherapy goes back to 1891 when William Coley tried to cure cancer patients with the injection of a vaccine that contained killed Streptococcus pyogenes and Serratia marcescens (Coley's toxins). This was due to his observation of a patient with a recurrent sarcoma, which spontaneously regressed after an episode of erysipelas [1]. Obviously, the outcomes of such treatment were inconsistent. However, his strategy was such a miracle in that era. In 1909, Paul Ehrlich and then, in 1957, Burnet and Thomas described the "immune surveillance" hypothesis. This theory suggested that the immune system constantly screens all cells for having malignant transformations [2]. With a variety of clinical and experimental evidence against this theory, in 2002, Dunn and Schreiber described the "cancer immunoediting" hypothesis, which has implied both tumor-suppressing and tumor-promoting functions of the immune system [2]. Cancer immunoediting consists of three phases: the first one is the elimination, in which neoplastic cells will be destroyed by the immune system. The next phase is equilibrium, characterized by the presence of some survived resistant cancer cells. This happens when new mutations give rise to the resistance of such cells to the immune system, a process described by authors as "Darwinian selection." The last phase is escape, as transformed cells begin to insanely outgrow and make an immunodeficient microenvironment, that ends in apparent clinical manifestations of the disease [2].

25.2 Overview of Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors: Mechanism of Action

Among various therapeutic strategies that are based on cancer immunotherapy (including cancer vaccines and chimeric antigen receptor T-cells or CAR T-cells), immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs, also known as immune checkpoint blockade or ICB) are one of the most important and effective ones. In 2011, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved ipilimumab as the first ICI for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma [3]. Ipilimumab is an anticytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) antibody that, in comparison with glycoprotein 100 (gp100) therapy, showed an increase in overall survival (OS) of aforementioned patients [3].

Up to now, there are six more ICIs approved by the FDA, including pembrolizumab, nivolumab, and cemiplimab-rwlc (anti-programmed cell death protein 1 or anti-PD-1) and atezolizumab, avelumab, and durvalumab (antiprogrammed death-ligand 1 or anti-PD-L1).

25.2.1 Central Tolerance

The development of T-cells occurs primarily in the thymus [4]. During this process, doublepositive precursors (DP cells, which are CD4⁺ and CD8⁺) undergo positive and negative selection. The first one will remove all immature DP cells except those which bind to peptide-MHC complexes (expressed on cortical thymic epithelial cells) with intermediate avidity. Thymocytes with too high or too low avidity will be eliminated by apoptosis or neglect, respectively. This process results in single-positive (either CD4⁺ and CD8⁻ or CD4⁻ and CD8⁻) precursors. During the negative selection, thymocytes that interact with self-peptide-MHC complexes (expressed by medullary thymic epithelial cells) with too high or too low avidity will be eliminated. The negative selection is the cornerstone of central selftolerance [5].

25.2.2 Peripheral Tolerance

Peripheral tolerance is where the importance of CTLA-4 and PD-1 comes into action. T-cells with low avidity or sometimes with high avidity for self-antigens can escape the negative selection [6]. In peripheral tolerance, tolerogenic DCs present self-antigens in the peripheral lymphoid tissues. Tolerogenic DCs lack the stimulating signals needed for the T-cell activation and, instead, induce expression of CTLA-4 and PD-1 in those. CTLA-4 is the mainstay of inducing anergy (functional unresponsiveness) in self-reacting T-cells, and its effects are maintained by the PD-1 [7]. Therefore, CTLA-4 and PD-1 are necessary for the induction of peripheral self-tolerance, but neoplastic cells can also use their ability to escape from the immune system, as discussed later.

25.2.3 CTLA-4 Receptor

For an effective response to antigens, in addition to attachment of T-cell receptors (TCRs) to the MHC complexes, T-cells require a variety of stimulating signals, which are initiated by interactions between T-cell and antigen-presenting cell (APC) receptors. One of such attachments is between CD28 on T-cells and B7-1 (CD80) or B7-2 (CD86) on APCs. CTLA-4 is a homolog for CD28, with a higher affinity for binding to B7. The attachment of CTLA-4 on the T-cell surface with B7 will impede the induction of stimulatory signals required for T-cell activation [8, 9].

25.2.4 PD-1 Receptor

PD-1 is another inhibitory receptor expressed on T-cells. PD-1 is mainly expressed during the chronic and endured stimulation of activating receptors (mainly TCR and CD28) by antigens, which usually happens during chronic infections or cancers [8]. After interaction with its ligands (PD-L1 and PD-L2), it makes its inhibitory effects mainly via suppression of production of cytokines involved in the differentiation and survival of T-cells (including TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-2, and Bcl-xL) [10].

25.2.5 Immune Escape Mechanism

As mentioned earlier, under normal circumstances, all neoplastic cells get eliminated by the immune system (mainly cytotoxic T-cells). This happens because of specific neoantigens that cancer cells produce and express on their surface with MHC complex I [11]. Immune surveillance has the most important role in eliminating cancer cells but also can contribute to the emergence of some immune-resistant neoplastic cells via the "Darwinian selection," as described earlier. In the immune equilibrium phase, neoplastic cells either might be under the control of the immune system or might eventually harbor enabling mutations and enter the immune escape phase [12]. Such mutations might make neoplastic cells capable to stop expressing neoantigens (by mutations in MHC class I and its signaling pathways or by expression of modified weaker antigens) [12]. Besides, neoplastic cells may induce an immunosuppressive state in the tumor microenvironment (TME). This happens by the production of immunosuppressive cytokines (IL-10, transforming growth factor- β , indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, etc.) and molecules (mainly PD-L1) and recruitment of suppressor immune cells (regulatory T-cells and myeloid-derived suppressor cells or MDSCs) [12, 13].

25.3 The Essential Need for Biomarkers

ICIs interfere with two of the most important mechanisms of peripheral tolerance, as discussed earlier. Therefore, immune-related adverse effects (irAEs) are the concerning side effects of this therapy. Also, despite promising results in some groups of patients, not all of them respond to these agents. In fact, in some groups, ICIs have not had any difference with other conventional chemotherapeutic regiments (which will be discussed later). Hence, reliable biomarkers can help clinicians choose which patients to be enrolled in the ICB therapy programs. Also, appropriate biomarkers can guide how to choose the first-line drug and when to administer it and anticipate whether a patient needs combined ICB therapy or not. The following parts of this chapter will focus on the numerous biomarkers developed for ICB therapies.

25.4 Demographic Characteristics

Before we discuss molecular and invasive approaches known as ICI biomarkers, it is worth to mention that some simple demographic information can also act as biomarkers.

25.4.1 Sex

Most original studies have not reported sex as an important factor in response to ICI therapy. A study has developed a model for predicting the response to anti-PD-1 therapy in patients with advanced melanoma. It has shown that the response to therapy has been better in men [14, 15]. Besides, a meta-analysis has shown that OS and PFS have been more favorable in male melanoma patients [15].

25.4.2 Age

In the mentioned model developed by Nosrati and colleagues, age is another predictive biomarker; patients younger than 65 years have not responded to therapy [14]. However, most studies and clinical trials have not considered age as a predictive biomarker.

25.4.3 Tumor Size

It has been reported that in melanoma patients who received pembrolizumab, reactivation of CD8⁺ T-cells after the initiation of therapy has been associated with physical tumor burden. Furthermore, higher values of the reactivation rate divided by tumor size have been correlated with more favorable OS and ORR [16]. However, almost none of the large validated clinical trials reported the tumor size as a predictive biomarker for ICI therapy.

25.5 PD-L1 Expression

Due to the mechanism of action of anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 antibodies, measurement of the amount of PD-L1 expression in tumoral tissue biopsies seems a logical approach for predicting the response to ICIs. This measurement is done by immunohistochemistry. Many trials have reported the expression of PD-L1 in their patients, but the results are quite paradoxical. Here, we review the results of some of the more recent and important studies.

In a phase 1 study that evaluated the effect of nivolumab on five types of cancers (advanced melanoma, non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC), castration-resistant prostate cancer, renal cell carcinoma, and colorectal cancer), 9 of 25 are PD-L1 positive, and interestingly, none of 17 PD-L1 negative patients had an objective response (OR) to the therapy. They have considered 5% expression in IHC as the threshold for considering PD-L1 expression positive [17]. In patients with advanced NSCLC, the efficacy of nivolumab (in terms of progression-free survival (PFS), overall survival (OS), and objective response rate or ORR) had been enhanced in groups with higher expression of PD-L1 (with thresholds of 1%, 5%, and 10%) [18]. Similar correlations have been reported for patients with NSCLC, albeit with a 50% threshold [19]. In patients with metastatic melanoma to the brain that received combined nivolumab and ipilimumab, the rate of clinical benefit (defined as the percentage of patients with stable disease for at least 6 months or complete response or partial response) was higher in those with PD-L1 expression of at least 5% or more [20].

However, there is evidence against the importance of PD-L1 expression as a biomarker; a study that evaluated short and long effects of nivolumab on NSCLC (CheckMate 227) has concluded that in patients with high tumor mutational burden (threshold of at least ten mutations per megabase), progression-free survival and overall survival have not been different between high and low PD-L1 expression groups (as $\geq 1\%$) or <1%, respectively) [21, 22]. Of note, in these studies [21, 22], the method for measuring PD-L1 only contains tumor cells (and not immune cells). Another phase 3 trial (KEYNOTE-522), which aimed to evaluate pembrolizumab for early triplenegative breast cancer, has concluded that pathological complete response in the pembrolizumab group has been achieved irrespective of PD-L1 expression status (on both immune cells and tumor cells, reported with the method known as combined positive score) [23]. Treatment with nivolumab has been effective for metastatic urothelial carcinoma, without any difference between PD-L1 expression-based groups (with thresholds of 1% and 5% for PD-L1 expression on the tumor cells) [24]. In another trial of nivolumab and ipilimumab for advanced melanoma, PD-L1 expression is reported as a poor biomarker for the efficacy of therapy [25]. Several other trials have observed similar results in advanced RCC and NSCLC [26, 27].

There are debates about the method of measuring PD-L1. Older studies have reported PD-L1 expression on either immune cells (IC) or tumor cells (TC), but more recent studies have reported it only for IC. The difference can be huge. For example, Massard and colleagues have concluded that with reporting the PD-L1 status based on its presence on IC or TC, independently, there is no significant difference between positive and negative PD-L1 groups in response to durvalumab for urothelial bladder cancer (UBC). However, with measuring the PD-L1 on either IC or TC (with 25% as the threshold), the ORR has been different between the two groups [28]. A similar conclusion is made by Chow et al., with the administration of pembrolizumab for patients with recurrent and/or metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) [29]. Moreover, different studies use different IHC kits, elicit different measurement methods, and establish different thresholds. Besides, it seems that the distribution of PD-L1 is not the same throughout the tumoral tissues [30]. There is also evidence of the dynamic changes in the expression of PD-L1, which means that it is controlled by many signaling pathways and microRNAs that might be propitious targets for cancer immunotherapy [31]. It is also worth to mention that significant outcomes in PD-L1-positive groups do not necessarily mean that other groups will not benefit from ICB therapy. Finally, to date, FDA has approved the measurement of the PD-L1 in patients with NSCLC, gastric or gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinoma, cervical cancer, urothelial carcinoma, triple-negative breast cancer, esophageal squamous cell carcinoma, and HNSCC as a companion diagnostic test for the treatment with pembrolizumab and atezolizumab (available at https://www.fda.gov/ medical-devices/vitro-diagnostics/list-clearedor-approved-companion-diagnostic-devicesvitro-and-imaging-tools).

25.6 Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes (TIL)

As discussed earlier, one of the escape mechanisms of neoplastic cells from the immune system is the induction of apoptosis and/or anergy in the infiltrated immune cells. The higher number of immune cells in the TME has shown to be associated with a more favorable prognosis in some cancers, including CRC, advanced ovarian cancer, melanoma, NSCLC, and breast cancer [32–36]. Hence, it seems reasonable that a high infiltration rate of IC, and especially CD8+ T-cells, inside the tumoral tissue would result in more favorable outcomes of ICB therapy. Emens and colleagues have shown that there is a better (yet nonsignificant) ORR and PFS among patients with metastatic triple-negative breast cancer who were treated with atezolizumab and had higher baseline IC infiltration [37]. A phase 2 study of ipilimumab in advanced melanoma has shown that the increase in TIL from baseline is associated with the clinical activity (detailed definition is provided in the article) [38]. Loi and colleagues administered pembrolizumab and trastuzumab for patients with trastuzumabresistant HER-2-positive breast cancer. They found that TIL had been higher in patients with objective responses and those with controlled disease [39].

As for the PD-L1, reports of TIL measurement may also vary due to IHC techniques, the heterogenic rate of infiltration throughout the tumoral tissue, and the timing of the biopsy.

25.7 TIL Molecular Characteristics

A few studies have further investigated the distribution of different subclasses of TIL and the diversity in their receptors. In a study on 46 patients with metastatic melanoma, CD8+ T-cells in the responding group had more clonal and tumor antigen-specific TCR β chains. Besides, after treatment with an anti-PD-1 antibody, the number of such cells in the responding group had a ten times expansion, compared with the progressive disease group [40]. In 20 patients with metastatic melanoma who were treated with an anti-PD-1 antibody, PFS and PR were significantly associated with the level of expression of CTLA-4 on CD8⁺ T-cells. Furthermore, such cells also had the highest amounts of PD-1 [41]. Hamid and colleagues observed a better clinical activity in patients with higher baseline expression of FoxP3 (traditionally known as the marker of naïve and regulatory T-cells) in the nuclei of mononuclear cells [38].

25.8 Tumor Mutational Burden

Along with PD-L1 expression level, measurement of tumor neoantigens, and its underlying etiology, mutational burden (TMB) is another more accepted method as a predictive biomarker. Mutation in the genomic content of cells is one of the cornerstone events in the development of neoplasms. Triggers and mechanisms of DNA damage are discussed in detail elsewhere [42]. The neoantigens then express with the MHC class I on the surface of neoplastic cells. It is postulated that as the amount of expressed neoantigens increases, the ability of the immune system and especially cytotoxic T-cells in detecting these non-self-antigens and killing such cells will be enhanced too [43]. There are growing pieces of evidence that the outcome of cancer immunotherapies is also dependent on the TMB [44]. For the assessment of TMB, whole exome sequencing (WES) has been the conventional method. However, because of the extended need for time, required comparison with normal tissue genome, and high cost, it has been replaced with a novel method named next-generation sequencing (NGS) [42]. Comprehensive genomic profiling (CGP) is based on the NGS method and measures the number of indel mutations and somatic coding base mutations (determinants of TMB), as well as copy number alterations and microsatellite instabilities. Chalmers and colleagues have shown that compared with WES, CGP has acceptable validity and reliability [42]. They also have reported that TMB is higher in melanoma and NSCLC, two common targets for immunotherapies. This high TMB is probably because these two neoplasms are mainly caused by environmental mutagens (e.g., cigarette smoke, radon, and ultraviolet radiation). Based on these findings, they have further suggested that the other types of cancers with high TMB (defined as 20> mutations per megabase), such as skin squamous cell carcinoma, diffuse large B cell lymphoma, and other types of lung cancers, might be good targets for immunotherapy [42]. This study has also identified some genes which are associated with higher TMB [42]. Here, we will mention a small number of numerous trials that have tried to evaluate the effects of TMB on the outcomes of ICI therapy.

Hellmann et al. reported TMB as a predictive biomarker in patients with advanced NSCLC, with the evidence that TMB-positive group had longer PFS with ipilimumab and nivolumab, compared with chemotherapy [21]. In patients with advanced NSCLC, high TMB (measured by WES with cutoffs of 100 and 243 somatic missense mutations) has been associated with longer PFS and higher RR in nivolumab arm, compared with the chemotherapy [45]. High TMB (16 mutations per megabase, measured by NGS) has been associated with longer OS in patients with locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma who were treated with atezolizumab [46]. In patients with CRC, those with mismatch repair deficiencies (analyzed by microsatellite instability analysis system, Promega) had a better response to anti-PD-1 therapy [47]. The findings of the previous study have also reported for some other solid cancers [48]. In two cohorts of patients with advanced NSCLC who were treated with pembrolizumab (n = 16 and 18), higher TMB has been associated with higher ORR and PFS and durable clinical benefit (DCB, defined as a partial or stable response for more than 6 months) [44]. In patients with early resectable NSCLC, pathological response (defined as less than 10% viable cancer cells) to nivolumab has been associated with TMB [49].

Neoantigen intratumoral heterogeneity (ITH) is another predictive biomarker candidate for ICI therapy. It has been shown that in patients with lung adenocarcinoma, high TMB and low ITH, together, are associated with a longer survival period, regardless of the type of therapy [50]. This study also has analyzed the information of a previous study [44] and has concluded that DCB is higher in patients with high TMB and low (less than 1%) ITH, compared with high TMB alone [50].

However, there are limitations to the measurement of TMB as a predictive biomarker. A great number of such mutations seem to be specific for individuals [51]. As for the PD-L1 expression, until now, there is no accepted cutoff for grouping the number of mutations as high or low.

25.9 Mutations in the Specific Genes

A study tried to find the underlying etiologies of relapse during the treatment with pembrolizumab in four melanoma patients. Patients 1 and 2 had mutations in Janus kinase 1 and 2 (jak1 and jak2) encoding genes, respectively. The third patient had a mutation in the beta-2-microglobulin subunit (β 2M) of MHC class I, which results in the absence of MHC class I on the cellular surface. The authors could not find any prominent gene alteration in the fourth patient [52]. It is suggested that mutations in *JAK1* and *JAK2*, which are parts of the interferon receptors, make neoplastic cells resistant to antiproliferative effects of IFN- γ [52].

A retrospective analysis of two sets of patients with NSCLC (treated with pembrolizumab and either pembrolizumab or nivolumab, respectively) showed that mutations in *TP53* and *KRAS* were associated with longer PFS. This is probably because of higher TMB, increased infiltration of cytotoxic T-cells, and enhanced IFN- γ associated signaling [53].

Another study that aimed to assess the impact of mutations in DNA damage response and repair genes (DDRs) found that harboring DDR correlates with the favorable ORR, PFS, and OS in patients with metastatic urothelial carcinoma who were treated with nivolumab or atezolizumab. Common altered DDR genes in this study included *ATM*, *POLE*, and *BRCA2*. This correlation has been stronger for deleterious DDRs (defined as all loss of function mutations) [54].

Many other studies have analyzed the effects of various genomic mutations on the outcome of the ICI therapy. However, most of them are retrospective, which warrants the need for clinical trials to establish robust predictive biomarkers based on genomic analyses.

25.10 Heterogeneity in the HLA Genes and Expression of MHC

HLA genes, which encode the MHC classes I and II, are assumed as the most polymorphic genes of humans. MHC class I is composed of heavy and light chains (α chain and β_2 microglobulin, respectively). HLA class I consists of three genes: *HLA-A*, *HLA-B*, and *HLA-C*, which encode the heavy chain of the MHC class I [55]. Because of the importance of MHC complexes in the immune system (discussed earlier), several studies have tried to find an association between variations in the *HLA* genes and the outcome of ICI therapy.

A study of two cohorts of patients with different cancers (mainly melanoma and NSCLC) who received anti-CTLA-4 or anti-PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies revealed that homozygosity in HLA class I genes was associated with reduced survival in both cohorts [56]. Interestingly, in multivariate analysis that included TMB, the combined association of TMB and HLA heterozygosity with enhanced survival has been greater than that of the TMB alone, although the TMB had not been significantly different between heterozygous and homozygous patients [56]. They further realized that the homozygosity is mostly caused by HLA-B and HLA-C, probably because of their more expression on cells and APCs, respectively, and the ability of HLA-B to present more different peptides. Besides, the clonality of TCR has been higher in patients with heterozygous HLA class I genes [56]. In a subgroup of melanoma patients who received anti-CTLA-4 antibodies, B44 and B62 supertypes have been associated with improved and decreased survival, respectively. The authors have suggested that this might be due to the presentation of specific antigens (e.g., MAGEA3) by the B44 supertype, which is associated with favorable outcomes of anti-CTLA-4 therapy [56].

Another study of patients with advanced melanoma who were treated with either nivolumab and ipilimumab or ipilimumab monotherapy (CheckMate 069) showed that absence of the expression of MHC class I on SOX10⁺ cells (defined as the absence on more than 50% of cells) was associated with poor OS in the ipilimumab, but not combination therapy arm [57]. This study also evaluated patients of another trial (CheckMate 064) for the expression of MHC class II on neoplastic melanoma cells and concluded that the presence of MHC class II (defined as the expression on more than 50% of cells) is associated with improved ORR in patients who first received nivolumab and then ipilimumab [57]. Similarly, analysis of the expression of the MHC class II on SOX10⁺ cells of melanoma patients who were treated with anti-PD-1 or PD-L1 antibodies showed that the presence of HLA-DR (with 5% cutoff) on SOX10⁺ cells is associated with ORR, PFS, and OS. Notably, such association was not observed in patients who were treated with ipilimumab before participating in this cohort [58]. The association between MHC class II and ORR was confirmed in another set of patients with melanoma who were treated with anti-PD-1 antibodies [58].

25.11 Expression of Immune-Related Genes

After the recognition of cancer cell antigens with TCRs, numerous cytokines and ligands are required for the effective activation and function of T-cells. Among these cytokines, TNF- α , IFN- γ , and IL-12 are of greatest importance [59]. In patients with NSCLC and melanoma, who received nivolumab and pembrolizumab, respectively, PFS has been longer in those with higher *IFNG* (IFN- γ gene) expression [60]. Also, OS has been longer in melanoma patients with higher *IFNG* expression [60]. Another study has evalu-

ated the immune-related gene expression in melanoma patients who were treated with ipilimumab. They measured the expression of more than 170 genes and concluded that higher baseline and posttreatment expression of immune-related genes (including IFN- γ , granzyme B, perforin 1, and MHC class II) are associated with more favorable clinical outcome and longer survival [61]. In contrast, Forde and colleagues found no difference in *IFNG* expression between responsive and nonresponsive groups, as for changes in other immune-related genes (for *CTLA-4*, *HLA*, *JAK1*, *JAK2*, etc.) [49].

25.12 Blood Biomarkers

Blood biomarkers have been accepted and validated as a predictive tool for response to the conventional chemotherapeutic regiments. The advantages of blood biomarkers include ease of obtaining, minor invasiveness (compared with the biopsy), and the possibility of repeated sampling.

25.12.1 Lactate Dehydrogenase

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) is an indicator of anaerobic cellular metabolism, which usually happens in tumors with an accelerated rate of growth, as tumor vasculature cannot provide the oxygen for all cells, and generally, higher values of LDH are correlated with worse prognosis [62]. In a phase 3 trial that investigated the effects of combined nivolumab and ipilimumab on patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma, baseline LDH values of more than 1.5 times the upper normal of limit were an indicator of poor OS [63]. In two cohorts of patients with advanced cutaneous melanoma, higher values of LDH have been associated with shortened overall survival. This study then proposes an LDH value of more than two times of upper limit of normal as a cutoff for selecting patients for ipilimumab therapy. However, certain limitations of the study hinder this value as being a predictive biomarker [64]. Another retrospective study of patients with unresectable stage III or IV melanoma who were treated with pembrolizumab revealed that baseline LDH value of more than 2.5 times the upper limit of normal had the strongest association with a poor OS [65]. On the other hand, Tawbi and colleagues showed that in a trial of patients with metastatic melanoma to the brain, the rate of the clinical benefit (as defined before) of combined nivolumab and ipilimumab therapy had been higher in patients with LDH more than upper limit of the normal values [20]. As it is apparent, studies that have investigated the effects of LDH on the ICI therapy outcome are largely done on the patients with melanoma, which implies its limited usage as a predictive biomarker in other cancers.

25.12.2 Peripheral Cell Count

Another studied variable as a potential predictive biomarker is blood cell count. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR) is known as a marker of inflammation [63], and high NLR is associated with a grim prognosis in a variety of cancers [66]. Similar findings have reported for the outcome of ICI therapy. In patients with metastatic RCC (mRCC) who received anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapies, higher NLR was correlated significantly with a shorter OS, PFS, and less ORR [67]. In another trial of nivolumab for mRCC, a baseline NLR value of more than 4.2 has been associated with an increased risk of progression. This study also reports that there has been a relation between baseline eosinophil count more than 100 μ L⁻¹ and decreased risk of disease progression [68]. Motzer and colleagues also have shown that NLR value of more than 2.9 has been associated with decreased OS [63]. Finally, a meta-analysis of NLR values in different types of neoplasms (melanoma, NSCLC, RCC, and urothelial carcinoma) treated with ICIs has concluded that higher NLR values have been correlated with poor OS and PFS in all of the studied cancers [66]. There is also evidence that elevated absolute and relative eosinophil count, relative lymphocyte count, and decreased absolute monocyte count are associated with improved survival in melanoma patients treated with ICIs [65, 69].

25.12.3 Other Blood Biomarkers

An analysis of blood samples of patients with melanoma showed that they had high circulating extracellular vesicles containing PD-L1. The amount of PD-L1 significantly differed with those of healthy individuals. Furthermore, responders to the pembrolizumab had a significantly lower baseline and higher increment in the circulating PD-L1 values [70]. In HLA-A*0201positive patients with metastatic melanoma who received ipilimumab, high serum baseline levels of CXCL11 and, to a lesser extent, soluble MHC class I polypeptide-related chain A (sMICA) were indicators of poor OS [71]. In a retrospective study on nine cohorts of ipilimumab-treated patients with melanoma, high baseline soluble CD25 (soluble IL-2 receptor- α) and LDH have been indicators of poor OS [72].

25.13 The Importance of Gut Microbiota

Regarding the increased focus on the role of gut microbiota in different aspects of human health, some studies have tried to find a possible relation between the composition of gut microbiota and response to ICIs. Treatment of metastatic melanoma with ipilimumab has resulted in better OS and longer PFS in those who have Faecalibacterium and other Firmicutes in their gut microbiota, compared with Bacteroides [73]. Similar studies on patients with melanoma treated with anti-PD-1 antibodies have shown better OR in those with gut microbiota com-Bifidobacterium, posed of Collinsella, Enterococcus [74], and Faecalibacterium [75]. Transplantation of these microbiotas to mice has resulted in similar results.

25.14 Other Possible Biomarkers

With the recognition of ICIs as potent antineoplastic agents in recent years, countless studies have tried to examine myriad clinical variables as a potential biomarker. For example, several studies have tried to disclose the role of other specific gene mutations (including TGF- β and β -catenin) [76–79] and spatial characteristics of TIL [40] in the outcome of ICI therapy. Along with CTLA-4 and PD-1, there are other inhibitory molecules on immune cells. Some examples are lymphocyte activation gene 3 (LAG3), T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain-containing protein 3 (TIM3), and T-cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains (TIGIT) [80]. It is rational to think these inhibitory molecules might be the reason for resistance to ICI therapy in some patients and are recognized as good targets for the future immune checkpoint inhibitor agents [80]. Indoleamine-pyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) is a long known immunosuppressant enzyme which usually secret IFN-γ-activated macrophages from [81]. Following the observations that higher amounts of IFN- γ are correlated with favorable outcome, a "T-cell-inflamed gene expression profile (GEP)" consists of 18 INF-\gamma-responsive gene set (including LAG3, IDO1, and TIGIT) developed to predict the outcome of patients treated with pembrolizumab. Validation of this GEP in patients with melanoma, gastric cancer, and HNSCC has shown that increased expression of selected genes is correlated with better PFS and OS [82]. A trial of PD-L1-positive patients with more than 20 types of solid tumors has shown that the higher T-cell-inflamed GEP (along with higher TMB and PD-L1 expression) is correlated with better ORR and PFS [83]. A study of nivolumab for patients with melanoma has reported that the serum levels of IL-6, IL-10, and IFN- γ were higher in the responding group [84]. Inducible T-cell co-stimulator (ICOS or CD278) is a stimulatory molecule which expresses on T-cells and acts as a stimulator of T-cells and sometimes suppressor of regulatory T-cells; both are against the outgrow of neoplasms, which makes it a good target for cancer immunotherapy [85, 86].

25.15 Combination of Different Biomarkers

TME has a dynamic nature, and there are complex interactions between different cells, cytokines, receptors, and signaling pathways, which may vary in different times and different places of TME. For example, it has shown that the infiltration of lymphocyte to the TME correlates with the expression of PD-L1, PD-1, and genetic mutations [53, 87, 88]. The expression of PD-L1 itself is influenced by several other cytokines, including PI3K, MAPK, several miRNAs [31], and IFN- γ [60]. The association between the expression of different genes might be complicatedly interlaced [89]. Regarding the TMB, ITH should also be considered, as tumors with high TMB and low ITH (an indicator of clonal mutations) seem to respond better to therapy, than those with high TMB and ITH, as mentioned earlier [50, 90]. It is also noteworthy that a high TMB in the absence of its presenting agent (MHC) will not necessarily change anything [56]. Hence, in selecting patients for ICB therapy, it is superior to look out for several different biomarkers. Table 25.1 provides a summary of more conventional biomarkers discussed in this chapter.

Type of		Association with the	Sampling		
biomarker	Type of cancer	clinical outcome	type	Diagnostic test	Reference(s)
PD-L1 expression	Many, including eight types approved by the FDA	Favorable and in some studies none	Tumor biopsy	IHC	[17–27]
TIL	Many	Favorable	Tumor biopsy	Immunostaining	[32–39]
TIL characteristics					
Clonality of TCR	Metastatic melanoma	Favorable	Tumor biopsy	Immunostaining	[40]
CTLA-4 on CTC					[41]
FoxP3 expression					[38]
TMB	Many	Favorable	Tumor biopsy, blood sample (ctDNA)	WES, NGS	[21, 42, 44–49]
ITH	NSCLC, lung adenocarcinoma	Unfavorable	Tumor biopsy	WES, NGS	[50]
Specific gene mutations					
JAK1, JAK2, and $\beta 2M$	Melanoma	Unfavorable	Tumor biopsy	Different	[52]
TP53 and KRAS	NSCLC	Favorable			[53]
DDR genes	Metastatic UC	Favorable			[54]
HLA heterogeneity	NSCLC, melanoma	Favorable	Tumor biopsy	Different	[56]
Blood LDH level	Advanced RCC, advanced melanoma	Unfavorable	Blood sample	Conventional lab kits	[63–65]
	Melanoma with brain metastasis	Favorable			[20]

Table 25.1 Summary of more conventional biomarkers reviewed throughout the chapter

Type of biomarker	Type of cancer	Association with the clinical outcome	Sampling type	Diagnostic test	Reference(s)
Peripheral blood count	Many		Blood sample	Conventional lab kits	[65–69]
NLR Eosinophil count Lymphocyte count Monocyte count		UnfavorableFavorable Favorable Unfavorable			
Gut microbiota	Mainly melanoma	Different	Stool or oral samples	NGS, PCR	[73–75]

Table 25.1 (continued)

IHC immunohistochemistry, *TIL* tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte, *TMB* tumor mutational burden, *ctDNA* circulating tumor DNA, *WES* whole exome sequencing; *NGS* next-generation sequencing, *ITH* intratumoral heterogeneity, *NSCLC* non-small-cell lung cancer, *JAK* Janus kinase, $\beta 2M$ beta-2-microglobulin, *DDR* DNA damage response and repair, *UC* urothelial carcinoma, *LDH* lactate dehydrogenase, *RCC* renal cell carcinoma, *NLR* neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, *PCR* polymerase chain reaction

25.16 Conclusion

Throughout this chapter, we reviewed some of the more accepted predictive biomarkers for the ICB therapy outcome. One should remember that these variables can be present in one patient together and can mislead the prediction of physicians if they do not consider them as an interwoven network. Despite remarkable outcomes and durable responses in some patients, the overall ICI rate of success is not high yet. Prospective trails should try to design combination models based on different biomarkers and validate them for different agents and different neoplasms. Until now, among the enormous studied biomarkers, PD-L1 expression, TMB and ITH measurement, and analysis of specific genomic mutations have yielded acceptable predictive values and should be considered for further investigations and combinations.

References

- Hoption Cann SA, van Netten JP, van Netten C. Dr William Coley and tumour regression: a place in history or in the future. Postgrad Med J. 2003;79(938):672–80.
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(11):991–8.
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with

ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(8):711–23.

- Goldrath AW, Bevan MJ. Selecting and maintaining a diverse T-cell repertoire. Nature. 1999;402(6759):255–62.
- Anderson G, Takahama Y. Thymic epithelial cells: working class heroes for T cell development and repertoire selection. Trends Immunol. 2012;33(6):256–63.
- Mueller DL. Mechanisms maintaining peripheral tolerance. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(1):21–7.
- Fife BT, Bluestone JA. Control of peripheral T-cell tolerance and autoimmunity via the CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways. Immunol Rev. 2008;224:166–82.
- Buchbinder EI, Desai A. CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways: similarities, differences, and implications of their inhibition. Am J Clin Oncol. 2016;39(1):98–106.
- Egen JG, Kuhns MS, Allison JP. CTLA-4: new insights into its biological function and use in tumor immunotherapy. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(7):611–8.
- Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. Annu Rev Immunol. 2008;26:677–704.
- Coulie PG, Van den Eynde BJ, van der Bruggen P, Boon T. Tumour antigens recognized by T lymphocytes: at the core of cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2014;14(2):135–46.
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331(6024):1565–70.
- Beatty GL, Gladney WL. Immune escape mechanisms as a guide for cancer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(4):687–92.
- Nosrati A, Tsai KK, Goldinger SM, Tumeh P, Grimes B, Loo K, et al. Evaluation of clinicopathological factors in PD-1 response: derivation and validation of a prediction scale for response to PD-1 monotherapy. Br J Cancer. 2017;116(9):1141–7.
- 15. Wu Y, Ju Q, Jia K, Yu J, Shi H, Wu H, et al. Correlation between sex and efficacy of immune

checkpoint inhibitors (PD-1 and CTLA-4 inhibitors). Int J Cancer. 2018;143(1):45–51.

- Huang AC, Postow MA, Orlowski RJ, Mick R, Bengsch B, Manne S, et al. T-cell invigoration to tumour burden ratio associated with anti-PD-1 response. Nature. 2017;545(7652):60–5.
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366(26):2443.
- Borghaei H, Paz-Ares L, Horn L, Spigel DR, Steins M, Ready NE, et al. Nivolumab versus docetaxel in advanced nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(17):1627–39.
- Garon EB, Rizvi NA, Hui R, Leighl N, Balmanoukian AS, Eder JP, et al. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(21):2018–28.
- Tawbi HA, Forsyth PA, Algazi A, Hamid O, Hodi FS, Moschos SJ, et al. Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab in melanoma metastatic to the brain. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(8):722–30.
- Hellmann MD, Ciuleanu TE, Pluzanski A, Lee JS, Otterson GA, Audigier-Valette C, et al. Nivolumab plus Ipilimumab in lung cancer with a high tumor mutational burden. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(22):2093–104.
- Hellmann MD, Paz-Ares L, Bernabe Caro R, Zurawski B, Kim SW, Carcereny Costa E, et al. Nivolumab plus Ipilimumab in advanced non-small-cell lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2019;381(21):2020–31.
- Schmid P, Cortes J, Pusztai L, McArthur H, Kummel S, Bergh J, et al. Pembrolizumab for early triple-negative breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(9):810–21.
- 24. Sharma P, Retz M, Siefker-Radtke A, Baron A, Necchi A, Bedke J, et al. Nivolumab in metastatic urothelial carcinoma after platinum therapy (CheckMate 275): a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18(3):312–22.
- Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Rutkowski P, Lao CD, et al. Five-year survival with combined nivolumab and Ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2019;381(16):1535–46.
- Rini BI, Plimack ER, Stus V, Gafanov R, Hawkins R, Nosov D, et al. Pembrolizumab plus axitinib versus sunitinib for advanced renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(12):1116.
- Paz-Ares L, Luft A, Vicente D, Tafreshi A, Gumus M, Mazieres J, et al. Pembrolizumab plus chemotherapy for squamous non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(21):2040–51.
- Massard C, Gordon MS, Sharma S, Rafii S, Wainberg ZA, Luke J, et al. Safety and efficacy of durvalumab (MEDI4736), an anti-programmed cell death ligand-1 immune checkpoint inhibitor, in patients with advanced urothelial bladder cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(26):3119–2.
- Chow LQM, Haddad R, Gupta S, Mahipal A, Mehra R, Tahara M, et al. Antitumor activity of pembrolizumab in biomarker-unselected patients with recurrent and/

or metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: results from the phase Ib KEYNOTE-012 expansion cohort. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(32):3838–45.

- Mansfield AS, Murphy SJ, Peikert T, Yi ES, Vasmatzis G, Wigle DA, et al. Heterogeneity of programmed cell death ligand 1 expression in multifocal lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(9):2177–82.
- Chen J, Jiang CC, Jin L, Zhang XD. Regulation of PD-L1: a novel role of pro-survival signalling in cancer. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(3):409–16.
- 32. Idos GE, Kwok J, Bonthala N, Kysh L, Gruber SB, Qu C. The prognostic implications of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):3360.
- 33. Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, Gimotty PA, Massobrio M, Regnani G, et al. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(3):203–13.
- 34. Thomas NE, Busam KJ, From L, Kricker A, Armstrong BK, Anton-Culver H, et al. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte grade in primary melanomas is independently associated with melanoma-specific survival in the population-based genes, environment and melanoma study. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(33):4252–9.
- 35. Zeng DQ, Yu YF, Ou QY, Li XY, Zhong RZ, Xie CM, et al. Prognostic and predictive value of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes for clinical therapeutic research in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. Oncotarget. 2016;7(12):13765–81.
- 36. Denkert C, von Minckwitz G, Darb-Esfahani S, Lederer B, Heppner BI, Weber KE, et al. Tumourinfiltrating lymphocytes and prognosis in different subtypes of breast cancer: a pooled analysis of 3771 patients treated with neoadjuvant therapy. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19(1):40–50.
- 37. Emens LA, Cruz C, Eder JP, Braiteh F, Chung C, Tolaney SM, et al. Long-term clinical outcomes and biomarker analyses of atezolizumab therapy for patients with metastatic triple-negative breast cancer: a phase 1 study. JAMA Oncol. 2019;5(1):74–82.
- 38. Hamid O, Schmidt H, Nissan A, Ridolfi L, Aamdal S, Hansson J, et al. A prospective phase II trial exploring the association between tumor microenvironment biomarkers and clinical activity of ipilimumab in advanced melanoma. J Transl Med. 2011;9:204.
- 39. Loi S, Giobbie-Hurder A, Gombos A, Bachelot T, Hui R, Curigliano G, et al. Pembrolizumab plus trastuzumab in trastuzumab-resistant, advanced, HER2-positive breast cancer (PANACEA): a singlearm, multicentre, phase 1b-2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20(3):371–82.
- Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature. 2014;515(7528):568–71.
- 41. Daud AI, Loo K, Pauli ML, Sanchez-Rodriguez R, Sandoval PM, Taravati K, et al. Tumor immune profiling predicts response to anti-PD-1 therapy in human melanoma. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(9):3447–52.

- 42. Chalmers ZR, Connelly CF, Fabrizio D, Gay L, Ali SM, Ennis R, et al. Analysis of 100,000 human cancer genomes reveals the landscape of tumor mutational burden. Genome Med. 2017;9(1):34.
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science. 2015;348(6230):69–74.
- 44. Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science. 2015;348(6230):124–8.
- Carbone DP, Reck M, Paz-Ares L, Creelan B, Horn L, Steins M, et al. First-line nivolumab in stage IV or recurrent non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(25):2415–26.
- 46. Balar AV, Galsky MD, Rosenberg JE, Powles T, Petrylak DP, Bellmunt J, et al. Atezolizumab as firstline treatment in cisplatin-ineligible patients with locally advanced and metastatic urothelial carcinoma: a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet. 2017;389(10064):67–76.
- 47. Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Kemberling H, Eyring AD, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(26):2509–20.
- Le DT, Durham JN, Smith KN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Aulakh LK, et al. Mismatch repair deficiency predicts response of solid tumors to PD-1 blockade. Science. 2017;357(6349):409–13.
- Forde PM, Chaft JE, Smith KN, Anagnostou V, Cottrell TR, Hellmann MD, et al. Neoadjuvant PD-1 blockade in resectable lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(21):1976–86.
- McGranahan N, Furness AJ, Rosenthal R, Ramskov S, Lyngaa R, Saini SK, et al. Clonal neoantigens elicit T cell immunoreactivity and sensitivity to immune checkpoint blockade. Science. 2016;351(6280):1463–9.
- Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L, et al. Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. Science. 2015;350(6257):207–11.
- 52. Zaretsky JM, Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Escuin-Ordinas H, Hugo W, Hu-Lieskovan S, et al. Mutations associated with acquired resistance to PD-1 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(9):819–29.
- 53. Dong ZY, Zhong WZ, Zhang XC, Su J, Xie Z, Liu SY, et al. Potential predictive value of TP53 and KRAS mutation status for response to PD-1 blockade immunotherapy in lung adenocarcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2017;23(12):3012–24.
- 54. Teo MY, Seier K, Ostrovnaya I, Regazzi AM, Kania BE, Moran MM, et al. Alterations in DNA damage response and repair genes as potential marker of clinical benefit from PD-1/PD-L1 blockade in advanced urothelial cancers. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(17):1685–94.
- Choo SY. The HLA system: genetics, immunology, clinical testing, and clinical implications. Yonsei Med J. 2007;48(1):11–23.

- 56. Chowell D, Morris LGT, Grigg CM, Weber JK, Samstein RM, Makarov V, et al. Patient HLA class I genotype influences cancer response to checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. Science. 2018;359(6375):582–7.
- 57. Rodig SJ, Gusenleitner D, Jackson DG, Gjini E, Giobbie-Hurder A, Jin C, et al. MHC proteins confer differential sensitivity to CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade in untreated metastatic melanoma. Sci Transl Med. 2018;10(450):eaar3342.
- 58. Johnson DB, Estrada MV, Salgado R, Sanchez V, Doxie DB, Opalenik SR, et al. Melanoma-specific MHC-II expression represents a tumour-autonomous phenotype and predicts response to anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapy. Nat Commun. 2016;7:10582.
- Pennock ND, White JT, Cross EW, Cheney EE, Tamburini BA, Kedl RM. T cell responses: naive to memory and everything in between. Adv Physiol Educ. 2013;37(4):273–83.
- 60. Karachaliou N, Gonzalez-Cao M, Crespo G, Drozdowskyj A, Aldeguer E, Gimenez-Capitan A, et al. Interferon gamma, an important marker of response to immune checkpoint blockade in nonsmall cell lung cancer and melanoma patients. Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2018;10:1758834017749748.
- 61. Ji RR, Chasalow SD, Wang L, Hamid O, Schmidt H, Cogswell J, et al. An immune-active tumor microenvironment favors clinical response to ipilimumab. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(7):1019–31.
- 62. Liu R, Cao J, Gao X, Zhang J, Wang L, Wang B, et al. Overall survival of cancer patients with serum lactate dehydrogenase greater than 1000 IU/L. Tumour Biol. 2016;37(10):14083–8.
- 63. Motzer RJ, Rini BI, McDermott DF, Aren Frontera O, Hammers HJ, Carducci MA, et al. Nivolumab plus ipilimumab versus sunitinib in first-line treatment for advanced renal cell carcinoma: extended follow-up of efficacy and safety results from a randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20(10):1370–85.
- 64. Kelderman S, Heemskerk B, van Tinteren H, van den Brom RR, Hospers GA, van den Eertwegh AJ, et al. Lactate dehydrogenase as a selection criterion for ipilimumab treatment in metastatic melanoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63(5):449–58.
- 65. Weide B, Martens A, Hassel JC, Berking C, Postow MA, Bisschop K, et al. Baseline biomarkers for outcome of melanoma patients treated with pembrolizumab. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(22):5487–96.
- 66. Sacdalan DB, Lucero JA, Sacdalan DL. Prognostic utility of baseline neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in patients receiving immune checkpoint inhibitors: a review and meta-analysis. Onco Targets Ther. 2018;11:955–65.
- 67. Lalani AA, Xie W, Martini DJ, Steinharter JA, Norton CK, Krajewski KM, et al. Change in neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio (NLR) in response to immune checkpoint blockade for metastatic renal cell carcinoma. J Immunother Cancer. 2018;6(1):5.

- 68. Zahoor H, Barata PC, Jia X, Martin A, Allman KD, Wood LS, et al. Patterns, predictors and subsequent outcomes of disease progression in metastatic renal cell carcinoma patients treated with nivolumab. J Immunother Cancer. 2018;6(1):107.
- 69. Martens A, Wistuba-Hamprecht K, Geukes Foppen M, Yuan J, Postow MA, Wong P, et al. Baseline peripheral blood biomarkers associated with clinical outcome of advanced melanoma patients treated with Ipilimumab. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(12):2908–18.
- Chen G, Huang AC, Zhang W, Zhang G, Wu M, Xu W, et al. Exosomal PD-L1 contributes to immunosuppression and is associated with anti-PD-1 response. Nature. 2018;560(7718):382–6.
- 71. Koguchi Y, Hoen HM, Bambina SA, Rynning MD, Fuerstenberg RK, Curti BD, et al. Serum Immunoregulatory proteins as predictors of overall survival of metastatic melanoma patients treated with ipilimumab. Cancer Res. 2015;75(23):5084–92.
- 72. Hannani D, Vetizou M, Enot D, Rusakiewicz S, Chaput N, Klatzmann D, et al. Anticancer immunotherapy by CTLA-4 blockade: obligatory contribution of IL-2 receptors and negative prognostic impact of soluble CD25. Cell Res. 2015;25(2):208–24.
- Chaput N, Lepage P, Coutzac C, Soularue E, Le Roux K, Monot C, et al. Baseline gut microbiota predicts clinical response and colitis in metastatic melanoma patients treated with ipilimumab. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(6):1368–79.
- Matson V, Fessler J, Bao R, Chongsuwat T, Zha Y, Alegre ML, et al. The commensal microbiome is associated with anti-PD-1 efficacy in metastatic melanoma patients. Science. 2018;359(6371):104–8.
- 75. Gopalakrishnan V, Spencer CN, Nezi L, Reuben A, Andrews MC, Karpinets TV, et al. Gut microbiome modulates response to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in melanoma patients. Science. 2018;359(6371):97–103.
- 76. Skoulidis F, Goldberg ME, Greenawalt DM, Hellmann MD, Awad MM, Gainor JF, et al. STK11/ LKB1 mutations and PD-1 inhibitor resistance in KRAS-mutant lung adenocarcinoma. Cancer Discov. 2018;8(7):822–35.
- 77. Gandara DR, Paul SM, Kowanetz M, Schleifman E, Zou W, Li Y, et al. Blood-based tumor mutational burden as a predictor of clinical benefit in non-small-cell lung cancer patients treated with atezolizumab. Nat Med. 2018;24(9):1441–8.
- Mariathasan S, Turley SJ, Nickles D, Castiglioni A, Yuen K, Wang Y, et al. TGFbeta attenuates tumour response to PD-L1 blockade by contributing to exclusion of T cells. Nature. 2018;554(7693):544–8.

- Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF. Melanoma-intrinsic beta-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. Nature. 2015;523(7559):231–5.
- Anderson AC, Joller N, Kuchroo VK. Lag-3, Tim-3, and TIGIT: co-inhibitory receptors with specialized functions in immune regulation. Immunity. 2016;44(5):989–1004.
- Taylor MW, Feng GS. Relationship between interferon-gamma, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, and tryptophan catabolism. FASEB J. 1991;5(11):2516–22.
- Ayers M, Lunceford J, Nebozhyn M, Murphy E, Loboda A, Kaufman DR, et al. IFN-gamma-related mRNA profile predicts clinical response to PD-1 blockade. J Clin Invest. 2017;127(8):2930.
- 83. Ott PA, Bang YJ, Piha-Paul SA, Razak ARA, Bennouna J, Soria JC, et al. T-cell-inflamed geneexpression profile, programmed death ligand 1 expression, and tumor mutational burden predict efficacy in patients treated with pembrolizumab across 20 cancers: KEYNOTE-028. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(4):318–27.
- 84. Yamazaki N, Kiyohara Y, Uhara H, Iizuka H, Uehara J, Otsuka F, et al. Cytokine biomarkers to predict antitumor responses to nivolumab suggested in a phase 2 study for advanced melanoma. Cancer Sci. 2017;108(5):1022–31.
- Hutloff A, Dittrich AM, Beier KC, Eljaschewitsch B, Kraft R, Anagnostopoulos I, et al. ICOS is an inducible T-cell co-stimulator structurally and functionally related to CD28. Nature. 1999;397(6716):263–6.
- Solinas C, Gu-Trantien C, Willard-Gallo K. The rationale behind targeting the ICOS-ICOS ligand costimulatory pathway in cancer immunotherapy. ESMO Open. 2020;5(1):e000544.
- Kluger HM, Zito CR, Barr ML, Baine MK, Chiang VL, Sznol M, et al. Characterization of PD-L1 expression and associated T-cell infiltrates in metastatic melanoma samples from variable anatomic sites. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(13):3052–60.
- 88. Taube JM, Klein A, Brahmer JR, Xu H, Pan X, Kim JH, et al. Association of PD-1, PD-1 ligands, and other features of the tumor immune microenvironment with response to anti-PD-1 therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20(19):5064–74.
- Matsushita H, Sato Y, Karasaki T, Nakagawa T, Kume H, Ogawa S, et al. Neoantigen load, antigen presentation machinery, and immune signatures determine prognosis in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Immunol Res. 2016;4(5):463–71.
- Riaz N, Havel JJ, Makarov V, Desrichard A, Urba WJ, Sims JS, et al. Tumor and microenvironment evolution during immunotherapy with nivolumab. Cell. 2017;171(4):934–49.



26

Cancer Nanomedicine: Special Focus on Cancer Immunotherapy

Soheil Tavakolpour and Fatemeh Karami

Contents

26.1	Introduction	467
26.2	Overview of the Immune System and Cancer	469
26.2.1	Immune Cells and Mediators in Tumors	470
26.2.2	Tumor Immune Surveillance and Cancer Immunoediting	471
26.2.3	Tumor Immune Evasion	472
26.2.4	Current Immunotherapies	473
26.2.5	Cancer Vaccines	473
26.2.6	Adoptive Cell Therapy (ACT)	473
26.2.7	Checkpoint Inhibition	474
26.2.8	Cytokine Therapy	474
26.2.9	Monoclonal Antibody	474
26.2.10	Oncolytic Virus Immunotherapy	474
26.3	Application of Nanotechnology in Cancer	475
26.3.1	Nanodiagnostics.	475
26.3.2	Nanomaterials in Medical Imaging	475
26.3.2.1	Nanotechnology in Traditional Imaging	475
26.4	Nanotechnology in Other Imaging Systems	477
26.4.1	Nanotechnology in Molecular Imaging	478
26.4.1.1	Biosensors and Role of Nanotechnology in Their Developments	479
26.4.2	Nanotherapy and Nanotoxicity	480
26.5	Nanotechnology Against Tumors	481
26.5.1	Aims and Mechanisms of Action	481
26.5.2	Nanoparticle's Characteristics	482
26.5.3	Optical Properties of Nanoparticles	482
26.5.4	Physical Properties of Nanoparticles	482
26.5.4.1	Chemical Characteristics of Nanoparticles	483
26.5.4.2	Metallic and Metal Oxide	483
26.5.4.3	Quantum Dots	483
26.5.4.4	Carbon Nanoparticle	483

S. Tavakolpour

Cancer Research Center, Cancer Institute of Iran, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02115, USA e-mail: Soheil_tavakolpour@dfci.harvard.edu F. Karami (🖂)

Department of Medical Genetics, Applied Biophotonics Research Center, Science and Research Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran e-mail: fatemeh.karami@srbiau.ac.ir

26.5.4.5	Polymeric Nanoparticles	483
26.5.5	Challenges and Opportunities	483
26.5.6	Nanoparticle's Interaction with Cancer Cells	484
26.5.7	Antiangiogenesis	484
26.5.8	Silver NPs (AgNPs)	485
26.5.9	Chitosan NPs (CNPs)	486
26.5.10	Silica NPs (SiNPs)	486
26.5.11	Selenium NPs (SeNPs)	486
26.5.12	Tetrac NPs	487
26.6	Nanocarriers	487
26.6.1	Nanocarriers in Cancer	487
26.6.2	Nanocarriers in Cancer Treatment	487
26.6.3	Combinatorial Strategy in Cancer Treatment Using Nanocarriers	490
26.6.4	Nanocarriers with FDA Approval for Cancer Treatment	493
26.7	Nanoparticle-Based Immunotherapy for Cancer	494
26.8	Concluding Remarks	496
Reference	es	497

Abbreviations

Abbreviations		DCs	Dendritic cells
		DiMI	Diagnostics in Molecular
ABC	ATP-binding cassette		Imaging
ABCG2	ATP-binding cassette subfam-	DWI-MRI	Diffusion-weighted imaging-
	ily G member 2		magnetic resonance imaging
AIF	Apoptosis-inducing factor	EMIL	European Molecular Imaging
ALDH	Aldehyde dehydrogenase		Laboratories
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia	EP	Ependymoma
AnxA2	Annexin A2	EpCAM	Epithelial cell adhesion molecule
Ape1	Apurinic endonuclease 1	EPNs	Enoxaparin sodium–PLGA
Bcl-2	B-Cell lymphoma-2		hybrid nanoparticles
BCL2L14	Bcl-2-like protein 14	EPR	Enhanced permeability and
BCL-XL	B-Cell lymphoma-extra large		retention
BSA	Bovine serum albumin	Fe-bLf	Iron-saturated bovine lactoferrin
CAFs	Cancer-associated fibroblasts	gal-C-Dextran	Galactosylated cationic dextran
CASP2	Caspase-2	GMP	Gemcitabine monophosphate
CD90	Cluster of Differentiation 90	HA	Hyaluronic acid
CDK6	Cyclin-dependent kinase 6	HNSCC	Head and neck squamous cell
CI	Combination index		carcinoma
CMIIT	Center for Molecular Imaging	HPV	Human papillomavirus
	Innovation and Translation	IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
CNTs	Carbon nanotube	IL2	Interleukin-2
CP	Coordination polymer	LNA-Aps	Locked nucleic acid aptamers
CRC	Colorectal cancer	LNPs	Lipid nanoparticles
CSCs	Cancer stem cells	MALDI	Matrix-assisted laser desorption/
CT	Computed tomography		ionization
CTAB	Cetyltrimethylammonium	MB	Medulloblastoma
	bromide	MBA	Methylenebisacrylamide
DAMPs	Damage-associated molecular	MCL1	Myeloid cell leukemia
	patterns		sequence 1
DCE-MRI	Dynamic contrast-enhanced	MCM	Mobil crystalline materials
	magnetic resonance imaging	MDR	Multidrug resistance

MRSI	Magnetic resonance spectro-		
	scopic imaging		
MTC	Medullary thyroid cancer		
NanoHH1 Nanoparticle-encapsul			
	hedgehog pathway inhibitor		
Nanolinogels	Nanoscale liposomal poly-		
ranonpogois	meric gels		
NCPs	Nanoscale coordination poly-		
	mers		
NCs	Nanocarriers/nanocapsules		
NIR	Near-infrared		
NK	Natural killer		
Nm	Nanometers		
NPC	Nasopharyngeal cancer		
NSCLC	Non-small-cell lung cancer		
ODN	Oligodeoxynucleotide		
OV	Oncolytic virus		
PAMAM	Poly(amido amine)		
PEG	Polyethylene glycol		
PEI	Polyethyleneimine		
PET	Positron emission tomography		
PHA	PEG-histidine-modified alginate		
PLGA-PEG	Polv(D.L-lactide-co-glycolide)-		
	polvethylene glycol		
PLK1	Polo-like kinase 1		
PTCL	Peripheral T-cell lymphomas		
REV3	Reversionless 3		
REV3L	REV3-like		
RNS	Reactive nitrogen		
ROS	Reactive oxygen		
SBA-15	Santa Barbara Amorphous		
	type material		
shRNA	Short hairpin RNA		
SODs	Superoxide dismutases		
SP	Side population		
SPECT	Single-photon emission com-		
	puted tomography		
STAT3	Signal transducer and activator		
	of transcription		
TAA	Tumor-associated antigen		
TAMs	Tumor-associated macrophages		
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-beta		
Th	T-Helper		
THBS1	Thrombospondin 1		
TLRs Toll-like receptors			
TLS	Translesion DNA synthesis		
Tregs	Regulatory T-cells		
XIAP	X-Linked inhibitor of apoptosis		

26.1 Introduction

According to the last update on this context, Fouad and Aaneihave suggested seven hallmarks of cancer: (1) selective growth and proliferative advantage, (2) altered stress response favoring overall survival, (3) vascularization, (4) invasion and metastasis, (5) metabolic rewiring, (6) an abetting microenvironment, and (7) immune modulation. Despite many efforts, cancer has remained one of the main causes of death in humans with not very effective therapeutic options. Surgery, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy are considered the gold standard options available for cancer patients. Chemotherapy alone, or in combination with radiation therapy, is usually used to increase the success rate of surgery. Unfortunately, not all tumors are surgically accessible. Additionally, despite widespread use of chemotherapy drugs, the nonselective nature of most of these agents could severely damage critical organs of the body due to indiscrimination between normal and cancerous proliferating cells, which causes different primary side effects. In other words, chemotherapy agents more accurately fall into the antiproliferative agents category, rather than anticancer agents [1–4]. Thus, it is not surprising that cancer patients always suffer from systemic toxicity of traditional cancer chemotherapy. Considering the fact that cancerous cells may be resistant to chemotherapeutic agents and cell division inhibitors and the nonselective nature of most of those agents, specific targeting of hallmarks of cancer could be a reasonable treatment option. Thereby, selective targeting of cancer cells has become an attractive treatment strategy for modern cancer therapy.

Once a healthy cell transforms into a cancer cell, it may be recognized by immune cells, which could be followed by induction of other immune cells to mount responses in greater scales. However, owing to several reasons, such as impairment of effective immune cell responses or evasion of tumor cells, immune system could inhibit the cancer evolution not all the time, and therefore, tumor/cancer will arise [5–7]. To overcome current cancer treatment plans' pitfalls, dif-

ferent strategies have been proposed. For example, it seems that identification of the mutated components and then selectively targeting these mutations via designed small molecules as mimetic or agonist could be a promising strategy to eradicate cancer cells [8]. Moreover, since tumor cells may escape from antitumor T-cell response through two primary mechanisms, that is, cancer immunoediting and impairment of antitumor immune responses, manipulation of the immune system in order to downregulate immune tolerance against cancer cells has shown promising results [9]. This strategy which is called as cancer immunotherapy has been well known as a potential treatment option of cancer. Although, a large number of immunotherapy approaches have been introduced so far, various clinical challenges remained to be addressed, and some of cancer patients still do not respond well to immunomodulatory compounds. The efficient delivery system could significantly enhance the effectiveness of cancer immunotherapy, which seems achievable through employment of different nanoparticles. Additionally, because of the significant greater chance of survival and successful treatment when cancer is diagnosed in early stage, early detection of a tumor may be as important as treatment. Nanoparticles are synthetic particles available in a wide range of sizes, which could be combined with drugs or other therapeutic agents to be used in the treatment of incurable disorders, such as cancer. Moreover, advances in nanotechnology have caused the emergence of novel approaches for cancer detection at very early stages, which was not possible with the traditional diagnostic methods. Overall, there is increasing evidence to support the fact that engineered nanoparticles have the potential to revolutionize the diagnosis and treatment of multiple types of human disease in all fields as well as cancer medicine [10, 11].

Nanotechnology in medicine, also known as nanomedicine, involves applications of nanoparticles as well as employment of manufactured nano-robots to make repairs at cellular level. Nanomedicine has offered several new possibilities to overcome different treatment obstacles through alternative drug delivery, improvement of treatment efficacy, and minimizing detrimental side effects to normal tissues [12]. As an example, specific targeting of tumor cells and their discrimination from nonmalignant surrounding cells are well-known advantages of nanotechnology in cancer treatment which will be associated with significantly reduced side effects [12]. Moreover, because of the possibility to control the size, shape, and surface properties of nanoparticles, benefits of nanoparticles for biological applications would be significantly higher than conventional treatments [13]. For example, the properties of nanoparticles (e.g., solubility) can be engineered via changing their shapes and chemical compositions. As it was mentioned, nanotechnology not only could be employed in the treatment of cancer but also provides unique capabilities and enables innovative diagnosis. Currently, there are different diagnostic tests for cancer, including laboratory tests (e.g., blood, urine), imaging tests (e.g., X-ray, PET/CT, MRI, ultrasound), nuclear medicine scans (e.g., bone scans), endoscopy, and genetic tests, which should be confirmed by biopsy and pathology. Employing nanomedicine in each aforementioned diagnostic areas has provided great opportunities in more sensitive and specific diagnosis of cancer [14-16]. As Chen et al. [14] have discussed, nanoparticles can be used as probes in in vivo imaging, biosensing, and immunostaining. This technology offers high sensitivity, appropriate size for long-lasting circulation and penetrating in many biological barriers, and multiple targeting ligands.

In this chapter, at first, different aspects of the immune system during carcinogenesis process will be reviewed. Moreover, some of the well-studied immunotherapy approaches will be briefly discussed. Application of nanotechnology in diagnosis and treatment of cancer will be discussed following an overview on immune responses and current related therapeutic approaches. Some of the most critical challenges related to anticancer nanomedicine development will be pointed out at the end of and traditional immunotherapy chapter, approaches will be compared with new nanotechnology-based immunotherapies.

26.2 Overview of the Immune System and Cancer

Immune systems can distinguish between self and non-self most of the time. Hence, it not only protects the host against pathogens or infectious agents including viruses, bacteria, fungi, and other parasites but also specifically identifies and then eliminates abnormal cells to prevent the development of many cancers. Indeed, the immune system can mount cytotoxic immune responses against tumors and thereby acts toward the eradication of cancer cells. However, it does not always happen flawlessly, and cancer cells employ different mechanisms to escape from the immune system in a reactive fashion to be protected from this immune attack [7].

Coordination between two distinct cellular compartments, referred to as the innate and adaptive system, could significantly prevent tumor development. Innate immune system consists of various immune cells, including dendritic cells (DCs), monocytes, macrophages, natural killer (NK) cells, and granulocytes (neutrophils, basophils and eosinophils, and mast cells). These cells are able to cause activation of the adaptive arm through specific signals. DCs also act as a bridge between the innate and adaptive immune systems, and cytokines secreted by activated DCs influence both innate and adaptive immune responses [17]. T and B lymphocytes are the major cellular components of the adaptive immune response which are involved in cellmediated and humoral immunities, respectively. Cross talk between those two arms may be necessary for polarization of sustained antigen-specific immunity.

Premalignant or malignant cell death might stimulate antitumor response or immune surveillance. Calling damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) as the results of radiation not only causes direct cytotoxic effects but also initiates immune responses against tumor [18, 19]. It has been described that inflammation is a major player in cancer evolution, maybe thanks to the successive changes occurring at the tumor site [20]. However, failure of DAMPs to elicit an effective antitumor response may trigger chronic inflammation and thereby promote the development or progression of tumors [21]. Stressassociated DAMPs trigger innate immune system activation and make a bridge toward adaptive immunity. Although adaptive immunity is able to restrain cancer cells to be grown in an extended time [22], it was suggested that in the absence of adaptive immunity, cells in innate immunity arms (e.g., NK cell) act as important effectors during cancer immunoediting [23]. In addition to radiation, conventional chemotherapeutic agents also stimulate the immune system through different signaling pathways, such as increased extracellular ATP concentrations [24], recruitment and differentiation of APCs [25], and induction of cytokine expression [26].

There are several pieces of evidence to support the critical role of immune system in prevention of cancer. Recent findings have unequivocally documented that immune system, which was previously thought to act as a barrier against tumorigenesis, facilitates cellular transformation, as well. It seems that antitumor effector and suppressor cells contributed in tumor growth prevention and tumorigenesis, respectively. This phenomenon could be confirmed by an incidence of increased cancer cells in immunocompromised patients [27]. Moreover, a large number of immunosuppressive drugs have been found to be associated with multiple tumor types, such as lymphoma and skin cancer [28, 29]. Interactions between tumor-infiltrating immune cells and tumor cells could either interfere with tumor progression or actively promote tumor growth. Some effector cells provide protection against different pathogens but not against tumor cell development. For example, T-helper (Th) 22 cells were found to be associated with different types of cancer, such as hepatocellular carcinoma and colorectal cancer [30, 31]. Moreover, there are some other cells referred as regulatory T-cells (Tregs) that are highly immunosuppressive and play central roles in prevention of autoimmunity process [32]. These cells have an opposite role in cancer progression and may promote local tumor growth. Shedding light on cancer cell interaction with innate and adaptive immune system may enable us to develop novel, effective, and safe therapeutic options by manipulating the immune system at molecular level in human cancers.

26.2.1 Immune Cells and Mediators in Tumors

Tumor microenvironment is a highly heterogeneous mix of cellular and noncellular components including various immune cell types from both innate and adaptive systems such as effector T-cells (CD8+ and CD4+ T-cells), Tregs, macrophages, DCs, NK cells, and NKT cells. Their percentages and phenotypes markedly vary among different types of tumor and even among patients with the same tumor type. As it was previously mentioned, both innate and adaptive immunities are essential to exert effective antitumor responses. Among the innate immune cells which are involved in fighting against cancer cells, NK [33] and NKT cells [34] play important roles in the immune surveillance of cancer and are able to lyse and directly kill the tumor cells. NK cells are specialized to eliminate virus-infected as well as malignantly transformed cells. Those frontline soldiers of the innate immune system act through different strategies, such as releasing perforin and granzymes, expression of the death receptor ligands TRAIL and FasL, and secretion of cytokines and chemokines [35]. Moreover, NK cell activity could recruit other immune cells to the tumor site. Despite their potent and powerful cytotoxic activity, their dysfunctional deficiency in cancer patients highlights the fact that their activity may be eluded by the tumor microenvironment [36]. Those findings have resulted in employing NK cells for cancer immunotherapy [35]. Similar to NK cells, NKT cells are usually considered as an interface between innate and adaptive immune systems and are critical modulatory cells in shaping adaptive immune responses. NKT cells (especially type I) directly and indirectly fight with cancer cells via their cytolytic activity and activation of additional immune cells, respectively. However, these cells (especially type II) also may effectively suppress the early tumor-specific immunity, and therefore,

these cells could be considered as a double-edged sword in cancer evolution [37].

DCs are the most potent antigen-presenting cells which cause initiation of antitumor immunity by unleashing a T-cell response. Infiltration of maturated and active DCs into the tumors confers an increase in recruitment of tumor-specific effector T-cells. However, DC maturation within the tumor site makes them unable to induce sufficient immunity [38]. To elicit enough tumorspecific effector T-cell responses, a concerted effort has been initiated to use DC-based immunotherapies as a weapon against cancer [39]. Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) have been found to be largely present in the tumor microenvironment, and they are major players of the cancer-related inflammation [40]. TAMs seem to be directly involved in tumor progression and growth and may be indispensable for angiogenesis, invasion, and metastasis [41] as high TAM content was found to be associated with poor cancer prognosis [42]. Owing to the ability of TAMs to promote the development and migration of tumor, selective targeting of these cells has attracted considerable interest and may be proved to be beneficial in the treatment of cancer [40, 43]. Neutrophils are other players belonging to innate immune system that could have contribution in tumor initiation, tumor growth, and metastasis cascade. Several mechanisms have been suggested that show neutrophils promote tumorigenesis (reviewed in [44]). Oxidants produced by neutrophils, such as reactive oxygen (ROS) and reactive nitrogen (RNS) species as well as proteases, could result in epithelial damage and subsequent tumor-promoting inflammation. Stimulation of proliferation through IL-1 receptor antagonist in addition to impairing CD8+ T-cells-mediated antitumor immune responses accelerates tumor growth, as well. Moreover, they are involved in several steps of metastasis through stimulation of cancer cells to migrate.

Regarding the role of adaptive immunity, T-cell responses are relatively more tumoricidal compared to most humoral responses, and they have important roles in establishing antitumor immunity [45]. Induction of optimal systemic antitumor immunity involves priming of both CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells (effector T-cells) which can finally lead to tumor regression.

Although activity of one effector cell group, CD8+ or CD4+ T-cells, is adequate for tumor eradication, higher antitumor effect has been shown to be exerted when those cells work together [46]. Naïve CD4+/CD8+ T-cells can differentiate among different functionally distinct tumor suppressor or tumor promoter subsets. The latter group could suppress the activity of tumorspecific T effector cells; for example, cytotoxic CD8+ and CD4+ Th1 T-cells function as the major antitumor immune effector cells through production of cytokine IFN- γ , a critical cytokine involved in tumor suppression. However, a subpopulation of CD4+ T-cells, which abrogates the attack of effector cells against self-somatic cells, acts as a promoter of tumor growth through inhibition of the effector T-cells. Traditionally, research in cancer immunity has focused almost Th1/Th2 cell balance. exclusively on Identification of different other subsets of Th cells including Th17, Th9, and Th22 has shed light on the significant roles of T-cells in control of tumor evolution during the past decades. Among those cells, Th1 is the most studied type of T-cells which is critically important for induction of in vivo antitumor cellular immunity [47]. Conversely, Th2 inhibits Th1 differentiation and interferes with antitumor CTL activity, and therefore, their activity would be associated with tumor progression. Those humoral-mediated cells can inhibit cell apoptosis via IL-4 and IL-10 secretion, as well [48]. The cells, a relatively novel subset of CD4+ T-cells, have recently attracted more attention due to its ability to enable CD8+ and CD4+ and can activate the adaptive antitumor immunity as well favoring DC survival [49–51]. However, there is an evidence suggesting that Th9 cells can function as a promoter of cell proliferation and migration, as well [52]. In spite of a huge number of conducted studies on the role of Th17 in cancer, there are several contradictory results indicating that it may function as a double-edged sword in cancer pathogenesis [53]. There are mounting evidences suggesting that Th22, as a recently identified subset of human CD4+ T-cells, may be involved in the development of tumors, and therefore, tumorinfiltrating Th22 cells could be suitable therapeutic targets in cancer patients [31, 54–56]. In contrast to effector T-cells with antitumor immunity, such as Th1, Tregs interfere with the eradication of tumors. Tregs, which are composed of a diverse and heterogeneous subset cells (e.g., Th3, Tr1, iTr35), suppress tumor-primed T-cell activity. It was demonstrated that Tregs infiltration was significantly associated with poor prognosis in multiple tumors [32, 57, 58] and therefore depletion of Tregs has demonstrated to result in augmentation of antitumor immune responses and immunotherapy [59].

26.2.2 Tumor Immune Surveillance and Cancer Immunoediting

Cancer immune surveillance is a hypothesis which has been postulated by Burnet and Thomas in more than half a century ago [60, 61]. As it was discussed, the immune system can specifically identify and eliminate tumor cells through recognition of expressed antigens that are not found in normal cells and/or molecules induced by cellular stress. According to the cancer immune surveillance hypothesis, adaptive immunity was responsible for hindering tumor growth in immunocompetent hosts. However, Stutman [62] demonstrated that there is no difference in cancer susceptibility among the immunocompetent mice and nude mice with substantial but not total immunodeficiency, which has led to widely abandon immune surveillance theory. However, a more comprehensive hypothesis was still required to explain those observations. In the early twentyfirst century, it was revealed that this surveillance function could be extended to a more comprehensive one, known as cancer immunoediting which was describing novel aspects of the immune system-tumor interactions. Immune system not only protects the host against cancer development but also shapes tumor immunogenicity (composed of three phases which is elimination, equilibrium, and escape) which is the basis of this new hypothesis [63, 64]. It is implementing the dual host-protective and tumor-promoting actions of immunity on developing tumors. During the elimination phase, which refers to cancer immune surveillance theory, both arms of immunity work together to detect the presence of a developing tumor cells and eradicate them before clinical appearance. However, some tumor cells may survive from the elimination phase and enter the equilibrium phase in which the immune system does not cause eradication of cancerous cells while holding the tumor in a state of functional dormancy. In the third phase, some tumor cells that have acquired resistance to elimination may circumvent immune recognition and escape from immune destruction, followed by progressively growing and visible tumors. Exhaustion of immune system as a result of the emergence of tumor cell variants may be responsible for bypassing elimination phase.

26.2.3 Tumor Immune Evasion

Complicated cross talk between immune system and cancer cells can either inhibit or enhance tumor growth which is now classified as a hallmark of cancer, and tumors could learn how to avoid immune-mediated elimination by employing various mechanisms to evade immune surveillance. Some of those mechanisms include decreasing or shedding the expression of tumorassociated antigen (TAA), impaired expression of MHC class I, downregulation of co-stimulatory pathway (e.g., CD28), aberrant expression of coinhibitory molecules (e.g., CTLA-4), downregulation of adhesion molecules, expression of the apoptosis-inducing protein (e.g., Fas ligand), recruitment of immunosuppressive cells (e.g., Tregs), and secretion of immunosuppressive factors (e.g., transforming growth factor-beta [TGFβ] and IL-10) [5–7].

The immunogenicity of a tumor is significantly dependent on its antigenicity. Most tumor cells express antigens which can be recognized by the host and have the potential to elicit tumorspecific immune responses [65]. These antigens could be mainly encoded by either germline or somatic cancer, genetic mutations, and oncogenic viruses (e.g., human papillomavirus [HPV]) [66]. However, to avoid immune-mediated elimination, cancer cells may lose their dominant antigens or harbor defects through underexpression of MHC class I and other components of the antigen-processing machinery. In addition to the loss of antigenicity expression, tumor cells may fail to function as effective APCs due to the lack of positive co-stimulatory ligands or even presence of inhibitory ligands. As it was previously mentioned, most tumors lack the expression of positive co-stimulatory molecules that cause abortive proficient T-cell activation, and thereby, the situations would be suitable for tumor cells to enter into the escape phase.

Tumor cells often show a decrease in cell-cell adhesiveness which seems to be a critical phase in the invasion and metastasis of human cancers [67]. It is now well accepted that cell adhesion molecules that function as tumor suppressors are able to suppress cancer cell growth, but not necessarily migration [68]. Fas activation through ligand-receptor interaction triggers apoptosis in cells. Expression of FasL during T-cell activation is indispensable for maintaining the homeostasis and the proper functioning of the immune system. However, increased FasL levels in some tumors such as melanoma [69], lung cancer [70], pancreatic cancer [71], and breast cancer [72] were found to induce effector T lymphocytes to die. Effector T-cell death might accelerate T-cell activation-induced cell death and also leads the cancer cells to escape from immune recognition and interference. In addition to FasL, increased expression of some other members of the TNF family as well as TRAIL may contribute in inducing antitumor effector cell death [73].

Recruitment and expansion of immunosuppressive cell populations by tumors are another well-discussed strategy to escape immune surveillance [74]. Moreover, reprogramming of norantitumor immune cells into the mal tumor-promoting cells plays critical role in expansion of tumors. Tregs are a good example of those cells that facilitate tumor immune escape inhibition of antitumor immune through responses and therefore induction of immunosuppression. Moreover, impairment of antitumor immunity may be mediated by tumor-derived immunosuppressive soluble factors including galectin-1, TGF β , and IL-10 which cooperate in advanced stages of cancer to limit the antitumor activity of immune system [75].

26.2.4 Current Immunotherapies

Owing to the limited efficiency and emergence of several serious side effects in conventional therapies of cancer, novel therapies are urgently needed with more desirable outcomes and less side effects. It is worth to note that considering the components of both innate and adaptive immune system is required for the design and development of effective immunotherapy approaches. Fortunately, during the recent decades, advances in cancer immunology and revealing the role of the immune system in cancer initiation, progression, and invasion have provided new therapeutic options. Generally speaking, cancer immunotherapy harnesses the immune system to eradicate tumor cells and prevent future relapse. Several forms of immunotherapy have been explored to boost or restore the ability of the immune system to detect and eliminate tumor cells. These approaches act through overcoming the mechanisms by which tumors evade from immune cells which are exercising their antitumor activities. Some of the welldescribed options include cell-based therapies (cancer vaccines and adoptive cell therapy) checkpoint inhibition, cytokine therapy, therapeutic administration of monoclonal antibodies, and oncolytic virus immunotherapy (reviewed in [9]).

26.2.5 Cancer Vaccines

Cancer vaccines could be categorized as biological response modifiers, which either stimulate or restore the impaired immune responses against tumors. Cancer vaccines could be divided into two broad types, that is, prophylactic and therapeutic vaccines. The prophylactic vaccines are used as a predictive treatment in high-risk normal individuals such as those who are infected by HPV or hepatitis B virus. Therapeutic vaccines, which are a form of immunotherapy, are intended to treat existing cancer by boosting anticancer immunity and can be used through major approaches including autologous patient-derived immune cell vaccines, engineered viruses to express tumor antigen transgenes, protein/ peptide-based cancer vaccines, DNA/RNA vaccines, and allogeneic whole tumor cell vaccines [76, 77].

26.2.6 Adoptive Cell Therapy (ACT)

Adoptive cell therapy (ACT) is another approach which can be used in harnessing the immune system for cancer therapy. It is a highly personalized cancer therapy that refers to the ex vivo expansion of autologous or allogeneic immune cells and then reinfusion of the cells back into the patient. Using this approach, isolated tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes from patients will be reinfused back into the patient after ex vivo expansion, with the goal of recognizing, targeting, and destroying tumor cells [78]. ACT was found to be a promising strategy to induce regression of established tumors in a number of malignancies, including metastatic melanoma [79], leukemia [80], and prostate cancer [81]. Over the past decade, many efforts have been made for engineering immune cells before reinfusion to the patient with the aim of revolutionizing adoptive cell immunotherapy. This technology has opened up a whole new avenue of research in cancer immunotherapy. Engineered T lymphocytes have been used to express chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) allowing the T-cells to recognize antigens on targeted tumor cells. Although this approach has been shown to be successful in treatment of various hematologic malignancies [82, 83], there are some multicenter clinical trials using CAR T-cells targeting expressed TAA, such as EGFR and HER2, to investigate the antitumor effects of engineered T lymphocytes on solid tumors [84]. In addition to the CAR T-cells, owing to the great potential of NK cells in mounting immune system against the tumor cells,

adoptive transfer of allogeneic CAR-modified NK cell and NKT cells which have been ex vivo expanded has emerged as another novel strategy of cancer immunotherapy. NK cells expressing CARs have demonstrated to have significantly improved specificity and efficiency in detection and elimination of tumor cells through recognition of surface antigens overexpressed on cancer cells. Those engineered cells seem to be able to recognize cancer cells and can be used as a magic bullet against not only hematologic cancers but also solid tumors [83]. Although CAR T-cell therapy strategy offers several advantages over other immunotherapy approaches, due to lack of enough CAR NK clinical studies, it is still waiting to receive regulatory approval.

26.2.7 Checkpoint Inhibition

As it was previously discussed, cancer cells employ checkpoints for T-cell exhaustion and thereby protect themselves from the immune system attack. Targeting immune checkpoints with CTLA-4- or PD-1-blocking antibodies has held a lot of promises among cancer treatment strategies. So far, various drugs have been introduced to restore antitumor immunity especially in various types of solid tumors in either single targetmanner including PD-1 inhibitors ing (pembrolizumab, nivolumab), PD-L1 inhibitors (atezolizumab, avelumab, durvalumab), and CTLA-4 inhibitor (ipilimumab) or dual targeting as well as PD-1- and CTLA-4-blocking agents [85, 86]. In spite of remarkable results obtained by checkpoint inhibition therapy, development of autoimmunity in genetically susceptible patients is a serious concern which has remained to be addressed in this approach [87].

26.2.8 Cytokine Therapy

Two cytokines could achieved FDA approval as single agent for cancer treatment, so far: highdose bolus IL-2 for metastatic melanoma and renal cell carcinoma and IFN- α for adjuvant therapy of stage III melanoma [88]. Treatment of cancer using IL-2 and IFN- α cytokines has been designed to mainly target adaptive immunity (e.g., activation of T-cells) and innate immune cells (e.g., promotion of DCs and macrophages). However, owing to the observed different side effects as well as flu-like disease in subsequent studies, using IFN- α has been shown to be used in limited cancer treatment programs.

26.2.9 Monoclonal Antibody

Monoclonal antibody-based treatment of cancer was found as a promising therapeutic option for both solid tumors and hematologic malignancies. Various drugs which belong to this class of new agents have been approved for the treatment of human cancer (e.g., trastuzumab, rituximab, cetuximab, alemtuzumab) [89]. Although they are safer than conventional cancer chemotherapeutic agents, some side effects have been reported which are majorly related to the targeted antigens and intravenous route of administration [90]. Targeting of tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) as a critical player in modulating the local microenvironment in order to facilitate tumor growth and metastasis is another suggested approach for cancer immunotherapy [91]. It has been accepted that TAMs are correlated with increased tumor angiogenesis, metastasis, and poor prognosis of most of the human cancers (reviewed in [91]). Therapeutic advantages of targeting TAM have been confirmed in several clinical trials using different agents to target TAMs, including carlumab, alemtuzumab, and tremelimumab (reviewed in [92]).

26.2.10 Oncolytic Virus Immunotherapy

Oncolytic virus (OV) immunotherapy is a novel form of cancer therapy which utilizes native or genetically modified viruses with the capability to selectively replicate and spread within the tumor cells without affecting the surrounding healthy tissues [93]. OVs are believed to promote antitumor responses mainly through their direct oncolytic activity as well as induction of systemic antitumor immunity. Generally, employed viruses as vectors for OV immunotherapy could be classified into nonpathogenic viruses that naturally replicate preferentially in cancer tissue (e.g., paramyxovirus, picornavirus) and genetically modified viruses that become nonpathogenic before administration (e.g., herpes simplex virus, measles virus, vaccinia virus) [94].

26.3 Application of Nanotechnology in Cancer

Nanotechnology is a relatively novel and rapidly growing field, which provides new molecular contrast agents enabling earlier diagnosis and imaging and selectively targeting tumor cells. Recent advancements in managing various types of cancers are thanks to implication of nanomaterials in different aspects of diagnosis and treatment. In this part, the most important and frequent applications of nanomaterials will be discussed in different fields of cancer control with final debate immunotherapy enhanced on by nanoparticles.

26.3.1 Nanodiagnostics

The role of nanomaterials in diagnostic area of medicine especially early diagnosis, screening, or follow-up of cancer patients could be classified in three major spectrums including diagnostic and screening biosensors and various medical imaging technologies especially magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). One of the fascinating promises of nanomaterials is the possibility of detection of tumor site and specific targeting of treatment in the identified malignant area. Herein, aforementioned diagnostic fields which sometimes have led to theranostic applications of nanomaterials will be described in details.

26.3.2 Nanomaterials in Medical Imaging

Application of nanomedicine in imaging-based diagnosis in modern imaging can be divided into main tow categories, that is, traditional imaging and modern molecular imaging. MRI is the most frequent conventional imaging technique in which using nanoparticles had increased its sensitivity and specificity, especially in cancer diagnosis. Modern molecular imaging which is sometimes called as nanoflare is a novel category of bio-imaging field therein nanomaterials would be conjugated with a molecule complementary to a molecular change typical of a specific cancer cell population. Interaction of two complementary molecules which are attached to nanoparticles will cause a chemical reaction and emit a signal indicating the presence of a particular change in living cells. However, nanotechnologyenhanced conventional imaging systems may sometimes have overlap with molecular imaging especially in early-stage diagnosis of the disease. In the following section, the details of each nanoimaging category will be described with specific focus on recent advancements.

26.3.2.1 Nanotechnology in Traditional Imaging

General Principles

MRI, computed tomography (CT), and positron emission tomography (PET) are the most common advanced imaging techniques which are frequently used in cancer diagnosis. In all of those techniques, characteristics of contrast agents have pivotal roles in the identification of abnormalities within target organ. Contrast agent or contrast medium as its name calls it is a material or substance used to increase the contrast and visibility of internal body organs through absorbing or changing the external electromagnetism or ultrasound. The most important advances mediated by nanotechnology in traditional imaging field have been made in developing novel contrast agents with enhanced contrasting capability. Some of the major challenges of using nanoparticle-based contrast agents are their recognition by the immune system and removing them from circulation. An ideal contrast agent should be maintained within the circulation till the imaging process will be fulfilled and then rapidly degraded and cleared from the human body without precipitation or interaction with each elements of clearance route [95, 96]. In this regard,

size and surface modifications of nanoparticles have substantial effects on their interactions with every part of the body. For example, hydrophobic, more surface-charged particles such as iron oxide, quantum dots, silica, and larger nanoparticles have more chances to be detected by the immune system and be opsonized for degradation [97]. However, the ideal size of nanoparticle should be adjusted to be larger than 5 mm as in much smaller size they are more prone to be quickly eliminated from circulation through kidney filtration system [98]. However, coating of nanoparticle with polymers like polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) or PEG can conceal their surface charge (except using small molecules as well as thiol-containing molecules), and inevitably results in larger particle [99, 100].

Nanoparticle-Mediated Targeting

in Traditional Imaging

Another fantastic application of nanotechnology in imaging is specific targeting of cancerous tissue and determining its precise margins and extension by nanoparticle-based contrast agents. There are two main types of targeting, that is, active and passive. Passive targeting uses special characteristics of cancer cells such as enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) which leads to accumulation of macromolecules within the cell or specific trend of some molecules as well as Feridex, a contrast agent, to be entered into the liver or spleen cells [101, 102]. In active targeting approach, ligand of specific markers expressed on cancer cell is conjugated to a nanoparticle which will be used as contrast agent. The interaction between receptor and ligand leads to internalization of nanoparticle, and therefore, emission of a signal would be indicating the presence of tumor tissue and its exact margins, as well [103, 104].

Nanotechnology in MRI

As it was previously referred, the most frequently performed studies on the application of nanotechnology in imaging were reported in MRI field. MRI is still one of the most potent noninvasive imaging technologies which has excellent sensitivity and specificity in detection of soft tissue tumors. MRI images are basically obtained by the interaction between external magnetic field of instrument and protons present in the water of soft tissue. Type of contrast agents used in MRI and the possibility of their accumulation within the target cells will provide further details with a higher resolution [105]. Gadolinium (III) ion is one of the most frequent contrast agents used in MRI clinics due to its large paramagnetic and unpaired electrons which help to get more resolution in taken images [106]. Conjugation of gadolinium with specific ligand molecules (i.e., chelates) not only changes it to a nontoxic contrast agent but also makes it a suitable choice for active targeting imaging. It was frequently reported that addition of various types of nanomaterials to gadolinium including polymers, carbon nanotubes, and liposome had a significant effect on gadolinium accumulation within target cells and therefore increased the overall resolution and contrast of images taken by MRI [107, 108]. Of note, among all nanoformulated contrast agents, only gadolinium-based nanoparticles could receive FDA approval. Gadolinium oxide (GO) nanoparticles are another chemical form of gadolinium which has various types of surface chemical groups including hydroxyl, carboxyl, and epoxides. Those surface chemical groups provide a promising situation for conjugation and loading of chemotherapeutic drugs to start the treatment of cancer in real-time diagnosis. In more advanced simultaneous mode of cancer diagnosis and therapy called as multimodal theranostic delivery system, one chemotherapeutic and multiple diagnostic agents are loaded on a nanoparticle-based contrast agent which can be tracked by more than one imaging technology [109]. As an example, application of a nanocomposite that consisted of Si-Ti nanoparticles, gadolinium, and folic acid was demonstrated to be associated with higher contrast and resolution of MRI images [110]. In designing such a nanocomposite, some studies have used a combination of gadolinium and gold (Au) as contrast agent and had shown promising results in both imaging and drug delivery [111, 112].

The other frequently used contrast agent in MRI is superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparti-

cle (SPION). They are small synthetic polymers of γ -Fe₂O₃, Fe₃O₄, or α -Fe₂O₃, and the two former oxides are the most commonly used SPIONs in medical imaging [113]. Superparamagnetic characteristics of SPIONs are strongly dependent on their size as the highest degree could be seen in particles with a core diameter of nanoparticle ranging 10-20 nm. SPIONs are appropriate to be used in drug delivery as upon an external magnetic field they can pull the therapeutic agent toward its target cells. In addition, owing to the dispersed form of SPIONs in the absence of magnetic field, their activity could be controlled by adding or removing the external magnetic field to significantly reduce the chance of their detection by the immune system in agglomerated form [114]. This feature of SPIONs has made them a less toxic alternative to gadolinium in MRI imaging especially in patients with renal dysfunction. However, it was demonstrated that the shape of SPION nanoparticle has a determinant effect on the toxicity of those particles on cells as larger nanoparticles as well as nanobeads or nanoworm particles are more prone to be toxic than smaller ones such as nanorods and colloidal nanocrystal clusters [115].

26.4 Nanotechnology in Other Imaging Systems

Implication of nanoparticles in other imaging technologies, as well as computed tomography (CT) scanning, has opened a new horizon toward specific diagnosis of tumors within human body cavities including chest, abdomen, pelvis, and cranium. CT scanning is based on X-ray rendering detailed imaging sections from various types of tissues using iodine- or gadolinium-based molecules as contrast agent [116]. Current contrast agents suffer from the necessity for injecting materials into the circulatory system and therefore the possibility of renal toxicity and nonspecific systemic distribution and eventually poor resolution [117].

GNPs maybe are the most type of nanoparticles which have been investigated in many CT imaging studies as contrast agent. Larger sizes of GNPs decrease the probability of extravasation of particles and therefore would have longer halflife due to a decrease in chance of filtering and excretion by urinary system [118]. The other major advantage of using GNPs as contrast agents in CT imaging is that due to their large size, they are able to absorb a lower range of X-rays, decreasing the general dose of radiation a patient should receive meanwhile increasing the resolution. Application of GNPs in CT imaging has been demonstrated to be useful in radiosensitization of choroidal melanoma cells, as well [119]. Another notable advantage of GNPs as contrast agent is their minimal biological toxicity which has been reported in two animal studies [117, 120]. GNPs capped with mannan as stabilizer and reducer have been recently shown to be effective in targeted lymph node CT imaging with a significant resolution [121]. Using other nanomaterials including bismuth sulfide (Bi2S3) and iodinated nanoparticles besides targeted liposomal carriers of traditional contrast agents has revolutionized the sensitivity and specificity of CT imaging technology, as well. Although requiring specialized and precise protocol of synthesis, Bi2S3 nanoparticles have demonstrated to be significantly stronger than conventional contrast agents with long blood circulation half-life [120, 122]. Iodine nanoparticles and nanoformulation have somehow overcome the iodine pitfalls including short half-life and less specific targeting. Encapsulation of iodine within polymers or liposomes provided the opportunity to increase the circulation time and local concentration on the targeted tissues to give stronger resolution [123, 124].

Implication of nanomaterial in PET as a functional imaging system has provided two scopes of advantages in both medical diagnosis and researches. Using radiotracers as well as ¹¹C, ¹³N, or ¹⁵O in PET scan not only can provide functional information about the metabolism within targeted organ especially cancer tissues but also can be a valuable tracking system for assessment of nanoparticle pharmacodynamics and kinetics and their distribution throughout the body. However, to obtain specific and precise results, ideal imaging technologies take advantage of the combination of structural and functional systems which are known as multimodal imaging systems [125– 127]. The same scenario is held for fluorescence imaging in which organic fluorophores and fluorescent proteins are used to demonstrate the molecular actions including uptake and intake of various macromolecules and nanoparticles around the target cell. In this way, implication of nanomaterials in the structure of fluorophores and fluorescent proteins as carrier could enhance obtained signals through increasing the fluorophore skin infiltration and stability [128]. Owing to the reported low toxicity and high possibility of making different surface chemical linking, silica nanoparticles are the most widely investi-

gated nanomaterials used to encapsulate hydrophobic fluorophores through covalent linking using various method of synthesis [129].

26.4.1 Nanotechnology in Molecular Imaging

Modern molecular imaging is aimed to noninvasively provide a detailed description of molecular and intracellular events for more sensitive diagnosis, treatment, and follow-up of various types of human diseases especially cancers at their initial stages as much as possible [130]. Molecular imaging includes a vast medical research and diagnostic area which are fundamentally based on tracking a molecular biomarker that its interaction with subcellular elements and its changes within the cell herald for initiation of a disease or even disease response to treatment. Owing to the potential of molecular imaging in the diagnosis of pre-disease status, some European and American organizations as well as the Center for Molecular Imaging Innovation and Translation (CMIIT), Diagnostics in Molecular Imaging (DiMI), or European Molecular Imaging Laboratories (EMIL) have invested on molecular imaging researches. Single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), diffusionweighted imaging-magnetic resonance imaging (DWI-MRI), dynamic contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging (DCE-MRI), magnetic resonance spectroscopic imaging (MRSI), and matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization (MALDI) as a mass spectrometry technique are the most studied examples of molecular imaging methods in various diseases as well as cancer [131]. Gas bubbles in micron ranges of size have been used as a contrast agent to enhance ultrasound imaging system in the assessment of intracellular process. The other molecular imaging has been specified in using a combination of fluorescent or near-infrared (NIR) probes and light photon detection camera [132–135].

Recent advances in molecular imaging are mostly dependent on molecular probes which are including one specific molecule targeting special marker on cancer cell of interest and a reporter element which helps ligand and target marker interaction be visible. Although the most frequently used reporters were fluorescent markers and radionuclides, nanoparticles may be a better choice owing to their low toxicity and the simultaneous possibility of delivering multiple drugs to an identified defective site which will be discussed in detail in nanocarrier section of the current chapter. One of the other amazing superiority of nanoparticles in molecular imaging is the introduction of a category of liposome-based nanoparticles called as porphysomes. Porphysomes consist of a pyropheophorbidelipid in which its number per every liposome determines porphyrin packing density. By regulation of packing density, we will be able to determine the capability of porphysomes as a diagnostic tool when the packing density is low or as a theranostic agent with high packing density through local specific changing of light energy into heat within tumor site (photothermal therapy) [131]. For effective implication of porphysomes in various types of human solid tumors with different expression profile, porphysomeliposome structure has been encapsulated in other nanoparticles to modulate the particle size and increase their bioavailability besides providing the opportunity for further surface modifications [136, 137].

Although using nanotechnology could overcome most of the concerns, the following items
are the most important limiting factors in development and extension of molecular imaging in clinic:

- 1. Emerging novel techniques requires much more research funds to be absolutely approved.
- 2. Introduced novel methods should be confirmed on animal and human level at large scale to be approved as a reproducible one.
- 3. Necessity of cooperation between basic researchers and medical professionals to translate the approved methods from bench to the bedside [138, 139].

26.4.1.1 Biosensors and Role of Nanotechnology in Their Developments

The term biosensor is basically used to call a device implicated for detection or measuring of an analyte in a preferably visible manner. Primary biosensors have been developed for major task of early and sensitive diagnosis of diseases including different types of human cancers, while the following generations of biosensors were specifically designed to trace the residual of the disease or to determine the level of response to the treatment schedule. Using biosensors in cancer medicine takes advantages of rapid, relatively cheap, and early detection of malignancy which almost requires no need to be in a specific laboratory with skilled personnel. Moreover, biosensors remove the necessary labors behind test performance and sample preparations and processing problems for every patient. The most important aspect of home-based biosensors may be the quickest response given to a worried patient [140]. The principle of most of the biosensors is an electrochemical reaction which takes place within a miniaturized device as much as possible, and the result of reaction can be recognized through a color change of test band compared to control band or more precisely through digital demonstration. Implication of nanomaterials not only has made the biosensor technology development easier but also helped to design more specific and smaller user-friendly sensors for patients and healthcare professionals [141].

The basic electrochemical reaction that takes place in a biosensor structure is detection of one or a set of specific biomarkers of disease of interest including proteins, microRNA (miRNA), and circulating tumor cells (CTCs). Identification of the CTCs and cell-free DNA of the tumor as a result of core tumor apoptosis in peripheral blood of cancer patients has opened a promising wide window toward early diagnosis and follow-up of various types of cancers which may remove the need for tissue biopsy in future of cancer medicine [142]. Recent biosensor optimization has been focused on molecular reactions at the microor nanomolar scales as well as polymerase chain reactions to detect cancer-specific genetic and epigenetic alterations. In general, most of the studied and developed electrochemical biosensors and nanobiosensors especially in cancer diagnostic field have been optimized based on the following transducers: potentiometric, impedioamperometric, metric, and voltammetric. Amperometric transducers, as well as glucometer, measure produced electric current proportional to the chemical interaction and amount of analyte present in the sample.

Potentiometric transducers measure present charge potentials on two electrodes in the absence of any current as well as CEA biosensor used in colon cancer screening and diagnosis. These types of biosensors have a special advantage in the detection of minor quantities of analyte (as low as 10¹¹ molar) which is impressive in recognizing cancer biomarkers in early stages. Application of potentiometric biosensors in cancer diagnosis has been more highlighted when simultaneous detection of thousand markers has been possible using hybridization-based potentiometric microarray [143, 144]. Other developments in potentiometric biosensors include specific detection of CTCs, and cancer cell microenvironment through chemical and metabolic changes occurs in cancer medium [145, 146].

Impediometric transducers measure the resistance related to the nonconducting nature of various types of molecular markers used to define a specific cancer or disease status [147]. In amperometric-transducer-based biosensors, produced signal would be enhanced when a conjugation has occurred between a designed ligand and its corresponding target. Using antibodyfunctionalized gold nanoparticles in the structure of biosensor's probe was associated with detection of annexin II and MUC5AC as biomarkers of lung cancer in the range of 280 ± 8.0 pg/mL [148]. Graphene nanocomposite is another example of using nanotechnology in designing amperometric biosensors which was demonstrated to be effective in the detection of miR-21 as a biomarker of cervical cancer when it has been functionalized with GNP [149].

Emerging voltammetric transducers make the sensitivity of biosensors to be increased up to the detection limit of femtogram (fg)/mL of biomarkers circulating in blood. Implication of zirconia nanoparticles in voltammetric biosensors has demonstrated to accelerate the response time for detection of cancer biomarkers in salivary samples [150]. Although conjugation of GNPs with anti-human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) antibody didn't increase the overall biosensor detection capability and performance, it was associated with efficient recognition of cancer cells among the normal cell population [151]. Moreover, voltammetric biosensors not only have been used to identify cancer cells but also have shown to be helpful in gene expression analysis through real-time PCR [152].

26.4.2 Nanotherapy and Nanotoxicity

Despite advancements in the understanding of cancer mechanisms over the last few decades, the therapeutic efficacy of cancer treatments is still undesirable. Unfortunately, current approaches in management of cancer including surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and sometimes combination of them have demonstrated insufficient efficacy for a large number of cancer patients especially those who have been diagnosed in later stage of the disease. Additionally, because of several side effects of chemotherapy and radiotherapy, such as cumulative toxicities, more effective methods with fewer side effects are demanded to be employed for cancer patients. Almost all the anticancer agents act through a nonspecific targeting paths which are associated with many side effects. The most critical barriers against reaching a high efficacy in the treatment of cancer patients include failing in differentiation between cancerous cells and normal body cells as well as poor drug delivery of those agents into the cancer site. Failing in effective penetration to the core of solid tumors is another limitation of chemotherapeutic agents, which make it critical to use alternative strategies to treat cancer patients in more effective and accurate ways. Thanks to the advances in our understanding of the tumor microenvironment, development of new treatment approaches for cancer has been significantly facilitated during the last decade. Nanoparticles as a promising alternative to conventional chemotherapy are able to accumulate on the tumor via enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect followed by releasing their therapeutic payloads. In order to overcome the mentioned limitation of currently available anticancer agents, many efforts have been aimed to engineer the drug in such a way that it can effectively deliver the anticancer agent into cancerous cells [153]. Because of the flexibility in the modification of size, shape, and surface chemistry of nanoparticles, this emerging field has recently attracted widespread attention in novel cancer therapy strategies. Chemical and physical modifications of nanoparticles could affect their accumulation, retention, and penetration in tumors of interest leading to accurately targeting of desired misbehaved cells.

Generally, nanoparticles could target tumor in passive or active fashions which are actually complementary to each other. Passive approach is based on EPR effect, while the active approach relies on molecular recognition of cancer cells. Following facilitating the efficient localization of nanoparticles in the tumor, further enhancing the uptake of cancer drugs into tumors could be mediated by nanoparticles by either ligand– receptor interaction or antibody–antigen recognition [154, 155]. In passive targeting, deposition of nanoparticles within the tumor microenvironment will be facilitated, but not in healthy tissues. Regarding active targeting, the delivery of anticancer agents will be optimized through recognizing various targeting ligands, such as antibodies (e.g., HER2, EGFR), antibody fragments, aptamers, peptides and whole proteins (e.g., transferrin), and different receptor ligands (e.g., folic acid) (reviewed in [155]). Targeting each of those ligands has its own advantages and disadvantages, which made it difficult to announce the optimum targeting strategy. For example, immunogenicity, stability, and their expression on tumor cells are critical factors in choosing the optimum strategy. It was suggested that combining these approaches may lead to a better outcome in treatment of cancer patients [155]. In addition to active and passive targeting, different strategies, such as pH-dependent drug delivery, hyperthermia (thermal therapy or thermotherapy), and combination therapy, are other suggested options to overcome numerous limitations of conventional chemotherapy [153].

Although selectively targeting cancerous cells using nanomaterial-based drug delivery is an optimum strategy to eradicate tumors, some unfavorable outcomes also could occur which are known as toxicity of nanomaterials. During the recent decade, many studies have been published which have been focused on the interconnections between nanotoxicity and drug delivery [156]. One of the most important factors contributing in nanotoxicity is the size of nanomaterial as it was found that small particle size was associated with higher toxic effects [157]. Other critical factors that influence nanomaterial's toxicity include aspect ratio and shape, surface chemistry, surface charge, and prescription dosage. Nonphagocytic cells ingest cationic nanoparticles to a greater extent that may lead to a higher cellular uptake and therefore higher toxic effects [158]. Prescribed dosage is another predictor, which usually is correlated with the nanotoxicity [159].

Having a great insight into the mechanisms of nanotoxicity is required for minimizing the adverse effects associated with drug delivery aided by nanomaterials. Different mechanisms have been proposed for nanotoxicity as the first one is oxidative stress, which could be defined as the disturbance in the balance between the production and elimination of reactive oxygen species (ROS) [160]. Since nanoparticles could induce ROS production, they may lead to impaired physiological function through cellular damage of macromolecules such as proteins, lipids, and DNA, followed by detrimental effects on cells [161]. Inflammation-mediated nanotoxicity and genotoxicity are the other critical toxic paradigms of nanomaterials.

Following revealing the toxic effects of nanoparticles used in medicine, numerous researches have been looking for new strategies to overcome nanotoxicity. Regarding oxidative stress associated with using nanoparticles, several enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidant systems have been identified which could efficiently protect the body against produced free radicals [162, 163]. The most important enzymatic antioxidants include superoxide dismutases (SODs) (e.g., CuZn-SOD, Mn-SOD, and EC-SOD), catalase, and several peroxidases catalyze. In the nonenzymatic antioxidant group, small-molecular-weight compounds such as vitamins (vitamins C and E), β -carotene, uric acid, and glutathione have been etensively studied in various studies. Surface modification of nanoparticles is another approach to decrease toxicity of nanoparticles [164, 165]. Owing to its higher toxicity with higher doses of nanoparticles, it was recommended that high experimental doses should be interpreted with caution [159].

26.5 Nanotechnology Against Tumors

26.5.1 Aims and Mechanisms of Action

In spite of recent developments in cancer medicine, there are still many pitfalls and limitations in specific diagnosis and treatment of various types of cancers. According to the concerns described in the previous part of the current chapter, nanotechnology not only could pave the way for specific tumor targeting but also may have a critical role in personalized medicine of cancer treatment. In this regard, using nanomaterials in structures of cancer-fighting medicine design has got great attention in recent years. Each classification of nanomaterials could be used for a variety of cancer diagnosis and treatment options based on their physical and chemical characteristics which will be described in the following section.

26.5.2 Nanoparticle's Characteristics

Based on International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC) definition, any particle sized in the range of $1 \times 10-9$ and $1 \times 10-7$ m (generally less than 500 nm) and that has $<10^6$ atoms per every particle with any shape is considered as nanoparticle [166]. However, given that novel characteristics have been found in nanoparticles with diameters less than 100 nm, the scale of nanoparticles usually is defined as particles with a dimension less than 100 nm as well as tubes and fibers [167]. Different types of nanoparticles have some general and some specific characteristics which limit their application in a special scope of medicine. The most important general characteristics of all types of nanoparticles are size, high surface-to-volume ratio, and the possibility to adapt their features to be useful in various aspects of medicine. High surface-to-volume ratio is one of the significant features of nanoparticles which in a simple word provides a rich source of atoms at the surface of molecule to be involved in various chemical and physical reactions.

26.5.3 Optical Properties of Nanoparticles

Similar to most of the nanoparticle characteristics, optical properties are related to electronic features of nanomaterials and are described as the interaction of electromagnetic radiation with matter [168]. This interaction is strongly dependent on topographical features and anisotropic shape of nanoparticle, and the produced ray may be reflected, refracted, or absorbed. Reflection of produced electromagnetic ray can be in either scattering or diffuse manner. For the first time, optical properties of nanoparticle have been noted in eminent paper of Michael Faraday in which he described that upon high temperatures, the metal (silver or gold) layer on glass (as a coloring agent) will be degraded and therefore the white light will be emitted accompanying increase in electricity [169, 170].

The optical characteristics of nanoparticles can be described in linear or nonlinear format. By emitting a laser beam containing an electromagnetic field to the significant bulk of atoms at the surface of nanoparticles, electric polarization will be induced which leads to amazing features with nonlinear properties and different frequency among various nanomaterial compounds [171].

26.5.4 Physical Properties of Nanoparticles

Unique physical properties of nanoparticles compared to nanobulked materials had left fantastic improvement footprints in novel medical diagnosis and treatment strategies. One of the major features of nanoparticles is color which is strongly dependent on the interaction between free electrons and oscillating electric fields of a light ray within a nanoparticle called as surface plasmon resonance (SPR). Every nanoparticle has its specific wavelength absorption of light and emits special color based on its dimension, size, and density of particles. As an example, the SPR of gold nanoparticles interacts with the wavelength of 450 nm (blue-green) of the visible light and, in turn, emits the purple color with a wavelength of 700 nm. Any further changes in particle size or shape of nanoparticles can affect the wavelength of absorption and emission, and therefore, the color of solution will be changed. Distinctive visible change in color can be made through binding of the nanoparticle to target molecules and therefore can be an indicator of the probing molecule. This is one of the most applicable features of gold nanoparticles used in nanobiosensors [172-174]. Of note, the degree of nanoparticle distribution within the solution has a significant effect on color (shift toward blue spectrum) as well as particle aggregation and may mimic the coupling of them with the target [175].

The other physical characteristic of the nanoparticle is their melting temperature which is mainly determined by its size. The lower the nanoparticle size, the lower the melting temperature owing to lower needed energy to dissociate and unbound atoms which are known as melting point depression [176]. This is a major point that should be considered in various medical and even nonmedical applications of nanoparticles which will be described in later parts of the current chapter.

One of the most applicable features of nanoparticles is that they tend to be in suspension form. This characteristic enhances the possible detection and bounding of the target by nanoparticle within the interaction solution [177].

26.5.4.1 Chemical Characteristics of Nanoparticles

Chemical features of nanoparticles refer to the detailed structure of nanoparticles especially the type and distribution of electrons on their surface [178]. Given that every category of nanoparticles has its specific chemical properties, we will briefly describe the chemical characteristics of nanoparticles within their general classifications.

26.5.4.2 Metallic and Metal Oxide

One of the most amazing features of metallic nanoparticles, as well as silver and gold NPs, is flexibility in their structure which allows for synthesizing particles in size and shape of interest according to the research, diagnosis, or treatment's demands. Owing to their high thermal and electric conductivity, metallic and metal oxide nanoparticles are good options for cancer celltargeted hyperthermal therapy and ultrasensitive diagnostic chips, as well [179, 180].

26.5.4.3 Quantum Dots

Quantum dots (QDs) are attractive nanoparticles due to their specific composition which commonly includes different variations of metals (magnetic, semiconductor, etc.). Similar to the most of other nanoparticles, they can be surface modified with additional chemical group to be more efficient and water soluble in bioactive applications [181].

26.5.4.4 Carbon Nanoparticle

Carbon is one of the most plentiful elements on the earth which is frequently found in coal deposits and is the most frequent molecule of the human body following oxygen. Carbon nanoparticles with the high spherical surface area (30– $50 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$ with the size of 10–45 nm) afford great scope of applications in medical diagnosis and treatment. The possibility of using carbon nanoparticles in a tubelike structure as one cylindrical tube or multiwall nanotubes has made them a powerful carrier for targeted transportation of drugs and imaging agents [182, 183].

26.5.4.5 Polymeric Nanoparticles

Polymeric nanoparticles include mostly of nanospheres and nanocapsules and are polymers of caprolactone, acrylamide, acrylate, DNA, albumin, chitosan, and gelatin [184, 185]. These types of nanoparticle may be the most suitable tools for more efficient and specific targeting of drugs which have been used more frequently in plant-derived drugs [186].

26.5.5 Challenges and Opportunities

Although nanotechnology has offered several attractive properties which enable us to make them a magic bullet against the tumor cells, many challenges still remained to be undertaken. Although a large number of studies have found nanomedicine therapeutics as an effective alternative option for treatment of cancer patients, only a few of them have successfully entered into the clinical trials. This is implying to some reported challenges and limitations which had restricted their application. Similar to the majority of currently available treatments, this new technology faces many challenges. For instance, changing instability, solubility, and pharmacokinetic properties of the carried drugs and also toxic effects of some nanoparticles (e.g., carbon nanotubes and quantum dots) are some of the possible challenges associated with nanotechnology [187]. In a deeper insight, a large number of those challenges and limitations could be converted into opportunities, which even make nanomedicine more practical

than before; for example, moving toward personalized medicine for selection of given nanotherapy could present automation with unprecedented opportunities. To date, different nanomedicines are under review by FDA, and although some of them have been approved and have successfully been brought to market, results from some clinical trials and studies were disappointing [188, 189]. By reviewing the risks and challenges associated with current nanoparticles used in cancer treatment and lessons from past successes and failures, next-generation nanomedicines could be even more efficient and safer. One of the most important areas which can help to prevent failure of nanomedicines in the clinic is preselecting patients who are more likely to respond to nanomedicine-based therapy. Choosing the right nanomedicine for a patient offers much more hopes in this regard and has caused the emergence of personalized cancer nanomedicine which could increase the efficacy and reduce systemic toxicity [190, 191].

26.5.6 Nanoparticle's Interaction with Cancer Cells

One of the most important actions of nanoparticles as antitumor tools is their interaction with immune system cells. The nanoparticle can direct antitumor activity through the various mechanisms of actions including antiangiogenesis and interaction with the immune system. Interaction of nanoparticles with cancer cells mainly happens through antiangiogenesis mechanism which will be described in the next part. Other mechanisms are based on the type of nanoparticles which will be discussed in following sentences, as well.

26.5.7 Antiangiogenesis

Angiogenesis or creation of new blood vessels is one of the main hallmarks of cancer cells to support nutrients for proliferative cancer cells and provide a more suitable situation for their metastasis to other sites of the body [2]. It is a multistep process including secretion of endothelialspecific growth factors and degradation of extracellular matrix (ECM) to make the way open for new endothelial cells as the bricks of new vessel tubes [192]. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is the major angiogenesis element which has been shown to be overexpressed in most types of cancer and has a critical role in the proliferation of cancer cells through activation of anti-apoptosis genes as well as B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) [193]. The other important involved factor is nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB) which plays a pivotal role in control of the expression of *VEGF* gene [194]. Although it has raised much tumor-mediated resistance, targeting either VEGF or its receptor (VEGFR) can limit the growth and proliferation of cancer cells in most of the chemotherapy approaches [195]. However, the most effective chemotherapy strategy is combining more than one drug targeting various angiogenic factors in parallel which would be associated with higher rate of severe adverse effects owing to targeting of other normal cells [196]. In this regard, nanoparticles have demonstrated a powerful role in direct and efficient targeting of multiple angiogenic factors toward only cancer cells [197]. Several types of nanoparticle have been implicated to decrease tumor angiogenesis which include gold nanoparticles (GNPs), silver nanoparticles, chitosan, cerium oxide, silica-based nanoparticles, tetrac, and selenium nanoparticles.

GNPs or AuNPs have demonstrated to have cancer cell toxicity against breast, lung, and cervical cancer cells which was enhanced in a higher dose and longer exposure with the most cellular uptake [198, 199]. GNP's interaction with cancer cells is strongly dependent on nanoparticle surface modification as either cancer cell membrane destruction induced by GNPs (modified with CTAB) or driving apoptosis by citrate GNPs was more significant compared to other modifications as well as PSS and polyethyleneimine (PEI) [199, 200]. It was also shown that with minimum harmful effect on noncancerous cells, citrate-coated GNPs caused human lung cancer cell cycle (A549) to stop and induced apoptosis in them [201, 202].

Among all types of nanoparticles used as angiogenic therapy, GNPs may be the best option due to the reported lower toxicity compared to other nanoparticles and targeted therapy. Mukherjee and his coworkers primarily demonstrated that gold nanoparticles tend to bind proteins with heparin-binding domain which led to prevention of VEGFR2 phosphorylation and suppression of some other types of VEGF proteins as well as VEGF165 [203]. This interaction between GNPs and heparin-binding domain has been demonstrated to be more efficient and enhanced when the diameter of used GNPs is 20 nm and the GNPs have no surface chemical modifications [204]. Interaction of GNPs with heparin-binding domain has been demonstrated to be useful in the inhibition of metastasis process through direct suppression of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) [203]. The other interesting anticancer approach using GNPs is their conjugation with chemotherapeutic agents which have shown remarkably different success rate compared to treatment plans including the same drugs alone. One of the best examples is quercetin (Qu) in which its conjugation with GNPs has been associated with overexpression of E-cadherin and underexpression of VEGFR-2 and specific introduction of the drug to cancer cells has resulted in angiogenesis and metastasis suppression [205]. One of the amazing features of GNPs is amplification of laser radiation through local heating of nanoparticle for targeted photothermal therapy (PTT) and photodynamic therapy (PDT) of cancer cells [206]. In this regard, plasmonic GNPs have demonstrated higher efficiency in amplification of radiations which is strongly influenced by the shape of nanoparticle [207, 208]. This characteristic of GNPs is also useful in the local treatment of microbial infections owing to the tendency of GNPs to bind bacterial cell wall. Conjugation of microorganism-specific antibiotic with GNPs can lead antibiotic straightforward to the infection site, and then, the present microbe will be killed by absorbing the nearinfrared (NIR) light. It is especially helpful in the treatment of antibiotic-resistant microorganism and targeted treatment of infected areas of the body to avoid side effects frequently created by

systemic administration of drugs [209]. Nonetheless, the GNP-based PTT or PDT of cancer can be applied to the superficial tumors, and using them in other deep cancer sites needs further studies and approval [210].

26.5.8 Silver NPs (AgNPs)

Another widely used nanoparticle in modern medicine is silver NPs (AgNPs). AgNPs is well known as antimicrobial tools in killing fungal and bacterial infections, as well. Antiangiogenic effects of AgNPs have shown to be stronger than GNPs as it has stopped the whole process in both cell line and animal models through direct inhibition of PI3K/Akt pathway and HIF-1a protein and its target genes including VEGF-A and GLUT1, as well [211, 212]. Regarding direct interaction between AgNPs and cancer cells, Yilmaz VT et al. have recently demonstrated that a novel AgNP complex (Ag(barb)(PCy3)) caused a significant antiproliferative effect on breast cancer cells compared to chemotherapeutic agents [213]. Satapathy SR et al. have shown that treatment of HCT116 colon cancer cells with AgNPs led to apoptosis of cancer cells which has been demonstrated by increasing p21 and p53 expressions as well as caspase family [214]. Similar dose-dependent effects of AgNPs have been described in prostate cancer (PC-3) cells which were associated with overexpression of apoptotic genes and downregulation of some oncogenes including signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), Bcl-2, and survivin [215]. Kovács D et al. have demonstrated that anticancer effect of AgNPs is independent of molecular background of osteosarcoma cells which is a great achievement in traditional therapeutic plans of cancer patients in whom p53-defective cells poorly respond to chemotherapy [216]. Administration of gemcitabine in combination with AgNPs also demonstrated significant induction of apoptosis in A2780 ovarian cancer cells, as well [217]. The other great interaction of AgNPs with cancer cells has been described in the specific cytotoxic effect of AgNPs on ovarian cancer stem cells [218].

26.5.9 Chitosan NPs (CNPs)

Chitosan is a linear polysaccharide composed of randomly distributed β -(1 \rightarrow 4)-linked Dglucosamine (deacetylated unit) and N-acetyl-Dglucosamine (acetylated unit) which is widely used in agriculture and medicine [180]. Owing to low in vivo toxicity, biodegradability, and biocompatibility, CNPs have seized great attention in various aspects of biomedicine. Interaction of CNPs with cancer cells has been identified through finding downregulation of angiogenesisinducing gene, VEGFR2, in human hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (BEL-7402) cells [218]. Almada et al. have demonstrated that hydrophobization modification of CNPs not only enhanced nanoparticle internalization into cervical and breast cancer cells but also its cancer toxicity effects have been significantly increased compared to bare CNPs [219]. Interestingly, it was recently reported that synthesis of aerobic CNPs containing chlorin e6 (Ce6) as photosensitizer and transfection of cancer cells with it caused successful photodynamic therapy (PDT) in the hypoxic microenvironment of the tumor. The underlying mechanism is based on the radiationinduced degradation of the synthetic CNPs and release of Ce6 and generation of toxic ¹O₂ under the acidic tumor microenvironment [184, 185]. One of the major obstacles against chemotherapy of brain tumors is blood-brain barrier (BBB) which has been shown to be overpassed by CNPs through cerebral microvessel endothelial cells (hCMECs). Successful crossing of CNPs over BBB is a hopeful promise toward targeted treatment and prophylaxis of central nervous system malignancies and infections [179, 186].

26.5.10 Silica NPs (SiNPs)

The nanoparticles which are based on SiO_2 is called as nanosilica or silica nanoparticles and have been widely used in various fields of medicine due to their low toxicity and high in vivo stability [2]. Mesoporous forms of silica nanoparticles include Mobil Crystalline Materials (MCM) and Santa Barbara Amorphous type material (SBA-15) that, due to their special hexagonal array of pores as molecular docking sites, have created great advances in medicine [192]. Mesoporous SiNPs (MSPs) have also seized great attention in PDT of tumor through surface modification with substances as well as hyaluronic acid (HA) and poly-(L-lysine) which have a specific tendency to be bound with CD44 receptor overexpressing on cancer cells [220]. Nanocomposition of MSPs and GNPs demonstrated that it not only has higher affinity to nasopharyngeal cancer (NPC) cells but also could differentiate between normal and precancerous cells [221]. Although antiangiogenic characteristics of SiNPs has not been generally accepted in all reported studies, it has been shown that SiNPs, dependent on their size, caused downregulation of ERK 1/2 pathway through interfering with VEGFR2 phosphorylation and finally suppression of angiogenesis process within human microvascular retinal endothelial cells [222, 223]. It is worth to note that safety of topical ophthalmic and oral administration of SiNPs has been accepted in some separate studies [224].

26.5.11 Selenium NPs (SeNPs)

Surface amino acid modification of SeNPs has demonstrated to be a major factor in their inhibitory activity on cancer cells as lysine modification had revealed the highest level of anticancer activity [225]. It was shown that SeNPs could impair cancer cell metabolism and invasion mechanisms through several including suppression of glycolysis and thereby normal mitochondrial function, microtubule depolymerization, induction of oxidative stress, and downregulation of annexin A2 which may be generated by self-assembly of SeNPs [226, 227]. It was demonstrated that ruthenium modification of selenium nanoparticles (Ru-SeNPs) has an antiangiogenic effect on human umbilical vascular endothelial cells through inhibition of FGFR1, ErK, and AKT and can pass through the cancer cells via clathrin-mediated endocytosis [228, 229]. Treatment of human umbilical vascular endothelial cells with a combination of doxorubicin and SeNPs was shown to have antiangiogenic

effect by suppressing the expression of *VEGF–VEGFR2–ERK/AKT* besides activation of apoptosis cascades [230].

26.5.12 Tetrac NPs

Tetraiodothyroacetic acid (tetrac) is an antagonist of thyroid hormone and integrin $\alpha v\beta 3$ which has been shown to act as anticancer agent on human renal cancer cells [231]. Antiproliferative effect of tetrac NPs has been investigated in different cancer cells and animal studies with great and amazing results. Treatment of MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells with tetrac NPs has led to underexpression of antiapoptotic agents including X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis (XIAP) and myeloid cell leukemia sequence 1 (MCL1) and also most of the RAS-dependent pathway's elements, while the expression of main apoptotic factors, as well as caspase 2 (CASP2) and Bcl-2like protein 14 (BCL2L14) besides antiangiogenic factors including CBY1 and thrombospondin 1 (THBS1), has been demonstrated to be increased [232]. As it was expected, tetrac NPs have demonstrated antitumor activity against various types of thyroid cancer cells in either cell line and xenograft models through the same mechanism in breast cancer cells [233, 234]. However, Lin et al. have described that anticancer activity of tetrac would be enhanced in a combination of chemotherapeutic agents with different mechanism of action [235]. Antiangiogenic activity of tetrac NPs also has been demonstrated on human retinal endothelial cells mediated by downregulation of VEGF and erythropoietin [236]. Anticancer activity of tetrac NPs has been reported in two OVCAR3 and A2780 ovarian cancer cells via activation of caspase-dependent and caspase-independent (apoptosis-inducing factor, AIF) apoptosis pathways and key DNA repair genes including ATM and PARP-1 [237]. Another interesting and strong antiangiogenic effect of a tetrac NP modification (nano-diamino-tetrac, NDAT) has been shown on xenograft mice model of glioblastoma in which devascularization was associated with significant tumor cells necrosis [238].

26.6 Nanocarriers

Nanocarriers have demonstrated a promising potential in targeted diagnosis and treatment of various types of human disease, in particular in diseases with inflammatory mechanisms. AIDS, hepatitis, tuberculosis, melanoma, cardiovascular diseases, pulmonary infections, brain diseases, inflammatory bowel diseases, diabetes mellitus, allergic diseases, and different types of cancers are the best examples in which nanocarriers have shown hopeful horizons in targeted diagnosis and treatment [239]. General strategies in the implication of nanoparticles in drug delivery include encapsulation of drugs within nanoparticle, creating chemical interaction between one or more drug and nanoparticle, and the combinatory strategy of two former methods [240]. In this section, we will describe the most significant researchers which have been performed in various types of human cancers.

26.6.1 Nanocarriers in Cancer

Nanoparticles can overcome the pitfalls of current cancer treatment plans including radiotherapy, chemotherapy, and immunotherapy. Encapsulation of anticancer agents within nanoparticles not only increases their solubility, bioavailability, and stability but also helps the drug to pass through biological barriers and specifically in targeting cancer cells in order to decrease systemic therapeutic side effects. The most widely used nanocarrier systems are dendrimers, liposomes, polymer micelles, and nanoparticles.

26.6.2 Nanocarriers in Cancer Treatment

Owing to the multidimensional aspects of cancer cell growth, novel trends of cancer treatment have been deviated toward combination therapies. In this regard, simultaneous presentation of drugs especially with different identity and solubility (protein, DNA, or regulatory RNA) as well as a combination of hydrophobic and hydrophilic compounds is a major challenge which has been substantially addressed in novel combination therapies using nanomaterials [241]. By implicating different nanomaterials, it is possible to deliver various drug combinations to different tumor sites [242]. In this way, nanomaterials as carrier have made significant advances in overcoming chemotherapeutic agent's resistance which will be discussed below.

One of the major obstacles against drug delivery is overexpression of efflux ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters as well as P-glycoprotein (P-gp) which causes decrease in intracellular concentration of administered drugs [243]. Although using various P-gp inhibitors like elacridar has led to increased concentrations of chemotherapeutic agents, there are some reports which have used nanocarriers to enhance the efficiency of targeted siRNA and natural drug (e.g., curcumin) delivery, as well [244]. Mesoporous silica nanoparticles (MSNs) were demonstrated to be effective in the combined presentation of doxorubicin and siRNA complementary to P-gp mRNAs in either breast cancer cell line or animal model [245, 246]. Nanoemulsion encapsulation of curcumin and paclitaxel was shown to be successful in P-gp suppression and inducing breast cancer cell toxicity [247, 248]. In the other recent study on using chitosan nanoparticles for codelivery of gefitinib and chloroquine into EGFR-TKI-resistant cells, it was demonstrated that chitosan nanoparticles caused significant cytotoxicity and suppressed autophagy pathway in human hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines resistant to gefitinib [249]. Another advance in this field is introduction of orally absorbed doxorubicin with lowest cellular efflux which has been encapsulated in enoxaparin sodium-PLGA hybrid nanoparticles (EPNs) [250]. Deng et al. have also used liposome-silica hybrid nanocarrier to co-administer cyclosporine and paclitaxel which has been associated with high oral absorption [251]. Sadekar et al. have demonstrated that using poly(amido amine) or PAMAM dendrimers was not associated with epithelial toxicity and increased oral absorption, as well [252]. Aforementioned studies indicate that the novel nanocarrier-based strategies of drug delivery would be a promising approach in changing the route of administration of chemotherapeutic drugs from parenteral to oral with remarkably lower side effects and will remove the need for patient's hospitalization.

The other approach in the implication of nanocarriers in treatment of cancer is targeting DNA repair system. Activation of DNA repair system is one of the main mechanisms behind chemotherapy resistance especially for alkylating agents as a potent inducer of DNA repair pathways. In this regard, conjugation of chemotherapeutic drugs with nanoparticles may have additional detrimental effects on cancer cells in order to bypass activation of DNA repair systems and directly induce apoptosis. It was demonstrated that treatment of breast cancer cells with combination of doxorubicin and mesoporous silica nanoparticles has led to downregulation of multidrug resistance genes (MDR) and inhibition of p53-dependent DNA repair pathway. Cancer cells killing using MSPs was achieved through induction of autophagic lysosome pathway and tumor necrosis which has been activated by high intracellular oxygen concentration [253, 254]. MSPs were also used to be co-treated with CTAB drug-resistant breast cancer cells and demonstrated enhanced cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in cancer cells [255]. The other silica nanoparticle based including iron (II) acetate and polyoxyethylene (5) nonylphenyl ether was used to further decrease the DNA damage repair response against doxorubicin and arsenic in HCC cells. A significant reduction in PARP-1 expression as a major element of DNA damage response was detected in cancer cells which were associated with apoptosis, as well [256].

Another spectrum of using nanomaterials in targeting DNA repair system to overcome cancer treatment resistance is effective transportation of anti-DNA repair molecule siRNAs through cell membrane [257]. Kievit et al. and Liu have implicated a nanoparticle carrier which was cored with superparamagnetic iron oxide and GNPs, respectively. Nanoparticle carriers were similarly coated with chitosan, polyethylene glycol (PEG), and polyethyleneimine (PEI) to load siRNA which has been designed to be complementary with apurinic endonuclease 1 (Ape1) transcript in medulloblastoma (MB) and ependymoma (EP) patients. The results were promising that in addition to effectively surpassing against blood-brain barrier and protection of siRNA from lysosomal degradation, Ape1 has been significantly decreased and correspondingly the DNA damage has been shown to be increased following radiation, as well [258, 259]. Self-assembly of lipid nanoparticles (LNPs) is the other category of nanoparticles which has been extensively used to carry siRNAs. LNPs need helper lipids to not be detected by the immune system and thereby facilitate passing them through cell membrane [260]. To be efficiently delivered, each siRNA is encapsulated in an LNP structure which itself should be coated with cholesterol to cover the free spaces among lipids and stabilize the overall structure of LNPs and finally covered with helper lipids and PEG lipids. Several surface modifications have been applied to LNPs to increase bioavailability and specificity such as conjugation with the ligand of target receptor molecule, 2'-O-methyl, 2'-fluoro, or phosphorothioate to avoid natural intracellular degradation as much as possible [261]. LNPs have been shown to be successful in treatment of various types of cancers including HCC and adrenocortical and neuroendocrine malignant tumors by effective targeting of MYC oncogene and polo-like kinase 1 (PLK1) genes and are proceeding in the required steps to be approved by fulfilling their clinical trials [262].

Proliferation of a subset of tumor cells called as cancer stem cells (CSCs) is the other major cause of chemoresistance and metastatic relapse of human cancers. Similar to stem cells, they have the capability to self-renew and differentiate into cancer cells [263]. It is interesting that according to the CSCs hypothesis, CSCs have a special potential to repair DNA damage induced by chemotherapeutic agents through activation of common repair pathways as well as nucleotide excision repair (NER). It could be considered as a possible mechanism behind the role of CSCs in chemoresistance. CSCs have been identified in leukemia and many solid tumors such as prostate, pancreas, ovary, breast, lung, brain, and colon, hepatocellular carcinoma, and oral cancer [264-268]. CSCs have typical surface markers such as epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM), Cluster of Differentiation 90 (CD90), CD44, CD24, CD144, CD117, CD133, and some other CD markers based on the cancer cell type and phenotypic marker as well as side population (SP) which is determined based on Hoechst dye exclusion in flow cytometry [269]. For identification and effective targeting of CSCs, various molecular markers have been reported including the expression of aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) especially ALDH1, ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters, B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2), and B-cell lymphoma-extra large (BCL-XL) [270]. Primary generation of nanocarriers with the aim of targeting CSCs was based on conjugation of nanoparticles with antibodies against specific CSC markers as mentioned above [271]. The other strategy is the conjugation of nanoparticle with ligands of surface marker molecules including hyaluronic acid (HA) with high tendency to bind to CD44 and biotin. Conjugation of HA with a CD44 inhibitor in the form of antibody or siRNA and their intracellular transportation by liposome have shown a dramatic decrease in tumor cell proliferation in breast cancer and head and neck cancer patients [272]. Yang Y et al. have demonstrated that conjugation of magnetic Prussian Blue@Quantum Dot Nanoparticles with HA and bovine serum albumin (BSA) could specifically localize the radiation to the tumor site in a mouse model [273]. One effective cancer treatment strategy is the simultaneous introduction of chemotherapeutic agents and anti-CSC factors to guarantee tumor eradication. In this regard, the role of MSPs in efficient targeting of ATP-binding cassette subfamily G member 2 (ABCG2) by both siRNA and a chemotherapeutic agent as well as cisplatin was shown to be significant in laryngeal cancer cell growth limitation in BALB/c-nu/nu mice in vivo and Hep-2 cell line in vitro models. Of note, it was demonstrated that ABCG2 expression is a necessary factor for self-renewal characteristics of CD133-positive CSCs, and therefore, blocking its expression can indirectly suppress CSCs proliferation and activity [274, 275]. In a study on glioma cell line,

CD133-positive tumor cells were targeted with curcumin which has been conjugated with NanoCurc, as a polymer of N-isopropylacrylamide, vinylpyrrolidone, and acrylic acid-based polymeric nanoparticle. NanoCurc not only has increased bioavailability of curcumin in brain tumor cells but also had demonstrated a remarkable decrease in CSCs population which was due to the suppression of insulin-like growth factor (IGF) and Hedgehog signaling pathways [276]. Similarly, nanoparticle-encapsulated hedgehog pathway inhibitor HPI-1 (NanoHH1) was significantly successful in restriction of the growth and metastasis of CD133-positive hepatocellular carcinoma cells in both cell line and animal models compared to the frequently used drug sorafenib [277]. It was found that breast cancer stem cells with high expression of CD44 and low expression of the CD24 marker are highly prone to be resistant against thermal therapy. In this regard, the implication of carbon nanotubes (CNTs) and polyelectrolyte-coated gold nanorods loaded with salinomycin had surprising effects on enhanced sensitivity of both tumor cells and CSCs to thermal treatment and prevention of cancer recurrence [278]. Zhou et al. have demonstrated that combination of photothermal therapy and radiation therapy using copper-64-labeled copper sulfide nanoparticles not only was associated with lower rate of CSCs proliferation but also exhibited significantly lower formation of secondary tumor metastasis in the lung of mouse model [279].

Prostate stem cell antigen (PSCA) has been detected to be expressed on specific cancer stem cells especially in hormone-independent prostate cancer and indicates the absolute probability of metastasis [280]. Targeting of PSCA with its specific monoclonal antibody conjugated with CNTs in prostate cancer cells was associated with significant increase in cellular uptake of antibody and cancer cell growth suppression beyond more effective real-time tumor imaging [281]. Upregulation of *annexin A2 (AnxA2)* and *SOX2* genes in chemoresistant lung cancer cells (H1650 SP cell line) marked them as candidate lung cancer-specific stem cell marker. Designing a

polymer containing short hairpin RNA (shRNA) complementary to *AnxA2* gene transcript conjugated with a cationic liposome and treatment of the H1650 SP cell line and mouse cancer model with this polymer has led to the significant decrease in the corresponding gene and protein expression besides tumor size, growth, and metastasis regression [282].

Various miRNA-based CSC nanotherapy approaches have been trialed in different types of human cancers and demonstrated promising results in their initial clinical investigations. Encapsulation of miRNA-34 which functions as a tumor suppressor with SMARTICLES liposome and its presentation to different types of cancer patients including pancreas, brain, stomach, and prostate could induce tumor apoptosis and regression mainly through induction of CD44 expression in CSCs population [283–286]. The other examples of miRNA and siRNA nanoparticle conjugate have been represented in Table 26.1.

26.6.3 Combinatorial Strategy in Cancer Treatment Using Nanocarriers

As it was previously discussed in brief, many studies have taken advance of using combination therapy considering one or more chemotherapeutic agents targeting different molecular pathways in addition to a nanoformulation structure to specifically target cancer cells and increase the overall efficiency of treatment. This is owing to the heterogeneity pattern of tumor cells with different mutation panels which causes each tumor cell population to respond to a specific classification of chemotherapeutic agents [300]. In this regard, combination index (CI) has been defined to determine the synergistic effects of used drugs that based on the cutoff = 1, the lesser, greater, or similar effect compared to expected results could be extrapolated [301]. Tumor microenvironment (TME) including various populations of cancer cells, normal cells, and blood network cells is the other factor which has frequently been focused

miRNA	Nanocarrier	Targeting genes	Trialed cancer
miRNA-107	Cationic lipid nanoparticles	Protein kinase C (PKC), cyclin-dependent kinase 6 (CDK6), and HIF1-b	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) cells, HNSCC mouse model [287]
MDR1 siRNA	Lipid nanoparticles	MDR1	Colorectal cancer (CRC) [288]
miRNA-34a	Cationic liposomes	ALDH1, CD44, Notch1	Genetically engineered and xenograft pancreatic cancer mouse models, medullary thyroid cancer (MTC) cells [289–291]
CD44 siRNA	НА	CD44	Lung cancer, melanoma, liver cancer, different types of breast cancer cells, pulmonary adenocarcinoma, and gastric cancer [292–295]
miRNA	Iron-saturated bovine lactoferrin (Fe-bLf) nanocarriers/nanocapsules (NCs)	Survivin, If receptor genes, and other genes involved in iron metabolism pathway	CRC cells [296]
Locked nucleic acid <i>aptamers</i> (<i>LNA</i> -aps)	Fe-bLf	<i>EpCAM</i> and nucleolin markers	CRC cells, breast cancer mouse model [297, 298]
Aptamer– siRNA	PEGylated cationic liposome	BRAF	Melanoma mice model [299]

Table 26.1 Regulatory RNA nanocarriers used in targeting CSCs

on combinatorial therapies [302]. It also contains some critical factors such as cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), tumor-associated macrophages, and endothelial cells which play pivotal roles in metastasis and cancer cell proliferation [302]. There are gaps among those endothelial cells within the TME structure, and owing to the enhanced EPR effect, the tumor will be more leaky to provide an efficient situation for tumor cell aggregation [2]. On the other hand, low oxygen pressure within the center of tumor cells makes them produce their ATP and energy from alternative anaerobic glycolysis pathway which finally leads to them making acidic TME due to high generation of lactate. Implication of nanoparticles in the specific presentation of drug to cancer cells has been spiked based on those two aforementioned characteristics of TME which is interestingly stimulated by desired internal and external factors as well as magnetic field, ultrasound, or light [303, 304].

Three general nanocarrier structures have been introduced which have been designed based on the level of co-delivery of drugs including macromolecule, cell, and tissue. In other words, nanocarriers could be implicated to delivery of two hydrophilic drugs, one hydrophilic drug and one hydrophobic drug, two hydrophobic drugs, or one hydrophobic drug along with a nucleic acid like siRNA (Fig. 26.1).

At macromolecule level, reported nanocarriers have been designed to simultaneously deliver a regulatory RNA along with another chemotherapy drug. In this way, self-assembled nanoscale coordination polymers (NCPs) were used to subcutaneously deliver three siRNA against survivin, Bcl-2, and P-glycoprotein genes accompanying cisplatin into the xenograft ovarian cancer model. This combinatory drug delivery model was associated with significant cisplatin-induced cancer cell apoptosis and targeted gene silencing with less cisplatin nephrotoxicity side effects [305]. NCP nanoformulation was also used to deliver miR-655-3p in conjunction with oxaliplatin into the metastatic CRC tissue and demonstrated significant synergistic results in tumor growth and invasion limitation [306]. In the other study, siRNAs complementary to the reversionless 3 (REV3) encoding DNA directed polymerase and REV3-like (REV3L) encoding DNA directed polymerase zeta catalytic subunit were co-loaded with a cisplatin prodrug using a nanoparticle polymer consisting of poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide)-polyethylene



Fig. 26.1 Schematic representation of nanopolymers used in combination therapy of cancers; (**a**) polymer and drug conjugate; (**b**) polymeric carrier encapsulating two hydrophobic drugs, (**c**) polymeric carrier encapsulating one hydrophobic drug with one nucleic acid-based drug,

(d) nanocarrier liposome encapsulating two hydrophilic drugs, (e) nanocarrier liposome encapsulating hydrophilic and hydrophobic drugs together, and (f) nanocarrier liposome encapsulating two hydrophilic drugs

glycol (PLGA-PEG) in both in vitro and in vivo models. PLGA is itself a copolymer in which its bio-application has been approved by FDA and could be considered as an ideal carrier for encapsulation of hydrophobic drugs. In spite of biodegradability of PLGA, it is very unstable in body fluids and therefore needs to be added with a more stable polymer as well as PEG to increase its loading capacity, as well [307, 308]. REV3 and REV3L are actively involved in cancer cell proliferation through translesion DNA synthesis (TLS) process, and in spite of chemotherapyinduced DNA damage, their expression has been shown to be directly correlated with cisplatin resistance [309, 310]. Those target genes have been demonstrated to be significantly downregulated in both prostate cancer cells and xenograft mouse model which have made cancer cells significantly sensitive to cisplatin [311].

At the cellular level, one example is metaldrug coordination polymer (CP) which consisted of the fixed ratio of gemcitabine monophosphate (GMP) and cisplatin as anticancer drugs encap-

sulated in PLGA/PLGA-PEG/PLGA-PEG-MBA (264*N*,*N*'-methylenebisacrylamide (MBA)) nanopolymer. This nanopolymer caused a significant increase in intracellular uptake of cisplatin and GMP drugs and cancer cell death in bladder cancer animal model and could overcome problems that usually occur in co-presentation of two hydrophilic drugs [312]. This ratiometric approach maybe the highest and most novel of combination therapy using nanocarriers which provide the possibility to study the effect of each drug in separate and synergistic models [313]. Solid polymer-lipid hybrid nanoparticles such as myristic acid/PEG100SA/PEG40SA, EPC/ DSPE-mPEG2000 and DXR-poly-L-lactide, and/ or CPT-poly-L-lactide have shown to be effective in co-delivery of doxorubicin along with mitomycin C using the first polymer and along with camptothecin using the two later polymers in breast cancer cells and xenograft models [314–317].

Maybe the most simple combination therapy implicating nanoparticles has been focused at the tissue level. In contrast to nanocarriers used at the cellular level, most of the nanostructures used at tissue level were liposomal nanoparticles encapsulating chemotherapeutic drugs. One of the best examples is a nanoscale liposomal polymeric gel (nanolipogels; nLG) which has been used in combination therapy of melanoma mouse model using interleukin-2 (IL2) and a transforming growth factor beta (TGFB) receptor inhibitor, SB505124. Beside significant decrease in tumor growth and increase in the survival of affected animal model, induction of innate and adaptive immune system activity was the remarkable result obtained by this approach [318]. This study was one of the initial investigations on the application of nanopolymers in augmentation of immunotherapy against tumor growth [319].

26.6.4 Nanocarriers with FDA Approval for Cancer Treatment

There is a list of nanoparticle-based drugs which have been approved by FDA in the treatment of human cancers (Table 26.2). The first nanocarrier approved by FDA was Doxil[®] which mainly consisted of PEGylated nano-liposome for delivery of doxorubicin to cancer cells [320]. The most important indications of Doxil[®] were included: metastatic breast cancer, multiple myeloma, recurrent ovarian cancer, and AIDS-related sarcoma [321]. The other FDA-Kaposi's approved liposome-based nanocarrier is DaunoXome® which has been extensively used in the treatment of various types of human cancers as well as breast cancer [322]. Other nanocarrierbased drugs which have been approved in 2000 was Mylotarg® which has been withdrawn from pharmaceutical markets 10 years later due to its toxic side effects and inadequate anticancer potential. One of the most successful nanocarriers which currently used in chemotherapy is Abraxane, as paclitaxel albumin-bound nanoparticles. In contrast to other types of delivery strategies as well as liposome which are still on clinical trial phases, Abraxane has been absolutely approved by FDA and could be an ideal replacement for Taxol in failed combined chemotherapy with 21% response rate [323]. The other fascinating example of nanocarriers which has been shown to be successful in increasing the survival of leukemia patient is Ontak. It is one of the instances of targeted proteinaceous nanoparticle that could enhance the survival rate up to 63% among non-Hodgkin's peripheral T-cell lymphoma (PTCL) patients when added to the first line of conventional chemotherapy such as cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisone known as CHOP. It has no remarkable

Drug's name	Nanoparticle formulation	Year	Type of cancer used
Doxil®	Liposome + doxorubicin	1995	Breast, Kaposi sarcoma, ovary
DaunoXome®	Liposome + daunorubicin	1996	Kaposi sarcoma, breast, rhabdomyosarcoma [327–329]
Mylotarg®	Gemtuzumab ozogamicin molecules bonded to the monoclonal antibody	2000	Acute myeloid leukemia (AML)
Abraxane®	Paclitaxel albumin-bound nanoparticles	2005	Metastatic breast and ovarian cancer/ non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) [323, 330]
Abraxane®	Paclitaxel albumin-bound nanoparticles	2013	Metastatic breast and ovarian cancer
Ontak®	Diphtheria toxin and IL2 protein fusion mediating by nanoparticle	2008	Non-Hodgkin's peripheral T-cell lymphomas (PTCL)
Marqibo (Spectrum)	Liposomal vincristine (non-PEGylated)	2012	Lymphoma, melanoma, Philadelphia chromosome-negative AML, leukemia, and brain tumor [331]
Onivyde (MM-398) (Merrimack)	Liposomal irinotecan (PEGylated)	2015	Metastatic pancreatic cancer, breast cancer, sarcoma [332]

 Table 26.2
 List of FDA-approved nanoformulated chemotherapeutic drugs

toxicity owing to the fact that it is not a myelosuppressive chemotherapeutic agent and can be used for the treatment of every hematologic cancer [324].

Some of the nanocarriers have been approved by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) for treatment of cancer which include MEPACT (Millennium) and Myocet (Teva UK). MEPACT consisted of non-PEGylated liposomal mifamurtide which received confirmation to be used in chemotherapy of osteosarcoma after surgery or in high-grade form by 2009 [140]. Myocet was approved by the year 2000, and its nanoformulation is non-PEGylated liposomal doxorubicin. It was initially approved for treatment of metastatic breast cancer, and then, it got confirmation to be considered in chemotherapy of other cancers such as ovarian cancer, soft tissue sarcoma, and lymphoma [325, 326].

26.7 Nanoparticle-Based Immunotherapy for Cancer

Although the initial goal for cancer nanomedicine was to enhance localized delivery of anticancer drugs within tumors, efficiency of drug delivery is low, and demands for powerful nanomedicine approaches are still required [333]. In this way, recent researchers have focused on the manipulation of immune responses to induce more effective antitumor immunity. Thanks to the significant advances in cancer immunotherapy, targeting tumor cells would not be the only approach for cancer treatment using nanotechnology. Nanomedicine and cancer immunotherapy are two emerging fields that have grown in parallel, and combination of these two potent approaches has led to the introduction of nanoparticle-based immunotherapy. Of note, nanomedicine is going to provide multiple new solutions for cancer immunotherapy-associated problems in coming decades. Although ultimate aims of both approaches are mounting, sustained, and specific antitumor responses against the cancer cells, some difference in the efficacy, safety, and cost-effectiveness could be addressed. In fact, multifunctional nanoparticles not only have

enabled us to perform targeted delivery into immune cells more effectively than mono- or multiple deliveries of therapeutic agents but also could dramatically reduce adverse outcomes.

As discussed earlier, restoration of impaired immune responses during carcinogenesis could be carried out through several options which are almost based on the alteration of immune responses. However, different immunotherapy strategies have remained elusive due to the insufficient induction of immune responses and associated systemic toxicity. То overcome conventional immunotherapy pitfalls, nanomaterials have been designed to offer many advantages including prolonged half-life of drugs, site-specific targeting, and less toxicity. As it was previously described in details, nanoparticles could be implicated to encapsulate various types of chemotherapeutic agents to be exactly delivered on target organ [334]. In this way, those revolutionary particles could release immunostimulatory agents into the tumor tissues, as well. Those immunostimulatory agents could lead to blockage of inhibitory signals to T-cells resulting in less immune evasion of tumors as well as stimulation of effective immune responses via different co-stimulatory pathways to promote antitumor immunity [335, 336]. Although this is a new field, it holds tremendous potential for personalized therapy of cancer.

There are different pieces of evidence of stimulation and/or suppression of immune responses more efficiently by nanoparticles. As it was previously mentioned, cytokine therapy is one of the oldest immunotherapy approaches used for cancer treatment which is not widely used due to its serious impacts as well as lack of response. One of the major drawbacks of cytokine therapies (e.g., IL-2 therapy) is related to nonspecific lymphocyte activation in circulation as well as the short half-life of some of them in serum, which requires repeated high-dose injections. Conventional cytokine therapy has also been shown to be associated with severe side effects as well as development of autoimmune disease in genetically susceptible individuals. In this regard, engineered nanoparticles could be used for optimal delivery of cytokines as well as IL-2 with the goal of activation and proliferation of different immune cells (e.g., CD8 T-cells, CD4 T-cell, NK cells) in peripheral blood, and thereby, infiltration of those cells will increase into the tumor environment [337]. The other example of immunotherapy approach is suppression of TGF-β as an anti-inflammatory cytokine which plays important roles in tumorigenesis stimulation of cancer cell proliferation and invasion [338]. Nanoscale liposomal polymeric gels (nanolipogels) have been used to simultaneously deliver IL-2 and TGF- β receptor I inhibitor which resulted in a significantly delayed tumor growth due to the activation of both innate and adaptive immune responses while blocking a key immunosuppressive pathway [318].

Another approach to boost immune responses is cancer vaccine, which may fail to induce significant antitumor responses through conventional ways. Nanotechnology has offered a solution for this problem by presenting antigens/ epitopes on nanoparticulate carriers [339]. Nanocarrier-based cancer vaccines can prolong or boost antigen-specific immune responses and subsequently promote antitumor immunity through enhancing uptake of nanoparticle-based vaccines by phagocytes as well as APCs. Co-administration of adjuvants as free drugs conjugated with antigen loaded on nanocarriers could result in a robust antitumor immune response. In this regard, tumor antigens and adjuvants can be co-loaded on the particle core which enables co-delivery of both components to the same DC and then further increases the magnitude of responses against tumor antigens [340, 341]. Since Toll-like receptors (TLRs) especially those with the capacity of Th1 activation (TLR3, TLR7, and TLR9) enhance antitumor immunity, their agonists have been widely investigated as adjuvants for cancer which could be loaded into nanoparticles [342, 343].

Interestingly, there is some evidence implying the effect of nanoparticle vaccine's physical characteristics as well as material on mounting immune responses [344]. For example, Stano et al. [345] have shown that a polymersome with the watery-core structures elicited a different immune response from the solid-core structure nanoparticles. Additionally, particle size, surface characteristics such as hydrophobicity and charge, and conjugating the targeting ligands are other critical factors that can significantly increase uptake and often antitumor efficacy [346].

Checkpoint inhibitors as well as co-stimulatory agents conjugated with nanoparticles have become another interesting topic for the restoration of impaired antitumor responses. To this end, many efforts have been made to develop engineered nanoparticles that can target specific coinhibitory molecules, such as PD-1 in T-cells as well as tumor cells. It was demonstrated that such nanoparticles when intravenously administered could bind to circulatory T-cells and concentrate immunomodulatory drugs to these cells and load them into the tumor microenvironment [347]. Kosmides et al. [336] have created an immunoswitch nanoparticle with the goal of making delay in tumor growth. Those nanoparticles were able to switch off the immunosuppressive PD-L1 pathway and in turn switch on the co-stimulatory 4-1BB pathway on tumor cells and CD8+ T-cells, respectively. It was demonstrated that polymeric nanoparticles loaded with CTLA-4 siRNA have been able to induce increase and decrease in frequency of antitumor CD8+ T-cells and Tregs, respectively, among tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) which were followed by eliciting more effective antitumor immune responses of the TIL cells [348]. Another innovative strategy for nanoparticle-based immunotherapy was using polymeric nanoparticles to target dendritic cells within the lymph node, which was demonstrated to be associated with reduced B16-F10 melanoma cell growth through an increase in the frequency of antigen-specific CD8 T-cells within the tumor [349]. Nanotechnology was also implicated in targeting of TAMS as Huang et al. [350] have developed a multifunctional delivery system which consisted of (1) combination of CpG oligodeoxynucleotide (ODN), anti-IL-10 ODN, and anti-IL-10RA ODN; (2) galactosylated cationic dextran (gal-C-dextran); and (3) the pH-sensitive material PEG-histidine-modified alginate (PHA) to reprogram TAMs in murine tumor model. As a consequence, the production of IL-12, an antitumor cytokine, has been promoted, while the expression levels of IL-10 and IL-10RA have been shown to be reduced.

Using nanoparticles to increase the strength of immune responses against tumors is not limited to modification of only current immunotherapy approaches. It was shown that iron oxide nanoparticles can induce pro-inflammatory antitumor phenotype in pro-tumor macrophages which resulted in destroying cancer cells through releasing cytotoxic molecules (e.g., reactive oxygen species) and induced cancer cell apoptosis [351]. The delivery of nucleic acids such as DNA and short interfering RNA by viral vectors and nonviral nanoparticles is another potential approach for nano-based cancer immunotherapy, especially for drug-resistant lines. In fact, using DNA or RNA interference in conjunction with nanomaterials could regulate the activity of tumor immune cells or induce the expression of specific tumor antigens by APCs [352, 353].

Aside from currently proposed strategies in using nanomedicine for enhancing cancer immunotherapy, some speculations have been released about the potential complementary of CAR T-cells and nanoparticles [354]. It was suggested that conjugation of CAR T-cells which are able to be circulated in the bloodstream for a long time with nanoparticles has led to degradation of the extracellular matrix, disruption of cell–cell interactions, and thermal stimulation of targeted tumor. This nanoparticle-based immunotherapy approach could be efficiently used in CAR T-cell therapy by increasing the chance of tumor accessibility as well as better management of CAR T-cell-related toxicity [354].

One of the major advantage of nanoparticlebased immunotherapy including all described possible approaches is that it could be used to treat all types of human cancers including solid and hematologic malignancies. To the best of our knowledge, except some concerns which still remained about the possible toxicity of nanoparticles especially in long-term administration, no drawback has been reported regarding using nanoparticles in immunotherapy of cancer. However, implication of nanoparticles in immunotherapy has been shown to be decreased in nonspecific cell cytotoxicity frequently observed in conventional immunotherapy. Further investigation is required to confirm the potential of nanomaterials in successful immunotherapy to be moved from bench to bedside.

26.8 Concluding Remarks

Nanomedicine is an emerging science for the treatment of cancer patients more effectively than ever. Mounting evidences suggest that cancer immunotherapies formulated in nanoparticles are capable of bolstering immune responses against cancer much more than when they are administered alone. However, it is relatively new and must mature before its full impacts will be realized. Increasing our understanding of the role of immunomodulatory and immunostimulatory molecules, combined with advancing in designing of multifunctional nanocarrier systems, has enabled us to be one step closer to targeted therapy of cancer. In other words, nanomedicine has not only altered diagnosis of cancer by improving imaging contrast agent but also altered the treatment by enhancing penetrating capability and physicochemical stability, having less toxicity, and also improving therapeutic index for entrapped drugs. With improving our knowledge and experience in this field, it is expected that several challenges and opportunities will appear; nonetheless, it will make a fundamental paradigm shift in treatment and diagnosis of cancer. Taken together, nanomedicine has significantly improved diagnosis and treatment of various types of cancer and made remarkable development in lab-free follow-up of cancer patients. It is also revolutionizing cancer immunotherapy which merits further exploration and investigation due to the significant capacity to boost the magnitude of immune responses as well as reverse immunosuppression in tumor microenvironment. Nevertheless, new findings related to the cancer immunology and other advances in cancer nanomedicine will need to be taken into account in future studies.

References

- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 2000;100(1):57–70.
- 2. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646–74.
- 3. Fouad YA, Aanei C. Revisiting the hallmarks of cancer. Am J Cancer Res. 2017;7(5):1016–36.
- Crawford S. Is it time for a new paradigm for systemic cancer treatment? Lessons from a century of cancer chemotherapy. Front Pharmacol. 2013;4:68.
- Peggs KS, Quezada SA, Allison JP. Cell intrinsic mechanisms of T-cell inhibition and application to cancer therapy. Immunol Rev. 2008;224:141–65.
- Ribas A. Immunoediting the cancer genome—a new approach for personalized cancer therapy? Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 2012;25(3):297–8.
- Al-Tameemi M, Chaplain M, d'Onofrio A. Evasion of tumours from the control of the immune system: consequences of brief encounters. Biol Direct. 2012;7:31.
- Shulin W. Tumor targeted therapies: strategies for killing cancer but not normal cells. Curr Cancer Ther Rev. 2014;10(1):53–61.
- Voena C, Chiarle R. Advances in cancer immunology and cancer immunotherapy. Discov Med. 2016;21(114):125–33.
- Karami F, Noori-Daloii MR, Omidfar K, Tabrizi M, Hantooshzadeh S, Aleyasin A, et al. Modified methylated DNA immunoprecipitation protocol for noninvasive prenatal diagnosis of Down syndrome. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2018;44(4):608–13.
- Bhise K, Sau S, Alsaab H, Kashaw SK, Tekade RK, Iyer AK. Nanomedicine for cancer diagnosis and therapy: advancement, success and structure-activity relationship. Ther Deliv. 2017;8(11):1003–18.
- Gmeiner WH, Ghosh S. Nanotechnology for cancer treatment. Nanotechnol Rev. 2015;3(2):111–22.
- Sun T, Zhang YS, Pang B, Hyun DC, Yang M, Xia Y. Engineered nanoparticles for drug delivery in cancer therapy. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl. 2014;53(46):12320–64.
- Chen H, Zhen Z, Todd T, Chu PK, Xie J. Nanoparticles for improving cancer diagnosis. Materi Sci Eng R Rep. 2013;74(3):35–69.
- Ma Y-Y, Jin K-T, Wang S-B, Wang H-J, Tong X-M, Huang D-S, et al. Molecular imaging of cancer with nanoparticle-based theranostic probes. Contrast media. Mol Imaging. 2017;2017:11.
- Blasiak B, van Veggel FCJM, Tomanek B. Applications of nanoparticles for MRI cancer diagnosis and therapy. J Nanomater. 2013; 2013:12.
- Mellman I. Dendritic cells: master regulators of the immune response. Cancer Immunol Res. 2013;1(3):145–9.
- Kaur P, Asea A. Radiation-induced effects and the immune system in cancer. Front Oncol. 2012;2:191.

- Barker HE, Paget JT, Khan AA, Harrington KJ. The tumour microenvironment after radiotherapy: mechanisms of resistance and recurrence. Nat Rev Cancer. 2015;15(7):409–25.
- Whiteside TL. The role of immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Treat Res. 2006;130:103–24.
- Hernandez C, Huebener P, Schwabe RF. Damageassociated molecular patterns in cancer: a doubleedged sword. Oncogene. 2016;35(46):5931–41.
- Koebel CM, Vermi W, Swann JB, Zerafa N, Rodig SJ, Old LJ, et al. Adaptive immunity maintains occult cancer in an equilibrium state. Nature. 2007;450(7171):903–7.
- O'Sullivan T, Saddawi-Konefka R, Vermi W, Koebel CM, Arthur C, White JM, et al. Cancer immunoediting by the innate immune system in the absence of adaptive immunity. J Exp Med. 2012;209(10):1869–82.
- Michaud M, Martins I, Sukkurwala AQ, Adjemian S, Ma Y, Pellegatti P, et al. Autophagydependent anticancer immune responses induced by chemotherapeutic agents in mice. Science. 2011;334(6062):1573–7.
- Ma Y, Adjemian S, Mattarollo SR, Yamazaki T, Aymeric L, Yang H, et al. Anticancer chemotherapyinduced intratumoral recruitment and differentiation of antigen-presenting cells. Immunity. 2013;38(4):729–41.
- 26. Bracci L, Moschella F, Sestili P, La Sorsa V, Valentini M, Canini I, et al. Cyclophosphamide enhances the antitumor efficacy of adoptively transferred immune cells through the induction of cytokine expression, B-cell and T-cell homeostatic proliferation, and specific tumor infiltration. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(2 Pt 1):644–53.
- Chaturvedi AK, Pfeiffer RM, Chang L, Goedert JJ, Biggar RJ, Engels EA. Elevated risk of lung cancer among people with AIDS. AIDS. 2007;21(2):207–13.
- Dugue PA, Rebolj M, Garred P, Lynge E. Immunosuppression and risk of cervical cancer. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2013;13(1):29–42.
- Kubica AW, Brewer JD. Melanoma in immunosuppressed patients. Mayo Clin Proc. 2012;87(10):991–1003.
- Huang Y-H, Cao Y-F, Jiang Z-Y, Zhang S, Gao F. Th22 cell accumulation is associated with colorectal cancer development. World J Gastroenterol: WJG. 2015;21(14):4216–24.
- 31. Qin S, Ma S, Huang X, Lu D, Zhou Y, Jiang H. Th22 cells are associated with hepatocellular carcinoma development and progression. Chin J Cancer Res. 2014;26(2):135–41.
- Takeuchi Y, Nishikawa H. Roles of regulatory T cells in cancer immunity. Int Immunol. 2016;28(8):401–9.
- Nouroz F, Bibi F, Noreen S, Masood N. Natural killer cells enhance the immune surveillance of cancer. Egypt J Med Hum Genet. 2016;17(2):149–54.

- 34. Kawano T, Nakayama T, Kamada N, Kaneko Y, Harada M, Ogura N, et al. Antitumor cytotoxicity mediated by ligand-activated human V alpha24 NKT cells. Cancer Res. 1999;59(20):5102–5.
- Berrien-Elliott MM, Romee R, Fehniger TA. Improving natural killer cell cancer immunotherapy. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2015;20(6):671–80.
- Vitale M, Cantoni C, Pietra G, Mingari MC, Moretta L. Effect of tumor cells and tumor microenvironment on NK-cell function. Eur J Immunol. 2014;44(6):1582–92.
- Robertson FC, Berzofsky JA, Terabe M. NKT cell networks in the regulation of tumor immunity. Front Immunol. 2014;5:543.
- Gardner A, Ruffell B. Dendritic cells and cancer immunity. Trends Immunol. 2016;37(12):855–65.
- Chiang CL, Coukos G, Kandalaft LE. Whole tumor antigen vaccines: where are we? Vaccines (Basel). 2015;3(2):344–72.
- Solinas G, Germano G, Mantovani A, Allavena P. Tumor-associated macrophages (TAM) as major players of the cancer-related inflammation. J Leukoc Biol. 2009;86(5):1065–73.
- Condeelis J, Pollard JW. Macrophages: obligate partners for tumor cell migration, invasion, and metastasis. Cell. 2006;124(2):263–6.
- Murdoch C, Muthana M, Coffelt SB, Lewis CE. The role of myeloid cells in the promotion of tumour angiogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008;8(8):618–31.
- Binnemars-Postma K, Storm G, Prakash J. Nanomedicine strategies to target tumor-associated macrophages. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(5):979.
- Coffelt SB, Wellenstein MD, de Visser KE. Neutrophils in cancer: neutral no more. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16(7):431–46.
- Zamarron BF, Chen W. Dual roles of immune cells and their factors in cancer development and progression. Int J Biol Sci. 2011;7(5):651–8.
- 46. Haabeth OA, Tveita AA, Fauskanger M, Schjesvold F, Lorvik KB, Hofgaard PO, et al. How do CD4(+) T cells detect and eliminate tumor cells that either lack or express mhc class II molecules? Front Immunol. 2014;5:174.
- 47. Nishimura T, Nakui M, Sato M, Iwakabe K, Kitamura H, Sekimoto M, et al. The critical role of Th1dominant immunity in tumor immunology. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2000;46(Suppl):S52–61.
- Conticello C, Pedini F, Zeuner A, Patti M, Zerilli M, Stassi G, et al. IL-4 protects tumor cells from anti-CD95 and chemotherapeutic agents via upregulation of antiapoptotic proteins. J Immunol. 2004;172(9):5467–77.
- 49. Hoelzinger DB, Dominguez AL, Cohen PA, Gendler SJ. Inhibition of adaptive immunity by IL9 can be disrupted to achieve rapid T-cell sensitization and rejection of progressive tumor challenges. Cancer Res. 2014;74(23):6845–55.
- Vegran F, Berger H, Boidot R, Mignot G, Bruchard M, Dosset M, et al. The transcription factor IRF1

dictates the IL-21-dependent anticancer functions of TH9 cells. Nat Immunol. 2014;15(8):758–66.

- Park J, Li H, Zhang M, Lu Y, Hong B, Zheng Y, et al. Murine Th9 cells promote the survival of myeloid dendritic cells in cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63(8):835–45.
- 52. Ye ZJ, Zhou Q, Yin W, Yuan ML, Yang WB, Xiong XZ, et al. Differentiation and immune regulation of IL-9-producing CD4+ T cells in malignant pleural effusion. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012;186(11):1168–79.
- Ye J, Livergood RS, Peng G. The role and regulation of human Th17 cells in tumor immunity. Am J Pathol. 2013;182(1):10–20.
- 54. Liu T, Peng L, Yu P, Zhao Y, Shi Y, Mao X, et al. Increased circulating Th22 and Th17 cells are associated with tumor progression and patient survival in human gastric cancer. J Clin Immunol. 2012;32(6):1332–9.
- 55. Zhang L, Li YG, Li YH, Qi L, Liu XG, Yuan CZ, et al. Increased frequencies of Th22 cells as well as Th17 cells in the peripheral blood of patients with ankylosing spondylitis and rheumatoid arthritis. PLoS One. 2012;7(4):e31000.
- 56. Zhuang Y, Peng LS, Zhao YL, Shi Y, Mao XH, Guo G, et al. Increased intratumoral IL-22producing CD4(+) T cells and Th22 cells correlate with gastric cancer progression and predict poor patient survival. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(11):1965–75.
- Chaudhary B, Elkord E. Regulatory T cells in the tumor microenvironment and cancer progression: role and therapeutic targeting. Vaccines (Basel). 2016;4(3):28.
- Jacobs JF, Nierkens S, Figdor CG, de Vries IJ, Adema GJ. Regulatory T cells in melanoma: the final hurdle towards effective immunotherapy? Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(1):e32–42.
- Finotello F, Trajanoski Z. New strategies for cancer immunotherapy: targeting regulatory T cells. Genome Med. 2017;9(1):10.
- Burnet M. Cancer: a biological approach. III. Viruses associated with neoplastic conditions. IV. Practical applications. Br Med J. 1957;1(5023):841–7.
- Thomas L. Discussion. In: Lawrence HS, editor. Cellular and humoral aspects of the hypersensitive states. New York, NY: Hoeber-Harper; 1959.
- Stutman O. Tumor development after 3-methylcholanthrene in immunologically deficient athymic-nude mice. Science. 1974;183(4124):534–6.
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331(6024):1565–70.
- 64. Mittal D, Gubin MM, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. New insights into cancer immunoediting and its three component phases—elimination, equilibrium and escape. Curr Opin Immunol. 2014;27:16–25.
- 65. Coulie PG, Van den Eynde BJ, van der Bruggen P, Boon T. Tumour antigens recognized by T lympho-

cytes: at the core of cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2014;14(2):135–46.

- 66. Blankenstein T, Coulie PG, Gilboa E, Jaffee EM. The determinants of tumour immunogenicity. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):307–13.
- Murakami Y. Involvement of a cell adhesion molecule, TSLC1/IGSF4, in human oncogenesis. Cancer Sci. 2005;96(9):543–52.
- Moh MC, Shen S. The roles of cell adhesion molecules in tumor suppression and cell migration: a new paradox. Cell Adh Migr. 2009;3(4):334–6.
- Hahne M, Rimoldi D, Schroter M, Romero P, Schreier M, French LE, et al. Melanoma cell expression of Fas(Apo-1/CD95) ligand: implications for tumor immune escape. Science. 1996;274(5291):1363–6.
- Niehans GA, Brunner T, Frizelle SP, Liston JC, Salerno CT, Knapp DJ, et al. Human lung carcinomas express Fas ligand. Cancer Res. 1997;57(6):1007–12.
- Bernstorff WV, Glickman JN, Odze RD, Farraye FA, Joo HG, Goedegebuure PS, et al. Fas (CD95/ APO-1) and Fas ligand expression in normal pancreas and pancreatic tumors. Implications for immune privilege and immune escape. Cancer. 2002;94(10):2552–60.
- Mullauer L, Mosberger I, Grusch M, Rudas M, Chott A. Fas ligand is expressed in normal breast epithelial cells and is frequently up-regulated in breast cancer. J Pathol. 2000;190(1):20–30.
- 73. Shiraki K, Yamanaka T, Inoue H, Kawakita T, Enokimura N, Okano H, et al. Expression of TNFrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Int J Oncol. 2005;26(5): 1273–81.
- Liu Y, Cao X. Immunosuppressive cells in tumor immune escape and metastasis. J Mol Med (Berl). 2016;94(5):509–22.
- Rabinovich GA, Gabrilovich D, Sotomayor EM. Immunosuppressive strategies that are mediated by tumor cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2007;25:267–96.
- Guo C, Manjili MH, Subjeck JR, Sarkar D, Fisher PB, Wang X-Y. Therapeutic cancer vaccines: past, present and future. Adv Cancer Res. 2013;119:421–75.
- Thomas S, Prendergast GC. Cancer vaccines: a brief overview. Methods Mol Biol. 2016;1403:755–61.
- Perica K, Varela JC, Oelke M, Schneck J. Adoptive T cell immunotherapy for cancer. Rambam Maimonides Med J. 2015;6(1):e0004.
- Phan GQ, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive cell transfer for patients with metastatic melanoma: the potential and promise of cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Control. 2013;20(4):289–97.
- Garber HR, Mirza A, Mittendorf EA, Alatrash G. Adoptive T-cell therapy for Leukemia. Mol Cell Ther. 2014;2:25.
- Deng Z, Wu Y, Ma W, Zhang S, Zhang YQ. Adoptive T-cell therapy of prostate cancer targeting the cancer stem cell antigen EpCAM. BMC Immunol. 2015;16:1.

- Almåsbak H, Aarvak T, Vemuri MC. CAR T cell therapy: a game changer in cancer treatment. J Immunol Res. 2016;2016:5474602.
- Bollino D, Webb TJ. Chimeric antigen receptorengineered natural killer and natural killer T cells for cancer immunotherapy. Transl Res. 2017;187:32–43.
- 84. Yu S, Li A, Liu Q, Li T, Yuan X, Han X, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells: a novel therapy for solid tumors. J Hematol Oncol. 2017; 10(1):78.
- 85. Dine J, Gordon R, Shames Y, Kasler MK, Barton-Burke M. Immune checkpoint inhibitors: an innovation in immunotherapy for the treatment and management of patients with cancer. Asia Pac J Oncol Nurs. 2017;4(2):127–35.
- Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, Lao CD, et al. Combined nivolumab and ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(1):23–34.
- Abdel-Wahab N, Shah M, Suarez-Almazor ME. Adverse events associated with immune checkpoint blockade in patients with cancer: a systematic review of case reports. PLoS One. 2016;11(7):e0160221.
- Tavakolpour S, Daneshpazhooh M, Mahmoudi H. Skin cancer: genetics, immunology, treatments, and psychological care. In: Mehdipour P, editor. Cancer genetics and psychotherapy. Cham: Springer; 2017.
- Weiner LM, Dhodapkar MV, Ferrone S. Monoclonal antibodies for cancer immunotherapy. Lancet. 2009;373(9668):1033–40.
- Coulson A, Levy A, Gossell-Williams M. Monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy: mechanisms, successes and limitations. West Indian Med J. 2014;63(6):650–4.
- Petty AJ, Yang Y. Tumor-associated macrophages: implications in cancer immunotherapy. Immunotherapy. 2017;9(3):289–302.
- Yang L, Zhang Y. Tumor-associated macrophages: from basic research to clinical application. J Hematol Oncol. 2017;10(1):58.
- Kaufman HL, Kohlhapp FJ, Zloza A. Oncolytic viruses: a new class of immunotherapy drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2015;14(9):642–62.
- Chiocca EA, Rabkin SD. Oncolytic viruses and their application to cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(4):295–300.
- Meerasa A, Huang JG, Gu FX. CH(50): a revisited hemolytic complement consumption assay for evaluation of nanoparticles and blood plasma protein interaction. Curr Drug Deliv. 2011;8(3):290–8.
- Vega-Villa KR, Takemoto JK, Yanez JA, Remsberg CM, Forrest ML, Davies NM. Clinical toxicities of nanocarrier systems. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2008;60(8):929–38.
- Vonarbourg A, Passirani C, Saulnier P, Benoit JP. Parameters influencing the stealthiness of colloidal drug delivery systems. Biomaterials. 2006;27(24):4356–73.

- Choi HS, Liu W, Misra P, Tanaka E, Zimmer JP, Itty Ipe B, et al. Renal clearance of quantum dots. Nat Biotechnol. 2007;25(10):1165–70.
- 99. Babic M, Horak D, Trchova M, Jendelova P, Glogarova K, Lesny P, et al. Poly(L-lysine)-modified iron oxide nanoparticles for stem cell labeling. Bioconjug Chem. 2008;19(3):740–50.
- Rosen JE, Gu FX. Surface functionalization of silica nanoparticles with cysteine: a low-fouling zwitterionic surface. Langmuir. 2011;27(17):10507–13.
- Weissleder R, Reimer P. Superparamegnetic iron oxides for MRI. Eur Radiol. 1993;3(3):198–212.
- Brannon-Peppas L, Blanchette JO. Nanoparticle and targeted systems for cancer therapy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2004;56(11):1649–59.
- 103. Laurent S, Forge D, Port M, Roch A, Robic C, Vander Elst L, et al. Magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: synthesis, stabilization, vectorization, physicochemical characterizations, and biological applications. Chem Rev. 2008;108(6):2064–110.
- 104. Schweiger C, Pietzonka C, Heverhagen J, Kissel T. Novel magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles coated with poly(ethylene imine)-g-poly(ethylene glycol) for potential biomedical application: synthesis, stability, cytotoxicity and MR imaging. Int J Pharm. 2011;408(1–2):130–7.
- 105. Shapiro EM, Skrtic S, Sharer K, Hill JM, Dunbar CE, Koretsky AP. MRI detection of single particles for cellular imaging. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(30):10901–6.
- 106. Zhu D, White RD, Hardy PA, Weerapreeyakul N, Sutthanut K, Jay M. Biocompatible nanotemplateengineered nanoparticles containing gadolinium: stability and relaxivity of a potential MRI contrast agent. J Nanosci Nanotechnol. 2006;6(4):996–1003.
- 107. Helm L. Optimization of gadolinium-based MRI contrast agents for high magnetic-field applications. Future Med Chem. 2010;2(3):385–96.
- Kamaly N, Miller AD. Paramagnetic liposome nanoparticles for cellular and tumour imaging. Int J Mol Sci. 2010;11(4):1759.
- 109. Liu TW, Chen J, Burgess L, Cao W, Shi J, Wilson BC, et al. Multimodal bacteriochlorophyll theranostic agent. Theranostics. 2011;1:354–62.
- 110. Zhang H, Wu H, Wang J, Yang Y, Wu D, Zhang Y, et al. Graphene oxide-BaGdF5 nanocomposites for multi-modal imaging and photothermal therapy. Biomaterials. 2015;42:66–77.
- 111. Wang L, Xing H, Zhang S, Ren Q, Pan L, Zhang K, et al. A Gd-doped Mg-Al-LDH/Au nanocomposite for CT/MR bimodal imagings and simultaneous drug delivery. Biomaterials. 2013;34(13):3390–401.
- 112. Le W, Cui S, Chen X, Zhu H, Chen B, Cui Z. Facile synthesis of Gd-functionalized gold nanoclusters as potential MRI/CT contrast agents. Nanomaterials (Basel). 2016;6(4):65.
- 113. Dave SR, Gao X. Monodisperse magnetic nanoparticles for biodetection, imaging, and drug delivery: a versatile and evolving technology. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol. 2009;1(6):583–609.

- Wahajuddin AS. Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: magnetic nanoplatforms as drug carriers. Int J Nanomedicine. 2012;7:3445–71.
- Mahmoudi M, Simchi A, Milani AS, Stroeve P. Cell toxicity of superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles. J Colloid Interface Sci. 2009;336(2):510–8.
- 116. Rabin O, Manuel Perez J, Grimm J, Wojtkiewicz G, Weissleder R. An X-ray computed tomography imaging agent based on long-circulating bismuth sulphide nanoparticles. Nat Mater. 2006;5(2):118–22.
- 117. Hainfeld JF, Slatkin DN, Focella TM, Smilowitz HM. Gold nanoparticles: a new X-ray contrast agent. Br J Radiol. 2006;79(939):248–53.
- 118. Tang D, Gao W, Yuan Y, Guo L, Mei X. Novel biocompatible Au nanostars@PEG nanoparticles for in vivo CT imaging and renal clearance properties. Nanoscale Res Lett. 2017;12(1):565.
- 119. Kanavi MR, Asadi S, Ahmadieh H. Ex vivo distribution of gold nanoparticles in choroidal melanoma. Int J Nanomedicine. 2017;12:8527–9.
- 120. Kim D, Park S, Lee JH, Jeong YY, Jon S. Antibiofouling polymer-coated gold nanoparticles as a contrast agent for in vivo X-ray computed tomography imaging. J Am Chem Soc. 2007;129(24):7661–5.
- 121. Uthaman S, Kim HS, Revuri V, Min JJ, Lee YK, Huh KM, et al. Green synthesis of bioactive polysaccharide-capped gold nanoparticles for lymph node CT imaging. Carbohydr Polym. 2018;181:27–33.
- 122. Uddin I, Ahmad A, Siddiqui EA, Rahaman SH, Gambhir S. Biosynthesis of fluorescent Bi2S3 nanoparticles and their application as dual-function SPECT-CT probe for animal imaging. Curr Top Med Chem. 2016;16(18):2019–25.
- 123. Hahn MA, Singh AK, Sharma P, Brown SC, Moudgil BM. Nanoparticles as contrast agents for in-vivo bioimaging: current status and future perspectives. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2011;399(1):3–27.
- 124. Kim J, Lee N, Hyeon T. Recent development of nanoparticles for molecular imaging. Philos Trans A Math Phys Eng Sci. 2017;375(2107):20170022.
- 125. Stockhofe K, Postema JM, Schieferstein H, Ross TL. Radiolabeling of nanoparticles and polymers for PET imaging. Pharmaceuticals (Basel). 2014;7(4):392–418.
- 126. Hong H, Zhang Y, Sun J, Cai W. Molecular imaging and therapy of cancer with radiolabeled nanoparticles. Nano Today. 2009;4(5):399–413.
- 127. Pellico J, Llop J. Iron oxide nanoradiomaterials: combining nanoscale properties with radioisotopes for enhanced molecular imaging. Contrast Media Mol Imaging. 2017;2017:1549580.
- Braeken Y, Cheruku S, Ethirajan A, Maes W. Conjugated polymer nanoparticles for bioimaging. Materials (Basel). 2017;10(12):pii: E1420.
- 129. Wang K, He X, Yang X, Shi H. Functionalized silica nanoparticles: a platform for fluorescence imaging at the cell and small animal levels. Acc Chem Res. 2013;46(7):1367–76.

- Weissleder R, Mahmood U. Molecular imaging. Radiology. 2001;219(2):316–33.
- 131. Colombo I, Overchuk M, Chen J, Reilly RM, Zheng G, Lheureux S. Molecular imaging in drug development: update and challenges for radiolabeled antibodies and nanotechnology. Methods (San Diego, Calif). 2017;130:23–35.
- 132. Kiessling F, Fokong S, Bzyl J, Lederle W, Palmowski M, Lammers T. Recent advances in molecular, multimodal and theranostic ultrasound imaging. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2014;72:15–27.
- Lanza GM, Wickline SA. Targeted ultrasonic contrast agents for molecular imaging and therapy. Curr Probl Cardiol. 2003;28(12):625–53.
- 134. Chi C, Du Y, Ye J, Kou D, Qiu J, Wang J, et al. Intraoperative imaging-guided cancer surgery: from current fluorescence molecular imaging methods to future multi-modality imaging technology. Theranostics. 2014;4(11):1072–84.
- 135. Handgraaf HJM, Boogerd LSF, Hoppener DJ, Peloso A, Sibinga Mulder BG, Hoogstins CES, et al. Longterm follow-up after near-infrared fluorescenceguided resection of colorectal liver metastases: a retrospective multicenter analysis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43(8):1463–71.
- 136. Cui L, Lin Q, Jin CS, Jiang W, Huang H, Ding L, et al. A PEGylation-free biomimetic porphyrin nanoplatform for personalized cancer theranostics. ACS Nano. 2015;9(4):4484–95.
- 137. Ng KK, Shakiba M, Huynh E, Weersink RA, Roxin A, Wilson BC, et al. Stimuli-responsive photoacoustic nanoswitch for in vivo sensing applications. ACS Nano. 2014;8(8):8363–73.
- 138. Reilly RM, Lam K, Chan C, Levine M. Advancing novel molecular imaging agents from preclinical studies to first-in-humans phase I clinical trials in academia—a roadmap for overcoming perceived barriers. Bioconjug Chem. 2015;26(4): 625–32.
- 139. Lanza GM, Moonen C, Baker JR Jr, Chang E, Cheng Z, Grodzinski P, et al. Assessing the barriers to image-guided drug delivery. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol. 2014;6(1):1–14.
- 140. Jimmy R, Stern C, Lisy K, White S. Effectiveness of mifamurtide in addition to standard chemotherapy for high-grade osteosarcoma: a systematic review. JBI Database System Rev Implement Rep. 2017;15(8):2113–52.
- 141. Pranjal Chandra. Institution of Engineering and Technology; 2016.
- 142. Costa C, Abal M, Lopez-Lopez R, Muinelo-Romay L. Biosensors for the detection of circulating tumour cells. Sensors (Basel). 2014;14(3):4856–75.
- 143. Goda T, Masuno K, Nishida J, Kosaka N, Ochiya T, Matsumoto A, et al. A label-free electrical detection of exosomal microRNAs using microelectrode array. Chem Commun. 2012;48(98):11942–4.
- 144. Ronkainen NJ, Halsall HB, Heineman WR. Electrochemical biosensors. Chem Soc Rev. 2010;39(5):1747–63.

- 145. Gu Y, Ju C, Li Y, Shang Z, Wu Y, Jia Y, et al. Detection of circulating tumor cells in prostate cancer based on carboxylated graphene oxide modified light addressable potentiometric sensor. Biosens Bioelectron. 2015;66:24–31.
- 146. Shaibani PM, Etayash H, Naicker S, Kaur K, Thundat T. Metabolic study of cancer cells using a pH sensitive hydrogel nanofiber light addressable potentiometric sensor. ACS Sensors. 2017;2(1):151–6.
- 147. Zhang L, Yu C, Gao R, Niu Y, Li Y, Chen J, et al. An impedimetric biosensor for the diagnosis of renal cell carcinoma based on the interaction between 3-aminophenyl boronic acid and sialic acid. Biosens Bioelectron. 2017;92:434–41.
- 148. Kim D-M, Noh H-B, Park DS, Ryu S-H, Koo JS, Shim Y-B. Immunosensors for detection of Annexin II and MUC5AC for early diagnosis of lung cancer. Biosens Bioelectron. 2009;25(2):456–62.
- 149. Zhang X, Wu D, Liu Z, Cai S, Zhao Y, Chen M, et al. An ultrasensitive label-free electrochemical biosensor for microRNA-21 detection based on a 2[prime or minute]-O-methyl modified DNAzyme and duplex-specific nuclease assisted target recycling. Chem Commun. 2014;50(82):12375–7.
- 150. Kumar S, Sharma JG, Maji S, Malhotra BD. A biocompatible serine functionalized nanostructured zirconia based biosensing platform for non-invasive oral cancer detection. RSC Adv. 2016;6(80): 77037–46.
- 151. Zhu Y, Chandra P, Shim Y-B. Ultrasensitive and selective electrochemical diagnosis of breast cancer based on a hydrazine—au nanoparticle–aptamer bioconjugate. Anal Chem. 2013;85(2):1058–64.
- 152. Damiati S, Küpcü S, Peacock M, Eilenberger C, Zamzami M, Qadri I, et al. Acoustic and hybrid 3D-printed electrochemical biosensors for the realtime immunodetection of liver cancer cells (HepG2). Biosens Bioelectron. 2017;94:500–6.
- 153. Sutradhar KB, Amin ML. Nanotechnology in cancer drug delivery and selective targeting. ISRN Nanotechnol. 2014;2014:12.
- 154. Bazak R, Houri M, Achy SE, Hussein W, Refaat T. Passive targeting of nanoparticles to cancer: a comprehensive review of the literature. Mol Clin Oncol. 2014;2(6):904–8.
- 155. Bazak R, Houri M, Achy SE, Kamel S, Refaat T. Cancer active targeting by nanoparticles: a comprehensive review of literature. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2015;141(5):769–84.
- 156. Wang Y, Santos A, Evdokiou A, Losic D. An overview of nanotoxicity and nanomedicine research: principles, progress and implications for cancer therapy. J Mater Chem B. 2015;3(36):7153–72.
- 157. Oberdorster G, Oberdorster E, Oberdorster J. Nanotoxicology: an emerging discipline evolving from studies of ultrafine particles. Environ Health Perspect. 2005;113(7):823–39.
- Fröhlich E. The role of surface charge in cellular uptake and cytotoxicity of medical nanoparticles. Int J Nanomedicine. 2012;7:5577–91.

- Oberdorster G. Safety assessment for nanotechnology and nanomedicine: concepts of nanotoxicology. J Intern Med. 2010;267(1):89–105.
- Betteridge DJ. What is oxidative stress? Metabolism. 2000;49(2 Suppl 1):3–8.
- 161. Khanna P, Ong C, Bay BH, Baeg GH. Nanotoxicity: an interplay of oxidative stress, inflammation and cell death. Nanomaterials (Basel). 2015;5(3):1163–80.
- 162. Rahal A, Kumar A, Singh V, Yadav B, Tiwari R, Chakraborty S, et al. Oxidative stress, prooxidants, and antioxidants: the interplay. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:761264.
- 163. Birben E, Sahiner UM, Sackesen C, Erzurum S, Kalayci O. Oxidative stress and antioxidant defense. World Allergy Organ J. 2012;5(1):9–19.
- 164. Lu X, Ji C, Jin T, Fan X. The effects of size and surface modification of amorphous silica particles on biodistribution and liver metabolism in mice. Nanotechnology. 2015;26(17):175101.
- 165. Zhang Y, Xu D, Li W, Yu J, Chen Y. Effect of size, shape, and surface modification on cytotoxicity of gold nanoparticles to human HEp-2 and canine MDCK cells. J Nanomater. 2012;2012:7.
- 166. Alemán JV, Chadwick AV, He J, Hess M, Horie K, Jones RG, et al. Definitions of terms relating to the structure and processing of sols, gels, networks, and inorganic-organic hybrid materials (IUPAC Recommendations 2007). Pure Appl Chem. 2007;2007:1801.
- Newsmagazine for IUPAC. Terminology for biorelated polymers and applications (IUPAC Recommendations 2012). Chem Int. 2012;2012:25.
- Kumbhakar P, Ray SS, Stepanov AL. Optical properties of nanoparticles and nanocomposites. J Nanomater. 2014;2014:2.
- 169. Turner T. Transparent silver and other metallic films. Proc R Soc Lond Ser A. 1908;81:301–10.
- 170. Faraday M. The Bakerian lecture: experimental relations of gold (and other metals) to light. Philos Trans R Soc Lond. 1857;147:145–81.
- 171. Saxena U, Goswami P. Electrical and optical properties of gold nanoparticles: applications in gold nanoparticles-cholesterol oxidase integrated systems for cholesterol sensing. J Nanopart Res. 2012;14(4):813.
- 172. Cao YC, Jin R, Thaxton CS, Mirkin CA. A twocolor-change, nanoparticle-based method for DNA detection. Talanta. 2005;67(3):449–55.
- 173. Verma MS, Rogowski JL, Jones L, Gu FX. Colorimetric biosensing of pathogens using gold nanoparticles. Biotechnol Adv. 2015;33(6 Pt 1):666–80.
- 174. Piriya VSA, Joseph P, Daniel SCGK, Lakshmanan S, Kinoshita T, Muthusamy S. Colorimetric sensors for rapid detection of various analytes. Korean J Couns Psychother. 2017;78:1231–45.
- Kim J-Y, Lee J-S. Synthesis and thermally reversible assembly of DNA–gold nanoparticle cluster conjugates. Nano Lett. 2009;9(12):4564–9.

- Roduner E. Size matters: why nanomaterials are different. Chem Soc Rev. 2006;35(7):583–92.
- 177. Evans AG. Considerations of Inhomogeneity effects in sintering. J Am Ceram Soc. 1982;65(10):497–501.
- 178. Rao CN, Biswas K. Characterization of nanomaterials by physical methods. Annu Rev Analyt Chem. 2009;2:435–62.
- 179. Mahl D, Diendorf J, Meyer-Zaika W, Epple M. Possibilities and limitations of different analytical methods for the size determination of a bimodal dispersion of metallic nanoparticles. Colloids Surf A Physicochem Eng Asp. 2011;377(1):386–92.
- 180. Kumar V, Guleria P, Kumar V, Yadav SK. Gold nanoparticle exposure induces growth and yield enhancement in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Sci Total Environ. 2013;461–462:462–8.
- 181. Nair R, Poulose AC, Nagaoka Y, Yoshida Y, Maekawa T, Kumar DS. Uptake of FITC labeled silica nanoparticles and quantum dots by rice seedlings: effects on seed germination and their potential as biolabels for plants. J Fluoresc. 2011;21(6):2057–68.
- 182. Sheikhpour M, Golbabaie A, Kasaeian A. Carbon nanotubes: a review of novel strategies for cancer diagnosis and treatment. Korean J Couns Psychother. 2017;76:1289–304.
- Sanginario A, Miccoli B, Demarchi D. Carbon nanotubes as an effective opportunity for cancer diagnosis and treatment. Biosensors. 2017;7(1):9.
- 184. Martínez A, Iglesias I, Lozano R, Teijón JM, Blanco MD. Synthesis and characterization of thiolated alginate-albumin nanoparticles stabilized by disulfide bonds. Evaluation as drug delivery systems. Carbohydr Polym. 2011;83(3):1311–21.
- 185. Bilensoy E, Sarisozen C, Esendagli G, Dogan AL, Aktas Y, Sen M, et al. Intravesical cationic nanoparticles of chitosan and polycaprolactone for the delivery of mitomycin C to bladder tumors. Int J Pharm. 2009;371(1–2):170–6.
- 186. Rico CM, Majumdar S, Duarte-Gardea M, Peralta-Videa JR, Gardea-Torresdey JL. Interaction of nanoparticles with edible plants and their possible implications in the food chain. J Agric Food Chem. 2011;59(8):3485–98.
- Nguyen KT. Targeted nanoparticles for cancer therapy: promises and challenges. J Nanomed Nanotechnol. 2011;2:103e. https://doi. org/10.4172/2157-7439.1000103e.
- 188. Hare JI, Lammers T, Ashford MB, Puri S, Storm G, Barry ST. Challenges and strategies in anti-cancer nanomedicine development: an industry perspective. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2017;108:25–38.
- Ledford H. Bankruptcy filing worries developers of nanoparticle cancer drugs. Nature. 2016;533(7603):304–5.
- 190. Stegh AH. Toward personalized cancer nanomedicine – past, present, and future. Integr Biol. 2013;5(1) https://doi.org/10.1039/c2ib20104f.
- 191. Sahakyan N, Haddad A, Richardson S, Forcha-Etieundem V, Christopher L, Alharbi H, et al. Personalized nanoparticles for cancer therapy: a call

for greater precision. Anticancer Agents Med Chem. 2017;17(8):1033–9.

- 192. Tiwari M. Apoptosis, angiogenesis and cancer therapies. J Cancer Thera Res. 2012;1(1):1–10.
- 193. Dvorak HF. Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor: a critical cytokine in tumor angiogenesis and a potential target for diagnosis and therapy. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(21):4368–80.
- 194. Gerber HP, Dixit V, Ferrara N. Vascular endothelial growth factor induces expression of the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and A1 in vascular endothelial cells. J Biol Chem. 1998;273(21):13313–6.
- 195. Fayette J, Soria JC, Armand JP. Use of angiogenesis inhibitors in tumour treatment. Eur J Cancer. 2005;41(8):1109–16.
- Jain RK, Duda DG, Clark JW, Loeffler JS. Lessons from phase III clinical trials on anti-VEGF therapy for cancer. Nat Clin Pract Oncol. 2006;3(1):24–40.
- 197. Costa PM, Cardoso AL, Custodia C, Cunha P, Pereira de Almeida L, Pedroso de Lima MC. MiRNA-21 silencing mediated by tumor-targeted nanoparticles combined with sunitinib: a new multimodal gene therapy approach for glioblastoma. J Control Release. 2015;207:31–9.
- 198. Wang L, Liu Y, Li W, Jiang X, Ji Y, Wu X, et al. Selective targeting of gold nanorods at the mitochondria of cancer cells: implications for cancer therapy. Nano Lett. 2011;11(2):772–80.
- 199. Qiu Y, Liu Y, Wang L, Xu L, Bai R, Ji Y, et al. Surface chemistry and aspect ratio mediated cellular uptake of Au nanorods. Biomaterials. 2010;31(30):7606–19.
- 200. Mohan JC, Praveen G, Chennazhi KP, Jayakumar R, Nair SV. Functionalised gold nanoparticles for selective induction of in vitro apoptosis among human cancer cell lines. J Exp Nanosci. 2013;8(1):32–45.
- 201. Kang B, Mackey MA, El-Sayed MA. Nuclear targeting of gold nanoparticles in cancer cells induces DNA damage, causing cytokinesis arrest and apoptosis. J Am Chem Soc. 2010;132(5):1517–9.
- 202. Choudhury D, Xavier PL, Chaudhari K, John R, Dasgupta AK, Pradeep T, et al. Unprecedented inhibition of tubulin polymerization directed by gold nanoparticles inducing cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. Nanoscale. 2013;5(10):4476–89.
- 203. Arvizo RR, Saha S, Wang E, Robertson JD, Bhattacharya R, Mukherjee P. Inhibition of tumor growth and metastasis by a self-therapeutic nanoparticle. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(17):6700–5.
- 204. Arvizo RR, Rana S, Miranda OR, Bhattacharya R, Rotello VM, Mukherjee P. Mechanism of antiangiogenic property of gold nanoparticles: role of nanoparticle size and surface charge. Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med. 2011;7(5):580–7.
- 205. Li W, Zhao X, Du B, Li X, Liu S, Yang XY, et al. Gold nanoparticle-mediated targeted delivery of recombinant human endostatin normalizes tumour vasculature and improves cancer therapy. Sci Rep. 2016;6:30619.

- 206. Bucharskaya A, Maslyakova G, Terentyuk G, Yakunin A, Avetisyan Y, Bibikova O, et al. Towards effective photothermal/photodynamic treatment using plasmonic gold nanoparticles. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(8):1295.
- 207. Sojinrin T, Conde J, Liu K, Curtin J, Byrne HJ, Cui D, et al. Plasmonic gold nanoparticles for detection of fungi and human cutaneous fungal infections. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2017;409(19):4647–58.
- 208. Tzarouchis DC, Ylä-Oijala P, Ala-Nissila T, Sihvola A. Shape effects on surface plasmons in spherical, cubic, and rod-shaped silver nanoparticles. Appl Phys A. 2016;122(4):298.
- 209. Yin R, Agrawal T, Khan U, Gupta GK, Rai V, Huang YY, et al. Antimicrobial photodynamic inactivation in nanomedicine: small light strides against bad bugs. Nanomedicine (Lond). 2015;10(15):2379–404.
- Chitgupi U, Qin Y, Lovell JF. Targeted nanomaterials for phototherapy. Nanotheranostics. 2017;1(1):38–58.
- 211. Yang T, Yao Q, Cao F, Liu Q, Liu B, Wang XH. Silver nanoparticles inhibit the function of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 and target genes: insight into the cytotoxicity and antiangiogenesis. Int J Nanomedicine. 2016;11:6679–92.
- 212. Rekha K, Ashok M, Bangrey RS, Reena M, Kuldeep D, Sharma NC. Evaluation of silver nanoparticle mediated reduction of neovascularisation (angiogenesis) in chicken model. Adv Anim Vet Sci. 2015;3(7):372–6.
- 213. Yilmaz VT, Icsel C, Batur J, Aydinlik S, Cengiz M, Buyukgungor O. Synthesis, structures and biomolecular interactions of new silver(i) 5,5-diethylbarbiturate complexes of monophosphines targeting Gram-positive bacteria and breast cancer cells. Dalton Trans. 2017;46(25):8110–24.
- 214. Satapathy SR, Mohapatra P, Preet R, Das D, Sarkar B, Choudhuri T, et al. Silver-based nanoparticles induce apoptosis in human colon cancer cells mediated through p53. Nanomedicine (Lond). 2013;8(8):1307–22.
- 215. He Y, Du Z, Ma S, Cheng S, Jiang S, Liu Y, et al. Biosynthesis, antibacterial activity and anticancer effects against prostate cancer (PC-3) cells of silver nanoparticles using Dimocarpus Longan Lour. Peel extract. Nanoscale Res Lett. 2016;11(1):300.
- 216. Kovacs D, Igaz N, Keskeny C, Belteky P, Toth T, Gaspar R, et al. Silver nanoparticles defeat p53positive and p53-negative osteosarcoma cells by triggering mitochondrial stress and apoptosis. Sci Rep. 2016;6:27902.
- 217. Yuan YG, Peng QL, Gurunathan S. Silver nanoparticles enhance the apoptotic potential of gemcitabine in human ovarian cancer cells: combination therapy for effective cancer treatment. Int J Nanomedicine. 2017;12:6487–502.
- 218. Choi YJ, Park JH, Han JW, Kim E, Jae-Wook O, Lee SY, et al. Differential cytotoxic potential of silver nanoparticles in human ovarian cancer

cells and ovarian cancer stem cells. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(12):2077.

- 219. Almada M, Burboa MG, Robles E, Gutiérrez LE, Valdés MA, Juárez J. Interaction and cytotoxic effects of hydrophobized chitosan nanoparticles on MDA-MB-231, HeLa and Arpe-19 cell lines. Curr Top Med Chem. 2014;14(6):692–701.
- 220. Gary-Bobo M, Brevet D, Benkirane-Jessel N, Raehm L, Maillard P, Garcia M, et al. Hyaluronic acid-functionalized mesoporous silica nanoparticles for efficient photodynamic therapy of cancer cells. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther. 2012;9(3):256–60.
- 221. Wang H, Zhang S, Tian X, Liu C, Zhang L, Hu W, et al. High sensitivity of gold nanoparticles co-doped with Gd2O3 mesoporous silica nanocomposite to nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. Sci Rep. 2016;6:34367.
- 222. Guarnieri D, Malvindi MA, Belli V, Pompa PP, Netti P. Effect of silica nanoparticles with variable size and surface functionalization on human endothelial cell viability and angiogenic activity. J Nanopart Res. 2014;16(2):2229.
- 223. Jo DH, Kim JH, Yu YS, Lee TG, Kim JH. Antiangiogenic effect of silicate nanoparticle on retinal neovascularization induced by vascular endo-thelial growth factor. Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med. 2012;8(5):784–91.
- 224. Kim M, Park JH, Jeong H, Hong J, Choi WS, Lee BH, et al. An evaluation of the in vivo safety of nonporous silica nanoparticles: ocular topical administration versus oral administration. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):8238.
- 225. Feng Y, Su J, Zhao Z, Zheng W, Wu H, Zhang Y, et al. Differential effects of amino acid surface decoration on the anticancer efficacy of selenium nanoparticles. Dalton Trans. 2014;43(4):1854–61.
- 226. Bao P, Chen Z, Tai RZ, Shen HM, Martin FL, Zhu YG. Selenite-induced toxicity in cancer cells is mediated by metabolic generation of endogenous selenium nanoparticles. J Proteome Res. 2015;14(2):1127–36.
- 227. Bao P, Chen SC, Xiao KQ. Dynamic equilibrium of endogenous selenium nanoparticles in seleniteexposed cancer cells: a deep insight into the interaction between endogenous SeNPs and proteins. Mol Biosyst. 2015;11(12):3355–61.
- 228. Yu Q, Liu Y, Cao C, Le F, Qin X, Sun D, et al. The use of pH-sensitive functional selenium nanoparticles shows enhanced in vivo VEGF-siRNA silencing and fluorescence imaging. Nanoscale. 2014;6(15):9279–92.
- 229. Sun D, Liu Y, Yu Q, Zhou Y, Zhang R, Chen X, et al. The effects of luminescent ruthenium(II) polypyridyl functionalized selenium nanoparticles on bFGFinduced angiogenesis and AKT/ERK signaling. Biomaterials. 2013;34(1):171–80.
- 230. Fu X, Yang Y, Li X, Lai H, Huang Y, He L, et al. RGD peptide-conjugated selenium nanoparticles: antiangiogenesis by suppressing VEGF-VEGFR2-ERK/AKT pathway. Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med. 2016;12(6):1627–39.

- 231. Yalcin M, Bharali DJ, Lansing L, Dyskin E, Mousa SS, Hercbergs A, et al. Tetraidothyroacetic acid (tetrac) and tetrac nanoparticles inhibit growth of human renal cell carcinoma xenografts. Anticancer Res. 2009;29(10):3825–31.
- 232. Glinskii AB, Glinsky GV, Lin HY, Tang HY, Sun M, Davis FB, et al. Modification of survival pathway gene expression in human breast cancer cells by tetraiodothyroacetic acid (tetrac). Cell Cycle. 2009;8(21):3562–70.
- 233. Yalcin M, Dyskin E, Lansing L, Bharali DJ, Mousa SS, Bridoux A, et al. Tetraiodothyroacetic acid (tetrac) and nanoparticulate tetrac arrest growth of medullary carcinoma of the thyroid. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95(4):1972–80.
- 234. Yalcin M, Bharali DJ, Dyskin E, Dier E, Lansing L, Mousa SS, et al. Tetraiodothyroacetic acid and tetraiodothyroacetic acid nanoparticle effectively inhibit the growth of human follicular thyroid cell carcinoma. Thyroid. 2010;20(3):281–6.
- 235. Lin HY, Landersdorfer CB, London D, Meng R, Lim CU, Lin C, et al. Pharmacodynamic modeling of anti-cancer activity of tetraiodothyroacetic acid in a perfused cell culture system. PLoS Comput Biol. 2011;7(2):e1001073.
- 236. Yoshida T, Gong J, Xu Z, Wei Y, Duh EJ. Inhibition of pathological retinal angiogenesis by the integrin alphavbeta3 antagonist tetraiodothyroacetic acid (tetrac). Exp Eye Res. 2012;94(1):41–8.
- 237. Shinderman-Maman E, Cohen K, Moskovich D, Hercbergs A, Werner H, Davis PJ, et al. Thyroid hormones derivatives reduce proliferation and induce cell death and DNA damage in ovarian cancer. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):16475.
- 238. Sudha T, Bharali DJ, Sell S, Darwish NHE, Davis PJ, Mousa SA. Nanoparticulate tetrac inhibits growth and vascularity of glioblastoma xenografts. Hormones Cancer. 2017;8(3):157–65.
- 239. Tapeinos C, Battaglini M, Ciofani G. Advances in the design of solid lipid nanoparticles and nanostructured lipid carriers for targeting brain diseases. J Contr Release. 2017;264:306–32.
- 240. Hu Q, Sun W, Wang C, Gu Z. Recent advances of cocktail chemotherapy by combination drug delivery systems. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2016;98:19–34.
- 241. Jia J, Zhu F, Ma X, Cao Z, Cao ZW, Li Y, et al. Mechanisms of drug combinations: interaction and network perspectives. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2009;8(2):111–28.
- 242. Miao L, Guo S, Lin CM, Liu Q, Huang L. Nanoformulations for combination or cascade anticancer therapy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2017;115:3–22.
- 243. Gottesman MM, Fojo T, Bates SE. Multidrug resistance in cancer: role of ATP-dependent transporters. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002;2(1):48–58.
- 244. Xiao B, Ma L, Merlin D. Nanoparticle-mediated co-delivery of chemotherapeutic agent and siRNA for combination cancer therapy. Expert Opin Drug Deliv. 2017;14(1):65–73.

- 245. Meng H, Liong M, Xia T, Li Z, Ji Z, Zink JI, et al. Engineered design of mesoporous silica nanoparticles to deliver doxorubicin and P-glycoprotein siRNA to overcome drug resistance in a cancer cell line. ACS Nano. 2010;4(8):4539–50.
- 246. Meng H, Mai WX, Zhang H, Xue M, Xia T, Lin S, et al. Codelivery of an optimal drug/siRNA combination using mesoporous silica nanoparticles to overcome drug resistance in breast cancer in vitro and in vivo. ACS Nano. 2013;7(2):994–1005.
- 247. Iyer AK, Singh A, Ganta S, Amiji MM. Role of integrated cancer nanomedicine in overcoming drug resistance. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2013;65(13–14):1784–802.
- Ganta S, Amiji M. Coadministration of paclitaxel and curcumin in nanoemulsion formulations to overcome multidrug resistance in tumor cells. Mol Pharm. 2009;6(3):928–39.
- 249. Zheng Y, Su C, Zhao L, Shi Y. mAb MDR1-modified chitosan nanoparticles overcome acquired EGFR-TKI resistance through two potential therapeutic targets modulation of MDR1 and autophagy. J Nanobiotechnol. 2017;15(1):66.
- 250. Wang J, Li L, Wu L, Sun B, Du Y, Sun J, et al. Development of novel self-assembled ES-PLGA hybrid nanoparticles for improving oral absorption of doxorubicin hydrochloride by P-gp inhibition: In vitro and in vivo evaluation. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2017;99:185–92.
- 251. Deng L, Su TT, Huang XL, Wang YH, Li C. Co-delivery of paclitaxel and cyclosporine by a novel liposome-silica hybrid nano-carrier for anti-tumor therapy via oral route. Acta Pharm Sin. 2014;49(1):106–14.
- 252. Sadekar S, Thiagarajan G, Bartlett K, Hubbard D, Ray A, McGill LD, et al. Poly(amido amine) dendrimers as absorption enhancers for oral delivery of camptothecin. Int J Pharm. 2013;456(1):175–85.
- 253. Li X, He Q, Shi J. Global gene expression analysis of cellular death mechanisms induced by mesoporous silica nanoparticle-based drug delivery system. ACS Nano. 2014;8(2):1309–20.
- 254. Li X, Pan L, Shi J. Nuclear-targeting MSNs-based drug delivery system: global gene expression analysis on the MDR-overcoming mechanisms. Adv Healthc Mater. 2015;4(17):2641–8.
- 255. He Q, Gao Y, Zhang L, Zhang Z, Gao F, Ji X, et al. A pH-responsive mesoporous silica nanoparticles-based multi-drug delivery system for overcoming multi-drug resistance. Biomaterials. 2011;32(30):7711–20.
- 256. Liu H, Zhang Z, Chi X, Zhao Z, Huang D, Jin J, et al. Arsenite-loaded nanoparticles inhibit PARP-1 to overcome multidrug resistance in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Sci Rep. 2016;6:31009.
- 257. Davis ME, Zuckerman JE, Choi CH, Seligson D, Tolcher A, Alabi CA, et al. Evidence of RNAi in humans from systemically administered siRNA via targeted nanoparticles. Nature. 2010;464(7291):1067–70.

- Liu Z, Yan H, Li H. Silencing of DNA repair sensitizes pediatric brain tumor cells to gammairradiation using gold nanoparticles. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol. 2017;53:40–5.
- 259. Kievit FM, Stephen ZR, Wang K, Dayringer CJ, Sham JG, Ellenbogen RG, et al. Nanoparticle mediated silencing of DNA repair sensitizes pediatric brain tumor cells to gamma-irradiation. Mol Oncol. 2015;9(6):1071–80.
- Cheng X, Lee RJ. The role of helper lipids in lipid nanoparticles (LNPs) designed for oligonucleotide delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2016;99(Pt A):129–37.
- 261. Ku SH, Jo SD, Lee YK, Kim K, Kim SH. Chemical and structural modifications of RNAi therapeutics. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2016;104:16–28.
- 262. Zatsepin TS, Kotelevtsev YV, Koteliansky V. Lipid nanoparticles for targeted siRNA delivery - going from bench to bedside. Int J Nanomedicine. 2016;11:3077–86.
- 263. Zhao J. Cancer stem cells and chemoresistance: the smartest survives the raid. Pharmacol Ther. 2016;160:145–58.
- 264. Yun EJ, Lo UG, Hsieh JT. The evolving landscape of prostate cancer stem cell: therapeutic implications and future challenges. Asian J Urol. 2016;3(4):203–10.
- Bednar F, Simeone DM. Pancreatic cancer stem cells and relevance to cancer treatments. J Cell Biochem. 2009;107(1):40–5.
- 266. Zhao YD, Zhang QB, Chen H, Fei XF, Shen YT, Ji XY, et al. Research on human glioma stem cells in China. Neural Regen Res. 2017;12(11):1918–26.
- 267. Manhas J, Bhattacharya A, Agrawal SK, Gupta B, Das P, Deo SV, et al. Characterization of cancer stem cells from different grades of human colorectal cancer. Tumour Biol. 2016;37(10):14069–81.
- Rodini CO, Lopes NM, Lara VS, Mackenzie IC. Oral cancer stem cells - properties and consequences. J Appl Oral Sci. 2017;25(6):708–15.
- 269. Richard V, Nair MG, Santhosh Kumar TR, Pillai MR. Side population cells as prototype of chemoresistant, tumor-initiating cells. Biomed Res Int. 2013;2013:517237.
- Abdullah LN, Chow EK. Mechanisms of chemoresistance in cancer stem cells. Clin Transl Med. 2013;2(1):3.
- 271. Bolton-Gillespie E, Schemionek M, Klein HU, Flis S, Hoser G, Lange T, et al. Genomic instability may originate from imatinib-refractory chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells. Blood. 2013;121(20):4175–83.
- 272. Platt VM, Szoka FC Jr. Anticancer therapeutics: targeting macromolecules and nanocarriers to hyaluronan or CD44, a hyaluronan receptor. Mol Pharm. 2008;5(4):474–86.
- 273. Yang Y, Jing L, Li X, Lin L, Yue X, Dai Z. Hyaluronic acid conjugated magnetic prussian Blue@Quantum dot nanoparticles for cancer theranostics. Theranostics. 2017;7(2):466–81.

- 274. Ma L, Liu T, Jin Y, Wei J, Yang Y, Zhang H. ABCG2 is required for self-renewal and chemoresistance of CD133-positive human colorectal cancer cells. Tumour Biol. 2016;37(9):12889–96.
- 275. An Y, Ongkeko WM. ABCG2: the key to chemoresistance in cancer stem cells? Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. 2009;5(12):1529–42.
- 276. Lim KJ, Bisht S, Bar EE, Maitra A, Eberhart CG. A polymeric nanoparticle formulation of curcumin inhibits growth, clonogenicity and stem-like fraction in malignant brain tumors. Cancer Biol Ther. 2011;11(5):464–73.
- 277. Xu Y, Chenna V, Hu C, Sun HX, Khan M, Bai H, et al. Polymeric nanoparticle-encapsulated hedgehog pathway inhibitor HPI-1 (NanoHHI) inhibits systemic metastases in an orthotopic model of human hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(5):1291–302.
- 278. Burke AR, Singh RN, Carroll DL, Wood JC, D'Agostino RB Jr, Ajayan PM, et al. The resistance of breast cancer stem cells to conventional hyperthermia and their sensitivity to nanoparticlemediated photothermal therapy. Biomaterials. 2012;33(10):2961–70.
- 279. Zhou M, Zhao J, Tian M, Song S, Zhang R, Gupta S, et al. Radio-photothermal therapy mediated by a single compartment nanoplatform depletes tumor initiating cells and reduces lung metastasis in the orthotopic 4T1 breast tumor model. Nanoscale. 2015;7(46):19438–47.
- 280. Morgenroth A, Cartellieri M, Schmitz M, Gunes S, Weigle B, Bachmann M, et al. Targeting of tumor cells expressing the prostate stem cell antigen (PSCA) using genetically engineered T-cells. Prostate. 2007;67(10):1121–31.
- 281. Wu H, Shi H, Zhang H, Wang X, Yang Y, Yu C, et al. Prostate stem cell antigen antibody-conjugated multiwalled carbon nanotubes for targeted ultrasound imaging and drug delivery. Biomaterials. 2014;35(20):5369–80.
- 282. Andey T, Marepally S, Patel A, Jackson T, Sarkar S, O'Connell M, et al. Cationic lipid guided short-hairpin RNA interference of annexin A2 attenuates tumor growth and metastasis in a mouse lung cancer stem cell model. J Contr Release. 2014;184:67–78.
- 283. Liu C, Kelnar K, Liu B, Chen X, Calhoun-Davis T, Li H, et al. The microRNA miR-34a inhibits prostate cancer stem cells and metastasis by directly repressing CD44. Nat Med. 2011;17(2):211–5.
- 284. Ji Q, Hao X, Zhang M, Tang W, Yang M, Li L, et al. MicroRNA miR-34 inhibits human pancreatic cancer tumor-initiating cells. PLoS One. 2009;4(8):e6816.
- 285. Ji Q, Hao X, Meng Y, Zhang M, Desano J, Fan D, et al. Restoration of tumor suppressor miR-34 inhibits human p53-mutant gastric cancer tumorspheres. BMC Cancer. 2008;8:266.
- 286. Li Y, Guessous F, Zhang Y, Dipierro C, Kefas B, Johnson E, et al. MicroRNA-34a inhibits glioblastoma growth by targeting multiple oncogenes. Cancer Res. 2009;69(19):7569–76.

- 287. Piao L, Zhang M, Datta J, Xie X, Su T, Li H, et al. Lipid-based nanoparticle delivery of Pre-miR-107 inhibits the tumorigenicity of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Mol Ther. 2012;20(6):1261–9.
- 288. Liu C, Zhao G, Liu J, Ma N, Chivukula P, Perelman L, et al. Novel biodegradable lipid nano complex for siRNA delivery significantly improving the chemosensitivity of human colon cancer stem cells to paclitaxel. J Contr Release. 2009;140(3):277–83.
- 289. Yin D, Ogawa S, Kawamata N, Leiter A, Ham M, Li D, et al. miR-34a functions as a tumor suppressor modulating EGFR in glioblastoma multiforme. Oncogene. 2013;32(9):1155–63.
- 290. Pramanik D, Campbell NR, Karikari C, Chivukula R, Kent OA, Mendell JT, et al. Restitution of tumor suppressor microRNAs using a systemic nanovector inhibits pancreatic cancer growth in mice. Mol Cancer Ther. 2011;10(8):1470–80.
- 291. Zhou F, et al. MiR-34a targeted Notch2 to induce apoptosis of medullary thyroid carcinoma cells. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2017;10(5):5612–7.
- 292. Ganesh S, Iyer AK, Morrissey DV, Amiji MM. Hyaluronic acid based self-assembling nanosystems for CD44 target mediated siRNA delivery to solid tumors. Biomaterials. 2013;34(13): 3489–502.
- 293. Yoon HY, Kim HR, Saravanakumar G, Heo R, Chae SY, Um W, et al. Bioreducible hyaluronic acid conjugates as siRNA carrier for tumor targeting. J Contr Release. 2013;172(3):653–61.
- 294. Shen Y, Wang B, Lu Y, Ouahab A, Li Q, Tu J. A novel tumor-targeted delivery system with hydrophobized hyaluronic acid-spermine conjugates (HHSCs) for efficient receptor-mediated siRNA delivery. Int J Pharm. 2011;414(1–2):233–43.
- 295. Dreaden EC, Morton SW, Shopsowitz KE, Choi JH, Deng ZJ, Cho NJ, et al. Bimodal tumor-targeting from microenvironment responsive hyaluronan layer-by-layer (LbL) nanoparticles. ACS Nano. 2014;8(8):8374–82.
- 296. Kanwar JR, Mahidhara G, Roy K, Sasidharan S, Krishnakumar S, Prasad N, et al. Fe-bLf nanoformulation targets survivin to kill colon cancer stem cells and maintains absorption of iron, calcium and zinc. Nanomedicine (Lond). 2015;10(1):35–55.
- 297. Roy K, Kanwar RK, Kanwar JR. LNA aptamer based multi-modal, Fe3O4-saturated lactoferrin (Fe3O4bLf) nanocarriers for triple positive (EpCAM, CD133, CD44) colon tumor targeting and NIR. MRI and CT imaging Biomaterials. 2015;71:84–99.
- 298. Wang T, Gantier MP, Xiang D, Bean AG, Bruce M, Zhou SF, et al. EpCAM aptamer-mediated survivin silencing sensitized cancer stem cells to doxorubicin in a breast cancer model. Theranostics. 2015;5(12):1456–72.
- 299. Li L, Hou J, Liu X, Guo Y, Wu Y, Zhang L, et al. Nucleolin-targeting liposomes guided by aptamer AS1411 for the delivery of siRNA for the treatment of malignant melanomas. Biomaterials. 2014;35(12):3840–50.

- Meacham CE, Morrison SJ. Tumour heterogeneity and cancer cell plasticity. Nature. 2013;501(7467):328–37.
- Foucquier J, Guedj M. Analysis of drug combinations: current methodological landscape. Pharmacol Res Perspect. 2015;3(3):e00149.
- Quail DF, Joyce JA. Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. Nat Med. 2013;19(11):1423–37.
- 303. Jhaveri A, Deshpande P, Torchilin V. Stimulisensitive nanopreparations for combination cancer therapy. J Contr Release. 2014;190:352–70.
- 304. Liu J, Huang Y, Kumar A, Tan A, Jin S, Mozhi A, et al. pH-sensitive nano-systems for drug delivery in cancer therapy. Biotechnol Adv. 2014;32(4):693–710.
- 305. He C, Liu D, Lin W. Self-assembled nanoscale coordination polymers carrying siRNAs and cisplatin for effective treatment of resistant ovarian cancer. Biomaterials. 2015;36:124–33.
- 306. Oshima G, Guo N, He C, Stack ME, Poon C, Uppal A, et al. In vivo delivery and therapeutic effects of a microRNA on colorectal liver metastases. Mol Ther. 2017;25(7):1588–95.
- 307. Song XR, Cai Z, Zheng Y, He G, Cui FY, Gong DQ, et al. Reversion of multidrug resistance by coencapsulation of vincristine and verapamil in PLGA nanoparticles. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2009;37(3–4):300–5.
- 308. Guo S, Lin CM, Xu Z, Miao L, Wang Y, Huang L. Co-delivery of cisplatin and rapamycin for enhanced anticancer therapy through synergistic effects and microenvironment modulation. ACS Nano. 2014;8(5):4996–5009.
- Ahmad S. Platinum-DNA interactions and subsequent cellular processes controlling sensitivity to anticancer platinum complexes. Chem Biodivers. 2010;7(3):543–66.
- 310. Zhao Y, Biertumpfel C, Gregory MT, Hua YJ, Hanaoka F, Yang W. Structural basis of human DNA polymerase eta-mediated chemoresistance to cisplatin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(19):7269–74.
- 311. Xu X, Xie K, Zhang XQ, Pridgen EM, Park GY, Cui DS, et al. Enhancing tumor cell response to chemotherapy through nanoparticle-mediated codelivery of siRNA and cisplatin prodrug. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(46):18638–43.
- 312. Miao L, Guo S, Zhang J, Kim WY, Huang L. Nanoparticles with precise ratiometric co-loading and co-delivery of gemcitabine monophosphate and cisplatin for treatment of bladder cancer. Adv Funct Mater. 2014;24(42):6601–11.
- 313. Franco MS, Oliveira MC. Ratiometric drug delivery using non-liposomal nanocarriers as an approach to increase efficacy and safety of combination chemotherapy. Biomed Pharmacother. 2017;96:584–95.
- 314. Shuhendler AJ, Cheung RY, Manias J, Connor A, Rauth AM, Wu XY. A novel doxorubicin-mitomycin C co-encapsulated nanoparticle formulation exhibits anti-cancer synergy in multidrug resistant human breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2010;119(2):255–69.

- 315. Prasad P, Shuhendler A, Cai P, Rauth AM, Wu XY. Doxorubicin and mitomycin C co-loaded polymer-lipid hybrid nanoparticles inhibit growth of sensitive and multidrug resistant human mammary tumor xenografts. Cancer Lett. 2013;334(2):263–73.
- 316. Shuhendler AJ, Prasad P, Zhang RX, Amini MA, Sun M, Liu PP, et al. Synergistic nanoparticulate drug combination overcomes multidrug resistance, increases efficacy, and reduces cardiotoxicity in a nonimmunocompromised breast tumor model. Mol Pharm. 2014;11(8):2659–74.
- 317. Zhang T, Prasad P, Cai P, He C, Shan D, Rauth AM, et al. Dual-targeted hybrid nanoparticles of synergistic drugs for treating lung metastases of triple negative breast cancer in mice. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2017;38(6):835–47.
- 318. Park J, Wrzesinski SH, Stern E, Look M, Criscione J, Ragheb R, et al. Combination delivery of TGF-β inhibitor and IL-2 by nanoscale liposomal polymeric gels enhances tumour immunotherapy. Nat Mater. 2012;11(10):895–905.
- 319. Hassan S, Prakash G, Ozturk A, Saghazadeh S, Sohail MF, Seo J, et al. Evolution and clinical translation of drug delivery nanomaterials. Nano Today. 2017;15:91–106.
- Barenholz Y. Doxil(R)--the first FDA-approved nano-drug: lessons learned. J Contr Release. 2012;160(2):117–34.
- 321. Gordon AN, Fleagle JT, Guthrie D, Parkin DE, Gore ME, Lacave AJ. Recurrent epithelial ovarian carcinoma: a randomized phase III study of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin versus topotecan. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19(14):3312–22.
- 322. Kuang H, Ku SH, Kokkoli E. The design of peptideamphiphiles as functional ligands for liposomal anticancer drug and gene delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2017;110–111:80–101.
- 323. Wang Y, Cui Y, Zhao Y, Zhao Q, He B, Zhang Q, et al. Effects of surface modification and size on oral drug delivery of mesoporous silica formulation. J Colloid Interface Sci. 2017;513:736–47.
- Foss F. Clinical experience with denileukin diffutox (ONTAK). Semin Oncol. 2006;33(1 Suppl 3):S11–6.
- 325. Ansari L, Shiehzadeh F, Taherzadeh Z, Nikoofal-Sahlabadi S, Momtazi-Borojeni AA, Sahebkar A, et al. The most prevalent side effects of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin monotherapy in women with metastatic breast cancer: a systematic review of clinical trials. Cancer Gene Ther. 2017;24(5):189–93.
- 326. Gabizon AA, Patil Y, La-Beck NM. New insights and evolving role of pegylated liposomal doxorubicin in cancer therapy. Drug Resist Updates. 2016;29:90–106.
- 327. Rosenthal E, Poizot-Martin I, Saint-Marc T, Spano JP, Cacoub P. Phase IV study of liposomal daunorubicin (DaunoXome) in AIDS-related Kaposi sarcoma. Am J Clin Oncol. 2002;25(1):57–9.
- 328. Ferguson EL, Scomparin A, Hailu H, Satchi-Fainaro R. HPMA copolymer-phospholipase C and dextrinphospholipase A2 as model triggers for polymer

enzyme liposome therapy (PELT). J Drug Target. 2017;25(9–10):818–28.

- 329. van Bree C, Krooshoop JJ, Rietbroek RC, Kipp JB, Bakker PJ. Hyperthermia enhances tumor uptake and antitumor efficacy of thermostable liposomal daunorubicin in a rat solid tumor. Cancer Res. 1996;56(3):563–8.
- 330. Green MR, Manikhas GM, Orlov S, Afanasyev B, Makhson AM, Bhar P, et al. Abraxane, a novel cremophor-free, albumin-bound particle form of paclitaxel for the treatment of advanced non-smallcell lung cancer. Ann Oncol. 2006;17(8):1263–8.
- 331. Fridrik MA, Jaeger U, Petzer A, Willenbacher W, Keil F, Lang A, et al. Cardiotoxicity with rituximab, cyclophosphamide, non-pegylated liposomal doxorubicin, vincristine and prednisolone compared to rituximab, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisolone in frontline treatment of patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: A randomised phase-III study from the Austrian Cancer Drug Therapy Working Group [Arbeitsgemeinschaft Medikamentose Tumortherapie AGMT](NHL-14). Eur J Cancer. 2016;58:112–21.
- 332. Ur Rehman SS, Lim K, Wang-Gillam A. Nanoliposomal irinotecan plus fluorouracil and folinic acid: a new treatment option in metastatic pancreatic cancer. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2016;16(5):485–92.
- 333. Wilhelm S, Tavares AJ, Dai Q, Ohta S, Audet J, Dvorak HF, et al. Analysis of nanoparticle delivery to tumours. Nat RevMater. 2016;1:16014.
- 334. Jiang W, von Roemeling CA, Chen Y, Qie Y, Liu X, Chen J, et al. Designing nanomedicine for immunooncology. Nat Biomed Eng. 2017;1:0029.
- 335. Jia Y, Omri A, Krishnan L, McCluskie MJ. Potential applications of nanoparticles in cancer immunotherapy. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2017;13(1):63–74.
- 336. Kosmides AK, Sidhom JW, Fraser A, Bessell CA, Schneck JP. Dual targeting nanoparticle stimulates the immune system to inhibit tumor growth. ACS Nano. 2017;11(6):5417–29.
- 337. Yao H, Ng SS, Huo LF, Chow BK, Shen Z, Yang M, et al. Effective melanoma immunotherapy with interleukin-2 delivered by a novel polymeric nanoparticle. Mol Cancer Ther. 2011;10(6):1082–92.
- 338. Massagué J. TGFβ in Cancer. Cell. 2008;134(2):215–30.
- Krishnamachari Y, Geary SM, Lemke CD, Salem AK. Nanoparticle delivery systems in cancer vaccines. Pharm Res. 2011;28(2):215–36.
- 340. Fan Y, Moon JJ. Nanoparticle drug delivery systems designed to improve cancer vaccines and immunotherapy. Vaccines (Basel). 2015;3(3):662–85.
- Goldberg MS. Immunoengineering: how nanotechnology can enhance cancer immunotherapy. Cell. 2015;161(2):201–4.

- 342. de Titta A, Ballester M, Julier Z, Nembrini C, Jeanbart L, van der Vlies AJ, et al. Nanoparticle conjugation of CpG enhances adjuvancy for cellular immunity and memory recall at low dose. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(49):19902–7.
- 343. Fox CB, Sivananthan SJ, Duthie MS, Vergara J, Guderian JA, Moon E, et al. A nanoliposome delivery system to synergistically trigger TLR4 AND TLR7. J Nanobiotechnol. 2014;12:17.
- 344. Toy R, Roy K. Engineering nanoparticles to overcome barriers to immunotherapy. Bioeng Transl Med. 2016;1(1):47–62.
- 345. Stano A, Scott EA, Dane KY, Swartz MA, Hubbell JA. Tunable T cell immunity towards a protein antigen using polymersomes vs. solid-core nanoparticles. Biomaterials. 2013;34(17):4339–46.
- 346. Cruz LJ, Tacken PJ, Rueda F, Domingo JC, Albericio F, Figdor CG. Targeting nanoparticles to dendritic cells for immunotherapy. Methods Enzymol. 2012;509:143–63.
- 347. Schmid D, Park CG, Hartl CA, Subedi N, Cartwright AN, Puerto RB, et al. T cell-targeting nanoparticles focus delivery of immunotherapy to improve antitumor immunity. Nat Commun. 2017;8(1):1747.
- 348. Li SY, Liu Y, Xu CF, Shen S, Sun R, Du XJ, et al. Restoring anti-tumor functions of T cells via nanoparticle-mediated immune checkpoint modulation. J Control Release. 2016;231:17–28.
- 349. Thomas SN, Vokali E, Lund AW, Hubbell JA, Swartz MA. Targeting the tumor-draining lymph node with adjuvanted nanoparticles reshapes the anti-tumor immune response. Biomaterials. 2014;35(2):814–24.
- 350. Huang Z, Zhang Z, Jiang Y, Zhang D, Chen J, Dong L, et al. Targeted delivery of oligonucleotides into tumor-associated macrophages for cancer immunotherapy. J Control Release. 2012;158(2):286–92.
- 351. Zanganeh S, Hutter G, Spitler R, Lenkov O, Mahmoudi M, Shaw A, et al. Iron oxide nanoparticles inhibit tumour growth by inducing proinflammatory macrophage polarization in tumour tissues. Nat Nanotechnol. 2016;11(11):986–94.
- 352. Kozielski KL, Rui Y, Green JJ. Non-viral nucleic acid containing nanoparticles as cancer therapeutics. Expert Opin Drug Deliv. 2016;13(10):1475–87.
- 353. Conde J, Arnold CE, Tian F, Artzi N. RNAi nanomaterials targeting immune cells as an anti-tumor therapy: the missing link in cancer treatment? Mater Today. 2016;19(1):29–43.
- 354. Jakobczyk H, Sciortino F, Chevance S, Gauffre F, Troadec MB. Promises and limitations of nanoparticles in the era of cell therapy: example with CD19targeting chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-modified T cells. Int J Pharm. 2017;532(2):813–24.



Oncolytic Viruses as Immunotherapeutic Agents

27

Yevhenii Trehub and Andrii Havrilov

Contents

27.1	Introduction	509
27.2	Model of Oncolytic Virus and Macroorganism Interaction	511
27.3	Interaction Between Oncolytic Virus and Tumor	512
27.3.1	Model of Tumor Destruction Under the Virus Influence	513
27.3.2	Immunogenic Cell Death	513
27.4	Oncolytic Viruses of Current Interest	518
27.4.1	Artificially Modified Viruses	518
27.4.1.1	Oncolytic Herpesviruses	518
27.4.1.2	Oncolytic Adenoviruses	524
27.4.1.3	H101.	525
27.4.1.4	The Immune Response to Adenoviruses	525
27.4.2	Naturally Occurring Oncolytic Viruses	526
27.4.2.1	Newcastle Disease Virus	526
27.4.2.2	Reovirus	529
27.5	Combined Immunotherapy	531
27.6	Conclusion	532
References		533

The most striking sign of leukemia, the excess of leukocytes, disappears, and sometimes the spleen and lymph glands return to their normal size. Yet that the change is not wholly favorable appears from the fact that no case has really recovered... Considering the hopelessness of the ordinary treatment of leukemia,

Y. Trehub (🖂)

A. Havrilov Department of Thoracic Surgical Oncology, Regional Center of Oncology, Kharkiv, Ukraine it seems that carefully planned experiments, either with bacterial products or organ extracts, might show a more safe and permanent result. —Dock G. (1904) [1].

27.1 Introduction

Oncolytic viruses are considered as a fundamentally new approach to cancer therapy, which, based on the underlying mechanisms, should be discussed in the context of immunotherapy. Oncolytic viruses (OVs) are viral agents that multiply predominantly

Department of Abdominal Surgical Oncology, Regional Center of Oncology, Kharkiv, Ukraine e-mail: vzixus@gmail.com

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

N. Rezaei (ed.), Cancer Immunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_27

or exclusively in neoplastic cells and neighboring endothelium, killing them, and do not replicate in cells of normal tissues. Unlike gene therapy, where the virus acts as a gene carrier the product of which is a treatment of a particular disease, the oncolytic virus itself is a means of treatment.

High interest in oncolytic viruses has been observed during the last decade, although the idea of using viruses to fight cancer is not new. Reports of regression of tumors in patients with natural infectious diseases, which now can be retrospectively considered as of viral nature, began to appear since the 1800s [2]. The role of viruses in the treatment of cancer was first mentioned in 1912, when the effect of rabies vaccination on the course of cervical cancer was noted [3]. In 1955, the infection of cervical cancer patients with different adenoidal-pharyngeal-conjunctival virus (APC) serotypes, histological changes in tumor tissue, and the risk of developing a systemic viral disease were investigated deeper and more consciously [4]. In 1949, the effect of viral hepatitis on the course of the Hodgkin lymphoma was investigated, when the volunteer cancer patients were infected with blood plasma or tissue samples of a patient with viral hepatitis. A positive effect was observed in almost half of the cases [5]. In 1952, the infection of patients with various advanced, resistant tumors with the early passage of the West Nile virus (Egypt 101) showed tumor regression in 10% of patients [6]. In 1974 a nonattenuated Mumps virus for the treatment of patients with 18 different types of tumors showed a dramatic effect: a cure or more than 50% regression occurred in 37 of the 90 subjects. At the same time, a killed Mumps virus showed a relatively very weak antitumor effect as a stimulant of immunity in unresponsive melanoma, which indicates the predominant role of the oncolytic but not immunostimulating effect of the virus [7]. These are only a few studies that had been conducted in the field of oncovirotherapy before the 1980s, not to mention the multitude of studies on animals. By the way, Moore in 1949 showed a complete destruction of murine sarcoma 180 on a mouse model under the influence of Russian Far East encephalitis virus under certain conditions [8, 9], which became a milestone in the development of oncovirotherapy. The limiting

factor for the widespread use of oncovirotherapy was an inability to restrict the viral process to make it minimally harmful to healthy tissues and limit viral replication to tumor cells alone. Therefore, in the 1970s and 1980s, the research activity around oncolytic viruses was somewhat faded due to certain legal and ethical limitations, but interest in them did not disappear.

At the same time, attempts were being made to reduce the systemic damage of the viruses for the organism. In 1952, Moore notes that the passaging of the virus in a culture of tumor cells increases its tropism 20- to 30-fold to this tumor in vivo [10]. This was the beginning of an era of manipulation of the viruses, although it was still far from real interventions in their structure and genome.

Trying to reduce the harm of viruses a hypotheses of virus competing for the target organ have been put forward: to reduce the harm of a Russian Far East encephalitis virus, it was proposed to simultaneously infect the object with a nonpathogenic neurotropic Newcastle disease virus [11]. This slightly prolonged survival, but the Newcastle disease virus did not show interference with the most oncolytically active at those years Egypt 101 isolate of West Nile virus [2].

Attempts have been made to use viruses that are pathogenic for some animal species to treat tumors of other species. The most successful example was an avian Newcastle Disease Virus. Injected to mice with abdominal cavity carcinoma (Ehrlich ascites carcinoma), it caused a significant without tumor response any manifestations of a viral disease [12]. The very important clue then was the detection of the increase in antitumor immunity after treatment with oncolytic virus-more than 80% of mice cured by the virus did not develop carcinoma after repeated application of this type of cancer cells [13]. This became the basis for understanding that the virus not only causes lysis of the cancer cell but also stimulates anticancer immunity.

However, at that time, the risk associated with an infection of the animal population with a virus that they had never contacted before and had no protection against was underestimated. Such a virus, according to the theory of epidemiology, can adapt, acquire pathogenicity, and increase virulence toward the unprotected species. One of the viruses used in oncolytic studies was the feline panleukopenia virus, which mutated and acquired the ability to transmit to dogs. It is believed that this virus infected 80% of dogs around the world in the late 1950s as canine parvovirus infection [14, 15].

In the early 1990s, with the advent of DNA recombination technologies and virus-based genetic engineering, oncovirotherapy reached a new stage of development. Now, it has become possible to create recombinant viruses that can only replicate in cells with certain propertiesfor example, fast-proliferating cells. Martuza's experiment demonstrated the selective activity of the herpes simplex virus with deleted thymidine kinase gene in the malignant glioma tissue [16]. In 1998, the Phase I clinical trial of the G207 virus for patients with brain tumors started in the United States [17], in 2015—the Phase I trial of this virus in children with supratentorial brain tumors [18]. In 2005, H101, a recombinant adenovirus, was approved in China for the treatment of head, neck, and esophageal cancers [19, 20]. In 2015, T-VEC was approved by the FDA for the treatment of melanoma in the United States and in 2016 in Europe and Australia [21–23].

27.2 Model of Oncolytic Virus and Macroorganism Interaction

Immediate realization of the oncolytic potential of the virus occurs, undoubtedly, after its direct interaction with the tumor. This is preceded by the introduction of the virus into the macroorganism—its infection. Depending on the route of administration, which basically can be either intratumoral or systemic, the virus is more or less in contact with the bloodstream, where it is exposed to the primary influence of protective factors that it has to overcome in order to provide the expected effect.

The immune system of the macroorganism was originally considered and indeed is an obstacle to the effective use of oncolytic viruses. Even in the earliest studies in the 1950s, it was observed that active tumor necrosis under the influence of APC virus did not last long due to the eradication of the virus by the host's immune system. In addition, patients who had previously suffered an adenovirus infection showed less response. Viruses which the patient could be contacted with prior to treatment, for example, adenoviruses or poxviruses, are quickly inactivated by the neutralizing antibodies present in the body and demonstrate limited effectiveness. But even in the absence of preimmunization, the viruses rapidly interact with complement and are absorbed by phagocytic cells. Following the injection of vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) into the systemic circulation, after 2 min, most of the particles become associated with blood cells, and only a small part of them are free in the blood plasma. After 30 min, all the viral particles are already bound to the cells [24]. It turned out that among these cells there are not only ones specialized in virus eliminating but also others which contact with the virus opportunistically. The latter, migrating in the bloodstream, protect the viral particles penetrated into them or adhered on their surface from the immune response and disseminate them into tissues, where the cells migrate to perform their normal functions. Experiments with tumor-antigen-specific T lymphocytes loaded with oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus and reovirus in vivo showed minimal neutralization of viral particles even at high titers of virus-specific neutralizing antibodies in the animal. In natural conditions, carriers of viruses can be both T lymphocytes and dendritic cells (DCs), which was shown for retrovirus, Newcastle disease virus (NDV), VSV, and reovirus [25–30]. As artificial carriers, different cell lines that can selectively migrate into a tumor or even contact tumor cells are investigated: tumor-antigen-specific T cells, cytokineinduced killer cells. tumor-associated macrophages, mesenchymal stem cells, granulocytes, platelets, and others [31-35]. It is possible to coat the viral particles with polymers, for example, polyethylene glycol or poly-(N-(2-hydroxypropyl) methacrylamide) (pHPMA). This protects the virus from neutralization with antibodies and the T-cell response [36].

In other studies, the best response to OVs in immunosuppressive patients was noted, for example, those with lymphoma or leukemia. Cyclophosphamide was used as an immunosuppressive agent. Many chemotherapeutic agents are immunosuppressors themselves, so the recent issue is the development of the correct mode of combined chemo-virotherapy, in which the virus would be administrated during a period of slight immunosuppression. In addition, viruses that an individual rarely contacts under normal conditions and against which he does not have neutralizing antibodies (e.g., Seneca Valley virus) still have a theoretical advantage over the common types.

Another obstacle is the permeability of the tumor vessels. The tumor can often have a higher interstitial pressure in comparison with a pressure in the vessels, which makes it difficult to deliver therapeutic agents, including viruses. Chemotherapy, killing tumor cells, somewhat reduces intratumoral interstitial pressure and increases extravasation and intake of substances into the tumor, not affecting directly on vascular permeability [37]. This property should be considered when constructing regimens of combined therapy. Local nitric oxide, bradykinin, nitroglycerin, histamine, local hyperthermia, and lowdose paclitaxel increase vascular permeability and substance leakage into the tumor and enhance oncolytic virus bioavailability [38–40]; systemic angiotensin receptor blockers reduce the collagen deposition inside tumors, which results in the decreasing of intratumoral interstitial pressure [41], VEGF enhances endothelial proliferation and angiogenesis in the tumor, enhancing tumor perfusion by the virus and vascular permeability (see below).

To date, in practical use, only mechanical protection of the virus from immune surveillance and tumor barriers is used so far in a form of direct intratumoral ways of introducing the virus, although this method is sometimes complicated and not always safe for the patient and possible.

27.3 Interaction Between Oncolytic Virus and Tumor

Oncolytic viruses carry with them two mechanisms of antitumor effect: direct cytolysis of tumor cells and enhancement of antitumor immunity. Intracellular replication and accumulation of viral copies in the tumor cell leads to its direct destruction and cell death, resulting in the release of tumor-associated antigens and the provocation of an immune T-cell response [42–45]. In addition, genes of proteins that enhance or modify the immune response and even tumor antigens can be induced into the genome of the virus, which moves the virus to vaccine category.

As stated above, the main task of adapting the virus for use as an oncolytic agent is to make it as affine to tumor cells and associated endothelial cells and minimally pathogenic to normal cells as possible. Some viruses have a natural selectivity in relation to tumor tissue, due to certain features of its altered biology and can be used in a natural, unmodified form. Among such viruses are reovirus, parvovirus, coxsackievirus, and Newcastle disease virus.

The tumor itself with respect to its immunosuppressive microenvironment is an optimal place for the replication of the virus, where it cannot be registered by the immune surveillance in the early stages of the viral process. For example, a number of tumors represent reduced expression of type I IFN and have fewer receptors to it or a disturbed signaling pathway (the pathway that leads to inhibition of cell division and activation of p53). In such conditions, viruses such as VSV, vaccinia, Newcastle disease virus, and mumps virus have an advantage and multiply unhindered [46, 47]. However, the role of type I IFN in the interaction of the tumor with the virus is not completely clear and is probably bivalent, and its formation in the tumor can lead to an increase in tumoristatic or lytic effect (see below).

Knowing the peculiarities and differences of the metabolic or signaling pathways of a cancer cell and the absence of or the altered activity of certain functional proteins in it, it is possible to adapt the virus and make it able to replicate only in conditions of such perverted cell biology. For example, by knocking out viral genes that block the antiviral defense of the host cell, if this defense is absent in the tumor, it is possible to achieve the selective replication of the virus only within the tumor. Among the disturbed metabolic pathways that are potential targets for the virus selectivity are the defects of the RB/E2F/p16 mechanism, p53, PKR, EGFR, Ras, Wnt, antiapoptosis, hypoxia conditions, or defects in IFN [48–51]. In general, the mechanism of the virus selectivity can be associated with its penetration into the cell, for example, if the cancer cell expresses unique receptors to which the virus is affine (EGF receptor, Her2-neu, folate receptor, prostate-specific membrane antigen and CD20, and nuclear transcription factors PSA, hTERT, COX-2, and osteocalcin are believed to be potential targets for modified viruses [36, 52]), with a disturbed synthesis of IFN in the tumor (Newcastle disease virus, see below), or with disturbed protective antiviral signaling pathways of the tumor cell (as in T-VEC; see below) [53].

27.3.1 Model of Tumor Destruction Under the Virus Influence

A model of the destruction of tumor formation under the influence of infection with OV is very controversial and, for sure, varies for different tumors and viruses. However, with sufficient confidence, it could be argued that this destruction is multimodal and is mediated by the cooperative impact of several factors. A good model of the complex effect of OV on tumor death is proposed by Mahoney D. on the example of vesiculovirus [54]:

Infection of the tumor cell ultimately leads to its lysis via specific pathways and ultrastructural disorders (immunogenic cell death; see mechanism below) and infection of a number of surrounding tumor cells. At this time, intratumoral resident dendritic cells react to a viral infection (by detecting DAMPs and PAMPs, described below) and activate innate immune response, recruiting NK cells, macrophages, and neutrophils. It is interesting to note that some viruses (in particular, vesiculovirus) can increase the release of type 3 IFN by intratumoral immunocytes, with subsequent increase in the number of NK cell receptors on the tumor cells, making them more vulnerable [55]. Recruited innate immunity cells destroy both infected and noninfected tumor cells. Dendritic cells then absorb tumor and viral antigens, migrate to regional lymph nodes, and present antigens to T lymphocytes, which means activation of an adaptive immune response. Activated antigen-specific T lymphocytes migrate into the tumor and continue destroying its cells. For some viruses, tropism was shown to the endothelium of vessels that supply the tumor (a presumable association with an excess of VEGF). Infection of endothelial cells attracts neutrophils and develops vasculitis and thrombus formation in the vessels of the tumor that leads to ischemic necrosis of the tumor tissue.

27.3.2 Immunogenic Cell Death

Oncolytic viruses, as well as some chemotherapeutic agents and radiotherapy, trigger a specific type of cell destruction. It does not fit completely into any of the classic ways of cell death (necrosis, apoptosis, and autophagy). Until recently, the death of tumor cells due to the effect of any therapeutic agents was considered in the context of nonimmune cell death or arrest of the cell cycle. Immunogenic cell death (ICD) of a tumor cell, or immunogenic apoptosis, is a complex response of a tumor cell to injurious effects, resulting in both apoptosis-like death and activation of a specific immune response to tumor antigens. ICD has been shown for anthracyclines, oxaliplatin, bortezomib, radiotherapy, photodynamic therapy, and viral agents [56–61].

The process of ICD starts when the agent affects certain structures of the cellular matrix and requires a contribution of reactive oxygen species (ROS). ROS cause a stress of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), but at least, just the presence of ER stress and ROS inside the cell simultaneously is required for ICD initiation. In other words, an ability to induce a ROS-based/ ROS-associated ER stress is the determining feature for an ICD inducer. Depending on the way of activation of ER stress, all inducers are divided into two types. Type 1 affects intracellular structures other than ER, triggering its stress indirectly through such targets as cytoplasmic proteins, membrane proteins and channels, and proteins of

Inducer	Cellular target			
Type I inducers				
Anthracyclines	DNA or proteins of DNA replication			
	machinery			
Oxaliplatin	DNA synthesis			
Bortezomib	ERAD, 26S proteasome, CIP2A			
UVC irradiation	DNA			
Cyclophosphamide (frequent	DNA			
low-dose administration) [63]				
7A7 (EGFR-specific antibody)	Cell surface receptor (EGFR)			
Cardiac glycosides (if combined with chemotherapeutic agents) [62]	Na ⁺ /K ⁺ -ATPase			
Vorinostat (HDAC inhibitor)	Nucleus (chromatin structure)			
Shikonin	Tumor-specific pyruvate kinase-M2 protein			
Wogonin	Mitochondria			
Type II inducers				
Hypericin-based photodynamic	Endoplasmic			
therapy	reticulum			
Oncolytic viruses	Endoplasmic			
	reticulum			

 Table 27.1
 Immunogenic cell death inducers [56, 62–64]

EGFR epidermal growth factor receptor, *UVC* ultraviolet C, *ERAD* endoplasmic-reticulum-associated protein degradation, *HDAC* histone deacetylase, *CIP2A* cancerous inhibitor of protein phosphatase 2A

the DNA replication system. This type mainly includes chemotherapeutic agents and UV radiation. Type 2 agents trigger ER stress impacting directly the ER and disrupt its operation. This type mainly refers to oncolytic viruses [56, 58, 59] (Table 27.1).

ER stress is a state of ER in which it either undergoes synthetic overload and therefore cannot cope with an excessive needs of folding of proteins (physiological stress) or synthesizes pathological proteins that cannot be folded into a tertiary structure properly (pathological stress). Disturbances of protein glycosylation or folding into a soluble form, the presence of mutant proteins, and some viral infections lead to ER stress. Eukaryotic cells have developed a protective mechanism against ER stress—the unfolded protein response (UPR) [65]. UPR is a complex of transmembrane proteins of ER whose domains

protrude in both the ER lumen and the cytoplasm of the cell: inositol-requiring protein 1 (IRE1), PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase (PERK), and activating transcription factor (ATF)-6 [66]. These proteins are associated with chaperone glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78) in the ER lumen, which detects non-folded or misfolded proteins in ER and releases IRE1, PERK, and ATF-6; they undergo activation by homodimerization and autophosphorylation (but ATF-6 migrates to the Golgi where it is activated by the proteases) [66–68]. Activated PERK inhibits protein synthesis by phosphorylation of eIF-2 α (i.e., protein shutoff response); eIF-2 α triggers an expression of ATF4 which in turn upregulates expression of CHOP that inhibits a gene encoding anti-apoptotic BCL-2 while enhancing expression of pro-apoptotic BIM. Activated IRE1 triggers an expression of protein degradation enzymes (ERAD). ATF-6 triggers an expression of chaperone genes that refold the misfolded proteins [57]. If an activity of the UPR complex is not sufficient to eliminate ER stress, the described adaptation phase is replaced by an alarm phase and further, through a triggering of signaling pathways such as Fas-associated death domain protein (FADD)/caspase-8-dependent cell death, leads to a cell death [69], which can proceed both via caspase-dependent (apoptosis) and caspaseindependent pathway (necrosis) [57] (Fig. 27.1).

Immunogenicity of a cell death is determined by a release of signals into an extracellular environment that indicate a nonphysiological nature of the occurring apoptosis-danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), also called alarmins. DAMPs are intracellular molecules that do not normally come out from the cell but when it is stressed, traumatized, or dying are released into surrounding tissues to be detected by receptors of immune cells. Not all DAMPs are pro-inflammatory-some serve as immunosuppressors to downregulate autoimmune reactions in response to a cell death, thereby providing mechanisms for tolerogenic cell death. Among the latter DAMPs are phosphatidylserine (PS), annexin A1 (ANXA1), death domain 1a (DD1a), and B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2 (BCL2). Main immunogenic DAMPs are adenosine triphosphate (ATP), high-mobility


Fig. 27.1 Unfolded protein response. IRE1, PERK, and ATF6 are ER transmembrane proteins that have their domains both in the ER lumen and cytoplasm. GRP78 in normal conditions binds ER luminal parts of IRE1, PERK, and ATF6, attenuating their activity. Accumulation of unfolded or misfolded proteins in the ER lumen leads to GRP78 dissociation and migration into the lumen. Consequently, released IRE1 and PERK are activated through homodimerization and autophosphorylation; ATF6 migrates to Golgi where it undergoes selective proteolysis and subsequent translocation to the nucleus. ATF6 being a transcription factor modulates the expression of genes encoding ER chaperones, which enhance protein folding in ER, and ERAD proteins, which provide degradation of unfolded proteins. Activated IRE1a provides the selective excision of the intron fragment from XBP-1 mRNA (selective splicing). Spliced XBP-1 mRNA translates protein with transcription factor properties that regulates transcription of ERAD pathway proteins and ER

group box 1 (HMGB1), heat shock proteins (HSP70, HSP90), and calreticulin (CRT) [59–61]. Their releasing mechanisms, as well as target receptors on immune cells, are presented in Table 27.2.

ER stress, which precedes ICD, is accompanied by an appearance on the surface of the cell chaperons in conjunction with ATF6. Activated PERK phosphorylates eIF2 α , which in turn inhibits overall protein translation but enhances translation of ATF4. ATF4 acts as a transcription factor for CHOP, which in turn augments expression of GADD34 and pro-apoptotic BIM but decreases anti-apoptotic BCL-2. GADD34 is a downregulator of the phosphorylated eIF2a activity. Accumulation of ROS due to enhanced protein synthesis along with the expression of pro-apoptotic genes leads to apoptosis [70-73]. IRE1 inositol-requiring protein 1, PERK PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase, ATF6 activating transcription factor-6, ATF4 activating transcription factor-4, GRP78 chaperone glucose-regulated protein 78, ER endoplasmic reticulum, ERAD ER-associated protein degradation, XBP-1 X-box binding protein 1, $eIF2\alpha$ eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2, CHOP C/EBP homologous protein, GADD34 growth arrest and DNAdamage-inducible 34, BIM Bcl-2-like protein 11, BCL-2 B-cell lymphoma 2 protein, ROS reactive oxygen species

membrane of proteins serving as an immunogenic "eat-me" signal for antigen-presenting cells, primarily dendritic cells (DCs). Any ICD, regardless of the inducer, is accompanied by an appearance of calreticulin on the membrane and a release of the immunomodulating molecules such as adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and high-mobility group box

DAMP	Mechanism of release	Immunocytes' receptors	Related mechanisms of cell death
ATP	Actively or passively released	P2Y2 and P2X7	ICD, apoptosis/ secondary necrosis and necrosis
Calreticulin	Mostly surface exposed; sometimes passively released	CD91 (LRP1)	ICD
Heat shock proteins (HSP70, HSP90)	Surface exposure, active secretion, or passive release	CD91 (LRP1), TLR2, TLR4, SREC-1, and FEEL-1	ICD, apoptosis/ secondary necrosis, necrosis
High- mobility group box 1	Mostly passively released; sometimes actively released	TLR2, TLR4, RAGE, and TIM3	ICD, secondary necrosis and necrosis

 Table 27.2
 Main DAMPs occurring in ICD and their brief descriptions

DAMP danger-associated molecular pattern, *ICD* immunogenic cell death, *ATP* adenosine triphosphate, *LRP1* low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1, *TLR* Toll-like receptor, *SREC-1* scavenger receptor expressed by endothelial cells 1, *FEEL-1* fasciclin EGF-like, laminin-type EGF-like, and link domain-containing scavenger receptor-1, *RAGE* receptor for advanced glycation end products, *TIM3* T-cell immunoglobulin and mucindomain containing-3

1 (HMGB1) into an extracellular space [60, 74]. Calreticulin (CRT) is an ER-chaperone protein; its migration from the ER to the surface of the cell membrane is a sign of the onset of apoptosis even before its morphological features appear. Translocation of CRT to the surface of the cell membrane is initiated by an activation of caspase-8. The latter leads to an activation of BAX/ BAK and cleavage of their substrate Bap31. This is considered necessary for the beginning of migration of CRT [75]. The translocation of CRT is due to its binding to the ERp57 protein, and an CRT/ERp57 complex migrates to the surface [56, 69]. Various proteins of UPR, apoptosis (BAX/BAK/caspase-8), cytosolic Ca2+ play a role in calreticulin transportation to the cell surface. On the membrane, CRT is deposited on low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1) [76, 77]. It is CRT that is considered to be the main signal that causes the immunogenicity of cell death. A blockade of CRT or depletion of CRT with small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) neutralizes the immunogenicity of cell death [76]. Part of CRT is also secreted into an extracellular space, acting as a pro-inflammatory agent and a modulator for DCs: after the impact of CRT, DCs release IL-6, IL-8, and TNF-alpha [78], and the antigen-presentation mechanism is changed—the MHC II pathway is inhibited, and MHC I is activated and, accordingly, a crosspresentation is, with the activation of CD8-T lymphocytes.

HSP90 is another DAMP released during ICD that also migrates to the cell surface and is exposed associated with LRP1. Both surface-exposed CRT and HSP90 interact with specific receptors on the membrane of the immune cell (for example, LRP1 of the DC), which becomes an immunogenic "eat-me" signal for the latter [79–81].

ATP, being a "find-me" signal, binds to P2Y2 receptors of DCs, making them migrate to the apoptosis region. In addition, ATP binds to P2X7 receptors of DCs that activate the NALP3inflammasome complex, which acts as a trigger for caspase-1 in monocytes [56, 80]. Caspase-1 serves as a protease of pro-IL-1 β protein; thus, its activation increases expression of IL-1 β by a DC. IL-1 β acts as a pro-inflammatory agent; it, together with presentation of tumor antigens, activates the CD8+ T cells and triggers an antitumor adaptive immune response [82, 83].

HMGB 1 is a nuclear protein that is passively released both in necrosis and in the late phase of apoptosis and is an agonist of Toll-like receptor (TLR)-4 of DCs [56]. Its interaction with the receptor stimulates maturation of the DCs and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Additionally, HMGB 1 induces multiplication of the IFN-producing Th1 cells clone [84]. The activity of HMGB 1 depends on its redox state. Reduced HMGB 1 behaves as a chemoattractant for leukocytes, disulfide-bond possessing HMGB1—as an inducer of pro-inflammatory cytokines release, and oxidized state is inactive [85]. Moreover, HMGB 1 inhibits immunosuppressive Treg cells of the tumor microenvironment [57].

Along with the release of immunogenic DAMPs during ICD, the cell loses tolerogenic "don't eat me" signals. Among such signals is CD47. Moreover, a decrease in the level of CD47 is considered necessary for CRT to manifest its immunogenic properties as an "eat me" signal [58, 86–88].

A picture of ICD caused by a number of OVs is similar to the ICD resulting from other inducers: coxsackievirus B3 [89], measles virus [90], and CD40-ligand expressing adenovirus [91] lead to cell death, which is accompanied by the release of the main described DAMPs-calreticulin, ATP, and HMGB1. However, processes occurring on the ultrastructural level during the OV-mediated ICD is not identical to that caused by other agents. OV takes control of the protein synthesis machinery and mechanisms of cell death, so its course may differ from the described. For example, OV can regulate the cell death apparatus in a way that allows its activation only after all cell energetic resources (ATP) have been depleted [50]. For Newcastle disease virus, it has been shown that it can trigger both caspase-mediated (apoptosis) and caspase-independent (necrosis) death. Also, for this virus, no exposure of HSP70/90 and ATP by the dying cell was observed during ICD. Concerning ATP, this is probably due to its expenditure on viral replication [92].

DCs consume tumor-associated antigens (both endogenous and neoantigens, as well as viral antigens) and present them to the cells of the adaptive immune response in lymph nodes, which in the presence of the immunogenic (but not tolerogenic) DAMPs leads to liberation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-6/IL-12/ IL-1 β) [93, 94] by DCs and activation of T cells: polarization of CD4+ lymphocytes into the Th1 and Th17 cells for type-I antibody-dependent antitumor immune reactions (DC-released IFN-γ polarizes CD4+ and also acts as a cytostatic agent for tumor cells) and activation of CD8+ cytotoxic lymphocytes (CTL) by the aid of Th1 cells (cytotoxic lymphocytes cause direct toxic effects on tumor cells mediated through IFN-γ, FasL-CD95 interaction, and perforin-granzyme action) [59, 61, 74, 95–97]. Different OVs presumably can

differently activate different components of the adaptive immune response: for example, preferential activation of Th1 was shown for reovirusmediated oncolysis, while VSV promotes mostly Th17 cells [98]. During the adaptive immune response, a pool of memory T cells is formed, which provide prospective long-term antitumor immunity, mainly maintained by CD8+ T cells.

An obstacle to an effective immune response to the ICD of a tumor cell is the fact that tumorassociated antigens (TAAs) of solid tumors in fact are often self- or close-to-self-antigens. T lymphocytes carrying high-affinity T-cell receptors (TCRs) to these antigens normally undergo negative selection in the thymus and lymph nodes to prevent autoimmunity [99, 100]. Cells with low-affinity TCRs may elude negative selection, but their activity is usually insufficient to trigger a full-fledged immune response due to the immunosuppressive microenvironment in the tumor [101, 102]. ICD decreases the degree of this immunosuppression and increases activity of the low-affinity clone of T lymphocytes for a while, but this pool is quickly suppressed by mechanisms of peripheral tolerogenicity after the fading of ICD, and immunological memory hardly develops. This is especially relevant for chemotherapy regimens, because they have a limited duration of administration due to the development of adverse effects (e.g., severe lymphopenia, which diminishes the antitumor immunity) [99]. From this perspective, OVs seem to be an effective solution as an inductor of ICD-they replicate in a tumor causing ICD for as long, as they still are able to infect other tumor cells; such prolonged ICD stimulates the activity of lowaffinity T cells for a long time [59]. But if mutant antigens are present on the tumor, T lymphocytes carrying TCRs to them are not subjected to central (negative selection) and peripheral tolerogenesis, and therefore will be more active in the immune response and memory formation [103].

Another significant potentially positive difference of OVs from other inducers of ICD is that an infected cell, in addition to DAMPs, releases pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), which indeed are structural molecules and the products of the vital activity of the virus (like in the infection of normal non-tumorous tissues). Such additional stimulation may enhance the activity of immunocytes and increase the efficiency of cross-priming of TAAs and, therefore, the immune response to the tumor [57].

Some OVs, in particular Newcastle disease virus, trigger type I IFN response in tumor tissue additionally to ICD [104]. The effect is achieved both by the direct influence of IFN- α and IFN- β on the tumor cell followed by an activation of the antiproliferative effect by p53 induction [46], mediation of the stimulated CD8+ T lymphocytes and macrophages, and release of proinflammatory cytokines. The early phase of type I IFN response is the detection of PAMPs by monocytes and DCs via pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). This signal leads to the initiation of IFN- β and then IFN- α expression by these cells. The late phase is the interaction of the released IFN- α and IFN- β with the surface chain of the type I IFN receptor (IFNAR) and start of the synthetic phase of the IFN response, i.e., the signaling pathway resulting in activation of the expression of a wide variety of interferonstimulated genes (ISGs) that affect the life cycle of the virus at its various stages [105]. It is not yet clear which of the IFN response links are most effective and are of primary importance in the infection of tumor tissue, taking into account the immunosuppressive microenvironment and the disturbed apoptotic and inflammatory signaling pathways of neoplastic cells. IFN response in the tumor may presumably develop after a sufficiently massive infection of the tissue followed by an increase in pro-inflammatory properties of the microenvironment as far as leukocytes infiltration of the tumor occurs (Fig. 27.2). This mechanism requires further study.

27.4 Oncolytic Viruses of Current Interest

27.4.1 Artificially Modified Viruses

Modified oncolytic viruses are mainly normally pathogenic human viruses, which has been induced with specific modifications in their cell invasion or antiviral defense block apparatus, and therefore, they lose their pathogenicity in normal tissues but manifest it in neoplastic cells with defective defense or demonstrate their selectivity to cells with specific membrane receptors. Among the most studied of such viruses are HSV, adenoviruses, and vaccinia, and the most common modifications are blockades of genes attenuating antiviral protection in host cells, changes in proteins responsible for invasion into the cell, and insertions of immunomodulatory protein genes (e.g., GM-CSF) (Table 27.3).

27.4.1.1 Oncolytic Herpesviruses

Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) is the first drug of the OVs group that has proven to be effective in the Phase III clinical trials and is approved for use in Europe [110] and the United States [21, 111, 112].

The virus is constructed on the basis of HSV-1 with mutations in two genes: deletion of $\alpha 47$ and $\gamma 34.5$, with the insertion of human granulocyte-monocyte colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) gene into the locus of $\gamma 34.5$ gene [23]. γ 34.5 is responsible for the virus's ability to inactivate the protein synthesis block (protein shutoff) response to the viral invasion of the host cell and thus maintains its replication in the infected cell. Deletion of this gene makes the virus unable to reproduce in a normal cell. But in the neoplastic cell, where the mechanism of the protein shutoff is frequently disrupted, the mutant $\Delta \gamma 34.5$ virus can still replicate [113]. The $\alpha 47$ gene serves as an inhibitor of the transporter associated with antigen presentation (TAP) protein. This transporter is involved in the mechanism of antigen presentation and particularly MHC class I expression on the cell surface. Its inhibition makes infected cells invisible for CD8+ CTL [114, 115]. Switching off the $\alpha 47$ gene enhances expression of Ag/MHC I complexes on tumor cells and antitumor immune response. In addition, inactivation of $\alpha 47$ enhances expression of a neighboring US11 gene that additionally increases viral replication in cells [113, 116]. Expression of GM-CSF further enhances maturation of DCs and, consequently, the immune response. In the murine bilateral flank tumor model, a GM-CSFexpressing virus showed an oncolytic effect



Fig. 27.2 Immunogenic cell death. Intratumoral or systemic injection of OV leads to selective infection of tumor cells due to the dysregulation of their functional pathways (e.g., antiviral defense machinery) or presence of specific receptors or immunosuppressive media (see in the text). Normal tissues are not susceptible to OVs which are either normally nonpathogenic for humans or have genetic modifications providing such selectivity. Infection of cancer cells with an OV causes the consequent response, including ER stress, disadaptation of unfolded protein response pathways, and activation of apoptosis machinery through a caspase-8-dependent cell death pathway. Immunogenic apoptosis is accomplished by the release of DAMPs: surface-exposed CRT and HSP90 which act as "eat me" signals for DCs and extracellular ATP and HMGB1—"find me" signals; TAAs that are processed by DCs for antigen presentation; and PAMPs—viral proteins and nucleic acid that enhance recruitment of immunocytes and are also used for antigen presentation. Replicated viruses released during the cell death invade surrounding cancer cells. Activated DC releases pro-inflammatory

cytokines that reduce immunosuppressive properties of tumor microenvironment by Treg attenuation and enhance immune response by additional recruiting of NK. Maturated DCs then migrate to regional lymph nodes which present tumor and viral antigens to CTL and Th cells, accordingly initiating adaptive immune response. Tumor (and virus)-specific lymphocytes then infiltrate the primary tumor, as well as distant metastatic tumors that were not exposed to the OV, causing immune-mediated oncolysis [54, 56, 57, 59, 97, 106, 107]. *ER* endoplasmic reticulum, *UPR* unfolded protein response, *DAMPs* danger-associated molecular patterns, *PAMPs* pathogenassociated molecular patterns, *TAAs* tumor-associated antigens, *CRT* calreticulin, *HSP90* heat shock protein 90, *HMGBI* high-mobility group box 1, *ATP* adenosine triphosphate, *LRP1* low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1, *TLR-4* Toll-like receptor-4, *CTL* cytotoxic T lymphocyte, *Th* T-helper, *NK* natural killer, *Treg* regulatory T lymphocyte

	1 1		1 1	, i	
Virus family	Virus species	Genome	Mechanism of invasion	Virus strain (name), genetic modification	Current development status
Herpesviridae	HSV-1	dsDNA	Membrane receptors— Glycoprotein D for epithelial cells; HVEM, nectin-1, and nectin-2 for neurons	Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) ($\Delta\gamma$ 34.5/ $\Delta\alpha$ 47/GM-CSF (+))	Approved by FDA for stage IIIB-IVM1a melanoma
Adenoviridae	Adenovirus	dsDNA	Membrane receptors—CAR; HSPG and low- density lipoprotein receptors for hepatocytes	H101 (ΔE1B55K/ ΔE3)	Approved by Chinese state Food and Drug Administration for advanced head and neck cancer
				ICOVIR-5 (E1AΔ24/ E2F1 (+)/RGD-4C (+) into the fiber knot)	Phase I trial for melanoma
				CG0070 (ΔE3/ GM-CSF (+))	Phase II trial for bladder cancer
				OBP-301 (hTERT promoter (+))	Phase I/II trial for hepatocellular carcinoma; phase I for esophageal carcinoma
Reoviridae	Reovirus	dsRNA	Membrane receptors—Sialic acid, JAM-1	Reolysin (non-modified)	Phase III trial for advanced/metastatic head and neck cancer
Paramyxoviridae	NDV	ssRNA	Plasma membrane fusion	NDV (non-modified)	Phase I/II trial for glioblastoma, sarcoma, and neuroblastoma
				NDV oncolysate- pulsed DCs (VOL- DCs) (vaccine)	Received advanced therapeutic medicinal product status
	Measles virus	ssRNA	Membrane receptors—CD46	MV-NIS (sodium/ iodine transporter (+))	Phase I/II trial for recurrent ovarian cancer
Picornaviridae	Coxsackievirus	ssRNA	Membrane receptors—CAR, ICAM-1, DAF	Cavatak (non-modified)	Phase I and II trial for melanoma
	Poliovirus	ssRNA	Membrane receptors—CD155	PVS-RIPO (ΔIRES/ IRES from human rhinovirus type 2 (+))	Phase I trial for glioblastoma
Poxviridae	Vaccinia	dsDNA	Plasma membrane fusion	JX-594 (ΔTK/ GM-CSF (+))	Phase III trial for hepatocellular carcinoma
Rhabdoviridae	VSV	ssRNA	Membrane receptors—LDLR	VSV-hIFNb (IFN-β (+))	Phase I trial for different solid tumors; phase I trial for lymphomas and leukemia
				GL-ONC1 (Δ F14.5L/ Δ J2R/ Δ A56R/Renilla luciferase (+)/GFP (+/, β -galactosidase (+))	Phase I/II trial for ovarian, fallopian tube cancer, peritoneal carcinomatosis

 Table 27.3
 General properties of current OVs under development [108, 109]

			Mechanism of	Virus strain (name),	Current development
Virus family	Virus species	Genome	invasion	genetic modification	status
	Maraba virus	ssRNA	Membrane receptors	MG1-MA3 (MageA3 (+))	Phase I/II trial for advanced/metastatic solid tumors
Parvoviridae	Parvovirus	ssDNA	Membrane receptors—Sialic acid, erythrocyte P receptor	ParvOryx (non-modified)	Phase I trial for glioma

Table 27.3	(continued)
-------------------	-------------

OVs oncolytic viruses, Δ deletion, (+) insertion, FDA Food and Drug Administration, HSV-1 herpes simplex virus-1, NDV Newcastle disease virus, VSV vesicular stomatitis virus, HVEM herpesvirus entry mediator, CAR coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor, HSPG heparan sulfate proteoglycan, JAM-1 junctional adhesion molecule 1, ICAM-1 intercellular adhesion molecule 1, DAF decay-accelerating factor, LDLR low-density lipoprotein receptor, IRES internal ribosome entry site, GFP green fluorescent protein, MageA3 melanoma-associated antigen 3

both at the site of intratumoral administration and in a distant homologues tumor, whereas the virus without the GM-CSF gene acted only in the primary-injected tumor site [44] (Fig. 27.3). Thus, acomplex theoretical model of the T-VEC virus action can be represented by the following:

At the site of intratumoral injection of the virus, it invades mainly cancerous cells that express an excess of receptors to which the virus has a natural tropism (such as HVEM, nectin-1, and nectin-2) but also normal cells. In normal cells, its replication does not occur since the mechanism of protein synthesis shutoff response is turned on, which cannot be blocked by the virus due to the absence of the $\gamma 34.5$ gene. In the tumor cell, the protein shutoff mechanism does not work, so the virus freely replicates in it. During replication, some viral antigens interact with TAP in the Golgi, since the viral protein that normally prevents this event is absent in the virus due to the deletion of $\alpha 47$; then, these viral antigens bind with MHC I, and this complex migrates to the cell surface. It promotes virus-specific CD8+ CTL formation, which triggers mechanisms of immune-mediated cell death and attract immunocytes, releasing IFN-gamma. Expression of GM-CSF additionally recruits DCs and macrophages into the tumor and triggers their maturation. Mature antigen-presenting cells then present tumor antigens to CD8+ T cells in lymph nodes; this process stimulates the formation of a tumor-specific clone of CTLs. Lysis of a cancer cell due to the replication of the virus inside it is an achievement of cytoreduction itself. Released from lysed cells, DAMPs, PAMPs and tumorassociated antigens on a background of the immune-activated microenvironment stimulate DCs to trigger an adaptive immune response. Activated antitumor immunity attacks both the primary tumor in which the virus was injected and metastatic foci [110] (see ICD mechanism above).

In Europe, indications for T-VEC is an unresectable melanoma in adults, which is regionally or distantly metastatic (stage IIIB, IIIC, and IVM1a), with no bone, brain, lung, or other visceral diseases [111]. In preclinical studies, T-VEC showed efficacy also in other types of neoplasm, but melanoma was initially chosen for the clinical trial because of the availability of superficial foci for intratumoral virus administration and the known activity of the immune system in this type of cancer.

T-VEC is administrated intratumorally in a maximum dose of 4 ml with a titer of $10^{6}-10^{8}$ plaque forming units (pfu)/ml diluted in phosphate-buffered saline. The injected dose depends on the size of the tumor: 0.1 ml is used for the tumor smaller than 0.5 cm in the largest dimension; size 0.5–1.5 cm, up to 0.5 ml; 1.5–2.5 cm, up to 1 ml; 2.5–5 cm, up to 2 ml; and lesions more than 4 cm, up to 4 ml. The first injection for the seronegative for HSV-1 patient



Fig. 27.3 Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) tumor selectivity. (a) Following the infection of a normal cell with a wild (normal) HSV-1 virus, a translation of viral proteins starts. Viral dsRNA binds host cell's PKR, being a strong stimulus for its activation. FKR undergoes homodimerization and autophosphorylation. Activated in this way, PKR phosphorylates EF2α, which causes global protein translation off (protein shutoff response for viral invasion). HSV-1 protein ICP 34.5, a product of γ 34.5 gene, binds PP1α, which redirects its activity in the way of dephosphorylation of eIF2α, accordingly blocking host cell's shutoff response. A product of viral α 47 gene ICP 47 blocks TAP that prevent viral antigen translocation into the Golgi and consequent binde infected cell from CD8+ CTL response. Deletion of these viral genes leads to full-fledged response on viral infection in normal cells. (b) Infection of a cancer cell with $\Delta\gamma$ 34.5/ $\Delta\alpha$ 47/GM-CSF (+) modified T-VEC proceeds to the following scenario. PKR

in cancer cells is basically attenuated, so it cannot provide eIF2 α phosphorylation and protein shutoff. ICP 34.5 does not express in T-VEC (due to γ 34.5 deletion), but it is not necessary in cancer cells as the shutoff response is already blocked. Enhanced expression of the viral *USI1* gene (a gene neighboring to γ 34.5) causes additional inhibition of PKR. The absence of ICP 47 leads to a normal presentation of MHC I/Ag complexes on the cell surface, causing virus-specific CTL-mediated oncolysis in addition to viral oncolysis (ICD). Expression of inserted GM-CSF provides enhanced DCs recruitment to the place of infection and their maturation [113–115, 117–119]. *HSV-1* herpes simplex virus-1, *ICP* 47 infected cell protein 47, *ICP* 34.5 infected cell protein 34.5, *PKR* protein kinase *R*, *eIF2* α eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2, *TAP* transporter associated with antigen presentation, *MHC I* major histocompatibility complex class I, *PP1* α protein phosphatase 1 α , *CTL* cytotoxic T lymphocyte, *TCR* T-cell receptor, *GM-CSF* granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor should be done with a titer of 10⁶ pfu/ml solution; the drug is first injected into the largest available tumor and then into others in order of decreasing size until a full one-time dose of 4 ml is applied. The second dose is given after 3 weeks, using a concentration of 10⁸ pfu/ml; injections are started with new tumors that have appeared since the previous visit and then the other tumor, starting from the largest, till the full single 4 ml dose is reached. Subsequent visits are conducted at 2-week intervals, with the same regime of injection of the virus. For superficial tumors, the needle is inserted into the central part of the tumor, and the dose is injected into all portions of the tumor, changing the direction of the needle but not removing it, if possible. Each needle removal, as well as injections into different foci, must be accompanied by a needle change. For deeply located formations when it is impossible to insert a needle under visual or palpatory control, ultrasound guidance is recommended. The needle should be removed slowly, during up to 15–30 s, in order to avoid leakage of the drug through the injection site [106, 111, 112].

In the Phase III clinical trial, OPTiM T-VEC showed its efficiency compared with the intratumoral administration of GM-CSF. Durable response rates (which means continuous response of ≥ 6 months beginning within the first 12 months of therapy), complete responses, and overall survival for patients with IIIB-IVM1a stage melanoma were significantly higher in an arm of talimogene laherparepvec than in GM-CSF. The average overall survival totaled 41.1 months in the T-VEC arm and 21.5 in the GM-CSF one (HR (95% CI) 0.57 (0.40–0.80)). Importantly, not only tumors that had undergone injections responded to the treatment, but also distant tumors did. A total of 64% of injected lesions, 34% of uninjected non-visceral lesions, and 15% of uninjected visceral lesions decreased in size by $\geq 50\%$ [21]. It means that the theoretical model of the mechanism of action of the virus is confirmed by its practical application.

Adverse effects (AEs) of talimogene laherparepvec are comparatively rare, and it is overall safe for clinical use. Among the most common AEs, pyrexia, chills, flu-like symptoms, general weakness and fatigue, and reactions at the injection site have been noted. Among serious AEs, cellulitis of the injection site with about 2% frequency has been noted. Immune-related AEs such as vasculitis, pneumonitis, and vitiligo have also been noted during talimogene laherparepvec treatment, all being nonserious and occurring in $\leq 7\%$ of patients [21, 111]. Generalization of infection in the form of herpetic infection is extremely rare and is presented by single cases, and moreover, the study of the genome of the virus-caused generalized infection in those patients revealed it was a wild, but not a genetically modified strain [43].

Although talimogene laherparepvec is generally safe, it is recommended to take certain precautions to prevent the transmission of the virus to a healthy person in close contact. Among these measures, during the whole treatment and 30 days after the last dose, avoid any contact with injection sites and body fluids (use of a condom during sexual intercourse, avoid kissing in the presence of wounds on the oral mucosa in any partner, and use individual dishes and personal care items); for 8 days after each injection, wear water- and airproof dressings at the injection sites, which when utilized should be packed in plastic bags. At the same time, during the treatment, there are no restrictions for patients to visit public places, restaurants, baths, etc. [43].

Contraindications to the use of talimogene laherparepvec are the presence of clinical or laboratory signs of herpetic infection in the patient, current use of antiviral drugs (for example, acyclovir), and severe immunodeficiency (due to HIV, leukemia, lymphoma, immunosuppressive therapy). Patients taking low doses of corticosteroids (up to 10 mg in the equivalent of prednisolone) may be considered as candidates for therapy. The use of the virus in pregnant women and children is not recommended, since this group has not been investigated in clinical trials (although animal studies showed no adverse effect on the fetus) [43].

27.4.1.2 Oncolytic Adenoviruses

As oncolytic agents, serotype 5 adenoviruses are most commonly used. The best-known representatives of oncolytic adenoviruses are H101, which is approved for clinical use in China; ONYX-015, the effectiveness of which is limited; ICOVIR-5; CV706; CG0070; and OBP-301, which are now undergoing clinical trials [120].

The genetic modification of adenoviruses, aimed to increase tumor selectivity, consists in modifying the way of virus penetration into the cell and the process of its replication following the invasion. Adenovirus serotype 5 invasion into the cell occurs in two phases: binding of fiber protein of the virus to the coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor (CAR) of the target cell [121, 122] and then penetration of the virus mediated by an interaction of arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD) sequence of the penton base and av integrins on the cell surface [123]. Genetic modification ordering to reduce adenovirus tropism to normal cells (detargeting) consists of deletion in RGD sequence (penton base) gene and induction of the mutation in the AB-loop of the fiber knob [124]. Increased tropism of the virus to tumor cells is achieved by modifying the viral capsid proteins-an insertion of tumor-specific ligands into C-terminus and HI-loop of fiber proteins, L1 loop of the hexon, RGD loop of the penton base, and minor capsid protein IX, which would bind to certain receptors that are present only or predominantly on the surface of the cancer cell [125–128]. The best modification is considered to be those consisting of the insertion of RGD-4C into the fiber knob of adenovirus [129, 130].

A possibility of not only systemic but also local administration of adenovirus is limited by its sequestration during passage through the liver, which is also associated with significant hepatotoxicity. Invasion of the liver cells occurs in a different, CAR-independent way, and therefore, the above-described method of detargeting is not sufficient to minimize the viral tropism to the liver cells [131]. Hepatocytes and Kupffer cells capture viruses by binding their HSPG and lowdensity lipoprotein receptors to the fiber knob domain but indirectly by the mediation of coagulation factor X and complement component C4-binding protein. Coagulation factor X binds to hypervariable regions (HVRs) of the adenovirus hexon [132, 133]. The genetic modification that prevents this is an induction of a mutation in the coagulation factor X-binding site of the HVR or replacement of the HVR gene with a homologous gene from another adenovirus serotype that does not undergo such sequestration in the liver [120].

Two main methods have been developed in order to limit the replication and cytolytic properties of adenovirus on tumor cells. The first method (or type 1 viruses) is to induce a mutation in the E1 region. E1B55K gene normally functions as an inhibitor of p53 and, consequently, apoptosis of the infected cell. H101 and ONYX-015 viruses carry deletion in this gene, so they can effectively infect and replicate only in tumor cells that lost p53 during progression. E1A gene serves to block the Rb-binding domain in Rb/E2F complex of the host cell which results in the release of E2F. The latter in its free state is a transcription factor and activates expression of proteins of DNA synthesis machinery (e.g., DNA polymerase, thymidine kinase, dihydrofolate reductase), which allows the replication of the virus DNA. A mutation of *E1A* gene (*E1A* Δ 24) limits replication of the virus only to those cells in which Rb is absent (e.g., malignant glioma or retinoblastoma cells). But this comes with a problem of toxicity: the virus contains an endogenous promoter of E1A gene, and therefore, enhanced expression of the defective $E1A\Delta 24$ gene occurs ubiquitously, which becomes toxic (primarily hepato- and hematotoxicity) and creates an obstacle to systemic administration of the virus. To correct this effect, an insertion of the E2F-1 promoter near $E1A\Delta 24$ gene site was performed. This promoter is activated by the free E2F dimer and is blocked by Rb/E2F complex (which is present in normal cells). Activation of the promoter in tumor cells enhances expression of $E1A\Delta 24$, and its block in normal cells inhibits this expression, which reduces the systemic toxic effects of the virus [120, 134]. The described

modification is present in the last generations of ICOVIR [12, 50].

The second method (type 2 viruses) is that a promoter is inserted into a genome of the virus, which is activated by a specific protein of the tumor cell, which limits the virus replication by a tumor or a specific tissue. This promoter regulates expression of E1A. For example, CV706 virus carries a promoter which is activated by the prostate-specific antigen and therefore multiplies primarily in prostate cancer cells. OBP-301 virus contains a promoter that responds to telomerase reverse transcriptase and, accordingly, multiplies in cells with a high amount of this enzyme [50, 120, 135].

27.4.1.3 H101

H101 virus (Oncorine) has been developed in China and approved by the Chinese State Food and Drug Administration for use as chemotherapy-combined treatment for advanced stages of head and neck tumors. In the Phase III clinical trial that was conducted in 2000–2004, the virus in combination with chemotherapy showed a 79% positive response rate, compared with 40% for chemotherapy alone [19]. H101 carries a deletion of E1B55K (see above) and deletion of the E3 genes. The latter is responsible for a synthesis of death protein and systemic toxicity of the virus. The mechanism of cell death caused by H101 infection probably lies in ICD, but immunological features and immune response to oncolytic adenoviruses are significantly less studied than that for talimogene laherparepvec. Monotherapy with H101 proves to be not enough effective, presumably because of the difficulties in overcoming barriers formed by the microenvironment of solid tumors by the virus [136, 137]. Therefore, currently, the possibilities of different types of combined therapy are being explored: e.g., a combination of transarterial chemoembolization with simultaneous intraarterial administration of H101 in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma showed 40% 3-year survival rate, while 22% in chemoembolization alone [138]. Histone deacetylase inhibitors in vivo have shown an ability to enhance CAR expression (see above) on the surface of tumor cells (e.g., esophageal squamous cell carcinoma) and, consequently, to increase the H101 infecting activity [137].

Besides H101, H102 and H103 viruses have been developed. H102 carries an alphafetoprotein-activated promoter and is therefore able to selectively replicate in hepatocellular carcinoma cells [134]. H103 carries a heat shock protein (HSP) 70 gene, which is a DAMP and enhances immunogenicity of tumor cytolysis. In 2009, the Phase I of H103 clinical trial ended. The results showed an objective response achieved in 11% of patients, and 48% had at least stabilization of the disease [139].

27.4.1.4 The Immune Response to Adenoviruses

The immune response in the context of oncovirotherapy usually consists of two aspects: elimination of the virus due to an activation of antiviral immunity and antitumor response, enhanced by the influence of the virus on the tumor and its microenvironment (i.e., ICD).

Studies with tumor-bearing animals infected with oncolytic adenovirus (VRX-007) have shown that in immunocompetent individuals (both those that were previously immunized with adenovirus and naive), neutralizing antibodies are formed by day 7 after virus administration and at the same time are detected in the tumor tissue; tumor growth stops for 2–3 weeks but then continues, and repeated injections of the virus no longer affect it [140].

On the other hand, the presence of antiadenoviral immunity plays a role in preventing the dissemination of the virus to normal tissues and provides a certain safety for virotherapy.

Insertion of genes of pro-inflammatory proteins into the genome of adenoviruses in order to strengthen the immunogenicity of infection and cell death is investigated: the abovementioned H103 with an inserted HSP70; proteins GM-CSF, Fas ligand, and IL-27, enhancing maturation and the function of antigen-presenting cells [141]; IL-12, activating T cells [142]; and IFN- α , IFN- β , and IFN- γ , which have a direct antitumor effect and stimulate the immune response [143–145]. A number of viruses expressing direct-acting antitumor molecules such as TNF α , Fas ligand, and TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) have been developed [146–148]. Most of these options were investigated only in preclinical studies, because due to the success of talimogene laherparepvec, interest in adenoviruses somewhat subsided, but the rapid development of the industry will lead to the need to find the most effective and safe recombinants of viruses, and adenoviruses are the most suitable candidate due to their well-studied genome and great availability for modifications.

27.4.2 Naturally Occurring Oncolytic Viruses

Naturally occuring oncolytic viruses are strains of viruses that are normally not pathogenic to humans, and therefore have minor and easily predicted systemic toxic properties, but exhibit antitumor activity against many neoplasms. They basically do not require any modifications aimed to promote tumor selectivity of the virus, because they do not infect normal human cells, but are able to penetrate and multiply in tumor cells that have lost their mechanisms of antiviral protection. These viruses include Newcastle disease virus, reovirus, parvovirus, and coxsackievirus. A number of natural OVs have modifications that are not associated with an enhancement of their selectivity but with a change in immunogenic properties, for example, VSV with the insertion of IFN-β, tumor antigen libraries and others (Table 27.3).

27.4.2.1 Newcastle Disease Virus

Newcastle disease virus (NDV) is an RNA virus belonging to the *Paramyxoviridae* family. It is basically pathogenic to birds but occasionally can cause an infection in humans in form of conjunctivitis or a mild flu-like syndrome.

NDV is divided into lentogenic (avirulent), mesogenic (medium-virulent), and velogenic (highly virulent) strains depending on the degree of pathogenicity to birds. Such differences are associated with the peculiarities of activation of F (fusion) protein, which provides penetration into the host cell and basically is inactive in its F0 form [149]. F0 is activated by selective cleavage, which in lentogenic NDV is performed only by trypsin-like proteases of the respiratory and digestive tract and, in mesogenic and velogenic by various proteases, for example furin, that is present ubiquitously [123, 149, 150]. This division is important to be understood if talking about viral immunotherapy, since the pathogenicity of NDV is in line with its oncolytic properties. Mesogenic and velogenic NDV can multicyclicly replicate in the human tumor tissue, and they are defined as lytic strains. Lentogenic NDV is prone to be attenuated after the first cycle of replication, and it is a non-lytic strain [151]. Non-lytic strain is interesting mainly in the meaning of being an object for gene-engineering-the artificial modification of the F protein, for example an insertion of the polybasic cleavage site, increases fusogenic and oncolytic properties of the virus and increases the clinical effect in vivo [149, 152-154].

NDV, being an RNA virus, replicate basing on formation of a double-stranded RNA. This structure is a strong inducer of cellular defense mechanisms, consisting in the synthesis of type I (α and β subtypes) and type III IFN, which, by enhancing expression of IFN stimulating genes of innate immunity cells, exhibits antiviral activity in healthy tissues, limiting the spread of the virus. Increased secretion of IFN- α/β at the site of NDV infection has been shown in a number of studies in vitro and in vivo, and generally there is no doubt concerning it. In the tumor tissue, production of IFN and response to it are often disrupted: a weak response of the human fibrosarcoma cell line to IFN- β was shown, due to reduced phosphorylation of IFN-pathway proteins STAT1 and STAT2 and weak activation of IFN-regulated genes [155] and disrupted pathways of apoptosis and antiviral protection (defects of RIG-I, IRF-3, IRF-7), as well as the role of immunosuppressive microenvironment [156, 157]. Reduced production of IFN does not

allow an adequate antiviral response to develop within the tumor at the first stages, allowing the virus to replicate and further infect tumor cells. The defect of apoptosis of infected cells (for example, an excess of anti-apoptotic activity of Bcl-xL [158] and Livin protein [159]) does not allow the virus to be elicited or to limit its replication in the tumor.

Another mechanism that determines the relative insensitivity of normal human cells to NDV is the blockade of viral RNA replication on the basis of a newly produced anti-genome nucleocapsid, which occurs after penetration of the virus into the cell and transcription of its genes. In tumor cells, this stage almost always occurs without the resistance of the host cell.

Cell lines expressing H-Ras and N-ras oncogenes demonstrate greater sensitivity to NDV than their analogs without these oncogenes. Human fibroblasts after N-ras-transfection acquire tumorigenicity and become 1000 times more sensitive to NDV [160]. HaCaT cells are insensitive to NDV before their transformation with H-Ras [161]. All these natural differences form the basis of selectivity of the virus, and NDV replicates 10,000 times faster in human cancer cells than in normal human cells [162].

NDV seems to be an attractive oncolytic agent because its entry into the cell occurs due to binding to sialic acid residues on the membrane that are present on cells of almost all human cancers, which provides a wide range for the use of the virus [163]. In addition, the human population potentially lacks immunity to NDV, so it does not limit its effectiveness (as for adenoviruses). NDV is not inclined to spontaneous recombination and integration into the host's genome. Toxic properties of the virus even in the case of systematic administration are minimal, since it is not basically pathogenic to humans [149].

The mechanism of tumor cell death infected with NDV is similar to ICD induced by other OVs. Among the PAMPs that the NDV-infected cell releases are 5'-triphosphate viral RNA [164], HN protein [165, 166], and double-stranded RNA [161]. These substances react with the pattern recognition receptors (PRR) of innate immunity cells and an early phase of type I IFN response starts as previously described [167, 168].

Among the specificities of ICD caused by NDV is an exposure of hemagglutinin-neuraminidase (HN) and F viral protein to the cell surface. HN protein reacts with Nkp46 PRR of NK cells, which stimulates cytotoxic antitumor properties [165]. HN also activates monocytes and stimulates the release of TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) [169]. HN on the surface of an infected cell enhances an adhesive ability for the better interaction with lymphocytes and is involved in stimulating CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes [170, 171].

In vitro infection of normal and tumor cell lines demonstrated that on the third day after the infection the viability of normal cells ranged 69–95%, while the viability of different malignant cells lines did not exceed 44% [172].

Local intratumoral administration of NDV leads to the tumor infiltration by NK cells and CD8+ and CD4+ FoxP3 lymphocytes, but not by immunosuppressive Treg, and consequently to a significant increase in immunostimulating/ immunosuppressive cells ratio. Particles of the virus can be found in a tumor undergone the direct administration of the virus for 96 h following an injection (and possibly further—depending on the method of detection). In a distant metastatic tumor, no virus particles can be detected, but the same lymphocytic infiltration is observed [173]. This indicates the formation of an antitumoral immune response, which confirms the theory of OV-induced ICD.

In preclinical studies, NDV showed its oncolytic effect on many solid tumors, including melanoma, colorectal carcinoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, pancreatic adenocarcinoma, pleural mesothelioma, and glioblastoma. In clinical trials, the virus was used both as a therapeutic agent and for the production of antitumoral vaccines in the form of tumor viral oncolysates (see below): for the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme [174, 175], colorectal carcinoma [176], pancreatic adenocarcinoma [177], breast adenocarcinoma [178], renal carcinoma [179], and others. A 10-year follow-up of patients with stage II malignant melanoma who received NDV as adjuvant postoperative therapy showed a 60% survival rate (while observations of such patients receiving standard treatment showed a survival rate of up to 33%) [180].

In 1993, Csatary tested MTH-68/HVVV strain in a placebo-controlled Phase II trial for the treatment of various advanced chemorefractory cancers, where a completely new route of administration of the virus was proposed: inhalations of viral particles at a dose of 4000 U/day, twice per week for 6 months, aimed on targeting pulmonary metastases. The effect was significant—a 2-year survival rate was 21% in the NDV arm and 0% in the control. The treatment was well tolerated, with no significant AEs [181].

In 2002, in Phase I clinical trial of the PV701 strain involving 79 patients with advanced chemoresistant tumors, a spectrum of the adverse effects of the virus was investigated. The most common AE was an influenza-like syndrome, occurring after the first dose but decreasing with subsequent administrations. Dose-limiting effects were dyspnea, diarrhea, and dehydration. Desensitization with minimal initial doses was proposed to address AEs, which increased the maximum tolerated dose tenfold [182, 183]. It is not completely clear how this desensitization affects the effectiveness of therapy, but its effect on toxicity was well-defined. The result of the trial demonstrated a complete response observed in one patient, a partial response in one patient, and minor responses in seven patients. Fourteen patients were progression-free for 4 months to over 30 months.

Non-lytic NDV strain was studied in 14 patients with glioblastoma. One patient had a complete response; all others had progressive disease [175].

To date, the evidence base is not sufficient for a final conclusion on the effectiveness of NDV as an immunotherapeutic drug. The available data clearly indicate that the virus has a potential and requires further research and more extensive clinical trials.

NDV is also studied as an antitumor vaccine in the form of oncolysates or whole-cell vaccines. These vaccines generally have proven to be safe and effective in uncontrolled clinical trials. A clear conclusion about the degree of clinical benefit is not yet available, and it is necessary to conduct controlled trials to make the final conclusion [149].

An interesting approach is proposed by Schirrmacher: a modification of autologous tumor cells taken during resection of the primary focus in a metastatic disease by NDV, to enhance the immunogenic properties and to use these tumor cells as a vaccine. In 2009, the results of the Phase II/III clinical trial of the autologous tumor vaccine modified with non-lytic Newcastle disease virus (ATV-NDV) for postoperative treatment of colorectal cancer with liver metastases were published. In patients with colon cancer, the 9- to 10-year survival rate differed significantly: 21.4% in the control group and 69.2% in the ATV-NDV group. It is interesting that no significant differences were noted in a rectal cancer subgroup [184, 185].

Later, Schirrmacher and others in the Immunological and Oncological Center in Cologne, Germany, modified the ATV-NDV vaccine by adding human DCs. The new vaccine was named viral oncolysate-pulsed DCs (VOL-DCs). This combination increases the efficiency of antigen presentation by cells, as the density of contact of the DCs with tumor antigens increases since the process begins in vitro even before administration to a patient. Exogenous antigenpresenting DCs stimulate maturation of tumorspecific T cells in the patient's body [168]. A proposed complex administration regimen is as follows: the patient receives injection of NDV and hyperthermia up to 38.5-40.5 °C as a pretreatment. After that, the VOL-DC vaccine is administrated [186]. Hyperthermia is a favorable background for enhancing immune responses. NDV triggers oncolysis and ICD of tumor cells that prepare the immune system by stimulation of the formation of a pool of VOL-specific lymphomostly CD4+ helpers. cytes, With the administration of the VOL-DC vaccine against a background of such an activated immunological status, the release of chemokines CCL3 is enhanced at the site of injection. This stimulates active migration of DCs to the regional lymph nodes, and CD4+ helpers increase efficiency of lymphocyte stimulation by DCs during the antigen presentation, improving the effect of vaccination [187]. VOL-DCs in 2015 received an approval for individual use in cancer patients as an advanced therapeutic medicinal product [168].

Genetically modified strains of NDV are developed and show a good effect. Among the modifications, as mentioned above, are increased fusogenicity by changing the F protein; insertion of NS1 protein (from influenza A virus) that alters immune response by inhibiting the type I IFN response and apoptosis [188]; arming with pro-apoptotic rFMW/AP proteins from chicken infectious anemia virus [189]; cytokines IFN γ , GM-CSF, IL-2, and TNF α [152]; immunoglobulins against ED-B fibronectin [190]; and insertion of tumor-associated antigens genes [191].

27.4.2.2 Reovirus

Reovirus (respiratory orphan enteric virus, genus *Orthoreovirus*, family *Reoviridae*) is a nonenveloped RNA virus that is ubiquitous, affecting the upper respiratory tract and the gastrointestinal tract with minimal clinical manifestations [192]. There are no known serious human diseases associated with reovirus [193]. The asymptomatic course of infection and the ubiquitous prevalence of the virus cause a high frequency of seropositivity to reovirus among the human population [194].

There are three serotypes of mammalian reovirus. Their prototypes were isolated in children with different manifestations of infection or without them. Type 3 Dearing (T3D), isolated from a child with diarrhea, is most widely studied for its oncolytic properties today, although other serotypes also show these properties [195].

The selectivity of T3D reovirus on normal and transformed cells has been studied back in the 1980s, and it was noted that normal cell lines are resistant to infection of the virus, whereas the virus causes cell lysis in transformed cells and the HeLa cell line [196].

Selective oncospecificity of reovirus is associated with the surface receptor of epidermal growth factor (EGFR) and its signaling pathway Ras. The Ras pathway is a proto-oncogene; it is associated with the control of the cell cycle, proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis of the cell. During transmission of the signal from the EGF membrane receptor, Ras changes from a guanosine diphosphate (GDP)-bound form into an active guanosine triphosphate (GTP)bound form, triggering the subsequent pathway elements. Mutation of the Ras gene can lead to a stabilization of the active GTP-bound Ras, and the pathway remains active regardless of the presence of EGF stimuli [197], and the cell acquires an ability of uncontrolled proliferation. Such a transformation can occur in another protein of this signaling path-RAF, which leads to the same effect. Hyperactivity of the Ras pathway is often found in cancer cells: up to 30% of all tumors [198], up to 90% of pancreatic cancer, 50% of colorectal, and 40% of lung cancer [199]. Normally, the antiviral protective mechanism of the cell reacts to invasion of reovirus as follows: double-stranded virus RNA (dsRNA) activates protein kinase R (PKR) by binding to the N-terminal domain. Activated PKR inhibits translation of viral proteins, thereby realizing the viral replication blockade (as in T-VEC antiviral response; see Fig. 27.3). Hypothetically, the elements of the Ras pathway system (probably its Ras/RalGEF/p38 part) can inhibit PKR activity [198, 200, 201], and therefore tumor cells with a highly active Ras system are very susceptible to reovirus infection.

However, there is evidence that the mechanism of oncospecificity of the virus is associated with other features of cell biology. In vitro on the squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck cell lines it was shown that sensitivity of the cells to reovirus did not correlate with a degree of activity of their Ras system, and stimulation or inhibition of EGFR and blockade of MAPK, PI3-K, and p38MAPK elements of the Ras pathway did not affect the cytotoxicity of the virus and the rate of growth of the infected tumor. Inhibition of phosphorylation of PKR (i.e., its artificial inactivation) also did not significantly increase sensitivity of primary resistant cells to reovirus. These data cannot be accepted as the only truth, but it should be remembered that based on this

information not only patients with biomarkers of increased activity of EGFR/Ras/MAPK pathway should be selected for reovirotherapy. Similarly, the criteria for selecting patients for clinical trials should not be a positive EGFR/Ras/MAPK status only [202].

One of the factors of cell's susceptibility to reovirus is the number of specific receptors on the cell surface—junctional adhesion molecule-1 (JAM-1) [203], but there are data that contradict this fact too [202]. The number of co-receptor sialic acid residues on cell membranes may also play role [193].

The mechanism of cell death under the influence of reovirus is thought to be caspasedependent apoptosis that occurs with a participation of TRAIL and caspase-8 pathways, which was mainly observed for melanoma cells and for several other tumors [204, 205]. Additionally, necroptosis was shown in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cell lines [206]. An immune response to tumor invasion by the virus and generally cell death occurs according to the common mechanism of ICD: recruitment of DCs, activation of NK and CD8+ T lymphocytes, and formation of antitumor immunity [207].

Due to the high degree of anti-reoviral immunity in the human population and rapid appearance of neutralizing antibodies even at the first contact of a nonimmune individual with the virus, the immune response is a significant limiting factor for systemic intravenous administration of reovirus [193]. The use of reovirus in animal models in combination with immunosuppressive cytotoxic agents such as cyclosporin A, cisplatin, and cyclophosphamide showed a better effect compared to monotherapy, partly because of reduced inactivation of the virus by neutralizing antibodies [208, 209]. Cyclophosphamide, in addition, selectively inhibited Treg activity and antibody formation in response to reovirus and at the same time somewhat modulated the antitumor adaptive response by increasing activity of the T cells. It was also shown that the combination of cyclophosphamide and reovirus with IL-2 can further increase efficiency, probably by enhancing the NK cell response to the tumor [210].

On the other hand, in the experiment with murine tumor models, injection of reovirus to naive mice had minimal effect, while mice immunized against reovirus 2 weeks prior to treatment and having specific antibodies showed a much better tumor response and survival [211]. It supports the significant role of immune response in reoviral oncolysis, and therefore, it is necessary to find a balance between the maximum possible immunosuppression and the minimum necessary immunocompetence for the effective use of OVs in general.

In Phase I clinical trials, a good tolerability and an absence of dose-limiting adverse reactions to reovirus were shown in both intratumoral (in patients with subcutaneous tumors, prostate cancer, and malignant glioma) and intravenous administration (various solid tumors, metastatic colorectal cancer, multiple myeloma), including in combination with chemotherapeutic agents [212–216]. The maximum administrated dose was set on the level of 3×10^{10} TCID(50) (tissue culture infectious dose 50) per injection for 5 days per week, repeated every 4 weeks. However, the maximum tolerated dose wasn't achieved. Among AEs noticed during Reolysin therapy are grade 1 and 2 flu-like symptomsfever, fatigue, nausea and vomiting, and headache, which didn't depend on dose and cycle-and among grade 3 toxicities—flu-like symptoms and uncomplicated lympho- and neutropenia [217]. Combination of reovirus with chemotherapeutic agents like docetaxel also showed low toxicity: the frequency of grade 3 and 4 toxicities, like neutropenia, was relevant to those for docetaxel monotherapy [212].

A combination of reovirus with carboplatin and paclitaxel in 19 patients with refractory to preceded chemotherapy with platinumcontaining agents in advanced head and neck malignancies (mostly squamous cell tumors) has shown an achievement of a complete or partial response in 42% and stabilization in 32%. The median overall survival was 8.9 months that is significantly longer than in other second-line regimens [218]. In a similar study with 13 patients, a partial response was achieved in 31% and at least stabilization during 12 weeks in 46% [219]. The same combination was studied in patients with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer with a mutation in the Ras system. The results are median progression-free survival of 4 months, overall survival of 13.1 month (95% CI: 9.2–21.6), and 1-year survival rate of 57% [220]. Phase II clinical trials were conducted for metastatic small-cell lung cancer; melanoma; ovary, peritoneum, and fallopian tube malignancies; and unresectable pancreatic cancer [221].

Phase III clinical trial of a combination of IV reovirus with carboplatin and paclitaxel in comparison with carboplatin and paclitaxel alone in patients with advanced or metastatic head and neck tumors involving 167 patients is being conducted. Of these, for 118 patients with locoregionally advanced tumors (with and without metastases), results were obtained: median progression-free survival was 94 days (13.4 weeks, n = 62) in the reovirus with chemotherapy arm vs. 50 days (7.1 weeks, n = 56) in the chemotherapy alone arm. In the 88 patients discontinued from the study so far the median overall survival was 150 days (21.4 weeks, n = 50) in the test arm vs. 115 days (16.4 weeks, n = 38) in the control arm. Results of a group of metastatic disease have not yet been published [221, 222].

27.5 Combined Immunotherapy

OVs show their effectiveness in preclinical and clinical studies. However, knowing the immunological basis of tumor biology and the mechanism of OVs action, it should be assumed that the combination of viruses with other immunotherapeutic agents will have a better effect. This is especially relevant for targeting of distant metastatic tumors that are not directly exposed to OV, and accordingly they are not subjected to direct oncolysis and additional stimulation of the immune response with PAMPs, but only immunomediated reactions. In vivo in bilateral flank experiment with implanted human B16 melanoma, Zamarin and co-authors achieved 50% of complete regressions of the primary tumor followed infection with NDV, while the distant tumor that wasn't directly exposed to the virus regressed completely in 20%. In total, long-term survival did not exceed 10%. In the combination of IV NDV with anti-CTLA-4 antibodies (Ipilimumab), the primary tumor was rejected in 90% and the distant tumor in 80% of observations. The long-term survival rate exceeded 70% (in the anti-CTLA-4 group only—no more than 35%) [173].

A combination of vaccinia virus with anti-CTLA-4 antibodies in an experiment with murine models of subcutaneous mouse renal adenocarcinoma and murine colon adenocarcinoma showed an interesting feature of constructing of combined therapy regimens: when the virus and antibodies were administered simultaneously (on day 0), survival and tumor growth rate did not differ from those with vaccinia virus monotherapy, and account for about 10% survival rate by day 30 and tenfold tumor increase on days 20-25. However, administration of antibodies on day 4 from the onset of virotherapy increases survival to about 75% by days 30-35 and reduces the rate of tumor growth—a four- to fivefold increase on day 25. This is attributed to the fact that stimulation of the immunity with anti-CTLA-4 antibodies during the primary replication phase of the virus enhances antiviral immunity (as an increasing amount of CTLs recognizing vaccinia epitopes has been detected in the first case) and does not allow the virus to fully carry out its effect [223].

Reovirus showed increased efficacy when was used in combination with GM-CSF and anti-VEGF. In an experiment with murine tumor models (B16 melanoma), preconditioning with GM-CSF prior to the reovirus injection increased the titer of viral particles in the tumor 100–1000 times through enhancing its delivery to the tumor. An explanation for this is an ability of GM-CSF to mobilize monocyte/macrophages and stimulate infiltration of the tumor with them, which can act as carriers of viral particles. Survival rate of mice preconditioned with GM-CSF was significantly higher than those which undergone administration of either reovirus or GM-CSF alone. It should also be noted that mice that had antibodies to reovirus showed greater survival and the survival of naive individuals did not significantly differ from control groups [211]. Pretherapy of VEGF-secreting tumors carrying mice with anti-VEGF drugs followed by reovirus administration after 24 h twofold slows murine B16 melanoma tumor growth in the next 30 h compared to anti-VEGF only and to reovirus injected 48 h after anti-VEGF administration. Sunitinib and avastatin, in combination with reovirus, showed a high survival rate of mice, whereas in monotherapy each drug showed a low survival. However, in the same study on the VEGF-non-secreting tumor model, conditioning with the proangiogenic agent VEGF₁₆₅ increased the effect of reovirus and survival twofold. This fact is associated with increased delivery of the virus to a tumor due to the developed tumor vascular system under the influence of $VEGF_{165}$. The authors suggest two scenarios for possible applications of this data: for tumors producing VEGF, a combination of OV with an antiangiogenic agent, and for VEGF-non-secreting tumors-OV with proangiogenic VEGF₁₆₅ [224].

A combination of GM-CSF/reovirus and anti-PD-1 also significantly increases survival compared to GM-CSF/reovirus alone and anti-PD-1 alone in vivo. The same result was observed for a combination of VSV-ASMEL (altered selfmelanoma epitope library, engineered VSV) and anti-PD-1. The best effect was shown for a combination of all components: GM-CSF/reovirus/ VSV-ASMEL + anti-PD-1. This approach simultaneously covers several aspects of the immune response: GM-CSF/reovirus causes primary oncolysis and release of tumor antigens and stimulates Th1 cells, VSV-ASMEL again provides a spectrum of tumor antigen (ASMEL genes products) and stimulates Th17, and finally anti-PD-1 enhances already activated Th1 and Th17 pools [98].

A combination of T-VEC with ipilimumab in the Phase Ib clinical trial for the treatment of IIIb–IV stage melanoma (with T-VEC regimen as described above, and ipilimumab 3 mg/kg IV every 3 weeks up to totally four infusions starting at the sixth week of virotherapy) showed a satisfactory safety profile with grade 3/4 treatmentrelated AEs rate of 26.3%, which were mostly associated with ipilimumab. Eighteen-month progression-free survival was 50%, and 18-month overall survival was 67%, which is a better result than when using either T-VEC or ipilimumab as monotherapy [225]. In the Phase II trial of this combination compared with ipilimumab monotherapy, the grade 3/4 AEs rate was 45% and 35% for combination and ipilimumab alone, respectively. Objective response (complete response or partial response, according to the modified immune-related response criteria) was achieved in 39% of patients in the combined therapy arm and 18% in ipilimumab only arm [226].

27.6 Conclusion

Oncolytic virotherapy is a novel stage of the development of cancer immunotherapy. Despite more than a hundred years history of studying various pathogenic agents as a therapy for neoplasms, only with the development of genetic engineering and understanding of the underlying immunological processes of the immunotherapy, their profound study and practical application have become possible. However, there is still a great deal of questions remaining unsolved concerning theoretical and practical aspects of virotherapy, and it cannot be stated that we are close to answering yet.

The immune system plays a central role in realization of the oncolytic potential of viruses. When the cell is infected, stress of the endoplasmic reticulum occurs, which leads to a specific type of death—an immunogenic cell death. During the immunogenic death, the cell secretes pro-inflammatory stimuli that attract innate immune response cells, i.e., NK and dendritic cells. The latter present antigens of the destroyed tumor cell and trigger an adaptive immune response that attacks both the infected tumor and distant, initially uninfected metastatic foci.

The main challenge of adaptation of viruses for their therapeutic use is to increase their selectivity toward tumor cells and to decrease it toward normal ones. This allows to enhance their effectiveness and to reduce systemic toxicity. Some viruses demonstrate this selectivity naturally and do not require genetic modifications. Mostly these are viruses that are basically nonpathogenic or mild pathogenic for humans: Newcastle disease virus, reovirus, parvovirus, and coxsackievirus. Other viruses require profound modifications, as they normally cause disease in a human or do not show sufficient affinity toward the tumor— HSV, adenoviruses, and vaccinia.

T-VEC (talimogene laherparepvec) is the first oncolytic virus approved by the FDA in 2015 in the United States as a treatment agent for advanced melanoma and in 2016 in Europe and Australia. The drug showed its effective-ness in Phase III trial OPTiM significantly increasing overall survival in comparison with GM-CSF.

Oncolytic adenovirus H101 has been approved in China for the treatment of advanced head, neck, and esophageal tumors. The genome of adenoviruses has been studied quite deeply, and a wide range of different modifications have been proposed for the virus adaptation, even some that allows virus to be activated only in certain types of tissues.

Newcastle disease virus shows its oncolytic properties even without genetic modifications and demonstrates low toxicity even in systemic administration. To date, clinical trial data do not allow us to make a final conclusion about its effectiveness because of the limited number of studies, but the available results clearly indicate the need for further investigation. Nowadays, NDV is being considered mostly in the context of cancer vaccines in the form of viral oncolysates and their various modifications.

Reovirus is currently undergoing Phase III clinical trial as a combined chemo-virotherapy for advanced head and neck tumors. The preliminary results have been published to argue in favor of the effectiveness of the drug.

The combination of oncolytic viruses with other immunotherapeutic agents is the key to enhancing the effect of both, as these drugs potentiate the action of each other. Such combinations remain relatively safe and do not show significant increase in the side effects rates.

Despite the apparent clinical effectiveness of oncolytic viruses and certain successes in understanding the theoretical aspects of their action, much remains not fully defined and contradictory. Further research is needed both for the development of new virotherapeutic agents and for an in-depth understanding of the current ones.

References

- Dock G. The influence of complicating diseases upon leukemia. Am J Med Sci. 1904;127(4):563–92.
- Kelly E, Russell SJ. History of oncolytic viruses: genesis to genetic engineering. Mol Ther. 2007;15(4):651–9.
- Page NGD. Sulla scomparsa di un enorme cancro vegetante del callo dell'utero senza cura chirurgica. Ginecologia. 1912;9:82–8.
- Robert R, Smith RJH, Wallace P. Studies on the use of viruses in the treatment of carcinoma of the cervix. Cancer. 1956;9(6):1211–8.
- Hoster HA, Zanes RP Jr, Von Haam E. Studies in Hodgkin's syndrome; the association of viral hepatitis and Hodgkin's disease; a preliminary report. Cancer Res. 1949;9(8):473–80.
- Chester M, Southam AEM. Clinical studies of viruses as antineoplastic agents, with particular reference to Egypt 101 virus. Cancer. 1952;5(5):1025–34.
- 7. Asada T. Treatment of human cancer with mumps virus. Cancer. 1974;34(6):1907–28.
- Moore AE. The destructive effect of the virus of Russian Far East encephalitis on the transplantable mouse sarcoma 180. Cancer. 1949;2(3):525–34.
- Moore AE, O'Connor S. Further studies on the destructive effect of the virus of Russian Far East encephalitis on the transplantable mouse sarcoma 180. Cancer. 1950;3(5):886–90.
- Moore AE. Viruses with oncolytic properties and their adaptation to tumors. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1952;54(6):945–52.
- Speir RW, Southam CM. Interference of Newcastle disease virus with neuropathogenicity of oncolytic viruses in mice. Ann NY Acad Sci. 1960;83:551–63.
- 12. Cassel WA, Garrett RE. Newcastle disease virus as an antineoplastic agent. Cancer. 1965;18:863–8.
- Cassel WA, Garrett RE. Tumor immunity after viral oncolysis. J Bacteriol. 1966;92(3):792.
- Parrish CR, Kawaoka Y. The origins of new pandemic viruses: the acquisition of new host ranges by canine parvovirus and influenza a viruses. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2005;59:553–86.

- Bierman HR, Crile DM, Dod KS, Kelly KH, Petrakis NL, White LP, et al. Remissions in leukemia of childhood following acute infectious disease: staphylococcus and streptococcus, varicella, and feline panleukopenia. Cancer. 1953;6(3):591–605.
- Martuza RL, Malick A, Markert JM, Ruffner KL, Coen DM. Experimental therapy of human glioma by means of a genetically engineered virus mutant. Science. 1991;252(5007):854–6.
- Markert JM, Medlock MD, Rabkin SD, Gillespie GY, Todo T, Hunter WD, et al. Conditionally replicating herpes simplex virus mutant, G207 for the treatment of malignant glioma: results of a phase I trial. Gene Ther. 2000;7(10):867–74.
- Waters AM, Johnston JM, Reddy AT, Fiveash J, Madan-Swain A, Kachurak K, et al. Rationale and design of a phase 1 clinical trial to evaluate HSV G207 alone or with a single radiation dose in children with progressive or recurrent malignant supratentorial brain tumors. Hum Gene Ther Clin Dev. 2017;28(1):7–16.
- Xia ZJ, Chang JH, Zhang L, Jiang WQ, Guan ZZ, Liu JW, et al. Phase III randomized clinical trial of intratumoral injection of E1B gene-deleted adenovirus (H101) combined with cisplatin-based chemotherapy in treating squamous cell cancer of head and neck or esophagus. Ai Zheng. 2004;23(12): 1666–70.
- Garber K. China approves world's first oncolytic virus therapy for cancer treatment. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2006;98(5):298–300.
- Andtbacka RH, Kaufman HL, Collichio F, Amatruda T, Senzer N, Chesney J, et al. Talimogene laherparepvec improves durable response rate in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(25):2780–8.
- Coffin R. Interview with Robert Coffin, inventor of T-VEC: the first oncolytic immunotherapy approved for the treatment of cancer. Immunotherapy. 2016;8(2):103–6.
- Fukuhara H, Ino Y, Todo T. Oncolytic virus therapy: a new era of cancer treatment at dawn. Cancer Sci. 2016;107(10):1373–9.
- Willmon C, Harrington K, Kottke T, Prestwich R, Melcher A, Vile R. Cell carriers for oncolytic viruses: fed ex for cancer therapy. Mol Ther. 2009;17(10):1667–76.
- Cole C, Qiao J, Kottke T, Diaz RM, Ahmed A, Sanchez-Perez L, et al. Tumor-targeted, systemic delivery of therapeutic viral vectors using hitchhiking on antigen-specific T cells. Nat Med. 2005;11(10):1073–81.
- 26. Kottke T, Qiao J, Diaz RM, Ahmed A, Vroman B, Thompson J, et al. The perforin-dependent immunological synapse allows T-cell activation-dependent tumor targeting by MLV vector particles. Gene Ther. 2006;13(15):1166–77.
- 27. Ilett EJ, Prestwich RJ, Kottke T, Errington F, Thompson JM, Harrington KJ, et al. Dendritic cells and T cells deliver oncolytic reovirus for tumor kill-

ing despite pre-existing anti-viral immunity. Gene Ther. 2009;16(5):689–99.

- Kottke T, Diaz RM, Kaluza K, Pulido J, Galivo F, Wongthida P, et al. Use of biological therapy to enhance both virotherapy and adoptive T-cell therapy for cancer. Mol Ther. 2008;16(12):1910–8.
- 29. Qiao J, Wang H, Kottke T, Diaz RM, Willmon C, Hudacek A, et al. Loading of oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus onto antigen-specific T cells enhances the efficacy of adoptive T-cell therapy of tumors. Gene Ther. 2008;15(8):604–16.
- 30. Qiao J, Kottke T, Willmon C, Galivo F, Wongthida P, Diaz RM, et al. Purging metastases in lymphoid organs using a combination of antigen-nonspecific adoptive T cell therapy, oncolytic virotherapy and immunotherapy. Nat Med. 2008;14(1):37–44.
- Adair RA, Roulstone V, Scott KJ, Morgan R, Nuovo GJ, Fuller M, et al. Cell carriage, delivery, and selective replication of an oncolytic virus in tumor in patients. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4(138):138ra77.
- 32. Thorne SH, Contag CH. Integrating the biological characteristics of oncolytic viruses and immune cells can optimize therapeutic benefits of cell-based delivery. Gene Ther. 2008;15(10):753–8.
- Eisenstein S, Chen SH, Pan PY. Immune cells: more than simple carriers for systemic delivery of oncolytic viruses. Oncolytic Virother. 2014;3:83–91.
- Kim J, Hall RR, Lesniak MS, Ahmed AU. Stem cellbased cell carrier for targeted oncolytic Virotherapy: translational opportunity and open questions. Viruses. 2015;7(12):6200–17.
- Roy DG, Bell JC. Cell carriers for oncolytic viruses: current challenges and future directions. Oncolytic Virother. 2013;2:47–56.
- Cattaneo R, Miest T, Shashkova EV, Barry MA. Reprogrammed viruses as cancer therapeutics: targeted, armed and shielded. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2008;6(7):529–40.
- Jain RK, Stylianopoulos T. Delivering nanomedicine to solid tumors. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2010;7(11):653–64.
- 38. Fang J, Nakamura H, Maeda H. The EPR effect: unique features of tumor blood vessels for drug delivery, factors involved, and limitations and augmentation of the effect. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2011;63(3):136–51.
- Yokoda R, Nagalo BM, Vernon B, Oklu R, Albadawi H, DeLeon TT, et al. Oncolytic virus delivery: from nano-pharmacodynamics to enhanced oncolytic effect. Oncolytic Virother. 2017;6:39–49.
- Jain RK. Normalizing tumor microenvironment to treat cancer: bench to bedside to biomarkers. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(17):2205–18.
- Barnett FH, Rainov NG, Ikeda K, Schuback DE, Elliott P, Kramm CM, et al. Selective delivery of herpes virus vectors to experimental brain tumors using RMP-7. Cancer Gene Ther. 1999;6(1):14–20.
- 42. Diop-Frimpong B, Chauhan VP, Krane S, Boucher Y, Jain RK. Losartan inhibits collagen I synthesis and improves the distribution and efficacy of nano-

therapeutics in tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(7):2909–14.

- Rehman H, Silk AW, Kane MP, Kaufman HL. Into the clinic: talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC), a first-in-class intratumoral oncolytic viral therapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:53.
- Hawkins LK, Lemoine NR, Kirn D. Oncolytic biotherapy: a novel therapeutic plafform. Lancet Oncol. 2002;3(1):17–26.
- 45. Lin E, Nemunaitis J. Oncolytic viral therapies. Cancer Gene Ther. 2004;11(10):643–64.
- 46. Takaoka A, Hayakawa S, Yanai H, Stoiber D, Negishi H, Kikuchi H, et al. Integration of interferon-alpha/beta signalling to p53 responses in tumor suppression and antiviral defence. Nature. 2003;424(6948):516–23.
- 47. Jhawar SR, Thandoni A, Bommareddy PK, Hassan S, Kohlhapp FJ, Goyal S, et al. Oncolytic virusesnatural and genetically engineered Cancer immunotherapies. Front Oncol. 2017;7:202.
- Naik S, Russell SJ. Engineering oncolytic viruses to exploit tumor specific defects in innate immune signaling pathways. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2009;9(9):1163–76.
- 49. Guo ZS, Thorne SH, Bartlett DL. Oncolytic virotherapy: molecular targets in tumor-selective replication and carrier cell-mediated delivery of oncolytic viruses. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2008;1785(2):217–31.
- Russell SJ, Peng KW, Bell JC. Oncolytic virotherapy. Nat Biotechnol. 2012;30(7):658–70.
- Bartlett DL, Liu Z, Sathaiah M, Ravindranathan R, Guo Z, He Y, et al. Oncolytic viruses as therapeutic cancer vaccines. Mol Cancer. 2013;12(1):103.
- Dorer DE, Nettelbeck DM. Targeting cancer by transcriptional control in cancer gene therapy and viral oncolysis. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2009;61(7–8):554–71.
- 53. Simpson GR, Relph K, Harrington K, Melcher A, Pandha H. Cancer immunotherapy via combining oncolytic virotherapy with chemotherapy: recent advances. Oncolytic Virother. 2016;5: 1–13.
- Mahoney DJ, Stojdl DF. Molecular pathways: multimodal cancer-killing mechanisms employed by oncolytic vesiculoviruses. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(4):758–63.
- 55. Wongthida P, Diaz RM, Galivo F, Kottke T, Thompson J, Pulido J, et al. Type III IFN interleukin-28 mediates the antitumor efficacy of oncolytic virus VSV in immune-competent mouse models of cancer. Cancer Res. 2010;70(11):4539–49.
- Inoue H, Tani K. Multimodal immunogenic cancer cell death as a consequence of anticancer cytotoxic treatments. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21(1): 39–49.
- Workenhe ST, Mossman KL. Oncolytic virotherapy and immunogenic cancer cell death: sharpening the sword for improved cancer treatment strategies. Mol Ther. 2014;22(2):251–6.

- Garg AD, Dudek-Peric AM, Romano E, Agostinis P. Immunogenic cell death. Int J Dev Biol. 2015;59(1–3):131–40.
- Garg AD, Galluzzi L, Apetoh L, Baert T, Birge RB, Bravo-San Pedro JM, et al. Molecular and translational classifications of DAMPs in immunogenic cell death. Front Immunol. 2015;6:588.
- Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(12):860–75.
- Garg AD, Dudek AM, Agostinis P. Cancer immunogenicity, danger signals, and DAMPs: what, when, and how? Biofactors. 2013;39(4):355–67.
- 62. Menger L, Vacchelli E, Adjemian S, Martins I, Ma Y, Shen S, et al. Cardiac glycosides exert anticancer effects by inducing immunogenic cell death. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4(143):143ra99.
- 63. Audia S, Nicolas A, Cathelin D, Larmonier N, Ferrand C, Foucher P, et al. Increase of CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells in the peripheral blood of patients with metastatic carcinoma: a phase I clinical trial using cyclophosphamide and immunotherapy to eliminate CD4+ CD25+ T lymphocytes. Clin Exp Immunol. 2007;150(3):523–30.
- Adkins I, Fucikova J, Garg AD, Agostinis P, Spisek R. Physical modalities inducing immunogenic tumor cell death for cancer immunotherapy. Onco Targets Ther. 2014;3(12):e968434.
- Diehl JA, Fuchs SY, Koumenis C. The cell biology of the unfolded protein response. Gastroenterology. 2011;141(1):38–41.
- Lee DY, Lee J, Sugden B. The unfolded protein response and autophagy: herpesviruses rule! J Virol. 2009;83(3):1168–72.
- Lin JH, Walter P, Yen TS. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in disease pathogenesis. Annu Rev Pathol. 2008;3:399–425.
- Xu C, Bailly-Maitre B, Reed JC. Endoplasmic reticulum stress: cell life and death decisions. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(10):2656–64.
- Panaretakis T, Joza N, Modjtahedi N, Tesniere A, Vitale I, Durchschlag M, et al. The co-translocation of ERp57 and calreticulin determines the immunogenicity of cell death. Cell Death Differ. 2008;15(9):1499–509.
- Vandewynckel YP, Laukens D, Geerts A, Bogaerts E, Paridaens A, Verhelst X, et al. The paradox of the unfolded protein response in cancer. Anticancer Res. 2013;33(11):4683–94.
- Lindholm D, Korhonen L, Eriksson O, Koks S. Recent insights into the role of unfolded protein response in ER stress in health and disease. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2017;5:48.
- Hetz C, Chevet E, Harding HP. Targeting the unfolded protein response in disease. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2013;12(9):703–19.
- Ojha R, Amaravadi RK. Targeting the unfolded protein response in cancer. Pharmacol Res. 2017;120:258–66.

- 74. Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:51–72.
- Panaretakis T, Kepp O, Brockmeier U, Tesniere A, Bjorklund AC, Chapman DC, et al. Mechanisms of pre-apoptotic calreticulin exposure in immunogenic cell death. EMBO J. 2009;28(5):578–90.
- Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, et al. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. Nat Med. 2007;13(1):54–61.
- 77. Garg AD, Krysko DV, Verfaillie T, Kaczmarek A, Ferreira GB, Marysael T, et al. A novel pathway combining calreticulin exposure and ATP secretion in immunogenic cancer cell death. EMBO J. 2012;31(5):1062–79.
- 78. Duo CC, Gong FY, He XY, Li YM, Wang J, Zhang JP, et al. Soluble calreticulin induces tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) and interleukin (IL)-6 production by macrophages through mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and NFkappaB signaling pathways. Int J Mol Sci. 2014;15(2):2916–28.
- 79. Spisek R, Charalambous A, Mazumder A, Vesole DH, Jagannath S, Dhodapkar MV. Bortezomib enhances dendritic cell (DC)-mediated induction of immunity to human myeloma via exposure of cell surface heat shock protein 90 on dying tumor cells: therapeutic implications. Blood. 2007;109(11):4839–45.
- Fucikova J, Moserova I, Urbanova L, Bezu L, Kepp O, Cremer I, et al. Prognostic and predictive value of DAMPs and DAMP-associated processes in cancer. Front Immunol. 2015;6:402.
- 81. Gopal U, Bohonowych JE, Lema-Tome C, Liu A, Garrett-Mayer E, Wang B, et al. A novel extracellular Hsp90 mediated co-receptor function for LRP1 regulates EphA2 dependent glioblastoma cell invasion. PLoS One. 2011;6(3):e17649.
- Aymeric L, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Martins I, Kroemer G, et al. Tumor cell death and ATP release prime dendritic cells and efficient anticancer immunity. Cancer Res. 2010;70(3):855–8.
- Ghiringhelli F, Apetoh L, Tesniere A, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Ortiz C, et al. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1beta-dependent adaptive immunity against tumors. Nat Med. 2009;15(10):1170–8.
- 84. Dumitriu IE, Baruah P, Valentinis B, Voll RE, Herrmann M, Nawroth PP, et al. Release of high mobility group box 1 by dendritic cells controls T cell activation via the receptor for advanced glycation end products. J Immunol. 2005;174(12):7506–15.
- Venereau E, Casalgrandi M, Schiraldi M, Antoine DJ, Cattaneo A, De Marchis F, et al. Mutually exclusive redox forms of HMGB1 promote cell recruitment or proinflammatory cytokine release. J Exp Med. 2012;209(9):1519–28.
- Gregory CD, Brown SB. Apoptosis: eating sensibly. Nat Cell Biol. 2005;7(12):1161–3.
- Gardai SJ, McPhillips KA, Frasch SC, Janssen WJ, Starefeldt A, Murphy-Ullrich JE, et al. Cell-surface calreticulin initiates clearance of viable or apoptotic

cells through trans-activation of LRP on the phagocyte. Cell. 2005;123(2):321–34.

- 88. Chao MP, Jaiswal S, Weissman-Tsukamoto R, Alizadeh AA, Gentles AJ, Volkmer J, et al. Calreticulin is the dominant pro-phagocytic signal on multiple human cancers and is counterbalanced by CD47. Sci Transl Med. 2010;2(63):63ra94.
- 89. Miyamoto S, Inoue H, Nakamura T, Yamada M, Sakamoto C, Urata Y, et al. Coxsackievirus B3 is an oncolytic virus with immunostimulatory properties that is active against lung adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res. 2012;72(10):2609–21.
- Donnelly OG, Errington-Mais F, Steele L, Hadac E, Jennings V, Scott K, et al. Measles virus causes immunogenic cell death in human melanoma. Gene Ther. 2013;20(1):7–15.
- Diaconu I, Cerullo V, Hirvinen ML, Escutenaire S, Ugolini M, Pesonen SK, et al. Immune response is an important aspect of the antitumor effect produced by a CD40L-encoding oncolytic adenovirus. Cancer Res. 2012;72(9):2327–38.
- 92. Koks CA, Garg AD, Ehrhardt M, Riva M, Vandenberk L, Boon L, et al. Newcastle disease virotherapy induces long-term survival and tumorspecific immune memory in orthotopic glioma through the induction of immunogenic cell death. Int J Cancer. 2015;136(5):E313–25.
- 93. Dudek AM, Martin S, Garg AD, Agostinis P. Immature, semi-mature, and fully mature dendritic cells: toward a DC-Cancer cells Interface that augments anticancer immunity. Front Immunol. 2013;4:438.
- 94. Kepp O, Senovilla L, Vitale I, Vacchelli E, Adjemian S, Agostinis P, et al. Consensus guidelines for the detection of immunogenic cell death. Onco Targets Ther. 2014;3(9):e955691.
- Ravichandran KS. Beginnings of a good apoptotic meal: the find-me and eat-me signaling pathways. Immunity. 2011;35(4):445–55.
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science. 2015;348(6230):69–74.
- 97. Garg AD, Romano E, Rufo N, Agostinis P. Immunogenic versus tolerogenic phagocytosis during anticancer therapy: mechanisms and clinical translation. Cell Death Differ. 2016;23(6):938–51.
- Ilett E, Kottke T, Thompson J, Rajani K, Zaidi S, Evgin L, et al. Prime-boost using separate oncolytic viruses in combination with checkpoint blockade improves anti-tumor therapy. Gene Ther. 2017;24(1):21–30.
- Baitsch L, Fuertes-Marraco SA, Legat A, Meyer C, Speiser DE. The three main stumbling blocks for anticancer T cells. Trends Immunol. 2012;33(7):364–72.
- Redmond WL, Sherman LA. Peripheral tolerance of CD8 T lymphocytes. Immunity. 2005;22(3):275–84.
- 101. Zehn D, Bevan MJ. T cells with low avidity for a tissue-restricted antigen routinely evade central and peripheral tolerance and cause autoimmunity. Immunity. 2006;25(2):261–70.
- 102. Ochsenbein AF, Klenerman P, Karrer U, Ludewig B, Pericin M, Hengartner H, et al. Immune surveil-

lance against a solid tumor fails because of immunological ignorance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(5):2233–8.

- 103. Gubin MM, Artyomov MN, Mardis ER, Schreiber RD. Tumor neoantigens: building a framework for personalized cancer immunotherapy. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(9):3413–21.
- 104. Schirrmacher V. Fifty years of clinical application of Newcastle disease virus: time to celebrate! Biomedicines. 2016;4(3):pii: E16.
- 105. Schirrmacher V. Signaling through RIG-I and type I interferon receptor: immune activation by Newcastle disease virus in man versus immune evasion by Ebola virus (review). Int J Mol Med. 2015;36(1):3–10.
- Johnson DB, Puzanov I, Kelley MC. Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC) for the treatment of advanced melanoma. Immunotherapy. 2015;7(6):611–9.
- 107. Tazawa H, Kuroda S, Hasei J, Kagawa S, Fujiwara T. Impact of autophagy in oncolytic adenoviral therapy for cancer. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(7):1479.
- Goldufsky J, Sivendran S, Harcharik S, Pan M, Bernardo S, Stern RH, et al. Oncolytic virus therapy for cancer. Oncolytic Virother. 2013;2:31–46.
- Butterfield LH, Kaufman HL, Marincola FM, editors. Cancer immunotherapy principles and practice. New York, NY: Demos Medical Publishing; 2017.
- 110. 4 Committee discussion. Talimogene laherparepvec for treating unresectable metastatic melanoma. Guidance. NICE; 2019. https://www.nice.org.uk/ guidance/TA410/chapter/4Committee-discussion. Accessed 20 Sep 2019.
- 111. IMLYGIC (talimogene laherparepvec). 2019. https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/ cellular-gene-therapy-products/imlygictalimogene-laherparepvec.
- 112. Harrington KJ, Michielin O, Malvehy J, Pezzani Gruter I, Grove L, Frauchiger AL, et al. A practical guide to the handling and administration of talimogene laherparepvec in Europe. Onco Targets Ther. 2017;10:3867–80.
- 113. Liu BL, Robinson M, Han ZQ, Branston RH, English C, Reay P, et al. ICP34.5 deleted herpes simplex virus with enhanced oncolytic, immune stimulating, and anti-tumor properties. Gene Ther. 2003;10(4):292–303.
- 114. Goldsmith K, Chen W, Johnson DC, Hendricks RL. Infected cell protein (ICP)47 enhances herpes simplex virus neurovirulence by blocking the CD8+ T cell response. J Exp Med. 1998;187(3):341–8.
- 115. Ahn K, Meyer TH, Uebel S, Sempe P, Djaballah H, Yang Y, et al. Molecular mechanism and species specificity of TAP inhibition by herpes simplex virus ICP47. EMBO J. 1996;15(13):3247–55.
- 116. Poppers J, Mulvey M, Khoo D, Mohr I. Inhibition of PKR activation by the proline-rich RNA binding domain of the herpes simplex virus type 1 Us11 protein. J Virol. 2000;74(23):11215–21.
- 117. Kohlhapp FJ, Kaufman HL. Molecular pathways: mechanism of action for Talimogene Laherparepvec, a new oncolytic virus immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(5):1048–54.

- 118. Kaufman HL, Kim DW, DeRaffele G, Mitcham J, Coffin RS, Kim-Schulze S. Local and distant immunity induced by intralesional vaccination with an oncolytic herpes virus encoding GM-CSF in patients with stage IIIc and IV melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17(3):718–30.
- 119. Shah AC, Parker JN, Shimamura M, Cassady KA. Spontaneous and engineered compensatory HSV mutants that counteract the host antiviral PKR response. Viruses. 2009;1(3):510–22.
- 120. Yamamoto Y, Nagasato M, Yoshida T, Aoki K. Recent advances in genetic modification of adenovirus vectors for cancer treatment. Cancer Sci. 2017;108(5):831–7.
- 121. Tomko RP, Xu R, Philipson L. HCAR and MCAR: the human and mouse cellular receptors for subgroup C adenoviruses and group B coxsackieviruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94(7):3352–6.
- 122. Bergelson JM, Cunningham JA, Droguett G, Kurt-Jones EA, Krithivas A, Hong JS, et al. Isolation of a common receptor for Coxsackie B viruses and adenoviruses 2 and 5. Science. 1997;275(5304): 1320–3.
- 123. Bai M, Harfe B, Freimuth P. Mutations that alter an Arg-Gly-asp (RGD) sequence in the adenovirus type 2 penton base protein abolish its cell-rounding activity and delay virus reproduction in flat cells. J Virol. 1993;67(9):5198–205.
- 124. Miura Y, Yoshida K, Nishimoto T, Hatanaka K, Ohnami S, Asaka M, et al. Direct selection of targeted adenovirus vectors by random peptide display on the fiber knob. Gene Ther. 2007;14(20): 1448–60.
- 125. Krasnykh V, Dmitriev I, Mikheeva G, Miller CR, Belousova N, Curiel DT. Characterization of an adenovirus vector containing a heterologous peptide epitope in the HI loop of the fiber knob. J Virol. 1998;72(3):1844–52.
- 126. Dmitriev I, Krasnykh V, Miller CR, Wang M, Kashentseva E, Mikheeva G, et al. An adenovirus vector with genetically modified fibers demonstrates expanded tropism via utilization of a coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor-independent cell entry mechanism. J Virol. 1998;72(12):9706–13.
- 127. Yoshida Y, Sadata A, Zhang W, Saito K, Shinoura N, Hamada H. Generation of fiber-mutant recombinant adenoviruses for gene therapy of malignant glioma. Hum Gene Ther. 1998;9(17):2503–15.
- Douglas JT, Miller CR, Kim M, Dmitriev I, Mikheeva G, Krasnykh V, et al. A system for the propagation of adenoviral vectors with genetically modified receptor specificities. Nat Biotechnol. 1999;17(5): 470–5.
- 129. Suzuki K, Fueyo J, Krasnykh V, Reynolds PN, Curiel DT, Alemany R. A conditionally replicative adenovirus with enhanced infectivity shows improved oncolytic potency. Clin Cancer Res. 2001;7(1):120–6.
- Alonso MM, Cascallo M, Gomez-Manzano C, Jiang H, Bekele BN, Perez-Gimenez A, et al. ICOVIR-5 shows E2F1 addiction and potent antiglioma effect in vivo. Cancer Res. 2007;67(17):8255–63.

- Beatty MS, Curiel DT. Adenovirus strategies for tissue-specific targeting. Adv Cancer Res. 2012;115:39–67.
- 132. Kalyuzhniy O, Di Paolo NC, Silvestry M, Hofherr SE, Barry MA, Stewart PL, et al. Adenovirus serotype 5 hexon is critical for virus infection of hepatocytes in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(14):5483–8.
- 133. Irons EE, Flatt JW, Doronin K, Fox TL, Acchione M, Stewart PL, et al. Coagulation factor binding orientation and dimerization may influence infectivity of adenovirus-coagulation factor complexes. J Virol. 2013;87(17):9610–9.
- Cheng PH, Wechman SL, McMasters KM, Zhou HS. Oncolytic replication of E1b-deleted adenoviruses. Viruses. 2015;7(11):5767–79.
- 135. Pesonen S, Kangasniemi L, Hemminki A. Oncolytic adenoviruses for the treatment of human cancer: focus on translational and clinical data. Mol Pharm. 2011;8(1):12–28.
- 136. Ma J, Li N, Zhao J, Lu J, Ma Y, Zhu Q, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitor trichostatin a enhances the antitumor effect of the oncolytic adenovirus H101 on esophageal squamous cell carcinoma in vitro and in vivo. Oncol Lett. 2017;13(6):4868–74.
- 137. Nguyen TL, Wilson MG, Hiscott J. Oncolytic viruses and histone deacetylase inhibitors—a multipronged strategy to target tumor cells. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2010;21(2–3):153–9.
- 138. He CB, Lao XM, Lin XJ. Transarterial chemoembolization combined with recombinant human adenovirus type 5 H101 prolongs overall survival of patients with intermediate to advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: a prognostic nomogram study. Chin J Cancer. 2017;36(1):59.
- 139. Li JL, Liu HL, Zhang XR, Xu JP, Hu WK, Liang M, et al. A phase I trial of intratumoral administration of recombinant oncolytic adenovirus overexpressing HSP70 in advanced solid tumor patients. Gene Ther. 2009;16(3):376–82.
- 140. Dhar D, Spencer JF, Toth K, Wold WS. Effect of preexisting immunity on oncolytic adenovirus vector INGN 007 antitumor efficacy in immunocompetent and immunosuppressed Syrian hamsters. J Virol. 2009;83(5):2130–9.
- 141. Tagawa M, Kawamura K, Shimozato O, Ma G, Li Q, Suzuki N, et al. Virology- and immunologybased gene therapy for cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2006;55(11):1420–5.
- 142. Lee YS, Kim JH, Choi KJ, Choi IK, Kim H, Cho S, et al. Enhanced antitumor effect of oncolytic adenovirus expressing interleukin-12 and B7-1 in an immunocompetent murine model. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(19):5859–68.
- 143. He LF, Gu JF, Tang WH, Fan JK, Wei N, Zou WG, et al. Significant antitumor activity of oncolytic adenovirus expressing human interferonbeta for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gene Med. 2008;10(9):983–92.

- 144. Shashkova EV, Spencer JF, Wold WS, Doronin K. Targeting interferon-alpha increases antitumor efficacy and reduces hepatotoxicity of E1A-mutated spread-enhanced oncolytic adenovirus. Mol Ther. 2007;15(3):598–607.
- 145. Su C, Peng L, Sham J, Wang X, Zhang Q, Chua D, et al. Immune gene-viral therapy with triplex efficacy mediated by oncolytic adenovirus carrying an interferon-gamma gene yields efficient antitumor activity in immunodeficient and immunocompetent mice. Mol Ther. 2006;13(5):918–27.
- 146. Shashkova EV, Kuppuswamy MN, Wold WS, Doronin K. Anticancer activity of oncolytic adenovirus vector armed with IFN-alpha and ADP is enhanced by pharmacologically controlled expression of TRAIL. Cancer Gene Ther. 2008;15(2):61–72.
- 147. Sova P, Ren XW, Ni S, Bernt KM, Mi J, Kiviat N, et al. A tumor-targeted and conditionally replicating oncolytic adenovirus vector expressing TRAIL for treatment of liver metastases. Mol Ther. 2004;9(4):496–509.
- 148. Hawkins LK, Hermiston T. Gene delivery from the E3 region of replicating human adenovirus: evaluation of the E3B region. Gene Ther. 2001;8(15):1142–8.
- 149. Zamarin D, Palese P. Oncolytic Newcastle disease virus for cancer therapy: old challenges and new directions. Future Microbiol. 2012;7(3):347–67.
- 150. Garten W, Berk W, Nagai Y, Rott R, Klenk HD. Mutational changes of the protease susceptibility of glycoprotein F of Newcastle disease virus: effects on pathogenicity. J Gen Virol. 1980;50(1):135–47.
- 151. Ahlert T, Schirrmacher V. Isolation of a human melanoma adapted Newcastle disease virus mutant with highly selective replication patterns. Cancer Res. 1990;50(18):5962–8.
- 152. Vigil A, Park MS, Martinez O, Chua MA, Xiao S, Cros JF, et al. Use of reverse genetics to enhance the oncolytic properties of Newcastle disease virus. Cancer Res. 2007;67(17):8285–92.
- 153. Altomonte J, Marozin S, Schmid RM, Ebert O. Engineered Newcastle disease virus as an improved oncolytic agent against hepatocellular carcinoma. Mol Ther. 2010;18(2):275–84.
- 154. Li P, Chen CH, Li S, Givi B, Yu Z, Zamarin D, et al. Therapeutic effects of a fusogenic Newcastle disease virus in treating head and neck cancer. Head Neck. 2011;33(10):1394–9.
- 155. Krishnamurthy S, Takimoto T, Scroggs RA, Portner A. Differentially regulated interferon response determines the outcome of Newcastle disease virus infection in normal and tumor cell lines. J Virol. 2006;80(11):5145–55.
- 156. Fiola C, Peeters B, Fournier P, Arnold A, Bucur M, Schirrmacher V. Tumor selective replication of Newcastle disease virus: association with defects of tumor cells in antiviral defence. Int J Cancer. 2006;119(2):328–38.
- 157. Wilden H, Fournier P, Zawatzky R, Schirrmacher V. Expression of RIG-I, IRF3, IFN-beta and IRF7

determines resistance or susceptibility of cells to infection by Newcastle disease virus. Int J Oncol. 2009;34(4):971–82.

- Mansour M, Palese P, Zamarin D. Oncolytic specificity of Newcastle disease virus is mediated by selectivity for apoptosis-resistant cells. J Virol. 2011;85(12):6015–23.
- 159. Lazar I, Yaacov B, Shiloach T, Eliahoo E, Kadouri L, Lotem M, et al. The oncolytic activity of Newcastle disease virus NDV-HUJ on chemoresistant primary melanoma cells is dependent on the proapoptotic activity of the inhibitor of apoptosis protein Livin. J Virol. 2010;84(1):639–46.
- 160. Lorence RM, Reichard KW, Katubig BB, Reyes HM, Phuangsab A, Mitchell BR, et al. Complete regression of human neuroblastoma xenografts in athymic mice after local Newcastle disease virus therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1994;86(16):1228–33.
- 161. Puhlmann J, Puehler F, Mumberg D, Boukamp P, Beier R. Rac1 is required for oncolytic NDV replication in human cancer cells and establishes a link between tumorigenesis and sensitivity to oncolytic virus. Oncogene. 2010;29(15):2205–16.
- 162. Reichard KW, Lorence RM, Cascino CJ, Peeples ME, Walter RJ, Fernando MB, et al. Newcastle disease virus selectively kills human tumor cells. J Surg Res. 1992;52(5):448–53.
- 163. Zaitsev V, von Itzstein M, Groves D, Kiefel M, Takimoto T, Portner A, et al. Second sialic acid binding site in Newcastle disease virus hemagglutininneuraminidase: implications for fusion. J Virol. 2004;78(7):3733–41.
- 164. Hornung V, Ellegast J, Kim S, Brzozka K, Jung A, Kato H, et al. 5'-triphosphate RNA is the ligand for RIG-I. Science. 2006;314(5801):994–7.
- 165. Jarahian M, Watzl C, Fournier P, Arnold A, Djandji D, Zahedi S, et al. Activation of natural killer cells by Newcastle disease virus hemagglutininneuraminidase. J Virol. 2009;83(16):8108–21.
- 166. Zeng J, Fournier P, Schirrmacher V. Induction of interferon-alpha and tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand in human blood mononuclear cells by hemagglutinin-neuraminidase but not F protein of Newcastle disease virus. Virology. 2002;297(1):19–30.
- 167. Washburn B, Schirrmacher V. Human tumor cell infection by Newcastle disease virus leads to upregulation of HLA and cell adhesion molecules and to induction of interferons, chemokines and finally apoptosis. Int J Oncol. 2002;21(1):85–93.
- 168. Schirrmacher V. Immunobiology of Newcastle disease virus and its use for prophylactic vaccination in poultry and as adjuvant for therapeutic vaccination in cancer patients. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(5):1103.
- 169. Washburn B, Weigand MA, Grosse-Wilde A, Janke M, Stahl H, Rieser E, et al. TNF-related apoptosisinducing ligand mediates tumoricidal activity of human monocytes stimulated by Newcastle disease virus. J Immunol. 2003;170(4):1814–21.

- 170. Jurianz K, Haas C, Hubbe M, Ertel C, Brunner G, Altevogt P, et al. Adhesive function of Newcastledisease virus hemagglutinin in tumor-host interaction. Int J Oncol. 1995;7(3):539–45.
- 171. Ertel C, Millar NS, Emmerson PT, Schirrmacher V, von Hoegen P. Viral hemagglutinin augments peptide-specific cytotoxic T cell responses. Eur J Immunol. 1993;23(10):2592–6.
- 172. Ginting TE, Suryatenggara J, Christian S, Mathew G. Proinflammatory response induced by Newcastle disease virus in tumor and normal cells. Oncolytic Virother. 2017;6:21–30.
- 173. Zamarin D, Holmgaard RB, Subudhi SK, Park JS, Mansour M, Palese P, et al. Localized oncolytic virotherapy overcomes systemic tumor resistance to immune checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(226):226ra32.
- 174. Steiner HH, Bonsanto MM, Beckhove P, Brysch M, Geletneky K, Ahmadi R, et al. Antitumor vaccination of patients with glioblastoma multiforme: a pilot study to assess feasibility, safety, and clinical benefit. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(21): 4272–81.
- 175. Freeman AI, Zakay-Rones Z, Gomori JM, Linetsky E, Rasooly L, Greenbaum E, et al. Phase I/II trial of intravenous NDV-HUJ oncolytic virus in recurrent glioblastoma multiforme. Mol Ther. 2006;13(1):221–8.
- 176. Ockert D, Schirrmacher V, Beck N, Stoelben E, Ahlert T, Flechtenmacher J, et al. Newcastle disease virus-infected intact autologous tumor cell vaccine for adjuvant active specific immunotherapy of resected colorectal carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 1996;2(1):21–8.
- 177. Schirrmacher V, Ahlert T, Probstle T, Steiner HH, Herold-Mende C, Gerhards R, et al. Immunization with virus-modified tumor cells. Semin Oncol. 1998;25(6):677–96.
- 178. Ahlert T, Sauerbrei W, Bastert G, Ruhland S, Bartik B, Simiantonaki N, et al. Tumor-cell number and viability as quality and efficacy parameters of autologous virus-modified cancer vaccines in patients with breast or ovarian cancer. J Clin Oncol. 1997;15(4):1354–66.
- 179. Pomer S, Schirrmacher V, Thiele R, Lohrke H, Brkovic D, Staehler G. Tumor response and 4 year survival-data of patients with advanced renal-cell carcinoma treated with autologous tumor vaccine and subcutaneous R-IL-2 and IFN-alpha(2b). Int J Oncol. 1995;6(5):947–54.
- 180. Cassel WA, Murray DR. A ten-year follow-up on stage II malignant melanoma patients treated postsurgically with Newcastle disease virus oncolysate. Med Oncol Tumor Pharmacother. 1992;9(4): 169–71.
- 181. Csatary LK, Eckhardt S, Bukosza I, Czegledi F, Fenyvesi C, Gergely P, et al. Attenuated veterinary virus vaccine for the treatment of cancer. Cancer Detect Prev. 1993;17(6):619–27.

- 182. Pecora AL, Rizvi N, Cohen GI, Meropol NJ, Sterman D, Marshall JL, et al. Phase I trial of intravenous administration of PV701, an oncolytic virus, in patients with advanced solid cancers. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(9):2251–66.
- 183. Lorence RM, Pecora AL, Major PP, Hotte SJ, Laurie SA, Roberts MS, et al. Overview of phase I studies of intravenous administration of PV701, an oncolytic virus. Curr Opin Mol Ther. 2003;5(6): 618–24.
- 184. Schulze T, Kemmner W, Weitz J, Wernecke KD, Schirrmacher V, Schlag PM. Efficiency of adjuvant active specific immunization with Newcastle disease virus modified tumor cells in colorectal cancer patients following resection of liver metastases: results of a prospective randomized trial. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2009;58(1):61–9.
- 185. Schirrmacher V, Fournier P, Schlag P. Autologous tumor cell vaccines for post-operative active-specific immunotherapy of colorectal carcinoma: long-term patient survival and mechanism of function. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2014;13(1):117–30.
- 186. Schirrmacher V. A new strategy of cancer immunotherapy combining hyperthermia/oncolytic virus pretreatment with specific autologous anti-tumor vaccination – a review. Austin Oncol Case Rep. 2017;2(1):1006.
- 187. Mitchell DA, Batich KA, Gunn MD, Huang MN, Sanchez-Perez L, Nair SK, et al. Tetanus toxoid and CCL3 improve dendritic cell vaccines in mice and glioblastoma patients. Nature. 2015;519(7543):366–9.
- 188. Park MS, Garcia-Sastre A, Cros JF, Basler CF, Palese P. Newcastle disease virus V protein is a determinant of host range restriction. J Virol. 2003;77(17):9522–32.
- 189. Wu Y, Zhang X, Wang X, Wang L, Hu S, Liu X, et al. Apoptin enhances the oncolytic properties of Newcastle disease virus. Intervirology. 2012;55(4):276–86.
- 190. Puhler F, Willuda J, Puhlmann J, Mumberg D, Romer-Oberdorfer A, Beier R. Generation of a recombinant oncolytic Newcastle disease virus and expression of a full IgG antibody from two transgenes. Gene Ther. 2008;15(5):371–83.
- 191. Vigil A, Martinez O, Chua MA, Garcia-Sastre A. Recombinant Newcastle disease virus as a vaccine vector for cancer therapy. Mol Ther. 2008;16(11):1883–90.
- 192. Kyula JN, Roulstone V, Karapanagiotou EM, Melcher AA, Harrington KJ. Oncolytic reovirus type 3 (dearing) as a novel therapy in head and neck cancer. Expert Opin Biol Ther. 2012;12(12): 1669–78.
- 193. Sahin EE, McMasters K, Zhou H. Development of oncolytic reovirus for cancer therapy. J Cancer Ther. 2013;4(6):1100–15.

- 194. Selb B, Weber B. A study of human reovirus IgG and IgA antibodies by ELISA and western blot. J Virol Methods. 1994;47(1–2):15–25.
- 195. Alloussi SH, Alkassar M, Urbschat S, Graf N, Gartner B. All reovirus subtypes show oncolytic potential in primary cells of human high-grade glioma. Oncol Rep. 2011;26(3):645–9.
- 196. Duncan MR, Stanish SM, Cox DC. Differential sensitivity of normal and transformed human cells to reovirus infection. J Virol. 1978;28(2):444–9.
- 197. Cassidy J, Bissett D, Spence R, Payne M, Morris-Stiff G. Oxford handbook of oncology. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2015.
- 198. Norman KL, Hirasawa K, Yang AD, Shields MA, Lee PW. Reovirus oncolysis: the Ras/RalGEF/ p38 pathway dictates host cell permissiveness to reovirus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(30):11099–104.
- 199. Bos JL. Ras oncogenes in human cancer: a review. Cancer Res. 1989;49(17):4682–9.
- 200. Strong JE, Coffey MC, Tang D, Sabinin P, Lee PW. The molecular basis of viral oncolysis: usurpation of the Ras signaling pathway by reovirus. EMBO J. 1998;17(12):3351–62.
- Mundschau LJ, Faller DV. Endogenous inhibitors of the dsRNA-dependent eIF-2 alpha protein kinase PKR in normal and ras-transformed cells. Biochimie. 1994;76(8):792–800.
- 202. Twigger K, Roulstone V, Kyula J, Karapanagiotou EM, Syrigos KN, Morgan R, et al. Reovirus exerts potent oncolytic effects in head and neck cancer cell lines that are independent of signalling in the EGFR pathway. BMC Cancer. 2012;12:368.
- 203. Song L, Ohnuma T, Gelman IH, Holland JF. Reovirus infection of cancer cells is not due to activated Ras pathway. Cancer Gene Ther. 2009;16(4):382.
- Clarke P, Meintzer SM, Spalding AC, Johnson GL, Tyler KL. Caspase 8-dependent sensitization of cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis following reovirus-infection. Oncogene. 2001;20(47):6910–9.
- Clarke P, Tyler KL. Down-regulation of cFLIP following reovirus infection sensitizes human ovarian cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Apoptosis. 2007;12(1):211–23.
- 206. Ikeda Y, Nishimura G, Yanoma S, Kubota A, Furukawa M, Tsukuda M. Reovirus oncolysis in human head and neck squamous carcinoma cells. Auris Nasus Larynx. 2004;31(4):407–12.
- 207. Gujar SA, Marcato P, Pan D, Lee PW. Reovirus virotherapy overrides tumor antigen presentation evasion and promotes protective antitumor immunity. Mol Cancer Ther. 2010;9(11):2924–33.
- 208. Pandha HS, Heinemann L, Simpson GR, Melcher A, Prestwich R, Errington F, et al. Synergistic effects of oncolytic reovirus and cisplatin chemotherapy in murine malignant melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(19):6158–66.

- 209. Smakman N, van der Bilt JD, van den Wollenberg DJ, Hoeben RC, Borel Rinkes IH, Kranenburg O. Immunosuppression promotes reovirus therapy of colorectal liver metastases. Cancer Gene Ther. 2006;13(8):815–8.
- 210. Kottke T, Thompson J, Diaz RM, Pulido J, Willmon C, Coffey M, et al. Improved systemic delivery of oncolytic reovirus to established tumors using preconditioning with cyclophosphamide-mediated Treg modulation and interleukin-2. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(2):561–9.
- 211. Ilett E, Kottke T, Donnelly O, Thompson J, Willmon C, Diaz R, et al. Cytokine conditioning enhances systemic delivery and therapy of an oncolytic virus. Mol Ther. 2014;22(10):1851–63.
- 212. Comins C, Spicer J, Protheroe A, Roulstone V, Twigger K, White CM, et al. REO-10: a phase I study of intravenous reovirus and docetaxel in patients with advanced cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(22):5564–72.
- 213. Morris DG, Feng X, DiFrancesco LM, Fonseca K, Forsyth PA, Paterson AH, et al. REO-001: a phase I trial of percutaneous intralesional administration of reovirus type 3 dearing (reolysin(R)) in patients with advanced solid tumors. Investig New Drugs. 2013;31(3):696–706.
- 214. Gollamudi R, Ghalib MH, Desai KK, Chaudhary I, Wong B, Einstein M, et al. Intravenous administration of reolysin, a live replication competent RNA virus is safe in patients with advanced solid tumors. Investig New Drugs. 2010;28(5):641–9.
- 215. Kicielinski KP, Chiocca EA, Yu JS, Gill GM, Coffey M, Markert JM. Phase 1 clinical trial of intratumoral reovirus infusion for the treatment of recurrent malignant gliomas in adults. Mol Ther. 2014;22(5):1056–62.
- 216. Harrington KJ, Karapanagiotou EM, Roulstone V, Twigger KR, White CL, Vidal L, et al. Two-stage phase I dose-escalation study of intratumoral reovirus type 3 Dearing and palliative radiotherapy in patients with advanced cancers. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(11):3067–77.
- 217. Vidal L, Pandha HS, Yap TA, White CL, Twigger K, Vile RG, et al. A phase I study of intravenous oncolytic reovirus type 3 Dearing in patients with advanced cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14(21):7127–37.
- 218. Karapanagiotou EM, Roulstone V, Twigger K, Ball M, Tanay M, Nutting C, et al. Phase I/II trial of carboplatin and paclitaxel chemotherapy in combina-

tion with intravenous oncolytic reovirus in patients with advanced malignancies. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18(7):2080–9.

- 219. Karnad A, Haigentz M, Miley T, Coffey M, Gill G, Mita M. Abstract C22: a phase II study of intravenous wild-type reovirus (Reolysin®) in combination with paclitaxel plus carboplatin in patients with platinum refractory metastatic and/or recurrent squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Mol Cancer Ther. 2011;10(11):Abstract nr C22.
- 220. Villalona-Calero MA, Lam E, Otterson GA, Zhao W, Timmons M, Subramaniam D, et al. Oncolytic reovirus in combination with chemotherapy in metastatic or recurrent non-small cell lung cancer patients with KRAS-activated tumors. Cancer. 2016;122(6):875–83.
- 221. Gong J, Sachdev E, Mita AC, Mita MM. Clinical development of reovirus for cancer therapy: an oncolytic virus with immune-mediated antitumor activity. World J Methodol. 2016;6(1):25–42.
- 222. Oncolytics Biotech® Inc. Announces additional data from REO 018 randomized study of REOLYSIN® in head and neck cancers. 2014. https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/ oncolytics-biotech-inc-announces-additional-datafrom-reo-018-randomized-study-of-reolysin-inhead-and-neck-cancers-254330821.html. Accessed 21 Sep 2019.
- 223. Rojas JJ, Sampath P, Hou W, Thorne SH. Defining effective combinations of immune checkpoint blockade and oncolytic Virotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(24):5543–51.
- 224. Kottke T, Hall G, Pulido J, Diaz RM, Thompson J, Chong H, et al. Antiangiogenic cancer therapy combined with oncolytic virotherapy leads to regression of established tumors in mice. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(5):1551–60.
- 225. Puzanov I, Milhem MM, Minor D, Hamid O, Li A, Chen L, et al. Talimogene laherparepvec in combination with Ipilimumab in previously untreated, Unresectable stage IIIB-IV melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(22):2619–26.
- 226. Chesney J, Puzanov I, Collichio F, Singh P, Milhem MM, Glaspy J, et al. Randomized, open-label phase II study evaluating the efficacy and safety of Talimogene laherparepvec in combination with Ipilimumab versus Ipilimumab alone in patients with advanced, unresectable melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(17):1658–67.



28

Immune Targeting of Oncogenic HPV as Therapy for Cancer

Peter L. Stern

Contents

28.1	Introduction	543
28.2	The Burden of HPV-Associated Cancers	544
28.3	The HPV Infection Life Cycle	545
28.4	HPV Carcinogenesis: Immune Deviation and Persistent HPV Infection	546
28.5	Therapeutic Vaccine Strategies	548
28.5.1	Protein/Peptide Vaccines	549
28.5.2	Listeria-Based Vaccines	551
28.5.3	Vaccinia-Based Vaccines	552
28.5.4	RNA Virus-Based Vaccines	553
28.5.5	Nucleic Acid-Based Vaccines	553
28.5.6	Cell-Based Vaccines	555
28.6	Adoptive Cell Transfer (ACT)	555
28.7	Optimizing Immune Intervention Strategies	556
28.7.1	Early Cancers	556
28.7.2	Later-Stage Cancers	556
28.8	Concluding Remarks	557
References		

28.1 Introduction

It is estimated that around 5% of all cancers may be associated with oncogenic HPV infections [1, 2]. The implementation of prophylactic vaccination programs based on virus-like particle (VLP) vaccines is showing success but will take time to impact on cancer rates and critically depends on delivery to those at risk and prior to infection [3]. This is particularly challenging for those in the developing world, and the VLP vaccines have no therapeutic activity and thus do nothing for the existing burden of disease. It is increasingly apparent that the immune system is a significant factor in the natural control of cancers [4]. This chapter will review the natural history

P. L. Stern (🖂)

Division of Molecular and Clinical Cancer Sciences, School of Medical Sciences, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK e-mail: peterstern125@btinternet.com

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

N. Rezaei (ed.), Cancer Immunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_28

of HPV-associated neoplasia and ongoing strategies utilizing immune targeting of HPV for therapy of these cancers.

28.2 The Burden of HPV-Associated Cancers

It is now clearly established that particular human papillomavirus infection (with a high-risk (hr) type 16, 18, 31, 33, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 56, 58, or 59) is a critical component in the development of cancers of the cervix, penis, vulva, vagina, anus and oropharynx [5]. The HPV attributable fractions (AF) of these malignancies worldwide [2] are 100%, 51%, 88% and 78% for cervix, penile, anal and vaginal carcinomas, respectively. There is an age dependency for vulvar cancer with AFs of 48%, 28% and 15% for women aged 15-54, 55–64 and >65 years. There are large disparities in AFs between regions/countries, for example, for oropharynx tumours 51% in North America, 42% in NW Europe, 50% in E Europe, 24% in S Europe, China (23%) and India (22%). Of the annual 608,000 HPV-associated cancers, only about 7% occur in males, while 87% are cancers of the cervix (Table 28.1).

Even before the involvement of HPV in cervical cancer was known, the availability of organized cervical smear screening programs enabled the detection of dysplastic cells from the cervix and could provide for secondary prevention [6]. To be fully effective, women need to attend multiple screening visits across their sexually active lifetime, delivered to populations by a wellorganized health service capable of providing

 Table 28.1 Annual worldwide incidence of HPVassociated cancers (×1000)

	Total	Attributed	Male	Female
Tissue	cases	to HPV	(HPV)	(HPV)
Cervix	530	530	-	530
Vulva	27	12	-	12
Anus	27	24	11	13
Vagina	13	9	-	9
Oropharynx	85	22	17.6	4.4
Penis	22	11	11	-
Total	700	608	39.6	568.4

high coverage and quality-assured methodology plus the downstream treatment and follow-up services. Primary prevention through prophylactic vaccination against the most oncogenic HPV types using VLP vaccines is now being implemented with encouraging success in many countries worldwide [3]. The available bivalent and quadrivalent vaccines both target the HPV 16 and 18 types, which account for about 70% of cancers (quadrivalent vaccine also contains VLPs for HPV 6/11, which cause benign genital warts). In clinical trials with high-grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN3) as the end point, protection is virtually 100% against the vaccine type lesions [7, 8]. However, cross protection against 16/18 related HPV types as best shown by the bivalent vaccine can raise the levels of protection against CIN 3 to about 93%. A nonavalent vaccine (quadrivalent plus VLPs for HPV types 31, 33, 45, 52, 58) offers a similar level of protection so no VLP vaccine is likely to be 100% effective since they do not necessarily provide protection against all oncogenic types [9]. A key ratelimiting feature is vaccination coverage which needs to be >80% to deliver maximal population protection [10]. The general policy is to immunize adolescent girls, and it will take >20 years for approaching the full impact on cervical cancer even with very efficient national programs. It is a fact that for the foreseeable future, many populations will simply not be vaccinated (or screened) and there will be many HPV-driven cancers that will need treatment for decades to come. The effectiveness of available treatments of lower genital tract neoplasia depends on early detection when surgical options can be curative. However, while chemoradiation therapy of cervical cancer can deliver 66–79% survival at 5 years, the outlook for patients with persistent or recurrent disease is very poor [11]. An increased understanding of the natural history of HPV infection and the mechanisms which lead to either immune control and viral clearance or immune deviation and viral persistence are illuminating opportunities to better harness the host response to treat HPV-associated immune disease.

28.3 The HPV Infection Life Cycle

The 8Kb double-stranded DNA genome of HPV consists of early genes encoding the E1, E2, E4, E5, E6 and E7 proteins plus late genes L1 and L2 encoding the capsid proteins [12]. The virus requires the cellular machinery within the normal process of epithelial renewal to complete its infectious life cycle. In the target tissue, for example, the transformation zone of the cervix, micro-abrasion exposes the basement membrane where the 55 nM virus particles bind and undergo some conformational changes that ultimately provide for uptake by basal epithelial cells [13, 14]. An initial period of genome amplification follows, with the maintenance of 50-100 copies of the viral episome in the basal cells. The process of virus production only begins once the infected basal cell begins to migrate upwards where eventually they exit the cell cycle and terminally differentiate. The early proteins E6 and E7 stimulate proliferation of the parabasal cells and thereby the replication apparatus, providing for enhanced cellular survival and time and machinery to replicate the viral genome [15]. The E6 and E7 proteins cooperate to abolish cell cycle checkpoint controls through the deregulation of two major tumour suppressor pathways, p53 and Rb, respectively. The E7 binds to Rb and promotes its degradation, and this releases the transcription factor E2F (critical for progression from G1 to S phase) that forces cells into division. This would normally trigger apoptosis, but this is prevented by the action of E6 on directing degradation of pro-apoptotic proteins like p53. The p53 pathway senses damage to the host genome and enables the cell to have time for repair or be eliminated through apoptosis. In the productive life cycle of the HPV, the possible accumulation of genetic mutations in the epithelial cells through genomic instability is negated by the requirement for terminal differentiation to complete virus production. Thus, following the amplification of the viral genome to many thousands of copies, transcription of E6 and E7 is downregulated by the viral E2 protein, and that switches the HPV life cycle to the production of the capsid proteins. This is linked to the differentiation of the epithelial cells, and the new virions are assembled and are released from the terminally differentiated uppermost cells. Importantly, the viral life cycle is entirely within the epithelium, there is no viremia or virus-induced cell death, and this stealthy process can occur without activating any local inflammatory response [3, 12, 13].

In most cases of infection, some activation of the innate immune response occurs, and antigenpresenting cells sample the antigenic environment leading to activation of the adaptive immune response. The innate immune response detects danger signals through pathogen recognition receptors (PPR) leading to processing and presentation of the tumour antigens by antigenpresenting cells (APCs) [16]. Activated APCs (CD83+, CD80/CD86+) migrate to the secondary lymphoid tissues through a CCL19 /CCL21 chemokine gradient detected by CCR7 APCs with the expression of the matrixmetalloproteinase (MMP)-9 supporting their migration through the extracellular matrix [17, 18]. In the lymphoid organs, the APCs engage with the T-cells, activating those with appropriate specificity using the two-signal system comprising processed antigen in the context of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules and CD80/CD86 with the specific T-cell receptor (TCR) and CD28 molecules, respectively [19]. Thereafter, a combination of cytokines and other specific cellular interactions control the balance of T-cell differentiation including for cytotoxic T-cells. Optimally activated and weaponized T-cells have the ability to migrate to and destroy the tumour. Subsequently, homeostatic processes use inhibitory signals (immune checkpoints) between T-cells and APCs (CTLA-4/CD28 and PD-1/PD-L1) to modulate the specific effectors when no longer required, while endogenous T regulatory cells (Tregs) act to maintain selftolerance [20–22]. In the clinical setting of normal tissue, immune checkpoints have a vital homeostatic function. However, tumours can hijack these homeostatic pathways to evade the immune system and allow uncontrolled growth [23]. Checkpoint inhibitors that can block these regulatory pathways can promote immunosurveillance and tumour clearance. Recent work has

shown the efficacy of checkpoint inhibitors in some previously treatment-refractory cancers with the licensing of anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 antibodies for the treatment of metastatic melanoma and some other cancers [24].

There is strong evidence that T-cells specific for the viral oncogenes are required to clear the virus-infected cells [25–27]. This is supported by the reactivation of HPV infection and increased incidence of HPV-associated neoplasia in immunosuppressed individuals [28-31]. In addition, specific T-cells help provide for the optimal activation of specific B-cells that produce virusneutralizing antibodies targeting the capsid proteins. The production of these antibodies is a relative late event, and the levels produced are often insufficient to prevent further infection, and they cannot influence an established infection [32]. De facto, in patients with HPV-associated cancers, natural HPV-specific T-cell responses are insufficient to effectively control tumour outgrowth. However, pre-existing specific T-cell responses against E6 and E7 in patients with HPV-related tumours have been associated with better outcome after treatment [25]. In such cases, these effector responses must overwhelm the negative influences of the cornucopia of immunosuppressive cells and factors which can populate the tumour microenvironment including both specific and non-specific induced Tregs, M2 macrophages, myeloid-derived suppressor cells, tumour cells and associated fibroblasts, all of which interfere with specific T-cells' function [33, 34].

28.4 HPV Carcinogenesis: Immune Deviation and Persistent HPV Infection

For oncogenic HPVs, if E6 and E7 expression are unregulated, then the epithelial cells will not differentiate and will stay in cell cycle with the possibility for the accumulation of mutations in the absence the actions of the guardians of the genome. Thus, while oncogenic HPV is necessary, it is not sufficient for malignant cancer development per se. Persistence of high-risk HPV infection is the definitive risk factor for cervix cancer leading to the development of highgrade CIN (Fig. 28.1). An important molecular change underlying progression of CIN is the integration of the viral genome into that of the host [12]. The most frequently disrupted open reading frame of the virus is that of the E2 gene which is the negative regulator of the E6 and E7 transcription. This event therefore keeps the HPV "infected" cells in cycle, with the increased likelihood of genetic compromise and the possibility of the selection of advantageous oncogenic mutations.

In parallel, viral oncogene expression also skews local immune activation with such immune deviation potentiating immune escape that further favours viral persistence and lesion neoplastic progression (Fig. 28.2) [34]. This begins with E6/E7 downregulation of the level of CCL20, the chemoattractant for epidermal antigen-presenting cells (APC) (Langerhans cells) leading to an early failure of optimal innate immune activation and loss of local APCs [39, 40]. In addition, STAT-3 is constitutively activated in HPV transformed cells [41], and this drives IL-6 production that acts on tumour-associated myeloid cells in a paracrine fashion [42]. Further activation of STAT-3 in the monocytes upregulates CCL2 production, which stimulates MMP-9 and other tumour-promoting factors with an autocrine CCL2/CCR2 loop reinforcing the inflammatory microenvironment [43]. IL-6 produced during cervical carcinogenesis also interferes with mature APC (dendritic cell (DC)) migration through downregulation of the CCR7 receptor as well as DC IL-12 production, therefore influencing the flavour of any T helper responses [44]. In advanced neoplasia, IL-6 paracrine effects on tumour-associated fibroblasts instruct the production of CCL20 by the stroma, which further magnifies the chronic pro-tumour milieu [45].

It is clear that high-grade precancers and cancers have a plethora of local immunosuppressive factors that can potentially limit anti-tumour immunity. Indeed, such immune factors are able to upregulate checkpoint inhibitor ligand, PD-L1, on both tumour and associated immune cells providing another mechanism to limit effective

Progression of cervical disease



* With increasing probability of viral DNA integration.

CIN = cervical intraepithelial neoplasia; ASCUS = atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance.

Fig. 28.1 Progression of cervical disease. The process of cervical carcinogenesis is illustrated schematically. After the cervix is infected with HPV, infection may cause mild pap abnormalities and/or mild CIN, which usually clear spontaneously. Koilocytosis is a distinctive histological feature of HPV infection and is the appearance of halo or koilocytotic cells in the differentiated layers of the squamous epithelium. The koilocytes are squamous epithelial cells that contain an acentric, hyperchromatic nucleus that is displaced by a large perinuclear vacuole [35]. Persistence of high-risk HPV is the key factor in the progression to precancerous lesions or high-grade dysplasia

anti-tumour specific T activity [23]. Macrophages and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) limit T-cell function both via PD-L1 expression and IL-10 production that modulates APC function with the induction of Tregs [46, 47]. Inhibition of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) further derives from myeloid cell production of TGF β , reactive oxygen species (ROS), reactive nitrogen intermediates and arginase and nitric oxide synthase (NOS) that depletes the CTL function requiring metabolite, L-arginine. M2-type macrophages secrete TGF β and IL-10 and together with IL-6 can attract immunosuppressive Th17 and Treg (CIN2/3) which has a greater likelihood of progression to invasion and cancer [36, 37]. Abnormal infected cells and CIN1 can also be termed low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (LSIL), while CIN2 and CIN3 can also be termed high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (HSIL) [36]. The progressive development of cellular changes from HPV infection to cervical cancer generally takes 10–20 years, although, in very few cases, it may only take 1–2 years [36]. Generally, CIN1 changes can arise within 3 months of infection, CIN2 within 6 months and CIN3 within 1–2 years

cells [38, 45]. Importantly, when Tregs migrate to the local LNs, they can provide protection for subsequently metastasizing tumour cells [48, 49]. Additional changes selected in progressing CIN 3 block anti-HPV cytotoxic T-cell function through HLA class I downregulation and failure of lesion entry of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ CD8 T-cells through modulation in the expression of the ligand, MAdCAM-1 on the endothelium of lesion-associated neovasculature [26]. Any immunological therapeutic intervention strategy, even for CIN lesions, will need to combat significant challenges to deliver an efficacious outcome.

Persistent infection involves immune deviation

MODULATION	IMMUNE CONSEQUENCE
E7 interacts with DNMT1 & stimulates its DNA methyltransferase activity. E6 also alters host DNA methylation	Suppresses CXCL14 & IFNx expression, important for chemotaxis of LC
E7 recruits HDAC1 to inhibit IRF1-dependent transcription; E7 binds to HDAC1 & KDM5B to downregulate TLR9; E6 & E7 inhibit NF-xB signaling via binding to p300, & enhancing acetylation of p65	Inhibits TLR9 recognition of viral genome NF-κB signaling and interferon-mediated antiviral functions
E7 antagonizes cGAS-STING ->	Prevent sensing of cytoplasmic viral DNA
E6-mediated degradation of pro-IL1β; E6 binds to TYK2 and IRF3; E7 binding to IRF1 inhibits signaling	Suppress the proinflamatory response & Innate Immune Adaptive anti- Immune Activation Immunity
E5 prevents trafficking of MHCI & II to cell surface, TAP1 downregulation	Limits T cell recognition
Loss of antigen presenting cells (APC) & low inflammatory cytokines in HPV infected tissues; Mucosal HPV E6 & E7 suppress keratinocyte production of chemo-attractant CCL20 for epidermal APC	Reduced capacity of innate immune system to signal presence of the virus infection allowing for persistence & expansion of viral lesion
HPV infected lesions produce IL-6 that attracts myeloid cells in a paracrine fashion. This leads to activation of STAT-3 in monocytes which signals CCL2 production. CCL2 drives strong MMP-9 expression & attracts more monocytes through an autocrine loop CCL2/CCR2. →	Prolonged HPV infection & increasing dysplasia lead to increased IL-6 production & chronic inflammatory infiltration that has immune modulating properties IL6, CCL2 and MMP9 are all tumour promoting factors
IL6 interferes with the key migration receptor CCR7 expression by mature APC leading to their dysfunction. The consequent suppression of IL12 production by APC significantly skews against a Th1 response	Continued production of IL6 by the HPV associated epithelium acts to further amplify pro-tumorigenic and immunosuppressive events
Production of IL6 by tumour cells attracts immuno- suppressive Th17 cells. CCL20 transcription is also regulated by IL6 and activation of this pathway in associated stroma further reinforces the chronic inflammatory microenvironment	Viral oncogene activity can provide the momentum for an evolving complex pre neoplastic microenvironment.

Fig. 28.2 Persistent infection involves immune deviation. The figure summarizes the consequences of viral expression that can lead to immune deviation, providing for viral persistence and risk of neoplasia [34, 38]. Early in HPV infection, oncogene activity can blunt the activation of innate immunity, the key to recruitment of the fire-

power of the adaptive immune response through specific antibody and cellular effector mechanisms. These events can lead to a modulation of inflammation, which is skewed, and self-reinforcing to yield a pro-neoplastic microenvironment

28.5 Therapeutic Vaccine Strategies

Attempting to utilize immune targeting of HPV gene expression for therapy of HPV-associated cancer dates back over 30 years. The principle strategies have focused on generating specific effector T-cells against the constitutive and functionally obligate expression of E6 and/or E7 oncogenes. Since then, HPV 16 (18) E6 and/or E7 oncogene vaccines employing various delivery technologies using viruses, bacteria, nucleic acids, peptides/proteins and cells, including dendritic cells, have been tested [50, 51]. While most of these vaccine approaches proved effective in preclinical animal models, data obtained in early-

phase clinical trials were frequently underwhelming. Given our current knowledge of the complex interactions which may limit either endogenous or induced immunologically driven resolution of HPV-associated neoplasia, with hindsight, this is not very surprising. The lack of any consistent demonstration of significant medical impact results from not only the immunological escape mechanisms acquired during the cancer natural history but also the difficulty in designing appropriately powered clinical trials. For example, in cervical cancer, early-stage patients treated surgically have a high cure rate, while the chemoradiation treatment of late-stage patients may interfere with vaccine immunogenicity complicating the interpretation [52].

Nevertheless, therapeutic vaccines targeting the HPV oncogenes have shown encouraging success in some recent early phase clinical trials tested in patients with high-grade anogenital lesions. There are many excellent reviews that document the extensive range of these therapeutic vaccine approaches [25, 50, 51]. This chapter will focus on some selected examples of sustained vaccine approaches with current clinical trial activities [53].

28.5.1 Protein/Peptide Vaccines

The design and delivery of cancer vaccines with the ability to induce strong CD8 T-cell responses is considered the benchmark for potential success. Vaccines incorporating the HPV 16 E6 and/ or E7 proteins or synthetic long overlapping peptides (SLPs) can present the full spectrum of antigenicity to the recipient T-cell repertoire but may not be sufficiently immunogenic without the use of adjuvants and/or targeting to antigenpresenting cells. Protein antigens are mostly processed and presented through the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) II pathway, a T-helper-2-biased response favouring antibody production. Modifying the antigen and/or adding immunostimulatory molecules can shift processing through the MHC I pathway and stimulate a CTL response. Ideally, the vaccine platform needs to avoid antigen competition and provide for efficient processing by DCs to stimulate durable CD4 and CD8 T-cell responses with an adjuvant to deliver a T-helper-1-polarised response [54].

A fusion protein of HPV 16 E7 that targets to the endoplasmic reticulum (TVGV-1) with the adjuvant GPI-0100 stimulates a strong CTL response. A phase II double-blind, randomized, parallel-group, dose-ranging study assessing safety and efficacy of three vaccinations of the vaccine compared to its adjuvant in patients with HPV 16 cervical high-grade lesions (CIN2/3) is imminent (NCT02576561). Another phase II study is evaluating the efficacy and safety of PepCan (HPV 16 E6 peptides combined with *Candida* skin testing reagent called Candin®) in adult females with high-grade CIN over a 12-month time period (NCT02481414). The results from a phase I trial [55] demonstrated some efficacy against non-16 HPV types so Candin alone needs to be tested with participants receiving four vaccinations at three weekly intervals. Necessarily when using a CIN end point, any clinical, virological, or immunological responses need to be assessed within a relatively short time frame, typically, 6-12 months. Challenges for driving such approaches into phase Ill trials include the spontaneous CIN remission rates requiring the patient group size to be large to sufficiently power any efficacy studies and for long follow-up times. In addition, measures of vaccine-induced HPV-specific T-cell immunity sampled from the peripheral blood do not necessarily reflect the responses that will need to be active in the lesion itself [56]. The long-term objective of such vaccine regimens is to provide a safe, cost-effective non-surgical alternative for treating CIN2/3 that obviates any risks, albeit small, associated with surgery. However, the significant challenge is that treating CIN2/3 surgically is very efficacious, and so, the vaccine treatment must be as good if not better.

Encouraging results have been seen in clinical trials that tested HPV 16 vaccines in patients with HPV 16-associated vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia (VIN). In contrast to patients with CIN3 where surgical treatment can deliver approaching 100% resolution, in many cases, high-grade VIN lesion surgery is not an option, and/or the other limited treatments available are not curative [11, 57]. A combination of imiquimod followed by TA-CIN (a fusion protein of HPV16 L2E6E7) vaccination (without adjuvant) in patients with high-grade VIN lesions delivered 63% complete regression at 1 year [58]. Imiquimod is a topically applied innate immune response Toll-like receptor (TLR) 7/8 agonist that negates local immunosuppressive factors and could provide for an improved clinical impact of vaccination in VIN. Indeed, after treatment with imiquimod and vaccination, local infiltration of CD8 and CD4 T-cells was significantly increased in clinical responders whereas non-responders (with persistent VIN) showed an increased density of T regulatory cells. After vaccination, only the clinical responders showed significantly increased lymphoproliferation to the HPV vaccine antigens. A phase I study of TA-CIN to determine the safety of TA-CIN vaccine as adjuvant therapy is planned (NCT02405221). In the first part, 14 patients previously treated for HPV16-related cervical cancer in the past year, and with no evidence of disease, recurrence will receive three immunizations of TA-CIN vaccine at four weekly intervals either in arm or thigh. Pre- and post-vaccination levels of circulating antibody and proliferative responses of peripheral blood mononucleocytes to HPV16 E6, E7 and L2 as well as HPV16 E6and E7-specific CD8+ T-cells and/or CD4+ T-cells will be determined. It is likely that further optimization of TA-CIN could be obtained by the use of an adjuvant and/or in combination with a checkpoint inhibitor strategy.

A vaccine composed of 13 synthetic long peptides of 25-35 amino acids derived from HPV 16 E6 and E7 oncogenic proteins and adjuvanted with Montanide (ISA101) showed very good T-cell immunogenicity and significant clinical impact on lesion responses in patients with highgrade VIN but did not impact on more advanced malignant disease [59, 60]. Recent preclinical studies have suggested some new opportunities for optimization of vaccination to impact more advanced cancers. Thus, treatment of tumourbearing mice with standard carboplatin and paclitaxel chemotherapy plus vaccination significantly improved survival [61]. The mechanism was directly associated with the chemotherapy altering the myeloid cell population in the blood and tumour while having no effect on tumour-specific T-cell responses. Studies in advanced cervical cancer patients treated with carboplatin-paclitaxel confirmed a reduction in the high circulating myeloid cells and a concomitant improvement in the patient T-cell responses. It was observed that the nadir of circulating myeloid cells was at 2 weeks after the second cycle of chemotherapy. Using this point for vaccination was tested in patients, with robust and sustained HPV16specific T-cell responses to a single dose of the vaccine demonstrable (see Ref. [4]). A clinical trial (NCT02128126) is now in progress that is

assessing the safety, tolerability and the HPVspecific immune responses of different doses of the ISA101 long-peptide HPV16 vaccine with or without pegylated interferon alpha (IFN- α) as combination therapy with carboplatin and paclitaxel with or without bevacizumab (standard of care therapy). The rationale is that the chemotherapy could enhance the tumour-specific immunity and synergize with cancer immunotherapy with the addition of pegylated IFN- α aimed at further improving the immune response. Another proposed clinical study aims to evaluate whether anti-HPV responses are stimulated in metastatic anal cancer patients who made a complete clinical response following chemotherapy with docetaxel, cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil (NCT01845779).

Several other clinical trials are planned to further evaluate the optimal use of ISA101 SLP vaccine in combination with other treatments of HPV-related disease, for example, a phase II trial of nivolumab (anti-PD-L1) and HPV-16 vaccination in patients with HPV 16-positive incurable solid tumours. HPV-16 vaccination is given three times at 3-4 weeks intervals, and checkpoint inhibitor is administered intravenously (IV) every 2 weeks starting at 8 days of the first immunization. There are 3 weeks in cycle 1 and 2 weeks in cycles 2 and beyond. The goal is to see if nivolumab combined with the ISA101 SLP vaccine can help to control cancer that has spread. The safety of the study drugs will also be studied (NCT02426892). Another clinical research study is to learn whether utomilumab (humanized mAb recognizing 4-1BB (CD-137) protein receptor expressed by CD4 and CD8 T-cells plus NK cells, when given IV alone or combination with the ISA101 vaccine) is able to shrink or slow the growth of tumours in patients with incurable HPV 16-positive oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma (OPSCC). The rationale is that the anti-CD137 will stimulate and increase the number of immune cells and therefore enhance anti-tumour function (NCT03258008). A phase I/II study will also assess the safety and efficacy of the ISA101 SLP vaccine in HIV+ men with CD4 counts $>350 \times 10E6/l$ and HPV16-induced intra-anal high-grade AIN (grade 2–3) that failed on or recurred after previous treatment (NCT01923116).

Another approach to optimize HPV16 peptide vaccination has used two of the HPV16 E6 SLP conjugated to Amplivant®, a synthetic Toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 ligand, with the goal of maximizing the induced Th1 response and obtaining more high-avidity cytotoxic CD8+ T-cells. The two peptide sequences are within the most immunodominant regions of the overlapping HPV16-SLP set and contain both T helper and CTL epitopes. In preclinical murine studies, Amplivant®-conjugated SLP showed 10-100 times higher bioactivity compared to unconjugated SLP, in terms of induced immune responses [62]. A phase I study to determine the biological activity of this vaccine (Hespecta) in patients treated for HPV16-positive tumours or premalignant lesions is in progress (NCT02821494).

28.5.2 Listeria-Based Vaccines

Attenuated bacterial vectors can be generated by transformation with plasmids allowing the expression of the selected genes of interest and their delivery to the host antigen-presenting cells. One example, which has made some progress to later-stage clinical testing, is Listeria monocytogenes (Lm), an anaerobic, Gram-positive facultative intracellular bacterium that is associated with foodborne disease in susceptible hosts. Immune responses are well documented and robust, with the activation of both the innate and adaptive arms [63]. Following phagocytosis by macrophages, Lm escapes the phagosome by secreting the pore-forming toxin listeriolysin O (LLO), a virulence factor that targets the phagosomal membrane for destruction [64]. This allows the bacterium to grow rapidly in the cytosol and for actin nucleator A (ActA)-dependent cell-to-cell spread. Allosteric changes in the master transcriptional regulator protein-related factor A (prfA) lead to the upregulation of the ActA protein and a 200-fold increase during intracellular bacterial growth. This facilitates the movement of the bacteria to the cell surface and their subsequent spread to other cells. Thus, the Lm life cycle is critically dependent on the coordinated expression of LLO and prfA. The innate immune response is activated during such infections via TLR-2 and TLR-5 recognition of Lm pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) including peptidoglycan, lipoteichoic acid, lipoproteins and bacterial flagellins. In addition, nucleotidebinding oligomerization domain-like receptors (NLRs), NLRC4 and NLRP3, detect cytosolic Lm with the activation of the inflammasome, while AIM2 senses the bacterial DNA. These signals lead to the infiltration of neutrophils and macrophages that limit bacterial growth. Effective antigen presentation by macrophages that have phagocytosed any bacteria and dendritic cells stimulate strong CD4 and CD8 T-cell responses that clear the infection and provide for long-term memory.

These properties have supported the development of Lm as a bacterial vector for immunotherapy of HPV-associated cancers using an attenuated organism with deficiency in the master transcriptional regulator protein-related factor A, plus a truncated non-hemolytic listeriolysin (LLO) molecule which prevents escape from the phagolysosome but retains the adjuvant properties [65]. In the vaccine construct (ADXS11-001), the modified LLO is fused to HPV 16 E7. The engineered Lm is taken up by APCs and escapes the phagolysosome through the secretion of LLO. In the cytosol, many copies of the LLO-E7 are released, and the adjuvant properties of the bacteria effectively stimulate innate/adaptive immune responses to HPV 16 E7. There is also induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines from natural killer cells, recruitment of monocytes from the peripheral blood to the site of inflammation and maturation of local dendritic cells. LLOfusion protein breakdown through phagocytosis leads to antigen processing by the MHC class II endosomal pathway stimulating CD4 T-cells, while LLO also potentiates ubiquitin-mediated proteasomal degradation and the cytosolic pathways leading MHC class I presentation activating CD8 T-cells.

Listeria-based E7 vaccines have been tested in syngeneic mouse models of HPV-driven cancer.
The vaccine construct has been shown to stimulate innate immunity with the production of IL-2, IL-12, TNF α and IFN γ and costimulatory molecules necessary for DC maturation and stimulation of CD4 and CD8 antigen E7-specific T-cell responses [65]. This T-cell immunity can overcome tumour-induced immune tolerance and generate immune memory able to maintain specific immunity and block tumour recurrence [66]. A more recent study showed that a combination of Lm-LLO-E7 with an anti-PD1 antibody that blocks the PD-1/PD-L1 interaction potentiates the efficacy of the immunotherapy in the TC-1 mouse model [67]. Most importantly, the combination treatment provides for a significant reduction in Tregs and MDSC cells in the tumour and tumour microenvironment plus enhanced antigen-specific CD8 T-cells in the periphery and the tumour leading to prolonged survival or complete regression. This type of study has led to the initiation of several clinical trials in patients with HPV-associated cancers.

The first study in 2009 assessed safety in metastatic or recurrent cervical cancer patients in phase I trials with dose escalation from 1×10^9 to 1×10^{10} of the vaccine given as an intravenous infusion followed by a second immunization 3 weeks later [68]. This trial reported an acceptable safety profile with flu-like symptoms shown by all the patients although at the highest dose, some recipients displayed severe fever and doselimiting hypotension. While overall, 722 vaccine doses have been received by 290 patients with HPV-associated cancers, a few serious adverse events suggest a requirement for additional caution when using the live attenuated Lm vectors [69, 70]. A randomized phase III clinical trial (AIM2CERV) in high-risk locally advanced cervical cancer following chemoradiation is recruiting (NCT02853604). This aims to compare the disease-free survival (DFS) of ADXS11-001 to placebo administered in the adjuvant setting following concurrent chemotherapy and radiotherapy (CCRT) administered with curative intent to subjects with high-risk locally advanced squamous, adenosquamous, or adenocarcinoma of the cervix. In this study, subjects will receive a 7-day course of an oral antibiotic or placebo starting

72 h following the completion of study treatment administration. An interim analysis will be performed when there is at least one-half the number of DFS events required for full maturity of the study.

In order to shift the balance in favour of the functionality of cytotoxic T-cell responses in the tumour, ADXS11-001 vaccination in combination with the checkpoint inhibitor durvalumab is being tested. This monoclonal antibody binds to PD-L1 and blocks interaction with PD-1 on activated T-cells and has a modified Fc region to prevent either antibody-dependent cytotoxicity (ADCC) or complement-dependent cytotoxicity. An ongoing study in cervical or HPV+ oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma (OPSCC) patients will initially determine the safety and tolerability of the combination and identify any dose-limiting toxicity. In the phase II study, the primary objective is to evaluate tumour response, progression-free survival (PFS) and safety of either monotherapy the combination or (NCT02291055).

28.5.3 Vaccinia-Based Vaccines

Viral vectors have been seen as attractive candidates for therapeutic HPV vaccine delivery, and many have been explored in preclinical studies [50, 51]. Vaccinia virus has a very large stable double-stranded DNA genome and is highly infectious. It was used in the first HPV vaccine tested in a clinical trial (TA-HPV) and incorporated both HPV 16 and 18 E6 and E7 modified with slightly modified sequences to abolish any transforming function. However, there are two further issues of concern with such live vector vaccines: (1) the generation of antiviral neutralizing antibodies upon initial immunization that can limit subsequent HPV-related immune responses and (2) concerns about pathogenic risk especially with recipients with impaired immunity. An initial phase I/II study in which eight patients with late-stage cervical cancer were given a single dose of TA-HPV documented no significant clinical side effects or environmental contamination by live TA-HPV. An anti-vaccinia antibody response was detected in all the patients, but only three developed HPV-specific antibodies and only one showed evidence of induction of HPV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes [71]. In a further trial of the vaccine in patients with early invasive cervical cancer. T-cell responses were detected in only 4/29 patients [72]. To contend with the riders to testing vaccines in either earlyor late-stage cervical cancer. Patient's safety, immunogenicity and efficacy of TA-HPV were tested in women with high-grade VIN. In these patients, 5/12 showed evidence of 50% or more lesion size reduction, and increased T-cell responses were measured in 6/10, while all patients showed boosted vector-specific responses [73]. These types of result are a fair reflection of many attempts to test cancer vaccines at this time where it was often difficult to correlate measures of vaccine immunogenicity with clinical responses if any were seen [73, 74]. To avoid problems of boosted vector-specific responses, heterologous prime-boost vaccination schedules employing TA-HPV in combination with TA-CIN were tested. Ten women with HPV 16-positive high-grade VIN, previously primed with TA-HPV, received three booster immunizations with TA-CIN. All but one demonstrated HPV 16-specific T-cell and/or antibody responses following vaccination, but no link between clinical and immunological responses was observed [75, 76]. The reciprocal delivery of TA-CIN \times 3 (at four weekly intervals) followed by a single dermal scarification of TA-HPV demonstrated immunogenicity but no simple relationship between the induction of systemic HPV-16specific immunity and clinical outcome [77]. As discussed earlier, topical use of imiquimod followed by three doses of TA-CIN in women with high-grade VIN was shown to correlate lesion response with local immune infiltration and composition exemplifying the need to measure local factors in response to experimental immunotherapy [58]. This approach may yield the necessary insights to identify key factors for clinical response of patients, thereby ensuring sufficiency of momentum to provide the funding for optimally designed clinical trials that can establish useful efficacy. If used in a prime heterologous

context, vaccinia vectors may still be useful, and constructs expressing E7 linked to calreticulin (CRT), LLO or lysosome-associated membrane protein have all been explored in preclinical studies in this type of approach [50, 51]. To deal with any safety concerns, an attenuated strain MVA can be utilized although this is operationally defective for growth in human cells, and the immunizing virus dose therefore needs to be high [78]. MVA expressing HPV 16 E6/E7 (TC4001) with human IL-2 is being tested in a phase I/II trial evaluating a combination of vaccine and avelumab (not only binds to PD-L1 and blocks PD-1 interaction but also mediates antibodydependent cellular cytotoxic (ADCC) against PD-L1-expressing targets) in HPV-16-positive recurrent/metastatic malignancies and expansion cohort to OPSCC (NCT 03260023).

28.5.4 RNA Virus-Based Vaccines

RNA viruses such as Sindbis, Venezuelan equine encephalitis or Semliki Forest are attractive vaccine vectors because they are able to produce RNA replicons with self-replication capacity allowing for sustained target expression while being defective for viral particle production [79]. This maximizes vaccine target immunogenicity while minimizing vector-specific responses. VVax001 is a therapeutic Semliki Forest virus vector encoding HPV-16 E6 and E7 currently being tested in patients with CIN2/3 who will receive three consecutive doses, at intervals of 3 weeks with the assessment of E6 and E7-specific T-cell immune responses (NCT03141663).

28.5.5 Nucleic Acid-Based Vaccines

DNA vaccines avoid any issues of neutralizing antibodies that may be induced to the vector and are easy and cheap to manufacture. The use of electroporation has provided an immunization methodology able to deliver more consistent immunogenicity. Using IM injections of a DNA plasmid encoding HPV-16/18 E6/E7 (VGX-3100) followed by electroporation using the CELLECTRATM-5PSP device, CIN2/3 lesions in vaccinated patients showed a significant regression including viral clearance. Importantly, such peripheral vaccination altered the composition, magnitude and quality of immune responses in the target lesions [80, 81]. This exemplifies the role of local factors in determining immunologically driven therapeutic outcomes, but in most clinical trial designs, they are at best very difficult or almost impossible to monitor. These studies have provided momentum for a prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III study to determine the efficacy, safety and tolerability of VGX-3100 adult women with HPV 16 and/or 18-positive **CIN2/3** (NCT03185013). A clinical trial of treatment of patients with HPV-16 and/or HPV-18 high-grade VIN with a combination of VGX-3100 vaccinaimiquimod tion and is in progress (NCT03180684). Studies in more advanced disease are also progressing including a prospective study of VGX-3100 vaccination in patients with HPV-associated head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (NCT02163057) and in patients with either inoperable invasive cervical carcinoma associated after standard chemoradiation therapy or with persistent/recurrent cervical cancer following salvage therapy (NCT02172911). A trial combining VGX-3100 vaccination with durvalumab in HPV-positive OPSCC is recruiting (NCT03162224).

Another HPV E6/E7 DNA therapeutic vaccine (GX-188) has oncogene E7 sequences fused to the extracellular domain of Fms-like tyrosine kinase-3 ligand and the signal sequence of tissue plasminogen activator. This design aims to promote antigen presentation and trafficking of the fused protein to the MHC I pathway. Electroporation-enhanced immunization stimu-E6/E7-specific T-helper-1-polarized lates responses and HPV16-specific CD8 T-cells in CIN3 patients. The majority of these patients (7/9) showed complete lesion regression and viral clearance within 9 months [82]. Combination strategies are likely to be required to induce sufficient high-quality T-cells that can traffic to the lesion and deliver a curative payload for all

patients. Local delivery of imiquimod is one approach being tested that might provide the necessary boost of a T helper 1 response. Alternatively, interleukin-7 (IL-7), a T-cell growth factor used for treating lymphopenia patients, might enhance the expansion of the T effector populations. GX-I7 is a protein drug recombining human IL-7 and hybrid Fc (hyFc) with the recombined region not exposed and each region's characteristics able to reduce immunogenicity and improve the efficacy of the drug. A study to investigate the safety and efficacy of GX-188 administered IM by electroporation plus the application of GX-I7 either intravaginally or imiquimod topically in subjects with CIN3 is recruiting patients (NCT03206138).

A pilot study of the DNA vaccine pnGVL4a-CRT/E7 (detox) for the treatment of patients with HPV16+ CIN2/3 compared the immunogenicity of three different routes of administration: intradermal by gene gun, intramuscular and intralesional plus or minus imiquimod (NCT 00988559). pNGVL4a-CRT-E7(detox) was well-tolerated, elicited the most robust immune response when administered intralesionally and demonstrated preliminary evidence of potential clinical efficacy [83].

Another DNA vaccine construct, pNGVL4a-Sig/E7(detox)/HSP70, with targeting and adjuvant properties, is being used to prime HPV16+ CIN3 patients followed by a boost using the TA-HPV vaccine with or without imiquimod (NCT00788164). Animal studies have established increased immunogenicity of such primeboost vaccination [84]. The recipients will receive pNGVL4a-Sig/E7(detox)/HSP70 DNA vaccine intramuscularly (IM) on days 1 and 29 and TA-HPV IM on day 57 with one group receiving topical imiquimod on days 1, 29 and 57. However, there may be some logistical challenges of imiquimod application in the cervix as well as the need for an efficacious outcome able to compete with existing treatment options for CIN3.

Another DNA vaccine, VB10.16, has been constructed to express molecules with a targeting module (e.g. human macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha) linked through a dimerization module (composed of the hinge and constant regions of the CH3 domain of IgG3 which provides bivalency and flexibility) to an HPV 16 E6/ E7 fusion protein. Upon intramuscular administration, VB10.16 expresses HPV16 E6/7 and a protein that targets receptors on APCs. Upon binding to APCs and subsequent internalization, the APCs mature, and the HPV16 E6/7 antigenic protein is optimally presented by the APCs with the prospect of excellent CTL induction. An exploratory, open, prospective multicentre study of VB10.16 immunotherapy in patients with CIN2/3 is recruiting across in Europe (NCT02529930). The previously stated limitations of such trials apply here, and it seems likely that the vaccine will have to have an extraordinary immunological and clinical impact to warrant further development with CIN as a targeted treatment.

28.5.6 Cell-Based Vaccines

The development of ex vivo methods for the production of dendritic cells from monocytes provided much optimism for maximal antigen presentation of target antigens by such cell-based cancer vaccines. Given that the HPV-driven oncogenesis requires additional genetic changes that might also be immunogenic, using tumour lysates, not just HPV early antigens, with dendritic cells could broaden the activation of the tumour-specific adaptive immune repertoire. Unfortunately, the demands of reproducible and sufficient production of APCs with appropriate longevity and to good clinical practice have thus far proved challenging in the clinical setting [84]. The optimal route of administration is also not clear. Similar problems have also limited the development of tumour-based vaccines including with modifications providing for the production like IL-2, of cytokines IL-12 and GMSCF. Additional approaches to maximize tumour antigen presentation are focused on delivering antigens either directly to professional APCs in vivo or through enhancing antigenprocessing pathways [85].

28.6 Adoptive Cell Transfer (ACT)

Adoptive transfer of ex vivo-expanded tumourinfiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) can be efficacious with response rates of about 30% in patients with treatment-refractory metastatic melanoma [86– 88]. Generally, attempts to enrich for antigenpopulations were not shown to specific necessarily correlate with clinical responses. This is consistent with the view that the impact of the treatment is to provide a wide range of antitumour specific T-cells to re-exert tumour control. The latter had previously been inactive through multiple immunosuppressive factors in the tumour but are expanded and functional after ACT. One key to success is the preconditioning of the patients providing opportunity for preferential expansion of the adopted cells on transfer. The impact of immune checkpoint blockade targeting CTLA-4 or PD-1 with blocking antibodies and their use in combination may also add to the proportion of patients showing clear clinical benefit [89]

Metastatic cervical cancer patients, previously treated by chemo- or chemoradiotherapy, were treated with a single infusion of tumourinfiltrating T-cells (stimulated when possible for HPV E6 and E7 reactivity) with the cell infusion preceded by lymphocyte-depleting chemotherapy followed by IL-2. Three of nine patients experienced objective tumour responses with the two complete responses sustained on follow-up 15-22 months after treatment. Interestingly, a correlation between HPV reactivity of the infusion product and clinical response was observed (NCT01585428). The efficacy of TIL treatment ultimately depends on the balance of expanded effectors with anti-tumour activity overcoming the more negative influences both in the isolated TIL (by preferential expansion) and in the local tumour microenvironment. While spectacular clinical responses can occur, this is still unpredictable and requires individual patient TIL expansion with associated substantial cost and logistical issues.

More generic tumour antigen-specific cell therapies are being developed through the engineering of T-cell receptors (TCR) or chimeric antigen receptors (CAR) effector lymphocytes [90–93]. Peripheral blood leucocytes can be genetically engineered to express a TCR with tumour antigen specificity albeit with a particular MHC restriction and expanded for ACT. For example, a TCR from an anal cancer patient's infiltrating T-cells recognizing an HLA-A*02:01restricted epitope of HPV-16 E6 was cloned. Normal T-cells genetically engineered to express this TCR showed high avidity for the HLA-A*02:01-restricted epitope of HPV-16 and could kill HPV-16+ tumour cell lines [94]. The drawbacks to this approach include the continuing negative influences on T-cell effector functions in vivo through immunosuppressive factors and that targeting a single epitope in a particular MHC context provides ample opportunity for immune escape by HLA downregulation, a frequent event in cervical [95–97] and other cancers [98]. In addition, it is not always obvious that a cloned TCR is the potentially most effective target to deliver what has to be a knockout punch to all or most of the tumour cells. An alternative approach is to generate a synthetic structure composed of an extracellular recognition domain for antigen specificity (e.g. ScFv antibody) linked through a flexible hinge region to transmembrane and intracellular domains, which provides for signal delivery within the CAR T-cells. This approach necessitates a cell surface expression of the target antigen, for example, CD19 in CAR T-cell treatment B- ALL that has recently been licenced [93], and thus, there is no potential for targeting HPV antigens for this type of cancer treatment.

28.7 Optimizing Immune Intervention Strategies

28.7.1 Early Cancers

For HPV-associated anogenital cancers, early neoplastic stages (cervical, vulvar, vaginal, anal, penile intraepithelial neoplasia) have been identified, while as yet, no precursor lesion has been documented for OPSCC. At such an early stage, the size and relative homogeneity of the cancer plus its associated immunosuppressive influences are likely to be easier to overcome, perhaps by therapeutic vaccination alone. Some have favoured targeting early genes such as E2 [99], but this approach is compromised by the frequent loss of expression in the carcinogenic process [12]. Vaccination against HPV oncogenes could be effective, but to be acceptable, it would need to be safe, cheap, very straight forward and virtually 100% efficacious. To deliver this, further understanding is required of how to direct specific T-cell effectors to the site of the lesion where they can overcome any local immune suppression/escape and kill the neoplastic cells. The consequence of this must also be to reset the immune system so that it can fully utilize its adaptive immune repertoire to eliminate all elements of any residual HPV oncogenic threat which might include cells resistant to vaccine-induced activity. However, any useful therapeutic vaccine would need to incorporate activity against several high-risk HPVs oncogenes to be sufficiently effective against premalignant lesions like CIN and VIN. A critical question is whether this can be delivered by a simple immunization procedure alone or whether it will necessitate additional immune intervention steps guarantee to effectiveness.

28.7.2 Later-Stage Cancers

In any HPV-associated cancer that is not surgically operable, the prospects for more complex immune intervention strategies are more attractive and indeed desirable. The difficulties include the same issues for immune targeting as for early disease, but the problems are magnified by the increased genetic heterogeneity of the tumours, including those variants selected by immune pressure, the scale and diversity of the local and systemic immunosuppressive influences and the metastasis of the tumour cells [34, 38, 48, 100-102]. Figure 28.3 summarizes some of the many challenges for immune targeting of HPV cancers and some approaches to overcome these barriers. The diversity of the tumour microenvironment with its varying contributions of individual immunosuppressive factors provides formidable



Fig. 28.3 Overcoming the barriers to effective immunity in HPV-associated cancer. To be effective, HPV targeted immunotherapies will need to overcome various components that influence the function and infiltration of immune effectors and antigen-presenting cells in HPVdriven neoplasia [103–105]. The principle approaches will need to focus on generating or recovering antigen presentation and anti-tumour T-cell effector migration and

hurdles to defining particular treatment combinations of the therapeutic weapons available, their sequencing and timing. Hopefully, the ongoing clinical trials documented here will provide the means to identify those with the most potential. It is vital that future trial activity is focused on those strategies that have a credible likelihood of delivering a realistic clinical benefit.

28.8 Concluding Remarks

The remarkable impact of checkpoint inhibitors and other emerging immunotherapies in subsets of cancer patients where previously there was little, if any, clinical response to the available treatments helps to exemplify some of the probfunction, minimizing and reversing the immunosuppressive actions of other tumour-infiltrating populations including M2 macrophages, myeloid-derived suppressor cells, T regulatory cells and Th17 cells. The tumour microenvironment is also characterized by a suppressive inflammatory balance of chemokines, cytokines, metabolites and immune checkpoint ligand and co-stimulatory receptor expression

lems that lay ahead for HPV immunotherapy [106]. While checkpoint inhibitor therapy clinical responses are very encouraging, it is by no means clear that the mechanisms are really understood-that treatment dosing or their use in combination, including in the context of standard of care (SOC), or the toxicities are anywhere near optimally elucidated. Most important is the need to know which patients are likely to respond. For example, tumour cell expression of the ligand for PD-1 has been claimed as a marker of response to checkpoint inhibition in some patients [107, 108]. Recent studies in OPSCC suggest that this is not necessarily true and prognostic factors can vary at a disease site as stratified by HPV involvement [109–112]. Predicting response to checkpoint inhibition or indeed any immune or other therapy is not a simple issue [113]. Given our knowledge of the spectrum of immune factors involved in cancer per se which have been largely ignored until precipitated by the checkpoint inhibitor revolution, it is critical that future clinical trials seek to coordinate the collection of common data sets relevant to defining the immune characteristics of patient response [114]. This will undoubtedly necessitate the measurement of local tumour-related factors before and after treatments. The prospects are good for harnessing immunity to HPV-associated cancers to deliver more effective treatments than the current regimens. The recognition of the role of the chemo- and radiotherapeutic components of SOC in helping the recovery of effective anti-tumour immunity and thereby providing a key instrument of cure is an important insight. Understanding this can ultimately provide for a better-scheduled combination of treatment modalities for all cancers [103–105]

References

- IARC. Human papillomaviruses. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 2007;90:1–636.
- Forman D, de Martel C, Lacey CJ, Soerjomataram I, Lortet-Tieulent J, Bruni L, et al. Global burden of human papillomavirus and related diseases. Vaccine. 2012;30(Suppl 5):F12–23.
- Roden RBS, Stern PL. Opportunities and challenges for human papilomavirus vaccination in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2018;18(4):240–54.
- Stern PL. Is immunity in cancer the key to improving clinical outcome? Ther Adv Vaccines. 2017;5(3):55–68.
- Plummer M, de Martel C, Vignat J, Ferlay J, Bray F, Franceschi S. Global burden of cancers attributable to infections in 2012: a synthetic analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2016;4:e609–16.
- Basu P, Mittal S, Bhadra Vale D, Chami KY. Secondary prevention of cervical cancer. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2018;pii:S1521–6934(17)30130-X.
- Lehtinen M, Paavonen J, Wheeler CM, Jaisamrarn U, Garland SM, Castellsagué X, et al. Overall efficacy of HPV-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine against grade 3 or greater cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: 4-year end-of-study analysis of the randomised, double-blind PATRICIA trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13:89–99.
- Muñoz N, Kjaer SK, Sigurdsson K, Iversen OE, Hernandez-Avila M, Wheeler CM, et al. Impact of

human papillomavirus (HPV)-6/11/16/18 vaccine on all HPV-associated genital diseases in young women. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102:325–39.

- Joura EA, Giuliano AR, Iversen OE, Bouchard C, Mao C, Mehlsen J, et al. A 9-valent HPV vaccine against infection and intraepithelial neoplasia in women. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:711–23.
- Drolet M, Bénard É, Boily MC, Ali H, Baandrup L, Bauer H, et al. Population-level impact and herd effects following human papillomavirus vaccination programmes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2015;15:565–80.
- Stern PL, van der Burg SH, Hampson IN, Broker TR, Fiander A, Lacey CJ, et al. Therapy of human papillomavirus-related disease. Vaccine. 2012;30(Suppl 5):F71–82.
- Zur Hausen H. Papillomaviruses and cancer: from basic studies to clinical application. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002;2:342–50.
- Doorbar J, Quint W, Banks L, Bravo IG, Stoler M, Broker TR, Stanley MA. The biology and life-cycle of human papillomaviruses. Vaccine. 2012;30(Suppl 5):F55–70.
- Day PM, Kines RC, Thompson CD, Jagu S, Roden RB, Lowy DR, Schiller JT. In vivo mechanisms of vaccine-induced protection against HPV infection. Cell Host Microbe. 2010;8:260–70.
- Pyeon D, Pearce SM, Lank SM, Ahlquist P, Lambert PF. Establishment of human papillomavirus infection requires cell cycle progression. PLoS Pathog. 2009;5:e1000318.
- Garcon N, Stern P, Cunningham T, Stanberry L. Understanding modern vaccines. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2011; http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/journal/22107622.
- Johnson LA, Jackson DG. Control of dendritic cell trafficking in lymphatics by chemokines. Angiogenesis. 2014;17(2):335–45.
- Brown GT, Murray GI. Current mechanistic insights into the roles of matrix metalloproteinases in tumor invasion and metastasis. J Pathol. 2015;237(3):273–81.
- Alegre ML, Frauwirth KA, Thompson CB. T-cell regulation by CD28 and CTLA-4. Nat Rev Immunol. 2001;1(3):220–8.
- Walker LSK, Sansom DM. Confusing signals: recent progress in CTLA-4 biology. Trends Immunol. 2015;36(2):63–70.
- Fife BT, Pauken KE. The role of the PD-1 pathway in autoimmunity and peripheral tolerance. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2011;1217:45–59.
- Walker LSK. Treg and CTLA-4: two intertwining pathways to immune tolerance. J Autoimmun. 2013;45(100):49–57.
- Ott PA, Hodi FS, Robert C. CTLA-4 and PD-1/ PD-L1 blockade: new immunotherapeutic modalities with durable clinical benefit in melanoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(19):5300–9.
- 24. Sharma P, Allison JP. The future of immune checkpoint therapy. Science. 2015;348(6230):56–61.

- 25. van der Burg SH, Arens R, Ossendorp F, van Hall T, Melief CJ. Vaccines for established cancer: overcoming the challenges posed by immune evasion. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016;16(4):219–33.
- 26. Trimble CL, Clark RA, Thoburn C, Hanson NC, Tassello J, Frosina D, et al. Human papillomavirus 16-associated cervical intraepithelial neoplasia in humans excludes CD8 T-cells from dysplastic epithelium. J Immunol. 2010;185:7107–14.
- 27. de Jong A, van Poelgeest MI, van der Hulst JM, Drijfhout JW, Fleuren GJ, Melief CJ, et al. Human papillomavirus type 16-positive cervical cancer is associated with impaired CD4+ T-cell immunity against early antigens E2 and E6. Cancer Res. 2004;64:5449–55.
- Hinten F, Hilbrands LB, Meeuwis KAP, IntHout J, Quint WGV, Hoitsma AJ, et al. Reactivation of latent HPV infections after renal transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2017;17:1563–73.
- Maglennon GA, McIntosh PB, Doorbar J. Immunosuppression facilitates the reactivation of latent papillomavirus infections. J Virol. 2014;88:710–6.
- Denny LA, Franceschi S, de Sanjosé S, Heard I, Moscicki AB, Palefsky J. Human papillomavirus, human immunodeficiency virus and immunosuppression. Vaccine. 2012;30(Suppl 5):F168–74.
- Wang JW, Jiang R, Peng S, Chang YN, Hung CF, Roden RB. Immunologic control of Mus musculus papillomavirus type 1. PLoS Pathog. 2015;11:e1005243.
- Schwarz TF, Leo O. Immune response to human papillomavirus after prophylactic vaccination with AS04-adjuvanted HPV-16/18 vaccine: improving upon nature. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;110:S1–10.
- Kalathil SG, Thanavala Y. High immunosuppressive burden in cancer patients: a major hurdle for cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2016;65(7):813–9.
- 34. Smola S, Trimble C, Stern PL. Human papillomavirus-driven immune deviation: challenge and novel opportunity for immunotherapy. Ther Adv Vaccines. 2017;5:69–82.
- 35. Krawczyk E, Suprynowicz FA, Liu X, Dai Y, Hartmann DP, Hanover J, Schlegel R. Koilocytosis: a cooperative interaction between the human papillomavirus E5 and E6 oncoproteins. Am J Pathol. 2008;173(3):682–8.
- Burd EM. Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2003;16:1–17.
- 37. Solomon D, Davey D, Kurman R, Moriarty A, O'Connor D, Prey M, et al. The 2001 Bethesda System: terminology for reporting results of cervical cytology. JAMA. 2002;287(16):2114–9.
- Westrich JA, Warren CJ, Pyeon D. Evasion of host immune defenses by human papillomavirus. Virus Res. 2017;231:21–33.
- 39. Karim R, Meyers C, Backendorf C, Ludigs K, Offringa R, van Ommen GJ, et al. Human papillomavirus deregulates the response of a cellular network

comprising of chemotactic and proinflammatory genes. PLoS One. 2011;6(3):e17848.

- 40. Guess JC, McCance DJ. Decreased migration of Langerhans precursor-like cells in response to human keratinocytes expressing human papillomavirus type 16 E6/E7 is related to reduced macrophage inflammatory protein-3alpha production. J Virol. 2005;79(23):14852–62.
- 41. Schröer N, Pahne J, Walch B, Wickenhauser C, Smola S. Molecular pathobiology of human cervical high-grade lesions: paracrine STAT3 activation in tumor-instructed myeloid cells drives local MMP-9 expression. Cancer Res. 2011;71(1):87–97.
- 42. Hess S, Smola H, Sandaradura De Silva U, Hadaschik D, Kube D, et al. Loss of IL-6 receptor expression in cervical carcinoma cells inhibits autocrine IL-6 stimulation: abrogation of constitutive monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 production. J Immunol. 2000;165(4):1939–48.
- Walch-Rückheim B, Pahne-Zeppenfeld J, Fischbach J, Wickenhauser C, Horn LC, Tharun L, et al. STAT3/IRF1 pathway activation sensitizes cervical Cancer cells to chemotherapeutic drugs. Cancer Res. 2016;76(13):3872–83.
- 44. Pahne-Zeppenfeld J, Schröer N, Walch-Rückheim B, Oldak M, Gorter A, Hegde S, Smola S. Cervical cancer cell-derived interleukin-6 impairs CCR7dependent migration of MMP-9-expressing dendritic cells. Int J Cancer. 2014;134(9):2061–73.
- Hegde S, Pahne J, Smola-Hess S. Novel immunosuppressive properties of interleukin-6 in dendritic cells: inhibition of NF-kappaB binding activity and CCR7 expression. FASEB J. 2004;18(12):1439–41.
- 46. Walch-Rückheim B, Mavrova R, Henning M, Vicinus B, Kim YJ, Bohle RM, et al. Stromal fibroblasts induce CCL20 through IL6/C/EBPβ to support the recruitment of Th17 cells during cervical cancer progression. Cancer Res. 2015;75(24):5248–59.
- 47. van Esch EM, van Poelgeest MI, Trimbos JB, Fleuren GJ, Jordanova ES, van der Burg SH. Intraepithelial macrophage infiltration is related to a high number of regulatory T-cells and promotes a progressive course of HPV-induced vulvar neoplasia. Int J Cancer. 2015;136(4):E85–94.
- 48. Heeren AM, de Boer E, Bleeker MC, Musters RJ, Buist MR, Kenter GG, et al. Nodal metastasis in cervical cancer occurs in clearly delineated fields of immune suppression in the pelvic lymph catchment area. Oncotarget. 2015;6(32):32484–93.
- 49. Heeren AM, Koster BD, Samuels S, Ferns DM, Chondronasiou D, Kenter GG, et al. High and interrelated rates of PD-L1+CD14+ antigenpresenting cells and regulatory T-cells mark the microenvironment of metastatic lymph nodes from patients with cervical cancer. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3(1):48–58.
- Yang A, Farmer E, Lin J, Wu T-C, Hung C-F. The current state of therapuetic and T-cell vaccines against human papillomaviruses. Virus Res. 2017;231:148–65.

- Chabeda A, Yanez R, Lamprecht R, Meyers A, Rybicki E, Hitzeroth I. Therapeutic vaccines for high risk HPVs. Papillomavirus Res. 2017;5:46–58.
- Cancer Research UK. http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/ statistics-by-cancer-type/cervical-cancer/survival.
- 53. https://clinicaltrials.gov/.
- Melief CJ, van Hall T, Arens R, Ossendorp F, van der Burg SH. Therapeutic cancer vaccines. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(9):3401–12.
- 55. Greenfield WW, Stratton SL, Myrick RS, Vaughn R, Donnalley LM, Coleman HN, et al. A phase I dose-escalation clinical trial of a peptide-based human papillomavirus therapeutic vaccine with *Candida* skin test reagent as a novel vaccine adjuvant for treating women with biopsy-proven cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 2/3. Onco Targets Ther. 2015;4(10):e1031439.
- Trimble CL. HPV infection-associated cancers: next-generation technology for diagnosis and treatment. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(10):937–42.
- Herod JJ, Shafti NI, Rollason TP, Jordan JA, Luesley DM. Vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia: long term follow up of treated and untreated women. Br J Obstet Gynecol. 1996;103(5):446–52.
- Daayana S, Elkord E, Winters U, Pawlita M, Roden R, Stern PL, Kitchener HC. Phase II trial of imiquimod and HPV therapeutic vaccination in patients with vulval intraepithelial neoplasia. Br J Cancer. 2010;102(7):1129–36.
- Kenter GG, Welters MJ, Valentijn AR, Lowik MJ, Berends-van der Meer DM, Vloon AP, et al. Vaccination against HPV-16 oncoproteins for vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(19):1838–47.
- 60. van Poelgeest MI, Welters MJ, van Esch EM, Stynenbosch LF, Kerpershoek G, van Persijn van Meerten EL, et al. HPV16 synthetic long peptide (HPV16-SLP) vaccination therapy of patients with advanced or recurrent HPV16-induced gynecological carcinoma, a phase II trial. J Transl Med. 2013;11:88.
- Welters MJ, van der Sluis TC, van Meir H, Loof NM, van Ham VJ, van Duikeren S, et al. Vaccination during myeloid cell depletion by cancer chemotherapy fosters robust T-cell responses. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8(334):334ra52.
- 62. Zom GG, Welters MJ, Loof NM, Goedemans R, Lougheed S, Valentijn RR, et al. TLR2 ligand-synthetic long peptide conjugates effectively stimulate tumor-draining lymph node T-cells of cervical cancer patients. Oncotarget. 2016;7(41):67087–100.
- 63. Goossens PL, Montixi C, Saron MF, Rodriguez M, Zavala F, Milon G. Listeria monocytogenes: a live vector able to deliver heterologous protein within the cytosol and to drive a CD8 dependent T-cell response. Biologicals. 1995;23(2):135–43.

- Schnupf P, Portnoy DA. Listeriolysin O: a phagosome-specific lysin. Microbes Infect. 2007;9(10):1176–87.
- 65. Sun R, Liu Y. Listeriolysin O as a strong immunogenic molecule for the development of new anti-tumor vaccines. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2013;9(5):1058–68.
- 66. Souders NC, Sewell DA, Pan ZK, Hussain SF, Rodriguez A, Wallecha A, Paterson Y. Listeria-based vaccines can overcome tolerance by expanding low avidity CD8+ T-cells capable of eradicating a solid tumor in a transgenic mouse model of cancer. Cancer Immun. 2007;7:2.
- 67. Mkrtichyan M, Chong N, Abu Eid R, Wallecha A, Singh R, Rothman J, Khleif SN. Anti-PD-1 antibody significantly increases therapeutic efficacy of *Listeria monocytogenes* (Lm)-LLO immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2013;1:15.
- 68. Maciag PC, Radulovic S, Rothman J. The first clinical use of a live-attenuated Listeria monocytogenes vaccine: a phase I safety study of lm-LLO-E7 in patients with advanced carcinoma of the cervix. Vaccine. 2009;27(30):3975–83.
- Miles BA, Monk BJ, Safran HP. Mechanistic insights into ADXS11-001 human papillomavirus-associated cancer immunotherapy. Gynecol Oncol Res Pract. 2017;4:9.
- Sacco JJ, Evans M, Harrington KJ, Man S, Powell N, Shaw RJ, Jones TM. Systemic listeriosis following vaccination with the attenuated Listeria monocytogenes therapeutic vaccine, ADXS11-001. Hum Immunother. 2016;12:1085–6.
- 71. Borysiewicz LK, Fiander A, Nimako M, Man S, Wilkinson GW, Westmoreland D, et al. A recombinant vaccinia virus encoding human papillomavirus types 16 and 18, E6 and E7 proteins as immunotherapy for cervical cancer. Lancet. 1996;347(9014):1523–7.
- 72. Kaufmann AM, Stern PL, Rankin EM, Sommer H, Nuessler V, Schneider A, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of TA-HPV, a recombinant vaccinia virus expressing modified human papillomavirus (HPV)-16 and HPV-18 E6 and E7 genes, in women with progressive cervical cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2002;8(12):3676–85.
- 73. Davidson EJ, Boswell CM, Sehr P, Pawlita M, Tomlinson AE, McVey RJ, et al. Immunological and clinical responses in women with vulval intraepithelial neoplasia vaccinated with a vaccinia virus encoding human papillomavirus 16/18 oncoproteins. Cancer Res. 2003;63(18):6032–41.
- 74. Baldwin PJ, van der Burg SH, Boswell CM, Offringa R, Hickling JK, Dobson J, et al. Vacciniaexpressed human papillomavirus 16 and 18 e6 and e7 as a therapeutic vaccination for vulval and vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9(14):5205–13.
- Smyth LJ, Van Poelgeest MI, Davidson EJ, Kwappenberg KM, Burt D, Sehr P, et al.

Immunological responses in women with human papillomavirus type 16 (HPV-16)-associated anogenital intraepithelial neoplasia induced by heterologous prime-boost HPV-16 oncogene vaccination. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10(9):2954–61.

- 76. Fiander AN, Tristram AJ, Davidson EJ, Tomlinson AE, Man S, Baldwin PJ, et al. Prime-boost vaccination strategy in women with high-grade, noncervical anogenital intraepithelial neoplasia: clinical results from a multicenter phase II trial. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2006;16(3):1075–81.
- 77. Davidson EJ, Faulkner RL, Sehr P, Pawlita M, Smyth LJ, Burt DJ, et al. Effect of TA-CIN (HPV 16 L2E6E7) booster immunisation in vulval intraepithelial neoplasia patients previously vaccinated with TA-HPV (vaccinia virus encoding HPV16/18 E6E7). Vaccine. 2004;22(21–22):2722–9.
- Gilbert SC. Clinical development of modified vaccinia virus Ankara vaccines. Vaccine. 2013;31(39):4241–6.
- Lundstrom K, Replicon RNA. Viral vectors as vaccines. Vaccines (Basel). 2016;4(4):pii:E39.
- 80. Trimble CL, Morrow MP, Kraynyak KA, Shen X, Dallas M, Yan J, et al. Safety, efficacy, and immunogenicity of VGX-3100, a therapeutic synthetic DNA vaccine targeting human papillomavirus 16 and 18 E6 and E7 proteins for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 2/3: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2b trial. Lancet. 2015;386(10008):2078–88.
- Maldonado L, Teague JE, Morrow MP, Jotova I, Wu TC, Wang C, et al. Intramuscular therapeutic vaccination targeting HPV16 induces T-cell responses that localize in mucosal lesions. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(221):221ra13.
- Kim TJ, Jin HT, Hur SY, Yang HG, Seo YB, Hong SR, et al. Clearance of persistent HPV infection and cervical lesion by therapeutic DNA vaccine in CIN3 patients. Nat Commun. 2014;5:5317.
- Alvarez RD, Huh WK, Bae S, Lamb LS Jr, Conner MG, Boyer J, et al. A pilot study of pNGVL4a-CRT/ E7(detox) for the treatment of patients with HPV16+ cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 2/3 (CIN2/3). Gynecol Oncol. 2016;140(2):245–52.
- 84. Sun YY, Peng S, Han L, Qiu J, Song L, Tsai Y, et al. Local HPV recombinant vaccinia boost following priming with an HPV DNA vaccine enhances local HPV-specific CD8+ T-cell-mediated tumor control in the genital tract. Clin Cancer Res. 2016;22(3):657–69.
- Shang N, Figini M, Shangguan J, Wang B, Sun C, Pan L, et al. Dendritic cells based immunotherapy. Am J Cancer Res. 2017;7(10):2091–102.
- Gardner A, Ruffell B. Dendritic cells and cancer immunity. Trends Immunol. 2016;37(12):855–65.
- Fournier C, Martin F, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Apetoh L. Trial watch: adoptively transferred cells for anticancer immunotherapy. Onco Targets Ther. 2017;6(11):e1363139.

- Baruch EN, Berg AL, Besser MJ, Schachter J, Markel G. Adoptive <u>T-cell</u> therapy: an overview of obstacles and opportunities. Cancer. 2017;123(S11):2154–62.
- Rodríguez-Cerdeira C, Gregorio MC, López-Barcenas A, Sánchez-Blanco E, Sánchez-Blanco B, Fabbrocini G, Guzman RA, et al. Advances in immunotherapy for melanoma: a comprehensive review. Mediat Inflamm. 2017;2017:3264217.
- Sadozai H, Gruber T, Hunger RE, Schenk M. Recent successes and future directions in Immunotherapy of cutaneous melanoma. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1617.
- Mo Z, Du P, Wang G, Wang Y. The multi-purpose tool of tumor Immunotherapy: gene-engineered T-cells. J Cancer. 2017;8(9):1690–703. https://doi. org/10.7150/jca.18681.
- Harris DT, Kranz DM. Adoptive T-cell therapies: a comparison of T-cell receptors and chimeric antigen receptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2016;37(3):220–30.
- Spear TT, Nagato K, Nishimura MI. Strategies to genetically engineer T-cells for cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2016;65(6):631–49.
- 94. Draper LM, Kwong ML, Gros A, Stevanović S, Tran E, Kerkar S, et al. Targeting of HPV-16+ epithelial cancer cells by TCR gene engineered T-cells directed against E6. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(19):4431–9.
- Bontkes HJ, Walboomers JM, Meijer CJ, Helmerhorst TJ, Stern PL. Specific HLA class I down-regulation is an early event in cervical dysplasia associated with clinical progression. Lancet. 1998;351(9097):187–8.
- 96. Koopman LA, Corver WE, van der Slik AR, Giphart MJ, Fleuren GJ. Multiple genetic alterations cause frequent and heterogeneous human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen class I loss in cervical cancer. J Exp Med. 2000;191(6):961–76.
- Brady CS, Bartholomew JS, Burt DJ, Duggan-Keen MF, Glenville S, Telford N, et al. Multiple mechanisms underlie HLA dysregulation in cervical cancer. Tissue Antigens. 2000;55(5):401–11.
- 98. Garrido F, Perea F, Bernal M, Sánchez-Palencia A, Aptsiauri N, Ruiz-Cabello F. The escape of cancer from T-cell-mediated immune surveillance: HLA class i loss and tumor tissue architecture. Vaccines (Basel). 2017;5(1):pii: E7.
- 99. Rosales R, López-Contreras M, Rosales C, Magallanes-Molina JR, Gonzalez-Vergara R, Arroyo-Cazarez JM, et al. Regression of human papillomavirus intraepithelial lesions is induced by MVA E2 therapeutic vaccine. Hum Gene Ther. 2014;25(12):1035–49.
- 100. Ojesina AI, Lichtenstein L, Freeman SS, Pedamallu CS, Imaz-Rosshandler I, Pugh TJ, et al. Landscape of genomic alterations in cervical carcinomas. Nature. 2014;506(7488):371–5.
- 101. Michmerhuizen NL, Birkeland AC, Bradford CR, Brenner JC. Genetic determinants in head and

neck squamous cell carcinoma and their influence on global personalized medicine. Genes Cancer. 2016;7(5–6):182–200.

- 102. Chen YP, Zhang J, Wang YQ, Liu N, He QM, Yang XJ, et al. The immune molecular landscape of the B7 and TNFR immunoregulatory ligand-receptor families in head and neck cancer: a comprehensive overview and the immunotherapeutic implications. Onco Targets Ther. 2017;6(3):e1288329.
- 103. Tremble LF, Forde PF, Soden DM. Clinical evaluation of macrophages in cancer: role in treatment, modulation and challenges. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2017;66(12):1509–27.
- 104. Pardoll D. Cancer and the immune system: basic concepts and targets for intervention. Semin Oncol. 2015;42(4):523–38.
- 105. Arina A, Corrales L, Bronte V. Enhancing T-cell therapy by overcoming the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. Semin Immunol. 2016;28(1):54–63.
- 106. Bender E. Cancer immunotherapy. Nature. 2017;552:S62–70.
- 107. Goldberg SB, Gettinger SN, Mahajan A, Chiang AC, Herbst RS, Sznol M, et al. Pembrolizumab for patients with melanoma or non-small-cell lung cancer and untreated brain metastases: early analysis of a non-randomised, open-label, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(7):976–83.
- Day D, Monjazeb AM, Sharon E, Ivy SP, Rubin EH, Rosner GL, Butler MO. From famine to feast: developing early-phase combination immunotherapy trails wisely. Clin Cancer Res. 2017;23:4980–91.

- 109. Oguejiofor K, Hall J, Slater C, Betts G, Hall G, Slevin N, et al. Stromal infiltration of CD8 T-cells is associated with improved clinical outcome in HPVpositive oropharyngeal squamous carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 2015;113(6):886–93.
- 110. Badoual C, Hans S, Merillon N, Van Ryswick C, Ravel P, Benhamouda N, et al. PD-1-expressing tumor-infiltrating T-cells are a favorable prognostic biomarker in HPV-associated head and neck cancer. Cancer Res. 2013;73(1):128–38.
- 111. Lyford-Pike S, Peng S, Young GD, Taube JM, Westra WH, Akpeng B, et al. Evidence for a role of the PD-1:PD-L1 pathway in immune resistance of HPV-associated head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res. 2013;73(6):1733–41.
- 112. Oguejiofor K, Galletta-Williams H, Dovedi SJ, Roberts DL, Stern PL, West CM. Distinct patterns of infiltrating CD8+ T-cells in HPV+ and CD68 macrophages in HPV- oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas are associated with better clinical outcome but PD-L1 expression is not prognostic. Oncotarget. 2017;8(9):14416–27.
- 113. Sacher AG, Gandhi L. Biomarkers for the clinical use of PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors in nonsmall-cell lung Cancer: a review. JAMA Oncol. 2016;2(9):1217–22.
- 114. Baik CS, Rubin EH, Forde PM, Mehnert JM, Collyar D, Butler MO, et al. Immuno-oncology clinical trial design: limitations, challenges, and opportunities. Clin Can Res. 2017;23:4992–5002.



New Advances in Radioimmunotherapy for the Treatment of Cancers

Clément Bailly, Caroline Bodet-Milin, Caroline Rousseau, François Guerard, Thomas Carlier, Ludovic Ferrer, Nicolas Chouin, Joelle Gaschet, Ferid Haddad, Michel Cherel, Jacques Barbet, Françoise Kraeber-Bodéré, and Mickaël Bourgeois

C. Bailly · C. Bodet-Milin · T. Carlier INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, University Hospital – CHU de Nantes, Nantes, France e-mail: clement.bailly@chu-nantes.fr; caroline.milin@chu-nantes.fr; thomas.carlier@chu-nantes.fr

C. Rousseau · L. Ferrer · M. Cherel INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, ICO-René Gauducheau, Saint-Herblain, France e-mail: caroline.rousseau@ico.unicancer.fr; ludovic.ferrer@ico.unicancer.fr; Michel.Cherel@univ-nantes.fr

F. Guerard · J. Gaschet INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l' Université de Nantes, Nantes, France e-mail: francois.guerard@univ-nantes.fr; joelle.gaschet@univ-nantes.fr

N. Chouin

INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

AMaROC Research Group, ONIRIS (Nantes-Atlantic National College of Veterinary Medicine, Food Science and Engineering), Nantes, France e-mail: nicolas.chouin@oniris-nantes.fr F. Haddad

Department of Physics, Subatech, Ecole des Mînes, University of Nantes, Nantes, France

GIP Arronax, Saint-Herblain, France e-mail: haddad@subatech.in2p3.fr

J. Barbet

INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

GIP Arronax, Saint-Herblain, France e-mail: barbet@arronax-nantes.fr

F. Kraeber-Bodéré (⊠) INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, University Hospital – CHU de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, ICO-René Gauducheau, Saint-Herblain, France e-mail: francoise.bodere@chu-nantes.fr

M. Bourgeois (🖂)

INSERM UMR1232 – CNRS UMR6299 – Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Nantes-Angers (Equipe 13), Institut de Recherche en Santé de l'Université de Nantes, Nantes, France

Department of Nuclear Medicine, University Hospital – CHU de Nantes, Nantes, France

GIP Arronax, Saint-Herblain, France e-mail: mickael.bourgeois@univ-nantes.fr

Contents

29.1 Introduction

The Idea of Using Monoclonal Antibodies Directed to Tumour Markers Coupled with Nuclear Medicine to Deliver Ionizing Radiation against Tumours Appeared Just after Köhler and Milstein Developed Hybridoma Technology to Produce mAbs. Radiolabelled Antibodies Have Been Considered for the Treatment of Cancer since the Beginning of the 1980s [1], with the First Application Consisting of a Diagnostic Application with a mAb Directed against Carcinoembryonic Antigen Radiolabelled with Iodine-131 Colorectal Tumours in [2]. Therapeutic Applications Came Quickly after and Have Shown Real Efficacy in B-Cell Lymphoma Pathology [3]. These First Results Were Confirmed in Clinical Studies Demonstrating the Efficacy of Anti-CD20 mAbs like 131I-Tositumomab or 90Y-Ibritumomab Tiuxetan in the Radioimmunotherapy of NonHodgkin B-Cell Lymphoma (NHL) [4, 5]. The Recent Progress in Recombinant Humanized or Human Monoclonal Antibodies, the Disposability of More Stable Chelates, Improved Pretargeting Techniques, New and Innovative Radioisotopes and Administration Protocols Have Increased the Therapeutic Efficacy of Radioimmunotherapy (RIT) [6]. This Chapter Aims to Discuss the most Important Aspects and New Advances in RIT Practice for the Treatment of Cancers

29.2 Principles of Radioimmunotherapy

Radioimmunotherapy (RIT) consists of a targeted molecular therapy involving both radiobiological and immunological processes [7]. The key for RIT success consists of specific irradiation of tumour cells and irradiation of healthy tissues as low as reasonably possible (e.g. RIT side effects). The vectorization of the radionuclides by the specificity of the mAbs exponentially conduces to a continuous, decreasing and low-dose-rate irradiation towards the targeted tumour. In comparison with conventional external-beam radiotherapy where the delivered dose is intermittent and high-dose-rate, RIT is dependent on the mAb pharmacokinetic distribution on the tumour site, and the dose-response relationship with patient outcomes, such as cell survival, has not been yet demonstrated. Whilst the exact mechanism of the radiobiological cytotoxicity is yet to be determined, it has been clearly demonstrated that we observe a synergy between the immunological cytotoxicity such as apoptosis, antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) and complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) due to the non-radioactive mAb injected prior to the radiolabelled antibody and RIT with bystander and abscopal effects [8].

Whilst RIT efficacy has been demonstrated in hemopathies such B-cell lymphoma and non-Hodgkin lymphoma, it is yet to be confirmed for solid tumours where the neovasculature is highly disorganized and presents anomalies like arteriovenous shunting or blood flow inversion [9, 10]. This deleterious phenomenon is compounded by the intratumoural high interstitial pressure and could limit the penetration of large-sized macromolecules such as mAbs [11, 12]. Fortunately, the low penetration of radiolabelled antibodies seems to be overestimated, and the autoradiography indicates that mAbs completely cover the tumour and bind to antigen-positive regions [13, 14]. Thus, the current RIT indications in clinical practice are small disseminated or minimal tumours, clusters of malignant cells or consolidation therapies. In minimal residual disease of solid tumours or hemopathies, the clinical setting, biodistribution and tumour dosimetry are more favourable because tumour cells are less hypoxic and more radiosensitive [15, 16].

The efficacy of RIT is mainly driven by the good correlation between the mAb and isotope choice [15]. Regarding therapeutic applications, nuclear medicine practitioners can use massive particle emitters such as beta minus particles,

Auger electrons or alpha particles, which deliver their ionizing energy locally. The penetration path length, which depends on the initial energy of the radioactive emission, should match the size of the targeted tumours. This parameter, particularly with beta minus emission, produces effective irradiation over a few hundred cell diameters, resulting in a cross fire effect on nearby tumour cells as well as cytotoxic effects towards cells not necessarily targeted by the antibody. On the other hand, the choice of the mAb is crucial for RIT success. To circumvent the pharmacokinetic and biodistribution difficulties of using whole native mAbs, biochemists and immunochemists have developed numerous immunoconjugate derivatives such F(ab) and F(ab')₂ fragments and synthetic proteins (e.g. minibodies or single-chain variable fragment) [17-20].

The effectiveness of RIT in clinical practice has been demonstrated with non-ablative activities for therapy of relapsed patients, with refracconsolidation tory tumours or as after chemotherapy induction in follicular lymphoma or other hemopathies [21-23]. For solid tumours, RIT used as consolidation therapy targeting minimal residual disease (MRD) achieved promising clinical efficacy in colon-rectum carcinoma or prostate cancer [24, 25]. New RIT protocols such as pretargeting in medullary thyroid carcinoma [26] or dose fractionation approaches in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer [27] seem to be promising and are currently the mainstay of research in RIT with encouraging initial clinical results.

29.3 Radionuclides and Radiolabelling Techniques for Therapy

29.3.1 Radionuclides

Despite the large number of radionuclides available, only a few of them are used for RIT. Radioisotope choice is broadly driven by three criteria: physical characteristics, chemical characteristics and availability. The list of current radionuclides used (or considered) for RIT is summarized in Table 29.1.

				Maximum			
	Emission	Half-	$E_{\rm max}$	range in soft	Production	Secondary	Usual labelling
Radionuclide	type	life(h)	(keV)	tissues (mm)	method	emission	method
Indium-111	Auger	67	2.72	Nanometre scale	Cyclotron	γ	Polyamino carboxylic acids: DTPA, DOTA
Iodine-131	β-	193	606.3	2.9	Neutron reactor	γ	Direct labelling (tyrosine)
Yttrium-90	β-	64	2280.1	12.0	Neutron reactor	/	Polyamino carboxylic acids: DOTA
Lutetium-177	β-	162	498.3	2.0	Neutron reactor	γ	Polyamino carboxylic acids: DOTA
Rhenium-186	β-	89.2	1069.5	5.0	Neutron reactor	γ	N ₂ S ₂ or N ₃ S complexes (analogous with technetium chemistry)
Rhenium-188	β-	17	2120.4	10.8	Neutron reactor	γ	N ₂ S ₂ or N ₃ S complexes (analogous with technetium chemistry)
Copper-64	β-	12.7	579.0	2.8	Cyclotron	β+	Polyamino carboxylic acids: DOTA
Copper-67	β-	62	561	1.8	Cyclotron	γ	Polyamino carboxylic acids: DOTA
Astatine-211	α	7.2	5.870– 7.45	0.055-0.080	Cyclotron	Х	Stannylated synthons: SAB, SAPS
Bismuth-213	α	0.76	8.4	0.1	Actinium-225 decay	γ, β ⁻	Polyamino carboxylic acids: DOTA, DTPA
Bismuth-212	α	1.0	6.3	0.080	Waste management	γ, β-	Polyamino carboxylic acids: DOTA, TCMC
Actinium-225	α	240	8.4	0.1	Cyclotron or waste management	γ, β ⁻	Polyamino carboxylic acids: DOTA, HEHA
Thorium-227	α	448	6.0	0.080	Neutron reactor	γ	Polyamino carboxylic acids: DOTA Hydroxypyridin complex: HOPO

Table 29.1 Radionuclides for antibody-targeted imaging and therapy

From a physical point of view, RIT uses nonpenetrating radiation including beta minus particles, Auger electrons or alpha particles. These three modes of decay deliver their energy over small distances within an organism, an ideal situation for reducing irradiation of healthy non-targeted tissues. Both beta minus particles and Auger electrons are the same type of particle with a difference in terms of energy as a consequence of the different origin due to the radioactive mechanism.

The linear energy transfer (LET) in soft tissues for the electrons in the range of 0.1-1 keV energy (e.g. Auger electrons) is in the range of 5–25 keV/µm. Consequently, the path length of penetration for an Auger electron is very short (subcellular irradiation of several nanometres from the point of emission) [28]. For the electrons in the range of 10 keV to 10 MeV energy (e.g. beta minus particles), the LET is in the range of 0.2-2 keV/µm [29]. Thus, the path length of penetration for beta minus particles is in the order of magnitude of a few millimetres to centimetres from the point of emission. Typical LET values for 5-10 MeV alpha particles are 100 keV/µm, and the path lengths of penetration for these alpha particles are close to $100 \ \mu m$ [30]. The choice of emission type is driven by the size of the tumour and the pharmacologic vector site of fixation. Auger electrons are more suitable for inner-cell irradiation close to DNA molecules, alpha particles permit irradiation on small cell clusters, and beta minus particles are used to irradiate microscopic tumours. Yttrium-90, for example, exhibits a long-range beta emission and can be used for larger masses, whilst lutetium-177 has a shortrange, favouring treatment for smaller tumours [31, 32].

The radionuclide half-life must also be considered. Often, RIT is administered by systemic infusion, and the physical half-life must be matched with the time required for tumour uptake and clearance of unbound activity. A very short radionuclide half-life leads to non-negligible irradiation of healthy tissues during the pharmacokinetic biodistribution of the vector. The use of short half-life radionuclides requires small carriers that quickly reach the target cells, as proposed in peptide therapy, mAb fragments, pretargeting or small antibody-like vector approaches. Therefore, it is relevant in RIT practice to match the radionuclide physical half-life to the carrier biological half-life in order to obtain higher tumour-to-normal-tissue activity uptake ratios.

From a chemical point of view, radioisotopes for RIT must be chemically stable in vivo. Because radionuclides need to be bound to their immunological vector, the less-reactive species such as alkali, alkaline earth metals or noble gases cannot be used. Globally, they can be divided into two main categories, the radiohalogens and the radiometals, and each of these requires specific chemical protein radiolabelling approaches (for more specific details, see Sect. 29.3.2). The chemical nature of the radionuclides also influences the rate of its metabolism within a cell and therefore the pharmacological profile. For instance, when mAbs are internalized, residual metal radionuclides afford protracted radioactivity retention in tumour sites, whereas direct radiolabelling with radioiodine results in fast excretion of the radioactivity by the sodiumiodine symporter (NIS), thus reducing target cell exposure.

Finally, the method of radionuclide production is a very important aspect that determines the cost and availability of the radioisotope of interest. Parameters such as the final purity, total cost, specific activity, availability and the abundance of pre-irradiated material require special consideration in order to produce radionuclides perennially and of clinical quality. Currently, three production routes are used: neutron fission driven in a neutron nuclear reactor (direct and specific production or nuclear waste management), neutron bombardment (thermic neutron capture) also driven in neutron nuclear reactor, and charged particles (protons, deuterons, alpha particles) formed by bombardment in a particle accelerator (usually a cyclotron). In some cases, and for logistic reasons, a parent radionuclide is produced by one of the above ways and then used as a generator of the daughter radionuclide of interest. Some radiometals used in RIT are provided in a no-carrier added (n.c.a.) state in chloridric acid media. For these, it is very important to minimize contamination with trace metals (during production mode, glass contamination etc.) to improve the final radiolabelling yield and the specific activity of the final radiopharmaceutical mAb.

29.3.2 Labelling Techniques

Historically, radiohalogens such as iodine radioisotopes were the first used for RIT applications. Iodine can react directly with proteins following oxidation from iodide (I^-) to I^+ form [33]. In this case, the I⁺ form reacts with the aromatic moiety of amino acids like tyrosine or histidine residues of the polypeptide chain (Fig. 29.1). This effective method nevertheless presents some disadvantages, and can't be used when the mAb is sensitive to oxidizing environments, when the radiolabelled tyrosine is close to the mAb affinity site (near to the complementarity determining region—CDR) or when the mAb is metabolized, resulting in the release of free iodine leading to nonspecific irradiation of normal organs such as the thyroid gland.

To circumvent the limitations of direct radiohalogenation of mAbs, immunochemists have developed several radiolabelling approaches using prosthetic groups like Bolton-Hunter reagent, organostannyl compounds or iodonium salts (Fig. 29.2). These groups are generally transformed into bioreactive compounds capable of forming covalent bonds with the protein [34, 35].

For radiometal isotopes, direct radiolabelling is also possible. For technetium or rhenium, it is possible to chemically couple via thiol groups after a mild reduction of the mAb, but the indirect radiolabelling is generally preferred. Radioactive metals can form very stable coordination complexes with a variety of ligands, including linear diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (DTPA) derivatives macrocyclic or 1,4,7,10-tetraazacyclododecane-N,N',N"',N"'tetraacetic acid (DOTA) polyaminocarboxylic derivatives (Fig. 29.3) [36]. These ligands are generally transformed into bifunctional compounds (bifunctional chelator agent-BCA) capable of reacting with proteins to form a covalent bond with lysine residues (activated esters or isothiocyanates), cysteine residues (maleimide) or synthetic bioorthogonal residues to perform click chemistry [37]. The chemistry of BCA compounds is an important development area, where the goal is to limit the transmetalation and transchelation phenomena that could occur in vivo when the radiopharmaceutical is in competition with metal complexed proteins such as transferrin or ceruloplasmin [38].



Succinimidyl Iodo Benzoate (SIB)





Fig. 29.3 Structures of chelators for complexation of radiometals

Chelating agents with high affinities and high kinetic stabilities are under development. The best approach is to limit this in vivo phenomena, requiring better chelation agent selection in order to improve both selectivity and stability. This choice integrates a stability constant and dissociation kinetic values which have to be for the latter as low as possible.

29.4 Treatment of B-Cell Lymphoma with Anti-CD20 Antibodies

Bexxar[®] and Zevalin[®] are administered 6–8 days after a pre-dose of cold mAbs, respectively, 2×450 mg of tositumomab and 2×250 mg of rituximab, to improve biodistribution and tumour targeting. Bexxar[®] and Zevalin[®] can be integrated in clinical practice using non-ablative doses for the treatment of patients with relapsed or refractory follicular lymphoma (FL) or as consolidation after induction chemotherapy in the front-line treatment in FL patients. Haematologic toxicity is the major side effect of RIT and depends on the extent of bone marrow involvement and prior treatment. Non-haematologic toxicity is generally low. Secondary myelodysplastic syndrome or acute myelogenous leukaemia (AML) was reported in 1-3% of cases [39-42]. The risk appears to be increased in patients previously treated by several lines of chemotherapy or radiotherapy. In a meta-analysis involving relapsed B-cell lymphoma patients treated with Zevalin® in four clinical trials, long-term responses (timeto-progression (TTP) > 12 months) were seen in 37% of patients [41]. At a median follow-up time of 53.5 months, the median TTP was 29.3 months. One-third of these patients had been treated with at least three previous therapies, and 37% of them had not responded to their last therapy. The estimated 5-year overall survival (OS) was 53% for all patients treated with Zevalin® and 81% for long-term responders. Using Bexxar®, a longterm meta-analysis performed on 250 heavily pretreated patients with indolent lymphoma

Clinical results showed that Zevalin[®] or Bexxar[®] had a significant efficacy but moderate response duration as monotherapy in rituximabrefractory recurrence of FL. A higher therapeutic impact may be achieved using Bexxar® or Zevalin® in other indications. Recent studies showed that RIT can be administrated as a highdose treatment. This approach consists of injecting a myeloablative activity of RIT or combining standard or escalated RIT activities with highdose chemotherapy. In a recent prospective multicentre study, Shimoni et al. demonstrated that standard-dose Zevalin® (0.4 mCi/kg) combined with BEAM high-dose chemotherapy was safe and possibly more effective than BEAM alone as a conditioning regimen for stem cell transplantation (SCT) in 43 patients with relapsed/refractory aggressive non-Hodgkin lymphoma [44]. The 2-year progression-free survival (PFS) was 59% and 37% in the Z-BEAM and BEAM arms, and the 2-year OS was 91% and 62%, respectively.

RIT can also be administered as consolidation after induction therapy. The FIT randomized phase III trial showed the benefits of Zevalin[®] as consolidation in previously untreated FL patients [45]. A high conversion rate from partial response (PR) to CR of 77% was observed after RIT, leading to a high CR rate of 87%. Moreover, different studies suggest that RIT is a relevant option as consolidation therapy in different subtypes of B-cell lymphoma such as diffuse large B-cell or mantle cell lymphoma, in order to decrease the number of chemotherapy courses in elderly patients or as an alternative for stem cell transplantation in high-risk patients [46-49]. In 2014, Hohloch et al. published the results of 215 patients registered in the international RIT network. The median age of the patients was 62 years (range of 17-88), with 27% above the age of 70 years. Zevalin® was mainly used as consolidation after first-line or second-line chemotherapy (56.1%) The OR rate for the entire population was 63.3%. The complete response rate was 76.4% in patients treated as part of first-line therapy and 44.3% in patients with relapse.

RIT can also be considered alone in front-line treatment. Scholz et al. evaluated, in an international multicentre phase II clinical trial, the efficacy and feasibility of Zevalin[®] as first-line treatment in 59 FL patients [50]. Treatment indication resulted from B symptoms, grade 3A, organ compression or infiltration, rapid growth and/or bulky disease. The OR rate at 6 months after RIT was 87%, with 41% of the patients achieving CR, 15% unconfirmed CR, and 31% PR. Median PFS was 25.9 months. RIT was well tolerated, and the most common toxicity was haematologic and reversible.

Despite these promising results, RIT has failed to be widely adopted by haematooncologists [51]. In an interesting recent review on the treatment of lymphoma by RIT, Illidge regretted the low implementation of RIT in current clinical practice [52].

29.5 Promising Results for Hemopathies Using Other Antibodies

29.5.1 Targeting of Lymphoma with Anti-CD22 Antibodies

For lymphoma, targeting antigens other than CD20 using rituximab appears relevant, offering the possibility of targeting populations of cells not expressing CD20, or not responding to cold anti-CD20 mAbs. CD22 is a transmembrane gly-coprotein expressed on mature B cells but not expressed on stem cells or plasma cells and functions in B-cell regulation/activation. CD22 is highly expressed across malignant B-cell histologies. The anti-CD22 mAb epratuzumab is well suited for RIT because it is humanized, internalized by target cells, stably labelled using DOTA and administered without a loading dose of cold antibody, in contrast to Zevalin® or Bexxar® [53].

⁹⁰Y-epratuzumab RIT has been improved by the use of repeated injections [54–56]. A multicentre phase I/II study was designed to assess fractionated ⁹⁰Y-epratuzumab in NHL relapsing patients [56]. Sixty-four patients with 1-5 prior therapies (median: 2) with different B-cell lymphoma histologies were enrolled. The total ⁹⁰Y activities ranged from 0.185 to 1.665 GBq/m², with comparable numbers treated at ≤ 0.37 (n = 17), >0.37-0.74 (n = 13), >0.74-1.11(n = 16) and >1.11 GBq/m² (n = 18). Even at the highest total ⁹⁰Y activity of 1.665 MBq/m², grade 3-4 haematologic toxicities were manageable with support for patients with <25% bone marrow involvement. The overall OR rate was 62% (48% CR/unconfirmed CR). For FL patients without prior SCT, response rates increased with total ⁹⁰Y activity, with 92% CR/unconfirmed CR at the highest dose levels (>1.11 MBq/m²). Patients with CR/unconfirmed CR achieved longlived responses continuing up to 5 years, including 24.6-month median PFS for 12 FL patients receiving >1.11 MBq/m² total ⁹⁰Y activity.

Targeting of antigens other than CD20 appears particularly interesting in the context of consolidation therapy after rituximab-based therapy. A French phase II trial sponsored by the LYSA group is ongoing and is assessing front-line treatment using fractionated RIT with 90Y-epratuzumab as consolidation therapy after chemoimmunotherapy in bulky or stage III/IV aggressive B-cell lymphoma. Another important perspective is the clinical evaluation of dual-targeted antibody/ radioantibody therapy [53, 57, 58]. Combining an unconjugated anti-CD20 antibody therapy with a radioimmunoconjugate binding to a noncompeting antigen might improve responses by allowing optimal uptake of each agent [58, 59]. Preclinical studies showed that efficacy increased when consolidation using anti-CD20 veltuzumab was delivered after anti-CD22 RIT [59]. The injection of cold mAb after the radioactivity dose provided higher efficacy than injection before RIT, and the amount of pre-dose cold mAb could be minimized [53, 58]. Thus, a re-examination of RIT in the treatment of B-cell lymphoma was proposed [57], emphasizing that in RIT clinical practice, nearly 900 mg of unlabelled anti-CD20 IgG antibody is pre-dosed to the patient before the anti-CD20 90Y or 131I RIT.

29.5.2 Targeting of Multiple Myeloma Using Anti-CD138 Antibodies

Multiple myeloma (MM) is a malignant plasma cell disorder characterized by the proliferation of clonal cells in the bone marrow and in extramedullary sites at later stages of the disease [60]. The annual incidence is 4-6 cases per 100,000. The median survival of this previously incurable disease has markedly improved over the last decade due to the extensive use of high-dose therapy and autologous stem cell transplantation in younger patients and to the broad introduction of novel agents, i.e. thalidomide, bortezomib and lenalidomide used in combination with dexamethasone or alkylating agents [61]. Other drugs such as histone deacetylase inhibitors (vorinostat, panobinostat) or mAbs (elotuzumab) are under development and assessment in large prospective phase II or III studies [62].

Numerous immunotherapy approaches targeting MM cell surface antigens have been tested. Preclinical and clinical trials have been conducted with naked mAbs having an intrinsic cytotoxic action, interfering with ligand binding or involved in angiogenesis. Anti-CD20 rituximab [63], anti-CD38 [64], anti-CD54 [65], anti-CD74 [66], anti-CD317 [67, 68] and anti-CD319 [69] have been assessed as monotherapies or in combination with other therapeutic drugs or in preparation for autologous SCT. Because IL-6 is a major autocrine/paracrine growth factor for MM cells, immunotherapy with anti-IL-6 mAbs has been performed. A transient tumour cytostasis was obtained, which did not cure the tumour [70, 71]. Finally, Lee et al. have shown the expression of CD66a but not of other CD66 isoforms in MM. These findings open the possibility of using mAbs against members of the carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) and immunoglobulin superfamily in RIT [72]. Erba et al. have performed an RIT clinical trial using a ¹³¹I-L19SIP mAb specific to the EDB domain of fibronectin, reporting a stabilization of the disease in two patients at an advanced stage of MM [73]. Among targeted antigens, CD138 [74, 75] and CD38 [76] seem interesting as they are currently used as standard markers in many laboratories for the identification and purification of myeloma cells. The feasibility of anti-CD138 (syndecan-1) RIT using ¹³¹I-B-B4 was also reported, with encouraging dosimetry results [74]. Syndecan-1 belongs to the family of heparan sulphate bearing proteoglycans. Expressed on the epithelia, this molecule is also present on pre-B cells and plasma cells, and it plays an important role in regulating MM [77]. Syndecan-1 is expressed in all MM tumours within the bone marrow and is present at relatively high levels on MM cell surfaces [77–80].

In MM, tumour cells are mostly disseminated in the bone marrow either as isolated cells or as microscopic tumour cell clusters. Beta emitters with relatively long path lengths (1 mm to 1 cm) are not very suitable to target such isolated cells. In contrast, the high-linear energy transfer characteristics of alpha particles enable localized irradiation whilst preserving surrounding tissues, and cell toxicity is achieved with only a few disintegrations at the cell surface. In vitro and preclinical studies demonstrated the promising therapeutic efficacy of ²¹³Bi-labelled antimCD138 for the treatment of MM [75, 81]. CD138 targeting with a mAb coupled to a radionuclide emitting alpha particles thus represents a potential new therapeutic option for MM, and the use of alpha emitters with longer half-lives, such as ²¹¹At (7.2 h), should be evaluated in the clinic.

29.6 RIT of Metastatic Prostate Cancer

PCa accounted for an estimated 70,347 deaths in Europe in 2013 [82]. Up to 40% of patients eventually develop metastases despite local therapy. Once metastases have developed, PCa is incurable, and all therapy is palliative. Medical castration is highly effective in shrinking tumour burden, decreasing prostate-specific antigen (PSA) levels, enhancing the quality of life, and improving survival [83]. However, most patients evolve towards progression despite castration, with a median duration of response of

12 - 24months [83]. At the stage of castration-resistant PCa (CRPC), cytotoxic chemotherapy was the only therapy [84, 85] until 2012, when the European Medicines Agency (EMA) approved the use of abiraterone acetate before docetaxel. Within the past year, three new drugs were FDA approved for the treatment of patients with CRPC (cabazitaxel, sipuleucel-T and denosumab). However, the survival benefit of these drugs in CRPC is modest: respectively +2.4, +4.1 and +3.6 months, and more efficacious drugs are needed.

Radiotherapy is an established treatment for clinically localized PCa or for palliation of painful bone metastasis [86]. PCa is a solid malignancy for which RIT may be favourably used because it is a radiosensitive tumour with typical distribution to sites with high exposure to circulating radiolabelled mAbs (bone marrow and lymph nodes). In preclinical and clinical PCa therapy studies, radionuclides have been linked to antibodies or peptides with affinity to mucin, ganglioside (L6), LewisY (Ley), adenocarcinomaassociated antigens and prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA) [87–90], but PSMA appears to be the most specific.

PSMA is non-secreted type II integral membrane protein with abundant and nearly universal expression on prostate epithelial cells and is strongly upregulated in PCa [91–95]. Pathology studies indicate that PSMA is expressed by virtually all PCa [96]. The level of expression in nonprostate tissues is 100- to 1000-fold less than in prostate tissue [91], and the sites of PSMA expression in normal cells (brush border/luminal location) are not typically exposed to circulating mAbs. De-immunized J591 mAb, which targets the external domain of PSMA, giving an easy and rapid access to the antigen, seems to be the best clinical candidate for imaging and therapy of PCa [97, 98].

A phase I trial assessing ¹¹¹In/⁹⁰Y-J591 was performed in 29 patients [99]. Dose-limiting toxicity was seen at 740 MBq/m², and 647.5 MBq/ m² was determined as the maximum tolerated dose (MTD). The overall targeting sensitivity of bone and soft tissue metastasis was 81%. Decrease of PSA was observed for two patients as an objective measurable disease response with a decrease of lymph node size.

Thirty-five patients were enrolled in a ¹⁷⁷Lu-J591 phase I trial [100]. The 2590 MBq/m² level was determined as the MTD. Repeated dosing, with up to three doses of 1110 MBq/m², could be safely administered. Clearly identified sites of metastatic disease were successfully imaged by ¹⁷⁷Lu-J591 scintigraphy in 100% of patients. The median duration of PSA stabilization, after treatment, was 60 days with a range of 28-601 days. No immune response was detected. A phase II ¹⁷⁷Lu-J591 trial was initiated in CRPC patients (ASCO congress 2008). Fifteen patients (cohort 1) were treated with 2405 MBq/m². The second cohort (2590 MBq/m²) enrolled 17 patients expanded to 15 patients (ASCO congress 2013). Sensitivity of known metastasis targeting was 93.6%. Reversible thrombocytopenia and neutropenia toxicity occurred, respectively, in 46.8% and 25.5% of patients. The second dose cohort (2590 MBq/m²) showed not only higher PSA responses (46.9% vs. 13.3%, p = 0.048) associated with a longer survival (21.8 vs. 11.9 months, p = 0.03) but also more reversible haematologic toxicity.

These trials provide the support that radiolabelled de-immunized J591 is well-tolerated and non-immunogenic. Radiolabelled J591 effectively targets PCa metastases with high sensitivity and specificity, reduces PSA and declines with a dose-effect relationship.

29.7 RIT with Alpha-Emitting Radionuclides

Alpha particles emit a high LET of approximately 100 keV/ μ m and deliver a high proportion of their energy inside the targeted cells (the range in tissue is short and less than 100 μ m), leading to highly cytotoxic effects on tumour cells [101, 102]. In vitro studies have demonstrated that between 1 and 20 cell nucleus traversals by alpha particles are sufficient to inactivate a cell as compared to thousands or tens of thousands for the same effect with beta minus particles. Alpha par-

ticles create multiple DNA double-strand breaks and have been shown to be independent of both dose rate and oxygenation of the irradiated tissue [103].

29.7.1 Therapeutic Indications

Related to these characteristics, the use of alphaemitting RIT offers a promising alternative way to treat various cancer pathologies and making them particularly suited for the therapy of isolated tumour cells and minimal residual disease (MRD), micrometastatic diseases or haematologic tumours. Despite the discovery of alphaemitting radionuclides in the early twentieth century, the first alpha-RIT clinical trial was performed in 1997 [104]. This first clinical trial application of α -RIT was performed with an anti-CD33 humanized monoclonal antibody labelled with Bi-213. The CD33 antigen is a 67 kDa glycoprotein overexpressed in most acute myeloid leukaemias (AML), and the ²¹³Bi-antiCD33 mAb was administered in 18 patients with AML. The results showed a reduction in circulating blasts in most patients (~80%), whereas no extramedullary toxicity was observed. More recently, several clinical trials were initiated to treat lymphomas [105], melanomas [106], glioblastomas [30] and ovarian carcinomas [18, 107]. These α -RIT clinical trials appear very promising, and larger phase II clinical trials have to be performed to fully demonstrate efficacy. Using α -emitters for therapy remains a challenge, even though RaCl₂ is routinely used for pain palliation and bone metastasis in castrated resistant prostate cancer (CRPC) patients, and large clinical trials will require high production and accessibility of α -emitting radionuclides [108–110].

29.7.2 Limited Availability

More than 100 α -emitting radionuclides are currently known, but once selected for appropriate characteristics, less than ten have been evaluated. The most promising are astatine-211, the lead-212/bismuth-212 generator, bismuth-213, radium-223, actinium-225 and thorium-227. These isotopes are generated in association with nuclear weapon production, nuclear fuel waste reprocessing and cyclotrons. The major supply problem, which will need to be solved before their routine use in α -RIT, relates primarily to the low level of isotope production currently possible. For example, only a few centres in the world are able to produce Bi-213 [111], and combining all current production sources would permit annual treatment of only 200 patients. Astatine-211 and actinium-225 could be produced more easily by cyclotrons [112, 113]. This issue of availability was clearly identified, and recent analysis from the United States Department of Energy emphasized the need to develop infrastructures to produce α -emitting radionuclides. Currently, both actinium-225 and astatine-211 appear to be the most promising α -emitting radionuclides. Actinium-225 could be produced in a cyclotron from a radioactive target (radium-226) under a ²²⁶Ra(p,2n)²²⁵Ac reaction, whilst astatine-211 is produced from a natural and non-radioactive target (bismuth-209) by a 209 Bi(α ,2n) 211 At cyclotron reaction.

29.7.3 Issues and Current Developments

The cytotoxic effects of α -particles provide very interesting opportunities for improving RIT efficacy in certain indications. The first clinical trials showed good efficacy and a good toxicity profile. The indications where α -RIT seems to be efficient are physically limited to a small cluster of tumour cells (micrometastasis, haematologic diseases, MRD), but this limitation could be overcome by therapeutic association with chemotherapy to obtain cytoreduction prior to α -RIT use. For the same reasons, multi- α emitters like actinium-225 which successively emit four α particles in their decay scheme may permit longer irradiation targeting larger tumours burdens.

Different optimization strategies like pretargeting or fractionated approaches may be used to enhance the therapeutic window (i.e. increasing the tumour-to-organ ratio in terms of activity delivery). In the same way, the use of short-lived α -emitting radionuclides like astatine-211 coupled to a mAb with a good pharmacokinetic profile allows to optimize the tumour-to-healthy tissue dosimetric contrast.

Finally, knowledge of α -particle radiobiologic subcellular effects is increasing, and different models for target organs (bone marrow, kidneys) are being developed to determine the dose distribution following an RIT treatment [114, 115].

29.8 High Efficacy of Pretargeting Approaches

29.8.1 Metastatic Thyroid Carcinoma

Medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC) represents less than 10% of all thyroid carcinomas. Prognosis of metastatic disease varies from longto short-term survival. Among the various prognostic parameters, advanced age, stage of the disease, EORTC prognostic scoring system mutations in the RET oncogene and association with multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN) 2B are commonly accepted as prognostic factors [116-120]. Moreover, Barbet et al. demonstrated that calcitonin (Ct) serum level doubling times (DT) were an independent predictor of OS [121]. In this study, all the 41 patients with Ct DT >2 years were still alive at the end of the study, 2.9-29.5 years after the initial surgery. Eight patients (67%) with DT between 6 months and 2 years died of the disease 40-189 months after surgery, and all 12 patients with Ct DT < 6 months died of the disease 6 months to 13.3 years after the initial surgery. Giraudet et al. confirmed the prognostic value of biomarker DT in metastatic MTC [122].

Targeted therapy using multikinase inhibitors can be applied in progressive patients, and vandetanib has been approved [123–128]. MTC cells express high levels of CEA, and anti-CEA radiolabelled mAbs have shown promising results [129, 130]. Pretargeted RIT (pRIT) was developed to improve the tumour-to-normal tissue ratios and to deliver increased tumour absorbed doses to relatively radioresistant solid tumours. This involves an initial injection of an unlabelled bispecific monoclonal antibody (BsmAb), followed by a second injection of a radiolabelled bivalent hapten-peptide [131–135]. Using this system, the radiolabelled bivalent peptide binds avidly to the BsmAb attached to the CEA antigen on the cell surface, whereas non-targeted haptenpeptide in the circulation clears rapidly through the kidneys.

A phase I/II clinical trial began in 1996 to evaluate pRIT using the murine anti-CEA × antiindium-DTPA F6x734 BsmAb and a bivalent indium-DTPA hapten labelled with iodine-131, in 26 metastatic MTC patients [136]. Good tumour targeting was observed. Dose-limiting toxicity was haematologic, and the maximum tolerated activity was estimated at 1.8 GBq/m² in this population of patients with a high frequency of bone marrow involvement. Some tumour responses were observed, mainly in patients with a small tumour burden and after repeated courses of pRIT. Because of relatively high haematologic toxicity and frequent immune responses, the chimeric hMN-14 × m734 BsmAb was developed and assessed in a prospective phase I study performed in 34 patients with CEA-expressing tumours to determine the optimal BsmAb dose, hapten activity, and pretargeting interval [137]. A BsmAb dose of 40 mg/m² with a pretargeting interval of 5 days appeared to be a good compromise between toxicity and efficacy. HAMA elevation was observed in 8% of patients and HAHA (human anti-human antibody) in 33%.

In 2006, OS of a series of 29 MTC patients involved in the two phase I/II pRIT trials was retrospectively compared with that of 39 contemporaneous untreated patients (data collected by the French endocrine tumour group, GTE) [138]. A second objective was to examine whether postpRIT Ct DT variation was a surrogate marker for survival. Patients with Ct DT < 2 years were considered as high-risk patients. This study showed that OS was significantly longer in high-risk treated patients than in high-risk untreated patients (median OS, 110 vs. 61 months; p < 0.030).

Following these encouraging results, a prospective phase II multicentre pRIT trial was designed in progressive MTC patients with Ct DT shorter than 5 years. Forty-two MTC patients received 40 mg/m² of hMN-14xm734 and 1.8 GBq/m²¹³¹I-di-indium-DTPA hapten 4-6 days later [139]. Disease control according to the Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors (RECIST) criteria (objective response + stabilization) was observed in 32 patients (76.2%), including a durable CR of at least 40 months in one patient (2.4%) and durable stable disease $(\geq 6 \text{ months})$ in 31 patients (73.8%). Tumour uptake assessed by post-pRIT immunoscintigraphy was a significant predictor of response. As previously reported, toxicity was mainly haematologic, requiring careful post-RIT blood monitoring. Pre-RIT biomarker DT and impact on DT after pRIT were predictors of OS, confirming the value of serum biomarkers in selecting patients and monitoring therapy.

New generation compounds are available today for pRIT. Humanized, recombinant, trivalent BsmAb (anti-CEA TF2) and bivalent histamine-succinyl-glutamine (HSG) peptides have been produced [140, 141]. The use of TF2, composed of a humanized anti-HSG Fab-fragment derived from the 679 anti-HSG mAb, and two humanized anti-CEA Fab-fragments derived from the hMN-14 mAb (labetuzumab, Immunomedics, Inc.) by the Dock-and-Lock procedure should reduce immunogenicity [140–142]. Moreover, the HSG peptide allows facile and stable labelling with different radiometals, such as ¹⁷⁷Lu or ⁹⁰Y, having favourable physical features that could improve pRIT efficacy [143].

29.8.2 Other Neoplasias

New generation recombinant humanized trivalent BsMAb and bivalent histamine-succinylglutamine (HSG) peptides have been produced. These can be labelled with a variety of radionuclides, including yttrium-90 and lutetium-177 for therapeutic purposes [141–143]. This new-generation pretargeting system using anti-CEA × anti-HSG bsMAb TF2 and ¹⁷⁷Lu-IMP288 has been performed and optimized in two clinical trials in patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma and lung carcinoma [144, 145]. Different schedules were studied to define the optimal molar doses of TF2 and IMP-288 and the optimal delay between the two infusions.

Three cohorts of three patients were included in the first part of a phase I/II clinical trial designed to optimize and assess anti-CEA × anti-HSG bsMAb TF2 in CEA-expressing lung cancer patients. Patients underwent a pre-therapeutic imaging session S1 (44 or 88 nmol/m² of TF2 followed by 4.4 nmol/m², 185 MBq, of ¹¹¹In-IMP288) and, 1–2 weeks later, a therapy session S2 (240 or 480 nmol/m² of TF2 followed by 24 nmol/m², 1.1 GBq/m², ¹⁷⁷Lu-IMP288). The pretargeting delay was 24 or 48 h. According to the pharmacokinetic and imaging analysis, the best dosing parameters corresponded to the shorter pretargeting delay (24 h) and to the highest TF2 molar doses. Whilst toxicity was quite limited in the eight patients evaluated, treatment efficacy was minimal in this optimization part of the study, with only two cases of disease stabilization for only short periods of time [145]. Thus, to improve treatment efficacy, the injected activity should be increased for the second part of the study, which is planned with an activity escalation. Overall, it was not expected that a single therapy cycle would be sufficient to deliver antitumour therapeutic doses, and the use of shorter half-life and higher intrinsic toxicity radionuclides, such as yttrium-90, could be preferable to that of lutetium-177. Taking into account these data, a prospective phase-I study is on-going, to assess fractionated injection of ⁹⁰Y-IMP288 in metastatic colorectal carcinoma patients.

29.9 Immuno-PET: The Future for Dosimetry Assessment and Patient Selection

For more than two decades, mAbs have been labelled with gamma-emitting radionuclides, such as ¹³¹I or ¹¹¹In and subsequently used in planar or single-photon emission computed tomog-

raphy (SPECT) imaging procedures. Whilst providing reliable and confident information, this modality suffers from several drawbacks including poor sensitivity, poor spatial resolution and complex scatter correction due to the collimator. Accurate quantitative information could be better achieved using PET for mAb imaging (immuno-PET). Indeed, immuno-PET has several advantages over conventional immunoscintigraphy with gamma-emitters. The improved spatial resolution makes the delineation of tumours and organs better compared with SPECT. Additionally, an exact attenuation correction, a precise scatter correction and, last but not least, a high sensitivity combined with the possibility to perform true whole-body imaging in a reasonable time constitute the key factors for the superiority of PET over SPECT or planar imaging. Immuno-PET images also take advantage of new advances in PET detectors [146, 147] and reconstruction algorithms [148]. Both spatial resolution and signal-to-noise ratio are greatly improved with these developments. The performance of immunotargeting depends on the choice of the mAb (specificity, affinity, dose) and the radionuclide. Combining mAb and PET emitters requires an appropriate match between the biologic half-life of the protein and the physical half-life of the isotope [149–151]. Table 29.1 shows different relevant PET emitters. The use of ¹⁸F or ⁶⁸Ga with a short half-life is limited to small-size molecules such as antibody-based fragments or pretargeted peptides which distribute rapidly in the body [152–156], whereas ⁸⁹Zr [157, 158] and ¹²⁴I [159–161] are well suited to the labelling of large molecules such as intact mAbs. Copper-64 with an intermediate half-life of 12.7 h can be used for labelling of a large number of molecules with different sizes. Within the scope of a "theranostic" approach, pairs of beta+/beta-emitting radionuclides (¹²⁴I/¹³¹I, ⁸⁶Y/⁹⁰Y, ⁶⁴Cu/⁶⁷Cu, ⁴⁴Sc/⁴⁷Sc) are very promising because the same distribution is expected both for imaging dosimetry and therapy with the same elements. Several added values for immuno-PET imaging have been highlighted [149–151].

29.9.1 Immuno-PET and Development of New Drugs

PET could provide information about tumour targeting, pharmacokinetics, accumulation in critical normal organs or optimal dosing. Immuno-PET constitutes a powerful tool to characterize new antibody-based drugs in early stages of development (phase 0/I/II) and then makes it easier to design phase III trials with the most promising mAbs [150, 151]. For example, it has been demonstrated recently that immuno-PET could be useful for visualizing CD138-expressing tumours with ¹²⁴I-B-B4 in the context of treatment of metastatic triple-negative breast cancer that cannot benefit from hormone therapy or anti-Her2/neu immunotherapy [162].

29.9.2 Patient Selection for Therapy

Until now, only invasive methods such as biopsies followed by immunohistochemical analysis could identify patients with lesions that had the highest chance of success with antibody-based therapy. Immuno-PET can offer a non-invasive solution to quantitatively assess target expression. For example, anti-Her2 therapeutic agents are only effective in patients who have Her2positive breast cancer as determined by immunohistochemistry. It has been proven that mAbs labelled with ⁶⁸Ga or ⁸⁹Zr could non-invasively identify those lesions that are likely to respond to therapy [153, 163]. It is also a powerful innovation for improving knowledge about the efficacy and in vivo behaviour of mAbs. Based on immuno-PET, the treatment strategy could be tailored for individual patients before administering expensive medicines [164].

29.9.3 Determination of the Cumulated Activity Concentration for RIT

A study assessing a humanized A33 mAb labelled with ¹²⁴I in colorectal cancer clearly demonstrated

in a clinical setting that the tissue concentration as measured by PET imaging and as derived from ex vivo measurements in a gamma-counter agreed well [165]. This offers a unique opportunity to determine the maximum injected activity considering the dose-limiting organs like bone marrow [150]. Similarly, the injected activity could be adapted for each patient given the desired dose to the tumour when mAb imaging is used as a prelude for RIT [166]. As an example, it has been shown that ⁹⁰Y-Zevalin distribution could be predicted by ⁸⁹Zr-Zevalin [167]. Thus, immuno-PET holds promise for allowing comparisons between different dosing regimens and mAb constructs [168].

29.9.4 Therapy Response

Immuno-PET represents a non-invasive technique for monitoring mAb-based therapy or other therapies by measuring early changes in biomarker expression before being detected using MRI or CT. For example, 89Zr-ranibizumab-PET was found to be a potential VEGF-PET tracer allowing the visualization and quantification of VEGF signalling [169]. Moreover, immuno-PET could also be exploited as a new tool when multiobservation image analysis is considered. This emerging field aims at merging several PET acquisitions to assess tumour characterization (as metabolic volume, uptake variations or heterogeneity). The information brought by immuno-PET is complementary to other existing PET tracers and may certainly help to better stratify patients and eligibility to mAb therapy. A pilot study was recently proposed to assess this [170].

29.10 Conclusion

RIT appears as a most promising targeted therapy in the treatment of hemopathies and solid tumours, especially at the stage of MRD. For B-cell lymphoma, clinical results show that RIT has significant efficacy but moderate response duration as monotherapy in rituximab-refractory B-cell lymphoma. A higher therapeutic impact

For solid tumours, RIT should be developed in combination with several other drugs and in reiterated courses of treatment, just as chemotherapy is used. Today, in many cases, RIT is still assessed in the clinic as single agent, even if preclinical studies have shown synergy between RIT and chemotherapy or antiangiogenic agents. Immuno-PET and dosimetry studies could probably help to select patients for RIT and optimize the injected activity. Finally, RIT may have the potential of killing the last tumour cells, now identified as chemoresistant and radioresistant tumour stem cells. This may require the combination of all possible new developments, including new antibody specificities, pretargeting, fractionated administration and the use of alphaemitting radionuclides.

Acknowledgements This work has been supported by the French National Agency for Research called Investissements d'Avenir via grants Labex IRON n°ANR-11-LABX-0018-01 and Equipex Arronax plus n°ANR-11-EQPX-0004.

References

- Köhler G, Milstein C. Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. Nature. 1975;256(5517):495–7.
- Goldenberg DM, DeLand F, Kim E, Bennett S, Primus FJ, van Nagell JR, et al. Use of radiolabeled antibodies to carcinoembryonic antigen for the detection and localization of diverse cancers by external photoscanning. N Engl J Med. 1978;298(25):1384–6.
- DeNardo SJ, DeNardo GL, O'Grady LF, Macey DJ, Mills SL, Epstein AL, et al. Treatment of a patient with B cell lymphoma by I-131 LYM-1 monoclonal antibodies. Int J Biol Markers. 1987;2(1):49–53.
- Press OW, Leonard JP, Coiffier B, Levy R, Timmerman J. Immunotherapy of Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. Hematology. 2001;2001:221–40.
- 5. Cheson BD. Radioimmunotherapy of non-Hodgkin lymphomas. Blood. 2003;101(2):391–8.

- Goldenberg DM, Sharkey RM. Recent progress in cancer therapy with radiolabeled monoclonal antibodies. Ther Deliv. 2011;2(6):675–9.
- Pouget J-P, Navarro-Teulon I, Bardies M, Chouin N, Cartron G, Pèlegrin A, et al. Clinical radioimmunotherapy—the role of radiobiology. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2011;8(12):720–34.
- Snyder AR. Review of radiation-induced bystander effects. Hum Exp Toxicol. 2004;23(2):87–9.
- 9. Brown JM, Giaccia AJ. The unique physiology of solid tumors: opportunities (and problems) for cancer therapy. Cancer Res. 1998;58(7):1408–16.
- Konerding MA, Fait E, Gaumann A. 3D microvascular architecture of pre-cancerous lesions and invasive carcinomas of the colon. Br J Cancer. 2001;84(10):1354–62.
- Netti PA, Hamberg LM, Babich JW, Kierstead D, Graham W, Hunter GJ, et al. Enhancement of fluid filtration across tumor vessels: implication for delivery of macromolecules. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(6):3137–42.
- Tabrizi M, Bornstein GG, Suria H. Biodistribution mechanisms of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies in health and disease. AAPS J. 2010;12(1):33–43.
- Thurber GM, Schmidt MM, Wittrup KD. Antibody tumor penetration: transport opposed by systemic and antigen-mediated clearance. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2008;60(12):1421–34.
- Chen FM, Epstein AL, Li Z, Taylor CR. A comparative autoradiographic study demonstrating differential intratumor localization of monoclonal antibodies to cell surface (Lym-1) and intracellular (TNT-1) antigens. J Nucl Med. 1990;31(6):1059–66.
- Chatal J-F, Davodeau F, Cherel M, Barbet J. Different ways to improve the clinical effectiveness of radioimmunotherapy in solid tumors. J Cancer Res Ther. 2009;1(Suppl 9):S36–40.
- Collins-Burow B, Santos ES. Rituximab and its role as maintenance therapy in non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2007;7(3):257–73.
- Bäck T, Haraldsson B, Hultborn R, Jensen H, Johansson ME, Lindegren S, et al. Glomerular filtration rate after alpha-radioimmunotherapy with 211At-MX35-F(ab')2: a long-term study of renal function in nude mice. Cancer Biother Radiopharm. 2009 Dec;24(6):649–58.
- Andersson H, Cederkrantz E, Bäck T, Divgi C, Elgqvist J, Himmelman J, et al. Intraperitoneal alpha-particle radioimmunotherapy of ovarian cancer patients: pharmacokinetics and dosimetry of (211)At-MX35 F(ab')2—a phase I study. J Nucl Med. 2009;50(7):1153–60.
- Lam K, Chan C, Reilly RM. Development and preclinical studies of (64)cu-NOTA-pertuzumab F(ab')2 for imaging changes in tumor HER2 expression associated with response to trastuzumab by PET/ CT. MAbs. 2017;9(1):154–64.
- Ueda M, Hisada H, Temma T, Shimizu Y, Kimura H, Ono M, et al. Gallium-68-labeled anti-HER2 single-chain Fv fragment: development and in vivo

monitoring of HER2 expression. Mol Imaging Biol. 2015;17(1):102–10.

- Kesavan M, Boucek J, MacDonald W, McQuillan A, Turner JH. Imaging of early response to predict prognosis in the first-line management of follicular non-Hodgkin lymphoma with iodine-131-rituximab radioimmunotherapy. Diagnostics (Basel). 2017;7(2):26.
- 22. Shadman M, Li H, Rimsza L, Leonard JP, Kaminski MS, Braziel RM, et al. Continued excellent outcomes in previously untreated patients with follicular lymphoma after treatment with CHOP plus rituximab or CHOP plus 131I-Tositumomab: long-term follow-up of phase III randomized study SWOG-S0016. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(7):697–703.
- 23. Martínez A, Martínez-Ramirez M, Martínez-Caballero D, Beneit P, Clavel J, Figueroa G, et al. Radioimmunotherapy for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma; positioning, safety, and efficacy of 90Y-Ibritumomab. 10 years of experience and follow-up. Rev Esp Med Nucl Imagen Mol. 2017;36(1):13–9.
- 24. Cahan B, Leong L, Wagman L, Yamauchi D, Shibata S, Wilzcynski S, et al. Phase I/II trial of Anticarcinoembryonic antigen radioimmunotherapy, gemcitabine, and hepatic arterial infusion of fluorodeoxyuridine postresection of liver metastasis for colorectal carcinoma. Cancer Biother Radiopharm. 2017;32(7):258–65.
- 25. Vallabhajosula S, Nikolopoulou A, Jhanwar YS, Kaur G, Tagawa ST, Nanus DM, et al. Radioimmunotherapy of metastatic prostate Cancer with ¹⁷⁷Lu-DOTAhuJ591 anti prostate specific membrane antigen specific monoclonal antibody. Curr Radiopharm. 2016;9(1):44–53.
- 26. Kraeber-Bodéré F, Rousseau C, Bodet-Milin C, Ferrer L, Faivre-Chauvet A, Campion L, et al. Targeting, toxicity, and efficacy of 2-step, pretargeted radioimmunotherapy using a chimeric bispecific antibody and 1311-labeled bivalent hapten in a phase I optimization clinical trial. J Nucl Med. 2006;47(2):247–55.
- Batra JS, Karir B, Pinto-Chengot K, Jhanwar YS, Vallabhajosula S, Christos PJ, et al. MP50-19 dose-fractionated anti-PSMA radioimmunotherapy (177LU-J591) for MCRPC. J Urol. 2016;195(4):e680.
- Capello A, Krenning EP, Breeman WAP, Bernard BF, de Jong M. Peptide receptor radionuclide therapy in vitro using [111In-DTPA0]octreotide. J Nucl Med. 2003;44(1):98–104.
- O'Donoghue JA, Bardiès M, Wheldon TE. Relationships between tumor size and curability for uniformly targeted therapy with beta-emitting radionuclides. J Nucl Med. 1995;36(10):1902–9.
- 30. Zalutsky MR, Reardon DA, Akabani G, Coleman RE, Friedman AH, Friedman HS, et al. Clinical experience with alpha-particle emitting 211At: treatment of recurrent brain tumor patients with 211At-labeled chimeric antitenascin monoclonal antibody 81C6. J Nucl Med. 2008;49(1):30–8.

- 31. Bhusari P, Vatsa R, Singh G, Parmar M, Bal A, Dhawan DK, et al. Development of Lu-177trastuzumab for radioimmunotherapy of HER2 expressing breast cancer and its feasibility assessment in breast cancer patients. Int J Cancer. 2017;140(4):938–47.
- 32. Kameswaran M, Pandey U, Dhakan C, Pathak K, Gota V, Vimalnath KV, et al. Synthesis and preclinical evaluation of "(177)Lu-CHX-A"-DTPArituximab as a Radioimmunotherapeutic agent for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Cancer Biother Radiopharm. 2015;30(6):240–6.
- Eckelman WC, Paik CH, Reba RC. Radiolabeling of antibodies. Cancer Res. 1980;40(8 Pt 2):3036–42.
- Bolton AE, Hunter WM. The labelling of proteins to high specific radioactivities by conjugation to a 125I-containing acylating agent. Biochem J. 1973;133(3):529–39.
- 35. Yordanov AT, Garmestani K, Zhang M, Zhang Z, Yao Z, Phillips KE, et al. Preparation and in vivo evaluation of linkers for 211At labeling of humanized anti-tac. Nucl Med Biol. 2001;28(7):845–56.
- 36. Liu S. Bifunctional coupling agents for radiolabeling of biomolecules and target-specific delivery of metallic radionuclides. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2008;60(12):1347–70.
- 37. Fujiki K, Yano S, Ito T, Kumagai Y, Murakami Y, Kamigaito O, et al. A one-pot three-component double-click method for synthesis of [67Cu]labeled biomolecular radiotherapeutics. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):1912–9.
- 38. Frindel M, Camus N, Rauscher A, Bourgeois M, Alliot C, Barré L, et al. Radiolabeling of HTE1PA: a new monopicolinate cyclam derivative for Cu-64 phenotypic imaging. In vitro and in vivo stability studies in mice. Nucl Med Biol. 2014;41(Suppl):e49–57.
- 39. Bennett JM, Kaminski MS, Leonard JP, Vose JM, Zelenetz AD, Knox SJ, et al. Assessment of treatment-related myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia in patients with non-Hodgkin lymphoma treated with tositumomab and iodine I131 tositumomab. Blood. 2005;105(12):4576–82.
- Horning SJ, Younes A, Jain V, Kroll S, Lucas J, Podoloff D, et al. Efficacy and safety of tositumomab and iodine-131 tositumomab (Bexxar) in B-cell lymphoma, progressive after rituximab. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(4):712–9.
- 41. Hohloch K, Delaloye AB, Windemuth-Kieselbach C, Gómez-Codina J, Linkesch W, Jurczak W, et al. Radioimmunotherapy confers long-term survival to lymphoma patients with acceptable toxicity: registry analysis by the International Radioimmunotherapy Network. J Nucl Med. 2011;52(9):1354–60.
- 42. Czuczman MS, Emmanouilides C, Darif M, Witzig TE, Gordon LI, Revell S, et al. Treatment-related myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myelogenous leukemia in patients treated with ibritumomab tiuxetan radioimmunotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(27):4285–92.

- 43. Fisher RI, Kaminski MS, Wahl RL, Knox SJ, Zelenetz AD, Vose JM, et al. Tositumomab and iodine-131 tositumomab produces durable complete remissions in a subset of heavily pretreated patients with low-grade and transformed non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(30):7565–73.
- 44. Shimoni A, Avivi I, Rowe JM, Yeshurun M, Levi I, Or R, et al. A randomized study comparing yttrium-90 ibritumomab tiuxetan (Zevalin) and high-dose BEAM chemotherapy versus BEAM alone as the conditioning regimen before autologous stem cell transplantation in patients with aggressive lymphoma. Cancer. 2012;118(19):4706–14.
- 45. Morschhauser F, Radford J, Van Hoof A, Vitolo U, Soubeyran P, Tilly H, et al. Phase III trial of consolidation therapy with yttrium-90-ibritumomab tiuxetan compared with no additional therapy after first remission in advanced follicular lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(32):5156–64.
- 46. Leonard JP, Coleman M, Kostakoglu L, Chadburn A, Cesarman E, Furman RR, et al. Abbreviated chemotherapy with fludarabine followed by tositumomab and iodine I 131 tositumomab for untreated follicular lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(24):5696–704.
- Hainsworth JD, Spigel DR, Markus TM, Shipley D, Thompson D, Rotman R, et al. Rituximab plus shortduration chemotherapy followed by Yttrium-90 Ibritumomab tiuxetan as first-line treatment for patients with follicular non-Hodgkin lymphoma: a phase II trial of the Sarah Cannon oncology research consortium. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma. 2009;9(3):223–8.
- Zinzani PL, Rossi G, Franceschetti S, Botto B, Di Rocco A, Cabras MG, et al. Phase II trial of shortcourse R-CHOP followed by 90Y-ibritumomab tiuxetan in previously untreated high-risk elderly diffuse large B-cell lymphoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(15):3998–4004.
- 49. Hohloch K, Lankeit HK, Zinzani PL, Scholz CW, Lorsbach M, Windemuth-Kieselbach C, et al. Radioimmunotherapy for first-line and relapse treatment of aggressive B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma: an analysis of 215 patients registered in the international RIT-Network. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2014;41(8):1585–92.
- 50. Scholz CW, Pinto A, Linkesch W, Lindén O, Viardot A, Keller U, et al. (90)yttrium-ibritumomab-tiuxetan as first-line treatment for follicular lymphoma: 30 months of follow-up data from an international multicenter phase II clinical trial. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(3):308–13.
- Mondello P, Cuzzocrea S, Navarra M, Mian M. 90 Y-ibritumomab tiuxetan: a nearly forgotten opportunityr. Oncotarget. 2016;7(7):7597–609.
- Illidge TM. Radioimmunotherapy of lymphoma: a treatment approach ahead of its time or past its sellby date? J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(18):2944–6.

- 53. Sharkey RM, Brenner A, Burton J, Hajjar G, Toder SP, Alavi A, et al. Radioimmunotherapy of non-Hodgkin' lymphoma with 90Y-DOTA humanized anti-CD22 IgG (90Y-Epratuzumab): do tumor targeting and dosimetry predict therapeutic response? J Nucl Med. 2003;44(12):2000–18.
- 54. Lindén O, Hindorf C, Cavallin-Ståhl E, Wegener WA, Goldenberg DM, Horne H, et al. Dose-fractionated radioimmunotherapy in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma using DOTA-conjugated, 90Y-radiolabeled, humanized anti-CD22 monoclonal antibody, epratuzumab. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(14):5215–22.
- 55. Bodet-Milin C, Kraeber-Bodéré F, Dupas B, Morschhauser F, Gastinne T, Le Gouill S, et al. Evaluation of response to fractionated radioimmunotherapy with 90Y-epratuzumab in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma by 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography. Haematologica Haematologica. 2008;93(3):390–7.
- 56. Morschhauser F, Kraeber-Bodéré F, Wegener WA, Harousseau J-L, Petillon M-O, Huglo D, et al. High rates of durable responses with anti-CD22 fractionated radioimmunotherapy: results of a multicenter, phase I/II study in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(23):3709–16.
- 57. Sharkey RM, Press OW, Goldenberg DM. A reexamination of radioimmunotherapy in the treatment of non-Hodgkin lymphoma: prospects for dual-targeted antibody/radioantibody therapy. Blood. 2009;113(17):3891–5.
- 58. Sharkey RM, Karacay H, Johnson CR, Litwin S, Rossi EA, McBride WJ, et al. Pretargeted versus directly targeted radioimmunotherapy combined with anti-CD20 antibody consolidation therapy of non-Hodgkin lymphoma. J Nucl Med. 2009;50(3):444–53.
- 59. Mattes MJ, Sharkey RM, Karacay H, Czuczman MS, Goldenberg DM. Therapy of advanced B-lymphoma xenografts with a combination of 90Y-anti-CD22 IgG (epratuzumab) and unlabeled anti-CD20 IgG (veltuzumab). Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14(19):6154–60.
- Kyle RA, Rajkumar SV. Multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(18):1860–73.
- Palumbo A, Anderson K. Multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(11):1046–60.
- Lonial S, Mitsiades CS, Richardson PG. Treatment options for relapsed and refractory multiple myeloma. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(6):1264–77.
- Kapoor P, Greipp PT, Morice WG, Rajkumar SV, Witzig TE, Greipp PR. Anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody therapy in multiple myeloma. Br J Haematol. 2008;141(2):135–48.
- 64. Stevenson FK, Bell AJ, Cusack R, Hamblin TJ, Slade CJ, Spellerberg MB, et al. Preliminary studies for an immunotherapeutic approach to the treatment of human myeloma using chimeric anti-CD38 antibody. Blood. 1991;77(5):1071–9.

- Huang YW, Richardson JA, Vitetta ES. Anti-CD54 (ICAM-1) has antitumor activity in SCID mice with human myeloma cells. Cancer Res. 1995;55(3):610–6.
- 66. Stein R, Smith MR, Chen S, Zalath M, Goldenberg DM. Combining milatuzumab with bortezomib, doxorubicin, or dexamethasone improves responses in multiple myeloma cell lines. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(8):2808–17.
- 67. Goto T, Kennel SJ, Abe M, Takishita M, Kosaka M, Solomon A, et al. A novel membrane antigen selectively expressed on terminally differentiated human B cells. Blood. 1994;84(6):1922–30.
- 68. Ozaki S, Kosaka M, Wakahara Y, Ozaki Y, Tsuchiya M, Koishihara Y, et al. Humanized anti-HM1.24 antibody mediates myeloma cell cytotoxicity that is enhanced by cytokine stimulation of effector cells. Blood. 1999;93(11):3922–30.
- 69. van Rhee F, Szmania SM, Dillon M, van Abbema AM, Li X, Stone MK, et al. Combinatorial efficacy of anti-CS1 monoclonal antibody elotuzumab (HuLuc63) and bortezomib against multiple myeloma. Mol Cancer Ther. 2009;8(9):2616–24.
- Bataille R, Barlogie B, Lu ZY, Rossi JF, Lavabre-Bertrand T, Beck T, et al. Biologic effects of anti-interleukin-6 murine monoclonal antibody in advanced multiple myeloma. Blood. 1995;86(2):685–91.
- Klein B, Wijdenes J, Zhang XG, Jourdan M, Boiron JM, Brochier J, et al. Murine anti-interleukin-6 monoclonal antibody therapy for a patient with plasma cell leukemia. Blood. 1991;78(5):1198–204.
- 72. Lee C, Guinn B-A, Brooks SE, Richardson D, Orchard K. CD66a (CEACAM1) is the only CD66 variant expressed on the surface of plasma cells in multiple myeloma: a refined target for radiotherapy trials? Br J Haematol. 2010;149(5):795–6.
- Erba PA, Sollini M, Orciuolo E, Traino C, Petrini M, Paganelli G, et al. Radioimmunotherapy with radretumab in patients with relapsed hematologic malignancies. J Nucl Med. 2012;53(6):922–7.
- Rousseau C, Ferrer L, Supiot S, Bardies M, Davodeau F, Faivre-Chauvet A, et al. Dosimetry results suggest feasibility of radioimmunotherapy using anti-CD138 (B-B4) antibody in multiple myeloma patients. Tumour Biol. 2012;33(3):679–88.
- 75. Fichou N, Gouard S, Maurel C, Barbet J, Ferrer L, Morgenstern A, et al. Single-dose anti-CD138 radioimmunotherapy: bismuth-213 is more efficient than lutetium-177 for treatment of multiple myeloma in a preclinical model. Front Med. 2015;2(12):76.
- Green DJ, O'Steen S, Lin Y, Comstock ML, Kenoyer AL, Hamlin DK, et al. CD38-bispecific antibody pretargeted radioimmunotherapy for multiple myeloma and other B-cell malignancies. Blood. 2018;131(6):611–20.
- Sanderson RD, Yang Y. Syndecan-1: a dynamic regulator of the myeloma microenvironment. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2008;25(2):149–59.

- Wijdenes J, Vooijs WC, Clement C, Post J, Morard F, Vita N, et al. A plasmocyte selective monoclonal antibody (B-B4) recognizes syndecan-1. Br J Haematol. 1996;94(2):318–23.
- Derksen PWB, Keehnen RMJ, Evers LM, van Oers MHJ, Spaargaren M, Pals ST. Cell surface proteoglycan syndecan-1 mediates hepatocyte growth factor binding and promotes met signaling in multiple myeloma. Blood. 2002;99(4):1405–10.
- Supiot S, Faivre-Chauvet A, Couturier O, Heymann MF, Robillard N, Kraeber-Bodéré F, et al. Comparison of the biologic effects of MA5 and B-B4 monoclonal antibody labeled with iodine-131 and bismuth-213 on multiple myeloma. Cancer. 2002;94(4 Suppl):1202–9.
- Couturier O, Faivre-Chauvet A, Filippovich IV, Thédrez P, Saï-Maurel C, Bardiès M, et al. Validation of 213Bi-alpha radioimmunotherapy for multiple myeloma. Clin Cancer Res. 1999;5(10 Suppl):3165s–70s.
- Malvezzi M, Bertuccio P, Levi F, La Vecchia C, Negri E. European cancer mortality predictions for the year 2013. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(3):792–800.
- Lam JS, Leppert JT, Vemulapalli SN, Shvarts O, Belldegrun AS. Secondary hormonal therapy for advanced prostate cancer. J Urol. 2006;175(1):27–34.
- 84. Tannock IF, de Wit R, Berry WR, Horti J, Pluzanska A, Chi KN, et al. Docetaxel plus prednisone or mitoxantrone plus prednisone for advanced prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(15):1502–12.
- Petrylak DP, Tangen CM, Hussain MHA, Lara PN, Jones JA, Taplin ME, et al. Docetaxel and estramustine compared with mitoxantrone and prednisone for advanced refractory prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(15):1513–20.
- Chiacchio S, Mazzarri S, Lorenzoni A, Nyakale N, Boni G, Borsò E, et al. Radionuclide therapy and integrated protocols for bone metastases. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2011;55(4):431–47.
- Tagawa ST, Beltran H, Vallabhajosula S, Goldsmith SJ, Osborne J, Matulich D, et al. Anti-prostatespecific membrane antigen-based radioimmunotherapy for prostate cancer. Cancer. 2010;116(4 Suppl):1075–83.
- O'Donnell RT, DeNardo SJ, Miers LA, Lamborn KR, Kukis DL, DeNardo GL, et al. Combined modality radioimmunotherapy for human prostate cancer xenografts with taxanes and 90yttrium-DOTA-peptide-ChL6. Prostate. 2002;50(1):27–37.
- 89. Richman CM, DeNardo SJ, O'Donnell RT, Yuan A, Shen S, Goldstein DS, et al. High-dose radioimmunotherapy combined with fixed, low-dose paclitaxel in metastatic prostate and breast cancer by using a MUC-1 monoclonal antibody, m170, linked to indium-111/yttrium-90 via a cathepsin cleavable linker with cyclosporine to prevent human anti-mouse antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(16):5920–7.

- Meredith RF, Bueschen AJ, Khazaeli MB, Plott WE, Grizzle WE, Wheeler RH, et al. Treatment of metastatic prostate carcinoma with radiolabeled antibody CC49. J Nucl Med. 1994;35(6):1017–22.
- Sokoloff RL, Norton KC, Gasior CL, Marker KM, Grauer LS. A dual-monoclonal sandwich assay for prostate-specific membrane antigen: levels in tissues, seminal fluid and urine. Prostate. 2000;43(2):150–7.
- Wright GL, Haley C, Beckett ML, Schellhammer PF. Expression of prostate-specific membrane antigen in normal, benign, and malignant prostate tissues. Urol Oncol. 1995;1(1):18–28.
- Israeli RS, Powell CT, Corr JG, Fair WR, Heston WD. Expression of the prostate-specific membrane antigen. Cancer Res. 1994;54(7):1807–11.
- 94. Israeli RS, Powell CT, Fair WR, Heston WD. Molecular cloning of a complementary DNA encoding a prostate-specific membrane antigen. Cancer Res. 1993;53(2):227–30.
- Horoszewicz JS, Kawinski E, Murphy GP. Monoclonal antibodies to a new antigenic marker in epithelial prostatic cells and serum of prostatic cancer patients. Anticancer Res. 1987;7(5B):927–35.
- 96. Bostwick DG, Pacelli A, Blute M, Roche P, Murphy GP. Prostate specific membrane antigen expression in prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and adenocarcinoma: a study of 184 cases. Cancer. 1998;82(11):2256–61.
- Liu H, Rajasekaran AK, Moy P, Xia Y, Kim S, Navarro V, et al. Constitutive and antibody-induced internalization of prostate-specific membrane antigen. Cancer Res. 1998;58(18):4055–60.
- Liu H, Moy P, Kim S, Xia Y, Rajasekaran A, Navarro V, et al. Monoclonal antibodies to the extracellular domain of prostate-specific membrane antigen also react with tumor vascular endothelium. Cancer Res. 1997;57(17):3629–34.
- 99. Milowsky MI, Nanus DM, Kostakoglu L, Vallabhajosula S, Goldsmith SJ, Bander NH. Phase I trial of yttrium-90-labeled anti-prostate-specific membrane antigen monoclonal antibody J591 for androgen-independent prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(13):2522–31.
- 100. Bander NH, Milowsky MI, Nanus DM, Kostakoglu L, Vallabhajosula S, Goldsmith SJ. Phase I trial of 177lutetium-labeled J591, a monoclonal antibody to prostate-specific membrane antigen, in patients with androgen-independent prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(21):4591–601.
- Kassis AI, Adelstein SJ. Radiobiologic principles in radionuclide therapy. J Nucl Med. 2005;46(Suppl 1):4S–12S.
- 102. Raju MR, Eisen Y, Carpenter S, Jarrett K, Harvey WF. Radiobiology of alpha particles. IV. Cell inactivation by alpha particles of energies 0.4-3.5 MeV. Radiat Res. 1993;133(3):289–96.

- 103. Roeske JC, McDevitt MR, Palm S, Allen BJ, Brill AB, Song H, et al. MIRD Pamphlet No. 22 (abridged): radiobiology and dosimetry of alphaparticle emitters for targeted radionuclide therapy. J Nucl Med. 2010;51(2):311–28.
- 104. Featherstone C. Alpha-particle-emitting radioisotopes coupled to antibody for acute myeloid leukaemia treatment. Mol Med Today. 1997;3(6):232–3.
- 105. Hagemann UB, Mihaylova D, Uran SR, Borrebaek J, Grant D, Bjerke RM, et al. Targeted alpha therapy using a novel CD70 targeted thorium-227 conjugate in in vitro and in vivo models of renal cell carcinoma. Oncotarget. 2017;8(34):56311–26.
- 106. Link EM. Targeting melanoma with 211At/131Imethylene blue: preclinical and clinical experience. Hybridoma. 1999;18(1):77–82.
- 107. Cederkrantz E, Andersson H, Bernhardt P, Bäck T, Hultborn R, Jacobsson L, et al. Absorbed doses and risk estimates of (211)at-MX35 F(ab')2 in intraperitoneal therapy of ovarian Cancer patients. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2015;93(3):569–76.
- 108. Poeppel TD, Handkiewicz-Junak D, Andreeff M, Becherer A, Bockisch A, Fricke E, et al. EANM guideline for radionuclide therapy with radium-223 of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2018;45(5):824–45.
- 109. Coleman R. Treatment of metastatic bone disease and the emerging role of Radium-223. Semin Nucl Med. 2016;46(2):99–104.
- 110. Takalkar A, Paryani B, Adams S, Subbiah V. Radium-223 dichloride therapy in breast cancer with osseous metastases. BMJ Case Rep. 2015;2015(nov17 2):bcr2015211152.
- 111. Chérel M, Davodeau F, Kraeber-Bodéré F, Chatal JF. Current status and perspectives in alpha radioimmunotherapy. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2006;50(4):322–9.
- 112. Apostolidis C, Molinet R, McGinley J, Abbas K, Möllenbeck J, Morgenstern A. Cyclotron production of ac-225 for targeted alpha therapy. Appl Radiat Isot. 2005;62(3):383–7.
- 113. Haddad F, Barbet J, Chatal J-F. The ARRONAX project. Curr Radiopharm. 2011;4(3):186–96.
- 114. Hobbs RF, Song H, Huso DL, Sundel MH, Sgouros G. A nephron-based model of the kidneys for macroto-micro α-particle dosimetry. Phys Med Biol. 2012;57(13):4403–24.
- 115. Hobbs RF, Song H, Watchman CJ, Bolch WE, Aksnes A-K, Ramdahl T, et al. A bone marrow toxicity model for ²²³Ra alpha-emitter radiopharmaceutical therapy. Phys Med Biol. 2012;57(10):3207–22.
- 116. Kebebew E, Ituarte PH, Siperstein AE, Duh QY, Clark OH. Medullary thyroid carcinoma: clinical characteristics, treatment, prognostic factors, and a comparison of staging systems. Cancer. 2000;88(5):1139–48.

- 117. Elisei R, Cosci B, Romei C, Bottici V, Renzini G, Molinaro E, et al. Prognostic significance of somatic RET oncogene mutations in sporadic medullary thyroid cancer: a 10-year follow-up study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93(3):682–7.
- 118. Tisell LE, Oden A, Muth A, Altiparmak G, Mõlne J, Ahlman H, et al. The Ki67 index a prognostic marker in medullary thyroid carcinoma. Br J Cancer. 2003;89(11):2093–7.
- 119. Ito Y, Yoshida H, Tomoda C, Uruno T, Takamura Y, Miya A, et al. Expression of cdc25B and cdc25A in medullary thyroid carcinoma: cdc25B expression level predicts a poor prognosis. Cancer Lett. 2005;229(2):291–7.
- Fialkowski E, DeBenedetti M, Moley J. Long-term outcome of reoperations for medullary thyroid carcinoma. World J Surg. 2008;32(5):754–65.
- 121. Barbet J, Campion L, Kraeber-Bodéré F, Chatal J-F, GTE Study Group. Prognostic impact of serum calcitonin and carcinoembryonic antigen doubling-times in patients with medullary thyroid carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90(11):6077–84.
- 122. Laure Giraudet A, Ghulzan Al A, Aupérin A, Leboulleux S, Chehboun A, Troalen F, et al. Progression of medullary thyroid carcinoma: assessment with calcitonin and carcinoembryonic antigen doubling times. Eur J Endocrinol. 2008;158(2):239–46.
- 123. de Groot JWB, Zonnenberg BA, van Ufford-Mannesse PQ, de Vries MM, Links TP, Lips CJM, et al. A phase II trial of imatinib therapy for metastatic medullary thyroid carcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(9):3466–9.
- 124. Frank-Raue K, Fabel M, Delorme S, Haberkorn U, Raue F. Efficacy of imatinib mesylate in advanced medullary thyroid carcinoma. Eur J Endocrinol. 2007;157(2):215–20.
- 125. Lam ET, Ringel MD, Kloos RT, Prior TW, Knopp MV, Liang J, et al. Phase II clinical trial of sorafenib in metastatic medullary thyroid cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(14):2323–30.
- 126. Schlumberger MJ, Elisei R, Bastholt L, Wirth LJ, Martins RG, Locati LD, et al. Phase II study of safety and efficacy of motesanib in patients with progressive or symptomatic, advanced or metastatic medullary thyroid cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(23):3794–801.
- 127. Wells SA, Gosnell JE, Gagel RF, Moley J, Pfister D, Sosa JA, et al. Vandetanib for the treatment of patients with locally advanced or metastatic hereditary medullary thyroid cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(5):767–72.
- 128. Wells SA, Robinson BG, Gagel RF, Dralle H, Fagin JA, Santoro M, et al. Vandetanib in patients with locally advanced or metastatic medullary thyroid cancer: a randomized, double-blind phase III trial. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(2):134–41.

- 129. Juweid ME, Hajjar G, Stein R, Sharkey RM, Herskovic T, Swayne LC, et al. Initial experience with high-dose radioimmunotherapy of metastatic medullary thyroid cancer using 131I-MN-14 F(ab)2 anti-carcinoembryonic antigen MAb and AHSCR. J Nucl Med. 2000;41(1):93–103.
- 130. Juweid ME, Hajjar G, Swayne LC, Sharkey RM, Suleiman S, Herskovic T, et al. Phase I/II trial of (131)I-MN-14F(ab)2 anti-carcinoembryonic antigen monoclonal antibody in the treatment of patients with metastatic medullary thyroid carcinoma. Cancer. 1999;85(8):1828–42.
- Sharkey RM, Goldenberg DM. Perspectives on cancer therapy with radiolabeled monoclonal antibodies. J Nucl Med. 2005;46(Suppl 1):115S–27S.
- 132. Le Doussal JM, Chetanneau A, Gruaz-Guyon A, Martin M, Gautherot E, Lehur PA, et al. Bispecific monoclonal antibody-mediated targeting of an indium-111-labeled DTPA dimer to primary colorectal tumors: pharmacokinetics, biodistribution, scintigraphy and immune response. J Nucl Med. 1993;34(10):1662–71.
- 133. Barbet J, Bardies M, Bourgeois M, Chatal J-F, Cherel M, Davodeau F, et al. Radiolabeled antibodies for cancer imaging and therapy. Methods Mol Biol. 2012;907(Suppl 1):681–97.
- Goldenberg DM, Sharkey RM, Paganelli G, Barbet J, Chatal J-F. Antibody pretargeting advances cancer radioimmunodetection and radioimmunotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(5):823–34.
- 135. Barbet J, Kraeber-Bodéré F, Vuillez JP, Gautherot E, Rouvier E, Chatal JF. Pretargeting with the affinity enhancement system for radioimmunotherapy. Cancer Biother Radiopharm. 1999;14(3):153–66.
- 136. Kraeber-Bodéré F, Bardet S, Hoefnagel CA, Vieira MR, Vuillez JP, Murat A, et al. Radioimmunotherapy in medullary thyroid cancer using bispecific antibody and iodine 131-labeled bivalent hapten: preliminary results of a phase I/II clinical trial. Clin Cancer Res. 1999;5(10 Suppl):3190s–8s.
- 137. Kraeber-Bodéré F, Faibre-Chauvet A, Saï-Maurel C, Gautherot E, Fiche M, Campion L, et al. Bispecific antibody and bivalent hapten radioimmunotherapy in CEA-producing medullary thyroid cancer xenograft. J Nucl Med. 1999;40(1):198–204.
- 138. Chatal J-F, Campion L, Kraeber-Bodéré F, Bardet S, Vuillez J-P, Charbonnel B, et al. Survival improvement in patients with medullary thyroid carcinoma who undergo pretargeted anti-carcinoembryonicantigen radioimmunotherapy: a collaborative study with the French endocrine tumor group. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(11):1705–11.
- 139. Salaun P-Y, Campion L, Bournaud C, Faivre-Chauvet A, Vuillez J-P, Taieb D, et al. Phase II trial of anticarcinoembryonic antigen pretargeted radioimmunotherapy in progressive metastatic medullary thyroid carcinoma: biomarker

response and survival improvement. J Nucl Med. 2012;53(8):1185–92.

- 140. Goldenberg DM, Rossi EA, Sharkey RM, McBride WJ, Chang C-H. Multifunctional antibodies by the Dock-and-Lock method for improved cancer imaging and therapy by pretargeting. J Nucl Med. 2008;49(1):158–63.
- 141. Rossi EA, Goldenberg DM, Cardillo TM, McBride WJ, Sharkey RM, Chang C-H. Stably tethered multifunctional structures of defined composition made by the dock and lock method for use in cancer targeting. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(18):6841–6.
- 142. Sharkey RM, Rossi EA, McBride WJ, Chang C-H, Goldenberg DM. Recombinant bispecific monoclonal antibodies prepared by the dock-and-lock strategy for pretargeted radioimmunotherapy. Semin Nucl Med. 2010;40(3):190–203.
- 143. Schoffelen R, van der Graaf WTA, Franssen G, Sharkey RM, Goldenberg DM, McBride WJ, et al. Pretargeted 177Lu radioimmunotherapy of carcinoembryonic antigen-expressing human colonic tumors in mice. J Nucl Med. 2010;51(11):1780–7.
- 144. Schoffelen R, Woliner-van der Weg W, Visser EP, Goldenberg DM, Sharkey RM, WJ MB, et al. Predictive patient-specific dosimetry and individualized dosing of pretargeted radioimmunotherapy in patients with advanced colorectal cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2014;41(8):1593–602.
- 145. Bodet-Milin C, Ferrer L, Rauscher A, Masson D, Rbah-Vidal L, Faivre-Chauvet A, et al. Pharmacokinetics and dosimetry studies for optimization of pretargeted radioimmunotherapy in CEA-expressing advanced lung cancer patients. Front Med. 2015;2(6):84.
- 146. Stute S, Benoit D, Martineau A, Rehfeld NS, Buvat I. A method for accurate modelling of the crystal response function at a crystal sub-level applied to PET reconstruction. Phys Med Biol. 2011;56(3):793–809.
- 147. Moses WW. Recent advances and future advances in time-of-flight PET. Nucl Instrum Methods Phys Res A. 2007;580(2):919–24.
- Lewellen TK. Recent developments in PET detector technology. Phys Med Biol. 2008;53(17):R287–317.
- 149. Knowles SM, Wu AM. Advances in immunopositron emission tomography: antibodies for molecular imaging in oncology. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(31):3884–92.
- Boerman OC, WJG O. Immuno-PET of cancer: a revival of antibody imaging. J Nucl Med. 2011;52(8):1171–2.
- 151. van Dongen GAMS, Visser GWM, Lub-de Hooge MN, de Vries EG, Perk LR. Immuno-PET: a navigator in monoclonal antibody development and applications. Oncologist. 2007;12(12):1379–89.
- 152. Heskamp S, van Laarhoven HWM, Molkenboer-Kuenen JDM, Franssen GM, Versleijen-Jonkers YMH, Oyen WJG, et al. ImmunoSPECT and immunoPET of IGF-1R expression with the radiolabeled

antibody R1507 in a triple-negative breast cancer model. J Nucl Med. 2010;51(10):1565–72.

- 153. Baum RP, Prasad V, Müller D, Schuchardt C, Orlova A, Wennborg A, et al. Molecular imaging of HER2-expressing malignant tumors in breast cancer patients using synthetic 1111n- or 68Ga-labeled affibody molecules. J Nucl Med. 2010;51(6):892–7.
- 154. McBride WJ, Sharkey RM, Karacay H, D'Souza CA, Rossi EA, Laverman P, et al. A novel method of 18F radiolabeling for PET. J Nucl Med. 2009;50(6):991–8.
- 155. McBride WJ, Zanzonico P, Sharkey RM, Norén C, Karacay H, Rossi EA, et al. Bispecific antibody pretargeting PET (immunoPET) with an 124I-labeled hapten-peptide. J Nucl Med. 2006;47(10):1678–88.
- 156. Schoffelen R, Sharkey RM, Goldenberg DM, Franssen G, McBride WJ, Rossi EA, et al. Pretargeted immuno-positron emission tomography imaging of carcinoembryonic antigen-expressing tumors with a bispecific antibody and a 68Ga- and 18F-labeled hapten peptide in mice with human tumor xenografts. Mol Cancer Ther. 2010;9(4):1019–27.
- 157. Börjesson PKE, Jauw YWS, Boellaard R, de Bree R, Comans EFI, Roos JC, et al. Performance of immuno-positron emission tomography with zirconium-89-labeled chimeric monoclonal antibody U36 in the detection of lymph node metastases in head and neck cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(7 Pt 1):2133–40.
- 158. Perk LR, Stigter-van Walsum M, Visser GWM, Kloet RW, Vosjan MJWD, Leemans CR, et al. Quantitative PET imaging of met-expressing human cancer xenografts with 89Zr-labelled monoclonal antibody DN30. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2008;35(10):1857–67.
- 159. Divgi CR, Uzzo RG, Gatsonis C, Bartz R, Treutner S, Yu JQ, et al. Positron emission tomography/computed tomography identification of clear cell renal cell carcinoma: results from the REDECT trial. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(2):187–94.
- 160. Divgi CR, Pandit-Taskar N, Jungbluth AA, Reuter VE, Gönen M, Ruan S, et al. Preoperative characterisation of clear-cell renal carcinoma using iodine-124-labelled antibody chimeric G250 (124I-cG250) and PET in patients with renal masses: a phase I trial. Lancet Oncol. 2007;8(4):304–10.
- 161. Pryma DA, O'Donoghue JA, Humm JL, Jungbluth AA, Old LJ, Larson SM, et al. Correlation of in vivo and in vitro measures of carbonic anhydrase IX antigen expression in renal masses using antibody 124IcG250. J Nucl Med. 2011;52(4):535–440.
- 162. Rousseau C, Ruellan AL, Bernardeau K, Kraeber-Bodéré F, Gouard S, Loussouarn D, et al. Syndecan-1 antigen, a promising new target for triple-negative breast cancer immuno-PET and radioimmunotherapy. A preclinical study on MDA-MB-468 xenograft tumors. EJNMMI Res. 2011;1(1):20–11.
- 163. Dijkers EC, Oude Munnink TH, Kosterink JG, Brouwers AH, Jager PL, de Jong JR, et al.

Biodistribution of 89Zr-trastuzumab and PET imaging of HER2-positive lesions in patients with metastatic breast cancer. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2010;87(5):586–92.

- 164. Rothenberg ML, Carbone DP, Johnson DH. Improving the evaluation of new cancer treatments: challenges and opportunities. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003;3(4):303–9.
- 165. Carrasquillo JA, Pandit-Taskar N, O'Donoghue JA, Humm JL, Zanzonico P, Smith-Jones PM, et al. (124)I-huA33 antibody PET of colorectal cancer. J Nucl Med. 2011;52(8):1173–80.
- 166. Verel I, Visser GWM, van Dongen GA. The promise of immuno-PET in radioimmunotherapy. J Nucl Med. 2005;46(Suppl 1):164S–71S.
- Perk LR, Visser OJ, Stigter-van Walsum M, Vosjan MJWD, Visser GWM, Zijlstra JM, et al. Preparation

and evaluation of (89)Zr-Zevalin for monitoring of (90)Y-Zevalin biodistribution with positron emission tomography. Eur J Nucl Med Mol. 2006;33(11):1337–45.

- Zalutsky MR. Potential of immuno-positron emission tomography for tumor imaging and immunotherapy planning. Clin Cancer Res. 2006;12(7 Pt 1):1958–60.
- 169. Nagengast WB, Lub-de Hooge MN, Oosting SF, den Dunnen WFA, Warnders F-J, Brouwers AH, et al. VEGF-PET imaging is a noninvasive biomarker showing differential changes in the tumor during sunitinib treatment. Cancer Res. 2011;71(1):143–53.
- 170. David S, Visvikis D, Roux C, Hatt M. Multiobservation PET image analysis for patient followup quantitation and therapy assessment. Phys Med Biol. 2011;56(18):5771–88.



30

Radiation and Immunity: Hand in Hand from Tumorigenesis to Therapeutic Targets

Amene Saghazadeh, Mahsa Keshavarz-Fathi, Farnaz Delavari, and Nima Rezaei

Contents

30.1	Introduction	588
30.2	Radiation and Cancer	588
30.2.1	Space Radiation	588
30.2.2	Radiation Therapy	588
30.2.3	Computed Tomography (CT) Radiation	589
30.2.4	High-Frequency (Radio Frequency and Microwave) Electromagnetic	
	Radiation	589
30.2.5	Low-Dose Nuclear Radiation	589
30.2.6	Solar UV-B Radiation (280–320 nm)	590
30.3	Radiation, Immunity, and Cancer: Cellular Pathways	590
30.3.1	When Radiation and Immunity Go Hand in Hand to Subvert	590
30.3.2	When Radiotherapy and Immunotherapy Work Hand in Hand to Treat	591
30.4	Radiation, Immunity, and Cancer: Clinical Implications	593
30.4.1	Curative Purposes.	593
30.4.1.1	Radiotherapies	593
30.4.1.2	Radionuclide-Bearing Monoclonal Antibody Therapies	594
30.4.2	Prognostic Purposes.	594
30.4.3	Complications and Cautions	594

A. Saghazadeh

Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Expert Group (SRMEG), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

M. Keshavarz-Fathi Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

F. Delavari

Interactive Research Education and Training Association (IRETA), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Geneva, Switzerland

N. Rezaei (🖂)

Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Network of Immunity in Infection, Malignancy and Autoimmunity (NIIMA), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran e-mail: rezaei_nima@tums.ac.ir; rezaei_nima@yahoo.com

References		
30.4.4	Emerging Modern Radiotherapy Protocols	594
30.4.3.3	Immunodeficiency	594
30.4.3.2	Mortality	594
30.4.3.1	Adverse Events	594

30.1 Introduction

Since the mid-twentieth century when linear nothreshold (LNT) theory developed [1], interest in understanding the biological mechanisms underpinning the link between radiation and cancer has been exponentially increased. As its name implies, the theory does not consider a threshold of radiation dose above which radiation becomes tumorigenic. However, the origins of the LNT appear to lie in the assumption that any doses of radiation are tumorigenic and the more the radiation dose, the higher the risk of cancer. Modern research not only removed the tumorigenic label from low-dose radiation but also related that to the activation of the repair system. Thereby, the body becomes prepared to mount early responses that control the initial DNA damage, block the spread of damage, and prevent genomic instability and tumor evolution. Among them are the immune system responses. The present chapter first enumerates different types and doses of radiation associated with cancer, then would track the role of immunity and radiation as codrivers of carcinogenesis, and finally moves to the effects of immunotherapy and radiotherapy as comanagers of cancer treatment.

30.2 Radiation and Cancer

30.2.1 Space Radiation

The galactic cosmic rays (GCR) are composed of high-energy heavy ions and secondary radiation, e.g., neutrons and recoil nuclei [2]. Due to their high energy density, the ability of shielding to decrease the rate of radiation absorption is still not satisfactory and estimated to be about 25%–35% [2]. Studies determine the absorbed dose Gy (effective dose Sv) for each of lunar mission (180 days), Mars orbit (600 days), and Mars exploration (1000 days) as follows: 0.06 (0.17),

0.37 (1.03), and 0.42 (1.07) [2]. The corresponding mortality rates for men and women are 0.68% and 0.82, 4% and 4.9%, and 4.2% and 5.1% [2]. Because of the scarcity of direct data, researchers rely on rather indirect calculations to predict cancer incidence and mortality rates following space radiation. Different approaches have been developed to reduce the uncertainties surrounding these indirect estimations [3]. For example, the excess relative risk (ERR) model predicts the incidence rates of radiation cancer proportional to background cancer rates, which are mainly affected by age, gender, and tissue. It can be functionally more fitted by including additional variables such as astronaut age at first flight and typically age at exposure. The details of this model and other aspects of space radiation cancer have been recently reported by NASA in [4]. These calculations estimate the risk of cancer following a Mars mission about 400%–600% [5], and consequently, a space mission for more than 90 days is not recommended [5].

30.2.2 Radiation Therapy

The diagnosis of cancer on a previously irradiated tissue is referred to as "radiation cancer." The earliest reports date from the 1930s. As reviewed in [6], radiation cancer of the neck usually develops a long time (mean of 25 years) after irradiation which might be due to thyrotoxicosis or tuberculous lymphadenitis. Occasionally, larynx and thyroid cancer might occur. Pharynx cancer is, however, the best-documented radiation cancer of the neck [6].

More important is, however, the increase in the occurrence of cancers subsequent to radiotherapy for a primary tumor as asserted through meta-analysis studies. When the primary tumor is, for example, located at the prostate, the second malignancies might occur in the bladder, colon, and rectum with HRs of 1.67, 1.79, and 1.79,
respectively [7]. Further, following radiotherapy for breast cancer, these malignancies mainly consisted of lung cancer, esophagus cancer, and sarcomas with corresponding HRs of 1.12, 1.53, and 2.53 [8]. An analysis of long-term outcomes demonstrated that patients would have a more than twofold increase in the risk of lung cancer when 10 years or more have passed radiotherapy for breast cancer [9]. Therefore, the incidence of second cancers seems to increase over time.

Intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) offers optimization of conventional radiotherapy by means of radiation concentration in tumoral tissues as well as the restriction in delivery of radiation to the adjacent healthy tissues. The development of second cancers is the main sequel to IMRT. Studies estimate that IMRT escalates the incidence of second cancers by 100% and even more in people who could survive primary cancer and live long to be able to be affected by second cancers [10].

30.2.3 Computed Tomography (CT) Radiation

It has been a hot topic of debate during the last two decades. Annually, CT-induced cancer is the leading cause of death for nearly 500 individuals under 15 years of age in the United States [11]. For each CT study, effective radiation dose (ERD) varies across different anatomic areas and types of diagnostic CT examinations [12]. A huge retrospective study of patients diagnosed with leukemia (n = 178604) and brain tumors (n = 176587) reveal the direct relationship of these malignancies with a radiation dose of CT scans performed in childhood with corresponding ERRs of 0.036 and 0.023 per mGy [13]. Studies assign the lowest median ERD of 2 mSv to a routine head CT study, whereas the highest median ERD of 31 mSvis is associated with a multiphase abdomen-pelvis CT study [12]. Additionally, radiation exposure associated with CT directly increases with the number of examinations, of course in different ways, with the lowest numbers of examinations associated with cancer for CT coronary angiography and the highest ones for routing head CT [12]. Generally, women seem more susceptible to CT-induced cancer [12]. More significant is the progressive decrease in CT-induced cancer rates with age [12]. There is a twofold increase in cancer rates among people undergoing CT scan at 20 years of age compared to those undergoing CT scan at 40 years of age, who, in turn, show a nearly two-fold increase in cancer rates compared to those undergoing CT scan at 60 years of age [12]. In this manner, the highest median CT-induced cancer rate of 1 in 270 is reported for females who underwent CT coronary angiogram at 40 years of age, whereas the lowest median incidence rate of 1 in 14,680 is observed among males who underwent a routing head CT at 60 years of age [12].

30.2.4 High-Frequency (Radio Frequency and Microwave) Electromagnetic Radiation

People exposed to occupationally radio frequencies (RF) and microwaves (MW) generally exhibited higher incidence rates for all types of cancers than those not exposed during a 15-year study period (1971–1985) in Poland [14]. After controlling for the type of cancer, the difference between exposed and unexposed groups remained significant for the following types of cancer: hematopoietic system and lymphatic organ cancers, esophagus and stomach cancers, colorectal, nervous system cancer including brain, and skin cancer including melanoma. The observed/ expected ratios (OER) - defined as the morbidity rate among people in the exposed than that among those in the nonexposed group - of 6.31, 3.24, 3.19, 1.91, and 1.67, respectively [14]. Of note, people exposed to RFMW were at greater risk for all types of hematopoietic system and lymphatic organ cancers with the OERs ranging from 2.96 for Hodgkin's lymphoma to 13.90 for chronic myelocytic leukemia (CML) [14].

30.2.5 Low-Dose Nuclear Radiation

To investigate the possible effect of exposure to low-dose nuclear radiation on death from cancer, Cardis and colleagues carried out a longitudinal analysis of data driven from three national cohort studies: the United States, the United Kingdom, and Canada [15]. The authors distributed participants who were nuclear industry workers into 11 according to the cumulative dose of exposure. Overall, no evidence of significantly higher mortality with increasing exposure existed. However, the mortality rate was shown to increase with increasing exposure dose particularly among patients with multiple myeloma and all leukemia except CLL.

30.2.6 Solar UV-B Radiation (280–320 nm)

The relation of this radiation to cancers is expounded in two main ways. Solar UV-B radiation is demonstrated to decrease the risk of cancers of colon, breast, ovary, prostate, and NHL. On the contrary, it has been revealed to increase the risk of cancers such as bladder, esophagus, kidney, lung, pancreas, stomach, rectum, and corpus uteri and related premature deaths. A study in the United States showed this negative aspect of solar UV-B radiation mainly affects white Americans rather than other ethnic groups such as black Americans and Asian Americans with greater than ten-fold increase in premature cancer mortality rates [16].

30.3 Radiation, Immunity, and Cancer: Cellular Pathways

30.3.1 When Radiation and Immunity Go Hand in Hand to Subvert

Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) harbors the effect of external ionizing radiation in mammalian cells from the initial radiation energy deposition and singly DNA base-damaged sites to possible double-strand breaks and eventually radiationinduced mutagenesis [17]. Reasonably, there is a linear relationship between DNA damage and radiation dose. It is rather astonishing that the average tendency of tumoral cells to repair radiation-induced DNA damage is the same as that of non-tumoral cells [18]. However, individual cells show heterogeneity in response to the DNA damage inflicted. Most cells begin to hurriedly revert the damage while there are cells that represent no attempt to repair the damage and even worse are cells attempting to aggravate the initial damage [19]. Transformed cells that possess the remaining DNA damaged sites signal to the innate immune system primarily via NKG2D (natural-killer group 2, member D) receptors. In the following, the immune cells, e.g., natural killer (NK) and T cells [20] expressing these receptors and signaling pathways such as nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) [21] and signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) factors [22], begin to engage in the DNA damage response pathway.

Once the DNA undergoes damage that affects its replication or modify chromatin structure, tumoral cells from mice show the upregulation of NKG2D ligands [23]. Such serious DNAdamaging drivers are, for example, high doses of ionizing radiation and ultraviolet light that lead the expression of NKG2D ligands such as ULBP1, ULBP2, ULBP3, and MICA in human cells. Depending on the type of DNA-damaging driver, different serine/threonine-protein kinases act as upstream to the upregulation of NKG2D ligands. In the case of ionizing radiation, ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3-related protein (ATR) appears at least partly responsible for ligand upregulation, whereas ataxia-telangiectasia mutated (ATM) under ultraviolet C conditions. Commensurate with the activation of these kinases, tumoral cells constitutively express NKG2D ligands. After all, the cancer immunoediting process would determine the fate of tumor: elimination (cancer immunosurveillance), equilibrium (cancer persistence/ dormancy), or escape (cancer progression) [24]. In the equilibrium phase, tumoral cells are, because of their genomic instability, destined to be in the shuffle between elimination and escape. The elimination of tumor entails innate and adaptive immune responses that mediate cancer cell death while its escape accompanies chronic inflammation. In this manner, inflammation exhibits cancer-promoting activities rather than cancer-preventing activities.

The origins of the link between inflammation and cancer largely lie in the extrinsic (radiation, carcinogen, stress, smoke, and infection) and intrinsic (genetic and epigenetic changes) circumstances that motivate transcription factors such as NF-Kb [21] and STATs [22]. Ultraviolet (UV) radiation, as an extrinsic factor, leads to the activation of both receptor (JAK-associated cytokine receptors) and non-receptor tyrosine kinases (Src family kinases) that stimulate the phosphorylation of STAT3. Upon the activation of this transcription factor, the gene expression of proinflammatory mediators (cytokines, chemokines, and COX-2) is upregulated in parallel with the expression of genes that play a decisive role in tumorigenesis. Further, one of the key functions of the kinase ATM is to activate NF-kB. Although important to the expression of pro-survival and pro-senescence genes, the NF- κ B is an active pathway in the production of pro-inflammatory mediators and, to a lesser extent, in the induction of pro-apoptotic genes. In this manner, radiation would ram the cellular microenvironment into a series of inflammation-promoting cancer and cancer-promoting inflammation cascades.

30.3.2 When Radiotherapy and Immunotherapy Work Hand in Hand to Treat

Before the cancer begins to disseminate, the possible remedy lies in the in situ collapse of cancerous cells. In this case, local radiation therapy by disintegration of the DNA of cancer cells is useful in the eradication of the primary tumor. It owns the ability to evoke the innate and adaptive immune responses that can seep through the body so that the effect of radiation might be seen at sites distant from primary tumor as well. This effect is referred to as the abscopal effect. Below is a view of the various ways radiation therapy and immune responses reciprocally influence each other.

The cancer-immunity cycle is composed of seven sequential steps: release of cancer cell antigens, cancer antigen presentation, priming and activation, trafficking of T cells to tumors, infiltration of T cells into tumors, recognition of cancer cells by T cells, and killing of cancer cells [25]. Radiotherapies serve as a stimulus to the first step of this cycle. More clearly, the tumoral cells begin to alter their immunogenicity once they sense the presence of radiation. In addition, different immune cells including antigenpresenting dendritic cells, macrophages and myeloid-derived suppressor cells, NK cells, and T cells would be influenced by radiation [26]. Therefore, it should come as no surprise that ionizing radiation is now considered as an immunological adjuvant that would help induction and modulation of immune responses [27, 28]. It generated immune-stimulatory effects including alteration in immunogenicity via the expression of MHC class I, Fas death receptors, NKG2D ligands, and heat shock proteins; activation of cell death-related signaling pathways by inflammatory mediators such as calreticulin, HMGB1, and ATP; and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and adhesion molecules that assist immunogenic cell death which become successful [27]. Immunomodulatory effects of radiation which are mediated by antiinflammatory cytokines such as TGF-B and IL-10, chemokines such as stromal cell-derived factor (SDF)-1 α , and metabolic enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) would result in an increased number of regulatory T cells, activation of M2 immunosuppressive macrophages, and ultimately inhibition of immunogenic cell death [27]. Apparently, the complexity of radiation effects on immune responses can be reduced by considering a dose-dependent fashion so that anti-inflammatory, pro-inflammatory, and immunosuppressive effects are respectively observed within the low-, moderate-, and high-dose ranges [21]. The capacity to hit at both DNA and non-DNA targets pretends to be responsible for holding such broad-spectrum activity [29]. In this manner, radiation plays role to maintain the immunological microenvironment of tumors [30] as a determinant of response to therapy [31].

The effects of radiation on the immune system are not indiscriminate, but are carefully immune context-dependent [32]. In an endogenous immune system, the pervasive antitumor influence of radiation on the body includes the induction of tumor antigens and NKG2D ligands. The former would stimulate innate and adaptive immune responses particularly cytokine (IFN-- α/β) production and recruitment of lymphocytes and NK cells to the tumor microenvironment. The latter signal to their receptors expressed by cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) that are, in turn, in aid of immunogenic cell death. In parallel, dendritic cells become mature and responsible for tumor antigen presentation, which is crucial to the induction of effector T-cell responses (antigen-specific CD8+ T-cell responses). In addition, the activation of TLR4-MyD88-HMGB1 pathway in DCs by radiation provides an alternative way to induce cross presentation of tumor antigens and CTL. It further fosters the antigen presentation pathway that radiation, in a dose-dependent fashion, would evoke the expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and MHC class II molecules. However, radiotherapies might give the tumoral cells a nudge in the unwanted direction of radioresistance, with increasing the number of regulatory T cells.

On the side of radiation as an adjuvant for immunotherapy, there are evidences that radiotherapies promote the efficacy of adoptively transferred T and NK cells in cancers [32]. Overall, radiation therapy offers a favored strategy to allow access to tumoral nests [33]. Particularly, it reinforces the tendency of transferred T cells to infiltrate into tumor sites possibly through increasing the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines $(IFN-\gamma),$ antiangiogenic chemoattractants (MIG and IP-10), NKG2D ligands, and Fas receptors. To recruit lymphocytes into tumors, IFN-y arranges various activities such as the expression of MHC class I and ICAM-1 on tumoral cells and activation of STAT1. MHC class I molecule takes part in antigen presentation and cross-presentation, while the expression of adhesion molecule ICAM-1 determines the immunogenicity of tumoral cells. Taken together, MHC class I and ICAM-1 molecules maintain effector functions of T cells: antigen-specific T-cell responses. The first apoptosis signal (Fas) receptors result in the further amplification of signals thatNKG2D ligands send to CTL for cancer cell death. In the case of adoptive NK cell therapy, the role of radiation as an immune adjuvant on tumor control explicitly depends on the radiation dose. High-dose radiation caused NK cells to lose their cytotoxic capacity, whereas low-dose radiation enhanced the NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity. The former problem possibly lies in the sensitivity of NK cells to high-dose radiation. The latter opportunity occurs possibly because of the radiation-directed caspases that act as almost indispensable to the apoptotic machinery [34].

On the side of immunotherapy as an adjuvant for radiotherapy, studies elucidate that immunotherapies improve the efficacy of radiation. It is substantially fulfilled by setting low numbers of regulatory T cells [35], priming antigen-specific CD8+ T-cell responses [36], and stimulating the maturation of dendritic cells (DCs). Frankly, it is important for radiotherapy to optimize immune responses, which would not only contribute to the control of tumor growth but also might facilitate the killing of tumoral cells. Immunotherapy by accomplishing such optimization objectives improves the therapeutic efficacy of radiotherapy. Below several modes of present such accomplishment.

Different types of radiation-related cell death exist: mitotic catastrophe, apoptosis, necrosis, autophagy, and senescence [27]. Overall, necrosis is the most common profile of cancer cell death by radiation therapy. While apoptosis tends to occur from mid to high doses of radiotherapy, necrosis is particularly observed with high or ablative doses. The activation of the canonical pathway of NF-kB by tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and toll-like receptors unleashes a variety of inflammatory mediators within tumoral tissues and its neighboring tissues that underwent necrosis or apoptosis under radiation therapy conditions [21]. It is inclusive of not only overall antitumor immunity but also of some molecules such as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMP) and apyrase-sensitive nucleotides that take part in the wound responses and pose a key challenge to sustainable antitumor immune responses [27]. Ultimately, the NF- κ B pathway processes a reduction in the cellular sensitivity to apoptosis and therefore resistance to radiotherapies appears [37]. Altogether, as reviewed in [27, 38], the radiation-induced necrosis and inflammation might paradoxically contribute to antitumor immune response and rapid tumor growth and so may become in or out of favor with the host evidences. NF- κ B inhibitors have indicated synergic efficacy with radiotherapy in terms of an increase in apoptosis and of a reduction in inflammation [39].

Though both chemotherapy and fractionated radiation had the effect of nullifying the original advantage of ablative radiation therapy to tumor rejection, immunotherapy represented attempts surrounding the priming of T cells and maturation of DCs to amplify that [36]. Supporting this, research reveals no superiority of radiation therapy (comparable efficacy) over surgical resection of the primary breast tumor for improving the overall survival [34], while the combined therapy with anti-CTLA-4 antibodies and fractionated radiation therapy not only eradicated the primary tumor but also prevented lung metastasis and therefore was able enough to enhance the overall survival. The latter appeared to lie in the ability of CTLA-4 blockade to prime antigen-specific CD8+ T cells that promote the immunogenicity of tumor cell death.

Commensurate with its purpose of promoting tumor growth, the cytokine TGF- β serves to slacken NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity in tumoral cells by downregulation of NKG2D ligands [40] and circumvent DC activation induced by radiation. However, there have been reports of high rates of nonresponse and recurrence with radiation therapy alone or even in combination with anti-CTLA-4 antibodies or anti-TGF- β therapy that reflect resistance to the action of these therapies. The main mechanism of resistance seems to lie in the T-cell exhaustion that would prohibit necessary effector CD8+ T-cell responses. An increase in the expression of programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) might exacerbate the T-cell exhaustion. Supporting this, addition of anti-PD-1 antibodies has been shown to yield more promising results than when the combinations of radiation therapy with anti-TGF- β [41] or with anti-CTLA-4 antibodies [42] used.

As discussed above, the superior efficacy of the combined approaches consisted of both immunotherapy and radiotherapy might reflect nonredundant mechanisms for each treatment [42]. It marks a shift from isolated treatment with each of radiotherapy and immunotherapy to combined immunoradiotherapy [36] for the management of treatment resistance in cancer.

30.4 Radiation, Immunity, and Cancer: Clinical Implications

30.4.1 Curative Purposes

30.4.1.1 Radiotherapies

Patients with different types of cancer might profit from radiotherapies (alone or combined with other therapeutic options) in different stages of tumor development. For example, if the tumor is not resectable or tumor resection is deemed to be harmful, the stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) is suggested as a curative-intent therapy to patients with peripheral early-stage non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) [43]. Further, different options of radiotherapy, including internal radiotherapy, 3D-CRT, 3D-CRT and TACE, stereotactic body radiotherapy, and charged particle radiotherapy, have been used in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (for review see [44]). Meanwhile, meta-analyses [45] show that radiotherapy concomitant with chemotherapy (chemoradiation) provides patients with cervical cancer a 16% boost in the progressionfree survival and a 12% boost in the overall survival compared to when chemotherapy is given alone. It seems that patients with stage I and II are more likely to benefit from chemoradiation. Pooled analyses predict that preoperative administration of radiation with doses of above 60 Gy yields in more than 20% pathological complete response rate and nearly 90% resectability rate in patients with locally advanced rectal cancer (n = 487) [46]. Postoperative radiotherapy also appears effective in patients with early-stage breast cancer in terms of enhancing overall survival and reducing recurrence rates [47].

30.4.1.2 Radionuclide-Bearing Monoclonal Antibody Therapies

Radionuclides represent a potential surface to boost the cytotoxic effect in cancer cells by monoclonal antibodies. As reviewed in [48, 49], among numerous radionuclides available for therapeutic purposes, only iodine-131 and yttrium-90 have been approved by FDA to be used as conjugates to monoclonal antibodies Tositumomab (Bexxar®) and ibritumomab tiuxetan (Zevalin®). These anti-CD20 targets are used to treat non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL).

30.4.2 Prognostic Purposes

A number of immunological markers such as lymphocyte infiltration can be used to predict response to radiotherapy [26].

30.4.3 Complications and Cautions

30.4.3.1 Adverse Events

Roughly speaking, radiotherapy as a standalone treatment approach or as a part of the combined approaches (chemoradiation) would result in an acceptable increase in severe and early adverse events especially hematological and gastrointestinal toxicities [45, 46]. IMPRT is, however, associated with fewer toxicities than conventional 3D-conformal radiation therapy (3D-CRT). Surprisingly, a systematic review recently revealed that the clinical end points in patients with pancreatic cancer would not be significantly improved by IMPRT as compared to 3D-CRT [50].

The aggravation of swallowing disorders by radiotherapy in patients with head and neck cancers is associated with acute as well as chronic serious sequels in feeding [51]. As described in [52], there have been developed different categories of precautions that oncology physicians and radiation oncologists must take to reduce the risk of radiotherapy-induced dysphagia.

In addition, meta-analysis reveals the fear of recurrence among patients with cancer would be instilled by radiotherapy [53].

30.4.3.2 Mortality

Postoperative radiotherapy predisposes patients with completely resected NSCLC (n = 2343) to an increase of 18% in the death risk [54]. In addition, the benefit postoperative radiotherapy brings for patients with early-stage breast cancer is variable, and so, radiation oncologists must beware of selecting potential candidates undergoing postoperative radiotherapy [47].

30.4.3.3 Immunodeficiency

It is immediately possible for radiation therapy to indulge in cytotoxicity not only in cells of the tumor but also in both mature and precursor cells of the immune system including NK cells, B cells, T cells, monocytes, and granulocytes [32]. The higher the radiation dose, the greater the risk of negative effects of radiation on the immune system. Even more worsening is that there are evidences that the acute radiation-induced defect in cellular immune responses might persist for many years after radiotherapy in patients with laryngopharyngeal cancer [55].

30.4.4 Emerging Modern Radiotherapy Protocols

Application of nanomolecules to enhance the efficiency of radiotherapies has been recently investigated. For example, Zhang and colleagues recently reported a 50% increase in the uptake of radiation by GSH-Au nanomolecules Au10–12(SG)10–12 [56].

References

- Cohen BL. The cancer risk from low level radiation. Radiation dose from multidetector CT. New York NY: Springer; 2011. p. 61–79.
- Cucinotta FA, Durante M. Cancer risk from exposure to galactic cosmic rays: implications for space exploration by human beings. Lancet Oncol. 2006;7(5):431–5.
- Cucinotta FA. A new approach to reduce uncertainties in space radiation cancer risk predictions. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):e0120717.
- Cucinotta FA, Kim M-HY, Chappell LJ. Space radiation cancer risk projections and uncertainties – 2010. Houston, TX: NASA; 2011.

- Cucinotta FA, Schimmerling W, Wilson JW, Peterson LE, Badhwar GD, Saganti PB, et al. Space radiation cancer risks and uncertainties for Mars missions. Radiat Res. 2001;156(5):682–8.
- Goolden AWG. Radiation cancer. A review with special reference to radiation tumours in the pharynx, larynx, and thyroid. Br J Radiol. 1957;30(360):626–40.
- Wallis CJD, Mahar AL, Choo R, Herschorn S, Kodama RT, Shah PS, et al. Second malignancies after radiotherapy for prostate cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2016;352:i851.
- Grantzau T, Overgaard J. Risk of second non-breast cancer after radiotherapy for breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 762,468 patients. Radiother Oncol. 2015;114(1):56–65.
- Taylor C, Correa C, Duane FK, Aznar MC, Anderson SJ, Bergh J, et al. Estimating the risks of breast cancer radiotherapy: evidence from modern radiation doses to the lungs and heart and from previous randomized trials. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(15):1641–9.
- Hall EJ. Intensity-modulated radiation therapy, protons, and the risk of second cancers. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2006;65(1):1–7.
- Brenner DJ, Elliston CD, Hall EJ, Berdon WE. Estimated risks of radiation-induced fatal cancer from pediatric CT. Am J Roentgenol. 2001;176(2):289–96.
- 12. Smith-Bindman R, Lipson J, Marcus R, Kim K-P, Mahesh M, Gould R, et al. Radiation dose associated with common computed tomography examinations and the associated lifetime attributable risk of cancer. Arch Intern Med. 2009;169(22):2078–86.
- Pearce MS, Salotti JA, Little MP, McHugh K, Lee C, Kim KP, et al. Radiation exposure from CT scans in childhood and subsequent risk of leukaemia and brain tumours: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 2012;380(9840):499–505.
- Szmigielski S. Cancer morbidity in subjects occupationally exposed to high frequency (radiofrequency and microwave) electromagnetic radiation. Sci Total Environ. 1996;180(1):9–17.
- Cardis E, Gilbert ES, Carpenter L, Howe G, Kato I, Armstrong BK, et al. Effects of low doses and low dose rates of external ionizing radiation: cancer mortality among nuclear industry workers in three countries. Radiat Res. 1995;142(2):117–32.
- Grant WB. An estimate of premature cancer mortality in the US due to inadequate doses of solar ultraviolet-B radiation. Cancer. 2002;94(6):1867–75.
- Ward JF. DNA damage produced by ionizing radiation in mammalian cells: identities, mechanisms of formation, and reparability. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol. 1988;35:95–125.
- Olive PL, Banáth JP, Durand RE. Heterogeneity in radiation-induced DNA damage and repair in tumor and normal cells measured using the "comet" assay. Radiat Res. 1990;122(1):86–94.
- Singh NP, McCoy MT, Tice RR, Schneider EL. A simple technique for quantitation of low levels of

DNA damage in individual cells. Exp Cell Res. 1988;175(1):184–91.

- Gasser S, Raulet D, editors. The DNA damage response, immunity and cancer. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 2006.
- Hellweg CE. The nuclear factor κB pathway: a link to the immune system in the radiation response. Cancer Lett. 2015;368(2):275–89.
- Yu H, Pardoll D, Jove R. STATs in cancer inflammation and immunity: a leading role for STAT3. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009;9(11):798–809.
- Gasser S, Orsulic S, Brown EJ, Raulet DH. The DNA damage pathway regulates innate immune system ligands of the NKG2D receptor. Nature. 2005;436(7054):1186–90.
- Vesely MD, Kershaw MH, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. Natural innate and adaptive immunity to cancer. Annu Rev Immunol. 2011;29:235–71.
- Chen Daniel S, Mellman I. Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. Immunity. 2013;39(1):1–10.
- Lumniczky K, Sáfrány G. The impact of radiation therapy on the antitumor immunity: local effects and systemic consequences. Cancer Lett. 2015;356(1):114–25.
- Haikerwal SJ, Hagekyriakou J, MacManus M, Martin OA, Haynes NM. Building immunity to cancer with radiation therapy. Cancer Lett. 2015;368(2):198–208.
- Demaria S, Formenti SC. Radiation as an immunological adjuvant: current evidence on dose and fractionation. Front Oncol. 2012;2:153.
- Rödel F, Frey B, Multhoff G, Gaipl U. Contribution of the immune system to bystander and nontargeted effects of ionizing radiation. Cancer Lett. 2015;356(1):105–13.
- Demaria S, Formenti SC. Sensors of ionizing radiation effects on the immunological microenvironment of cancer. Int J Radiat Biol. 2007;83(11–12):819–25.
- Multhoff G, Radons J. Radiation, inflammation, and immune responses in cancer. Front Oncol. 2012;2:58.
- Park B, Yee C, Lee K-M. The effect of radiation on the immune response to cancers. Int J Mol Sci. 2014;15(1):927–43.
- Rice J, Ottensmeier CH, Stevenson FK. DNA vaccines: precision tools for activating effective immunity against cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008;8(2):108–20.
- Ashkenazi A, Dixit VM. Death receptors: signaling and modulation. Science. 1998;281(5381):1305–8.
- Schaue D, Ratikan JA, Iwamoto KS, McBride WH. Maximizing tumor immunity with fractionated radiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012;83(4):1306–10.
- 36. Lee Y, Auh SL, Wang Y, Burnette B, Wang Y, Meng Y, et al. Therapeutic effects of ablative radiation on local tumor require CD8+ T cells: changing strategies for cancer treatment. Blood. 2009;114(3):589–95.
- Wang C-Y, Mayo MW, Baldwin AS Jr. TNF-and cancer therapy-induced apoptosis: potentiation by inhibition of NF-kB. Science. 1996;274(5288):784.

- Grivennikov SI, Greten FR, Karin M. Immunity, inflammation, and Cancer. Cell. 2010;140(6):883–99.
- Karin M, Greten FR. NF-κB: linking inflammation and immunity to cancer development and progression. Nat Rev Immunol. 2005;5(10):749–59.
- 40. Dasgupta S, Bhattacharya-Chatterjee M, O'Malley BW, Chatterjee SK. Inhibition of NK cell activity through TGF-β1 by down-regulation of NKG2D in a murine model of head and neck cancer. J Immunol. 2005;175(8):5541–50.
- Vanpouille-Box C, Diamond JM, Pilones KA, Zavadil J, Babb JS, Formenti SC, et al. TGFβ is a master regulator of radiation therapy-induced antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2015;75(11):2232–42.
- 42. Twyman-Saint Victor C, Rech AJ, Maity A, Rengan R, Pauken KE, Stelekati E, et al. Radiation and dual checkpoint blockade activate non-redundant immune mechanisms in cancer. Nature. 2015;520(7547):373–7.
- Baker S, Dahele M, Lagerwaard FJ, Senan S. A critical review of recent developments in radiotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer. Radiat Oncol. 2016;11(1):115.
- 44. Kalogeridi M-A, Zygogianni A, Kyrgias G, Kouvaris J, Chatziioannou S, Kelekis N, et al. Role of radiotherapy in the management of hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review. World J Hepatol. 2015;7(1):101.
- 45. Green JA, Kirwan JM, Tierney JF, Symonds P, Fresco L, Collingwood M, et al. Survival and recurrence after concomitant chemotherapy and radiotherapy for cancer of the uterine cervix: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2001;358(9284):781–6.
- 46. Burbach JPM, den Harder AM, Intven M, van Vulpen M, Verkooijen HM, Reerink O. Impact of radio-therapy boost on pathological complete response in patients with locally advanced rectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Radiother Oncol. 2014;113(1):1–9.

- Speers C, Pierce LJ. Postoperative radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery for early-stage breast cancer: a review. JAMA Oncol. 2016;2(8):1075–82.
- Kim EG, Kim KM. Strategies and advancement in antibody-drug conjugate optimization for targeted cancer therapeutics. Biomol Ther. 2015;23(6):493.
- Milenic DE, Brady ED, Brechbiel MW. Antibodytargeted radiation cancer therapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2004;3(6):488–99.
- Bittner M-I, Grosu A-L, Brunner TB. Comparison of toxicity after IMRT and 3D-conformal radiotherapy for patients with pancreatic cancer – a systematic review. Radiother Oncol. 2015;114(1):117–21.
- Murphy BA, Gilbert J. Dysphagia in head and neck cancer patients treated with radiation: assessment, sequelae, and rehabilitation. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2009;19(1):35–42.
- 52. Schindler A, Denaro N, Russi EG, Pizzorni N, Bossi P, Merlotti A, et al. Dysphagia in head and neck cancer patients treated with radiotherapy and systemic therapies: literature review and consensus. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2015;96(2):372–84.
- 53. Yang Y, Cameron J, Humphris G. The relationship between cancer patient's fear of recurrence and radiotherapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Psycho-Oncology. 2017;26(6):738–46.
- 54. Burdett S, Rydzewska L, Tierney J, Fisher D, Parmar MKB, Arriagada R, et al. Postoperative radiotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;10:CD002142.
- Tarpley JL, Potvin C, Chretien PB. Prolonged depression of cellular immunity in cured laryngopharyngeal cancer patients treated with radiation therapy. Cancer. 1975;35(3):638–44.
- 56. Zhang XD, Luo Z, Chen J, Shen X, Song S, Sun Y, et al. Ultrasmall Au10–12 (SG) 10–12 nanomolecules for high tumor specificity and cancer radiotherapy. Adv Mater. 2014;26(26):4565–8.



Hurdles in Cancer Immunotherapy

31

Fatemeh Sadeghi, Ali Sanjari Moghaddam, and Saeed Soleyman-Jahi

Contents

31.1	General Hurdles	599
31.1.1	Limitations of Current Animal Models in Predicting Efficacy	
	of Cancer Immunotherapy Modalities in Human Body	599
31.1.2	Complexity of Concepts and Mechanisms Pertaining to Cancer,	
	Tumor Heterogeneity, and Immune Escape	599
31.1.3	Lack of Specific Clinical Efficacy Biomarker(s) for Assessment	
	of Cancer Immunotherapies	601
31.1.4	Conventional Clinical Criteria Do Not Delineate Different Response	
	Patterns to Cytotoxic Agents and Immunotherapies	602
31.1.5	Obtaining Approval to Initiate Clinical Trials Is Time-Consuming	602
31.1.6	Challenges in Design of Clinical Trials	602
31.1.7	Reagents for Combination Immunotherapy Studies Are Limited	603
31.1.8	Limitation of Funding to Support Knowledge Translation	603
31.1.9	Limited Number of Groups with Both Scientists and Clinicians	
	Aiming at Translation Research	603
31.1.10	Insufficient Circulation and Exchange of Evidence Needed to	
	Advance the Field	604
31.2	Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T-Cell Immunotherapy	604
31.2.1	Hurdles Related to Mechanism and Process of Research	604
31.2.1.1	Limited Infrastructure for Efficient Knowledge Translation	604
31.2.1.2	Need to Release Certificate Prior to Clinical Evaluation of CAR T	
	Cells as Genetically Modified Organisms	604
31.2.1.3	Difference in Requirements Among Various Settings	605
31.2.1.4	Lack of Standard and Specific Guidance	605
31.2.1.5	High Burden of Documentation Needed Even in Early Phase	
	of Application for Clinical Trials	605
31.2.1.6	Product Chain Identity	605

F. Sadeghi

Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

A. Sanjari Moghaddam School of Medicine, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran S. Soleyman-Jahi (🖂)

Cancer Immunology Project (CIP), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

Cancer Research Center, Cancer Institute of Iran, Tehran, Iran

Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, School of Medicine, Washington University in St. Louis, St. Louis, MO, USA

31.2.1.7	Lack of Specific Regulatory Requirements for CAR T Cells	
	to Facilitate Knowledge Translation	605
31.2.2	Practical Hurdles	606
31.2.2.1	Labor-Intensive Nature of Adoptive Cell Transfer (ACT)	606
31.2.2.2	Limited Number of Cancers with Natural Tumor-Reactive	
	Lymphocytes Eligible for Isolation and Expansion	606
31.2.2.3	Dependence on the In Vivo Maintenance of T-Cell Populations	606
31 2 3	Some Other Pending Issues	607
31 2 3 1	Determination of Ideal CAR T-Cell Population Subset Phenotype	007
51.2.5.1	and Construct	607
21 2 2 2	Solooting Appropriate Apimel Models to Investigate the Sofety	007
51.2.5.2	selecting Appropriate Annual Models to investigate the Safety	(07
	and Efficacy of CAR 1-Cell Products	607
31.2.3.3	Feasible and Cost-Efficient Production Process	608
31.2.3.4	Determining the Dose of CAR T Cells	608
31.3	Immunological Hurdles Restricting the Efficiency of Antitumor	
51.5	Cytolytic T Colle	600
21 2 1	Cytoryuc T Cens	600
21.2.2	Level and Castinglation	6009
31.3.2	Low Levels of Costimulation.	609
31.3.3	Immune Regulatory Cells.	610
31.3.3.1	Immunosuppression Activity of CD4+ Suppressor Cells	610
31.3.3.2	Immunosuppression Activity of CD8+ Suppressor Cells	610
31.3.3.3	Immunosuppression Activity of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells	611
31.3.3.4	IL-13 Secreting Natural Killer T (NKT) Cells	612
31.3.4	T-Cell Allergic Through Induction of Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase	612
31.3.5	Exhaustion of T-Cells.	613
31.3.5.1	Inhibitory Checkpoints Associated with T-Cell Exhaustion	613
31.3.6	Mechanisms of Tumor Evasion in Late Stages of Tumor Development	613
31.4	Immunoediting	614
21.5		
31.5	Tumor Resistance	614
31.5 31.5.1	Tumor Resistance	614 614
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2	Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling Resistance to Perform and the Granzyme B Pathway	614 614 615
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perform and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation	614 614 615 615
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway	614 614 615 615 615
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4	Tumor Resistance	614 614 615 615 615 615
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 21.5.4.2	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Description Description Resistance and Targin Hample on Expression.	614 614 615 615 615 615
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression.	614 614 615 615 615 615 615 616
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.4.3	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.4.3 31.5.5	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.4.3 31.5.5	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.4.3 31.5.5 31.5.6	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.4.3 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 617 617
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.4.3 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7.1	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 617 617 617
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.4.3 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7.1 31.5.7.1	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 617 617 617 617
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.4.3 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7.1 31.5.7.2 31.5.7.3	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function.	614 614 615 615 615 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 618
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.4.3 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7.1 31.5.7.2 31.5.7.3 31.5.8	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function. Safety Concerns.	614 614 615 615 615 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 618 618
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.4.3 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7.1 31.5.7.2 31.5.7.3 31.5.8 31.5.9	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function. Safety Concerns. Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 618 618 618
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.4.3 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7.1 31.5.7.2 31.5.7.3 31.5.8 31.5.9 31.5.10	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function. Safety Concerns. Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy. Toxicities Related to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 617
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.4.3 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7.1 31.5.7.2 31.5.7.3 31.5.8 31.5.9 31.5.10 31.5.10	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function. Safety Concerns. Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy. Toxicities Related to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors. Inilimumab	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 617
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7.3 31.5.8 31.5.9 31.5.10 31.5.10	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function. Safety Concerns. Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy. Toxicities Related to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors. Ipilimumab. Nivolumab	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 617 618 618 618 620 620 620
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.8 31.5.9 31.5.10 31.5.10.1 31.5.10.2 31.5.10.2 31.5.10.3	Tumor Resistance.Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling.Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway.Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation.Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator.P53 Expression.Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression.Wnt- β -Catenin Pathway.Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection ofResistant Variants.Actin Cytoskeleton.Events in Antigen Processing.Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms.Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport.Loss of β 2-Microglobulin Protein Function.Safety Concerns.Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy.Toxicities Related to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors.Ipilimumab.Nivolumab.Pembrolizumab	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 618 618 618 620 620 620
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.8 31.5.10 31.5.10.1 31.5.10.2 31.5.10.3 31.5.10.3	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function. Safety Concerns. Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy. Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T Cell Therapy.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 617
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.8 31.5.9 31.5.10 31.5.10.1 31.5.10.3 31.5.11	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function. Safety Concerns. Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy. Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 617
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.10 31.5.10 31.5.10.3 31.5.11 31.6	Tumor Resistance.Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling.Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway.Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation.Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator.P53 Expression.Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression.Wnt- β -Catenin Pathway.Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection ofResistant Variants.Actin Cytoskeleton.Events in Antigen Processing.Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms.Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport.Loss of β 2-Microglobulin Protein Function.Safety Concerns.Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy.Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy.Nivolumab.Pembrolizumab.Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy in Solid Tumors.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 617
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.4 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.8 31.5.10 31.5.10.1 31.5.10.2 31.5.10.3 31.5.11 31.6 31.6.1	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function. Safety Concerns. Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy. Toxicities Related to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors. Ipilimumab. Nivolumab. Pembrolizumab. Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy in Solid Tumors. T-Cell Trafficking.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 617
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.3 31.5.4.3 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7.1 31.5.7.2 31.5.7.3 31.5.8 31.5.9 31.5.10 31.5.10.2 31.5.10.3 31.5.11 31.6 31.6.1	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function. Safety Concerns. Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy. Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy. Nivolumab. Pembrolizumab. Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy in Solid Tumors. T-Cell Trafficking. T-Cell Infiltration.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 617
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.3 31.5.4.3 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7.1 31.5.7.2 31.5.7.3 31.5.8 31.5.9 31.5.10.1 31.5.10.2 31.5.10.3 31.5.11 31.6 31.6.1 31.6.2 31.6.3	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function. Safety Concerns. Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy. Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy. Nivolumab. Pembrolizumab. Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy in Solid Tumors. T-Cell Trafficking. T-Cell Infiltration. Inmunosuppressive Microenvironment.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 617 617
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.3 31.5.4.3 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7.1 31.5.7.2 31.5.7.3 31.5.7.3 31.5.8 31.5.9 31.5.10 31.5.10.3 31.5.10.3 31.5.11 31.6 31.6.1 31.6.2 31.6.3	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function. Safety Concerns. Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy. Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy. Nivolumab. Pembrolizumab. Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy in Solid Tumors. T-Cell Trafficking. T-Cell Infiltration. Immunosuppressive Microenvironment. Inhibitory Cytokines.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 617 617
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.7 31.5.71 31.5.72 31.5.73 31.5.8 31.5.9 31.5.10 31.5.10.1 31.5.10.2 31.5.10.3 31.5.11 31.6 31.6.1 31.6.2 31.6.3 31.6.3 31.6.3 31.6.3 31.6.3	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function. Safety Concerns. Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy. Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy. Nivolumab. Pembrolizumab. Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy in Solid Tumors. T-Cell Trafficking. T-Cell Trafficking. T-Cell Trafficking. T-Cell Trafficking. T-Cell Infiltration. Immunosuppressive Microenvironment. Inhibitory Cytokines. Inhibitory Immuno-Checkpoints.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 617 617
31.5 31.5.1 31.5.2 31.5.3 31.5.4 31.5.4.1 31.5.4.2 31.5.5 31.5.6 31.5.7 31.5.7.1 31.5.7.2 31.5.7.3 31.5.7.3 31.5.7.3 31.5.7.3 31.5.7.3 31.5.7.3 31.5.7.3 31.5.7.3 31.5.7.3 31.5.7.3 31.5.7.3 31.5.7.1 31.5.7.2 31.5.7.3 31.5.7.3 31.5.10 31.5.10.1 31.5.10.2 31.5.10.3 31.5.10 31.5.11 31.6.1 31.6.3 31.6.3.1 31.6.3.1 31.6.3.2 31.6.3.3	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling. Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway. Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation. Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator. P53 Expression. Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression. Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway. Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants. Actin Cytoskeleton. Events in Antigen Processing. Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms. Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport. Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function. Safety Concerns. Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy. Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy. Nivolumab. Pembrolizumab. Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy in Solid Tumors. T-Cell Trafficking. T-Cell Infiltration. Immunosuppressive Microenvironment. Inhibitory Cytokines. Inhibitory Immuno-Checkpoints. Inhibitory Immuno-Checkpoints. Inmune Suppressive Microenvironment.	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 617
$\begin{array}{c} 31.5\\ 31.5.1\\ 31.5.2\\ 31.5.3\\ 31.5.4\\ 31.5.4.2\\ 31.5.4.2\\ 31.5.4.3\\ 31.5.5\\ \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c} 31.5.6\\ 31.5.7\\ 31.5.7.1\\ 31.5.7.2\\ 31.5.7.3\\ 31.5.8\\ 31.5.9\\ 31.5.10\\ 31.5.10.2\\ 31.5.10.3\\ 31.5.10.3\\ 31.5.11\\ 31.6\\ 31.6.1\\ 31.6.2\\ 31.6.3.1\\ 31.6.3.2\\ 31.6.3.3\\ 31.6.3\\ 31.6.3.3\\ 31.6.3\\ 3$	Tumor Resistance. Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway	614 614 615 615 615 615 616 616 616 616 617 617 617 617 617 617

31.7	Other Topics	623
31.7.1	Challenges in Antigen Selection	623
31.7.2	Hurdles Against Bispecific Antibodies	624
31.7.2.1	The Issues of Stability	624
31.7.3	Need for New Interventions to Enhance Efficacy of Current	
	Immunotherapies in Non-T-Cell-Inflamed Phenotype	624
31.8	Solid Tissue Cancer-Specific Hurdles	624
31.8 31.8.1	Solid Tissue Cancer-Specific Hurdles Melanoma	624 624
31.8 31.8.1 31.8.2	Solid Tissue Cancer-Specific Hurdles Melanoma Pancreas	624 624 625
31.8 31.8.1 31.8.2 31.8.3	Solid Tissue Cancer-Specific Hurdles Melanoma Pancreas Head and Neck Cancers	624 624 625 625

31.1 General Hurdles

31.1.1 Limitations of Current Animal Models in Predicting Efficacy of Cancer Immunotherapy Modalities in Human Body

With regard to structural and physiological similarities between humans and animals, novel discoveries are initially evaluated with animal models and subsequently applied to humans. Among clinical trials on novel therapies, 85% fail in the early phase, and only half of those that pass phase III obtain approval for clinical use [1]. Moreover, the greatest failure rates belong to cancer drug trials [2].

Mice are the primary experimental model used in preclinical cancer studies. Nevertheless, there are important interspecies differences in mechanisms of cancer development between mice and humans [3], and thus, human disease may not be precisely simulated by animal models [4]. Although human tumors often develop in a concealed manner during months to years, transplanted tumors in animal models are grown within days that surely cannot show the complexity of human cancer. Besides, xenograft human models used for cancer introduction in animals would induce a stronger response to immunotherapy as the tumor is primarily a foreign antigen to the animal's immune system. Furthermore, the tumor cell lines used for inducing cancer in animal models are produced many years ago, and new animal models with probable evolutions in allelic frequency and alterations in histocompatibility antigens through generations may show stronger immunotherapy response [5]. Even though the production of transgenic mice is costly, they are better models of human cancer and thus are likely to produce more valid results. Also, animal studies with negative results are less likely to get published [6]. Therefore, survival and tumor burden data extracted from single mouse models may show high efficacy of treatment, which is most often not observed in a clinical trial [7]. Weak methodology is another issue with animal models. In animal studies, an unmasked researcher usually handles designing, execution, and data evaluation, which limits the translation of outcomes [8]. In fact, this can lead to the observer-expectancy effect. In addition, some studies report size differences between animal species that can cause some limitations such as limitation in maximal drug volume to be administered and the maximum volume of blood samples to be drawn [8]. Also, there are appreciable interspecies differences in drug metabolism that should be taken into account [9].

Since the evaluation of therapies in an animal model may not exactly mimic human response, researchers should identify important differences between the animal model and humans and also examine animals blindly in their studies (Fig. 31.1).

31.1.2 Complexity of Concepts and Mechanisms Pertaining to Cancer, Tumor Heterogeneity, and Immune Escape

When we are looking at a system in the human body, there are complex interactions between single elements to make it work. Cancer is one of



Fig. 31.1 Glance over the potential hurdles that cancer immunotherapy is confronted in the different phase of clinical research

the most complex biological systems and involves abnormal genetic and epigenetic networks. Cancer develops almost always forming a single cell in multiple steps and microevolutionary processes, in which independent events lead to the accumulation of gene mutations over time. However, human tumors often exhibit prominent heterogeneity in many morphological and physiological characteristics [10] that determine tumor behavior, biologic intercellular interaction, and aggressiveness and might be very difficult to be distinguished in the molecular level. In fact, genetically different tumor cell clones present simultaneously within the same tumor mass, and there might be hundreds of different mutations in each cell. This complexity greatly influences therapeutic response in different patients. As a result, cytotoxic drugs may have a divergent effect on cancer clones. In addition, clonal interaction may potentiate or inhibit the response to therapeutic agents [10] that make pathophysiology of cancer more complex. Therefore, it is very important to consider clonal heterogeneity for the best treatment approach.

The complexity may explain the variable response of immunotherapies. Patients' own immune system characteristics are an important factor in response to immunotherapy, which is determined by many factors such as age, previously administered treatments, tumor-specific features, and tumor-associated immune cell (TAIC) density. There are reports of local immune activity in the tumor environment [11, 12] and mutation load [13] in cancer response to therapeutic intervention and outcome. Immune escape as a biological effect determines the response of cancer cells: either eliminated by the immune system or kept in an occult state of immune equilibrium as dormant cancer by immune resistance [14]. Recent studies demonstrated that along with the destruction of tumor cells, the immune system is able to sustain cancer cell growth and keeps silent cancer in an equilibrium state [15].

Another consideration is tissue sampling. Only a small region of tumor is sampled by tumor biopsy, and thus, it may not representative of the whole tumor [10]. As targeted therapy has become a very popular approach for cancer treatment, the absence of the targeted antigen in some clones can limit the therapeutic effect of therapeutic agents.

In the end, before the selection of therapeutic intervention, each patient should be selected according to the specific characteristic of his/her tumor and receives individualized treatment, so one approach may not be effective for all patients.

31.1.3 Lack of Specific Clinical Efficacy Biomarker(s) for Assessment of Cancer Immunotherapies

Although cancer immunotherapy is one of the most promising approaches in cancer treatment, the success rate is quite variable in different patients based on the characteristics of their tumors. Therefore, similar to conventional anticancer therapy, standard biomarkers to predict and evaluate responses in immunotherapy are critical before beginning the treatment [16, 17]. An extensive assessment of baseline immunity in the periphery and the tumor microenvironment is essential to predict the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy [18]. To solve the obstacle, the Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer (SITC) reestablished the Immune Biomarkers Task Force. Two important limitations for identification of biomarkers are as follows: (1) investigators are unable to determine the most important factor of immune responses in a clinical response to immunotherapy, which is partly due to cancer complexity, and (2) the optimal source to evaluate the immune response parameter is not clear yet [5]. Additionally, the discrepancy in different approaches and protocols to monitor T-cell responses in clinical trials may lead to inconsistent results and yield invalid results, which necessitate an internationally accepted definition and consistency in immune monitoring approaches [19]. Furthermore, a high clinical response to therapy is required to detect correlation, and low clinical response in immunotherapy is another issue that makes identification of wellestablished biomarkers difficult.

31.1.4 Conventional Clinical Criteria Do Not Delineate Different Response Patterns to Cytotoxic Agents and Immunotherapies

After the initiation of treatment, response is classified in three ways: (1) regression of tumor, (2) early tumor progression followed by tumor reduction, and (3) being stable with no noticeable change or progression. Response evaluation criteria in solid tumors (RECIST) are conventional criteria defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) that evaluate response of tumor to cytotoxic agents. Immunotherapeutic intervention in some patients can terminate tumor after the initial progression or make tumor to stop, which actually increase a patient's survival. However, these therapeutic effects are considered as no response to RECIST [20]. Hence, conventional criteria may be not applicable for the evaluation of response in immunotherapy.

There are a growing number of novel monitoring techniques arising from different labs and studies [21], but modified assay protocols produce divergent results, which complicates interpretation. Besides, variation in data analysis, quality of studies, and interpretation of results would lead to more chaos [22]. New comprehensive immune-related response criteria, harmonization of assays, and modified statistical model considering hazard ratios as a function of time are recommended to increase the efficacy of methods to assess clinical response immunotherapies [23].

31.1.5 Obtaining Approval to Initiate Clinical Trials Is Time-Consuming

Conducting clinical trials is a necessary step for the assessment of the efficacy of new discoveries in humans, and new agents should systematically be evaluated to translate from bench to the bedside. There are a growing number of clinical trials worldwide. However, obtaining approval for clinical trials is a time-consuming process and has been a real challenge for some researchers [24]. In some countries, the regulatory approval of a comparable application may take more than a year. In the United States and Canada, an investigator must receive first feedback from Food and Drug Administration (FDA) reviewers within 30 days of submission, but the trials may need rounds of revisions that prolong the time to obtain approval [5]. In multinational studies, obtaining assurances, local protocol approval, and informed consent documents from each enrolment site are additional hurdles scientists are confronting with [24]. In addition, clinical trials need to use products that are manufactured based on good manufacturing practice (GMP) regulation, which may not be available for many researchers [5].

A harmonized model to reduce ethics review process time and a single submission form are recommended to minimize approval time for the approval of clinical trials [25].

31.1.6 Challenges in Design of Clinical Trials

Maximum tolerated dose (MTD) or recommended phase II dose (RP2D) is typically determined with the presumption that increasing doses of drug yield superior efficacy. However, finding an MTD may not be feasible in cancer immunotherapies [26] and will likely vary from individual to individual based on genetic and biological differences. In addition, this approach may not work for immunotherapy as the overstimulation of the immune system can lead to autoimmune toxicity. Thus, for these types of studies, optimal biological dose (OBD) is recommended [27]. Moreover, a combination of immunotherapeutic agents with each other or other therapies make the determination of MTD more challenging. Therefore, to determine the therapeutic window in combination with immunotherapies, a prediction of the dose-response surface by model-based analyses is required that demands novel trial designs [26]. Nonetheless, model-based trial designs need reliable biomarkers, understanding the designs, real-time modeling, and sample assessments and expose the researcher to the complicated regulatory processes, which makes conducting such a design challenging [26].

Clinical response to therapeutic agents may be different between cytotoxic agents and immunotherapeutic approaches. Consequently, the traditional end point used for cytotoxic agents needs to be adjusted for immunotherapy [28]. According to the traditional end point, patients receiving immunotherapy may show no clinical response early after treatment, and it can lead to early termination of clinical trials. Hence, end points for immunotherapy clinical trials should be extended [29]. In addition, end points of immunotherapy studies should involve biomarkers related to the activity of the immune system against tumor cells [30].

Phase III clinical trial conduction requires a large group of patients to confirm the efficacy of a therapeutic approach. Tumor heterogeneity causes large variations in tumor-specific antigen among patients with the same cancer. Thus, only small subsets of patients with the same cancer type may be eligible for an immunotherapy agent targeting a specific antigen, and it may take years to recruit a large group of eligible cancer patients for the conduction of phase III clinical trial. As a result, novel clinical trial designs are in need to make it possible to conduct trials with a small group of patients with unique tumor characteristics [31].

31.1.7 Reagents for Combination Immunotherapy Studies Are Limited

It has been shown that combination immunotherapy approaches can have promising results in cancer and may provide synergic effects [32]. There are as many as 200 agents, including over 15 immunotherapy agents, approved by the FDA for the treatment of cancer, and evaluation of the efficacy of every possible combination is not feasible [26]. Hence, investigators need to select the most effective agent with the highest synergic activities to yield the best optimal outcome. Another issue in cancer immunotherapy is that combinations of agents expose patients to potential additive toxicity. Although combination immunotherapy may result in a better outcome, it can also increase the rate of adverse effects, which limits its application [33]. As genetic, biologic, and environmental elements are critical in the efficacy of various treatments in different patients, they also influence the potential toxicity of various treatments in different patients and

need to be taken into account [33]. Therefore, it is important to balance the optimal effective dose of therapeutic agents with toxicity. In combinational trials involving two or more pharmaceutical companies or institutions, application for investigational new drug and regulatory process is performed only by one company or institution, and it releases information about the safety of new agents [5].

31.1.8 Limitation of Funding to Support Knowledge Translation

Although many new therapeutic agents with promising preclinical results have developed over time, the lack of funding makes it challenging to translate basic research into clinical research. Trials can impose a great financial burden at the expense of thousands to several hundred million dollars for small studies and large multicenter trials, respectively [34]. An assessment of cancer clinical trials in Korea revealed that nearly onethird of investigators had difficulties to provide funding [35]. In the United States and the United Kingdom, most funding belongs to breast cancer [36]. National Cancer Institute (NCI) is the largest funding source for cancer research in the United States, and \$5.665 billion was considered for NCI budgets in 2018, \$275.471 million increase over 2017 (https://www.cancer.gov/). Nevertheless, raising funds is still a challenging matter for investigators.

31.1.9 Limited Number of Groups with Both Scientists and Clinicians Aiming at Translation Research

A multidisciplinary team is an essential step and should be considered for translating innovation at a molecular level into clinical drugs [37]. However, a collaboration of multiple field experts is common in research, but real coordinated teamwork is rare [38]. Cancer immunotherapy as a high-technology intervention is highly interdisciplinary. Cancer immunotherapy necessitates a team of basic scientists to investigate the molecular aspect of immunotherapy, translational scientists to transform basic knowledge to clinical agents, company/industry to manufacture new drugs, and physician scientists to evaluate the efficacy of new therapies. Pharmacists, nurses, trial coordinators, and the IRB regulators shall also be added to this list among others. Previous literatures proposed different models for clinical and translational research training [37]. One of the important reasons is that PhD scientists working in cancer immunotherapy have limited capability or knowledge to translate their discoveries to the clinic. In addition, clinicians may have not been interested in immunotherapy due to previous negative experience of cancer immunotherapy [5]. Despite efforts to train PhD students as translational investigators [39], clinical researchers and translational PhD scientists acting separately would not be a solution. In addition, obtaining the initial approval for the trial, evaluation of study protocol, and data analysis may demand additional staffs, which confirm the importance of team-based working.

31.1.10 Insufficient Circulation and Exchange of Evidence Needed to Advance the Field

For a single group of researchers, it would not be feasible to study all aspects of cancer including the epidemiology of cancer, genetic components, chemical intracellular reaction, and developing therapies. Thus, the researchers need to share their knowledge and findings to decrease the workload for each other. Many efforts have been made to increase knowledge exchange between scientists in different fields [40, 41]. Peerreviewed journal articles are introduced as the ideal way for the exchange of scientific evidence, whereas workshops and meetings may facilitate circulation system-level implementation information such as financial and policy information [42]. However, despite all emerging strategies, there are still significant barriers to information exchange.

31.2 Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T-Cell Immunotherapy

31.2.1 Hurdles Related to Mechanism and Process of Research

31.2.1.1 Limited Infrastructure for Efficient Knowledge Translation

CAR T-cell immunotherapy is a recent development, which requires a highly advanced geneediting technology that is available only in a few countries. CAR T-cell immunotherapy requires multicenter efforts along with high capacities to produce vector stocks and CAR T cells. Literature showed that compared to the United States, translation of the CAR T-cell immunotherapy in Europe has faced difficulties, and authors blamed limited sources to manufacture CAR T cells of high quality as the primary reason [43]. Besides, CAR T-cell therapy as a new treatment approach needs educated and oriented nurses and personnel to know possible adverse effects of treatment and give patients the standard care [44]. Thus, effective infrastructure is one of the most important factors in CAR T-cell immunotherapy.

31.2.1.2 Need to Release Certificate Prior to Clinical Evaluation of CAR T Cells as Genetically Modified Organisms

In Europe, CAR T cells are a form of advanced therapy medicinal products (ATMPs) and classified as genetically modified cells. Thus, CAR T cells are considered as genetically modified organisms (GMOs). Clinical trials for CAR T-cell immunotherapies must be approved for the use of GMOs according to environmental risk assessment in some European member states, which consequently obligate risk assessment for each new type of CAR T cells [43]. Hence, to ease the risk assessment process, a standard conventional approach on the GMO requirement of CAR T cells, which reflect on all CAR T cells, should be provided.

31.2.1.3 Difference in Requirements Among Various Settings

Variation in the application process among European member states is another hurdle limiting the activation of clinical trials [45]. These variations lead to disparity in approval timeline and additional struggle, particularly in international clinical trials, which mandate obtaining approval from each participating site. [43]. Consequently, conduction of multinational trials enrolling patients from several European Union (EU) member states becomes very unappealing. Therefore, an integrated approach for safety risk assessment of the GMOs in Europe would result in a timely regulation process for clinical trials.

31.2.1.4 Lack of Standard and Specific Guidance

ATMPs as biotechnological products involve cell-, gene-, and tissue-engineered therapies, which are frequently patient-specific [46]. CAR T cells are considered a type of ATMPs. The growing demand for CAR T cells requires the manufacturing of highly individualized gene-edited T-cell products. Although CAR T-cell products need to be in concordance with academic research for essential knowledge, due to this personalized nature, pharmaceutical companies may be incapable to proceed according to clinical translation used for biotechnological products [43]. Diverse structure and wide-ranging functions of ATMPs imply that general guidance may be insufficient to translate into product-specific requirements [47]. Rapidly evolving nature of ATMPs and the lack of regulatory knowledge are major hurdles for scientists against using them [48].

To reduce delay, investigators are recommended to follow regulatory and scientific guidance with competent authorities for clinical trials in advance [43].

31.2.1.5 High Burden of Documentation Needed Even in Early Phase of Application for Clinical Trials

GMP regulations obligate pharmaceutical companies to present classified documentation and records on the manufacturing process in order to 605

make all development, manufacturing, and activities accessible [49]. However, there is inadequate knowledge about the documentation process with regard to ATMP development academic institutions [48]. It's been demonstrated that the knowledge and documentation needed to approve clinical trials represent a substantial hurdle for principal investigators not by the ATMP GMP facility managers [48]. European Commission established new guidelines on GMP guidelines specific to ATMPs (https://ec.europa.eu/health/ sites/health/files/files/eudralex/vol-4/2017_11_22_guidelines_gmp_for_atmps.pdf).

31.2.1.6 Product Chain Identity

CAR T cells are individualized genetically modified T cells. Thus, accuracy in CAR T cells distribution from the pharmaceutical industry to the hospital to reach patients is very important. Even in some cases, the patient receiving the treatment may be in a different continent. The product should be tracked precisely to prevent a patient-product mismatch. The transport errors can occur in two levels: (1) transfer of leukapheresis materials from apheresis and cell-processing laboratories to the manufacturing company and (2) from the manufacturing company to the treating center. After the delivery of manufactured CAR T cells to the hospital, hospital staff should control the chain of identity to be in concordance to the manufacturing facility [50]. So far, product identifiers employed by hospitals may differ from the manufacturing company, which may result in uncertainty and loss of information [43].

31.2.1.7 Lack of Specific Regulatory Requirements for CAR T Cells to Facilitate Knowledge Translation

CAR T-cell therapy is one of the new promising therapeutic approaches, and like most of the novel procedures [51, 52], a specific regulatory process and requirement have not been defined. In fact, regulatory agencies frequently adjust the requirements as different aspects of therapy are made available. Thus, to prevent delay in approval and facilitate translation, the investigator should identify current regulatory requirements and get adapted in advance. Therefore, establishment of specific guidelines as universal regulation for the manufacturing and application of CAR T cells seems pivotal. The approval process should be a balance between high-quality standards to minimize risks and lower limitation for the application of the CAR T-cell therapy [53]. There are limitations in existing guidelines such as the lack of a threshold for transduction efficiency, not considering individual variations among patients, and the lack of a specific and standardized method to assess the biological potency of CAR T cells. In addition, clinical considerations need to be adapted as CAR T-cell therapy is evolving [53].

31.2.2 Practical Hurdles

31.2.2.1 Labor-Intensive Nature of Adoptive Cell Transfer (ACT)

Adoptive transfer of genetically engineered cells is characterized by gene modification of patients' own immune cells to make the immune system to detect and fight cancer more efficiently and increase immune response. As a result, this approach for cancer treatment is highly individualized, and the products are specified for each patient. However, the product manufacturing process demands multilevel cooperation of many skilled and trained workforces and is considered labor intensive for many investigators [54]. In addition to the need for laboratory expertise, production of these products and gene-modified cells requires high-quality infrastructure to keep all environmental conditions under control and confirm sterility. Thus, these conditions and requirement increase the probability of failure in product manufacturing process [54].

Therefore, ACT, as a new therapeutic modality, demands a labor-intensive and patient-specific process, which precludes commercialization and limits extensive use in practice [54, 55], and can be considered as a service instead of distinct drug [55].

31.2.2.2 Limited Number of Cancers with Natural Tumor-Reactive Lymphocytes Eligible for Isolation and Expansion

An immunotherapeutic approach in patients with metastatic melanoma is to isolate tumor-

infiltrating lymphocyte, produce a large amount of autologous T cells ex vivo, and reinfuse T cells to recognize and fight cancer cells. Previous studies reported that the use of tumor-reactive lymphocytes in ACT has had favorable outcomes even with curative potential for metastatic melanoma [56] and some other malignancies [57]. Although ACT of expanded tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes has been encouraging, isolation of tumor-reactive lymphocytes is limited in many cancers. This is mainly due to the presence of a negligible number of tumor-reactive lymphocytes in peripheral blood [58]. Notably, this approach may not apply to all types of cancer.

31.2.2.3 Dependence on the In Vivo Maintenance of T-Cell Populations

After infusion of engineered T cells into patients, they need to interact with environmental signals to proliferate and act against a targeted antigen. However, there are known and unknown factors that regulate immune cell induction and proliferation in the human body, which can influence the efficacy of ACT therapy.

Previous studies have reported that lymph depletion before ACT increases the antitumor activity of infused T cells. Host T cells can compete with transferred T-cells for available cytokine, and a limited amount of cytokine would reduce the proliferation of antigen-specific T cells. Besides, the existence of regulator T cells can suppress proliferation and reduce the activity of tumor-reactive T cells. Lymphodepletion before ACT is shown to increase the availability of proliferation cytokines and restrict the population of regulatory T cells. Although lymphodepletion by chemotherapy and irradiation will also decrease the number of antigen-presenting cells (APCs), tumor cell apoptosis leads to tumor antigens uptake and presentation by APCs and may increase the function of APCs [59]. This evidence confirmed that the status of a patient's immune system before immunotherapy is an important factor in the function of transferred T cells.

The natural selection of tumor cells in response to immunotherapy is another issue that may influence infused T-cell performance. The presence of high heterogeneity among tumor cells makes antitumor activity of engrafted T cells only against a proportion of tumor cells. Subsequently, tumor cells with low immunogenicity would survive and proliferate and will show resistance to infused T cells [60]. Thus, tumor heterogeneity can minimize the persistence and efficacy of transferred T cells.

Activation of naive CD8 T cells to proliferate and generate effector cytotoxic T cells requires three signals, which include antigen presentation on major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) molecule, a costimulatory signal, and inflammatory cytokines [61]. Many tumor cells acquire the ability to evade the presentation of MHC-I [62]. Downregulation of MHC-I in tumor cell decreases the ability of cytotoxic T cells to recognize and induce apoptosis of cancer cells [63]. On the other hand, downregulation of costimulatory molecules and expression of coinhibitory receptors by tumor cells can impede the effective activity of immune cells against tumor [64].

CD8+ T cells have been shown to have evolutionary distinct differentiation states including naive, early effector, intermediate effector, and late effector. In vitro developed late effector T cells have the most antitumor activity. This is while in vivo, these late-stage cells showed significantly lower antitumor activity than earlystage T cells. These findings are due to factors such as high proliferative potential, less apoptotic risk, and higher reaction to homeostatic cytokines in early-stage T cells. Therefore, late-stage differentiated T cells employed in ACT probably will exhibit low antitumor activity [59].

Looking at the complexity of the regulation of immune cell activation, proliferation, and persistence, it may difficult to predict the expansion and survival of engrafted T cell, and immunotherapy may show variable outcomes.

31.2.3 Some Other Pending Issues

31.2.3.1 Determination of Ideal CAR T-Cell Population Subset, Phenotype, and Construct

The majority of previous clinical trials have used autologous, unselected peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) for the production of CAR T-cell products and IL-2 for signaling stimulation leading to the generation of T-cell products containing both effector CD4+ and CD8+ T cells [43]. The proportion of CD8+ and CD4+ T-cell subsets in the peripheral blood is considerably variable in patients due to different factors including age, pathogen exposure, and the lymphocytotoxic effects of chemotherapy [65, 66]. Thus, it is not surprising that PBMC-manufactured CAR T-cell products have heterogeneous numbers of CD8+ and CD4+ T-cell subsets leading to variable responses to treatment and adverse events in clinical trials [67–70]. However, a robust bulk of studies have focused on the development of optimized CAR T-cell products, which possess T cells with boosted proliferation capacity and survival [71–76]. It is suggested that designing products from enhanced subsets of CD8+ and CD4+ T cells may potentially lead to increased treatment efficacy. There are different variants of CD8+ and CD4+ T cells including naive, effector, and memory T cells with distinct surface phenotype. Memory T cells can also be divided into central and effector memory T cells [77-79]. In this regard, a previous preclinical study showed that CAR T-cell products from purified CD8+ or CD4+ central memory T cells or naive T cells have higher therapeutic efficacy in comparison with effector CAR T-cell products [80]. In fact, administration of a predefined number of enhanced and purified CD4+ and CD8+ T cells could lead to synergistic potency. In conclusion, there is vast experimental data supporting the idea of defined CAR T-cell products. However, therapeutic efficacy and higher potency of these kinds of CAR T-cell products are not definitive, and any concurrent conclusion about their actual clinical therapeutic benefits would be premature. Technical improvements in the manufacturing of these products with a higher number of patients would reveal the potential benefit of defined CAR T-cell products to a greater extent.

31.2.3.2 Selecting Appropriate Animal Models to Investigate the Safety and Efficacy of CAR T-Cell Products

Over the past decades, mouse models have been used as an acceptable preclinical model making a bridge between *in vitro* experiments and clinical trials. Mice are small, easy-handling, and lowcost animals with a short propagation time. Nonetheless, they are not an ideal preclinical model for cancer immunotherapy. A variety of mouse models have been employed for CAR T-cell studies: (1) Several CAR T-cell studies have been on human xenograft models [81], which are immunodeficient and tolerant to human cells. These models cannot distinguish between xenogeneic rejection, human CAR T-cell allogeneic response to the tumor, and the actual CAR T-cell therapeutic effects leading to tumor regression. Furthermore, as the host immune system is minimized in these models, they are incapable of investigation of tumor microenvironment or the host immune response to CAR T cells. (2) Syngeneic models have an intact immune system yet need murine cells [82, 83]. These models may cover some of the disadvantages of xenograft models, yet they have their own shortcomings. In fact, xenograft and syngeneic models could be used together to address the disadvantages of each other. (3) Transgenic mouse models are relatively new models for CAR T-cell studies [84], which can provide information far more than syngeneic and xenograft models. However, only three CAR T-cell tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) have been investigated with transgenic models. Although transgenic mouse models have not been able to reveal toxicities seen in the clinical settings, these endogenous cancer models could be of great value as their progression is similar to cancers in human individuals. Furthermore, humanized transgenic mouse models have been recently developed to recapitulate the human immune system in animal models [85]. In this regard, there are some CAR T-cell studies using mice engrafted with CD34+ hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell (HSPC)s; however, CAR T-cell studies on mice with concurrent CD34+ and tumor cells are lacking.

Primate models are the most recent animal models for studying the side effects of CAR T-cell treatment [86]. These studies have some limitations, including a small number of animals and the inability to assess antitumor effects of CAR T-cell treatment. It should be noted that primate models are potentially useful in the evaluation of TAAs because they are highly conserved. Macaques, which have an immune system comparable to that of humans, have been used for the investigation of neurotoxicity induced by CAR T-cell therapy [87]. Primate studies must undergo

extensive ethical regulations and should be considered only after confirmation in mouse models. Finally, it is important to note that no animal model is perfect for CAR T-cell studies and a constellation of different animal models should be utilized in order to investigate various therapeutic and side effects of CAR T-cell treatment.

31.2.3.3 Feasible and Cost-Efficient Production Process

One of the greatest challenges in the development of CAR T-cell products on a massive scale is the design and development of cost-effective technologies for clinical manufacturing of CAR T-cell products in order to sufficiently supply the later clinical trial phases and perhaps commercialization [88]. Several technical and economical obstacles must be overcome in the way of CAR T-cell therapy. The manufacturing process of CAR T-cell products is highly complex and eventually needs to be simplified and automated. The manufacturing automation is necessary for standardization and control of product composition. Furthermore, automation and simplification of the process decreased operator-introduced errors, which may lead to a heterogeneous composition of products. Fortunately, leading biotech and pharmaceutical companies are highly interested in the CAR T-cell therapy platform, which guarantees the increased development of manufacturing tools and platforms required for clinical CAR T-cell production. In fact, simplification of manufacturing processes, enhancement of manufacturing robustness, and design of automated systems might contribute to a greater production scale and increased cost-effectiveness [54, 89].

31.2.3.4 Determining the Dose of CAR T Cells

There has been no consensus about the dosage of CAR T-cell therapies. CAR T-cell dose could potentially affect the immune-mediated adverse events following CAR T-cell infusion. CAR T cells can be administered in different routes, including intravenous, intratumoral, intracranial, intraperitoneal, hepatic artery, pleural, and transcatheter arterial infusion [90–94]. CAR T-cell dose is typically split to multiple injections (e.g., three injections each day apart) in order to reduce the probability of adverse effects and increase the treatment tolerabil-

ity [43]. Generally, the total dose of CAR T cells is between 7.5×10^7 and 3.4×10^8 , yet it is common in clinical trials to apply a dose-escalation regime both inter- and intra-patiently. Regardless of the total dose, the number of infused CAR T cells is dependent on the percentage of CAR-positive T-cell. It has been revealed that this percentage is significantly variable in different trials and also within a specific trial. Overall, there have been various routes and dosages for CAR T cells in different clinical trials.

31.3 Immunological Hurdles Restricting the Efficiency of Antitumor Cytolytic T Cells

Indeed, T-cell-based immunotherapies demonstrate impressive results in targeting cancer cells. However, several hurdles make a barrier to achieve a successful immunotherapy. T-cellbased immunotherapy needs to address these hurdles to achieve the maximum efficiency that is expected [95]. To achieve a successful T-cell response against tumor, different strategies should be implemented, including the following: (1) optimizing the level of T-cell activation by using altered peptides or novel antigens; (2) blocking immunosuppressive cell and factors, (3) maintaining the activity of T cells with high number by homeostatic cytokines such as IL-7, IL-15, and IL-21; (4) accessibility of T-helper cells; and (5) avoiding T-cell overstimulation [96].

31.3.1 Self-Nature of Most Tumor Antigens

Cancer arises from normal host cells rather than exogenous pathogens. Therefore, the antigens that are recognized by the immune system in this disease are self-molecules or mutated self-molecules. The immune system is considered to ignore the self-molecules to suppress autoimmunity development. Therefore, most antigenic variations that occur in tumor cells are incapable of recruiting immune system reactions, representing an important hurdle in cancer immunotherapies.

Proto-oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes are normal cellular genes that play an important role in carcinogenesis. Loss of expression of these genes is poor immunogens: thus, they can hide from immune system detection. On the other hand, tumor cells express weak self-antigen to escape from T-cell-based immunity [60]. The possible mechanisms to evade recognition by host T cells are (a) a low level of host T cells against the self-antigen; (b) the tolerance of immune system toward T cells; or (c) low affinity between self-peptide and host MHC molecule, resulting in no response of naive T cells against antigen-positive tumor cells [97].

Enhancing the affinity between antigen and MHC-I could solve the issue regarding the low affinity of T-cell against weak self-antigens. A transgenic mouse, which expresses both human T-cell receptor (TCR) chains in T cells and human MHC-I domains, showed that a single amino acid substitution could cause a sixfold increase in the affinity of the peptide for MHC-I molecules, activating naive host T cells. However, the wild-type forms have a very low affinity with no activation of naive T cells. This study demonstrated that increasing the affinity of the interaction between a self-antigen and the MHC-I molecule may result in immune response and tumor regression [62].

31.3.2 Low Levels of Costimulation

A proper and functional T-cell-mediated immune response is not only governed with the interaction between MHC molecules and TCR, but also costimulatory and coinhibitory receptors are required for T-cell full function. An intact costimulation signal is necessary for an appropriate immune response against tumor. In fact, tumor cells could escape from the immune system responses through reduced expression of costimulatory molecules. A defective costimulatory signal in the tumor microenvironment can cause T-cell anergy, thereby limiting antitumor immune response and efficiency of immunotherapy [98].

The two major costimulatory molecules involved in T-cell activity belong to the B7/CD28 family and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)/tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) family. B7/CD28 costimulatory factor triggers the T-cell immune response in the early phase. However, the TNF/ TNFR costimulatory molecule is induced within hours to a week after TCR engagement, involving in late-phase response [64].

CD28 receptors provide costimulatory signals, which are essential for T-cell function and activity upon interaction with B7-1 and B7-2 ligands that are expressed on APCs. After T-cell activation, cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) receptors are constitutively expressed on T cells, inhibiting excessive activation of T cells. The lack of CD28:B7 signal interaction, which is particularly prominent in some tumors, results in T-cell anergic and immune evasion [99]. Preclinical studies reported that increasing the B7 expression on tumor cells could improve the efficiency of T-cell response. However, B7-1 and B7-2 also bind CTLA-4 with higher affinity than CD28. Thus, vaccine B7 might have the opposite result, limiting T-cell immunity [100].

CD40/CD40L is TNF:TNFR costimulatory molecule; CD40 is expressed in many immune cell types and interacts with CD40L on activated T and B cells [101, 102]. CD40/CD40L interaction induces the production of cytokines and costimulatory factors that are involved in the activation and differentiation of T cells [103]. Moreover, CD40 plays a crucial role in dendritic cell (DC) maturation, triggering effective cellmediated immunity against tumor. However, a low level of CD40 expression on DC was observed in tumoral models, suggesting a new strategy for tumor cells to escape from immune response and inhibiting successful immunotherapy. Combination immunotherapy approaches could address these major concerns, providing meaningful clinical improvement [104–106].

31.3.3 Immune Regulatory Cells

The tumor microenvironment plays a major role in restricting immunotherapy efficiencies. Tumor-specific T cell, which is activated by active immunization or adoptive transfer, must be able to remain active in the immunosuppressive microenvironment of the tumor. Unfortunately, tumor cells harnessed the immune regulatory mechanisms, which are involved in self-antigen tolerance, to escape from immune destruction. Regulatory T cells (Tregs), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), and immune checkpoint receptors are the main immune regulatory cells that are involved in preventing autoimmune disease. However, accumulation of these regulator cells has been observed in the tumor microenvironment, resulting in limiting the efficiency of immunotherapy, thus accelerating tumor progression (Fig. 31.2) [107].

31.3.3.1 Immunosuppression Activity of CD4+ Suppressor Cells

CD4+ Tregs are modulators of the immune system, rolling in the maintenance of peripheral tolerance in addition to suppressing the proliferation and excessive activation of effector T cells. It seems that CD4+ Tregs are recruited to the microenvironments of many tumors, associated with tumor progression and a poor prognosis [107].

The following are strategies to utilize CD4+ Tregs to suppress immune system activity against tumor [108]:

- Inhibiting effector T-cell activation through cell-cell contact; expressing a high level of death receptors such as CTLA-4 and glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor (GITR)
- Inhibiting effector T-cell activation through releasing immunosuppressive cytokines (TGF-β, IL10, and IL35), indoleamine 2, 3 dioxygenase (IDO), granzyme B, and adenosine
- 3. Suppressing the antigen-specific priming of naive T cells.
- 4. Developing immature effector T cell through interfering with the function of APCs

Targeting tumor-induced CD4+ Tregs fosters immune response against tumor cells as well as breaks the barrier to successful immunotherapy. Treating with anti-CCR4 and anti-CD56 is a preferred alternative approach in suppressing and eliminating tumor-induced CD4+ Tregs [107].

31.3.3.2 Immunosuppression Activity of CD8+ Suppressor Cells

In contrast to CD4+ Tregs, the role of CD8+ Treg cells in cancer has not been investigated



Fig. 31.2 Specific hurdles related to the presence of immune regulatory cells in the microenvironment of tumor, involved in the suppression of CTL-based immune response and limiting the efficiency of immunotherapy. MDSC, myeloid-derived suppressor cells; CTL, cytotoxic T cell; Treg, T regulatory; CTLA-4, cytotoxic

T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4; PDL-1, programmed death-ligand 1; CD, cluster of differentiation), TGF- β , transforming growth factor beta; IFN- γ , interferon gamma; IL, interleukins); MMP 9, matrix metalloproteinases 9; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor

extensively. Both CD8+ and CD4+ Tregs express high levels of forkhead box P3 (FOXP3) and CTLA-4 as their major characteristic markers. However, in contrast to CD4+ Tregs, expression of CD28 is partially dispensable in CD8+ cells, which is at least partially due to low production of Il-2 [109]. The limited number of studies revealed high accumulation of CD8+ Treg cells (CD8+ CD25+Foxp3+, CD25+CD122+Foxp3+, and CD8+CD28) in the tumor microenvironment [110–112], which cause suppression of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) immune response in a CTLA-4- and TGF- β 1-dependent manner [109].

In colorectal cancer, CD8+FOXP3+ Tregs can inhibit the proliferation of T cells and secretion of interferon-gamma (IFN- γ). Similarly, in coculture with ovarian tumor cell lines, CD8+ effector T cells converted into CD8+FOXP3+ Tregs suppressed T-cell proliferation. Moreover, a positive association between CD8+ Tregs infiltration and progression of disease in patients with ovarian cancer has been reported.

Although CD8+ Treg cells are a small population of CD8+ T cells, obstructing CD8+ Treg cells could potentially enhance immune response and the efficacy of immune-based therapies.

31.3.3.3 Immunosuppression Activity of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells

MDSC are a heterogeneous population of immature myeloid cells that usually differentiate into DC or macrophages. However, during malignancy, they migrate toward tumor microenvironment, remain immature, and cause immune system suppression. MDSCs secrete different immunosuppressive components such as arginase-1 (Arg-1), reactive oxygen species (ROS), nitric oxide (NO), and cytokines (IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α). Moreover, MDSCs induce Tregs and require suppressive tumor-associated macrophages (TAM) to the tumor microenvironment. Target depletion of MDSCs in animal model studies could facilitate CTL-mediated tumor cell killing, highlighting the role of MDSCs in immune evasion and tumor progression [113].

IDO expression is responsible for recurring MDSCs toward tumor microenvironment. Moreover, IDO has a critical role in suppressing T-cell activation through the deprivation of tryptophan. Therefore, IDO can be a potential target for cancer therapy in inhibiting MDSC migration, promoting T-cell activity, and thereby maximizing the efficacy of immune-based therapies.

There are other major strategies for targeting MDSCs in cancer [114], including (1) blocking MDSC differentiation and recruitment, (2) inhibiting activation of MDSC, (3) MDSC depletion, (4) using cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2) and phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE-5) inhibitor to obstruct MDSC immunosuppressive functions [115, 116].

31.3.3.4 IL-13 Secreting Natural Killer T (NKT) Cells

NKT cells are a distinct T-cell population that comprises the characteristics of both T cells and natural killer cells. NKT cells develop under the restriction of the CD1-d molecule [117]. CD4+ NKT cells produce a high level of IL-13, which plays an important role in supthe pressing immunosurveillance through IL-4R-STAT6 pathway. The lack of NKT cell in CD1-deficient mice results in reduced IL-13 secretion and thereby increase the CTL-based immune response against tumor. It is worth mentioning that the secreted IL-13 by NKT cells is not able to bind to the T cells itself. IL-13 interacts with IL-4Rα–IL-13R receptor via STAT6 pathway on other immune cells such as dendritic cells, to limit the CTL function and thereby downregulate immunosurveillance. In animal model studies, IL-13Ra2Fc causes tumor regression, introducing IL-13 inhibitors as a novel target therapy in cancer immunotherapy [118].

31.3.4 T-Cell Allergic Through Induction of Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase

Indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase (IDO) is an intracellular enzyme that mediates the tryptophan degradation in immune cells. In T-cell-related immune response, IFN causes IDO expression on the surface of macrophage, resulting in catabolizing of tryptophan. Tryptophan is an important molecule for the proliferation and activation of T cells; therefore, depletion of tryptophan by IDO could cause T-cell tolerance and T-cell apoptosis and substantially limit T-cell activity against tumor cells [119].

The tolerogenic effect of IDO has been extensively reviewed elsewhere. In animal model studies, IDO expression could limit the ability of immunogenic mice to reject tumor cells. Moreover, IDO expression is associated with CTLA-4; a high level of CTLA-4 could upregulate IDO in dendritic cells [120].

IDO can interfere with the immune checkpoint inhibitor CTLA-4 treatment (ipilimumab). Mice bearing B16 melanoma did not respond positively to CTLA-4 therapy alone. However, they respond more in combination therapy of CTLA-4 and IDO inhibitor 1-methyltryptophan (1MT) [121]. A similar finding was observed in anti-programmed death-1 (PD-1) treatment. Negative IDO mice with B16 melanoma have better response and improved survival to an immune checkpoint inhibitor.

Some studies reveal that a combination treatment of radiotherapy and CpG oligodeoxynucleotide (a toll-like receptor 9 agonist) could increase IDO expression, resulting in the suppression of the immune system. However, adding D-1MT to the treatment regime could limit IDO activity and significantly decrease tumor progression [121, 122].

The combination therapy of IDO inhibitors with other treatments could increase the efficiency of immunotherapy. Epacadostat and indoximod are two major IDO inhibitors, which are under study in clinical trials. However, significant side effects were reported which need critical management [123, 124].

31.3.5 Exhaustion of T-Cells

In cancer, T cells can be overstimulated due to persistently high levels of antigens [125, 126]. In this condition, which is known as a state of exhaustion, T cells lose their ability to fight cancer and clear the tumor cells. In physiological conditions, T-cell exhaustion protects the host from immunopathology. However, exhausted T cells during cancer express several inhibitory immune receptors such as CTLA-4, PD-1, T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3 (TIM-3), and lymphocyte-activation gene 3 (LAG-3); they also suppress the effector cytokines necessary in immune response against tumor. Establishing new strategies by blocking these immunosuppressive markers could rescue T-cell exhaustion [127].

31.3.5.1 Inhibitory Checkpoints Associated with T-Cell Exhaustion

The coinhibitory molecules such as programmed death-ligand 1 (PDL-1) and CTLA-4 are expressed on tumor cells and immune regulatory cells, which interact with their receptors on activated T cells to cause T-cell exhaustion and prevent the formation of immune memory. The expression of inhibitory checkpoints is associated with immunosuppression, tumor progression, and thereby poor survival. In recent years, therapeutic targeting of checkpoint inhibitors showed impressive results in better survival and durable remission. However, failure of this immunotherapy has been observed in other trials [128].

After immune checkpoint blockade, T-cell activation and clonal proliferation are required in the tumor microenvironment [129, 130]. Moreover, a group of effector T cells should differentiate into memory T cells to perform long-term response against tumor antigens. Deficiency in any of these steps can result in cancer progression and resistance to inhibitor checkpoints. The defective pathways could be categorized into three main groups, including (1) insufficient generation of antitumor T cells, (2) inadequate func-

tion of tumor-specific T cells [131, 132], or (3) impaired formation of T-cell memory [129, 130]. Combination therapies are recommended to overcome resistance. For instance, in vivo studies in liver cancer reported that virotherapy using oncolytic viruses could mediate the systemic resistance to PD-1 immunotherapy; therefore, combining immune checkpoints with oncolytic viruses could be a more efficient target therapy in T-cell activation [133].

31.3.6 Mechanisms of Tumor Evasion in Late Stages of Tumor Development

In the early stages of cancer, tumor cells can be efficiently eradicated when exposed to T cells. However, in advanced stages, T cells ignore tumor cells, resulting in tumor escape and metastasis. Escaping from the effector mechanisms of the immune system leads to tumor progression, poor survival rate, and reduction in the efficacy of immunotherapy. Tumor cells have evolved several mechanisms, which influence both tumor cells itself or the host immune system to evade from immune response [134] (Table 31.1).

First, tumor cells try to remain concealed from immune detection through the impairment of antigen-presenting pathways. But if the immune system detects the tumor antigens, the tumor may proceed to adopt mechanisms in suppressing immune system response. A combination of factors such as the production of inhibitory cytokines and soluble factors, expression of inhibitory markers, and conversion of cellular infiltrates into tolerizing cells contribute to immune system evasion. Moreover, some tumor cells acquire apoptosis resistance through different strategies, and some cause the immune system to act against itself. All these immune escape mechanisms inhibit tumor regression and the effectiveness of immunotherapy [135].

Therefore, combinational immunotherapies are required to neutralize the different escape mechanisms of tumor cells and break the barriers to achieve successful immunotherapy.

Immune escape mechanisms related to the host	
immune system	Immune escape mechanisms related to the tumor cells
Insufficient accessibility to T-helper cells	Tumor cannot activate quiescent precursors
Inadequate level of antitumor T cells	Low immunogenicity due to low expression of tumor antigen
Insufficient avidity of T cells for tumor	Lack or low expression of HLA
T-cell exhaustion and T-cell anergy	Producing immunosuppressive factors
Downregulation of TCR signal	Resistant to apoptosis pathways
Apoptosis of T cells in the presence of tumor	
Improper T-cell function	
Inability to infiltrate into the stroma	
Presence of immune regulatory cells in the	
tumor microenvironment	

Table 31.1 Possible mechanisms adopted by tumor cells to escape from immune system response

TCR T-cell receptor, HLA human leukocyte antigen

31.4 Immunoediting

Cancer immunoediting refers to the adapted changes in the immunogenicity of tumor cells, to survive and escape from the immune system. In the late stages, tumor cells undergo Darwinian-like selection to gain different evasive mechanisms to block T-cell reactivity and promote tumor progress and metastasis [131].

Cancer immunoediting has three fundamental phases called elimination, equilibrium, and escape [136, 137]. In the elimination phase, known as immunosurveillance, the cooperation of innate and adaptive immunity can eliminate cancerous cells before they manifest clinically. In the elimination phase, high levels of immuneactivator factors such as perforin, granzymes, first apoptosis signal (Fas) and TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) receptor, IFN- $\alpha/\beta/\gamma$, TNF- α , IL-1, and IL-12 in the tumor microenvironment could skew the immune system toward tumor eradication. If this step is successful, the tumor will be eradicated. But if cancer cells remain immunogenic, it may then enter the equilibrium phase. In this phase, new variants with various mutations are emerged and may last for many years. In this phase, immunological mechanisms try to prevent the outgrowth of tumor through adaptive immunity only. T cells, IL-12, and IFN- γ are the main players in this phase, whereas NK cells and other innate immunity components are not involved in this phase. Due to constant immune selection pressure, tumor cells continue to grow and enter the scape phase and eventually lead to malignancies. Various genetic and epigenetic changes in the immunoediting process could finally break the immune defenses and manifest clinically apparent disease. In the escape phase, adaptive immunity cannot recognize the tumor cells anymore; tumor cells become resistant to immune effector mechanisms and provide an immunosuppressive state. Different evasive mechanisms such as downregulation of costimulatory molecules, the lack or downregulation expression of MHC-I components, and suppressive microenvironment are determined to evade the immune system and immunotherapy [137, 138].

31.5 Tumor Resistance

Resistance of tumor to several antitumor mechanisms of the immune system could provide an escape route for tumor cells. Moreover, it can significantly affect the outcome of immunotherapy. The following mechanisms are defined to help tumor cells to escape from immune system and immunotherapy.

31.5.1 Defective Death Receptor Expression or Signaling

T cells and NK cells are two primary immune system cells that able to induce tumor-cell apoptosis upon death receptor pathways [139]. Lymphocytes express the death ligand FASL (CD95) on the cell surface, which triggers cytolytic T-cell-mediated death upon interaction with death receptors FAS on the target cell [140]. In NK-cell-mediated death, the TRAIL ligand/ receptor interactions play an important role [141]. The death receptors are members of the TNF receptor superfamily that contain an intracellular domain called as "death domain" (DD). The death domain is essential to induce tumorcell lysis through the activation of caspase cascade pathways [142].

Tumor cells acquire apoptotic resistance and immunosurveillance evasion through different strategies. One strategy is the overexpression of antiapoptotic molecules such as FLIP_{LS}, which can interfere with death receptor pathways and contribute to escape from T-cell-mediated immune response [143, 144]. Overexpression of FLIP_{L.S.} has been observed in human melanomas and Burkitt's lymphoma cell lines [145]. Moreover, upregulation of B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) expression is also associated with tumor resistance. However, its contribution to the immune system's escape is not clear, yet. In vivo and in vitro studies reported that Bcl-2 expression confers resistance to FasL and other apoptosis stimuli [146–148].

Another strategy that inhibits the death receptor-mediated apoptosis is the expression of soluble receptors that neutralize or impair death ligands. Soluble CD95 (sCD95) and decoy receptor 3 (DcR3) are the only two discovered soluble receptors, which inhibit the CD95 signaling pathway.

Loss of CD95 or TRAIL, as proapoptotic molecules, is another approach in death-resistant tumors. Oncogenic Ras and p53 aberration may contribute to this deficiency [149, 150].

31.5.2 Resistance to Perforin and the Granzyme B Pathway

The granule exocytosis pathway is another mechanism employed by the immune system to lyse tumor cells [139]. Granzyme B and perforin are two compounds secreted by NK and T cells to induce tumor cell apoptosis. Tumor cells employ different strategies to interfere with the perforin/ granzyme pathway and thereby inhibit cell death, evade the immune system, and finally influence immunotherapies [151].

The major mechanism involves PI-9/SPI-6, a serine protease inhibitor that prevents granzyme B expression. Overexpression of PI-9/SPI-6 has been observed in different human and murine tumors. Another mechanism related to the perforin/granzyme pathway is an inappropriate interaction of perforin with the tumor cell membrane. Acute myeloid leukemia cells that are not able to bind perforin are completely resistant to NK-cell-mediated immune response [152, 153].

Overall, employing different mechanisms by tumor cells not only inhibits death receptor and granule exocytosis apoptosis but also limits the outcome of immunotherapies.

31.5.3 Genetic Instability as a Consequence of Malignant Transformation

Tumor cells are more genetically unstable compared to the normal cells. Genomic instability causes altered expression levels or mutation in cell-death-associated genes, rendering them elusive targets. Cancer cells usually employ different strategies related to genetic instability to evade immune response and immunotherapy [154].

31.5.4 Resistance to Apoptosis by Loss of Proapoptotic Regulator

31.5.4.1 P53 Expression

Mutation in tumor suppressor gene *TP53* is the most common form of loss of proapoptotic regulator in tumor cells. The wild-type of p53 (wtp53) activates several genes involved in cell proliferation, DNA repair, and cell death, thereby protecting cells from apoptosis in the context of genotoxic stress. Furthermore, there is evidence for the critical role of p53 in the immune system, specifically in the CTL-mediated immune response. P53 directly affects the antigen presentation via MHC-I by controlling critical genes

involved in the MHC-I generation, such as the transporter associated with antigen processing 1 (TAP1) and endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidase 1 (ERAP1). Moreover, p53 is involved in the costimulatory signal formation, which is required for CTL activation. P53 reduces the expression of PDL-1 through the upregulation of microRNA, miR34, resulting in an appropriate immune response to cancer. Moreover, p53 increases the expression of Fas/APO-1 in tumor cells, which causes Fas/FasL-mediated apoptosis [155].

According to the function of p53 in migration and activation of CTL cells, a mutation in the p53 implicates tumor resistance to CTL immune response and immunotherapy. CTL-based immunotherapy could benefit more by restoring the wtp53 function in tumor cells [156].

31.5.4.2 Phosphatase and Tensin Homology Expression

Phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) acts as a tumor suppressor gene, and its mutation results in tumorigenesis of many cancer types as well as resistance to immunotherapies [122]. PTEN has been shown to decrease cell proliferation and survival by regulating intracellular phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) signaling pathways. Therefore, the lack of PTEN expression accelerates tumor growth and increased tumor cell survival. In addition, tumors cells with defective PTEN are poorly immunogenic. Studies conducted on glioblastoma demonstrated that T-cell activity in lysing tumor cells decreases in PTEN-negative tumors, which was correlated with the upregulation of the B7-H1 cell receptor. Moreover, PTEN mutation could interfere with checkpoint immunotherapy in different cancers and affect the overall outcome of the treatment. The mechanism behind such resistance is not well defined yet. However, it was proposed that the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as the chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 (CCL2) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in PTEN-negative tumors contribute to reducing T-cell infiltration and substantially resistant to immunotherapies [157]. In vivo studies reported that transfecting PTEN mutant cells with the wild-type PTEN could facilitate T-cell function in killing tumor cells, making PTEN as a proper adjuvant target therapy in future immunotherapy.

31.5.4.3 Wnt-β-Catenin Pathway

The Wnt-β-catenin pathway has a major role in tumor resistance to immunotherapies. Wntreceptor interaction promotes the transcription and accumulation of intracellular β -catenin, which inhibits dendritic cell recruitment toward tumor microenvironment, thereby suppressing T-cell infiltration. The mechanism behind is related to the low production of chemokine CCL4 due to Wnt– β -catenin activation [158]. CCL4 as a critical chemoattractant for DC, NK cells, and other cells of the immune system could improve response to immunotherapy, including ipilimumab, in melanoma [159]. In contrast, the lack of CCL4 causes resistance to immunotherapy by the inhibition of antigen presentation and T-cell stimulation by dendritic cells.

31.5.5 Dual Role of CTLs: Attacking Tumor Cells and Selection of Resistant Variants

CD8+ T cells are a major population of T cells and have a prominent role in inducing immune response against tumor. CTLs are MHC-I restricted that trigger the cytolytic killing of tumor cells. The positive association between the number of CTLs at the tumor site and a better prognosis has been reported in different studies [160]. However, tumor cells employ various strategies to stay alive and escape CTL-based immune response [161]. Despite the presence of tumor-associated antigens, which is required for CTL lysis function, tumor eradication by the immune system is often ineffective. In the concept of immunoediting, the immune system is developed to protect the body against tumor development, but on the other hand, it could sculpt the immunogenic phenotype of a developing tumor and resistant tumor cell variants [162]. Development of several malignancies in the presence of an intact immune system indicates the variant selective pressure utilized by the host immune system [162].

31.5.6 Actin Cytoskeleton

Actin cytoskeleton regulates the crucial process in cellular morphology, cellular movement, and cytokinesis. Studies reported that morphological changes related to the actin cytoskeleton might affect tumor cell susceptibility to cytotoxic treatments and evasion from the immune system. Moreover, the actin cytoskeleton plays a crucial role in NK-cell-mediated tumor lysis. NK cells are able to kill cancer cells through direct interaction with MHC-1 and release of various lytic granule contents. A well-defined structure called an immunological synapse (IS) between the immune system and tumor cells is essential for NK-cell-mediated immune response. The IS formation is due to the rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton within NK cells. On the other hand, the actin cytoskeleton of tumor cells undergoes extensive remodeling, enabling tumor cells to escape from NK-cell-mediated cell lysis [163].

31.5.7 Events in Antigen Processing

The clinical efficacy of T-cell-based immunotherapy depends on the proper presentation of tumor-associated peptides by human leukocyte antigen class I (HLA-I) complex. Downregulation of HLA-I is associated with a poor prognosis in some cancer and resistance to some immunotherapies. The MHC-I molecule is a heterodimeric transmembrane glycoprotein that consists of two polypeptide chains, α - and β 2-microglobulin $(\beta 2m)$. MHC-I triggers CTL-mediated immune response by presenting non-self-peptides to CTLs at the cell surface [164]. The formation of stable MHC-I is depended on the integrity of three essential pathways: (1) degrading the intracellular proteins into small peptides by the proteasome, (2) transporting the small peptides into the endoplasmic reticulum by intracellular peptide transport, and (3) loading the peptides to the nascent MHC and transporting to the cell surface [165]. Deficiencies in any components of the MHC-I antigen-processing pathway could affect their interaction with CTL, resulting in tumorigenesis, cancer progression, or resistance to cancer immunotherapies.

31.5.7.1 Impaired Proteasomal Mechanisms

In the MHC-I antigen-processing pathway, intracellular proteins are sent to the proteasome to be degraded into small peptides. The proteasome is a multimeric proteolytic complex that consists of 28 subunits, with subunits 61, 62, and 65 being responsible for the catalytic action. Recent studies indicated that a variety of stimuli such as IFN γ and TNF alter these subunits with LMP-2 (61i), LMP-10 (62i, MELC 1), and LMP-7 (65i), which form the so-called immunoproteasome [166]. The cleavage preference of immunoproteasome is different from proteasome, creating a different array of antigenic peptides. Recently, various studies reported the association between alteration in different subunits of proteasome and risk of different cancers. The lack of constitutive subunits δ , Z, and MB1 and the immunoproteasome subunits LMP2 and LMP10 were observed in premalignant and malignant multiple myeloma and breast cancer that was associated with a poor prognosis in some cancers. Moreover, it may contribute to limiting current immunotherapies by escaping through antigen loss and CTL lysis evasion [167].

31.5.7.2 Deranged Intracellular Peptide Transport

In the MHC-I antigen-processing pathway, transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP) delivers the small-peptide from proteasomes to the endoplasmic reticulum, where they bind to nascent MHC-I molecule. TAP is an ATP-dependent heterodimer that consists of two subunits TAP1 and TAP2. Many alterations in TAP subunits fail to transport peptides into the endoplasmic reticulum resulting in reducing the expression of MHC-I and subsequently disrupt the interaction between MHC-I and TCR [168].

The other side of the coin indicates that a low level of MHC-I expression due to TAP deficiency could increase the susceptibility of tumor cells to be killed by NK cells. NK cells recognize MHC-I molecules on target cells and are activated when the expression of MHC-I molecules declines. Therefore, in vivo studies demonstrated that the deficiency of TAP in lymphoma cell line makes them highly susceptible to NK cells and decreases their tumorigenicity [169].

31.5.7.3 Loss of β2-Microglobulin Protein Function

A proper immune response against tumor cells and a successful cancer immunotherapy depend on the recognition of the HLA-I on tumor cells with TCR on CTL cells. β 2m is a major component of MHC-I molecule that mutation in β 2m gene causes the lack or reduced expression of HLA molecules in different types of cancer. Immunotherapy usually increases the expression of HLA, unless the tumor cells have a structural genetic defect, such as β 2m mutation. Deficiency in β 2m destructs HLA-I formation, leading to cancer immune escape and decreasing the efficiency of immunotherapy [170].

31.5.8 Safety Concerns

31.5.9 Toxicities Related to CAR T-Cell Therapy

Serious toxicities and side effects are some of the major drawbacks of conventional cytotoxic agents [171]. A growing body of literature provides evidences of toxicity related to immunotherapy as well. In recent years, CAR T-cell therapy has shown an impressive clinical benefit; however, several deaths and major complications have been reported as well that have been attributed to a variety of toxicities that appear during treatment (Table 31.2).

Three possible causes contributing to the toxicity of CAR T cells have been reported [172]. The most common CAR T-cell toxicity is ontarget, on-tumor toxicity related to the effects of binding CAR to the tumor antigen.

Cytokine release syndrome (CRS) is a potentially life-threatening on-target, on-tumor toxicity that appears after a large and rapid release of cytokines into the bloodstream. Symptoms include fever, nausea, rash, headache, chills, hypotension, and tachycardia. It is believed that II-6, II-10, and IFN γ cytokines are the major players in CRS-related symptoms [173].

In most cases, the symptoms could be rapidly alleviated by the systemic administration of corticosteroid [68, 174]. However, corticosteroid could limit the antitumoral effect of therapy through the ablation of the infused CAR T cells [68]. An appropriate alternative treatment is limiting the cytokine action by directly blocking the cytokine receptors. For example, treatment with IL-6 receptor-blocking antibody (tocilizumab) could overcome CRS complications without effecting CAR T-cell persistence [68, 175].

Tumor lysis syndrome (TLS) is another form of on-target, on-tumor toxicity that appears when cancer cells discharge their contents into the bloodstream. During rapid tumor cell death, several metabolic disorders such as hyperuricemia, hyperphosphatemia, hypocalcemia, and hyperkalemia may occur that required timely and proper management [176]. At least four different trials in various hematological malignancies reported TLS during their studies [175, 177–179]. The best approach to address risk stratification for TLS is reducing the size of tumor by other types of treatment before CAR T-cell therapy or controlling the amount of infused CAR T-cells.

Several neurological toxicities were reported in CD19-CAR trials. Neurotoxicity caused by cerebral edemas is a fatal toxicity responsible for several death cases. Moreover, reversible complications related to neurotoxicities such as delirium, encephalopathy confusion, expressive aphasia, and seizures were observed in patients receiving CD19-directed therapy. However, it is not yet clear whether neurological toxicities are specifically related to CD19 CAR T cells or CAR T-cell therapy in general [180].

The second major challenge in CAR T-cell therapy is on-target, off-tumor toxicity. CAR T

Adoptive therapy	Type of toxicity	Management
CAR T-cell therapy	Cytokine release syndrome	 Corticosteroid therapy Blocking the cytokine receptors (e.g., tocilizumab)
CAR T-cell therapy	Tumor lysis syndrome	 Reducing the size of tumor before CAR T-cell therapy Controlling the amount of infused CAR T cells
CAR T-cell therapy	Neurotoxicity	Steroid therapy
CAR T-cell therapy	B-cell aplasia	 Reducing the dose of the T cells Using the second- instead of third-generation CARs
CAR T-cell therapy	Respiratory failure	Steroid therapy
CAR T-cell therapy	Risk of cancer in the transduction of retroviral and lentiviral	Suicide genes such as HSV-TK, iCasp9, and CD20
Immune checkpoint inhibitors	Thyroid gland disorders	Hypothyroidism: substitution with thyroid hormone Hyperthyroidism: treatment with beta-blocker
Immune checkpoint inhibitors	Hypophysitis	 Treatment should be interrupted in any grade 2 or higher Hormone replacement therapy Steroid therapy
Immune checkpoint inhibitors	Gastrointestinal toxicity	 Low grade: antidiarrheals and fluid and electrolyte supplementation High grade: discontinue treatment and receive systemic corticosteroids
Immune checkpoint inhibitors	Pneumonitis	Immunosuppressive treatment
Immune checkpoint inhibitors	Cardiac toxicity	Corticosteroids therapy
Immune checkpoint inhibitors	Neurotoxicity	 Steroid therapy Myasthenia and Guillain-Barre syndrome: plasmapheresis or i.v. immunoglobulin (Ig)
TCR-modified T-cell therapy	TCR mispairing	 Utilizing murinised TCRs Inserting point mutations into the α- and β-chain C domains Removing or reducing endogenous TCR chain expression
TCR-modified T-cell therapy	Risk of cancer in the transduction of retroviral and lentiviral	Suicide genes such as HSV-TK, iCasp9, and CD20

Table 31.2 The management of adverse events related to the adoptive therapy

CAR chimeric antigen receptors, TCR T-cell receptor, HSV-TK herpes simplex thymidine kinase, iCasp9 inducible caspase 9, CD cluster of differentiation

cells target the antigens that are expressed on normal cells in addition to malignant cells, which may cause healthy cells to be destroyed, and thereby limit the clinical approaches. The most severe case of on-target, off-target toxicity was reported in a trial targeting ErbB2 in lung carcinoma patients. Due to the expression of ErbB2 on normal lung cells, one patient died from respiratory failure and multi-organ dysfunction [181].

In CAR T-cell therapy for B-cell lymphoma, B-cell aplasia is a common adverse event that ranged from manageable lineage depletion to severe long-lasting toxicity [177, 182]. The CD19 and CD20 as common target antigens are present on normal B cells as well as cancerous cells leading to normal cell death and B-cell depletion. To avoid this type of toxicity, it is recommended to reduce the dose of the T cells and using the second instead of third-generation CARs [183].

The third potential side effect of CAR T-cell toxicity is related to the response of non-CAR T cells to the therapy [184]. The transduction of retroviral and lentiviral may pose the potential to

insert and enhance dormant oncogenes. To avoid this, suicide genes are a more preferred alternative approach that causes tumor cell to kill itself through apoptosis. The most commonly used suicide genes are herpes simplex thymidine kinase (HSV-TK), inducible caspase 9 (iCasp9), and CD20 [185, 186]. However, they can also result in the destruction of the modified T cells.

31.5.10 Toxicities Related to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

There needs to be a balance between the efficacy of a novel drug and a manageable safety profile. Despite astonishing clinical results of the immune checkpoint inhibitors in overcoming the tumor immunosuppressive signals, there are several toxicities (Table 31.2) [187].

Immune checkpoint inhibitors are largely cancer cell-specific. However, they could destroy other normal tissues and organs, where a high level of lymphocyte exists for controlling tolerance toward self-antigens. The drug-mediated hyperactivation of the immune system is no longer able to discriminate between neoplastic and normal cells, causing "auto-inflammatory" conditions known as immune-related adverse events (irAEs) [188].

The irAEs usually appear early in the treatment course, mostly within weeks to 3 months after the beginning of immune checkpoint therapy. Any organ or tissue can be involved, but the skin is the most commonly involved site in either CTLA4 (ipilimumab in 43–45% of the patients) or PD-1 (nivolumab and pembrolizumab in 34%) [189–192].

The other most frequently occurring irAEs are hypophysitis, hepatotoxicity, pneumonitis, neurological toxicity, rheumatological toxicity, renal toxicity, gastrointestinal toxicity, pneumonitis, and cardiac toxicity.

Moreover, animal and human models suggest that overactivation of T cells by immune checkpoint inhibitors could recruit autoreactive T cells and break the tolerance of self-antigens, resulting in autoimmunity. Several T-cell-associated autoimmune toxicities related to anti-CTLA-4 have been reported in preclinical models, including diabetes, colitis, and encephalomyelitis, highlighting the possible role of anti-CTLA-4 in the development of autoimmunity.

Anti-PD-L1 inhibitors appear to be safer compared to CTLA-4 inhibitors. The peripheral PD1/ PD-L1 checkpoint interaction is specified at the tumor site. However, CTLA4/B7 interaction occurs in lymphoid organs and involves many organs resulting in more toxicity.

31.5.10.1 Ipilimumab

Ipilimumab is a monoclonal antibody that enhances T-cell activity by blocking CTLA-4. It has been reported that 60–85% of patients received ipilimumab at a dose of 3 mg/kg suffer from irAEs, and 2.1% ipilimumab-related deaths have been reported in the first phase III trial. These toxicities are dose-dependent as 30% grade 3–4 irAEs have been reported in a dose of 10 mg/kg ipilimumab. However, no toxicities were observed at a dose of 0.3 mg/kg [188].

31.5.10.2 Nivolumab

Nivolumab is a fully human IgG4 monoclonal antibody targeting the immune-checkpoint PD-1. For nivolumab, any treatment-related irAEs were documented in 74–85% of patients for metastatic melanoma patients [188].

31.5.10.3 Pembrolizumab

Pembrolizumab (previously known as MK-3475 or lambrolizumab) is an IgG4 humanized monoclonal antibody that targets PD-1. irAEs were more frequent (23%) with the highest pembrolizumab dose (10 mg/kg every 2 weeks) than that reported with lower doses (4% and 9% for 10 mg/ kg every 3 weeks and 2 mg/kg every 3 weeks, respectively) [188].

Overall, the toxicity related to immune checkpoint inhibitors is mainly transient, and it could be controlled by temporary interruption of the treatment and administration of systemic steroid therapy (Table 31.2). Steroids are immunosuppressive agents that antagonize the pharmacologicalmediated hyperactivated immune system. However, steroids could limit the antitumoral activity of immune checkpoint inhibitors. Therefore, it is recommended that corticosteroid treatment should be avoided as long as possible but absolutely used when necessary.

31.5.11 Toxicities Related to TCR-Modified T-Cell Therapy

TCR-modified T-cell therapy showed many promising results in immunotherapy. However, major concerns related to this therapy exist. TCR mispairing between the transduced TCR and the patient endogenous TCR has proven to be an issue in TCR modifies T-cell therapy. This can increase the risk of generating autoreactive TCRs, which could react against peptides in normal cells in addition to malignant cells. To date, no toxicities associated with TCR mispairing have been reported in clinical trials. However, the preclinical studies demonstrated that TCR mispairing could reduce the interaction between cells and target peptide and substantially limit the functional properties of the genetically modified T cells. Moreover, it may increase the risk of autoimmunity due to the recognition of selfantigens [193].

Various strategies have been developed to minimize the TCR mispairing. Utilizing murine TCRs might be a preferable alternative option since related genes are more expressed in human T cells rather than human TCRs [194]. In this strategy, the constant domains in human TCR are substituted with murine sequences that result in preferential binding to each other rather than to the endogenous TCR. Another option is to insert point mutations into C domains of the α and β chains, which could improve specific pairing and limit TCR mispairing [195, 196]. Recently, an alternative strategy has attempted to minimize TCR mispairing by removing or reducing endogenous TCR chain expression [197, 198].

Another issue association with TCRmodified T-cell therapies is the transduction of retroviral and lentiviral which might pose a potential to insert and enhance dormant oncogenes. An alternative option is utilizing suicide genes that cause tumor cell to kill itself through apoptosis [193].

31.6 Hurdles of CAR T-Cell Cancer Immunotherapy in Solid Tumors

31.6.1 T-Cell Trafficking

Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TLS), which can be found in the tumor stroma and within the tumor itself, can effectively eradicate the tumor cell. Previous studies have reported that the numbers of TLS are associated with a better prognosis and better antitumor responses in various solid tumors [199–201].

CTL infiltration plays a major role in killing cancer cells and providing a favorable outcome in T-cell-based immunotherapies. CTL trafficking is a major matter that could be affected by several factors, including impairment of chemokinechemokine receptor, low expression of adhesion molecules, and abnormal vasculature [202]. Due to the hostile microenvironment of tumor, recruitment of CD8+ cell toward tumor cell is much more difficult compared to infectious disease. Therefore, new strategies are warranted to increase the level of CAR T cells into the tumor microenvironment.

In order to facilitate CAR T-cell trafficking, different strategies have been developed. One option is finding the best match chemokinechemokine receptors. Successful CTL trafficking toward tumor cells is dependent on the chemokine produced by tumor cells and its appropriate chemokine receptor on the T effector cells. In melanoma, tumor C-X-C chemokine receptor type 2 (CXCR2) can efficiently direct T cells toward tumor cells [203]. In CD30+ Hodgkin lymphoma, CCR4 improved the homing of CAR-CD30-modified T cells [204]. In neuroblastoma, high CCR2b expression plays a major role in recruiting CAR-GD2 T cells [205].

Another strategy utilizes the local delivery of CAR T cells instead of systemic administration. In head and neck carcinoma, delivering ErbBtargeted CAR T cells into local stromal of tumor is currently under phase 1 clinical trial evaluation [206]. Moreover, ovarian cancer and malignant pleural mesothelioma are the next candidates for local delivery because of their propensity for localized dissemination within peritoneal and pleural cavities.

31.6.2 T-Cell Infiltration

After appropriate accumulation of CAR T cells in the vicinity of the tumor, they infiltrate into the tumor mass and induce an effective antitumor response. For effective T-cell infiltration, different mechanisms should be considered such as adhesion of T cells to endothelial cells and chemokine-chemokine receptor interactions [207]. Some strategies have been suggested to enhance the T-cell infiltration and thereby the effectiveness of CAR T cells against tumor.

Engineered CAR T cells need to degrade heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs), a major component of ECM, in order to efficiently access the tumor. Caruana et al. have reported that CAR T cells, which express heparanase (which degrade HSPGs) are able to improve the T-cell infiltration and the immune response against tumor [208].

Moreover, the endothelin B receptor could inhibit proper infiltration of T cells in ovarian tumors; thus, blocking the endothelin B receptor could fascinate T-cell infiltration and thereby enhance the outcome of immunotherapy [209]. Another strategy to improve T-cell infiltration is blocking VEGF receptor-2, which is overexpressed by tumor-associated endothelial cells [202]. VEGF receptor-2 CAR T cells showed more antitumor effect, relating to high tumor infiltration rate.

31.6.3 Immunosuppressive Microenvironment

The microenvironment of solid tumors plays a critical role in suppressing the infiltration, activation, and effector activity of T cells and, thereby, restricting immunotherapy efficiencies. To have the maximum efficacy of immunotherapy, CAR T cells must withstand and remain active in the tumor microenvironment. Although CAR T cells can reduce tumor growth rate, they

are not able to induce tumor regression or cure. The CAR TILs will lose their cytotoxicity activity and cytokine secretion capacity. Several immune suppressor cells and components in the tumor microenvironment, such as immunosuppressive cytokines and inhibitory immune checkpoints, can reduce the ability of CAR T cells in tumor eradication [172].

31.6.3.1 Inhibitory Cytokines

Immune suppressive cytokines in the microenvironment of tumor are one of the major barriers in immunotherapy of solid tumors. TGF- β and IL-10 are the main cytokines involved in mediating the immune system through different mechanisms. TGF- β suppresses the activity of CTLs and skew CD4+ T-helper cells toward Treg development. A TGF-b receptor inhibitor designed in CAR T cells as well as protection of activating cytokines such as IL-2, IL-12, and IL-15 by engineered T cells could improve the efficiency of CAR T-cell therapies. IL-12 secretion could kill antigen-negative cancer cells that may escape from T-cell therapy and shift tumor microenvironment toward T-cell-based immune response. Moreover, engineered T cells IL-2 and IL-15 improve the antitumor effects of CAR T cells

31.6.3.2 Inhibitory Immuno-Checkpoints

There are several inhibitory immune checkpoints such as PD1, CTLA-4, B7-H family members, or FasL, which could suppress TIL function and activity. CAR T cells could be suppressed in the microenvironment through the interaction between PD1 and its ligand, PDL1. Upregulation of intrinsic T-cell inhibitory enzymes and expression of surface inhibitory receptors could reactive CAR T cells. Targeting inhibitor checkpoint combing with CAR T-cell therapy could increase overall survival in patients with melanoma, renal cancer, etc. and improve antitumor effects.

31.6.3.3 Immune Suppressor Cells

Solid tumors are usually infiltrated with several immune suppressor cells such as MDSCs, M2 tumor-associated macrophages, and Tregs. These suppressor cells provide and evade mechanisms for tumor cells to be protected against the antitumor activity of the immune system. Animal studies demonstrated that integrating costimulatory molecules CD28 into CARs might help CAR-modified T cells to overcome the suppressive properties of Treg cells in the tumor microenvironment.

Moreover, MDSCs restrict the efficiency of anti-carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) CAR T cells and increase in response to liver metastasis [210]. CAR T-cell efficacy was rescued when mice received CAR-T in combination with MDSC depletion. Tumor cells secrete high levels of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), which recruit MDSC toward the tumor microenvironment [211]. A combination of CAR T cells with neutralization of GM-CSF could be a more favorable alternative approach.

31.6.4 Toxicity

Several toxicities were reported during treatment with CAR T cells, making it a major challenge in CAR T-cell therapies. Three potently types of toxicity related to CAR T-cell therapies have been determined, which were described in detail before. The most common potential toxicity is on-target, on-tumor toxicity that is related to the effects of binding CAR to the tumor antigen resulting in CRS and TLS. The second major challenge is on-target, off-tumor toxicity, which involves CAR T cells binding normal cells in addition to malignant cells. It is related to target antigens that are expressed on both normal and malignant cells. The third potential side effect of CAR T-cell toxicity is related to the response of non-CAR T cells to the therapy. The transduction of retroviral and lentiviral may pose the potential to insert and enhance dormant oncogenes. To avoid this, suicide genes are preferred as they cause the tumor cell to kill itself through apoptosis [172].

Several strategies to overcome the major challenges related to the safety and efficiency of immunotherapy in solid tumors must be considered in forthcoming clinical trials.

31.7 Other Topics

31.7.1 Challenges in Antigen Selection

Immunotherapy is predicated on augmenting a patient's immune system against a tumor by stimulation of the patient's own immune system by transfusion of bioengineered tumor-specific T cells or antibodies. For the most effective activation of the immune system against tumor cells, one of the first steps is to identify an antigen with the highest specificity for tumor cells and with the least expression in normal cells. Although recent advance in immunotherapy has been greatly encouraging, selection of targeted antigen is still a major barrier to immunotherapy, particularly in solid tumors.

There are two categories of tumor antigens: (1) highly specific antigens including viral antigens in virus-associated cancers, mutated antigens, and cancer-germline genes and (2) antigens with low specificity including differentiation antigens and overexpressed antigens [212]. Most of the identified tumor-specific antigens are expressed on normal host cells to some extent [172] or have a shared epitope with selfmolecules. Shared expression of targeted antigen on normal tissue can result in on-target off-tumor toxicity [213], in which immune cells attack normal host cells expressing the targeted antigen. Tumor heterogeneity is another issue that should be kept in mind for antigen selection [214]. A single tumor mass may contain genetically different tumor cell clones with the potential expression of different antigens [10]. Therefore, targeted antigens may not be equally presented on all tumor cells. Likewise, the presence of stromal cells in solid tumor may affect the behavior of tumor cells and make solid tumor more complex than hematologic malignancies [212]. Expressed antigens on tumor stroma were considered as potential targets in immunotherapy [215, 216].

Recently, various approaches such as costimulation CARs [172, 217], bispecific CARs [218], and inhibitory CARs [219] were adopted to limit on-target off-tumor toxicity. Although simultaneous targeting of multiple tumor-specific antigens would significantly improve immunotherapy, scientists need to understand the complexity of tumor cells and identify most specific antigens with the expression on all tumor cells.

31.7.2 Hurdles Against Bispecific Antibodies

31.7.2.1 The Issues of Stability

For clinical use of bispecific antibodies, the products to be stable under storage and *in vivo* conditions in order to show therapeutic effect before degradation are essential. Bispecific antibodies may show variable stability based on their formats and under physiological conditions may aggregate and lose their activity [220, 221]. Many attempts have been made to increase bispecific antibodies stability [222, 223], but modest structural change in bispecific antibodies would significantly affect biologic activity of products [224]. Therefore, this issue obligates the production of a format with optimal activity and stability.

31.7.3 Need for New Interventions to Enhance Efficacy of Current Immunotherapies in Non-T-Cell-Inflamed Phenotype

Investigations have discovered that tumorinfiltrating T cells in the tumor microenvironment are primarily nonfunctional and possibly are attracted to tumor site because of local cytokines and chemokine [225]. This lack of activity of cytotoxic T cells is attributed to the upregulation of immunosuppressive factors such as PD-L1, IDO in the tumor microenvironment, and recruitment of regulatory T cells, which is actually induced by activated CD8⁺ T cells [226]. Additional studies showed that immunotherapeutic approaches to block these checkpoints activate immune response and augment tumor regression [227]. However, this immunotherapeutic approach is only efficacious for patients with pre-existing antigen-specific CD8+ T cells in the tumor microenvironment, and evaluation

of cancer patients demonstrates that only a proportion of tumors are infiltrated by tumor antigen-specific T cells. Therefore, for patients with the non-T-cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment, one must first identify factors that induce infiltration of tumor microenvironment by immune cells [228].

Studies evaluating recognition of cancer by innate immune revealed that production of type I IFN [229] and IFNγ by dendritic cells play an important role in the activation of CD8+ T cells and migration to the tumor microenvironment. The stimulator of interferon gene (STING) pathway, which is directly activated by cytosolic DNA [230], is identified as one of the main mechanisms of the activation of dendritic cells and production of IFNy. In vivo, this cascade could lead to the infiltration of tumor by tumor-reactive T cells [231, 232]. Moreover, somatic mutation within tumor can cause variation in the stimulation of the immune system. Beta-catenin signaling is a recognized pathway that regulates immune response, known as T-cell exclusion, and its overactivation prevents tumor infiltration by lymphocytes [233, 234]. However, there are few studies reporting that β-catenin overexpression is associated with high levels of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes [235]. Stimulation of the dendritic cell to induce T-cell priming against tumor antigens and strategy to overcome T-cell exclusion may be considered as new immunotherapeutic approaches in with the non-T-cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment [228].

31.8 Solid Tissue Cancer-Specific Hurdles

31.8.1 Melanoma

Melanoma is the most lethal skin cancer and is resistant to many cytotoxic therapies such as radiotherapy and chemotherapy, and the prognosis rate of this cancer is very poor especially in the late stages [236]. However, melanoma is the most immunogenic type of cancer, making it the most appropriate target for immunotherapy.
Several melanoma-specific antigens such as melanoma-associated antigens (MAGE) and NY-ESO-1 have been discovered, and high levels of specific antibody and functional lymphocytes can be found in patients with melanoma [237]. Moreover, metastatic melanoma is highly responsive to immune-stimulating agents, such as interferons and interleukin compared to other types of cancer [236].

Both antibody-mediated and T-cell-mediated pathways have shown promising results in immunotherapy of melanoma. However, in some cases, the disease progresses despite high accumulation of tumor-infiltrating melanomaspecific T cells, indicating the suppressive role of the tumor microenvironment in immunotherapy. Treg-mediated immunosuppression is one of the main hurdles in melanoma cancer. Treg is an important cell in maintaining immune homeostasis by inhibiting several physiological and pathological immune responses [238]. Murine model studies demonstrated that Treg depletion could enhance the immune response against melanoma, highlighting the role of Treg in melanoma progression. Similarly, a high level of Treg in patients with metastatic melanoma was reported compared to the agematched healthy controls, and Treg cells were associated with lymph node and distant metastasis. Other immunosuppressive factors in the tumor microenvironment such as transforming growth factor β and interleukin 10 could recruit and activate Treg cells [239]. Moreover, expression of IDO on tumor cells triggers the conversion of conventional T cells to Treg [240]. GITR is a transmembrane protein, stimulation of which could directly block Treg function, making it a particular interest for cancer immunotherapy [241].

Inhibitory checkpoints are other hurdles in limiting CAR T-cell therapy in melanoma. CTLA-4 and PD-1 expression on CD4-positive, including Treg cells, could directly downregulate T-cell activation and, thereby, inhibit cancer regression. Multimodal targeting strategies using blocking inhibitor checkpoints could increase cytotoxic T lymphocyte infiltration [242].

31.8.2 Pancreas

Although CAR T-cell therapy has been very remarkable, CAR T-cell therapeutic approach in solid tumor is not encouraging, and there are challenging issues that should be solved [214, 243]. Heterogeneity in antigen expression within tumor cells, suboptimal trafficking to solid tumors, and suppression of CAR T-cell activity and survival in the tumor microenvironment are major barriers to the use of CAR T cells in solid tumors [214]. Pancreatic adenocarcinoma is associated with high mortality and the lack of effective treatment necessitating novel therapeutic strategies. As a result, there has been a push toward immunotherapy. There are several immunotherapeutic studies for pancreatic cancer targeting antigens, including mesothelin [244] (NCT03323944, NCT01583686, and NCT01897415), carcinoembryonic antigen (NCT00004178, NCT01212887), and prostate stem cell antigen [245] are conducting, but results are modest or pending.

Selection of tumor-specific antigen is a critical step in therapeutic approaches using CAR T cells. Antigens that are targeted in pancreatic cancer show minor expression on other tissues, and it may result in on-target/off-tumor toxicities [245]. In addition, factors such as a high level of regulatory T cells and immune evasion mechanisms provide a highly immunosuppressive microenvironment in pancreatic cancer [246, 247], which makes tumor resistance to immunotherapy. Therefore, investigators should explore pathways to centralize therapeutics on tumor antigen and neutralize tumor microenvironment.

31.8.3 Head and Neck Cancers

Advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNC) shows a poor prognosis, and survival rate remained relatively unchanged during years. Hence, there is a need for novel therapeutic approaches. Seeing the high success rate of immunotherapy in other cancer, especially melanoma, researchers may consider immunotherapy for HNC [248].

Melanoma is a highly immunogenic tumor [249], and this is the main reason that melanoma shows a great response to immunotherapy. Evaluation of patients with HNC revealed that CD8+T cell in circulation has upregulated expression of proapoptotic protein [250] and tumor-specific T cells in peripheral circulation underwent spontaneous apoptosis, which makes the immune system less effective against tumor and leads to tumor immune escape [251]. In addition, regulatory T cells are highly presented in the circulation of patients with HNC that with immunosuppressive function further impair tumor cell destruction by the immune system [252, 253]. MDSCs and TAMs are other associated factors in HNC, which regulate immune responses to tumor in HNC. MDSCs are immature CD34+ suppressor cells that normally differentiate into mature myeloid cells [254]. In patients with HNC, differentiation of MDSCs is disrupted and increases the risk of recurrence and metastasis in HNC [255]. Complementary studies confirmed that the inhibition of MDSCs trafficking to the tumor site may enhance the antitumor efficacy of immunotherapy [256]. TAMs are macrophage recruited to the tumor site and develop into either tumor limiting (M1) or tumor enhancing (M2) macrophage [257]. Previous studies showed macrophages that infiltrate tumor in HNC are primarily M2 and are associated with metastasis and low survival rate in patients with HNC [258]. Complex and high mutational load in HNC also may play a role in the feature tumor microenvironment and clinical response to immunotherapy [259, 260]. Besides all these and like other cancers, issues such as the lack of biomarkers for patient selection and adverse effects of combination therapy are barriers to immunotherapy in HNC [261]. Therefore, for the application of immunotherapy in HNC, investigators require to assess the tumor microenvironment accurately and address facing challenges.

References

- 1. Ledford H. Translational research: 4 ways to fix the clinical trial. Nature. 2011;477(7366):526–8.
- Arrowsmith J. Trial watch: phase III and submission failures: 2007–2010. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2011;10(2):87.

- Anisimov VN, Ukraintseva SV, Yashin AI. Cancer in rodents: does it tell us about cancer in humans? Nat Rev Cancer. 2005;5(10):807–19.
- Mak IW, Evaniew N, Ghert M. Lost in translation: animal models and clinical trials in cancer treatment. Am J Transl Res. 2014;6(2):114–8.
- Fox BA, Schendel DJ, Butterfield LH, Aamdal S, Allison JP, Ascierto PA, et al. Defining the critical hurdles in cancer immunotherapy. J Transl Med. 2011;9:214.
- van der Worp HB, Howells DW, Sena ES, Porritt MJ, Rewell S, O'Collins V, et al. Can animal models of disease reliably inform human studies? PLoS Med. 2010;7(3):e1000245.
- Schuh JC. Trials, tribulations, and trends in tumor modeling in mice. Toxicol Pathol. 2004;32(Suppl 1):53–66.
- de Jong M, Maina T. Of mice and humans: are they the same? Implications in cancer translational research. J Nucl Med. 2010;51(4):501–4.
- Martignoni M, Groothuis GM, de Kanter R. Species differences between mouse, rat, dog, monkey and human CYP-mediated drug metabolism, inhibition and induction. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. 2006;2(6):875–94.
- Marusyk A, Polyak K. Tumor heterogeneity: causes and consequences. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2010;1805(1):105–17.
- 11. Mlecnik B, Tosolini M, Kirilovsky A, Berger A, Bindea G, Meatchi T, et al. Histopathologic-based prognostic factors of colorectal cancers are associated with the state of the local immune reaction. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(6):610–8.
- Pages F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Asslaber M, Tosolini M, Bindea G, et al. In situ cytotoxic and memory T cells predict outcome in patients with early-stage colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(35):5944–51.
- Lyu GY, Yeh YH, Yeh YC, Wang YC. Mutation load estimation model as a predictor of the response to cancer immunotherapy. NPJ Genom Med. 2018;3:12.
- Prendergast GC. Immune escape as a fundamental trait of cancer: focus on IDO. Oncogene. 2008;27(28):3889–900.
- Koebel CM, Vermi W, Swann JB, Zerafa N, Rodig SJ, Old LJ, et al. Adaptive immunity maintains occult cancer in an equilibrium state. Nature. 2007;450(7171):903–7.
- 16. Soleyman-Jahi S, Abdirad A, Fallah AA, Ghasemi S, Sadeghi F, Heidari R, et al. Prognostic significance of preoperative and postoperative plasma levels of ghrelin in gastric cancer: 3-year survival study. Clin Transl Gastroenterol. 2017;8(1):e209.
- Soleyman-Jahi S, Nedjat S, Abdirad A, Hoorshad N, Heidari R, Zendehdel K. Prognostic significance of matrix metalloproteinase-7 in gastric cancer survival: a meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2014;10(4):e0122316.
- Gnjatic S, Bronte V, Brunet LR, Butler MO, Disis ML, Galon J, et al. Identifying baseline immune-

related biomarkers to predict clinical outcome of immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2017;5:44.

- Britten CM, Gouttefangeas C, Welters MJ, Pawelec G, Koch S, Ottensmeier C, et al. The CIMTmonitoring panel: a two-step approach to harmonize the enumeration of antigen-specific CD8+ T lymphocytes by structural and functional assays. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2008;57(3):289–302.
- Chiou VL, Burotto M. Pseudoprogression and immune-related response in solid tumors. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(31):3541–3.
- Wolchok JD, Hoos A, O'Day S, Weber JS, Hamid O, Lebbe C, et al. Guidelines for the evaluation of immune therapy activity in solid tumors: immune-related response criteria. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(23):7412–20.
- Janetzki S, Britten CM, Kalos M, Levitsky HI, Maecker HT, Melief CJ, et al. "MIATA"—minimal information about T cell assays. Immunity. 2009;31(4):527–8.
- Hoos A. Evolution of end points for cancer immunotherapy trials. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(Suppl 8):viii47–52.
- McNay LA, Tavel JA, Oseekey K, McDermott CM, Mollerup D, Bebchuk JD. Regulatory approvals in a large multinational clinical trial: the ESPRIT experience. Control Clin Trials. 2002;23(1):59–66.
- Stewart PM, Stears A, Tomlinson JW, Brown MJ. Regulation—the real threat to clinical research. BMJ. 2008;337:a1732.
- Morrissey KM, Yuraszeck TM, Li CC, Zhang Y, Kasichayanula S. Immunotherapy and novel combinations in oncology: current landscape, challenges, and opportunities. Clin Transl Sci. 2016;9(2):89–104.
- Mandrekar SJ, Qin R, Sargent DJ. Model-based phase I designs incorporating toxicity and efficacy for single and dual agent drug combinations: methods and challenges. Stat Med. 2010;29(10):1077–83.
- Hoos A, Eggermont AM, Janetzki S, Hodi FS, Ibrahim R, Anderson A, et al. Improved endpoints for cancer immunotherapy trials. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102(18):1388–97.
- Hoos A, Britten C. The immuno-oncology framework: enabling a new era of cancer therapy. Oncoimmunology. 2012;1(3):334–9.
- Ventola CL. Cancer immunotherapy, part 3: challenges and future trends. P&T. 2017;42(8):514–21.
- Zugazagoitia J, Guedes C, Ponce S, Ferrer I, Molina-Pinelo S, Paz-Ares L. Current challenges in cancer treatment. Clin Ther. 2016;38(7):1551–66.
- Drake CG. Combination immunotherapy approaches. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(Suppl 8):viii41–6.
- Tang C, Jiang W, Yap TA. Efficacy and toxic effects of cancer immunotherapy combinations – a doubleedged sword. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4(8):1116–7.
- 34. Chi KR. Clinical research: conducting a trial. Nature. 2013;493(7433):565–7.
- 35. Shim BY, Park SH, Lee S, Kim JS, Lee KE, Kang YK, et al. Current status and challenges of can-

cer clinical trials in Korea. Cancer Res Treat. 2016;48(1):20-7.

- Boormans JL, Zwarthoff EC. Limited funds for bladder cancer research and what can we do about it. Bladder Cancer. 2016;2(1):49–51.
- 37. Ameredes BT, Hellmich MR, Cestone CM, Wooten KC, Ottenbacher KJ, Chonmaitree T, et al. The multidisciplinary translational team (MTT) model for training and development of translational research investigators. Clin Transl Sci. 2015;8(5):533–41.
- Disis ML, Slattery JT. The road we must take: multidisciplinary team science. Sci Transl Med. 2010;2(22):22cm9.
- Carpenter S. Science careers. Carving a career in translational research. Science. 2007;317(5840):966–7.
- Grimshaw JM, Eccles MP, Lavis JN, Hill SJ, Squires JE. Knowledge translation of research findings. Implement Sci. 2012;7:50.
- Kazanjian A, Smillie K, Howard AF, Ward A, Doll R. A structured approach to knowledge exchange: understanding the implementation of a cancer survivor program. Eur J Oncol Nurs. 2012;16(4):399–405.
- 42. Kazanjian A, Smillie K, Stephen J. Evaluating a knowledge exchange intervention in cancer survivorship care: a workshop to foster implementation of Online Support Groups. Support Care Cancer. 2013;21(5):1429–35.
- Hartmann J, Schussler-Lenz M, Bondanza A, Buchholz CJ. Clinical development of CAR T cells-challenges and opportunities in translating innovative treatment concepts. EMBO Mol Med. 2017;9(9):1183–97.
- 44. Halton E, Llerandi D, Diamonte C, Quintanilla H, Miale-Mayer D. Developing infrastructure: managing patients with cancer undergoing CAR T-cell therapy. Clin J Oncol Nurs. 2017;21(2 Suppl):35–40.
- Veerus P, Lexchin J, Hemminki E. Legislative regulation and ethical governance of medical research in different European Union countries. J Med Ethics. 2014;40(6):409–13.
- Flory E, Reinhardt J. European regulatory tools for advanced therapy medicinal products. Transfus Med Hemother. 2013;40(6):409–12.
- Vestergaard HT, D'Apote L, Schneider CK, Herberts C. The evolution of nonclinical regulatory science: advanced therapy medicinal products as a paradigm. Mol Ther. 2013;21(9):1644–8.
- 48. de Wilde S, Veltrop-Duits L, Hoozemans-Strik M, Ras T, Blom-Veenman J, Guchelaar HJ, et al. Hurdles in clinical implementation of academic advanced therapy medicinal products: a national evaluation. Cytotherapy. 2016;18(6):797–805.
- Patel K, Chotai N. Documentation and records: harmonized GMP requirements. J Young Pharm. 2011;3(2):138–50.
- McGuirk J, Waller EK, Qayed M, Abhyankar S, Ericson S, Holman P, et al. Building blocks for institutional preparation of CTL019 delivery. Cytotherapy. 2017;19(9):1015–24.

- 51. Soleyman-Jahi S, Sadeghi F, Afshari Z, Barati T, Ghasemi S, Muhammadnejad S, et al. Antineoplastic effects of aprotinin on human breast cancer cell lines: in vitro study. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2019;28(2):151–7.
- 52. Soleyman-Jahi S, Zendehdel K, Akbarzadeh K, Haddadi M, Amanpour S, Muhammadnejad S. In vitro assessment of antineoplastic effects of deuterium depleted water. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2014;15(5):2179–83.
- 53. Wang W, Qin DY, Zhang BL, Wei W, Wang YS, Wei YQ. Establishing guidelines for CAR-T cells: challenges and considerations. Sci China Life Sci. 2016;59(4):333–9.
- 54. Kaiser AD, Assenmacher M, Schroder B, Meyer M, Orentas R, Bethke U, et al. Towards a commercial process for the manufacture of genetically modified T cells for therapy. Cancer Gene Ther. 2015;22(2):72–8.
- Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP, Yang JC, Morgan RA, Dudley ME. Adoptive cell transfer: a clinical path to effective cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008;8(4):299–308.
- Phan GQ, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive cell transfer for patients with metastatic melanoma: the potential and promise of cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Control. 2013;20(4):289–97.
- 57. Stevanovic S, Draper LM, Langhan MM, Campbell TE, Kwong ML, Wunderlich JR, et al. Complete regression of metastatic cervical cancer after treatment with human papillomavirustargeted tumor-infiltrating T cells. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(14):1543–50.
- Bernhard H, Schmidt B, Busch DH, Peschel C. Isolation and expansion of tumor-reactive cytotoxic T-cell clones for adoptive immunotherapy. Methods Mol Med. 2005;109:175–84.
- Gattinoni L, Powell DJ Jr, Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP. Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: building on success. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6(5):383–93.
- Hahn WC, Weinberg RA. Rules for making human tumor cells. N Engl J Med. 2002;347(20):1593–603.
- Curtsinger JM, Mescher MF. Inflammatory cytokines as a third signal for T cell activation. Curr Opin Immunol. 2010;22(3):333–40.
- 62. Yu Z, Theoret MR, Touloukian CE, Surman DR, Garman SC, Feigenbaum L, et al. Poor immunogenicity of a self/tumor antigen derives from peptide– MHC-I instability and is independent of tolerance. J Clin Invest. 2004;114(4):551–9.
- Garrido F, Aptsiauri N, Doorduijn EM, Garcia Lora AM, van Hall T. The urgent need to recover MHC class I in cancers for effective immunotherapy. Curr Opin Immunol. 2016;39:44–51.
- Driessens G, Kline J, Gajewski TF. Costimulatory and coinhibitory receptors in anti-tumor immunity. Immunol Rev. 2009;229(1):126–44.
- 65. Hakim FT, Cepeda R, Kaimei S, Mackall CL, McAtee N, Zujewski J, et al. Constraints on CD4 recovery postchemotherapy in adults: thymic insuf-

ficiency and apoptotic decline of expanded peripheral CD4 cells. Blood. 1997;90(9):3789–98.

- 66. Mackall CL, Fleisher TA, Brown MR, Andrich MP, Chen CC, Feuerstein IM, et al. Age, thymopoiesis, and CD4+ T-lymphocyte regeneration after intensive chemotherapy. N Engl J Med. 1995;332(3):143–9.
- 67. Brentjens RJ, Riviere I, Park JH, Davila ML, Wang X, Stefanski J, et al. Safety and persistence of adoptively transferred autologous CD19-targeted T cells in patients with relapsed or chemotherapy refractory B-cell leukemias. Blood. 2011;118(18):4817–28.
- 68. Davila ML, Riviere I, Wang X, Bartido S, Park J, Curran K, et al. Efficacy and toxicity management of 19-28z CAR T cell therapy in B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(224):224ra25.
- 69. Kalos M, Levine BL, Porter DL, Katz S, Grupp SA, Bagg A, et al. T cells with chimeric antigen receptors have potent antitumor effects and can establish memory in patients with advanced leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2011;3(95):95ra73.
- Kochenderfer JN, Dudley ME, Feldman SA, Wilson WH, Spaner DE, Maric I, et al. B-cell depletion and remissions of malignancy along with cytokineassociated toxicity in a clinical trial of anti-CD19 chimeric-antigen-receptor-transduced T cells. Blood. 2012;119(12):2709–20.
- Brentjens RJ, Santos E, Nikhamin Y, Yeh R, Matsushita M, La Perle K, et al. Genetically targeted T cells eradicate systemic acute lymphoblastic leukemia xenografts. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(18 Pt 1):5426–35.
- 72. Carpenito C, Milone MC, Hassan R, Simonet JC, Lakhal M, Suhoski MM, et al. Control of large, established tumor xenografts with genetically retargeted human T cells containing CD28 and CD137 domains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(9):3360–5.
- Hudecek M, Lupo-Stanghellini MT, Kosasih PL, Sommermeyer D, Jensen MC, Rader C, et al. Receptor affinity and extracellular domain modifications affect tumor recognition by ROR1-specific chimeric antigen receptor T cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(12):3153–64.
- 74. James SE, Greenberg PD, Jensen MC, Lin Y, Wang J, Till BG, et al. Antigen sensitivity of CD22-specific chimeric TCR is modulated by target epitope distance from the cell membrane. J Immunol. 2008;180(10):7028–38.
- 75. Kowolik CM, Topp MS, Gonzalez S, Pfeiffer T, Olivares S, Gonzalez N, et al. CD28 costimulation provided through a CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptor enhances in vivo persistence and antitumor efficacy of adoptively transferred T cells. Cancer Res. 2006;66(22):10995–1004.
- Milone MC, Fish JD, Carpenito C, Carroll RG, Binder GK, Teachey D, et al. Chimeric receptors containing CD137 signal transduction domains mediate enhanced survival of T cells and increased antileukemic efficacy in vivo. Mol Ther. 2009;17(8):1453–64.

- Gattinoni L, Lugli E, Ji Y, Pos Z, Paulos CM, Quigley MF, et al. A human memory T cell subset with stem cell-like properties. Nat Med. 2011;17(10):1290–7.
- Graef P, Buchholz VR, Stemberger C, Flossdorf M, Henkel L, Schiemann M, et al. Serial transfer of single-cell-derived immunocompetence reveals stemness of CD8(+) central memory T cells. Immunity. 2014;41(1):116–26.
- Kaech SM, Hemby S, Kersh E, Ahmed R. Molecular and functional profiling of memory CD8 T cell differentiation. Cell. 2002;111(6):837–51.
- Sommermeyer D, Hudecek M, Kosasih PL, Gogishvili T, Maloney DG, Turtle CJ, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells derived from defined CD8+ and CD4+ subsets confer superior antitumor reactivity in vivo. Leukemia. 2016;30(2):492–500.
- Tasian SK, Kenderian SS, Shen F, Ruella M, Shestova O, Kozlowski M, et al. Optimized depletion of chimeric antigen receptor T cells in murine xenograft models of human acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2017;129(17):2395–407.
- Kochenderfer JN, Yu Z, Frasheri D, Restifo NP, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive transfer of syngeneic T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor that recognizes murine CD19 can eradicate lymphoma and normal B cells. Blood. 2010;116(19):3875–86.
- Sanmamed MF, Chester C, Melero I, Kohrt H. Defining the optimal murine models to investigate immune checkpoint blockers and their combination with other immunotherapies. Ann Oncol. 2016;27(7):1190–8.
- Siegler EL, Wang P. Preclinical models in chimeric antigen receptor-engineered T-cell therapy. Hum Gene Ther. 2018;29(5):534–46.
- Carrillo MA, Zhen A, Kitchen SG. The use of the humanized mouse model in gene therapy and immunotherapy for HIV and cancer. Front Immunol. 2018;9:746.
- Taraseviciute A, Tkachev V, Ponce R, Turtle CJ, Snyder JM, Liggitt HD, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cell-mediated neurotoxicity in nonhuman primates. Cancer Discov. 2018;8(6):750–63.
- 87. Zhen A, Peterson CW, Carrillo MA, Reddy SS, Youn CS, Lam BB, et al. Long-term persistence and function of hematopoietic stem cell-derived chimeric antigen receptor T cells in a nonhuman primate model of HIV/AIDS. PLoS Pathog. 2017;13(12):e1006753.
- Wang X, Rivière I. Clinical manufacturing of CAR T cells: foundation of a promising therapy. Mol Ther Oncolyt. 2016;3:16015.
- Hourd P, Chandra A, Alvey D, Ginty P, McCall M, Ratcliffe E, et al. Qualification of academic facilities for small-scale automated manufacture of autologous cell-based products. Regen Med. 2014;9(6):799–815.
- Brown CE, Badie B, Barish ME, Weng L, Ostberg JR, Chang WC, et al. Bioactivity and safety of IL13Ralpha2-redirected chimeric antigen receptor

CD8+ T cells in patients with recurrent glioblastoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(18):4062–72.

- 91. Katz SC, Burga RA, McCormack E, Wang LJ, Mooring W, Point GR, et al. Phase I hepatic immunotherapy for metastases study of intra-arterial chimeric antigen receptor-modified T-cell therapy for CEA+ liver metastases. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(14):3149–59.
- 92. Koneru M, O'Cearbhaill R, Pendharkar S, Spriggs DR, Brentjens RJ. A phase I clinical trial of adoptive T cell therapy using IL-12 secreting MUC-16(ecto) directed chimeric antigen receptors for recurrent ovarian cancer. J Transl Med. 2015;13:102.
- 93. Petrausch U, Schuberth PC, Hagedorn C, Soltermann A, Tomaszek S, Stahel R, et al. Re-directed T cells for the treatment of fibroblast activation protein (FAP)-positive malignant pleural mesothelioma (FAPME-1). BMC Cancer. 2012;12:615.
- 94. You F, Jiang L, Zhang B, Lu Q, Zhou Q, Liao X, et al. Phase 1 clinical trial demonstrated that MUC1 positive metastatic seminal vesicle cancer can be effectively eradicated by modified anti-MUC1 chimeric antigen receptor transduced T cells. Sci China Life Sci. 2016;59(4):386–97.
- 95. de Aquino MTP, Malhotra A, Mishra MK, Shanker A. Challenges and future perspectives of T cell immunotherapy in cancer. Immunol Lett. 2015;166(2):117–33.
- Seidel UJE, Oliveira CC, Lampen MH, van Hall T. A novel category of antigens enabling CTL immunity to tumor escape variants: cinderella antigens. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(1):119–25.
- Houghton AN, Guevara-Patiño JA. Immune recognition of self in immunity against cancer. J Clin Invest. 2004;114(4):468–71.
- Chen L, Flies DB. Molecular mechanisms of T cell co-stimulation and co-inhibition. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013;13(4):227.
- Ceeraz S, Nowak EC, Noelle RJ. B7 family checkpoint regulators in immune regulation and disease. Trends Immunol. 2013;34(11):556–63.
- 100. Capece D, Verzella D, Fischietti M, Zazzeroni F, Alesse E. Targeting costimulatory molecules to improve antitumor immunity. Biomed Res Int. 2012;2012:926321.
- 101. Elgueta R, Benson MJ, De Vries VC, Wasiuk A, Guo Y, Noelle RJ. Molecular mechanism and function of CD40/CD40L engagement in the immune system. Immunol Rev. 2009;229(1):152–72.
- 102. Banchereau J, Dubois B, Fayette J, Burdin N, Briere F, Miossec P, et al. Functional CD40 antigen on B cells, dendritic cells and fibroblasts. In: Dendritic cells in fundamental and clinical immunology. New York, NY: Springer; 1995. p. 79–83.
- 103. Quezada SA, Jarvinen LZ, Lind EF, Noelle RJ. CD40/CD154 interactions at the interface of tolerance and immunity. Annu Rev Immunol. 2004;22:307–28.
- 104. Ahonen CL, Wasiuk A, Fuse S, Turk MJ, Ernstoff MS, Suriawinata AA, et al. Enhanced efficacy and

reduced toxicity of multifactorial adjuvants compared with unitary adjuvants as cancer vaccines. Blood. 2008;111(6):3116–25.

- 105. Nowak AK, Robinson BWS, Lake RA. Synergy between chemotherapy and immunotherapy in the treatment of established murine solid tumors. Cancer Res. 2003;63(15):4490–6.
- 106. Honeychurch J, Glennie MJ, Johnson PWM, Illidge TM. Anti-CD40 monoclonal antibody therapy in combination with irradiation results in a CD8 T-cell– dependent immunity to B-cell lymphoma. Blood. 2003;102(4):1449–57.
- 107. Kalathil SG, Thanavala Y. High immunosuppressive burden in cancer patients: a major hurdle for cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2016;65(7):813–9.
- Wood LD, Parsons DW, Jones S, Lin J, Sjöblom T, Leary RJ, et al. The genomic landscapes of human breast and colorectal cancers. Science. 2007;318(5853):1108–13.
- 109. Zhang S, Wu M, Wang F. Immune regulation by CD8+ Treg cells: novel possibilities for anticancer immunotherapy. Cell Mol Immunol. 2018;15(9):805–7.
- 110. Kiniwa Y, Miyahara Y, Wang HY, Peng W, Peng G, Wheeler TM, et al. CD8+ Foxp3+ regulatory T cells mediate immunosuppression in prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(23):6947–58.
- 111. Chen C, Chen D, Zhang Y, Chen Z, Zhu W, Zhang B, et al. Changes of CD4+ CD25+ FOXP3+ and CD8+ CD28- regulatory T cells in non-small cell lung cancer patients undergoing surgery. Int Immunopharmacol. 2014;18(2):255–61.
- 112. Chaput N, Louafi S, Bardier A, Charlotte F, Vaillant J-C, Ménégaux F, et al. Identification of CD8+ CD25+ Foxp3+ suppressive T cells in colorectal cancer tissue. Gut. 2009;58(4):520–9.
- 113. Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9(3):162.
- 114. Umansky V, Blattner C, Gebhardt C, Utikal J. The role of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) in cancer progression. Vaccine. 2016;4(4):36.
- 115. Pan P-Y, Wang GX, Yin B, Ozao J, Ku T, Divino CM, et al. Reversion of immune tolerance in advanced malignancy: modulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cell development by blockade of stem-cell factor function. Blood. 2008;111(1):219–28.
- 116. Sinha P, Clements VK, Fulton AM, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Prostaglandin E2 promotes tumor progression by inducing myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cancer Res. 2007;67(9):4507–13.
- 117. Jerud ES, Bricard G, Porcelli SA. CD1d-restricted natural killer T cells: roles in tumor immunosurveillance and tolerance. Transfus Med Hemother. 2006;33(1):18–36.
- 118. Terabe M, Matsui S, Noben-Trauth N, Chen H, Watson C, Donaldson DD, et al. NKT cell-mediated repression of tumor immunosurveillance by

IL-13 and the IL-4R–STAT6 pathway. Nat Immunol. 2000;1(6):515.

- 119. Uyttenhove C, Pilotte L, Théate I, Stroobant V, Colau D, Parmentier N, et al. Evidence for a tumoral immune resistance mechanism based on tryptophan degradation by indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase. Nat Med. 2003;9(10):1269.
- Mellor AL, Munn DH. IDO expression by dendritic cells: tolerance and tryptophan catabolism. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(10):762.
- 121. Holmgaard RB, Zamarin D, Munn DH, Wolchok JD, Allison JP. Indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase is a critical resistance mechanism in antitumor T cell immunotherapy targeting CTLA-4. J Exp Med. 2013;210(7):1389–402.
- Rieth J, Subramanian S. Mechanisms of intrinsic tumor resistance to immunotherapy. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(5):1340.
- 123. Brochez L, Chevolet I, Kruse V. The rationale of indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase inhibition for cancer therapy. Eur J Cancer. 2017;76:167–82.
- 124. Vacchelli E, Aranda F, Eggermont A, Sautes-Fridman C, Tartour E, Kennedy EP, et al. Trial watch: IDO inhibitors in cancer therapy. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3(10):e957994.
- Wherry EJ, Ahmed R. Memory CD8 T-cell differentiation during viral infection. J Virol. 2004;78(11):5535–45.
- 126. Mueller SN, Ahmed R. High antigen levels are the cause of T cell exhaustion during chronic viral infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2009;106(21):8623–8.
- 127. Hashimoto M, Kamphorst AO, Im SJ, Kissick HT, Pillai RN, Ramalingam SS, et al. CD8 T cell exhaustion in chronic infection and cancer: opportunities for interventions. Annu Rev Med. 2018;69(1):301–18.
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(4):252.
- O'Donnell JS, Long GV, Scolyer RA, Teng MWL, Smyth MJ. Resistance to PD1/PDL1 checkpoint inhibition. Cancer Treat Rev. 2017;52:71–81.
- Sharma P, Hu-Lieskovan S, Wargo JA, Ribas A. Primary, adaptive, and acquired resistance to cancer immunotherapy. Cell. 2017;168(4):707–23.
- Marincola FM, Jaffee EM, Hicklin DJ, Ferrone S. Escape of human solid tumors from T-cell recognition: molecular mechanisms and functional significance. Adv Immunol. 1999;74:181–273.
- 132. Bronte V, Kasic T, Gri G, Gallana K, Borsellino G, Marigo I, et al. Boosting antitumor responses of T lymphocytes infiltrating human prostate cancers. J Exp Med. 2005;201(8):1257–68.
- 133. Woller N, Gürlevik E, Fleischmann-Mundt B, Schumacher A, Knocke S, Kloos AM, et al. Viral infection of tumors overcomes resistance to PD-1-immunotherapy by broadening neoantigenome-directed T-cell responses. Mol Ther. 2015;23(10):1630–40.
- 134. Chouaib S, Meslin F, Thiery J, Mami-Chouaib F. Tumor resistance to specific lysis: a major hur-

dle for successful immunotherapy of cancer. Clin Immunol. 2009;130(1):34–40.

- Koh YT, García-Hernández ML, Kast WM. Tumor immune escape mechanisms. Cancer Drug Resist. 2006;2006:577–602.
- 136. Mittal D, Gubin MM, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. New insights into cancer immunoediting and its three component phases—elimination, equilibrium and escape. Curr Opin Immunol. 2014;27:16–25.
- 137. Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331(6024):1565–70.
- 138. Vesely MD, Kershaw MH, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. Natural innate and adaptive immunity to cancer. Annu Rev Immunol. 2011;29:235–71.
- 139. Shresta S, Pham CTN, Thomas DA, Graubert TA, Ley TJ. How do cytotoxic lymphocytes kill their targets? Curr Opin Immunol. 1998;10(5):581–7.
- 140. J-h L, Rosen D, Ronen D, Behrens CK, Krammer PH, Clark WR, et al. The regulation of CD95 ligand expression and function in CTL. J Immunol. 1998;161(8):3943–9.
- 141. Smyth MJ, Cretney E, Takeda K, Wiltrout RH, Sedger LM, Kayagaki N, et al. Tumor necrosis factor–related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) contributes to interferon γ-dependent natural killer cell protection from tumor metastasis. J Exp Med. 2001;193(6):661–70.
- 142. Schmitz I, Kirchhoff S, Krammer PH. Regulation of death receptor-mediated apoptosis pathways. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2000;32(11-12):1123–36.
- 143. Krueger A, Baumann S, Krammer PH, Kirchhoff S. FLICE-inhibitory proteins: regulators of death receptor-mediated apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol. 2001;21(24): 8247–54.
- 144. Irmler M, Thome M, Hahne M, Schneider P, Hofmann K, Steiner V, et al. Inhibition of death receptor signals by cellular FLIP. Nature. 1997;388(6638):190.
- 145. Tepper CG, Seldin MF. Modulation of caspase-8 and FLICE-inhibitory protein expression as a potential mechanism of Epstein-Barr virus tumorigenesis in Burkitt's lymphoma. Blood. 1999;94(5):1727–37.
- 146. Furnari FB, Fenton T, Bachoo RM, Mukasa A, Stommel JM, Stegh A, et al. Malignant astrocytic glioma: genetics, biology, and paths to treatment. Genes Dev. 2007;1(21):2683–710.
- 147. Campos L, Rouault J-P, Sabido O, Oriol P, Roubi N, Vasselon C, et al. High expression of bcl-2 protein in acute myeloid leukemia cells is associated with poor response to chemotherapy. Blood. 1993;81(11):3091–6.
- 148. Hermine O, Haioun C, Lepage E, D'Agay M-F, Briere J, Lavignac C, et al. Prognostic significance of bcl-2 protein expression in aggressive non-Hodkin's lymphoma. Blood. 1996;87(1):265–72.
- 149. Volkmann M, Schiff J-H, Hajjar Y, Otto G, Stilgenbauer F, Fiehn W, et al. Loss of CD95 expression is linked to most but not all p53 mutants in European hepatocellular carcinoma. J Mol Med. 2001;79(10):594–600.

- 150. Peli J, Schröter M, Rudaz C, Hahne M, Meyer C, Reichmann E, et al. Oncogenic Ras inhibits Fas ligand-mediated apoptosis by downregulating the expression of Fas. EMBO J. 1999;18(7):1824–31.
- Igney FH, Krammer PH. Immune escape of tumors: apoptosis resistance and tumor counterattack. J Leukoc Biol. 2002;71(6):907–20.
- 152. Bird CH, Sutton VR, Sun J, Hirst CE, Novak A, Kumar S, et al. Selective regulation of apoptosis: the cytotoxic lymphocyte serpin proteinase inhibitor 9 protects against granzyme B-mediated apoptosis without perturbing the Fas cell death pathway. Mol Cell Biol. 1998;18(11):6387–98.
- 153. Medema JP, De Jong J, Peltenburg LTC, Verdegaal EME, Gorter A, Bres SA, et al. Blockade of the granzyme B/perforin pathway through overexpression of the serine protease inhibitor PI-9/SPI-6 constitutes a mechanism for immune escape by tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2001;98(20):11515–20.
- 154. Charames GS, Bapat B. Genomic instability and cancer. Curr Mol Med. 2003;3(7):589–96.
- 155. Braun MW, Iwakuma T. Regulation of cytotoxic T-cell responses by p53 in cancer. Transl Cancer Res. 2016;5(6):692.
- Bossi G, Sacchi A. Restoration of wild-type p53 function in human cancer: relevance for tumor therapy. Head Neck. 2007;29(3):272–84.
- 157. Peng W, Chen JQ, Liu C, Malu S, Creasy C, Tetzlaff MT, et al. Loss of PTEN promotes resistance to T cell-mediated immunotherapy. Cancer Discov. 2016;6(2):202–16.
- 158. Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF. Melanomaintrinsic β-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. Nature. 2015;523(7559):231.
- 159. Ji R-R, Chasalow SD, Wang L, Hamid O, Schmidt H, Cogswell J, et al. An immune-active tumor microenvironment favors clinical response to ipilimumab. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012;61(7):1019–31.
- 160. Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, Gimotty PA, Massobrio M, Regnani G, et al. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(3):203–13.
- 161. Vazquez-Cintron EJ, Monu NR, Frey AB. Tumorinduced disruption of proximal TCR-mediated signal transduction in tumor-infiltrating CD8+ lymphocytes inactivates antitumor effector phase. J Immunol. 2010;185(12):7133–40.
- 162. Khong HT, Restifo NP. Natural selection of tumor variants in the generation of "tumor escape" phenotypes. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(11):999.
- 163. Absi AAHC, Janji B, Thomas C, Chouaib S. Synaptic actin cytoskeleton remodeling: a novel mechanism for tumor cell escape from natural killer cell mediated death. Immunotherapy. 2016;2:3.
- Williams DB, Vassilakos A, Suh W-K. Peptide presentation by MHC class I molecules. Trends Cell Biol. 1996;6(7):267–73.
- 165. Grommé M, Neefjes J. Antigen degradation or presentation by MHC class I molecules via clas-

sical and non-classical pathways. Mol Immunol. 2002;39(3-4):181–202.

- 166. Kuckelkorn U, Ferreira EA, Drung I, Liewer U, Kloetzel PM, Theobald M. The effect of the interferon-γ-inducible processing machinery on the generation of a naturally tumor-associated human cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope within a wild-type and mutant p53 sequence context. Eur J Immunol. 2002;32(5):1368–75.
- 167. Gobbi G, Mirandola P, Micheloni C, Solenghi E, Sponzilli I, Artico M, et al. Expression of HLA class I antigen and proteasome subunits LMP-2 and LMP-10 in primary vs. metastatic breast carcinoma lesions. Int J Oncol. 2004;25(6):1625–9.
- 168. Johnsen AK, Templeton DJ, Sy MS, Harding CV. Deficiency of transporter for antigen presentation (TAP) in tumor cells allows evasion of immune surveillance and increases tumorigenesis. J Immunol. 1999;163(8):4224–31.
- 169. Ritz U, Momburg F, Pilch H, Huber C, Maeurer MJ, Seliger B. Deficient expression of components of the MHC class I antigen processing machinery in human cervical carcinoma. Int J Oncol. 2001;19(6):1211–20.
- 170. Cabrera CM, Jimenez P, Cabrera T, Esparza C, Ruiz-Cabello F, Garrido F. Total loss of MHC class I in colorectal tumors can be explained by two molecular pathways: β2-microglobulin inactivation in MSI-positive tumors and LMP7/TAP2 downregulation in MSI-negative tumors. HLA. 2003;61(3):211–9.
- 171. Mahmoodi M, Soleyman-Jahi S, Zendehdel K, Mozdarani H, Azimi C, Farzanfar F, et al. Chromosomal aberrations, sister chromatid exchanges, and micronuclei in lymphocytes of oncology department personnel handling anti-neoplastic drugs. Drug Chem Toxicol. 2017;40(2):235–40.
- 172. Zhang B-L, Qin D-Y, Mo Z-M, Li Y, Wei W, Wang Y-S, et al. Hurdles of CAR-T cell-based cancer immunotherapy directed against solid tumors. Sci China Life Sci. 2016;59(4):340–8.
- 173. Bugelski PJ, Achuthanandam R, Capocasale RJ, Treacy G, Bouman-Thio E. Monoclonal antibodyinduced cytokine-release syndrome. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2009;5(5):499–521.
- 174. Lee DW, Kochenderfer JN, Stetler-Stevenson M, Cui YK, Delbrook C, Feldman SA, et al. T cells expressing CD19 chimeric antigen receptors for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in children and young adults: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet. 2015;385(9967):517–28.
- 175. Maude SL, Frey N, Shaw PA, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Bunin NJ, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for sustained remissions in leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(16):1507–17.
- 176. Hartmann J, Schüßler-Lenz M, Bondanza A, Buchholz CJ. Clinical development of CAR T cells—challenges and opportunities in translating innovative treatment concepts. EMBO Mol Med. 2017;9(9):1183–97.

- 177. Kochenderfer JN, Dudley ME, Carpenter RO, Kassim SH, Rose JJ, Telford WG, et al. Donor-derived CD19-targeted T cells cause regression of malignancy persisting after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2013;122(25):4129–39.
- 178. Guo B, Chen M, Han Q, Hui F, Dai H, Zhang W, et al. CD138-directed adoptive immunotherapy of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-modified T cells for multiple myeloma. J Cell Immunother. 2016;2(1):28–35.
- 179. Dai H, Zhang W, Li X, Han Q, Guo Y, Zhang Y, et al. Tolerance and efficacy of autologous or donorderived T cells expressing CD19 chimeric antigen receptors in adult B-ALL with extramedullary leukemia. Oncoimmunology. 2015;4(11):e1027469.
- DeFrancesco L. CAR-T's forge ahead, despite Juno deaths. Berlin: Nature Publishing Group; 2017.
- 181. Morgan RA, Yang JC, Kitano M, Dudley ME, Laurencot CM, Rosenberg SA. Case report of a serious adverse event following the administration of T cells transduced with a chimeric antigen receptor recognizing ERBB2. Mol Ther. 2010;18(4):843–51.
- 182. Turtle CJ, Hanafi L-A, Berger C, Gooley TA, Cherian S, Hudecek M, et al. CD19 CAR–T cells of defined CD4+: CD8+ composition in adult B cell ALL patients. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(6):2123–38.
- 183. Ahmed N, Brawley VS, Hegde M, Robertson C, Ghazi A, Gerken C, et al. Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2)-specific chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells for the immunotherapy of HER2-positive sarcoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(15):1688.
- 184. Cheadle EJ, Sheard V, Rothwell DG, Bridgeman JS, Ashton G, Hanson V, et al. Differential role of Th1 and Th2 cytokines in autotoxicity driven by CD19-specific second-generation chimeric antigen receptor T cells in a mouse model. J Immunol. 2014;192(8):3654–65.
- 185. Ciceri F, Bonini C, Stanghellini MTL, Bondanza A, Traversari C, Salomoni M, et al. Infusion of suicide-gene-engineered donor lymphocytes after family haploidentical haemopoietic stem-cell transplantation for leukaemia (the TK007 trial): a non-randomised phase I–II study. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(5):489–500.
- 186. Di Stasi A, Tey S-K, Dotti G, Fujita Y, Kennedy-Nasser A, Martinez C, et al. Inducible apoptosis as a safety switch for adoptive cell therapy. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(18):1673–83.
- 187. Afshari F, Soleyman-Jahi S, Keshavarz-Fathi M, Roviello G, Rezaei N. The promising role of monoclonal antibodies for gastric cancer treatment. Immunotherapy. 2019;11(4):347–64.
- 188. Haanen J, Carbonnel F, Robert C, Kerr KM, Peters S, Larkin J, et al. Management of toxicities from immunotherapy: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2017;28(Suppl_4):iv119–iv42.
- 189. Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival

with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(8):711–23.

- 190. Wolchok JD, Neyns B, Linette G, Negrier S, Lutzky J, Thomas L, et al. Ipilimumab monotherapy in patients with pretreated advanced melanoma: a randomised, double-blind, multicentre, phase 2, doseranging study. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(2):155–64.
- 191. Lacouture ME, Wolchok JD, Yosipovitch G, Kähler KC, Busam KJ, Hauschild A. Ipilimumab in patients with cancer and the management of dermatologic adverse events. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2014;71(1):161–9.
- 192. Belum VR, Benhuri B, Postow MA, Hellmann MD, Lesokhin AM, Segal NH, et al. Characterisation and management of dermatologic adverse events to agents targeting the PD-1 receptor. Eur J Cancer. 2016;60:12–25.
- 193. Sharpe M, Mount N. Genetically modified T cells in cancer therapy: opportunities and challenges. Dis Model Mech. 2015;8(4):337–50.
- 194. Cohen CJ, Zhao Y, Zheng Z, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Enhanced antitumor activity of murine-human hybrid T-cell receptor (TCR) in human lymphocytes is associated with improved pairing and TCR/CD3 stability. Cancer Res. 2006;66(17):8878–86.
- 195. Voss R-H, Willemsen RA, Kuball J, Grabowski M, Engel R, Intan RS, et al. Molecular design of the Cαβ interface favors specific pairing of introduced TCRαβ in human T cells. J Immunol. 2008;180(1):391–401.
- 196. Haga-Friedman A, Horovitz-Fried M, Cohen CJ. Incorporation of transmembrane hydrophobic mutations in the TCR enhance its surface expression and T cell functional avidity. J Immunol. 2012;188(11):5538–46.
- 197. Provasi E, Genovese P, Lombardo A, Magnani Z, Liu P-Q, Reik A, et al. Editing T cell specificity towards leukemia by zinc finger nucleases and lentiviral gene transfer. Nat Med. 2012;18(5):807.
- 198. Bunse M, Bendle GM, Linnemann C, Bies L, Schulz S, Schumacher TN, et al. RNAi-mediated TCR knockdown prevents autoimmunity in mice caused by mixed TCR dimers following TCR gene transfer. Mol Ther. 2014;22(11):1983–91.
- 199. Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pagès C, et al. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. Science. 2006;313(5795):1960–4.
- 200. Kmiecik J, Poli A, Brons NHC, Waha A, Eide GE, Enger PØ, et al. Elevated CD3+ and CD8+ tumorinfiltrating immune cells correlate with prolonged survival in glioblastoma patients despite integrated immunosuppressive mechanisms in the tumor microenvironment and at the systemic level. J Neuroimmunol. 2013;264(1):71–83.
- 201. Kim ST, Jeong H, Woo OH, Seo JH, Kim A, Lee ES, et al. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, tumor characteristics, and recurrence in patients with early breast cancer. Am J Clin Oncol. 2013;36(3):224–31.

- Slaney CY, Kershaw MH, Darcy PK. Trafficking of T cells into tumors. Cancer Res. 2014;74(24):7168–74.
- 203. Kershaw MH, Wang G, Westwood JA, Pachynski RK, Tiffany HL, Marincola FM, et al. Redirecting migration of T cells to chemokine secreted from tumors by genetic modification with CXCR2. Hum Gene Ther. 2002;13(16):1971–80.
- 204. Di Stasi A, De Angelis B, Rooney CM, Zhang L, Mahendravada A, Foster AE, et al. T lymphocytes coexpressing CCR4 and a chimeric antigen receptor targeting CD30 have improved homing and antitumor activity in a Hodgkin tumor model. Blood. 2009;113(25):6392–402.
- 205. Moon EK, Carpenito C, Sun J, Wang L-CS, Kapoor V, Predina J, et al. Expression of a functional CCR2 receptor enhances tumor localization and tumor eradication by retargeted human T cells expressing a mesothelin-specific chimeric antibody receptor. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(14):4719–30.
- 206. van Schalkwyk MCI, Papa SE, Jeannon J-P, Urbano TG, Spicer JF, Maher J. Design of a phase I clinical trial to evaluate intratumoral delivery of ErbBtargeted chimeric antigen receptor T-cells in locally advanced or recurrent head and neck cancer. Hum Gene Ther Clin Dev. 2013;24(3):134–42.
- Muller WA. Leukocyte–endothelial-cell interactions in leukocyte transmigration and the inflammatory response. Trends Immunol. 2003;24(6):326–33.
- 208. Caruana I, Savoldo B, Hoyos V, Weber G, Liu H, Kim ES, et al. Heparanase promotes tumor infiltration and antitumor activity of CAR-redirected T lymphocytes. Nat Med. 2015;21(5):524.
- 209. Kandalaft LE, Facciabene A, Buckanovich RJ, Coukos G. Endothelin B receptor, a new target in cancer immune therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15(14):4521–8.
- 210. Burga RA, Thorn M, Point GR, Guha P, Nguyen CT, Licata LA, et al. Liver myeloid-derived suppressor cells expand in response to liver metastases in mice and inhibit the anti-tumor efficacy of anti-CEA CAR-T. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2015;64(7):817–29.
- 211. Schmidt K, Zilio S, Schmollinger JC, Bronte V, Blankenstein T, Willimsky G. Differently immunogenic cancers in mice induce immature myeloid cells that suppress CTL in vitro but not in vivo following transfer. Blood. 2013;121(10):1740–8.
- Vigneron N. Human tumor antigens and cancer immunotherapy. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015:948501.
- 213. Fisher J, Abramowski P, Wisidagamage Don ND, Flutter B, Capsomidis A, Cheung GW, et al. Avoidance of on-target off-tumor activation using a co-stimulation-only chimeric antigen receptor. Mol Ther. 2017;25(5):1234–47.
- Mirzaei HR, Rodriguez A, Shepphird J, Brown CE, Badie B. Chimeric antigen receptors T cell therapy in solid tumor: challenges and clinical applications. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1850.
- 215. Chinnasamy D, Yu Z, Theoret MR, Zhao Y, Shrimali RK, Morgan RA, et al. Gene therapy using geneti-

cally modified lymphocytes targeting VEGFR-2 inhibits the growth of vascularized syngenic tumors in mice. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(11):3953–68.

- 216. Wang LC, Lo A, Scholler J, Sun J, Majumdar RS, Kapoor V, et al. Targeting fibroblast activation protein in tumor stroma with chimeric antigen receptor T cells can inhibit tumor growth and augment host immunity without severe toxicity. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2(2):154–66.
- 217. Kloss CC, Condomines M, Cartellieri M, Bachmann M, Sadelain M. Combinatorial antigen recognition with balanced signaling promotes selective tumor eradication by engineered T cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2013;31(1):71–5.
- 218. Grada Z, Hegde M, Byrd T, Shaffer DR, Ghazi A, Brawley VS, et al. TanCAR: a novel bispecific chimeric antigen receptor for cancer immunotherapy. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids. 2013;2:e105.
- 219. Fedorov VD, Themeli M, Sadelain M. PD-1- and CTLA-4-based inhibitory chimeric antigen receptors (iCARs) divert off-target immunotherapy responses. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5(215):215ra172.
- Demarest SJ, Glaser SM. Antibody therapeutics, antibody engineering, and the merits of protein stability. Curr Opin Drug Discov Devel. 2008;11(5):675–87.
- 221. Kontermann RE. Recombinant bispecific antibodies for cancer therapy. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2005;26(1):1–9.
- 222. Michaelson JS, Demarest SJ, Miller B, Amatucci A, Snyder WB, Wu X, et al. Anti-tumor activity of stability-engineered IgG-like bispecific antibodies targeting TRAIL-R2 and LTbetaR. MAbs. 2009;1(2):128–41.
- 223. Miller BR, Demarest SJ, Lugovskoy A, Huang F, Wu X, Snyder WB, et al. Stability engineering of scFvs for the development of bispecific and multivalent antibodies. Protein Eng Des Sel. 2010;23(7):549–57.
- 224. Asano R, Ikoma K, Shimomura I, Taki S, Nakanishi T, Umetsu M, et al. Cytotoxic enhancement of a bispecific diabody by format conversion to tandem single-chain variable fragment (taFv): the case of the hEx3 diabody. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(3):1812–8.
- 225. Harlin H, Kuna TV, Peterson AC, Meng Y, Gajewski TF. Tumor progression despite massive influx of activated CD8(+) T cells in a patient with malignant melanoma ascites. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2006;55(10):1185–97.
- 226. Spranger S, Spaapen RM, Zha Y, Williams J, Meng Y, Ha TT, et al. Up-regulation of PD-L1, IDO, and T(regs) in the melanoma tumor microenvironment is driven by CD8(+) T cells. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5(200):200ra116.
- 227. Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. Nature. 2014;515(7528):568–71.
- Gajewski TF. The next hurdle in cancer immunotherapy: overcoming the non-T-cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment. Semin Oncol. 2015;42(4):663–71.

- 229. Fuertes MB, Woo SR, Burnett B, Fu YX, Gajewski TF. Type I interferon response and innate immune sensing of cancer. Trends Immunol. 2013;34(2):67–73.
- 230. Zhang X, Shi H, Wu J, Zhang X, Sun L, Chen C, et al. Cyclic GMP-AMP containing mixed phosphodiester linkages is an endogenous high-affinity ligand for STING. Mol Cell. 2013;51(2):226–35.
- 231. Ahn J, Xia T, Konno H, Konno K, Ruiz P, Barber GN. Inflammation-driven carcinogenesis is mediated through STING. Nat Commun. 2014;5:5166.
- 232. Woo SR, Fuertes MB, Corrales L, Spranger S, Furdyna MJ, Leung MY, et al. STING-dependent cytosolic DNA sensing mediates innate immune recognition of immunogenic tumors. Immunity. 2014;41(5):830–42.
- 233. Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF. Melanomaintrinsic beta-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. Nature. 2015;523(7559):231–5.
- 234. Sweis RF, Spranger S, Bao R, Paner GP, Stadler WM, Steinberg G, et al. Molecular drivers of the non-T-cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment in urothelial bladder cancer. Cancer Immunol Res. 2016;4(7):563–8.
- 235. Ma X, Zhao X, Yan W, Yang J, Zhao X, Zhang H, et al. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes are associated with beta-catenin overexpression in breast cancer. Cancer Biomark. 2018;21(3):639–50.
- 236. Garbe C, Eigentler TK, Keilholz U, Hauschild A, Kirkwood JM. Systematic review of medical treatment in melanoma: current status and future prospects. Oncologist. 2011;16(1):5–24.
- 237. Boon T, Coulie PG, Eynde BJVD, Bruggen PVD. Human T cell responses against melanoma. Annu Rev Immunol. 2006;24:175–208.
- 238. Sakaguchi S, Yamaguchi T, Nomura T, Ono M. Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance. Cell. 2008;133(5):775–87.
- Nizar S, Meyer B, Galustian C, Kumar D, Dalgleish A. T regulatory cells, the evolution of targeted immunotherapy. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2010;1806(1):7–17.
- 240. Brody JR, Costantino CL, Berger AC, Sato T, Lisanti MP, Yeo CJ, et al. Expression of indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase in metastatic malignant melanoma recruits regulatory T cells to avoid immune detection and affects survival. Cell Cycle. 2009;8(12):1930–4.
- 241. H-b J, Liao G, Faubion WA, Abadía-Molina AC, Cozzo C, Laroux FS, et al. Cutting edge: the natural ligand for glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor-related protein abrogates regulatory T cell suppression. J Immunol. 2004;172(10):5823–7.
- 242. Jacobs JFM, Nierkens S, Figdor CG, de Vries IJM, Adema GJ. Regulatory T cells in melanoma: the final hurdle towards effective immunotherapy? Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(1):e32–42.
- Newick K, Moon E, Albelda SM. Chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for solid tumors. Mol Ther Oncolyt. 2016;3:16006.

- 244. Beatty GL, O'Hara MH, Nelson AM, McGarvey M, Torigian DA, Lacey SF, et al. Safety and antitumor activity of chimeric antigen receptor modified T cells in patients with chemotherapy refractory metastatic pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(15):3007.
- 245. Abate-Daga D, Rosenberg SA, Morgan RA. Pancreatic cancer: hurdles in the engineering of CAR-based immunotherapies. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3:e29194.
- 246. Liyanage UK, Moore TT, Joo HG, Tanaka Y, Herrmann V, Doherty G, et al. Prevalence of regulatory T cells is increased in peripheral blood and tumor microenvironment of patients with pancreas or breast adenocarcinoma. J Immunol. 2002;169(5):2756–61.
- 247. Mukherjee P, Ginardi AR, Madsen CS, Tinder TL, Jacobs F, Parker J, et al. MUC1-specific CTLs are non-functional within a pancreatic tumor microenvironment. Glycoconj J. 2001;18(11-12):931–42.
- 248. Turksma AW, Braakhuis BJ, Bloemena E, Meijer CJ, Leemans CR, Hooijberg E. Immunotherapy for head and neck cancer patients: shifting the balance. Immunotherapy. 2013;5(1):49–61.
- 249. Haanen JB. Immunotherapy of melanoma. EJC Suppl. 2013;11(2):97–105.
- 250. Kim JW, Tsukishiro T, Johnson JT, Whiteside TL. Expression of pro- and antiapoptotic proteins in circulating CD8+ T cells of patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Clin Cancer Res. 2004;10(15):5101–10.
- 251. Albers AE, Schaefer C, Visus C, Gooding W, DeLeo AB, Whiteside TL. Spontaneous apoptosis of tumorspecific tetramer+ CD8+ T lymphocytes in the peripheral circulation of patients with head and neck cancer. Head Neck. 2009;31(6):773–81.
- 252. Drennan S, Stafford ND, Greenman J, Green VL. Increased frequency and suppressive activity of CD127(low/-) regulatory T cells in the peripheral circulation of patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma are associated with advanced stage and nodal involvement. Immunology. 2013;140(3):335–43.

- 253. Maggioni D, Pignataro L, Garavello W. T-helper and T-regulatory cells modulation in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Oncoimmunology. 2017;6(7):e1325066.
- 254. Almand B, Clark JI, Nikitina E, van Beynen J, English NR, Knight SC, et al. Increased production of immature myeloid cells in cancer patients: a mechanism of immunosuppression in cancer. J Immunol. 2001;166(1):678–89.
- 255. Weed DT, Vella JL, Reis IM, De la Fuente AC, Gomez C, Sargi Z, et al. Tadalafil reduces myeloid-derived suppressor cells and regulatory T cells and promotes tumor immunity in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(1):39–48.
- 256. Highfill SL, Cui Y, Giles AJ, Smith JP, Zhang H, Morse E, et al. Disruption of CXCR2-mediated MDSC tumor trafficking enhances anti-PD1 efficacy. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(237):237ra67.
- 257. Davis RJ, Van Waes C, Allen CT. Overcoming barriers to effective immunotherapy: MDSCs, TAMs, and Tregs as mediators of the immunosuppressive micro-environment in head and neck cancer. Oral Oncol. 2016;58:59–70.
- 258. Costa NL, Valadares MC, Souza PP, Mendonca EF, Oliveira JC, Silva TA, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages and the profile of inflammatory cyto-kines in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Oral Oncol. 2013;49(3):216–23.
- 259. Mandal R, Senbabaoglu Y, Desrichard A. The head and neck cancer immune landscape and its immunotherapeutic implications. JCI Insight. 2016;1(17):e89829.
- 260. Mountzios G, Rampias T, Psyrri A. The mutational spectrum of squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck: targetable genetic events and clinical impact. Ann Oncol. 2014;25(10):1889–900.
- 261. Outh-Gauer S, Alt M, Le Tourneau C, Augustin J, Broudin C, Gasne C, et al. Immunotherapy in head and neck cancers: a new challenge for immunologists, pathologists and clinicians. Cancer Treat Rev. 2018;65:54–64.



32

Ethical Considerations in Cancer Immunotherapy

Maurie Markman

Contents

32.1	Introduction	637
32.2	Ethical Issues in Immunotherapy of Cancer	638
32.3	Unique Toxicities	638
32.4	Evaluation of Efficacy in the Clinical Trial and Non-research Settings	639
32.5	Ethical Justification for Initiation of Treatment in Individual Patients	639
32.6	Concluding Remarks	640
References		640

32.1 Introduction

The concept of immunological therapy for cancer is not a new idea. Anecdotal reports of documented tumor regressions following local infectious episodes suggested an immune mechanism responsible for both clearing the invading pathogen and (as a *secondary effect*) favorably impacting the malignancy [1].

The quite rare but documented observation of spontaneous regression of malignant masses suggested a poorly understood immunological response to undefined tumor antigens [1]. In addition, shrinkage of metastatic lesions following the removal of the malignant primary (e.g., renal cell cancer) highlights the theoretical possibility that by surgically substantially lowering the tumor volume, there is a corresponding reduction in the concentration of an unknown factor (or factors) that has prevented a natural immune response from favorably impacting the course of the malignancy. An extensive body of laboratory-based research supports the potential role of immune cells and their products positively or negatively influencing the rate of cancer growth and spread [1].

More recently, prospective clinical trials have clearly documented the impressive clinical utility of several immunologically based treatment strategies to produce objectively measurable effects on existing malignant mass lesions and to improve disease-specific survival. It can be anticipated that the benefits of immunotherapy

M. Markman (🖂)

Department of Medical Oncology, Cancer Treatment Centers of America, Philadelphia, PA, USA e-mail: maurie.markman@ctca-hope.com

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

N. Rezaei (ed.), Cancer Immunology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_32

 Table 32.1 Ethical issues with immunotherapy of cancer

- 1. Unique toxicities
- 2. Evaluation of efficacy in clinical trials and non-research settings
- 3. Ethical justification for initiation of treatment in individual patients

demonstrated to date represents only the beginning of an exciting new era in cancer management that focuses on the unique immunological characteristics of a particular cancer and the immune system in individual patients.

A strong argument can be made that with this appropriate focus on the biological and clinical activity observed for immunotherapeutic strategies in clinical trials, there needs to be a corresponding robust discussion of a number of ethical issues surrounding this novel approach to cancer management. This chapter will briefly highlight a number of these issues and concerns.

32.2 Ethical Issues in Immunotherapy of Cancer

In the opinion of this commentator, a number of ethical concerns that are somewhat unique to the realm of cancer immunotherapy, in contrast to other approaches in the management of malignant disease (e.g., "standard" surgery, radiation therapy, and cytotoxic chemotherapy) require consideration. These issues fall into three general categories (Table 32.1).

32.3 Unique Toxicities

The side effects of cytotoxic and the more recent "targeted" antineoplastic therapeutic strategies are well described and include bone marrow suppression, emesis, and cardiac, hepatic, pulmonary, renal, cutaneous, and neurological dysfunction, as well as the development of secondary malignancies.

While hypersensitivity reactions are relatively common with certain drugs (e.g., the initial cycle of paclitaxel, multiple cycles of carboplatin), such events are relatively predicable within a population of patients (e.g., 10–15% incidence of allergic reactions in patients receiving >6 cumulative cycles of carboplatin) [2]. Further, these episodes are generally self-limited and are not associated with serious sequela, even if at the time they are quite anxiety-provoking.

In fact, therapeutic immunological manipulations may be associated with minimal side effects (e.g., tumor vaccines), assuming a substantial degree of specificity to the biological event or at least failure to activate or inhibit processes which may produce serious secondary effects. However, the potential for unexpected, severe, and lifethreatening side effects associated with immunological strategies is very real, and in the absence of a clear understanding of both the incidence and overall seriousness of short-term and long-term effects, true informed consent may be problematic. One only needs to consider the now wellunderstood immune-mediated toxicity of acute and chronic graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) observed within the domain of bone marrow/stem cell transplantation to begin to appreciate the potential impact of immunological manipulation on both the quality and quantity of life.

Further, strong evidence suggests that the combination of immunotherapeutic agents (e.g., two checkpoint inhibitors) may be associated with an unprecedented incidence of severe toxic reactions while at the same time producing both impressive favorable short-term symptomatic effects and long-term survival benefits [3].

In addition, the uncontrolled release of potent cytokines and the accompanying impact of such events on a number of organ systems are a particular theoretical concern with novel immunological strategies previously untested in human trials [4].

Finally, in contrast to the large majority of side effects of cytotoxic chemotherapy, where symptoms are generally observed within "days or weeks" of the initiation of therapy it remains unknown if more delayed immune effects, perhaps occurring "months or even years" after treatment has been concluded will be observed [3].

As a result, until a relatively large number of human subjects have been treated with a particu-

lar immunological approach, the overall toxicity profile will remain uncertain and will mandate careful monitoring and regular updates to an ethical oversight committee responsible for ensuring subject safety. And when these strategies are employed in routine clinical practice, follow-up of patients employing public databases will be essential.

32.4 Evaluation of Efficacy in the Clinical Trial and Nonresearch Settings

Extensive preclinical evaluation has provided strong support for the conclusion that certain immunological mechanisms (e.g., vaccination) are most likely to be both biologically and clinically active in the presence of the smallest volume of active cancer.

Unfortunately, objectively evaluating efficacy may be problematic. If shrinkage of measurable tumor masses is not anticipated to be a likely outcome and the only acceptable measure of clinical benefit is a statistically significant improvement in overall survival in a phase III trial, this requirement will severely restrict both the types and quantity of immunotherapeutic strategies that can be moved forward for potential regulatory approval to become an acceptable "standard-of-care" therapeutic option. And when one considers the universe of possible immunological therapeutic approaches that may be clinically relevant, this concern is surely magnified by severalfold.

Further, even when such a study is conducted and completed, the result may not fit into the "standard" anticipated paradigm for a "positive trial" result, adding confusion to the research community, regulators, governmental and private payers of medical services, and patients themselves as regards the fundamental interpretation of a given trial's outcome.

Consider, for example, the randomized study of sipuleucel-T immunotherapy in the management of metastatic prostate cancer [5]. The study revealed the strategy to improve overall survival, but there was no statistically significant effect on progression-free survival, an unusual outcome in the realm of antineoplastic drug therapies. Whether this outcome is simply an aberration or this trial provides important insight into the nature of immunotherapeutic treatments of cancer remained unknown. In fact, other studies of immunotherapeutic agents have revealed similar outcomes making progression-free survival a challenging surrogate outcome. Unfortunately, the absence of a definitive answer to this question may result in decision-making for regulatory approval or use in an individual patient difficult.

Finally, in an era where molecularly targeted therapy has been generally accepted as the future of cancer medicine, it remains uncertain how exactly this concept will impact the development of immunologically based therapeutics. In fact, studies exploring exciting novel biomarker approaches for the selection of appropriate patients to receive particular immunotherapeutic drugs suggest the major potential clinical relevance of this idea [6–8].

However, such data raise two related and quite relevant ethical questions:

- 1. Is it ethical to enter patients into a trial whose cancers do not possess the biomarker that laboratory evaluation suggests is required for a favorable therapeutic effect?
- 2. Will it be appropriate to continue to conduct immunotherapy trials solely based on the "site of origin" when there is strong evidence that this is an insufficient criterion to define an appropriate target population, despite the continued regulatory agency mantra to examine efficacy based on histology/"site of origin" rather than on individual cancer's identified molecular signature?

32.5 Ethical Justification for Initiation of Treatment in Individual Patients

The concept of "off-label" administration of antineoplastic agents is not a unique problem. In fact, the rigidity associated with deciding whether payment will be provided for a particular drug in a given situation varies remarkably between governmental agencies in different countries and among private insurers in societies where such payment strategies exist. However, the question of the appropriateness of employing a given immunological strategy in the management of a specific cancer patient only further magnifies the complexity of the questions.

For example, in addition to the issue of "offlabel" use (for a tumor type not specifically approved by the drug regulatory agency), one needs to inquire if it is reasonable to apply an immunotherapeutic strategy in a setting where a patient is not predicted to be "immunocompetent" (e.g., presence of cancer cachexia). Moreover, what if this is the only approach that has any "hope" of providing a favorable result?

And what if a patient has the correct histology where an immunotherapeutic approach has been shown to be of benefit but the cell surface antigen whose expression is suggested to be necessary for a favorable effect is not completely absent but only minimally expressed (e.g., +1 staining)? If the patient wishes to proceed with the treatment despite this laboratory observation, should this be permitted considering the limited opportunity for benefit but with no other options likely to be more efficacious?

Finally, how would antineoplastic strategies based on the manipulation of an individual patient's immune cells be rationally initially investigated and subsequently evaluated by governmental regulatory/payment agents? Single patient experiences will surely fail the test of an adequate sample size to demonstrate "efficacy" for a regulatory agency or likely even a peerreviewed journal.

However, one can make a strong argument that tumor vaccines created by stimulating immunoregulatory cells present within a specific microenvironment of an individual patient may be a highly relevant strategy for the future. It is most unlikely that any type of "randomized trial" will be relevant in such a setting.

In addition, one must ask the question that is being addressed in many other areas of oncology where it is increasingly recognized that unique molecular features discovered within small patient populations will mandate novel approaches to evaluate effectiveness: In the future, will all patients who receive a personal vaccine created based on molecular characterization of the individual cancer require ethical committee (IRB) review? Will all such individual patient efforts be considered "research" or possibly innovative clinical care? Moreover, if the rational argument is made that not all such approaches are "research," will the results of such individual patient efforts be permitted to be published (including side effects, responses, and the survival observed) to inform others (patients and physicians) who may wish to consider this strategy?

Conversely, will a rather rigid ethical review philosophy in many jurisdictions argue against permitting such professional peer-reviewed communication? And if that is the response, is it not the case that future patients will potentially be denied knowledge of the benefits, risks, or actual harms associated with these management strategies, and is this an ethically acceptable outcome?

Developing a reasonable evaluation strategy in the highly innovative but complex arena of cancer immunotherapy which honors the dual ethical mandates of generating knowledge helping future patients (clinical research) while, at the same time, insuring the particular patient undergoing treatment that she/he has been provided with the greatest opportunity (clinical care) will present the oncology community with a unique challenge.

32.6 Concluding Remarks

With the advances in the management of cancer based on immunological strategies, unique ethical issues will need to be carefully considered.

References

- Kirkwood JM, Butterfield LH, Tarhini AA, et al. Immunotherapy of cancer in 2012. CA Cancer J Clin. 2012;62:309–35.
- Markman M, Kennedy A, Webster K, et al. Clinical features of hypersensitivity reactions to carboplatin. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17:1141–5.
- 3. Shoushtari AN, Friedman CF, Navid-Azarbaijani P, et al. Measuring toxic effects and time to treat-

ment failure for nivolumab plus ipilimumab in melanoma. JAMA Oncol. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamaoncol.2017.2391.

- Suntharalingam G, Perry MR, Ward S, et al. Cytokine storm in a phase 1 trial of the anti-CD28 monoclonal antibody TGN1412. N Engl J Med. 2006;355:1018–28.
- Kantoff PW, Higano CS, Shore ND, et al. Sipuleucel-T immunotherapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:411–22.
- Brahmer JR, Tykodi SS, Chow LQM, et al. Safety and activity of anti-PD-L1 antibody in patients with advanced cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2455–65.
- 7. Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, et al. Safety, activity and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:2443–54.
- Le DT, Durham JN, Smith KN, et al. Mismatch repair deficiency predicts response of solid tumors to PD-1 blockade. Science. 2017;357:409–13.



Correction to Aging and Cancer Prognosis

Arvin Haj-Mirzaian , Khashayar Afshari, and Amir Hossein Abdolghaffari

Correction to: Nima Rezaei, Correction to Aging and Cancer Prognosis of Cancers https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_24

The spelling of the author name was inadvertently published as **Arvin Hajmirzaeian** in the Table of Contents, List of contributors and Chapter 24.

This has now been amended throughout the book as Arvin Haj-Mirzaian.

The updated online version of the original chapter can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4_24

Index

A

Abraxane[®], 493 Abs., see Antibodies (Abs) αβ T cell depletion, 162–163 ACT., see Adoptive cell transfer/therapy (ACT) Actin cytoskeleton, 617 Active immunotherapy allogeneic tumor cells, 4 autochthonous tumor cells, 4 cellular immunity, 3 dendritic cells, 4 early phase clinical trials, 86 immunosurveillance, 86 LAK cells, 3 PD-1 pathway, 94 peptide-based vaccines, 3-4 T-cell receptors, 3 Acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) blinatumomab, 288, 294 GVT effect, 146 NK cells, 338 Acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) HSCT, 145 NK cells allogeneic transfer, 335 DNAM-1, 232 tumor infiltration, 330 Adaptive immune response CD4 + T cells, 252 cvtokines, 173-174 DC vaccination, 11, 31-32, 349 γ^{δ} T cells, 220 innate cells, 2 MDSCs, 13-14 NK cells, 27 T-cells, 3 ADCC., see Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) ADCs., see Antibody-drug conjugates (ADCs) Adeno-Associated Virus Vector (AAVVs), 131 Adenovirus, 130-131 Adjuvant checkpoint inhibitors, 100-101 Adoptive cell transfer/therapy (ACT), 473-474, 555-556 allogeneic T-cells, 6

GVHD, 6, 201 HSCT, 6, 201-202 T-cell clones, 6-7 tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, 6 Adoptive T-cell therapy, 172 challenges in, 254-255 chemokines affymetrix gene expression profiling, 261 CCL2, CCL3, and CCL5, 256-258 CCR2b and GD2-CAR, 261 CCR7, CCL19 and CCL21, 256, 259 characterization of, 256 CXCL1, 259, 261 CX3CL1, 263 CXCL8, 261 CXCL12, 259 CXCL9 and CXCL10, 258, 259 CXCL16 expression, 258 CXCR1, 261 CX3CR1, 263 CXCR4, 259 CXCR3 and CXCR2, 260, 261 engineering T cells, 259-260 homeostatic chemokines, 255 human CD8 + effector T cells, 261 inflammatory/inducible chemokines, 255 mesoCAR CCR2b T cells, 262 small protein molecules, 255 tumor-associated macrophages, 256 efficacy of, 262 engineered T cells, use of, 254 genetically modified T cells, 263, 264 metastatic melanoma, 253 TIL, 253 Advexin, 131 Aging and cancer and immunity, 443 cancer treatment approaches, 442-443 chronic sterile inflammation, low-grade of, 439-440 clinical studies, 437-438 cytokine therapies, 442 effect of, 441 immunodeficiency, 438

prognostic factors, 440-442

Aging and cancer (cont.) renal complication, 437 thymic involution, 440 cellular and physiological changes, 435-437 definition, 434 and demography, 434-435 molecular and cellular pathways process, 434 related pathologies, 434 risk factors, 434, 438-439 Alkylamines, 224 Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT), 157 Alpha-RIT availability issue, 573-574 issues and current developments, 574 optimization, 574 therapeutic indication, 573 Aminobisphosphonates, 224, 225, 235, 236 Angiogenesis, 134 Antiangiogenesis, 484-485 Antibodies (Abs) based technologies protein microarray, 279 **SEREX**, 279 **SERPA**, 279 BsAbs, 287-288 administration, 288 advantages, 288 bind tumor markers and effector cells, 288 blinatumomab, 288 CD19 CAR T-cell therapy, clinical trial of, 289 immunotoxins, 288-289 T-cells development, 288 tetravalent, 288 cancer antigens classification, 277, 278 cell surface antigen, 277 clinical evaluations of, 290-291 combination modalities chemotherapy, 295 immunotherapeutic methods, 296 radiotherapy, 295-296 engineering techniques, 283-284 fragments, 284, 287 fusion constructs, 289 against growth factors, 296 high production cost, 298 immunoglobulins, 274-275 improvement in function, 289-290 isotypes, 275 mechanisms of action, 274 natural anti-NGF, 276 B-1 lymphocytes, 275 defense mechanism, 275 for early stages and precancerous lesions, 277 gangliosides, 275-276 glycoproteins, 276 GRP78, 276 HSPs, 276 Lewis y (Ley), 276 PAM-1, 276

SAM-6, 276 SC-1, 276 tumor-specific monoclonal, 275 preclinical evaluations of, 290 structural and functional features of, 274-275 superior features, 274 target identification approaches, 277 cenomics, 277 proteomics, 278-279 transcriptomics, 277-278 Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), 275, 280, 298 B-cell activation, 17 CD16, 227 CD40 pathway, 112 CTLA-4, 91 FcyR-dependent interactions, 280 immunoglobulins, 274 monoclonal antibodies, 279-280, 298, 565 NK cells, 328, 337-338 Vy9V82 T cells, 233 Antibody-drug conjugates (ADCs), 294, 424-426 Antibody therapy CTLA4 (see Anti-CTLA4 antibody therapy) effector T cells, 72 Anti-cancer immunotherapy, 58 Anticancer vaccines., see Vaccines Anti-CTLA4 antibody therapy, 72 Antigen-presenting cells (APCs), 2, 187, 350 allogeneic T-cells, 6 aminobisphosphonates, 224 **BsAbs**, 288 CARs, 205 CD40, 111-113 CTLA-4, 72 DCs (see Dendritic cells (DCs)) GITR, 111 LAG-3, 108-109 NK cells, 333, 334 OX-40.110-111 T-cell infiltration, 252, 259 Vy9V82 cells, 222 Antitumor immunity enhancement, 133-134 Apoptosis, 133-134 Arginase 1 (Arg-1), 368-370 Atezolizumab, 97, 396, 450, 454, 474 Autonomic cancer cells, 403 Avelumab, 89, 97, 294, 553

B

Bacterial lipoproteins lung tumor cell progression, 315, 317 macrophages, 366 B cell lymphoma/B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL) CARs, 206, 211 CD40, 112 γδ T cells, 234, 235 mAbs, 280, 291–293 RIT, 565, 577, 578

anti-CD20 antibodies, 569-570 anti-CD22 antibodies, 570-571 rituximab, 17, 72, 292 Bevacizumab, 283, 290-292 Bexxar®, 569-570 Bifunctional chelator agent (BCA), 568 Biomarkers, 452, 458-459 blood advantages of, 457 lactate dehydrogenase, 457 melanoma, 458 peripheral cell count, 457-458 clonality of TCR, 456 combination of, 459 conventional, 459-460 gut microbiota and, 458 TIL characteristics, 458 Biosensors definition, 479 electrochemical reaction, 479 emerging voltammetric transducers, 480 home-based, 479 impediometric transducers, 479-480 optimization, 479 potentiometric transducers, 479 principle of, 479 Biotin-binding immune receptor (BBIR), 208 Bispecific antibodies (BsAbs) administration, 288 advantages, 288 bind tumor markers and effector cells, 288 blinatumomab, 288 CD19 CAR T-cell therapy, clinical trial of, 289 immunotoxins, 288-289 T-cells development, 288 tetravalent, 288 Bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE) antibody, 288 Blinatumomab, 288, 294 Breast cancer aging inflammation, 440 IL-6, prognostic factor, 440 neural growth factor, 276 radiotherapy, 588 Brentuximab vedotin (Adcetris®), 294 Bromohydrin pyrophosphate (BrH-PP), 224, 228, 236-237

С

Cancer aging and (*see* Aging and cancer) immunosuppression mechanisms in, 392–393 CD4⁺ regulatory T-cells, 393 IDO, 394 immature dendritic cells, 393–394 MDSCs, 393 Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), 283 Cancer cells autonomic, 403 behavior of, 403

BsAbs., see Bispecific antibodies (BsAbs)

under hypoxic conditions, 405 inflammatory cells, recruitment of, 404-405 vs. microenvironment cells, 403 milieu shields, 404 Cancer-immunity cycle, 591 Cancer immunoediting evasive mechanisms, 614 fundamental phases, 614 genetic and epigenetic changes in, 614 hypothesis, 171, 450 role of type I IFNs in, 186-188 tumor immune surveillance and, 471-472 Cancer immunoediting theory, 170-171 Cancer immunotherapy, hurdles in actin cvtoskeleton, 617 ACT, labor-intensive nature of, 605-606 antigen processing deranged intracellular peptide transport, 617-618 impaired proteasomal mechanisms, 617 loss of β2-microglobulin protein function, 618 antigen selection, 623-624 antitumor cytolytic T cells exhaustion of, 613 immune escape mechanisms, 613-614 immune regulatory cells, 610-612 induction of IDO, 612 low levels of costimulation, 609-610 strategies, 609 tumor antigens, self-nature of, 609 against bispecific antibodies non-T-cell-inflamed phenotype, 624 stability issues, 624 CAR T-cell animal models, 607-608 clinical trials for, 604 dosage of, 608 effective infrastructure, 604 feasible and cost-efficient production process, 608 genetically modified organisms, 604 population subset, phenotype, and construct, determination of, 607 product chain identity, 605 required documentation, 605 in solid tumors, 621-623 specific regulatory requirements, lack of, 605 standard and specific guidance, lack of, 604-605 variation in application process, 604 clinical trials designs of, 602 time-consuming process for, 601-602 conventional clinical criteria, 601 facilitate circulation system-level implementation information, 603-604 immunoediting, 614 lack of specific clinical efficacy biomarker(s), 601 limitations of agents for combination immunotherapy, 602-603 animal models to human, 598-600 funding to support knowledge translation, 603 multidisciplinary team, 603 natural tumor-reactive lymphocytes, 606

Cancer immunotherapy, hurdles in (cont.) safety concerns, 618 solid tissue cancer-specific head and neck cancers, 625-626 melanoma, 624-625 pancreas, 625 T-cell population, in vivo maintenance, 606-607 toxicities related to CAR T-cell. 618-620 immune checkpoint inhibitors, 620-621 TCR-modified T-cell therapy, 621 tumor heterogeneity and immune escape, 599-600 tumor resistance CTLs role, 616-617 defective death receptor expression/signaling, 614-615 genomic instability, 615 perforin and the granzyme B pathway, 615 P53 expression, 615-616 PTEN, 616 Wnt-β-catenin pathway, 616 Cancer stem cells (CSCs), 374, 489 CAR., see Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) Castrate-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC) CTLA-4 blockade, 87 OX-40 mAb, 110 PD-1 blockade, 95 RIT, 572, 573 Cationic polymers, 132 Catumaxomab (Removab®), 288, 293 CD19 B cell depletion, 162-163 CD3/CD19 depletion, 162 CD4⁺ regulatory T-cells, 393 CD30 System, 43 Cell death-associated molecular patterns (CDAMPs), 387 Cell senescence, 191 Cellular immunotherapy ipilimumab, 99 T-cells, 2 Cervical cancer carboplatin-paclitaxel, 550 chemoradiation therapy, 544 progression, 547 Cetuximab, 17, 207, 280, 297, 474 CGH., see Comparative genomic hybridization (CGH) Checkpoint inhibitors and chemotherapy, 101-103 and radiation, 104-105 combination therapy as, 101 Chelating agents, 569 Chemokines affymetrix gene expression profiling, 261 CCL2, CCL3, and CCL5, 257-258 CCR2b and GD2-CAR, 261 CCR7, CCL19 and CCL21, 256, 259 characterization of, 256 CXCL1, 259, 261 CX3CL1, 258, 262 CXCL8, 261 CXCL12, 259 CXCL9 and CXCL10, 259, 261

CXCL16 expression, 258 CXCR1, 261 CX3CR1, 263 CXCR4, 259 CXCR3 and CXCR2, 259, 260 engineering T cells, 259-260 homeostatic chemokines, 255 human CD8 + effector T cells, 261 inflammatory/inducible chemokines, 255 mesoCAR CCR2b T cells, 262 small protein molecules, 255 tumor-associated macrophages, 256 Chemotherapy active immunization, 16 with antibody therapy, 295 checkpoint inhibitors and, 101-103 clinical practice, 176-177 CTLA-4 blockade, 101 drug selection, 174-175 immune response, 170-171 immunosuppressive activity, 172 lymphodepletion, 16 mAb, 15 **MDSCs**, 172 monoclonal antibodies, 293-295 PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors and, 103-104 preclinical experience, 175-176 radiation therapy, 16-17 regulatory T lymphocytes, 171-172 Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) anti-CD19 CAR approaches, 212 biotin CAR, 208 cell culture and expansion techniques, 210-211 clinical trials, 212-213 expression vector, 212 gamma-retroviral vectors, 209 history, 203 lentiviral vectors, 209-210 PiggyBac vector, 210 sleeping beauty vector, 210 suicide gene, 206 T cells, 261-262 TCR signaling, 203 Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell immunotherapy animal models, 607-608 clinical trials for, 604 CTL infiltration, 621 dosage of, 608 effective infrastructure, 604 feasible and cost-efficient production process, 608 genetically modified organisms, 604 immunosuppressive microenvironment, 622 immune suppressor cells, 622-623 inhibitory cytokines, 622 inhibitory immune checkpoints, 622 infiltration, 622 lack of specific regulatory requirements, 605 standard and specific guidance, 604-605 population subset, phenotype, and construct, determination of, 607

product chain identity, 605 requireddocumentation, 605 in solid tumors, 621-623 toxicity, 623 trafficking, 621-622 tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, 621 variation in application process, 604 Chitosan NPs (CNPs), 486 Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) adoptive T-cell therapy, 253 allogeneic HSCT, 145, 202 Circulating tumor cells (CTCs), 354, 479 Clinical trial and non-research settings, 639 Clinical utility, documentation of, 637-638 Colorectal cancer bevacizumab, 292 DC vaccine CD83 + cells, 356 DC-SIGN, 355 EphA2 antigen, 356 mRNA. 356 NK cells, 329, 331, 442 PD-1 pathway, 94 TLR4, 315 TroVax, 418, 420 Võ1 T cells, 235 Combination checkpoint blockade, 107-108 Combination immunotherapy, 105-106 Comparative genomic hybridization (CGH), 8, 277 Complementary DNA (cDNA) microarray, 278 Complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC), 275, 277, 280, 281, 297, 565 Computed tomography radiation, 589 Conventional DCs, 350, 357 CSCs., see Cancer stem cells (CSCs) CTCs., see Circulating tumor cells (CTCs) CTLA4., see Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA4) Cysteine-rich fibroblast growth factor receptor (CFR-1), 276 Cytokine-induced killer (CIK) cells adjuvant locoregional immunotherapy, 29 clinical trials, 29 **PBMC**, 28 solid tumors, 28 Cytokine release syndrome (CRS), 618 Cytokine therapy, 474 adaptive immune response, 173-174 characteristics, 29 chemotherapy and, 175-177 CTLA4 and, 107 hematopoietic, 173 IFN-α antitumor mechanism, 173 interleukin 12, 173 intra/peritumoral injection, 173 mediators, 173 systemic administration, 173 tumor immunosuppression, 71 Cytosine-phosphorothioate-guanine (CpG) DNA downregulation, 321 TAMs, 366

Cytotoxic T-cells (CTLs) apoptosis, 62-63 DCs, 281 Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA4) anti-CTLA-4 mAbs, 91, 282 chemotherapy, 101 CTLA4 Ig fusion protein, 90 and cytokine therapy, 107 function, 89-91 immunotherapy (see Anti-CTLA4 antibody therapy) irAEs, 92-93 in melanoma (see Melanoma) radiation therapy, 91 T-cell activation, 5, 89-91 toxicity, 92-93 Treg homeostasis, 91 tremelimumab, 91-92 vaccination, 106 WHO vs. immune-related response criteria, 97-98

D

Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) PDT, 386, 387 TLRs, 315 Darwinian selection, 450 DaunoXome®, 493 DCs., see Dendritic cells (DCs) DC vaccine administration routes, 354 colorectal cancer CD83 + cells, 356 DC-SIGN, 355 EphA2 antigen, 356 mRNA, 356 melanoma cell fusion technology, 355 cell lysate and peptides, 355 RNA-pulsed DCs, 355 nervous tissue cancer peripheral blood monocyte-derived DCs, 357 poly-ICLC, 357 T-cell cytotoxicity, 357 preparation strategy, 351-353 prostate cancer dendritophage-rPSA, 354 hybridoma, 354 sipuleucel-T, 354-355 Dendritic cells (DCs), 393-394 clinical trials, 9, 10 conventional, 350 exosomes, 375-378 genetic modification, 9 immature cells, 350 immature dendritic cells, 8 immunosuppression, 63 immunosuppressive mechanism, 11 invention. 349 maturation, 350 murine vs. bone marrow cells, 350 NK cells, 27, 31-32

Dendritic cells (DCs) (cont.) plasmacytoid, 350 protein tumor antigens, 9 role, 349 synthetic long peptides, 9 type I interferons and, 187-188 vaccines (see DC vaccine) Dendritic epidermal T cells (DETCs), 221, 233 Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) p53 gene activation, 437 radiation-induced damage, 590 Diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (DTPA) derivatives, 568 5,6-Dimethylxanthenone-4-acetic acid (DMXAA), 409 DLIs., see Donor lymphocyte infusions (DLIs) DNA methylation, 435 DNA segments with chromatin alterations reinforcing senescence (DNA-SCARS), 437 DNA vaccines, 136, 137 DNAX accessory molecule-1 (DNAM-1), 232 Donor lymphocyte infusions (DLIs) adoptive T-Cell therapy, 253 GVHD, 201 Double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) cancer cell apoptosis, 320 γδ T cells, 319 HIF-1α expression, 319 PI3K/Akt pathway, 319 tumor invasion and metastasis, 320-321 Doxil[®], 493 Durvalumab, 97, 111, 450, 453, 474, 554

Е

Effective radiation dose (ERD), 589 EMT., see Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) Endoglin (ENG), 409 Endothelial protein C receptor (EPCR), 226, 235 Epithelial growth factor receptor (EGFR), 279, 293 Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), 374, 415-416, 485 Epratuzumab, 570-571 Erbitux® (cetuximab), 285 Estrogen response elements (ERE), 130 Ethical issues categories, 638 clinical trial and non-research settings, 639 IRB. 640 "off-label" administration, 639-640 unique toxicities, 638-639 European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT), 162 Exosomes (Exo), 373 biogenesis, 378 of B lymphocytes, 378 in bodily fluids, 374 description of, 374 diagnostic application, 378 feature of, 378 from iDC, 379 intracellular material elimination, 374

with lipophilic and hydrophilic drugs, 378 macrophage-derived Exo (Exo-PTX), 379 MHC class II. 378 secretion of, 374 tumor cell-derived, 374-376 antigen-presenting cells, 376 CRC, 374-375 CSCs, 374 DAMPS expression, 376 DCs, 375-378 immune cells, 375 miRNAs, 374 tumor stromal cells, 374 Extensive disease small-cell lung cancer (ED-SCLC), 103 Extracellular vesicles (EVs), 373

F

Fc domain of IgG (FcγR), 42 Feline panleukopenia virus, 510–511 Feridex, contrast agent, 476 Fibroblast activation protein (FAP), 283 Flagellin human breast cancer, 318 TAMs, 366 Follicular dendritic cells (FDCs), 378 Forward-phase arrays (FPAs), 279

G

Galactic cosmic rays (GCR), 588 Gamma delta T cells ($\gamma\delta$ T cells) alkylamines, 224 aminobisphosphonates, 224 in cancer clinical trials, 236-238 costimulatory molecules CD16, 227 CD28, 227 CD70-CD27 interactions, 226-227 innate and adaptive immunity, 220 natural killer receptors (NKRs) DNAM-1, 232 NCRs, 231-232 NKG2A, 231 NKG2D, 228-231 non-self-ligands, 226 phosphoagonists isoprenoid biosynthetic pathways, 223-224 microorganisms and eukaryotic cells, 222-223 physiological roles, 220 pro-tumor properties, 235-236, 240 self-ligands ecto-F1-ATPase, 225 EPCR, 226 heat-shock proteins, 226 MICA, 226 NKG2D, 225 T10/T22, 225 ULBP4, 225

TCRγδ repertoires and functions human cells, 221-222 murine cells, 221 tumor cell recognition, 232-233, 239-240 in tumor immunosurveillance, 233-235 Gammaretrovirus, 132 Ganciclovir (GCV), 206 Gangliosides, 275-276 Gastrointestinal cancer, 174, 176 GCV., see Ganciclovir (GCV) Gemtuzumab ozogamicin (Mylotarg[®]), 294 Gene therapy advantages, 134 nonviral vector, 132 strategies, 133-135 antitumor immunity enhancement, 133-134 oncogene blocking, 134-135 tumor cell killing therapies, 133-134 viral vector, 130-132 Genetic vaccines DNA vaccines, 136, 137 prime-boost cancer vaccines, 138 RNA vaccines, 136, 138 virus-based vaccines, 138 Genome sequencing, 56 GIAC protocol, 166 Glioblastoma (GBM)., see Nervous tissue cancer Glucocorticoid-induced TNFR-related protein (GITR) CD40, 111-113 regulatory T cells, 171 TGN1421, 114 TIM-3, 113-114 Treg cells, 12 Glucose-regulated protein 78 kDa (GRP78), 276 Glycoproteins, 276 Gold nanoparticles (GNPs), 477, 484, 485 Graft engineering, 159 Graft-versus-host disease (GVHD), 158 Graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) acute and chronic, 145 adoptive immunotherapy, 5-6 adoptive T-cell therapy, 253 antigen-presenting cell activation, 145 CARs, 207 cell migration, 146 clinical experiences, 146 DLI, 201 donor T cell activation, 146 HSCT, 146 incidence, 146 mechanisms, 146, 147 NK cells, 335 pro-inflammatory cytokines induction, 145 residual tumor elimination, 146 unique toxicities, 638 Graft versus tumor (GVT) effect, 6, 146, 149, 153 Granule exocytosis pathway, 615 Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) secreting cancer vaccine, 3, 9 CTLA-4 blockade therapy, 93, 106

DCs, 9 immunosuppression, 65 NK cells, 27 PD-1, 93 Treg cells, 71 Group A haplotype, 164 Group B haplotypes, 164 Gut microbiota, 458 GVHD., *see* Graft-*versus*-host disease (GVHD)

H

Haploidentical HCT (haplo-HCT), 158, 159 Haploidentical hematopoietic cell transplantation advantages of, 158 evolution of T cell depletion strategies in pediatric, 159-164 αβ T cell and CD19 B cell depletion, 162–163 CD3/CD19 depletion, 162 CD34+ megadose, 159-162 donor selection in. 163-164 studies, lessons from adult, 158-159 with T cell-replete grafts, 164 Chinese experience with GIAC protocol, 166 post-transplant cyclophosphamide (PT-CY), 164-166 Haploidentical over unrelated donor (URD)-HCT, 158 Head and neck cancers, 625-626 Heat shock proteins (HSPs), 226, 276, 351, 352 Helicobacter pylori infection, 170 Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) adoptive immunotherapy, 5-6 advantages, 144 allogeneic HSCT, 145 autologous HSCT, 145 conditioning regimens, 147 definition, 144 GVHD acute and chronic, 145 antigen-presenting cell activation, 145 cell migration, 146 clinical experiences, 146 donor T cell activation, 146 HSCT. 146 incidence, 146 mechanisms, 146, 147 pro-inflammatory cytokines induction, 145 residual tumor elimination, 146 GVT effect, 146, 149, 153 myeloablative conditioning, 147-149 non-myeloablative conditioning, 149-150 reduced-intensity, 149-150 sources, 144-145 Heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs), 622 Hepatocellular carcinoma, 91 CIK cells, 29 DNAM-1, 232 INFα, 176 ULBP family, 230

Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Vectors (HSVVs), 131 High-frequency electromagnetic radiation, 589 High mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) protein, 404-405 HPV-associated cancer adoptive cell transfer, 555-556 annual worldwide incidence of, 544 associated anogenital cancers early cancers, 556 later-stage cancers, 556-557 attributable fractions, 544 carcinogenesis, 546-548 cervical smear screening programs, 544 checkpoint inhibition, 557-558 life cycle, 545-546 primary prevention, 544 therapeutic vaccine strategies, 548-549 cell-based vaccines, 555 listeria-based vaccines, 551-552 nucleic acid-based vaccines, 553-555 protein/peptide vaccines, 549-551 RNA virus-based vaccines, 553 vaccinia-based vaccines, 552-553 VLP vaccines, 544 HSCT., see Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) HSP90, 516 HSPs., see Heat shock proteins (HSPs) Humanized monoclonal antibodies adalimumab, 285 binding affinity of, 285 complementarity determining regions, 285 from transgenic mice, 285 Herceptin, 285 panitumumab, 285 phage display technology, 285-287 Humoral immunotherapy ADCC, 17 B-cell responses, 17 EGF. 17 H101 virus (Oncorine), 525 Hypoxia, 403-405 Hypoxia-response element (HRE), 130

I

Ibritumomab tiuxetan (Zevalin®), 594 ICD., see Immunogenic cell death (ICD) IEDB (immune epitope database and analysis resource), 56 IFN- γ ., see Interferon- γ (IFN γ) Immature dendritic cells (iDCs), 350 Immune cells, 404 Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) biomarkers for (see Biomarkers) central tolerance, 450-451 CTLA-4 receptor, 451 definition, 450 demographic characteristics, 452 age, 452 sex, 452 tumor size, 452

HLA genes and MHC expression, 456 immune escape mechanism, 451-452 immune-related genes expression, 456-457 ipilimumab, 450 mutations in specific genes, 455-456 neoantigen ITH, 455 PD-L1 expression, 452-453 PD-1 receptor, 451 peripheral tolerance, 451 tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, 453-454 molecular characteristics, 454 tumor mutational burden, 454-455 Immune checkpoints 4-1BB, 109-110 combination checkpoint blockade, 107-108 CTLA-4 blockade (see Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA4)) GITR, 111 CD40, 111-113 TGN1412, 113 TIM-3, 113-114 LAG-3, 108-109 multiple costimulatory and inhibitory receptor-ligand pairs, 87 OX-40, 110-111 PD-1 pathway (see Programmed death 1 (PD-1)) Immune-related adverse events (irAEs), 92-93, 282, 452, 620 Immune-related response criteria (irRC), 97-98 Immune system and cancer adoptive cell therapy, 473-474 checkpoint inhibition, 474 cytokine therapy, 474 evased immune surveillance, 472-473 immune cells and mediators, 470-471 immune surveillance and immunoediting, 471-472 immunotherapy approaches, 473 monoclonal antibody-based treatment, 474 oncolytic virus immunotherapy, 474-475 overview of, 469-470 vaccines, 473 and radiation cellular pathway, 590-591 clinical implications, 593-594 Immune system, targets for, 88-89 Immunoediting theory, 87, 184 Immunogenic cell death (ICD), 519 calreticulin (CRT), 515, 516 DAMPs, 514, 516, 517 DCs. 517 ER stress, 515 HMGB 1, 516-517 inducers, 514 by OVs, 517 process of, 513 type I IFN response, 518 unfolded protein response, 514, 515 Immuno-PET advantages, 576

cumulated activity concentration, 577 new drug development, 577 patient selection, 577 vs. SPECT, 576 therapy response, 577 Immunoproteasome, 617 Immunostimulatory interventions, 252 Immunostimulatory mAbs, 172 Immunosuppression immunotherapy antibody therapy, 72-73 cytokine therapy, 71 endothelin receptors, blockade, 69 IL-15/TGF-α, 71 local tumor irradiation, 67-69 mAb therapy, 72 sunitinib, 70 targeted pathway, 68 taxanes, 69-70 Tregs, 71 mechanisms, 172 cytokines, 65 endothelin receptors, 66 enzymes, 65 MDSCs, 64 negative regulatory factors, 65-66 TAMs, 64-65 Tregs, 64 tumor immune escape antigen presentation process, 63 CD4+ T cells, 62-63 CTLs, 62-63 Immunosurveillance theory, 86-87 Immunotherapeutic approaches, 188-189 RIG-Like Receptors (RLRs) Agonists, 190 Stimulators of Interferon Genes (STING) Agonists, 190-192 Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs) Agonists, 189-190 Immunotoxins, 294 Individual number of inhibitory KIR (iKIR), 47 Individual patient's immune cells, 640 Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), 394 Indoleamine-pyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), 458 Inducible T cell co-stimulator (ICOS), 205 Inflammation-promoting cancer, 590-591 Innate immune system, 2, 314 Intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT), 589 Interferon alpha receptor (IFNAR), 184 Interferon-y (IFNy), 184 NK cells, 328-329 type I IFNs (see Type I interferons) Interleukin-2 (IL-2), 252 NK cells, 339 Interleukin-15 (IL-15), 622 NK cells, 328, 339 Interleukin-21, 339 Intestinal epithelial lymphocytes (IELs), 221 Intracellular adhesion molecule (ICAM), 255 Intracellular NOD-like receptors (NLRs), 314

Ipilimumab, 282, 620 CTLA-4 blockade, 98–99 irAEs, 92 mechanism of action, 90 melanoma (*see* Melanoma) radiation therapy, 104–105 uveal melanoma, 99 IrAEs., *see* Immune-related adverse events (irAEs) Isoprenoids, 223–224 Isotope-coded affinity tags (ICATe), 279 Isotope tags for relative and absolute quantification (iTRAQe), 279 ¹³¹I-tositumomab, 564. *See also* Bexxar[®]

K

Kaplan-Meier survival curves, 389–391, 395 Killer Ig-like receptors (KIR), 42, 231 gene haplotype, 164

L

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), 457 Lentivirus vectors (LVVs), 132 Leucine-rich repeat (LRR), 414 Leukocyte Ig-like receptors (LIRs), 231 Linear energy transfer (LET), 566-567 Linear nothreshold (LNT) theory, 588 Lipid polymers, 132 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) colorectal cancer (CRC) tumorigenesis, 315 PI3K/Akt pathway, 319 drug-induced apoptosis, 320 human oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC), 317 lung carcinogenesis, 315 metastasis, 321 tumor cell proliferation, 318 Low-dose nuclear radiation, 589-590 LRR., see Leucine-rich repeat (LRR) Lymphocyte activation gene-3 (LAG-3), 108-109 Lymphodepletion homeostatic proliferation, 150 immunological effects, 152 reconstitution of, 150 T cell thymopoiesis, 150-151 Lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) cells, 3. See also Cytokine-induced killer (CIK) cells

M

mAbs., *see* Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) Macrophages TAMs (*see* Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs)) tumor-induced tolerance/escape, 12 Major histocompatibility molecules (MHCs)., *see* Tumor antigens (TA) Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitors, 437 animal and human studies, 442 Matched sibling donor (MSD), 157 Matched unrelated donor (MUD), 158 Matrix-assisted laser desorption-ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-MS), 279 Mature DCs, 350 Maximum tolerated dose (MTD), 602 MaxQuant software, 57 MDSCs., see Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) Medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC) BsmAb injection, 575 phase I/II clinical trial, 575 pretargeted RIT (pRIT), 574 prognosis, 574 Melanoma CTLA-4 blockade monotherapy in, 98 DC vaccine cell fusion technology, 355 cell lysate and peptides, 355 RNA-pulsed DCs, 355 phase III trials of, 99-100 tremelimumab monotherapy, 91-92 Minimal residual disease (MRD), 294, 565, 573, 574, 577 Missing self NK cell activation, 328 MM., see Multiple myeloma (MM) M2 macrophages, 365, 368-369 Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) ADCC, 279-280 antibody engineering antibody fragments, 287 bispecific Abs, 287-289 chimeric and humanized mAbs, 285 Fc carbohydrate, modification of, 289 fully human mAbs, 285 fusion constructs, 289 half-life characteristics, alteration of, 289-290 murine mAbs, 284 protein sequence, modification of, 289 bevacizumab, 292 blinatumomab, 294 CAFs. 283 cancer antigens, classification of, 277, 278 for cancer therapy, 285, 286 catumaxomab, 293 CDC, 281 cell surface antigen, characteristics of, 277 chimeric, 285 clinical evaluation of, 290 clinical trials, 293-294 avelumab, 294 blinatumomab, 294 brentuximab vedotin, 294 gemtuzumab ozogamicin, 294 immunotoxins and ADCs, 294 intetumumab, 293 necitumumab, 293 obinutuzumab, 293 olaratumab, 294 trastuzumab emtansine, 294 combination therapy chemotherapy, 295 immunotherapeutic strategies, 296

radiotherapy, 295-296 direct tumor cell elimination, 279-280 Ehrlich's magic bullet, 291 humanized adalimumab, 285 binding affinity of, 285 complementarity determining regions, 285 from transgenic mice, 285 Herceptin, 285 panitumumab, 285 phage display technology, 285-287 immunoglobulins (Igs), 274 immunomodulatory receptors, 282 immunotoxins, 294 indirect iodination of, 568 intetumumab, 293 limitations in Fc-Fc receptor interactions and associated, 298 high production cost, 298 low single agent activity, 297 low tissue penetration, 298 tumor escape, 297 malignant disease treatment, 274 molecular mechanisms, 279 ADCC, 280 CDC, 280 direct tumor cell elimination, 279-281 immune-mediated mechanisms, 280-283 promoting Ag cross-presentation, 281-282 targeting immunomodulatory receptors, 282-283 targeting tumor stroma and vasculature system, 283 murine, 284 natural antibodies, 275-277 necitumumab. 293 nimotuzumab, 293 NK cells, 337 obinutuzumab, 293 PDGF, 283 preclinical evaluation of, 290 radionuclide-bearing, 594 RIT (see Radioimmunotherapy (RIT)) rituximab, 292-293 target identification approaches antibody-based technologies, 279 DNA microarray and SAGE, 278 genomics, 277 proteomics, 278-279 therapeutic, 291 trastuzumab, 291-292 tumor antigen cross-presentation, 281-282 **VEGF**, 283 Moxetumomab pasudotox, 294 MTC., see Medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC) Multiple myeloma (MM), 571-572 aminobisphosphonates, 224 CD40, 111-113 DC-CIK cells, 32 DCs, 353 HSCT, 145 NK cells, 331

RIT

alpha emitters, 572 anti-CD138, 571–572 incidence, 571 novel drugs, 571 Multivesicular bodies (MVBs), 373–374 Myeloablative conditioning, HSCT, 147–149 Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), 13–14, 172, 369, 440, 611–612 Myeloid suppressor cells, 393 Mylotarg[®], 493

Ν

Nanocarriers, 487 in cancer treatment anti-CSC factors, 489-490 cancer stem cells, 489 chemotherapeutic agents, 489 combinatorial therapy, 490-493 DNA repair systems, 488 drug combinations, 487-488 drug delivery, 488 miRNA-based CSC nanotherapy, 490 MSNs, 488 nanoparticles, 488-489 pitfalls, 487 prostate stem cell antigen, 490 regulatory RNA, 491 with FDA approved nanoformulated chemotherapeutic drugs, 493-494 Nanoflare, 475 Nanomedicine., see Nanotechnology Nanopolymers, 492 Nanotechnology, 475, 496 biosensors and definition, 479 electrochemical reaction, 479 emerging voltammetric transducers, 480 home-based, 479 impediometric transducers, 479-480 optimization, 479 potentiometric transducers, 479 principle of, 479 CT imaging technology, 477 definition, 468 in imaging-based diagnosis, 475 in traditional imaging general principles, 475-476 MRI, 476-477 nanoparticle-mediated targeting, 476 in molecular imaging DCE-MRI, 478 DWI-MRI, 478 limiting factors, 478-479 **MALDI**, 478 on molecular probes, 478 **MRSI**, 478 porphysomes, 478 pre-disease status, diagnosis of, 478 SPECT, 478

nanodiagnostics, 475 nanoparticle, as cancer-fighting medicine antiangiogenesis, 484-485 carbon nanoparticle, 483 challenges and opportunities, 483-484 characteristics, 482 chemical characteristics, 483 chitosan NPs, 486 interaction with cancer cells, 484 metallic and metal oxide, 483 optical properties, 482 physical properties, 482-483 polymeric nanoparticles, 483 quantum dots, 483 selenium NPs, 486-487 silica NPs. 486 silver NPs, 485 tetrac NPs, 487 and nanoparticle-based immunotherapy advantage of, 496 CAR T-cell, 496 checkpoint inhibitors, 495 cost-effectiveness, 494 cytokine therapy, 494-495 impaired immune responses restoration, 494 iron oxide nanoparticles, 496 polymeric nanoparticles, 495 vaccine, 495 nanotherapy and nanotoxicity, 480-481 PET scan, 477-478 Nanotherapy, 480-481 Nanotoxicity, 480-481 Native tumorassociated antigens, 54 Natural antibodies anti-NGF. 276 B-1 lymphocytes, 275 defense mechanism, 275 for early stages and precancerous lesions, 277 gangliosides, 275-276 glycoproteins, 276 GRP78, 276 HSPs, 276 Lewis y (Ley), 276 PAM-1, 276 SAM-6, 276 SC-1, 276 tumor-specific monoclonal, 275 Natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs), 231-232, 328 Natural killer (NK) cells, 46, 590-592 activation mechanism, 328-329 adaptive immunity, 26-28 ADCC, 328, 337-338 adoptive antitumor immunotherapy, 28 adoptive transfer, 336 allogeneic transfer, 335-336 anticancer agents, 329 autologous transfer, 334-335 CD56 bright, 328, 330 CD56 dim population, 328, 329

Natural killer (NK) cells (cont.) CIK adjuvant locoregional immunotherapy, 29 clinical trials, 29 **PBMC**, 28 solid tumors, 28 cytokines, 328, 338-340 dendritic cells, 27, 31-32 human studies, 329 IFN-y, 328-329 IL-2, 338 IL-15, 338 IL-21, 338 immunotherapy, 332 innate immunity, 26-28 locoregional infusion, 35 mAb therapy, 337 MHC-I expression, 27 missing self activation, 328 NCRs, 328 NKG2D, 328 NKG2D ligands, 27 NKR, 27 PBMCs, 332-338 role, 328 stress-induced self activation, 328 targeting challenges low numbers, 329-330 tumor cell destruction activity, 330-331 TIL clinical efficacy, 30 intrapleural infusion, 30-31 lymphodepletion, 30 metastatic melanoma, 29 one-sided pleuritis, 30 T-reg subpopulation, 31 tumor-associated antigens, 29 tumor markers and reduced size, 31 transgenic mouse models, 329 type I interferons and, 186-187 against viral infections and malignant cells, 43 Natural killer receptors (NKRs), 27 DNAM-1, 232 NCRs, 231-232 NKG2A, 231 NKG2D, 228-231 Natural killer T (NKT) cells, 612 NCRs., see Natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs) NDV., see Newcastle disease virus (NDV) Neoantigens, 88-89, 413 Nervous tissue cancer chemotherapy and active specific immunotherapy, 16 DC vaccine peripheral blood monocyte-derived DCs, 357 poly-ICLC, 357 T-cell cytotoxicity, 357 Neural growth factor (NGF), 276-277 Neurotoxicity, 618 Newcastle disease virus (NDV), 526-529, 533 NHL., see Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL)

Nimotuzumab, 293 Nivolumab, 95-96, 620 NK cells., see Natural killer (NK) cells NLRs., see Intracellular NOD-like receptors (NLRs) Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL) 4-1BB, 109-110 CD40, 111-113 Non-myeloablative conditioning, 149-150 Non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC), 88 Nonspecific immunotherapy bacterial adjuvants, 5 clinical trials, 3-4 CTLA-4 blocking antibodies, 92 immunosuppression, 61 interferons, 4 Nonviral vector cationic polymers, 132 lipid polymers, 132

0

"Off-label" administration, antineoplastic agents, 639-640 Olaratumab (Lartruvo®), 294 Oncofetal antigen., see 5T4 oncofetal glycoprotein Oncogene blocking, gene therapy strategies, 134-135 Oncogenic HPV., see HPV-associated cancer Oncology, 15 IRB, 640 mAbs, 291 Oncolytic adenovirus H101, 533 Oncolytic viruses (OVs), 509-510 and macroorganism interaction, 511-512 for animal species treatment, 510-511 artificially modified viruses, 518 H101 virus, 525 immune response to adenoviruses, 525-526 serotype 5 adenoviruses, 524-525 talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC), 518, 521-523 cancer treatment, 510 combined immunotherapy, 531-532 effect of. 510 general properties of, 520 G207 virus, Phase I clinical trial of, 511 immunotherapy, 474-475 interaction between tumor and, 512-513 immunogenic cell death (see Immunogenic cell death (ICD)) tumor formation, destruction of, 513 legal and ethical limitations, 510 naturally occurring, 526 newcastle disease virus, 526-529 reovirus, 529-531 recombinant viruses, 511 Ontak®, 493 Optimal biological dose (OBD), 602 Oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma (OPSCC), 550

Р

Paclitaxel, 379 Pancreatic cancer precursor lesions (PCPL), 378 Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC), 378 Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), 314 Pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs), 314 Patient-tailored medicines, 384 Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), 184 PBMCs., see Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) PD-L1 blockade, 96-97 PDT., see Photodynamic therapy (PDT) Pembrolizumab, 96, 454, 455, 458, 620-621 Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), 28, 332-337 Peripheral cell count, 457-458 Personalized prevention approach CD30 System, 43 KIRs, FcyRIIa-131H/R, and FcyRIIIa-158V/F polymorphism clinical stratification parameters, 45-46 risk of cancer disease/progression, 47-48 Thioredoxin 1 (Trx1) system, 42-43 Trx1 and CD30 systems as double target, 46-47 functional link between, 44-45 Trx1/soluble CD30 (Trx1/sCD30), 42 Phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), 616 Photodynamic therapy (PDT) adaptive immunity, 387 and adaptive immunity recognizing specific antigens, 387 - 392administration, 384 advantages, 384 and checkpoint inhibitors, 396-397 clinical applications, 397-398 DAMPs and tumor ablative therapies, 386-387 definition, 384 distinct systemic effect, 385-386 effects. 385 and immunostimulant combinations, 394-396 induced antitumor effects, 384, 385 induced effects, 384-385 induced inflammation, 386 interrelated mechanisms on tumor, 384 modality, 384 natural pathways of, 386 photosensitizer (PS), 384 singlet oxygen, 384 Photosensitizer (PS), 384 Plasmacytoid DCs, 350 Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), 283 Porphysomes, 478 Post-translational modification (PTM), 276, 279 Post-transplant cyclophosphamide (PT-CY), 164-166 Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD), 159 Poxviruses, 132 Pretargeted RIT (pRIT), 574 Prime-boost cancer vaccines, 138 Programmed death 1 (PD-1) atezolizumab, 97

autoimmune diseases, 94 avelumab, 97 blockade, 95 discovery of, 93 durvalumab, 97 function, 93-94 ligation of, 93 nivolumab, 95-96 PD-L1 blockade, 96-97 PD-L1 expression cancer prognosis, 94 MMR deficiency, 94 PD-L2 expression, 93 pembrolizumab, 96 Prostate cancer DC vaccine dendritophage-rPSA, 354 hybridoma, 354 sipuleucel-T, 354-355 RIT, 565, 572-573 Prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA), 572 Prostate stem cell antigen (PSCA), 490 Protectin (CD59), 297

R

Radiation chemotherapy and fractionated, 593 computed tomography, 589 high-frequency electromagnetic, 589 and immunity, role of cellular pathway, 590-591 clinical implications, 593-594 incidence rates of, 588 low-dose nuclear, 589-590 solar UV-B, 590 space, 588 therapy, 104-105, 588-589 adverse effects, 594 with antibody therapy, 295-296 chemoradiation, 593 immunodeficiency, 594 and immunotherapy, 591-593 mortality, 594 nanomolecules application, 594 postoperative, 593 prognostic purposes, 594 radionuclide-bearing monoclonal antibody therapies, 594 SABR, 593 Radioimmunotherapy (RIT) alpha-emitting radionuclides (see Alpha-RIT) B cell lymphoma, 569-570 definition, 564-565 efficacy, 565 indications, 565 mAb, 565 metastatic prostate cancer, 572-573 MM, 571-572 monoclonal antibodies, 295-296

Receptor tyrosine-kinase-like orphan receptor 1 (ROR1), 280 Remicade[®] (infliximab), 285 Renal cell carcinoma, 110, 111 Reovirus, 529-531, 533 Response evaluation criteria in solid tumors (RECIST), 601 Retrovirus vectors (RVVs), 132 Reverse-phase arrays (RPAs), 279 RIG-Like Receptors (RLRs) Agonists, 190 RIT., see Radioimmunotherapy (RIT) Rituximab, 280, 285, 292-293 with fludarabine and cyclophosphamide, 293 multicenter phase II study, 292 reasonable antitumor responses, 292 remission rate, 293 as single agent to CLL, 293 survival rate, 293 therapeutic purposes, 292 with 90Y-ibritumomab tiuxetan, 292 RNA vaccines, 136, 138 Russian Far East encephalitis virus, 510

S

Selenium NPs (SeNPs), 486-487 Senescence-associated heterochromatin foci (SAHF), 437 Senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP), 436 Serological expression cloning (SEREX), 279 Serological proteome analysis (SERPA) technique, 279 Serotype 5 adenoviruses, 524-525 Shared antigens, 54 Shared lineage-specific antigens, 54 Shared tumor-specific antigens, 54 Silica NPs (SiNPs), 486 Silver NPs (AgNPs), 485 Single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), 576 Single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) γδ T cells, 319 pancreatic carcinogenesis, 315 tumor cell proliferation, 318 Sipuleucel-T, 354-355 Sitimagene ceradenovec, 131 Small cell lung cancer (SCLC), 96 Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer (SITC), 601 Solar UV-B radiation, 590 Soluble MHC class I polypeptide-related chain A (sMICA), 458 Space radiation, 588 SPECT., see Single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) Spectral karyotyping (SKY), 277 Squamous cell carcinoma (SCC), 440 Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR), 593 Stimulators of Interferon Genes (STING) Agonists, 190-192 Stress-induced self NK cell activation, 328 Stroma, 11, 283 Suicide gene therapies, 133 Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticle (SPION), 476-477

Surface-enhanced laser desorption/ionizationtime-of-flight/mass spectrometry (SELDI-TOF-MS), 279 Syndecan-1, 572 Synergistic immune activation, 138

Т

TA., see Tumor antigens (TA) TAAs., see Tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) Talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC), 518, 521-523 TAMs., see Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) Tandem minigene (TMG), 56 Targeted radionuclide therapy (TRT) labeling techniques, 567-569 radionuclides, 565-567 T cell depletion, evolution of, 159-164 $\alpha\beta$ T cell and CD19 B cell depletion, 162–163 CD3/CD19 depletion, 162 CD34+ megadose, 159-162 donor selection in. 163-164 T Cell immunotherapy chimeric antigen receptor anti-CD19 CAR approaches, 212 biotin CAR, 208 cell culture and expansion techniques, 210-211 clinical trials, 212-213 expression vector, 212 gamma-retroviral vectors, 209 history, 203 lentiviral vectors, 209-210 PiggyBac vector, 210 sleeping beauty vector, 210 suicide gene, 206 TCR signaling, 203 class I-MHC-restricted mHAgs, 202 hematopoietic system, 201 HLA-DQ presentation, 202 HSCT. 201, 202 immune response, 200-201 immunotherapeutic approach, 202-203 patient-self/graft non-self antigens, 201-202 polyclonal T cell approach, 202 toxicity, 201 T cell receptor (TCR), 202 T cell-replete grafts, 164 T cells, 590-592 Tetraiodothyroacetic acid (tetrac) NPs, 487 Thioredoxin 1 (Trx1) system, 42-43 TILs., see Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) TLRs., see Toll-like receptors (TLRs) TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand receptors (TRAILR), 233 Toll-like receptors (TLRs) anti-/protumor effects, 314 apoptosis, 319-320 cancer cells, 315 double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) (TLR3), 314 HIF-1, 319 melanocytes, 317 metastasis, 320-321

PI3K/Akt signaling, 318-319 proinflammatory cytokines, 314 TLR2 (see Bacterial lipoproteins) TLR3 (see Double-stranded RNA (dsRNA)) TLR4 (see Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)) TLR5 (see Flagellin) TLR7 (see Single-stranded RNA (ssRNA)) TLR8 (see Single-stranded RNA (ssRNA)) TLR9 (see Cytosine-phosphorothioate-guanine (CpG) DNA) Toll-like receptors (TLRs) agonists, 189-190 5T4 oncofetal glycoprotein ADCs, 424-426 bacterial superantigens early-phase clinical studies, 422-423 phase II/III study, RCC, 423-424 preclinical studies, 422 chimeric antigen receptors, 427 EMT, 415-416 identification, 414 inhibition of leukemia spread, 426-427 LRR. 414 modified vaccinia virus ankara (MVA) strain early-phase clinical trials, 418-419 knockout (KO) mice study, 420-421 phase III clinical trial, 419-420 preclinical studies, 418 monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), 414 structure, 414, 415 TIP2/GPIC, 415 Wnt signaling pathway, 416-417 Tositumomab (Bexxar®), 594 Total body irradiation (TBI), 147 Total lymphoid irradiation (TLI), 149 Trastuzumab, 291-292 Trastuzumab emtansine (Kadcyla®), 294 T regulatory (Treg) cells IDO pathway, 12-13 murine tumor model, 12 T-cell responses, 12 TCR repertoire, 13 Tremelimumab, 172, 282 CTLA-4 blockade melanoma, 91-92, 98 sunitinib, 103 TroVax, 418-420, 423 TRT., see Targeted radionuclide therapy (TRT) Tumor antigens (TA), 53-54 classification, 54 definition, 54 identification approaches, 54-55 antigen identification, 55-56 antigen presentation and immunogenicity, 56 clinical utility of, 57-58 forward/direct immunology, 56 genome sequencing, 56 HLA-peptide complex, isolation of, 57 indirect or reverse immunology, 54, 55 neopeptide sequencing, 57 silico analysis, 56 Tumor-associated antigens (TAAs), 130, 277

immunosurveillance theory, 86 monoclonal antibodies, 277 RNA-based methods, 8 in vitro immunogenicity, 8 Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), 256, 404, 405 Adv-IKK?DN, 369 BALB/c breast cancer model, 370 characteristics, 369 chemoattractants, 369 COX-2, 370 inflammation and cancer chronic inflammatory cell filtration, 366-367 oncogene activation, 366 RET/PTC oncogene activation, 366 localization, 365 **MDSCs**, 369 M2 macrophages, 365, 368-369 myeloid lineage cells, 367-369 Tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs), 409 Tumor-associated target antigen., see 5T4 oncofetal glycoprotein Tumor cell killing therapies antiangiogenic, 134 apoptosis, 133-134 suicide gene, 133 tumor suppressor insertion, 134 Tumorigenesis, 591 CXCL12 and CXCR4 expressions, 416 mAbs, 274, 277 NK cells, 328, 329, 331 NKG2D, 231 TAMs, 366, 367 TLRs, 314, 315 Tumor immune escape antigen presentation process, 63 CD4+ T cells, 62-63 CTLs, 62-63 DC vaccination. 11 mechanisms, 12 Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), 453-454 adoptive T-cell therapy, 253 CARs, 202-203 clinical efficacy, 30 intrapleural infusion, 30-31 lymphodepletion, 30 metastatic melanoma, 29 NK cells clinical efficacy, 30 intrapleural infusion, 30-31 lymphodepletion, 30 metastatic melanoma, 29 one-sided pleuritis, 30 T-reg subpopulation, 31 tumor-associated antigens, 29 tumor markers and reduced size, 31 one-sided pleuritis, 30 prognosis, 252-253 T-reg subpopulation, 31 tumor-associated antigens, 29 tumor markers and reduced size, 31

Tumor lysis syndrome (TLS), 618 Tumor microenvironment endoglin, 409 polarization of macrophages, 407-409 reprogramming, 404, 409 in restricting immunotherapy efficiencies, 610 CD8+ suppressor Cells, 610-611 IDO, immune checkpoint inhibitors, 612 MDSCs. 611-612 NKT cells, 612 regulatory T cells (Tregs), 610 structural and functional elements, 403-404 TAM macrophages in in cancer progression, 405, 406 in hypoxic areas, 407 immunosuppressive cytokines, 407 migration, 407 myeloid-derived suppressor cells and, 404, 405 proangiogenic agents, 407 in tumor environment, 405, 407 vascular junctions formation, 407 Tumor microenvironment (TME), 490 Tumor mutational burden (TMB), 454-455 Tumor-reactive T cells, 260 Tumor-specific antigens (TSAs), 54, 277 Tumor suppressor insertion, 134 T-VEC (talimogene laherparepvec), 533 Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis and subsequent mass spectroscopy (2DE/MS), 279 Type I interferons in cancer immunoediting, role of, 186 and dendritic Cells (DCs), 187-188 and natural killer (NK) cells, 186-187 in malignant transformation, role of, 185-186 introduction, 183-185

U

Ultraviolet (UV) radiation, 591 Umbilical cord blood (UCB), 158 Unique toxicities, 638–639 Unique tumor-specific antigens, 54 Urelumab (anti-4-1BB antibody), 282–283 Uveal melanoma, 99

V

Vaccines, 473 CTLA-4 blockade and, 106 dendritic cells (*See also* DC vaccine) clinical trials, 9, 10 genetic modification, 9 immature dendritic cells, 8 immunosuppressive mechanism, 11 protein tumor antigens, 9 synthetic long peptides, 9

genetic DNA vaccines, 136, 137 prime-boost cancer vaccines, 138 RNA vaccines, 136, 138 virus-based vaccines, 138 HPV-associated cancer, 548-549 cell-based vaccines, 555 listeria-based vaccines, 551-552 nucleic acid-based vaccines, 553-555 protein/peptide vaccines, 549-551 RNA virus-based vaccines, 553 vaccinia-based vaccines, 552-553 immune-mediated tumor rejection, 8 nanocarrier-based cancer, 495 PD-1/PD-L1 and, 106-107 RNA, 136, 138 TAA RNA-based methods, 8 in vitro immunogenicity, 8 5T4 oncofetal glycoprotein, 417-418 improving regimens, 421-422 knockout (KO) mice study, 420-421 MVA-h5T4, early-phase clinical trials, 418-419 phase III clinical trial, RCC, 419-420 preclinical studies, 418 Vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM), 68, 255 Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), 43, 255, 283, 292, 404 Vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), 511 Viral vector, 130-132 adeno-associated virus vector (AAVVs), 131 adenovirus, 130-131 characteristics of, 137 herpes simplex virus Type 1 vectors (HSVVs), 131 lentivirus vectors (LVVs), 132 poxviruses, 132 retrovirus vectors (RVVs), 132 specificity of, 130 Virus-based vaccines, 138 Virus-like particle (VLP) vaccines, 543

W

West Nile virus, 510 Whole-exome sequencing, 56 Wnt–β-catenin pathway, 616

Y

⁹⁰Y-ibritumomab tiuxetan, 564. See also Zevalin®

Z

Zevalin[®], 569–570 Zoledronic acid (ZOL), effects of, 163